Redd Histories

Table of Contents

A HISTORY OF NEW HARMONY	1
Readings presented at the Will and Irene Redd Reunion	13
July 30-31, 2004, at Torrie's in Grassy Lake, Alberta	13
History of Grandpa Will Redd	17
Pauline Redd Burt	21
THE REDD FAMILY OF ONSLOW COUNTY,	23
NORTH CAROLINA	23
The Redd Family Name	26
Redd Family History Preface	30
The Redds of Utah	31
Redds of Virginia	37
Vilo Redd	49
Virginia Redds	
Crystal Broderick	54
Events in Paul Redd's Life	
George Washington Hill	
Hans Ulrich Bryner	84
Chancy Eugene Hill	93
Dinah Burrows Jackson	99
Fern Redd Laycock	
Laurel Hill Redd	
Lemuel Hardison Redd And Kaziah Jane Butler	
Thomas Jackson	
Thomas Jackson	
William Alexander Redd	
William Redd History	
John Hardison Redd	455
John Low	
Leland Redd	
Lemuel H. Redd	
Lemuel Hardison Redd	
Lura Redd	
Marquis Redd	504
Mary Verena Bryner	
Verena R. Bryner	
Mary Redd	
Lura Redd	
Paul Redd	
Fern Laycock	
Paul Redd	526

Pauline Redd	550
Onslow County Redds	552
Redd Family Name	
Redds in Virginia	
Redds in Onslow County	
Redds	565
Hans Ulrick Bryner	834
Rhoda Wheeler	844
The Redd Family Name	846
Paul Redd	

A HISTORY OF NEW HARMONY

by Laverna Englestead

In December 1847, the General Assembly in Salt Lake commissioned Parley P. Pratt to raise a company of fifty men to explore Southern Utah. Some of these men stopped at what is now known as Parowan to explore there and others went as far south as what is now known as Santa Clara.

After John D. Lee had helped to settle Parowan, he returned to Salt Lake, July l, 1851 to get other families and to sell his property in Salt Lake, then to return to Parowan.

In General Conference in Salt Lake, on Oct. 6, 1851, his name was read from the pulpit as one to found a new community south of Parowan and Cedar City. He was pleased with this public recognition, that he was to be father of a new community.

He urged his neighbors and friends to join him, but most of them were reluctant to leave, as they were getting well established in Salt Lake. Within a few days he was on his way with a company of nineteen wagons.

On Dec. 8, 1852, Elder George A. Smith wrote to the Deseret News, "On the first water south of the rim of the great basin, in Washington County, John D. Lee, Elisha Groves and company are building a fort on Ash Creek, called Harmony.

"Fifteen men are capable of bearing arms. Fifty one loads of lumber have

been taken there from Parowan and six teams are constantly employed building the fort.

"One of the first rooms erected was a school house. The point is well selected for military purposes and commands the springs and about 160 more acres of farm land on the creek and about twenty miles off, good grazing ground. It is about 20 miles north of the Rio Virgin, which is inaccessible to teams until a road can be worked at considerable expense."

In April 1854, President Brigham Young sent twenty-three young men, with ten wagons, as missionaries to the Indians. They were to raise food and share it with the Indians, and convert them and teach them how to live.

As John D. Lee had all the tillable land on Ash Creek in use, they pulled on, some four miles to the north west, where our present town of New Harmony now stands. For a number of years our New Harmony fields were farmed for the Indian Mission.

On May 9, 1854, a horseman came to tell the Indian Missionaries that a meeting was to be held at John D. Lee's home in Harmony on Ash Creek that evening, as President Young with a group of 82 men, 14 women, 5 children, traveling in 32 carriages with 95 horses, would be there.

That evening, as they sat around on rocks, logs and on the ground, John D. Lee looked first at the audience and then at the beautiful valley, the magnificent mountains and the colorful red cliffs, and he said to himself, "Now I know this is home."

He was called upon to speak and among other things, he said, "Brethren, we are called upon again to found a settlement in these valleys of Zion. This is a beautiful valley, with good rich soil and an excellent climate. The scenery about us is magnificent and inspiring. May the Lord help us to build it strong and well."

The next day, with the help of Parley P. Pratt and his engineering instruments, a site was selected to build Fort Harmony, a place where the Kanarra and Harmony creeks could be used to water more land.

By February 1885 all inhabitants were living at the new site, Fort Harmony.

The walls of Fort Harmony were 300 feet square. The houses on the west side were two story and 16 feet high. On the other three sides, they were one

story and ten feet high. The walls were three feet thick and of red adobe and rock foundation. A well was dug, which was 100 feet deep and supplied their culinary water.

Ash Creek and Kannara Creek were granted to the inhabitants of Harmony for irrigation or other purposes. This is stated in the first court records, dated February 23, 1856. Their upper ditch was about ten feet below our dry field ditch. Their lower ditch was the same that now goes through the Pace, Englestad and Woods fields.

Harmony became the first county seat after the Territorial Legislature created Washington County on March 3,1852. Court met at Probate Judge John D. Lee's house at Fort Harmony. Selectmen Elisha Groves, Henry Barney, Richard Robinson; Clerk, Rufus Allen.

On January 1, 1855, John D. Lee was placed in charge of the Government Indian Agency with a salary of \$50 per month. He was to distribute seeds, tools and other supplies to the Indians and to help them to farm.

On January 4, 1856, in answer to a petition of 32 men (total male population) a county government was set up with the County Seat in Harmony with J. D. Lee Probate Judge and assessor.

On May 21, 1857, 21 wagons passed Fort Harmony on their way to settle Washington, as a road had been built over the Black Ridge.

On July 4, 1857, there was a great celebration at Fort Harmony as President Haight from Cedar City, with his choir and brass band came. A meeting was held and President Haight gave the oration. A beef was barbecued and there was plenty of home-made beer (root beer) and lemonade, with sports and dancing.

On July 24, the tenth anniversary of the arrival of the pioneers to Utah, Harmony went to Cedar City to a meeting, town dinner and sports and dancing.

On May 20, 1855, at conference in Cedar City, the people living in Harmony and Cedar City were organized into a stake with Isaac Haight, president, and William Rees Davis bishop of Harmony.

Most of the wagon trains going to California stopped with Lee in Harmony. At 31 cents per person per meal, the same for cattle, Lee often took in from \$20 to \$75, depending on the size of the train. One large train stayed so long that he took in \$175 by his wives cooking night and day.

John D. Lee often entertained visitors of church and state. Upon one occasion, he entertained 125 church officials for three meals. He butchered two beefs and two sheep for them.

By 1860, the people of Fort Harmony decided it would be best to move closer to the head of Kannara and Ash Creek. Kannara was settled in June 1860 by people from Harmony (Fort) and Cedar City. The residents of Fort Harmony were then preparing to move to New Harmony.

On March 4, 1859, the court was moved to Washington and John D. Lee handed over all of the County records.

In 1859, a post office was established with Elisha Groves postmaster. In 1865, William Pace succeeded him. Then came Archie Bell, Harvey A. Pace, Mary Taylor, George F. Prince and Sylvia p. Hall.

Late in November 1861, a company passed, going to settle Saint George; also a Swiss company passed, going to settle in Santa Clara.

Lee had planned on building a nice brick home not far from the large pine tree at the foot of Pine Valley Mountain, where he could look down on his fields and also at the beautiful scenery. He was making brick for his home and had finished homes for some of his wives at the new location.

On December 22, 1861, the people of New Harmony met at Lee's Hall at New Harmony and John D. Lee was appointed Presiding Elder with William Pace clerk, and James Pace and Richard Woolsey were appointed teachers.

On December 25, 1861, Lee gave a town dinner at his home, called "Lee's Hall", a large frame building in New Harmony. All residents of the town were invited.

Lee had wanted so much to get all of his families moved to the new location before winter set in (1861), but was unable to do so.

On January 18,1862, John D. Lee, with the help of William and Harvey Pace and George W. Sevy, took three wagons with eight yoke of cattle to each wagon and moved all of the families from the fort except Sarah Caroline. The road was so muddy that the axles dragged on the ground.

Lee's wife, Sarah Caroline, wanted to finish weaving some cloth she had in a loom. Due to excessive rains for 28 days, the walls in the fort fell in, killing two Lee children, a girl and a boy, aged 5 and 7 years on February 7, 1862. These

children were buried on Lee's farm in New Harmony, which he sold to Lemuel H. Redd in 1870, and which now is owned by the Henry A. Pace family.

In 1862, \$3000 was donated by the people of the Southern Mission to build a road from Harmony to St. George. This wasn't enough so in 1863, \$2000 more was donated and Isaac Duffin was sustained as superintendant of construciton.

On March 25, 1863, a meeting was held in New Harmony as they were asked to furnish three outfits, wagons with four yoke of cattle each, to go to Florence, Nebraska to help bring out the poor saints. The wagons were furnished with provisions and M. H. Darrow, George Woolsey and Benjamin Redd were sustained by vote to make the trip.

At the close of 1865, twenty-five families of 265 souls lived in New Harmony. Among the early settlers of New Harmony were: The Lees, Woolseys, Paces, Redds, Heywoods, Lossens, Sevys, Kelsys, Jolleys, Keels, Worthens, Hills, Darrows, Whitmers, Markers, Bennetts, Taylors, Bryners, Naegles, Mathises, Princes, Imlays, Hicks, Moncurs, Grants, Schmutzes, Barlochers, Guymans, Harts, Pierces, Harrises, Sawyers, Richarsons, and Owens. The Woolsey's brother-in-law helped Lee to settle Harmony, Fort Harmony and New Harmony.

Cedar City and Parowan were settled ten years before, in 1861. In 1853, there were 392 people living in Parowan and 455 in Cedar City.

On August 20, 1867, the New Harmony Ward was organized by President Erastus Snow with Wilson D. Pace, bishop and Henry B. M. Jolley first counselor and George W. Sevy second counselor and Samuel Worthen clerk. Previous to this, John D. Lee and James Islay had served as Presiding Elders.

In 1861-62, a large number of people were called from northern and middle counties of Utah to help settle Southern Utah. Some of these stayed to help settle New Harmony.

The first Relief Society President was Ann Mariah Redd Pace, with Keziah Butler Redd and Margaret Evans Pace as counselors and Mary A. Taylor secretary.

The first Primary President was Elizabeth Mathis with Mary Pace and Caroline Redd as counselors and Granville Pace as secretary and treasurer.

Our first chorister was Elizabeht Mathis. She was a talented musician and taught everyone to sing. She helped with all entertainments for years.

The first Sunday School Superintendency was Joseph L. Heywood, Harvey A. Pace and Francis Prince.

The first YLMIA president was Pauline Pace with Aner Taylor and Jane Redd as counselors.

The first Young Men's president was Orren Kelsey.

Our Bishops have been Wilson D. Pace, William A. Redd, Gottlieb Schmutz, Henry A. Pace, Elmer Taylor, Lyle B. Prince, Marion Prince, Dean Hall, Sheldon Grant and Lyle B. Prince.

The first School teachers were Joseph L.Heywood, Mary A. Taylor, Archie Bell, Charles Connely and George Dodds.

In 1869, a cooperative institution was organized with Wilson D. Pace, president, H. B. M. Jolley, vice president, George W. Sevy, William Pace and John D. Lee as directors; Harvey A. Pace, secretary and James Russell, treasurer. Capitol stock was \$1200.

In 1874, the united order was organized with Bishop Wilson D. Pace, president; Lemuel H. Redd, vice-president. This organization lasted only one summer.

The first school house was log, built in 1863. In 1875, a white frame building was built which served as our church until the present church was built in 1953. For some time we used the white church for a school building. We also have had two other school buildings, one a cement building and one a modern two-roomed school building which burned in 1957. Since that time our students have all been transported by bus to Cedar City Elementary and High Schools.

In April 1857, the militia of Utah was divided into thirteen districts. In 1866 and 1867, the Southern Division of the militia trained here, east of our town, under Brigadier General Erastus Snow and Captain James Andrus.

Our dry field ditch was made and used by them at that time for their water. At that time, the flat was covered with tents and many men took part in spirited sham battles.

A monument was dedicated in their honor by the Daughters of the Utah Pioneers, December 10, 1940.

Another monument was dedicated September 26, 1960 by our D.U.P.'s on the site where our white frame church stood which served us so long. This is just north of our present church. The D.U.P. was organized June 23, 1937, with Lula W. Mathis, captain.

Harvey A. Pace was elected Justice of the Peace in New Harmony Precinct, Kane Co., on August 1, 1881

A weekly mail route from Cedar City to Santa Clara, by way of New Harmony, Toquerville, Washingon and St. George was opened up on July 1, 1862.

We were in Kane county during the days of the Silver Reef with Toquerville as our County Seat. Two of our postmasters were appointed during this time by the Postmaster General of the United States. Harvey A. Pace was apppointed postmaster of New Harmony, Kane County, Utah, on October 24, 1876. Abbie H. Pace, daughter-in-law, and Emma G. Hilsen, grandaughter now have these on file.

Reed Prisbrey now has two water certificates, issued when we were part of Kane County, signed by Lemuel H. Redd and two others, the Kane County water commissioners.

These were issued and recorded in the Kane County Record, May 2, 1881. Lemuel H. Redd states in his life's history, dictated by himself, that he was a member of the Kane County Court for six years. He was a resident of our town during that time.

After President Brigham Young asked John D. Lee to sell his property in New Harmony, as they needed him to help run saw mills in South Eastern Utah, he sold his farm and homes to Lemuel H. Redd. The Lees all felt blue about leaving their nice homes, farm, orchards, etc., for this valley had been their home for almost twenty years, and they had all worked so hard to make everything so nice.

New Harmony secured the telephone in 1902, the piped culinary water in 1907 and the electric lights in 1927.

The first merchant was William Pace, followed by the New Harmony Coop and the stores of Bishop William A. Redd, Sarah P. Davis, Bishop William Graff and Dean Hall.

In about 1910, all the land on the New Harmony flat was fenced, and since has been under cultivation. This has been a great asset to the town.

In the days before the automobile and county hospitals, there were women who spent many hours and days caring for the sick. Among these women were: Ann Mariah Redd Pace and her sister, Elizabeth Redd Pace, Julia A. Taylor, Keziah Redd, Elizabeth Prince, Ann Eliza Imlay, Clarissa Woolsey, Susan E. Pace, Icavinda Pace Rance, Eliza Kelsey, Sarah Prince Davis and Amelia Schmutz.

We, the descendants of the stalwart pioneers, who settled this little community, are extremely proud of our pioneer heritage. We wish today to pay tribute to these noble pioneers and to their courage and resourcefulness. We can partly appreciate the great sacrifices they made when we remember that at first they had to live in dugouts and log rooms with boughs for roofs and dirt floors, with only the pitch or tallow candles for light.

They had to make it sustain them or perish, and by cooperative effort of the group and the help of their God, they were able to subdue the physical obstacles, to protect themselves from the hostile Indians and to build themselves homes that have been an honor to them and their descendants.

They couldn't have seen our wonderful highway with its thousands of cars, nor did they know that the beautiful red cliffs, which they admired so much would become part of Zion's National Park. They couldn't tell that hunters, yes, hundreds of them, would come every year to hunt deer on pictursque Pine Valley Mountain.

We are very proud of all you people, who have moved away from our little town. We hated to see you go, and we've missed you all so much. You are all highly respected citizens, wherever you've gone, from Canada to Mexico.

Many of you have filled positions of trust both in civic and religious organizations. Among you we find doctors, bishops, senators, stake presidents, school teachers, business men and women, nurses, missionaries and many other honorable professions. You've been an honor to yourselves and to our little town, wherever you've settled.

We wish to pay tribute to all of you today.

P.S. The Redds and the Paces were converts of John D. Lee. He converted them in 1843, in Murfreesboro, Tennessee while he was an LDS missionary there. I'm sure all will be well with Brother Lee when the truth's known.

I think Aunt Lura or Aunt Vilo gave this to Mom when we visited with them. I have recopied it, and I am sending this to each of my brothers and sisters or a member of each family.

HOW BLESSED TO HAVE THESE EXAMPLES OF FAITH AND WORKS.

MERRY CHRISTMAS 1995 LOVE, BARBARA

There is another single page in this package which seems to be from a larger manuscript. Probably written by Aunt Lura Redd on her little typewriter. It is about Hans Ulrich Bryner Jr. ... Price. Then he asked if I were related to John Redd. Then too, I said I was related to Bryners, the Paces, Mathises, that my Grandfather Bryner was a pioneer of Price.

He asked if the blind man was my grandfather. When I said he was, he said, "That blind man was the smartest man I ever knew. He could tell the color of a horse by the feel of it."

Years later I told Aunt Lillie (Fransen) about it and she said he really couldn't, but that he got the reputation through the following incident.

Grandfather was a good judge of horseflesh. Then people did a lot of horse trading, and grandfather did it too. And he never got beat on a horse trade. He could tell a lot about a horse by feel. He would feel of its back, the arch of the neck, the shape of its legs, head and mouth, etc.

His friends and neighbors had a lot of confidence in his judgment and would come for him to appraise their trade-ins.

One day, he was going over one, and the little fellow who was leading him said, "It's the same color as old so and so."

Nobody paid any attention to the little fellow, that is nobody but Grandfather. He was trained to listen to the little fellows. That's where he got a lot of his information. So when he had finished feeling it, he patted the horse and said, "You have a very fine bay horse here." Several men had been standing

there, and their mouths dropped open, and they were astonished. And the word went about that Brother Bryner could tell a horse's color by the feel.

Freighting, at that time, was the most remunerative job one could do, so Grandfather went into freighting. He had always been a good horseman, and knew all the angles. The only thing he lacked was his sight. Aunt Lucette went with him a lot of times to Salt Lake on freighting trips. She drove a four horse team ahead of him and he drove a single team that had been trained to follow. Going along those soft dirt roads, it was quiet, and they could talk back and forth as they went along, and she could keep him informed as to what was coming or going. I guess they all had a turn to go with him on his freighting trips.

Grandfather was not only a good judge of horses, he knew wagons. He had a very good, but not a new wagon. One day the young boys came in, all excited with the news that a man was here who would trade them a new wagon for their old one.

When they told Grandfather, he said that sounded funny to him and said, "Let me look at that wagon." They took him out to see it. He felt it, the wheels were heavy and good, the axles strong and well made, it had a good double wagon box. All seemed in order until he got behind it and measured the width of the box.

"A narrow gauge wagon, I wouldn't have it, if you gave it to me."

All the wagons in the territory had been wide gauge, and the ruts were for them. These new fangled narrow ones put one side in a rut, and the other wouldn't reach the other rut, so it bumped along over the rocks and other bumps in the middle, making it hard to pull and uncomfortable to ride in. I guess they thought it would be easy to fool a blind man and his little boy.

Uncle Johnnie told me he started to be his father's guide as a freighter when he was eight years old. At that time, grandfather had one good, lively horse and a slowpoke. While in Toquerville, he traded the slow one for a lively one.

On the way home to New Harmony, they, and especially the new one, wanted to run all the way. Grandfather could control them all right, and Johnnie put his little hands on Grandfather's and guided them. They went slow over the dugway where it was necessary, but he let them run, out on the flat. People in New Harmony who saw them coming on the run and the dust flying, thought something was wrong.

When it came close enough for them to recognize grandfather's wagon, they then thought they were running away. But they dashed down the hill and stopped in front of home. Uncle Henry had been called from his plowing, and took that very lively horse on and plowed with him a few hours to teach him a lesson.

About this time, they took a load of freight out to Pioche, a booming mining town of that day. A freighter always carried a grub box in which they had bread, flour, baking powder, salt, bacon, eggs, frying pan, kettle, etc. They also carried their bedding and slept in their wagon. They arrived safely at Pioche, and camped in the campground or inn yard.

This large yard was made for freighters to camp in. It was also a camphouse, empty except for a fireplace where campers could go if it rained, and where they could do their cooking over the fire there.

That night, as they rested up for the trip home, a man came to the inn boss and asked if there was a blind man and a little boy in the grounds. He would like to meet them.

So the inn man introduced him to them (grandpa and the boy). He said he had a load of nails to take to Las Vegas. He only drove a buckboard which wasn't strong enough to carrry the nails.

They would pay well if they (Grandpa and Johnnie) would go.

The man and his friends would go along and show them the way and also show them good places to camp.

Grandfather accepted the task, and they proceeded on their way. In the buckboard were four men and four saddles. They had four horses that would pull the wagon, lead behind it, or were good saddle horses. Sometimes four men rode in the buckboard and led two horses, sometimes two were horseback and two in the buckboard.

The wagon went in the middle with the horseman in front or behind the buckboard opposite.

At night, the man arranged to have grandfather camp near their room so they could get a good early start.

When they arrived at Las Vegas, they were led right up to the bank, where they were unloaded and they then found out that they were carrying the pay roll of a big mining company and the four men were armed guards. If there were any nails in the kegs, there was also \$50,000 worth of gold coin.

Uncle Johnnie thought they chose a blind man and a little boy because no bandit would ever suspect that they were carrying it (gold) and also the guards thought that a blind man and a little boy wouldn't snoop. They arrived safely, and grandfather was well paid for the trip, so all were happy with the ending.

Grandfather lived in St. George for years, then he moved out to Price. When he grew old and retired from heavy work, he did a lot of temple work. He would go to Price for the summer and spend the winters in St. George working at the temple.

As he traveled each way, he would stop and visit his children who lived in between the two communities.

On one of his last trips, he stopped at New Harmony and was there over a Fast Sunday. He went to testimony meeting with us and bore his testimony and thanked the Lord for all his blessings. He even thanked Him for taking his eyesight.

As with his eyesight, he meant that he was thankful for all the trials that had come upon him since he had accepted the gospel in far-off Switzerland. He was thankful for all the pain and torture of his eye that was knocked out, the infection that got in, in a time when they had no antiseptics nor anaesthetics to ease the pain which lasted day and night...(end of page)

Readings presented at the Will and Irene Redd Reunion July 30-31, 2004, at Torrie's in Grassy Lake, Alberta

These readings were prepared, using real events and thoughts and conversations remembered; and writings in Mom's journals. The assignment was to do a dramatic five-minute presentation, based on the lives of Will and Irene. Only where I have used quotation marks are the words Will's or Irene's. (Barbara Redd MacPhee).

June 1970 - Today, Barbara unearthed my going away dress. It was such a long time ago, 93 years ago that I wore it. Sacred ceremonies at the Logan Temple, which sealed Will and I for time and eternity. It was as if I were in a marvelous light, all through the session and the sealing. (Beverly has the dress, as it became Gertrude''s at Mom''s passing.)

And here are some old journals of mine.

July 1910 Raymond — Well, my father has made a mistake this time. When I asked him if I could go to the Lethbridge Fair with Will Redd, father said that if I were going with Will Redd, I had his father's permission.

I did go, and we had a grand time. Then, on the way home, Will and I were designated drivers, as the other two couples were engaged and wanting to snuggle. We sat high on the driver's seat, Will handling the high spirited horses expertly.

It was late, and the road long. The horses jogging along and harnesses jingling lulled me to sleep.

But I woke with a start when Will planted a firm kiss on my cheek. Whispering that he had been thinking of me ever since that night before he left for his mission, when I told him I would be praying for him.

These returned missionaries think every girl should fall for them. Our family always prayed for the missionaries. That was all I meant. I certainly will not be asking father's permission to go out with Will Redd again. The fresh thi

December 1910 Rexburg - Will just left for Raymond, Canada, to spend Christmas with his family. He stopped over on the way home. We had such a grand time. Visited all of the family, sing-songs around the piano, teaching him how to roller skate. He is such a cut-up, all of the family fell in love with him.

January 3, 1911 Rexburg — Early in the fall we became engaged, then we, the Smellie family, moved back down to Rexburg. On his way down to University of Utah, after Christmas, Will stopped in. He had decided to study medicine. We had a lovely time. I can''t believe it, but the ring is still sparkling on my finger. We plan to be married in the fall, and then go East where he will take medicine. Father says that I may go to school, too. Two life-long dreams come true. I always wanted to go to university, and to marry a returned missionary.

January 23, 1911 Rexburg —

Letter from Will. Very bad news. His father died, suddenly from quick pneumonia. This changes everything. Will must stay to settle his father's business, and to help his mother. He wants to be married in June, after the crops are planted, as he will need to be in Raymond for the spring and harvest. (Each child was given a copy of this letter. Barb)

July 16, 1911 Victoria, British Columbia —

We are here, spending our honeymoon. Had to delay our wedding for a month as I contracted typhoid fever. Several of my dear friends, boys and girls died from the fever. Father gave me a priesthood blessing, and for some reason, Heavenly Father let me live.

We are so divinely happy. Soul-mates forever. Will bought me a leather bound copy of Elizabeth Browning's poems, and we have read, QUO VADIS together.

Had some fun along the way. Stopped to have lunch at a little restaurant. I was wearing my Merry Widow Hat, with the big brim. When they brought our order, I bent over to eat my food. I guess my hat concealed Will''s plate, and he waited patiently for his food to arrive. I was hungry and ate quickly. Raised my head, and the hat, which revealed Will''s food. It was delivered, but my hat hid it. I waited, then, while he ate.

The boat ride from Seattle to Victoria was like paradise, and also the train ride over the mountains to Calgary. But the bed bugs in the hotel at Calgary were not much fun at all. The hotel was made of new wood, and the bugs came out of the wood. Or so we were told. (In 1911, Calgary was a bit of a frontier cow-town of wooden building, many made

from green lumber, hence the bedbugs.)

April 1916 - It is late. Will has not come back yet, from helping that young father from England. They come here not knowing how to harness their horses. Will is so willing to help them, but sometimes I wonder if it will always be my lot to be home to nurse babies crying with ear ache, while Will is gone to help others. Tonight he is teaching a young Englishman how to harness up his team of horses.

October 1923 - (Date is approximate.) We have successfully completed our fruit project of the Raymond branch of the United Farm Women of Alberta. We would take orders for 2300 dollars worth of fruit and then had it shipped into Raymond. Everyone was so thankful to receive it. Back home in Utah and Idaho, we had been used to our own lovely home-grown fruit. But in The Raymond Mercantile would not bring fruit in. Thought it would not sell before it spoiled.

It was the same with the green vegetable project. But we got so many names on a petition that Brother Allen was convinced to bring in green vegetables. He had been determined that people would not buy them, either. That cabbage, celery and lettuce tasted so good. And it sold like hot cakes.

July 1933 - (On a trip to see her parents in Idaho.)

""I sat down and shed tears, bitter tears, almost as I would for a lost one, in my father"s raspberry patch, when I thought of the poor little fruit-famished children of Alberta, and prayed that some means of distribution could be found to distribute the waste.

I wished I could be transformed into some kind of carrier with wings to take fruit to them. I would fly forward and back until you were all supplied, and I was exhausted.

I wished so hard that it almost seemed as if I were really doing it, but I came out of my reverie and was still sitting there and the raspberries were still dropping, watering the ground with their brilliant juice, and my bitter helplessness to satisfy your thirst was still making me almost angry.""

No date, but, likely, during the terrible drought years of 1930"s.

Rain and the need for it filled Mom''s life as they planted and prayed and waited for the crops to mature, and for the harvest. She wrote poetry from time to time, and here are her thoughts about rain:

RAIN

The prairies have always been thirsty.

Rain, you are a heavenly wall around me

You are school for our loved ones,

You are a glorious thing,

You are almost love and life itself,

You caress the toil worn hands,

You make maiden's hair shine,

Rain you are the soul of our living,

You are God"s steward for the children of the prairies,

Come, console our hearts,

Light our hearths again.

Merne Laycock Livingstone remembers Mom saying, ""When the wind blows, don't bother to clean house, get busy on some sewing, or things that will stay done.""

In those days the windows were so poorly fitted, that fine soil would drift onto the window-sills and nearby furniture when strong winds blew. Then, sometimes, we had to open our windows on hot windy days as we attempted to cool the house. Consequently, as Mom said, some cleaning was useless.

Mom used to tell us that she did the jobs that did not show. We never could figure out what those jobs were, as we did the dishes daily, and washed the floors and dusted on Saturdays, and helped with the washing and ironing, if it was not done when we came from school. Children are sometimes very thoughtless, unobservant, and unappreciative.

Mom had very high standards in her house keeping. No clutter on the cupboards, floors washed, waxed and shined each Saturday. Furniture and mirrors polished, linen tablecloths and napkins ironed to a sheen. Dad''s white shirts starched and ironed with special care. Decorative vases and candlesticks cleaned and dusted, with crisp white doilies in place. Rugs out onto the porch for sweeping, or vacuumed when we had a vacuum.

When it was my turn to clean the living room areas, the job included picking flowers from the garden and placing flower arrangements on the dining room and library tables, on the little table in Mom''s bedroom, and on the center table in the front hall.

Sunday morning the house was spic and span, ready for any company which might be invited for Sunday Dinner.

November 1944 Raymond — (Will died, November 9, 1944.)

"The darkness enfolds me, I struggle to remember that my love has gone on before me. I have no strength. My desire is to see Will again, to be with him. To follow him."

I wrote this poem, a shadow of the deep love Will and I have for each other. I have always felt that we choose our eternal companions before we come to this life. For me there was just one love, and now he is gone. I struggle against this enfolding darkness.

""There is a law existing in the universe

Which God consecrated and called love

Though other values lose their worth

Love conquers, giving life new birth.

Louis Brandley's Story

After Will died, Irene, who had very poor health, was bed fast, and seemed to have no desire to carry on with life. She asked me for a blessing. As we arrived to give the blessing, Dr. Madill, our town doctor and good friend of Will and Irene, said, ""She''s

had a heart seizure-another will take her.""

I asked her if she wanted to live, and she replied, "'I don''t now. Will has been in my arms all night. He wants me to go with him. But I have Phillip.....'"

Mom did stay. Our uncle, Dr. Ulrich Bryner, diagnosed pernicious anemia; and later, our new, young Dr. Harris Walker, examined Mom, and diagnosed very low thyroid.

As these conditions were corrected, her strength increased and her health improved.

She not only stayed to finish rearing Phillip, who was fourteen when dad died. But about ten years later, she came to live with her daughter, Barbara, following John's death, and helped her to rear her five daughters.

The Lord moves in a mysterious way, His wonders to perform. Our dear mother lived, and continued to contribute her wisdom, and her example of faith to her family until just before her 92nd birthday. She died Wednesday, October 12, 1943 at Cardston.

History of Grandpa Will Redd

Readings presented at the Will and Irene Redd Reunion July 30-31, 2004, at Torrie's in Grassy Lake, Alberta

These readings were prepared, using real events and thoughts and conversations remembered; and writings in Mom''s journals. The assignment was to do a five-minute dramatic presentation, based on the lives of Will and Irene. Only where I have used quotations marks are the words Will''s or Irene''s. (Barbara Redd MacPhee.)

SOME OF DAD''S FAVORITE SCRIPTURES AND SAYINGS

I Nephi 3:7

I will go and do the thing which the Lord commandeth for I know that the Lord giveth no commandments unto the children of men, save he shall prepare a way for them that they may accomplish the thing which he commandeth them.

Doctrine and Covenants 121:41-43

No power or influence can or ought to be maintained by virtue of the priesthood, only by persuasion, by long-suffering, by gentleness and meekness and by love unfeigned:

By kindness and pure knowledge, which shall greatly enlarge the soul, without hypocrisy, and without guile---

Reproving betimes with sharpness, when move upon by the Holy Ghost; and then showing forth afterwards an increase of love toward him whom thou has reproved

HONESTY IS THE BEST POLICY -

At Dad''s funeral, Charles Asplund, a friend and business associate entitled his tribute to our Dad: A MAN WITHOUT GUILE, and told of dad''s honesty and integrity in all of his business dealings.

STAY OUT OF DEBT

This was always Dad''s advise. He told us that those who owned nothing were not harmed when the great depression of 1929 ruined many.

PAY YOUR DEBTS HONESTLY, TITHING FIRST -

Rather than choose bankruptcy, when left with huge debts at his father's death, Dad and Mom gave up their plans to go East for Dad's medical schooling, in order to set his father's affairs in order. And it took most of his lifetime.

The debts were created when Grandpa''s partner, ""left town in the night," so to speak, leaving Grandpa to cover some of his devious business dealings. But Grandpa died of quick pneumonia shortly after his partner's departure.

Grandma, overcome with the burden of rearing her ten children alone, took to her bed, as they use to describe it. For two weeks she languished. Then, she had a dream. She went to the other side. As she waited in a room, she could see Grandpa working in another room among many papers.

Finally he came to her and said, ""Frainie, you will have to go back. I haven"t time for you now.""

Instead of being offended, Grandma realized that her husband''s passing was needed for the furthering of the Lord''s work. She left her bed, took on her full responsibilities and, for over twenty years, lived a fruitful, and productive life, faithful to her covenants, as she too served the Lord.

DO NOT SWEAR

All day machinery had been breaking down. Finally, even the car needed to go to town for repairs would not start. A man working for us said, ""I''ll bet your Dad will swear a blue streak now.""

I knew Dad would not swear. All Dad said was ""Pshaw."" and then went about fixing the car.

TO THINE OWN SELF BE TRUE, AND IT FOLLOWS AS NIGHT THE DAY, THOU CANNOT THEN BE FALSE TO ANY MAN - Shakespeare

When Dad made a commitment, he never went back on his word. Many came to him for advise and counsel, as he had good judgment. His gift way was to think things out, calmly, to find solutions to one's problems.

His church service was monumental. He was counselor to three bishops, as a young father. Which, as one can imagine, left Mom home with the babies, many long nights.

Later, he was appointed stake high councilman in charge of Aaronic priesthood, where he served until his death. Scouting was his great love.

Dad was also town councilman for many years, and did much to help our town progress. The unruly boys around town would say that, if you plan to do some mischief, don''t let Will Redd see you, because he can outrun every kid in town.

WHATEVER DEGREE OF KNOWLEDGE WE ATTAIN TO IN THIS LIFE WILL RISE WITH US IN THE RESURRECTION

Dad headed a committee, which established the first library in Raymond, and continued as library board chairman until his death, many years later.

Delia Wolfe, the perennial librarian, said Will Redd never missed a board meeting. He would drive for hours, in order to be in town on meeting night. And his children thought he read every book, which came into the library. He certainly read many of them, and culled a few which he felt unsuitable.

Dad and Mom were avid readers of good books. Many evenings, as we children sat at the dining room table doing our homework, one or the other of our parents would read a passage, aloud, to the other.

Of course, we listened, and so we absorbed the ideas and thoughts which our parents valued, and these values have shaped our lives.

Merne Laycock Livingstone said of Dad: I always remember what a student your dad was. He was always reading, usually church books or medical books. If anyone was sick we always asked Uncle Will and he knew what to do.

PRACTICE FAMILY LOYALTY

We knew Dad and Mom loved each other devotedly, and were united in their ideals and standards. If I wanted to do something, which was out of the ordinary, when I asked my dad, he would say, ""What does your mother say?"" When I would run to ask my mother, she would say, ""What does your father say?"" Then I knew I was licked. I would not be able to do it.

We always understood that if anyone of our family were in trouble, each would be ready to help. My children say to me that it gives them a great feeling of security to know that all over the world, wherever they may be, if they would go to a member of our family, distant or close relative, and ask for help, it would be provided.

This feeling of family is a legacy from our father and mother, and their people. Perhaps it stems from pioneer experiences when help could make the difference between life and death. This desire to help others was not confined to family, but to as we are all children of our Heavenly Father.

Strangers were often welcomed to our home and fed at the table with our family. Sometimes, as a youngster, I didn''t have the same generous feelings as my parents. But I was still expected to be kind and polite, and helpful. It was part of our training.

HONOR THE PRIESTHOOD

Dad kept himself worthy to use his priesthood at any time, and we depended on him to give us blessings.

As children, when we were sick and hurting, we would ask Dad for a blessing. His big, warm hands on my head, and his ringing voice in prayer brought healing and comfort many times.

John was awed when he experienced his first priesthood blessing from Dad.

John had watched a welder at work, from what he thought a safe distance. But that night he was frantic with pain in his eyes. I told him about administration.

We called Dad, the blessing was given, and John slept. He awoke next morning with no symptoms. One of many miracles among our family members, each wrought through faith and the priesthood.

Many times John said my dad was the most righteous man he ever knew.

DAD LOVED HORSES, AND FELT THEY SHOULD BE WELL-TREATED

In his early farming days they needed about 60 head of horses in order to carry out the farming. Six horses to a team, and teams had to be changed several time a day.

When Will was a young boy, a wee colt was born — too weak to live his father said. But young William fell in love with that helpless little colt. They told him it was hopeless, that the filly would be dead by morning. She would not nurse her mother, just lay there, lifeless.

All that night, Will sat with the colt. Coaxing it to eat from his hand, rubbing it down and warming it with his own body, snuggled around it.

Finally, near morning, the colt stirred, and finally stood. This mare produced many strong foals, though she herself was never able to do much work.

It was the sale of a team of horses from that sickly colt, which provided the money for Irene and Will''s first furniture. Stove, kitchen table, and chairs, bedroom suite, which included the big oval mirror, and dining room table and chairs. All purchased at the Raymond Mercantile.

In Mom''s journal, she relates that dad was so trusting that he let the buyer pay only \$125 of the \$500 bargain price for the team of horses. Then he would pay no more. When Dad went to reclaim the horses, they had been worked almost to death, and were not much use in the fields after that. In the end Will and Irene had to find another way to pay for the furniture.

DAD''S FAITH WAS TO RESPOND TO THE LORD''S CALL, WHATEVER THE SACRIFICE

Smellie sent in his papers for a mission. He was one of the few young men of his age who served missions. This was in the 30''s, a time of deep financial depression.

Louis Brandley tells this story: He stopped in to visit his dear friends. Will was in one bed, having spent weeks in the hospital, lamed by an injury, which resulted in a blood clot. Irene was bedfast, suffering from severe, crippling arthritis.

He said to them that they surely would not let Smellie go off on a mission with them both almost bedfast. Will looked him in the eye and said that he would not deny his son the blessing of serving a mission.

Smellie served a successful mission to Eastern Canada. Here he met his eternal companion, Sister Laurel Hill. They were married several years later, after Smellie returned from serving overseas in World War II. Also, when Smellie returned, our family was better off, physically and financially than we were when he left.

In our home, we often remembered how the Lord blessed us because Smellie served his mission.

One Of Dad"s Story About Serving the Lord

I still remember this story from one of the last talks Dad gave in church. He used the story to illustrate the need for us to prepare ourselves to be obedient to the Lord's commandments, whatever the cost.

In order to choose horses to be trained for top service, trainers of Arabian horses would teach the horses to come to their master, when he rang a bell. For days they trained the horses to come when they heard the bell.

At last, the very most obedient horses were penned up for several days without food or water. Then, a gate was opened to them, which led to a place of food and water. Just as the horsed reached the gate, the trainer rang the bell.

Those horses which turned back and came to the master's bell, even though thirsty and starving, were the ones chosen to serve with the caravans which traversed the hot and dangerous desert, because they would never desert the master.

They were proven thoroughbreds, and could be trusted to come to the master's call, no matter what the circumstances.

Pauline Redd Burt

PAULINE REDD BURT

I was born 11 November 1902, in New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah, to William Alexander and Mary Verena Bryner Redd. I was the twelfth in the family of fourteen, ten of whom grew to maturity. I don't remember much of our life in New Harmony as we moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada, when I was about two years old.

My mother was a very good woman as she remained at home while my Father fulfilled a mission to the Southern States for the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day-Saints, after the birth of their first two children. After his return mother gave birth to triplet girls on 8 May 1890. Two of them only lived a very short time and the next month the other triplet and their little four year old girl Elda Grace Redd, took very ill and died. This must have been a very sad time for our parents. Later there came nine others, first Lura, then Fern and Jessie, Paul Hardison, Preston Lyman, Vilo, Pauline, Mary and Kay Bryner, the youngest.

My Father died 6 January 1911 in Raymond of Pneumonia. He was ill only six days. It was bitter cold, the temperature being 39 degrees below Zero, so very few of the family could go to the cemetery. My oldest brother Will, was in Salt Lake attending the University of Utah but he came home to care for the farms and the family. We all owe him a debt of gratitude for the sacrifice he made for us. He married Irene Smellie and they lived next door east of us for many years and was so good to Mother and all of us children.

I went through elementary and high school in Raymond and then went to Calgary to Normal School there where I obtained a teaching certificate. There were four of us girls who lived together, Lottie and Phoebe Evans and Blanche Cook and I. My first school was out in the country near Nobleford, Alberta where I taught in a one room school house. There were fifteen children and they ranged from first grade to the sixth.

It was quite a challenge but I enjoyed it and also the people there.

The next two years I taught in the Raymond school and then clerked in the Raymond Mercantile until being called into the Mexican mission with headquarters in El Paso, Texas with Rey L. Pratt as mission president. This was quite different and a change from the dances and fun that we had as young people in a small town, but I enjoyed every minute of it. We had to learn Spanish as we worked entirely with the Mexican people. I served in El Paso until 10 July 1927, then on to San Antonio.

On the 16 of January I was sent to Laredo, Texas where I labored for some time. It was while there that I met "The Man" — Melvin J. Burt, who later became my much loved husband. The 18 May I was sent again to El Paso and later on the 26 Oct. was sent to Mesa, Arizona where I labored for the remainder of my mission.

I was released in March 1929 and went to California to visit Lyman and Jeanette and Mary before coming home. Melvin had come to Los Angeles to meet me and he brought Mable Davis and me to Salt Lake in time for April conference. While in Salt Lake he gave me a beautiful diamond ring and we decided to be married in the summer. While I was still in Salt Lake, he was called to be a counsellor in the Bishopric of his ward, the Millcreek ward of Cottonwood Stake. It has been a great blessing to me to find such a man to spend my life with.

We were married in the Alberta temple 18 July 1929 by President Edward J. Wood. Mel had a home partially built at 395 East 3900 South, so his parents were good enough to let us stay with them until it was finished. We moved into it April of the next year, just in time for conference, and it was at that conference that Pres. Pratt asked Mel and Gil to go to Mesa, Arizona and stucco and plaster a chapel that the Elders and members were building. They had even made their own adobes for the walls.

Our first child, Lila Mary was born while we were still in Mesa. She was born at the home of Hugh Dana as his wife was a nurse and she had a small maternity hospital in her home. The Doc charged us \$35.00 for his part in the delivery. We thought that no other child could be as pretty as she was, nor loved as much, but Oh! how wrong we were, because we found that each child brought it's own brand of love and they were all loved equally. Nena Gae was born 28 September 1932, then William Melvin the 12 December 1935, Kathryn Ann 4 April 1939 and our last one Melanie was born 17 November 1948. Mustn't forget Wayne Redd Burt was born the 20 February 1944. They were all so loved and were such good little children.

The great depression was in full swing about 1933 and we were expecting our second child and it was very scary as we didn't know where we would get the money for the Doc and hospital. The Gilbert Simmonds lived close and we neighboured quite a bit. They had a daughter Betty who was the same age as Lila. One night Gilbert's Father was killed as he crossed the street and as he had left his home to his daughter Nan, Gilbert came to Mel to help in remodelling it.

I have always felt that this was in answer to our prayers. These two men then decided to buy a farm as we were about to lose our home as there was no work to be found. They found a small farm south of Lehi, Utah and the equity of our home made the down payment and Gilbert had enough money to help fix the two small homes and get some stock etc. so we moved into those homes in the early spring. There were no bathrooms and no running water in either home, but there was a lovely flowing well between the homes and an adequate outhouse behind. We scrubbed our clothes on a board after the men filled the boiler on the coal stove to heat the water.

We raised pigs and finally turkeys and other animals for our food. Mel's Dad gave us another building lot and so as work opened up Mel would take some of the money to the lumber yard for future use on a new home in Salt Lake. Mel built a full basement and the outside walls, put in the windows and doors and we moved into the basement in January of 1939, our Kathy was born while we lived in the basement and we were able to move upstairs just before Christmas. Kathy was born the 4 April just a few weeks after Mel's mother died.

In 1950 our Stake was divided and our Bishop, Elmer Christensen was chosen as Stake President and the next morning we left for Mexico with Fern and Jessie. We were gone for about a month and on our return found that Mel was Bishop of the Millcreek First Ward, a position he held until Mel became ill and had to be released. In 1959 he was ordained as Stake Patriarch. In 1961 we were called to a building mission in old Mexico with headquarters in Monterrey, Nuevo, Mexico. Mel finished a building in Nueva Rosita, one in Monterrey and finished one in Piedras Negras and one in Mexico City. When we went to Piedras Negras it was necessary to send Melanie home to go to school here and Wayne had gone to his mission to Peru. Wayne and Melanie really mourned when they had to leave Mexico and their many friends there.

We are so thankful for the beautiful spirits that were sent into our home, for their lovely companions and their children, and for the way they are teaching their children. We have been married for fifty three years as of now 1982. We have 38 lovely grand-children, and 19 great grand children whom we love dearly. There have been 15 missionaries of the grandchildren and there will be more I am sure. They are our jewels. Our life has been full for which we give thanks to our Father in Heaven.

Pauline died 6 August 1983, Salt Lake City, Utah.

THE REDD FAMILY OF ONSLOW COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA

THE REDD FAMILY OF ONSLOW COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA The State Historical Commission at Raleigh, North Carolina has issued a certificate to a descendant of Whitaker Redd stating that he, Whitaker Redd was in the service in the Revolutionary War, and that William Redd was also a soldier. William was Whitaker Redd's son and he had two sons, Sigle and Kincy.

Legend has it that two Redd Brothers came from Scotland and one settled in Virginia and the other in North Carolina. Another story says they came from Virginia.

It is said that the first court house in Onslow County was located on the sea coast and that it was washed away by a tidal wave in 1852. It is also possible that it may have been earlier than that as a terrible storm swept the coast about 1820 or 30. Anyway nearly all the records were lost. Some people brought their own documents back later to have them recorded but a lot of information never did come back.

William Redd had two brothers, Henry and Whitaker Jr. The father, Whitaker Sr., died in 1786 or 1789. William was born about 1763 and died since 1831. One legend has it that he came from Scotland but that probably is incorrect. There is no record of what became of Henry, but Whitaker Jr., probably went to Wilmington, North Carolina, as a good many of his descendants still live there, though two, John Hardison Redd and sister, Mary Redd Holt, went first to Tennessee and then on to Utah. Some of their descendants live in Brigham City, Utah.

William Redd, evidently was the only Redd that remained in Onslow County, N.C. He married Celah (Pronounced Kala, said to be Indian with no last name) and she had two sons Sigle and Kincy. Sigle was born Dec 6, 1785 at Stump Sound, Onslow Co., and died June 11, 1867. Kincy was born about 1787 and died since 1849.

William later married Margaret Everett and she had three daughters and one son: Nellie Russell; Mary (called Polly); Sarah (called Sally); and William Jr. William next married Sarah Barlow and she had William B., born May 15, 1811, died about 1854 and James B., born about 1814 and died about first of June 1844.

Sigle married Lennie Fields and she had one daughter, Sarah, who married Seth King. After her death he married Susan Annie Anders and to her were born Marquis LaFayette, born Nov. 15 1836, died March 13, 1876; Basil, born May 20 1827, died October 30 1848; Elda S. born Sept. 22 1830, died about 1899; Susan Ann, born

April 13 1833, died about 1895; Sigle Jr., born April 10 1836, died March 30 1883; Alonso, born June 9 1842, died about 1910; Francis Marion, born March 4 1844, died March 20 1907, and Henrietta.

The home of Sigle Redd Sr., was built on a high ridge overlooking the sparkling waters of Stump Sound and the blue expanse of the Atlantic Ocean, and here he reared his family. It must have been a jolly family for even in their old age they retained a lot of humor and love of fun. They were all good citizens and esteemed far and near. They

were noted for their jet black hair and black eyes. Susan said she never took more trouble to her heart than she could kick off with her heels. Francis Marion was wounded in the Civil War. Marquis was sheriff of Onslow county and also a Captain of a company he recruited for service in the the Confederate Army.

Sarah Jane Redd, daughter of Sigle and Lennie Fields Redd, married Seth King and to them were born; Mary who married Thomas Hinen (Hinea); Lemuel Fields who married Mary Atkinson; Oliver, John, Nick, Joseph, Dimmie and one called "Puss" who married and went to New York.

The following children were born to Sigle and Susan Annie Anders Redd; Marquis LaFayette, who married Emily Amy Sidbury, they had one daughter; Susan Rebecca Redd and she married Hill E. King; Elda S. who married William Batson and after his death married Hill Williams; Susan Ann, who married Hill Nixon; Sigle Jr., married Camily Morton; Alonso married Lydia Henderson; Francis Marion married Isabelle Jane Justice; and Henrietta who married John Bishop. We have no record of Basil having ever married.

The mists of time have obscured much of the history of the Redds who first came to Eastern North Carolina. However, the first authentic facts are those taken from the files of the State Historical Commission at Raleigh, N.C. It issued a certificate to a descendant of Whitaker Redd that he, Whitaker, was in service in the Revolutionary War, and that William Redd was also a soldier. William was Whitaker Redd's son and he had one son Kinsey Redd. Kinsey had two sons, Sigle and Amos Aaron.

Legend has it that the two Redd Brothers came from Scotland, and that one settled in Virginia and the other in North Carolina. Another story says the two brothers came from Virginia. The latter story perhaps is true as there is in existence an old chest that the children of Sigle Redd claimed came from Virginia with the first Redds. All that is known definitely now is that Sigle Redd acquired land bordering on Stump Sound in Onslow County and built a home there. The home is still in use. Amos Aaron chose to live in Wilmington. They probably came from Virginia as there are numerous Redds living in Richmond, Va., and the writer knows of no Redds in North Carolina except descendants of these two.

Amos Aaron Redd had a son, Christopher Columbus, who married Kizzie Grant and their descendants live in Wilmington.

Sigle Redd was married twice. His first wife bore one daughter, Sarah, who married Seth King. His last wife was Susan Andrews from near Trenton, North Carolina. They had five sons and two daughters; Marquis LaFayette who married Emily Ann Sidbury; Sigle who married Camilla Norton; Francis Marion who married Isabell Justice; Alonso who married Lydia Aman Henderson; Basil who went to Utah and married there; LDS, called "Elda" who married William Batson and after his death Hill Williams; Susan who married Hill Nixon, and Henrietta who married John Bishop.

The Redd Family Name

THE NAME AND FAMILY OF REDD

Compiled by THE MEDIA RESEARCH BUREAU, Washington, D. C.

The name Redd is believed to have been originally used as a nickname, having reference to the red hair or ruddy complexion of its first bearers. It is found in ancient English and early American records in the various spellings of Rede, Redde, Reede, Reade, Reide, Reid, Redd, and others, of which several of the other forms are more generally used today but that of Redd is still frequently found in America.

Families of this name were resident at early dates in the English Counties of Norfolk, Suffolk, Somerset, Hertford, Kent, Worcester, Oxford, Surrey, Hereford, Buckingham, York, Gloucester, Lincoln, Middlesex, Devon, and London, as well as in various parts of Scotland and Ireland. They were for the most part, of the British landed gentry and yoemanry.

The family was represented as early as the year 1139 by one Brianus le Rede (Brian the Red), from whom was descended William le Rede of Counties Norfolk and Suffolk in the early part of the following century, who was the father by his wife, Margaret Granville, of Robert, who was the father of Falfrinus, who was the father of Robert, William and Thomas, of whom the last was the father of a son also named Thomas, who was living in the year 1429 and was the father of a son named Edmund, who married Christiana James and was the father by her of John Edmund, of whom the latter was the father of Edmund Rede, Lord of Porstal. John, the elder of the lastmentioned brothers, became Mayor of Norwich and was the father of Henry, Edward, and Magdalina, of whom the son Edward married Inez, daughter of Sir Humphrey Stanley, and had, among others, John, Sir Bartholomew of London, and Sir Robert of London, of whom the son John married Joan Ludlow and died in 1502, leaving among other children, a son named Thomas, who was the father by his wife, Philippa Bacon, of William, John, Alan, Edward, and Thomas, of whom the first was married in 1538 to a Miss Tooley, by whom he had issue of Thomas, William and six daughters. Of the last-mentioned brothers; William, the younger, married Anne Fearnley and was the father by her of Sir William and Richard, of whom the first married Gertrude Paston, who gave him two sons, Thomas and Francis, and numerous daughters as well; and Thomas, the elder brother of William, married Margaret Quintz or Quince and was the father by her of Francis, George, and John, of whom the last was the father by his wife, Ursula Cooke, of Thomas and others.

Among other early records of the family in England are those of Robert le Rede of County Surrey in the early thirteenth century, those of Godwin le Rede of County Norfolk in 1273, those of Roger le Rede of Herefordshire about the same time, those of Martin le Rede about the year 1327 and those of William Red and Robert le Rede of Somersetshire during the same period.

The first of the name in America were David Red of an unknown part of Virginia in 1637, Robert Rede of Warwick County, Va., in 1645, and John Redd of Lancaster County, Va., in 1654. The records of the immediate families and descendants of these early settlers, however, have not been found.

Sometime before 1729 James Redd, who may possibly have been descended from one of the above-mentioned immigrants, was living in Virginia. He married a Miss Eastham prior to this date and was the father by her of, probably among others, a son named Samuel, who made his home in Caroline County Virginia. In 1755 this Samuel married Lucy Rogers, by whom he was the father of Fannie, William, Jesse, Lucy, Ann, and Samuel.

William, the eldest son of Samuel and Lucy, married Miss Tyler of Caroline County, but his records are not complete.

Jesse, second son of Samuel and Lucy, married Mary Woodson of Goochland County, Va., but his records are equally incomplete.

Samuel, third son of Samuel and Lucy, was married in 1797 to Elizabeth Taylor of Hanover County, Va., he was the father by her of Lucy Anne, Edmund, Elizabeth, Taylor, Samuel, Emily Harris, Sarah, John Robinson, James Temple, and Louisa.

James Redd, probably a member of another branch of the above-mentioned family, was living in Spotsylvania County, Va., before 1750. He was the father by his wife Elizabeth of Captain Thomas Redd, who settled in Woodford County, Ky., after the Revolutionary War and was the father there of, among others a son named Samuel. This Samuel married Dorothy Bullock and was the father of, among others, a son named Waller Bullock.

Yet another branch of the family in America was represented before 1750 by Thomas Redd of Prince Edward Co, Va., who was born about 1730 and may possibly be another son of the first-mentioned James Redd of Virginia. This Thomas was the father by his wife Frances (nee Anderson) of Charles Anderson, Polly, Sally, Patty, George, John, Thomas, William, and Fanny.

Charles Anderson son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Elizabeth Gresham. He was the father by her of, among others, a son named Albert Gresham, but the records of this line are not complete.

John, son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Mary Truman in the latter part of the eighteenth century and was the father by her of Elbert F., Nancy, Elizabeth, Joseph T., John W, Henry T., and Susan Truman.

Another John Redd, a Major in the Revolutionary War, who was born in Albemarie County, Va., in 1755, settled at an early date in Henrico or Henry County, in

the same colony. By his wife Mary, daughter of Colonel George Waller of Henrico County, he had issue of Annie, (Colonel) James Madison, Elizabeth, Martha, Waller, Edmund Burwell, Polly C., Lucy Dabney, Dr. John Giles, Overton, and Car.

Of the above-mentioned sons of Major John and Mary Redd of Henrico County, Colonel James Madison married Ruth Penn Staples; Waller married Keziah Staples; Edmund Burwell married Sarah Ann Fontaine and had issue by her of Martha, Mary, Celestia, Polly, Ella, John, William Spottswood, James S., and Edmund Madison; Dr. John Giles married Apphia Fauntleroy Carter; Overton married Martha Fontaine; and Carr died young.

Thomas Redd was living in Halifax County Va., in the latter eighteenth century (will dated 1823) and left issue there by his wife Rebeckah or Rebecca of George William, Rebeckah, Thomas, James Tucker, Robert Hoyt, Anderson Cooke, Martha James, Eliza, Sally, Amanda Mayo and Ann. This Thomas also mentioned his brother Robert of Mecklenburg County, Va., but no further record of that line has been found.

The history of the Redds in America is that of a sturdy, self-reliant, resourceful, and courageous race, possessed of physical stamina and perseverance. Other characteristics of the family include generosity, kindliness, and sociability.

Among those of the name who served as officers in the War of the Revolution were the before-mentioned Captain Thomas and Major John, of Virginia; and numerous others from the various other Southern States. There were also many of the name in the ranks of the various States.

John, Thomas, Edmund, Edward, Francis, Robert, David, Samuel, James, George, and William are some of the Christian names most favoured by the family for its male progeny.

A few of the many members of the Family who have attained distinction in America at various times are:

John Redd (b. 1755, deceased), of the South, author.

George Redd (latter eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries), of Virginia, agriculturist and author.

John T.Redd (early nineteenth century). of Missouri, politician.

Rebecca Fergus Redd (early nineteenth century), of New York, novelist.

Annie Bell Redd (latter nineteenth and early twentieth centuries), of Georgia, botanist.

Richard Menefee Redd (latter nineteenth and early twentieth centuries), of

Kentucky, soldier and author.

Leonard B.Redd (early twentieth century), of North Carolina, jurist.

The best known of the Redd, Red or Rede coats of arms are described as follows (Burke, General Armoury, 1884):

Arms. I (Redd or Rede)—-"Azure, a griffin segreant or."

Crest.—-"A garb or, banded gules."

Arms.II(Red)—"Argent, a mullet between three annulets gules, within each a cinquefoil of the last."

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Lower. Dictionary of Family names. 1860

Bardsley. English and Welch Surnames. 1901

Burke. Dictionary of the Landed Gentry. 1852

Burke. General Armoury. 1884

Metcalf. Visitations of Suffolk 1882

Greer. Early Virginia Immigrants. 1912

Wingfield. History of Caroline County, VA. 1924

Virkus. Abridged Compendium of American Genealogy

Vol. 3 1928

Mackenzie. Colonial Families of the United States.

Vol. 2 1911

William and Mary Quarterly. 1912-1913, 1916-1917, etc.

Hill. History of Henry County. 1925

Carrington. History of Halifax County, Va. 1924

Virginia Revolutionary Soldiers. 1912

Redd Family History Preface

FOREWORD

In 1995, several cousins were Temple workers at the Alberta Temple on the same shift, Friday afternoon, Philip Redd, Alma Redd Mendenhall, Merne Laycock Livingstone and her husband Don. Barbara Redd MacPhee was on the Thursday afternoon shift, but often substituted on Fridays. We all enjoyed seeing each other there, and the many cousins who attended — Marvin and Guinivere Redd Torrie, Deanie and Garry Redd Ursenbach, Audrey and Hugh W. Laycock, Irene Redd Jensen, Laurel and Wm. Smellie Redd, and many of the neices and nephews.

One day, Guinivere asked if anyone had ever typed the old "Redd Review" stories into a computer so copies could be made for grandchildren. Alma, Barbara and Merne decided that they would do this, and the project was assigned out and begun during the winter of 1995-96. The "Redd Review" was started about 1959, and was laboriously typed on a manual typewriter by Alma, onto purple ditto masters which were duplicated on a spirit duplicator and collated by Barbara and Uncle Kay Redd. (For you of the younger generation, and some who may have forgotten, see note below for a description of a spirit duplicator.)

Some of the originals of Lura's were carbon copies typed by her on her little manual portable typewriter. She would do a copy for each of her siblings, and if you received some of the last copies, they were very faint. We wonder how she had the strength in her hands to hit those old keys hard enough for that eighth or tenth copy.

Of course, the carbon from the carbon paper sort of splashed, because she had to hit so hard, and that also contributed to the difficulty in reading her copies. But, even if some of the copies were not very clear, we were happy to have them. How our parents treasured them when they came to our homes as Christmas gifts.

Indeed, our family's history would be very sparse if it weren't for Aunt Lura's perseverance and dedication in researching, writing and disseminating it through writing and the spoken word. Much credit also goes to Kay for spear-heading things here in southern Alberta — for collecting the money, assisting in the collating and distributing the Review. Thanks, Kay and Alma!

Histories of our ancestors, in the Redd Review, were written, mostly by Lura Redd, and life stories of William A. Redd's children were begun, but only Will's got included before we ran out of steam, so those of the other children have been added now, 1996, compiled by family members.

For those who would read more of the Redd family, Lura was also the editor of a hard-bound 589-page history and genealogy called THE REDDS OF UTAH which was edited and published by Amasa Mason Redd in 1973. Most of those of the earlier generations will have a copy of this book.

We hope you will enjoy these histories, and distribute copies to your children. *Note: For the information of the younger generation who are used to computers and other electronic gadgets, and have never seen a spirit duplicator, it was considered a marvelous improvement over the hektograph, one of the first methods of duplicating information, after carbon paper. A hektograph was made of a gelatin base, and when the stencil was placed on the gelatin, the ink from the stencils penetrated this gelatin. Sheets of paper were then pressed onto the gelatin, and the words or drawings were blotted onto the sheet, producing a limited number of smeary copies. This was used extensively by school teachers.

The spirit duplicator went a step further. To make a spirit master, a white sheet was placed over an inked sheet of the same size so that, when one typed, the ink would be blotted onto the treated white sheet. This master was fastened to a roller. Then, as a crank was turned, the roller turned, and a white sheet of duplicator paper was automatically pulled across a wick which was moistened from a reservoir of alcohol. This moist paper picked up the inked images from the master and thus a copy was made. A master would do about 90 pages, if one was careful of the alcohol flow, and didn't mind if some of the later copies were faint. Again, a great boon to school teachers.

The Redds of Utah

THE REDD FAMILY OF UTAH

Taken from "The History of Utah" published in 1932

It is important that a state should remember its pioneers, not merely the men who were first in point of time, but those were outstanding in the performance of work, the endurance of hardships, and the fearless confronting of all the difficulties and experiences which are woven like a web into the historic fabric of a commonwealth. Such honors should be paid to various members of the Redd family and their connections. Utah was not the first state in which these families did their part as pioneers. They were the solid industrious stock of American colonists, prominent in the original colonies along the Atlantic Coast, and also were identified with successive waves of migration, homebuilding and state-making in the historic progress across the mountains, across the Mississippi Valley, and finally into the Great Basin.

A grandfather of the present generation of the Redd family drove a wagon across the plains in the Mormon migration of 1850. The deeds and leadership of the family are particularly identified with the history of San Juan, Utah. The story of the colonization of that valley could not be told without repeated reference to the activities and influences of the Redd family. They were first and foremost in point of settlement and in pioneer

labors which brought that district into touch with the economic and political order of the rest of the state.

In order to trace properly the ancestry of this family it is necessary to go back several generations, before they came to Utah. The first prominent ancestor met with in the record bore the name of William Hancock. He went to North Carolina in 1707, as an attorney for Lord Pollock. In the same year he received a grant of land on the Neuse River near Newbern. In 1708-09 and in 1717 he was a member of the North Carolina Assembly. In 1723 he was appointed by the North Carolina Assembly at Edenton a commissioner to sell lots at Newbern. William Hancock and his wife, Eliza, had a son, Hector Hancock, who was born in Carteret County, North Carolina, and died in 1721. Hector and his wife, Ann, were the parents of Nathaniel Hancock, of Onslow County, North Carolina. Nathaniel Hancock married Sarah Ward, daughter of Enoch and Mary (Shackelford) Ward. Enoch Ward, of Carteret County, was a contemporary of William Hancock and his name also appears in the records as a member of the North Carolina Assembly. Nathaniel Hancock died in 1800. His son, Zebedee Hancock, born in January 1760, and died in Onslow County in 1820, married Abigail Taylor, daughter of William and Elizabeth Taylor. Abigail Taylor was born in 1761. A daughter of Zebedee Hancock was Elizabeth Hancock, who was born January 25, 1797, in Onslow County, and died in 1853. She became the wife of John Hardison Redd.

John Hardison Redd was born December 27, 1799, and died June 15, 1858 at Spanish Fork, Utah. He was the son of Whitaker and Elizabeth Redd. Whitaker was born in Onslow County and died in 1828, being a son of Whitaker Redd Sr., of Onslow County, who died either in 1786 or 1789. John Hardison Redd was known as Captain Redd, since he was a sea-faring man. He was also a North Carolina merchant, and a man of unusual learning and accomplishment.

In 1838 Capt John Hardison Redd, with his family, left Onslow County and settled in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. There he acquired a large plantation, owning numerous negro slaves. The course of his life as a southern slave-holding planter was completely changed in 1842, when he became a convert to the Mormon faith At that time he liberated his slaves, though because of their regard for him, some of them followed him to Utah. He had also been a planter. His father, Whitaker Redd, had been a Revolutionary soldier.

Two years before the family left their old home in Onslow County, a son, Lenuel Hardison Redd, was born July 31, 1836. He was about six years of age when the family accepted their new faith, and at the age of fourten he was a sturdy boy, capable of doing his part in the migration across the plains to the new Zion. From St. Joseph, Missouri, he drove an ox team. When an old man he frequently recounted the incidents of the journey, and that story made a lasting impression on the memory of his grandson, Mr. Charles Redd. Both Lemuel and his father were attacked by the cholera. Lemual H. Redd told of the scenes impressed upon his memory in seeing hundreds of people buried along the roadsides. He described the terror caused by the threat of Indian attack and pictured the stampeding of thousands of buffalo on the plains.

It was in October 1850 that the family, after many toils, arrived in Salt Lake City. During the following winter Lemual Hardison Redd attended school at Provo. The next spring the family moved to Spanish Fork. The Redds and the family of William Pace were the pioneers of that locality in Utah Co. At Spanish Fork, Captain Redd helped built the first sawmill south of Provo. When the Indian War broke out in 1853, the mill and town were destroyed and the family sought a place of safety at Palmyra.

Lemuel Hardison Redd in 1852 was baptized and ordained a priest. During the Walker War, which started in July 1853, he did his part as a soldier and was an officer in all the Indian wars of the state. Though he had few opportunities for schooling during his youth, because his family were first pioneers in Tennessee and then in Utah, he became educated beyond most of this contemporaries and was particularly well informed in history and biography. He served six years as member of the County Court and also acted as Probate judge. During the invasion of General Johnston's army, he went with Captain Andrus' company of soldiers to Green River to ascertain the plans of the enemy. The company was gone a month and one man and one horse were killed by the Indians.

Lenuel Hardison Redd, on January 2, 1856, married Keziah Jane Butler, who proved a faithful wife and loving mother to her thirteen children. The Butlers also introduced other lines of strong and valiant pioneer ancestry. Keziah Jane Butler was born in Simpson County, Kentucky, February 25, 1836, daughter of John Lowe and Caroline F. (Skeen) Butler. John Lowe Butler was born April 8, 1808, and died in 1861. He was a son of James and Charity (Lowe) Butler, and grandson of William and Phoebe (Childres) Butler. Charity Lowe was born January 12, 1782, in South Carolina, daughter of William and Margaret (Farr) Lowe, and granddaughter of John Lowe and Nancy Butler, and Barnabas and Dorothy Farr. William Lowe was born in Virginia, February 12, 1756 and died in 1835, while his wife, Margaret, was born in Pennsylvania in 1761. John Lower Butler kept a diary, still in possession of his descendants, and in it he recorded that both he and his wife were children and grandchildren of Revolutionary sires. His grandfather, William Lowe, enlisted in the army of the Revolution in 1775, serving in the company commanded by Capt. Joseph Phillips, William Dobson, Minor Smith and Joel Lewis. In 1781 William Butler served in Colonel Picken's regiment.

The Butler family arrived in Utah in the fall of 1852, and John Lowe Butler was prominent in the founding of Spanish Fork. He was appointed by President Brigham Young to survey the land, lay off blocks and city lots and bring water from the river to the settlement. His wife, Caroline F. Skeen, was born in Sumner County, Tennessee, April 15, 1812 and died in 1875. She was a daughter of Jesse and Keziah (Taylor) Skeen, and granddaughter of John or Alexander Skeen and Robert and Nancy Taylor. Jesse Skeen was born in Sumner Co., Tenn., and died in 1842, and Keziah Taylor was born April 11, 1778.

After his marriage, Lemuel Hardison Redd, Sr., went with his wife to fill a mission for the church at Las Vegas, New Mexico. He was a member of the fifteenth Quorum of Seventy. In 1862 he helped found New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah,

holding many offices there, and in 1866 bought a homestead at New Harmony, completing an unfinished brick house, in which he lived until 1878. He was for twenty years a bishop of his church.

In 1866 married as his second wife, Sarah Louisa Chamberlain, who bore him fourteen children.

Under orders of the head of the church, Lemuel Hardison Redd Sr., with George W. Sevy, George Morril and George H. Hobbs, comprised a party of explorers or advance guards sent out to locate the San Juan River and select the best place for the building of a road that would lead the later colonists to Southern Utah. It was a very difficult and perilous trip and its record is an important part of the undertaking of colonizing the San Juan.

In the Fall of 1879 this party of four pioneers made their own road from Escalante to the San Juan settlement, which they named Bluff. They had left the main body of colonizers, comprising eighty-three wagons, about eighty men and 150 persons in the entire company, comprising men, women and children, and for twenty-five days in midwinter, they plodded through deep snow with only a pack mule to carry provisions, and for four days of this time they were without food altogether.

Lemuel Hardison Redd Sr., lived for many years to enjoy the fruits of his ppioneer enterprise in helping lead the colonists into the San Juan. He died June 9, 1910. As one of his associates wrote of him: "Brother Redd was looked up to as a kind, sensible, resourceful man of wide experience, a consistent Latter-day Saint, and was respected as such. Personally, I always looked upon your father as one who contributed of himself and his wonderful family a great offering, for not only San Juan Mission, but to the whole work of our church and country, and I appreciate very much the honor of laboring and associating with many of them."

Representing the second generation of this pioneer family in Utah was Lemuel Hardison Redd Jr., who was born at Spanish Fork, October 5, 1856, and lived a life of usefulness and honor, closed in death on June 1, 1923. He was his father's oldest child. At the age of eight he was baptized, and was ordained a teacher at the age of fourteen, and an elder at twenty-two. During 1875-76 he was a student in the University of Deseret, now the University of Utah. After that he taught for a year, and in 1878 he married Eliza Ann Westover. In 1884 he married Lucy Lyman.

Lemuel Hardison Redd Jr. was also a member of the party of Saints that colonized the San Juan Riover Valley in 1879. In 1881 he was ordained high priest and set apart as second counselor to Bishop Jens Nielson, in which capacity he labored for twenty years, and on Bishop Nielson's death became bishop of Bluff. In 1910 he was made president of the San Juan Stake. He was superintendent of the Ward Sunday School, secretary of the Y.M.M.I.A., was ward clerk, for fifteen years superintendent of the San Juan Co-operative Store and president of a large number of business organizations in that county. He organized the first bank in Southeastern Utah, and

promoted and secured the funds for the establishment of water and light systems at Monticello and Blanding in San Juan County.

Lemuel Hardison Redd Jr. took a great deal of pride and satisfaction in the knowledge that he was one of the founders of San Juan County. In speaking of the events of early days and referring to San Juan County as a community that was an asset to the state, he constantly spoke in words that would be used by a proud father in referring to a worthy son.

He was characterized by a remarkable intelligence, business ability of a high order, and personally he was, as one of his friends put it, "a man quiet and unpretentious, firm as a rock and humble as a child." The children of his first marriage were Lulu, Lemuel H., Hattie Helen, Herbert H., Edith, Charles, Marian, and May, and those of his second wife were Carlie, Frank,. Annie and Amasa J.

* * * * * * *

Taken from the journal of John D. Lee at 'Summer Quarters' 13 miles north of Winter Quarters, and was mainly a farm owned by Brigham Young, and worked by John D. Lee, his adopted son.

July 1, 1847 "At about 6 p.m. Brother John H. Redd and Islam Gilliam both of Rutherford Co., Tenn., arrived in camp. John H. Redd, an old man, Captain, formerly from South Carolina, had protected Lee when Mormon missionaries in Rutherford County were attacked by a mob." He later became converted and the prefix 'Bro.' indicates he was a Mormon at that time.

July 4, 1847 "Left Brother John H. Redd considerably difficulted in his mind about moving to the west. After meeting Brother Redd, I, Gilliam and several others dined with John D. Lee." (Note: John H. Redd later emigrated and founded the Redd family of south-eastern Utah.)

July 5, 1847 "Clear, wind, S.W. About 8 o'clock friend Gilliam, Sister Caroline (Gilliam's wife) and John H. Redd started for Tennessee, their native land."

"First Families of Utah" Utah census of 1850 listed the following, the family and servants of John H. Redd.

John H. Redd 51 M

Elizabeth 52 F

Ann M. 19 F

Ann E. 18 F

Mary C. 15 F

Lemuel H. 14 M

John H. 13 M

Benjamin 8 M

(Servants of J. H. Redd) The following had been slaves, but were freed and had followed their former master to Utah.

Venis 40 F Black

Chancey 38 F Black

Luke 19 M Yellow

Marinda 18 F Yellow

Annie 14 F Yellow

Sam 17 M Yellow

* * * * * * *

Rutherford County Records "A list of preperty was taken and returned by Miles p. Murphy Esq. in district 8 of Rutherford County, Tenn., for the year 1849. John H. Redd — 175 acres of land valued at \$1250.00, tax \$1.44. Four slaves valued at \$1600.00, tax \$1.84. Other property valued at \$915.00, tax \$1.04. Polls 1 tax .15. State tax \$4.47, State and County tax \$7.45."

All this would indicate that John H. Redd did not move to Nauvoo, but went from Tennessee to Utah in 1850, that on April 3, 1844, when he and his wife, Elizabeth

Hancock Redd, had their patriarchal blessings (under the hands of Hyrum Smith) they came on a visit only to Nauvoo and returned to Tennessee.

Redds of Virginia

HISTORY OF REDD FAMILY OF VIRGINIA

By J.S.Redd, of Pacos, Halifax Co. Va.

At the solicitation of the descendants of the Redd family of Virginia, I have consented to undertake the task of collecting the information and data required to trace the family from its earliest times in English history.

It has been by no means an easy matter to compile the various names, dates, incidents, and circumstances which have been gathered for this purpose. After consulting many authors, both American and English, visiting and examining family burying grounds, private libraries, together with much correspondence with old friends and relatives, also tedious examination of records of various County Clerks' Offices, the writer believes he is prepared to give a fairly accurate sketch of the family, from the arrival in Virginia of the first of the name, to the present time, also a partial history of the family down from its origin in England to the present time, through many generations to the emigration to Virginia.

The Redd name is a very uncommon one and there is little doubt that all the families of that name in Virginia and in the other Southern and Western States are descendants of the same ancestor, SIR WILLIAM RUFUS de REDDS who came to Virginia from England, with Governor Alexander Spottswood, during the early part of Queen Anne's reign, 1702-1714.

Before entering into particulars of the different branches of the family after coming to this country, an account of the ancestry before coming from England, as far as practicable, will be given, and it may be well at this juncture to mention this fact, that the writer has availed himself of every means and source of information possible, not only the traditions of the family, but the family records; and the older members of the family have been consulted time and time again, the information gathered carefully and compared with country, state and government registers and records. Also many reliable histories, biographies, and historical works of various authors have been carefully pursued, thus enabling the writer to give a fair and impartial account of the most important incidents, which may have occurred from the earliest time to the present. In collecting the data and material for the history, the following works and histories have chiefly relied upon: Humme, Robertson, Scott, Maconley, Makay Skeat, Burnet, Wirt, Bancroft and Irving. Other authors of celebrity have occasionally been consulted, and while positive authority can not be given for each and every incident narrated, yet in the main, the most important particulars and circumstances may be relied upon as true beyond reasonable doubt.

From the best authority that can be found, it cannot be doubted that the name Redd or de Redde, as it was originally called, had its origin with a noble house, that of William Rufus, the son of the Conqueror, which latter is known by every school boy as the first of the Norman kings in England, and mounted the throne of England immediately after the famous battle of Hastings, fought in the year 1066. English historians have generally denied that William I or William Rufus was lawfully married. This statement is not true, as there is authority of the highest order to establish the fact that he was married, but not 'in the purple,' as it was then called, which means that he was not married during his reign. He was, however, married before the death of his father, the Conqueror, and had one son. This son was also named William, and accompanied his uncle Robert, Duke of Normandy and his crusading army to Jerusalem during the year 1098, that being known in history as the 'First Crusade.' For authority as to this statement the reader is referred to the works of Rev. E. Cobham Breeder, LLD, of Trinity Hall, Cambridge, England, and also Lasso, "Jerusalem Delivered."

The following is transcribed from the writing of the first of these authors. "William, the son of King William Rufus, accompanied his uncle Robert, Duke of Normandy, in the Crusading Army. He wore a casque of gold and was a leader of a large army of English or British Boldmen and Irish volunteers." During his absence in the Holy Land, his father, William Rufus de Redde, died, and the English people having been duped into the belief, or for some cause, conceiving that his son and heir, William, had perished in the wars of the crusade, placed Henry (Banclere) the brother of William Rufus, upon the throne. Some years after the accession of Henry to the throne of England, William the Crusader returned from the crusading wars to England, and finding that his uncle Henry had usurped the throne, he took steps immediately to recover his rights, and having married Catherine, daughter of the Duke of Acquitania, he was persuaded by his father-in-law and other friends, not to risk his claim to the throne by a resort to force until his plans were more fully matured. This state of affairs remained unchanged for several years. When William again began to make his plans and marshal his forces with the view of recovering his father's crown, he was suddenly taken with a violent form of fever and death soon ended his sufferings.

There is no account given of any further attempt being mady by William's descendants in prosecuting their claims to the crown of England, and the next event of any importance seems to have been the marriage of William's grandson, Sir Lionel de Redd (that name having been adopted in the family), with Elizabeth, daughter of Count Faulke (pronounced Foulka). This was the same Count Faulke whose second wife was Matilda, the widowed daughter of King Henry the First. Matilda was married to Charles Fifth, Emperor of Germany, and the potentate died without children. Matilda then married Count Faulke as already mentioned, by whom she had Henry II, who proved to be one of England's greatest monarchs, and who was one of the first of the illustrious line of Plantagenet Kings.

Possibly it is somewhat irrelevant to the subject, but if it does not tax the patience of the reader too much, it may be interesting to some to know the singular manner in

which the cognomen "Plantagenet" originated. The best authority extant gives the following curious account as being the most probably true. This Count Faulke, who was the father of King Henry II, was a zealous Roman Catholic, and having committed some crime of a very grave nature, conceived the idea of expiating his guilt by a pilgrimage to Rome, and after making a full confession, throwing himself upon the mercy of the Pope. Having done this, the Pope, after having fully considered the matter, announced to the Count that he must remain at the Vatican a certain number of days, and at a given hour every morning, after having offered up fervent prayers, he must proceed to a neighboring forest and chastise himself upon his naked body with a scourge made of the twigs taken from a tough plant, the Latin name of which is "Plantagueista", meaning "Broom Plant." After having executed the sentence upon himself as directed, Count Faulke returned to England with his conscience greatly relieved, and adopted the word "Plantagenet" as the motto upon his coat of arms, which was ever after retained by his descendants. There are other accounts extant of this strange adventure, but the foregoing is generally accepted as the true explanation.

After this digression, we will return to Sir Lionel de Redd, who married Elizabeth, daughter of Count Faulke. There seems to be nothing of moment given in the meagre account of his life, and the next in succession was the grandson of Sir Lionel, who was created a Peer of the realm and was known as "Baron de Redde," his full christian name, however, has not been ascertained. The next in line of succession was Baron William Rufus de Redde, son of the preceding, who accompanied his kinsman, Richard I, (Coeur de Lion) in the war of the third crusade, about the year 1192. This knight, by his splendid valor and chivalrous bearing, won the respect and admiration of all, and was held in much dread by the Saladin's whole army, and at the same time he was greatly esteemed by his own comrades. It was about this period that the usage of "Coats of Arms" was adopted in heraldry. They were first worn during the crusading expeditions to distinguish the various noble knights when wrapped in complete steel armour. The coat of arms of Baron de Redde was in the shape of a shield with bars of alternate colors of red and black diagonally from side to side, and for the crest, a cross protected with swords, making a suggestive and beautiful device. The motto inscribed upon one of the bars near the middle, "Veritas et Animi Vincit" (Truth and Courage Conquer.) When King Richard returned to England from the crusades, Baron de Redde was one of his escorts, and when the king was taken and held prisoner by the treacherous Archduke Leopold while enroute home, Baron de Redde remained in prison with him until the English people paid a ransom for their king's release. This Baron de Redde was one of the famous assembly of English Barons that compelled King John to sign the celebrated "Magna Carta" in the year 1215.

The house of de Redde continued firm supporters of the crown from this time onward until the period of the "Wars of the Roses," when William Lionel de Redde, Earl of Beresford, embraced the cause of the House of Lancaster, and was killed in the battle of (Barrest?) fighting side by side with the famous "King Maker," Earl of Warwick, in the cause of the unfortunate King Henry VI, and it is said that when that terrible battle was over, his body was found near that of the Earl of Warwick's, both with faces to the enemy, lying stiff in death. This battle, as is well known by those familiar with English

history, decided the claims of the two contestants to the British crown, and the House of York having been successful in the final struggle, Edward IV ascended the throne. This king was so brutal and vindictive toward the friends and adherents of the House of Lancaster, that they were the subjects of the worst severe punishments and terrible hardships, among others, the lands and estates of the house of 'de Redde' were confiscated and the surviving members of the family fled to foreign countries to escape the vengeance of the relentless tyrants. Many years after, when the noble Earl of Richmond wrested the crown from Richard III, and mounted the throne as Henry VII, a great many friends of the House of Lancaster were recalled from exile and restored to their titles and estates, and among them was the son of Viscount Rufus Beresford de Redde, whose christian name was William Beresford.

The titles and estates of the House of de Redde were transmitted from father to son, from this time through several reigns without incidents of special interests having occurred until the period of the revolution of 1688, when the head of the house at that time, William Lionel de Redde, espoused the cause of the Prince of Orange, and was a participant in many of the battles between James II and that Prince, after William III. He was distinguished for his gallant conduct at the battle of Killiecrankie, in the highlands of Scotland, fought between the forces of the two kings, William and James, during the year 1689, and was seriously wounded in that battle, which wound resulted in his death a few years later. His son and heir, Sir William Rufus de Redde, succeeded to his titles and estates, and being convinced that King James was unjustly and unlawfully deprived of his right to the throne, he entered the army of King James and was faithful to the cause of that unfortunate monarch until death relieved him of his earthly troubles at St. Germanius.

After the death of King James, Sir William Rufus de Redde, with many other nobles and prominent men, was compelled to seek safety in foreign lands, until the end of the reign of the Prince of Orange, when he returned to England. He eventually came to Virginia with His Excellency Gov. Alexander Spottswood during the reign of Queen Anne. After his arrival in Virginia, he found it expedient to discard his titles and nobility, and was known only as plain Mr. Redd. The Norman French prefix of "de" was discarded and the spelling of the name changed from Redde to Redd. He was an intimate friend of Gov. Spottswood, having married his niece, a Miss Moore, by whom he had three sons, John Rufus, Thomas and George.

Col. Rufus Redd, the oldest son of Sir William Rufus de Redde, was born in Spotsylvania Co., Virginia. He was educated with the view of preparing him for the profession of Law, and after passing such courses of instruction as the American schools at that time were prepared to give, he was sent to England to finish his education. He then travelled through several European countries and returned to Virginia, though he did not enter the profession of Law as was first contemplated. Having represented his country with distinction in the House of Burgesses of Virginia, he entered the military service of that colony with the rank of Lt. Colonel. During the French and Indian wars, he was engaged in several battles and rendered valuable service to his government. He married a grand-daughter of Gov. Spottswood, who was also the daughter of Capt.

Nathaniel Daudridge, whose brother, Admiral William Daudridge, commanded a squadron of ships of war in the famous battle of La Hague, which occurred off the coast of France, May 19, 1692, between the forces of the Prince of Orange and Louis XIV of France. In this engagement Sir William Daudridge rendered signal services, and was promoted by the Prince of Orange, for bravery and gallant conduct. Unfortunately he received a wound from a cannon shot which caused him the loss of a leg, and very soon he died from the effect of the wound. He married Miss Unity West, a grand-daughter of Lord Delaware, for whom the State of Delaware was named.

A few years after his marriage, Col. John Rufus Redd moved to Buckingham County, where he resided until his death, though he lived to an extreme old age, and was for many years connected with the public service, both civil and military. He was appointed by the Governor of Virginia, among other eminent officers, to accompany General Braddock upon his famous expedition against the French and Indians at Fort Duquesne 1755. Col. Redd, though seriously wounded in the disastrous battle, assisted Washington in saving the body of General Braddock from mutiliation by the Indians, and also aided him in preventing a total rout of the British Army. After this he returned to his home in Buckingham County where he reared a large and happy family, and it appears he did not again enter public life, until the beginning of the "Revolutionary War" when the Declaration of Independence was signed. Though nearly half a century in years, he again entered the service of the revolted colonies, and was actively engaged in that war until the battle of Camden when he was again seriously wounded whilst heroically exposing his person and life defending the brave and noble De-Kalb from immediate death. When General Gates, the hero of Saratoga, soon after his signal victory over the English General Burgoyne, was sent to take command of the army of South Carolina, Washington wished to send certain important instructions to him and selected Col. Redd to bear the dispatches. He was too late, however, to deliver them in time, as General Gates, flushed with his late successes in New York, had already, against the advice and solemn protest of Baron De-Kalb and other experienced officers, commenced battle when Col. Redd arrived. The disastrous defeat of the Americans in that battle, together with the subsequent disgrace of the once proud and haughty G ates, is familiar to every school boy, and need not be dealt upon in this work.

The gallant bearing and services of Col. Redd in this battle won him high praise and commendation of the Commander-in-Chief, who rewarded him with a letter of recommendation to the President of the Continental Congress for promotion. This letter is extant and can be seen at the rooms of the Society for the Preservation of Virginia Antiquities at Richmond, Va. He was too much disabled by his wounds to participate longer in the war and lived a quiet life at his home the remainder of his days. He left a large family of eleven children, six sons and five daughters, an account of whose lives, together with their descendants will be given, so far as can be ascertained.

The reader has doubtless discovered that Governor Spottswood was one of the ancestors of many of those for whose benefit this work is compiled, hence a brief sketch of some of the chief incidents of his life may not be out of place. Gov. Spottswood (the name was originally spelled Spotiswood) was born in Worcestershire, England, June 24

1678. He was of noble parentage, being a scion of the illustrious House of Warwick, on his paternal side, and his mother was a daughter of the Earl of Brandon. Very little is known of his early life except that he acquired an excellent education, and his personal manners were finished and highly polished. After arriving at the age of maturity he adopted the military profession. He is described by his contemporaries, as a man of splendid physique, tall and athletic in stature, proud and distinguished in bearing, and open and fearless in looks, yet that grand, majestic body carried a heart as true, tender and sympathetic as that of Bere____.

During the distractions, perturbations and political troubles that paralyzed and almost destroyed the English government, arising from the contentions and wars between the House of Stewart and the Prince of Orange, young Spottswood cast his fortune with the _____ and was engaged in several of the most important battles. He was promoted twice on the field of battle for his heroic bearing and distinguished services and was regarded by the famous Duke of Marlborough as one of the most promising young officers of the army. Upon accession of Queen Anne to the English throne, Spottswood again entered the army and held a prominent position near the person of the great Marlborough at the famous Battle of Blenheim, between the English and the French, in the year 1704. When peace was declared he continued in service, holding an important command in the English army, but when the claims of the Prince of Wales (known as the Pretender) began to be agitated, Spottswood was persuaded by the friends and adherents of the House of Stuart, that the heirs of James II had the strongest claim to the crown, and it was feared by the ministers and government of Queen Anne that he would espouse the cause of the young Prince of Wales, then called by the Jacobites, James III, but whether these rumors concerning young Spottswood were well founded or not, probably will never be known.

Yet, there can be no doubt that the Queen's advisers regarded the situation as sufficiently serious to appoint him to a different arm of the service. About this time the different colonies were giving the mother country so much trouble by their petty quarrels and varied interests, that the home government found it difficult to secure the services of men possessed of sufficient administrative abilities and qualifications to properly discharge the many duties devolving upon the colonial executives, and as Spottswood was undoubtedly possessed of many of these qualities, as well as being a man of strictest integrity, the high and honorable office of Governor of Virginia was offered him, by the unanimous voice of the ministry, which he accepted and immediately came to Virginia to assume the duties of this high and honorable position.

Governor Spottswood, by his statesman-like course, his kind, though firm administration of the government of Virginia, soon won the confidence and inspired the respect and love of the people. Business and trade of all kinds assumed a healthy shape, order was restored and observance of the laws established everywhere in the colony. His humane course toward the Indians, and just dealings among his own people caused him to be greatly loved by those under his control, and respected as well as feared by the enemies of the colony. The writer has neither time nor space to devote to a more elaborate account of this great man, but will venture taxing the patience of the reader, that

a brief mention of the Governor's famous "transmountain" expedition may be made.

This occurred during the year 1715. It is believed at the time no white man had ever crossed the Blue Ridge Mountains, and consequently nothing was known of the great "Valley of Virginia" lying between the two great ranges of the Appalachian System, save the meagre accounts given by the savages, but Governor Spottswood conceived the idea of exploring that part of the country lying west of the mountains. In the month of September, 1715, with an escort of about fifty gentlemen selected from the most talented and cultivated classes, the Governor started upon his famous expedition over the Blue Ridge Mountains. Nearly the whole region of the country west of Richmond was, at that time, almost an expanse of unbroken forest, and they were continually exposed to the attacks of hostile Indians by day and ferocious wild animals by night. However, after many hardships they succeeded in reaching the summit of the Blue Ridge by the first of October, a distance of nearly three hundred miles.

After passing over that beautiful table-land, now composing the counties of Floyd and Montgomery, they came in view of the far-famed "Valley of Virginia." This was the first time the eyes of a white man had ever rested upon that immense body of rich lands, stretching from a point near the beautiful city of Staunton, a distance nearly a hundred miles, to the lovely plateau upon which rests the quaint, though historic, tower of Winchester, made memorable a thousand times over by the glorious deeds and numerous victories achieved by the immortal Stonewall Jackson, whose indomitable spirit gave such an impetus to the waning fortunes of the "Lost Cause," and of whom the great Lee said when hearing of his death, "I have lost my right arm."

At the time that Governor Spottswood and his escort viewed this grand prospect of the great wealth and prosperity to be realized by coming generations, it was a vast wilderness, the home of the wolf, the bear and the panther, and the hunting ground of the implacable savage. A few fleeting generations pass away, and what a change! Could the grand old hero and his knightly attendants have assumed mortality again, they would hardly have recognized the panorama.

Instead of an almost boundless wilderness, with the varied species of gigantic trees, intermingled with a vigorous undergrowth of vines and tangles of all descriptions, they would have witnessed numerous flourishing towns and growing villages in every direction. They would have espied large plantations and splendid farms, whose unrivalled fertility and thorough state of cultivation would have surpassed their wildest dreams. They would have seen thousands of acres of the most fertile of loamy lands, lying between the mountain ranges and the picturesque rivers and brooklets, yielding immense crops of wheat, corn, clover and various grasses, and here and there rich pastures with great herds of horses, sheep and cattle of the finest breeds; the beautiful and convenient Dutch cottages appearing amidst shady groves of flourishing trees, while ever and anon the lordly residence of some wealthy planter, situated upon some beautiful plateau that commanded a vast area of its owner's wealth swept grandly into view.

This may give some idea of that beautiful section, the home of the southern

planter, before the Civil War, a section in which soil, climate and natural convenience combine to make it all man could desire. This may give some idea of that beautiful section known as the "Great Valley of Virginia," immortalized forevermore by the memories of Stonewall Jackson and his horses. Such was the vast region discovered by the heroic Spottswood nearly two hundred years before.

After Governor Spottswood's party had remained some days in the wilderness they prepared to return, but found their horses had become so much disabled from travelling the rough rocky hills and mountains that they were compelled to adopt some plan of protecting their horses' feet. Owing to the flat country and soft, sandy nature of the lands in eastern Virginia, horses were used without shoes. Consequently they found themselves in a serious dillemma—hundreds of miles from home, in a wilderness surrounded by hostile savages, horses lame and unfit to travel, while there appeared no means to provide them with shoes. But it is said "necessity is the mother of invention." Fortunately they had brought some forging hammers and other blacksmith tools. Having gathered a lot of rich iron ore, they soon constructed a small forge, by which means some very good pieces of iron were produced, and in the course of a very few days, they had their horses shod, which then led them to start on their homeward journey.

To commemorate this famous expedition, Gov. Spottswood sent to England, and had a number of beautiful gold badges in the shape of a horseshoe made and presented them to his companions upon that expedition. He also at that time instituted the famous "Trans-Mountain Order," generally known as the "Knights of the Golden Horseshoe." He also had built the first furnace for smelting iron, that was ever established in America. This was at Germania on the beautiful Rappahamack river.

On the breaking out of the Spanish War, Gov. Spottswood left his home at Germania to take command of the Colonial troops, but died before sailing, on the 19 of April 1739 at Anapolis, Md. (Note: Historians differ as to the nativity of Gov. Spottswood, as some writers claim that he was born at Tangier, Africa, but the most common opinion is that he was born in England as heretofore stated in this work.)

The writer will remember it has been stated Col. JOHN RUFUS REDD married Miss Daudridge, a grand-daughter of Gov. Spottswood, that he moved to Buckingham Co., where he resided the remainder of his life, having reared a large family of six sons and five daughters.

MAJOR JOHN REDD, the oldest son of Col. John Rufus Redd was born in Buckingham Co., Va., Oct. 20, 1755. He was inclined to travel and loved adventure. At the age of 17 he left his father's home and settled in Henry Co., then a part of Halifax Co., and while the lands were very fertile, with excellent climate, civilization had not made the rapid strides that other sections of the state had enjoyed. The Revolutionary War with England, having been declared four years later, Major John Redd, being then only 21 years of age, was among the first to declare himself and volunteered his services for his country's freedom. Having invested his effects in lands, he joined the first company of volunteers raised in his section, under Captain Bryce Martin, and although a mere boy,

was elected 2nd Lieutenant of the company. He was said to have made a gallant soldier, and was distinguished for his activity and bravery throughout that terrible war. He was present at the surrender of Lord Cornwallis at Yorkton on the memorable day of Oct. 19, 1781. Then and there, he is said, and believed by many, to have fired the last gun in that long and bloody struggle for freedom. Certain it is that he was promoted upon the field at Yorkton brevetted "Major of Cavalry" under the eyes of Washington.

The following paragraph is taken from the "American Monthly Magazine" of September 1893. The article is in connection with the death of the late Mrs. William Ballard Preston, widow of Hon. William Ballard Preston, Confederate States Senator, from Virginia. "This lady was the granddaughter of Major John Redd, a gallant officer of the Revolution who, for conspicuous valor, was promoted on the field of Yorkton, where it is believed he fired the last gun of that battle, the last battle of the Revolution — the last gun fired. Fancy pictures that anxious soldier as he fires that last gun, and its echo seems still to sound the knell of Tyranny, and the old flint rifle that spoke the closing words for liberty may still be seen. This old gun that carried the last shot of the Revolution fired by the gallant Maj. Redd was among the first rifles made in America; it weighed 27 pounds and is six feet long."

After peace was declared with Great Britain, Major John Redd returned to his new home in Henry Co., and devoted his time to the improvement of his lands. He married Miss Mary Waller, the accomplished daughter of Col. George Waller, who was also an officer in the Revolution. Major Redd was blessed with a family of ten children, five sons and five daughters of whom all lived to the age of maturity. Being a man of wealth, his first care was to see to the education of his children, all of whom were sent to the best schools and the most of them graduated with distinction and honors. At the age of fifty he was probably the owner of nearly one-third of the best land in the county, well stocked with horses, sheep and cattle of various breeds, and several hundred slaves. He had been elected time and again to nearly every important office within the gift of the people, and represented Henry County in the Legislature nearly twenty years. He was a member of the Legislature during the session of 1778-99 and voted for the famous "Virginia and Kentucky Resolutions," after which the people continued to elect him until he refused to serve any longer.

Of his many sterling qualities and noble traits of character, too much cannot be said, but the plan of this work will not admit an extended account of the circumstances incident to the lives of individuals. There are, however, several incidents connected with his life that should be mentioned; one of which the writer believes will be of interest to the general reader. Some of those living will remember that the year 1832 witnessed much suffering throughout the land, caused by an unprecedented drought. The very poor of the land were begging and starving everywhere; many children were found dead in their beds, while their parents were straggling about in every direction begging for bread and work. Major Redd, seeing the awful situation, did not wait for the slow process of courts, and other authorities, but gave directions to his agents and overseers to search out the destitute and suffering wherever found and caused them to be supplied with food from his plantations and clothing from his stores, until they could help themselves. He

would never receive anything in the way of remuneration. The County offered to make a levy to repay him but he refused to receive a farthing, telling the authorities that the blessings of Providence that he had experienced, and the satisfaction of having relieved the suffering and needy, were sufficient pay.

Major Redd died at the advanced of ninety-five, at his homestead (Marrowbone) located in the southern part of Henry Co. and was buried in the family cemetery Aug. 11, 1850. The cemetery is located near the residence, and two acres of ground, including a beautiful plateau fronting to the west, were set apart as a burial ground for his children and children's children forever. In the centre, under a huge oak tree can be seen the tomb of the grand old patriarch, beside that of his well-beloved wife. This cemetery is remarkable, not only for its beautiful location, but also for the splendid and costly enclosure, made entirely of granite foundation and furnished with the best iron and steel railing. The whole structure is of substantial character calculated to withstand the storms and tempests of centuries. Already six generations have representatives within its sacred precinct, but there is ample space for many more which doubtless will be occupied in due time.

WALLER REDD, the oldest son of Major John Redd, was born April 1786, married Miss Kezia Staples, by whom he had one child, Lucinda Staples Redd, a beautiful and highly accomplished woman. She married one of Virginia's greatest statesmen, Hon. William Ballard Preston, who was Minister to France during the administration of President Pierce, and also Confederate States Senator from Virginia. From this marriage there were five children, one of whom is the accomplished Mrs. Lucy Redd Preston Beale, the vice-President General of the Daughters of the American Revolution.

OVERTON REDD, the second of the Major's sons, married Mary Fontain, a grand- daughter of Patrick Henry. He was a member of the Legislature of Virginia and died while serving his first term.

DR. JOHN G. REDD, the third son, married the daughter of Dr. Hill Carter, of Hanover County, Va. By this marriage there were six sons and two daughters.

JAMES MADISON REDD, the fourth son married Miss Ruth Staples to whom were born three daughters — Kezia, Mary and Flora. The last mentioned Flora Redd married Dr. H. M. Draury, whose daughter Ruth married Judge Stafford G. Whittle, one of the judges of the Supreme Court of Virginia. EDMUND BURWELL REDD, the fifth and youngest son of Maj. John Redd was born June 24, 1808, died August 10, 1850. He was a graduate of the University of North Carolina, passed through medical course at Philadelphia, but was never an active practitioner. Married Miss Sarah Ann Fontaine, a grand-daughter of Patrick Henry, also a great-grand-daughter of Gov. Alexander Spottswood. By this marriage there were four sons and five daughters. DR. JOHN HENRY REDD married Miss Marion Dandridge Fontaine. WILLIAM SPOTTSWOOD REDD married Mary Wootlore (?). They have three daughters.

JAMES S. REDD, the third son married Miss Sarah Epes Hairston (?), a grand-daughter of Col. Geo. Hairston, an officer in the Revolution, also a grand-daughter of General B.W.D.Cabell, an officer of the War of 1812 with Great Britain. They have three children living, two daughters and one son.

EDMUND MADISON REDD, the fourth son, married Miss Anna Richardson, daughter of Col. H.P.Richardson. They have no children.

The four sons of Edmund Burwell Redd were Confederate soldiers, two of whom were severely wounded in battle, and one a prisoner of war for many months. The daughters of Edmund Burwell Redd were Martha C., Mar D.(Mary?), Celestia T., Annie E. and Ella F. Redd. They married respectively, John E. Wooton, Dr. John H. Wayut, Samuel p. Caldwell, Rev. H. p. Fontaine and James S. Washington. They all have descendants except Mrs. Wooton.

MAJOR JOHN REDD'S daughters were Annie C., married Thomas Sterling; Elizabeth W. married Col. Peter Dillard; Mary W. married John F. Fontaine (d. 3 Jan. 1852 aged 64), the son of John and Martha Henry Fontaine (p. 145 Hugenot Emigration to Virginia by R. A. Brook); Martha W. married 1st, William T. Clark, 2nd James M. Smith; Lucie D. married John S. Wooton, all of whom had descendants.

ALEXANDER SPOTTSWOOD REDD, second son of Col. John Rufus Redd, born July 9, 1763, married Miss Mary L. Campbell and settled in Eastern Virginia. He has many descendants living in Virginia and elsewhere.

RICHARD L. REDD, third son of Col. John Rufus Redd married Louisa M. Wade and has descendants in Virginia and other southern and western states.

WILLIAM REDD, the fourth son of Col. John Rufus Redd was born in Buckingham Co., Va., and died in Russell Co., Alabama July 12, 1839. Married Miss Elizabeth Ann Daniel of Prince Edward Co., Va., had three sons and five daughters — John D., William Anderson and James, Sarah Antoinette, Martha, Frances, Elizabeth and Cornelia. Of the above the following had descendants: William, four children; James, six children; Sarah Antoinette, nine childlen; Frances, five children; and Elizabeth, three.

SARAH ANTOINETTE REDD was born in Green Co., Ga., May 2, 1806, died Sept. 1, 1850. She married Hampton Sidney Smith Oct. 20, 1825. From this marriage there were nine children, six sons and three daughters — William born 1826, John Carway 1828, Louisa Elizabeth 1831, Hampton Sidney 1833, Frances Eleanor 1837, Sarah Antoinette 1839, John Morgan 1842, James Redd 1845, and Cornelius Bascomb 1848.

JOHN MORGAN SMITH, son of Hampton Sidney Smith and Antoinette Redd Smith was born August 9, 1842. He married August 19, 1863, Miss Kate Duncan, daughter of Daniel Duncan, a lineal descendant of the famous Rev. William Duncan of Scotland who lost his life as a martyr in the cause of his religion during the reign of

Charles II of England. Mr. and Mrs. John Morgan Smith are residents of South Highlands, Birmingham, Alabama, and are blessed with a family of four children, named as follows: Richard James, Rose Cullen, Hampton Sidney and Kate Lucile Smith. (Note: It has been through the kindness of this intelligent and highly accomplished lady, Mrs. Kate Duncan Smith, that the writer has been enabled to collect much of the data necessary for this work, and he desires here to acknowledge the many obligations as well as to express appreciation of the timely aid she has extended.)

ELIZABETH REDD, a grand-daughter of Col. John Rufus Redd, an officer of the Revolution, and daughter of William Redd, his son, married Richard Billups of Georgia. From this marriage there were three children: Thomas A., born 1792; Anna L., 1795; and Joseph Billups 1807. Joseph married Mary Ann Daniel 15 Dec. 1835. Their children are as follows: Ann Elizabeth 1837; John Richard 1839; Mary Jane 1840; Frances Cunningham Nov. 2, 1843; Joseph Alexander early 1845; and Virginia 1847. Frances Cunningham Billups married Rev. John Harrison Kennebrew 24 Dec. 1868. To them were born the following children: Mary Augusta, Annie Ruth, Martha Grace, Laura Welch, Jessie Morton, and Elizabeth Redd Kennibrew. They are at present residents of Columbus, Mississippi, where they own a very beautiful colonial residence.

CAPTAIN CHARLES ANDERSON REDD, fifth son of Col. John Rufus Redd, was born in Buckingham Co., Va. 26 Jan 1784. While yet a young man he moved to Georgia where he married Miss Elizabeth Gresham, daughter of Major David Gresham, an officer in the Revolution. He soon became Georgia's most prominent and noted citizen. Besides his general usefulness as a leading citizen, he rendered distinguished service to his country during the War of 1812-15 with Great Britain, having commanded a company of American troops at Savannah and elsewhere during the war. He was the father of seven children, one daughter and six sons: Mary Louise Redd, his only daughter married James Cook, son of James Carter Cook of Nottoway Co., Va. Miss Mary Elvira Cook, their daughter, is a highly alcomplished lady and distinguished for her literary attainments. She is a resident of Columbus, Georgia.

WILLIAM REDD of Birmingham, Alabama, is a son of William Anderson Redd who was born during the year 1803 and died in 1866. He is a grandson of William Redd who was born in Virginia and emigrated to Georgia, consequently he is a descendant of Col. John Rufus Redd and of Governor Alexander Spottswood. He married Miss Eliza H. Pope in 1858. Of this family there were three sons and three daughters: Caroline Pope; John K.; Henry Pope; Annie; Ernest; and Nina Redd. Mr. William Redd is a prominent merchant of Birmingham, Alabama.

The DAUGHTERS OF COL. JOHN RUFUS REDD married gentlemen by the names of Billups, Wade, McClerg, Jones, Scoll and Lloyd. The most of them moved to Georgia and other southern states long years ago where they have numerous descendants, many of whom are distinguished for culture and high social positions.

Vilo Redd

LIFE SKETCH of VILO REDD

given at her funeral by Melanie Lewis

Vilo Redd was born 7 January 1901 in New Harmony, Washington, Utah. Her brothers and sisters were Will, Grace, then triplet girls-Belle, Myrtle and Verena-two of the triplets died soon after birth, and the third triplet died a month later. Then Grace died the next month. All are buried in the small cemetery at New Harmony. Lura came next, then Fern, Jessie, Paul and Lyman. Vilo came next the eleventh child. Then Pauline, Mary and Kay.

One of Aunt Vilo's earliest memories was sitting in a high chair while her mother and neighbors prepared peaches for drying. Her brother Lyman kept sneaking her pieces to eat. When she was four their family moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada. Her father built a large two-story home of cement blocks he bought from John W. Taylor, who had a home site across the street from them. Their home was a gathering place for parties, dances, and "showers" for new brides-to-be. They had a large library and were always encouraged to seek education.

Raymond was a small farming community with mostly Mormon families. Their family washing was done on a washboard, they had a cistern in the basement to collect rain water from the roof, mostly for shampooing hair. Every scrap of fat was saved to make their soap. School was let out for "beet vacations", so that everyone could help with the thinning of sugar beets. One time some boys put a water snake in Aunt Vilo's straw hat - she never forgot.

An especially exciting time for Vilo was going on the train to Lethbridge with Lyman and Gwennie for dental appointments. The train ride was three hours each way and they took sandwiches and cookies for lunch.

When Aunt Vilo was about six, she was watching her brother, Paul, chop wood. She was standing near the chopping block and Paul told her to move, but she must not have moved far enough because he accidentally almost completely severed her left index finger. Being so far away from doctors, her mother splinted it so that it couldn't move. She dressed it with "sticky gum," which is gum from the pine tree before it had hardened. Grandma Redd used that for everything and had brought a large can from Southern Utah. It literally stuck the

finger back to the hand and it healed without infection, although that finger was about an inch shorter than the other index finger.

Vilo's father died a day before her tenth birthday. She remembers well the morning he died, as his condition grew worse, all the children were awakened to go in and see him for the last time. The funeral was held on a bitterly cold day, but nevertheless was the biggest funeral held in the town to that time. He had been a counselor in the stake presidency and was well known and loved by all in the surrounding area. Her oldest brother, Will, returned home from pre-med studies in Salt Lake to come home and take over the family and farm.

About that time, Aunt Vilo recalls the oldest girls in primary were learning to crochet, but she wasn't quite old enough. She asked her mother to teach her, so Grandma Redd unravelled a baby jacket and used the yarn to teach Vilo. She progressed rapidly and finished many projects before the older girls had finished theirs. Crocheting, knitting, tatting and other handiwork were always something Vilo enjoyed. She crocheted a lovely dress and bonnet for my sister Kathy when Kathy was about three years old. Nena still remembers taking Kathy downtown one time with the dress on. She said she felt like a celebrity because so many people stopped her to say what a beautiful dress Kathy was wearing. After my mother died, Aunt Vilo crocheted many snowflakes to decorate a tree for the festival of trees in her honor. It was a beautiful tree. Many people have benefited by the sweaters, snow leggings, collars, and comforters that Vilo has made.

Vilo was always one to offer her services no matter how unpleasant the task. When she was around thirteen, Aunt Fern's husband, George Laycock, had planted about eight or ten acres of potatoes for sale. It was October and cold and stormy. When the ground dried out enough to dig them, sack them and store them, George came to town to find someone to sew the sacks after they were filled. The woman who promised to do it was ill. He called everyone he thought might be a possibility, but to no avail. Aunt Vilo told him she would like to try to do the job for him. It was a very tough job and she nearly froze her hands because she could not sew with gloves on. She said she trudged up and down, up and down the ploughed field. They finished up at ten o'clock at night- she said never in all her life was she so tired.

After graduating from high school in 1920, World War One was on and she was offered a teaching job in a small Norwegian community in Eastern Alberta. She taught for six months and decided teaching was not for her. She applied to the LDS Hospital's nursing school and was accepted. She left Raymond at the same time as Visiting General Authorities for their stake conference were leaving to return to Salt Lake City. Her Uncle Orrin Snow

introduced her to John A. Widtsoe, a member of the Quorum of 12, who took her under his wing on the trip to Salt Lake. Her three years of training were strenuous- ten hours a day, six and one half days a week, plus classes and studying. They were up at five thirty AM with devotional at six fifteen, then breakfast.

She remembers the first hypodermic injection she gave- to a teenage boy recovering from an appendectomy. He was in a lot of pain and asked for something. In those days, nurses had to buy their own syringes and needles, and due to cost, many needles were used long after they should have been discarded. The charge nurse let Aunt Vilo borrow her needle which was so old it had no point. Vilo had to push hard, but it finally pierced the skin. She vowed she would never use such needles on her own patients. After graduation she spent a month learning to give ether anaesthetics, then left for a job in the twenty-bed Cedar City hospital -to some of her most memorable and exciting experiences. She was superintendent of the hospital, head nurse, anaesthetist, x-ray technician, admission clerk and what-have-you. There were two doctors on the staff. She worked from seven AM to seven PM and then took call from seven PM to seven AM - which meant to come in on all emergencies. They were the only hospital from Provo to Las Vegas, so received many car accidents and emergencies from out-lying areas.

She found many relatives in this area. Dr. MacFarland, one of the staff doctors, used to tease her about being related to half the county. He quit teasing her when he found out she was related to his sister-in-law. Many times the doctors were called out to do emergency surgery and Aunt Vilo would go with them to do the anaesthesia. One time during the depression years, a group of six children in the farming community of New Castle needed their tonsils out. Dr. Bergstrom offered to do it, if Aunt Vilo would volunteer her anaesthetic services - she readily agreed. They set up an operating room in the school house, each child in turn was separated from their tonsils, rolled in a blanket and laid on a bench to recover. They stayed overnight, checked each patient in the morning, then returned to Cedar City.

Many family members visited her in Cedar and she would always take a few days off to show them around -New Harmony, the pretty canyons, and other places. The doctors wanted her to learn gas anaesthesia. She was accepted to a four-month school in Cleveland. While there she traveled with some fellow students to Niagara Falls and New York.

After seven years in Cedar City, she decided to make a change. Vilo knew almost every man, woman and child in Cedar City and Iron County. Someone came up with the idea for a community farewell party. They had a large

barbecue with games and visiting. At the end, everyone lined up to shake hands and say goodbye. Her cousin Scott Matheson gave her a kiss goodbye which made her blush. Some of the other men followed suit, which did not please her too much.

Looking back on her stay in Cedar City, Aunt Vilo said this was the choice position of her career. No other gave the experience, interest or satisfaction. One of the nurses who worked with Vilo in Cedar City, Aileen Noble Mills, is here today.

She then worked in Idaho Falls, Lehi, Ogden, finally settling in Salt Lake during World War Two. She worked for thirty five years at the Medical Arts building, making many good friends, still performing anesthetics, as well as other nursing duties.

Vilo and Lura built a home next to our family home, 3844 South 4 East Salt Lake City, and for many years nurtured and helped our family. When I was young, I slept over with Aunt Vilo almost every night. She always fixed me a large glass of cocoa every morning, brought me treats regularly from work and protected me from my brother, Wayne.

I well remember large gatherings at their home at conference time and on Christmas morning for breakfast. Aunt Vilo felt that this was her home. She worked hard to build the ward library. I always remember her making flannel-board figures and all kinds of visual aids for the stories that were to be told. One time when she was helping with a stake musical, they needed flags from different countries but could not find any to buy. Aunt Vilo made these flags herself. Just a few months ago I used these same flags for a Blue and Gold banquet in Bountiful. Everyone wanted to know who would go to all that work.

In her journal, Aunt Vilo talks about the good group of friends she had here and those she had family home evening with. How much she enjoyed it and what good women they were!

Aunt Vilo lived with us almost from the time our daughter Katie was born. I thank my husband, Randy, who was really a champion for Aunt Vilo. Often he said, "I think it is really food for our family to have Vilo with us." Julie used to say "Thanks so much for letting Vilo live with us." Katie, being so young and fun, was the apple of her eye. Every time she came home from visiting Aunt Mary in California, it was Katie she wanted to see and Katie's love she wanted to have. One of Aunt Vilo's current visiting teachers was very good to her, always treating her with concern, respect and love.

As I and my cousin Barbara MacPhee were reading through Aunt Vilo's history, we were talking about how valuable a history like this is. We learn that, although everything might not turn out as we anticipated, and though troubles come our way, those who have come before have accepted what life had to offer, kept the faith, turned to the Lord and done their best.

I hope my children and all of us will remember Aunt Vilo for the good and kind person she was. I love her dearly and know she is happy to be reunited with her parents and many brothers and sisters. Amen.

We cousins in Alberta loved Aunt Vilo very much too. We looked forward to her visits, which were always wonderful. We miss her.

Vilo died 29 May 1988

Virginia Redds

ANCESTORS OF THE VIRGINIA REDDS

I.	KING WILLIAM RUFUS DE REDDE, son of the Conqueror
A.	WILLIAM DE REDDE, married Catherine, dau of Duke of Acquitania
1.	SON, name unknown
a.	Sir LIONEL DE REDD md. Elizabeth, dau of Count Faulke, whose 2nd wife was Matilda, the widowed dau of King Henry I (md. first to Charles V, Emperor of Germany)
(1)	HENRY II, Plantaganet, after Count Faulke
(a)	BARON DE REDDE
i)	BARON WILLIAM RUFUS DE REDDE, to 3rd Crusade with

(Signed Magna Carta 1215)

Richard III abt 1192

The family continued to support the crown from this time onward until the Wars of the Roses, when WILLIAM LIONEL DE REDDE, Earl of Beresford, supported the House of Lancaster. When Edward IV ascended throne, the Redde land was confiscated and the family fled to foreign countries until the Earl of Richmond became Henry VII, when WILLIAM BERESFORD, the son of VISCOUNT RUFUS BERESFORD DE REDDE returned to England, and land and titles were returned to them.

Lands and titles were handed down, father to son for several reigns until 1688 when WILLIAM LIONEL DE REDDE espoused the cause of the Prince of Orange, and died from wounds received at Killiecrankie. His son, Sir WILLIAM RUFUS DE REDDE, succeeded him, and eventually came to America with Gov. Alexander Spottswood during the reign of Queen Anne.

* * * * *

Crystal Broderick

Crystal Broderick

Our beloved mother, Clara Dina Crystal Hill Broderick, was born February, 1914, in Crystal Lake, Idaho. She died October 21, 2002, in Orem, Utah. She married Hilliard Ruben Broderick in 1935 and he preceded her in death. She was a member of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints. She loved children and taught in Primary and Junior Sunday School for many years. She worked in the Provo Temple for several years. She mothered 19 children, the last being born shortly after her husband's death. She worked at Roosevelt hospital and as the church custodian for years to support her growing family. They worked together to make it a loving home. She is survived by her children and their spouses. Sons: Owen and Ruth, Howard and Joyce, LeeR and Genave, DeRay and Pauline, Thomas Ruben and Karma, Jerrald, DeE. and Marsha, Dillard and Marilyn, Roy and Charlotte, Daughters: Luelma and Ken Spencer, Dawn and Vernon Rice, Elva and DAvid Richardson, May and Sylon (deceased) Swallow, Carol and Garland Wilson, Kit and Ken Allred, Heidy Broderick. Deceased Children: Verena Easton, Clifford Broderick and Clara Washborn, Numerous Grand children, Brother and Sisters: Jack Hill, George Hill, Eva Ford, Wanda Dailey, Fawn Bosworth, Joy Adams, and RaOla Lee. Her large family expresses thanks to Heidy and Jerrald for their tender care of their mother. Funeral services will be held Saturday, October 26, 2002, at 10:00 am in the L.D.S. chapel, 641 South 400 East, Orem, Utah. Burial will be in the Roosevelt Cemetery at 3:00 pm.

Events in Paul Redd's Life

Special Events in the Life of our Dad

Being a teacher and a counsellor in the bishopric he was always very busy and away a lot, but always found time for our family. Every fall after the crops were in, Dad would go down to the Merc and pay our year's grocery bill. He would come home with a bag of hard tack candy for us children. Of course, this was very special. He was an Alberta Wheat Pool delegate and every year he and mama would go to Calgary to the Wheat Pool Convention. They always brought us a small gift but it was really treasured by us children. Usually it was a book as we were all readers.

After Hazel took ill and couldn't walk for sometime, and when she did learn to walk again, every time we did anything or went anywhere Dad would always tell us to take care of Hazel and stay with her wherever we went. We all learned to stay together and support and love each other. When we wanted to ice skate, dad bought the skates separate, and put them on the high top shoes we wore to school, so we got double use out of our shoes. He bought Hazel a pair of special skates, that looked like tiny bobsleds, two little sleighs for each foot. They strapped on to her special boots.

He took me over to Lethbridge one year and bought me a red plaid Mackinaw jacket, and navy blue pants out of melton cloth so I wouldn't get cold. He also bought us leather ankle straps so that we could skate better. Dad always had time for us, busy as he was.

George Washington Hill Incidents in the Life of George Washington Hill

Ogden City, January 2, 1878

The writer of this narrative, George Washington Hill, was born on Federal Creek, Ames Township, Athens County, Ohio, March 5, 1822, of poor but honest parents. My father, Richard Hill, being a mechanic and working at his trade of stone and brick mason, caused him to ramble about a good deal.

At the early age of four years, I was sent to school. My first teacher was a woman by the name of Betsy Bebes, to whom I went my first quarter in the town of Athens, Ohio, where I succeeded so well that I went nearly through the old-fashioned Webster spelling book. My parents were Methodists of the strictest order, my father being a class leader in the Methodist Church. The ministers always stopped at our house as they passed around on their circuits, and me, being rather a forward for a little boy, they made a great deal of me and took a great deal of pains in teaching me the doctrines of the Methodist

Church. In this way I was raised strictly a Methodist, although I never joined their church.

At the age of six my father moved to Sandusky City in hopes of finding steadier employment and better pay. But with better wages came heavier expenses, and having to associate with all kinds of people, he became addicted to drinking and spending his means in that way, and seeing no prospect of bettering his condition, we finally moved back to Athems County, the place we lived where I was born. Here he bought a farm and thought to settle down and stop rambling, but he was not really satisfied as this was a very poor country — hilly, rough, broken country — and poor land. Consequently on the return of my Uncle William Hill, Father's brother from Galena, Illinois, with glorifying accounts of the Illinois country, my father got the Illinois fever and it carried him off to Illinois for a short time. We remained in Paris, Edgar County, but in the fall we moved out into Coles County on the Little Embarros River in as beautiful a country as I ever saw and bought a farm.

We now imagined ourselves at home. We had as beautiful a place as I ever saw, one-half good timber and the other half as good prairie land as ever laid out of doors. In the spring we set in to making brick with a will, thinking that we had got to the right place at last, but with the commencement of summer came the chills and fever and we were all down with it, insomuch that we were unable to make but two small kilns of brick of fifty thousand each in the whole season. We were in this condition when my Uncle William came along and advised us to go out to Sangamon County, assuring us we would be healthier.

So Father took his advice and broke up again and moved to Sangamon County. Here he bought another farm of one hundred and sixty acres in the timber of Sangamon River, ten miles east of Springfield. Here, as soon as spring opened, we went to work and put in about forty acres of corn and some other crops and then turned our attention to the brick yard. As usual everything seemed to prosper with us until summer again came, when all hands came down with the fever and ague. As usual Mother came down with it so bad that it seemed as if she would die.

Anyhow, Father now declared he would leave the prairie country for good, so we packed up our traps and started back for the state of Ohio, leaving two kilns of brick of one hundred thousand each standing in the kiln untouched. Some forty acres of corn was left standing in the field uncared for, besides a good deal of other stuff, none of the family being able to drive the team but myself, and I was shaking with the ague every day.

In this way we traveled along until we reached the Wabash country. By this time Mother was so bad that Father thought if he continued traveling, he would lose her, so he concluded to stop for her to recruit, but she continued in her bed until cold weather when he decided to stay all winter.

During the winter we all got our healths good and Father, thinking it would not be very sickly in the timbered country along the tributaries of the Wabash, went into Clark County, Illinois, and bought another farm. We stayed in this neighborhood until I was about twenty years of age, but still were not satisfied. My oldest brother had married a young lady by the name of Rhoda Wheeler and had moved in the fall of 1841 to the southwest of Missouri. He continued to write back what a good place it was when I really think he was only homesick and was not able to get back. Finally, in the spring of 1842, Father took it in his head to move out there, so we sold out for what we could get. In the month of June we started for the new county, where it was represented people could not get sick. But of all the moves we ever made, this was the worst move we ever did make, for it was a very poor barren, rocky, hilly, rough country, and it was certainly the sickliest county I was ever in. We had not been here but a short time until the sickness commenced. People here would take congestive chills; some would die in the first chill; most would die in the second, and I never knew of but one person that lived over the third and that was myself, but I presume I was as near my last and there, with that complaint, as ever I was in my life. I believe today that the only thing that saved my life was that I had not done the work yet that I had come to do. It was the chills left me in such a fix I was unable to do anything all winter. It seemed that it had split my breast bone in two and it would not unite until the warm weather in the spring. Still, we remained here until the summer when Father took ague. He became so impatient that we broke up at once and started back east, determined to get out of so much sickness, but in this we were foiled as in many other things, for we had only gone about 60 miles until Father got so bad that I refused to go farther until he would get better, for I knew if we continued to travel, he would die.

Accordingly, we stopped in Dallas County to wait for his health to get better. Finally we rented two farms and stopped. It seemed that there was something in my destiny or something else that would not permit me to return to the east, for every time we would start and try to go east, sickness or something else would compel us to stop, so that I concluded to give it up and try and become reconciled to the west, let what would transpire, and thought that I would settle down for a time at least. One of these farms was designed for Father and the other for myself. It was here that I became acquainted with an estimable young lady by the name of Cynthia Stewart, and having bought a farm for myself with a house upon it, I began to cast about me for a partner to put into the house to keep it for me, and thinking that I had found, in Miss Stewart, my partner for life. I proposed to her. Her answer was that she was a Mormon and that I did not want to marry a Mormon. I told her I thought Mormons were as other people. I believed Joseph Smith to be an imposter, but for all that, I thought just as much of Mormons as anybody else. She gave me "The Voice of Warning" by Parley P. Pratt to take home with me and read and then see whether I would think the same.

I took the book to read, not thinking to find in it anything that would be of interest to me. I was always a great hand at reading and had always had a practice of reading all kinds of books that I could get a hold of, but what was my astonishment to find that it claimed a perfect organization of the Church of Christ with Apostles, prophets and all other appendages that belonged to the church Anciently. And that, I fully believed, it

would take to constitute the Church of Christ in any age. When I found that they made such bold pretensions and claimed that the church was organized with all the gifts and blessings as was the church anciently, I became so interested in the book that I read it over and over again and wondered if I really was living in a day when the gospel was again restored to the earth.

I pondered the matter over in my heart, the spirit all the time bearing witness to me that the work was true. I resolved in my heart that I would go and see for myself. I had always, from a child, wished that it had been my lot to live when there were apostles, prophets and teachers upon the earth; when there were men upon the earth that did commune with the heavens; that could obtain the word of the Lord for man; and when I learned that the Mormons claimed to be that people, I determined to investigate it for myself. If I found on investigation that they really held the Priesthood, that the angel had already visited the earth, I determined to cast my lot with them.

But what should I do now? If I told her that I loved her and that I believed in Mormonism, she would say, "You're a deceiver; you pretend to believe in Mormonism just to get a Mormon girl for a wife." So I concluded that I would tell her that the book was well written and that it contained good doctrine and so on and pass it off in that way, and that I would conceal my feeling from her, but I was not allowed to deceive her for any length of time, for in a short time a circumstance occurred that compelled me to show my true colors.

Sometime before this, there had a Campbellite preacher come into the neighborhood and commenced preaching, and we had attended his meetings regularly every Sunday for this fact, that we had nowhere else to go. The preacher construed our regular attendance into conviction and had made his brags that he was going to catch that young Hill; that I attended so regularly and paid such good attention that he was sure that I was converted. When I heard of Gordon's bragging, it worked up my feelings a little. If treating him with respect, as I had always been taught to treat all denominations, would be taken for conversion, it rather riled my feelings. Still, I attended his meetings, and on the following Sunday between meetings, I was seated at the table looking over the Testament when he came over and took a seat beside me and tapped me on the shoulder. "That's right," he said to me. "Study the Scriptures, for in them ye think ye have eternal life, and they are they which testify of me."

We continued in this strain until I became a little vexed with him. Still, I was a little afraid of him, for I thought that a mere boy, and unpracticed as I was, could not think of what I wanted to say, and he would have the advantage of me. But his simple foolish talk finally overcame my fears and I concluded to ask him a question that I know he dare not answer without equivocating. Says I, "Mister, allow me to ask you one question."

Says he, "A thousand, if you wish."

Says I, "One will do and that is, when you were preaching today you quoted the Savior's charge to His disciples when He said to them, Go ye into all the world and preach the gospel to every creature. He that believeth and is baptized shall be saved, and he that believeth not shall be damned! ... and there you stopped. Now the question is, why did not you go on and quote the charge in full? ... and these signs shall follow them that believe, and so on, in order that when we found believers, those that had the Gospel of Christ, that we might know, for in these signs there was a test that we might know beyond the possibility of a doubt when we would find true believers, for the Savior declared emphatically that these signs should follow them that believed. He declared them to be true in two separate and distinct sentences. This I would not allow." This brought on an argument.

He became so excited that he took the floor and walked the floor and talked the whole time insofar that I could not get a word in edgewise. This, I told him, was not fair, that if he wanted to argue the case with me, that half of the time belonged to me, and on account of my bashfulness I suggested that we retire to the mill to ourselves where we would not expose our ignorance. Here I found out that he was as afraid of me as I was of him, for he took me up in a moment and we retired at once. Here we had our argument to ourselves, as we supposed, and I used him up insomuch that he acknowledged to me that these blessings were not in the church and that they really were not the Church of Christ, but said that it was the opinion of their head men that they would finally come to the standard and would finally have those gifts and blessings in their church, but said they did not exist on the earth.

On looking at his watch he found that we had argued so long that it was already twenty minutes late, so we were obliged to stop after his acknowledging me to be in the right. When we opened the door to come out, lo and behold, his whole congregation was there. They had been eavesdropping us and overhearing his acknowledgements which so disconcerted him that he did not know what to do. They formed a circle around us and marched us to the house in the center. When about halfway to the house he made one of the most foolish remarks that I had ever heard. Says he, "Mr. Hill, there is one passage in scripture that very few people understand."

"Aye," says I. "What is that?"

Says he, "It is the two witnesses spoken of by John."

Says I, "What of them?"

Says he, "They are simply the Old and New Testament." Says he, "The Almighty never did nor ever will give any other witness to man."

Says I, "Mister Gordon, is or ever will the Old and New Testament live and prophesy in the streets of Jerusalem for three years, do many wonderful works, even to call fire down from heaven in the sight of men, visit the earth with plagues as often as they will, and finally their enemies overcome them and kill them and their dead bodies

lay in the streets for three days when the spirit of life would return into them and they would stand upon their feet and would ascent up into heaven in the sight of men?"

Says he, "What is that?"

I repeated it over to him. Says he, "Mister Hill, I must see you again." Says he, "Meet me here next Sunday and we will have this matter out in public."

Says I, "All right, Mr. Gordon, I will meet you."

Well, he went into the house and called the meeting to order, sang and tried to pray but could not. He got up and undertook to preach but could not think of anything to say, and in a very few minutes he dismissed the meeting.

I now thought I had surely got myself into it, but determined not to back down. I went and prayed in secret to my Father in Heaven for assistance and that He would not desert me in the time of need, and I would defend His cause well. I went to work all the week taking notes and preparing myself for the encounter that I thought was sure to come off on the next Sunday. Having prepared myself as well as I could, I repaired on Sunday to the place where I supposed I was to meet the champion. But lo and behold, he never came, although he had been preaching there every Sunday all summer and had baptized about fifty. He deserted his flock and his cause rather than meet the truth, although in the hands of a mere boy.

This debate served two purposes: one was it served to strengthen me in the truth and to strengthen me in my determination to gather with the Saints, for, thought I, if the truth is so potent that in the hands of a mere boy it can subdue their veterans, it is something worth striving for. And the other, it had revealed my true position so that it was no longer worthwhile for me to try to conceal my convictions.

So I resolved to marry and gather with the Church. Although my father had recommended Miss Stewart very highly to me in the first place, yet when he learned that they were Mormons, he did everything he could to discourage me by telling me all manner of tales that they were accused of as a church, although his prejudice against them was all caused by hearsay and lies from their enemies, as he had no acquaintance with them whatever.

I determined at once to make the sacrifice. Accordingly, I commenced to lay my plans, and believing it to be the best to go up to Nauvoo for instructions, I made my calculations accordingly and appointed a day to start. But it seemed that was not the thing to do for before the day came I would shake as hard with the ague that I would put off the time to start until another day. This was repeated three times, when I came to the conclusion that it was not for the best for me to go to Nauvoo that fall, and so gave it up until spring. In the meantime I learned of the exodus from Nauvoo into the wilderness somewhere, but where? I did not know.

This determined me to sell at any price and accompany the Church at all hazards. My mother-in-law also requested me to take charge of her affairs and dispose of her property as well as my own, and bring her and her family of nine children along with me. This was rather more than I had bargained for. I preferred if the boys would come along and take charge of their own affairs. I would render them all the assistance in my power, but they refused, saying they would not assume one particle of the responsibility of bringing such a family into the wilderness to starve, but if I would assume the responsibility, and take charge of the affairs, they would assist. I finally consented, thinking I would undertake any hardship rather than to leave my mother-in-law behind when she was so anxious to come.

So I went to work and sold out our possessions for what I could get, which was a mere trifle — not one-fourth of what they were worth — settled up all her business as well as my own, and in June, 1846 bade adieu to home and friends by the ties of nature, and launched forth into the wide world with a large family to see to and very little means to see to them with, but placing my trust in God. Like Abraham of old, I started forth to a strange land. I knew not where, but determined to find the Church of Christ and identify myself with it, to cast my lot with theirs, come weal or woe. It did not matter with me for I knew I was right. I did not care what country I got to if I was able to find the Church.

We took our course for Warsaw, thinking that by the time we had crossed the Osage River, we should be able to learn the whereabouts of the Church. In this we were disappointed, for we could not learn anything definite about them, only that they had left Nauvoo for the wilderness. I knew they were north of us somewhere, so I determined to steer north until we would strike their trail, and I knew that once on their trail, we could follow them up. So we turned our course for Boonsville, crossed the Missouri River at that place, still getting no tidings of the Mormons. We passed on up by the way of Keiteville (Keytesville, Charlton County). Sometimes we would hear they were up in Davies County, sometimes that they were already out on the plains. getting so many reports, and no two of them alike, we hardly knew what course to pursue.

I was musing on these different reports as we were traveling along in a big plain road when we came to where there was a dim road turned off to the right, like an old wood road that did not look like as though there had been a wagon on it for a year. But I did not want to travel the course we were going, now we had got across the Grand River. I felt all of a sudden as soon as we crossed the river that I wanted to go more to the right, and as soon as my eye caught sight of this road, the spirit seemed to say, "Take that road." I turned my team into it and went right along without asking anybody where it went or how far it was to the end of it. After I had taken this road I was satisfied again with our course.

The same evening the little one-horse wagon my mother-in-law rode in broke down, every spoke in on hind wheel breaking. "We now seemed to be in a fix. There was no blacksmith nor wagon shop in twenty miles of us that I knew of, but I thought there had to be a first time to do anything, and although I had never done anything of the kind,

I knew we could not stop there to hunt for somebody that knew how to do such work. So away I went to a field that happened to be about a mile away and got a rail out of a fence and went to work with a dull axe, a dull hand saw and a dull drawing knife, which was all the tools we had, filled the wheel, put on the tire and started on in one day, thinking I had done very well in my first attempt at wagon making. Although I had seen nicer jobs done, still it answered our purpose very well. I had this job to do twice that summer, but after I had performed my first feat, I did not mind it, for I thought I was getting to be quite a wagon maker.

After following this old road some forty or fifty miles, it brought us to Kelsey's mills. Here we got the first correct information that we had at all about the Mormons. We learned that they had established a resting place about eighty miles from here they called Pisgah. We learned also that it was the council to exchange our horses for oxen as they would travel better on grass than horses. This suited me and seemed to be good council, so we stopped here one week trading our horses for cattle.

Here were the first Mormon elders that I had ever seen. Their names were Thomas Workman and Samuel Brannon. They went with me all around the country and were of good service to me, assisting me to trade. Resting here for a week was also of great benefit to my wife as her health had been very poor for some time.

After having finished our trading, resting one week, and obtaining supplies, we resumed our journey. A few days brought us to Pisgah. This was a place that President Young had prepared for a resting place for the poor that could not prosecute the journey. It was a nice-looking place situated on Grand River (probably Soldier River now). Here I rented a long house for a short time, but did not feel satisfied. Here I found the heads of the Church had gone to the Missouri River. I wanted to get near to where the heads of the Church were, thinking I would get more information than I would back in the rear, and that I did not like Grand River for winter.

Accordingly, in a few days I took James W. Stewart with me and went on to the Missouri River. Here I found an uncle to my wife, William Stewart, with whom we stopped a day and then returned to Pisgah in time to be at the confinement of my wife on the twenty-second of August, 1846. My oldest son was born at Mount Pisgah, then Pottawattamie County in the state of Iowa.

In about two weeks after this event, I took the teams and went back to Kelsey's Mills after provisions I had bought and left there as we came out. I was gone between two and three weeks on this trip. When I returned, I found my wife and child well, as well as the rest of the family. During my absence, one of my neighbors had killed two of my cows, quite a loss to me as we were where I could not replace them. I brought him before Charles C. Rich, who was there to preside, but was told plainly that, as I did not belong to the Church, that my testimony could not be taken against one who did belong to the Church. This seemed rather hard for me to bear, as if I could not tell the truth before being baptized. Still I passed over it as well as I could.

About the first of October, we hitched up and rolled out for the Missouri River and selected a place for wintering on the Booyou River (probably the Boyer River) on account of the joint rushes that grew there in abundance and kept green all winter. Stock do well on joint rushes. Here I had my last cow stolen and had one mare and colt drowned in the Booyou River.

Here we had a very hard winter and were very poorly prepared for it. We had a very hard time. I built a small log house with a chimney, made of sods cut out with a spade. We were very poorly clad, poorly fed, poorly housed, and I think it the most severe winter I ever experienced. It seemed as if the adversary was determined to leave no stone unturned that would discourage me or that would hinder me in the prosecution of the journey or the accomplishing of the purpose for which I had set out, but I had endeavored to count the cost before starting, and I had determined to go through it if I had to go alone and on foot with nothing, realizing that the Savior's words were just as true when he said, "He that will not leave father and mother, houses and lands, wives and children, is not worthy of me." And when He said, "He that believeth and is baptized shall be saved." So the exertions of the adversary were all wasted on me. They never served to discourage me in the least. They had but one effect on me, and that was to make me weep, when alone, that circumstances were so hard with me that I could not provide any better for those who were dependent on me during this winter.

We had a good many councils as to how we should provide for the journey in the spring. We had neither money, nor teams and provisions sufficient for the journey, and how to obtain them was the great consideration with us. My wife's mother had an old negro woman slave who wanted the boys, some of them, to take off to Missouri and sell her, as she had become dissatisfied and did not want to go any farther, but they refused. It was finally decided that I should do this job.

Finally I consented to take her and do the best I could with her, so I got one of the boys to go with me as far as Council Point where I sold her to Captain Whitehead for fifty dollars in cash, two yoke of cattle and one wagon. The wagon, oxen and cows I had to drive to Missouri after. I sent every cent of the money home with the boy that went with me lest I should be obliged to spend some of it for something to eat. And away I went after the cows and oxen, and this was a severe job, as I had two cows to drive loose and the oxen and wagon, this giving me plenty of exercise. In fact, it kept me running nearly all the time. The snow was pretty deep and the wind came howling down the Missouri Bottoms, driving the snow in my face for four of the coldest successive days that I had ever experienced.

I finally arrived home with my cows, oxen and wagon without injury except that I had frozen my ears, but I thought I got off well at that. My wife's mother was well pleased with what I had done and promised me one of the cows, but I never realized the promise.

We remained in this place until the middle of February when I concluded to move over into Winter Quarters and get to work preparing for the journey the following

summer. We were now busy fitting up the pioneers. I now tried to get my oldest brother-in-law to remain and bring on his mother and brothers and sisters and let me go with the pioneers, but he absolutely refused. He said he would have nothing to do with bringing that great family of children into the wilderness to starve to death but offered to go with the pioneers himself if I would remain and bring on the family. To this I finally gave my consent and went to work and fitted my own team and wagon. In company with my wife's uncle, William Stewart, we got our team and outfit fitted up according to the requirements and started them off with the pioneers about the middle of April, 1847.

I now turned my attention towards getting ready for following with the families. This involved another trip to Missouri, a distance of one hundred and twenty-five miles and back, making some two hundred and fifty miles. With ox teams that had to travel over one thousand miles with heavy loads and without roads to travel on, there was only one thing that made me venture to start from the Missouri River in 1847, and that was the health of my wife. She had taken the scurvy in the winter superinduced by our living as we did without vegetables. And as soon as the weather began to get warmer in the spring, she got worse instead of better and came very near dying. In fact, I had no hopes for her but to get on the road traveling as soon as possible, thinking a change of scenery, a change of air, and a change of water might be beneficial to her. I was determined to try it, let the consequences be what they might. I knew that we did not have money enough to get a decent outfit to go with, but I would have preferred to have started with my gun only and to have taken my chance as an Indian rather than to have remained in that inhospitable region with the scurvy taking the people off by the hundreds as it was doing.

Accordingly, I took what money we had, and taking G. R. Stewart with me to drive one of the teams, away we went to Missouri to get an outfit which consisted of three hundred and fifty pounds of corn to each one in the family. This was to do us some eighteen months and would leave us at least one thousand miles from where we could procure fresh supplies in case we did not raise anything the next year. You may think this a very hazardous undertaking. We, we thought so too, but the stakes were terrible we had to play.

Shortly after my return I was baptized by Benjamin S. Clapp at Winter Quarters, now Florence. This was in the first part of June. We now hastened our departure from Winter Quarters, glad to get from that inhospitable place with life even, for we did not think we should have had even that if we had remained much longer. We made our way as best we could to the Elkhorn River to the place where we would be organized for the journey. Here we had to make a raft of logs to be ferried over the river. I assisted to ferry the whole of the companies, consisting of some five hundred and sixty wagons, over this river on a log raft, accomplishing this feat without accident of any note. We were here organized into A. C. Smoot's hundred, Major Russell's fifty and Samuel Turnbow's 10.

We had got fairly started on the journey. It was amusing to see us with our oxen, cows and two-year olds all yoked up, and in some instances the yearlings, as we thought that even yearlings could pull something, following the tracks the pioneers had made through the illimitable prairie, going we knew not where, but determined to seek an

asylum where Christian charity would never come, notwithstanding our destitute condition. We left, indeed, without a regret. For some five hundred miles we traveled in on body as much a possible for protection against Indians that swarmed in thousands over the plains. As soon as we had got fairly under way I was appointed hunter for the company. This increased my labors a great deal, for whenever we were in camp I was off with my gun trying to obtain meat for the fifty. And sometimes while traveling I would leave my wife, although she was hardly able to sit up, to drive the team of four yoke of cattle, and take my gun and travel for miles away from the track to procure meat. In this way I have killed deer and hung them on my shoulders and carried them for as much as four miles without laying them down. And always, as soon as camp was formed in the evening, in the place of resting myself from the labors of the day, I would take my gun and go and try for meat. In this way I managed to keep meat for the family all the way and for the company the most of the time.

I well remember the day that I saw the first antelope and the first buffalo. We had just started when the wagon G. R. Stewart was driving broke and the company had to stop and put up the blacksmith shop to repair it. The Captain came to see me and said we would not get started any more that day and wanted me to go hunting. There were several that wanted to go, as we expected to go a good ways. It was decided that we should go horseback. I rode a mule belonging to my wife's uncle, William Stewart. Well, when we had got a good ways out we found an antelope, and some of the boys, having heard that to raise a red handkerchief that they would come to you, accordingly Albert Dewey pulled out his ramrod and tied his handkerchief on it and went riding around on the smooth prairie trying to coax the antelope up to him, when in reality if he had seen the antelope before it saw him and had secreted himself where the antelope could not have seen him, and then have hoisted something, the antelope might have come nigh enough to him to see what it was to enable him to have shot it, but as it was, his riding around on the smooth prairie in plain sight, only made the antelope run so much faster away from him, but as he ran from Brother Dewey, he did not notice well enough where he was, for he came running by me at full speed within about one hundred and fifty yards of me. Now this was entirely too nigh me for an animal to attempt to pass me in safety. I brought up my gun and knocked him down at once.

Just at this time we saw two buffalo come over a hill some two miles away with General Charles C. Rich and Doctor Richardson in full chase after them. So I hastened and reloaded my gun and left my antelope lying where he fell and joined in the chase after the buffalo, but my mule would not run worth a cent. I continued to urge him, and it seemed like the more I urged him the farther I got behind. We had taken up a small hollow thinking to intercept the buffalo at the crossing of this hollow, as their course was quartering toward us. Well, in about one mile running I was left one hundred yards behind. I had begun to think that mules were not much on the run, but as the buffalo were crossing the hollow, the foremost of the horsemen were within about one hundred yard to them and when the mule saw the buffalo come bounding down the hill he became wonderfully excited, and now it was that he showed us what a mule could do at running, and although he fell so much behind while I was whipping and spurring him with all my might, when he saw the buffalo he let out at such a rate that I do not think we went more

than two hundred yards until he brought me alongside of the horses, jumping, it seemed to me, as high as my head every jump, and so stiff legged that just as I was passing the first horseman, one stirrup broke. "This bothered me considerably, but just as he was nearing Doctor Richardson, he fired on the buffalo. His horse fetched a skip to one side and he lit flat on his back. Seeing the Doctor shoot and fall almost by his side excited him still more, and he jumped so furiously that my other stirrup strap broke. This almost unhorsed me, and seeing where my stirrup fell I thought to stop and get it, but he carried me so far before I could get him stopped that I could not find it, so I straddled him and joined the chase. But I had hindered so much time looking for the stirrup that they had both of the buffalo down before I got to them. The boys loaded their horses with meat of the buffalo, but I preferred antelope, so I went back to where I had killed the antelope and put him on my mule and started for camp. I also killed the largest and fattest badger that I almost ever saw and carried him to camp, thinking that he was good to eat. Now we had got so far from the camp that it was just midnight when we got to camp. This was my first day with buffalo and antelope and the first badger I had ever seen.

In about two or three more day's travel we got into buffalo country where we could see them by the thousands. We would now see them all around us as far as the eye could reach, as thick as you would generally see a cow herd. We had now to guard against their stampeding our stock.

We continued our journey in this way on the north side of Platte River until we got opposite what is now called Ofalon's Bluffs on South Platte. Here Jedediah Grant's cattle got stampeded and he lost about sixty head. We stopped here for a few days trying to find his stock. I went over to South Platte in company with A. O. Smoot, Samuel Turnbow, George B. Wallace and Peter Nebaker, hunting for the stock belong to brother Grant's company. In running the buffalo along the South Platte there was a buffalo cow who broke one of her forelegs in jumping down the bank. This crippled her, so that we concluded to drive her to camp and butcher her, but when we went into the river to drive her out she only drove at us. We continued driving until she drove us clear across the river which was about two miles wide, but when she got to the bank she refused to go up, so we threw two lariats on her and undertook to pull her up, but she was too good at holding back. I then went into the river and took my butcher knife and would prod her in the rump, thinking to make her go up that way, but it was no go. Finally Brother Smoot took a bit of a run and jumped straddle her, thinking to ride her up the bank, but she had kicked so when I was prodding her that she was just as wet as water would make her, which made her so slick he never made any stop on her, but landed head foremost in the river. She concluded that she had rather go up the bank alone than to be ridden up, so up she went charging.

The boys now spread apart with their lariats and held her while I came up the bank and got my gun and shot her as a beef. While we were dressing her, there came the most singular looking animal that we had ever seen. Brother Smoot requested me to kill it. I took out my gun just as it came to the river and commenced to drink. I shot him. When he dropped dead into the river he sank like a rock, and with all the hunting we

could do we could not find him, so that we never knew hat he was. He looked like a wolf with long, shaggy hair and was white, but what he was we never knew.

While some of the boys were dragging our buffalo, the rest of us were chasing the buffalo and found a steer that had been left by Oregon emigrants, I suppose on account of lameness, as he was quite lame. We drove him to camp with us and brought him to the valley with us, but we got none of the lost cattle. After searching for the stampeded stock until it was considered in vain to search longer, we continued our journey.

We arrive apposite Scott's Bluff (now Scottsbluff) on Saturday night, and as we always laid by on Sunday to let our animals rest, some of us boys concluded to cross the river and ascend the bluffs. Accordingly several of us went and ascended them to the top, finding some mountain sheep on the top of the bluffs. We chased them, thinking that we could make them jump off of the cliffs and kill themselves, but we found out that they could ascend or descent precipitous rocks better than we could. In fact, they would skip up and down cliffs that seemed to be almost perpendicular.

On coming down off of these bluffs, I heard a call from one of the members of our party who was hanging from the edge of a cliff. When descending this precipice, he had happened to look down and seeing the distance so great below him, he became excited and had stuck his fingers in a crack of the rock and held on for dear life, continuing to look below him. He could not control his nerves, but was trembling like an aspen leaf when I got to him. And seeing the condition he was in, I took him in my arms and carried him by force to a place of safety, thus saving him from falling several hundred feet and dashing himself to pieces. I then remained with him until he arrived safely at the bottom of the bluffs.

We continued our journey on the north side of the river until we came to the mouth of Laramie, for here we crossed over on the south side near old Fort John, near where Fort Laramie now stands. About five miles above here at a grove of white ash, we camped and laid by for about a week to burn tar, there being plenty of pitch pine here. We also needed rest. From here we went on to Horse Shoe, about forty miles. Here we laid by one day for the women to wash.

We were now fairly well into the Black Hills and in full view of Laramie Peak. This was such a novel sight to me that I proposed to Captain Turnbow that we should go to the top of the peak and kill some mountain sheep, which were supposed to abound there. He accepted the proposal, and away we went, supposing it to be about ten or twelve miles when in reality it was about forty miles. We went about twelve miles and the peak look just as far off as it did. We got discouraged about going to it and returned the same day as we thought when we started.

Here we came across an old buffalo bull, and Turnbow proposed that I should crawl as close to him as I could and shoot him, and we would load ourselves with meat and return. So I crawled up within three rods of him, as he was feeding away from me, but he would not turn around so as to give ma a fair shot at him. So I peeled away at his

flank, crawling forward. At the crack of a gun he jumped and kicked and ran; in a short distance he entered the brush out of sight. Turnbow came up laughing and we followed his track a little ways into the brush when I saw him walking along with his head down, very sick, so I shot him again. He ran off a very little ways and stopped and laid down, too sick to go farther.

Turnbow now proposed to shoot him in the head, saying he had heard it said that a bullet would not penetrate a buffalo's head, and he was going to try it and see for himself. So he went up within about one rod of the old bull, as he was lying there with his tongue out, and raised his gun, when the old bull began to struggle to get up. Turnbow thought he was gone sure; he jerked his hat and ran as hard as I ever saw a man run until he got to some cottonwood trees about forty yards off before he looked behind him, thinking the old bull was right at his heels, while I was laughing almost fit to split my sides to see him run, as there was no danger, for the old bull hardly got to his feet when he fell dead, before Turnbow was half way to the trees. When he saw the old bull was dead he came back laughing, saying he was going to have his shot anyhow. So he went about to where he was before and peeled away, the bullet going into his head the same as any other beef.

We went to work and skinned a part of him and cut off about one hundred and fifty pounds of the meat. I objected to taking so much, telling him he would give out and we would have to leave it after carrying it a good way, but he declared he knew he could carry it to camp. So we strung it on a pole between us and started for camp, but he soon got tired and we would have to lay it down and rest, then we would start on again with the whole of it in place of throwing a part of it away so as to make it light enough so that we could carry it. In this way we continued carrying and resting until we go about half way to camp when he declared he could not carry it any farther. So he proposed we should hang it up in a tree and go to camp and come after it in the morning with horses. Finally I agreed, so I climbed a tree and hung it up and we went to camp.

That night the Indians stole every horse in camp but seven head. We knew it was folly to pursue them on foot, so we gave them up and proceed on our journey. Having had experience enough the day before in carrying on foot, we left our meat to hang and dry and did not go for it so that we had our tramp to Laramie for nothing.

In this way we traveled until we had come out of the hills onto the Platte again. As we were coming along one evening just before camping time we saw three bears on the other side of the river near by a thicket of brush. Smoot, the captain, called to me to get ready and go with him and kill them. Accordingly I got my gun which was empty and loaded it with a double charge, as I knew it would stand it, and took my pistol — a single barrel — in case I got into a close fight, and went with him. By the time we got started there were three more boys who had got ready and also went with us. Their names were Charles Chipman, George Peacock and Lorin Roundy.

Well, by the time we got across the river the bear had gone into the bush so that we could not see them, but we had three large dogs with us which we put on their tracks

and into the brush they ran, but when they got to the bear they were so astonished they would not even bark at them. When we got pretty well up to the brush, Smoot charged right up, thinking, I suppose, to get the first shot, but when he saw the bear he was about like the dogs. He was so excited he forgot he had any gun but hollered. "Here she is boys, come and shot her quick." Accordingly we ran as fast as we could right up to the brush, but when we got there the brush was high enough that we could not see them on foot. Just as this time the old bear noticed Smoot on his horse and she paid no attention to the dogs, but came for us with a vengeance. This excited Smoot the more and he hollered, "Take care boys, run — here she comes. She is a fifteen hundreder," and turning his horse he laid whip and away he went with a vengeance.

This so alarmed the boys that they all turned and ran as fast as they could, leaving the bear and me to settle our little differences as best we could. In the moment of their running by me and leaving me to fight it out alone, I thought of Daniel Boone's companions running and leaving him alone in like circumstances when attacked by a panther. But I thought I was equal to the emergency and knowing my gun and myself also, I brought my gun to my face and ran backwards from the brush to try and get far enough from the brush to give me a chance to shoot. The old bear, in the meantime was not fooling away her time, for I had not got more than twenty feet from the brush until she made her appearance. when she saw me she was filled with rage and she came for me with all the vengeance that she had in her, blowing and whistling so that you might have heard her a half a mile at least. But there was so time to lose, so quick as thought I brought my gun on her and fired, striking her in the sticking (?) place and coming out through her kidney, knocking her a complete somersault with her head from me.

I immediately reloaded, turning the powder into my gun out of the powder horn while I was getting a bullet out of my mouth where I had placed them to be ready for a load quick, for I expected a fight. I had not started from camp after them calculating to run from them when I saw them.

After I had killed this one, which proved to be an old she-grizzly with her teeth all worn off, I looked to see what had become of my companions. I They were just turning around some large trees about fifty yards from me when they saw the bear down and that I was master of the field. They came running back as fast as they had run away, but I was reloaded and ready for another before they got back to me.

WE then got the dogs after the young ones; the dogs would fight these. They all three turned loose on one but they could not stop him. he would travel along as fast as a man could walk with all three dogs doing their best on him. I went up to him while the dogs and he were fighting and ran my knife through him, killing him instantly. The other one fled and got across the river and almost the whole company ran after him. Of all the dogs in camp there was but one that would fight him, and could not do much with him. Then a man by the name of Armstrong got to him and putting his gun close to the bear's head, he fired, missing him. He then turned the butt of his gun and struck the bear over the head, breaking the gun into two pieces, but not hurting the bear any. This brought him to his senses. There was another fellow that ran up to the bear and did the same way and

missed him. Not taking time to bring any ammunition with them and not having any more guns, they had no other resource but to throw rocks at it. Finally Major Russel, the captain of the fifty, hit him on the nose with a rock and knocked him down and he laid there until he ran up; and cut his throat. Thus ended the first bear fight I was ever in.

We now proceeded slowly. Our teams were getting worn out with heavy loads and no roads. We traveled slowly until we got to the pacific Springs. Here we met the First Presidency returning from Salt Lake Valley. Here our hearts were made glad by their rehearsing to us that they had found a good country at Salt Lake Valley, counselled us on our arrival in Salt Lake Valley to weigh out our provisions and ration ourselves so as to make it hold out until time for harvest.

From here to Fort Bridger game was scarce, but little could be got while travelling. At the Springs, six miles west of Bridger, I left the wagons and went on foot and alone to Bear River to try and kill some meat to do us into the valley. I made Bear River a little after dark, and the next morning started on a hunt in the hills, hoping to kill several antelope that day, as I expected the wagons to get there that night. I soon had a very fat antelope down and another large buck came running up to see what the noise was. I blazed away at him, thinking I had him sure, but the tube and cylinder blew out of my gun and I do not suppose the bullet went half way to him. My hunt was now played out. After my leaving my wife for two days I got but one antelope. Still, I thought it would never do to give it up, so I took another gun to try it the next day while the train was on the move.

I started out in the morning, but I had not gone more than two or three miles before I came on a mule and mare that had been left there by the Battalion boys a couple of months before. They were as wild as if they had never seen anybody in their lives. I tried a good while to get the better of them, to catch them, but finding my efforts unavailing, I undertook to craze the mare, thinking by so doing I should get them both. So I blazed away down came the mare. I ran up to her and slipped a bridle on her, taking the bridle off the horse I was riding and letting it go on the prairie. The one I rode ran off with the wild mule. I gave the bridle to Brother Chipman who was with me to hold, telling him to get something and stop up the bullet hole so as to stop up the blood while I went after the one that had run away. It took a good while to catch my horse. I was gone over an hour. In the meantime, Chipman thought the mare bled so fast that she would bleed to death anyhow, so he took the bridle off her and turned her loose. I She got up and went off down by the train just as I was getting back and fell down dead. I then gave up the mule and came ahead.

When we got over into Echo Canyon we met James W. Stewart with my oxen that I had sent out with the pioneers, to help us over the mountains. this was timely help, and it enabled me to cross the mountains a great deal easier than we otherwise would have done.

In East Canyon I came very near having an accident that would have been quite serious. My oxen refused to take a crossing straight. They crowded me onto the haw side and ran the wagon up on the bank so far they came very near upsetting my wagon. I was obliged to run around to the off side and take the wagon on my back and hold it until we could drive down to the creek. My wagon was loaded with provisions which, if it had tipped over into the creek, would almost have ruined us, but we got over safely and arrived where Salt Lake City now stands, on the eighteenth day of September, 1847.

We had now got to our journey's end. As soon as we could after we had got to our camping ground so that we could do it, we went to work and weighed out our provisions. I We found that we had a little over three — fourths of a pound of corn a day to the head.

Having accomplished all I had agreed to do, and that was to see my wife's mother to her journey's end in safety, we now separated and each went to ourselves. It had occupied my time and had caused me a great deal of hard work in taking the responsibility of her family and bringing them through, but once having given my word, I was determined to accomplish it and although I was as tough as men ever get to be. I was well nigh worn out. In fact, I had been judged to be forty-five years old before I got to the valley although I was but twenty-five.

I now went to work and got out logs and built a log house in the fort and prepared for the winter. 4 During this winter the Indians stole a great deal of our stock. They got the last I had, which set me entirely afoot. Neither was there any chance to get a knew supply for work. We were all poor together. The first winter was very light; in fact, there was ploughing and sewing done all winter. In the spring of 1848 I went out on Mill Creek six miles south. Here I managed to get in about ten acres of corn, but just as my corn was up nicely, the crickets came down in swarms from the mountains and in one day's time destroyed my whole crop, and where they ate it never grew again. They would suck all the virtue out of the roots.

I then took ten acres to attend on shares, but the nights were so cold that it would not grow worth a cent and there was not any that ripened fit to eat. Still, we had to eat it, soft, mush, half-rotten as it was.

In the fall I got to work for Van Vott and got about twenty bushels of him, but it was all of a piece, no sound corn in it. In fact, I almost came to the conclusion that we would have to import our seed corn. It seemed that we never could get any ripe enough for seed. It rained a very little — not enough to spoil the salt in the lake, so but what it could be got all winter, but to say that we passed the first two years in destitute circumstances does not express the situation. But I believe today that not withstanding we had to suffer so much for even the commonest necessities of life, that the first immigration were the best satisfied and grumbled the least of any immigration that has ever come to Utah. We were all poor alike, we were all hungry alike, and we were all naked alike and could each sympathize with each other.

Well in this condition we passed the first years in the valley, the spring of fortynine being the hardest I ever experienced. I After we had eaten all the flour and corn meal
and shorts that could be got we would sift the bran through a sieve and eat it and when
we could get no more to sift we would eat the siftings, and after all this, I passed some six
weeks without the taste of bread of any kind and worked hard every day. In fact one day I
walked twenty-five miles and cut and split and racked up with the hearts all to the sun,
one hundred and fifty fence rails, twelve feet long and all of a large size, for twenty
pounds of shorts, for Jacob Gates, and then when I went for my shorts he only gave me
seventeen pounds.

Well, in this way we passed along and although I had money in my pocket it would not buy bread. I remember just as harvest was coming on my wife went to a meeting after a very scanty breakfast one Sunday morning, leaving absolutely nothing at home to eat. On our return she was so faint she wanted to go home at noon but I said no, I wanted to stay till the afternoon meeting and then I would get something to eat. So we stayed. After meeting she went home alone and I went to an emigrant camp that was camped up; by the Hot Springs and bought some flour and coffee and away I went trudging home feeling larger that I should have done if my load had been of gold. My wife went to work and cooked some pancakes and made a cup of coffee, but she was so weak that she could not eat but very little, but from this time we had plenty.

Now we began to realize the fulfillment of the prophecy of Heber C. Kimball's mad the fall before. When President Young and Brother Kimball and others arrived with our second emigration the people were in a very destitute condition. Heber came out on the stand and prophecies in the name of Israel's God that in less than twelve months everything we needed in the provision, grocery and dry goods line would be bought in the streets of Salt Lake cheaper than it would cost in S. Louis. He said himself, afterwards, He was scared for he did not know how such a prophecy could be fulfilled,, but said that he said it before he knew what he was saying. But it was now being fulfilled, for the emigrants came flocking in by thousands loaded so heavy they did not know, but now they were in a hurry to get to the gold mines before the gold was all got, and they would pay fabulous prices for ponies and would sell anything they could for just what they could get. In some instances they would give a new wagon and three or four yoke of cattle and outfit for a pony that one month before could have been for twenty-five dollars. It was just as heber said it would be — ready-made clothing, calicos, domestics, flour, bacon, powder lead and almost everything that we wanted, sold at less than St. Louis' prices. And then they brought the money along for us to buy their goods and gave it to us for a few ponies, a little garden sauce, butter and milk and so on, so that by the time the emigration was over, the majority of the people were quite comfortable and Heber's prophecy had been fulfilled to the fullest extent.

In Sept. 1849, I received a letter from Father and brothers in Missouri of a tone that made me believe that if I were to go back that fall I should be able to bring them into the Church. I went to see Pres. Young and told him what news I had from home and asked him what he thought I had better do. He counselled me to go back with a company of missionaries that would be going immediately after conference, so I set to work to get

ready to go. The family of my wife's mother proffering me one-third of their estate that was left if I would get the remainder and bring it to them. This of itself was no consideration, as the whole amount was only about sixteen hundred dollars, but considering the prospects of getting my father's family out, I concluded to make the venture.

Accordingly, I moved my family up to Weber River to my wife's mother's and hired them to take care of them until my return, furnishing them nearly as much provisions as they used and paying G.R. Steward one yoke of cattle on my return, besides cutting ten acres of wheat for them. October the tenth was the day appointed to start. On the ninth at sunset I started from Weber with a pack on my back of about thirty pounds to walk to Session's settlement, a distance of thirty miles. Arriving at Session's settlement in the latter part of the night, I crawled into the wagon we were going in and slept rather than to disturb them at night.

The next day we started, but the rest of the company did not start until the fifteenth. I went to Fort Bridger and waited for the company to come, when we proceeded on our journey from this point. I stood guard every night, the night being divided into three watches, standing my own guard, Kinkade;s and elder Taylor;s. I walked all the way. I do not suppose I rode five miles the whole distance from Salt Lake to the Missouri River, and cooked for the mess and gained about fifteen pounds on the road.

Just beyond Sweet Water River we met the mail. They had been robbed by the Crow Indians three times the day before, the last time the Indians taking everything they had, even making them strip off their shirts and exchange with them. We divided with them what we could in clothing and provisions and sent them on their way rejoicing.

These Crows, five hundred strong, were down on a war party to fight the Sioux. Finding the sioux were not out too strong, for them, they sent home for five hundred more men and were waiting for their arrival to go on to meet the sioux.

When we got down to Platte River Canyon, we stopped at noon at the lower end of the canyon. Just as we were sitting down to dinner, the cheyennes, about two hundred strong made a charge on us. Jedediah Grant, who was sergeant of the guard, instantly took command. Dinner was left on the ground; every man ran to arms. The horses were brought in and tied up and a line was formed before the Indians got to us. The Indians evidently intended to run right over us; they were well mounted and armed, their guns cocked. Those that had bows had their hands full of arrows. Several had swords. They were drawn. They came on in splendid style, about twelve abreast, and made about as handsome a sight as one would wish to look at. Still, one does not see a more dangerous sight often in a lifetime. Every man made his horse do his best, for they saw our movements and they knew that if we beat them into position it was going to make it costly to them, if they succeeded at all in charging and getting our boxes and goods. They came on at full speed until when they were in about two or three rods of our line. Every man's gun was to his face. When so many hollow things were looking them square in the face and no signs of any faltering by the holders of them, it was more than they could

stand, and they stopped then and there. In fact, the stop was so sudden and unlooked for by them in the next lines that they piled up there in the worst confused mass you ever saw, some twenty or thirty being thrown from their horses. A good many came very near being run over and they got into a regular quarrel amongst themselves. They made three attempts to pass around our lines, but were met every time with arms presented, when they finally desisted.

Finally, after being kept in this position by them for an hour or two, Jedediah called for five of the smallest to retire from the lines and harness up all the teams and put everything in the wagons for a start. When this was done he called for every teamster to go to his team and start out, and as the first team passed the line for three men to fall in beside the team with arms on the shoulders and march by the side of the team, and to do the same throughout. We did so and when the Indians saw our move, about one half of them turned about and left as mad as they could well be. The rest went along with us quite a distance, to all appearances, really friendly.

That night we camped on Horse Shoe close by the side of the sioux camp, about one thousand strong. These and the Cheyennes, about two thousand, were both coming to fight the crows. The Crows came about midnight and stole some ten head of their horses and about twenty head from the Cheyennes. Just as it was daylight there was a perfect roar of small arms, every Indian discharging his gun to load afresh for the fight which came off that day back in the hills. The Crows took this method of stealing their horses to draw the Sioux and cheyennes onto the ground where they wanted to fight, where they had an ambush laid for them.

We traveled that day down below the Fort Laramie kilns and camped with two Government teamsters. I saw that we were going to be short of provisions before we got through, so we inquired of these teamsters what the chance would be for us to get supplies at the fort. They said that there was plenty there that the Government had sent out on purpose for destitute emigrants, but assured us we could not get anything for they had known a good many to apply for them but were invariably refused. We told them that we would get all we wanted in answer to prayer. They said if we did, they would be Mormons.

Accordingly, when prayer time came the chaplain was requested to say our condition before the father and ask him to soften the heart of the Major commanding so that he would supply our wants. k the chaplain did so. I After prayer they said that they had never seen anything done that way, but if our prayers were answered, they would be Mormons.

The next day when we arrived at the fort we called on the Major and made our wants known to him. His reply was, "Yes, gentlemen, you can have all you want at the wholesale price, at Fort Leavenworth prices, without anything for freight even."

So we got everything we needed in answer to our prayer, but I have never seen the teamsters since I saw them at the fort. They kept watch to see if we got everything, swearing that it beat their time, but that was all there was of them.

The first night below Laramie it rained all night, making it bad traveling, but when we went to cross over from Ash Hollow we found it had snowed there some ten or twelve inches deep and froze so hard that it would almost bear up the horses and mules, giving us a very hard day. But when we got to South Platte there was no ice in the river, which was very low, but the sand was so soft that when we had gone about one fourth of a mile into the river, our teams all gave out and we were obliged to get out and push at the wagons before the teams could start again. We divided up and took one third of them at a time and helped them across and then returned for one more third. Here we had to make three round trips in the river about knee deep, which took us over an hour in ice cold water. Elder John Taylor had crossed on horseback and made up a rousing fire on the bank out of buffalo chips, as that was all the wood he had. But we never stopped to try to warm, but took to our heels and ran four or five miles to where we camped.

The snow met us at Plum Creek about three hundred miles from the Missouri River. From here we had snow about two feet deep, but fortune favored us again, for the wind had blown the snow all out of the road. But we had to chop cottonwood trees for nearly all the way for our horses to feed on the bark, as the snow was so deep they could get no grass. At Fort Carney they furnished us what we wanted.

We arrived at the Missouri River on December the twelfth, driving forty miles that day without breakfast. Here we found the ice running so thick that boats could not cross, So we laid by one day, held a meeting, and voted to cross the next day, on Monday, and I was appointed one of the committee to go up and find the best place. We crossed at the ferry on a strip of ice not over one hundred yards wide, in the current, with our horses and wagons where it was open water twenty four hours before. We pulled our wagons with ropes, and when the wheels would cut through the ice, as many did, I would step up and take hold of the point of the hub and lift it out and the rest of the boys would pull it along. We got two horses into the river but we would choke them and make them rise and pull them out and go on. We had been over the river about one hour when the river cleared itself of ice, but we were over as we voted we would be, on the bridge that Father prepared for us.

now we made our way to Kanesville where I tarried one week with the brethren before starting on. I bade the brethren goodbye and started on foot and going for the southwest Missouri, about five hundred miles, where I arrived between Christmas and New Year's, finding my folks all well except my father who was barely able to get about. All were overjoyed to see me, but Father had a sever attack of congestive chills the April previous and had never got over it. Indeed, it seemed that he had just lived to see me before he could die. Early in February he appointed the following Sunday for me to baptize him, he being the first one that called for baptism. k But on Saturday night he was violently attacked with fever from which he never recovered, and died on the following Saturday night, full in the faith without the privilege of baptism.

I know prosecuted my suit in court for the money I had come after; this caused me a great deal of traveling. I went once to Jefferson City to meet Joseph Toronto, who was going to Italy on a mission with Elder Lorenzo Snow. But, I accomplished all I went for; I got my money all right, baptized my oldest brother and wife and brought my mother and family and my oldest brother and family also. We spent the most of the winter travelling and as soon as spring opened, were ready for a start.

On my return trip I had found that all my old acquaintances had turned enemies to me because of their suspicions that I had got to be a Mormon, for I had not told any of them that I had joined the Church. There is one incident I will relate.

On my way to court I stayed overnight with a man by the name of Noah Bray, my brother Richard being with me. That night I dreamed that the opposition was very strong against me, and that one J. A. J. Lee, one of the judges had offered to bribe the court for one hundred dollars so that I need have no more expenses. In consequences of my refusing to bribe him, he turned enemy to me and was trying to do all he could against me. I dreamed just what to do and also what would take place in the court room the next day.

In the morning when I got up I told Bray he had got to go to court that day as he was one of the judges, but he not being on that term of the court, and fixing to get off to California, but I told him if he did not I should send after him, for I was going to rule some of the judges off the bench and was going to put him in their place. He said I could not do it. I told him I could. I them told him what I had seen the night before and that I was going to be governed by it that day to the letter.

So he went with us and everything transpired just exactly as I told him before we started. Even old Mike Randleman, the blacksmith, I dreamed, same into the court room at the head of a mob with his sleeves rolled up to his shoulders and pinned up, and that when he came, that I stepped back into the court room and adjusted my revolver and came out, and then they left. Well, old Mike came just as I had seen him and stepped past the clerk and picked up a large green persimmon club that stood in the corner. I immediately stepped back and adjusted my revolver, and just as I was returning the clerk took the club from old Mike and showed it to the court, told them the Court House had been broken open a few nights before and that club was left, told Mike that was his club and that Mike could not have it. The crowd then began to disperse and everything was done just as I had seen it the night before. This beat Noah Bray's time and he acknowledged that it beat anything he had ever seen.

I stopped one night at Harden Payne's where I believe there was an attempt made to poison me, when something said plainly to me not to eat supper. Well, I was so used to this thing I took the warning and refused to eat after the victuals were on the table and the coffee was poured out. Whereupon the old lady got up from the table and took the cup of coffee that was poured out at my place and threw it out doors before my face. This entirely convinced me that I was right and that the monitor had given me timely warning

Well as soon as spring opened up we started. Nothing of an unusual occurrence took place until we got to Fort Carney. The cholera had set in a day or two back at Big Blue, but when we got to Platte river the Cholera had increased to much that folks began to get frightened, when before I knew what I was saying I told them not to be afraid of the cholera, that if they would do as I told them, they should pass through it and not have a symptom of it in my camp This they agreed to do in a moment.

It was now my turn to get scared. I made the promise without knowing what I did. I now had to center all The faith I had in the Almighty. I knew he was able to keep us out of disease if we were faithful,m and having without knowing how I came to do it I knew I was under the influence of the spirit or I never would dared to have made such a promise no more than a sectarian preacher dare to promise the Holy Ghost, for he knows he has no authority to do so. So I took it that Father wanted to show his power, that they might receive strength, for they were very weak.

So we came right along for over three hundred miles where they were sick and dying around us all the times without one of my company having even a bowel complaint.

When we got to the old california crossing of South Platte it was very high. Teams were swimming. I told the captain I would not cross there, that I could find a crossing just a little above where we could cross dry. So I took his horse and found a crossing where the water did not tough the wagon box. I then piloted them all over, crossing the river nine times that day, but when I had got the company all over without accident or getting anything wet, the captain called upon the company to furnish some teams and drivers to go back and bring my two wagons across at one trip, but notwithstanding I had been the means of their all crossing in safety without one man or woman even getting their feet wet, they all, without exception, refused to cross that river again to assist me to get across, I thanked them very kindly and told them that in my greatest extremity I could not accept of the assistance of any such a company; neither could I afford to travel with them any farther and that they could go their own way the rest of the journey and I should help myself. I had ferried the whole company over the Big Blue, working the whole day on the kraft, as there was not a man in the whole company that had ever seen a wagon on a raft and knew no more about steering a kraft than a newborn babe, and had rendered them the assistance that I had that day, and not one in the whole company had the manhood to return the compliment, even to make one trip to assist me. I got well nigh out of patience with them, but the captain declared he was ashamed of such ingratitude and took his teams, contrary to my wish, and went back with me after my wagons and brought me over safely at one trip. We then drove out to the spring and camped.

The next day we drove to Ash Hollow. The next morning I got up my teams early before the company was ready and bade them goodbye and rolled out of their company for good.

I then made the best of my way for home, but at Independence Rock my youngest brother took the mountain fever. Here we laid for eight days, during which time there came a man by the name of Brown that had a difficulty in his company and had got turned out of his company. He wanted to get to drive team from there to Salt Lake for his board, so I took him in and let him drive my team and left the wagons in care of my eldest brother and started from there alone on horseback to come on home in order to get in, if possible before the celebration of the 24th.

At the head of Sweetwater I fell in with Charles

Decker and Ralph Frink, who had gone back in the same company the fall before. We were mutually glad to meet each other — me because I was entirely alone and they because they did not have a mouthful of anything to eat. Well, I divided grub with them, and ky the time we reached Green River my grub was all gone. Here I bought what grub I thought would do us home, but when we reached Echo Canyon our grub was out again. Here we ate the last we had, about half a breakfast, and started for Salt Lake.

I found the Weber River pretty high, sometimes swimming my horse. I undertook to go over a point of mountain to avoid a very bad crossing, Here my mare fell and rolled down the mountain about yards and lodged with her back under a log that was fast at the roots and her heels up the mountain in such a way that I could not extricate her, and I was obliged to chop the log in two with my butcher knife, as I had nothing else. This hindered a good deal of time and when I got her at liberty, I found that she was seriously injured. However, I started on, but at the next crossing the river had enlarged its channel when high and filled in next the bank with quicksand, and as soon as my mare struck this she mired up to her belly the first plunge she made, and every exertion she made after sank her deeper into the mire. Here I labored until nearly sunset trying to extricate her, but of no avail, for every move I made to get her out only sank deeper in the mire. So I finally gave her up and started on foot with a heavy pack on my back. I went on until dark, turned in by the side of a large rock, and slept until morning, but it was so very bushy in the canyon — no trail — the brush in many places so very thick it seemed almost impossible to get through, so I thought I would try the mountain, knowing that Weber and Ogden Rivers were not far apart where they came into the valley. I thought the top of the mountain would be smooth and clear of brush, so up I went, toiling until I got near the top, when to my surprise, I found it was only a succession of mountains and canyons and altogether impracticable to follow the top of the mountains,, and also I could see down into Weber Valley, a nice, open country, clear of brush, and that I was almost to it when I ascended the mountain. So I retraced my steps, taking me about half a day to go to the top of the mountain and down; again, and gaining not more than 3 or 4 miles.

I now struck out in earnest, but about noon there came a tremendous rain that hindered me for a couple of hours or more so that night overtook me again up in the head of Weber Canyon, above Devil's gate. Here I laid down and slept by the side of a rock again. As soon as daylight came I started on and reached home about noon, making the third day without anything to eat and two days with a pack upon my back that would weigh close to one hundred pounds, especially after the rain the second day.

I found my family that I had not heard from since I left them in the previous October all well and very glad to see me, for they had heard how the cholera had raged on the plains and had been very uneasy about me. I had accomplished all I went to do, just as president Young told me I would, for I had obtained the means I went after and had succeeded in bringing my father's family into the Church — all but my brother John — and had brought them home with me, and although the cholera raged so fiercely on the plains we all come through it without one of my company having a symptom of it, my promise being fulfilled to the very letter.

I have always believed that the angels of God accompanied me across the plains and guarded me from accidents and disease, and when I was coming down Weber Canyon alone with my pack on my back, every once in a while there would come the most cheerful influence over me and i do not know how many times I caught myself turning around to speak to my companion when I knew that I was entirely alone. Neither in the whole three days did I ever once feel the pangs of hunger and fatigue, and my strength kept up seemingly as good as ever.

There is one singular circumstance that took place that I will here relate. I had a man with us ky the name of Banton that, stop where we would, he would go fishing and he would scarcely ever fail to catch a mess of fish. If it was only a brook, he would have fish. Anyhow, while on Little Blue he caught a fine string of very large, fine fish, and when I saw them it seemed to me I never wanted anything so bad in my life, so I tried every way possible to get one of them, but he absolutely refused to let me have even one of them, After laboring with him for a good while to no purpose, offering him any price he had mind to ask, I seemed to become enraged at him and spoke right out to him and told him if he did not let me have one at least of his fish, he should not catch another fish for three hundred miles. This seemed to enrage him and he asked if there were no fish in Platte River. I told him "yes" but he should not catch one in Platte River nor any of its tributaries. "Well" said he, "You shall not have one now at any price," and I was not able to buy one of them. "But" said he, When we get over to Platte River I will go and catch a mess and give them to you" at which I replied, "If you catch a fish in Platte River or any of its tributaries, you can call me a liar," and we parted.

Well, as I was leaving my wagons on Sweetwater to come home, who should I meet but Benton. Said he, as soon as the first salutations were over, "Mister Hill, are there any fish in this river?" I told him there were plenty. Said he, "I wish you would let me go and catch a mess, for I never was so hungry for fish in my life." I asked him if he caught any in the Black Hills. He said no, that he could see them in Deer Creek almost as thick as they could swim, but the moment he would throw in his hook they would every one run away as fast as they could, and he had not had a bite of fish since we were at Little Blue, and he never was so hungry for fish in his life, and he would be very much obliged if I would allow him to go catch some. At the same time I declared that if he were ever allowed to catch fish again as he used to, he would never refuse a man fish as he had me. I told him that he might go in the morning and catch what he wanted for all of me, for I should not hinder him. He seemed to be delighted, but I never saw him afterwards, so I do not know whether he got any in the morning or not, but in all our travels until this

occurrence took place we would never stop at any little branch or creek of any size, even where you would think there would not be even a minnow hardly, but what we would go and catch a good mess of fish. Still in all that distance he never got a bit, just as I told him he should not.

Having arrived at home where I could rest and recruit myself again after a long and hazardous journey, I remained as quiet as circumstances would admit of. I now cast about to see where I should locate. Finally I selected a location about one mile south of the present site of Ogden City, and a tract of land surveyed of fifty three acres, and went to work to build upon it. While engaged in building, there was an even transpired common in new countries, thickly peopled as this was with wild indians.

There was an Indian chief named Tar-ra-Kee that had made a practice of stealing corn from a man named Urban Stewart. One day Tar-ra-kee was in Urban's house and Urban told him that if he stole anymore of his corn he would kill him. He said he was going to move away the next day. Well, about midnight that same night here comes Tar-ra-kee to steal more corn. I suppose he wanted some to take along with him. Urban heard him shucking his corn so he got up, took his gun and went out and shot him, sure enough killing him right there. It was now time for Urban to get scared, so he took his children and ran the best he could and came right over to my mother-in-law's house for safety. The Indians gathered up immediately and started on the warpath. Coming across three men going out after stock, they gave chase. Two made good their escape but one by the name of Campbell was overtaken and killed. In the meantime, Little soldier took Urban's track and followed him direct to our house where he was secreted, but we told him we knew nothing of him. I Still he was not satisfied. However, he gave us until nine o'clock next day to get him and give him up.

It was now getting time for us to take the warpath so we sent to Salt Lake for men and when the Indians came in the morning to see if we were going to give up Urban, they found over one hundred men there waiting for them. I promptly took them prisoners and started after the others that had fled after killing Campbell. We followed them about twenty-five miles when we found they had scattered in every direction, so we returned. They were still not satisfied for early in the next spring they commenced stealing our horses and cattle, so we took the warpath again and followed them some fifty miles, catching up with their camp, but they had taken to the mountains. We caught one, however, and killed him and recovered a portion of the horses they had stolen.

We followed this up by another campaign of ten days, but they had run far enough that we did not overtake them, but they now gave it up and peace was restored again.

Things continued in this way until the spring of 1855, when at the april Conference I was called to take a mission to the house of Israel. This took all I could do to raise an outfit for myself, but realizing that the call was from God, I accepted it in good faith and went to work with a will to prepare for it. This took everything I could raise to fit myself out and a very poor outfit it was that I had, Still, I made the best I could of it and started early in May.

This mission lasted for three years. There were many things transpired upon this mission that are worthy of note, but I shall only mention a few of them.

None of us knew the language of the people we were sent to, since I had learned a little of the language the winter before, it fell to me lot to do all the talking pretty much that was done, and also I had accepted the mission in good faith and did not want to return with a blank record, so turned in with a will to try to get the language, realizing that unless I could talk with them, my labors would not amount to much. I had faith in God that he would assist me if I would do my duty on my part. This I determined to do and it had been sealed upon my head that I should see them in the distance and should know them and that they would come to me by the hundreds, but little did k think that this was going to come literally to pass as soon as it did, for the first Indians we saw were at Fort Hall on Snake River. I went right to work on my missionary labors.

We were encamped on the Portneuf River about five miles from the Fort. We had just encamped when, on looking over to Fort Hall, I discovered some Indians coming directly towards us, when it seemed to me that I knew them, and I told the boys who were with me that there came some of my children and that I was going to baptize them. This created some merriment among the boys, but on they came, arriving at our camp. They got off their horse and shook hands with us and stopped with us when I went to talking to them as well as I could, telling them who we were and what our business was.

The next day we moved on up to the ferry, the Indians accompanying us, when on coming into camp the President called upon me to preach to them, which I did as well as I could which was very poor indeed. When they called for baptism, I took them to the river and baptized them, in fulfillment of my prediction that I had made when I first saw them in the distance. This was my first Indian baptism.

We then proceeded on our journey to the Salmon River where we made a location. As we were going from Snake to Salmon River, we met the Bannock Chief and he accompanied us to our destination and stopped with us until the fishing season was over when he went on his accustomed buffalo hunt.

As we approached the Salmon river the Chief and myself made a treaty between ourselves, each agreeing what we would do to preserve peace and friendship between us, the chief telling me that Father, meaning the Great Spirit, had told him that the white men were coming to his country and he must meet them and welcome them to his country, and he must hear them and maintain friendly relations with them. He wanted now to make a treaty that would be lasting. We each agreed that in case anything should arise between us, that is my people and his, that was not right, no difference of what nature, whether serious or not, that we were not to take the matter in our own hands and avenge our own cause, but were to refer it to the respectful chiefs and arbitrate our difficulties in case they should arise, instead of avenging our own cause. This was the chief's own proposition. This struck me as a wise course to pursue as we were amongst a race of savages with who difficulty was liable to arise at any time.

When we reached our destination we went to work and built a fort. Shortly after our arrival the chief came to me and wanted me to take some men and teams and get some large timbers for a fish trap, telling me there would be fish, plenty for them and us both, and if I would get the large timbers they would make the wicket work and we could all fish together. This suited the president, so he sent some men with me and we got out the large timbers while they were making the wicket work.

When the trap was finished the chief told me to come early the next morning, for the fish were already there and Indians were hungry. Accordingly I went up to the trap as soon as it was light, taking brother B. F. Commings with me, as he had requested me to call him when I went.

When we got there were about fifty Indians waiting on the bank of the river for me to come. The chief chided me for being late, saying the Indians were very hungry and were not allowed to catch anything until I had caught the first fish; then they could catch, but not before. So the chief and I fixed our hooks and stepped out on the platform, the chief waiting for me to catch the first before he was allowed to catch any. I had a large pole about 12 feet long for my fish pole with a hook about four inches across and socket to run my pole into with a piece of lariat tied to my hook in such a manner as to allow my hook to pull off of my pole and then the fish would hang by the lariat and could not break my pole.

The bull pen, as I called it, was full of fish, some of them three to four feet in length. When I got ready there were four large ones swimming close to me, so I made a grab at one and caught him in the side, but he was so large and heavy and I jerked so hard that I tore him for very nigh a foot. My hook came out so suddenly that the end of my pole caught an Indian that was standing behind me right by the side of his nose and knocked him down as dead, to all appearance, as if a cannon ball had struck him. In the excitement I did not know I had hit anything, but as I was fixing my hook to try again the chief said to me, "Look at that Indian you have killed." I looked and saw him lying there sure enough. I asked the chief what killed him; he said I hit him in the eye. I went and examined him and saw I had hit him by the side of the nose. I felt of his pulse but he had none, so I went to work chafing him but seemingly to no purpose for some time. Finally he came to and I went back to my fishing, but Brother Cummings was very uneasy and kept insisting that we must go, but I would not go until I had caught five. Brother Cummings declared he would not help to carry more than two and when I quit fishing and got a pole to hang them on he would not allow but two to be put on the pole, he was in such a hurry to get away for fear of the Indians.

So I gave three that I had caught to the chief and left my hook with him for him to fish with as it was better than his, and told the chief when the Indian got smart (well) enough to tell him to come up and I would make him some presents as I did not want to hurt him and did not want him to feel bad. He said he should not feel bad, that he had no business behind me, that I had no eyes in the back of my head.

In three or four days after this the Indian came to see me and I gave him some presents, and the Indians being about to start to the buffalo country, I advised him to stay with us, telling him that I would take care of him until he would get well, that I was afraid that if he went to the buffalo country that so much traveling on horseback would kill him, as the bones were all broken clear through his head. But he thought he could stand it, but he could not, and died in a few days out. This was almost one of my first adventures, but the Indians never had any ill feelings towards me about it, not in the least degree, knowing it was purely accidental.

We had a great many Nez Perces visit us that summer, and they all took quite a liking to me. There was one in particular named Clark, a half-breed son of Clark of Clark and Lewis Journal, with bright red hair, blue eyes, and as thin skin as you would see on any man. He always called me his Little Brother because I was the same complexion he was and he was a little older. He would always come and stay with me when they would be there and take all the pains imaginable with me to teach me the Nez Perce language. I made wonderful progress in the language while they would be with me.

Quite late in the fall the Indians began to come in for winter quarters. There was one came in that had a very sick little girl. The Indians that I had baptized on the way out told him that we administered to the sick, anointing them and praying over them, so he came after me to go and administer to her. I told him we did not make a practice of administering to people that did not belong to the Church, and if we went and administered to her and she got well we would expect him to be baptized. He said that was a bargain.

So I took Brothers Cummings and Moore and went out to their camp and administered to the child who was burning up, as it were, with fever, and before we took our hands off of her head, the sweat broke out in great drops all over her face and she was well at once.

The following Sunday there was quite a crowd of Indians at our meeting and after we got through the President called on me to preach to the Indians, which I tried to do in my weak way, telling them that if they believed, that we would baptize them if they wanted it, when they all cried out, "I do!" all over the crowd. So we went to the water and I baptized fifty-six.

When I had baptized the men, as is the custom with Indians for the men to all take the lead, the water being very cold, the President said to me I had better come out and let someone else baptize the women. I came out and told them that one of the brethren would baptize the rest. They refused to come, saying if I did not baptize them they would not be baptized. At this I told them to come along and I would baptize them, which I did.

This raised a jealousy and envy against me amongst the brethren which continued to grow as long as the mission continued, for although they would not try to learn to talk or do anything with the Lamanites, still when they came to me and demanded baptism at my hands and I would go to the water and attend to it, they would say, "Ho, there is

nobody here that can baptize the Indians but George," when in truth, the Indians would not go to any of them for baptism nor be baptized by them. In fact, when the old Chief Tiar-en-do, or Mog as he was called by white man, came for baptism, the President said that he would baptize the Indians that day. It was all that I could do to get them to let him baptize them. Says they, "We want you to baptize us." I told them they were chiefs and it was good for them to be baptized by our chief. It was very hard work for them to give up, but by hard persuasion they finally consented and were baptized by him. In this mission I baptized some one hundred eight or ten, but this envy and jealousy continued to grow and increase, and while I was improving every opportunity for getting their language and paying the Indians to stop with me and teach me, and at the same time offering all the boys to come to me and I would teach them all I had learned free gratis, and that I would be glad to do so, they would not take advantage of the offer and the spirit of jealousy continued throughout the mission.

Just before his death 16 January 1850, Richard Hill called his family around him and said, "I am going to leave you, I will never get out of this bed, but before I die I wish to say to you that the message George has brought is true. I want you all to go with him to the mountains and join your lot with that people."

In March 1850, the company consisting of the mother, Sarah Strait Hill; Return Richard Hill and wife, Rhoda, with their children Cathrine, Sarah, Newton and Frank; John Strait Hill and William James Hill led by George Washington Hill, came to the valley.

Endowment House was dedicated 25 October, 1852. George W. Hill and Cynthia were among the first couples to go there. While they were away Grandmother Hill died, 15 Oct. 1852.

They built a house close to theirs on the farm for Sarah Strait Hill — probably 1850 or 51 George Richard used to go in to see her often.

In the spring of 1853 plans were laid for G. W. Hill's adobe home, consisting of three rooms below and two rooms above. So much work hauling wall that it was 1854 before house was completed, Richard, a mason, doing that part of the work, took sick and died 14 November, 1853.

Hans Ulrich Bryner

HANS ULRICH BRYNER JR.

Hans Ulrich Bryner Jr., the son of Hans Ulrich Bryner and Verena Wintsch was born in Illnau, Zurich, Switzerland, the 22nd of April 1827. His father was a shoemaker and young Ulrich picked up and delivered the shoes for his father.

His parents were good religious Lutherans and taught their children to pray, to be obedient, honest, prompt, industrious and thrifty.

When Ulrich was ten years old, his father bought a large farm, which changed their lives a lot. His mother no longer spent her time at the loom spinning thread for shoes, and his father left his cobbler's bench to look after the farm. Ulrich learned to do farming chores such as plowing, mowing and pruning. His sisters did the hoeing. Such things as weaving, spinning and knitting were done at night after the day in the fields. His father mended shoes at night while young Ulrich read the Bible to the family. They were allowed to go to the best entertainments that came along. They attended school from age six to twelve and did very well in their studies. By the time Ulrich was grown, he could speak six or seven languages. They were a happy united family and were fairly well off. They were always grateful for their early training and for their heritage.

In January of 1843, when Ulrich was nearly sixteen years old, he became very sick. His best pal also got sick and died. This upset Ulrich and he worried about it, thinking that he too might die. With this on his mind he was unable to sleep very well. He had a dream, in which a man with a grey beard and peculiar eyes took him by the hand and led him, in darkness, half way around the world. He could see nothing at all until they came to the top of the world. Then the heavens opened above their heads and he saw a bright light come down. He saw the City of Zion shining like gold, silver and glass —its loveliness was above description. He saw a big wall with three gates leading through it. Righteous and holy people were going through these gates into the city. He wanted to go in too, but the man said "You can't go through now, but if you are faithful and true, the time will come when you will be allowed to go." As he lay on his sick bed, he thought of this dream night and day. He thought a dark night was coming, but never guessed that he was going to be blind. He told his family of the dream and they all wondered what it meant.

When he recovered, he learned the butchering trade. He entered contests which were held to encourage the workers to excel. He was a good worker, quick and accurate. His specialty was killing hogs — he could kill, scald, scrape, hang and draw a hog faster than most anyone. He had won four cups as prizes. He received promotions until he became superintendent of the slaughter-house. He was also buyer for the establishment and went about the country buying animals. His languages came in handy in this assignment. He may have learned some of them on the job, although in Switzerland there are three official languages, taught in the schools, French, German and Italian. There are also many dialects. He wanted eventually to get into government service and worked toward that end.

In 1849 he married Anna Maria Dorothea Mathys, who was born 14 July 1828 at Wiedikon, Zurich, Switzerland, daughter of Johannes and Anna Dorothea Meyer Mathys. Their first child, Mary, was born 23 June 1851 at Wiedikon. They were happy and free from care for two years. Then one day at work, he was trying to beat his own record in preparing for another contest. He had the hog hanging up, and its foot slipped off the cross stick (gambrel) and struck him in the eye, splitting the pupil. The carcass fell and dragged him down with it. He gave a cry and his brother Casper, nearly seven years younger, who worked in the same shop, came to his rescue. When Casper saw his eye was knocked out of its socket and hanging down on his cheek, Casper put his hand over it and led him down along the river bank to the doctor. Ulrich got infection in it, and with no antibiotics, he was sick for a long time, and of course had to give up his job. His parents took him to Germany to eye specialists, but they could do nothing. He was blind.

Friends came to Maria saying "Give him up and let him go home to his parents, they are well enough off to take care of him. You don't want to be saddled with a blind man all the rest of your life. What can he do for you now? You would be better off without him." But her mother said "No, Maria will not desert him, he needs her now more than he ever did." Of course Maria stayed with him, but nothing could comfort him. Their home was one of mourning. They could see no future, and felt that all their happiness was completely destroyed.

One day as Maria sat by his side, her mother came in and said, "You can do nothing but pray about it — perhaps the Lord will open a way for you. I believe the hand of the Lord is in it, for a whispering voice always says to me, "Don't feel sorry that Bryner is blind, it's good for you all but you don't know it yet." Ulrich's family was kind to them, and all were willing to provide for them, but Ulrich could not be happy. He felt that the Lord had cast him aside.

Four long sorrowful months passed by, then one morning in the latter part of July, he called his mother and father to listen, for he had had another dream. His family gathered round and he said, "I found myself in a great dark room with no glimmer of light. Three fires appeared, each of a different size. A man with a grey beard and peculiar eyes stood at my side, the same man I had seen before. He had an open book in his hand. He crossed out my sins and they fell to the floor. A voice said to me "You will have to go through the middle fire." I said, "I am able to stand that too." The wall opened so wide that we could pass through it. The light came in as bright as noon-day and we were shown the road to Zion. We had to cross the sea with a great company and take a long journey across the great prairie into the mountains to reach the City of Zion."

A few months later, in February 1854, a Mormon elder by the name of George Meyer came to the Zurich from America. The Bryner family was anxious to see if he were the man Ulrich had seen in his dreams. Several members of the family walked for two hours to get to Bern, to hear Elder Meyer. As soon as they saw him they recognized him as the man in Ulrich's dream. George Meyer was very cross-eyed and wore very thick lenses. They invited him to come to their home.

Two days later, late at night a knock came on the door, and when Maria answered, it was Elder Meyer. She asked her husband if he thought it safe to let them in at this time of night. "Oh, yes," he said, "take them up to my old room." She took them up to the fourth-floor bedroom, and from that time on, it was their headquarters in that part of Switzerland. Some of the neighbors objected to their being there. They threw rocks and broke the window. Years later when grandsons were in Switzerland on missions, they said they could still see the broken window.

Needless to say, the message these brethren brought from over the sea was listened to eagerly and believed. There were so many beautiful things in this religion that were lacking in their Lutheran faith — new revelation, a prophet of God, angels visiting the earth again, a new golden Bible, a call for repentance, baptism as John practised it, the laying on of hands for the gift of the Holy Ghost and for ordinations, and many other beautiful principles. Twelve of the Bryners and Mathys's were baptized, with Ulrich being the first one. They were so happy they thanked the Lord and wept for joy. They knew now that He had answered their prayers.

In a few days, Elder Meyer administered to Ulrich for his sight. He said he wished only Ulrich and his mother in the room, but two neighbors wanted to be there, so they were allowed to stay. The next day, Ulrich was able to see a little, and he was happy. The Daily News stated "If this man gives Bryner his sight, we will believe and be baptized."

"Next evening," he said, "as I lay in my bed an evil spirit came very near to choking me to death, and I cried out loud, 'In the name of Jesus Christ, leave me alone.' I rose from my bed to find out where the evil spirit had come from. My parents awoke and I told them what had happened to me. They said, 'Oh, go back to bed, it's only a dream.' But next morning I was unable to see anything at all."

He talked to one of the ladies who had seen the administration and told her of his experiences. She said the same thing had happened to her. The evil spirit had choked her so hard she had had to promise that she would have nothing to do with the Mormons in order to get rid of him, and she never did join the church. But this experience didn't weaken Ulrich's faith. He knew the gospel was true and bore testimony to his brothers and sisters. He knew from his vision of the fire that his life wasn't going to be easy and that troubles lay ahead for him.

They wanted to join the Saints in Utah, and began to make preparations for the long journey. They couldn't all go at once, so Casper and Barbara Ann went first to lead the way and make preparations for the others to follow. The most ardent and thrilled of the group was his mother-in-law, Anna Dorothea Meyer Mathys. She worked hard and planned carefully for the trip, but she passed away before the sailing date. All the rest of the family, five in all, came to U. S. and crossed the plains to Utah.

As was the custom in Switzerland, Maria, for her trousseau, had spun and woven sheets, pillowcases, and all kinds of household linens, enough to last a lifetime, but their baggage was limited to seventeen pounds per person, so most of it had to be left behind, and they came with very little. Ulrich had painted a life-size portrait of Maria, and they had to leave it hanging on the wall. It was 1856 and they now had two children, Mary Magdalena and Gottfried Henry. They felt the little boy was too young to make the trip, so they left him with his grandparents, to come later on. They travelled the same route Ulrich had seen in his dream. They were in the sailing vessel, the "Enoch Train," for forty two days, and landed in Boston, and went on via New York to join the saints.

His brother, Casper, had purchased a wagon and oxen, and hired a teamster, so everything was ready for them to go on to Utah. They left Florence about the first of September, 1856. Travel by ox team was difficult for the pioneers, especially for Ulrich who could not see. He held onto the back of the wagon, and if the going got tough for the animals, he would help push the wagon. There is a painting done by Lura Redd, in the D.U.P. museum in Salt Lake City, of Ulrich clinging to the back of the wagon as he stumbled over the rocks, bumps, ruts, hillocks and gopher holes, and was sometimes dragged along when he lost his footing.

The journey was slow and uneventful for the most part, but at times there was plenty of excitement. They had two yoke of oxen on their wagon. Usually the lead yoke had to be led. When the cattle stampeded, the driver would jump on the back of one of the lead oxen and beat them over the heads with a whip he always carried. This caused the oxen to shut their eyes, and then they would slow down. When Ulrich's oxen stampeded, the driver broke his arm and the wagon was upset. An old lady who was riding with them, had been holding little Mary on her lap as she sat on the stove. In the upset, Mary was on the bottom,

then the lady, then the stove on top of her, and lastly the wagon. The lady tried to shield the child by bracing herself on her arms, and was so badly hurt that she died. Mary's life was saved, but she had nervous spells afterwards.

The trip, about 1000 miles, took nearly four months, and it got very cold when they were about half way. Ulrich and the driver both froze their feet and legs, so Maria then had to look after them, do the cooking and the driving. Ulrich was administered to for his frozen feet, and Maria treated them with poultices made of pulverized sage and snow, as advised by Brigham Young. His feet healed and he was later able to walk as straight as anyone. By the time they reached Devil's Gate, many people and oxen had frozen to death, so they had to double up and leave some of the wagons behind. Since the remaining wagons were loaded so heavily, everyone who could possibly walk, did so.

They caught up with the ill-fated Martin handcart company, and were asked to take another family in their wagon, so they had to leave more of their belongings beside the road. The bitterly cold weather made travel very slow, and provisions were scarce. Many died on this trek. The ground was frozen so hard they couldn't dig graves so they buried the dead just under the snow. Little Mary got so cold they thought she was frozen, but her father rubbed life back into her little cold body.

However help was on the way, and it came none too soon. Riders had taken word of their predicament into Salt Lake. Brigham Young sent rescue parties with wagons and supplies to meet them. The snow was nine feet deep. People had to go ahead and tramp the snow down so the animals could pull the wagons over it. How happy they were to finally reach Salt Lake!

When Ulrich's brother Casper had learned of the trouble this company was having, he started out to meet them, but as he was in Lehi, a couple of days travel further on than the others, he was late getting there, and began meeting rescue teams coming in. He spoke so little broken English that it was hard for him to make them understand, so he'd ask, "Has anyone seen a blind man?" None had, so he went on to the next group and asked again. All this time he didn't know whether his folks were dead or alive. Finally someone told him that the blind man had gone into Salt Lake over the other road. (There were two routes into Salt Lake.) So Casper turned around and went back to Salt Lake City and started all over again in his search. Kind people in the city had opened their hearts and homes to take in the cold and hungry ones, so now Casper went from door to door and asked, "Has anyone here seen a blind man?" Finally he came to the door of the house where Ulrich and his family were. Great was Ulrich's delight when he recognized his brother's voice! They fell on each other's necks and wept tears of joy. This was December 24, 1856.

They packed up in a hay rack and went on to Lehi, where Barbara and the rest were waiting for them, and there was a happy reunion. Barbara had married Maria's brother, John Mathys, and they were willing to share all they had. They told of the happenings in the preceding year. They had suffered through a cholera epidemic and the grasshopper plague. Ulrich told of their travels, the stampede and injury to his daughter, who had been administered to and promised that she would live to be his guide. He told of being snowed in for eleven days at the last crossing of the Platte river, of sixteen persons freezing to death in one night in the handcart company, of having to leave wagons behind because so many oxen had died, of leaving belongings beside the road to make more room in their wagons, of tavelling through rain, mud, wind and snow.

The next summer, 1857, Ulrich's parents and sister came from Switzerland, bringing his little son with them. What a happy reunion that was! The parents had also travelled by ox team, having accidents along the way in which his father was badly injured and never completely recovered.

While in Lehi, a daughter Pauline was born. They moved to Ogden, where Ulrich operated a farm near his brother Casper. Elizabeth Ann (Lisette) was born in Ogden. Then they were called to settle in St. George, Washington county in 1861, and travelled three hundred miles through snowstorms and lived in a tent. They say that in those days, St. George was the coldest place on earth in the winter, with the fierce piercing winds which blew the red sand in upon everything. Albert was born there. Later they moved to New Harmony, not far from St. George, where Mary Verena and Frank were born.

Of course, there were no homes, no stores, no money in New Harmony. They had to provide everything themselves. They planted cotton, carded it, dyed it with roots and herbs, and Maria spun it into thread on a spinning wheel which Ulrich's father built for them. Brigham Young pronounced it the best home-made thread he had ever seen. They wove material for their clothing, and sewed everything by hand with the tiniest stitches imaginable.

Maria must have been a wonderful woman. She was very capable and could do most anything. Her life, after Ulrich lost his sight, must have been very different to what she had planned. She devoted herself to helping her husband. She was very small, but quick and efficient. Her friends said she was a sweet and charming as well. She spent all day with Ulrich in the fields, guiding him as he did his work, and helping with the farm and orchard work herself, at the same time bearing six more children and training them well.

Ulrich could manage pretty well in the house if the furniture was always kept in exactly the same spot, and there was nothing littering the floor. He could still mend shoes, and butcher hogs as well as anyone. He could prune trees and grapevines expertly. He would pick willows and weave baskets — there were none better — fancy baskets as well as utilitarian measuring baskets. No one knew how he could judge, but he made accurate bushel, half-bushel and peck baskets. He trained his sons to do many things, among others, to drive a team by the age of eight.

His son John told of an interesting experience. Four men, U.S. marshals in disguise, and their armed guards, asked Ulrich and his eight-year-old son to haul some freight for them to Pioche, Nevada. It was slow going, as the wagon was so heavily loaded. When they reached Pioche, the marshals confessed that the load wasn't only horse shoes and toe calks, as they had said, but hidden in it was \$50,000 worth of gold, the payroll for the mine. There were so many robbers around, and officers were so scarce, they devised this scheme to get the money safely delivered — they figured no one would suspect that a blind man and a little boy would be carrying the mine payroll.

Ulrich was a good judge of horse flesh, having known them in Switzerland. He could tell by the feel of a horse's head, legs, shoulders, neck, etc. whether it was a good horse. Some even claimed he could tell the color of the horse by feeling it.

They had an old wagon which was still in pretty good shape. One day his young boys said a man wanted to trade a much newer wagon for it. Ulrich said that didn't make sense — nobody would do that kind of a thing, and he wanted to see the wagon. He went out and felt it all over, and said "I wouldn't have it. It's a narrow guage wagon. It wouldn't 'track' in the ruts in the road, would be hard for horses to haul." The man must have been a stranger — no one who knew Ulrich would try to fool him that way.

He could recognize his friends by their voices, even though he might not have talked with them for years. There were several other Swiss brethren in New Harmony, Brother Brubacher, Brother Rohner, to name two. He loved to go visit them, and his grandchildren were called on to lead him to their homes, where he would visit for hours, it seemed, to the children who had to wait to lead him home again.

In 1868 Ulrich took a second wife, Margaretha Kuhn Wintsch, who had been widowed twice. He settled her in Toquerville, about twenty miles south of New Harmony, which was such a good place for growing fruit. Ulrich and Margaret had ten children. In 1884, he was called to go settle in Price, Carbon co.

It took them three months to make the trip, as they had many cows with young calves and had to travel slowly. They would milk the cows in the morning, put the milk in the large churn tied to the side of the wagon. When they stopped at night, it would be churned to butter, and they would enjoy the buttermilk to drink. They arrived in Price on July 23rd, in time for the Pioneer Celebration on the 24th.

Theirs was the first house finished in Price — it was a two-storey log home, but three years later it burned to the ground. As it had been hot, some of them were sleeping out of doors and the rest managed to escape. No one was hurt except for Ulrich who did not realize how bad the fire was and went back in to get his important papers and money which were in a box upstairs. He was badly burned but recovered. There was no water with which to fight the fire, so they just stood there and watched it burn. Aunt Marget, as she was called, had a nervous breakdown after the fire, and was in hospital in Salt Lake for a long time.

The new house had to be fireproof, made of rocks and cobblestones like the homes in Switzerland. Ulrich supervised the whole thing. They made a form, filled it with rocks, then mortar was poured in and more rocks added. When this layer was set, the form was moved up and another layer added. It was a sturdy, well-built home.

They had brought fruit seeds from St. George, and had the first orchard and grape bowery in Price. Ulrich built three hundred beehives and honey frames, and extracted the honey, which was white and mild. He also braided rope from cowhide that was a specialty, and raised and sold vegetables and large barrels of sauerkraut. Only once in his long life did he or any of his family depend on outside help of any kind, and that was when the house burned and they were left with practically nothing.

Maria also went to live in Price, but we do not know just when. She died there in 1893. After Ulrich was seventy, he retired from his strenuous activities, and began to work in genealogy. As his children were industrious and independent and didn't need his money, he hired research done in Switzerland and spent the last seven years of his life in St. George doing temple work for five thousand of his kindred dead. His line was traced back to 1495 and the Mathys line to 1555. He died 9 Feb. 1905 of a stroke. They found him on his knees, as if he were looking for a shoe or something. He was unconscious. He left a large posterity, and had lived a long and useful life. He always said that he was glad that he became blind, otherwise he might have been too busy to listen to the missionaries. He loved the gospel so much, his joy in it far outweighed any trials or hardships.

Chancy Eugene Hill

Chancy Eugene Hill's

Life History

Written by his wife Hermione J. HillChancy Eugene Hill's Life History

Written by his wife Hermione J. Hill

In the Sanpete valley of Utah, a warm spring bubbles from a small depression among the foothills and its water, with a singing splash, makes its way some distance down into the valley where a village, like many other thriving pioneer villages make use of the water for many household purposes and for gardens and flowers. Here a number of closely related families worked, sang, played and gossiped away the summer days and braved winter's chill. As September the ninth 1884 dawned, one family in much anxiety awaited the birth of another child, of course it would be welcome. After three days of intense suffering by the mother, parents and five brothers and sister, at last the hour arrives and a baby boy, later named Chancy Eugene, was born. Thus began the life of the man I was to spend my life with, my husband, the father of my children.

Little Eugene's childhood spent among the foothills and meadows of Warmcreek, later named Fayette, grew but seemed to have a hard time getting started. In his earlier years he was seldom well and never strong. At one time his high chair, in some way was tipped and he fell on a hot stove, receiving severe

burns. When in school he worked hard to get his lessons and would no sooner get them in shape so it would be easy for him, than his father would notice his run down condition and keep him out of school. The same thing happened time and time again, but in spite of it all he graduated from the eighth grade with his classmates.

He has often told me of the summer days he spent down by the river watching the cows. At one time while there he and one of his boy friends began wishing the river would overflow and water would be all around. Soon a dark cloud arose in the sky and down came the rain. It came in such torrents the two boys got their wish. The river overflowed - water everywhere so much they became frightened and gathered the cows for the journey back to town and home. Their parents also became anxious and sent out a searching party for them. After some troubles they arrived home in safety.

He told me of the death of his three year old sister Myrtle who in some way was poisoned and just before she died had her long curls cut off and gave them to her loved ones.

When quite young Eugene often sang for church and school also many other gatherings. At one time he was dressed in shabby clothes. His hair which was usually in long curls was untidy. He portrayed the character about whom he sang, "The Drunkard's Lone Child". This was at quarterly conference of the Sanpete Stake, either in Gunnison or Manti. His father, James Allen Hill, a very well to do man and respected by all, through trusting a near relative just a little too much, lost all his property which left his family destitute. A brother-in-law came and took their last cow. Eugene, at this time- about eight years of age, began herding buck sheep during the summer and thus became a help to his family. This was one of his life's characteristics, always helping others. Several other children were born to his parents making twelve in all. Two died in their early years.

After graduating from elementary school, he spent more of his time herding sheep and thus took over much of the burden of helping his father support his large family. I have heard men say that he was one of the best workers in the community and all were pleased to have his help.

While herding sheep with his oldest brother, James W. Hill, on camp tender, he had an accident which left him in a poor condition. One day when preparing to move camp, while loading large lumps of rock salt into the saddle bags of a donkey, the animal gave a jump and dislodged a large, 200 lb lump of salt on Eugene's right shoulder, then ran away. The weight of this ripped the muscles of his shoulder loose from the back bone. The pain was almost

unbearable. He had to tie his arm in a sling and be about herding the sheep. His brother could not find time to watch the sheep while he went to the Dr. He felt his duties were too pressing to take over herding the sheep that long. The arm was kept in a sling until nature made its own adjustments and by that time doctors said it would be better to leave it as it was than to have it ripped loose again. So all the time this shoulder has been lower than the other.

He herded sheep and saved what money he could after the family needs were taken care of. In the fall of 1902 he decided to go to Snow Academy in Ephriam. His oldest sister and two brothers went also. While at school, they spent a very pleasant winter there, and during this time his oldest brother married and his oldest sister met my oldest brother, George F. Jackson. They soon became attached and planned to get married. Along towards spring Eugene was taken ill. The doctor said he had typhoid, of course, school was out for him.

My brother and Eugene's brother were called to go on a mission to the southern states. They were to leave in early April or March 25th. My brother and his sister were married in the Manti temple. I met Eugene at the wedding dinner. My brother's wife came to live in a little home in Venice (formerly Wallsbury) Sevier Co. My sister and I stayed with her and taught school.

While herding sheep, Eugene and I corresponded and through our letters, plans to be married were made. Later this came to be very doubtful because Eugene's brother, Allen, accidently struck him in the head with an axe. He was unconscious for some time and was so ill afterwards, that he was in bed and unable to be at work. We had planned our marriage for June and needed his wages badly. Through the blessings of the Lord he recovered and we were able to carry out our plans. So on the first of June 1905 we were married in the Manti Temple by Elder John D. McAllister.

We began our married life living in two rooms of his mother's home in Fayette. We lived in Fayette a few years. It was while herding sheep again Eugene had a partial stroke and was again down in bed and unable to earn our support. While herding sheep near Marysville he found a hill that glowed at night. He knew he had found something but knew it would be better for the family to struggle and be humble. It was during these trying times that our first child, a baby boy, named Horace Eugene was born on the 26th of July 1906. After my husband became well again, life went on much as before. He worked most of the time and helped his father and brothers when not on a job. In the spring of 1908 his father took a trip to Shelly, Idaho and was so impressed with the country, he came back planning to move to Shelly. His plans were never carried out, but after a short wait our son, Iran Roy was born the 14 of March 1908. We

arrived in Shelly the morning our small son was three weeks old. Uel, Eugene's younger brother and his wife and small son went with us.

The two men did farm work during the summer moving from one place to another, living in houses and tents. In the month of July Uel, went back to Fayette and in the fall we moved to Iona where Eugene worked in the fruit fields and apple orchards. The same summer Eugene went with a cousin, George Lake, to the Mud Lake country, and they each filed on one hundred and sixty acres of homestead land. After Thanksgiving day, we moved out to our tract of land, and lived in a tent. Eugene got some logs for a house, but the winter was upon us so we moved into a board shack on another homestead. The winter was long and cold. We made a trip to Idaho Falls while there. One of our horses became ill and we were left in a wagon with a beet bed on it, and a wagon cover kept the cold storms out. Eugene got his cousin's son to bring his team from Shelly to Idaho Falls and pull our outfit back to our homestead.

The house we lived in was built of rough lumber and just a shell. We papered the sides with newspapers to keep out the cold. Wolves were seen and heard most every day and no human beings but we four, my husband, two small sons and I. Still we lived through it and in the spring we moved to our homestead and lived in a dugout. Here we lived until August. We then went to Market Lake, now Roberts, Idaho, where on August the 12, 1909 my daughter Alta Hermione was born. In the fall we rented a farm south west of Roberts but moved back to our homestead and lived there for improving our land. The next summer we farmed our farm and moved to another one in the fall. While on this farm our son James Jackson was born on the 30th of September 1910. We then moved to our homestead and built a log cabin. Eugene worked for Woods Livestock company all one summer after James J. (now called Jack) was born. Eugene was kept busy clearing sage brush off the land. He'd take a railroad rail and hitch his team to it and drive through the brush. This usually uprooted the brush and piled them in piles to burn.

In the fall of 1915 our oldest son fell out of a buggy and broke his leg. He died five weeks later on 5th of Nov. of stoppage of the bowels. Two doctors were caring for him at the time of his death. Our family consisted of the sick son, 3 other boys and two girls, the second one was born at Crystal Lake and we named her Crystal. She was born on the 3 of February 1914. Her full name is Clara Dinah Crystal being named after both of her grandmothers. Our third little girl was born the morning after Horace broke his leg. We named her Laurel Dorpha. She was born on the 3 October 1915.

Eugene did work and got water for our land from a canal running up from Mud Lake and pumped on our land, but a big company wanted our land so

our notice of time to prove up was held up to a month after the water should have been proved. By this we were left with no water. We stayed there until the fall of 1916, then decided to leave as my health was not very good. We had to boil all the house hold water we used or haul it from a well five miles away. When we lived in Idaho Eugene was the water master and also the Justice of peace. He built a canal to water his land and helped settle many disputes about the water. A man was killed over one dispute about the water and Eugene decided to have the state judge take care of that. He did not want to make the wrong decision. He was a very honest man and he was respected by all.

Some early experiences in his life in Idaho were recorded by his son Roy...While we were living in the dugout, mother got us four children to sleep and went to the garden by the lake which was about one fourth mile away. When she returned Jack had awakened and was gone. We all hunted for him and got all the neighbors to help look for him. A neighbor found him at sundown. Jack had just learned to walk and was sosmall that the sage brush completely covered all trace of him.

The cabin Eugene built seemed so nice and sunny after living in the dugout while he had been hauling logs for our home. The cabin had two windows and a door. We were grateful for the light.

Eugene asked Horace and Roy what color dogs they would like. Horace wanted a black and white one and Roy wanted a red one. Dad returned with the dogs just like the two had ordered but Roy could not see that a reddish brown dog was red so he named his dog Funny. We had many happy experiences living on our ranch even though we were lonely.

We went by train back to Ephraim and spent the winter living in the upstairs of my brother's home south of Ephraim. We had three sons and three daughters at this time. Eugene stayed on in Idaho disposing of our horses and cattle and household goods. He came to be with us in Feb. 1917, having been to the Uintah basin and contracted to clear and farm a large piece of land west and north of Altonah, Duchesne Co., Utah. He used a rail road tie to clear the brush and added a brush burner made of an old steel toothed harrow, a long chain was fastened to it and the fire scattered and started fires in the brush lying around. In this way he was able to, after brush had been uprooted, burn and clear for farming, as high as twenty acres of ground in a day.

While living on the Indian's lands two more sons and a daughter were born. Then as the Indians were desirous of living on their land he exchanged his contract lease of their land for cattle and moved his family to another Indian farm, the Ben Weir farm, east of Randlett, Utah. The next winter we moved the family into town for school and in the spring moved on to the Pearl Brigham farm between Randlett and Myton. We farmed and gardened and tended cattle during the summer then moved to a place near Randlett for school.

In the spring we moved to the Joseph Jensen farm west of Roosevelt. Eugene having made a bargain with Mr. Jensen to clear the land and get water on it in use for proving up. For which we received twenty acres of land. The work was done but Mr. Jensen failed to prove upon water rights. We moved several times to Colletts and DeFriezes places. It was while on Colletts place that our youngest son, Lester June, caught pneumonia, by running in the cold weather and getting warm then taking his coat undone to cool off. He died 22 December 1924 at the age of six. While we were living in DeFriezes place, Eugene sent me and part of the children to visit my mother and his parents also our brothers and sisters and families in Ephraim and Fayette, Siguard and Glenwood, Utah. On our return we began building a five roomed house on our twenty acres of ground, the title and deed of which Eugene obtained on a tax sale, also the rest of the forty acres. Here we soon had a comfortable home though lacking in modern conveniences it was our own. It was an adobe home for which we made all the bricks ourselves, with Roy's help. The construction was very good. This home was in a little cove between the hills west of Roosevelt cemetery and north of the highway. It was a fun place to be and many fond and cherished moments were spent there.

The family of Eugene (Chancy Eugene Hill) at this time consisted of the following: M- Chancy Eugene born 9 Sept 1884 died 16 Sept 1958 Provo, Utah F-Hermione Jackson born 25 Nov. 1883 died 9 Oct 1953 Provo, Utah

M- Horace Eugene born 26 July 1906 died 5 Nov 1915 Mud Lake, Idaho (later moved to Fayette, Sanpete, Utah. M- Iran Roy born 14 Mar 1908 Mar. Erma Darley 23 Dec 1960 F- Alta Hermione born 12 Aug 1909 Mar. Welby George Lovell 2 Aug 1937 M- James Jackson Hill born 30 Sep 1910 Mar LaVetta Carter 28 Jan 1946 M- Return George born 26 Mar 1912 Mar Nila Pauline Booth 10 Sep 1940 F- Clara Dinah Crystal Born 3 Feb 1914 Mar Hillard Ruben Broderick 4 Sep 1934 F-Laurel Dorpha born 3 Oct 1915 Mar William Smellie Redd 28 Jan 1946 M-Harold Wayne born 3 Apr 1917 Mar Edith Zella Sundquist 28 July 1949 M- Lester June born 26 Aug 1918 died 22 Dec 1924 F- Eva R L born 5 Mar 1920 Mar William Dean Ford 29 Dec 1940 F- Wanda Maybeth born 12 May 1922 Mar. Max Morgan Daley 11 Feb 1942 F- Izora Faun born 6 Feb 1924 Mar Grant Morgan Bosworth 21 June 1951 F- Joy Wendolyn born 26 July 1925 Mar Garth Earl Adams 3 Oct 1946 F- Gloria RaOla born 4 July 1928 Mar Darrel Dean Lee 6 Mar 1953.

Fourteen children in all, two boys passed away in their youth, leaving an even dozen. Four boys and eight girls. The children attended elementary, High

school and seminary in Duchesne and Uintah counties. Six of these graduated from college and three went on missions for the church.

Eugene was a Sunday School worker as well as the Superintendent in Fayette also a ward teacher. In Altonah he was Scout master among other positions of trust. In Roosevelt he was in the Sunday School superintendency, scout master, and ward teacher and other church offices. As a young man he was well loved. He entertained at many young peoples' gatherings with his wonderful gift of singing. He has a lovely tenor voice and at the time of marriage he knew and could sing over 200 songs. His health was never very robust, although he did much and many kinds of hard labor. The large family surely kept him going. He was taken to the hospital in Mar 1953 and passed away 16 Sep 1958. As the family, we pay tribute to a wonderful, honest, trustworthy, and loving Father. We are glad that you were our special father.

Dinah Burrows Jackson

Dinah Burrows Jackson

- •George Burrows and Abigail Brown
 - **Dinah Burrows** and Thomas Jackson
 - •Hermionie Jackson and Eugene Hill
 - •Laurel Hill and Smellie Redd
 - Thomas Redd and Cheryl Sims
 - •_____ Redd

Dinah Burrows Jackson

My birth place was the little hamlet of Woolsthorpe, Colterworth, near Grantham, Lincolnshire, England, and the date was April 24, 1847. My parents names were George and Abigail Brown Burrows and they were both members of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints.

During my childhood I attended the public school and would go to the Protestant Church on Sunday. I was not baptized at eight years of age as my parents thought I was not sufficiently informed to become a member of the church. I have a vivid recollection of how I was scorned and ridiculed by students and teachers because I belonged to a Mormon family.

Through my efforts I received prizes for accomplishments in reading, arithmetic and from our Agricultural club, also for knitting as I knit many pairs of stockings and once I knit a pair for my father long enough to reach above his knees, for this I received a special prize and this happened before I was ten years of age. I also won many prizes in the Sunday School, notwithstanding I was a Mormon and a supposed object of pity.

In my fathers' family were three girls and seven boys, I being the eldest, the others in order of birth are as follows: Edward, born 13 Nov. 1848 George 14 Apr. 1850 Frances 19 Sept. 1851 Orson 14 Jan. 1853 Elizabeth 6 Feb. 1854 Lewin 8 May 1857 William 17 May 1859 Franklin 17 Oct. 1862 Phillip 10 Sept. 1865. At the age of eight years I was hired out for one year to care for a baby, this being necessary as our family was in poor circumstances financially and as soon as any of the children were old enough to work they were taught to help support the family. Instead of only one year with this family I remained with them six years and during most of the time assumed and performed many of the household duties. While with this family I did not hear much about Mormonism but they were always trying to persuade me to join the Methodist Church, but there was a feeling within me that I should not do so and this same feeling seemed to tell me that there was some other religion for me although I did not know at the time that I would ever hear more of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints.

When about eighteen years of age I went to London and served in a family doing household duties. I felt that I was a long way from home as London is about one hundred miles from my home town. I stayed with this family three years, part of which time they lived in the east end of London, near Victoria Park and from my upstairs bedroom window I could look out and see most of this beautiful park which was made expressly for the common people.

The master of the house was a civil engineer. One night after the family had retired, he lost his mind and was therefore removed to a hospital and he passed away a day or two later.

The family then had no means of support so they moved to the west end of London. Here they lived in a large house and took in boarders. There were two small boys in this family and they would hunt up places of interest, then I would accompany them there on a Sunday afternoon. During the three years I was here I was always looking for the Mormon missionaries or some Latter Day Saints.

One day a young man came to the door and with him I had a conversation on religion. I told him I could not find the sect that I favored which was the Mormon Church. He ridiculed me but he did tell me that there was a branch of that Church at Shepherd's Bush which place was three miles out from where I was then living.

Each Sunday I was expected by the lady of the house to go to some place of worship, but I did not dare make known to her that it was the Mormon people I desired to worship with, so I used to step inside a church, near where I lived, then I would leave and very hastily go to Shepherd's Bush, then when asked I could say I had been to one of the churches they were familiar with.

One night I presumed to go to church but instead I went and was baptized by an elder named Jacob Pierce, thus I became a member of the latter Day Saint Chruch. Not long after my baptism about thirty of the Saints in this vicinity were ready for emigration to Utah. About this time my years of service were nearing an end. I had saved from my wages and tips I received sufficient to pay my emigration fund to New York, U.S.A. I did not dare to tell the land lady of the tips I had received else I would have had to divide with her daughter.

It was customary under the administration of Elder Platt D. Lyman, Mission President to charter a vessel to transport the Saints, but by an arrangement a little out of the ordinary the thirty Saints, myself included, crossed the ocean on the good ship "Celia Ada" and passengers of many creeds and denominations and from many countries were on board this steamship. Before leaving England I took a trip to my home in Woolsthorpe and got my wardrobe in readiness for the ocean voyage.

On account of our large family, my parents had no money to give me to aid me on my trip but my father gave me a silver teaspoon, saying that was all he had to give me. (He found the spoon on the property owned by my great grand-father Franklin Brown.)

Mother prepared a box of food, as they had heard that food served on the ships were hardly eatable, but on board I ate the food served on the ship and enjoyed every morsel of it, hence I did not eat what my mother had prepared for me.

To avoid ridicule by my friends and some of my relatives I left home secretly, only members of our family knowing about my departure to America.

Upon reaching London to join the Saints, a Mrs. Smuin, it seemed was to act as my guardian, by whose appointment I did not know.

We sailed from South Hampton and stopped at Harve France a day or two by order of the ship captain, and while waiting here these two days I wrote letters to my parents and also to the lady in London with whom I had lived for three years and I can picture how chagrinned and surprised they would be to learn that their hired help for that time was a Mormon girl.

After a three weeks voyage, the ship entered harbor at New York. It was a very enjoyable voyage for me for I had escaped sea sickness and had the best of health all the while. Our landing place in New York was Castle Gardens, which we reached sometime in July 1869.

We had been advised that upon reaching New York the church would have transportation funds there to take us to Utah, but such wasn't the case so we were left to make our way to Utah as best we could.

Some of the passengers went to Pennsylvania and others stayed in New York. I remained under Mrs. Smuin's charge and soon found a place to work, which was for a Baptist family. They had no use for the Mormons but they did like to get Mormon girls to work for them.

During the fall of 1869-70, special missionaries were sent out from the Mormon Church to the Eastern States, for six months. These were prominent men in the Chruch, such as presidents, counselors, Bishops etc. many of them came to New York and it was my happy lot to meet some of them. One of them was Thomas Jackson, the man I afterwards married.

At the time he did not know my name as I was called Ann, but when he heard my correct name, Dinah, he said that it had been spoken to him while walking the streets of Dunkirk, New York.

In the spring when the missionaries were to return to Utah I was advised to come with them as I had succeeded in saving enough to pay my transportation to Utah. This elder, Thomas Jackson, kept a watchful eye upon me, I being under his care, and he had promised me that he would see that I had a home. Of course he took me to his own home, or the home of his first wife. It took me the greater part of a year to make up my mind to go into polygamy even to get so good a man as Elder Jackson for a husband, however I was married to him in the Endowment House, Salt Lake City, Utah, March 4, 1871. Daniel H. Wells performing the marriage ceremony.

On the 25th of March 1871 my father George Burrow died in England. My oldest brother came to Utah, shortly after I arrived. Pres. Brigham Young found out that my father had passed away so he gave of his own means sufficient to bring all of our family to Utah. My brothers worked after coming here and paid Pres. Young for the money he had advanced to them. The family anticipated being in Utah the summer of 1871 but being behind on their schedule did not reach here until November. I went to Ogden during the summer to meet them, so I remained there until they arrived and while waiting in Ogden my first child, Clara Edith, was born.

I went to Millville, Cache County, with my mother and the family and remained with them until April Conference 1872 and then got a chance to go to Payson with some people who had come up to conference.

My only home then was with the first wife. She had two daughters at home, so I decided to seek employment in order to purchase clothes and some household furnishings for myself. I found work and continued at it as long as I was able. On 21 July 1873 my second daughter Frances Elizabeth was born and on the 11th of Sept, 1874 Zilpha Lydia was born and during the month of April following, my husband, myself and the children moved down on the Sevier and lived on a ranch near Annabella. Here on 6 April 1876 my daughter Alice Maud was born.

At this time the United Order was being practiced in Glenwood and the bishop of that ward, brother A. T. Oldroyd very much desired us to join them and live in the order. As my husband had a set of molasses rollers. My husband consulted with me about it and I told him I thought he would get tired and want to withdraw from it but he said No, I will stay with it until the end if I get into it, which he did.

By agreement, the Order was to build homes for my husband's families, but we did most of the building independent of the Order. I had told my husband if he went into the Order I would have to live always in a log house but he said "no". I will build you a good home, hence the agreement with the order. People did surely prosper under the Order but within a few years it was dissolved. I was sorry about its being discontinued and wished many times it could have remained for the benefit of the people.

My first home in Glenwood was a small adobe house, the first one on the left hand side of the road as you enter Glenwood from the north. In it I lived about one year then moved into my new home near the south end of town and at the foot of the hill on the east side. The walls only being up, no roof, doors or windows. I had planted a nice garden near the house but the town cow herd would go through it nearly every day so to protect the garden we moved into the house before it was finished.

When it would storm we would carry our beds to the carpenter shop which my husband owned, located about one block south of the house, and there we would sleep until the storms passed. The roof of the house was finally finished and the following week our eldest son George Franklin was born on 9 of Oct 1877. A long time passed before the rest of the house was finished as we were not flush with means so had to be satisfied with having little done at a time.

This home was a four roomed cobble rock structure, facing west and a stream of clear sparkling water ran between it and the hill on the east of the house, the hill being not more than two rods from the building. When the trees, vines, shrubs and flowers which we had planted about the place had reached maturity it was a beautiful, romantic spot and many people stopped while passing to admire it.

On 15 Jan. 1879 we were blessed with another son whom we named Fredrick and then Horace came 25 Jan 1880.

The winter of 1880 was an extremely cold one and our cows died as we could not provide feed for them. In May of this year my husband left for a mission to England

leaving me with no supplies of food or clothing and with two babies neither of which could walk. To care for these babies and the other children and keep them fed and clothed was a tremendous undertaking and responsibility.

We had forty dollars for work due us from the store but this had to take my husband to his field of labor. After he left I rented two rooms of my house to Brother Horace Thornton and wife and by so doing got flour to last until October as he was a miller and worked at the flour mill. They left during October and after Thornton reported to the ward officials our actual condition and from then on people were good to us and we seemed to get what we needed.

The year 1880 was the fiftieth year jubilee of the church so by it gifts were made to the poor and we were given a cow and four sheep, as we were considered about as poor as any family in the ward.

My husband was on his mission in England and I could not go out to work as I had the two babies, and neither could walk. The winter was very severe and with our cows dead, we would have suffered had it not been for the kindness of the ward members and my husband's first wife. She was a midwife and nurse and she gave freely of her time to help me with the children especially if any of them became ill.

While my husband was on his mission I was called to be a Relief Society teacher although I had not been attending the R. S. meetings.

On account of ill health my husband came home in less than the usual two years. Shortly after his return he got dragged by the belt of the water wheel in his shop and severely injured. His hip was crushed and one of his legs broken. He never fully recovered from this injury before he died.

Our daughter Bertha, was born 6 Aug. 1882. On 14 Aug. 1883 a rain storm hit Glenwood causing a big flood. It surrounded our home, filled the cellars and entered every room in the house. It ruined the lot and surroundings by the boulders and debris that came down with it. Neighbors carried the children to higher ground but I would not leave the house. I told them I would stay and if the house went I would go with it.

Before we got things back to normal after this disaster my husband passed away 14 Sept. 1883 and I was left a widow with seven children.

When the property was divided the first wife got seventy-five dollars in cash and I got seven acres of very rough farm land, west of town. I used to walk out to this farm and care for and water it, then I would hire the crops harvested which were usually very light.

When my son George got old enough to do a little work I hired him out to Jens Sorensen and after that this Mr. Sorensen cared for my land until the boys could handle it themselves.

Bishop A. T. Oldroyd promised me, after my husband died that he would do all he could to assist me and he kept his word and helped me much. I took in family washings and used to do two and three of them in a day. The children helped me with them before and after school hours but I did not keep one of them out of school to help me.

At this time children who attended school had to pay a tuition. I could not pay for mine but the teacher, William Johnson, asked me to send them even if I could not pay for them and this I did.

While the children were young I not only did washings but used to do housecleaning or any job I could find. On 25 No. 1883 Hermione, my youngest child, was born, so now there were nine of us to be fed and clothed, and I did this as best I could until my girls were old enough to help and this they were willing to do.

In the fall of 1889, Lydia who was then fifteen, commenced school at the Sevier Stake academy. Before my husband died he gave me ten dollars and this I kept and when she started to school I used it to pay her tuition. The next two winters both she and Fanny attended the Academy.

Students from Grass Valley attended the Academy at the same time and as Glenwood was a good place to camp over night both coming and going many of these students stayed at our home. Among them were Edward and Estell Bagley and James Bagley, Sidney Rust, Scissons Hatch and his brother Louis and others. By this we all became well acquainted and fast friends.

My son, Horace, was living with Niel Thompson and wife as they had promised to give him a good home, but while there he contracted diphtheria and died on 22 Feb. 1895.

Brother Andrew Heppler influenced me to send my girls to the Sevier Stake academy whether I was able to pay their tuition or not so I acted upon his advice and sent them. In the fall of 1894 his son E.J. was teaching in Glenwood so he asked that Lydia help him so she left the Academy and taught her first school in one room of the home of Mary Ann Buchanan. In the spring of the same season the year 1895 the school teacher of Siguard ran away and left her school with the school term unfinished so Lydia went and finished out the spring term. Fanny went to Thompson, Utah as the school commissioners told me they needed a teacher so I told them if Fanny would do she could go. Later they asked for another teacher in Wayne County. Alice was then in Grass Valley working but we took her over to Rabbit Valley, in Wayne county and she was given a temporary certificate to teach in that county. During the winters of 1893-1894 and 1895 Lydia was teaching in Siguard, Fanny in Vermillion and Alice in Grover, Wayne Co. I feared that the girls were not sufficiently qualified as they should be to teach but they were successful and at one time in both Wayne and Sevier County they were considered the best primary teachers in the county.

Fanny my oldest daughter was married 19 June 1895 to Peter Dastrup of Siguard and in the fall of that year Lydia went to Salina to teach in the public schools there and continued to teach there until the spring of 1898 when she was married 20th April 1898 to Edwin James Cowley of Venice.

In the fall of 1896 Alice was preparing to teach in Sevier County but she took ill early in September and after ailing for only three or four days passed away. Spinal Meningitis or spotted fever having been the cause of her demise.

Immediately after Alice's death I came down with some kind of fever which hung on for a month at the end of which time I was so sick that every one who saw me thought I could not live, but I asked for the Elders to come and administer to me which they did, two of them came in the morning before Sunday School and I asked them if they would come again the after noon which they did, ten of them. They had prayer, then formed a circle around the bed and administered to me. They gave me a promise that I would get well. On Monday morning I told my daughter, Lydia, that I was going to hold them to their promise. I began to recover immediately and on Wednesday was able to get out of bed and stay up most of the day. I have always considered this a remarkable case of healing by faith.

My son-in-law, Edwin J. Cowley went to Gunnison and Axtel in Sanpete County to work on a threshing machine in which he had some shares and on 19 Sept. 1898 about eight o'clock in the morning he was feeding the machine and his foot slipped on some grain and it threw him in such a way that his right hand and arm were caught in the cylinders of the machine. He died next morning 10 Sept 1898 from shock and loss of blood.

I was of an economical nature so laid a little aside whenever possible especially while the girls were teaching, and with what I had saved I purchased thirty acres of land in Siguard from Peter Dastrup also forty acres from John S. McMillan.

Bishop Bagley of Koosharem was very good to me often giving me provisions and after I had purchased this land he gave me a team of large grey horses, as he said I could not have the farm cared for without a team.

Lydia came home to live with me after her husband died and she had a team, buggy, wagon, harnesses, some farm implements, some cows and eighty bushels of grain which we used conjointly and thus were mutually benefited.

Although I lived a busy life making a living for myself and family I performed Church duties as well. I taught a class in Sunday School and would take all my children who were living at home to Sunday School each Sunday. This I did for several years.

I labored as a Relief Society block teacher from 1880 up until 1900 then I was chosen as a counselor in the R.S., Sister Mary Peterson Buchanan being the President. After Sister Buchanan resigned I acted as a counselor to the new President who was

Maritina Lauritzen. In 1905 I was called to be a President of the ward Relief Society. This position I held until 1915.

As my sons and daughters became old enough I sent them to High Schools or Colleges. George attended the Snow- Academy and then took a missionary course in the B.Y.U. He was married to Rhoda Hill of Fayette on 25 Mar 1903 and left shortly afterwards to fill a mission in the southern states. His field of labor was principally in the state of Louisiana.

Fredrick, Bertha and Hermione were attending the Academy in Richfield. Fredrick was married Oct. 21 1905 to Inger Christina Sorensen. Bertha had earned a scholarship to the University of Utah therefore she and Hermione went to Salt Lake City to attend school. They lived with Sara Curtis, who was the grandmother of Lydia's husband, and she was very good to them and made them comfortable. Bertha finished her course in three years in 1901 and she was the first U of U graduate from Sevier Co. Hermie did not succeed in graduating as she contracted measles, which brought on partial deafness so she could not teach in the training classes and this prevented her from finishing her course.

Fredrick's wife gave birth to a boy 12 July 1904 and about three months later Fredrick was taken to the hospital in Salt lake City where he was operated upon by Dr. S. H. Allen, who removed a stone about the size of an egg from his bladder. Complications set in and he died 17 Oct. 1904.

Bertha taught school two years in Salina and one in Stanrod Idaho. She was married to George Allan Hill in 1904 Not a temple marriage.

Hermione taught school in Venice during the winters of 1903-4-5. She was married 21 June 1905 to Chancy Eugene Hill of Fayette. In the fall of 1899 Lydia began teaching school in Glenwood and taught successively for three years. She attended the Snow Academy during the winter of 1903 and 1904. She was elected County Recorder in Nov. 1904 at which time she was teaching school in Venice as principal. She moved to Richfield in the spring of 1905 to take up her new duties as County Recorder.

During the four years that Lydia was acting as County Recorder I took care of her son Edwin most of the time.

An old lady, Martha Oldfield, lived just across the street west from our home and she was a very good neighbor and a dear old soul. She would come to visit me nearly every day. In fact she ate dinner with me nearly every day. She was a widow and was very deaf and had a large goiter on her neck but she was exceptionally good and kind to me and the children. She was always giving the children presents, as well as candy, cake fruits etc. She died in January or February 1895.

In the fall of 1914 I went to Ephraim, Sanpete C. to keep house and care for my grandsons while they attended the Snow Academy. As they took me away from home for

six or seven years I had to resign my office as president of the Glenwood Relief Society which I did in the year 1915.

While in Ephraim I had Joel, Earl, Noel, Verl and Iril Dastrup and Edwin Cowley, my grandsons with me. Other students who lived with me and attended the Academy were Elmer Cowley and Karl Brugger of Venice, Ezra Anderson of Siguard and LeRoy Kane of Vermillion. We rented rooms in the home of sister Christina Larsen and she became a very near and dear friend of mine.

While living in Ephraim I did a lot of work in the Manti Temple on a record of Brown names which I had hired prepared by the Genealogical Society of Utah also many names for the Jackson family. We had some very cold trips to the Manti temple to do this work as it was mostly done in the winter months. We usually went over in a wagon box sled.

While I was living in Ephraim my daughter Hermione came from Idaho and lived in part of my son George's house during the winter of 1917 and while living there her son Harold Wayne was born 3 April 1917.

Before I left Glenwood the R. S. sisters gave an entertainment in my honor and presented me with a beautiful set of furs. I attended R. S. meetings in Ephraim and would accompany sister Larsen, the R. S. teacher in her block teaching around our block.

About 1922 I sold my home in Glenwood and built me a small brick house in Siguard as none of our family or relatives were then living in Glenwood and Fanny and Lydia were both residing in Siguard. I had not lived long in Siguard, however, when Fanny and Peter and family moved to Salt Lake County and in 1923 Lydia also moved to Salt Lake City thus I was again left without relatives except for Edwin and Virgia who lived there in Lydia's home, for three or four years, as Edwin had taken Lydia's position as Secretary and Treasurer of the Jumbo Plaster and Cement Company.

In the summer of 1929 Edwin and Virgia left Siguard and they also went to Salt lake City to live. Since their removal I have spent the winter months with Lydia in Salt Lake City working in the temple and the summer months in Siguard taking care of my home and flowers.

While I lived in Siguard my grandsons took me on pleasure trips to Brice's Canyon, Zions' National Park, Yellowstone Park and other pleasure resorts. I have also had the pleasure of going over into the Uintah basin to visit my daughter Hermione, who lives at Roosevelt, several times. The last trip I took was in June 1931 and since that time I have had a lot of trouble with my left eye as the doctors say there is a cancerous growth in it. During all my life I have had the best of health and strength and had never needed a doctor's advice until this eye trouble developed.

One morning in the spring of 1926 when in my seventy-ninth year Lydia and her husband and I went for a hike. We left the home at 544 West 3 North St. and climbed to the top of Ensign Peak and got back home all within four hours.

In going to the temple which is nine and one half blocks from Lydia's house I would always walk back and forth. Taking the street car only when it was very stormy. I had not lived long in Siguard when I was called to act as a Relief Society teacher and I still act in that capacity when I am there.

During the winter of 1931 I was confined to my bed for about six weeks and I thought I would never be well again but by administration of the Elders I recovered and at this time July 1932 I am able to be up each day and each evening I take a walk of a mile or two before going to bed.

Grandmother lived in Aunt Lydia's home until 1937 when she passed away at the age of 90. She was buried in Glenwood.

Fern Redd Laycock

LIFE STORY OF FERN REDD LAYCOCK

LIFE STORY OF FERN REDD LAYCOCK

(Fern was the 7th child of William Alexander Redd and Mary Verena Bryner Redd, and wrote this history in 1980. She lived in New Harmony until she was nearly 12, so this history gives a good description of family life in that little town.)

I was born 30 Aug. 1893 at New Harmony, Washington County, Utah. I am the sixth daughter, the four oldest having died in childhood. It must have been very sad and lonely for my mother, as father was away when the first two died, then in six more weeks, she had lost the remaining triplet, as well as Grace. They all had membranous croup, an epidemic.

My grandparents Redd were converted to the gospel of Jesus Christ in Tennessee by John D. Lee. They were plantation owners and slave holders, but on joining the L.D.S. Church, they freed their slaves and came to Utah to gather with the Saints. Some of their slaves would not leave them, and came to Utah with them. They settled first in Spanish Fork, Utah, later making their way to southern Utah, they settled in the small town of New Harmony, Washington county. Here my father grew up. My grandfather acquired the farm of John D. Lee, as he was leaving New Harmony.

He had planted an orchard on the farm - apples, pears, peaches, apricots, cherries, plums, grapes, etc. The farm was about two miles from town. We children loved to go out there.

My grandparents Bryner were converted to the church in Switzerland, and on coming to Utah, settled first in Lehi and then came to New Harmony. Father and Mother grew up there. They were married in the St. George Temple on 27 Feb. 1884, and made their home in New Harmony. All the children were born here except Kay, who was born in Raymond, Alberta.

Father went on a mission to the Southern States in 1887, leaving mother with two small children, Will and Grace. The triplets were born in 1890, and Lura in 1891. I was born 30 Aug. 1893. Soon after, my parents moved into a new house, a red brick home on the main street. It had four large rooms, kitchen, livingroom, bedroom and parlor. The rooms were large, but I am sure that my mother felt it very crowded, as the years passed and the family grew. There were two large beds and a child's bed in the bedroom, a large lounge that could be made out into a bed in the livingroom, and a large bed in the parlor, which was kept for company, and there was company much of the time. Father was bishop as long as I remember, and any visitors or passersby would stay at our place.

Everyone travelled by team and wagon, and had to stop for their horses to feed and rest. Friends and relatives visited quite frequently, and would bring the whole family and stay for some time. It was great fun for us children to have company and have other children to play with, but I wonder now how mother stood it, to have so many to look after. When it was crowded, we children slept on the floor, or at the foot of father's and mother's bed.

My father's two youngest sisters, aunts Alice and Vilo, lived with us in the summertime when they were not away teaching school. It was always a great occasion when they came home for the summer and unpacked their trunks. They usually had presents of some kind for us children. The parlor was their room when they were home in the summer. They usually kept our hair curled in

ringlets when they were home, and we loved that, and looked forward to their coming with excitement.

I remember when father had a large building on the lot, and they moved it up near the house and made it into a kitchen and diningroom. This was an exciting time for us, and it did add greatly to the roominess of the home. It was connected to the house by a breezeway. The former kitchen was made into another bedroom.

I think all the church magazines came to our home from the beginning of publication. They were stored in the attic above the new kitchen, and we children spent many happy hours up there reading the stories and lessons in them. There were Juvenile Instructors, Young Women's Journals, Improvement Eras, etc. My favorite author was Lulu Green Richards. She wrote many wonderful stories for young people. There was no stairway — we climbed up a ladder to get to the attic.

There was a cellar under the house where foodstuffs were kept cool. There were no refrigerators or freezers then. I remember barrels of molasses (Dixie sorghum) brought from Toquerville in Dixie. There were also barrels of sauerkraut made by grandfather Bryner when he was visiting us. We loved his sauerkraut, and often when we had our friends in, we would get a bowl full of kraut and forks, and have a feast on sauerkraut. Grandfather and his second family lived for a long time in Toquerville, and then moved out to Price, Utah.

Also in the cellar were bins of vegetables, winter apples from the farm and gardens, boxes of raisins from Dixie, almonds from Dixie, big sacks of pine nuts bought from the Indians who brought them to trade for hay or food, etc. There were always quantities of milk, butter, cheese, etc., dried and preserved fruit, pickles, etc., produced at home or on the farm. I must not forget the wheat and corn raised on the farm and sent away to be ground into cereals and flour for our year's supply.

We children all learned how to work, and we did work around the house and farm. We often were up in the attic reading when mother had to call us to come and finish our work. We wondered how she always knew where we were.

The back part of the house had a gradually sloping roof, and we used to spread fruit there to dry in the sun, after it was peeled and cored, of course. We dried lots of plums, pears, peaches and all fruits we grew there in the lot or at the farm. Dried corn was a favorite food for all of us.

I remember one summer when there was an especially large plum crop, and we had to dry them all. Aunt Alice and Aunt Vilo were there, and they decided they needed some help. They got tubs of plums ready, carried chairs out in the front yard, and Aunt Vilo got her guitar and began playing it, while we all sang songs to her accompaniment. It was not long until people began gathering to hear the music. Each one who came was given a pan of plums and a knife and chair. It was not long until all the plums were cut for drying, the pits taken out, and everyone had enjoyed the evening, especially the music.

There was a big fireplace in our livingroom, and some of my fondest memories are of the winter evenings when the family gathered around the fire and had a family home evening together. There were no commercial entertainments there, so we made our own.

I remember the scriptures my father read and explained to us. I loved to hear the parables especially. The one about moving a mountain by faith intrigued me. As our little town was situated at the foot of Pine Valley Mountain, I thought someone should surely move it away by faith. No one ever did, and I decided no one had enough faith, or that the Lord did not want it moved.

I realized long ago that here in our own home and family circle we were taught the beautiful truths of the gospel, and had fixed in our minds a pattern of home living that was right and good for us. I only hope that we all have, to some degree at least, followed the pattern in our own families. I'm sure no one of us could forget those patterns.

I remember the stories we heard, the games we played, the programs we had, and the family prayers where we took our turn and learned to pray. I remember the refreshments, potatoes roasted in the hot ashes in the fireplace, corn popped over the hot coals, pine nuts, raisins, almonds, apples or other fruits brought from the cellar. The molasses or honey pulled candy we all helped to make. Most of all, I remember the wonderful feeling of companionship, closeness and togetherness we all felt, the loyalty that developed and grew there. I'm sure that no one there could forget these things we all felt and loved.

I remember, too, of sitting there before the fire and rubbing mutton tallow into our leather shoes. It helped keep our feet dry in winter, and also preserved the leather and made our shoes last longer. This job we did not enjoy so well, but nevertheless we did it with a will.

In the summer there were family picnics, some of them no more than packing a lunch and going as a family to the farm to pick fruit. I remember with special fondness feasting on the early cherries, when we could climb the trees and pick and eat all we wanted. We could hardly wait for the early June apples and golden sweet apples to ripen. We dearly loved them.

There was always a patch of watermelons planted in the corn patch. We usually had our first melon to eat on my birthday, Aug. 30. There were always enough melons for all the young people in the town. They knew they were welcome to go and get melons when they wanted.

My father raised sheep, and spent much of the time at the sheep herd, but as he was bishop, he always came home for the weekend. What fun it was when he would take us children to the sheep herd for a day. How we loved his sourdough pancakes and biscuits, and what a wonderful playhouse the sheep wagon made for us. It was furnished with a stove, table, chairs, cupboards and in the back there was a bunk bed. The sheep wagon was a home for father when he was there, or a sheepherder as well.

Our neighbor and uncle, Jim Prince, also had a sheep herd. One time he did not come home when he was expected. When the men went to investigate, he was found dead beside the wagon. He had apparently suffered a heart attack. We children did not understand it all, but we knew it was a sad occasion, and it was our first experience with death.

Every year, after the sheep were sheared, the wool was packed into large gunny sacks, loaded on wagons, and hauled to Salt lake City to be sold. It was a long trip and father would be gone for several weeks. When he returned, he brought supplies for another year. There were clothing such as coats, shoes, hats, bolts of cloth to be made into dresses, underwear, night gowns and bedding, etc., and wool for knitting socks, stockings, etc. We girls always had dresses, petticoats and underwear alike, as they were made from the same bolt of cloth. Mostly I remember the grey linsey woolsey dresses, and the red or grey flecked flannelette underwear and night gowns, etc. It was not hard to get our things mixed up, and get someone else's clothes, which we often did.

Sheep raising was the main occupation at that time. Sheep were grazed on the surrounding hills or mountains, Kanarrah and Cedar Mountains in summer, and in the valleys in winter, much of the time in what is now "Zion's National Park." A part of that park, the beautiful red cliffs, was plainly seen from our home. These "hills of home" are some of the wonderful and beautiful sights I remember of my childhood home. Those red cliffs now are called Kolob Mountains.

Our lot and house were surrounded by Lombardy poplar trees, tall and stately. They are still typical of Utah to me. There were many of them in Harmony, and I find myself looking for them whenever I am in Utah. They are

disappearing from the landscape now, and I, for one, shall be sorry to see them no more.

There was a deep well in our back yard, where we pumped water for household use and to water the stock at times. There was a half barrel, set under the spout of the hand-operated pump, where father often watered his team of horses. I shall never forget the time he came home and went to water his horses, and found the barrel full of mud, where we girls and our friends had been making mud pies.

The floors in our home were covered with rag carpets. As long as I remember, there were old clothes to be cut or torn into strips, carpet rags, to be dyed, sewn together into long strips and rolled into balls. We children helped with this. When there were enough, these rags were sent away and woven into carpet. Mother sewed these strips of carpet together and made a wide carpet, which was tacked to the floor all around the walls, well padded with fresh straw.

Our home boasted an organ, inherited from Grandfather Redd when he moved to Mexico. It was one of the few musical instruments in town, and was a treasure indeed. Aunts Vilo and Alice knew enough about music to teach us the notes and we began to read music a bit. I remember when the church sent musicians around the church communities to teach the people to sing the hymns. Joseph Coslett was the man who came to Harmony. All the townspeople gathered at our place, because we had the organ, to learn the hymns. He always had them sing up and down the scale a few times. We children were sent to bed so we could not disturb them. I lay in bed and listened to the music, and when they sang up and down the scale "Do re me fah so lah ti do," I thought they were singing "Don't let me fall, I love you so." There is still one song in the hymn book composed by Joseph Coslett.

Our farm was about two miles from town. Many memories of this farm are dear to me. We children were given the chore of driving the milk cows to the farm each morning after they were milked, and going back for them at night. We did not mind driving the cows to pasture and home. Sometimes our friends would go with us. We took our time, the cows walked leisurely along, eating as they walked. We always carried a big stick along to steer the cows if they wandered off, or to defend ourselves from snakes.

Many of the fences were made of rocks gathered from the land and piled around the plots of ground. They were overgrown with weeds, and bushes, and were infested with snakes — rattlesnakes, blow snakes, etc. We killed many snakes when we saw them in the roadway. I am terrified now when I think of it,

but I never did know anyone who was bitten by a snake, although we occasionally heard of someone somewhere else, who had been bitten.

I remember a snake story told by my Grandmother Redd. She had a cellar under the house, where she kept foodstuffs, to keep cool. Milk was put in shallow pans and set on cupboard shelves to let the cream rise. One day, she found the cream all gone. The children said they had not taken it, and no one knew anything about it. About the third day when she went to the collar, she found a big blow snake on the shelf. As she watched, it raised its head up over the top of the pan and slurped the cream off the milk. This called for tighter, better cupboards with screen to keep snakes out.

Grandfather's old house was still standing on the farm, built of bricks or adobes. We were forbidden to go in it. It was ready to fall down at any time, and also there were too many snakes around it in the rubble and weeds. In the "upper orchard" where there were fruit trees, there was an old foundation, made of rock, where John D. Lee's house stood. The lumber had been taken away and used to build a barn where hay was stored. One night we could not find the milk cows to take them home for milking. Next morning a search was made, but it was not till the third day, someone spotted them through the cracks between the boards of the barn. The two cows, old Pied and Reddy, had somehow climbed up on the hay in the barn and slid down the other side between the hay and barn wall. The side of the barn had to be taken off to get them out.

There was a good-sized creek running through the farm, and far on the other side of it was a small cemetery where several of the Lee family were buried. Two children, the headboard stated, had been killed by a falling wall. We mourned for them.

There was a spring of water on a steep bank of the creek, with a pipe in it, where we loved to get a drink of the clear, cold, sweet water. It had furnished water for grandfather's family's needs.

There was an old "fish pond" on the farm not far from the house. It never had any fish in, that I remember, but it was here that, for many years, the boys and girls of the town were baptized. Strangely enough, when I was ready for baptism, it was not suitable, and I was baptized in a creek on Uncle Alex Pace's farm. I remember it well. There were two of us. A small group of my friends gathered for the occasion. They sang a song, had prayer, and my father baptized us and confirmed us.

Both my grandmothers died when I was a baby, so I do not remember them, but I knew both grandfathers. Grandfather Redd had moved to Colonia Juarez, Mexico, with his family, but visited us occasionally. Grandfather Bryner's family went to Price, Utah. This was not so far away, and he visited us more often. He had lost his eyesight when he was a young man in an accident, and someone had to lead him around wherever he wanted to go. We children often helped him get around. He had a friend in new Harmony, Brother Brubacher, whom he visited. We wondered how they could talk and visit together so long, as whoever led him there had to stay to help him get home. Grandfather told us many stories of his early life in Switzerland and of his conversion to the gospel. He did a great deal of work for the dead in the St. George Temple.

When he was a young man, married and with two children, he had an accident and lost his sight, and was ill for a long time. Of course, he became very discouraged, felt he could not cope with life, etc. One night he had a strange dream. He seemed to be walking around the world in complete darkness. Suddenly he came into the light and walked the rest of the way in the light. Another time he dreamed of two young men who came to him with a strange message. He described them clearly as he had seen them. One of them had very peculiar eyes. Not long after this, his wife told him that there were two strange men in town, who were telling of a strange new religion. He told her that he had dreamed of two men, one having strange eyes, who had a message for them. She took him to listen to their meeting, and he knew they were the men of his dream. he described them exactly. One was cross-eyed, the man he had seen in his dream. Grandfather was immediately interested in their message, took the two elders home for a few days and heard their message and was baptized into the church.

As soon as they were baptized, they began making plans to come to America, which they did as soon as possible. They arrived in Nauvoo when the saints were leaving for Utah. They acquired a team and wagon, and joined the company. Grandfather walked much of the way, holding onto the wagon and walking behind it. They travelled with the ill-fated Martin handcart company, and were caught in the cold snowy weather, suffering many hardships. They were overjoyed to meet his brother in Salt Lake City. The brother had preceded him to America. They went on to Lehi where they lived for a time, and later went to New Harmony.

Grandfather could do almost anything around the home or farm, if someone directed him where to go. Grandmother spent much time helping him until some of the children grew old enough to help. They went through the many trials and tribulations of the pioneers, but they loved the gospel and their joy in it far outweighed any trials or hardships. I have heard him say he was grateful he lost his eyesight, otherwise he might have been too proud or occupied to listen to the elders who brought the gospel to him.

I am sure that my childhood was normal for that time. My special friends were Verna Taylor, Rita Mathis, Kate Watts, John M. Pace, LaMond Pace, Frank Kelsey and Eldon Schmutz.

I might mention here that I was a sickly child, small and thin, and I often had a pain in my side. The pain came when I had eaten a meal, played hard, run around or done something strenuous. I remember going into the house from play, and lying down over a chair to ease the pain. Finally father took me to Cedar City to a Dr. Middleton. He was a good doctor and a friend of my father's. He could not find what was wrong. There were no x-rays then. I felt very important to have so much attention. I was given a tonic and ordered not to run, play hard, or over-exert myself. I could not go to school unless I promised to be very quiet and not over-exert myself, just be quiet and watch other friends do the playing. I loved school, and promised to do just that. I kept the promise too, and in fact, I imagine I used this as an excuse to get out of some situations, both at home and at school. Eventually after a few years of this, I grew well and strong, and outgrew the trouble, whatever it was, and I have enjoyed good health all my life.

I attended school in the ward meeting house, across the street and a block west of home. Later a schoolhouse was built out on the hill east of town, where I went to school. One night, during my first year of school, there was a heavy snowfall. Next morning, my father put me up on his shoulders and gave me a piggy-back ride to school. I thought it great fun until we reached school, and he would not let me down but carried me right into the room and right up to the front of the class to let me off. School was already in session, and I was very much embarrassed when they all had a good laugh at me. Father thought it a great joke.

The early teachers I remember are Walter Slack, Annie McMullin, and Jake Workman. There was one room for the whole school. We marched to the front of the room to a recitation bench for our lessons etc. Spelling classes took the form of spelling bees. We each had our special place in the lineup. When a word was missed, the next one in line had a try at it. When someone spelled it correctly, she went up past those who miss-spelled the word. I loved spelling and prided myself on my spelling, and soon as I got to the head of the class, I made sure I studied it well and no one spelled me down. After quite a while the teacher sent me to the foot of the class so that someone else could be head of the class. I felt disgraced and cried bitterly. However I soon started back toward head of the class. Kate Watts was head, and studied hard to stay there. Finally she spelled "pleasant" with an "e" instead of an "a" and I was at the head once

more. I had studied my spelling hard and hoped she would make that very mistake. After that, the head person was regularly sent to the foot of the class.

Once when I was five and Paul was one year old, I was required to look after him for a while. We played around for a while and wandered over to the church. We went inside and played around. When we were ready to go home, the door had gone shut and the latch was turned on, so we could not open the door. I was in a panic and cried long and loud. Paul followed suit. I just knew we could never get out of that church. Soon we were heard, and a crowd gathered round. Everyone was trying to tell me how to turn the latch, but I was too frightened to listen, and after what seemed a great while, they boosted Minnie Pace through the transom over the door and we were free again.

Another story when I was about five — I was with some friends who were telling us about something that happened to their brothers. Not wanting to be left out, I told them something about my brother Will who was 8 or 9 years older than I. I must have made up a great story, but I do not remember what it was all about. Of course, I never dreamed he would hear about it. Well, he did, and came home angry with me. He was so very angry that I was frightened and denied the whole thing. He knew I was lying and made such a fuss that I was crying and denying it. Others heard us and came to see what it was all about. My mother came too, and asked me about it. I still denied it to her and we were having a great time. I lied to my mother too. This is when I learned that if you tell a lie, you have to keep telling more lies. Well, mother made him stop accusing me, and I went into my bedroom and cried myself to sleep. When suppertime came, I was not hungry and stayed in bed. I was unhappy because I had lied, I knew it was wrong, and I promised myself that I would never lie again — one had to keep lying and it got worse and worse. I promised myself that I would never lie again. I hope I have kept that promise.

It must have been when I was around nine, that I went to Cedar City to a Primary Conference or meeting of some kind. Aunts Sarah Prince and Eliza Kelsey took me along to recite on the program. It was over twenty miles and a long trip in a buggy, and they were driving a balky horse. They talked about what they would do if the horse balked, and I didn't realize they were joking. Aunt Sarah kept looking for a soft bush to throw her baby in if the horse balked, and they talked so much about it that I was thoroughly frightened by the time we reached Cedar City, and was afraid to go back home with them. Aunt Vilo and Aunt Alice were teaching school there, and Aunt Lucette Wood and her large family lived there too. They all coaxed me to stay in Cedar and said they were sure my parents would come for me, so I stayed. When they drove away without me, I was lonely and homesick. I had never been away from home alone, and the next week was the most unhappy week of my life. With all the aunts and

cousins doing everything they could to make me happy, I grew more unhappy every minute. I cried all week, and when father and mother came for me in a week's time in a wagon, I had already resolved that if I ever got home again, I would do anything they would ever ask of me. I even resolved that I would wash dishes — which job I had thought the worst job in the world — or anything else they asked me to do, and never complain again as long as I lived.

About this time, two of the younger children, Lyman and Vilo, became very ill. One Sunday morning, I had fasted and gone to Sunday School. After Sunday School I went with some of my friends. We played around most of the day. When I got home in the evening I did not feel very well. I was not hungry all day, and went to bed that night feeling very sick. By morning I was very ill. With three of us so very sick, my father went to Cedar City in a buggy and brought Dr. Middleton to see us. It had to be serious for him to go so far to get the doctor. He said it was typhoid fever-a very serious disease. He instructed mother how to treat us and how to prevent the disease from spreading, then father took him back to Cedar. We were very ill for some time, but all recovered and no one else got it.

Some years later, after we had moved to Canada, they had an epidemic of typhoid fever in New Harmony and several of my old friends died. After this, the people of New Harmony installed a water system for the town. Up to this time, the town water came from wells or streams or springs.

There were no commercial entertainments in our area, and so we had to make our own. The two occasions which we always celebrated were Christmas and the Fourth of July. At the Christmas season, there was a Christmas tree for the whole town, at the meeting house or the school house. This was a gala occasion for everyone in town, especially for the children. Everyone received presents taken from the tree by Santa Claus himself and handed to each one personally.

I remember one Christmas time when the curtain was opened, there on the front of the tree was the most beautiful doll, a "boughten" store doll. I'm sure that every little girl in the whole crowd hoped it was for her. When Santa finally got to the doll and read my name, I could hardly believe my ears. But it was my doll, and I shall never forget how I felt, the beautiful doll was really mine! All of our dolls before this year were home-made bodies, stuffed with rags or cotton etc. and a china head sewed on, but we loved them and didn't care if they were not so beautiful. If we still had our last year's doll, we did not need or get a new one.

One Christmas Jessie got a nice new doll, but I still had my old one so I didn't get a new one. Early Christmas morning, I begged her to let me hold it, it was so much nicer than my old one. She did not wish to let me hold it, but finally let me take it. I accidentally dropped it and broke it. I shall never forget how badly I felt, but there was not another doll for her till next Christmas.

We usually had new dresses for Christmas and the Fourth of July, made by our mother, and we loved them and always looked forward to getting them.

The Fourth of July was celebrated by all the townspeople. There were races and games in the street for everyone. There were prizes for all, even if one never won the race. In the evening, the older ones had a dance. At daybreak on the Fourth, the men of the town set off what we called cannons, some kind of explosion with gunpowder. I remember when my older brother Will was hurt. One shot of gunpowder did not go off soon enough to suit him, and he went up to see what was wrong with it. Well, it went off just as he reached it, and it peppered him with black powder, all over his face, neck and arms, and he had to be taken to the doctor in Cedar City to have it picked out from under the skin. We were very frightened.

Of course, there was always Primary, Sunday School, Sacrament Meetings, and we all attended. I still remember some of the lessons that they taught us there.

I remember one embarrassing experience Jessie and I had. We were going to St. George with father in the buggy. He had business to do in several places, and we stopped for him to do this. Jessie and I were wearing some new hats with peaked crowns, and felt very dressed up with new dresses etc. Someone at one of the stops gave us some fresh apricots, just ripened, which we enjoyed. We thought we should keep some for later on, and as we had no pockets. we stuffed them up in our hats. The next place father stopped, the people asked us to take off our hats. Of course we couldn't, we thought. However father's business took some time, and he stayed longer than we expected. The lady of the house invited us to stay for dinner. Father accepted, and then we had to take off our hats. We tried to get the others to eat some of the apricots, but they would not, and when we left later in the afternoon, they gave us a small pail full of apricots. (We were in Dixie, where fruit ripened earlier than in Harmony.) Jessie and I have often had a good laugh when we remember this occasion.

We had a big black dog called Bruce. Of course, there were always dogs at the sheep herd, but Bruce was our playmate, and he entered into our games and play. He would stand and watch us swing, we always had a swing somewhere on the place. Bruce watched us swing up and down, up and down, and seemed to enjoy it as much as we did. One night father was awakened by Bruce's howls. He got up to see what was wrong, and found Bruce in the swing, twisted up so tight that he could not get out. The harder he tried, the tighter it got. This happened a few times before he gave up trying to swing.

Another time he awakened father, he had the tongue of our little wagon in his mouth, running round and round the house, having a lot of fun. Still another time, Bruce spotted a small frog hopping around when he went to the farm with father, who was irrigating. Well, Bruce would jump after the frog, and grab it in his mouth. Then he would let it go, and watch it hop away. He must have gotten too enthused and finally swallowed the frog. Father said Bruce went through some fantastic antics with that live frog in his stomach. Father could hardly tell it for laughing.

I remember great lessons my mother taught me. I had found a small parcel in Aunt Sarah Prince's yard, next to ours, and brought it home. It turned out to be a piece of ribbon. Of course, I convinced myself that Aunt Sarah did not want it and had thrown it away. I tied it on my doll and it looked beautiful. Mother asked me where I got it, and I told her the story. I can see her now as she wiped her wet hands on her apron, took me by the hand and started for Aunt Sarah's place. I knew I was in trouble, and was in tears when we got there. I told her my story, as I stood by her knee. She put her arm around me, kissed me on the forehead and said "Yes, it is mine. I bought it at the store, and then could not find it after I got in the house. But because you have been so truthful and honest, I am giving it to you." I took the precious ribbon, and I never forgot the lesson I had learned — if you find something, you must try hard to find the rightful owner.

Another thing I remember with nostalgia is the old pine tree. Some distance west of the pasture where we took the cows, stood a huge pine tree. It stood alone. It was much larger than any of the numerous pine trees around, or even in the large wide valley. It could be seen from any point in the whole valley. There was not another like it. It seemed a lone survivor of an ancient forest. Its top had been broken off, probably by a storm. Sometimes several of us would try to reach around it by holding hands, but it was so large, we could not. Jessie painted a picture of it from an old photograph, and gave it to me recently. I love it. It reminds me of my childhood days. I appreciate having it.

Another custom we always observed and remembered was Decoration Day. For several days before May 30th, we children and our friends would wander over the hills and farms in search of wild flowers. I remember the sego

lilies, red bells, blue bells, Indian paint brushes, lady slippers, and others I cannot name. We kept them in tubs of water until the day, May 30. Then we carried all our flowers and buckets of water, cans for vases, to the cemetery on the hill east of town, put some in cans of water and spread the rest of the flowers over the graves of our four little sisters, Grandmother Redd and one or two of her children.

We children look back on our life in New Harmony with a great deal of nostalgia. My father was the last of Grandfather Redd's large family to move away from New Harmony. Others had gone to Mexico, San Juan county and other places. My father was bishop there in Harmony for twenty-five years, and when he was released from that position, he wanted to find a place where there was more room for his large family to settle around him. Perhaps too there were other reasons why he wanted to get away from there. Anyway, when I was almost twelve years old, father and my older brother Will left to go to Idaho. The Teton country there had been opened up for settlement and he wanted to see it and learn of the opportunities there. When they arrived in Salt Lake City, there was an excursion train leaving for Alberta, Canada, carrying prospective homemakers. Father joined the group and came to Alberta. When we heard that they had gone to Canada, we all cried, even mother. We thought of Canada as a frozen north country, the far frozen North. Our knowledge of Canada was very limited.

Father fell in love with Alberta. He bought some farm land. He said the grass on the prairies was as high as a horse's belly. He saw wheat growing well and it seemed to him to be a good place for farming, with lots of room for his children to settle down around him. He left Will in Canada and he returned to Utah to make preparations for the move to Canada.

I remember the new clothes mother made for us girls, with the help of friends and neighbors. Especially do I remember the red and white checked gingham, and the orange-brown sateen dresses Jessie and I had. We were always dressed alike and everybody thought we were twins. "Yes," father always said "they are twins with just two years' difference in their ages." There were parties for us among our friends, presents were exchanged and many tears shed at the parting. I felt I could never get over the sadness, and of course I should never become a Canadian.

There was a long trip to Lund, Utah, by team and wagons, which carried all our furniture and equipment. We caught the train at Lund, after camping at night and sleeping in or under the wagons. It was the first time for most of us to see a train. We were terrified of it at first but soon got accustomed to it. The trip to Canada took several days.

We arrived at Stirling, a new small town then, on the evening of the 1st of July, 1905. This was the day that Alberta became a province, and is always celebrated as Alberta's birthday. The train did not go to Raymond, where we were going to live, so we stayed overnight with the Adams family in Stirling. They had come to Canada some time earlier from Cedar City, and my father knew them. They had a small house and a large family, but they made us welcome. Most of us children slept on the floor, but it was an adventure and we enjoyed our stay there.

We heard all about "Dominion Day." We did not think much of the things they told us of this Dominion Day. We were going to miss the "Fourth of July" in a few days, and we didn't appreciate Dominion Day. Next day, we were driven to Raymond. Will came for us in a wagon. He had rented a house for us to live in. It was a nice place at the south end of the main street by the canal. He had planted a garden for us.

Raymond seemed such a large town, there was even a sugar factory there, and we were all feeling lost and strange. When school started in August, there was a large attendance. I was put in Standard Four with the others of my age. It was so different from the one-roomed school I had attended in Utah, and the work was so different and was all new to me, I felt I could not stay but should attend a lower class. Each night when I went home so discouraged, my brother Will would help me with my homework and encourage me to try one more day. Well, I finally go caught up with the class and stayed in Standard Four.

There were no western-trained teachers in this new country, so teachers were brought in from Eastern Canada. My first teacher was Miss Shaw from Nova Scotia. We thought the rules of the school were very harsh and strict, especially when the teachers could strap the students when they were unruly. I had never heard of that, but there I saw it done. I was careful not to get strapped. Father told us children that if we ever got a strapping in school, we would get another when we got home. I guess that is why we were all very careful not to get a strapping at school.

In that school class of about forty students was a boy named George Laycock. I do not remember too much about him that first year. I was in a large class, homesick for Utah, felt strange and was having a hard time to keep up with the work. He always maintained that he fell in love that first year. I do remember that in the next few years, he tried a number of times to take me for a buggy ride. He always had a nice buggy and horse or team. The first time he came for me, I didn't even remember his name. Of course I did not go, and it was not until his sixteenth birthday that I consented to go with him at all. On that

night there was a surprise birthday party for him at his home. He took me home and from that time on we went out together off and on until we finally were married in the Salt Lake Temple Dec. 23, 1915. He always said he worked seven years for his wife, as Jacob had for Rachel.

His mother died when he was fourteen and his father when he was sixteen, so he was on his own. The parents' home was sold to his uncle Dave Galbraith, who let him use one bedroom for sleeping. He did have a small farm, 80 acres, left by his father, also several horses, and he tried to farm that. When he was nineteen, he was asked by the bishop to go on a mission.

It was a hard decision to make about the mission. He rented the farm and horses to Dave Galbraith, and went to the Eastern States on a mission in the spring of 1912. By this time we were engaged, and I encouraged him to go, and promised to wait for him. He filled an honorable mission and returned in June 1914. He planted a crop of wheat, but it was hailed out on July 1 when it was nicely up and looked good. He was in debt, as he had to borrow money to complete his mission, and wanted to be debt-free when we married. The next year, he was no better off financially, so we decided to get married and start from the bottom together. We were never sorry, and the bit of a struggle we had those first years was a valuable experience for us.

In 1916, we bought a half-section of prairie land next to John Laycock's farm, about half-way between Raymond and Lethbridge. John was his cousin who had moved here from Oregon. We built a small home on the farm in the spring of 1917 and moved into our first home. Harold was a few months old at that time, and we remained on the farm until he was ready for high school, and our other three children, Merne, Ralph and Hugh were coming up through the grades. They had all attended a small rural school that had been built one half mile north of our house, called Community School.

We bought a new home in Lethbridge, at 1417-4th Ave. South, and came here to live in Nov. 1929. By this time we had increased our land holdings to 1280 acres. John Laycock had moved back to the U.S.A. and we had first rented, and then bought his farm.

Dad was progressive and modern in his thinking, and always maintained that there was no point in living in a modern world and not having modern equipment, appliances, etc. Consequently he made every effort to have them as soon as he possibly could. Early in 1917 he traded some horses for a "Model T" Ford car, one of the first in the area to have one. He had one of the first radios, a small crystal set with ear phones, in 1924. When we began to hear of combine

harvesters, he made a trip through Washington, Oregon and California to see them work. We had the first combine in the district.

As soon as we moved to town, I had the usual electrical appliances. On the farm, I had a gas-engine-operated washing machine. It often stopped in the midst of a washing, and I had to wait for him to come from wherever he was working and start it again. I really enjoyed all the electric things in my new home. It was newly built and was a lovely home. We enjoyed it greatly.

For a number of years, we went back to the farm for the summer months. It made things easier for Dad, and I enjoyed a garden there. We all enjoyed the farm for the summer, too.

In the year of 1918, we had a crop failure, and we did not have much to go on either. It was also the year of the influenza epidemic. It swept through the Armed Forces in World War I and the civilian world. Soldiers in the war and people all around the world died in great numbers, and everyone was terrified of the disease. We thought we had to move to Lethbridge to make a living, and hoped the epidemic was about over and we would not get it. George got a job playing in a theatre orchestra in Lethbridge. We moved into an apartment in the Sherlock Block at 7th street and 3rd avenue, and he started work. The leader of the orchestra was a man named Maurice Rygg, a violinist. He took a liking to George, and Dad spent a lot of time with him. He used to call Dad to come and sit with him in the night when he was often "under the weather." Dad even took some clarinet lessons from him, thinking he would improve his own playing. I asked Dad what was the matter with Rygg,was it flu? Dad said no, he had been told it was not flu. We did not fear anything else.

Early in 1919, Dad came down with the flu, and everyone got it. Harold was three years old and Merne, one year. We were all very sick. Dad developed pneumonia and was taken to the hospital where he was not given any hope of recovery. I remember how earnestly we prayed that if the Lord would spare his life and let us all get well and be together again, that I would willingly do anything I was asked to do for him, and would not complain about anything. I am sure this is not the right way to pray to Heavenly Father, but anyway our prayers were answered and he did come back to us. It was heartbreaking to see him so thin and weak, and coughing so hard. He went back to the theatre before he was really able, but felt he must.

Early in the spring Mr. Rygg died, and it was then that we learned he had tuberculosis. I asked Dad if Rygg had blown his clarinet, and he said "Yes, he often showed me how to hold and blow the instrument when I was taking lessons from him." When spring came, we went back to the farm. Dad remained

weak, thin and coughing, but really did work hard. I was very worried about him.

The year 1919 was also a drought and crop failure. We moved to Raymond and lived in my mother's upstairs suite, rent-free. Dad was still very poorly and when I finally persuaded him to go to a doctor, he was told that he had tuberculosis. Early in the spring, my sister Lura came home with smallpox. The doctor told us if we all got vaccinated and got out of the house immediately, we could go home, otherwise we would be quarantined too. We did so. I think this is the most heartsick and worried I have ever been in my life. All of us were sick from the vaccination. We had three small children, Ralph had been born in February and he had not been well at all. I felt we were going home to die. I didn't think Dad would survive the summer, and that I could not carry on if I did survive.

Dad needed good nourishing food — milk, cream, butter, eggs, meat, etc. and it seemed we had no way of getting them. I even went to grocery stores and tried to get credit for a charge account, but all credit was cut off for farmers, on account of the crop failures we had had. This is when we began to eat wheat. We could take wheat to the mill in Raymond and get it cracked for cereal, and ground into flour for bread. I have great respect for wheat as a food, for what it did for us then. After all, the Word of Wisdom does say "Wheat for man." We managed to trade a horse for a good jersey cow. John Laycock, who was in the chicken business, let us have eggs and chickens all summer, and we hoped to be able to pay him in the spring.

With milk, cream, butter, eggs and meat, and the vegetables I raised in the garden, and with long hours in the fresh air, Dad's health improved greatly. He got well and strong, and put on a lot of weight, as we all did. We had a good crop that summer of 1920, and got on our feet again. How very thankful we were for our great blessings.

It had been a long hard struggle to get our first land broken up and in production, but eventually we did. We bought a half-section across the road. We were getting along better. John moved away to California and we bought his land.

In spite of the hard work and various hardships we went through on the farm, I look back on our years there when the children were growing up, as the happiest and most satisfying and most rewarding of our lives. Dad could not give them too much in the way of money and what it buys, but he did give them a great deal of himself. Many summer evenings were spent playing ball or other games, swimming, driving, etc. In winter, there was skating, sleighing, etc. And

there were lessons, stories, music at home. Dad loved music and was determined that they all should have it too. He gave them a good start and I often think how proud and happy he would be to see them all doing as they are in music. And also to see the grandchildren following in their footsteps.

He bought a piano as soon as he could possibly do so, and with my limited ability to play it, we were soon all playing together. He was proud too of their other accomplishments, always knowing that they could and did head their classes in school. He could not wait until Harold was big enough to play a violin, so he bought a small sized one and Harold began taking violin lessons. Ralph was around five years old then, and he could hardly keep his hands off it. Of course, Harold would not let him touch it. So Dad gave Ralph and old "c" clarinet of his, showed him how to read a few notes and he was satisfied. Soon both boys were playing. At first I tried to play piano with them. As soon as Merne could play piano, the three of them became well known for their music. Dad was pleased to take them anywhere to play, and they played all over Southern Alberta. For many years, we had a little orchestra of our own at home. Hugh also had his violin as he grew up and soon joined in with his music as well.

One winter we had a long dry spell in the early winter. There was not any snow, and the ground was dry and dusty. One day about 5:00 p.m. a sudden storm blew in from the north. It began to snow and the temperature dropped rapidly. Soon it was bitter cold, and snow and dirt were so thick in the air that one could not see a few inches even. We had had our supper, and Dad made the remark that he was glad we were all safely inside and did not have to go out. About 6:30 there was a hard knocking at the door. Dad opened the door and found Mr. Dick, the school teacher, whom we could hardly recognize for all the snow and dirt all over him. He had icicles hanging from his mustache even. He said his wife and little daughter were out in their car, stuck in a snow drift in an open section north of the school house. They had driven to Lethbridge after school, and when the storm struck, they had started for home.

Well, Dad had to go and try to get them. By this time, it was dark and bitterly cold, and the wind was fiercely blowing the snow and dirt. Dad went to get the car started while I got blankets, hot water bottles, mittens, etc. ready and they started out to find the folks. We waited four anxious hours for their return. I had a big gasoline lamp in the front window, hoping they could see it when they got nearly home. You can be sure that the children and I were praying for them all the time. About eleven o'clock we heard a big bump and knew they were home. They had missed the culvert over the ditch in the road, and they could not even see the big lamp in the window. The mother and little girl, Elsie, were badly frost-bitten but recovered and were grateful to Dad for saving their lives. That night, five people in five different places in Southern Alberta were frozen to

death, some of them in their own yards, just could not find the house with the snow and dirt blowing so badly.

I am grateful for our wonderful family, for their good lives and accomplishments. It is a source of great satisfaction and gratitude to me to see them taking part in the communities where they live, active in their church and other duties, raising good families, being good citizens, doing what they know to be right. I wonder why I am so blessed in my family. I am deeply and humbly grateful. In Lethbridge, we had many good years together as a family. Dad passed away 30 Dec. 1946 after suffering some years with a heart condition and diabetes and complications.

Soon afterward, Lura persuaded me to accompany her on a trip to Hawaii, which I enjoyed very much. It was such a good rest, and I was free of making decisions for a while — there had been so many to make after Dad's death. A little later on, I went with her, Pauline and Mel on a trip to Mexico, which was also very enjoyable.

I kept myself busy with church work, gardening, visiting the children and their families, and helping them in any way I could.

In June of 1954 I left to go on a mission, as I had been officially called to the Texas-Louisiana Mission. My friend, Winona Ursenbach Stevens was already there on a mission, and I was assigned to be her companion. We enjoyed working together. Brother LeGrand Smith was our Mission President. At that time, we did not teach the gospel to the blacks, and they were mainly the people we saw on the streets. The white people stayed indoors out of the heat. We were advised to carry parasols, which we always did as it was so hot there. However, we knocked on a lot of doors and did our best to get to teach the gospel. After ten months together, Winona was released. I had several companions after that. The second summer was not so hot. I had become acclimated to the heat, I guess. I filled this mission to the best of my ability. I only saw four people baptized to whom I had taught the gospel. I had hoped to convert many people, but it was not to be that way. I did gain a greater testimony myself, and that was worth while too. I was released in Dec. 1965, and returned home after visiting Mary and Sterling, and Lyman and Jeanette in California.

Soon after my return, a four-roomed house near Merne's came up for sale, and I bought it and sold the big house on 4th avenue. I am still living in this house at 1916-5 Ave. South, and expect to stay here as long as I live. The house had a full basement, and Hugh built a two-roomed suite in it. For some years, I rented it to students, and then in 1956 Mary Murray rented it, and still lives here. She came to Alberta from Australia and works at the Research Station. She seems

like one of the family, and I enjoy having her here. We spend many evenings together. She is almost like a daughter to me.

Harold and Ralph both graduated from B.Y.U. and both eventually became professors at that school. They both have their Doctorates from a California University, and are both still teaching there in 1980. I am proud of both of them. Ralph has charge of orchestra and band. He conducts the Philharmonic Orchestra and has conducted several bands as well. He has taken on the job of conducting another orchestra — The Utah Valley Orchestra — older people, many of whom are former B.Y.U. orchestra members. He is surely kept busy, but enjoys it. Harold plays in this latter orchestra, but his extra work is in the ward and stake in which he lives. He spent many years in the bishopric of his ward, then when released from that, he was called into the Stake Presidency, where he is still working.

I am proud of both of them, and also proud of Hugh and Merne. Hugh took over the farm after his father died. Eventually he sold some of the farm and rented the rest of it, and moved his family to Lethbridge and is working in Real Estate. He has looked after me well. When I have needed help, I call on him and he has done many jobs for me, such as plowing the garden, shingling the house roof, putting in a window and endless other jobs. I could never have coped with the jobs without him. I lean on him so much. He is always ready and willing to do what I need done.

Merne is the same. She lives next door and does everything for me, looks after all my needs, has me over often for a good meal, shops for me and does so many things for me. I'm always calling on her and Don for something, and they think to do for me, more than I think of myself. I appreciate them more than I can tell. For many years now, they have taken me to Conference in Salt Lake City. I used to go by myself by train or plane or bus, but I do not go by myself any more. I am so grateful to all of you for your help and thoughtfulness.

Since Bill, Hugh's son, moved to Lethbridge several years ago, they take me often when they take their five children to swimming lessons, skating lessons or other things. I appreciate getting out for something different. I also enjoy all the grandchildren's families when they come to Lethbridge.

I also enjoy visiting Jessie and Octave when we can get together — either in person or on the phone. She and I are the only girls of the family still in Canada. Kay is the only brother still living and he is in Canada too.

I have worked much of my life in the Church organizations, being secretary of the Sunday School in Raymond when I was 12 or 13 years of age.

After I came to live in Lethbridge, I served as Ward Primary President, then on the Stake Board. After that I was Stake President of the Young Women's Mutual Improvement Association for five years, then I served for almost five years as President of the Stake Relief Society. I have taught classes in nearly all of the organizations. This year, at 87, I do not hold any position in the organizations but do enjoy attending the meetings etc.

My health is good, and I am able to do most things for myself. I am very grateful for good health and hope to be able to continue to look after myself.

(Next section compiled by Merne Livingston, Dec. 1989)

Soon after Mom returned from her mission in Jan. 1956, she bought a small home on 5th Ave. S., across the lane from us. It was nice to have her so close, after her being away for a year and a half. We saw each other every day, and she usually had one meal a day with us.

She was also of great help to us, as Don was Bishop and I was busy with church callings as well, in the Mutual, Relief Society and Choir, etc. She helped me with canning and freezing vegetables and fruit, tended kids while I conducted choir practice, etc., and generally helped a lot. She encouraged me to go on trips with Don when business called him out of town — we had one especially nice trip to Ontario and eastern U.S. where we looked up many of Don's relatives and obtained a lot of genealogy.

Her home was headquarters for Hugh's family when they lived on the farm, when their kids were taking music and art lessons in Lethbridge. The ones not involved would go there and do homework, weave, paint, etc., and they really enjoyed this.

She had always enjoyed music — when we were on the farm, she had a guitar. I remember being allowed to sit in an armchair and strum it if I was very careful. During one of the "lean" years, the folks had to sell it in order to buy a bag of flour. I think she always wanted to buy it back, but the family who purchased it from her, would not let her have it back.

She had learned to play piano while in Raymond, and after they lived on the farm, Dad promised her a piano. She was so happy about this, and thought about it such a lot, was planning how she would arrange her work so that she would have time to practice it. One day, before it was even purchased, she rushed through her work and went into the diningroom to play the piano! It was a nice one — a Heintzman upright grand, with a lovely tone. She gave it to us when she moved from her large home on 4th avenue. Bob and Cathy have it in

Calgary now, and it still has that lovely tone, and some of her great grandchildren are learning to play it.

She encouraged us kids to practice our musical instruments, and always enjoyed going to the concerts the kids participated in — here in Lethbridge, all over southern Alberta, in Provo where Harold and Ralph were active in music circles, and hearing Hugh and his family perform in Lethbridge. She sang many a lovely alto solo in church meetings here and in Raymond, and was a choir member for years.

She developed many hobbies to occupy her mind and time. She was always busy. She had a fine garden, and really enjoyed this. When she was 90, she still dug part of her garden with a spading fork, even though Don had offered to roto-till it for her.

She joined the Lethbridge Sketch Club and painted many lovely pictures, giving several to her children, and at least one to every grandchild and great-grandchild. She was very modest about her ability, since Jessie and Lura got so much publicity, but her paintings were really lovely.

She joined the weaving guild, and purchased a large loom with her brother Kay. She wove many beautiful pieces — tablecloths, fancy towels, place mats, evening bags, stoles, and even enough yardage of tweed to have a coat tailored for herself. Every grandchild also received a piece of weaving from her.

She made lovely quilts. As long as she was able to make them, each great-grandchild received a beautiful quilt from "GG," as she was lovingly known. One quilt that was special, was "pieced" by her mother from material her grandmother had owned in the 1890's. Another special one was appliqued floral emblems of the provinces of Canada.

She enjoyed knitting, and made many sweaters for gifts for grandchildren. She also knitted and crocheted afghans, tablecloths, etc. and tatted edgings for many a handkerchief. She decorated writing paper with tatted flowers.

She did a lot of genealogical research. For many years she searched for Dad's ancestors in England, without success. She also paid professional researchers, but they too were unsuccessful. During a sabbatical leave, Harold finally made a lot of progress, which pleased her a lot. Harold has recently been able to link up her research with his, extending the pedigree back to the 1500's, and will be able to submit many names for temple ordinances. She is very pleased about this.

She was a temple worker for 18 years, starting this enjoyable calling when Jessie and Octave were matron and president of the Alberta Temple, and served later under Pres. and Sister Heber Jensen, then President and Sister Elmo Fletcher. Usually she and her co-workers left Lethbridge about 6:00 a.m. and spent the whole day in the temple, returning about 11:00 p.m. They said they would rather spend the whole day while they were there, than to go two days. Needless to say, they came home tired but happy. She was released just before we were called as temple workers in 1972.

She often visited her sisters in Utah. She loved to do this. For years, we attended General Conferences in Salt lake City, and took her with us. One of the first things she would do when we went to October conference was to fill up the trunk of the car with melons. Her father had raised many melons in their New Harmony garden, and she dearly loved them. So did we.

She really enjoyed visiting Harold and Ralph and their families in Provo too, and would often ride down on the bus, or fly down, for a special concert, or other special event, or just for a visit.

She was generous with her time and money. One Christmas she gave each grandchild the handsome sum of \$50.00, and it was a handsome sum in those days. Some of the kids made pretty good investments with the money, too. She was always buying someone a suit or a dress, or a mixmaster, etc.

She remained active in church work, and was always ready to help others. She taught the Spiritual Living lessons at Relief Society for years, and was a visiting teacher most of her life. She was R.S. librarian for at least three years, and always volunteered to help at funerals and ward dinners, etc.

She and her sister Jessie were very close. She was happy to live close enough that they could visit often, and talk on the phone nearly every day. Or should I say that Jessie talked and Mom listened, for hours on end, but she loved it. While she was driving a car, she chauffeured Jessie around town endlessly. She and I shared a car for many years, and when she no longer felt safe driving, I chauffeured her around. The city bus stopped at her corner, and she often rode it down town. She liked to be as independent as possible. She always belonged to the same ward as we did, so accompanied us to all church meetings.

She and her dear friend, Amelia Johansen, visited all the church members in the hospitals once a week for years, until Amelia passed away suddenly. This left a big void in her life — she had really enjoyed Amelia.

In the 1970's JoLane Laycock Jolley was invited to adjudicate at the Lethbridge Music Festival, and she stayed with mother for several days. They enjoyed each other's company very much. Mom always liked to attend the festival, for there was usually a grandchild or several great grandchildren performing. Mom was pleased to have a visit just recently with JoLane and Weldon, who were in Calgary to attend a convention at Banff. They made a special trip down to Lethbridge to visit her, and we had a family dinner at Extendicare, then sang and visited.

For several years, she had arthritis in her hands and arms, but it went into remission after a while and she has not been bothered with it for years now. She had a cataract operation on one eye in 1982. This improved her sight considerably. She began having trouble hearing conversations, and was constantly asking us to repeat ourselves. Ralph took the bull by the horns, and insisted that she get a hearing aid. She didn't like wearing it, and her natural hearing improved dramatically — she did not wear the hearing aid very long.

She turned 90 in 1983, and a Family Reunion was planned for the whole family. Lucy and Ralph were in charge of it, and did a wonderful job of planning and executing the plans. They rented accommodations on BYU campus — each family had their own suite, with a large meeting room for programs and testimony meeting, etc. They ate at the cafeteria, or had picnics etc., visited Timpanogas cave and Provo canyon, attended Ralph's Sunday afternoon Band Concert In The Park where the children enjoyed playing Pied Piper, following him around the park, etc. At this time, she had 81 descendants, and most were present. Harold and Lois were on a mission in Tempe, Arizona so were unable to be there. Don had just had back surgery and was in so much pain that he was confined to bed (he wanted me to go anyway, but I could not leave him in that condition), and Bill and Carol had responsibilities that kept them at home, but I think everyone else was there, and had a wonderful time!

Mother's memory began slipping. She would put a pot on the kitchen stove and go into the livingroom and forget it. She burned up more pots this way! She also used the elements on her stove to heat the room, and this was not safe. We felt she could not live alone any longer and had a family council to decide what to do. Some of the family were unable to care for her in their homes, and in addition we felt it would be too confusing for her to be moving about continually. She herself suggested a "Seniors" lodge, of which there were several in Lethbridge and vicinity, so we took her to inspect some of them.

She finally decided that she would like to live in the Ridgeview Lodge in Raymond, where she had a private room, friendly matron, good meals, entertainment, church services, Relief Society meetings, and where several old

friends lived. She moved there in September 1984, and found a bosom pal in Lizzie King, whom she had known ever since she moved to Raymond in 1905. They would sit side by side on the sofa and fall asleep leaning on each other's shoulders. Lizzie was about ten years older than Mom, but they had a lot in common. They would talk about the old days, about their husbands, old friends etc. They were always together. I and my family, and Hugh and his family, visited her on alternate days, and we often brought her to Lethbridge for the day, to go shopping, to her dentist, doctor, for Sunday dinners, to buy clothing, etc. I often took her to visit Kay and Velma, and when her sisters Vilo, Lura and Mary came for visits, I took her to visit them. I took her to Cardston once a week and left her to visit with Jessie in the Auxiliary Hospital there while I went to a temple session.

In August 1986, the matron advised us that she should move to a nursing home due to health problems she was having, so we moved her to Extendicare on 13th street north in Lethbridge. Here she gets good care — nursing care when needed, good meals, laundry, hair care, church services, entertainment, out for lunch at the Senior Centre once a week, etc. I try to visit her every day, but must miss occasionally.

In Feb. 1987, she fell and broke her hip. She had to have surgery, and is now confined to a wheelchair. Before this happened, I was able to take her out for meals with us, shopping, car rides, etc., but now that she is in a wheelchair, I cannot manage to get her into my car. There is a handibus service that will bring her out to our homes if we book far enough ahead, and if it is not slippery and there are people at home to help get her chair up the steps. We cannot get her wheelchair into our bathrooms, so she cannot stay more than a couple of hours at a time. Extendicare is not the nicest place to live, but it would be impossible for anyone to care for her in a home now — bathrooms are inadequate, and she is too heavy for one person to move. Her health problems make nursing home care necessary. She never complains.

In 1988, Iza Steele moved into Extendicare, and for a time, she and Mom were in the same room, but when Iza needed more nursing care, they moved her down the hall closer to the nursing station, then upstairs. Mom and I visited Iza occasionally, and they enjoy talking for a few minutes. Iza passed away a couple of months ago. Another old friend who is in Extendicare is Ethel Queckboerner, a sister to Lottie Baker and Josie Erickson who were neighbors on the farm. Mom and Ethel were teenagers in Raymond together, and still reminisce about the old days.

She enjoys visitors, but does not always remember who they are. Hugh and Audrey visit her often, as do Carol and Bill and their children. Patricia and

her little ones go often too. Harold and Lois, Ralph and Lucy usually come up twice a year for visits and she really enjoys these, especially when they bring their musical instruments and put on a concert for her. When Don and I are away in the winter for a couple of months, Hugh and Audrey do yeoman service visiting her really often.

Bruce built a ramp for his van, so that he can transport her in her wheelchair that way if the handibus is booked up — it takes two men to get her in and out of the van and up the steps of the house.

Some of the things we do to entertain her are reading family histories, scriptures, playing the organ and singing (sometimes she will sing the same song all day long — one of her favorites is "My Bonnie Lies Over the Ocean"), looking at her photo albums, watching a little TV if there is something special on. She enjoys the Lawrence Welk show on Sat. evenings in Shirley Griffin's room. At her birthday last year, she came to dinner at our house with Audrey and Hugh. All the grandchildren and great grandchildren in the area called in after, and we had sing-song with Bill at the keyboard. She knew all the verses for every Primary song we could sing, and really enjoyed it.

It is hard to watch her going downhill, I wish we could do more to make her life happy. For years, she has wanted to go on to the other side and be with Dad, and now she is afraid he will have forgotten her. She took very good care of him during his years of ill health, both in 1919 and 1920, and during his last few years when diabetes and heart trouble made him feel so miserable.

It might be interesting to note some of the inventions and improvements Mom has seen during her lifetime, which include running water in our homes, then hot water heaters, indoor plumbing, telephones (at first we had party lines on the farm), cars — Model T Fords, then more sophisticated open touring cars, followed by glass windows in cars, heaters, air conditioners, gravelled roads instead of dirt roads which often had big mud-holes in them, paved roads, radios, recording machines, cassette recorders, record players, stereos, black and white TV (we saw our first one at the 1939 World's Fair in San Francisco), color TV, compact disk players, P.A. systems, electronic keyboards, silent movies, "talkies", then color movies.

For heating our homes, we graduated from the coal range, to circulating heaters, then got gas furnaces and thermostats, room and home aid conditioning, gas and electric kitchen ranges, electric refrigerators, aluminum windows and doors, insulation in homes, wall-to-wall carpets, vacuum cleaners, washing machines (hand-operated, then gas-engine operated, electric, and automatics), dryers, wash-and-wear fabrics, permanent press. Electric kitchen appliances such

as toasters, fry pans, crockpots, microwave ovens, electric irons, steam irons, dishwashers.

Fountain pens, ballpoint pens, felt pens, calculators, computers, Nintendoes, electric typewriters, treadle sewing machines, electric sewing machines, silk stockings, nylons, pantyhose, newer and weirder fashions in clothing and hair. (I remember Mom telling about visiting her neighbor on the farm in the 1920's. Mrs. Leonard had been to New York and had her hair cut short, or "bobbed," as they called it. She persuaded Mom to let her cut her hair, and Dad was not exactly pleased.) Old-fashioned permanents using heavy heated rollers, "cold-wave" permanents, electric curling irons, hair dryers, good-looking synthetic wigs.

City buses, travel buses, trailers, motor homes, planes — propeller, jet, ultralights — satellites, space travel to the moon. Farm machinery such as steam engines, threshing machines, tractors, one-way plows, rod weeders, combines, sprinkling irrigation systems instead of irrigating from a ditch with a shovel and gum boots, self-propelled combines, hydraulically-controlled implements, hay balers, front-end loaders for hay and other materials, bigger and bigger machinery to handle large acreages — Dad would have been thrilled to see many of the modern inventions, he was always interested in the latest inventions.

The list could go on and on!

Laurel Hill Redd

History of

Laurel D. Redd

History of Laurel D. Redd

September 8 1952

For more than ten years I've had the urge to write my life history. Tonight I'm going to try to make a start.

I was born October 3, 1915 — the night my oldest brother broke his leg. My brother never recovered. I was born in Jefferson county, Idaho — On the Mud Lake. At the time the lake was called Crystal lake. My sister just older than I was born there and was named Crystal after the lake. I'm glad they didn't continue to name us after lakes. My name has been too near "mud" to often anyway.

My folks moved to Ephraim after the death of my brother and after some transaction that held up the water rights until they lost theirs, and stayed in Ephraim through the winter. My brother Harold was born there in April.

From Ephraim they moved to the Uintah Basin where my memory starts. We lived in Altonah. I remember boys on horses chasing us into the entrance of the school. We were scared to death the horses would step on us. We lived on a ranch in Altonah and in town. I remember when Eva was a baby. Mother froze her feet at that time. The house was a big room--not much else. I have vague memories of us leaving Altonah and driving cattle to Randalett, Utah. We camped near the hills by Myton on the way to Randalett.

When nearly six I started school in Randalett, Utah. My teacher, Miss Tucker taught us until Christmas. She gave us all a kiss when she left. Mrs Rice taught us the rest of that year--from Christmas on and the next year.

We rode to school horseback. The river was between our house and town and school. We had to get across it. Sometimes our folks took us across the river and we walked the rest of the way. They would come for us at night. Often the moon was shining brightly by the time we had our ride back across the river.

In the spring when the river was breaking up it was frightening to see those huge chunks of ice floating down the river towards our horse.

My second year of school we walked from four or five miles from P.A. Brigham's place.

Indian stories and real live Indians used to frighten me very much. In Altonah I remember hiding behind mother's skirts when the Indians came

around. In Randalett, Dad used to give Indians rides with us in our buggy as we drove to town--or home. Papa picked up one old squaw when coming from church. She would use her cane on us when we got to close to her while sitting in the bottom of the buggy. We would get close to the edge and hang on there. She was a hateful old squaw.

Brigham's house was quite a memory. Dad said not to kill the snakes because more would come if we did. Our house was a little 2 roomed log cabin lined with paper. The paper had holes in the ceiling and hung loose there. The snakes got really bad. We'd wake up in the night to hear them rattling the paper as they crawled over our heads. They would stick their heads through the holes and stick their tongues out at us. When mother was away we wouldn't stay in the house if we could get out of it.

One Saturday Alta was making bread. She put her pan on a chair to mix the dough. Mother was Visiting Teaching. The snakes were sticking their tongues out at us so we took the chair, bread, and all out in the yard and finished the job.

One day I went to my drawer to get some clothes and there was a huge snake curled up in it---I didn't learn to like snakes.

On one of our excursions over the country side after pretty rocks I run a rabbit bush thorn in my bare foot. It was a huge thing--about the size of my thumb. I was a coward so I would not let anyone work too hard on getting it out. It stayed there until it festered then one night mother poulticed it with bread and milk and the next morning the operation was to be preformed. I was so frightened I cried myself nearly sick before Dad took his razor and cut it. I turned my face and waited for the pain that never came.

We lived in about four houses in Randalett. One was an old laundry building. It had one huge room and an upstairs. While we were living here June put his hand into some hot candy mother had just made. It was burned quite badly. The weather was cold so we walked him out side for hours to help relieve some of the pain.

We used to go to Roosevelt by buggy to conference. We got up early and rode for a couple of hours. Those were interesting times-riding with the our parents and seeing the country. On one trip there the store man let me ride a tricycle around the store. It was a thrill of a life time.

We moved to the Joe Jensen place at Roosevelt. When we moved there I was in the third grade. Mrs. Effie Jacobs was my teacher. We had a little house beside the big house. We girls slept in the little house. One day while putting

wood in our stove mother called to go chase the pigs. I ran and left the lid off the stove. When I got back there was a bucket brigade putting the fire out on our little house.

I was very frightened of wild animals--things I imagined I could see in the rocks on the hills in the many shadows and shapes of rocks. They would be so real to me that they even made noises.

We moved from Joe Jensen's house to a house on the west of Roosevelt-Colletts house. It was wonderful. It had four rooms in it. I had never lived in such a big house. I remember especially the huge yellow rose bushes. They were really gorgeous. That year at Christmas time we were really thrilled. We were going to have our first Christmas tree. My youngest brother, June, caught pneumonia and died on the 22 of December. We buried him on Christmas Eve. We never put the Christmas tree up.

Joy was born in the Collette house on my oldest brother's birthday-Horace, the one who passed away right after my birth.

We moved from Collette's house to DeFreeze's. There I was old enough to do my share of tending babies and other things connected with babies--No paper diapers in those days. You didn't just throw the dirty diaper away.

While Joy was still a baby we built our house on our own 20 acres of land down between the rocky hills.

I helped at home tending the little kids during the morning then I went to the building site and sanded molds for the adobes in the afternoons.

We made 18000 adobes in 3 weeks. One of our horses pulled the pug mill to mix the sand, water, and clay. We had good sand and clay right there but had to haul water from the well. We enjoyed it because it was to be our own first real home.

Dad, Jack and George were working on a farm. Roy was only 18 and had had no experience but he did it along with the help of the rest of the family. We had poured the foundation and when the bricks were dry we loaded them on a wagon. One of our horses had died so mother held up one side of the single tree while the horse pulled the load to the foundation. We mixed and carried the mud while Roy laid the adobes. When the walls were up we had quite an experience. Roy needed help to get the first rafters in place. Mother climbed up on the wall to help him. She got hold of the loose end of the rafter and froze there. She went

blue in the face. We stood below and watched and prayed. Roy some way managed to get her free from the rafter and off the wall.

While building the house Joy had convulsions or something. She had no more after an administration by the priesthood. That morning Alta and I were at home. I went to pick the baby up when she started to stir. She looked terrible. We ran for mother and for a neighbor for help. She had about 3 convulsion before we got the priesthood.

We moved into our house on the 24 of November. Nov. 25 was Thanksgiving Day and Mother's birthday. It was really an exciting time. The house was not ready but birthdays don't wait. Dad was home on Nov. 25. Dad and Roy laid the kitchen floor enough to put up the stove then we started to cook the Thanksgiving dinner while they finished that floor. They also got another bedroom floor down before the day was done. We put paste board and quilts up at the open windows. Two of the outside doors were hung.

Because of the lateness of the year it was cold. The next day Roy built in the gable ends of the house with adobes. We had no ceilings--Just the joist. The inside walls were just the red adobes. We were in our home about two years before we got it plastered. We laid the floor boards on top of the rough lumber floors after we had been in the house about eight years. We also hung inside doors about that time.

Our home was wonderful all the time because it was big enough to turn around in.

We struggled to make an orchard and lawn grow. Mother did have beautiful flowers and her gardens were good. I can taste the watermelons and tomatoes now. She sold tomatoes for 75 cents a bushel and had more orders than she could fill, even though others sold their tomatoes for 50 cents a bushel. They said they got more out of mothers tomatoes than others and they were so easy to do because they were so big and nice.

We hauled water in barrels for the use of the house and drinking water. The well was about a half mile away. Sometimes we had a horse to pull the water cart. Sometimes we didn't. Then we kids and mother pulled the cart through the sand to the house. It was hard - mostly just through the sandy part of our place.

About three years passed. Crystal and I heard mother longing to have the corral moved from the front part of the house to the back on a hill so we decided to do it for her. We really labored. Most of the post holes we dug were more than half through sand rock. With a crowbar and a pick we labored away until we'd

get the holes 2 feet deep--some only 18 inches. We moved the correl and shed up there for mother. The shed poles were really heavy to raise up in place. We did it. I don't know how now.

The cedars were about five miles away. As the years went by all the older boys left home and it fell our lot to haul the wood for winter, milk the cows and tend them.

We would go to the cedars with a team and wagon. We would hunt for the tops of trees after men had been there cutting posts. We hauled a jag of tops each day until we had hauled 10 loads. It was a tedious days work for 12 and 13 year old girls. We burned nothing but wood so Dad would haul in the winter and when we ran out. I think we only hauled one year's supply then an odd load when it was needed and Dad couldn't get away to do it.

When our brothers went away to work it left the chores on us. We had a mean cow. She may not have been as mean as we were scared. We'd tie her head to the pole then one foot out one way and the other back foot out the other way then we could sit down and milk. The cow would bellor and stick out her tongue and always try to bunt us.

I've herded pigs, chickens, horses, and cows, but the worst of the lot was turkeys. A man in town bought from people bunches of turkeys from all over then hired us for \$5.00 a month to tend them. We arose at day light and ran all day. The bunches stayed together in their own bunch and traveled in different direction. As soon as we got one bunch herded back another would be gone. They didn't stop until it would start to get dark then they would go to roost. Oh, by the way, the man who hired us to herd turkeys was Lorraine Day, the movie star's, father--Mr. Johnson.

We learned to swim in our irrigation ditch. We spent as much time as we could in the water. I'll never forgot the shock the first day I really realized I was traveling and not touching the ground. I guess my swimming today amounts to the same dog paddling.

One year the town poisoned the prairie dogs. Now to keep those prairie dogs buried right and tomb stones erected took even more than our spare time from herding cows. Neither mother nor the people whose gardens were ruined appreciated our burial efforts when the cows would stray.

Crystal and I used to be real contractors. We counted 30 play houses we had labored to build. One especially was nice at the bottom of a hill. We built our out house up on top of the hill and could survey the country as we used it. We

used a nail barrel for this purpose. One house had rooms on different levels of sand rock. Sometimes we would get a real start when getting rocks to outline our rooms. Often we found scorpions under the rocks we lifted.

One day I was lying on my stomach when I got up and found I had been lying on a scorpion. It took me a week to believe I was going to live--I was so frightened.

When I was in the sixth grade I was in a mixed room- grade five and six. There I made friends with Vonda Griffin. From then on until the last year of High School we were almost inseparable. Our principle said one day in our Civic class: "you play together and eat together and I wouldn't be surprised if you sleep together". We felt that we should have told him that Vonda was staying at my house for the winter but we didn't.

I spent many hours at Vonda's. Her folks did not go to church. They used rough language. Mother worried about me picking up their habits but with the help of the Lord I got over the hump. I remember the night they were having a party. They were smoking and I wanted to try a cigarette. I said to myself "Now is the time. I either smoke like they do or I say "no" and mean it. I said "no" and never had the desire after that. Vonda got rather bad but finally married a good man and is a good woman now.

Her older sister has never got her feet on the ground.

One summer I spent on the mountains in Colorado with Griffins. They were running sheep. Another summer I spent at Neola in a sheep wagon with Vonda. We tended 20 head of cows. That was a glorious summer. We milked the cows and separated the milk. We swam in the creek at 10 a.m. and at 2 p.m. and then after the chores were done at 8 at night up until 10. We especially loved the moonlight nights to swim in. Our hair got bleached in the sun and water. We learned to dive; we rode horses; we discovered new places. We got as close to the Indian Sun dance as we dared. We had our little sisters, Joy Hill and Lois Griffin with us for a week. Poor little Joy got so homesick. Mother said she never was the same after that.

I worked for Nefton Peterson, Vonda's big sister, in Neola the summer I was 14. For pay I got one new dress.

My high School days were full of basketball--after the first year.

One year I went to represent the school at the invitational track meet in Provo. I was on the dash and relay team. The teacher asked me to run in the

hurdles. I did and got third place. I never did the dash because the track meet was called off because of snow before we really got going.

Crystal and I did the janitor work at the Seminary when we went to High School. They paid us \$6.00 a month. We felt fortunate to be able to pay for our school rings and pins and get a new dress for graduation.

I discovered how much school meant to me when we were not able to go for the first month of my 9th grade. It cost \$15.00 for tuition. Roy sent us the money for tuition after school had been going for a month.

I spent many hours in speech work. I liked it next to Geometry and Phys. Ed.

The day school was over and I was to graduate that night it seemed the bottom of my world fell out. No more school. I really felt tough about it. For years I had prayed that I could go to college and on a mission. It seemed foolish because Mom and Dad couldn't even pay High School tuition. I was pretty low when I went to bed. The next morning I knew what to do. I had never thought of going away to work, but I dreamed I went to S.L.C. and worked. I knew I could get to school after that.

I received a scholarship to the University of Utah. I went there and met the Dean of Women, Miss Van Cott. One day she was very upset. It was too late to get her hair done and she had this important meeting. I said I could wave her hair for her. She was skeptical but no choice. She was so thrilled with her hair. She decided then and there that I was to go to Beauty school instead of the U. Monday morning she drug me off to the Excellsus Beauty school. My brothers happened to come to visit me. I packed my suit case and left with them for Provo where I would pick fruit for them. They were peddling fruit at that time. I picked fruit most of the summer. Lived with my cousin Alice and her family. Trucks ate up more than they made so I never saw money for picking fruit at that time.

In the fall the boys, my 3 brothers and 3 double cousins decided they would be "Hill Brothers Coal Co". They rented a mine and started to haul coal. At that time they looked up a house to live in. When they left Alice's, she was unhappy about it. I became their chief cook and underwear washer---and I mean washer. Their overalls wouldn't bend--neither would I before they purchased a second hand washer. We moved into Pa Ferguson's basement and stayed there for ten months. They took in 3 BYU students who needed a place to stay. They worked hard at their coal business but didn't get too far.

The next summer we moved to town - 125 East Center. I had stayed away from school a year but still had the wish to go. I mentioned this one day so they gave me \$13.00 to see if I could register with that. I did. The school gave me a note for the rest of my tuition---and because I had a note they gave me a job to work it off. From that time on I worked out all my tuition. I worked cleaning rest rooms. That was hard because I had to be at the school at 4 a.m. and often at night I was tending babies until 1 a.m. I'd be almost too tired to stay awake in classes.

I got a job during one summer in the press and never went back to the janitor work. I helped in the library for a year or so. I typed diaries and indexed them. I also made a table of contents for the diaries and for the news papers the University had that were published at the time of Joseph Smith's assassination. Some of the diaries I worked on were Hosea Stout and Bushman's. I did three of Hosea Stouts and two of Bushman's.

After a year at 125 East Center we bought the corner on 12th north and bought old rail road ties and started to build cabins. When we had the walls half up we moved into one cabin. I canned peaches in the open air that year. They didn't break either.

That fall I got a job in the cannery pealing tomatoes. We were to stay on till frost came. That's as long as the cannery run. We got a bonus for staying through. I got worried by the time I was two weeks late for university.--Still no signs of frost so I decided to try to get canned. I worked hard at it. One day I walked out in the middle of the morning. The next day I got my walking papers. It was hard to think of giving up the bonus but good to get back to school. When I went for my check I asked if I'd get a bonus. They said "You'd still be here if you hadn't got laid off, wouldn't you?" I said "yes". So I got my bonus. I was able to buy linoleum for the cabin. It made it so pleasant.

In 1935 we spent new years in Los Angeles; visited Tiawana; saw the ocean for the first time--I should say heard the ocean because that's what gave me the thrill; visited Boulder dam; ate ripe, uncured olives and came back and got right into the harness again.

In the fall of 1936 I told the girls at work that I was going on a mission. They got excited and asked "where to". I said I don't know. I haven't been called but I am going." When I went home that day I told the boys what had happened at work. They realized for the first time that I wanted to go. Inside of a month we went to Roosevelt where I still belonged to first ward. In a very short time I had my call to the Canadian Mission. I went home for Christmas and got papers

ready to leave on the 1st of February. When I had my physical examination they told me to have my tonsils out before going, so I made an appointment.

I woke up the morning they were to come out with a terribly sore throat. I decided not to say anything and get rid of them anyway.

When I opened my mouth on the operating table the Doctor said: "You have quinsy --go on home and come back when you're well".

I went home feeling pretty low. It was the middle of January. I had to write to the president of the church and tell him my condition. They then called me to come to the mission home on the 1st of March.

In about two weeks I was able to have my tonsils out. They gave me a local. I watched the operation in the Doctor' glasses. I got up and walked the mile home. There was no one at home so I made a fire.

After a few days my throat started to bleed. The night it started to bleed I was really frightened. I thought I'd had it.--I didn't believe they could put a tourniquet around my neck.

They didn't. It just stopped as it had started.

I got to the mission home on March lst. My throat bled now and then until I was ready to leave for Canada. However before I got to the mission home I broke out with Rheumatic fever spots all over my legs. The Doctor gave me aspirins for this problem.

We loved the mission school. Pres. Heber J. Grant played the piano and sang for us.

Myself and 3 Elders were called to the Canadian mission. There may have been a purpose in my illness--more than the devil interfering with my mission. One of the elders later became my husband.

I left Utah with sort of a lump in my throat as all my family waved goodbye, but still I was very happy about it all.

I think I slept all across the states--morning, afternoon and night until we got to Chicago. We took a sight seeing bus around Chicago. We went to Buffalo, New York where we stayed over night and saw the Niagara Falls. Then we went on to Toronto where Pres and Sister Able S. Rich were presiding. Sis Rich put me to bed for a couple of days to catch up on something.

Elder Redd and I were assigned to Montreal to labor. Elder Gardener and Moser went on East.

I labored in Montreal for ten months - in N.D.G. and Verdunne with five different girls. Had some wonderful times and some heart aches. Was transferred to the Windsor District where I really felt I tried and the Lord more than blessed me in my efforts.

After 21 months my brothers arranged to come to Detroit for a new car and three new trucks about the time I should be released.

I started driving the new car. I was only to drive out of Detroit to Elkheart where they would load it on a truck. We drove to Elkheart and they asked me if I thought I could stay awake all night. I climbed back in the seat and settled down. Tried to kill myself two or three times by going to sleep but managed to drive on through the night and until eleven p.m. the next night when they picked up a hitch hiker and thus had an extra driver. We were trying to get home for Christmas, besides drive through as much as we could at night. Just as we were coming into Denver the hitch hiker decided to hurry away ahead of us and steal the truck. Sherm drove the car pretty fast to catch him. We got in front of him and he stopped. Sherm ordered him out in the cold and snow and we drove on as we had started. But we stopped in Denver, got rooms spent the night and drove on the next day. We arrived home in the wee early hours of Dec. 26th--just in time to miss Christmas. It was wonderful to be home. I didn't recognize Joy--. She had grown into a young woman.

I got right into school again. I had two quarters and a bit more to get my Normal, so I went to summer school as well.

In the fall I accepted a job in Lynn, Utah, in a rural school. I had 17 students in grades 1 through 8--a real experience for a green teacher. The people were wonderful. They had immigrated from Sweedon. I had a good year--all I felt bad about was I didn't think I had done a good enough job teaching but I had that feeling lightened when the board gave achievement tests and they were at least a grade or two higher than where they should have been. It's good to teach smart kids.

I taught school there for four years. After my first year I decided to go through the Cardston temple. I wanted to have a companion and a family so prayed about it as my patriarchal blessing said to do. I felt as though I heard the name "Elder Redd" when I got up from my knee. I had never thought that way of him. I knew from then on that he was the one I would have happiness with.

After the year ended we came to Canada--Eva, Elder Redd, Bill Nalder and myself. We had a good trip through Yellowstone and snow--Rexburg, Idaho--staying at his Grandmother's home--becoming Elder Redd's sisters--Deflating Uncle Allie with our pretending to be his sisters--sprained ankle trying to act like a silhouette while jumping an irrigation ditch and just good fun--even went to Banff with Barbara and Phyllis. We visited the temple. I thought very much of elder Redd and I knew he did not return my feelings so I left Canada with a sad heart.

I went on teaching in Lynn always with the longing to get one letter from Elder Redd. Simon Baker got to thinking quite a bit of me. I asked Sister Rich for advice about Simon. She said "marry him. You'll learn to love him." I finally wrote a letter to Phyllis, Elder Redd's sister, to find out if his heart was already taken. She wrote back and said "Yes". So I took the ring from Simon. I felt pretty terrible. I did not feel right about anything.

That Christmas here came a letter that I had prayed for a year before from Smellie Redd. We corresponded from then until the war was over. He had volunteered in 1941

In 1941 I took my sisters and mother also Cora Lind and cousin Mary on a trip to see the interesting places of the church. (will copy the trip in another place).

I graduated from the Brigham Young University with an AB Degree in Education in 1943.

In the fall of 43 I went to Morgan Utah and taught in the fourth grade. I taught there until January 1946 when one day on hall duty I received a telegram from Smellie Redd saying he'd be in Morgan the next morning. That knocked the wind right out of me. I wondered around in a daze the rest of the day. I tried to teach but my big effort that day was to try to keep my mind some place near the school.

Smellie had arrived home from the war on the 1st of January, l946. I hadn't heard from him for quite a while until I got this telegram.

He came. I still felt the same. I'm sure God blessed me so very much. I got a leave from school for a week and came back married. When Smellie came on the 18th of January we decided to marry but when?--June? or later or now? We were married January 28th, even before his recommend could come down from Canada. We phoned the church office and talked to David O. MacKay who was then a councilor in the 1st. Presidency. He asked us to come to the church office

early Monday morning. We did. He talked with us, then as we stood there he put his arm around Smellie and said he had called his bishop and it was all right for us to go ahead. Apostle Harold B. Lee preformed the ceremony. My brother Jack and LaVetta Carter were married at the same time. Brother Lee's blessings are still with us. He said to come to the temple often. We have been blessed to live near a temple so have had that blessing often.

After we were married we drove to Morgan and stayed a few days. Smellie had to be at his base in Canada in a week or so so we had to move right along. Aunt Lura loaned us her car for a week while we got married.

We packed my things in Morgan then went to Provo and packed my things there and moved to Raymond. Went by train.

We took a honeymoon to Calgary while Smellie got discharged from the army.

In Raymond we fixed a two roomed apartment in Smellie's mother's upstairs. We lived there seven months. Smellie worked with Jerome Platt in a furniture store. They decided he should go to Calgary and learn the upholstery trade so we spent May and June in Calgary.

We saw the "biggest, bestest, rodeo that ever wuz" that July 1st in Raymond. It was really funny. The announcer made every thing the "bestest" you ever heard.

In September we went to Provo so Smellie could finish his degree. We arrived at mother's just a few days before she broke her back falling out of a pear tree.

We moved into an apartment at 55 East 6th North. For some time we took turns sitting with Mother at the hospital. We were so grateful to the Lord that mother was spared because she had been so low.

Smellie worked part time at D.T.R. in Provo to help out our meager school money. He would earn as much as \$90.00 or \$100. a month besides going to school.

Little JO JO finally arrived on January 18th 1947. We named her Hermie Joan after mother. I guess I really started to worry in ernest when Joan was born. She came from the hospital with impetigo. I was afraid she didn't get enough to eat - and she didn't - at first. We finally got her started to grow after six weeks - we added a bottle.

That spring Smellie was offered a fellowship to an Eastern University. I pressed his going so in the fall he left Joan and I at home and went to Madison, Wis. to the Uni. I got a job teaching grade one and two in the Nebo district- Lake Shore- and Eva agreed to tend Joan for a dollar a day.

We invested in a car and took a trip to New Harmony also to Canada before Smellie left.

At Christmas Smellie decided that wasn't what he wanted out of life so he came home. I drove back and forth to school until he came home then we found a three roomed house near the school. Faun was teaching grades 3 & 4 in the same school so she stayed with us.

Was glad to see the end of that year. I think it was the hardest year but also a very enjoyable year because it was so easy to see the progress those 1st graders made. I worried a bit about leaving Joan though I knew she would be all right.

Smellie then tended Joan until the winter quarter was over. He decided to see if he could get a certificate to teach so went to school three days a week. We hired a woman to come in and tend Joan for two days a week until the spring quarter was over. Smellie then went to summer school. We used to drive up the canyons a good bit that summer for us to cool off and for him to study.

In April Smellie got a phone call from Brother West asking him if he'd be willing to teach Seminary in Cardston. He said "Yes" so we arranged to move to Cardston. We built a trailer to haul our piano that I had bought in Morgan, also our fruit and vegetables. We left Utah with our goods about the 21st of July 1948 - came to the line and couldn't bring our stuff across - tried three ports of entry and finally left our trailer in Sweet Grass Montana and got permission to bring the car over.

We hunted houses in Cardston then wrote Ottawa to get permission to bring our stuff across. We waited a month for permission.

Smellie had to go to Seminary convention in S.L.C.. While away his nephew Hugh Jensen died and he rushed back to the funeral.

My folks came and went through the temple.

One morning we were taking Grandmother Redd with us to the temple. While trying to hurry we got on a soft shoulder and ran off the rode. Smellie

drove and Grandmother and I prayed and the Lord did the rest. We came out of what could have been fatal with no scratches and very little damage to the car.

When we received our answer from Ottawa we had to leave our car and trailer in the states, so we sold them and with the money made the down payment on our home here in Cardston, with the help of a loan from Grandmother. She had laid away some of the money Smellie had sent her while in the service.

We moved into our home September 1st--the day school started.

That Christmas time -1948 - our son William was born. He was a surprise and a thrill. I thought Joan would get a sister instead of a brother. We surely feel rich in the blessings of the Lord.

Here in Cardston we have tried to attend the temple once a week. We have not always made it but we have surely felt the influence of it in our lives. We are so grateful for the gospel and it's blessings to us.

In the spring of 1949 Cora Lind and family came to visit us. Also Faun and Roy and mother came to visit us. We went to Provo Utah that year with Aunt Fern Laycock. I had a trip to the hospital on May 18th that year. I didn't feel too good and was under the Dr's care for a while in Provo. It was a good summer. Smellie went to summer school at the Y.

When we came back to Canada Bp. Holland, Ken Wood and Freeda Schow came to ask me to be a councilor in the Relief Society. I worked a year and a half and enjoyed it very much.

In July of 1950 our baby, Ellen was born. Smellie is one of the Seven Presidents of the Seventies. The Seventies have concessions at the stampede so Smellie was helping with that when Ellen arrived.

While I was still at the hospital Pres. Brewerton asked Smellie to help with the first leadership week in Canada. He was really busy tending our two children, Joan and Will. The missionary convention was at Cardston and he had billeted two Elders and was the chief cook and bottle washer, and baby sitter. He was busy getting ready for the Leadership week and seeing that it was a success.

We had Doctor and Sister Ray Farnesworth stay with us during leadership week, also their little five year old boy. As soon as that was over Smellie had to go back to S.L.C. to seminary convention. When he came home from Utah he brought mother along. She stayed ten days and we had a wonderful visit.

Just after school started Smellie met a young man, Bill Brebner from Carlton Place, Ontario. He discovered he was a friend of Phillip had know while on his mission to Eastern Canada. He came home with Smellie to dinner. He called on our neighbors, Quintons. They had offered him a home so he could finish High School and go to the Y and then on a mission. He had known Ruth Quinton in the mission field. He was a recent convert to the gospel. In February he moved from Quintons to our house.

In May we decided we couldn't afford to buy a new car and couldn't afford to drive a second hand one so Smellie decided to get a model T. Instead he bought a model A and worked it over during rainy weather. He was dusting grain during the good weather on the reserve. He got one day in.

We left Cardston the day Ellen was a year old in the model A to go to Utah for the second summer term. We had a wonderful time. We camped and cooked and rode and enjoyed ourselves. In Provo we found Smellie couldn't get what he needed so we just visited around. We made two trips to Roosevelt to see Crystal; saw Alta in Lemington; went through the Timpanogus cave with mother and our 3 children; went up over Immigration canyon to Morgan and visited my old school friends. Will took sick there. Because Polio was bad in Utah, it gave me a real scare, but he was better in a few days.

We dried apricots and canned a bit of fruit, and came back to Canada just in time for school again.

When we arrived back in Cardston they asked me to be Junior Sunday School coordinator. I have worked at that from then until now--just one year.

One rainy night--Thursday, just before school started we started for Creston B.C. We got ourselves a load of fruit - 4 boxes of prunes, 4 of apples, peaches, and pears and a few tomatoes. We had our whole trip for \$30.00. It was wonderful to have so much fruit after being away all summer. I got my vegetables too. It was late because of the rains--and it continued to rain. People were not able to harvest their crops in the fall of 51. They just couldn't get on the land.

In June of 51 we had a flood come down Lee's creek. They had not had one like that for 50 years.

I had a miscarriage at Christmas time in 51.

In the spring of 52 we again left-June 9, for Provo in the model A. There Smellie finished the work he couldn't get last year. While there we got cherries for nothing and canned 154 quarts of them to bring back with us.

We decided this fall to make a room in the attic. Smellie has been working in the hay and harvesting grain. When it rains he works in the attic. Today he has finished laying the floor.

School was delayed starting for two weeks because of Polio.

Smellie bought the model A for transportation to the reserve. He is a missionary to the Indians. The car has served its purpose. For over a year now I have gone to the reserve with him quite often. We take the children with us.

Since we came back from Provo this year the Indian mission has become part of the stake mission and Smellie has been made a D.P. He has been relieved of some of his ward duties in order to better do his mission work.

At present I am teaching the Guides in Primary, the Gleaners in M.I.A. and have my Sunday School job. I am also a visiting teacher for the Relief Society. I feel that I do a sloppy job of my work at times but know that my blessings depend somewhat upon my efforts to do the will of God, so pray that I may be stronger and more able to serve. I must store more in my mind as my patriarchal blessing says. I received it when I was 15 years old: "Be faithful and diligent in keeping the commandments of the lord for great things shall be required of thee. Therefore, treasure up much knowledge by study, prayer, and supplication - and in as much as thou shalt do this the spirit of the Lord shall be distilled upon you as the dews of heaven on the earth etc". I know my part of the bargain. I must strive harder to do my part.

September 16 1953

One year ago I started my history.

Last November I became useless as far was work was concerned. I spent much of the next four months on the couch then on the 4th of March miscarried another baby. We talked about whether to go to the hospital for a few hours then realized I was hemorrhaging. Before I went to bed, in the evening we had visited a friend in the hospital then Smellie brought me home and left for a meeting. That night I had a strange feeling. As the children came and kissed me goodnight I heard a voice say: "That is the last time you will kiss the children, I'd be gone in the morning". I said "what does this mean-I'd be dead" I pushed the thought out of my head. At about one in the night I started laboring. At about five we

realized I should be in the hospital. I felt pretty low from losing so much blood. The Doctor took good care of me. As I started to go out the Doctor started blood transfusions. When I came around he put me in a room. I started to feel that horrible sensation again and prayed and the door opened. The Doctor was there with a blood transfusion again. It took the month of March for me to get around again.

We went to Magrath on the 6th of April to the Seminary party then spent a few days of the Easter holidays at Barbara's in Raymond.

We tended Douglas Hatch in April while their new baby came. We had him for a week. On the 5th of May Irene's baby Roger was born. We tended Elaine for almost three weeks for Irene--By that time we were hoping for a baby again.

On July 10th we went up to Mt. View and caught fish in a net and canned 80 pints of it.

Smellie called Remingtons about a job. They called him and asked him to come to work Wednesday. He went. They left at 5 in the morning on Monday then came home Friday night. He worked that week. The next week Phillip was married on the 14th of July to Nedra Low. The men were off work because of the stampede so Smellie got to the wedding, but I woke up with trouble. I stayed in bed all day alone while the wedding and dinner went on. The kids were at Gallups so they could see the parade. That night I went into the hospital and the next morning miscarried again. Smellie went to Milo and came back Saturday night.

Beth Hatch baked a lovely birthday cake for Ellen.

Sunday morning, Ellen's birthday, the family all went to church. I stayed in bed. Before they got home Roy, Faun, Mother and Rayma and Myrtle came in. They spent the week with us. It was hard because Faun's children were so little; mother's heart was bad and I didn't have much strength. We enjoyed it thoroughly never the less and hated to see Monday morning come. It came. Smellie went to work. The folks left for Utah. I had a terrible feeling all morning that the folks might have trouble on the way home.

At noon Don Remington called to tell me that the truck taking the men to work had tipped over and some of the men were in the hospital--Smellie was one of them. He was having x-rays. The 6th and 7th process of his vertebra was cracked. They sent him to Doctor Albert, a bone specialist in Lethbridge. He put him in a brace for 6 to 8 weeks.

Before Dad left for work that Monday in family prayer William prayed that his Dad would not go to work any more. Time for the Leadership week came and Smellie felt he should be at that. So with a stiff neck in a brace he was able to help with the leadership week.

We got word the Seminary convention was in Provo. The week after the leadership we packed up and headed for Provo again. We enjoyed our three days on the way. We went to Hazelton, Idaho on the 14th of August I had been to this Doctor in Hazelton before and had quite a bit of faith in him. Smellie had an adjustment. He felt so much better after this. He didn't wear the brace again.

We hurried on to S.L.C. where there was a Hill reunion at Liberty Park. We shopped some. The kids saw their first television show in the store. They sat on the floor in front of it while we shopped. We went to Hogles zoo, rode a train and enjoyed it very much then left to find the reunion. We walked about two hours in the park before we gave up and took a boat ride. The kids really enjoyed that. We drove on to Provo and found Mother feeling well, Sat. night August 15.

Sunday morning Mother woke feeling bad. She was bad. I stayed home from church with her. She was sick about three days then I got that stomach flu and felt rung out for the rest of the stay.

Sat. August 22 the banquet honoring Brother West was very nice.

Monday we canned 5 five gallon cans of tomatoes and left Provo to pick up our check in S.L.C. and shop there before leaving for home. We drove to Brigham that night and stayed with Aunt Alice Rich. We ate breakfast with her than drove to Faun's in Idaho for a visit. We got home August 27, unpacked the car, took a bath and rushed to Lethbridge where we delivered all the messages and parcels and went to Raymond on the way home.

On the 7th of September we went to Creston B.C. for fruit. Went through Glacier and saw a bear who saw us, too. He took a lunch box off the running board and started pulling the dishes out. The kids screamed, Dad got out to get the dishes. I thought I'd die of heart failure but the screams had scared the bear off down the road. We saw a mother bear with two cubs. We drove to Hungry Horse dam and went through it. Got to Creston about 4:30 and got pears at Dewars and peaches and apples at Nicolchucks. Got home the next day. School started after the polio ban was lifted on September 14. Joan was thrilled to pieces. She has a Mrs. Green for her first teacher. She had to pay \$3.00 for books and materials to start.

Tues. September 15 Doctor Sapckman sent me to Doctor Lloyd Johnson, a maternity specialist in Lethbridge who says he can see no reason except a torn cervix that I can't carry my babies. He says my colon is a temperamental thing and gave me exercises for it. I'm too fat. Should diet.

Been canning for a while. Smellie has no brace. He went to Doctor Albert too. We got \$127.00 and \$80.00 compensation on his neck.

I'm starting to teach primary again tomorrow--Co-Pilots this time.

Oct 16 1953

Just one month ago I wrote in this history. One month that can never be the same again. On the 17th of September mother was taken to the Doctor who said she had a tumor that should be removed. On the 24th after building her heart up as much as he could he removed the tumor from her breast. He told the girls her heart stopped beating during the operation and he had to stop and get her under the oxegen. She was not good when the girls saw her. Her fingernails were dark and she was so cold. She finally perked out of it. Then Friday morning he told the girls she could come home so they called the Doctor He'd told them to go home and pray that the tumor wasn't cancerous. When they talked to him on the phone he told them to come down so Wanda and Joy went down. He said he had found a little knob of cancer and felt she should be operated on. If he didn't she would soon die a bad death of cancer and if she happened to pull through she had a chance to live five years and die a normal death. The girls made the decision in favor of the operation and called everyone and let them know. Sunday 27th of September we all fasted and prayed. I decided I wouldn't be able to see mother so didn't go down but called Mom and talked on the phone to her. Sat. 26th Monday the operation went off fine. Mother was in a lot of pain but her heart went fine. She went home that Friday, October 2. The girls stayed with her. She could get to the bath room and table but was weak. The Doctor removed her left breast during the second operation on September 28th.

On Wed. October 7th I felt I would have to go home and take my turn helping. I felt I had to know how Mom was so I called the hospital and found she had gone home.

Thursday night October 8th at about 10 and after I had gone to bed RaOla phoned and said mother had had a bad heart attack and the Doctor didn't give her any hope to pull through. I spent a restless night and the next day at 12:30 Wanda phoned to tell me mother had passed away at 25 min to 12 on October 9th.

We immediately made plans to go to Provo. We borrowed Barbara's and John's car. Drove to Butte starting Sat. October 10 and got to Provo just after dark the next day. Everyone was there except Eva and Alta and they came the next day. Mother looked nice. The girls said she had had a stroke and was paralyzed all on the left side. Everyone felt it was best to let her go since she was in that condition. It was hard. We love her very much.

In her funeral they mentioned her tithing, garden, teaching etc. She was buried in the color she loved--a lavender casket and her temple clothes in Provo, Utah. Friends and relatives were there after for lunch.

We tried to look over her personal things after but it was so hard.

Tues. morning we finally got away to drive back to Canada. We stopped at Eva's and ate lunch with her then made it to Dubois, Idaho where we slept in a motel. Came home the next day. Wed. 0ct 14. On the 15 was primary day and we made it to the temple.--Today is Grandmother Redd's birthday and at present I am planning on doing my visiting teaching.

Mother had written me a letter for my birthday that I didn't get until after I came back from her funeral. I'm going to copy it here in case I happen to lose it.

October 4, 1953

Dear Laurel and Smellie and all.

Your lovely letter of the 10 came all OK. Thanks.

I am home now and am so glad. Doctor orders me to do nothing. In fact he made me promise I would not and of course the girls watch to see I don't. I don't feel like doing much but I've wanted to write and say happy birthday all the time but this is the first time I have gotten the materials together and got at it.

Sorry I haven't before.

The Lord has blessed me so wonderfully and I am very thankful. Thank you all for your faith and prayers. You know they go a long way in such slim chances as was mine. Tell the little ones I love them so much and am so pleased they were willing to fast and pray all day for me.

Grandpa is getting anxious to know where I am as I have not been to see him for some time.

Faun and RaOla and Darrell are staying with me for a while. They and all the rest are so good to me.

October 6 -- Nearly 9 a.m.

Do you think I'll ever get just a note written to you?

I am so thankful to be blessed as I have been but it is just not much fun to be able to get around and not do a blessed thing for myself or anyone else. I haven't even moved this morning. I feel so much better but these girls are like cats watching a mouse. I guess they are all still for my sake as I haven't been awake very long.

Roy goes to work as usual at 7 and back at 12 then gone again at 12:30 and home about 3:30 or 4.

I go to Doctor today to get bandages changed. He made me promise I would not do a thing. If I didn't I could not go home.

Darrel brought me a cute set of salt and pepper shakers like acorns. RaOla brought a set - two monkeys on a limb. Mrs. Lee - a lovely slip.

Dad seems to be much better.

I love you Laurel, and pray for you to be well. I love you Smellie and pray for you too. I love you Joan and pray for you. Thanks for your fasting and prayers. I love you William. Thanks for fasting and prayers. I love you little Ellen and thanks for your fasting and prayers. In fact thank you all for your faith, fasting and prayers. It meant a lot.

First time they say my heart stopped and the second Doctor gave me one chance in 1000. See what faith, prayer and Divine power did for me. Thanks to all and Heavenly Father.

I love you. Ever Mother Grandma

Will try and get a small gift of to you today, Laurel. Hope you feel better.

I hope your Birthday was a happy one and you have many, many more.

I received the brown plaid blanket later for my birthday from Mother. I treasure it.

Nov 1 1953

Last week William had a bad siege of the flu. He still isn't eating right. Tonight Ellen has a fever. For the past year she has had spells of fever about every six weeks. I'm hoping this tonight isn't the same old trouble.

The temple here is lovely since they remodeled it.

I've been tending Maureen MacPhee now for a week while Barbara is in the hospital with a new baby. Maureen is cute. Don't know how long we will have her.

A little note about Ellen's fever- We had her administered to. She passed some worms. The fever stopped.

Jan. 5, 1954

Christmas is past. This year brought its sorrows as well as joys. On Dec. 19, 1953 John MacPhee, Maureen's Dad, went up for a joy ride in a plane. He didn't come back. By the time they missed him it had begun to snow. Search planes couldn't get off the ground so ground crews hunted that night and the next day. Finally the next day was clear enough to get planes up. At 10:30 a plane spotted his plane and by eleven the ground crews had got in and found both men had been killed instantly.

Smellie was with the crew that hunted along the river east of Cardston and on the Indian reserve.

They had a double funeral for John and Ray Heggie on Dec. 23. We went down intending to spend Xmas, but because of flu in the family we stayed home all during the holidays except for attending the funeral.

After keeping Maureen for three weeks I started to paint the house. I did my church duties and painted until Smellie's birthday. We had a Seminary meeting here then. Since then I've just caught up on a few odd jobs. Just finished lining William's snow suit.

Joan is back in school again.

Barbara was grand. She lives the gospel every day. She comforted those who felt bad about John. We called her Christmas day. She said they had a nice time. The kids were too busy to miss a thing.

I'm trying to lead the singing in Junior Sunday school right now.

May 24, 1954

Not much to write about. Haven't done much.

Smellie received his discharge from the Seminary job on the 17 of April. We've talked and wondered for a month what we'll do next winter--still wondering.

The children had the German measles - Joan April 26 and Will and Ellen May 13 and 14.

Feb 19, 1955

Smellie helped Laurence Vance move a house out on his farm after he finished Seminary.

We wrote letters for jobs and looked for work for a few days.

Smellie was hired by the Canadian Gov. to do some seed inspection. He spent 2 weeks in Corination inspecting Brome grass seed then had a week off before he started inspecting seed grain, beans etc. here in So. Alberta. He finished the last of the seed on the 3rd of September, then took William and Ellen to Creston B.C. and brought home a load of fruit. He went on the 7th. They found a good load of fruit.

On the 12th of September the Doctor put me in the hospital for an induction.

Our second son, Thomas John, was born at 10:30 on the 13th of September. Smellie and the kids had a big job putting up fruit while I was in the hospital.

The killing frost came on the 20th of Sept.

The day before I went into the hospital Smellie went to work on the Pool Elevator annex here in Cardston.

Last June a missionary companion of Roy's came here and went to the temple-Gunner and Mozelle Newman. The children loved them. They took them with them to see the country. Gunner played the saw.

Just before the end of July Burris and Minnie came and visited the temple. It was nice to get acquainted with their boys and nice to have them with us.

Smellie went with the boy scouts to part of their camp. When he came home he packed up the kids and took them on a camping trip. They had a great time. They wanted to have a tent so we sewed up sheets and they had their tent.

The kids from Raymond took our kids on a trip to Waterton for over night.

My three older kids are finally all interested in the radio. This is the first time Ellen has been quiet so they could enjoy listening.

Smellie went with the Elevator builders to Grannum when they built an elevator. He batched there in a tent. He took Will and Ellen for three days. They had a wonderful time. Ellen got a fever on the first of Nov. She had a fever the 1st of June also the 1st of August I've been giving her mineral oil about once or twice a week since Nov. Sure hope we are going to get past that fever.

Will has had trouble with his joints throughout the past winter. He runs a little fever now. The Doctor said the sed rate of his blood was normal so doesn't figure he has rheumatic fever but can't tell what keeps that little fever running.

Tommy had his smallpox vaccination at three months. He's had two of his whooping cough, tetnes and diphtheria shots now. One more to go when he is six months old. He got the flu last month. He really suffered. He'd sweat every few minutes from pains in his stomach. He ran a high fever and was sick for a week or ten days. He lost a lot of weight but is doing fine now, though he breaks out with a rash a lot still. I haven't found out what has happened--what causes it. I've changed from corination milk to pasteurized but that doesn't do the trick.

Laurence Vance went to the hospital about ten days before Christmas. He came home a couple of days before Christmas to find his house on fire. Smellie had helped while he was in the hospital and put a stove under the floor so we worried about it. The kids had put gas in the stove to start the fire though. Since then Smellie has stayed at Vances. I guess he'll spend the spring with him now.

He helped unload an elevator. Mr. Worth said there would be more of it. So far he has helped fix a seed cleaner.

When Tom was born, I had a bit of kidney trouble but I am much better now.

Aug 16 1960

When -in 1955- Laurence Vance finished his seed cleaning machine he took it out himself to make the big money and wanted to hire Smellie to stay around the place as a chore boy etc. While making the machine they had planned to take it around together. At about this time Marvin Torrie, Smellie's brother in law in Grassy Lake had returned from his 70's mission.

We looked into the prospects of homesteading in the peace River Country but through everything we did "Grassy Lake" seemed to stick out, so one day Smellie got in the model A and went to Grassy Lake to look for work. He enjoyed a nice visit with Guinevere, his sister and started to build a ward robe for her. In a couple of days Smellie phoned and said they had offered him a job driving a cat and scraper for the summer months until freeze-up. He asked me if he should take it. I said surely. We immediately packed our things and rented our house to Bob Sachley and came to Grassy in Brother Torries big truck.

We moved into Stanley James' old house about 3/4 miles east of Grassy.—No lights, no water, no bath--plenty of nothing. We stayed there six weeks and by that time Smellie and Marvin had made arrangements to buy Bill Tardiff's quarter section. Bill wouldn't sell it to Smellie so Marvin signed up to buy it and Smellie paid for it.

Smellie worked hard on the cat all summer. He'd get up at day break and quit at dark.

We traded houses with Bill Tardiff. He moved into the house east of Grassy and we moved onto the quarter section. I went to work cleaning the shack. It was really black--in fact people kept coming out to see the egg that had been on the ceiling for 30 years. It was like scraping paint off to get it off. I was afraid of bed bugs. Smellie rigged the exhaust into the closed up house. We ran it in there for about three or four hours. All the bed bugs we ever saw after we moved in were dead bugs.

That summer I was in town and heard Marvin worrying about how he was going to feed us in the winter...this got my ire up so I went right over to the restaurant where Shorty Rushford was eating. He was the school Trustee. I asked for a job teaching. He told me I could have grades 3 & 4.

In the fall with fear and trembling I went back into the school room to teach. Tommy was just one year old--Ellen five, and Will ready to start school--Ioan was one of my Grade Three students.

I dreaded starting the winter in those two rooms with no heat or lights and because I had to be away at school, so I suggested that we dig a basement

and move our house over close to the gas line. Smellie scraped out a hole with the scraper. We got the gas people out and marvin put up the \$530.00 to make the payment on the gas. We moved the house over and bought a stove from Alex Walker for \$15.00. It was a coal stove converted to gas.

The house was too cold so we put insulation in the attic. That helped but it was cool in the bedroom so Smellie cut a hole out behind the stove through the wall into the bed room. From then on we were comfortable. We had too many things in the room to put a radiant in it.

That school year was a little rough. I felt bad leaving Tom and Ellen - However they were in good hands. Rachel Woodruff took care of them.

Tommy kept getting sick. I took him to Doctor Enman in Taber. He diagnosed his troubles as Celiac. He put him on a diet of bananas. He about lived on them for the next two years. He began to be better right away. Never refused a banana like he did everything else.

School in Canada was new and different. I made it through and decided to stay on and teach the next year.

We had gas installed in our home in Cardston for Sachleys. Soon after that we decided to sell our home there to get money for the down payment on our land here.

We started right out getting machinery around us so that we would be independent. The first few years Marvin took much of the load of our farming.

Smellie was helping Brother Torrie load cattle in the spring of 56 when a calf kicked his leg and broke the cartiledge in his knee. He had to go to Calgary and have the cartiledge removed from his knee. He went right on driving the cat as soon as he came from the hospital. He spent ten days in the hospital.

Dawn Broderick, Crystal's oldest girl came up and stayed with us for four months. She was here with the children when I was driving back and forth with Smellie in the hospital in Calgary. She stayed on until that year was over.

Eva and Dean came up to visit and see our new farm and took Dawn back to Utah with them.

The first year we were here Faun and Grant came to visit us. Joy and Garth and family also came that year.

We decided we needed a cow so bought a black jersey holstein for \$90.00. She gave a barrel of milk. Her udder was so big we had to use little pans to milk her in and pour the milk into the bucket. We also bought us a Mercury pickup for \$475.00.

We decided we should pipe the well water to our house since we had moved it to the gas line so we bought plastic pipe and dug the trench with the cat and scraper. When it was open we decided to make a root cellar on the end of it. So we did that that fall. We put hand pumps on the line. We had been carrying water from the hand pump at the well. Wash days were big days. It was wonderful to have water in the house.

For our Christmas present that year Marvin and Guin gave us gas lights. I never enjoyed anything like those gas lights after battling the colman lights for six months. An hour after the colman light was on my head would ache until I was almost sick. The fumes were really bad.

Guin tended Tommy for me the second year while I taught.

It was 1956 when we bought the cow and pickup. That cow had a little more trouble than we knew about. When her calf came she had milk fever. Her first calf died of pneumonia. We started to worry about animal diseases. We got a book about animal diseases and read all we could about milk fever. We had the vet come and he brought a bottle of calcium and put it in her vein.

When our cow calved the second time we were ready for her. Smellie rigged up some needles and tubes. When she started out with milk fever Smellie put the needle in her vein. I held the vein and the kids held the bottle of glucose. It really thrilled us to see her pick up just as magically as she had done for the Vet. Milk fever is the sudden loss of calcium. We sold this cow in the spring of 1960 after we had purchased a cow from the Smith dairy at Cardston.

I taught grades 3 and 4 for two years then decided to ask for Grade One. I have now taught grade one three years and am in my fourth year here in Grade One.

I went to a summer session at the Y in the summer of 57. Mrs. Hood and David stayed at our home and between them and work, I about folded up - either nerves or heart or a little of both. I felt really rugged in Provo that summer, but managed to get back home feeling better and successfully completed 3 classes.

Smellie helped Marvin build himself a house. He built us a garage.

In the summer of 1958, I went to a library workshop at Missoula Montana. Smellie drove me down and came back to Great Falls with the children to pick me up. I really worried about the children while I was away that time. We stopped on a river and fried chicken on the way home. It tasted so good.

We had hail that summer and lost from 30 to 50% of the crops.

That year in the spring I had a miscarriage during the Easter holidays.

While in Utah at summer school I bought an automatic washer for \$30.00. It cost \$10.00 duty to bring it across the line. It has been a real joy to me since. We have had to do some repair work on it but it has certainly been a blessing.

We purchased parts of a harrow, a drill, a 70 John Deere tractor, a 55 combine, a swather, plow, rod weeder and Johnson blade.

In the spring of 61 we had rented 230 acres of land from the Torries. We planted one quarter section to rye and the 80 acres to barley.

In June we heard Bill Bishop wanted to sell his dry land so we went after it and made arrangements to buy it from him. It cost \$40.00 an acre. We had just made our arrangements to buy when hail came and took about 50% of the rye and a third of the barley. Then on the 20th of July we were completely hailed out on these rented pieces. We had swathed the rye and were ready to combine the next day. With the crops gone and because we had started to buy the land we had to look around for something more to meet our expenses. Smellie applied for a place to teach. He got a Hutterite coloney in the Lethbridge district (rural). We just got our old truck in running order by putting a new motor in it. With Smellie teaching we had to have more transportation. We looked at a little old ford and decided to try it out. We drove from Taber to Fin Castle and the side of the motor broke out. On the way toeing the car back to the garage the driver offered Smellie a real deal on a Frontenac station wagon--\$200.00 down now and 6 weeks later \$300.00 then \$75.00 a month. Sure hope we make it. Right now it looks like we're in pretty deep but we'll keep trying.

In 58 we planted flax. We had a fair crop. We decided to start to build our new house. We started October 3rd 1959. On the 24th of Oct we poured the cement in the cold. When the floor was all finished we built the walls in the garage. With the farm hand Smellie built, we were able to set the wall studs up in a few hours. We all climbed on the walls and put the blocking in.

Clare Ashton's house got on fire on the 4 of Dec. Smellie went to work on that to get them back in their home for Christmas. After Clare's was finished we went to work in the holidays. We measured the rafters and cut them in the garage then put them up in a hurry and went right to work on the sheeting. We got it on as the winter snows started. With the sheeting on we were able to pipe the gas in and bring the old stove in out of the garage. That way we could take the chill out of the house. Smellie got all the rest of the work done--wiring, gas, stone board, radiant heat, etc., by Easter. We got the furnace hooked up.

The spring crops started. The girls moved out in the new house. Will and Tom went out part of the time. We've used the house for parties. We have the deep freeze in the new house.

We're waiting to have the house plastered then we have to fix the rough cement and build windows and we can move in.

In the fall of the year that we moved to Grassy Lake, they reorganized the Branch, and Smellie was made the first counselor in the Branch Presidency. After three years of acting as the councilor, President Ashton went out to harvest his grain. Latter, the combine was running by itself. Garth stopped the machine, and then found his Dad dead. He had passed away with a heart attack. Shortly after this, our branch was reorganized with Smellie as Branch President. Since then someone has been to Salt Lake City to general conference each time for 2 years. Hope they can keep up the good work.

July 21, 1965

In the fall of 1963 Smellie was released from the Branch Presidency and made a High Councilman in the Taber Stake. Our family life has been different again. He is at home more than while he was Branch President. He has his meetings and visits, but is not always away.

Smellie taught school for two years in the Hutterite colony, then one year at Monarch, and one year he taught Biology at the Meyers High in Taber.

Last year, the Grassy Lake church was built. Smellie and I hauled rye while William worked on the church. Joan spent the summer in Provo with Aunt Joy. Ellen did all the house work.

July 21 1965

When we finished the rye the family went to Utah to pick up Joan. We made a nice trip out of it. We visited Quake Lake, Nevada City music hall. We

Crystal, visited Timp cave, went to Spanish Fork and Watched them take the Book of Mormon out of the monument of one of the Butler ancestors. We visited Alta then on to New Harmony and went to the cemetery where the triplets were buried. We then drove through Pipe Spring to the Grand Canyon. We went back to the highway and drove on the regular route to the North rim of the Grand canyon and were inspired all the way. Then we went to Lonely Dell and saw Lee's ferry then to Glen Canyon Dam. We then went to Bryce's canyon and drove through Manti saw the temple then on to Provo and then went on to Canada. Eldridges were in Canada when we got there. Brother Eldridge is the building supervisor for the Grassy Lake church. Marilee was waiting for Joan and fell in love with her. Darlene shifted from David Woodruff to Wayne and at youth conference her affection turned to Will for a short time.

Dad spent his time working on the church after Will started to school.

Joan wrote grade twelve exams this year and Ellen wrote grade nine. We are waiting to see their results now.

The past years of teaching Grade one have been very much the same for me. There has been especially nice times and things such as parents programs, festivals etc. generally the same.

We went to summer school in Edmonton in the summer of 1961. We took the family and stayed in Aubrey Earl's basement. Smellie and I went to summer school. The kids did everything for us. While there William and Ellen had the mumps. Joan and Tommy had had them just before we left.

After successfully completing our school we made a pleasant trip through the Mts. for a week on our way home and brought fruit home from Creston with us. We went to Banff and Jasper then - Radium Hot Springs, Creston then down into the states and through Glacier and home.

The following summer I left the family at home and went back to Edmonton to complete a course I needed to get my Canadian teaching certificate. I spent a long six week there. While I was in Edmonton, Smellie got a boil that infected his whole body. He seemed to recover and came to Edmonton to take me home. We slept at Linda's. Smellie's boil started up again. He tossed all night and was too sick to get around the next day. We got him to the Doctor. He had him soak his boil and the day after the soaking he lanced it. By Sunday he could get around again and we hurried home to Grassy where we cut our oats and rushed off to the world fair in Seattle. We drove there and spent five hours in the fair all on the same day then started for Utah. We slept on the Salt Flats and watched a jet car race. We swam in Great Salt Lake. In Salt Lake City we found

Roy, then went on to Provo to see Erma and Roy before they left for Germany where Roy has been called to be a building supervisor. We left Provo without even putting our feet under anyone's table and drove up the Teton way through Yellowstone and home. We did all this from Wednesday to Sunday and Dad was home for his Sunday meetings.

The next year Dad signed up to teach Biology in the Meyers High School in Taber. There was a special class for ten days at Edmonton. We left our children at home and Dad and I went to Edmonton where we camped in the Frontinac down at White Mud. We had a nice time. The children got along OK at home. At the end of the course, youth conference started, so we met Joan with the group from Grassy. I was assigned a group to take care of but my rooms were let out before I got to the place so our gang broke up and I was given a room in the Pembroke Hall where I had roomed the year before while at summer school.

We brought the kids from Grassy home after the conference. William had just left for Provo for the first Explorer Conference. He really enjoyed it.

Now back again to the year 1965.

We completed our school work. Home Evening Programs once a week started in January. Our plan this year was to get to the sacred Grove with our children before Joan went away to University. So we planned--half afraid it was too big of a thing.

We purchased a pick-up from the church when the building project was finished, also a typewriter, bed and chest of drawers. We rigged up the truck as a camper and the day after school was out set out on our vacation. We drove East in Canada through Winnipeg to Fort William and Port Arthur. We were thrilled to see the huge grain elevators and Lake Superior. Next was Sault St. Marie. We watched the boats in the locks. We crossed into Michigan and back then to Sudbury the great nickel capitol and on to Ottawa where we attended our Sunday meetings. We went through the parliament buildings, climbed the peace tower and saw our new church under construction. We slept just out of Ottawa. The next we day drove to Montreal. Saw our old mission places, rode the new subway- went to the St. Joseph Shrine and the wax museum, climbed Mt. Royal and saw the cross then went to St. Helen's Island where the 67 fair or exposition is being prepared. We went to Park La Fontaine and saw the children's zoo and finally went on to Old Quebec City. We drove right through it to St. Ann De Beaupre where we climbed up the mountain and saw the stations of the cross just as it was getting dark. At the top we began to hear chanting and looked down upon a candle pilgrimage from the Catholic church around some buildings and back to the church. There must have been 4000 people carrying either a red

or white lighted candle. We came down from the hill and followed the end of the procession into the church where we watched the rest of the ceremony. We watched them take communion then pray at the statue of St. Ann. St. Ann's wrist bone is supposed to be there. After this we went to the cyclorama of Jerusalem. This paid us for our efforts. It was beautiful. It was big huge round room painted on canvass representing Jerusalem. We climbed some stairs in the middle of the room to a platform. There we rented field glasses and studied the pictures for an hour and a half. We felt as though we were under a starry sky right in the heart of the city of Jerusalem. It was about the most beautiful art work I have ever seen.

After this we dropped into a cafe to eat. We enjoyed this because these folks spoke French and we spoke English. We've all dabbled in French all but Tommy, so it was fun trying to talk in French to them. We drove to Mt. Morency Falls and slept. Next to Quebec City to spend the day at the Plains of Abraham and chateau Frontenac. We watched the boats on the St. Lawerence sea way, passed the Lachine rapids on the way to Montreal. After Quebec we headed for Vermont and stopped that night at the birth place of the Prophet Joseph Smith. We thrilled at our visit here and the next day left to see Brigham Young's birthplace. Then on to New York City to swim in the Atlantic Ocean and sleep on the property of a service station then we spent the day in the New York's world fair. I was so tired from walking that day that I could have cried. We saw many sights--Many displays from many countries, our own church pavilion, the bell telephone where we rode in chairs past their most beautiful exhibit - spent some time at the science and space age and the 13 hours were gone all too soon.

We slept at the same station that night then went under the Hudson river in a tunnel and parked our car--took a ferry--the John F. Kennedy! to Staton Island past the Statue of Liberty and back and took the subway to the middle of town and wandered through Macy's then went out and looked at the Empire State building, bought tickets and went up to the 102 floor and looked over New York. After that we took the subway and went past the docks where the United States was in dock. Stopped and 'ohed and Ahed' at it.

July 1965

We started for Harmony Penn. which was so hard to find that we got to Coleville and So. Bainbridge before we wound up in the mountains past Susquehanna. The next day we inquired where the church monument was and found it at Oakland. That was a thrill to walk to the river where the Priesthood was restored and see the place where most of the Book of Mormon was translated and see the grave of an infant son of Joseph and Emma Smith (there eldest). We talked with the man who had made a replica of the house Joseph

bought from Isaac Hale. He said he knew the place and had walked on the boards Joseph walked on.

From there we went to Fayette and saw the Peter Whitmer home where the church was organized then through a rose garden at Newark and on to Palmyra and the Martin Harris home..then to Cummorah. It did something to our hearts to climb the hill and stand on the spot where the plates had been buried and see where the angel met Joseph each year.

We next went to the Sacred Grove and felt the spirit there. We read together Joseph Smith's own story and had a family prayer. I'm so thankful for this experience. From there we went to the Smith's home.

Next in our travels was Niagara Falls. We attended Sunday School in St. Catherines. At Stratford we took in one of the Shakespeare plays,"The Merry Wives of Windsor". Next was Niagara Falls. I guess the biggest thrill there was when went under the Falls. From there we went to Erie but missed our sacrament meeting. We drove on to Kirtland--arrived at night but were able to spend an hour in the Kirtland temple. We didn't see eye to eye with the guides in the church places we visited.

We drove through the outskirts of Cleveland and on to Springfield Missouri where we saw Lincoln's home on the river and in town. Went to his tomb then on to Dixon Mounds and on to Carthage. We really enjoyed our visit to Carthage but the spirit was not the same in Nauvoo. (guides again) From Nauvoo we went to Hanibal Missouri and saw the sights of Mark Twain. The hills, the river, his home and a statue on the hill. I think we even played his organ. Our next stop was Independence, Miss. then on to Liberty jail. At this time a house had been built over the spot. In the basement the huge stones that made up the floor was still there. We read the story of Joseph and the prisoners at midnight when they could stand no more of the foul language and Joseph arose and told them to cease or they or he would die that minute.

We saw a fish flopping on the high way it seemed as we drove to Adam on di Ahman. We spent the night at Adam on di Ahman. Next stop was Winter Quarters. I got a shock when I pulled myself up high enough to look down in the grave on the monument and saw the child in the grave. We drove on up the Platte River passed Chimney Rock and visited Rebecca Winters grave then past Scott's Bluff to Ft. Laramie and to Independence Rock which we climbed and thrilled at the names and dates that had been dug into the sand rock. Next through Martin's Cove and stopped at the monument to the Martin Hancock Co. Both Smellie's and my grandparents were in that handcart company. While going past Devil's Gate and over the South Pass we reread the story of Johnson'

Army..on to Ft. Bridger and to Echo Canyon then to Provo where we visited Wanda and Joy and found an apartment for Joan for school next winter. Then hurried home Saturday to find our rye crop waiting for us--no hail yet. We will start swathing it Monday.

With Joan starting University we expect our togetherness as a family will have to change so we are grateful for this trip over the Saints trail, together.

Back to the year 61--When we came home from Edmonton we both taught school and that December we decided to have our Christmas in our new house. The girls had been sleeping out there. It was not finished but we had to heat it because of the radiant heating system of pipes through the ceiling, so we moved our bed out for Christmas intending to move it back after the holidays. We liked it so well we just stayed there. We carried what we needed piece by piece from the old house and have loved it. Dad brought the water into the house. We have worked on it. I build cupboards to help take care of books and storage stuff.

Our second Christmas in the house we spent plastering the ceilings. This warmed the house up considerable. It was just cool when it was really cold outside. We started to plaster in our bedroom. Our plastering job wasn't perfect but it improved from room to room.

The next Christmas (63) we spent building windows. We still have some to make. Smellie was busy in the summer so we took advantage of the Christmas holiday each year. The year 64 we just spent enjoying the holidays in our new home and helping build our chapel in town.

When Smellie was made a High Councilman we were both released from all our jobs. At that time I was a councilor in Primary, Sunday schoolteacher, Primary teacher, Relief Society organist, M.I.A. secretary and teacher of Mia Maids and a Visiting Teacher. Lloyd Woodruff was the Bishop at this time. Marvin Torrie his councilor. I wrote up what happened on a separate sheet.

When Bp. Torrie took over he asked me to be a councilor in R.S. and Sec. in Genealogy. I still have a Sunday School Class and do Visiting teaching. There isn't much to do in the R. S. work and the Genealogy has turned out to be a checker job of the seven sheet program, which will amount to a lot if they get their sheet in. I have really had my mind free lately.

The new Home Evening program has been very nice. We now have a set of standard works for each of the children. I'm so glad for that.

It's raining and it looks a bit like hail. Hope it sends soft moisture instead of hard white stuff.

After our 7500 mile trip we find we love our home and our gospel --We like our kind of life and our way of making a living. We do dry farming mostly-rye and wheat this year. We now have a complete line of machinery. We have 4 steers, 2 cows. We lost the cow we bought from Smith's dairy about 5 or 6 years ago. She was carrying twin calves and because of the hard winter was not able to have them. They were huge. A week after she died our heifer calved.

We have two riding ponies that we don't ride enough. We have chickens and a pig, two sheep. We've raised 5 bum lambs and I've sold about 150 pounds of wool from them. I didn't shear the two sheep this year. (I have sheared with a pair of scissors before) I guess I should shear them so they don't have to carry all that wool all summer.

William placed second in the Grade Nine exams in the Division. Colleen was first and got the Gov. Gen. medal.

Joan and Wayne both got honors when they wrote Grade Nine Exams. Wonder what Ellen will do. She feels fair about it.

Ellen and I are trying to clean out the garden. There has been lots of moisture this year and while we were away the weeds got the best of us.

Aug 1977

Ellen did well in school. Was Valedictorian--won academic awards through High School and loved sports.

William won top honors in the Taber Division in the grade 12 exams and received the cash award for the highest student from the Board of Education, from the A.T.A. and from the Canadian sugar Factories. Mr.McHugh was the principle of the school and taught many Grade 12 classes. He didn't like Will (I guess he had his reasons--) On June 1st he kicked Will out of school. They wrote their Gov. Grade 12 exams about the last week of June. I wasn't too upset because I knew Will could review at home. We were happy that he did as well as he did.

On separate type sheets I have written up the affairs of the branch that upset me so. For those years that was about all we thought of.

Will filled an honorable mission in Guatemala El Salvador. His experiences and letters I have typed in a book with Ellen' and Tom's letters from their missions.

While Will was on his mission, September 5, 1968, Joan married Gilbert Hornberger. They went back to the "Y". Joan graduated in the spring of 69 from B.Y.U.

In September Gilbert took a band position in Raymond. His first day of school September 2, 1969 his son Michael George was born--our first grandchild. We were so happy to have Joan safely through. They spent one winter in Raymond then moved to Wild Wood for three years. Both William and Laurel were born in Wild Wood.

Dad and I took a trip to Winnipeg for the U.G.G. 1970. I missed a couple of days of school for the trip. We bought our first Datson that year after trying out a smaller car for six weeks.

I tended Michael a week when William was born.

In February 1971 I was skating in the rink with the Grade One kids when I fell on the ice and broke a bone in my wrist.

Ellen received her call to the France Switzerland mission. She was going with Jim Jett. I received her call here in Grassy and phoned her at school in Utah. She asked us to open her call and read it to her. We did. At the time she had spent a semester practice teaching in S.L.C. James Jett was getting fond of her. After her call came he proposed to her. They phoned home and asked us what we thought. I told her I felt she would regret it all her life if she didn't fill her mission, and Dad said "no" to Jim.

She finally got to the Missionary Training school--Jim still trying to stop the mission.

She took sick at school and had to have a foot of intestines removed. She finally was ready to go after two and one half months in the school. We went to S.L. to see her off as we had done when Will left. It was a bit depressing with Jim there but Ellen was so happy to go that it cheered us all up. She had a little trouble in the field with health at first but filled an honorable mission. Her letters are typed and saved in the same book as Will's.

In August 1973 we had a hill family reunion in Canada at our home. It was really a thrill to have the family drive up. We had a family meeting on

Monday morning just before they were to leave for home. Tom went to town for the mail just before the meeting. He received his call. We opened it in the meeting after guessing where it might be. Surprise of all surprises—He was called to Ellen's mission, France Switzerland to enter the training school September 15 just one week before Ellen's release date.

We took Tom to the mission home in S.L.C. and Saturday September 21st 1973 went to Calgary to meet Ellen's plane at 9 p.m. Erva and Gary Reamsbottom and family and Joan and children and Gilbert all went. We all went in the "happy bus". (Dad bought a mini bus at a salvage yard for \$300.00. We called it the "Hippie bus because it looked like a bus the hippies ride in. Little William called it the "Happy Bus." That stuck, and it has been a happy bus since then.) Ellen's plane came in but no Ellen. We waited and watched the planes that night then went to Vulcan where Joan lived and stayed till about nine then went back to Calgary to meet the eleven o'clock plane. When Ellen wasn't on that one I really turned sick. We traced what we could and found that she had been held up because of strikes and stayed in New York then went to Toronto instead of Montreal. She finally arrived 24 hours late. It was so good to see her--little shy Laurel looked at her and loved her. She went to the Y on the block and prepared to teach.

She got a job the fall of 74 in Foremost teaching French.

Tom got off to his mission in 75.

The summer of 74 Bishop Gough called Dad and I into the office. He said Ellen had offered to finance us on a couples mission. The spring of 74 Ed Shimbashie had rented three of our quarter sections of land at \$25.00 an acre so we were well fixed to go on a mission on our own.

We received a call to the South Dakota, Rapid City mission to enter the mission home January 24, 1975. I taught school until Christmas then quit. Ellen asked for my job and changed from Foremost High school French to Grade one in Grassy.

We left Jan 21 for the mission home. The l8 months of History can be found in the mission diaries --1975 to July 22, 1976 when we were released from the mission.

We drove home by way of Wyoming and called on the Chantrills, who had had a serious accident while still on their mission. After we visited with them we called on Carol Michael's (a room mate of both Joan and Ellen at the B.Y.U.) grandfather at Billings, Montana.

Joan and family drove to Great Falls to meet us on our way home.

Joan had had Karen in February 75. They visited us in Flin Flon where we spent the first 9 months of our mission. In January 1976 a baby boy Clark, was born to them. He died April 26 while we were in Macy on the Omaha Indian reservation, still on our mission. Will and Peggy had been in the Western University at London Ontario where he had studied for two years to receive his Master Degree in Business Management. They were on their way home and visited us when the phone call came to tell of Clark's illness. He passed away while they were on there way home so they tried to get to his funeral but weather prohibited them. They came to Grassy and lived in our house long enough to clean it all up for us and plant lawns before he went to work for L.K. Ranches in Calgary.

While we were away, Ed Shimbashie put a center pivot sprinkler on our East quarter section and permanent water on the places.

When we arrived home we went to visit the children. We went to Calgary to see Will and Peggy's home, then to Creston where Joan and Gilbert had bought a home. We went to Idaho Falls to visit Ellen and David. Ellen had married David Eldredge July 24, 1975 while we were in Flin Flon. They made a trip up there to see us before they got married. We drove on to Provo to visit Tom who was at school there.

When Tom finished his mission we were allowed to meet him in Winnipeg on his way home. He arrived home 3 a.m. Sunday morning, reported his mission that day and left for the Y.

When we came back home after the visits Dad started to work for the Canadian Sugar Factory. I had applied at Cardston for a teaching job. They were going to give me one in a Hutterite school. Peggy and I took off for Utah to visit a week before school was to start. We took Kim with us. I had a good time chasing Tom around the campus and visiting my folks in Provo. When I got back I called Cardston about the job and the Hutterites didn't want to change their teacher. He was to have gone into Cardston to teach in the Pod in Grade 5. They offered me that grade but I felt I couldn't handle the noise in the pod so they tried to give me the colony instead. I wouldn't take the Pod job so I had no job.

Seven Persons advertized for a Grade One teacher so I applied and got that job in the Medicine Hat rural district No. 4. I was pleased with that job. I drove from Grassy to Seven Persons that year. It was a very mild winter and new roads to drive on making it a pleasant experience.

One of our real joys I forgot to tell about before was meeting Will in the Calgary airport after his 27 month mission. He arrived home in May 1970.

In August 1973 Peggy Swenson and William were married in the Ogden temple. On the same day Tom took out his endowments before going to his mission. Dad and I were asked to be witnesses because of our son's marriage and our missionary son.

Will and Peggy had planned on taking out there endowments on the 18 then being married on the 24. They planned their reception for the 24th. We had from the 18 to the 24 to put in in Ogden and Provo. Tom said "Let's go to California" so we left after the wedding on 18 in Ogden and drove to California. We surprised RaOla and Darrell. We arrived Sunday morning. Brother Paul Dunn was there for conference. They entertained him so I helped fix his breakfast. RaOla took us for a day to Disney land. We enjoyed the Caribbean trip there most I think. The parade of lights were really special. We watched Tinker Bell come down from the top of the Matterhorn. The next day we went to Old Mexico and to the beach RaOla and Darrel love. I saw a dolphin in the ocean.

We drove back to Provo for a beautiful outdoor reception, then came home where we decided to have an open house at our own home. We were really happy with it.

Ellen had her reception here at home while we were in the mission field. She also had one in Taber which she made a tape of and sent to us so we could have a share in it. I made flowers in Flin Flon and sent them to her. I learned how to make Wood Fiber flowers so made a box full of corsages for her to use.

Joan and Gilbert lived in Vulcan in 73 & 74. Kathaleen was born in Taber the week before they moved to Vulcan. They lived in Vulcan a year before moving to Creston B.C. where they stayed until the spring of 77. They sold their home and moved to B.Y.U. for summer school. There the children took Fun Festa while Gilbert did his classes. Joan tried to recuperate after Dorthy's birth. She was born one year to the day after Clark died - April 26, 1977.

April 1977

Tom spent the summer of 1977 at home helping on the farm. Will decided to buy the center pivot sprinkler and lease our land. We, Dad& Tom decided to

work for Will on the farm. We got the sprinkler started with lots of effort. Tom took the green Datsun and went to Georgia for a three week trip while Dad run the place. He got back just in time for Dad to fly to Prince Edward Island to help with the Canadian Scout jamboree. He was gone just over two weeks. He came home on Tuesday and Thursday I went to Waterton with the Third ward Relief Society sisters. I was going to tend Kim but Peggy only spent one night at camp and Will tended him that night so I took off for the Eugene Hill family reunion and dinner in Provo. I visited Dave and Ellen on the way and Heidi who was born October 19, 1976 in Helena while they were on their way to Canada. I visited Faun and family in Sandy and finally Joan in Provo. There were ten of my brothers and sisters there. I saw Alta also in Lemington. I drove home in time to help cook while the men combined the barley. Will and Peggy spent a week with us.

We have nine grandchildren now: Michael George Hornberger born Sept.1969--William Gilbert H. Nov. 18, 1970--Laurel Beth Mar 31972--Kathaleen Ellen July 11 1973-- Karen Joan Feb 10 1975--Thomas Clark Jan 21 1976--died Apr 26 1976--- Dorthy Clara Apr 26 1977. William Kimball Redd June 3, 1975. Heidi Amiee Eldredge Oct 191976.

In January 1973 the Stake president asked Smellie and I to move our recommends to Taber 3rd Ward. We did and have really enjoyed the spirit of the ward here. The past year I have been the Junior Sunday School Chorister and the R. S. Spiritual Living teacher. Now I visit the homes of three widows in the ward as Smellie's home teaching companion--Sister Tufts, Madge Harding and Olive Johnson.

While at Waterton with the R.S. sisters Sister Gloria Dawe sculptured me. Today she asked if she could put it in the Agriculture fair--Whew!!

I left out one experience of our lives

In the fall of 1964 we applied for an Indian child. This was the first year of placement in Canada. They sent us the name of a girl and when we were to pick her up in Calgary. We all left here early to meet our new Indian daughter. When we got to Calgary and saw the children we heard they had phoned Bp. Torrie to tell us not to come because she hadn't got on the bus. They asked us to take Eddie Russto his foster parents. We took him to Delbert Johnson.

The next year they called us and told us we could have a boy, John Hitchcock. He stayed with us that year and the next 65-66-67. Will departed for his mission. Dad and John took him down. John was 14 when he came to us and at 16 he was anxious to leave and live an Indian life. It was the summer of 68 that

we took the scouts to Prince Rupert and Massett and visited John's family on the Queen Charlotte Island. There is a write up of this trip in a Christmas story book Tom made for us as a gift. We really had a good visit and made friends with Gertie and Gordie Lamb. Saw the golden spruce, watched the blow holes (and felt them blow in our faces), climbed Tow Hill and waded to our necks in the Pacific ocean. Had a good trip with the boys. We saw Kitamat and the paper factory at Prince George and slept in Dawson Creek. Besides visiting John we saw Neil White (Torries Indian boy).

School started in the fall and ten days later the placement worker came and asked us to take an Indian boy - Homer Blackhorse, from Glecian). He was eleven years old. Our experience with him was not really pleasant for us. He was a nice kid but never got in gear for farm life. We took him to visit his family on his birthday--Nov. 11. We ate birthday dinner with them. They spread the table cloth on the floor. We had a good visit. We met his 96 year old grandmother. She was a sweet old lady. Homer just stayed one year with us.

In the fall of 69 they asked us to take a little Indian boy from Oliver B.C. He had been in three different homes the year before-Allan Baptiste--We took him at ten years of age. He was a pleasant boy and he and Tom had some good times together. During his stay with us his mother died so Dad took Tom, Allen, and his sister and brother to her funeral in B.C.

The last year the placement worker, Sister Griffin often asked me questions about how Tom and Allan got along. In the spring just before school was out Ellen was to fly to Geneva for her mission.. We couldn't take Allan with us and be back in time for him to catch his bus home. A bus was leaving Lethbridge earlier so we ask Sister Griffin if he could go home on that. She said "no way would she take Allan and a friend of his home on the same bus". We left Allan home alone and he got his bus to his home with Tom's help.

Sister Griffin then told us we couldn't have Allan the next year because Tom would be gone unless we took another Indian student to be with him. I said I couldn't be responsible for Allan training another Indian student so we'd have to let him go.

In the spring she was very emphatic about taking Allan away - but by late summer she had changed her mind and came and asked us to take him back. I had laid carpets in all the rooms of the house--I asked her if she had a place for Allan. She said "Yes, in Rosemary". I said she'd better send him there then. She did. He stayed 3 weeks and left for home. I felt sorry when I found out he had left the program. Three years later, while we were in Flin Flon on the mission, Allan called us. He said he'd come and see us as soon as we got home. Hope he

hasn't run into too much trouble. He was in line for Junior rodeo champ when he called--he said.

During the summer of 65 Gary and Erva Reamsbottom spent 6 weeks in our home. They had their first baby and Erva felt better here than where they drank coffee and didn't try to live the gospel. They went to Idaho from here but moved back to Canada after two or three years and lived in Magrath then Cardston then Warner. They have been like part of the family all through the years. I gave a shower for her before she was married and she has always appreciated that little effort.

September 23 1977

Gary and Erva have taken a deposit on their house in Warner--yesterday. They cleared in their interviews and got visas to go to the states to live. They will leave next week if all goes well with house sale.

On the 3rd of September we drove to Vermillion where Joan and Gilbert are renting a house. Gilbert is teaching in Wainwright this year. They couldn't find a house there and church is in Vermilion so they rented there. Friday the 2nd of October Dad and I drove to Calgary and slept at Will's place. Will and family went with us to Vermillion in time togo to Lloydminister for Michael's baptism. Sunday he was confirmed. We drove home Mon.-- Labor day. Hornbergers are in a lovely location. The children have room to play--a city park in front and a provincial park behind. They need their white car to get around in because Gilbert drives to Wainwright and doesn't get home until late.

School at Seven Persons is rather nice. I have 24 students and will have another in another week.

I have been released from my R.S. Spiritual Living teaching job also from Jr. S.s. chorister. They asked me to be the In Service leader. I have given one lesson.

Joan gave me the book "Links of Forever". It makes me really want to do something about genealogy--also the Relief Society lessons this September really gave me the urge --In fact I'm at this history because of them.

When Pres Ashton was still Pres. he had asked Dad to speak in church. Dad was at the pulpit speaking when a voice hit my feelings "that is the new Pres of the branch". I was amazed and stunned and argued in my mind with the idea. Pres. Ashton has the spirit even if his language isn't the best. Then I listed the good things he had done for the branch.

Wednesday we received word he was dead. This was near Christmas. There were things to be done in the Branch and Smellie was his 1st Councilor. It was a funny feeling. I knew who was to be the Branch Pres. but had no obvious reason or authority to say anything. Two weeks later Pres. Woolley of the Stake asked Smellie to be the Branch President.

I have had a few other experiences where I have felt a voice--One I have mentioned already in this history about marriage and prayer. After talking to Sister Rich about Simon Baker I took his ring on the grounds that he would wait to kiss me until I felt like it. This only worried me more than ever. One night I was especially upset and cried to the Lord with all my heart. I had fallen in love with Smellie Redd on the trip we'd taken to Canada and Phyllis had made me understand he was marrying someone else. Smellie was in Service somewhere in Saskatchewan. I begged the Lord to hear my prayers. I called Smellie several times. I asked why he didn't answer my letters.

I finished that year of school. I had one bad experience that made me know I had to leave Lynn and teach somewhere else. I had decided to leave the year before but the people of the valley got up a petition and sent it to the school board. They placed me in Plymouth, Utah. I wasn't exactly pleased with having another small school so decided to stay on at Lynn. I knew I had to leave Lynn this time so I resigned and hunted myself a new job. I got a contract to teach in Morgan, Utah. I was wearing Simon's ring. I went to Provo to spend Christmas at home. Simon came to see me in Morgan once. It really upset me. He came to Provo to see me and that time I was grateful for the sickness that put me to bed so I was not able to see him. He left to enter the service from there. The very next day a letter came from Smellie. I was walking on air. I think I'll copy the letter that put me in seventh heaven. It's a beautiful poem even if I can't detach myself from it.

Dear Laurel C.D 675 M.D. 135 l0 De. 45

Phyll's bundle of joy has come. It's a boy too. Isn't that swell. I have two nephews now. He was born about the 14 by the letters. They haven't sent the announcement yet tho.

There's a loveliness about you, That is rather felt than seen For it lingers neath the surface In your soul, soul of a queen.

God's Royalty shines from you

Warms whomever you are near. Tis no idle salutation My op'ning thoughts of Laurel dear.

God sends His spirits earthward At the time they're needed most. Laurel, I thank God I've known you Out of all that heavenly host.

You have turned the key of comfort For my soul from loved one cleft Though a parent has ben taken You Dear Laurel has been left.

Poetry is such small measure given For treasure dear as you With His help I'll fill that measure Laurel Dear with love that's true.

I don't know how I got started on that. God bless you, Laurel and grant your desires. forgive the poor writing and cross-outs. Love Smellie

We burned up all our letters once but I just couldn't burn that one. In heaven I hope he'll forgive me for being a little untrue by not burning this letter.

I sent Simon's ring to him. I continued to teach. We corresponded. In April I was on hall duty and received a letter that shook me so much I couldn't think. I'd find myself off the track all afternoon--I'd try to bring my mind back to the teaching job. Smellie said in this letter that on a certain evening when he was in Dundern Sask. he was laying on his bed and heard my voice calling his name. He told me the date and time and it was the date and time I have previously told about. He felt impressed to get up and write to me. He didn't. No one knew of my pleadings with the Lord and I knew they didn't.I'm so grateful for the testimony that God does hear us and help us in our distresses as well as bless us in our happier hours. I sometimes wonder how many times the Lord protects that we don't even know about and I wonder how lacking we are in gratitude for this protection. I think of the 10 Lepers--nine went on their way. Only one turned back in gratitude. I don't want to be one of the nine.

Our crops have been good this year. The barley was heavy. We got it about all off by the time Tom left for the B.Y.U. Since that we have had rain about every time it was dry enough to start harvesting again.

The week after we went to Michael's baptism we were surprised to have Dave and Ellen and Heidi come in and spend four days with us. We had four good harvest days. Will and Dave and Dad worked together Fri,Sat. then Dave helped Mon. and Tues.

Heidi is walking. She is so sweet. Really a happy child--good natured.

Both Ellen and Peggy are looking for new editions. I pray they will be blessed.

Dave and Ellen were in Price Utah last year and are going back again this year. Dave starts teaching on Mon 26 of Sept.

July 11 1978

School this year was rather a trial. I started with 24 students. I had retained one- a Dutch boy who could not speak English, another boy, Tony, was in his third year in Grade one. Tony has epilepsy. There is another welfare child who is hypo-active, another boy who had been retained and was brought to our school in hopes of better success and still another boy from Sask. who had been retained. It was rough but with the help of Mr. Regerh we got Tony reading also over the hump with the other problems. Then another real slow child started to school late.

That was only part of the problems. The fall was wet. We got the crop in finally but the weather just slowly got colder. On the 7th of Dec. our school closed for three days because of the 40 below weather.

Christmas we spent in Calgary with Peg and Will, then drove to Vermilion where Joan and Gilbert had just got a Kaiani house moved onto their foundation. Tom was home from B.Y.U. for Christmas. Dad and Tom and I worked through the holiday week on Joan's house. I painted the upstairs rooms twice. Dad Tom and Gilbert kept busy. This house has been a real heart ache to the Hornbergers. They are paying about\$12,000.00 more than it was represented they would have to pay. They became quite unhappy and moved back to Creston where the principal said he would give then a job. The Superintendent wouldn't so Tom helped them move their things back to Wainwright. They had a week there before they left and went to Provo for summer school. They hadn't sold their house yet but want to. They are expecting a baby in September. Joan wanted to be all set up when she got back from school, but she isn't.

On January 24th Peg and Will had a baby boy--Kevin James. Then Ellen and Dave's boy was born January 30. They named him Sean David. They finished another year at Price and are fire fighting again this summer in Idaho Falls.

The winter weather started after I got back to school January 9th. It really howled in. The wind blew the light snow for six weeks. I was never sure I could drive from our house to the highway. In all the year we've lived in Grassy this has never bothered me before. The highway was closed numbers of times between us and Medicine Hat. We always had howling winds between us and Seven Persons but Seven Persons didn't close school once because of winds. Grassy missed 14 days of school because of wind and drift. Forty mile schools were closed down for a whole month at one time. The wind seemed to blow steady across the road as I drove. I stayed in the room I had rented in Seven Persons most of three weeks because of the wind that winter.

At the end of May William resigned his job at Calgary and moved home to help with the farm. We bought 2 more pivot sprinklers. Tom came home in April but decided he could help himself best by going to summer school this year so he went back to Provo on the 26 of June. Together they got the crops in before he left. Dad and Will have been trying to keep the sprinklers going. We've had nice moisture this spring as well.

Dad had a scout camp at Impesa. I knew Will and Peggy would like a little time by themselves as a family so I came to scout camp with Dad. I'm settled in a cub hut. I brought my own food. Dad eats at the kitchen and I try not to eat too much.

In February last year I felt rough. I missed a couple of days of school then the road was closed so I went to the Doctor in Bow island. He sent me for x-rays in Med. Hat. They said I had diverticuli. He figured I could handle it by my diet so I've been eating like a horse and gained a lot of weight. I hope to get adjusted to a little less food while I sit here in camp---beading, reading, writing, sleeping and mending.

William went to dinner with his boss and they asked him to come back after the harvest was in. They feel good about that. They sold their house but will take an apt. if they can find a suitable one for the winter.

There's lots of rain here in the mountains. A little old squirrel won't let me sleep. He keeps trying to get away with some of my food. I've still got four days to live on my rations.

I sent money to the missionary Dept. for Books of Mormons. So far three people have written to thank me for them. I've written back. I gave my school aid a subscription to the New Era. Hope it works on her. It's too dark to see to write. All I can see to do now is sleep.

March 30 1980

The new church schedule went into effect on the 2 of March 1980. This gives us time to do our church assignments on Sunday. Today is the first Sunday we've been home. Tonight we looked through some Genealogy and are beginning to see where to start. (I hope I can follow the council that has been given us and write my history up better). I'll try to catch up on a few things during the past two years.

Peggy and I took a trip to Utah during the summer. Gilbert and Joan were at summer school there. I visited with them.

School was rather uneventful--at least it seems that way to recall now.

We had a cold winter but a good one so far as roads and driving was concerned. In the spring of 1979 Tom got engaged to Cheryl Sims. She was a member of the B.Y.U. marching band. Her home was San Diego Cal. Tom came home at the end of the spring term. We invited Shaunna Lee up for a visit. She came the day school was out. We enjoyed her. Tom and Shaunna went down in a Honda we bought for Tom heading for his wedding in the Manti temple. Dad and I drove our car. Joan and Gilbert drove their bus and Peggy and Will went in their car.

Dad and I spent a night with Dave and Ellen in Price.

Tom was married on the 11th of July. We got together the day before that to have a family reunion. Our family now consists of Joan and Gilbert and their children, Michael, William, Laurel, Kathaleen, Karen, Dorthy and Harold. William's family--wife Peggy, William Kimball, and Kevin. Ellen and Dave and children Heidi and Sean. We organized our family. After that Dad and I drove to San Diego for the wedding reception. We visited RaOla and Darrell at Hemet. We had a good time at Cheryl's home with her family and Aunt Pat and Granny.

We visited Bascoms on the way home from California. We took a motel in Los Vegas so we could have air condition. We needed a rest. That was terrible. The cooler cooled the floor but we roasted. We hurried on home to prepare for the open house for Tom and Cheryl. We had it on the lawn between the garage and house. I was pleased with it.

Monday morning Dad and I started out from home to go to a workshop (reading in Lac La Bish). We got to Medicine Hat and said, Let's go to Flin Flon, so we drove out there and visited the folks we knew on our couples mission. Sister Johnson's husband died Sunday while we were there. I had a knitting school lined up for that week in Edmonton, so we rushed back and took that in. In the spring of 1979 I suddenly got cold feet about teaching and resigned. I went to a retirement party--received a gift--got information about my retirement and could see another year teaching would make a world of difference. I'd get the magic number--85 to give me full retirement so I went and asked for my job back. They had already advertized for a Grade One teacher but when I asked for the job the Superintendent said: "That's the best news I've heard in a year". I was glad they'd take me back so kindly.. When I resigned I bought a knitting machine to have something to do. After the knitting school we hurried home just in time to hurry to Utah again for Tom's graduation on August 17.

Will took over the farm and moved into the house. We bought the house across from the church in Grassy from Monty Thompson. We came back to Grassy to pack up and move to town. We got mostly in before school started. Peggy and Cheryl did all the packing out there and I unpacked the boxes in here. The men hauled the things in and unloaded them.

Sept. 1980 School this year was good. It looked bad to start with with four very poor children,- one mentally retarded child . His father stepped out on his wife with an Indian girl. When her baby came he brought the baby to his wife to raise. The child had the mentality of a 2 year old. He couldn't talk. After the tests the principle got him in a Special Ed class in Medicine Hat.

The other three children that moved away happened to be the poorest so the last year of my teaching was the best. I retired and gave them notice in February so a few of my tasks with the next year group were shifted to the New Grade One teacher.

This year I did a musical program that I was proud of. I painted a river and did rounds and two part singing - mostly river songs.

The last week Mrs. Busse took the beginners and I taught her Grade Two. It was good to see their progression.

The day school was out- June 30- Cheryl went to school with me. We ate then left for Wainwright. Tom and Dad are moving Tom's furniture up there. Tom has taken a Hutterite school at Irma. Joan's baby was overdue. After we arrived they sent her to Edmonton for and ultra sound scan. As she left and the children sobbed, I wondered if she were leaving for good. It almost tore my heart

out. But she came back to wait about a half week. On July 7, 1980 Susan Irene was born in spite of the Drs. being away. The Lord was looking after her. A Doctor and a good one came into the hospital ten minutes before her baby was born. He just got back to town and decided to call at the hospital before he went home. We are so grateful for her care.

Dad and I stayed in Wainwright 2 weeks. We came home at six on the 15th of July and rushed over to the hall to be honored as Senior Citizens. They gave us a lovely meal and a nice program and a Senior citizen plaque as an event for honoring Alberta's birthday.

We stayed home for three days then drove to Flin Flon to be there for a conference. They made the three northern branches into the Thompson District. We spent l0 days there and had a wonderful time visiting saints and introducing Bro and Sister Shields, the new couple, to our friends and investigators.

We left Cranberry Portage at 4 p.m. and arrived at Hornbergers late Saturday night.

In January 1980 they finished a new heated, lighted shop on the farm so they can overhaul machinery etc. in the cold winter.

The crops are good this year. I surely hope we can get them harvested. It's been raining enough to make the barley tough.

We went to Susan's blessing the first Sunday in August. We have been home for a month now.

I planted a garden and set out flowers but the soil is poor and the flowers look like they did in April when I set them out.

Faun and Grant and Dena came up the week end before school was out. We haven't been to Utah this year.

Ellen and Dave went to Japan last September 1979 to teach for the U.S.A. Army dependent schools. They've been there a year now. They signed up for two years.

Peggy and Will had a baby boy born May 17. They named him Jason David. He had a fever in the hospital. Peggy stayed in ten days. Jason seems to be doing well now. He's almost four months old now.

Cheryl and Tom spent part of the summer with us. They found a house while we were there in July. They left the middle of August to get settled in.

I went to Creston alone to get a load of fruit. I got peaches, pears, prunes and apricots and a box of summer apples. I was really scared because the green datsun wasn't getting gas. I prayed and I'm sure I was blessed as I brought home 850 pounds of fruit.

The ward planted corn. We picked for the ward one night. So much good corn was broken down as the trucks went out. I told the Bp. I couldn't stand to see it waste so we got about 50 pounds of corn frozen for Joan. Later the Bp announced that they'd pick Monday and the ward members could feel free to take what they wanted. I got more for Joan and went back and picked the car full for me. Peggy came in and helped me with the corn till 5:30. I finished cutting it by ten and dried about 16 quarts. I put it in the basement with the fan over it to dry it.

We're trying out the dried corn for supper when Dad comes in. He has been planting wheat on the corners of our land.

Since the school year started I've been getting acquainted with the knitting machine. In the past ten days I've knit about 16 articles--l0 scarfs, 3 sweaters, 2 hoods and 2 shawls.

Today I wrote a short history of our family for the Grassy Lake book. Will said he'd read it if I wrote it. He'll have to add his history to it if he likes.

Sept. 28 1980--We're still hoping and praying for dry weather- enough to gather the rest of the crops. We have wheat and flax yet to get in.

Dad and I went to Creston on Wednesday September 24 and got a load of apples from Howard Horn and got back home about 10:30 that same night.

Tom came for his piano yesterday and hauled the apples and dents back for himself and Joan.

I've been called to be a teacher in the S. S. I have the 15 year olds. I've been in the class a month now. I had a pretty good class today. Last time I couldn't compete with Cory Jensen and the time before we went to Irma to celebrate Tom's birthday and stayed up for Sunday.

We had invited Wildes and Goughs to have a fish fry with us so we had to be back as soon as we could get here. We had a good visit with them I don't think the fish was as good as it was for the others we entertained. We had sis Tufts and Piepgrasses one time and the first time we invited our four sisters we home teach--Olive Johnson and Grand daughter, Madge and Tina Harding and a friend Shauna Conrad and Geneva Mecham. We have enough fish left to entertain once more. We brought the fish from Flin Flon. Fresh water fish is so good.

Jason has a bad cold. We went to the R.S. conference last night. It was good. I've been called as a R.S. teacher again. I was rather happy for the job. Mary Jensen and I are companions.

Mar 5 1981

I see a fall and winter have slipped away again.

I retired from teaching at the end of the year 79-80.

During the summer of 80 Dad and I planned a trip to Japan to visit Ellenespecially when she told us she was expecting a baby in Nov. I shopped for tickets and finally found what I thought was the best at Korean Airlines.

When I made the trip to Creston for fruit I paid \$100.00 down on our tickets for the trip to see Ellen through the Wood travel Bureau. We didn't really know if we'd make the flight or not, but when it came time to pay for the tickets I wrote out a check for them. We decided to take a side trip to Bangkok form Tokyo while we were there to see Legg, a friend of Ellen's, who was going to school at the Y and came to visit us one summer.

Time went by. Harvest was slowed up with rains. We thought we'd try to leave home about Mon. 27 of October. On Friday we went in to pick up our tickets. Imagine our surprise to see tickets made out to Seoul, Korea, then Taipei, Tiawan- then Hong Kong and finally Bangkok.

We drove to Irma On Oct 25 and stayed at Tom's that night. We went to church in Wainwright and spent the rest of Sunday with Joan. Slept at Tom's again and while there went to a Hutterite wedding. It consisted of singing and eating--drinking for them.

Tues. Morning we headed for Edmonton to see Gert. We went to Bev's home and some of Linda's children were there. Linda is trying a separation act from Gary for a while.

We headed for Creston to see Jessie Ratcliff before going to Hawaii to see Sydna and Jerry (her brother). We went to the church farm to get some apples for lunch. When we got there Sister Beohmer said her daughter Ruth was in Hong Kong on a mission. She gave us six huge delicious apples to take to Ruth. We visited Jessie a minute at her work then went on to Oliver to see Allan. We met his family. Dad, Debbie and baby, Lewis, Paul, Christine and Uncles. They had good spirits. Allan was shacked up with a girl we met. We drove to Okanogan Falls and took a hotel room Wed. night. Thursday we drove to Phyllis's and found Vic at home. He left about two. We washed and dried our clothes. Phyl came home from teaching and we had a good visit with them that evening. Friday morning we all left at the same time. Them to work and us to Jeannie's. From there to Maureen's where we left our car. Jean took us to the airport, where we caught our plane to L.A. I phoned RaOla. Darrel was in L.A for a meeting and picked us up. We drove for 40 miles in the thickest traffic I have ever seen before we reached Hemet.

In Hemet we tried to see David in his band concert--missed it. Darrel took us up in the mountains to a church camp dedication. Back to the airport just ten minutes before plane time. The plane was a half hour late so all went well.

We flew to Honolula. We wandered around in the airport for a while before Jerry and Sydna spotted us. They drove us to Laie where they live. We slept in their foster daughters beds. They have 4 foster children.

Sunday morning Nov. 2 we attended church in Laie--a big church filled with black heads. They're building another chapel on the same block. Hawaii isn't really a safe place to live. Sid has the security officer down about every day. A man was killed just out there front door.

Tokyo and Hawaii Trip Gerry took us to the Cultural center where we spent the day. Monday. We really enjoyed seeing the houses and culture of the South Sea Island people. Tongo, Figi, Moiri, Soman, Hawiian among others. We listened to a musical program then saw the boat show and at five met Gerry and Sydna and ate all we could hold then went to the Cultural Center evening performance--water volcano, an artificial mountain--native costumes and dances. Slept at Bohnets and they took us to the airport. Tuesday Nov.4 at about 4 we crossed the international date line and it was Wed Nov. 5. We flew about 5 hours from Hawaii to Tokyo.

Dave and friend picked us up at Narita and drove for 3 1/2 hours to Dave's place.

Were we ever surprised to find Ira the new baby and Ellen at home. He wasn't due until the l0th. The first night Ellen put the kids in the kitchen on chairs but we found we could sleep in the same room. Dad and I on the top bunk and Heidi and Sean on the bottom. We spent Tuesday around the house. Dad took the kids walking and got himself a bit acquainted.

Hitomi San offered to take us to Machida to the Japanese ward to church. Dad went with Dave to his Ham radio class. At church we met some wonderful people. We experienced our first Japanese train ride. It's marvelous the way they handle and move people on their trains. Ticket machines--through gates and line up on platforms where about 12 to 20 doors open and people rush out and in. Men in white gloves push people onto the trains so the doors can close. During rush hours you are literally packed in. You couldn't fall down. You turn your tickets in at the end of the ride and if you have not paid enough you can pay more then. Dad went to Yokahoma with Brother Richards. On Monday Bro Richards was going to Yakoda airforce base to an electronic place to shop and invited us along. We went to the Tokyo temple on Tuesday the 10th and Bp. Tseushima picked us up and brought us home from the temple. We listened to the session with English earphones--We had a choice of Japanese or English. The temple is small but beautiful. We wandered the streets around the temple for two hours. Shops are so thick on the streets. We bought chicken and some sort of sweet stuffed bread like mince meat, which turned out to be minced beans. They use beans for a lot of sweet things.

Dave drove us to the PX. The kids showed us the play ground--went to church in Machida again. Monday Steve Richards took us on the shopping spree. They were buying a TV before they shipped out. We had some really good ice cream. They said they were in trouble. They had to check out on Thursday and because of useless housekeeper the R.S. didn't offer to help clean their quarters so we said we'd help. We went up Tuesday morning and really worked. For dinner we went to a shop where they ordered dough things boiled in water then fried. Good. Back to work--I came home and Dad scrubbed some more--bedrooms upstairs and halls etc. Wednesday we went again. We really scrubbed the dinning room and front room--bathrooms--. When we went back Thursday we cleaned the yard then waxed the floors and just put the last stroke on as the inspector came. He said it was perfect. Brother Teueshima was going to take us to Nikko but it rained. We went to a school to learn to ride trains. Richards took us around some more. They talked in their ward in Zama Sunday. We went to see them off. Took a trip on the train by ourselves...did all right. Had Thanksgiving here.

Wednesday Paul Walters, the sailor, breezed in. He'd been out on the ship, Midway, for five months. He's a character. Took some ebony elephants out of the

kids ears for them. I went visiting teaching in Ellen's place at Sagomihara and met six families.

Dave took us with his school to the ballet "Nut Cracker's Suite" downtown in Tokyo. We went to church at Machida with Paul and Heidi. Tues. Dec 2 made our way to town and visited the Canadian Embassy. As we found our way around on trains we found people so willing to help. We had to get Visas for Tiawan. We found the Korean Airlines and the Asian Relations. We had to leave our passports there to get the Visas. We took off for Soeul Korea on the 5th. When we landed a taxi driver took us in.. He got us in his cab to take us to Savoy Hotel then talked like a dutch uncle to get us to stay at another expensive place. He didn't even have papers to drive taxi. He didn't know where the hotel was. We Met Marco Phyffe from L.A. They stayed at the same hotel and helped us. Dad had to get a little tough with the taxi driver. We could take airplane busses for less than half the price of the taxi. We spent the night in Seoul. It was cold. There was snow on the ground. It rained and left just a little slush that they were washing off their streets. Monday morning we walked a bit and saw shops-walked down under a street to cross and walked into a huge mall. This was amazing to me. Shopped a bit then caught our plane to Osaka on it's way to Taipei, Tiawan. When we arrived we got a taxi to take us to the Mayflower Hotel. We were quite a while getting there. When morning came we found the hotel across the street from the bus station. The taxi driver knew how to make a little extra money. After we got settled in the hotel, we called Iping Shen, the girl Pam Payne of Wainwright, told us to call. She told us she'd pick us up at the hotel and take us to church the next day. We were surprised she took us to Taipei instead of her Dad's ward in Keelung. Her Dad was the Bishop. Before church was over Iping had to leave but she had arranged for Susan to pick us up the next day at one and take us to Keelung where Shens lived. After church we walked to our hotel through the parks, Chiang Kei Chek monument--ate at a stall--saw lots of Taipei people and shops. Monday morning we walked around and saw how close the bus stop was to the hotel. We ate a bowl of bean milk and had a Chinese hamburger--a long fried thing tucked in a dough pancake type of thing. One guy fried a piece of dough by putting it on the sides of a barrel like thing. The dough stuck on the sides and the fire browned the side that wasn't sticking on. The fire was inside the barrel. Susan took us to Shens then a shrine on the mountain then back to Shens for a Chinese dinner--Iping's cooking. They set platters of all sorts of food on the table and set a plate of rice for each individual. You eat with chop sticks from any plate you choose and from all before you are through. We slept on Bp. Shen's bed. It was like sleeping on a high floor with a comforter over us. The comforter was about 2 inches thick--not feathers.

Tuesday was planned. Brother Shen took us to the fish port. We saw tons of frozen fish, including men trying to saw a shark into pieces. It really had a strong smell. Bp. then took us to the ship building place. He worked there. He got a friend to show us through. We spent about two hours there. We saw them washing the barnicals off the ships to prepare them for fresh paint. We saw ships in the process of building—they sure cut thick iron slabs. After the ship building, we were taken to a Chinese restaurant and ate in fine style. Every where we went in Keelung we went in taxis.

One day in Tokyo Paul took us to his ship, the Midway. It is an aircraft carrier. It carries 100 aircrafts. We saw how they came in and left.

In the afternoon Tuesday Christi, our new guide, took us to the Emperor's Palace Museum. We really enjoyed looking at the old, old pieces of art and carvings. After the museum Christi took us back to Shens where we saw a musical instrument made of bamboo--about 4 feet long with strings up and over a round thing. Iping played it for us. It was interesting. The school kids climbed the stairs to Mrs. Shen's school. They all had orange caps on. The school kids all through Asia are in uniforms, also Japan. Right over Shen's house is a Buddha shrine. There seems to be millions of them throughout Asian countries.

In Taipei we went to the mission home and met a new bunch of Elders just coming in from Salt Lake City.

We saw water buffalo while flying over Tiawan. We arrived in Bangkok early in the afternoon - took a bus to town. The poor people's homes on the edge of the road was a sad sight to see. It was hot and I guess those people really didn't need clothes or much shelter, but I'm sure food was scarce, old men were asleep on benches, children bare--this was not such an oddity after a time in Asia.

We stayed at the Royal Hotel in an air conditioned room. We phoned the missionaries and they said they'd look up Legg's old address. He wasn't in the phone book.

The second day in Bangkok we walked to the river bridge. Under the bridge were women in their clothes in the water doing their washing. They laid a piece of clothes down--rubbed it with soap then scrubbed it with a little brush. I've been surprised all through these countries at the cleanliness of these people. Their clothes are so neat. In Siam or Thai the clothes were generally clean, pressed white blouses and shirts with darker skirts and pants. We finally caught a taxi and found a cheaper hotel. We wandered through the streets--markets - fruit, vegetables- clothes almost piled on top of each other. No way for cars to get through. It was amazing. Most of the transportation was motor bikes and they

were plenty noisy. Never was in such a noisy city. We decided to ride the ferry back across the river. We caught it and landed quite a ways from the hotel. We took a bus and got off a half block from the hotel. I looked across the street and there was a huge white Brahma bull right in the middle of a sidewalk, loaded with people going and coming. The bull wasn't tied - just wandered around.

A market moved in on our street. We walked through it. There were some furry plants that looked like monkeys. I decided to slip out and take a picture or two. I especially wanted the monkey plants. While I was looking at them a Thai man took hold of my elbow. I was really startled. I looked at him and said "Legg". He called me "Mom". We went back to Dad.

Later, Legg called and said he'd pick us up for lunch the next day. He took an afternoon off from his work and took us shopping after lunch. This is the first place we have shopped. Bought some Thai stuff for gifts. After shopping we picked up Dange, Legg's wife, and went to their home where they fed us a Thai supper. We had Dange's and Legg's bedroom. No bedding but air conditioned. Saturday Legg took us to a park where people from all over Thailand had set up booths. I bought a few things there- got pictures of the king and queen. We saw the Princess twice in the crowd of people. We then went to Legg's father's store and met his family. Legg took us out to eat in an upstairs restaurant. They had gas piped to every table. They set a steel bowl around the flame--a circular bowl like an angel food pan - the flame came up in the middle. They brought the stuff raw for us to cook. We had little wire strainer dippers to cook the food with. We cooked some food then the water was soup so we ate that. They gave us each a bowl of sauce. Dad took half a bowl and I took a quarter of a teaspoonful. I about choked on the heat--Hot peppers--You can imagine the heat Dad felt. Dange had two bowls of it. It was fun to do. People crowded the place.

Home--we took cold showers then went to the air conditioned bedroom. Sunday Legg wanted us to see the old city so he got tickets for us and put us on a bus. At first it sounded like we were the only two that wanted to go. They got a smaller bus and the girl took us to different hotels until there were about eight people going. We were from six countries---India, England, Thai, Canada, Nepal and France. We had a good ride through the country--bridges, old houses, fishing etc. On the way the guide said part of the party was going to the crocodile farm. Dad and I decided to split up and take both places in. I went to the C. farm and he to the old city. I saw 30,000 crocodiles in pens like fish ponds with an island in the middle. I saw a gorilla smoking, pelicans, water buffalo, elephants and other zoo animals. A man put on a show wrestling a crocodile. Dad saw the old city and went to the floating markets. Leg and Dange met us and took us to a fancy outdoor place to eat. It was really some style. We had candles--waiters stood over us. The food was good and the place beautiful. After

that we went back to Legg's. We travel around the Emperor' estate every time we travel to Legg's house. Monday morning Dec. 15 Legg took us to the airport before they went to work. We flew to Kowloon where we took rooms at the YMCA by the Star ferry and the bus terminal. This was the place to deliver the apples to Ruth. We phoned the mission home and they said they would have Ruth get in touch with us. We walked up the streets in Kowloon and priced a few things. Dad practiced bargaining. We came back to our rooms after dark. We had some pins made for us. The Chinese streets are so pretty at night with their signs all lighted up. Ruth phoned and we made arrangements to meet her just off the ferry in Hong Kong, which we did the next morning and delivered the apples to her. She put us on the bus to go to Victoria peak. Up there by the tower we bought slides from a peddler--also plastic animals, then took the walk for "those who have energy" to the top. There we met some folks from England or Scotland. We rested and talked then started down. Those folks picked us up and took us to Aberdeen where we saw the boat people. Every shack there had a phone in it. Phones are free here. We went part way back to Hong Kong with those folks then caught a bus the rest of the way. The buildings in Kowloon and Hong Kong are astounding....so tall and thin and so many of them. By this time we had learned to ride ferries --cheap--second class.

Taipei was loaded with motor bikes and taxes and buses. Tokyo had peddle bikes and trains and Bangkok the noisiest streets-- no mufflers and so much traffic noise. Bangkok people really like their king. Bangkok is loaded with Buddhas--in every house and yard and there were big shrines all over the city.

Legg took us to the shrine where he was a monk for a few months. He said spending this time learning to be a monk was like the Mormon missionaries. The monks begged for their food.

Dad bought himself some binoculars and calculators in Hong Kong. We found a nice cheap place to eat Chinese food.

Wednesday we went to the Korean airlines where we changed our flight from Wed to Thurs and from Tokyo to Osaka. This gave us another day in Hong Kong. I wanted to see Kowloon Dad wanted to see the waterfront. We picked out two Island to visit. We went to the monastery on the Big Island. We rode on small roads just paved wide enough for one bus, with a few passing pads. We didn't really like that shrine so hurried and caught our bus back in time to catch the ferry to heung Chou island. As we walked on the ferry we saw a bull tied with a ring in his nose to one of the seats. The boat went back to Peng Chang where we had stopped on the way over then back to the lower end of the big island then finally to our destination-Cheung Chou. This was really exciting --not a single vehicle on the island. No cars --no busses and no trains. There were carts

to haul stuff from the ferries. The streets were just old paths paved which would turn into stairs. It was a real maze. Shops, stalls and peddlers filled the streets-ladies and men playing games around tables in the streets -homes wide open to the public--pigs in baskets-- It was something to see. Thursday morning we went across to the Causeway bay to look at the Sampans and Junks. We took a ride in a rick-shaw then went to the boats and rode a sampan back to the star ferry dock and home where we picked up our stuff and went to the bus to catch the airplane. We took the Korean plane to Osaka and stayed over night, then took a taxi to the train station to ride the bullet train 120 miles an hour back to Ellen and Daves. We saw Kyota, Nogoya and Han Atsuki then home.

Japan is a toll road place--there are so many toll gates.

Went to the Christmas party at Machida. It was well prepared. They made a pantamine of the Savior's life with hymns sung by a youth chorus and used slides to flash up for part of the scenes. The Primary children had made gifts for the parents so the children gave instead of receiving. A Santa burst through a T.V. screen. Another came out of the kitchen but the one the children loved the best was the one that came down through the ceiling. Sunday we went to Zama branch to the Christmas service. Spent the afternoon at home with Ellen. Monday early we caught the train to Nikko. We had good rides to Shinjuku then Ueano then had to ride in car no. 4 because the front end of the train went a different way. We got to the Nikko station at 10:15 -- four hours. The town wasn't too big. It was cold. Snow on the ground. We looked for a cap for Dad but didn't buy one. We phoned the Canadian Embassy about the Owa (Hutterite) coloney. Caught a bus after three tries and rode to Kegon Falls up a road with 21 hairpin turns. We walked 5 minutes to the falls--took pictures--stopped in a shop so full of stuff we had to literally turn sideways to get through the isles. After shopping we walked to the lake. It reminded us of Waterton lakes in the early spring.

Coming back we came on around the circle. The hairpin turns were worse coming down than going up. We got off at the circle of shrines and took the walking tour through it. When we finished there we kept on walking down to Nikko. We planned on eating there but had to get ticket first. Had to go to a second station to get them so hopped on the train. It was a local and stopped so long at every cold station. Dad finally talked to the ticket man and he told us to get on the next train so we did. It was much more comfortable the rest of the way to Shimbashi station where we changed for the Hamamatusyo station where we caught the monorail to the Haneda airport. We got off in the middle of nowhere-one stop too soon. Got back on the next train going the same direction and arrived at the airport and caught the airport bus to Yokohama where we caught the train to Ebina then got a local to Subidumai station which was close to Ellens. We had a good day. It was expensive but we had a lot of yen to use up in 3 days.

Tues--today I walked to the bank with Ellen to cash a travelers check we spoiled before we went to Bangkok. We cashed it and shopped a bit. A band played Christmas carols in the PX. Today Dad phoned and asked for a new flight time after Ira is blessed. They have room on the 5th of January. Sure glad to stay for his blessing. Dave and Ellen are shopping. Tomorrow's Christmas Eve. Today Xmas. Eve we took Sean and Heidi to machida to the bank with us. It had snowed a bit this morning. The kids scraped enough snow together to make themselves a snowball. When we got on the train Dad had Sean put his snowball down. He put it by a lamp post. We had a milk shake in Machida and came back home. As we got off the train Sean ran to the lamp post: "Someone stold my snowball". The sun had been bright all day. All the snow was melted as well as the ball. New Year is the big Japanese holiday. We went out walking to see the people. They celebrated at the shrine. We stopped and watched them pray and gong the bell by pushing a log against it. They had a zoo there to entertain the children so we walked towards the zoo. A man picked up his little daughter. We noticed her shoe fell off so we picked it up and caught up with the man and gave him the shoe then went gaily on our way. After an hour or so we went back to the shrine and down the hill. Cars were parked at the bottom of the hill. A couple stopped us and asked us to come to their New Years's dinner on Saturday. This was the man we had given the shoe to. We were delighted. They took us to their home so we could find our way back on Saturday. Saturday morning we went to their home at 10:30. They were ready. They took us into a bare room. There were four mats on the floor in a straight row. We sat on them and had a Japanese tea ceremony--bowing, sipping water, putting our hands on the floor, fans. They helped us do it all right then said we'd eat. They asked if we wanted to sit at the table in the other room. We said we wanted to eat their way. They brought a small table about the size of a card table and about a foot high then moved the mats around it. They put a big comforter over it. We sat on the floor with our feet under the table covered with the comforter. We were toasty warm because they had a heat lamp under the table hung to the bottom side with a basket around it to protect from fires. They then brought a table top the size of the table and put it on top of the comforter. Then they brought the food--first a big platter of Japanese food--fish and small fish wrapped in sea weed--fish eggs--lotus roots-big radish pickles--yam and water chestnuts and other things. I thought that was the meal. There were also sticks with 8 to 10 shrimps on a stick-whole. We each ate a stick of them.----Then they brought in the salad and pickles--after that came a bowl of soup with eggs and seaweed and finally the meal---a hugh, and I mean huge, bowl of rice for each of us. I looked at it and thought I couldn't eat another bit But I ate it. Then they brought in the Japanese apples. She would peal them and give them to us. I have never tasted apples like that. They got them from the country especially for us. Finally after 3 1/2 hours of eating we got ready to go home. They offered to take us and we jumped at the chance of having them meet Ellen.

We gave a Japanese Book of Mormon to them.

Sunday Ira was blessed and Monday we left Ellen's about 1 or 2 and started the long trip to the airport. Our plane was to leave at 9:30. We got there about two hours early so had an hour to shop and spend the rest of our yens.

We left Tokyo at 9:30 pm Monday night and arrived in Honalula Monday the same day on the calendar at 9:am--about 12 hours before we left Tokyo.

We took a bus to Jerry's and Syd's. Their high councilman picked us up on temple street and took us to their back yard.

We were really sleepy. We had stayed awake the short night on the plane...first a drink... then a meal then a decent show... then it was time to fill out declaration slips and it was morning so by the time night came again at Bohnets it had been a pretty long day. We got 6 and 8 sessions at the Hawaiian temple.

Friday Dad and I took off to see the sights.. We took a boat to Pearl Harbor. I had followed the war news really close, but to see and hear the extent of that attack really shocked me all over again. We saw the battle ship Utah, and Arizona. Over a thousand men are still in the Arizona. When they tried to bring them up the rescuers lost their lives so they just built a memorial over the Arizona.

We went to Waikiki beach, to the zoo and to a hugh market where we bought a Mammy Lock machine for me.

Saturday Jerry, Syd and the children took us over the island to see more sights. We saw a sea show with trained dolphins and whales in--very good. We went to the International Cemetery. We ate at the punch bowl. Vicky's husband caught lobsters for us. We boiled them alive and ate them. I think I can get along without lobsters. Vicky's husband took us to the airport to catch the plane for L.A. We arrived there in good time but in the process of leaving heavy baggage in lockers I missed my little over night case. We hunted all over. Even opened lockers. Not a sign of it. We went to the police station. They said to make out a report. It was late when we finally stopped hunting and rented a car and drove to Hemet. We had to phone Lees to find our way to their house. We enjoyed our visit. They took us to Pick and Save where I bought a pair of black slacks to replace the pair I had lost in the overnight case. We bought gifts and nic-nacks. Dad got in touch with his cousin Earl and told him we'd see him Wed. We left RaOla's about 5 pm and found Earls in time for supper. We slept there. In Taipei a girl asked us if we knew Rose Redd. We met her when we met Earl's wife. We

enjoyed our visit there. They took us to LA where we turned in our rented car then they drove us around the temple--to Fox studios where we saw the set for "Hello Dolly". Then we went up-town in LA then went back and slept at their house. We caught the plane the next morning for Vancouver. But before we left we checked again to see if they might have any word on my overnight bag. We looked at the shelves where they put bags and there just as real as could be sat my overnight bag. I was plenty grateful to get it back.

We had a new experience in Vancouver. It was too foggy to land so we flew around for a half hour and finally flew to Abbotsford where we landed and had to bus back to LA to come through customs.

We phoned Jeannie and she picked us up and took us to Maureen's--back to our car. It was loaded with mold or mildew. Spent some time with Maureen then a night with Phyllis.

Monday we drove to Seattle or Belview and took a room in a 6 motel at Issaqua. We stayed two nights at the motel and got eight sessions at the Seattle temple.

Wednesday we drove to Portland. We found Eldredges and slept there. They went with us the next day to show us his school. They rode with us all day. We visited Eugenea and family and Ira and family. We left Portland intending to visit Riene Hood but when we got to Missoula we decided to push on home. We came in at 3 am. with drops of rain falling on the wind shield. It was really nice to get in our own bed. When we woke up Saturday morning we were in a blizzard. We picked up the things we shipped from Japan at Eldredges.

Tom's baby Melissa was born before we got home on Jan, 20th. We went to church in Taber then left the next day and spent a week visiting in Wainwright and Irma. Saw Melissa blessed then went to Edmonton and saw Gert then home on February 3rd. We phoned Irene for her birthday and tried to get Crystal. She was away. Just got a letter from her that said she had a lump the Drs thought was cancer but decided it was staff infection instead.

Oct 25 1981

The last day the boys were there was hectic because most of the help had gone home and hundreds of boys ate at the staff mess hall that night. It was the only time the boys had eaten there.

Monday night a knock came at the bus. It was Seaton's. They were leaving and came to thank us for trying to help them. I had popped corn for a Home

Evening so we ate and talked and when they went to leave we told them about Mormon Home Evenings and sang "Love at Home". Then we all went in the back in the bus and sang "God Be with You Till We Meet Again". It was a thrilling moment. Eyes were wet.

We left camp the next Monday and drove home. Tom and Cheryl went the other way through the parks and to their house. They got to our place Thursday of that week and put tin on the roof of their camper to keep it dry inside. David Lee was to catch his plane home on the 20th from Calgary. Tom and Cheryl wanted to take us camping so we left here early enough Monday to put David on his plane then drove. We saw the sights in the park, rode the snow mobile on the Columbian ice field and went to Jasper for a swim at Myette pool, then drove towards Edmonton. We camped east of Wildwood that night and got home on the 22. Tom and Cheryl took off for Utah.

Thursday Faun, Grant and Dena arrived to spend a few days with us. I was going to ride to the family reunion in Utah with them and come back with Tom.

Saturday night late who should call us but Ellen and Dave from Seattle so when Tom called to confirm the trip we asked him to go to Seattle and pick up Ellen and Dave because they had no vehicle. He did. I missed the Utah reunion but had one with Dave and Ellen. We went out to the fields to see Dad and Will. In the tall wheat Ira picked a bearded head over Ellen's shoulder and got a beard in his throat. Ellen and I came back and phoned the Doctor He thought he'd be all right so we just enjoyed their short visit. We attended church and left the next day in Tom's bus for Salt Lake City and Provo so Dave and Ellen could be with Ioan and Gilbert who were at the Y, before they had to go back to Japan. We called by Cardston so Ellen could visit Grandma. We stayed at Boulder that night. Tuesday while driving down we broke the big front window in Tom's camper. We're grateful Heidi wasn't hurt with glass. She was riding by it. We spent Wed. with Joan and left the next day to get Ellen and Dave to Seattle, McChord air base, to catch their flight back to Japan. We arrived at Portland at 10am Aug.7. There was a plane out at 3 so we hurried and arrived in McChord an hour before plane time but there was no space available--Sunday no seats available. We were camped there in the parking lot. Hitomi San and Micarai San arrived in Seattle on Friday and went to Dave's sister's place for a couple of days. Sunday we drove to Portland and brought them to McChord and spent the night. Monday morning, August 10th, Dave and Ellen finally got seats on the plane and left. As soon as they were off, we with the Japanese girls, headed for Vancouver. We visited Jeanne and Maurine's and spent the night at Phyllis and Vic's. Showed the girls Vancouver and left for home by way of Hope, Frazer canyon, Banff, the Columbian Ice fields, Peyto Lake and Calgary.

The girls spent the day on the farm--saw a lion (coyote). We called the temple to see if they could do baptism work for the dead--had just two hours to make it. We did. Hitomi San did the work but Mica didn't. We stopped at Ed Shimbashi on the way home. We saw a moose and buffalo.

We attended church in Taber, ate dinner on the lawn. At five Dad and I drove back to Taber to see Flo Pentland and Frank Lanyon from our first mission in Montreal.

We decided to take the girls to Provo and S.L.C. Dad stayed home to help on the farm and to entertain Bohnets when they arrived from Hawaii. I drove the girls to Dillan first stop for lunch. In Idaho Falls we walked around the temple-next stop Ogden at the temple then on to Faun's to spend the night. She showed us S.L.C.--temple grounds, visitor's center, then Great Salt Lake where we had a swim--ate tacos on the way home.

I drove to Provo the next day. Stopped at Joy's, Crystal's, Wanda's and Roy's but no one was home. Found Joan and family home. Went to the Y--looked for the foreign office--went to the Wilkinson center. In the afternoon we went to the language training center. There the girl talked in Japanese to the Elders who were on there way to Japan. Visited the temple, college mall and the D.I. then to a party at Erva's in Mapleton.

I got up early to help Joan get tomatoes in bottles. We finished that job early so Gilbert brought peaches and we canned those while the J. girls walked around the B.Y.U. campus. I took the girls to S.L.C. to catch the plane to Seattle. They left the next day for Japan.

I went back to Provo after seeing the girls off and spent the night at Joan's then back to S.L.C. to get tickets for Joan's family to "The Promised Valley". Got them for Saturday. I was right by the S.L.C. temple so went in and got a session. Lost my recommend after the session was finished. I phoned Dena and she said Alta was in the L.D.S. hospital so I went up to visit her. She had had some lumps removed from her breast and was happy because the report was non-malignant.

Slept at Faun's and the next day saw "The Promised Valley" with Joan and Gilbert.

Monday morning Joan and I shopped then RaOla came. She brought Shaunna up to go to school at Rexburg. I took Shaunna from there to Rexburg with me when I started home. Before I left all my sisters but Eva went to Leamington to visit Alta.

Joan and Gilbert finished school and we traveled home at the same time.

Wednesday and Thursday we got a ton of corn ready for freezing, then Joan and family went on to Wainwright.

Bohnets arrived and visited with Dad while I was tripping around with the J. girls.

On the 16th of August the Baptists, from Oliver, phoned us to let us know Alan had been bitten by a rattle snake and died and his funeral was Wednesday the 19th. Dad, Tom and Cheryl went out to the funeral.

While I was still tripping around Sims brought Scott to stay with Tom and Cheryl. Dad entertained them.

Kathaleen H. was baptized in Lloydminister on the 5 of September. We drove up. Michael was ordained to the Aaronic Priesthood the same day Kathaleen was confirmed.

Hauled flax--got medical papers to be filled out for a mission. Had dental work done and papers filled. Brought Gert to our house for a few days from Raymond.

On October 2nd went to the opening ceremony for the Cardston hospital.

3rd celebrated my birthday by eating out in Taber then listening to the Gen. Con. At night Peggy fixed a lovely birthday dinner for me.

The family celebrated the Canadian Thanksgiving at Joan's this year. We bought some desk chairs in Fayban on our way home.

We celebrated Grandma Redd's 90th birthday in Cardston at the Cobblestone inn. I was to have an x-ray on my gall bladder so didn't eat but feasted on the stories about the family. Two of Grandmother's half brothers came up from Idaho and Utah to help celebrate.

18th. We spent 3 days at Will's place tending the children while Peggy went to Calgary with Will.

Tues. morning I went to Med. Hat to an eye specialist and had that sty removed from my eye.

Hortense and LeDelle Roberts stopped to visit us on October 22. They had been burned out so we gave them some quilts and a couple of dresses.

I met Will at the airport in Lethbridge as he returned from his business trip to Montreal and Toronto.

Custa and Nita fed us an Indian supper.

Today we got our call to the singapore Mission to labor in Malaysia. That's really an exciting feeling. We studied the map and read about the plants and animals etc. It takes your breath away.

Sat. 7th Dad is having a scout party and wants to make it Japanese--food and wants to decorate with the things we brought from Japan and show our slides from there. We had this party down stairs. I made so much food that I had Will and family come in to help us eat up the left-overs.

During one summer I tried to lift a barrel of garbage onto the van and hurt my back. In town I mentioned this to Mrs. Freeson. She said go see the Ft. Specialist at the Hutterite colony in Cardston. I phoned and he made an appointment immediately. I had not talked to Smellie but went to get the apt. He worked me over and when I drove home I could turn my head without pain for the first time in years.

Back to Tues. Nov 10, 1981. Went to Cardston early to go to the eight O'clock session at the temple. Saw Grandma and left her all our letters on our call and went out to the Foot Doctor. He rubbed on a place on my foot and said it was my eyes--He said "Your liver's bad"--He wouldn't listen to anything but liver. I bought some herbs for liver and went to Lethbridge to get my driver's license renewed because we would not be at home later, had my teeth fixed the same day.

I got up on Remembrance day and decided to jump l00 times. I have heard that is the way to make the Lymph glands work. I jumped and got a terrible pain across my body just under the ribs and down the right side. We went to the cenotaph. Dad and the scouts were in the parade. We got home in time for me to go teaching with Mary Jensen. I asked for a blessing from Dad. My side is bad. Spent most of the day in bed. Dad went to the Stake Temple session.

Got a letter from Pres. Jones in Singapore. We don't have to learn a language. 17 Got last of typhoid shots. 18 called Joan. She had a miserable night.

On the 19th the family in Raymond were having a special supper for Smellie and me. We decided to go to the temple at 2 with Will and Peggy then we'd be in Cardston until after the dinner. When we went to the hospital Grandmother had been waiting for Phillip to pick her up for an hour. We took her to the dinner. Phillip was held up by an Indian blockade of the roads across the reserve.

Sunday Nov. 20 Smellie and I will talk in the ward before leaving on our mission. While at church we discovered Joan had had her daughter, Sandra Rose, yesterday morning. Surely hope she recovers quickly and can be with her family to raise her children.

I still don't feel the best in the world. I'm hoping and praying I can be ready to fulfil the mission we have been called to--I'm going to try walking for the mail now.

I'm improving--Thanks to Our Father.

Joan phoned Nov. 20 and told us her veins had collapsed and she had gone unconscious and her heart stopped beating. We can't express our gratitude enough for her life.

My eyes are jumpy. Yesterday we gave our talks. I surely enjoyed Smellie's talk. Had lunch at Peggy's. Grandmother came in to our house for the first time since we moved into town. Barbara and Roger and Joann were here. Tom and Cheryl came on Friday evening and spent the week end. Will and Tom gave the prayers in meeting. I'm so happy for such fine sons. Joan and family would have been here but Sandra did just what we wanted--(arrived) so we could see her and know that Joan was safely through.

On the 24th we got our last Cholera shot in Taber and discussed our wills with Tim. and went on to Tom's at Irma. 25 Went to Joan's. She came home with the baby at noon.

On our way home we picked up a Magrath girl and her guy--headed for Thunder Bay--hitch hiking. Sunday we went to Cardston to go to church with Grandmother in the auxiliary hospital. We visited Marj Moody and Jack Dunn.

Nov. 30 Custa had a farewell party at his home for us.

Tues. we finished up our wills, visited Will's family then rushed to Taber again to be set apart for the mission by Pres. Francis. Went back to Taber to sign

wills. Peggy bought me a purse for Christmas. We visited Olive Johnston to finish our Home Teaching.

We moved the piano out to Will's place today--also my two sewing machines and the calculator. I put \$2500.00 back in the B.C. Retirement Savings plan.

Joan wrote a beautiful song for us and Gilbert set it to music. They dressed in their new Christmas dresses and sang it for us. It was so beautiful it made tears come to your eyes.

Tomorrow we are supposed to fly to S.L.C. Faun will meet us at the airport. Wanda will pick us up and take us to Provo.

Mission diary starts here.

July 11 1983

We had a wonderful trip home. We first went to Bombay and took a tour of the city. We "got took" a few times. We got pictures of a cobra, then the man asked if we wanted to see a mongoose fight a snake. We thought "why not" so he turned the snake and mongoose loose. We watched a bit. The mongoose grabbed the snake by the head and twirled it around and around. We started to walk off. That wasn't the way it worked. He asked for a hundred rupees for his snake. The mongoose had killed it. Our driver said sixty rupees was a fair price so we paid that and went on our way a wee bit smarter. Our next stop was Goa. We visited the Gibbs who were laboring there. We were able to find Nita Coriea's father and visited with him. Nita and Custa are our Indian friends in Taber. We went to the Arabian Sea and watched them catch fish and carry them to the market. We went from Bombay back to New Delhi. I really wanted to see the Taj Mahal while we were in India. Our tickets got us into Delhi at 8 pm Saturday night and out again at 5 am on Monday. We had to give up the Taj idea. We spent the day in church.

I had one desire, that was to ride an elephant while we were in India. Here it was the last day in India and I hadn't even seen an elephant. We went out in the afternoon to walk around the streets. We saw the palace and the perpetual flame burning in honor of Mahat Ma Ghandi over his grave then walked on. About an hour before sundown a man came down the street riding an elephant. We asked if we could take a picture. He said, "Get on". He made the elephant get down then held his tail making a step for us and we climbed on his hawk, stepped on the tail and up over the back end on to a platform. Six of us rode. The platform seemed like the floor of a house that swayed and moved slowly from side to side.. It still amazes me that I got my ride.

We flew from Dehli to Frankfurt on a plane with only a few passengers so they invited us to move around and make ourselves comfortable. We did. We each took a row of middle seats and stretched out and slept for four hours at least out of the nine hour flight. From Frankfurt we went to Zurich, Switzerland where we looked around a bit and inquired about a few names of Elder Redd's people then decided to take the train to Berne where we took a hotel for the night. The next day we located the Mormon temple and took one session. It was a day for the Italian people.

From there we took the train to Lausanne where our daughter, Ellen, had labored a few years back. We also visited Geneva. We enjoyed seeing some of the things she had written about. Both Ellen and Tom, our youngest son, worked in Grenoble, France so we decided to see that place. We went up on the Bastille, We hunted up the church where they attended while there. The sea was so beautiful there and the country. We enjoyed it so much thinking of the kids who had walked those streets and ridden the same cars and chair lifts. We took a night train from Grenoble to Paris, where we went up in the Eiffel tower, saw the Arch de Triumphant, wandered around some of the streets, rode street cars, ate and went to the Notre Dame cathedral and then spent the rest of our time in the Louvre. From there we went to Bruxelles, Belgium. Brother Redd had spent a winter in the Canadian headquarters there during the second world war so this was very interesting to us. Our next stop was Rotterdam, Holland. During the war, Brother Redd took an armored car up through Holland so we followed that trail. We went to Nijmegan, Anrham, and Oldenzaal where Smellie had pent eight months in Hotel Stegan waiting for a ride home after the war was over. We were lucky enough to get a room in that hotel. Back to Rotterdam where we took a boat across the English channel through the north sea to Hull, England. It was a Sunday morning in Hull so we found the church. A lady invited us to dinner. I have never seen plates so loaded with food. We had Yorkshire pudding with all the trimmings. From Hull we took the train to Edinburgh, Scotland and toured the city. We stayed in the St. George Hotel. We took the train to Bathgate then a bus to Airdrie, Bath Gate and Midlothian where we found more of Brother Redd's people. From there we went to Dumfries. The couple that took our place in Hyderabad were from Dumfries and they gave us the address of a friend, Nita Ceighton who showed us around. First she put us to bed for a three hour rest then she showed us the sights. We visited Robbie Burns home and grave, we saw the Mentally retarded gardens and other beautiful spots. That evening we spent with the Denard girls, daughters of the couple that took our place in Hyderabad. From Dumfries we caught the midnight train to London. We first went to Woking where Smellie had been stationed before going to Europe during the war. We spent two days seeing what we could of London. This was a choice experience--so many sights--the changing of the guards at Buckingham palace,

St. James park, walked in Westminster, saw the Abbey, the tower of London that houses the crown jewels and for centuries a place of State intrigue and royal murders. While trying to walk from Trafalgar Square to Picadilly Circus we saw the National Art Museum so there went another half day. And that wasn't near long enough to see the displays. We went to Windsor through the Ann Bolyn gate and walked the beautiful grounds!! Went to Runnie Mead where the magno Carta was signed. We passed Eatons' college and saw the young school boys in tails..school clothes. We took the plane to Calgary from Heathrow. We took Timeair to Medicine Hat where the family met us--all but Ellen's. Kim was baptized the day after we arrived home. We all were together for that then Tom and Joan and families took off for Utah to go to summer school at BYU. Peggy had cleaned our house throughout. It was so nice and the grounds had been cleaned and cut. We tried to unpack and get back into the swing living for the next few days. Sunday we attended church then went to Cardston to visit Grandma Redd. She is in her 92nd year. Were pleased to find her as well as she was. We took Michael to the World Jamboree at Kananaskas where we spent a few days. We saw the opening ceremony--which was almost rained out. Scouts are hearty and they stayed with it in spite of the hail in the rain that fell. Which was really new to some of the scouts from the orient etc. After the jamboree we picked Michael up and took him to his folks in Utah where he attended some classes. We spent a day looking for a car. Bought a pick-up to chase back and forth to the farm and are now settled for a while--I guess.

From the Iowa Standard, Vol.111, No.43, p. 3; October 1843

One of Joe Smith's holy clan, as we see by our Southern papers, finding that the late disclosures of Mormonism by Bennett, had the effect of shaking the faith of his followers, determined to set his brain to work to invent a scheme how to recover the lost confidence of his congregation, cost what it may. For this purpose he procured a dove, and taught the bird to fly to him and eat from his ears, in which he placed the grain that served for his daily food. Having, as he thought, sufficiently trained the bird, he gave out that on the next Sabbath, after lecturing, he would prove by a miracle, that he was the prophet of God. The time came--the Meeting House was crowded--one of Erin's unsophisticated sons had been procured under promise of eternal secrecy to hide himself in the garret, and to let the messenger of peace fly at the word of command all was well arranged: with a countenance lit up with confidence of success, the Latter day Saint began his exhortation: pronounced Bennett a scoundrel: liar and imposter: and to prove his assertion he with a loud voice, called on Heaven to send down its holy spirit, in the form of a dove, as it appeared hovering over our Saviour when baptized in the river Jordan. A dead silence prevailed--each eye was fixed with superstitious awe on the excited prophet, who, with extended arms, loudly called for the Holy Ghost. Again and again he called, but still no answer was made. At last, fearful

that his Hibernian agent in the loft had not heard him, he fairly bellowed forth, as he frantically clapped his hands, and stamped his feet, "Holy Ghost, appear".

Then lo! and behold the Irishman's red phiz protruded through the crack of the ceiling: and he addressed the discomfited prophet in this wise: "Arrah your reverence, how can the Holy Ghost be after making his appearance? Hasn't the cat ate him?"

While I was attending the Brigham Young University I worked in the Library to earn my tuition. I was indexing old news papers. When I ran across this article I thought it was so funny that I made a copy of it to keep.

Jan 10, 1981 to Ellen trip home

How are you? Now that doesn't mean the same thing it did when I was ten. That was the way to start a letter then. Surely hope all is well in the little house you live in.

Today is a priesthood session at the temple so Dad is there with Gerry Bohnet. He works at the temple and couldn't seem to find someone to take his place. I slept in but kept thinking about you.

We arrived at the airport here at 8:20 Monday morning - wait- I'll go back to Tokyo. We got a slow train when we left you and arrived at Shinjuku about 4:15.-Eno-anyway- Everything went well. We took the sky liner out of there. We had nine hundred yen left when we left Japan--We ate on the plane and the show was good enough to look at. By the time they brought the declaration slips it was breaking dawn and we hadn't closed our eyes. It took from 8:20 to 9:00 for the plane to get its turn to disembark--from 9 to 11:45 we were getting ourselves out of the airport and getting some money. We didn't have to rush and besides it was too hot to hurry.

We took the airport bus to town. We're plenty sleepy. I stayed awake until home evening (which consisted of the first missionary lessons for her foster children) I nearly made it through them.

Tuesday we went to a ten o'clock session at the temple then wandered around the visitor's center until nearly time for the 4 o'clock session just time to rush home and back for the session. We gabbed with Bohnets until late. The next morning at six Dad had me out of bed on the way to the temple with my eyes still shut. Talk about jet lag. It sure hit me. We hadn't slept from Monday morning in Tokyo until Monday night in Hawaii. Crossed the international date line so there was a full 24 hour day in between morning and night.

Vicky and Sam were there. Sam went to the ocean and got a lobster for us. We got the cook book out and found we heated the water--(boiling) then dropped the lively lobster into the pot. That kind of business sort of took away my lobster apatite. Anyway I got to enjoying it more the longer I stayed with it. We put some of the meat in the fridge. Dad cracked all the legs and took out that meat.

Tuesday night we went to a basket ball game--BYU against a Baptist team from Kansas--Got beat---Basket ball in the heat of July--but it's winter anyway.

Saw B.Y.U campus Wed. Tended kids Thursday and took in a temple session that night.

Friday we got up in the rain and started on our adventure alone. We went to the fisherman's wharf and caught a sight seeing boat to Pearl Harbor. We have slides of that. You'll need to see them. The "Utah" and the "Arizona" are there-rusted hulks sticking out of the water. That mess was much worse than it seemed over the radio and it seemed terrible then to me. They had dug a channel for boats to come into Pearl Harbor. After Pearl Harbor we went to Waikiki beach then went to the largest market in the world and bought a machine--It's called Mammy lock. It cost \$360.00.

We have our seats booked to leave Monday at 11:20. We thought about a trip to the other Islands but are too scotch. It would cost at least \$150.00 and we doubt it would be all that different so decided not to go.

Gerry and Sydna may have ideas for today. Sydna is taking a Hula class this semester.

Guess we linger around L.A. for a while then head for Canada. I suppose we'll have duty to pay on most of our stuff but I guess it won't hurt us too much. Surely hope our boxes arrive at Portland before we do.

Feb 5 1981

We arrived home Tuesday the third of Feb to stay. After we had spend Thursday, Jan 22 with Eldredges in Portland--They took us to Mr. Eldredges' school and we just kept riding around the mountains. We ate dinner at Vernonion or some such a name then went to Saute Island and stopped at a lumber mill. If I didn't remember the Island right, it was the place Eldredges lived on for a year. After a good day with them we went to their home and got freshened up then went to Eugena's. From there to Ira's house. Sounded like it was the first time your Dad had been in Ira's home.

Friday morning we got away from Portland and drove 898 miles to our door. Little splatters of rain were hitting the windshield as we drove in at three in the morning. We slept in Saturday morning---what a messy blizzard we got up to. No snow any of the way home. We just came in ahead of it. We thought of driving to Tom's because he had called Eugena to let us know Milissa Lou had arrived Jan 20. Ate dinner with Redd's on Kevin's birthday and went to Irma the next morning. Stayed a week--saw Melissa blessed--picked up Sims in Edmonton.

I made a shawl for Cheryl the day of the blizzard. I think I'll make another so she can have a change.

I think I'll start over. After I wrote you in Hawaii we went to church again and Monday Vicky's husband drove us to the airport. We arrived in L.A. in good time and in the process of putting things in a locker we missed my little green overnight bag. We even got the locker man to open some lockers to see if it and been misplaced in there. It wasn't so we went off to RaOla's without one stitch of clothes for me to clean up in. All my stuff was in that bag. We rented a car and drove out to her place. It was late when we arrived. We spent two days at her house then in the process went to a place called Pic-n-save. That's the place to shop. Everything was new and within the range of your pocket book. I bought a lovely oriental jacket to flash around here at home. I paid four dollars for it. We went to thrift stores to buy me some pants. We got black ones like Peggy gave me for four dollars. Peggy paid eight for the ones she gave me for a birthday gift that had got lost in the bag. We spent a night with Earl--Dad's cousin in L.A. He took our rented car back and took us around the temple--it was closed till March so we didn't get a session. He took us to Fox studio around the set of "Hello Dolly", also down town.

We stopped at Seattle and got eight sessions there. Spent a night in a Six motel.

When we flew into Vancouver it was foggy. We flew around trying to find a hole in the fog for a half hour then went out to Abbotsford and landed there. They bussed us back to Vancouver airport so we could go through customs.

We spent most of our time at Maureen's place. She is expecting twins in April. Her husband and Tiffany were in Salt Lake City.

Oh, by the way--when we got back to the airport in L.A. to come to Canada we found the lost bag. Someone had taken it by mistake and returned it to the airport.--So I have two pair of black slacks--nothing had been touched in the bag.

After this trip we spent the summer and received a call to the Singapore mission. We entered the M.T.C. in December.

Dec. 19 1981

Dear Ones, I'm sure it's time to write. This morning we went to the temple then walked to the Wilkinson Center for Dad to get a hair cut. We wandered in the book store and heard someone say "Uncle Smellie". A girl came up and introduced herself as Robert Miller's wife. It was raining and Robbie brought us back to the center just in time for dinner. Our call was to serve in the Singapore mission in Malaysia. Read an article about Malaysia in the National Geographic.

I met people from Roosevelt who say they have 2 wards in Neola. It was so small before you didn't know which farm was called the town. They knew people I knew when I was a teenager.

Yesterday morning when we went into the administration building to get breakfast we could smell smoke. The day proceeded with a seminar on "Alcohol Intervention" from eight to four--at 15 to eleven the fire alarm started ringing. They evacuated the building. We walked around and looked at the fire trucks then into our apartment. Our teacher of the discussions came along. He started us out on a few phrases of Indonesia. He said it was the same as the Malaysian. Now I have that to worry about. At one we got back to our seminar. some cuke - well crazy fool- had tried to burn the building down. The seminar was wonderful. It was to help anyone work with people with alcohol problems-sort of tried to point the way-I don't think I've felt the spirit stronger, in a class than that one--It seemed so silly to sit and cry over a lesson but lots of us did.

We met Elder Streeter in the hall and he was glad to hear of you and Tom, Ellen.

Christmas is coming so soon--That's the day we fly to Tokyo--26 we arrive at 4:30 p.m. We leave there on the 31st of Dec. I'm excited--I'm scared--I'm happy--I'm humble--I'm a jumble of feelings. I want to be well and be where the Lord wants us at the right time.

Sure love all of you...Happy Christmas,, Mother and Dad

July 26 1983

We received our releases from the Singapore mission on June 9th, 1983.

Aug 29 1983

The family--Hornbergers--Sandra the youngest were in Medicine Hat to meet us---Also Tom, Cheryl and Melissa--William, Peggy and Kim, Kevin Jason and Steven--It was a thrill to have them there. Tom had his camera. We spent the night together opening boxes etc.

Kim was baptized the next day, June 25th and Sunday confirmed. Joan, Cheryl drove to Provo to summer school, with all the children but Michael--Tom Gill and Michael went back to Wainwright--where they finished school then came back on June 30th and left Michael with us. We took him to Calgary to meet his scout troop on July 4th then went on to Edmonton to see Gert. We stayed with David Redd then went out to the opening ceremonies of the World Scout Jamboree at Kananaskis. When we came home hail was piled up like snow banks. We had no serious damage. The wind carried a 500 gal fuel tank a half mile away. It tore the big door off the garage but no crop damage. When we got home Peggy had cleaned the house all through. It was so nice.

On 15th of July we went back to Calgary to pick up Michael and take him to Utah to his parents. He had a computer workshop on Monday so we drove all the way down on Saturday and stayed at Roys. Back home to talk in Grassy Lake ward.

Gerry And Sydna Bohnet were in Calgary. They were to go back to Hawaii on the 8th so on the 7th of August we drove to Calgary and spent the day with them. When we got home we got word Aunt Pauline had passed away. We went to Cardston and spend Monday evening with Jack Humphries and Waltons who have been called to India. Leavetts were there also. We were supposed to talk to Stake Priesthood--report--I had an eye appointment also more on the dental canal (root) We did the dental work and left for Utah for Pauline's funeral. Drove hard, cleaned up at Faun's and went to the funeral. It was a good thing we had a new car for this fast drive, we also got a second hand pick-up. After the funeral we went to a party at Hazel Gibbs. Pres. Bishop of the Rapid City mission was there. We spent the night at Eva's then to Provo. Ellen and Dave arrived in Portland the 8th of August to go on to B.Y.U.

We made at least three appointments with the stake Pres. before we reported to him on September 6th.

Went to Raymond and gave a fireside to the special Interest group. On 25 of September, we talked in church at Bow Island then rushed to Raymond where we had a gathering of Smellie's family

They finished combining on September 24.

Peggy's brother was to return from Kowloon off his mission to S.L.C. on October 5. With conference on the 1st and 2nd of October, we decided to go down and spend some time with Ellen and Dave. We missed seeing them in August so September 30 Peggy farmed Kim and Kevin out and Will, Peggy, Steven and Jason, Dad and I started for Provo. We slept at Aunt Nellie's at Pocatello both going and coming. Listened to conference on the way and were at Ellen's and Swensen's to see the afternoon session. Ellen's stuff is still packed in boxes. She made the children's beds on the boxes--makes it nice. Will and Peggy took the car part of the time. Sunday we saw Gary and Erva. Monday was my birthday so we spent the day visiting my folks. Peggy and Will met Gary in S.L.C. on Wednesday.

Friday my brothers and sisters had the family dinner. We had to rush home to give a fireside--when we got here both Guin and Barbs phoned to say Grandma Redd had been quite ill during the week but was better and eating and drinking Saturday morning.

We decided to go to Cardston Sunday morning and see her.--If all was well we would drive home again and on to Wainwright for Thanksgiving dinner on Monday 10th. We picked up Barbara and were really shocked when we went into to Grandma's room to find them giving her oxygen. We stayed there. Tried to phone Will--no answer. He left after church for Wainwright. We phoned Joan and found out his plan.

We took shifts sitting with Grandma night and day. She passed away on Wednesday morning about 3 minutes to seven. Tuesday night at midnight we were all called in to the hospital. The family stayed until 5 in the morning then went home to get some rest. Dad and I stayed on. She passed away on our shift. We did all the heavy planning during the night we were at her bedside all together before her death. After they took Grandmother away we all went to Leth. where we made funeral arrangements and picked out the coffin. Went out as a family for a meal then separated for our homes. Dad worked on the farm Thursday. Friday we went to the viewing in Leth.

Saturday we all left at 9:30 for Raymond. Joan and Gilbert arrived here on Friday night. The family gathered at 11:15. The public followed and the funeral started at one. There was really a sweet spirit at her funeral. She was buried beside Grandpa Redd in the Temple City Cemetery.

Sunday our family was together in Grassy for a meal. 22 people fill our little house full. We gave a fireside in Medicine Hat that night. Hunters from our other couples mission was there.

Monday I went to Taber for more teeth work. Saw Joan and family off for Wainwright. We rested a bit then hopped in the car and went to Hunters just in time for a Home Evening--singing hymns.

Oct 23 1983

Hunters didn't make the temple trip. We did and stayed over night with Gallups. We visited Ormus Bates, Helma Barten, Lyle and Iona Piepgrass and Marj Moody before we went to Karl's and Fern Williams for dinner. We stopped in Taber on the way home and had a new tire put on. Did Home teaching before coming on home.

Dad helped at the farm Friday . I had my tooth fixed. We went to the closing out sale of the Co op. Dad helped put up the garage door at the farm.

Tuesday we spent the day at home. Dad was called to a meeting at 6 at night so we packed up and after the meeting went on to Lethbridge. We figured we'd beg a bed at Maries', but they weren't home so we drove on to Nanton and took a motel. Slept in

Wednesday so we could call on Murray Wilde at Calgary hospital at 11:am. We visited with Brenda on the way up there. Visited with Vonda and Rex Saunders. He's leaving tomorrow for London for a special heart operation. Bp. Saunders will go with him. We visited a Bullock after that we started to Wainwright. We didn't make up our minds which way to go until we picked up an Indian couple who were trying to get to Red Deer so we went north to Camrose then on. Tom said the builder told him he just as well have the key to his house. The men moved all the heavy stuff to the house then Tom and family slept there that night. That took the pressure off to hurry back from Flin Flon to help Tom move. Thursday we went to Flin Flon and stayed at Angells for four nights. Friday Gerry took us out in his plane to Sturgeon river to fish. We did with poles and each of us caught 2 big fish. We had at least a couple of fish on the line that got away. I caught no 3 that was a snake fish and Gerry threw it back in the water. We visited the saints and attended District conference. We went to the beach and watched and helped a little. MacDarmots were stretching 8 moose hides--also softening them. While there I took Gerry Angell's appointment with a foot specialist. She worked me over then we bought some fried chicken and rushed home to eat before the Angells had gone a dozen different ways. Dad and Gerry went to hockey. We saw Janet swim, Dawn play volleyball and Carol on skates and Karen went to Brownies. Tuesday Nov. 1st Gerry flew us up north to his camps. He has four camps of four men each working up in the islands. We'd land on the lakes and leave groceries and pick up orders. We picked up mail tied to a post in plastic bags then fly again and land and do the same things again. When we got home William had been trying to call us. They wanted to know if we could baby sit while they went on a U.G.G. meeting to Regina. We did. They got home Friday night. Friday I got an impression of my teeth. I'll have a crown on the tooth I had the root canal on.

On Nov. 11 we went to a wedding reception for Bruce Mendenhall, Alma's youngest son. Stayed in Raymond over night then went to the temple the next day. Nov. 20 Joan phoned that she was in labor. We drove to Wainwright after church. The baby, Hermie Kay was born about 10 am. It was so nice to find Joan feeling pretty well and the baby looked so good. Cheryl had the children when we arrived there.

The branch sent supper in every night. We had so much food. Joan got along fine and came home Friday at noon. We left Sunday and went to Pincher Creek to see Vibert and Retta Woodruff before they left for their mission to India. We went to Raymond but found that Alma had left for Provo the day before. Did a few things at home then rushed back to Wainwright so Dad could help in the basement and I could help with the cooking.

Sun Fu and wife will be here tomorrow, 17th.

I have been knitting scarfs and sweaters. I have a hard time getting toques out of the machine now. I'll keep trying. Went to Grassy Lake Christmas pageant December 15. It was "The Best Christmas Pageant Ever". They did a good job on it. I just read the book while at Joan's.

We phoned Cannons and Sun Fu had to change his trip to the 16th. We met them in Calgary. They about froze walking from the airport to our parked car. We bought extra

clothes to keep them warm. We went to the farm and Sun Fu went on the skis behind the tractor. It was -30 degrees--they really felt the cold. Leavitts came to visit. We saw the pageant. Monday Leavetts left for home and we started to Great Falls to put them on the plane to Salt Lake City. By the time we reached Gr. Falls Dad and Sun Fu had decided to drive and let me ride the plane with Geok Lee. David Gessel met us and took us to his home where I intended to stay because Clark Gessel wouldn't be home until the next day but he phoned about nine that he'd arrive home that night so I called Faun and asked her to come and pick me up. She did. Dad phoned from Pocatello that they would stay there over night because of bad weather and drive on the next day. At two the next day I began to worry so phoned Gessels and they had good news. Dad and sun Fu had arrived and Dad was on his way to Fauns. We drove on to Provo and visited with Dave and Ellen. Thurs. morning we went to the temple---I had forgotten my recommend but they let me go in to witness Geok Lee's and Sun Fu's sealing. After the sealing we went to Rex Nielsens home where they were entertaining the Singaporians. We really enjoyed that. Dad and Sun Fu brought Aunt Nellie down with them. We stopped a minute at Provo then on to Leeds to visit Pres. and Sister Jones. We went on to St. George to sleep. Friday 23 we drove to Mesa and left Aunt Nellie at Marie's home. Stayed at Robin's then drove to Palm Springs, looked around there a bit then went over 74 to Hemet--stopped on the mt. to change oil. Christmas Eve 3 cars took 100 gifts to deliver around the city. It was raining. They would put the present down and ring the bell and run. We went with Dales mother in law.

We opened our gifts on Saturday night. Sunday we went to a short church service, ate dinner with RaOla then started out for Oceanside where we met Peggy's cousin who gave us the key to the apt we were to stay in while Swensens went on a family boat cruise to Mexico. We had the children for four days.

Tuesday morning we went to San Diego where we met the boat and visited with Peg and Will. The children went on the boat. We went to Sims. Sims took us to the Price Club to shop. We traded Joan's blanket in, bought food chopper and pop corn popper also food. It was fun to shop there. Prices were so low.

Wednesday we got away fairly early to meet Sun Fu at Disney land. We saw Knotts Berry farm. We waited until nine o'clock to take the monorail ride to see the lights of the parade. We left Sun Fu at our apt. and took the children to go to the beach but decided to see Susan instead. We picked up Sun Fu and wife and went to Old Mexico. I stayed in the car with Steve while they looked around and bought a few souvenirs--small violin--.

In our apt. the children wrote "Welcome Home, Dad and Mom" and put Christmas lights around it. Then they had a birthday treasure hunt for Will. Dad got back from L.A. about 6:30 or 7:00 then we left for Hemet. The Swensens came to that apartment to stay that night so we decided it would be better if we stayed at RaOla's. On Saturday, the last day of the year, RaOla took us to see a market and a movie set of the old town.--shooting fight etc. then to RaOla's where we watched a Video of the family reunion last April. Sent the old year out with noise and snacks.

Got up Sunday and went to church with RaOla and Darrel. At home we wrote out New Year's resolutions and were reading them when Vern took a seizure. We went to L.A. to find LeChamants and Chongs to see them off on their plane for Hawaii. We slept at LeChimenants - watched the Rose bowl parade for a while on T.V. then started to find Eugene's place. We looked for an hour or two before we parked and watched the tail end of the parade. Found Eugene's and visited then to Jan Snyder's where we spent the night. Visited Aunt Mary then headed back to RaOla's and Wednesday drove to Mesa to pick up Aunt Nellie. Had a good visit with loved ones in Mesa before leaving for Tuba City and points in Southern Utah which are connected with the Redd family. Utah was really piled with snow and the fog was bad but the roads were good all the way home. When we stopped in S.L.C. at Elaine's place they were having a "cousin's get together" at Jean's place. She is Uncle Athol's daughter. Bonnie, Uncle John's daughter was there. Emily a granddaughter of Aunt Ruth, Virginia and Elaine daughters of Aunt Mary Cooper and Smellie of Irene--Only Aunt Gunivere was not represented. Stayed over night with Aunt Nellie on the way home.

Feb 8 1984

Monday we rushed to Lethbridge to get some things Dad paid for at Vazaries. Ladders etc.. We went to Lethbridge on Saturday to May Dell Palmers funeral also Maurice Cooper. While there paid for the stuff so took the pick-up on Monday to get it. We saw a tub that should be good for Tom's basement. We called Tom when we got home and found we had the wrong tub. Had to take it back and exchange the right for a left hand tub. We took two of our mission book "The Great Canadian Mission" with us and went to Diamond City and gave one to Mac Russell and wife and to Irvin Olsen and wife then after a good visit we went to Picture Butte and looked up Florence Bradley--we used to call on her in Cranberry Portage. We tried to see her while we were in Flin Flon in October but found she had moved out here.

On Jan 11 we went to Wainwright for Joan's birthday also Melissa's. Tom took Cheryl to Edmonton for an exploratory operation. Dad and I took Melissa with us to Ken Batemans. he told us all about his recent heart operation.

Will and Peg came home from their extended stay in Utah and Cal. We went to the line to meet them then rushed a radio back to Lethbridge then hurried to Raymond in time to pick up the tub and basin for Tom and Cheryl. Made arrangements for the trip to the Vet's reunion at Vegerville. The reunion was on the 24,5,6th of February. We took that in and dropped in on Joan a minute. It was good to see how those vets cared for each other. We left Sunday morning and had church in Calgary. Got a radio number of our own now.

Went to Raymond and brought home their scraper to help with the land leveling. We attended a Senior Citizen's party while there which was very nice.

I bought a mini trampoline and used it about 10 days then my back and insides got to hurting so much I couldn't lay down or get up. Went to the Doctor He said I had a partly crushed vertebra. I've been lying around groaning with that for a week or so now.

Angells phoned they couldn't come 'til Monday because of storms. They went horse back riding at Eugene's. They went to Lethbridge to swim. Borrowed Will's truck and went to B.C to ski. They had first planned to go to S.L.C. to ski but the weather stopped that. I had to let Ellen know I couldn't come down because of my back. Dad and Will are fixing machinery for Spring work. They are moving some dirt to make ponds form spring run-off. We gave firesides in the First and Third Taber wards--also in a primary in Taber.

April 23

On March 30th we phoned Ellen and Dave and found they had a new baby boy born March 28th Cameron Scott.

Cookie Odagaard's wedding was to be on the 5th. We missed it. Rains came Friday, 6th at noon we left for Utah. Took Aunt Nellie to Idaho with us then on to S.L.C. Heard most of the conference and attended the Jones Singapore reunion. Visited Reamsbottoms and Ellen and headed back home. Joan was here with the little ones when we got home.

I went to 7 Persons on May 8th to talk to the elementary school. Had a real good time there talking to the children and renewing old acquaintances.

On the 10th of April Dad and I drove to Idaho Falls for Ruth's(Indian girl) wedding. Her mother Grace who is the Relief Society president was there with her husband John. I was really surprised to see Sunita and Santosh and Sanjay--all from Hyderabad. We visited a bit then hurried to the temple for the wedding. The Idaho Falls temple President had Grace and John come into his office while the wedding went on. After the sealing we all went out to the Coltman church across the street from Randolfs(the in-laws) and had a big feed---wedding breakfast. We bought groceries and cashed a money order. Left money for wedding presents. Went back to the church for an open house reception. After congratulations and a light lunch we left to get a few miles behind us on the road towards home. About as soon as we got on the highway we picked up a hitch-hiker who was on his way to California by way of highway 90 through Butte so we drove until 1:30 and reached Butte--let the hitch hiker out and got us a room for the rest of the night.

After Dad had gone to the farm Monday morning Tom phoned and asked me to come and stay with Melissa while he took Cheryl to the hospital for a D & C. I phoned Dad to tell him--grabbed a few things and took off. Stopped in Medicine Hat and picked up some over ripe fruit etc. for Joan. Cheryl wasn't in the hospital long. Wednesday I painted pictures with Kathaleen, Laurel and Karen until ten at night and I had to give up. We got up early the next day to finish the pictures. We all got a thrill out of their pictures. When the kids had left for school I took off for home. Got home in time for Jason's birthday dinner.

Sunday May 20 Kevin Torrie gave his mission report in Grassy and Torries invited us out. We went to church in Grassy then out to Torries for dinner. We left there in time to get to Sterling to see Leon and Edna Cahoon before they left for Provo to go to India on their 3rd Couples mission.

21st day of May Joan ran a digging fork through her foot. She phoned and told me about it. I told her I'd come up to help the next day if it was OK with Dad. She said she felt so much better. My back was bad so I decided not to drive up.

Elizabeth Strong phoned and invited us to a dinner honoring Marie on Fri 25. We got to her place before we realized it was Marie's 72 birthday.

They finished the seeding this week and did a bit of reseeding because of wind.

Evening of 26 we had conference-- on keeping our covenants. Peggy rode up with us. We went fasting to that meeting and again to conference Sunday--fasting for rains for the dry lands. After conference we saw Pam Edwards. She invited us to her place for supper. Wes and Hazel Jensen were there also Cheryl and Gary Hega and 3 children. We had a lovely dinner.

June 1st 1984

Rain enough to stop dirt moving. We left about one for Provo to be there for Scott's blessing. We drove to Boulder and stayed in the hotel we used to stay in years ago. I think we paid \$12.00 for a room. Went to Aunt Nellie's for lunch and to Faun's for supper then on to Ellen's. About ten we went to Wanda's to sleep. Visited Gene the next day on Roy's lawn. We heard about his accident on the motor bike. He says he isn't riding them again--broke his arm and is really skinned up but is grateful to be alive. He was in the hospital one week(was brought to Utah Valley by helicopter). Sunday went to church with Dave and Ellen where Scott was blessed. Spent that night at Roy's and the next night at Aunt Nellies. June 5th we were at Randell by six. We ate a bite there. John, Grace, Sunita, Santosh and Sanjay and Dad and I all piled in our car and headed for Seattle to try to get visas so they could come into Canada with us.

We drove past the Boise temple. Today June 5 was John's and Graces 32 wedding anniversary so we celebrated in a MacDonalds--"Big Mac and two ice creams--sunday and malt". We found a room in Ellensburg. The price wasn't a high a most places.

June 6th we found the Canadian consulate in Seattle and ask for visas after we had waited our turns--after a while they told us to come back early in the morning so we went to the six motel where we stayed while attending the Seattle temple. We stopped at the temple and saw Brother and Sister Johnson who had been our District presidents in India. They stayed with us five days in Hyderabad. Dad and Brother Johnson attended to business while Sister Johnson and I enjoyed ourselves and visited investigators and saints.

We spent a leisurely afternoon at the motel. The next morning rushed to the consulate and got visas for the folk to come to Canada. We bent up the front corner of the car in Seattle. As soon as we got visas we headed north. Had no trouble at the line. Went to Jeannie's then to Phyllis where we spent the night. We decided Grace should cook the rice. She would know how much her family would eat. Plenty. It turned into 3 big kettles full. One burned up. We ate most of the biggest kettle and took the other pot on our trip with us and ate it at the motel.

June 8th got on our way up the Fraser canyon--saw we were headed for Salmon Arm so visited Rosses who had been in India. Got a room at Golden for \$51.00 and ate our rice.

June 9--Got out early so we would get to the ice fields and back to Grassy in one day. We drove to the Athabacan Glacier. They climbed on it. Got cold and sick--Saw snow falling out of the sky--built two snow men--waded in snow--saw 2 mt. sheep, a moose and quite a few elk--no bears. Decided to drive through Calgary----Got lost getting out of the city and finally on our way home. We bought Kentucky fried chicken....The day before we stopped at a dairy Queen. We got to Grassy before too late on Saturday night. Cleaned clothes and went to church in Grassy. Peg and Will ate dinner with us then we went to a benefit supper for Ken DeCuna's blind daughter. Met Ferros and Custa and Nita. Monday morning the kids went to school. At 4 we all went to the farm to ride horses and tractors. Sanjay tried to stop a horse by grabbing a pole. He fell off and hurt his arm. We went to Leavitts for a supper. A companion of Ruth came from Calgary to meet Ruth's parents. Brother Leavitt took Sanjay to the hospital to see about his arm. We came on home. Leavitts took the Indian folks back to S.L.C.

We tended Will's kids at the farm while they went to the temple. About six I got a phone call from our house from Faun and Grant so I rushed in to town to fix a meal for them. Peggy invited us out for dinner Friday. Faun said she would like to see Joan. I was anxious to see her because of the report on her pituitary gland. She had phoned me earlier. As we finished eating I told them I'd like to take Faun to Joan's. Will said for Dad to come so away we went. Stopped in Med. Hat for a bit of food. About half way to Shuler a lady was stopped. The lugs had came partway off her car. Dad and Grant worked on it for about an hour then we shepherded her into Shuler. We got to Joan's about nine. They had waited supper for us. Tom and Cheryl were there too. Joan's oldest girls and Dena went to Tom's to sleep. Dad had tire trouble so bought 2 new tires, and a permanent for Faun to put in Joan' hair. We came home on 36. Attended church in Taber. Dena is still excited about her mission. She's as good natured as her Dad. At noon on Monday Faun and Grant decided to leave and visit Dena's companion in Lethbridge then go to Cardston to the temple and leave for home from there. I'd have gone with them to the temple but I didn't want them to have to drive me back home and miss Glacier National Park. Spent an hour at Chamberlain school showing the kids pictures of U.S. and Canada.

Dad was at home all day so we moved the little fridge downstairs and the big one off the porch into the kitchen.

Grassy Lake sports day. Peggy and Will invited us to watch. We went over after we had worked around the place putting screens on and transplanting flowers etc. We dressed for town--Asel Palmer's funeral was in Lethbridge so after watching the ball game a few minutes we went to his funeral. As we left the church we stopped to speak to some people. They were Indians from Hyderabad. They invited us to their home. We went to Jack's and Marie's after the Indian visit. 29th of June I drove Dad to Taber to ride to the scout camp with Ray Sheen.

I made quilt blocks to exchange at the reunion. Gilbert and Joan came. G. and J. and Michael went to Cardston. Laurel tended the cross baby. Michael couldn't make contact with his friend about computers until five so they were late getting home. Joan and Gilbert got a session at the temple. Monday we had a Home Evening down at the river. Joan and Gilbert shopped at Lethbridge the next day. They took the kids to Waterton for an outing. They saw goats, rode in boats and canoes and climbed the mountains then went to the scout camp at Bird's Eye ranch. We drove up for the campfire from Grassy and helped bring the children home. Tom and Cheryl came. Dad and Tom tried to fix things at the river for the family reunion July 13 14 & 15. Everything went well until Saturday afternoon when Tom went parachuting and broke his leg--small bone and an ankle bone. Marj and Reed took him to Taber hospital--Dad went with them. Cheryl and I followed in my car. We stayed with him picking out cactus until they took him into the room at about 5:20 to set his leg. We then waited in the T.V. room until about time for him to come out. We visited with him a while then went back to the river in time to hear part of the program. Sunday had a testimonial with the family at the river then part of us came in to Grassy to church. Everyone left for home but Will and Peg and Dad and I. Dad and I stayed at the river over night. Brought the bus home and cleaned it so Will and Peg could take it on a vacation.

We brought Tom home from the hospital on Monday--Rented crutches. Saturday morning Tom got in the back of their camper with Cheryl and Melissa in front. They drove past Med. Hat. then parked and waited for the wind to let up before they drove on home. Erva phoned they would come tomorrow. We have our July 24th party at the Legion park tomorrow.

I decided if I were going to Utah I'd better get on the way. I went through Butte to Pocatella where I spent the night with Aunt Nellie then took her to S.L.C. with me. Friday morning we picked cherries at Joy's place. Got 80 qts. We got 21 qts. processed then drove up the canyon to the Hill reunion. We thought we were an hour late but we were the first ones there. Had a good visit with Roy's family. Hermie Jo, Harold and Zella, Joy and Garth and family and Alta and Welby came. All the brothers and sisters had some of their families there. Ellen and I left about six to go home and finish processing the cherries. We were delightedly surprised to find David had finished them.

Visited the families there. Dave is helping with services at the state mental hospital. Ellen had chicken for supper and the kids were all packed for the trip to Canada. Monday July 30 we left and saw Sydna and Liz and Danielle a minute. They were in Provo for the summer.. We stayed at Faun's an hour or so then picked up Aunt Nellie at

Elaines. Jay wasn't too well. We started home. First lap-Pocatello where we spent a hot, hectic night. We left Pocatello early, ate lunch at Cascade and were home by 6 or 6:30. Ellen spent about a week around here. August 7, we drove to Wainwright. Stopped in Oyen by a tree made of welder's scraps.

On August 9th Laurel and I drove to Edmonton for bread and stuff for the reunion. 10th Will and Peggy arrived. August 11. Had a good time--breakfast all together--the men made breakfast. We had a treasure hunt--good clues---Had fish pond. Then a scavenger hunt. In the afternoon at three we had wiener roast out front. All we could eat---marsh mellows and two freezers of homemade ice cream. Sunday church in Wainwright then all of us including Colleen's family went to Joan's for dinner. There were about 34 of us.

Monday we had a meeting at Tom's. Ate lunch of hot dogs and fruit salad and ice cream. We left and picked up our stuff at Joans and headed home. Sean and Heidi rode with Will. Michael and William came to Grassy so Dad could go to Provo with me to take Ellen back and be there for Dave's graduation. Tuesday July 14 I got away from here by 5:30 and went to the temple to meet Sister Hood. Dean and Joyce Litchfield were at the temple so I made an apt to see them in Woolford. Met Riene Hood after the second session, went to Blaine's and Minnies but missed them. The car had the lights on all morning so it's battery was dead. I walked to Blaine's. Boyd Roberts was there. He's building a home next to Blaine. Saw Boyd and Dorothy. Boyd took Bill Tanners' jumper and got me started so I ran out to Leavitts to charge the battery. Had a good visit with them and got back to the two o'clock session. I picked Riene Hood Brinkerhoff up at the Flemingo motel and drove to the church ranch where De Ray Jensen lives. He married Cheryl Litchfield. Visited about two hours--answered all the questions I could about India --visited with Reine all the way home. Went to the field. She rode the tractor. I took her in to visit Lloyd and Rachel. The next day saw slides, went to the farm and got away to take her to Med Hat to put her on the 6:30 bus for Regina. Got the H.P sauce Erva phoned for and came home.

Tom planned to surprise Dave and Ellen and be at Dave's graduation but he changed his mind and came here to help take some of the family back to Provo. That night Dad decided he'd better not go because Swensens were coming for a visit and the crops needed swathing.

Aug 16 1984

Piled into the car and truck about 4:am and headed for Utah. Sean and Heidi with Tom and Ellen, Ira and Scott with me. We went by White Hall. We arrived there in good time in the evening. Tom and I went to Wanda's to sleep.

Aug. 17

Tom and Cheryl and Dave and myself went to the nine o'clock convocation. After that session Tom and Cheryl left for San Diego. I decided to see Jack Brinkerhoff receive his degree at one. Heidi went with me. We found him before the session started and wished him well then stayed until he received his diploma then left and went to Dave's which was at 3.

After Dave's graduation I rushed to the ice cream place and got some for Eldredges to celebrate on. Then hurried to Mapleton where Erva had a corn supper for me. I gave her the H.P. sauce. Sheila was having a party for a friend and was having trouble.

The next day I shopped for soap and a bible, hard buns for our family dinner. Went to Dave's and Ellen's. They took my car and went to the zoo in S.L.C. and left the car at Faun's.

I caught a ride to Faun's with Wanda and RaOla. We had a good gab fest. Faun had photographers come out and take pictures of the family. The twelve children of the family were there and Erma, Welby, LaVetta, Nila, Zella, Dean, Garth and Grant were there. Just Smellie, Max and Darrel were missing. We ate and enjoyed each others company for about two hours. Then Dave and Ellen came and we spent the night there.

Sunday Aug 19 we went to Faun's ward. After dinner went to Provo to load the car to go home. I called Tim Wheeler and told him I'd pick him up in the morning at 5 am. We had plans to see Litchfields off at the airport but I gave that up and had Faun call to let them know we would not get there. Came home in good time. Michael and Tim spent the evening summer fallowing.

Aug. 21 Stephen and Valoy Lai were to arrive today but they phoned they would not get here until tomorrow. Gilbert and Harold came to pick up William, Michael and Tim. They stayed over night then got off for Wainwright. He only took half his soap home.

Aunt Fern, Lura, and Vilo came to Guins for dinner. Marie, Barbara and Gertrude also. They invited me out. I told them I was waiting for Lais. They suggested to pin a note on the door so I did and ran out and ate and heard Kevin play one of his own pieces. It was nice. I left to be here when the Lais arrived. They phoned that they had had car trouble, by Taber(I thought) so I called Dad and got the truck from the farm and went to Taber. Phoned from Taber and found they had been stalled in Warner. I met them about ten miles this side of Warner and followed them on to Grassy.

The next day they wanted to make Chinese food for us. We went to Med. Hat and shopped. They spent the day on the farm. The next day we went to Taber and got the chinese food to cook. Also did some shopping for the farm. Got an Alternator belt for Lais. Then I drove to the colony for them to see it. A nine year old boy had drowned and they were having his wake. He was to be buried on Sunday. Dad swathed for 19 hours.

Sunday 26 we got out fairly early and went to Raymond to visit Lura and Vilo before they left. Irene says Brenda is not good right now. We went to Leavitts to their

meetings and had dinner with DeVere and Marguritte, saw their farm and came back to the hutterites to visit with the folks. Dad taught Paul whose son had drowned.

Tues. Tom and Cheryl stopped for an hour on their way home from San Diego. They picked up Joan's soap and took it up to her. Thursday I spent in the church cannery in Leth. helping can corn.

Brenda died on the 27th.

Friday we went to Brenda's funeral. Peggy rode with us. After the funeral her body was taken to Raymond for burial. It rained in Raymond for one of the few times this year. The country has been very dry this year. When we got home we had had some rain too.

Sunday the bishop gave us some papers to fill out for a mission. Tuesday had my dentist examination for the mission. I made my reunion quilt up.

Thurs 6 Peggy took me to Bow Island where we picked corn and husk it then brought it home to freeze by 5:30. We got 100 pounds of corn for Joan. I couldn't have done that much without Peggy's help. We both worked hard all day. After that I canned plums.

Friday September 7 we canned apples then got everything ready for making ice cream. Then we went to Bow Island and had our physicals for our mission. Hurried home and froze the ice cream then hurried to Taber for the High Priest party.

We missed our temple session on Wed, so got up early and went to two sessions. met Hunters and Marples from our Flin Flon mission. We ate together at the temple. Met Burt Boysen at the supply center. Got home in time to hurry back to Taber for Logan Pahl's wedding reception. Sunday we had a phone call inviting us to witness Pius' baptism. He is from Sri Lanca. After his baptism we went to Leth. for a regional conference with Pres. Dunn, Hunter and Nielsen. Dad had a scout meeting in Taber at four so I sat in the car and waited for that. Monday September 10 we went to Bow Island and had T.B. tests to finish our medicals. We went back to Bow to have our T.B. tests read. Because of blood in urine they had Dad take more tests. Dad worked on the combine all afternoon and I canned chicken and soup. Tended Peggy's kids while they went to the temple.

Thurs. September 13 Dad's tooth appointment in Leth. After that we visited Marie and Jack a bit and came home and Dad went to the farm again to help. He phoned about 2:30 that he'd go to Wainwright with me. He got 660 pounds of potatoes and we loaded the beans from Peggy and some canned carrots --Picked up the corn in Bow Island and went to Joan's. Unloaded the car and hurried on to Tom's before his birthday was over. The next day we visited around, ate at Tom's, gave Joan a perm and came home by 10:20.

Day spent canning and fixing. Letters too.

Church in Taber then went to Gough's for dinner. Piepgrasses or going on a mission to Tampa, Florida. Cliftons were there too. It was fun listening to those Raymondites and Magrathites talk. I was the only stray there.

This has to be a journal or I can't remember what happened. When I try to think seems like I'm just recovering from a bong on the head. Takes a little time to sort things out. Yesterday it seemed like both June and Helen reacted the same way to what was said to them. Guess we're all about the same age.

A busy day--writing letters, visiting teaching and Eddie Prices' funeral. Baked crackers and read the Ensign.

I was really going to clean house but when I walked outside I saw the car needed it worse. We were on our way to Carlyle Litchfields funeral. We visited in Raymond then dad came back to the farm and worked until 3 am. Got up early the next morning to try to finish the rape. I canned the pears.

On September 27 Gilbert phoned and asked me if I would go to Edmonton with Joan while she waited for her twins. I drove by Med. Hat and picked up 3 boxes of pears. On the 28th Saturday we canned the pears and the next morning Joan was having labor pains so Gilbert took her to Edmonton. I stayed with the children. I drove to Edmonton in the evening and met Joan and G. We went to the hospital and she was admitted that night.

I took a room at the Pan Am Motel close by for \$35.00 for the night. Gilbert came over later and slept in the car. The next morning they dismissed Joan. We phoned Michael and Larraine and they invited us over. They gave us their guest room. We liked it so well we stayed a month. My visiting teachers phoned on the 3rd to wish me a Happy Birthday. Lorraine got busy and fixed up a beautiful dinner. Got phone calls from Home, Tom, and Faun. While in Edmonton Joan and I looked up the best route to the hospital in case we had to take it in the night. We drove to the malls and bought some food nearly every day. We went to the parks. We read and slept. I read about 15 books. Joan's family came in for the weekend that Millers were in Toronto. We went to West Edmonton mall and later to the park. They stayed over night. Thanksgiving Day. We went back to the Doctor each week. Finally he decided to admit Joan to the hospital on the 30th. We decided since that was Tues. we would ask him if he could change it to Monday so Gilbert could be there. e did and I went to Wainwright to stay with the children while Gilbert was with Joan. Monday 29th she was admitted and the twins arrived at 2:08 and 2:49. They were identical boys. Tom, Cheryl and I took the kids to have a family home evening with the new brothers. I stayed with Joan two more days. We had winter weather from the middle of October on. I drove to Grassy. Dad went after the mail. As he left I told him to bring two white envelopes home from the post office. He did. They were our calls to the Philippines.

We went to Lou Brandley's funeral and on Saturday drove back to Wainwright to be there to help when Joan came home. Joan came home that night and Sunday I stayed with her and the little ones and Gilbert went back to Edmonton with the older children for stake conference.

Will and Peggy came up for the babies blessings on Nov. 11. We left Joan's on Tuesday and went to Edmonton to visit Michael and Lorraine, Beverley and Ken and stayed over night with Gert. On Wed. 14 we drove to Calgary and visited Allan and Emma Shaw. Got home and read the mail and had to go right back to Calgary to get our passports on the way to Murdocks. We had to get passport pictures and have a notary public sign some papers. I took the tax envelope of Peggy's to the Taber town hall and forgot it. When we finished in Calgary we went back to the town hall in Taber after 8 p.m. and with some other help managed to have their tax money in on time to save interest on it. I was sure grateful for that.

Friday and Saturday we spent around home doing odd jobs. Sunday church in Taber and dinner at Wills where we spent the afternoon. The kids came here in the evening to watch T.V. with us. We are trying to straighten the house and leave it for Kevin Torrie and wife to stay in for a while. We've emptied drawers and closets. Will and Peggy are remodeling the kitchen at the farm. The last meal we ate here before the mission was in their new kitchen. I had the family in here a few times while the kitchen was torn up.

Two Patriarchal Blessings

Roosevelt, Utah January 24, 1931

A blessing by Ephraim Lambert, Patriarch upon the head of laurel Hill, daughter of Chancey Eugene Hill and Hermione Jackson Hill, born at Crystal Lake, Jefferson Co. Idaho, October 3, 1915

Laurel Hill, in the name of Jesus Christ I lay my hands upon they head and give unto the a patriarchal blessing. Thou art also of the House of Israel and a descendant of Joseph through the loins of Ephraim and art an heir to all blessings promised unto the daughters of Zion among who thou art numbered. Therefore, I say unto thee, be very faithful and diligent in keeping the commandments of the Lord, for great things shall be required of thee. Therefore, treasure up much knowledge by study, prayer and supplication, and inasmuch as thou shalt do this, the spirit of the Lord shall be distilled upon thy mind as the dews of heaven upon the earth, and thy mind shall be enlarged that thou shalt be able to see and understand the gospel of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints in its true light and shalt be able to promulgate the same to the nations of the earth, for if thou art faithful thou shalt be called to travel much and to preach to many people and to declare unto them the word of the Lord and to call them to repent before the destructions shall go forth to destroy the wicked, for the Lord shall inspire thee what to say and direct they course in life and shall stretch forth his hand and save thee from the hands of the destroyer and raise thee up at the last day, for thou shalt be able to accomplish a great and mighty work, for the Lord loveth thee and shall not forsake thee in the hour of need. The Holy Ghost shall be with thee to direct thee through life and to warn thee what to do. Yes, it shall be thy constant companion and all these things will the Lord do for thee through thy faithfulness. Therefore, pray always that ye may not faint or fall by the way for

through thy faithfulness all things shall be done unto thee that shall be for they good and for they exaltation and for the work of the Lord. I also say unto thee that they desires shall be granted insofar as it shall be for thy good and I bless thee in they body and mind that thou shalt become physically strong and mentally bright. Therefore, seek the Lord and all shall be well with thee. These blessings I seal upon thy head. I also seal thee up to eternal life to come forth in the morning of the first resurrection. Even so. Amen.

Place Provo, Utah July 2, 1939

A blessing given by Patriarch Amos Newlove Merrill upon the head of Laurel D. Hill Daughter of Chancey Hill and Hermione Jackson. Born October 3, 1915 in Crystal Lake, Idaho Jefferson Co.

Dear sister Hill.

I lay my hands upon your head and give unto you a blessing which shall be a guide to you and a source of comfort and guidance as you pursue your journey of life. I give you such promises and blessings and seal upon you such power as the Spirit of the Lord may direct. You are of Israel -- a noble and true spirit, held back until this, the dispensation of the fullness of time, to come upon the earth as a representative of the House of Joseph. The Lord is well-pleased with you and with your devotion to Him and to His great work. He is pleased that you have sought out the services of a Patriarch in the church and thus given evidence of your faith in the ordinances of the Holy Priesthood. The angels of your presence rejoice over you this afternoon and, in the future as in the past, they will draw near to you and you will feel their Holy Presence and they will whisper in your ear that which is best to be done. Cultivate the power to hear and the disposition to yield obedience to that which they inspire you to do. The Holy Spirit of the Lord also will rest upon you and, in the time of your need, these great powers beyond the veil will come to your rescue. During the silent watches of the night your mind will be touched and quickened by the Divine Presence and the visions of the night will be unfolded to you and you will see a course that you are to pursue and you will be given wisdom to interpret the dreams that come into your heart.

You have been valiant thus far in the work of the Lord. You have magnified His name among those who know not of Him. You have demonstrated also that you can walk by faith and not by sight. Continue to give these evidences of your faithfulness and devotion and the joy that will come unto your heart as you continue your journey of life, shall be beyond expression.

When the vicissitudes of life draw around you and seem to hedge up the way, go into your silent chambers and call upon the Lord in humble prayer and you will enjoy the revelations of His Holy Spirit and the way will clear and that which seems impossible will be cleared out of the way and you shall go forth with joy and rejoicing in your heart.

You have a noble mission of teaching among the children of the Latter-Day Saints and others who may come may receive the benefits of your instruction. I seal upon you the power and ability to become a great teacher, that you may have influence among those with whom you labor and that you may lead them in the path that they should go. You will be given the spirit to serve, for the Lord has a great work for you to do. You will be called to responsible positions. Be faithful, therefore, in the discharge of every responsibility and you will be magnified in the eyes of those who labor with you and for whom you labor.

The time will come, dear sister, when your hand will be sought in marriage. if the one who thus seeks your companionship is worthy--if he is the one whom the Lord designed that you should be united with in the Holy Bonds of matrimony, he will desire and will be worthy to take you to the temple of the Lord and there be sealed to you, and you to Him, for time and for all eternity under the New and Ever-Lasting covenant of the Priesthood. Choice spirits await in the presence of Our Father upon you, that they might come through your loins to tabernacle in the flesh. Cherish these thoughts in your heart. Call upon the Lord in humble prayer and these blessings will be yours to enjoy for it will be your privilege to enjoy and receive every righteous desire of your heart, inasmuch as it is for your soul's salvation.

I seal upon you power to resist the evils of your day for many of these evils will come among this people and the Evil One desires to lead away the choice daughters of Israel--to lead them into temptation and unto the evil, but you shall have power to resist these temptations and stand clean and pure before the Lord continually, and your body will be a fit receptacle for the Holy Spirit of the Lord to dwell in. Reflect upon these things and your heart shall be filled with joy and satisfaction.

I bless you that you may have health and life and peace, that your days may be lengthened on the earth, that you may live until you are satisfied with days, and that your latter-days shall be happy ones for you may reflect upon the fruits of a well-spent life. I bless you with power to come forth in the morning of the first Resurrection, clothed upon with a body Celestial, glorified and beautiful. It will be your privilege to come with Christ when He comes in the clouds of heaven with His mighty throngs of the faithful, to dwell upon the earth. You shall live and reign with Him during the Millennium and you will see Him present the world and all the faithful who dwell in it to the Father and say to Him, "These are the ones that you sent me forth to redeem." He has bought YOU with the price of His own blood and He loves you and He will call you by name and you will know then that He has been mindful of you. Your testimony shall increase until you shall know, without a shadow of a doubt, that Jesus is the Christ and that this is His great Latter-Day work, designed to save to the uttermost, the children of men. Be of good cheer, Cultivate happiness and gladness. Speak words of cheer to those who are in need. Lend a helping hand and the blessings of the Lord will rest upon you mightily.

To this end, dear sister, I bless you and confer upon you every blessing that it is my right and privilege to bestow at this time and remind you that all good and gracious gifts of Our Heavenly Father come because of faith and faithfulness unto Him. I seal upon you these blessings with every other blessing that will be for your soul's salvation and I do it in authority of the Holy Priesthood, and in the name of the Lord, Jesus Christ, Even so, Amen.

Summer 1984

When Pres. Francis interviewed us he asked me if I had written a testimony down that I received in the summer. I will write that now.

When Joan had her ninth baby here hemorrhaging became worse. The Doctor was late and by the time he arrived her heart had stopped--With Priesthood blessing and the Doctor her life was saved. We were so grateful. I ache all over when I think her children might have been left without a mother. Then Hermie Kay came along. Within two months she was pregnant again. I felt so disturbed and afraid. I went to my knees in ernest prayer. When I got up a felt a warm feeling surge all through me that she would be all right. I thanked God for that assurance.

As time went along the Doctor said that she was carrying twins. We have heard the Doctors say this with nearly all her pregnancies, but the results of the ultra sound agreed with the Doctor. Again I let myself think I need to pray hard for her. We had a Relief Society lesson--What I remembered from it was not believing the Lord when he gives you an answer--I decided again to thank the Lord for that assurance that all would be well with her even though her own Doctor refused to take her case. He said he would send her to the best Doctor he knew in Edmonton. She was considered a high risk on three counts--twins, having had eleven births before, and she was a bleeder and to add to that her blood is A negative which made it hard to get transfusions.

We waited the time out. She took anti contraction pills until the last of August when the Doctor said the babies were big enough that he didn't worry any more about saving them, but at the first labor pain she was to get to the hospital. On September 27 she called to let us know about her visit to the Doctor She asked me if I would come up and go to Edmonton with her. We, Dad and I said sure- The next morning I packed a left for Wainwright. I knew she hadn't felt well enough to can much fruit so I packed up some pears in Medicine Hat as I drove through. I canned the pears in the afternoon. Sunday morning September 29 we all work early to unusual noise. Joan was in labor. Gilbert and she got off to Edmonton in my car. I stayed with the children and took them to church. Gilbert was to phone later. About five pm he called and told me where to meet them. Her pains were still going but a bit irregular. When I got to Edmonton we went to the hospital where they admitted her. I found a motel just a ways a way. Later Gilbert came over to be near my room and the telephone. When we got up at 5:30 am the next morning we found the telephone was out of order, so we rushed over to the hospital. Joan was so well by then that they dismissed her. Gilbert hurried back to Wainwright so he wouldn't miss a day of school for nothing. I took Joan and went to Michael Millers to start a long wait. We waited 30 days me hoping our trip to the hospital across the city would be in daylight hours. Millers were good to us. We ate with them then spent the days reading and sleeping. In the afternoon we would go out for some air. We went to the mall for our walks and would buy a bit more food. Joan was so big he could hardly walk. Her leg

muscles would give out on her. After a month the Doctor said to come in and he would induce the babies. He set Tuesday. We decided it would help if it were Monday so Gilbert could come and not miss so much school. We called and I traded places with him. I went to Wainwright to be with the children there and he drove to Edmonton. The babies were born on October 29 after the Doctor broke the water--not easy--the hardest births she had had. 7 lbs 8 ounces and 7 12 oz. Gilbert called and said to bring the children in for a family home evening with Joan that night.. Joan hemorrhaged and was still sort of out of it until she received a priesthood blessing 15 minutes before we arrived at 8:30 pm with the children--Her body started to function after the blessing.

We enjoyed a while in the hospital with her then Gilbert took the children and went home. Tom and Cheryl were with us. I decided to stay for a couple of days. I spent Tuesday and Wednesday in the Hospital. Joan tended her own babies so I was a bit of help to her during the day. Thursday I phoned and she was better so I decided to go to Grassy that day. I drove home on the 1st of Nov. When Dad went for the mail I said: "Bring home some of those big white envelopes". Sure enough he did. Our calls to the Philippines Cebu mission had arrived. We went to Lou Brandley' funeral that day and the next day both Dad and I drove to Wainwright to be there to help a little when Joan came home from the hospital. We stayed ten days. I did the cooking. It is a big job. Dad did some fixing up around the house.

We were to be in the mission home on the 12 of Dec. We left on Nov. 13 and drove to Edmonton to visit Millers, Batemans, and Gert.

When we got home we had to hurry back to Calgary to apply for passports. On our way we carried a check to Taber for Will. We forgot to leave it at the town office. This worried me. After applying for passports we hurried home and managed to get his check in on the day it should have been even though the office closed at 5 pm and we didn't arrive there until 8:30 pm. We knew we had a little extra help that night.

We decided to let Peggy and Kevin Torrie used our house for a while. That meant that we had to clean out drawers and closets. That kept us out of mischief for a while. =Attended church in Taber on the 18th and on the 20th hurried back to Calgary to pick up our passports and get money and papers off to Murdocks. The next Sunday was a Fast Sunday in our ward because of Stake Conference the next week. The Bishop asked us to talk in the fast meeting. We went to Raymond to say our goodbyes and see Aunt Lura who had been missing and had just turned up in Lethbridge. Angells were going to meet us in Wainwright but because of storms they turned back. On Dec. 8 we drove to Edmonton with Joan and her oldest girls. Tom and Cheryl came along where we said goodbye and caught a plane at 12:45 to Calgary where we had to change planes.. On to Salt Lake City where it was all fogged up. We had to wait for a half hour before we could land. Heidi and David met us and took us to Provo. We visited around about three days before Ellen delivered us bags and all to the M.T.C. Our room is again in the Matthew Cowley building. Had a spiritual, uplifting time in the training school with the added joy of Ellen and Dave at the

Wymont Terrace. They waited for Heidi's baptism until Dec. so we could be there. Brother and Sister Talmage Jones ate dinner with us. They are going to England to be in charge of a training school there. Bro Wahlquist sat with us at the devotional. He and wife are going to the Cebu mission. They go at the same time we do. We found they knew Roosevelt. He had gone to high school there, and was in a grade behind me. When I met him I asked him if he knew anything about the Unitah Basin. He said yes, and asked my maiden name. Hill--Then He asked if I knew Laurel. I am Laurel. "She was a real basket ball player".

Pres. Ryser asked us to talk in Branch meeting tomorrow night. It's funny how much of my life has gone before my eyes.--Seems like my life is one long blessing that I see after the events have passed. Will and Peggy spent Will's birthday, Dec. 29 at Ellen's. We were able to be with them.

I'm continually amazed at the faith of some of our people. One lady is paralyzed from polio. Her husband pushed her around in her wheel chair to the classes. Another man had a motorized wheel chair. He gave a talk in church this morning. He had a fall from a roof and was not expected to live. He had three strokes --yet he's on his way to a mission.

Monday Dec. 31 Departure day. Will and Peggy, Tom and Cheryl and Ellen took us to the airport.

Aug 25 1985 Cebu

Is August the end of summer and is it really going to start getting cooler-Maybe I won't be happy with that. I think the typhoon season starts about now. I'm sure I won't like that but I guess it will be cooler when they come.

Each week seems the same and yet it has its differences.. The new discussions are so good. I have given lesson one two times and have worked on lesson two and am starting lesson three. There are six lessons instead of seven.

On Tuesday last week we went to Bay Bay (said by by) to have a district meeting with our new leader. We go through the lessons together before we teach them. It is about 45 Ks to Bay Bay in the opposite direction to Isabel. The country is beautiful. Seem more vegetation than to Isabel--if that were possible. The Ag University there is the best on the Island--they say. The way they describe it, it sounds like a city itself--stores restaurants, entertainment of all kinds along with a beautiful beach and all that goes with that beside the educational buildings.

We tried to see a family in Albuero. They were in the mountains. We missed them. It is not safe to go in the mountains. They shoot without even asking question. There are plenty of people in the city. The district had planned a picnic in the mountains but were told it was not safe so we didn't go.

This week in Isabel we first called on the houses at the relocation where they listened to the lessons last week. We couldn't find anyone at home. This often happens here. Since they don't have solid doors etc. we just call, "My own" Don't know how it is spelled but that is how it sounds. They answer if they want to see you, if not all is still unless some child blunders and lets you know you are not wanted. No second discussion there, so it felt so good to come to the next one who was so anxious to learn.

Thursday when we went to teach Jerry (one of our special investigators,) he had been changed on his job so his shift was different. We hate to miss him when we go out. We met about four new people and gave a lesson and made an appointment for this week to show filmstrip--so along with another good teaching it was a worthwhile trip.

Friday is Cargo day--that's always a good day. When we went to teach Mr. Tadia he was pretty upset about his son. He has contracted malaria. The report was they were sending him to Manila. He didn't want him sent there so he was on his way to Capbalogan to see him and see what should be done.

September 2 1985

Yesterday Dad was trying to give a lesson. A rooster underneath the bamboo floor didn't let Dad outdo him. I've heard the devil in swine--not roosters---which reminds me of last Wednesday at Isabel. We were teaching the new discussion to one of our contacts. A pig walked under a curtain and through the front room where we were sitting and into the kitchen where he did some very loud grunting as we proceeded with the discussion.

Thursday we went to Isabel early to hear the band play. They played for the opening ceremony for the school. All the children gather out in front of the school and salute the flag and sing their song. They had put their instruments away by the time we arrived. This band is only four months old. The ceremony we had come to hear had been postponed, but they got their instruments out again and played for us. We met a teacher who has a stuffed bird shop and eating place close to the hotel we stay in, so we ate there and talked gospel.

When you ride a jeepney you just knock on the roof to tell the driver you want to get off.

Yesterday when we went to Bay Bay we counted the bridges and culverts. 64 bridges and 89 culverts in 28 miles.

Funny how things happen. We have looked for two members for a long time and finally gave up. Saturday night after dark as we walked down the street this member spoke to us and took us to his home where we met the other member.

The Pres. is sending some missionaries to work in Isabel. We spent 3 days there house hunting for them.

Yesterday we had a special teaching. We have been teaching a young man we met at his father's burial. That was about in March. He had been away for a month or two. We finally got back on the job. We had given him the first three discussions. Aldon had friends in. He asked us if he could let his girl friend sit in with us. Of course we were delighted to have her. The topics of the 4th discussion are [pre-earth life, mortal life, and the spiritual world-death, resurrection and the judgement, Celestial glory, temple work for the dead, eternal families, Word of Wisdom and Chastity. We suggested that Elder Redd had lost his father at about the same age as Aldon did. They then told us this girl was the sister of the girl who had been shot and killed not too long ago. They felt they could hardly show enough appreciation for that discussion. She took my arm four or five times to squeeze it and show her appreciation. I hope and pray they can receive the comforts of the gospel. My heart is still warm from the lesson. The Holy Ghost can teach her and I pray He will. We told you before about her sister being shot. We heard the shots just after we had gone to bed. We went to the home to show our respect. We didn't know when we taught that lesson that she was the sister of the girl who had been shot.

September 16

Sister Ablen is very sick. Her Doctor told her to go to Cebu for a check up and treatment. They weren't going for a few days because of pesos. We urged with pesos and voice. They left that night and returned Monday as happy as could be with nothing wrong.

I was a little surprised when we went to a family to teach. We arrived at their meal time. No table, just sat with their plates on the bamboo floor. Push the spills through the cracks to the animals. Another day we visited a saint family. The mother had a plate of rice heaped up. She sat with it on her lap and the children stood around her and they all ate with their fingers from the plate.

We've had lots of rain lately. The trails are slick but not like ours would be. The soil has long since been washed to the sea, only pebbles and rocks left. One of our members lives across the creek and up a steep bank. He built his Nipa hut here because he could get land free. Now because of his poor health, he would love to get close to the church.

Tuesday night we went out to the airport to visit the father of a member in Isabel. We rode to the airport road and had to walk 2 ks off the road and back. We hoped to catch a jeepney or trike. No luck. We walked 3 more miles before a trike came along. I was plenty glad for a ride that night. My legs didn't want to take orders from my head.

We decided to take Fe out to celebrate her birthday. She is to be baptized on Sunday. There were 3 other saint girls at her apartment so we invited them along.--The numbers grew. We had nine of us at the ice cream shop. Instead of ordering an ice cream cone they ordered a chocolate parfait--four times as much as a cone. When Dad went to settle he had not brought that much money. The next night after we got in bed we remembered our debt so got up and went to town to finish off the birthday party--pay for it.

September 13, The new Elders who will work arrived today so we went with them to Isabel to help them get settled. They took rooms in a hotel, temporarily. We spent the day introducing them to our friends but decided not to take them to a family we had been teaching. They had to hurry and make a call to Cebu to the President.. We came home to Ormoc. Saturday was a regular day. Sunday we went back to Isabel for Fe's baptism. We went with our sisters. it was their first trip to Isabel so we went on into the town. We had an hour and a half to kill before church. We introduced them to some friends then went down to this little home we missed on Friday. This is the place we sat on the bamboo floor with a rag candle and taught. We should have gone on Friday. That day their baby died. They were terribly upset. We felt really bad. The baby was buried on Saturday. I guess our work is through in Isabel so I surely hope the Elders will comfort this couple.

Our travel has not improved with the Elders in Isabel. They have a district meeting there every week we have to travel out for. The District leader asked Elder Redd to interview a girl for baptism on Saturday. We did but had to hurry back for contacts in Ormoc. We decided not to go to her baptism sunday. Then got to thinking--She had contacted us on the streets of Ormoc. She had again talked to us on the bus and asked us to visit her. She was living with her Grandparents in Ormoc at first but got a job at Genesis at Isabel. We told the sisters of Isabel about her. Sister Nelson of the R.S. contacted her and she has been going to church every since. About 2 weeks ago her grandmother told us

she had never been baptized. We spent some time trying to find her membership but found none. So traveled back and forth 3 times instead of one. It is cheaper to ride the bus than stay at the hotel. She was baptized Sunday.

One of the members invited us to his home for a party for his Grandmother. It was to be a five o'clock. That day we hurried around and got to his home just before five--as we came up we saw a jeep loaded with people pulling away. We didn't quite understand that. We went in. Two people were there. They fed us a hot meal that was cold. It really was a surprise party--for us. It had started at ten in the morning and the guest of honor had gone home at four. It was a strange feeling but we really like the people and are glad they invited us. Maybe they didn't want to interfere with our days work and yet wanted to share the treats with us. Sister Perez invited us to her eating place and really put on a spread for us--Chinese food.

They announced that the Ormoc chapel will be dedicated in Nov. or Dec.

Last July we were teaching a lady, Bebe, her husband and sister-in-law. The couple went to Villaba to work in the rice fields for two months. We told them we'd try to come and give them another lesson while they were away. The day we planned to go to Villaba from Isabel it got too late to catch a jeepney home so we didn't go. It's two months now since they went away. We decided to call on the sister in law and inquire about them. She said Bebe had been there and had said she was praying for us to come. We opened our eyes and decided we'd better keep our promise even if it was late. We got out early the next morning and went to Villaba. We got off the jeepney about a 1/4 mile too soon so started to walk. The word had been passed along that we were coming. Bebe came out to meet us. We had breakfast with them then started a discussion. We had six members of the family from around there. We felt the spirit very strong. We promised to come back the next week. I said I'd celebrate my birthday that way. Now we are in a bind again. We have to be in Ormoc for a missionary fireside. We went to Villaba on Wednesday back to Ormoc for the fireside and out to Isabel for the meeting the next day.

We have one little family we are teaching. They want the gospel but it is a little hard to "Give away all his sins" as the king did that Aaron taught in Alma. It's not easy to give up smoking and drinking. It's always possible with the help of the Lord and a sincere desire.

Last Sunday I got us into a dither again. We borrowed a white dress from Branch Two for the baptism in Isabel. We had a good day. When we got off the jeepney in front of our house I hopped off without the bag that held the wet dress. I was worried. We had already lost two umbrellas that way. We waited

until Monday then went down to the terminal o see if there was a lost and found place--none. We watched the jeepneys until we saw the one we had ridden home in. We found out where the home of the driver was. Tuesday morning we went again to the terminal then decided to go to his home. They had the dress---What a relief. It had some red stains on it but they all came out in the bleach. We are now ready to return the dress as good or better than when we borrowed it.

Got the tape of Harold's funeral. I have listened to it once. Will borrow a cassette from the girls and listen again sometime.

In the Philippines they celebrate birthdays a bit different. The person having the birthday does the treating.

Our new schedule from the Pres. We do exercises and study between 6:00 and 9:00.

One of our member's non-member husband was shot through the head. We went to her place when we heard about it. The next day we followed the procession to the cemetery. It was a long walk. We visited a saint. She gave us boiled bananas. They tasted a bit like potatoes. They are a different variety than the ones we usually eat.

I've broken my watch open two different times. We have some super glue. Dad glues it back and I'm in business again. We watched a ship loading. The stores ship their empty card board boxes back to Cebu to be refilled. While they were loading one big bundle of flattened out boxes fell into the sea. It took six men to get it out and on the boat. It got soaked with water. One man had to get in the water to get the ropes on it. The other five helped lift.

I was waiting for Dad yesterday at the District Pres. place. I saw a funny sight. A young man came from one direction and a young lady from the opposite direction. They stepped out of their thongs and into the other person's and went on their way without a word. I wasn't smart enough to figure the reason.

I've already told you that they seldom put a diaper on a baby. Seem proper to cover the top half of a little boy up. He can wear his Dad's old shirt or anything. They don't go with just a string around the middle like the Indian boys did. They start school at seven and then they are dressed.

Tuesday morning before we got away a lady was here to collect money for the school. They are trying to make a new water supply for the children. The money counted for votes for the king or queen for the day. That went over like a lump of lead with Dad. He wants to help the scouts but he refuses to make a king out of one child and make 99 losers out of the rest of them..

We walked to the orphanage and gave some money so the children could buy neckers so they could take part in the scout affairs.

We had a visit with an artist. He had lots of work to do. He was painting the hotel's name on shell necklaces that would be given to patrons. He had folks in Alberta.

We got across the creek to visit a saint and his little grandson. We sang "Do You Know Who You Are Little Child of Mine". It didn't bother the child but the grandfather just sobbed. It wasn't the rendition of the song, but the words that touched him.

Yesterday as we walked through the trees people were out cutting down bunches of bananas. We stopped and talked. They said the typhoon that was coming would blow them down and they would be stolen before they could get them in so they were gathering them ahead of the storm--(It didn't reach us.) We love you all so much and miss you so much when we are lazy, but when we're busy we don't have time to think of home. Beth and Tom Hatch are in the Philippines on a mission.

Oct. 25. We got home from Cebu this morning. We should have made it yesterday but the elder that bought the tickets forgot that we had taken a saint girl to be interview for a mission. He bought six tickets instead of seven. It was too late to get tickets when we went there at night. There was a huge crowd waiting. The tickets have to be purchased the day you ride. We always go early in the morning to be sure we get tickets. Anabel had to go home so one set of missionaries had to stay. It was Dad and I. We had to wait till the next night for the boat.

After our meeting we went out to visit one of the saints that hadn't been well. We started for the trail across the rice paddies that we had used before. Some people advised us to go around the paddies but we thought we could handle it.. Lots of rain. It was bad. We started and as usual one of my feet slipped off the trail and into the mud and water. I had a little better luck than Dad did. His shoe came off in the mud. He dropped his glasses while trying to rescue his shoe--next was his comb--then his glasses again. We finally got moving again. Just about the last step off the dike his feet slipped again--one on one side and the other on the other side. That threw him and he fell in the mud. Before we got to the sick man's place we came to a spring where they wash clothes and bathe, so Dad washed as much of the mud off as he could. By this time the sister came

out to meet us and greeted us with "Why did you come? you shouldn't come at night". We got the same caution when we saw the man. We only stayed a minute or two then the sister led us back to the road on another trail that didn't cross the rice fields. The moon was up. She had her flash light. As we walked along she said: "The moon sure is sunny".

Last week we went to a hut to teach a young man. There was too much excitement in the air. The neighbour had just delivered a pair of twin boys. We had to go see them. She was in the hut next to us. We went in and on the floor on a mat were the two baby boys. The mother was sitting on the mat beside them. She was ready to give them to us then and there. We didn't follow that one through.

We learned about Halloween. The 1st of Nov. is all saints day. October 31 didn't seem to mean a thing. Nov. 2 was all soul's day. This was really new and different for us. Everybody spent some time at the grave yard. The tombs of the families that can afford it are covered over like a house. In this it was rather pleasant to sit and visit and play games during the day. The amazing thing to me was the number of people who spent the night of the 1st and the day of the 2nd there. When we went up to see, it seemed like the whole city was there. I didn't know there were so many vehicles in the city. On Saturday there was a rather sad accident. The jeepneys are so loaded-inside and outside. One was coming to the cemetery with people hanging all over the outside. The driver got in a tight spot. He avoided a head on collision but came close enough to wipe the people off the jeepney. Four were killed outright and ten were brought to the hospital.

October was scout month. We visited a school just north of us and watched some of the competition. That night there was a scout parade. 3 or 4 thousand scouts were in it. They each had a torch made of a bamboo stick filled with some flammable stuff. With the torches lighted it really made a sight.

There is a white man here who had retired from the U.S.army and married a Philippina girl. They have invited us to talk gospel with them. He knows his Bible quite well and is interesting to visit with. She is a good cook.

Yesterday two sad sights met our eyes. Fist there was an adult in a coffin made of rough lumber just room enough for the body and only a handful of mourners following the coffin. Later on in the day another procession came along with a baby coffin. It was so small it hardly seemed real. It was made of cardboard and decorated with crepe paper. Only about four people followed it to the grave.

Nov. 11

One of our members said they had heard on the radio that Pres. Kimball had passed away. The dedication of our chapel is set for Dec 8. We are busy preparing for it. I have been asked to accompany the choir and the Primary chorus.

It has been announced that there will be a snap election for the President of the Philippines on January 17, 1986.

One of our members here is a farmer. He invited us months ago to visit his farm. He has worked hard--turned a gravel pit into rice paddies doing all the dirt moving with a home made scraper and an animal that looks like a water buffalo. It is called a caraboo

We went to a member's house and saw his pet yesterday. It was a 2.5 meter python in a barrel. He said the snake had not eaten yet. It was curled up in the bottom of the barrel.

Today an old investigator came in. He and Elder Redd are having a good discussion. I won't have to look for shells while they talk. Wish I could send the shells I collected in Isabel while they talked. The kids would really enjoy them.

In Cebu at the conference Nov. 18 we were handed a note telling us that Rebecca Kayleen was born on the 15 of Nov. and no blood transfusions. I was so happy I hardly knew what to do with myself.

It was funny when we went to Cebu we bought tickets with the Elders but found we were a half the length of the boat away from them but when we got our cots we were next to our landlord and landlady. When we left the boat they took us in their daughter's car to the lovely hotel that had been arranged for us. It had rambling rooms, beautiful tropical gardens all over. It takes my breath away to think of all the beauty.

2 Dec 1985 Cebu

The creek in the back of the house is fun to cross--It' a place where people bath and wash clothes. Stones are piled across the stream. Sometimes the water is so high it runs over the stones. Most of the time some of the stones are under water. We haven't had the luck to cross yet without getting into the water either one or both of us. Always in midstream the stones are a long way apart..scares me to try to make the step or jump.

The other day we visited a friend who had just returned from Manila where she got medical care. The trip from Manila is a 36 hour one. Five bad guy were on the boat. Those five started some trouble with another person. The lone person killed one of the bad guys and wounded another before he was killed. Having ridden those boats it sure gives me a frightened feeling. Thank goodness we have always had peaceful rides. Looks like our boat rides will be changed to bus rides. The Pres. is making a zone here in Leyte and attaching the Ormoc City group to that zone. It's only a 2 hour bus ride to Tacloban. Sunday our building will be dedicated. Pres. Boulter asked us to reserve rooms for him at the hotel. We've done that. I am to take up five minutes on music in the conference. Sister Nelson did that last conference. She was on the board with Barbara Smith in the general Relief Society.

Christmas is on it way. The unusual thing here is the carolers. They start as much as three weeks before Christmas and come singing every night. They are singing for pesos. We bought candy to give to them. They say the older groups send you a notice of when they will be singing and you are expected to be home and ready for them. Christmas was different. They did not give gifts. We only saw one family that give two of their small boys one present each. --No other gifts. One home had a tree with beautifully wrapped packages under. A week after Christmas we went back and there was the tree and the packages--just the same. They were only decorations.

Our cook was away for a two day convention. We told her she need not come until it was over. We surely had an "Old Mother Hubbard" cupboard. It was really bare. The cook shops every day. She had nothing on hand. I guess the moisture and insects is the reason for that.

9 Dec Our big day is over. It was a beautiful day. We must have had two hundred people at the dedication. I have never enjoyed a Relief Society meeting more. After our little Philippina sister and given a heart felt talk on the atonement we sang "Oh It Is Wonderful" with tears streaming down all our faces. I don't think I will forget that meeting. After the services Sunday, 12 of us piled into a member's jeep along with Pres. and Sister Boulter and went to Isabel to look over the situation there. The elders are still in the hotel--not good. Brother Nelson is a consultant for the smelter in Isabel. They were hired for three years. Sister Nelson said it would be her three year mission to help build the church there. They started from nothing. They have a branch of 40 or 50 members and growing. It's a thrill to be in the branch and feel their spirit. They carry out the church program and you can see it work.

One thing we see often is huge piles of rice hulls. Women work all day trying to blow the hulls away and get what broken rice they can salvage. They work all day for a pound of broken rice. The hulls are burned.

Elder Redd and I had a lunch put up for the people who were to go to Isabel with us after the dedication. It was really good. We went to the Elders apt at the hotel. The Branch President came along so Dad and I decided to ride with him to lighten the load and leave room for the missionaries with the President.. They started off and we were to follow. Pre. Miole couldn't start his jeep. We worked for over an hour before we got started. We were to look at the site for the new church there. We could not catch up with the other car.. We finally decided to phone Nelsons. We are all to have dinner there. Sure enough they were there. They had had a flat and thought they had had all the trouble and we would be ahead of them. We had our share too.

We had a good visit and dinner and started home. Had a flat--changed it and were on our way. Another flat. This time --no more spares. There was almost no travel on that lonely road after dark--I could then see how the president really has something to worry about with 200 missionaries on his hands in that strange land. We were concerned about President getting back to Ormoc in time to catch his boat back to Cebu. The men stopped a jeepney driver who lives out there and was just quitting for the night. They made the

pesos look interesting enough for the driver to take us back to Ormoc in his Jeep. Everybody got where they needed to be with no problems. That week end we had missionaries all over the floor for three nights.

16 Dec. It doesn't look like Christmas but it sure sounds like it. At 3:30 this morning they were playing carols. Now at six it is quiet. We should learn to sleep in the day like the Philippinos. At about four to four-thirty the boat busses start going by. They wait at the terminal for the boats and take the people to their destinations for about half the regular bus fairs. We have a meeting in Tacloban at 5 pm. I doubt if we will get up at 3 in the morning to save 10 pesos. Besides it would make a long tiring day in a strange city waiting for the meeting.

One of our members, a security guard was shot. Our mission leader suggested it might not be good for us to go to the funeral unless he brought us word differently. The brother of another member was killed last week. The Elders are being moved out of Isabel and into our apartment today.

We decided to set a baptism date for a family and a young man we have been teaching. We are almost sorry already for that. The father has not conquered his smoking habit yet. They have been asking for baptism for a couple of months now.

Dad had sort of a nice birthday. The fun part of it was that the first person we had the privilege of teaching and baptizing had a birthday the same day. She came with a friend to watch a film strip then invited us to her house to have their special treat-spaghetti with catsup on it--and meat balls. meat is expensive so it had to be a real treat.

Yesterday a lady with seven small children came across this creek behind us to church so we tried to help them back across the creek--same luck.

23 Dec. 1985

The member who was killed about the 14 of DEc will be put in the tomb on the 27 of Dec. Sometimes they keep the bodies for a long time waiting for part of the family to come from the middle east or the states. Yesterday as we were coming home from teaching Mrs. Olasko we stopped at her brother's house. He had been drilling. The drill had come loose and caught him on the shin. It had cut the cord that lifts the foot. He was pretty miserable. The Doctor sewed it up. He was trying to take care of himself by putting a string on his foot to lift it with his hands.

Our Sunday School teacher had some extra things to do this morning. He looked out and saw a man building a nipa hut on his lot. When they brought him in and talked to him he said it was only temporary. The Military had told him to leave his home in the mountains on the east side of Ormoc. He said there was going to be fighting there and it would be his own fault if he got shot. They expect some trouble before the election on the 7th of February. Today Sister Perez told us of an acquaintance who had been shot 32

times. This man was running a lumber company not far from the City High School. He was a good honest man. They have dealings with him.

The Isabel Elders who were told to move into the empty room in our house did not come. Sunday their luggage appeared and they went on to spend Christmas with the Maasin Elders. Just had the privilege of teaching one of the college students. We have saints and investigators coming in on New Years Eve to help us mark Book of Mormons. We'll see some slides also.

Jan 7 1986 Cebu

This is Book of Mormon month. We are encouraging the saints to help mark the books and give them away. In order for them to count they have to have a discussion with each one that is placed. We hope it also encourages the members to read the B. of M.

Because of the holiday we invited three families to our house. The banker's children had so much fun performing for us. They keep asking their folks to stop at our place again. One family we asked in had children about 2 and 4 years old. They were about wild running through the house. I didn't realize what was happening until their mother commented on their being able to run around in the house. Yes, it would be difficult for children to run in a house about 7 ft. X 8 ft with all the people owned in the same room. Bamboo floors and the strips set from 1/2 inch to an inch apart. One couch and two stools--that's the furniture.

So many people have asked us for gifts during the holidays. A minister whom we had given a Bible asked for another so we just smiled.

New Years was the big thing--meal, noise and fireworks. We went to bed as usual but about midnight were awakened by the fireworks. A war must sound something like that.

A school burned down by one of our members house. While visiting out there I picked up a plastic homemade wallet. We took it to the school teacher nearby. She looked it over and said it belonged to the Barrio captain. We took it to her and have an invitation back.

Sunday we visited in Caragara and spent the night there. Monday morning we went to Tacloban for a Zone meeting. We stayed with the Wahlquists, the couple we came to the mission with.

Today we got on the bus to come home. I had my first real taste of pick-pocketers. A lady got on the bus with some boxes (substitute for suitcases). She had a sick child in her arms who needed a Doctor in Cebu. They had to go to Ormoc City to get the boat to Cebu. The lady sat down and held the child. When it was about time for the bus to pull out she started crying and talking --I could make out the words "pickpocket", "hospital," "Cebu". Her husband got on the bus. some one had stolen his purse. They lost 500 pesos.

They had to get off the bus. I wanted to badly to give them the money they needed. The bus pulled off and left them amid their boxes and tear.

I'm sending a copy of my Dr's last report: Marshfield clinic/st. Joseph's hospital Doctor Gallenberg Date 1-30-89 Age 73 Wt. 168 1/2 lbs. Blood Pressure 150/90 P. 64 T 97.8

Over the past two months Mrs. Redd has in general felt well. She has been riding an exercise bike seven to ten miles daily. She admits that she has not been watching her diet with regards to calorie or sodium intake. She has had fewer headaches than in the past. She has had no new bone or joint pains. She denies numbness, nausea, vomiting, bowel or bladder dysfunction.

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION:

MOUTH; No oral mucosa lesions are apparent.

LYMPH NODES; No cervical, axillary or supraclavicular lymph nodes are palpable.

LUNGS; clear to auscultation.

CARDIAC; Normal sinus rhythm without murmurs or gallops.

LEFT CHEST WALL; NO LESIONS APPARENT.

RIGHT BREAST; No masses or nipple discharge.

ABDOMEN; Bowel sounds active. No palpable masses, tenderness or organomegaly.

EXTREMITIES; No peripheral edema.

Chest x-ray ia unchanged from the study of 10-17-88 and shows no evidence of mastitic disease. her hemoglobin is normal at 14.6, white blood count 7.7 and platelet count 268,000. A chem 19 is within normal limits with the exception of an AST of 53 units/1. (normal range 8 to 36). Nonfasting blood glucose of 200 mg./dl. and cholesterol 202 mg./dl. (normal range 100 to 200).

IMPRESSION;

- 1. no evidence of recurrence of breast cancer.
- 2. Mild hypertension.
- 3. Hiatal hernia.

I have encouraged Mrs. Redd to continue to have her blood pressure monitored at about two weekly intervals. I have advised her to follow a no added salt diet and to decrease her caloric intake. she will return in three months for a follow-up evaluation.

Signed Mary M. Gallenberg MD

Thoughts I Have Loved

Most folks would make good friends if we only knew them better.

A man is poor not because he has nothing but because he does nothing.

Promise Yourself

To be strong. That nothing can disturb your peace of mind.

To talk health-happiness and prosperity

To make all your friends feel that there is some good in them.

To look on the sunny side of everything

To think only of the best, to work only for the best, and to expect only the best.

To be just as enthusastic about the success of others as you are about your own.

To forget the mistakes of the past and press on to bigger achievements in the future.

To give so much time to the improvement of yourself that you have very little time to criticize others.

To think well of yourself and to proclaim this fact not in loud words but in noble deeds. To live in the faith that the world is on your side so long as you are true to the best that is in you.

Success lies not in achieving what you aim at, but in aiming at what you ought to achieve, and pressing forward sure of achievement here or if not here, hereafter.

Burdens become light when cheerfully borne.

Chop your own wood and it will warm you twice as much.

An ounce of performance is worth a ton of complaint.

success comes in cans, failure in can'ts.

Two Foot Paths to Peace

To be glad of life because it gives you the chance to love, to work, to play and to look up at the stars, to be satisfied with your possessions, but not contented with yourself until you have made the best of them. To dispise nothing in the world except falsehood and meanness and to fear nothing except cowardice. To be governed by your admiration rather than discust. To covet nothing that is your neighbours except kindness of heart and gentleness of manner. To think seldom of your enemies --often of your friends and every day of Christ and spend as much time as you can with the body and with spirit in Gods out of doors. These are the little guide posts on the foot-paths to peace.

It is better to not know so much than to know so much that isn't so.

Be pleasant every monrning till 10 o'clock. The rest of the day will take care of itself.

APPORTUNITIES LOOK FOR YOU IF YOU ARE WORTH FINDING.

MORNING PRAYER

Today let me live content, be clean; refine; worthy; act frankly; go slowly; listen well; think quietly; fear nothing; Do my full share of the world's work and rest tonight knowing that I have injured nothing that exists.

I WOULD LOOK UP AND LAUGH AND LOVE AND LIVE.

For all the troubles under the sun, there is a remedy or there is none. If there be one, try and find it: if there be none, never mind it.

Thoughts I Like

He has achieved success who has lived well, laughed often and loved much; who has gained the respect of intelligent men and the love of little children; who has filled his place and accomplished his task.

The night has a thousand eyes, the day but one, yet the light of the night would dye with the dying of the sun.

The mind has a thousand eyes, the heart but one, yet the light of the whole life dies when its love is done.

Take this proverb to thine heart. Take, oh, hold it fast. The mill will never grind with water that is passed.

We are all blind until we see that in the human plan, nothing is worth the making, unless it makes the man.

As one lamp lights another nor grows less, so nobleness enkindleth nobleness.

I expect to pass through this world but once. Any good thing, therefore, that I can do or any kindness I can show to any fellow human being let me do it now. Let me not defer nor neglect it for I shall not pass this way again.

I made the cross myself, whose weight was later laid on me.

This thought is torture as I toil up life's steep calvary.

To think my own hands drove the nails. I sang a merry song, and chose the heaviest wood I had to build it firm and strong.

If I had guessed--If I had dreamed its weight was meant for me,

I should have made a lighter cross to bear up calvary.

I will be what I will be. I am free. no temptation from within or without can cause me to deviate from my ideals. I will not be selfish. I have perfect control over all my impulses. I am master of myself. I do not get angry. I am free--I am master of myself.

The fear of being laughed at keeps you from living up to the best in you. don't be afraid to express yourself.

By our thinking we are molding the character of the soul, forming brain paths and determining our future possibilities and tendencies. Truly "as a man thinketh in his heart so is he."

Ye shall know the truth and the truth shall make you free.

Every man is building for himself a prison cell or a palace wall.

The thoughts of today become the dreams of tonight, the actions of tomorrow and the characters of the future.

Right thinking, right desires and right resolves, oft repeated, will make possible for any man to resist temptation.

An agreeable, polite cordial manner is one of the best weapons with which to fight the battles of life.

Few things are more distructive to health and happiness than the habit of complaining, finding fault, looking sour and saying disagreeable things.

Every smile that flashes across the face becomes a part of the inner soul and tends to light it up with joy: while frown and scowls soon make one sordid and melancholy.

Let us teach the better way and struggle for the higher life until love rules in every home, honor is written on every brow; kindness beams from every eye; chastity blooms on every cheek; purity bubbles from every lip; joy springs from every heart, and Christ reigns in every soul.

Simple living is a delight, and care has as yet, no need to cast her anchor in the harbor of our dreams.

Life cannot be found in its highest sense in us if our hearts are not throbbing responsive to that higher sunlight of the spirit.

The giving of God's sunlight is that we lose nothing ourselves, we share it only.

Pins have saved the lives of many people by their not swallowing them.

I asked the Sabboth for some motto sweet, some rule of life with which to guide my feet; I asked and paused. She answered soft and low; "God's will to know".

Will knowledge then suffice, Sabboth, I cried and ere the question into silence died-Nay but remember too-God's will to do.

Once more I asked "Is there more to tell?" and once again the answer softly fell. Yes, this one thing all other things above-God's will to love.

Don't look for the flaws as you go through life, and even when you find them. It is wise and kind to be somewhat blind and look for the virtues behind them.

For the cloudiest night has a hint of light somewhere in its shadows hiding It is better, by far, to look for a star than the spot on the sun abiding.

Sow a thought reap an act, Sow an act reap a habit; sow habit reap a character; sow a character reap a destiny.

THE HAPPIEST AND WISEST PAIR WILL FIND OCCASION TO FORBEAR, AND SOMETHING EVERY DAY THEY LIVE TO PITY AND PERHAPS FORGIVE.

Love is the only power that will conquer a child a people or a nation, all things won by force are but battles deferred.

CHOOSE A SAFE PATH. I'M FOLLOWING YOU.

The joy of life is in the work that we do.

No one cares to hear your troubles, just the joyful things in life--always keep your face a smiling--that's your duty as a wife.

What ever is in our lives we have built into them by thinking of it, visualizing it, dwelling on it, hoping or dreading it and above all expecting it.

Thought is another name for fate.

The secret in life lies in living the best you ever knew.

A smile, a word, a touch--and each is easily given, Yet one may win a soul from sin or smooth the way to heaven. A smile may lighten the falling heart. A word may soften pain's keenest smart, A touch may lead us from sin apart--How easily each is given.

It's only timber straight and sound that passes through the mill.

Just for Today

Just for today I will take care of my body. I will exercise it care for it and nurish it and not abuse it or neglect it so that it will be a perfect machine for my will.

Just for today I will try to strengthen my mind. I will study. I will learn something useful. I will not be a mental loafer. I will read something that requires effort and thought and concentration.

Just for today I will exercise my soul in the ways to wit; I will do somebody a good turn and not get found out --if anybody knows it, it won't count. I will do two things that I don't want to to do.

Just for today I will not show anyone my feelings are hurt. They may be hurt but today I'll not show it. I will be agreeable. I will look as well as I can, dress as becomingly as possible, talk low, act courteously, be libral with praise, criticize not one bit nor find fault with anyone or thing and not try to regulate or improve anyone.

Just for today I will have a program. I will write down just what I expect to do every hour of the day, I may not follow it exactly, but I'll have it. It will save me from two pests--hurry and indicision.

Just for today I will have a quiet half hour all by myself and relax. In this half hour I will think of God.

Just for Today I will be unafraid, especially I will not be afraid to be happy, to enjoy what is beautiful, to love and to believe that those I love, love me.

Be thankful, be happy, be glad you are alive.--Just for a few minutes at a time. A few minutes won't rob you of the delightful misery of worrying about things that are never going to happen. You'll have hours to do that later.

The world is full of a number of things. I'm sure we should all be happy as kings.

You're the one who must choose your place. You must say where you want to go and how much you'll study the truth to know. Courage must come from the soul within. The man must furnish the will to win.

True culture is sympathy and the measure of my culture is the circumference of th circle of my sympathy and my concern for the welfare of others.

Forbearance would decrease our cares.

Just a little prayer will lift us from the darkness to the light.

It isn't the work that kills a man or woman; it is worry. Work is healthy; you can scarcely have more of it than you can bear if you love it and bring it to a happy willing heart.

Just be glad that you are living and keep cheering someone on. Forget your troubles just set aside your victoirs and keep cheering someone on. The world hungers for the fellow that cheers someone on.

Do we think a little straighter? Do we feel a little nobler, are our hands a little more willing to help than they were a year ago? Do we hunger for betterment? Are we living in a higher atmosphere than a year ago.

Let's have pleasant expectations of one another. It's surprising how regularly the other fellow will smile, if we confidently expect him to.

To err is human -- to forgive is devine.

You will find those who dislike the most people are most disliked by others themselves and they have many diagreeable traits. Whereas those who like the most people are those who are best liked.

Be pleasant and mean it.

The best thing to give to your enemy is forgiveness; to an opponent tolerance; to a friend, your heart; to your child, a good example; to a father, deference; to your mother, conduct that will make her proud of you; and to yourself, respect; to all men, charity.

Don't be a human lobster waiting for something to come to you, instead launch out into the deep where life is abundant. Just a little effort is all that is needed.

I have closed the door on fear. he has lived with me too long. If he were to break forth and reappear, I whould lift my eyes and sing aloud and run lightly by. He will never follow a song.

TRAINING DECREASES PREJUDICE

Tom STagg---that's all Died at 30---burried at 60.

Let your light so shine before men that others seeing your good works will be led to glorify God.

Achievement is not an outcome of chance. It is earned through years of fidility to principles.

So few meet with success because so many expect success to meet them half way.

There's too much unused thought milage in each of us.

Trouble? No just life coming at you to be tackled.

When one door closes another opens; but we often look so long and regretfully upon the closed door that we fail to see the other.

Defeat is nothing but education. It is the first step to something better.

The Lord does not look upon sin with the least degree of allowance.

The way to live well, is to work well.

Don't procrastinate. You have the same spirit in the next world. A man imagines the woman he marries is something set apart.

Your offence she may blot from her mind When a woman's forgiveness you crave. Yet though she forgives you, You'll find She'll never forget she forgave.

Thinking about the load makes it heavy.

Take advice but do your own deciding.

Captalize your personality.

Let me keep myself free to think and to live.

A CREED

To live, be loved and to love mankind. To smile when things may hurt you most.

To speak no word of scorn of men.

To praise all good but never boast.

To listen another's story through.

To measure faults with libral rule.

To never say "I told you so", or judge the other man a fool.

To say the things you'd like to hear, remembering that praise is sweet to measure,

That deeds like doves return to roost.

That a friend is life's most hallowed treasure.

SUCCESS

Who, battling against some seeming wrong, Can meet disaster with a song, And rise refreshed the foe to meet, Who only lives the world to bless Can never fail--He is success.

If you were busy being kind, You'd soon forget someone was unkind to you.

If you were busy being glad You'd soon forget the heartache you had.

Don't let glad thoughts go to waste.

Vice is a monster of so frightful mein, As to be hated needs but to be seen; yet seen too oft, familiar with her face, We first endure, then pity, then embrace.

Effort

The heights of great men reached and kept Were not attained by sudden flight, But they, while their companions slept, Were toiling upward in the night.

Humility

When we are humble the Lord, our God, will lead us by the hand and give us answer to our prayers.

I've felt to take the opposite side to those who have preached that we should not do a thing because it was our duty but only for love. I feel no greater feeling in my soul than the gratitude I have that My God has given me a "duty". I love a duty from God. I need no other excuse to try to do the thing that has been given me to do by the Lord. I love Duty.

Will you be ready for the place when it shall fall to you?

Of gossip let it pass three gates. l. Is it true. 2. Is it needful. 3. Is it kind?

If you can't hop out, keep swimming around.

Cheer up, chase those useless cares away. Cheer up, things will be alright, Your smiles are more adorning. Old Sol himself is sunk each night but rises every morning. The sun is down and out each night but rises every morning.

Laughter wipes out the differences of birth. Age is forgotten and pangs of earth, cast, creed and places are all leveled out by mirth.

Put by a little for it always rains.

Three roads to paradise: The road of faith. The road of hope so broad and fair that anyone may journey there. The road of love the last of all. These roads are never very far apart and each is in the human heart.

No great effort is required to give birth to a habit, and it will raise itself. Just give it a good start and the forget it. It blossoms and bears fruit without pruning, spraying or watering.

Remember your heart, soul, and body search for happiness. Your mind alone denys it.

THE ONLY THING A PERSON NEED ENVY IS A LARGE, RICH, GENEROUS SOUL WHICH ENVIETH NOT.

Where love is, God is.

Don't try to please but instead give pleasure.

After you have been kind, after love has stolen forth into the world and done it's beautiful work, put a seal upon your lips and forget what you have done. Go back into the shade again and say nothing about it. Love hides even from itself.

THERE IS NO HAPPINESS IN HAVING OR GETTING ONLY IN GIVING.

No form of vice, not worldliness, not greed for gold, not drunkness itself does more to unchristanize society than evil temper. For embittering life, for breaking up communities, for distroying the most sacred relationships, for devatating homes, for withering up men and women, for taking the bloom out of childhood, for a sheer misery producing power, this influence stands alone.

To enter heaven, a man must take it with him.

Bad temper is a fevor which tell of a disease within. An occasional bubble escapes to the surface which betrays some rotteness underneath. Tis a sample of the most hidden product of the soul, dropped involuntarily when one's off guard. A need of patience, kindness, generosity, courtesy and unselfishness are all instantaneously symbolized in one flash of temper.

It is better not to live than not to love.

Truth includes the self restraint which refuses to make capital out of others faults; the clarity which does not delight in exposing the weakness of others, but covers all things; the sincerity of purpose which indeavors to see all things as they are and rejoices to find them better than suspicion feared or calumny denounced.

We love because He first loved us.

You are what you think, not what you think you are.

Be brief-- for it is with words as with sunshine--the more they are condensed the deeper they burn.

To wish is of little account. to succeed you must earnestly desire, and this desire must shorten thy sleep.

Son, the key to success doesn't fit the night latch.

Unless you bear with the faults of a friend you betray your own.

I could not pray as one should pray,
Or trust as one hould trust,
Until sin took my boasted strength
And dragged it in the dust.
I could not pity those who fell,
Until as they, I fell
God has so many different ways
To save a soul from hell.

The thing that goes the fartherest to making life worth while, That costs the least and does the most, Is just a friendly smile.

The man who has nothing to boast of but his ancestors, is like a potatoe. The only good belonging to him is underground.

Don't aim to be an earthly saint with eyes fixed on a star. Just try to be the fellow your mother thinks you are.

So neigh is grandeur unto dust So near is God to man When duty whispers low you must The youth replies "I can".

Politness is to do and say the kindest things in the kindest way.

Every outstanding success is built on the ability to do better than good enough.

The way to get ahead is to start now.

To obey is better than sacrifice.

THE GREAT CLOCK

The closk of life is wound but once And none has the power To tell just when the hands will stop At late or early hour.

Now is the only time you own Live, love, toil with a will Place no faith in tomorrow For the clock may then be still.

The timberline tree is crippled and bent by eternal blasts, Winning life's battles by holding fast.

Timberline tree I'm ashamed of the fight I've made in the world of men. I'll go back to the valley to fight again.

If I Could

If I could speak by any means
The thoughts that wander in my heart.
If I could tell the vague and laughing dreams-Of youth, of pride--the glory of the silver moons light spell,
I think I would be happy and content
However poor the house wherein I dwell.

If I could make the human race more king and confer some true and lasting benifit

Save something from the awful wastes of time Help someone to the hilltop from the pit. Ah, then, I think my heart would be content, Though none but God cared anything for it.

If I could find my spirit could indure
The thought of standing face to face with God.
Should yet go gladly to a trifling task
Nor fret because my pathway wasn't broad.
Ah, then I think my heart might feel at last
That I was treading where Christ's footsteps had trod.

Insist on yourself. Never imitate. That which each can do best, none but his maker can teach him.

If any little word of ours
Can make one life the brighter;
If any little song of ours
Can make one heart the lighter;
God help us to speak the little word,
And take our bit of singing,
And drop it in some lonely vale
And set the echoes ringing.

You Don't have to Tell It - They Know it.

You don't have to tell how you live each day. You don't need to say if you work or play. A tried true barometer serves in the place However you live, it will show in your face.

The false, the discreet, that you bear in your heart Will not stay inside where it first got it's start.

For sinue and blood are a thin vail of lace

What you wear on your heart you wear in your face.

If you've gambled and won in the great game of life If you feel you have conquered the sorrow and strife If you've played the game fair and you stand on first base You don't have to say it, It shows in your face.

If you dissapate nights till the day is most nigh There is only one tattler and one that won't lie Since your facial barometer is right in its place. You don't have to tell folks. It shows in your face.

If your life is unselfish,--if for others you live--For not what you get, but what you can give If you live close to God in His infinite grace You don't have to tell it, it shows in your face.

You can never be nobler than when you resist to say something mean about someone you don't like.

If there is some weaker one, Give me strength to help him on; If a blinder soul there be
Let me guide him nearer thee.
make my mortal dreams come true
With the work I fain would do;
Clothe with life the weak intent
Let me be the thing I meant,
Let my find in thy employ
Peace that dearer is than joy
Out of self to love be led.
And to heaven acclimated;
Until all things sweet and good
Seem my natural habitude.

Guard well within yourself that treasure -kindness. Know how to give without hesitation, how to lose without regret, how to acquire without meaness.

Never use a weaker brother's soul as a stepping stone for my most eager feet; Not by anothers' loss to reach my goal. Success thus won would be my souls' defeat. Never to gain an inch along the way, For which in honesty I did not pay.

If you're in hot water up to the neck, Be like the kettle and sing.

When you're down in the mouth think of Jonah--He came out all right.

You are not Christs' deciples unless you can get along happily with your brethren.

To labor with zest and give of your best, for the sweetness and joy of giving.

To help other folks along with a hand and a song--There's the real

sunshine of living.

The easiest thing to find is fault. The hardest thing to keep is still.

If you have hard feelings, use one ounce of common sense and a little bit of love and they will dissolve.

MY ONLY PLEA

Smellie sent this little poem to me when he was in the service and it means so much to me. I've treasured it through 45 years.

Still laugh, "said I," "when I'm away,
And gather all the flowers of May;
Still keep my room, the pictures all,
That I have loved, upon the wall;
For I shall want them every one
The moment that the war is won.

"Still play the records, dance and sing, And spread no fears by sorrowing; Be happy every time you can, For victory, work and pray and plan; For I shall want you looking well When we have fired the final shell.

Still bake the pie as it might be That I were coming home to tea; Still plant the garden round about; Still grub the sturdy thistles out And stake the blue delphinium, As if this war had never come.

For if this struggle shall be long, At home there must be mirth and song. Since these are what we fight to keep, So hide away whey you must weep; And be as brave at home, as we Who fight in sky, on land and sea. Author unknown

Prejudice is opinion without judgement.

Those who raise flowers find that if they pick them lavishly they will continue to bear flowers all summer. If they save them they will quickly wither, go to seed and die. Flowers aren't the only pleasures multiplied if shared. The many great joys of life will shrivel up and die if we try to keep them for ourselves. Life is happiness to those who share it with others.

Four things a man must learn to do if he would make his record true. To think without confusion clearly
To act with honest motive purely
To love his fellowmen sincerely
To trust in God and heaven securely.

Following the line of least resistance is what makes rivers and men crooked.

A heart full of truth is better than a head full of facts.

A fool is the fellow who trades the prospects of an honorable happiness for the reckless fun of today.

Absence of occupation is not rest. A mind quite vacant is a mind distressed.

People may talk but never teach unless they practice what they preach.

Why should I start up this highly complicated machinery of digestion for just a single cherry.

What you are is God's gift to you. What you make of yourself is your gift to God.

Happiness is a habit. Cultivate it.

It is best not to tell all you know. You may have to respond to an encore.

Learn to be a private thinker. Then you can become a public speaker.

Modern petting has made many girls resemble rock salt put in a trough for cattle to lick.

Don't judge a man by the clothes he wears. God made one and man made the other.

It's today that I'm living, having, loving, taking, giving. Yesterday a cloud of sorrow fell across my way. It may rain tomorrow, but ain't it fine today.

If There's Ever a Time

If there's ever a time you suffer alone Lest the knowledge might add to my woe And to spare me you smile through unshed tears. God grant that I may know.

If there's ever a time when a word from me Would help you on your way.
Would give you the courage to carry on God give me that word to say.

If there's ever a time when a lift from me. Can ease your load of care And make your burden a little less hard, God grant that I may be there.

Dear Lord, kind Lord,
Gracious Lord, I pray
Thou wilt look on all I love
Tenderly to-day.
Weed their hearts of weariness;
Scatter every care,
Down the wake of angel wings
Winnowing the air.

Bring unto the sorrowing All release from pain;
Let their lips of laughter
Overflow again!
And with all the needy,
Oh! divide, I pray,
This vast treasure of content
That is mine today.
James Whitcomb Riley.

God let me be aware.

Let me not stumble blindly down the ways Just getting, somehow, safely through the days Let my hand - groping- find other hands. Give me the heart that devines-understands Please keep me always eager to do my share. God let me be aware.

Most of our sorrows spring from our follies.

If any little love of mine
May make a life the sweeter
If any little care of mine
May make a friend a little fleeter
If any lift of mine may ease
The burden of another,
God give me love and care and strength
To help my toiling brother.

A smile is the key God gave to thee To enter the hearts of others,
To help them smile, to help them see
The friend that a smile discovers.

When wealth is lost, nothing is lost. When health is lost, something is lost. When character is lost, all is lost.

Happiness is great love and much service. To love is to serve. This world was made for lovers and servants.

The joy of rendering service is the purest, least diluted, most permanent, divine and abiding joy of which a human being is capable.

You say the world is gloomy; The skies are grim and gray, The night had lost it's quiet--You fear the coming day? The world is what you make it, The sky is gray or bluei Just as your soul may paint it, It isn't the world -- it's you.

Clear up the cloudy vision Clean out the foggy mind; The clouds are always passing, And each is silver lined. The world is what you make it--Then make it bright and true, And when your day is gloomy, It isn't the world, it's you.

He who looks up to God continuously never finds time to look down upon his fellow men.

Thinking of You

I think about you often, And I'd write you every day, But there's so very liitle That is worthwile to say, It's whether it rains, or it doesn't It's either hot or cold The news is all uninteresting Or else it's all been told. The only thing that matters Is the fact that you are there And I'm here without you And it's lonesome everywhere. I think about the way you smile And I recall your touch Distance lends enchantment And I miss uyou very much.

All things come to him who waits, But here's a rule that's slicker; The man who goes for what he wants Will get it all the quicker.

Do you wonder sometimes how you could really know if you had had an answer to a prayer?

"Did I not speak peace to your soul?"

DISILLUSION

I crept far out to the edge of the world, And then looked back to see, The horrible, yawning chasm In the place once filled by me. But lo, and behold, in the world's great scheme I had filled such a little crack,
That even it was filling up,
So I gladly hurried back.

Happiness is like a kiss. It isn't any good until you share it with somebody else.

He that cannot forgive others breaks the bridge over which he must pass himself; for every man has need to be forgiven.

Before you ask advice explore your own head; there may be something in it.

Don't be discouraged; even a carpet tack is of no use without a knock or two on the head now and then.

Troubles are like babies--they only grow by nursing.

Flattery is like bootleg liquor--It won't hurt you unless you swallow it.

SWEETHEART

I thought that you would like to know,
That someone's thoughts go where you go,
That someone never can forget,
The hours we've spent since first we met
That life is richer, sweeter far,
For such a sweetheart as you are,
And now my constant prayer will be,
THAT GOD WILL KEEP YOU SAFE FOR ME.

What ever you get you will pay the price, 'Cause you can't be naughty and yet be nice.

The greatest of faults is to be conscious of none.

Learn to listen, and listen to learn.

Receipt for a long life; "Be careful not to exceed the feed limit."

Mud thrown is ground lost.

He knows so little and knows it so fluently.

Theodore Roosevelt once said the reason fat men are good natured is they can neither fight nor run.

Silence isn't always golden---sometimes it's just plain yellow.

Many persons call a Doctor when all they need is an audience.

Drinking does not drown your sorrows--it only irrigates them.

There is not illegitimate children, only illigitmate parents.

The cure for anything is salt water---sweat, tears, or the sea.

The difference between stumbling blocks and stepping stones is the way you use them.

Somehow the people who always say what they think have a mania for saying disagreeable things.

MY CREED

I would be true, for there are those who trust me;
I would be pure, for there are those who care;
I would be strong, for there is much to suffer;
I would be brave, for there is much to dare.
I would be a friend to all--the foe, the friendless;
I would be giving, and forget the gift;
I would be humble for I know my weakness;
I would look up--and laugh, and love, and live.

Ghosts

It isn't the things you do dear, It's the things you leave undone, Which gives you the bitter heartache, At the setting of the sun. The tender words forgotten, The letter you did not write, The flowers you might have sent, dear, Are your haunting ghosts tonight.

Everyone should have a fair sized cemetery in which to bury the faults of his friends.

THIS IS FRIENDSHIP

I love you not only for what you are,

but for what I am when I am with you;

I love you not only for what you have made of yourself,

But for what you are making of me.

I love you for the part of me you bring out.

I love you for putting you hand in my heart,

and passing over all the weak things that you cannot help seeing;

And drawing out into the light all the beautiful radient things

That no one else had looked quite far enough to find.

I love you for ignoring the possibilities of the fool in me

and for laying firm hold on the possibilities of the good in me.

I love you because you are helping me to make of the lumber of my life

Not a tavern but a temple.

And the words of my everyday not a reproach; but a song.

I love you because you have done more than any creed could have done to make me happy.,.

You have done it without a touch, without a word, without a sigh.

You have done it just by being yourself/

Perhaps that is what being a friend means after all.

Heritage

Faith

In this day of fulfillment of prophecy the world is running a collision course with God.

More than a century has passed since the angel flew in the midst of heaven and cried with a loud voice "Fear God and give glory to him for the hour of his judgement has come===We are living in that hour....but instead of hearing and giving head the masses of people of the world are both ignoring and denying him/instead of worshiping him they call him a myth.

INstead of fearing him they make disobedience a way of life.

Even there is no God/ Eat Drink and be merry etc.

Pleasure seeking has become the principle aim in life.

What God teaches — the world, in ever increasing numbers — seems determined to deny.

The 10 commandments, long considered the basis of all law now are being reversed by modern thinkers.

Where God said "thou shalt not kill" waves of sentiment in the opposite direction appear. Many killings are being condoned in some areas. and advocated in many more. Abortions are equaling the number of live births.

widespread restrictions of conception now dashes the of God to Multiply and replenish the earth.

Permissiveness in sex dashes the divine injunction against it.

Where the Lord commands modesty, the world advocates near nudity.

where the Lord teaches sobriety the world advocates the social drink

Mixing of liquors with food recipes.

Where the Lord commands observance of the sacred sabbath the world made a three day week end devoted to anything but worship.

And so we might go on. It is a collision course. God has said he will not be mocked.

His coming will be a glorious day for the righteous whom he will save. But for the rebellious it will be a time of destruction.

Can rebellious man in collision with God==expect anything else.

We must face facts — There is a God. Shall we accept Him or ignore him of defy Him? God has placed us here on earth to become like him...We sort of attend a school There is a course of study — The gospel. The curriculum makes specific requirements of us. WE must meet those requirements. We can neither change or cancel them.

Some do not complete the course. Drops out. God's course of training has many specifics.

As we sow we shall also reap

We are expected to work in God's kingdom with whole heart and soul and strength. No shortcuts — This is the way walk ye in it" is the eternal rule

Be valiant is the command.

Our purpose in life should be to live by every work that proceedeth forth from His mouth.

We cannot take him or leave him as we happen to feel.

The sabbath provides a glaring example of those who believe in Him and have the courage to obey . His laws are strict and demanding and carry a penalty for not obeying.

In spite of this who really obeys the law as the Lord laid it down. Don;t we put our private interpretations on it and keep it "here a little and there a little" to suit our own convenience? As we do this don't we take him or leave him.

We will live to see the day when our attitude towards the Lord's day will determine our worthiness to receive protection during future tribulations.

How do we rate in other matters? What about honesty? Isn't dishonesty a form of uncleanliness which is despised by the Lord. If no unclean thing can enter his presence can a dishonest person do so?

Lying, deceiving, "saving face", malicious gossiping, no payment of debts, thievery, and cheating have become a way of life with millions of people. Yet they pious in their actions==attending church meeting with a fair degree of regularity. Can an appearance of piety mask the real condition of the heart? Does God judge by the mask or what is deep within?

God commands human beings to clothe themselves to avoid personal exposure.

The Lord has taught us that we should love righteousness for righteousness' sake. If we loved righteousness for righteousness' sake Would we ever be enticed by wickedness? Would be try to make an easy dollar by being dishonest /would we be tempted to lose our virtue, or contaminate our bodies with the filth tobacco, drugs or liquor? All such would be distasteful in the extreme.

To love honesty, just because it is right to be honest; to love cleanliness because we love the strength of being clean; to love justice c because it is elevating; to be pure because purity is diving — are not these the traits that make us Christ like.

Is it any wonder that Jesus is called the king of righteousness? How can he be otherwise — And he invites us to be come like him. The Savior spoke of those who love darkness rather than light — They love evil for the sake of evil we do we stan? Can we now see why the Savior said we cannot serve both God and Mammon — Why we cannot serve two opposite masters?

Can anyone be clean and dirty at the same time. Can anyone revel in worldliness and at the same time be saintly

But some try.

How many businessmen make a pious appearance on Sunday and act otherwise during the week?

How many women pretend to be spiritual and good and at the same time display their femininity with short skirts, low necks and tight clothing which puts an evil emphasis on sex.

How many Latter-day saints raise their hands to sustain the brethren but fail to keep the commandments, refusing to follow the admonition of the very men they publicly pretend to support.;

We must love righteousness because it is righteous. We must love cleanliness just because it is clean and free from the filth which will keep us out of his kingdom.

We must love virtue because to be chaste is to be obedient to God and to be like him.

We must love Honesty because lit is one of the traits of Godliness.

To have righteousness for righteousness sake then is a divine quality, just as love of sin for the sake of sin is devilish in every respect..

God is clean and pure and just — He is righteousness personified. Let us love righteousness because it is God like — and because we love God.

I love my heritage of the Gospel — faith in the prophets. I must try to live according to what I have been taught.

Dec. 9, 1992

I think this is my Christmas card to you;

Today I'm thinking of you. There are many things to say How can I show my feelings Of love and gratitude today.

May your life be filled with joy May your home be full of cheer, And may God bless you with hope And love throughtout the coming year.

You'll always be remembered For the lovely things you do From my heart I want to say, I really do love you.

So have a very merry Christmas day and a

Happy New Year too.

The Plan of the Master Weaver

My life is but a weaving Between the Lord and me. I may not choose the colors, He knows what they should be. For He can draw the pattern Upon the upper side. While I can see it only on this the underside.

Sometimes He weaveth sorrow Which seemeth strange to me; But I will trust his judgment And work on faithfully. 'Tis He who fills the shuttle And He knows what is best. So I shall weave in earnest Leaving to Him the rest.

Not till the loom is silent And the shuttles cease to fly Shall God unroll the canvas And explain the reason why The dark threads are as needed In the weavers skillful hand The threads of gold and silver in the pattern he has planned.

17 Points of the True Church

1. Christ organized the church Eph 4:11-14

And he gave some apostles, prophets, evangelists, pastors and teachers, for the perfecting of the saints, and the work of the ministry for the edifying of the body of Christ. Till we all come to unity of the faith and to a knowledge of the Son of God, unto a perfect man, unto the measure of the statue of the fullness of Christ; that we henceforth be now more children toss to and fro and carried about by every wind of doctrine by the sleight of men and cunning craftiness, whereby they lie in wait to deceive;

2. The true church must bear the name of Jesus Christ. Eph. 5:23

For the husband is the head of the wife, even as Christ is the head of the church: and He is the saviour of the body.

3. The true church must have a foundation of apostles & prophets Eph 2:19-20

Now therefore ye are no more strangers and foreigners, but fellow citizens with the saints, and of the household of God; and are build upon the foundation of the apostles and prophets, Jesus Christ himself being the chief corner stone.

- 4. The true church must have the same organization as Christ's church Eph 4:11-14 Quoted on No 1 above.
 - 5. The true church must claim divine authority. Heb 5:4-10

And no man taketh this honour unto himself but he that is called of God as way Aaron. 5 So also Christ glorified hot himself to be made an high priest; but he that said unto him. thou art my Son, today have I begotten thee. 6 As he saith also in another place, Thou art a priest forever after the order of Melchizedek 7. Who in the days of his flesh when he had offered up prayers and supplications with strong crying and tears unto him that was able to save them from death and was heart in that he feared; 8 Thou he ware a Son, yet learned he obedience by the things which he suffered/ And being made perfect, he became the author of eternal salvation unto all them that obey him/ 10. called of God an high priest after the order of Melchisedec.

6. The true church must have no paid ministry. Isa 45:13 Peter 5:2 I have raised him up in righteousness and I will direct all his way. He shall build my city, and he shall let go my captives not for price nor reward, saith the Lord of hosts.

Feed the flock of God which is among you, taking the oversight thereof, not by constraint, but willingly: not for filthy lucre, but of a ready mind.

7. The true church must baptize by immersion/ Matt 3:13-16

therefore speak I to them in parables, because they seeing see not; and hearing they hear not, neither do they understand. And in them is fulfilled the prophesies of Esaias, which saith by hearing ye shall hear, and shall not understand; and seeing ye sahll see and not perceive. For this people's heart is waxed gross, and their ears

are dull of hearing, and their eyes they have closed; lest at any time they should see with their eyes, and should understand with their heart and should be converted and I should heal them. But blessed are your eyes for they see and your ears for they hear.

8. The true church must bestow the gift of the Holy ghost by the laying on of hands Acts 8:14-17

Now when the apostles which were at Jerusalem heard that Sameria had received the word of God they sent unto them Peter and John. who when they were come down prayed for them that they might received the Holy Ghost. for as yet he was fallen upon none of them , only they were baptized in the name of Jesus Christ. Then laid they their hands on them and they received the Holy Ghost.

9. The true church must practice divine healing Mark 3:14-15

And he ordained twelve, that they should be with him, and that he might send them forth to preach. And to have power to heal sicknesses, and to cast out devils.

10. The true church must teach that God and Jesus Christ are separate and distinct individuals. John 17:11 and John 20:17

And now I am no more in the world, but these are in the world, and I come to thee. Holy Father, keep through thine own name those whom thou hast given me, that they may be one as we are one. Jesus saith unto her, touch me not for I have not yet ascended to my Father, abut go to thy brethren and say unto them, I ascend unto my Father and your Father, and to my God and your God.

11. The true church must teach that God and Jesus Christ have bodies of flesh and bones. Luke 24:36-39 and Act 1;9-11

And as they thus spake, Jesus himself stood in the midst of them, and saith unto them, Peace be unto you. But they were terrified and afrighted, and supposed that they had seen a spirit. And he said unto them, Why are ye troubled, and why do thoughts arise in your hearts? Behold my hands and my feet that it is I myself; handle me, and see; for a spirit hath not flesh and bones, as ye see me have.

12. The officers must be called by God. Heb 5:4 Ex. 28:1 Ex 40:13-16

And no man taketh this honour unto himself, but he that is called of God, as was Aaron. And take thou unto thee, Aaron thy brother, and his sons with him from among the children of Israel, that he may minster unto me in the priest's office, even Aaron, Nadab, and abihu, 'Eleazar and thamar, Aaron's sons.

And thou shalt put upon Aaron the holy garments and anoint him and sanctify him; that he may minister unto me in the Priest's office. and thou shalt bring his sons and clothe them with coats/ And thou shalt anoint them as thou has anointed their father that they may minister unto me in the Priest's office; for their annointings shall surely be an everlasting priesthood throughout their generations.

- 13. The true church must claim revelation from God. Amos 3:7 Surely the Lord God will do nothing, but he revealeth his secrets unto his servants the prophets
- 14. The true church must be a missionary church. Matt. 28:19-20 Go ye therefore and teach all nations, baptizing them in the name of the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost, Teaching them to observe all things whatsoever I have commanded you: and lo, I am with you always, even unto the end of the world. Amen.
- 15. The true church must be a restored church. Act 3:19-21 Repent ye therefore, and be converted, that your sins may be blotted out, when the times of refreshing shall come from the presence of the Lord. And he shall send Jesus Christ, which before was preached unto you. Whom the heavens must receive until the times of restitution of all things, which God hath spoken by the mouth of all his holy prophets, since the world began.
- 16. The true church must practice baptism for the dead. 1st Cor. 15-16 & 29

For if the dead rise not, then is not Christ raised. 20 But Now is Christ risen from the dead and became the firstfruits of them that slept. 29 Else what shall they do which are baptized for the dead, if the dead rise not at all? Why are they then baptized for the dead?

17. By their fruits ye shall know them. Matt 7:20

Wherefore by their fruits ye shall know them.

Place Provo, Utah, Date July 3, 1939 A blessing given by Patriarch Amos Newlove Merrill upon the head of Laurel D. Hill Daughter of Chancey Hill and Hermine Jackson born October 3, 1915 in Crystal Lake, Idaho.

Dear Sister Hill:

I lay my hands upon your head and give unto you a blessing which shall be a guide to you and a source of comfort and guidance as you pursue your journey of live. I give you such promises and blessings and seal upon you such power as the spirit of the Lord may direct. Your are of Israel — a noble and true spirit, held back until this, the dispensation of the fullness of time, to come upon the earth as a representative of the house of Joseph. The Lord is well-pleased with you and with your devotion to Him and to his great work. He is pleased that you have sought out the services of a Patriarch in the church and thus given evidence of your faith in the ordinances of the Holy Priesthood. The angels of your presence rejoice over you this afternoon and, in the future as in the past, they will draw near to you and you will feel their Holy Presence and they will whisper in your ear that which is best to be done. Cultivate the power to hear the disposition to yield obedience to that which they inspire you to do. The Holy Spirit of the Lord also will rest upon you and, in the time of your need, these great powers beyond the veil will come to your rescue.

During the silent watches of the night your mind will be touched and quickened by the Divine Presence and the visions of the night will be unfolded to you and you will see a course that you are to pursue and you will be given wisdom to interpret the dreams that come unto your heart.

You have been valiant thus far in the work of the Lord. You have magnified His name among those who know not of Him./ You have demonstrated also that you can walk by faith and not by sight. Continue to give these evidences of your faithfulness and devotion and the joy that will come unto your heart as you continue your journey of life shall be beyond expression. When the vicissitudes of life draw around you and seem to hedge up the way, go into your silent chambers and call upon the Lord in humble prayer and you will enjoy the revelations of His holy spirit and the way will clear and that which seems impossible will be cleared out of the way and you shall go forth with joy and rejoicing in your heart. You have a noble mission of teaching among the children of the latter-day saints and others who may come may receive the benefits of your instruction. I seal upon you the power and ability to become a great teacher, that you may have influence among those with who you labor and that you may lead them in the path that they should go. You will be given the spirit to serve, for the Lord has a great work for you to do. You will be called to responsible positions. Be faithful, therefore, in the discharge of every responsibility and you will be magnified in the eyes of those who labor with you and for whom you labor.

The time will come, dear sister, when your hand will be sought in marriage. If the one who thus seeks your companionship is worthy — if he is the one whom the Lord designed that you should be untied with in the Holy Bonds of Matrimony, he will desire and will be worthy to take you to the Temple of the Lord there be sealed to you, and you to him, for time and for all eternity under the New and Ever-lasting covenants of the Priesthood. Choice spirits await in the presence of Our Father upon you, that they might come through your loins to tabernacle in the flesh. Cherish these thoughts in your heart. Call upon the Lord in humble prayer and these blessings will be yours to enjoy

Call upon the Lord in humble prayer and these blessings will be yours to enjoy for it will be your privilege to enjoy and to receive every righteous desire of your heart. In as much as it is for your soul's salvation.

I seal upon you power to resist the evils of your day for many of these evils will come among this people and the evil one desires to lead away the choice daughters of Israel — to lead them into temptations and into the evil, but you shall have power to resist these temptations and stand clean and pure before the Lord continually, and your body will be a fit receptrical for the Holy Spirit of the Lord to dwell in. Reflect upon these things and your heart shall be filled with joy and satisfaction.

I bless you that you may have health and life and peace, that your days may be lengthened on the earth, that you may live until you are satisfied with days, and that your latter days shall be happy ones for you may reflect upon the fruits of a well-spent life. I bless you with power to come forth in the morning of the first resurrection, clothed upon with a body Celestial, glorified and beautiful. It will be your privilege to come with Christ when He comes in the clouds of Heaven with His mighty throng of the faithful. to dwell upon the earth. You shall live and reign with Him during the Millennium and you will see Him present the world and all the faithful who dwell in it to the Father and say to Him, "These are the ones that you sent me forth to redeem." He has bought you with the price of his own blood and He loves you and he will call you by name and you will know then that He has been mindful of you. Your testimony shall increase until you shall until you shall know, without a shadow of doubt, that Jesus is the Christ and that this is His great Latter-Day work, designed to save to the uttermost, the children of men. Be of good Cheer. Cultivate happiness and gladness. Speak words of cheer to those who are in need. Lend a helping hand the blessings of the Lord will rest upon you mightily. To this end, dear sister, I bless you and confer upon you every blessing that is my right and privilege to bestow at this time and remind you that all good and gracious gifts of Our Heavenly Father come because of Faith and faithfulness unto him. I seal upon you these blessings with every other blessing that will be for your soul's salvation and I do it in authority of the Holy Priesthood, and in the name of the Lord, Jesus christ, Even so, Amen. Amos N. Merrill

Roosevelt, Utah January 24, 1931

A blessing by Ephraim Lambert, Patriarch upon the head of Laurel Hill, daughter of Chancey Eugene Hill and Hermione Jackson Hill, Born at Crystal Lake, Jefferson Co. Idaho, October e, 1915

Laurel Hill, in the name of Jesus Christ I lay my hands upon thy head and give unto thee a patriarchal blessing. Thou art also of the House of Israel and a descendant of Joseph through the loins of Ephraim and art an heir to all blessings promised unto the daughters of Zion among who thou art numbered. Therefore, I say unto thee be very faithful and diligent in keeping the commandments of the Lord, for great things shall be required of thee. Therefore, treasure up much knowledge by study, prayer and supplication, and inasmuch as thou shalt do this, the spirit of the Lord shall be distilled upon thy mind as the dews of heaven upon the earth, and thy mind shall be enlarged that thou shalt be able to see and understand the gospel of jesus Christ of Latter day Saints in its true light and shalt be able to promulgate the same to the nations of the earth, for it thou art faithful thou shalt be called to travel much and to promulgate the same to the nations of the earth, for it thou art faithful thou shalt be called to travel much and to preach to many people and to declare unto them the word of the Lord and to call them to repent before the destructions shall go forth to destroy the wicked, for the Lord shall inspire thee what to say and direct thy course in life and shall stretch forth his hand and save thee from the hands of the destroyer and raise thee up at the last day, for thou shalt be able to accomplish a great and might work, for the Lord loveth thee and shall not forsake thee in the hour of need. The Holy Ghost shall be with thee to direct thee through life and to warn thee what to do. Yes, it shall be they constant companion and all these things will the Lord do for thee through thy faithfulness. Therefore, pray always that ye may not faint or fall by the way for through they faithfulness all things shall be done unto thee that shall be for thy good and for thy exaltation and for the work of the Lord. I also say unto thee that thy desires shall be granted insofar as it shall be for thy good and I bless thee in thy body and mind that thou shalt become physically strong and mentally bright. Therefore, seek the Lord and all shall be well with thee. These blessings I seal upon thy head. I also seal thee up to eternal life to come forth in the morning of the first resurrection. Even so . Amen.

Mar 2 1992

Dear Heidi,

Your letter of February 13 came this morning. I'm trying to get an answer back there before it is too late for you. The length of time it took to get here scares me. Wonder if it will arrive before your paper goes in.

Yes I'd like a copy of your paper if it isn't too much trouble.

Your first question — Do I enjoy being a Mom? I wouldn't want to be anything else. — That desire had to be instilled in me as a child in a home filled with boys and girls with responsibility in order to make necessities for life come out right.

I started out with the best man in the world. I wanted one with faith in God and strength to help me become what I should be. No swearing, No dishonesty, An honorable man in the sight of God and man, One with the potential to be a perfect example of faith and love to the children I hoped to bear. I never had classes — Just a mother who taught correct principles and saw that they were carried out.

Discipline the kids just seemed to fall on us. I remember the surprise I got when Joan was about seven months old and she sort of threw a tantrum. Her dad pounced on her so fast. I really startled me. I thought she was too young to slap that hard.. She wasn't and she learned from it. When she got to yelling to have her way by the time she was eight months old I found a method. I'd tell her to stop. When she didn't I stuffed her mouth full so that she couldn't' make that noise. Soon she knew stop meant STOP. I really don't think any mother was more concerned about the needs and joys of her children. I never put them out of my sight for bad behavior. I just worked on it with them.

We had a nice yard. We noticed when our children were out playing that the yard was full. One day I heard one of the neighbor kids telling lies — this really worried me. Dad and I talked it over and we decided that no matter what was to be done — the children came first so we made the rule that when they were outside I would be out with them. That really took care of the neighbor kids training our children.

We never had to decide about school for them. The government had already done that.

No I never wondered what I had gotten myself into as they grew older. I might explain that the kids helped us from the time they could sit on the table and mess around in the dishpan. We washed dished then in a dishpan and Joan at ten months used to help wash the dishes. At a year she helped mop the floors. We had one rule. We accepted any effort they honestly made. I used to get the mop rag and wipe the water off the floor where Joan had mopped after she had gone.

I accepted her efforts with appreciation and Thanks. We always had jobs to do and worked together. We had understandings of what they were to do and we saw that it was done. I remember Aunt Guin said let the kids fight out their own battles. I didn't accept that philosophy. I knew God had given those children parents for a reason and I was there to help with problems and I did.

No...I did not ignore my kids. I was there to help in trouble or fun.

No — Once I started to feel bad because I was not with the kids so I talked it over with Dad. Guess what??? I was feeling I was not doing what the church ask and first in our teaching to our children was the church. Dad told me that I was where he wanted me to be. The children were at school while I was teaching there. We went to school together and came home at night together. During the day I was there if they had any need of me.

I got a broken heart one day when I walked down the hall. There was Will just sobbing his heart out in the hall not far from the Principals' office. I walked down to his room and asked why he was being punished by the principal. They said they had been running and playing in the room. When the teacher walked in Will just kept on. He didn't run to his seat and pretend to be good. Then I felt even sadder than to see him cry. He was being punished because he had not tried to be deceitful. That about broke my heart.. What would that do to him in the long run. He wasn't hurt like I thought he might be. Another thing I was grateful that my kids were not boobies and running to their mother all the time they were at school.

I tried to teach the kids that if something went wrong they were to talk it over. Ask your mother if she remembers when she broke one of my special dishes.

"How did you keep from going crazy when they were teenagers — taught them before they got to that stage. They knew their responsibilities and did them. For instance. They had turns washing dishes. Will suddenly was on the farm and his father's helper. Never even thought about him having a turn doing dishes then. Just knew he had his work and we had the inside work. We used to do the chores during seeding and harvest times to try to lighten the load for the men.

Yes, After Joan was married I thought I might tell her a bit about raising her children but I was wrong. She felt hurt so I stepped out of the picture. I have to amid that she has done a better job than I could have helped her do. While the children were in our home we were considered their parents still and still held the position of parents until they married and left the home. We tried to be councilors and helpers — not bosses.

The part on teaching cooking and sewing and house keeping. That was part of the teaching from day one — I mean house keeping. I demonstrated to Ellen that it was as easy to put her lip stick in the drawer when she was through with it as it was to lay it on top of the dresser — I just had children that learned easy and quick. Tom had a time learning to keep his room straight. One day I decided I had had it. I told him I had

decided he could keep his room as cluttered and dirty as he wanted to. The only request I made was that he always kept his bedroom door shut. That somehow worked for both Ellen and Tom. They kept their rooms clean after that.

Our system for getting the work done. We did it before we left for school in the morning so we could feel pleasant when we came home tired at night. When ever we had canning to do there was work for all the hands — little or big. They helped from almost babyhood. Tom and Will weren't excluded from helping. If there was work and there were hands around we used them. The girls started to learn to sew on doll clothes. About eleven or twelve I bought material and a pattern and had the girls make themselves a dress — that was the beginning of the real sewing. Tom wanted to so he did. He surprised many people with the things he sewed. He liked to cook. I had to make the rule that he could not cook unless he cleaned up after himself.

I remember your mother coming from her room tired out from studying and stir up a cake. Once I asked her why she did that. She said it was restful to her to cook after studying so hard. I tried to take care of the washing, ironing and bread baking. The cleaning jobs were divided up. The girls shared the cooking more and more as they grew older. The boys worked with their father outdoors more and more.

The most important thing in our lives was the church and we wanted that to be the most important thing in our children's lives. There never were discussions that had to be made about the church. They were already made before we were married in the temple for eternity. Our life's mission was to give our children the desire to always follow the prophet and serve the Lord.

Here's a little funny thing. One day when Tom was in the 6th or 7th grade a kid came to my room and told me that Tom was out of hand and his teacher wanted me to come to the room to help him. I think it was the first of April and I thought it was a joke so I filled my pocket with hard tack candy and went charging into them room and yelled I'd throw rocks at them. I did. I threw the candy. The hurried for cover until they discovered what the rocks were.

Having a testimony of the truthfulness of the gospel and wanting more than anything in this life — to have my children have that same strong testimony — was the root of Dad's and my teaching. Knowing this was God's will and the church was directed by a prophet of God was all we needed to know to help us try to life the gospel and try to teach it.

"Would you do it again?" Right now I'm too lazy to try but subtract 55 years off my life and Id be delighted to have some more of the children of God to love and teach.

Are you pretty satisfied with the outcome of that little venture we know as raising a family — Heidi, I have no greater joy than looking at my children right now. There is no pleasure on earth like that of seeing your children trying to teach their children to live

the gospel. I just fill up almost to the point of bursting when I look at my family. I love them so much. They are my reward.

Questions answered====

Grandpa is about like new. You would hardly know he had had an accident. We are so grateful.

Kim doesn't get too much of my cooking. He comes in late and goes after breakfast. We have spent a few days away and he want up north to his parents during the teacher institute time.

Glad you are doing well in school. Congratulations on you basket ball letter.

Now that is all over let me tell you something more. Before I was married I read the book "As the Twig Is Bent". It is really good on rearing children. If you like any of my ideas try reading that book sometime. it is really good.

The first chapter is "Control Your Children for Happiness" Another: Spank if you must. Another "Bad Habits live on Dividends"==Good Companions include parents===And No Work Makes Jack Duller==From Such Comes the Kingdom of Liars===Illness -real and Otherwise===How can Sex Truth be kept true?===A leash for the Green-Eyed Imp===Let's encourage Healthy Decency=== Your child's Future is in your hands..... and more but you can see where I got a few ideas from.

I've just received a phone call to come to the church to help someone in the library. So I'll quit. I love you. Give my love to your mother....My baby girl. and the rest of the Family.

Love Grandmother

Dear RaOla,

I'm sure this is not what you really wanted but I'll put down a few ideas. Hope they may do a little good because I think the thing you are doing is great.

I'll number them as they come to my head. You can rearrange them if they are any use to you.

First I must say that when I was young I read a book called "As The Twig is Bent". I was very much impressed with it and I'm sure I made use of what I liked and could remember —

So — As the twig is bend so is the tree inclined". That is what it meant. Get them young and bend them in the right shape. I remember when Smellie slapped Joan really hard at Mothers place when she was about six months old — It shocked me and Mom. But it did something for Joan too. She was throwing bread around in a tantrum..

- 2. Important to us was the fact that we loved each other I mean Smellie and I and we wanted the children to know of our love and respect for each other. I thought and still think that came before showing love to the children. WE had to have happiness between us then reach out to them.
- 3. I know playing the PollyAnna game helps to make a home happy. Do you know that one? No matter how bad a thing appears find something good about and say "I'm glad etc. etc.
 - 4. Organize yourselves and family.

Work I guess was about first on our list. We worked together. I remember when Joan was a year old and down on her hands and knees with me mopping the floor — I appreciated it and waited until she was gone before I wipe up the puddles she left...Accept the efforts that are put forth and enjoy the work together. There has to be rules about work — They have to be understood by all. The results of a good job and the results or punishments of a job not done — Let them suffer the consequences of their acts — good or bad. This rule is a wonderful one to live by. Kids get smart as soon as they think they are outsmarting their parents or their leaders and teachers. They know when you are protecting them from the consequences of their own bad acts.

- 5. Be fair but firm...
- 6. You be what you want your children to be. Honest, fair, considerate, sincere, happy, helpful, kind, thoughtful, prayerful, faithful, tender, loving, etc! etc!
 - 7. I felt I wanted to teach honesty so much to my children.
- 8. Only good books should be in the home. Even lessons should censured. Do not use a bad story to make a good point. The children learn from the bad story as much as they do the good point. I had to watch this.
- 9. While you are teaching honesty you will see some efforts to cover up something that is not right unless the children understand that you love them more than your valued treasure they have just accidently broken.
- 10. Be unselfish. Teach children to be unselfish. Look for the good in others. Forget self and self glory.

"Selfishness is self destruction in slow motion"

11. Never cater to demanders. Teach the children that is not the way to get things...Do not reward demanding by giving the child what he demands.

- 12. we didn't have music in our home instead we made music in our home. Joan piano, Will cornet, Ellen french horn, Tom clarinet Thus we were the choosers of the music.
- 13. Scriptures and gospel. The essential thing in life is not conquering but steadfast commitment to righteous patterns.

The scriptures and gospel is full of righteous patterns. Learn them. Use them Be what you want your children to be.

Remember that more children are punished for mimicking their parents than for disobeying them.

I hope you can use a few of these idead.

Now if I can just print it.

We love you. God bless you in your good work.

Love,

Laurel and Smellie

Here is a little poem that Ila Young sent me. It is so appropiate now days. A Little Mixed Up
Just a line to say I*m living,
I'm not among the dead;
Though I'm getting more forgetful
and more mixed up in the headl

For soemtimes I can't remember When I stand at foot of stair, If I must go up for something, Or if I've just come down from there.

And before the trip so often My poor mind's filled with doubt I I kjust put food away Or come to take some out?

And there's a time when it's dark out With my night cap on my head, It don't know if I'm retiring Or just getting out of bed.

So if it's my turn to write to you

There's no need in tetting sore. I may think that I have written And don't want to be a bore.

So remember that I do love you, And I wish that you were here. But now it's nearly meiltime So I must say "Goodby dear."

Where I stood beside the mail box with face so very red.
Instead of mailing you my letter I opened it instead.

Sept. 9, 1991

Dear Joy and Garth,

This morning I woke up and got some breakfast for Smellie then went back to bed after he had gone to the farm. I slept for a couple of hours then decided to clean the house a bit and get the mail. Your letters were there. I ;ut them on the bed then went to the Library and fixed up the packets for next Sunday — Never know when we will be away. We expect to go to Cardston on Friday for Tom's birthday. We can see that far ahead — when we come back will be anyone's guess.

After the packets were finish I had the treat of reading your letter and my letter. I will but that with my history now. Your note on the back caused me to get down my history. I'm going to copy some of it then comment on it later.

"We moved from Collette's house to DeFreezes'. There I was old enough to do my share of tending babies and other things connected with babies — no paper diapers in those days — and you didn't just throw the dirty diaper away.

While Joy was a baby we built our house on our own 20 acres of land down between the rocky hills.

I helped at home, tending the little kids during the morning then I went to the building site and sanded molds for the adobes in the afternoons.

We made 18,000 adobes in 3 weeks. One of our horses pulled the pug mill to mix the sand water and clay. we had good sand and clay right there but had to haul water from the well. We enjoyed it because it was to be our own first real home.

Dad, Jack and George were working on a farm. Roy was only eighteen and had had no experience but he did it along with the help of the rest of the family

We had poured the foundation before and when the bricks were dry we loaded them on a wagon to haul to the foundation. one of our horses had died so mother held up one side of the single tree while the horse pulled the load to the foundation. We mixed and carried the mud while Roy laid the adobes.. When the walls were up we had quite an experience. Roy needed help to get the first rafter in place. Mother climbed up on the wall to help him. She got hold of the loose end of the rafter and froze there with fear. She went blue in the face. We stood below and watched and prayed, Roy someway managed to get her free from the rafter and off the wall.

While building the house Joy had convulsions or something. She had no more after an administration by the priesthood. That morning Alta and I were at home. I went to pick the baby up when she started to stir. She looked terrible. WE ran for mother and for a neighbor for help She had 3 convulsions during that day before we got the priesthood.

WE moved into the house on the 24 of Nov. Nov. 25 was Thanksgiving that year and Mother's birthday. It was really an exciting time. The house was not ready but birthdays don't wait. Dad was home on Nov. 25. Dad and Roy laid the kitchen floor enough to put up the stove. They did that and we started to cook the dinner while they finished that floor and another bedroom floor before the day was done. We put paste board and quilts up at the open windows. Two of the outside doors were hung,

Because of the lateness of the year it was cold. The next day Roy built in the gable ends of the house with adobes. We had no ceilings — just the joist. The inside walls were just the red adobe. We were in our home about two years before we got lit plastered. We laid the floor boards on the rough lumber floors after we had been in the house about eight years. We also hung inside doors at that time. We built on the house as we had the money. Our house was wonderful all the time because it was big enough to turn around in.

I Just keep thinking I should go on typing. but it is time to quit or I will really wear you out.

Now your question on the back of the letter. We put sand and clay in the pug mill and water. WE used the same mixture of sand and clay for mortar. Only it was mixed with a hoe — not in the pug mill.

Guin just called me to talk about plays we put on and were in during the early days of our branch etc. She's at her computer writing up her history.

We hope this day will finish the harvest. We have had rain predicted for so long and still had dry weather. We are really grateful for it. There was only about 20 to 30 acres of canola left this morning to harvest. The weather is

still holding.

We want to go and watch the Mounted Police Ride with Tom and Cheryl on Tom's birthday — Sept, 13. We want to get up to Joan's place. We have hardly been there this summer. Seems like other things have kept us on the go.

We have mentioned going to Utah for conference and for Mission reunions — We will wait and see what happens.

Thanks for your letters. I'll try to get this off. Hope I have no trouble printing it.

We surely love you,

Smellie and Laurel

Jan. 19, 1989

Tom — I wished to the right person — Thanks so much for the addresses.

We had a note that the plumbers would be coming in sometime this week to check plumbing and faucets. It will likely happen when I'm asleep. That's where I'm headed after written letters is finished.

We met some different people. One said he hated the Mormons because they wouldn't take people of the records once they get them on. We explained that wasn't right and that it could be done.

One old fellow is going to prove the Bible is true through archeology. We just grinned. He's getting the help of the saved people.

WE have had good discussions too. Sometimes we get the queerest things from our less active people.

I have been asked to speak on the Holy Ghost at our next baptism. I feel humble. Seems so much easier for the Priesthood to do it but I'll try — and pray for the same help.

Our District leader will likely be transferred on the 3rd of February. He has done a real good work here and we'll miss him before we get acquainted with his replacement. The weather hasn't been too bad yet. Of course for our sakes we enjoy it this way but the farmers need more moisture.

WE have invited a mixed family for dinner Sunday. Surely hope the husband comes. He doesn't like crowds etc. he has a lovely wife and 3 daughters. We also want to invite our new member.

I'm glad it's P day because I'm so sleepy. Dad started to read at 4 a m. One of our investigators gave him a book to read. It's about as big as the Bible so he has some time to put in if he gets it read.

Feb. 11 1989

Worrying about you Cheryl. Don't remember your time. Is it in Feb? Wonder how the school business is coming along. I think those strikers — I mean the boards must make money at your expense. They wouldn't have turned a good deal down.

We had our baptism last Sat.. He was confirmed the next day in church. The fun part of it was that a lot of inactive members came out

They have a Priesthood meeting in Wausau. I'd sure love to stay home but then I wouldn't be with my companion, so I'll find a room in the church to study, write or sleep.

We went to the Knapp Mormon Cemetery the other day and found John Hill and Harriet Hill's graves. 1809 and 1810 to 1979. I can't remember the other but I have a picture of it.

We bought two boxes of grapes. I'm really enjoying them .I cook a real dinner when I get home at nights.

We met some new interesting people up north yesterday. We had a referral for a girl. She and her mother are listening. I hope the Holy Spirit teaches them. We want to meet her father too.

We're on our way to the church to return borrowed chairs. Then on to Lloyds — the wife is a member — We hope to get him interested so far he has resisted.

It;s been cold here -20. Today it is about -32, but more cold is on it's way. Feb.22

We're excited about your parents mission. Hope they get just what they want — I'm sure they will because the Lord will know..

I've eaten some candy and pill and my stomach is complaining. Wonder how your blood pressure is behaving, Tom. I think I'll take mine today when we go out to mail letters and do the washing. It could be up by my complaints.

The sun has been shining so beautiful today... In fact all week we keep getting predictions of cold weather, but it really hasn't been bad yet. We still have time to have some real cold though.

We have a D.D.Meeting they have asked me to speak at. The subject they have given me runs me around in circles. I'm not prepared — I've got to get that way real soon. My subject is "How we can increase our teaching by working with the less involved." I start on a thought and come back to the same old thing — love them — like you do

everybody else — be concerned about them etc — etc. Dad is about ready to leave — got to go.

I went to the store to get a gift for the baby. I refused to pay the price so we went out to the Catholic D.I. We picked up these few things — acari for Heather, blue hood for Aaron. If you want you can throw them into the Mormon D I. At least they all didn't cost as much as a sweat shirt would have cost.

We're getting some pretty good vegetables by going into the store early and looking at the discount shelf.

We had our snow storm over the week end. In fact we had a Zone Conference on Friday. One of the less actives ask us to give her a ride into the hospital for an operation that day. We were in a bind because we had interviews with the president at the time she needed to come in. It all worked out. Pres. Green called the conference off because of the weather. We got her to the hospital and just got nicely back home and the four Elders and the couples from Wausau knocked at the door. They had gone about seven miles toward home and rolled their car. No one was hurt and the van was hardly touched. The couple stayed with us over night. The next day the Pres. phoned to stay in again — Already there had been three small accidents due to slick roads.

Elder and Sister Whitten stayed here until 5 p m Sat. then made it safely home. To make it marrier at home here Dad and I both had the flu last week. So happy for the new daughter.

So glad your parents could be there Tom and Cheryl. We ar thrilled with their mission call.

March 23

Just think it is only six months until we will see you all again. The sister who was baptized on January 28 gave us an anniversary present yesterday. She asked me if we could go to the court with her to hear her daughter's hearing. I told her we would if we could. We have to phone for permission to go out of our area.

We were invited out to a place in Neillsville, 30 miles away for a meal last week on Wed. Night. We went up north that day. When we're up there we try to do all we can. We tried too hard. We forgot our dinner invitation. We surely felt bad when we woke up to the blunder we'd made. She has tried again. She asked us out tonight — She said jokingly, "I won't be home when you come." She'll bull some sort of a joke on us. If we should forget again it would be unforgivable.

Snow storms have cancelled two zone conferences and a D.D. M. for us.

We got a phone call telling us to be at the church at 9:30 a m on Tuesday morning at about eight. We got ready and arrived there to Pres. Green. They gave us about 15 minutes of their time and rushed on to the next zones.

We were enjoying the grapes so much here when they were called off the market because of cyanide poison being found in two grapes — I'll be glad when California grapes come on.

dIn the storm that called off the zone conference the roads were closed for about 24 hours. It's warming up now.

Yesterday we were to have a discussion with the family we have been bragging about. We went to their door and they said they didn't want to have any more lessons. It serves us right. I have felt many times the Lord says; "If you're so smart — go ahead and do it on your own" and that is the end. We cannot teach without the spirit. as soon as we start talking about what we are doing we get left with it and it always turns out this way.

We are having our R.S. birthday party and March 10. They have asked each one of us for some talent. Wish I had a poem or picture. We have to sing in the choir if we don't furnish some talent. It's a shame for folks to have to suffer at a party with some of us singing — but then I can always just move my lips.

We are working hard on a member program — where members invite nonmembers into their homes for the missionaries to teach. It's hard but it works.

Happy Easter — We hope all is well with the new baby and mother and the other kids and the daddy — can't leave any out. We love you so much.

This was a meeting week. We went to Steven's Point on Monday for a D.D.M. Worked on Tues. Had a Zone Meeting in Wisconsin Rapids on Wed. On Sat. a District conference in Wausau and Sunday went back to Wausau for the rest of the meetings. I guess war are caught up with meetings we missed because of cold weather. We have a correlation meeting here in town. That won't take so long.

On MOnday I'm going back to the Doctor for another check-up. I hate to. They are so darned expensive but maybe in the long run it's a small amount to pay for more good years in this life. Two of our contacts had serious operations. We have been visiting the sick a lot this week.

Dad helped one of the poor saints here fix his car.

Faun sent another batch of Book of Mormons today. I should get them marked today. I haven't even ridden my bike — I know — the days must be getting shorter — No — I can"t use that excuse until the last of June.

WE seem to have reached a climax with lots of less active people. TEn families have been out a few times. Another is coming on Sunday. We invited them for dinner.

Did you ever get that letter that maybe I shouldn't have written?

Apr. 1 1989

We tried to phone you on the 24th but you must have been on your way to California by Ithe time we called. Hope the ride wasn't too lhard on the children.

We are at a sister's house. her husband is a non-member. They are putting two new floors down in their house. Dad came out to help and i brought unanswered letters so I could catch up on them. I've got seven written — and still time to finish.

We have a correlation meeting tonight before the Priesthood broadcast. We found we could lhear these two Saturday sessions later so Dad decided to lhelp. I'm glad he did. We want to teach this man. His friends have just driven into the yard. We can meet them too.

A lady from Manisteque phoned that he had brought her boy down and kput him in the hospital for tests. She asked us if we could help. Sure —

The Elders were having a progressive dinner on Friday evening. They asked if they could use our house. Group No. 3 was to came to our house for appetizers at 6;45 Saturday. We hurried and cleaned the house for the party, did our washing and rushed off to the hospital to sit with the boy while his mother checked things at home in Wild Rose where they have moved. We tended that child for 3 and ½ hours then rushed home to meet the Elders Pres. and wife and give them a snack and take the food they would bring for the party. They arrived a 9:30. We ate and dropped into bed. Just then the Elders let us know there was a D.D.Meeting in Adams Friendship Friday.. That seemed like a big day. We had the meeting and helped the missionaries tract there in the afternoon — rushed home in time to slice cheese and meat for the dinner. We were ready on time — Just 3 out of 20 came — We waited until we had to leave to get to the main course. When we left there to meet the rest at the church there were 7 of us. The other two groups had 10. We had a good time. The Elders felt it was a success, and were happy with it. I felt sort of bad. One young girl asked if she could help me get ready for it. I said "sure". She didn't show up. I hope she didn't have real trouble.

The nerve of this weather. It has been snowing for the last two hours. I thought spring had come. The snow had nearly all melted. The fields are beginning to look green.

— Oh!! it's an April Fool joke.

Don't know where to start. Dad has gone to bed but I can't sleep. I have just thought of something that I think really helped me raise my kids.

When Joan was a year old — something like that she got to crying and screaming to get her way. One time I grabbed a dish towel and stuffed her mouth full and held it there until she quit trying to yell. I explained to her that I couldn't stand the noise and if

she wouldn't stop then I'd have to plug her mouth. About all I had to do after once or twice was say "I'll get the dish towel — or start for it and controlled the yelling. That didn't hurt her but I had control. I didn't think of that when you were on the phone.

Remember the time Ellen let a pole fall on you and cut you. It about killed me but because I felt Ellen was a little malicious with you, I made her walk to the house holding the cut together. I thought she needed to suffer a bit for a bad action. She says to me now that she didn't do it deliberately but I thought she had. She felt so bad as she helped you to the house before I took you to the Dr.

Back to that other little trick of mine — I don't think I used it on our kids but it surely helped me with bad kids in grade one. I mean grabbing and pinching the chord on the shoulder and neck. That way I could get control of the child. It didn't take more than once or twice before they had had all they wanted.

I think if I told the girls to clean the bathroom and they hadn't I'd help them back to the job by grabbing that chord and walking them back.

The thing that is important is to see that the children understand what the punishment will be then do it. You'd better not try to straighten them out until you have time to really watch it. Maybe summer vacation. They must understand that a certain punishment will follow certain behavior. If you can tell them and really follow up it should make them begin to take responsibility for their own actions. Be firm when you need to — But like the D.& C says afterwards when they behave show forth love by playing with them or do some nice thing. You can judge what to do.

Tom I know I have no business writing these things to you but I still love you — If I can suggest something that would help, I'd be so grateful — So all I've said you can throw in the fire and do as you judge best. You know that, don't you?

I think the towel treatment would work on the younger ones and the chord on the older ones, until they can listen to you and do it without some special treatment.

If you talk to the kids and make them understand the punishment and be sure to follow through — Not in anger when you punish them.

Don't let yourself get angry before you take care of them. You do this and this happens...

Is that kind of talk any help? Don't get angry. It's so important to have an understanding and be consistent. So don't be impatient and don't start if you can't put some time on it.

Now I said on the phone that the kids learn so many bad things from T.V. Just dawned on me that they learn all the bad things from TV. Other kids influence them and we know they are influenced by TV. So your job is still bigger. Make them respect and

love you so much you can get past the bad they will face. Oh, Tom, I am glad the Lord saved choice spirits for the last days. I wonder if I could have made it in your generation — I mean as a parent.

I know the times and laws are different — child abuse — etc — What ever you do keep that love and sweet spirit between you and Cheryl. Do what you have to. Let us know if ever we can help. Find some ways to relax. We don't expect anything back from helping you with your house. All we expect is you to love your wife and kids. Rest and don't get so stressed out.

I couldn't rest so I wrote you last night. I wanted you to get it so fast. It will be back here because I put the wrong postage on it. It will take a week longer. We want you all to have good health.

We were teaching a man who had an attack of appendicitis. His lady friend sits in the hospital with him. His report isn't too good.

Dad worked on conference Sat. so today we borrowed the tapes to listen to them. I can hardly wait for the Ensign to read them again.

I rode 12 miles on my bike while reading the Ensign. That makes the time go faster. Wonder how the trip for the sealing turned out. Please don't worry about money to Dad and I. We didn't intend it to be a worry.

I'll ask for some the day you become a \$100,000,000.00 aire — Is that OK?

Happy Birthday

I was trying to take a job off Sister Papple. She ask me if I wanted to knit an afghan for Joan's baby. I said "no." I didn't feel good about putting that much time on knitting. The next time I went over there she had about four inches done on an afghan for Joan. I knew what she had planned to do for her family so I took the thing and finished knitting it this week. It is ready to box up and send off.

I think I'll mail all this stuff to you. Will you see that Joan gets her package. It's tiny baby dresses we picked up at a garage sale for \$1.00. Hope she can use them before the baby grows out of them.

Dad had your girls in mind so I'll try to package them. If you want to change anything feel free to do so.

We hear both you and Will have had your other parents to visit you. I'm glad they could come and enjoy their families. We usually have an advantage over them because we're closer.

We were at Christmas on the way to zone conference. I took a picture this time of Santa Claus himself. I didn't get one before.

There was a Mormon from California sick in the Munising hospital. We were glad to hear about him so we could make a call on him.

We surely do love you Tommy Tucker — No — Thomas A Becket. I think those were the terms years ago. We love you our stalwart son. We love the life you lead. God bless you.

Oct.

Hi, there all you dear ones. We have a new house in a brand new state. Our house is pleasant. I was afraid it would be really small. Only the kitchen is that. It's hard for both of us to turn around in it. In fact it is too small to have a table in it so the entrance will serve for a dining room. We'll have to be fancy and set the table to eat. Our front room is nice. Not as big as Germfask but nice. The bedroom is some bigger than the one in Germfast but there is no spare bedroom. The house is freshly painted. We have new carpets all over the place and a new stove and fridge.

I guess my birthday present this year was a new apartment and new place to work. We love Germfask and the people there so I wasn't too appreciative of the thoughts of leaving Germfask. Now we are here I feel it will be a great place to do the work of the Lord.

On October 4, the day after we arrived, they had District Development meeting. We met the ten missionaries in the area. I am constantly impressed with the spirituality of the young people in this mission. I felt a difference in the training in MTC too. Our phone number is 715 387 0536.

Our District president is one of the medical Doctors. Now I'm here I'm supposed to have a check-up. I guess I'd better get started on it soon. I really am a great one. I hate to go to Doctors. That means you are sick — doesn't it?

We are close to the middle of the city. We shopped yesterday for groceries. It was great. We didn't even have to carry our bags to the car. Things were cheap. Guess we should get a year's supply in. By looking at the cupboard it looks like we almost have that except we like fresh stuff. Can't store fresh stuff for a year. I guess that storage is a hot house and a little gardening on your part.

We have met ten members of the branch already. They have come to the house to greet us. Hope we can be of service here.

I think the phone is on now. We want to get in touch with you.

Oct. 14

I'm sending this so I can send your picture. It is such a good picture of you. One you don"t often see and appreciate. The souls of your feet. I don"t think you saw it. It was on U.S. 2 from 77 highway to Manistique. I got a kick out of it every time I looked at it.

Hope it tickles you a bit too. We"re having fun today. Dad lost his wallet last evening at the Laundromat so we are calling to cancel visa etc.

It just seems there is no way to get it. So many people go and come and so many would be glad for a little extra money.

Dad says it's time to get on our way. I have an appointment with the Dr. Mon. 17.

This is the last one I can take today — I mean letters I can write. I've had it. I felt I had to get birthday "thank you"s off my mind. With the transfer letters didn't get on the top of the list of things to be done. Besides they sort of got misplaced and weren't where I could see them to remind me of the job.

This past week was a little hectic. monday I went to the clinic. Yesterday I got a schedule of appointments for next Monday — Oct. 24 at the Clinic. Thursday we went to the laundromat and lost Dad's wallet. That was a worry. Thank goodness I had just received my new driver's license. Peggy had arranged it for me. We set out to find the wallet. — no luck. We blocked the visa — phoned banks to not cash checks and got to work on getting a driver's license for Dad. WE called the police on four different days. Monday they told us they had the wallet so we hurried off and got it then hurried around to let all the people know we had found it. WE didn't lose one thing out of it. We looked up the girl that found it and went out to thank and reward her. On the way I saw a lake that was red — really red. It was about two acres of water with cranberries floating all over the top. They dig the land down about 2 feet on 2 acres. They raise their berries then fill this artificial lake with water when the cranberries are ripe they drive a special tractor through and knock off the berries an float them to their elevators and load them on trucks like we load wheat — well, that's the way it looked to me. Dad could give you the details. It was really something to see. The people we talked to had over a hundred acres of cranberries in 2 acre plots that turn into lakes. I've got the writer's cramps but I've caught up on my letters.

It's raining today. We have had frost every night for a week now.

Faun said they were having ice on their car at Hemet, CA.

I wonder how the old hurricane, Joan, is blowing now. We heard a report that it was still over the water. We love you and hope all is well — school kid and teacher and home maker and little ones.

Your letter is here so I guess I haven't answered it yet. I always throw them away when they are answered.

I had one apt. on October 17 with the Doctor our branch member recommended. She did an x-ray of chest and cardiogram and mammogram then suggested I come for more on October 24. I did and had a cat scan and bone scan and inspection of the colon. Spent the day there that day. Doctor said she could see nothing to worry about on the cancer. She said my blood sugar and pressure were a little high and colostral. She said

she could give me pills or we could try a diet. We went for the diet. She said to take my blood pressure every few days then bring it to her on the 28 and see if we should get on the pills. I should loose a little weight and get exercise.

It's hard to walk here. That's what I want to do. I can't go alone. I think it hurts Dad's knee to walk much. I'll have to get a plan. Come and walk with me, Cheryl.

We phoned Peggy today for her birthday also Barbara. We were in Wisconsin Rapids yesterday for a D.D. meeting. Today I've baked bran muffins and roasted some pine nuts Elder Ray gave us.

our muffler on the car needs a bit of repair. Dad is working on that right now. our driveway is too steep. Hope they fix it before snow comes. I'll have to write to Pres. Green then I can rest for a bit.

Dear Ones.

We got your letter Melissa Thank you. Did you use the computer all by yourself? Today we are going to Wisconsin Rapids to listen to a missionary broadcast from Salt Lake City, Utah. We will go early enough so we can enjoy lunch with the rest of the missionaries in our zone. We'll take pot luck treats.

Tom and Cheryl, Thanks for the pictures We got them mailed off yesterday. WE met a lady in Medford who was interested in Indians so we took those pictures for her to see also the ones Joan sent. He has one of our books of Mormon. I'm afraid it is just tucked away in the rest of her historic stuff. We'll call on her again soon. Dad is figuring out expenses. WE have spent our share. I'm sure there won"t be a car waiting for us in the bank when we got home this time. This will be pretty well worn. We fill it with gas every other day. We're enjoying it. Hope we are doing some good.

We had a Baptist minister come to our door. He knocked. The first thing we heard when we went to the door was;"I'm not a Mormon and I"m not a Jehovah' Witness. We invited him in and he told us who he was and what he was doing. I Dad said, "I am a Mormon" He felt quite foolish. We invited him back and he declined the invitation and went on his way.

Dad had the mole cut off from behind his ear also the one on his high right cheek. In Germfask a wartish looking thing grew on his head just above his forehead. the Drs. here recommended that he have it removed so yesterday Doctor Koltz our District President removed them. He'll have them checked. Dad has another appointment on Dec. 6 to have the stitches out. I guess we'll get the report on the warts then.

My report on my blood pressure wasn't as good as I'd hoped it would be. It was down just a little and only 2 pounds off. I've been riding my bike about 5 or 6 miles in a half hour. I really get a work out on it.

I haven't sent your Christmas presents yet. I'll send money for your birthdays and for Christmas so I won't have to remember them. I surely appreciate doing birthdays this way, since my memory is back on the shelf.

Say — I was thinking of that house cleaning you promised me. — Now that you hope to have a new edition to the family — Please forget that. It's too much — PLEASE.

Boy you surely made my day. I wanted a picture of your family here. Here it came. Those Christmas stories arrived so fast I was surprised. I copied three of them and gave them away. I'll be glad for them for us if I don"t use them on someone else. WE are invited to Choucairs for Christmas Eve. I'll take them along. WE got to Windchesters for Christmas dinner. I want to copy "Far Far Away" and give it to the chorister. I love that story. Thanks for sending more than I asked for.

I know this will not arrive before Christmas. But my love is present all the time. don't think for a minute that it hasn't been. My baby, who I loved so much and caused trouble with his health. Wonder if you and the Lord will lever forgive me for that. Or might it have been the Lord's plan? I can"t crawl out of it like khat — but this much I have always known. — I love you and your precious wife and children. I pray for your health daily.

I got that Christmas letter ahead of its time in this typing.

Nov. 3.

Legg — you remember him? He was Ellen's Bancock Thailand friend. he wrote last week and said he was writing about the American Indians and asked if we could send him any pictures of Indians. I've kept my eyes open and haven't found any here yet. Would you look for some for me. Post cards would do. WE left Legg a Book of Mormon. He attended BYU. I hope he is getting some real ideas about the gospel.

Barbara just sent a packet of stuff from the Ricks reunion at Rexburg. If we ever have time to kill we can enjoy a few of the games.

That Betty from Ohio wrote and sent me a Halloween card. Hope she finds some Mormon missionaries right soon and hears the gospel.

The time is sneaking away and we have some appointments tonight — One is with some people they call "perpetual investigators" I have a few thoughts but am no worried. We don't try to be Bible bashers"

WE got a letter from Aunt Mary Snyder today. I guess she'll be back in Kansas for Christmas. She spent 2 weeks in Canada after Aunt Vilo's funeral I sent both Joan and Will a copy of my Dr"s report here.

We bought cheese curds the other day. They are good but I'm afraid they are not for my stomach.

We are going with the Elders to a member family so we have an hour on our hands.

We had a wonderful Christmas. Will and Peggy and family here just before Christmas — Ellen phoned from Germany — We talked to Joan and Tom on Christmas Day. And other added joys.

You are all wondering about Smellie. The moles were removed and checked. No cancer cells appeared. Two Doctors suspected the one on the top of his head. Hope we can keep ourselves in tune that we may have the blessings of the Lord continually with us.

Happy, Happy, HAPPY New year to all of you the whole year through. Our hearts are full of gratitude, prayer, and hope. We are so grateful for all the blessings showered down on us and for the blessings we feel you are receiving. We pray that God will give you strength to do all the things that have been places on your shoulders to bear. Our hearts are filled with love and hope in the gospel we share. We want to bless others with a knowledge of it too.

Thanks for the Christmas gifts, cards and letters.

May God bless you with peace, love, and happiness. We pray for health for you and your family. Have a prosperous New Year.

Love from the Marshfield Redds.

We just got word this morning of Gertrude's death in Halifax on Dec. 27, 1988. Wonder if you'll make it to Gert's funeral. It would be hard with the children.

I have to prepare a talk for Sunday Dec. 31. They've hit the bottom of the bucket. Well, I'll try anyway.

Dad is fixing up the records we have been working on. Guess we'll be on another tack after the New year starts. WE have an appointment to show "How Rare a Possession"

I always wanted to write a colorful letter. Now watch this ink change colors. Not all pens will do this. I have to squeeze it just right. Ha! Ha!

We've had a different week. Our District President, Lee Kolts is a top surgeon in the hospital here. he operated on Bonnie Johnson, a lady about 60 or 70 years old — Maybe less. he said he wanted her to have a B of M. So he sent the book to her through us. She wasn't too well the day we took it to her so we left it and went back yesterday. she had read 17 chapters and was anxious to talk. She was especially struck with the place where Nephi said: Have you ask God?" Well, her four kids sing well together and they were singing in the Lutheran church tonight. She invited us to hear them. We couldn't because of District conference tonight. She said they would practice at her house last night so I had the nerve to ask if we could come and listen to them practice. She invited us so we were there listening to a beautiful quartet. The music words were sort of saved or something. They had a different feeling than our music of course — When they were finished Dad suggested we sing "Do you know who you are" and "I Am a Child of

God". It was a really good evening. Hope we can keep in tune with the spirit and it can teach that beautiful family.

In a couple of hours we'll start for conference at Wausau and hope to visit o less active member on the way. The missionaries will ride with us. We have two Elders together here who are 6ft. 5 inches tall. They are as good as they are tall. We really enjoy them.

Dad is working on the car now. I should get in the tub so Dad can have it as soon as he is through.

May 27 1989

Looks like I have a minute. Dad is looking at cows that are on the road. I decided to keep my paper and pencil close and make use of each minute since we used all our p. Day without getting letters done. We had to go out early that day so took our wash along. As soon as we finished that, the day really was started. It was a sunny day so we picked up a couple we are teaching. They are about our age. They don't get out much. The Elders are having a branch party on Memorial Day in the Eau Plaine Park. We decided to drive to it to sort of scout out the route to it. We had a good ride and got home later than had been planned. by the time we got home we had to hurry to Auburndale to help a family pack to move to Nauvoo. We got home at 9:30 so that was the story of P.Day.

Yesterday we drove to Steven's Point for a zone conference. Pres. and Sister Green will have one more zone conference with us before they go home. They really have been good leaders. The young people do so well under their leadership. They shocked us yesterday. They gave out awards. The first one was for us. Maybe it is something to get us to work harder. Anyway it was a real surprise. We got home after six and had the Elders over for supper. They brought a big bouquet of flowers: six red roses, 12 white coronations, 10 white and red coronations, 12 mums-yellow, and six lavender coronations. It was huge. The big flower semi had dumped the remainder of its load in the Elders garbage. They said there were baskets full of them.. They are so pretty.

We stopped at two places out in the country and the people were away. Must be because of the holiday on Monday.

We were in Medford last week. They had tornado watches there, but we only had warnings in Marshfield. The people we helped in Auburndale spent an hour sitting in their basement until they gave the all clear signal. When they announce watches they aren't dangers but when they announces watches they are. They have spotted the tornado when they warn people.

I'm eating some jicama — that's that big turnip we liked so much in the orient. They raise them in Mexico and ship them in. They cost quite a bit here but we like them. Dad is talking to some man in the field running a John Deere tractor.

Bet each day that passes now in school is exciting.

I guess Sims are in MTC right now. They won't be there long. I bring a lunch along with us. I'm snacking and writing.

The country is really beautiful after the rain.

June 6th

I'm stuck with letter writing. We drove to Curtis to see a family. he had some car trouble so he and dad are in it up to their eye brows. Surely hope they can fix it. The people aren't too wealthy. They work hard to make ends meet. His wife is a nurse that takes care of home bound people. Today she is taking care of a minister's mother. It's really hard to care for some of these helpless people

A thing that gets to me is the baby talk these people do to their cats and dogs. Dad's working his head off while he is talking baby talk to their cat Susan. I left your letter home. I didn't expect to be writing here.

Did we tell you we came across another snapping turtle? Dad put it in a box in the trunk of the car so the Elders could see it. Also we had the notion of having some turtle soup. I don't want to fix it, besides we don't know if it is legal. One person told us you had to have a fishing license to take a turtle. WE surely don't want it that bad. We have it in the trunk right now. I think we'll take him back to the area we picked him up and turn him loose.

Turtle meat and bird's nest soup. We're missing our golden chances? ?? Hurrah!!

The Whetten couple that rolled their car in March are coming to Marshfield tomorrow to go to the Doctor She has some problem. After they see the Doctor they will have dinner with us. I'm sitting too close to the men repairing the car. It sounds like it will take forever to fix it. I'd shut the windows but it is too warm for that. The mosquitoes are getting bad too. Yesterday we visited a woman who is taking four adults into her home to care for them. They are babies — diapers and all — It must take a good person to do that job. I suppose the government pay makes it worth while for them.

The snapping turtle.

We were arriving about 15 minutes early to an appointment. We were driving from Medford back to Marshfield. Thought we'd have to s

wait but a funny thing appeared in the middle of the highway. We turned around and went back to investigate. WE found a turtle about 14 inches across. dad got out and soon found his name. He was a snapping turtle. His front foot was as wide as my hand, with claws that looked like bears to me. He had big jaws and big teeth. He could reach his neck out about 12 to 15 inches. His teeth and jaws were vicious. He snapped sticks into. They say you could lose a finger and I believe it. dad got a shovel and a stick and turned him over. — He could surely flop back in a hurry, pushing with his head and neck. His tail looks like a dinosaur to me. WELL, we weren't early for the appointment. We snapped a few pictures of the turtle. Hope they're good.

Mr. and Mrs. Josef Frounholz, from Germany arrived in Marshfield on Thursday. They wanted to stay at the hotel and we persuaded them to put up with us. We slept on the couch while they used the bed.. He was very interested in stones. We have a member here with a collection. Josef has a diamond mine in Venezuela. He carried some small

ones in his wallet. he speaks Spanish and German. His wife speaks English and three or four other languages.

We took them to see as much of the U.S. as we could which wasn't much. We also were interested in them seeing what Mormons are like.

They went to fast meeting with us and felt the spirit there. They were so appreciative. Yesterday they called to let us know they had arrived safely home in Germany and will go and see Ellen and Dave

The rest of our week was pretty much the same.

May 1 This letter should have been typed b

before the last one.

We are staying in waiting for a phone call.

I went for my check up today. My sugar count was still higher so she asked me to come in fasting next Tuesday.

The cards you make on the computer are nice. I guess I'll have forgotten how to use my computer when I get home...I can learn again. I'd forgotten Kari's name was Kari Ellen.

I'll bet things look different around the temple. Here school will be out about May 20th. The Amish kids are out now until September. Wonder how they work that. Seems they'd have to put as many days in as the rest of the kids.

I feel sick when I hear how Adamsons feel. It's me that brought that feeling on. Shyrl. I thought had forgiven me, and she was the one I hurt. I wonder if there is any way to make it right with Thora. I'd surely love to.

Ellen phoned that here landlord and wife would be flying to the U.S. today. They are coming to a place about 75 miles from us. They can fly from Chicago to Oshkosh and we have permission to meet them there and take them to their destination at Wautoma. If they don't phone us tonight, I guess that will be the end of it. If they do we'll meet their plane in the morning at Oshkosh and take them to Wautoma. If we can do anything else to help; we'll ask permission. Pres. Green called this morning about it. We've hung around all afternoon in case they would call. WE really want to help if we can.

The last few days have been cool — 40 to 55 degrees. Before then we had a taste of spring — I suppose it's on its way.

Sister Papple phoned us last night. I hope they can come to visit us this summer. He was very ill two weeks ago but is home now.

July 13th

Today our plans have changed again. Where shall I start? Maybe with the couple we were teaching. Mr. Blackburn took sick and was put in the hospital. Mrs. Blackburn finished the lessons and was baptized on the first of July. He came out of the hospital but was back in by the fourth. He passed away on the eighth. Yesterday was his funeral. The

family published in the paper that Brother and Sister Redd would sing a duet at his funeral. I knew we could with the help of the Lord. I'm afraid I wanted too much. I really didn't do too well and felt pretty sick about that. We left the grave yard and went to work.

The lady that helped the Blackburns and the Sharon families the most received word that her father had passed away. We went to the viewing last night and have been asked to represent the families — Sharon and Blackburn families — today at the funeral. We'll leave in a few minutes. It's about an hour's drive from here. WE have to hurry back. We have an appointment with three ladies this afternoon land a discussion with a family tonight. This is our P. Day, Our P. Days have been filled for a month. I miss them. WE just sneak a wash in and go right on.

Later

The day is nearly done. The discussion fell through giving us time to wash. It was a good day. Dad is changing the oil in the car. We need to shop a bit, then we can sleep.

August 3rd.

Dear Ones.

It's so muggy I'm sticking to the paper.

Yesterday when we came home a family — less active people had been trying to get us. Our Elders were both being transferred — new ones coming. We haven't been in touch with them yet. The Elders left at 5:45 a.m. We got to their place to say goodbye to them. At seven there was to be an operation on a baby born to this less active family. We hurried up there and found the operation was cancelled. The Doctor they had told them the baby wouldn't live then got real angry with them when they decided to get a specialist. The operation is over now and the baby is in it's room. The family were in the café when we called. I hope it is as good as it looks. The Elders administered yesterday to the baby.

After we left the hospital we had promised to take an old man to look at a place for older people to live. We gave him a ride to Niellsville. We got home after two and still had all our P. Day work to do. This letter is first and foremost.

Sounds like there's fun in Canada — Edmonton and its tornado, crops dry, gardening, canning, pioneer day and missionary boys off for Denmark and Montreal — Also two sisters to New Zealand

Faun, You felt the devil was working hard. He'll have too — There are some really spiritual Elders and Sisters — well prepared and ready to follow the spirit and worthy to be directed by it — coming into the fields. We surely feel their spirits.

We are on the August 31st release list. We haven't made any plans yet. I'd surely like to get to a temple on the way home — especially since Cardston is closed. September 13th has a special attraction for me but we may let other things interfere.

We heard something about fires in the west — Idaho — makes us worry a little. Guess the W.S. Redd family will have to wait a year to enjoy the reunion again.

July 24, 1943

Dear Mom,

I'm waxing sentimental this morning. Forgive me if you don't like it — but if you do then this will take the corners off some of the blows I've delt you.

Some day when we're rich and happy And our dreams have all come true, We are going to do for mother, What we've always longed to do.

Some day we're going to tell her When we feel in proper mood, What she's meant to us her children Of her wondrous power of good.

Someday we shall see that mother Comes into her rightful own To quiet ease and beauty That her life has never known.

Someday when we're not so busy In this busy life of men We'll spare and guard and keep her, But will mother be there then?

This mission, Mom, has been and is the greatest experience of my life. I'm beginning to thoroughly appreciate my parents. When I was a child I worshiped you. More than just love — I know I sat back and worshiped you. As all kids do, I grew away from that. I want you to know that I truly appreciate you. Expressions of love in our lives have been superfluous. This is once I am overstepping the bonds —

I Love You, Mother.

Laurel

P.S. We broadcasted over the radio yesterday in Roanoke. We were surely thrilled and excited. Sis Christley, Sis

Bray and I sang a trio of l"Ye Wandering Nations Now Give Ear" Then Elder Bray gave an eight minute talk. WE ended up by singing "Come, Come Ye Saints"

We haven't talked to anyone that heard it yet except the people in the radio station and they complimented us on it and asked us to come back.

Right after the broadcast we caught a bus and came out here about 80 miles to a little place called Gretna. We're going to stay here about five days then move on to another little town. Our job is to get all the primaries and relief Societies functioning in the district. I think we will be about a week at each place.

I suppose we won't get our mail from Roanoke for two or three weeks, so don't expect answer to your questions. Just go on writing to that address (1525 Patterson)' The country is grand — the folks are lovely.

Love Laurel

Laurel H. Redd

Laurel Darpha Hill

Born Mud Lake, Idaho, USA. October 3, 1915

Parents: Chancy Eugene Hill Hermione Jackson Hill

Siblings= Horace Eugene Hill, Iran Roy Hill, Alta Hermione Hill Lovell, James Jackson Hill, Return George Hill, Clara Dinah Crystal Hill Broderick, - Harold Wayne Hill, Lester June Hill, Eva R. L Hill Ford, Wanda Maybeth Hill Daily, Izora Faun Hill Bosworth, Wendlyn Joy Hill Adams, Gloria RaOla Hill Lee

I was raised in the Uinta Basin — Altona, Randlett, Roosevelt.

I first met my husband in S.L.C. when preparing for a mission. We were married nine years later, after the war on January 28 1946.

Our children Hermie Joan Redd Hornerger William Harold Redd Ellen Redd Eldredge Thomas John Redd

I have enjoyed trying to write a bit of poetry also oil painting. crocheting and knitting.

I filled a short term mission to Roanoke, Virginia during my summer vaation from school teaching.

Missions:

Canadian 1937 —

So. D. Rapid City. Singapore Wisconsin, Milwalkee California, San Jose

I think I have answered all your questions Thanks, Laurel Redd

April 1, 1982

The Elders came in while we were having breakfast. They ask if we'd seen the paper and told us a big building (they named it) was gutted by fire. An April fool's joke on us. I took a nap before lunch then Smellie and I went up for an afternoon nap but must talked. We saw the film "Christ in Ancient America" and the best of the Home Front as Elder Chong showed it to his investigator. Went to bed about ten.

April 2 Fri. 1982

Got up and ready to go with Ivan Ho to Immigration at 7:30 a.m. He came almost 8:30. We got right in and spent a hour with them but were told to write a letter putting forth our projected plan. Ivan brought us home and Brother Cannon, Dad and Ivan worked on the letter. Ivan took us to the bus station to catch a bus back to Ipoh. We got tickets for a 2 p.m. bus so had two hours to kill.

A fellow had us follow him to the place to catch the extra bus. we got it early. Made good time on the way home. It was pleasant with the windows open. About 25 miles out of Ipoh we got slowed up with road signs and traffic. Got to the station about 5:45 p.m. and caught a bus on home. The girls were here to welcome us. Sis Woo will will be transferred either Sunday or Monday. I guess a Singapore girl will come to work with Sister Ho.

We don't know what we will do. We didn't get any extra time to stay in Malaysia. We ate and went to the shop and found it closed so called on Jane Voom for a few minutes. We met her little seven year old girl, Mayling — and Eleen — the baby. I'm washing now because we intend to go with Khongs to the cemetery tomorrow morning early.

Sat April 3, 1982

Khongs came early and we drove for what seemed like miles on a little road in the cemetery before we came to the grave site. each grave has a big cement front then a little raised semi circle around the back where the body extends from the tomb stone. It has another semi circle platform in the front. We cleared weeds out. Two boys were there with big hoes to get work. Sister Khong hired them for \$15.00 to clean out the weeds and brush. There are small monuments for the underground demons. They set us a grand meal for the grandparents and some food for the demons and still another sumpsous feed for

Mr. Khong. They put tea out for him — six small cups, rice, fish, and some other Chinese food that I didn't recognize.

They set up three jaws sticks 1 1/2 inches in diameter and at least 18 to five feet long. Candles — I lighted one of the big jaw sticks. They had dozens of small sized sparkler sticks of incense. They placed some small ones with candles about a yard from the cement all around. I burned my leg a bit on one because I hadn't noticed that bunch. They brought piles of paper to burn — a pile at each grave. The Dad had a box that was sealed with his name on a yellow strip so it would get to the right person in Hell. It measured about 2 ft. by 1 ft. by 10 inches. They had paper strips about 2 by 8 inches.

They had literally billions of dollars made on the Hell bank to burn so it would get to their loved ones.

I tried to steal 5,000,000 dollars but lost it on the way. Too bad. I want to show that money made on the bank in Hell to the family. I didn"t get away with that robbery. They had bills in piles an inch and a half thick.

Sis Khong knelt in front of the incense and prayed, the shook numbers out of can. She got the same number she did last year — supposed to be a lottery number.

Honey had borrowed a car from her boy friend. We rode to town with her and he mother follow . We went to the bank then up to St. Michael's school from their to the munisciple office to see about getting a grave yard for the church.

We stopped at a high school and watched a tug of war and races. From there we caught the bus and came home. Tuck came with us.

I washed the bedding and fixed a lunch. Rest. Just at dinner time Marzita and Zinodine asked us to go for a ride with them. I found an apple with a big seed outside on top of the apple. It turned out to be a cashew nut. The fruit was good. Now I have two nuts to dry and roast. They are oily and white green in color.

I took a picture of Rasence. Roseleeze's boys name is Bahasa. We've just come home and Sister Woo is ready to fix dinner over again.

Sun. Apr. 4

Brother TAn didn't come to church until II:00. that made Doreen miss her R.S. lesson. She rides with him. Doreen was the teacher. Maybe I'll miss next Sunday. Sister Hoe has been in bed all day with the same trouble Dad had, it seems.

Choong's baby was born yesterday at eleven.

Sister Khong came to church even if she didn't feel too well. She went to the kitchen and ate something during the meeting to help her feel better.

At six still fasting went to catch the bus to k"Our Lady's Hospital to see the new Choong baby. She's a tiny bundle of black hair — 5 lbs 9 ozs. While there the rain came down in torrents. Mr. Choong brought us home in his mother-in laws Marcedes Bendz. We ate with Sister Woo. Sister Hoe still doesn't feel too well. Sister Woo is packing to leave for Singapore tomorrow.

Had breakfast then Simon came to take Sister Woo to the station. We arrived in time to see her off. Simon brought us home. We fixed lunch and he ate with us. Watched Sister Hoe's clothes through the wash and played the organ. Walked to the store for a treat for home evening. WE went to the station to meet Sister Teh. The train was an hour and a half late. we were to be at Toh's for home evening at 7:30 so we caught a taxi and went straight to Toh's. Had a good evening. I surely like those Toh girls, Anna, Annie, and Doris. Brother Tan brought us all home then went back for Doreen and Brother Ong. He's home from Singapore at last. Showed Sister Teh around her new home then went to bed.

Tues. April 6

Today we went to pay the water then came out to wait for the bus to take the rent over. Maureen Tai's mother saw us and offered to take us to town. We stopped at the bank and post office then walked to Neveradnams home, then got to our landlady. Her brother brought us home. After lunch I went to Marzita's to sew. I made most of the red blouse. Their little boy was surely talkative today. We couldn't understand him but he didn't give up on us — just kept talking.

We came home and got ready for Simon Sims big 25th birthday party. It was nice — the most Chinese food I've ever eaten. Simon's Amway friends were there also.

The sidewalks here really give me some jolts. A sidewalk is not a long stretch of cement — instead each store pours some cement in front of his building — the highth and size he wants it. So each store front walk is different. You have to watch where you are stepping. You can't just windowshop and daydream as you walk along. Some places there are no walks at all so people walk in the street among the cars. It's a really dangerous business being a pedestrian here.

Wed. Apr. 7, 1982

We walked to our shopping center and shopped for a wedding gift to take to the Malaysian wedding we are invited to. WE took the kids a small gift and gave Marzita and Zinodine an album. Not much of a gift but a little remembrance.

We wrapped the package to send to Joan.

Ong and Tan came and stayed about 3 hours discussing big money deals etc. etc. We phoned the young folks that were going to the convention in Singapore.

This pair of girls want to cook their own meals separate from us. We waited for 3 hours for a turn at the kitchen.

Apr. 8 Thurs.

Got out to the bus stop at six and waited a half hour for the bus. We went to Scout louse to visit with the boys and found they would not leave until one. We stopped in Ipoh

Gardens and found gummed paper to wrap our parcels. Wrapped the parcels and caught the bus back to Scout hall. They were just eating so they gave us a plate of rice, a curried egg, and potato, sprouts and a fried fish. They boys said you eat with your fingers so I did. When we are invited in to sit they give us a spoon and fork. Two bus loads of boys left for camp. WE then went to mail our packages and have our films developed. WE were really tired at the bus stop. We've waited hours for busses today. Just then Mr. Kasi came along and gave us a ride home.

Apr. 9, Friday

WE couldn't get Pres. Jones. sister Woo phones and said he was in Singapore — so because we couldn't talk to him and tell him what we had about scouting — that we felt we should stay home — we decided to go ahead as planned before. We decided to take a taxi to Penang and fly from there to Koda Baruh. WE waited until after two to find we couldn't get reservations on the plane. WE decided to wait until Monday. We had some films to pick up in town so decided to get there before five. Smellie couldn't find his belt so we were delayed hunting that when Pres. Cannon phoned us. He told us to try the immigration again in the morning. We feel good about it all now but were so undecided before. We started to catch the bus to pick up the films — after 15 minute's waited we decided to do it in the morning so walked and mailed letters. visited Marzita and Zinodine on the way home. Chon Kasi called us over. He and Dad have gone to the Baptist show. The girls are out so I'm trying to hold down the home front.

April 10 Saturday

WEnt to the scouts at 7;30. after an hour or two with them we went to immigration (imergeratn) and spent 2 or 3 hours. Finally got an extra two weeks on our stay in Malaysia. If our Visa comes through that should take care of us. They expect to hear the end of this application for Visas on April 20th.

We walked to New Town and shopped in the fresh food market. We went to the place to get our pictures. We saw a sad specimen of poverty — a man with his leg in a cast. He had his mouth stuffed with a hanky. He was dirty and ragged. The boy who was all twisted up caught sight of us again at the bus stop and crossed the street. he stepped forward with one leg then put his other leg around hehind that one to take the next step. the bus came so Dad didn't dig up another dollar for him. WE got our fresh food home and in the fridge and now we are leaving it there to spoil while we go to Kota Baruh tomorrow.

I washed the whole house but the girls room. I put terrasa stuff on the floors.

April 11

Up and ready for the scout trip. We packed. Toh's arrived and we left to catch a train for Penang. We are flying from there to Kota Baruh. We waited for two hours in line for tickets on the train to be told there were no seats available. WE decided to try for a taxi. A fellow took us to a corner where we picked up a Chinese couple. That made

\$10.00 for each couple to go to Penang. These folks were really nice. They own a plantation, rubber, cocoa, and palm oil. They made the journey short with pleasant conversation The taxi driver said he would take us on to Penang for \$35.00 more. We went to Butterworth ferry and rode it across for nothing. It costs 40 cents to come back from the island to the mainland. The couple took us to their business place, a little five year old tried his English out on me. He was good. Dad made phone calls. they told us where a hotel was by the bus to catch to the airport. They hailed a tryshaw and put us on it. With instructions to the peddler. The hotel was only \$22.00 for a double room with fan. We went out and bought food and stayed in for the evening.

Fri. May 126

Went to the Rotary club to show films Johnny Lingo and John Baker. March. 27 Sat

We rushed off to town without breakfast in order to catch the scout commissioner at the St. Michael's school. Dad gave him a Flatlands patch, then he asked him to sing a letter asking that we stay in Malaysia to help with scouting. He took the letter and had it translated into Malay then had it typed and signed. It was kind of him.

We came home and ate the hot cakes the girls had prepared. I baked five loaves of bread and we caught the bread man too so we have plenty of bread.

The home movie had about 14 people besides missionaries. Chong, Gary, Honey's boyfriend and two member families. We practiced a bit on "How gentle God's commands"

March 28, Sun. We had just got started on the R.S. lesson when one of the sisters saw Cannons. We went out on the porch to welcome them, then Sister Ann finished her lesson on Pakistan. WE ran through "How Gentle God's Command". We were happy with it.k Bro CAnnon talked then S.S. We had lunch that the sisters had fixed. The cannons and Turners left. Honey came and she and I finished the visiting teaching. Hope we get it done earlier next month.

Mr fowler is worrying about an L.D.S. person can be buried in Malaysia.

March 29 Mon.

We went to town to make a deposit at church bank. honey said her mother could come to the home Evening. We shopped at the grocery store and bought chicken at Kentucky Fried Chicken. Had one piece of chicken and a roll for \$1.80. Came home and ate lunch with the girls. Walked to the market for carrots. Course they didn't have any. Met Elder Sam on one of the girl's bikes. He had just got into town. Made a cake and set some jello. Made some lemon jello for ice cream and cake. Cooked potatoes and eggs for potato salad. By this time Elder Chew phoned. Elder Chong had run over some big rocks and made a hole in his oil pan and gas tank. Bro and Sister Cannon waited an hour and a half in the hot sun then Elder Chong sent a taxi out to bring them in. They all arrived here in time for Family Home evening. Anna and doris Toh came with their dad and mother. Sister Toh fell as she got out of the bus.

We introduced ourselves then read a chapter of the Book of Mormon. Played Simon Says and 1-7 and Multipliers — ate lunch. It looked rather skinny. I got my poor crackers and

cookies. Toh"s brought a drink. We also had a pomelo. I think they were satisfied with the lunch.

Everyone got rides where they had to go. Cannons are coming at 8 in the morning for breakfast. Honey and Tuck arrived late. He brought chili sauce for the chicken tomorrow.

Tues 30

I think I've been awake all night long. I thought the night would never end by 2 a.m. when I got up. I've been up since. I went down stairs at 3 a.m. Someone banged the back door real loud. I was scared but I went about my business which was peeling eggs and potatoes and adding another package of jello to the jello that didn't set, It's 7 a.m. I'll go down and see if the jello set.

LIt rained for an hour this morning and still is raining. The lightening and thunder has played around all night. The thunder sounds like the thunder in the Catskill Mts. Just keeps rolling.

Cannons came and had breakfast with us at eight. The Elders arrived at nine and meeting got underway. At 10:30 Elder Chong said they'd like to eat at eleven so I jumped up and started to warm the chicken and make salad. The other salad set enough to eat. The lemon dressing wasn't too good and the not too good cake.

After eating we went on the bus to town. Cannons and the Elders caught their bus and we just barely caught our bus. we rested a bit this afternoon. It's raining again. I washed some clothes to take to KL tomorrow with us.

WE ate left overs from dinner. There's lots more of those to eat.

Wed. March 31, 1982

Got up early land walked to the place to pay bills. — paid Electric and telephone. Mr. Kesi gave us a ride over there. Caught the bus to the bank and took are of church affairs. WE walked to the travel agency land looked at the possibilities for travel to the Asian Scout Jamboree at Koda Boru. Caught a bus to KL just outside the tourist place. It was an air conditioned bus. WE stopped half way there for a snack. When we arrived at KL we took a taxi to Cannons. Rather he TOOK us. He ran \$10.00 up on the meter when it only takes \$6.00 at most.

Sister CAnnon fixed a good supper and we went to bed early.

Ivan wasn't prepared to go to immigration with us Thurs.

Got out early. I Caught the six o'clock bus to the airport. It wa muggy so hated to go inside. we waited an hour and a half before we could buy tickets..we phoned..they had reserved them for us before we left Ipoh. Had our tickets checked and waited until boarding time. Bus to airport cost \$.85 while the taxi would have cost \$12.00. A girl I

talked to who works in K.L. paid more for her taxi from Penang to the airport than for her plane ride to K.L.

We had a seat by a girl who had been sent to Kota Bharu for a day's job. A land rover had been sent to the airport to pick her up. She took us into the city and directed us to Hotel Aman the took us there. We got a room for \$26.00.

Saufi invited us to ride to the scout jamboree program at 8 p. m. with him. We told him we would ride home from the program with him. We had to go to the bus depot and get tickets to K.L. we did and while there we met a couple of girl scouts who tried to direct us to the camp. WE took a taxi. Had a good time visiting the boys camps. We walked pretty well though the camp for seven hours. Then hunted a place in the dark to lie on the ground and rest. WE rested on a Malaysian bamboo table. They sold us bananas and a drink. We got near the stage and rested on the ground. After a while the boys started to gather. WE watched the Ipoh boys do their number then heard another show was going on. We walked to that place and watched a Malaysian wedding and several dances. Then found Saufi and he brought us home.. He said he'd take us sight seeing in the morning at nine.

April 13 Tues.

Nine came. We waited. 12p.m. came Time to check out so we went down then Saufi came. He and his friend took us back to the camp where we visited and had dinner with the boys. We left there about 3:30. Saufi drove us to see the Imperial palace. We couldn't go past the gate. Then they took us to see the airport and a Batik selling shop. Bought Dad a shirt and a Batik picture of India — Sita. We bought some silver pins from the scouts. Saufi then took us to the hotel. We watched "Popeye the sailor man" then it was time to leave to catch the bus home. WE took a tryshaw and waited for our bus. At 8;10 we were on our way to K.L. We rode all night.

Apr. 14 Wed. Woke up often during the bus ride through the night. The driver worried me because he was so dozy. WE stopped two different times to get snacks, rest and change drivers.

About six in the morning — before light — the bus door was open as well as the windows as we drove through a small town.

Suddenly lit looked like the lady dropped her purse. Dad got up to help and found a chicken had blown into the bus. They caught him and put him in a plastic bag. When we left the bus we handed the driver his chicken.

The taxi driver tried to get the best of us. We decided to ride a mini bus to Pudaraya where we'd catch the bus to Ipoh. We couldn't catch a bus. they were so crowded they wouldn't stop. WE started to walk. A young fellow walked with us until we were in sight of it. He took us through the back way. We caught a bus at 8;30 and slept until snack time. We tried a toilet at the stop but decided to use the bus's facilities instead. Boy, toilets are something else here — stinky and dirty — 10 cents to go in and no paper to use or dry hands on.

We bought snacks and met a French speaking man from Cambodia. He said seven of them started out from the prison camp and five of them were dead now. Just he and another man escaped. he's been out four years. He looked lean and hungry. The girl just arrived from Cambodia. They got off a town just before Ipoh.

Received a letter from Joan telling us that Uncle Phillip was coming to Hong Kong. Then we got a letter from Phillip this afternoon telling about his CES assignment.

April 15

The clothes were soaked with rain so tried to get them dry. Packed and got ready by ll a. m. to go to Taiping with Zainodine and Marzita to the Malay wedding. We enjoyed their company in their car on the way up. When we arrived they drove out to the new school. We went through their house. IIt is nice. Saw the new school set up. Dad talked to the builder while I walked over and took a picture of an elephant. They took us to the museum. It was really cool in there. We got a room at the Hong Kong hotel. They fed us lunch at a stall as soon as we arrived in Tiaping. They left us at the hotel — planning on picking us up in the morning. We decided to find our own way around the next morning.

April 16.

We paid \$12.00 for a tryshaw to haul us around all morning to see the sights. First we went to the zoo. All around the place were monkeys — not in the zoo. We got our bananas and started watching. The monkeys came right up and tried to take the bananas out of our hands. We went in the tryshaw to the gate to the falls. We started walking and a lady picked us up and took us to the falls and brought us back to the tryshaw.

When we got home we started to go to the market and met a strange looking sandy haired girl. She said she was German but she sounded Malay. She took us to the supermarket. When we got back to the hotel we invited her up to lunch. Zionadine came to take us to the wedding so she had to go and we had to rush..

At the groom's place they had beautiful decorated gifts laid out for the bride. We ate yellow rice and curried prons — took pictures of the grandchildren then helped carry the gifts to the bride's place — where it was much more elaborately decorated than the grooms'. The brides gifts to the groom were food made into different shapes etc. The bride was in the bed room and the groom is the beautiful room on the throne chair.

Got out early. I Caught the six o'clock bus to the airport. It wa muggy so hated to go inside. we waited an hour and a half before we could buy tickets..we phoned..they had reserved them for us before we left Ipoh. Had our tickets checked and waited until boarding time. Bus to airport cost \$.85 while the taxi would have cost \$12.00. A girl I talked to who works in K.L. paid more for her taxi from Penang to the airport than for her plane ride to K.L.

We had a seat by a girl who had been sent to Kota Bharu for a day's job. A land rover had been sent to the airport to pick her up. She took us into the city and directed us to Hotel Aman the took us there. We got a room for \$26.00.

Saufi invited us to ride to the scout jamboree program at 8 p. m. with him. We told him we would ride home from the program with him. We had to go to the bus depot and get tickets to K.L. we did and while there we met a couple of girl scouts who tried to direct us to the camp. WE took a taxi. Had a good time visiting the boys camps. We walked pretty well though the camp for seven hours. Then hunted a place in the dark to lie on the ground and rest. WE rested on a Malaysian bamboo table. They sold us bananas and a drink. We got near the stage and rested on the ground. After a while the boys started to gather. WE watched the Ipoh boys do their number then heard another show was going on. We walked to that place and watched a Malaysian wedding and several dances. Then found Saufi and he brought us home.. He said he'd take us sight seeing in the morning at nine.

April 13 Tues.

Nine came. We waited. 12p.m. came Time to check out so we went down then Saufi came. He and his friend took us back to the camp where we visited and had dinner with the boys. We left there about 3:30. Saufi drove us to see the Imperial palace. We couldn't go past the gate. Then they took us to see the airport and a Batik selling shop. Bought Dad a shirt and a Batik picture of India — Sita. We bought some silver pins from the scouts. Saufi then took us to the hotel. We watched "Popeye the sailor man" then it was time to leave to catch the bus home. WE took a tryshaw and waited for our bus. At 8;10 we were on our way to K.L. We rode all night.

Apr. 14 Wed. Woke up often during the bus ride through the night. The driver worried me because he was so dozy. WE stopped two different times to get snacks, rest and change drivers.

About six in the morning — before light — the bus door was open as well as the windows as we drove through a small town.

Suddenly lit looked like the lady dropped her purse. Dad got up to help and found a chicken had blown into the bus. They caught him and put him in a plastic bag. When we left the bus we handed the driver his chicken.

The taxi driver tried to get the best of us. We decided to ride a mini bus to Pudaraya where we'd catch the bus to Ipoh. We couldn't catch a bus. they were so crowded they wouldn't stop. WE started to walk. A young fellow walked with us until we were in sight of it. He took us through the back way. We caught a bus at 8;30 and slept until snack time. We tried a toilet at the stop but decided to use the bus's facilities instead. Boy, toilets are something else here — stinky and dirty — 10 cents to go in and no paper to use or dry hands on.

We bought snacks and met a French speaking man from Cambodia. He said seven of them started out from the prison camp and five of them were dead now. Just he and another man escaped. he's been out four years. He looked lean and hungry. The girl just arrived from Cambodia. They got off a town just before Ipoh.

Received a letter from Joan telling us that Uncle Phillip was coming to Hong Kong. Then we got a letter from Phillip this afternoon telling about his CES assignment.

The clothes were soaked with rain so tried to get them dry. Packed and got ready by ll a. m. to go to Taiping with Zainodine and Marzita to the Malay wedding. We enjoyed their company in their car on the way up. When we arrived they drove out to the new school. We went through their house. IIt is nice. Saw the new school set up. Dad talked to the builder while I walked over and took a picture of an elephant. They took us to the museum. It was really cool in there. We got a room at the Hong Kong hotel. They fed us lunch at a stall as soon as we arrived in Tiaping. They left us at the hotel — planning on picking us up in the morning. We decided to find our own way around the next morning.

April 16.

We paid \$12.00 for a tryshaw to haul us around all morning to see the sights. First we went to the zoo. All around the place were monkeys — not in the zoo. We got our bananas and started watching. The monkeys came right up and tried to take the bananas out of our hands. We went in the tryshaw to the gate to the falls. We started walking and a lady picked us up and took us to the falls and brought us back to the tryshaw.

When we got home we started to go to the market and met a strange looking sandy haired girl. She said she was German but she sounded Malay. She took us to the supermarket. When we got back to the hotel we invited her up to lunch. Zionadine came to take us to the wedding so she had to go and we had to rush..

At the groom's place they had beautiful decorated gifts laid out for the bride. We ate yellow rice and curried prons — took pictures of the grandchildren then helped carry the gifts to the bride's place — where it was much more elaborately decorated than the grooms'. The brides gifts to the groom were food made into different shapes etc. The bride was in the bed room and the groom is the beautiful room on the throne chair.

Then about six or eight men in white clothes like pajamas with towles wrapped around their middles — a little man talked quietly to the groom and had him sign papers and books. That was the wedding ceremony. Then they put lunch clothes up the middle of the floor, the set dozens of big trays of food on them. Through the meal all sat on the floor. Ladies on one end of the room and men on the other. We had glass plates. They poured water over our hands then we took the rice from the bowl with our fingers. The food was beautifully made and served with our fingers.

The bride was beautiful in a gold and green over a dark green velvet shirt.

After we'd eaten all we could we each threw rice on the groom also another weed' We said goodby by putting our hands together my hand then his hand then mine then his and pulling them apart and putting them on our chests.

WE went back to the grooms where we ate lunch again. WE then spent two hours at Marzita's brother's house. WE then went back to the brides for more ceremony and pictures.

Marzita's sister took us to the station where we caught the mid night train to K.L. We had a berth. That didn't solve all our rest problems. We rolled and turned on the cot and got to K.L. at 8 a.m. an hour late for our meeting.

April 17

Took a taxi to Cannons where zone conference was already in session. It was a Book of Mormon conference. After conference and lunch Elder Chong took us to catch a bus. We got tickets to Ipoh but the other Elders didn't get tickets. Elder Chong took them to busses and trains until they got a ride.

WE drove through some heavy rain on the way home. IThe roads were flooded. Reached Ipoh about 8 p.m. and caught a taxi on home. UNpacked, ate, and a really ready for bed. We left last Sunday morning and haven't slept in the same bed twice since we left. We're glad to be home. We spent two night on the road traveling.

The girls left for their new field of labor while we were away.

April 18

A good Sunday. Sis Koay was sustained as Mother Education teacher and set apart. Brother Ong brought a crippled lady to church. It rained a lot today. Apr. 19, 1982

Sopped at market after doing the wash — some for Honey. Made cookies that taste like they have dust in them. Made the button holes in my red blouse.

Dad took the film to town and went to visit the scout camp. He came home from town about six. We had home evening. Read B. Of M. then worked on the baby quilt for Choongs.

Apr. 20 1982

Woke early. Took covers off chairs. Went to Khongs and to town with Honey. Stopped at the market and bout fruit — papaya, pineapple, mango star fruit and bananas, also potatoes and turnips.

Sister Khong brought us home to leave groceries then we rode to Chongs, the Thonga family and Elder Chong's brothers' place. Then home to wash. Dad made lines in the vacant room up stairs.

We went to town to get our jamboree pictures. Stopped at Whimpy's — home and organized pictures.

Two letters from Ellen. Zionadine family home after the wedding.

April 21

Went to Khongs early for Dad to look at her car. They took us out to breakfast — fish balls and Meehon, a noodle dish. Went to scout camp. I spent the biggest part of the day sewing at Khongs. Brother Ong brought me home at four. Honey came and we did our visiting teaching. Sister Koay wasn't home but we got the other two. I got home at 8:30 p.

m. and beat Dad. He spent the whole day at the scout camp. Elder Chong called. No word on Visa probably until next week because of elections.

April. 22, 2982

Dad is off on a bicycle to the scout camp. He'll come back before I go to Toh's. WAshed at one I left to help sew on the baby quilt. when I got there it was all finished. I visited an hour or two. Toh walked back to the bus stop with me. When I got home Dad was home. We went to town for pictures. Visited Kasi on the way home.

April 23 — Washed. Did my hair then cleaned the church. Dad worked in church books. 4:30 we went to town. To save time I went to Angells for material while Dad went for pictures. We didn't make things too definite. After waiting at Angells for 25 minutes I decided I'd better get look somewhere else for material. I found some. Angells jumped the street and got on a different block it seemed. When I found the Cathey, I didn't let it get away. I caught the bus there and came home. No key. I sat on the steps there until Marzita saw me and invited me in to her house. She worried more than I did. Finally Zionadine came home and went on his motor bike to find Smellie, still hunting me. They came home on his bike. Thank goodness for such wonderful neighbours.

April 22

Washed clothes and was ready to go to the market at ten with Sister Khong. We bought groceries to make a good Chinese dinner, came home and started the soup. Sister Khong came back at four to prepare the dinner. I helped a little but watched mostly. The R.S. arrived at seven to a good meal. Ann gave a good Visiting Teacher's lesson before we left the table. The men folks cleared up the dishes. We came up stairs and had home management lesson on artificial recusititation and wounds.. We made decision on quilt. Tohs will finish it for us and we'll deliver it early in the week.

We visited Zionadines a few minutes and came home to do more work on the photo book.

April. 25 Sunday

Usual — All but Sister Koay. Ann gave a good lesson. Annie's talk in church was good and so was Brother Ong's. After S.S> I cooked dinner and Brother Ong stayed and ate with us. Gene came to invite us to get together at his house this evening. We later learned it was his birthday party. When we arrived at his house it was full of young people. We ate Chinese and curried foods. Simon took a lot of pictures. Gene gave us a selling pitch. Get your own business, for \$50.00 you can set up your own Amway business. Simon brought us home.

Apr. 26 1982

Washed, went to town to see the church bank. Saw Choonge for a while. came home and stopped at Ipoh Gardens at our own bank. Heard someone from behind say "Hand over your money". It was Gary , Liong wok wai. We visited and rode home on the same bus. He had already boughten his own dinner so we asked him to bring it over and eat with us. He took his worms in the plastic bag home while I put our dinner on. We ate together — each our own food. He visited with Dad for an hour or two then went home.

Got a ride to Toh's for Family Home Evening. Elder Tan gave us a ride there and back. Pres. Jones phoned. We arranged to stay in the mission home in Singapore while waiting

— Before we left he told us where to get the key. We said we'd go down and re-enter if we couldn't get our visas taken care of in K.L.

We told Zinodine we'd ride down with him at 4:45 in the morning.

April 27

Woke early and were ready to leave at 4:45. Zionadine was ready a bit later. We had a good ride down together. Marzita kept our key and took care of lights and windows for us. We surprised Cannons at about 8:30 walking in on them. After a few minutes talk we decided to go to immigration to see if our visas went through. We sat waiting in the waiting room for hours before they told us they refused the visas. They gave us two weeks to come back up to Ipoh and pick up our things to get out so we now have until May 12th.

We rested then ate hot dogs uptown then went to the Canadian embassy and registered. We then went to the mission home and rested until time for the in service lesson. It was good.

Elder NG's grandfather died so they transferred him to Singapore and Elder Wu back with Elder Chong.

April 28

We listened to the Priesthood session of conference then ate lunch and Elder Chong took us to the train to meet Elder Wu. We got tickets and came on to Brewister Ave. and picked up the prints we had ordered. Caught the bus home and Marzita was Waiting for us with the key. She had the lights turned on. she is so good to us.

April 29

Did regular P. Day chores. sent pictures to Joan and Will. Got the coins off to the scouts we had promised them. Sent off applications for drivers licenses. — Also sent for forms to get some of my savings out of the B.C.Teacher's Retirement savings. We decided after dinner to go to town and see Fowlers. it rained and we waited it out in the new library. It was about meal time by then so decided to come home. At the bus stop we met a girl who told us how to get to Lim's place. We found the house — no one home. Threw the pictures into the house and inquired of a lady where Timothy's house was. she took us to his place.

We visited and bit then He took us to a stall and fed us Chinese food. They drove us to meet his mother at Thomas's place. We also met his sister next door. Went back to Timothy's where friends dropped in. They had been in Iowa. She's expecting a baby in four days. They brought us home. They seemed like good people. They are not attached to a religion. They were in Iowa four years getting his education in Industrial engineering.

Apr. 30

Intended to visit Fowlers early but got there at ten. We stopped at the post office in Ipoh Gardens to mail tapes and film strips to the Penang Elders then caught the bus by the station where we quickly grabbed the Lim Garden bus to Fowlers. A person told us where to get off — so close to Fowlers. We visited with Mr. Fowler and talked religion for an hour or so. He walked us to the bus and we caught it to a lady's place who had first driven us to Fowlers. She was not at home. We wondered if we would wait for her when the

lady next door invited us in. They were Muslims. they had lunch on the table and we ate with them — rice and squid, eggs and some other hot vegetable that had a bitter taste also lady fingers. They set spoons and forks at our place. We said we wanted to eat like they did so they had us wash our hands and we ate with our fingers. We had a really pleasant visit with them. They invited us to their daughter's birthday party tomorrow. WE have already told Doreen we will go with her so if we get home early enough we'll drop in there again. We went to the lady's place next door and visited a short while. Her parents were from Sri Lanka. We left and went to catch the bus and Andrew drove up on his bike. WE went home with him and spent a pleasant rainy hour or so listening to the organ and singing as he played. Albernathies are such nice people. Got to the bus station and Ipoh Garden bus was waiting, caught it and got home to give Zinodines the pictures we had made for them.

May 1st 1982 Labor Day

STayed home, washed,marked two Books of Mormon and got the flannelette hemmed for Choongs. WEnt to the near shopping center for crochet hooks and cotton.

Doreen and Tan came to take us to see her grandmother. We rode long enough getting there to get the first round crochet on the blanket. Her uncle runs two jewelry shops. Everything in cages. The counter edge can be seen through the bars.

We ate in an Indian Malay stall. The man flipped the dough round and round instead of rolling it with a rolling pin. We were long enough on the road to finish the other round of crocheting.

We caught the bus to the Nor birthday party. Ate Malaysian food and they brought us home. the town was packed tonight as we waited for the Lim Garden bus to take bus to the party. We're late home — 10;30 p.m.

May 2 1982

Got us cleaned up a bit and set up the chairs for church, took a shower and started R.S> We were almost finished when President Redd same and asked us to come down because Choongs were with enough food for every one. The had the baby and family in the car. We went down and greeted them then finished R.S. and had fast and testimony meeting. Ann and I decided to divide the food up so people could take it home and finish the fast or eat it which ever pleased them. We made enough for all. They had pork, coloured eggs,, a little rose bud thing a bit larger than a fried egg. Some sort of cake-looking stuff. After that we had Sunday School. We've started the second part of the Bible, the Adult lesson of S.S.

I came upstairs to rest. Brother Ong and Dad have stayed downstairs preaching and singing. My side hurts worse than it did at first.

Brother Ong took us to Leong's place. She hasn't gone to the hospital yet. lAt home we gabbed with Zainodine and Marzita until Honey called. She brought John over. He is an Australian. Talked about Australia. The left and it's bed tine. Hot tonight. No rain today.

May 3

P. day. wrote letters, Dad caught up on church work..Elder Chong's brothers wife came to the house to pick up the package we brought up for him. They were nice to talk to. We wish we could give them the gospel.

Brother Ong conducted Family home Evening. We played games and ate. John came with Honey. He's pretty fed up with churches We'd like to visit him more. Tohs and Ong stayed until 10:30.

May 4

Today we started at 9:30 to the shopping center to pay our bills and from there we caught the bus to New Town and looked for knitting needles and material for home Making Tomorrow night. got what we needed then caught the bus to the station and went out to Fowlers. Had a good visit. Ate lunch with them. Gave them a Book of mormon then came home. i was so tired. we rested until time for Tan to came. We phoned David Foong and he came to pick up the rent money. He brought a security man. We visited a while. Then the while curly headed Allen we met on the bus came to the door. He stayed on after David left and we ate together. He is a Drug addict worker. Has some good faith and ideas. He'll be here until June.

May 5 wed.

Washed but before we had it on the line we had to leave to catch the bus to Kong's to go to town with Honey then on to Fowlers. Freddie Fowler took us to a friend Mechanic shop where they fixed the starter. Sister Khong bought us lunch on the way home. Had Home Making Evening here. The girls brought wool and hooks and needles. WE spent the evening learning a little about knitting. Doris was out to meeting. All the sisters also.

April 18

A good Sunday. Sis Koay was sustained as Mother Education teacher and set apart. Brother Ong brought a crippled lady to church. It rained a lot today. Apr. 19, 1982

Sopped at market after doing the wash — some for Honey. Made cookies that taste like they have dust in them. Made the button holes in my red blouse.

Dad took the film to town and went to visit the scout camp. He came home from town about six. We had home evening. Read B. Of M. then worked on the baby quilt for Choongs.

Apr. 20 1982

Woke early. Took covers off chairs. Went to Khongs and to town with Honey. Stopped at the market and bout fruit — papaya, pineapple, mango star fruit and bananas, also potatoes and turnips.

Sister Khong brought us home to leave groceries then we rode to Chongs, the Thonga family and Elder Chong's brothers' place. Then home to wash. Dad made lines in the vacant room up stairs.

We went to town to get our jamboree pictures. Stopped at Whimpy's — home and organized pictures.

Two letters from Ellen. Zionadine family home after the wedding.

April 21

Went to Khongs early for Dad to look at her car. They took us out to breakfast — fish balls and Meehon, a noodle dish. Went to scout camp. I spent the biggest part of the day sewing at Khongs. Brother Ong brought me home at four. Honey came and we did our visiting teaching. Sister Koay wasn't home but we got the other two. I got home at 8:30 p. m. and beat Dad. He spent the whole day at the scout camp. Elder Chong called. No word on Visa probably until next week because of elections.

April. 22, 2982

Dad is off on a bicycle to the scout camp. He'll come back before I go to Toh's. WAshed at one I left to help sew on the baby quilt. when I got there it was all finished. I visited an hour or two. Toh walked back to the bus stop with me. When I got home Dad was home. We went to town for pictures. Visited Kasi on the way home.

April 23 — Washed. Did my hair then cleaned the church. Dad worked in church books. 4:30 we went to town. To save time I went to Angells for material while Dad went for pictures. We didn't make things too definite. After waiting at Angells for 25 minutes I decided I'd better get look somewhere else for material. I found some. Angells jumped the street and got on a different block it seemed. When I found the Cathey, I didn't let it get away. I caught the bus there and came home. No key. I sat on the steps there until Marzita saw me and invited me in to her house. She worried more than I did. Finally Zionadine came home and went on his motor bike to find Smellie, still hunting me. They came home on his bike. Thank goodness for such wonderful neighbours.

April 22

Washed clothes and was ready to go to the market at ten with Sister Khong. We bought groceries to make a good Chinese dinner, came home and started the soup. Sister Khong came back at four to prepare the dinner. I helped a little but watched mostly. The R.S. arrived at seven to a good meal. Ann gave a good Visiting Teacher's lesson before we left the table. The men folks cleared up the dishes. We came up stairs and had home management lesson on artificial recusititation and wounds.. We made decision on quilt. Tohs will finish it for us and we'll deliver it early in the week.

We visited Zionadines a few minutes and came home to do more work on the photo book.

April. 25 Sunday

Usual — All but Sister Koay. Ann gave a good lesson. Annie's talk in church was good and so was Brother Ong's. After S.S> I cooked dinner and Brother Ong stayed and ate with us. Gene came to invite us to get together at his house this evening. We later learned it was his birthday party. When we arrived at his house it was full of young people. We ate Chinese and curried foods. Simon took a lot of pictures. Gene gave us a selling pitch. Get your own business, for \$50.00 you can set up your own Amway business. Simon brought us home.

Apr. 26 1982

Washed, went to town to see the church bank. Saw Choonge for a while. came home and stopped at Ipoh Gardens at our own bank. Heard someone from behind say "Hand over

your money". It was Gary, Liong wok wai. We visited and rode home on the same bus. He had already boughten his own dinner so we asked him to bring it over and eat with us. He took his worms in the plastic bag home while I put our dinner on. We ate together — each our own food. He visited with Dad for an hour or two then went home.

Got a ride to Toh's for Family Home Evening. Elder Tan gave us a ride there and back. Pres. Jones phoned. We arranged to stay in the mission home in Singapore while waiting — Before we left he told us where to get the key. We said we'd go down and re-enter if we couldn't get our visas taken care of in K.L.

We told Zinodine we'd ride down with him at 4:45 in the morning.

April 27

Woke early and were ready to leave at 4:45. Zionadine was ready a bit later. We had a good ride down together. Marzita kept our key and took care of lights and windows for us. We surprised Cannons at about 8:30 walking in on them. After a few minutes talk we decided to go to immigration to see if our visas went through. We sat waiting in the waiting room for hours before they told us they refused the visas. They gave us two weeks to come back up to Ipoh and pick up our things to get out so we now have until May 12th.

We rested then ate hot dogs uptown then went to the Canadian embassy and registered. We then went to the mission home and rested until time for the in service lesson. It was good.

Elder NG's grandfather died so they transferred him to Singapore and Elder Wu back with Elder Chong.

April 28

We listened to the Priesthood session of conference then ate lunch and Elder Chong took us to the train to meet Elder Wu. We got tickets and came on to Brewister Ave. and picked up the prints we had ordered. Caught the bus home and Marzita was Waiting for us with the key. She had the lights turned on. she is so good to us.

April 29

Did regular P. Day chores. sent pictures to Joan and Will. Got the coins off to the scouts we had promised them. Sent off applications for drivers licenses. — Also sent for forms to get some of my savings out of the B.C.Teacher's Retirement savings. We decided after dinner to go to town and see Fowlers. it rained and we waited it out in the new library. It was about meal time by then so decided to come home. At the bus stop we met a girl who told us how to get to Lim's place. We found the house — no one home. Threw the pictures into the house and inquired of a lady where Timothy's house was. she took us to his place.

We visited and bit then He took us to a stall and fed us Chinese food. They drove us to meet his mother at Thomas's place. We also met his sister next door. Went back to Timothy's where friends dropped in. They had been in Iowa. She's expecting a baby in four days. They brought us home. They seemed like good people. They are not attached to a religion. They were in Iowa four years getting his education in Industrial engineering.

Intended to visit Fowlers early but got there at ten. We stopped at the post office in Ipoh Gardens to mail tapes and film strips to the Penang Elders then caught the bus by the station where we quickly grabbed the Lim Garden bus to Fowlers. A person told us where to get off — so close to Fowlers. We visited with Mr. Fowler and talked religion for an hour or so. He walked us to the bus and we caught it to a lady's place who had first driven us to Fowlers. She was not at home. We wondered if we would wait for her when the lady next door invited us in. They were Muslims. they had lunch on the table and we ate with them — rice and squid, eggs and some other hot vegetable that had a bitter taste also lady fingers. They set spoons and forks at our place. We said we wanted to eat like they did so they had us wash our hands and we ate with our fingers. We had a really pleasant visit with them. They invited us to their daughter's birthday party tomorrow. WE have already told Doreen we will go with her so if we get home early enough we'll drop in there again. We went to the lady's place next door and visited a short while. Her parents were from Sri Lanka. We left and went to catch the bus and Andrew drove up on his bike. WE went home with him and spent a pleasant rainy hour or so listening to the organ and singing as he played. Albernathies are such nice people. Got to the bus station and Ipoh Garden bus was waiting, caught it and got home to give Zinodines the pictures we had made for them.

May 1st 1982 Labor Day

STayed home, washed,marked two Books of Mormon and got the flannelette hemmed for Choongs. WEnt to the near shopping center for crochet hooks and cotton.

Doreen and Tan came to take us to see her grandmother. We rode long enough getting there to get the first round crochet on the blanket. Her uncle runs two jewelry shops. Everything in cages. The counter edge can be seen through the bars.

We ate in an Indian Malay stall. The man flipped the dough round and round instead of rolling it with a rolling pin. We were long enough on the road to finish the other round of crocheting.

We caught the bus to the Nor birthday party. At Malaysian food and they brought us home, the town was packed tonight as we waited for the Lim Garden bus to take bus to the party. We're late home — 10;30 p.m.

May 2 1982

Got us cleaned up a bit and set up the chairs for church, took a shower and started R.S> We were almost finished when President Redd same and asked us to come down because Choongs were with enough food for every one. The had the baby and family in the car. We went down and greeted them then finished R.S. and had fast and testimony meeting. Ann and I decided to divide the food up so people could take it home and finish the fast or eat it which ever pleased them. We made enough for all. They had pork, coloured eggs,, a little rose bud thing a bit larger than a fried egg. Some sort of cake-looking stuff. After that we had Sunday School. We've started the second part of the Bible, the Adult lesson of S.S.

I came upstairs to rest. Brother Ong and Dad have stayed downstairs preaching and singing. My side hurts worse than it did at first.

Brother Ong took us to Leong's place. She hasn't gone to the hospital yet. lAt home we gabbed with Zainodine and Marzita until Honey called. She brought John over. He is an Australian. Talked about Australia. The left and it's bed tine. Hot tonight. No rain today.

May 3

P. day. wrote letters, Dad caught up on church work..Elder Chong's brothers wife came to the house to pick up the package we brought up for him. They were nice to talk to. We wish we could give them the gospel.

Brother Ong conducted Family home Evening. We played games and ate. John came with Honey. He's pretty fed up with churches We'd like to visit him more. Tohs and Ong stayed until 10:30.

May 4

Today we started at 9:30 to the shopping center to pay our bills and from there we caught the bus to New Town and looked for knitting needles and material for home Making Tomorrow night. got what we needed then caught the bus to the station and went out to Fowlers. Had a good visit. Ate lunch with them. Gave them a Book of mormon then came home. i was so tired. we rested until time for Tan to came. We phoned David Foong and he came to pick up the rent money. He brought a security man. We visited a while. Then the while curly headed Allen we met on the bus came to the door. He stayed on after David left and we ate together. He is a Drug addict worker. Has some good faith and ideas. He'll be here until June.

May 5 wed.

Washed but before we had it on the line we had to leave to catch the bus to Kong's to go to town with Honey then on to Fowlers. Freddie Fowler took us to a friend Mechanic shop where they fixed the starter. Sister Khong bought us lunch on the way home. Had Home Making Evening here. The girls brought wool and hooks and needles. WE spent the evening learning a little about knitting. Doris was out to meeting. All the sisters also.

Jan. 25, 1995

Sorry I'm so slow about writing. I tried once but it didn't go right for me and I have never got back to it. Not that I'm too busy — I'm not. Puzzles have had first place as I rest on the bed. Anyway I want to say Thanks for the Christmas you made for us. Then I want to say Happy New Year before 1995 is all over.

It is hard to write when we have no plans. We have no children to tend. We are not planning on going away at this time anywhere — Maybe we will have to plan a visit to our children's families. Maybe we will have to get started in some genealogy. If I

don't have a job I surely spend a lot of time recuperating. Bet you have never found out how tired you can get from just being lazy.

Dad has a Sunday School class to teach. He is also a home teacher. Jason Redd is his companion.

It is mail time about now. I think I could walk to the post office without falling down on the ice. It looks nice outside today. Maybe the worst of the winter is over. I hope so anyway. I don't love winter and ice. We have to have enough snow for next years' crops. Can't be too grouchy about the snow. I like to walk to the post office for my exercise once a day. Dad finds jobs to do around here for his.

I think you all know that our son William is our Bishop. We went to Raymond to hear Barbara, Smellie's sister, give her home coming talk. She served in the Mexico City mission.

I'm surely glad you got to go to the open house of the Bountiful temple. I thought about it but that was all we could do. We will go there for a session one of these days. The next time we head south I think. One never knows does one?

I will just write one page. Can't think of anything to say on that page so I won't let it go over. We surely love and appreciate you. May God bless and keep you and yours.

Love,

Smellie and Laurel

Thanks for the pictures, and letter. It's so good to hear the news of everyone. Of course we wish it could all be good news. Nov. 23, 1992

Grassy Lake, Alberta

Jan. 25, 1995

Sorry I'm so slow about writing. I tried once but it didn't go right for me and I have never got back to it. Not that I'm too busy — I'm not. Puzzles have had first place as I rest on the bed. Anyway I want to say Thanks for the Christmas you made for us. Then I want to say Happy New Year before 1995 is all over.

It is hard to write when we have no plans. We have no children to tend. We are not planning on going away at this time anywhere — Maybe we will have to plan a visit to our children's families. Maybe we will have to get started in some genealogy. If I don't have a job I surely spend a lot of time recuperating. Bet you have never found out how tired you can get from just being lazy.

Dad has a Sunday School class to teach. He is also a home teacher. Jason Redd is his companion.

It is mail time about now. I think I could walk to the post office without falling down on the ice. It looks nice outside today. Maybe the worst of the winter is over. I hope so anyway. I don't love winter and ice. We have to have enough snow for next years' crops. Can't be too grouchy about the snow. I like to walk to the post office for my exercise once a day. Dad finds jobs to do around here for his.

I think you all know that our son William is our Bishop. We went to Raymond to hear Barbara, Smellie's sister, give her home coming talk. She served in the Mexico City mission.

I'm surely glad you got to go to the open house of the Bountiful temple. I thought about it but that was all we could do. We will go there for a session one of these days. The next time we head south I think. One never knows does one?

I will just write one page. Can't think of anything to say on that page so I won't let it go over. We surely love and appreciate you. May God bless and keep you and yours.

Love,

Smellie and Laurel

Dec. 19, 1991

This is a Christmas Card letter if you don't recognize it.

It is also a thank you note. I hope to get another off after Christmas but right now I want this on its way.

Thanks for the Merry Christmases over the phone. It is a real joy to lhear your voices especially when the message is sung — We love the children's voices.

Thanks for the cards you have already sent us. Thanks for the family picutre.

I wonder if that is all lthe "thanks" for now. They'll be more come later.

We have had the pleasure of bing with one of the girls we knew in the mission field. Annie Toh came to Cardston on Monday. We spent yesterday with Annie and the Leavitts. She is visiting them. We went to Waterton and saw the scenery and the deer. They were no other wild animals out this time but it was a thrill to see them and the snow etc. Annie has never had the pleasure of cold winter and snow. She was having the time of her life. The thing that surprised her most was the feilds all brown — not white with snow and not green. The trees standing bare with no leaves were a sort of a surprise then to see green pines in the midst of it all. Well we just had a good time then had a great meal before we left waterton. We found some stir fry dished and other things that reminded us of the east. We just had a good day. We will likely be with Annie again before she goes back to school in Hawaii. She flies on the 4th of Jan. We may take her to the plane.

We went to Cardston last Sunday to stay at Tom's and Cheryl's. Heather had her tonsils and adnois out on Monday. Tom had his teaching to do and Cheryl stayed at the hospital with Heather. We had a good time with the children. The baby is so sweet. She was no problem at all. She is just a year old. Doesn't walk yet but she surely gets around, up and down etc.

Today we are taking Kim, William's oldest son to Edmonton to put him on the bus for Fairview. His parents and family are there. He will spend Christmas with them then we have in mind to go up for New Year and bring him back. He is going to school in Taber this year. Will has a job in Fairview for four months. He should be home by the end of March. Kim and Dad are looking after Will's affairs here. Dad hauled his grain to the elevater and filled a train car of canola seed for him.

We may go to Wainwright and stay there until after Christmas. We expect to sleep there tonight before putting Kim on the bus in Edmonton to go on up to Fairview.

I'm having visiting Teachers this morning. Putting up a lunch for us to ltravel lwith.

We want to wish you the very best — Merry, Merry Christmas and a kHappy New Year. LOve Redds —

Laurel D Hill Redd

Born — Mud Lake, Idaho, U.S.A.

October 3, 1915

Father — Chancy Eugene Hill

Mother — Hermione Jackson Hill

Siblings — Horace Eugene, Iran Roy, Alta Hermione, James Jackson, Return George Clara Dinah Crystal, — Laurel Darpha, — Harold Wayne, Lester June, Eva R.L., Wanda Maybeth, Izora Faun, Wendlyn Joy, Gloria RaOla.

I was raised in the Uinta Basin Altona, Randlett, and Roosevelt Utah.

I first saw my husband when we were in Salt Lake City preparing to go on a mission. nine years later — after the war we were married on Jan.28, 1946.

July 29 1991

Hi

I guess it's time I answered your letter.

I'm good and lazy right now so this won't be much of a letter.

On the 25 of July I went to the St. Michael's hospital in Lethbridge and on the 26 — A special birthday — I had that skin cancer removed from my nose. The Doctor told me the longer I was under the ansthetic the worse I would feel. I had three hours of it.

Yesterday I went to church. It was tiring. Then Barbara invited us to Raymond to eat dinner with Dave and Ellen and family there. I couldn't resists but I was plenty tired when it was all over.

I was too tired to rest very well last night. But I'm trying to do the usual things on Monday.

Tonight our ward is having a party at a park. I think I'll stay home this time. It's the mosquitoes that scare me away. I surely don't want to battle them right now.

Tomorrow we are to go back to Lethbridge to have the stitches taken out of nose. MY nostril is pulled up on one side so I;ll be pretty snooty the next time you see me.

I hate to go out in the hot sum but I want to get this letter in the post office and I want to take a little walk. I haven't done that for a few days.

We don't know when we will be down. We wanted to come to the reunion but We don't know right now what we will do. Joan has a seminary convention there and the girls would like to go to the Education week. We might be envolved with that. We forgot to talk about it when we were together last.

I think I will go downstaris and see if I can find some sort of a hat for shade. I should have a rice shade down there somewhere.

We want to get to Wainwright right soon. Course the trip to Lethbridge is first.

I want to have Tom come and help me get my new programs in the computer. They planned on coming today once but that might be changed now.

I'm only writing one page and I guess it"s about time to say Goodbye. I love you and appreciate your letters.

From

Smellie and Laurel

Jan. 25, 1995

Sorry I'm so slow about writing. I tried once but it didn't go right for me and I have never got back to it. Not that I'm too busy-l-I'm not. Puzzles have had first place as I rest on the bed. Anyway I want to say Thanks for the Christmas you made for us. Then I want to say Happy New Year before 1995 is all over.

It is hard to write when we have no plans. We have no Children to tend. We are not planning on going away at this time anywhere — Maybe we will have to plan to visit our children. Maybe we will have to get started in some genealogy. If I don"t have a job I surely spend a lot of time recuperating. Bet you have never found out how tired you can get from just being lazy.

Dad has a Sunday School class to teach. He is also a home teacher. Jason Redd is has companion.

It is mail time about now. I think I could walk to the post office without falling down on the ice. It looks nice outside today. Maybe the worst of the winter if ocer. I hope so anyway. I don't love winter and ice. we have to have enough snow for the next years crops. can't be too grouchy about the snow. I like to walk to the post office once a day for my exercise. Dad finds jobs to do around here for his.

I think you all know that our son william is our Bishop. We went to Raymond to hear Barbara, Smellie's sister, give her home coming talk. I she served in the Mexico City mission.

I'm surely glad you got to go to the open house of the Bountiful temple. I thought about it but that was all we could do. We will go there for a session one of these days. The next time we head south, I think. One never knows does one?

I will just write one page. k Can't think of anything to say on this page so I won"t let it go over to the next page. We surely love and appreciate you. May God bless and keep you and yours.,

Love,

Smellie and Laurel

March 6, 1995

I've forgotten how to write it has been so long since I tried.

We are in the act of moving to Cardston. We have an apartment rented there and will be on the way this week. In fact we are packing up now.

If we go up there to live I hope we can sell our house right away. I don't want to rent it. I don't want it sitting here empty hoping for the right people to come along. I guess you don't always get all you want.

We have had some really cold weather here the past couple of weeks. It is bright today but still a bit cold. I except we will be seeing warm weather before too many days have passed on.

We have had several funerals here lately. I mean in Taber not Grassy.

We went to the basket ball game in Taber. Kevin was on the team. It was like the good old days. I've gotten to the place where I really enjoy my bed at nine o'clock p. m. and in the morning too — I like to lay in bed and play with circle a wordbooks or some other time wasting thing. My eyes are lazy and don't want to read as much as I used to.

Sounds like Wanda's trip will be really fun. Hope the weather treats her nice. When we move I'm afraid we will miss the church right across the road. We might even have to walk a few blocks to get to church but the distance to the temple has to be much shorter than it is from here.

Forgive me for taking so long to answer your letters. I'll try to do better next time.

Hope you are all keeping well and happy.

I feel older. I guess the years are sneaking up on us.

May God bless and keep you....Love.....

Smellie and Laurel

Aug. 21,

Dear Ones,

WE got to Pocatello and spent the night with Aunt Nellie. We woke about 4:30 the next morning and hung around until about six before we left for Rexburg. Got to the

temple at seven. The wedding party had just started on the session so we waited two hours and went to the sealing. After the sealing we went to visit one of Dad's cousins. He told us a couple of names of people to look up in Mud Lake. We ate dinner with him then went to Mud Lake.

We found the Furness that had been recommended to us. He told us to talk to the Mayor so we did. He said he was thinking some of talking to the council and having the log house put on the lot with the museum and attatch it to it. He wanted to know how the Hill family would feel about it. What our response might be. I think he wanted some feed in on it before he goes to his council meeting in September. I don't know what might be involved — money or not — It is all in the "if" stage now.

MOving it at this stage might involve some money. It would have to be lifted instead of skidded.

I guess if you write about it you should address the letter to the town council and the envelope to Mayor Don Wilde Mud Lake, Idaho Box 41 Terreton, Idaho 83450

Mildred Staley met with us for an hour or more asking questions. She wanted everything she could gather about Dad. My memory hadn't started then and it has stopped now. She asked a few questions I thought I remembered someone telling me. I'll send a copy of Dad's history to her.

We got away from Idaho about nine Friday and drove all but an hour of the night to get to Barnwell for the rest of the wedding ceremonies. Sunday we went back to Chin Lake to see Jerry Angell take off in his plane. He was loaded too heavy and had to make four starts before he got off. He unlaoded luggage and finally his son before he got away. His wife was here in the car so all went well. They home now in Flin Flon. I'll quite now and write more later if this printer works.

Thanks for everything. Love, Laurel and Smellie

Oct. 15, 1991

Hey, We're home at last and what fun it has been to have another birthday opening the birthday card. You remember my birthday is October 3. When I wrote for my birth certificate they sent it to me with the date October 10 - I didn't mind that I have just celebrated that day to be sure to get the right one — Ha! Ha! Now I guess I'll have to at the 15th to the list. It has been so much opening my birthday mail today.

We went to Utah because we had four mission reunions in a row. Not at the same time like they have been so often. We went on October 3rd so had a birthday dinner every place we stopped. We had our Wisconsin reunion that night at Provo. Friday we went to the Provo temple then to the Singapore reunion in S.L.C. that night — There was a really high spirit in that reunion. Our R.S. President from Hydrobad was there and about six other natives from India. We went back to Provo after that reunion to listen to conference with Roy and Erma. After the afternoon session we hurried to see Eva and Dean at Bountiful and to get the Priesthood session and be there for the Old Canadian Reunion. We were in that mission about 55 years ago and it has grown old along with us. There were only about two people we knew there. Back to Provo to listen to Sunday conference with Roy and Erma. Then to our last reunion in S.L.C. The Philippine reunion. I almost

guess the most fun of that was our memories of Isabelle. WE used to work in Isabelle once a week. We'd go to the gate of the Smelter plant and phone Nelsons. They would pick us up and take us to their home. We'd spend the night then he'd take us to the gate on his way to work where we would catch a ride into town to do our missionary work. -Well They took us to their home again and we had a wonderful visit. From there we did our work in S.L.C — church office, distribution center then Elaine Losee. Their son Jay, Smellie's cousin, died in July.. Then we headed for Huntsville to see our missionary friend, Elouise Ernst who has the little boy with Lime's disease. It was such a joy to see the improvement in that little boy.

WE had not invitation to the Rapid City, So. Dakota mission but our President lived in Bountiful so on our way home from Huntsville we called on him. It was a great reunion with them. I really only missed the Roanoke reunion and I knew both of the people I worked with there were dead so I didn't feel too bad about missing that. Then the fun started all over. We went to Santa Clara and visited Smellie's niece who had moved down there about a year ago then to Faun's to sleep and have a wonderful day. New Harmony, Smellie's father's birthplace etc. Chicken dinner in St. George with Faun and Grant is always fun. We visited Alta on the way home from Fauns.

Friday we worked at the temple on the genealogy Wanda has prepared. That was a joy. WE did sealing with Joy and Garth — Max and Wanda on Saturday. After that we visited Crystal and Joy.

Sunday we attended church with Erva and Gary Reamsbottom, friends of ours who had moved to Mapleton from Canada. Then our last special visit with Wanda and Max.

Monday morning we picked up Peggy and her daughter whom we had taken to Orem to visit with their family and started home about 6:30 am. We stopped in Salt Lake City to see Phyllis and Irene. WE had a good trip home. And surprise. It was Canadian Thanksgiving. We took Peggy home and there Will and the boys had a Thanksgiving dinner on the table. They said they would wait until 8:30. We arrived just about five minutes before they were going to sit down so we had a Thanksgiving dinner to cap the climax.

I am thinking we should take some potatoes to Joan before the weather turns cold so we may leave today for their place. Dad is busy out around the place while I try to get a letter to send. Wish I really knew how to bundle up all our Thanks to all of you. Roy and Erma went on Tuesday the eighth to Boston to Visit Erma's sisters. WE made our home there. Hope they find everything in order when they get home. Thanks, Roy and Erma. I hope your missionary companion and son, Erma got the right things out of the garage. I was a little afraid at first about taking strangers into your garage to help themselves — But felt like everything was all right after they arrived. Was it???

Please accept our thanks for all the nice things you did for us.

And I want to put a great big thanks in this letter for the Birthday remembrances..I won't try to list everyone and everything. I feel like I am surrounded by your love. Thanks from my heart.

Love,

Smellie and Laurel

When William received his call to fill a mission, Dad and I went into the Bishop's office and got him to read the letter the church had sent out the year before so it would be fresh in our minds so that we could be following the instructions sent out by the prophet of God. It asked for no invitations or fuss. No family parties—just a talk in sacrament meeting. We told the Bishop we would follow this instruction. We were rather hurt and angry when we had Grandmother (Redd) tell us that the Bishop's councilor had told her to spread the word in Raymond and Lethbridge that William's Farewell was to be on a certain day, so Smellie went over to Marvin about this.

The next thing I knew, we were rounded up on the Bishop's office and accused of trying to run the Bishopric. At this time, the Relief Society President told me how bad it made her feel for me to come to Relief Society tired. Well, I made up my mind if I was tired, I'd still go to Relief Society, but would try harder not to show how I felt. I decided then to try to keep my mouth shut and not disagree with her. If she wanted to believe that her first great job was to love herself, I was not going to quibble. I knew my weakness was to try to get out of myself, and love my neighbor. I still don't like twisting the scriptures.

When the Bishop asked me to be the President of the MIA, I asked him who I'd have to work with. He said Leonard Sanderson. I asked him if he was sure Leonard would work with me. He assured me he would. So I accepted the job. About the first month of MIA, I was all prepared for the executive meeting. We were there for it and he told me we should not try to have that meeting. It was foolish to have so many unnecessary meetings. I was not entirely responsible for calling that so I stuck with my own Evaluation meeting and held it faithfully. I tried to get over the necessary business for my Young Women in Prayer Meeting and at the once a month Evaluation Meeting. I thoroughly enjoyed this. In January the Bishop asked us to put on "All In Favor." I had decided there was no way we could cook up people for characters so we couldn't do it. We had about 23 people to work with which was not enough to take care of the character parts. He said he wanted us to try so I did. Leonard had become angry from two things before. The boys were left without a teacher. He was their teacher. They were interfering with girls' classes. I walked into their class and spent the class period with them. Later, I told Leonard I had, and he blew a fuse.

Yelled at me in Council Meeting. Then Kathy, his wife, was my councilor and Laurel teacher. The stake sent me tickets for \$1.50 for each of my Laurel girls for their MIA in Taber for the next week. I decided I'd have to look into that because my girls were not to be charged to attend MIA. I called the stake who sent the tickets and asked some questions about it. I called my Young Women together to discuss this, and Kathy said she planned to have MIA in Grassy for the girls and go on Thursday to this affair. I told her she would go with my blessing then, if the girls had a Mutual to attend that they did not have to pay for. This made Leonard angry. He said I went over his head. It never occurred to him that I didn't start this, nor that Kathy hadn't counseled with her President about the affair. As far as I know these were the first two things that made Leonard angry with me and MIA. Back to "All In Favor." I went ahead and assigned parts out the best I could. I asked Leonard to announce that we would like all who were concerned with Mutual to meet with me to make the final arrangements for parts. He changed the announcement and asked all those who were concerned about "All in Favor" to meet with me, and he didn't show up. He was the only one that I called the meeting for so that I could get him in a part.

In the first of April we were notified that the Stake would visit us. I went to a Home and School meeting and found that the community was having a band concert on the next Tuesday (Mutual) night. I met with my officers and the Young Men at school and they said we'll have to do something about it. All the boys played in the band and only four girls were left to hold mutual for. I asked if we could hold it on Wednesday, but they said no because they had a school badminton tournament in Taber that night and some of them were to go to that. Thursday was taken up and the Easter Holiday. Monday was Primary, so I said I would look into it and let them know what I found out so they could announce it Sunday. I asked the Primary President. It was hard but she said she'd try to make it. She did. I called the Stake to see if they could arrange to come on Monday instead of Tuesday. The manual said if we had to change we should hold MIA the same week or make it up in August, so we were following our manual. The stake said they could come so I left that message with the Young Men and went to Magrath for Sunday. The YWMIA was to announce the change on Sunday. Everything went well. Everyone was out to MIA that usually came. We had 100% girls attendance the two years I was President. We went to work really hard and had "All In Favor" ready to go on as scheduled on April 23. We put it on with Bow Island in attendance and a lot of the Stake officers there.

I knew the young people would like to see it so one day toward the last of April, the Bishop was in our home, and I said, "I think the young people are going to want to see "All In Favor" when they do it on May 7, in Barnwell. What's your feelings on this. We could go and call it Mutual if it is OK by you. He said that would be fine with him. So when they suggested it I was ready to

say we could go. We took them and thoroughly enjoyed it. 100% of the MIA was there again, except for Leonard.

The next Council Meeting was a hot one. We seemed to get along fine. The Bishop had asked me to meet with Allen and the Bishopric some time to discuss MIA. That was fine with me. After the Ward Council Meeting, they asked Allen and me to stay. We did.

The first thing that was said was, "Oh, are you changing MIA from one night to another again?" I didn't understand what Leonard meant. Finally it dawned on me and I said, "Oh, I can explain that." I started to tell him why we had changed Mutual from Tuesday to Monday for one night and read from the manual the instructions on it. He said I ran off to Barnwell with the Mutual without letting him know. I said if he had been at Mutual or meetings, we should be holding, he would know. He blew. He yelled, "You either resign, or I will." What was there to do? I didn't want to interfere with the Bishop's councilor in a job. I wasn't bossing the job. They asked me to take the job and I felt it was their responsibility to release me when and where they pleased. I got up and left the meeting (mutual meeting to him). He followed me out headed for his car. I said, "You big boob. I left so you could have your meeting. There was nothing else for me to do." The Bishop felt really bad about this and called me in to make things right and pointed out that I was not following authority. I explained my position. I could not get him to meet to do things together so Allen And I carried on. Allen was the Superintendent anyway. The second year, we worked in harmony all year. At least as far as I knew we did. He gave us the manual and we followed it.

Allen said I had made one big blunder. I had assigned a Young Woman to be Era Director. I said, "That's funny. I just followed the manual and got the officers it called for so we got the manual and sure enough I was to have a Young Woman Era Director.

The Bishop asked me if I would meet with Leonard and discuss the problem. I said sure I will. He asked me if I could meet with him Thursday. That was nice because we were holding our art exhibit for three days and I had to be at the church for that. Leonard came. He wandered around waiting for me to direct the Bishopric and call him into a room to meet with me (I think), and I waited from seven to ten for him to ask me to come into a room to meet with me. He never even said "Hello." When he had gone home, and we had most of the artwork down, I asked the Bishop when he was going to meet with me. He said, "Oh, haven't you been meeting before now?" That was the way that one went. He said he had gone home so I left the church then and went home.

I worked hard for the MIA and loved every minute of it. We took the girls to Expo 67. We had a big New Year's Eve program in the ward that we all loved but I guess it caused trouble because Leonard didn't come out to see what it was and after the Bishop had been to it he asked if he could show the papers we made of the year's proceedings to his councilors. Neither of them came out. I felt quite bad that I had worked with my whole soul for the MIA and the only contact I had with Leonard was yelling at me and causing trouble and I told the Bishop I felt bad about it. He said, "I want you to know, that no matter what I had heard from the other part of the Bishopric, your Bishop is pleased and happy with your work. I want you to know Your Bishop appreciates what you have done and are doing."

After six weeks waiting to act on things that needed doing in MIA, waiting for Leonard to show up to approve and direct things, I packed up an envelope with it all in and sent it through the mail and told him these jobs needed to be done. Some of this stuff came back to me for me to handle. We had our honor night. I suggested the year before that the Bishopric give the seven-year medallions for the girls that earned them to show their appreciation of their work. They did.

I suggested that all the officers go to June Convention together. This was gladly accepted by the people I was working with. I sort of drew back from this after this fuss and the Bishop came and asked us to take the trip as we had suggested. We wanted to get the Scout camping in at that time of the year. It is easiest for us to get away since part of the scouts were officers and Dad was the scout master, we wondered if we could go to convention and take off from there for a scout trip. I wondered about the rightness of me going along, and the rest of our family. We enquired around and the Bishop did, and answers were in favor – that things had to be done for scouting. Dad waited for weeks for the OK from the Bishopric. He got it passed through the scout heads. He couldn't tell the boys they could go and get them all excited. Tuesday night before we were to leave on Thursday, the last chance for the boys to plan, he asked the superintendent what the word was on the trip. He said, "Go." So plan they did in high excitement. Allen wanted to go along too. When Dad got home that night, we decided it would not be right for the boys and girls to go together so we planned to take the car and follow somewhere on the same route the boys and scouts took in the truck. I only had Joan and Ellen with me in the car so Wednesday morning early, I went to Stearns and invited their girls to come along in the car and make the trip with me. They said they would. We came on home and in drove the Bishopric and said the trip was off. We were still to take the officers to convention and we had invited Stearns, a non-member family to go along. We then went back and asked if they would still like to go with our family in just the truck without taking two vehicles. They wanted to so we went ahead with plans

leaving the heart-broken boys behind. Dad promised them a trip of some sort before the summer was over.

We went to convention and then took off on the same trip we had planned for the scouts. Smellie asked the scout committee to suggest what and when he should go with the scouts but they gave him no help. Two weeks before school was to start, Dad planned to finish his harvest and then take the boys camping the last week. One day of harvest and we woke up to rain. I said you better get off with those boys this week. He said I will. We'll take the trip we planned to Massett and invite the scouts to come along. It can't be planned as it should, so it may not be a scout trip. I said just take the boys somewhere and show them Alberta. There's lots of sights to see here. We decided that would be good. We went and invited the boys and asked the parents if they could go with Smellie and I and Tom. They gave their permission. Smellie told them they had the right to wear their uniform anywhere – to bring them along but he made it clear that it was not an official scout trip. We started out. When we got past Taber we stopped and had prayer and got properly off and asked the boys where they wanted to go. They said the ocean. We explained that would be a long grind with nothing but riding, where seeing Alberta could be a lot easier and fun. But they begged for the ocean and Dad had promised himself he'd take the scouts out to see the rest of the troop — John Hitchcock and Neil White — so he wasn't hard to convince. We counted all our money and thought we could make the trip. The boys donated their \$5.00 spending money. We made the trip. We chartered a plane to fly from Prince Rupert to Massett that cost \$144.00. This pealed us down to \$0.39 when we got home. We pinched pennies and had a good trip.

The Bishop told me in July, he'd give me the Mutual manuals as soon as they came. The mail strike was on. One Sunday the first of August, the bus station asked us to take the mail up to the church. It was the supplies. We said we would tell the Bishop. We did. I knew they were there, and I knew he had told me he would get them to me but he still hadn't given them to me on the 20th of the month, so I knew they were looking for a new president. When I got back from Massett, just in time for school, here sat the supplies. I went to work and worried. Then after a week, the Bishop said they were releasing me. I carried on for the opening, and for the Leadership Meeting in Taber.

In one session in the Bishop's office with Leonard, he said, "There is not room in the church for Redds and Sandersons." I said you can release me from my jobs, but I can still come to church.

I still worked in the Primary, Relief Society, and Sunday School. A year went by. The World Conference on Records came. We thought we would like to go to that so we registered. We took it on and enjoyed it very much. When we

got home, the Bishop asked us to speak about it. I shivered, but did. When Marvin conducted, he didn't invite us to sit in front, but got up and asked Dad if he'd like to come up in front. Dad didn't like to but went. That was the straw that broke the camels back. We were asked to come to the Bishop's office again. This time we wondered what it was all about, but it surely didn't have a good feeling about it at all. We finally went in and they told us that there was not harmony in the Ward and they had to have it. They were going to release us from everything unless they could have harmony in the Ward. What can you say to that? They said because Smellie had said he didn't like to come up in front, he was not recognizing authority. I said, "Is it fair to release me from my jobs because Smellie said he didn't like to go up in front and talk?" Got no answer.

Smellie said, "Come, now. You didn't call us in for just that." Then they said they were releasing him from scoutmaster because he took the scouts on a trip out of Alberta when they told him not to. Dad told them that he had made it clear to the parents that it was not an official scout trip. They were invited to go with our family. Marvin said, "You didn't tell me that." He told Richard and Guinevere and I heard him. I was impatient that he fussed so about it.

Before we left with the scouts for Massett, the Bishop came to out home and with tears in his eyes, told us how he appreciated the fact that we were taking the boys on an outing. He sent us on our way with his blessings and this really meant a lot to us as we made that trip.

I asked them what I had done in the past while to make them kick me out. Leonard said, "I've been trying to get you out for the past year and a half, and Marvin will vouch for that, won't you Marvin." No answer.

So on September 7, 1969, I was released from Primary, Sunday School, and Relief Society. Time came to do the visiting teaching. I said I wasn't going. The word got to the Bishop, so he came and asked me if I was going teaching. I said, "No. I can't. You've released me from Relief Society." He said, "Would you go?" In the face of causing all the disharmony in the Ward, I said, "You better give me a few days to think about it, and talk to my husband. I've had about all I can take." He rushed to the Torrie residence and he is still giving me days to think about it. It is about three months later now.

I feel bad that I do nothing to carry my share of the load, but it is really pleasant to sit with the adults in the Sunday School class and have nothing to worry about. I'm getting a lazy habit.

I've worried so about it all—They say while your son is in the mission field is the happiest time of your life. I must be awful. These past two years have surely been full of heartaches for me as far as the church is concerned.

The things we have always disagreed with Torries on are:

We think church should come first—they think different. Torries first. Then they can better serve.

We think if we could follow God's commands that would take care of everything. They like their scientific reasons for everything, and don't want to be tied to anything.... I don't want to try to say what they think. I just want to point out the place we appear to stand.

I hate rationalizing and the GRAY.

I hate to be told every time I move what I think and have it come from all over the country what we think.

We have sincerely felt our time was as important to give to the service of the Lord as our service or means.

We feel we take people's free agency if we do not put before them instructions for them to decide if they will follow when we are in a responsible position to do this.

We feel the laws of the land are worth trying to obey. I mean by this—I don't like mutton, the name Torries give to deer shot out of season.

I hate being told how perfect I think I am every time I get near a certain person.

I hate insincerity. I hate the loving arms of someone around me so they can reach my back with a knife.

I don't like to hear people say how much they love me. I guess my idea of love does not mean the same as theirs. I'm afraid love is handled so carelessly on tongues it almost takes on the notion of lust.

I guess what hurts the worst is the fact that the children can't see me helping in the church. I've always believed that it was actions toward the service of God that counted. Not long fancy words and impressions. There is nothing I can do but go to church and every time listen to someone give a big sermon

about serving the Lord. When the Bishop has released you of all jobs, how can you help in the church and still follow his direction? What if our children follow their mother's example of not working in the church? My heart aches with the thought. And I asked the Bishopric if they were not concerned about our family as a ward family—No answer. Who do I turn to? Where can I go? The word has been passed around from here that we are disfellowshipped and that is the action of the Bishopric toward us. I feel so low and need to go to the Bishop, but haven't one.

Finally -- Five months after I asked the bishop for a few days to make up my mind about visiting teaching, the Bishop came to our house to have a meeting with us. He told us of Tom—He might be asked to sing in the choir that will travel to Salt Lake City in the summer and would we support him in it and get him to practices. We said we had done so so far and we thought we could continue to do so. Then he said he had come as our Bishop to ask us to say three little words to two men. "I am Sorry." We talked over all the things that were on our minds from about eight or nine until about one. We hadn't solved the problem when he left. If we say we are sorry, we are lying. We are not sorry for trying to do the work of the Lord and the Lord knows we are not. Should we in spite of our consciences, and the work of the Lord, be sorry for what we see. We have certainly not had anything pointed out to us that was brought on for any other reason than holding to instructions and standards of the church and in that case, it is hard to say, "I'm sorry," unless we say we are sorry that this feeling exists. We can do that with a clear conscience. When the Bishop left, I told him I'd go to these people and say "I'm sorry," if he would bear the lie that was in it and be responsible for it if he asks us to do it against our consciences. He said to let it rest. Not to do anything about it. Just hold tight.

It was a good spirit to talk over our problems with the feeling of the spirit of our Bishop. When the meeting came up last September, I knew nothing about what it was to be but I felt so awful about having to go to it. It was a relief to hear their intentions toward us. We spent a lot of sleepless nights over these differences.

December 1972

Another call in on the red carpet of the Bishop's office... He said he had received a note and there was nothing he could do about it but call us on to a Bishop's court. We asked if we could hear the complaint so he got out his note and read, "We had offended someone and were not Christ-like," so he had to take us to a church court. We felt upset and decided it would be one of his councilors that had passed in the complaint. We said we felt we couldn't have a fair trial with his councilors on the jury. We asked if we might have it some other

place. He said he'd find out. We came home and decided that we had enough faith in God to have it done the way it naturally should be, so we went back and asked the Bishop to go ahead with it here in our Ward with his councilors. He then said he had been in touch with the Stake President, and the President asked to meet us at a certain time. We went in and the Stake Presidency met with the Bishop, his wife, his councilors and wives, and Claude Adamson and wife. It was Claude's daughter that had asked the MIA to take care of the wedding of their daughter in Taber and I had gone to the Bishop and told him how I felt about setting precedents for MIA to handle big affairs like that in a different town. He, the Bishop, made the decision that I shouldn't and asked me not to talk to Adamsons. If they brought it up, I was to send them to him. I didn't realize how much trouble had brewed for us from this.

After the President of the Stake had met with these eight people for a long time, then they called Smellie in alone to talk to him. After an hour or so with him, then they called me in alone to talk to me. I told them as honestly as I could all they asked me. I didn't come home that night and write it up, because I promised to try to get along and forget it. I have forgotten it and can't write it down now and I'm sorry because the kettle is boiling again. Marvin, who instigated most of the trouble, is now the Bishop, and he is not letting things rest.

Claude told us in the meeting that he had written the complaint against us. Last Sunday in our Sunday School Class, the teacher asked Smellie a question. I don't remember it, but will try to add it later. Smellie's answer was that the Lord was just and would consider the intentions of the heart in the case. Marvin said the road to Hell is paved with good intentions. Smellie said that is an old worldly saying. He said what he had said was scripture. During the class the teacher asked Marvin to read from the scriptures. He read it and inserted in the middle of the reading that the Savior acted rude. This made us angry as well as the teacher. He handled it nicely and said that he couldn't say such a thing about the Lord.

This was Sunday. One week later, Smellie was called in on the carpet again. This time because he was challenging the Bishop last Sunday. Marvin was made the Bishop last summer. We feel that the challenge came from Marvin about Smellie's statement that the Lord considered the intent of the heart.

Our Ward has assigned women to do the Home teaching. There are four of the sisters doing home teaching. Smellie has not been asked to do home teaching. Our home has been visited about three or four times in the years since this trouble has come up. I'll put that more exact—a few times.

In reading over my notes, I didn't finish telling about William's call to a mission. When Smellie went to Torries to have this thing out, they started to talk. Marvin pushed Smellie and he brushed him back. This had to be demonstrated in the meeting with the Stake Presidency and they both agreed that that was what had happened. Marvin yelled at his wife and she flew to the bishop's place to have him in on it. He came. We have been told several times not to set foot on Torries place, by Marvin.

This stupid affair came all because we asked the bishop if he would read the letter again to us from the general authorities and said we would follow the letter.

We started the trouble here I guess when we declared that we were a family and would make our decisions as to what we would do as a family. When we first came here we tried to do the things Torries asked us to do, but when they decided that we were breaking the fast because we fasted on Sunday, instead of Saturday, it made me angry, and I told Guinevere that I would fast on Sunday. Then when Christmas came on Sunday, and they ran over and told us we were to celebrate on Saturday so all the kids would be the same, I told them I could celebrate the Savior's birth on Sunday and not feel bad about it and we didn't make Christmas on Saturday. These were the beginnings of the differences.

Another thing that has made this almost an impossible situation is the fact that when there have been differences and Smellie has gone and asked to have it out between him and Marvin, Marvin's stock answer is, "I WILL NOT TALK to you without witnesses." Smellie's strong faith is that the thing should first be talked over man to man.

I was dreadfully hurt in one of the meetings with the Bishopric when they told us that there were 29 families in the ward, and 29 families in the ward hated us. That is a lie. We don't hate ourselves, and we have friends in the ward that don't hate us and didn't at that time. Why do Bishoprics lie to people?

On William's mission.... Grandma did invite the relatives from Raymond...We did have a big family party. Marvin, because he was a councilor, knew when Will was to talk and people in Raymond told us when the date had been set for William to talk—They told us this six weeks before William was notified when he should talk. That's their business, but inviting them here was not the thing the letter asked us to do. We fed about 30 family members that Sunday. We enjoyed them, but we would have felt just as good if we had followed instructions.

This same business happened at Ellen's last meeting here. They invited the folks in Raymond. Six weeks before they asked Uncle Kay to come and be the speaker at the meeting. Then the week before it, they asked Ellen, myself, and her dad to bear our testimonies. You feel funny having your relatives ask questions and then think you are being impudent because you don't know the answers they know about your own children.

Now because of this Sunday situation a week ago, the Bishop said he would not recommend Smellie to ordain his youngest son to the priesthood. Because he had proof from that Sunday School class that he was challenging the bishop. How long can this kind of a mess go on?

At the present time, Smellie is the Stake Scout leader, and a Stake Home Missionary traveling with Jerome Platt. In the Ward, they have only asked him to do one job since they took all our jobs away from us. That was to be the chorister of the ward. He said, "before I say yes, may I know what will be expected of me." That was as far as that went with the Bishopric. They did nothing more about it but spread the good word that he refuses to work.

He was assigned to visit the Bishopric families home teaching after they had relieved us of our jobs until we promised there would be harmony in the ward. We couldn't make a promise like that for the ward. Well he went to Marvin to ask what he wanted him to help teach his family. He said, "Repentance. I want you to teach repentance by your actions." Smellie said I asked you what you wanted me to help with. I didn't come for you to give me instructions as to what I was to do. This was a few years ago. Smellie went to the bishop's home but didn't feel good about going to the Torries with all the requests to stay off his property.

They relieved Smellie of the High Priests job. When he tried to give the record books to Claude, who was to take them over, he asked him if he wanted him to come to the meeting with the books or if he would pick them up as he passed our place to go to church. He said he would not take a chance on meeting Smellie alone on a road.

This terrible thing of calling us disfellowshipped went all around Southern Alberta. My daughter went to her in-laws home, and they met her at the door and said they didn't know about her coming in because they wanted the spirit of the Lord in their home. This story had been carried to Rosemary where they lived by a high Councilman from there. This breaks your heart when the children have to suffer—Not because of any evil we have done, but because of jealousy of the efforts we have tried to put forth to help build up the kingdom.

Nothing of this could have happened if we hadn't the earnest desire all our lives to do the work of the Lord at all costs.

Is it right to sit back and see and know that if you try you are hindering the work of the Lord because someone can't stand it.

I am trying to be the Relief Society President, Ward Chorister, Primary Chorister, Teacher of the Targeteers, In-service Leader for the ward, and a visiting teacher. It hurts to see Marvin so determined that he will not rest until he has Smellie out of the church. He stated he'd see him out.

As councilors to the Bishop Lloyd Woodruff, Marvin and Claude Adamson said that Smellie should be excommunicated.... What can I think? This in my presence during a ward council meeting.

This is noted because Leonard said I did things without permission from the Bishop.

Service projects

Church farm work Helping Edra Relief Society Baby sitting Candy Srtriping

All discussed at ward council meeting.

OK on producing plays for the sake of the M-Men and Gleaners who are working toward Golden

Opening Social at Island and playLeonard Oked this.

Discussion of Mutual Marrieds at Council Meetings more than once.

Invitation to Foremost Ward for Halloween discussed before accepting invitation.

New Years Eve Testimonial before council at least two different times.

Discussed Ward Music Festival and had permission for treats.

Dance on Valentine Permission for dance orchestra, etc.

Council discussion of "All In Favor" Two different occasions.

Council discussion on ward Creative Art Exhibit...Use of Non-members in this and advertising it Oked.

Dates for any affair have been brought before the council and cleared. Badminton

Volleyball for two girls was brought up before the council...Stake Beehive Christmas Activities were presented to council...Barnwell Dance, Taber Christmas Dance and advertised often so that young people would not miss them. Taber New Year's Eve Dance Discussed ward speech Festival and had permission for treats at council.

A discussion with Leonard came out of the Badminton Tournament. The young folks using school property. A request was made to Leonard for badminton rackets and we were advised that this would be a good thing. And we could have four rackets after going through the channels.

Met with Leonard and discussed a new councilor...After Kathy's release Didn't feel right about taking the MIA organization to cater to a non-Mormon wedding. Counseled with the Bishop...after his council with councilor, was advised not to do anything. If any discussion came up was even to refer this to Leonard or the Bishop. Followed directions implicitly.

Discussed a Christmas project and had permission to go ahead on one Christmas caroling in the ward discussed.

Discussed and asked for permission to count service hours for Edra's funeral and was turned down.

An early Honor night for the girls has been before the council and request for expense from the Bishop.

Reminders of seven-year medallions at Council meeting.

Fireside with Ray Evanson was brought up to council so they would know what was coming.

Almost every council meeting our inactive young Marrieds have been brought up and discussed.

Girls' program and leaders service hours have been brought up before the council. I asked Leonard for a special award for Linda Furman. This was also discussed with the Bishop.

<u>Reminder</u> Grassy Lake had no Young Men's Mutual organization in the ward during the first four and a half months of the year. We carried on and worked with Allen discussing our problems and felt good about the work. Our Superintendent resided in Taber during these months.

MY GRANDFATHE RAND GRANDMOTHE R LEMUEL HARDISON AND

KEZIAH JANE BUTLER REDD

MY GRANDFATHER AND GRANDMOTHER LEMUEL HARDISON AND KEZIAH JANE BUTLER REDD

by Lura Redd

Lemuel Hardison Redd was born of goodly parents, namely John Hardison Redd and Elizabeth Hancock Redd, 31 July 1836, at Stump Sound, Onslow Co., North Carolina. They must have had a good home for that day, although it lacked most of the comforts we now think are indispensable. His parents were slave owners and his mother always had a negro slave girl or woman to wait on her and do any hard work that had to be done that she didn't want to do. Lemuel was only about two years old when his parents sold out and moved from North Carolina to Tennessee near Murfreesboro, Rutherford County, where he bought a plantation and settled there to farm.

As grandfather, Lemuel Hardison Redd, grew up he had all that a young gentleman of that day should have, even to a personal bodyguard and slave to be with him to do his bidding. This slave was named Luke and even after he was freed he stayed near the family and especially near his former young master, Lemuel, five years younger than he. Grandfather grew up with three older sisters and two younger brothers. All of them born in North Carolina except Benjamin, the youngest, who was born after they got to Tennnesse. The home there was likely like the regular southern homes with immense high ceilings and an upper porch. I saw such a typical one when I was in the south and can imagine a bit what it was like.

I can remember a story that grandfather told in New Harmony when I was young. He said once when his father wasn't home, one of their neighbor's niggers ran away from home and came to spend the night in their, Redd's slave

quarters. His owner missed him and came around looking for him. Grandfather put it this way. "O, how he begged and pleaded and cried for mercy, but they whipped him. They whipped him with a shovel." Grandfather said he got up out of bed and went out on the upper porch and stood there in his bare feet and night shirt and listened to them. He further said, "they wouldn't have dared to come around our plantation and to have whipped that nigger if Pap had been home, but at the time he was away."

Grandfather was nearly eight when his parents went to Nauvoo to see the prophet and while they were there they received their patriarchal blessings. They then went back to Tennessee and stayed there until they decided to move to Utah. They went directly from Tennessee to Utah. I'm thinking that when they went to Nauvoo was when grandfather heard them whip the nigger. They had no folks anywhere around within driving distance to visit, so, why go anywhere else?

Aunt Ellen writes, "During the summer of 1850 the Redd family made the memorable trip across the plains into the Salt Lake Valley. Lemuel H. was at this time fourteen years of age. He filled a man's place in this long trek, driving and caring for an ox team the entire distance. (But Luke was along and I think he did a big part of it.) The Captain Sessions Company with which they travelled reached Salt Lake in October of 1850." When Aunt Lou married and moved to Parowan there was an old pioneer, Richard Benson, living there who came across the plains in 1850 with the same company that the Redds came with. He said that he knew the Redds and that the boy Lem surely knew how to handle animals. He, Benson, knew nothing about driving when he undertook to drive across the plains. Lem, showed him a lot about it and when they came to a stream which had to be forded Lem would drive his team across the ford for him.

Aunt Ellen says that Lemuel H. and his father both contracted cholera on the plains but both recovered from it. Many weren't that lucky. She also writes, Lemuel Hardison told his children of the great buffalo stampedes. The cloud of dust in the far distance when first seen, grew larger and larger as it drew nearer. Then was heard the distant sound of hoofbeats which increased in volume as the mighty herd drew nearer in its excited flight, trampling everything in its way. With the first sign of an oncoming herd the train of fifty or a hundred wagons with their teams of oxen were hurriedly collected into a compact group to clear a path for the terrified animals.

In reading John D. Lee's missionary journal he tells of baptizing the father and mother but says nothing of doing the same for any of the younger members of the family. Lemuel H. was baptized 3 June 1852, when he was sixteen years

old. They let him wait until he himself wanted it and didn't seem to make an issue of being baptized as soon as one was eight years of age.

The History of Spanish Fork says, "During the winter of 1850, John Holt, John H. Redd and William Pace settled about half a mile above the present site of Spanish Fork. Mr. Redd was the owner of a number of negro slaves which he brought with him and used in his farming operations." Aunt Ellen says they spent the first winter in Provo but it doesn't sound like it. They must have gone directly to Spanish Fork very soon after reaching Utah. Both the Redd and Butler families lived in Spanish Fork and that is where he and grandmother met and courted. I was told that a group of young ladies were talking about the prospects of beaus among the young men of Spanish Fork and grandfather's name was mentioned with the others as a desirable one and grandmother said, "Don't any of you think that you have a chance there. I'm going to get him." That's the way it turned out. This I think was after his mother was dead. Grandmother said she never met her. Only one thing about her that she could remember was seeing her come to the door and throw a pan of water on the ground in front of the house. In many of those old houses they had only one door, at the front, and all refuse including water was just thrown out on the ground. I suppose that if the water were extra dirty they would carry it some distance away, otherwise they threw it outside and if there were a few flowers planted there they got it. They had to carry all the water for even a few flowers anyway, or for trees to get them started.

When grandfather was seventeen and eighteen they had an Indian war led by old Chief Walker and called the Walker War. He was in the militia against these Indians who were giving them much trouble. They would swoop down and drive off their cattle and horses; they would destroy their fences and buildings and crops; and they would kill anyone who was foolish enough to go off alone. At that time they burned the first saw mill that had been built in Utah south of Salt Lake City and which his father, John H. Redd had helped finance and build. Aunt Ellen said it was a loss of six thousand dollars for him. As a member of the militia grandfather had to take his turn as guard for they had to have guard duty for someone all the time. I remember when he applied for a pension for his services. Old Walker died in January 1855 and was followed by his brother as chief. He was just as bad as Walker at first but he changed. He said Walker came to him in a vision and told him not to fight the Mormons. He told him the land didn't belong to the Indians nor to the white men but to the Lord. So they had peace while he was chief, ten years.

Grandfather's name was on the list of city voters 7 May, 1855. He was not yet twenty one so they didn't seem to stick too close to ages in civil affairs either. They took for granted that he was mature and had a man's intelligence to vote at

nineteen. In this first city election he was elected, with his father and two brothers-in-laws and others as alderman.

After this Indian war they built a fort; surrounded by high rock walls, it was after the pattern of other forts in the territory. Small rooms were built around the outside wall on the inside as accommodations for separate families. The roofs of these rooms sloped a bit to the inside and the outside wall was higher than the roofs. Above the roof and in the wall were left many little loop holes where the guards could look out and see the enemy and shoot through and be protected from the enemy. In this fort all nineteen families of Spanish Fork lived. Nine out of the nineteen were our own ancestors.

Grandfather had a sister, Mary Catherine, who was his youngest sister and about two and a half years younger than he. They were very near and dear to each other. She took suddenly sick when she was seventeen and called for her brother Lemmie, but he was out plowing and her father said she could wait until he had finished the days work. She died before he got to the house that night and he never got over it. I guess none of them did. They used to think and say that that was the reason he was a bit over indulgent with his own children.

He married Keziah Jane Butler, the daughter of John Lowe and Caroline Farozine Skeen Butler, 2 January 1856 when he was yet nineteen and she was nineteen too, but six months older than he. She was born 25 February 1836 in Simpson Co., Kentucky. She was the fourth child of twelve children and the second daughter. When she was about one month old her parents moved from Kentucky and joined the body of the saints in Missouri. She was baptized 1 March 1844 in Nauvoo. Sometime in the spring of 1846 her parents crossed the Mississippi and began their westward journey across the state of Iowa. For about six years they lived in a temporary home in or near Winter Quarters.

Aunt Ellen says, "In the spring of 1852 their trek westward began. There were fifty one families in the company with Eli B. Kelsey as Captain. Her father was the blacksmith and the captain of the wagons. They arrived in Salt Lake City in the fall of the same year. Keziah, then a girl of sixteen, had walked the entire distance. Fortunate was she and other members of the family, through the kindness of an old Indian woman, to enjoy a pair of strong buckskin moccasins to begin the long journey. She loved to portray to her children in later years the little incidents she had carried in her memory of that long and tiresome journey. It was tiresome though many times full of pleasure for the children of the company as they walked in groups gathering wild flowers and berries. Sometimes there was danger in their paths, Indians, buffaloes, snakes and wild animals. For this reason the children were instructed to stay close to the wagons. Their interest in the things they found one day, took a group of them out of the

sight of the wagons and they were lost. Great consternation arose through the company, the train was stopped and a general search was carried out. The lost ones were found and brought safely into camp. She never forgot the terrible fright nor the scolding from the captain which made them wise in remembering instructions."

Her father was the first Bishop of Spanish Fork and as such had the job of supervising the surveying of the site of the city and laying off that town into city blocks and satisfying the ward members with their lots. Then he had to do the same with the fields outside of town. Now they needed water on the fields and he had to supervise digging ditches from the canyon to bring water to their gardens and fields. So her mother and older children were left with their own gardens and fields to care for. Needless to say grandmother did her share as she always did. Aunt Ellen adds, "These added responsibilities made it necessary for his older children to give their strength and energy to assist in sustaining the helpless ones. Unselfishly this young girl picked her tasks, displaying patience and interest in the work at hand, so characteristic of her later life. Her school days were limited but her heart was receiving a development in preparation for the mission of life awaiting her."

The Indians drove off their stock and left them rather poor so after he had gotten things in shape in Spanish Fork, her father, John Lowe Butler, decided to go back along the trail to Fort Bridger, but President Young counselled him to go to Green River on the highway. There were many companies passing on their way to Oregon and California and could use a good wheel-wright and mechanic, which he was. Keziah and her older sister Charity went with him and while he fixed their wagons for the rest of the trip they took care of them in other ways. Among the things they did was to wash and iron their clothes and clean them up before going on. They also cooked them some good meals and did any other things they requested for them. They thought they earned quite a bit of money. Grandmother used hers to get her a new wedding dress, because she was getting married the next winter. On the 2nd of January 1856 they were married and were sealed in the Endowment House 16 February 1858.

They had their patriarchal blessings before they left Spanish Fork. Grandmother had hers the year before she was married and grandfather two months after he was married. I shall give them here.

A Patriarchal Blessing by Isaac Morley given in Spanish Fork. 1 March 1856 to Lemuel Hardison Redd, son of John H. And Elizabeth Hancock Redd, born at Sneed's Ferry, North Carolina, 31 July 1836.

"Brother Lemuel, by the authority of the holy priesthood, we lay our hands upon thy head and ratify the seal and blessing of thy sire upon thee. Thou art in the morning of life and in thine heirship thou art numbered with the seed of Abraham. Listen to the counsel of thy father and there is no seal or key of knowledge but what thou hast the right to attain to. Let no earthly consideration lead thy mind astray from the path of rectitude and the love of virtue. In so doing thou shalt find many attributes accumulating in thy mind. Thou wilt find the love of God increasing in thy bosom, thou wilt find a principle whereby thou wilt extend mercy and favor to others that wilt cause thy mind to become illuminated with light, with principle and by promise. We seal upon thee thy washings and annointings and endowments whereby thou wilt be prepared to receive the keys of the everlasting gospel which thou wilt have to bear to people who are sitting in darkness. That thy garments may be clean from the blood of this generation keep in thy memory the vows and obligations and thou shalt have faith given thee from on high to rebuke diseases. The winds and the waves will be stayed by the prayer of thy faith. Therefore improve upon thy leisure moments as they pass and thou shalt be an instrument in the hands of the Lord in winning many into Christ's kingdom who will become stars in thy crown in the day of the Lord Jesus. Live to honor the priesthood and thy crown will be glorious and when that still small voice whispers peace to thy mind thou mayest know that the Lord is near thee. Thou art of Ephraim and these seals of the priesthood shall rest upon thee and thy seed after thee.

I now seal thee up to enjoy the blessings of eternal life in the kingdom of God. Even so, Amen and amen.

A Patriarchal Blessing by Isaac Morley on the head of Keziah Jane Butler, daughter of John Lowe Butler and Caroline Skeen Butler, born 25 February 1836 in Simpson County, Kentucky. Palmyra Feb. 26 1855.

"Sister Keziah Jane, in the name of the Lord, and by the virtue of the priesthood, we lay our hands upon thy head and we ratify the seal of thy father upon thy head. This is a principle of promise pertaining to the holy priesthood. A seal that ever shall be and abide with thee. Thou art blessed with the daughters of Abraham for thou art in the same everlasting covenant with them. Thou art adopted into the family of the faithful. Thou hast become a legal heir to all the blessings that were to be enjoyed by the daughters of Abraham. The Lord has blessed thee with many rights and with intellectual faculties whereby thou wilt become useful in thy day and generation upon the earth. Thou hast the promise of thy Heavenly Father resting upon thee. Thou art brought into heirship by the waters of baptism. Therefore rejoice in the covenants for in the fulfilling of the promises thy mind will become filled with light. They will be verified upon thee in the holy ordinances of the God, where blessings of the everlasting priesthood

will be revealed to thy mind. Thou wilt appreciate thy heirship as the greatest blessing that ever was, or ever will be committed to thy trust, where thou wilt learn the straightness of the gate and the narrowness of the way which will produce joy and satisfaction to thy mind, for thou wilt be taught the pattern of Heavenly things where the spirit of truth will be made manifest to thy mind.

Thou art of Ephraim and a legal heir to the seals of the holy ordinances. Thou wilt rejoice on bearing testimony of the loving kindness of the Creator towards thee. Thou shalt enjoy the society of the faithful before the Lord. Thou wilt be favored of heaven, of raising thy posterity as tender plants by thy side for they will bear the keys of the gospel of salvation and will be exalted in the kingdom of Glory. We ratify this seal by virtue of the priesthood in the name of Jesus, even so Amen and amen.

Recorded in Isaac Morley' book "B" page 414, No. 516.

In the records of Spanish Fork we find the following bit of information: "Brother John H. Redd was appointed a mission to Las Vegas but did not go, but fitted out his son, Lemuel H., who with his wife went in contemplation of having his father follow in the fall." This happened in February 1856, one month after they were married. So he and grandmother left for Las Vegas. They went by ox team and led a cow behind the wagon. Can you imagine going at the rate they must have had to go on that trip? The animals walked practically all the way, about five hundred miles, a trip of about two months. Walking all day and camping at night wherever night overtook them. They must have had company as it wasn't safe at all to go that distance alone. They went for the purpose of helping open up some lead mines there but the mission didn't succeed so they returned in the fall. They returned early in September, a few weeks before their first child, Lemuel H. Jr., was born. Again they travelled by ox team and led the cow behind, over the now hot, hot desert. They carried their water in a barrel tied to the side or back of the wagon and I can imagine how they must have thirsted for a nice cool drink when the only water they had was warm, warm, warm, all the time with a possible early morning exception. They helped build the fort at Las Vegas and plant some cottonwood trees about it. I saw them there once.

While there they received the following letter from his father:

"Spanish Fork City, Utah Co., and Utah Territory, August 1st 1856 –

Dear Son and Daughter —

With pleasure and interest I embrace the present opportunity of advising you with a few lines. My reasons for not writing sooner I was waiting for you to write that I might know what to communicate. I received your letter of the ninth of June, last Sunday night, the contents of which has been noticed with no small degree of interest. I am very happy to hear that you are both well but truly sorry to learn that you are not satisfied. I do not wish you to remain there any longer than you can help if you are not satisfied. I have done the very best in my power to take care of what you left behind. I have let nothing go except your table and two pigs. I let sister Butler have one and I gave one pig and a bushel of wheat for harvesting your fall wheat. The man who took the job had rather a hard bargain, it took him about five days faithful work, with a hook to save it, amongst the sunflowers. The grasshoppers injured your wheat some but the sunflowers have been most destructive, they have destroyed some of my fall wheat. I have had to hire all the time we are just through with our fall wheat and oats and will have to commence on our spring wheat about Monday. Our crops are quite light and it is thought that bread stuff will be remarkable scarce. It has been one of the most trying times that this people ever had to pass through and we fear that it will be no better the ensuing year if the people do begin to save in time. The words of salvation are taught from every stand which fully means a saving principle, without that there is no salvation. Remember this my dear children and be wise and economical as your father has been before you and you may rely, my son and daughter, with confidence that your Father will take the best care in his power for your temporal and eternal welfare -

I wish to hear from you often that I amy know how to manage your concerns and keep things in readiness for your return, which I hope will be before very long unless you become better satisfied, for I do not wish you to stay against your will. If you have a wish to return you had better come by the first safe opportunity as I am making arrangements to start in the fall. I should like to have you here to give you some instructions in regard to what I leave behind. You can arrange your business there to the best advantage to remain until I get there. Get liberty from the authorities of that place to come and do not come until you know that you are safe in travelling. I should like to know about what time you expect to start that I may know what time to look for you. I expect to leave my house and land and a part of my stock as the range there is not very good. The tobacco worm, in places, has been very destructive to potato crops, they have destroyed nearly all of the Pace's potatoes and nearly ruined yours. We wormed them over three or four times, they are not quite so bad on our black land. We have had a pretty hard trial to make what we have made. Stock, grasshoppers and worms has given us some trouble. I have not much news at this time. There has been but very few changes except what are common. We had a frost about the fifteenth of July which injured our vines very much. We have had it very windy all through the spring and summer but it is very dry and hot

at this time. There has been two marriages since you left. John W. Berry is married to Emily Davis and I myself to Miss Mary Lewis of Salt Lake City, a fine looking girl of about sixteen years of age. This leaves us all well at present, truly hoping it will find you both in the enjoyments of life, health and prosperity. Miss Charity wishes to be remembered to you both in love as she had not the opportunity of writing in the letter sent by her people. She is well and doing well and we hope a very fair prospect of her still doing better. We all have a desire to see you, both white and black and our ardent desires are for your temporal and eternal welfare and truly hope the Lord may bless you in your travels and return. So ever remaining affectionate father, people and friends. To Lemuel H. Redd and wife. John H. Redd family and people.

On their return to Spanish Fork, Lemuel H. Redd, by counsel of president Young was ordained an elder and soon after a seventy as a member of the fiftieth quorum.

In Spanish Fork they started to live the United Order the same as they did in many other places. Every man who entered it consecrated or deeded all his property to the Lord, with the Bishop as custodian. Some of us think that tithing is a lot to give but how would you like to give all you had and just use it by permission. This is found in the records of Spanish Fork City when they had been back there a little over a year and had one child:

"Schedule of Lemuel H. Redd's property which he consecrated to the Lord January 6 1858. Lot two in block nine containing 72/160 of an acre in the Spanish Fork city survey of building lots — \$50.00; Also commencing at John H. Redd's N.E. corner in lot 5 and block 20 thence south to the Spanish Fork creek, thence up said creek to William Pace's line, thence north to his N.W. corner, thence west to the place of beginning containing 20 acres more or less in the Spanish Fork survey of farm lands — \$200.00; One ox — \$45.00; Three cows — \$90.00; Two heifers — \$15.00; Two sheep — \$12.00; One swine — \$10.00; One rifle — \$25.00; One house in Spanish Fork — \$100.00; Household furniture, bed and bedding — \$100.00; 40 bushels of wheat @ \$1.50 per bush. — \$60.00; 10 bush. corn — \$12.50; 8 bush. potatoes — \$45.00; Garden vegetables — \$15.00; 250 lbs. pork — \$50.00. Total amount of Lemuel H. Redd's property \$829.50; Eight hundred and twenty nine dollars & 50/100.

I certify that the foregoing schedule of property was consecrated to the Lord by Lemuel H. Redd, January 6 1858. Lucius N. Scovil, recorder of Utah Co., Utah Territory."

As I said before grandfather and grandmother returned to Spanish Fork a little before Uncle Lem was born. They had no home there as yet, so they at first slept in the attic of great grandfather Redd's log house. To get up there they

climbed by way of a set of steps or something between that and a ladder on the outside. Before her baby was born, grandmother got a gathered breast and was in much misery. There was nobody close that she felt like confiding in. Great grandfather had married a young girl younger than grandmother, so she wouldn't be much help in her trouble. Aunt Chaney, one of great grandfather's old nigger mammies sensed that something was wrong and found out what it was. Heat, she thought would be good but they knew nothing about hot water bottles. She must have cared for this before. She put grandmother to bed in that little low upstairs room. She went down and mixed up a hot cake with catnip tea and while it was hot she climbed up and put it on the sore breast. She went down and made another and by the time the first one was cool she was up with another hot one. She repeated that until the soreness and swelling were much reduced and grandmother on the way to recovery. Grand-mother said she sure learned to love those old black women, they were so good and helpful to her. There were two of them, Venus and Chaney. They were midwives and helped her many times later on. After all the Redds left Spanish Fork they earned their way with the sick. They were good at it too, as their whole lives had been to take care of white people and they never knew anything else. They had come out to Utah to do just that, of their own free will and choice and they finished their lives that way. Aunt Lou said that when they were considering crossing the plains and whether to bring the black women they'd say "We need to go. Missy Redd wouldn't know how to mix bread or take care of things." I guess they put up quite a plea and listed a lot of things she didn't know how to do, and of course they came along with the others.

They had been back in Spanish Fork six and a half years and had lived in this united order for a little over three years when they were called to go to southern Utah to settle. They had come here when the town was just starting and for eleven years they helped build it up into a fair town. Now they must sell out the little home they had built here and go to a brand new place and start over again and help build up another town. Its still going on though. We work hard to build a ward house and when we feel that we can now rest from chapel building for a few years they cut us off into a new ward and we have to start over. It's easier now though, we don't have to move. They took with them what they could haul or drive and went south. It is as Aunt Alice says of her mother "She was twice a pioneer."

By this time grandfather had two sisters and one brother left and they also received the call to go and settle in New Harmony. There they all settled and raised their families. They all died in New Harmony except grandfather.

There were many places in the intermountain region that were not yet settled and president Young wanted all the territory taken up by the saints so he

made it a practice to call people to go to every place possible for settlement. Just as soon as his scouts found a new creek or spot of ground that was at all suitable he called somebody to go there. In the fall and winter of 1861-62 the walls of old Fort Harmony disintegrated with the heavy rains and the inhabitants sought another place and found two of them, one west and one east, so they needed more people. The Sevys and Paces got on their way before the Redds and got the choice land along the creek. John D. Lee's claim was at the head of the creek and the Pace's below him. They must have arrived in December and held their first meeting the 22 Dec 1861 when they made some kind of organization, seemingly temporary.

New Harmony was situated about twenty miles north of Black Ridge on the headwaters of Ash Creek. The record say, "New settlers were not much inclined to attend meeting - they said they had too much to do - So on Sunday the 24th of May 1862 the Paces and Sevys were requested to come to meetings and not work on the Sabbath." I guess there was plenty to do at that. It would take them about three weeks to make the trip through dry, desolate country and they needed shelter and garden put in and all such. Further is says, "At the usual hour of meetings (came)brothers Sevy, Redd and families- the sequel was the administration of president Lee found place in their hearts. They repented and came to meeting and confessed and talked good." This was the 15 June 1862 and is the first mention of the Redds in New Harmony. Sister Sevy was grandmother's sister. Grandfather stopped on the north of the Paces and across the street from them. He lived here for eight years and later his nephew L.A.Pace built a home there. It is one block south of where we used to live in New Harmony.

At a conference held the 15 November 1862, Henry Lunt was named as bishop of Cedar Ward, New Harmony, Pinto and Kanaraville were included in this ward with John D. Lee as presiding elder of New Harmony branch. They held their meetings in John D. Lee's hall.

In those days people were called upon to make all kinds of sacrifices. I've talked about some of them but there came a harder one to make, I think. Aunt Jane told me many years ago, that she heard her father and mother talking one night but she couldn't make out what they were talking about. But she did hear her mother say, "Yes Lem you may take another but not M.A." Later she knew what it was all about. He had been ask to take another wife and I'm sure grandmother helped pick one out. I don't think one of the family ever thought he could have done better. He married Sarah Louisa Chamberlain in October 1866 in the Endowment House, Salt Lake City. They were married by Apostle Wilford Woodruff, and she came to share the little home with them. She had worked in the home before, helping grandmother during sickness and busy times and they

knew one another pretty well. Too, the children knew her and were used to having her in the home.

I've told you how his former slave Luke liked to be close to the family, well he even wanted to make her feel welcome. He had moved down to New Harmony and set up some kind of barber shop for a little pittance. He maybe had a shack somewhere near. Anyway Aunt Metia told me her mother was making mush, probably corn meal mush, for the family one evening, there were at least ten in the family at that time so it would be a big kettle full. Her mother was stirring it with a big wooden spoon when Luke came up beside her and put his arm around her. Quick as scat she whammed him in the face with her spoon of hot mush. He didn't bother her after that.

The next year, August 20, 1867 the New Harmony ward was organized by president Erastus Snow with Wilson D. Pace as bishop. He was grandfather's brother in law and George W. Sevy, grandmother's brother in law was his second counsellor. In time they effected some of the auxiliary organizations, but I imagine it took some time to do it. Ann Mariah Redd Pace was the first president of the Relief Society with Keziah Jane Butler Redd as her first counsellor. Elizabeth Mathis was president of the Primary and Mary Mathis and Caroline Redd counsellors and Della Redd as secretary. Pauline Bryner Pace was the president of the M.I.A. with Jane Redd as counsellor. Keziah Jane Redd and Ann Mariah Redd Pace were set apart as two of the midwives.

New Harmony was the first seat of Washington County, Utah.

In 1870 grandfather bought the farm of John D. Lee. It was some distance south west from the town proper and there were two houses on it, rather parts of two houses. The house the Redds lived in was unfinished, Aunt Luella says it had only rafters on, that grandfather put the roof on. I don't know how far the other one was finished. It was frame and the yard where it was, was called the "frame yard." Grandfather tore down the frame house and used the material to finish the other which was brick. He made what we would now call a duplex. It faced east and each wife had a front door opening onto a porch as long as the house. There was an upper porch and the house was a floor and a half, or a story and a half.

Aunt Alice described the rooms to me. They had a great big kitchen. That's where the family lived and worked. The back door came from the porch on the west. It was a little north of the center of the room. As you came in from the porch to your right was a long bench, holding a wash basin and a bucket of water with a dipper, under the window, next to that in the corner was the cook stove and on the south next to the stove was a big wood box. A box they attempted to keep full with lengths of wood for the stove and the fireplace which

came in the middle of the south wall. Then there was a window and in the corner against the south wall they put the organ, a little low organ. I thought we had grandfather's organ but aunt Luella says no. Father bought our organ before grandmother died and we both had organs. Grandfather couldn't read notes but he could cord for songs by ear. A man named Gragan, as I remember came and showed him how to chord. They often stood around this organ and sang all the songs they knew. This was the first organ ever brought to New Harmony. When Grandmother died father sold her organ to Grants. Then along the east wall was a big long couch or lounge that would seat half a dozen people. It would pull out for a full sized bed in need. Then the door that led into the front room which was really grandmother's bedroom. North of this door grandmother put her sewing machine. In the north wall was a door that led to the stairs and the "dark" room. In the middle of the north wall they put the table when not in use. It was a drop leafed, extension table to accommodate large or smaller groups. East of that they went into the buttery or pantry. North of the outside door was a window and a mirror with a comb case under it. The roller towel hung on the back of the door.

As I said they lived and worked in this room. It was a hive of activity. There were no evening meetings, no evening activities of the ward or community. After supper they all congregated here until bedtime, In a winter evening grandmother got out her cards and carded wool while the others got their knitting. The wool grandmother used was raised right there in their own yard and orchard on nice clean sheep and wasn't dirty like what mother used to get from the herd. She always carded it into bats before she washed it. Freshly cut, soft oily wool was easier to card than that which had been washed and snarled up a lot. She would spread it out on the big hearth in front of the fire and get it nice and warm, and card great piles of it.

On another evening, maybe the next one, she'd get out her spinning wheel and spin it into yarn. Now she would do the same, I mean she'd warm it nice and warm before she would spin the bats into yarn. That made it easier and she could make much smoother and finer yarn that way.

Aunt Lou was nine and a half when Will was born and she knit him a pair of little stockings then. They were white wool that grandmother had spun, and she put a little stripe of yellow and one of blue around them. She'd purl one stitch down the middle back for a seam so she would know where to narrow it for the lower part. She did such a good job of them that she had to knit all her own stockings after that. She never wore a commercially knit stocking until after she was married, and then it was a cotton stocking. They could buy a cotton string made up of a thread that was white and one blue, to knit stockings for Sunday in the summer.

The loom grandmother used was a collapsible one that they could set up when needed and take down and put away when she was doing other things. Aunt Lou doesn't remember when her mother wove fabrics. Very early in the settlement of Dixie they started the woollen mills down in a little town near St. George called Washington. They took their wool to this mill and exchanged it for linsey-woolsey woven at the mill. The warp was cotton and the woof was wool, making it half cotton and half wool. The linsey-woolsey I remember was gray but Aunt Lou says they used to get it in white for sheets, that were very warm and cozy in the winter when there was no heat in the house except the fireplace.

She said father (Wm. A.) once took a load down for his mother, several of those big sacks I told you about before and of course took his lunch in the big lunch box as usual. While there he went out beside the factory under a tree to eat during their regular lunch period. Some of the girls working there opened the window above him and began to tease him for some lunch. They made fun of him saying. "That looks good. Why not share it with the rest of us. We'd like some of that," and the others would giggle. He paid no attention to them at first but when he'd had enough of it and they kept on, he looked up and said, "Listen girls, when I've had all I want and fed my dog, you can have the rest." They slammed down the window.

Before they got the organ, that corner held the loom but by the time Aunt Alice could remember her mother only wove carpets, then put the loom away. By that time, too, she only spun coarse yarn for rugs. The spinning wheel could be moved about from room to room as need arose. Between meals the table was shortened against the wall and other activities were carried out in the space it left.

Each child had his regular responsibility. Aunt Lou's job was to fill the chip basket with good clean chips, it was made by the Indians, and held them ready for the early fire making in the morning. She had to fill it at night. One night they had company and they told such interesting stories that she didn't want to miss them. She delayed until it was dark, but she had to go get them just the same. Her mother held a candle for her but the flickering light was about as bad as nothing, and she could see all kinds of wild animals and other dangers out there in the dark. Aunt Ellen had to shut up the chicken coop very carefully so that no coyote could get in and take a chicken or two. Aunt Vilo had to carry the water up from the spring, down by the creek. She told me once she had to get it after they were ready to sit down to a meal. She was so mad that she stuck her foot in it. Aunt Alice must go to the basement and bring up the potatoes. Her parents wouldn't remind them, they were to do it without being reminded. These were their night chores. Everything had to be ready to prepare breakfast.

I ask Aunt Alice if they often had cornmeal mush for breakfast and she said they never had mush for breakfast. For breakfast they always had potatoes and gravy with eggs, bacon, sausages etc., and always with hot bread and butter. Breakfast was the big meal of the day to start out the days work. They had cornmeal mush for supper. Each was given a bowl of milk and the mush was dipped into it, as much as they wanted. Dinner was about the same as breakfast. Potatoes and gravy and meat of some kind, mainly pork. A special dish was quail pie. When grandmother could get half a dozen quail she'd make a big pie in a milk pan and it was a super duper.

How would you parents like to have your children do some of these things? They had an old hen they called "cock-a de-rock" who was a confirmed setter. She'd set and hatch a brood of chickens and refuse to care for them and set and hatch another. Late in the season she wanted to set again. Grandmother did not want her to again as the chickens would only die. Somebody told her that if she would put her in cold water it would break her of wanting to set. Aunt Lou and Metia said to themselves, "Well, we could do that." They took her down to the creek and immersed her in the water. When they put her on the ground she still clucked so in she went again. But she still clucked and she had another bath. She wouldn't stop clucking and they were determined to see it through so she finally drowned. Uncle Wayne and Aunt Delle came along just them and saw what happened and beat up on them. They cried and threatened to tell on them, Delle said, 'You go and tell and we'll tell what you did to old Cock-a-de-rock."

Ash Creek was just across the road from the house and down in the bottom of a deep wash. They could cross it on rocks in the stream and liked to go over to some large willow trees to play. In the Spring snows melting made the water rise too high for them to cross and they were told not to go at that time. However Lou and Metia decided that they could make it all right and did on the way over. The water rose while they were playing and they couldn't get back. Loud cries brought uncle Wayne to see what the matter was. He looked at them and the deep water and didn't relish getting in it himself so he took his lasso rope, lassoed them and dragged them through the water to the home side.

When they brought the organ it was crated in a nice strong box which they put out in the barn to hold bran for the pigs. Lou and Metia went out to play in it. They were having such a good time but Metia began to scream and dance. A mouse had run up her back under her dress. Lou grabbed the mouse and held it but from there they didn't know what where to go. Lou didn't dare unbutton the dress and let it out for fear it jump on her. So screaming and crying they went to the field. The boys ask her why she didn't open the dress and let it out. Lou said, "It might jump on me." They did and the mouse fell to the ground dead. Ever after if any wanted to tease her he merely said, "It might jump on me."

About this time, I don't know the exact date, a man by the mane of Sandeen came to New Harmony with a big pack on his back. When he opened it there were dress and suit patterns; that is, many pieces with enough material in one piece for a suit or dress. He was a professional tailor and had the materials to sell out. If they bought his material he would like the job of making it up. He was also looking for a place to do his work. When grandmother saw his material and the opportunity it afforded, she said he could use her kitchen and her big table if he would teach her to do tailoring. I guess that was the best place he could find so they made a bargain. After the morning breakfast was over the table was cleared off and left spread out full length and out came his patterns and a suit was started. Step by step he explained his processes throughout the day. Then at night after the rest of the family were in bed grandmother sat by the table and went carefully over the days instructions. In this way she soon learned all there was to know about it and was able to ask questions about anything that she had forgotten. Later when he was not available she did the tailoring for the community or communities because people from other towns came for her to do work for them. Aunt Lasette told me that she went to New Harmony and took tailoring lessons from grandmother. Aunt Alice says she has no doubt in her mind but that grandmother made the suit that father wore when he had his picture taken at sixteen. Maybe also the coat.

June 4 1871 grandfather was set apart as counsellor to bishop Wilson D. Pace, his brother in law. He was set apart by elder Charles Price who was assisted by J.L. Haywood and Wilson D. Pace. Some of these brethren were probably Stake visitors at the time.

Aunt Ellen writes, "Along various lines was his, grand- father's, leadership prominent in this small town, for many years.

It seems that through all the years from my infancy up, he was chairman of the board of trustees for the school district. He served as justice of the peace, was a member of the Kane county court for six years, and for one term was probate judge. He was active as first counsellor to bishop Wilson D. Pace for twenty years, until circumstances took him away from the town. He assisted in establishing the Kanarra and Harmony cattle and sheep co-op herd and served as director and treasurer in each for about twenty years. Though he never was privileged to become a medical student in any university, yet he was a practicing physician. Very few medical doctors and dentists were found in Southern Utah towns. My father studied the human body. He filled the place of a needed physician and did much efficient work in the setting of broken bones, in replacing dislocated joints and the extraction of teeth. For at least two small towns beside our own, he carried on these operations with never a charge. He

was generous to a fault, wagon loads of winter apples, watermelons etc., were hauled away without price to pay, and his hospitality to travelling friends was unusually marked. He was an extensive and intensive reader, a qualified student of history, biography and current topics. He was interested in politics and was an enthusiastic republican, standing for the building up of home industries. He was an untiring student of the gospel and a very pleasing, easy speaker. His nature was genteel and happy. He loved to sing with his family, and let his tenor voice be heard in church. He had a broad understanding of life and was diligent in searching after knowledge in various fields. He was widely known and blessed with many friends. In earlier life he was known as "Uncle Lem Redd", but later generations called him "Grandpa Redd."

In the fall of 1879 eighty families were called by the church from Iron, Garfield and Washington counties to colonize the valley of the San Juan river in south eastern Utah. Grandfather was chosen as one of the scouts to find a trail or road for them. In a book called, "Zealots of Zion," by Hoffman Birney I take the following excerpts about this trip.

"George B. Hobbs, Lemuel H. Redd, George Sevy and George Morrill were sent as an advance party to scout a route from the eastern bank of the Colorado to Montezuma — -"

The three Georges and Lemuel composed the quartet which set out from the camp at Hole in the Rock on December 17, 1879. As they were assembling their outfit for the trip, George Morrill asked George B. Hobbs if it would be possible to take with them a burro to pack the bedding. Hobbs replied to the affirmative. Where upon Lemuel Redd remarked that he possessed a stout surefooted mule that was but little larger than a burro. If Morrill's burro could get through the rough country they would traverse, he was confident his mule could make it. It was voted to take the mule, and George Sevy immediately observed that he had a tough pony that wasn't any larger than Redd's mule. Any place that mule could go he asserted his pony could follow."

"Ordinary standards of comparison are futile in attempting to describe the western portion of San Juan county, through which the three Georges and Lemuel Redd were striving to blaze a trail. It is unlike any other section of the United States.—"

"The Mormon pioneers gave Lemuel Redd's name to one of the big canyons that head in the clay hills and wind westward to the Colorado. Some of the maps show the general location and course of that gorge, but cartographers could see no necessity for the final "d" and it appears only as Red Canyon, one of the thousand-odd Red canyons that are to be found in the west. Through such

errors does all memory of the pioneers vanish — Redd Canyon was the only place name in San Juan county that preserved the memory of any of the dauntless men who blazed the first trail through that unknown wilderness of sandstone." (The first white men to travel this impossible country)

They ran out of provisions and even out of water. It was hot and dry and dusty. Grandfather held a little round flat stone in his mouth for days to keep his tongue from swelling in that heat. As a last resort they killed the mule and ate that as long as it was fresh enough. They arose one morning and grandfather said to the others, "Go ahead and cook some of the mule and I'll go and get some water." They thought he had lost his senses but he had dreamed in the night where there was water close by. He took their demijohn and left camp. He went to a group of trees and found a small spring. He drank his fill, filled the demijohn and returned to the camp. Needless to say they all rejoiced. Their rejoicing was not only for themselves but for their remaining animals who were just as badly off as they were.

Hoffman Birney says this of their experiences at that time, "The four must have been men of iron. Ninety six hours of starvation to say nothing of other hardships they had undergone, left little mark upon them."

Later they saw a mountain goat, when they chased it, it ran bounding from rock ledge to rock ledge down the only possible route to the river and that is the way they found what is known as the Hole in the Rock, as I remember.

I guess being out that long they could have many different experiences. George Hobbs writes, "Christmas found us on the east side of Elk Mountain without food and no way of identifying our location. It was impossible to retrace out steps to the river camp and we knew not which way to go to reach our destination. L.H. Redd's dream helped us find our way." Aunt Ellen tells us about that experience.

"The following is my father's story as I remember hearing him tell of their perilous experience that Christmas time. Snow had fallen all day until evening. Night began to settle around them. They found a clearing in which to make a camp. With branches from Cedar trees they brushed off the snow and kindled several large fires to dry and warm the ground. After hours of work carrying dry Cedar trees to feed the fires, their reward was a warm place for their horses and for each of them to lie down wrapped in his blankets. Their grievous needs of the moment and their days of suffering from cold and lack of food would naturally lead them to the only source from which they could possibly receive help.

Morning came with clear skies and sunshine. As they folded their blankets my father said to his companions, "Come with me to the top of yonder knoll and

I will show you the San Juan River." As they stood on the spot where he had stood in his dream of the night before, their hearts thrilled as each, in his turn, with their field glasses, looked upon the waters of the San Juan River. Shining like a silver ribbon in the sunlight, as my father expressed it. This ended their search for the San Juan River. It was to guide them to their destination."

Kumen Jones, one of those early pioneers to San Juan, writes a tribute, "The exploring trip of these four men, George W. Sevy, Lemuel H. Redd, George Morrill and George Hobbs, will always be remembered by all those acquainted with it, and who took part in it, as one of the hardest and most trying in the way of perseverance and persistent endurance of any undertaking connected with the San Juan mission. It has been a source of wonder to all those who have become acquainted with the country through which those explorers travelled, since those early days. How they ever found their way through deep snow and blinding snowstorms in such a timbered country, all cut to pieces with deep gorges for such long distance without compass or trail, remains a puzzle. Much of the time there was no sun, moon or stars to help them in keeping their course. The only answer that helps explain the mystery must be that a kind providence came to their assistance. How those Latter Day Saints scouts made that trip and returned all alive, with the weather, food shortages and other obstacles against them is proof that God held out his hand. Having gone over that same country many times since riding after cattle it seems more impossible as time passes."

It seems that this trip didn't end his travels in that direction. Aunt Ellen writes "In 1887 my father, Monroe and family, with other helpers drove a herd of one hundred and fifty horses and cattle into San Juan county. My sister, Delle, rode horseback and helped drive the stock. I drove a team and wagon. As we travelled through White canyon to Bluff, our water supply for camp uses was often obtained from basin-like depressions in the top of large flat rocks. As I remember it, we sometimes found several gallons in one rock basin."

Aunt Alice was a tiny babe when her father left to take this long hard trip into the unknown. Father (Wm. A.) and uncle John were in Arizona, Uncle Lem was newly married and was going with his wife and tiny babe to this far off place to make a home. That left grandmother home with eight children to look after and manage. Her roll was possibly as hard as his this time. It seems that if a brother were called to a mission he went regardless of the condition of his family at home. Aunt Alice writes this of her;

Brimful of duties were my mother's days. Always from early dawn till late at night; But after hours she tilled a garden plot Of flowers to make the drab yard gay and bright. Though evening duties called for all her time, We claimed her for the stories we liked best; She came along and told the fairy tales That sent us to sweet dreams and peaceful rest. A quiet hour I'm sure my mother craved Yet all our friends were welcome in her home. Her heart reached out, and every mother's child Who knew her, shared the love - not hers alone. The world could never call my mother great, She plied no skill in song nor verse nor art, But everyone who knew her called her friend And shared the kind refreshment of her heart. Her gentle ways, her kindly helpful hand Marked carefully the path our feet should go, And on and on her love calls through the years Like strains of sacred music, soft and low.

Aunt Metia tells about their summer experience. As soon as the fruit was ripe and ready to dry, they gathered together all the pans, boxes, old chairs, knives and benches. They dressed in their old clothes and went to the orchard early in the morning and stayed all day and peeled and cut apples for drying, or cut and pitted peaches or whatever fruit was to be done that day. Some of them, probably the boys climbed the trees and picked the fruit, others spread it out to dry. They would work until dark than wash at the little basin beside the door and go to bed and the next day the work of the day before was repeated. This went on until all the fruit and vegetables were cached away for the coming winter. It took everybody in the family to get it all in for the winter because there were many mouths to feed and many growing bodies to be nourished.

Aunt Lou gave me another version of pine nut hunting. She said father used to take them a lot. He would climb up the tree and with a little hatchet he would chop off the loaded branches. The kids down below would take off the cones to take home. The Indians showed them how to roast them. They'd dig a big hole and line it with rocks, then build a fire on these rocks and get them red hot. Then they'd rake out the ashes and fill the hole with pine cones and cover them with grass and sod as clean as they could get it from dirt. They would then cover the sod with their blankets. It was left until cool, and uncovered. The heat had, by then, popped the cones and let the nuts fall out. Grandmother had a big

box with a lid to put them in. She's put this box under her bed. They couldn't open the box while it was under the bed and the little kids couldn't pull it out. When I said blankets, I didn't mean bed blankets they slept in. They always had a supply of blankets they put under their saddles when they rode, it was these blankets they used. They always had them along when they went on any kind of a trip and used them for sitting or lying on the dirt or rocks.

Aunt Alice writes: HOMECOMING "When the homecoming invitation came that mild June day the activities of my busy household dropped from me and I thought of Riley's words, "Let's go visiting back to Grigsby's Station. Back where we used to be so happy, and so poor." After twenty five years, to go back to my home town. What would I find there? The little village with it's twenty four families has had a modest but colorful history, dating back to 1852, when a group of colonizers, under the leadership of John D. Lee moved over the rim of the basin, halted their oxen and covered wagon on the high flats east of the present site of New Harmony, dug a well and built a fort. The spot proved unsuitable and a few years later half of the group moved to the present site of Kanarra and the other half to New Harmony. Hospitality and friendliness have always been cardinal virtues of the good people there so I would be sure of a warm welcome. With my seventeen year old son as driver, a boy friend of his and two of my younger boys we made preparations for camping, loaded the "touring" car, buttoned down the canvas curtains and travelled the three hundred miles on highway 91 and reached the bustling village late after noon. A welcoming committee met us and assigned us a camping place in a friends' front yard, with sleeping cots on the screened porch and places for the boys beds in the granary loft.

After all these years the change was not too great, the streets were narrower and the town plot smaller than I had remembered. Some of the pioneer houses had been replace with modern homes, they now had a culinary water system instead of surface wells with hand windlass and bucket. Electric lights had replaced the coal oil lamps and in many of the barns and sheds an automobile stood alongside the cow or horse stall. Yes, New Harmony had moved right along with the years.

Wherever I turned I met old time friends. What a wonderful thing, a homecoming. After years of being separated, for people to come together, people whose lives, labor and loves had once intermingled and now had turned to near strangers, to visit again in this atmosphere, sweet with childish memories, was an occasion one needed to experience to appreciate. Six hundred people visited there during the three days of celebration, coming from Canada to Mexico.

The meeting of relatives and friends and partaking of entertainments and luncheons so generously provided by our hosts, was a taste of heaven; but to go home to the farm house beyond the west fields was the highlight of my vacation. The touring car nosed its way across the muddy Imlay Creek, over rutted narrow roads, through meadows and fields and came to a stand under Ben's gnarled locust tree that still stood like a dignified patriarch to guard the hallowed place where once was home. Not a brick, not a stone, not a shingle remained of the big farmhouse that had echoed to the life, the hope and purpose of our large family group.

I had come home. To me the red brick walls of the house were there, transparent now as lace; all the rooms, the floor coverings, the furniture, window curtains and the busy family were the same as they were when I was a child. I stepped over the worn threshold from the back porch into the big kitchen warmed by a wide fireplace with a burning black log held up by black andirons. The blaze lighted the stone hearth and braided rag rug. A wide circle of us sat in it's warmth and cheer eating pine nuts that we had gathered from the nearby hills earlier in the fall, and roasted in the back yard pit. In the corner of the kitchen stood the big charter oak stove with the hot water reservoir on the back and beside it was the battered wood box filled with lengths of pine and cedar wood and some rumpled cedar bark for starting the morning fire. By the back door stood the wash bench with the buckets of water and a wash basin. Behind the door hung the looking glass and comb case and the long roller towel. Against the north wall the big fall leaf table was covered with a red and white checkered cloth. Along the partition wall stood the wooden lounge long enough to seat half a dozen people. When it was pulled out it made an extra bed with well filled straw tick in place of mattress and springs. A bright flame from the burning log lighted the open bookshelf and I saw again my treasured volume, "Leaves from My Journal" a present from my eldest brother Lem. How proud we are of his accomplishments; a leader and colonizer in far off San Juan, bishop, stake president, state senator, a mediator in Indian affairs and father of a wonderful family.

"Off the kitchen I saw pantry lined with shelves and cupboards and in their accustomed places the dishes, cooking utensils, the wooden churn and long dasher, the cream jar, shelves filled with milk pans, the vinegar kegs, pickle and preserve jars and the handy bread box.

"I went to the front room next, bright cheery with stripped rag carpet. There stood father's and mother's four poster bed made up with fluffed feather tick, log cabin patched quilt and well starched hand embroidered pillow shams. My trundle bed was rolled under to be out of sight for the day. The secretary, chairs, high boy and home sewing machine were the same. On the little table

rested the red plush photograph album and on the mantle stood two coal oil lamps, a piece or two of china and a little blue pitcher that served as a flower vase. The treasured organ, trim and pretty stood under the high window. Nostalgic and sweet were the memories around it. I saw father sitting on the home made stool playing a chord and a group of us singing with him, "Hard Times Come Again No More," or "Come Music To My Heart." The letters on the stops, white and black keys gleamed there in the bright firelight.

"My next visit to the little front bedroom came next. It was just large enough for a bed, a bureau and mother's chest, and the treasures in the chest were as vivid to me as in the days long ago. There was mother's tight fitting basque of red and black alpaca, the one she wore to have her picture; and the tinted daguerreotype picture of father and mother in a leather case lined with pink plush, a few bits of bric-a-brac dating from the days when they lived in Spanish Fork before they were called to come to this little outpost on the very fringe of civilization, in the early days of Utah's making. They had only four babies then, I came along thirteen.

"Upstairs was the next move, through the dark room. The only light it had came from two panes of glass in the high roof. Up, up winding stairs I went and felt again the solid smooth railing that was so much fun to slide down its dizzy length and come to a sudden stop against the hard knob at the last rail. The upstairs bedrooms with their slanting ceilings, wide beds and curtained closets were unchanged. There I lived over the hours when I took my little girl friends up there to play grown up, dressing in the best dresses of my older sisters. What a delight it was to go strutting along the halls in trailing skirts with hoops, bustles and ruffled polonaise; a forbidden thing, but so much fun. In Wayne's room I saw his bed made up with patch work quilt and a sturdy bootjack on the floor nearby. Wayne! Such a wonderful man; a missionary, a stake president, a state senator and a guide to the youth of the land.

"Lush alfalfa covered the homesite and yards but I still saw the familiar things there. Through the back there was the clear stream of water, the tripod with blackened wash kettle with a fire burning under it, the grindstone, the hive of bees under the Belmont apple tress and the rock wall with madder twining over it, all in their accustomed places.

"A trip home would not be complete without going to the fishpond. A tangle of bracken and cattail all overgrown with wild rose bushes and mint filled the spot, but as I was able to see the speckled trout come up to the surface with open mouths for the bread we always had for them.

"I had been home!"

"The ride back to the village was short but it was long enough for me to tuck into the recesses of my heart a wealth of memories, enriched with the deep satisfactions that were mine to combine with the more recent experiences, deeper joys of home and family, school teaching, travel, church mission and civic activities of adult years.

"This unlocking of the past with Aladdin power, warmed my soul with sincere appreciation for my pioneer heritage, for parents firm in their faith in their inspired leader and colonizer and who were willing to move out and do their part to subdue the wilderness and help bring to fruition this great western commonwealth.

"In my quiet moments on the trip home to family and activity, I counted over the many substantial people now filling positions of trust and responsibility in near and far away places in the world today who were born in that quiet village, I thought in the words of Micah, "Though thou be little among the thousands," in this land, yet out of thee have come many who are good and great. I reminisced in the words of father Jacob to his son Joseph, "Truly thou art a fruitful bough, even a fruitful bough by a well; whose branches run over the wall." by Alice R. Rich.

Too, in referring to their long table, she wrote the following:

Like a strong, strong farm house shouldering the storms without And throbbing to integral strength within,
The fall leaf table bound itself into our living
Since the day it came beneath our roof.
More than a meal time board, far more it had been;
On its solid top have rested history books
And spelling lists and lessons in geography.
And there dress patterns have been pinned
And ironings have been done.
The doctor's leather case has rested there
And fresh baked home made bread
Whose fragrance filled the room
And set young mouths to watering;

And jars of pickled peaches and plum jam.
Always above it hung the oil lamp
That spread its mellow light around.

Its worn old top has felt the touch of baby hands,

And callused knotty ones, and more than once

A head, so weary with discouragements

That it found comfort on the hard wood boards.

Beneath its leaves and battered legs

Our boys crouched in playing games of hide-and-seek;

And it has quivered with the deafening noise

That echoed from the din of indoor games.

That sturdy table with it's checkered cloth of red and white,

Has heard the solemn words when family problems came

And we must face decisions with no recourse but our firm faith.

More than a meal time board, far more.

It stands, a consecrated altar. At it's shrine

On bended knees we prayed for strength

And rendered thanks for life,

For love and trust in Him who lights our way,

For dignity of work and wealth of home.

While in California I found another account of the trip that grandfather took from the Hole-in-the Rock to Montezuma. It seems that when they got to the Hole-in-the-Rock they had to find a way down through it and then on farther. These four men were sent to find that farther road.

"George Hobbs, Lemuel H. Redd, George Sevy and George Morrill were selected, to scout from the Colorado to Montezuma to decide on a route suitable for wagons to follow. These pathfinders left the Hole-in-the-Rock December 17, 1879 with provisions for an eight day trip, the distance being estimated at about sixty miles. They took with them two animals for packing and two for riding. The second day after leaving the Colorado River, the four reached a barrier that was to be commemorated in state history as 'Slick Rocks,' a sweeping expanse of densely compacted sandstone so smooth that at only great distances did ever a crevice appear in the slippery surface. It was impossible to go around it, if they were to reach Montezuma. Their only course lay down the Slick Rocks."

"After much scouting around they discovered the trail of some mountain sheep, and by following their winding course they reached the bottom of the slope. From here they could see a deep canyon leading northward. Their trail led them toward the range known as 'Clay Hills.' The ground was cut into a tangled network of canyons that coursed north, south east and west in a bewildering manner."

"The scouting party was forced to travel one canyon after another in their search for a path that the wagons might follow. They now realized that their provisions would be exhausted long before they reached Montezuma. Their goal lay almost due east from the "Hole" but they had been forced many miles to the

north by seeking to find a pass through the Clay Hills. Many setbacks and disappointments were encountered. East of Clay they christened it `Grand Gulch.' It's steep walls were impassable and the scouts were again forced northward before they succeeded in passing around the main head of the canyon and its many forks. Christmas day, they cooked their last food. Their Christmas dinner consisted of a flap-jack of flour and water. Surrounded by the timbered foothills of the unknown mountains they realized they were lost.

"Hobbs, who had been with the party at Montezuma and in a way felt responsible for the success or failure of the party, placed their difficulties before a higher power than man. He knelt among the stones and prayed. Guided by that prayer, he climbed to the summit of a small knoll south of camp. From here he was able to recognize the familiar contour of the Blue Mountains, which were northwest of Montezuma. The four men knelt in thanksgiving and the hillock was given the name of 'Salvation Knoll.' For four days they trudged through sand and snow over the roughest country imaginable. Hobbs stated that as they climbed out of Butler Wash he found himself wishing that one of their animals might fall and kill itself, the misfortune would at least furnish food.

"Late in the afternoon of that day, they staggered up the bank of Cottonwood Wash and crossed a treeless flat toward a cabin that a man named Harris (a Mormon from Colorado) had built, where Bluff now stands. One of the men afterwards stated that, "While we waited for Sister Becky Warner, one of the Harris household, to fry meat for our supper, I believe no torture in hell could be worse for us." (four days without food and have to smell it cooking). After a single nights' rest they moved on up the San Juan to the settlement at the mouth of Montezuma, finding the settlers almost without food. They remained overnight, promising to return, if possible, in sixty days with provisions. The only food they were able to obtain for their return trip was a fifty pound sack of flour, bought after much persuasion from a wandering trapper for \$20.00.

"On the return trip these trail-weary scouts faced the necessity of finding a more practical route for the wagons than the one they had followed. They struck far north of the first course. All of their provisions were gone and they were in an almost starving condition when they reached the Hole-in-the-Rock. Their exhausted animals were scarcely able to stagger down the trail that led to the river, one of the pack horses having worn his hooves almost to the hide, leaving a circle of blood on the rocks with every step. They reached camp January 10, 1880, twenty five days having been required to make the trip."

I presume they figured that when they returned to the Hole-in-the-Rock they would just relax and rest for a couple of days, but the colony had been in touch with home, by means of riders who carried messages and mail. So when grandfather returned to the 'Hole' a rider had come from home bringing letters. His letter brought bad news that there was sickness in his home. Two babies were there Alice nearly eleven months and George thirteen months old. He was wanted and needed at home. He packed up his few things, saddled his mount and went home alone over that long lonesome trail. He found seven of his children down with diphtheria but the crisis was past and they were recovering. Grandmother and Aunt Louisa must have been relieved and thankful to have him back in the home with the priesthood after all they had gone through.

However this trip of grandfather's wasn't his first trip scouting into the unknown. Way back in 1866, before he had married Aunt Louisa, he went, in answer to a call, with Capt. Andrus of St. George out to Green River, by way of Potato Valley, to ascertain the enemy plans. The enemy at this time was the Navajo Indians led by Black Hawk. At that time he had been away a month.

I've learned a little more about grandmother's tailoring. Aunt Alice says, "Many well-dressed men were indebted to her for their good-looking suits. When Independence Taylor was an old man, he loved to tell us children that no man ever had a more handsome wedding suit than his, which was the handiwork of my mother. Sandeen had taught her how to measure a person and to draft a pattern to fit. He taught her how to baste the stiffening in the coat fronts and collars, how to finish the lapels, pad the shoulders, set in pockets and make buttonholes. She could draft patterns for women's clothing too, and when she went to Parowan to visit her daughter Caroline, they had heard of her and she coached a group there."

Grandmother was an artist. She learned to use leaves, herbs, logwood and indigo to make dye for wool, the wool she took from her own sheep. So her children wore colored stockings before coloring was had commercially, in the stores. These stockings would have fancy colored stripes around them and she sometimes tied the skeins so that the dye went on unevenly and it made clouded effects in the hose. She dyed the wool for hooked rugs and for quilting material. She had a good eye for design and created some lovely wall panels and hooked rugs of her own design in later years after her little tots had grown a bit. She painted a picture of Pine Valley Mountain that was near their home.

All her life, in spite of the fact that she reared eleven out of her thirteen children to adulthood, she found time and had the ability to turn her hand to almost every line of work to supply her household with the things they needed. Her spinning wheel stood ever ready and handy and at first she carded, then wove and sewed all their clothing and bedding. Early and late the sound of her cards, or her spinning wheel, or her loom echoed through the house. In later years when store cloth was available, she still used her cards, spinning wheel and

loom to make rugs and carpets for her home and for sale or barter. Her own designed and hand hooked rugs have adorned the St. George, Salt Lake and Manti temples.

One time she came into possession of a quantity of silk scraps, possibly she received them from Sandeen. Of these silk scraps she hooked a little rug and donated it to the St. George temple. The president liked it so much that he asked her to make them another. She did and they put them on either side of the sealing altar and Aunt Della and Will Ivins were the first couple to kneel on them to be married. They used them there for many years, until they were worn out. They were of blue morning glory design on a white background. Aunt Lou says that for many years the stairs there were carpeted with the work of her mother's hands, too.

For twenty five years grandmother was counsellor of the Relief Society. They probably didn't have then what we now call a work director. In her capacity as counsellor she at least took her turn at it. She taught the sisters the art of rug hooking among other things and the sale of these rugs kept their Relief Society in all necessary funds. My mother had a hoolede rug that had been made for her by either Uncle Wayne or Uncle Ben. He made the hook by pounding a big nail or spike into the end of a small piece of wood, bending it just right and filing it down and fashioning a hook on the end. Then he whittled the little wood block down to make a nice shaped and comfortable handle. I have no doubt but that he made enough of them so that the Relief Society had a set with one for each of the sisters that came to Relief Society to help make rugs. She also taught them to card wool for quilts, to put the quilts together and to quilt and bind it. Probably she taught them many other things of the many crafts she knew and practiced.

Another one of her arts was starch-making. In the fall when they dug and pitted the potatoes she gathered all the extra little ones and had the children wash and grate them, on a home made tin grater, you know, pound holes in a piece of tin with a nail and attach the tin to a little home made wooden frame. They grated great baskets of potatoes into the tubs. She then washed the pulp in cold water, carried up from the ditch. The pulp was let stand in this water over night. The next morning she'd drain off the water and pulp and in the bottom fine white starch had settled in damp masses. This was dried and stored for future use.

Grandmother was a glove maker. Where she learned it I never have found out. Probably from her mother or some kind neighbor. Maybe they taught her to sew buckskins together and she obtained from somewhere patterns for gloves. She had many patterns and of all sizes. Aunt Alice describes it, "She bought and

smoked the buckskin from the friendly Indians. She had a set of patterns and a needle with a fine point to penetrate the skins, also a hand whittled rod with a groove at the end, over which she sewed the buckskin to make the fingers always the exact size she wanted them, and smaller rod she used to turn the fingers right side out once they were sewed. This skill of hers was known far and wide and hundreds are the hands she covered with the work of her fingers." She could make many styles of gloves. Some of them were plain, sturdy work gloves and some fancy. Some were embroidered with colored silks when she could get it from Salt Lake City. Some were fringed, and some were made to order and to suit the fancy of the buyer. These gloves, along with the suits she made and other commodities, she sold for cash or bartered for household necessities. Her home was practically self-supporting."

She was proud to tell her children how, in the summer she went with her father, John Lowe Butler, and her sister Charity to Green River, she bought her own wedding gown of dotted swiss, thought then to be of super style. She said she saved her money and the day she was married she put a ten dollar gold piece in her husbands hand as a surprise. All her life she managed well and measured up like that and never shirked her duty.

They secured a hive of bees from Uncle Joseph Barton of Paragonah and made and set up a box for them under the Belmont apple tree. When the hive became too crowded for them a swarm would leave for elsewhere. They made more boxes. This brought honey to their table. They used it for table use on hot bread and for making jams before sugar was available. Best of all they made candy of it and sometimes on an evening had a real candy-pull. They'd cook the honey until it spun a thread and then pour it into a flat greased pan. As soon as it was cool enough they'd divide it among them all and each would pull his gob as we pull taffy. It was good. Later when sugar was plentiful they'd use a cup of honey, a cup of sugar and a cup of cream. That made the best of all.

These industrious bees kept them busy. Grandfather made bee hives until he had many of them, maybe a hundred — all they could take care of and use. Aunt Alice wrote, "Terrifying indeed was my own experience when I grew older and helped mother extract honey. I carried the small bellows and puffed smoke into the hives as she carried the frames of honey combs to and from the extracting room. Lucky we were if we came through this process without a sting or two in exchange for our table sweets." It seems they used smoke to sort of dope the bees into submission. In later years they obtained an extractor, a machine to take the honey from the comb. They gave or sold or lost many swarms of bees, and bee hives became almost universal throughout the community. I remember going to the door of Prince's old house when they were extracting honey. They all wore wide hats with mosquito netting fastened

around the brim and tucked down inside the neck of their clothing. They wore gloves and were completely covered. When I appeared they screamed for me not to come in. I'd get stung, and sure enough a bee lit on the front of my dress and began crawling toward my chin. I was paralyzed as I didn't know anything about what they were doing there. I was up there playing with Florence. They had a hired girl, Nettie Roundy, who was helping them and whom the bees never did sting. She didn't need a bee net. She came and put her bare hand under my chin in front of the bee and it flew away. So did I, and FAST.

They tried making molasses but Dixie was best for that. New Harmony was too cold. They also had molasses candy pulls but that wasn't as good as honey candy.

All of grandmother's and many of Aunt Louisa's children went to the little frame one-room school house in the locust tree grove on the only corner where four occupied corners met in New Harmony. Aunt Alice went back there once for a visit and wrote the following about it:

THE ONE ROOM SCHOOL

"The years rolled back — I paused to see The one room school, and there in reverie I rested in the cool remote recess Among the locust trees; the quietness Around the old school yard, unlocked for me A treasure-trove of cadent memory. The frayed rope of the bell hung from the tower Above the door, its ringing tolled the hour Of morning, noon and close of recess time, I listened for its sweet familiar chime. The shallow stream, now choked with mint and sage Allured my thirsty lips to seek its edge Again to drink, then with alacrity Return to books with keen intensity, To glean from meagre stores some wisdom there Like sifted wheat garnered from the tares. That one room school is like a shrine to me, A lucid trumpeter of prophecy, With joy its reminiscent worth endears Embroidered childhood stories through the years.

On hallowed ground it stands, "A fruitful bough Bedside the wall," with laden branches now And sanguine verities of priceless worth They strew as leaves their strength upon the earth."

Aunt Alice tells of her childhood and some of the toys they had — all home made. Ball made of wound yarn and embroidered to keep them from unravelling. Later they'd cover them with leather from the tops of old shoes. Home made rag dolls, her first one she named, "Rose Deanit" who wore a calico dress and bonnet. This was her favorite doll and lived a long time. Her last doll had hair and a wax face with blue eyes and pink cheeks. She was short-lived for the sun melted and cracked the wax, but she had known the thrill of a beautiful doll, like all the rest of us.

Grandmother learned to make fried cakes, doughnuts, we call them now. A neighbor liked them so well she ask for the recipe and grandmother gave it to her. She went home and next day tried to make some. She brought some over to show grandmother. They wouldn't brown. Why? Well she had tried to fry them in water.

Aunt Alice says, "After hog-killing time in the fall, her mother salt-cured and smoked the meat for the coming year. The children gathered the dry corn cobs and cedar bark for the fires and her mother kept the slow fires going, with smoke passing through a joint of stove pipe near the floor of the smoke house. The hams, shoulders and side meat hung from the ceiling and absorbed the clean smoke without getting the heat. When the process was finished, the meat was wrapped in clean cloths and buried in the wheat bins to be used when they were needed."

Aunt Ellen gives a more detailed account: "My father built a smoke house about four or five feet square and not very high. There were no butcher shops then and each person had to cut his own meat. Fortunate was the person who could build a smoke house and had learned the art of preserving meat. They did this for all those around them, sometimes people would come from miles away and they would leave part of the meat to pay for having the rest smoked. In the fall when they killed a pig, it was cut into hams, shoulders, bacon etc., and allowed to get thoroughly cold. Then warm salt was rubbed into the meat until no moisture came out. Sometimes a little sugar was added, but this was harder to get. This meat stood a few days and if any moisture or blood came out it was evidence that more salt was needed and more was rubbed in. It stood for several days before testing again. Around the bones there would be little holes or depressions that might spoil-so a very tiny bit of saltpetre was pushed in here. Then this was all laid on a clean cloth in a cold place for several weeks. Now it

was ready for the smoke house. Each piece was hung by a cord from the ceiling so smoke could get all around it. My father used only corn cobs for fuel. They did not make a big fire or blaze, but smothered it so only smoke came up, and it lasted a long time. When these hams etc., had been smoked three days, my mother, Keziah Jane Butler Redd, knew they were ready for the winter." They would keep well this way without the smoking if they so preferred them.

Grandmother made soap. It was a yearly activity with her as it was with my mother. I think grandmother must have taught my mother how to make soap. Mother used to have a big five gallon can in which she kept all left over fats of all kinds. When there was enough for a batch she'd put it in a big cast iron kettle that held probably ten gallons. Into this she'd put some water and lye. This kettle hung on a sort of tripod in the back yard. A fire was built under it and it was boiled until all refuse in the fat was eaten up and it became smooth. Aunt Alice says her mother used an improvised rock stand to put the kettle on. Anyway the kettle was suspended over the fire. When the boiling mixture dropped from the stirring stick like thick syrup, the soap was done and ready to pour into wooden tubs to set. When it was cold it would be firm enough to cut into blocks and spaced out on a board. Then it dried somewhat and as it dried it shrivelled up into queer shapes but was good soap and ready for all kinds of cleaning processes. She always liked to do it on a nice sunny day, she always thought that she had better luck than on a cloudy day.

Mother used to make hominy like grandmother Redd made it. It is a southern recipe and the Redds have always liked it. I might add that the Butlers liked it too. She'd put maybe a bucketful of regular shelled field corn into that large iron pot, the one she made soap in, the pot they boiled their clothes in before they could get wash boilers. She would cover the corn with plenty of water and add lye. I don't know how much lye, but I do remember that the water thickened up a bit and turned brown when it boiled a bit. She boiled it until she could remove a little round hull from the side of the kernel. They then said it was hulled. They carried water from the ditch and washed it thoroughly in several waters to get all the lye out, and dried and sacked it. It then had to be cooked, enough for each meal, until it was tender. It would keep indefinitely and when the sack was gone she'd cook up another batch. They sometimes boiled it and ate it in their milk instead of porridge, sometimes after it was cooked until tender she'd fry it very a very light brown in bacon fat.

The United Order was organized in New Harmony in 1884 by Erastus Snow. Lemuel H. Redd, counsellor to Bishop Wilson D. Pace, was made vice-president and secretary. But I can't find any particulars about it. Probably short-lived there.

On January 1, 1877 they attended the dedication of the St. George Temple and while there began to do work for their kindred dead. Grandfather had few facilities for such work but he made the most of what he did have. He did the work for every dead relative he remembered ever hearing about or that he had any record of.

In 1887 the U.S. Congress passed the Edmonds-Tucker law making more stringent laws against polygamy. Grandfather had married Aunt Louisa in good faith and vowed he wouldn't give her up nor would they ever catch him and put him in jail. Then began several years of hide-and-seek between him and the U.S. marshalls. He was away from home dodging them all the time and during this time Wayne, seventeen and Ben, fifteen ran the farm, and looked after his affairs until William Alexander came home from his mission and then he took over. It's a good thing that grandmother and Aunt Louisa had made their homes practically self- supporting.

Friends and relatives, and especially his own family did everything they could to shield him and help keep him from being taken. Aunt Alice tells about the times when Marshalls Dyer and McGarry came to their home. From their front porch they could plainly see the highway leading into town, and when a strange carriage or horseman was seen coming, the alarm put men, women and children on guard to screen their father. The morning that they came in early autumn, she had been sent to town to post a letter, and when she was about half way across the meadow she spied a strange, black-topped buggy with spirited bay horses coming through her uncle Will's gate. She had had her instructions and like a scared deer, her nine-year-old feet covered the space back home in double quick time. She stopped long enough, however to lock the big gate leading to their yard, so as to delay them, then she dashed into Aunt Louisa's house shouting, "The Marshalls are coming." She and Metia were washing in the back yard. Without asking any questions, the two of them caught up their gingham bonnets and with a parting word, "You take care of Jennie," they disappeared into the thicket of willows and potawattomie plum trees out through the gap. As was their custom, the representatives of the law searched every room and cranny of the big duplex that housed the two big families, and asked most impudent questions of every one they saw. Aunt Polly, grandfather's cousin, was there and in true southern frankness, gave them a piece of her acid mind, and let them know that they were anything but gentlemen. When they came to the living-room there stood Alice hovering over the cradle taking care of Jennie, the three-months-old baby. In his most suave manner one of the men patted her shoulder and asked, "Where is your mama?" "I don't know," was the only answer she was to give always when a stranger spoke to her. "How old is the baby?" " I don't know," came again. "What's its name?" "I don't know." With an impatient shrug he turned to his companion, "These Mormon kids don't seem

to know anything." Of course, that's what they've been taught to answer always. "But we could starve this baby out if we weren't in a hurry to get to St. George for conference. There we are sure we will find some of them." Of course they couldn't have starved Jennie out. Alice had been instructed in such a case to take the baby to Eliza Kelsey who would share her baby's lunch with Jennie.

Aunt Ellen told me a similar instance once. She was in town for some thing as I remember, and saw a strange rig coming and she, too, ran home all the way as fast as she could, but she tied shut and locked every gate she came to. She found her father sitting on the front porch with his "spy-glasses" and he told her that it was only Wif Pace coming from Loa. He knew the outfit. Aunt Ellen didn't or couldn't tell as she had very poor eyesight.

Once they subpoenaed Aunt Lou and Uncle Wayne to go to Beaver to testify against him, and when they were leaving Lou cried and said, "What if I say something wrong?" Her father merely said, "If they ask you where I am, tell them you don't know, because you won't know where I will be."

Grandfather was ever on the move during this time. He went to Bluff for a while with his brother-in-law Harvey Pace. When he felt that that was too hot he went to Mesa and stayed a time with his daughter Jane. He came back by way of California and conditions were no better. He decided to move his second family to San Juan and in August 1888 he took a lot of stock and part of this family out there. Four of them stayed in New Harmony. Aunt Della and Aunt Ellen went along to help. Aunt Della rode a horse and helped to drive and take care of the stock. Aunt Ellen drove a team and wagon. It was a long hard journey to the Colorado river where they expected a boat to take them across it. Lem came from Bluff and met them at the river but there was only a skiff not a boat. It was late in the season and the water was low exposing a sand bar in the middle of the stream. They swam their stock across to the bar all right but the wagons were too big for the skiff. They took their wagons apart and it took seven trips to get their things to the sand bar. Now it was late so they spent the night there. During the night a thunder storm came with heavy rain and the water rose and drenched them. When daylight came water was pouring down over the high cliffs on both sides of the river and into it, and the sand bar was nearly covered. They swam their stock and made the seven trips the rest of the way across. There they built fires, dried their clothing and bedding, put their wagons together again and went on, thankful that they were all alive and well. Before coming to the river they had suffered for want of water for themselves and their animals as all the little tributary streams, if there were any, had dried up. I have camped, myself, along the rim of the Colorado and there were none. Water seems to go down in sink holes to the river. Now, though, after the storm they found water in many cavities of the rocks. The rains, however, had flooded the country, making the travelling hard for the animals and the horses gave out. Wayne went to Bluff for

help. While they waited, their horses strayed and it took everybody in camp to find them. Even Aunt Louisa left her babies alone in the wagon and joined in the search. They did find them, and afterwards they tied them up. Wayne returned and brought with him a load of watermelons that gave them a good impression of Bluff, their destination.

I don't know just how long he stayed in Bluff but his presence there would soon leak out and he had to be on the move again. He decided to come back to New Harmony. He would bring Aunt Della and Aunt Ellen back with him. At this time Della was about eighteen and Ellen was about sixteen. They drove the team and if anyone passed them or overtook them they reported that they were alone. Grandfather kept out of sight. They had an extra saddle-horse that they led, for emergency, they said.

One evening as they were preparing their evening meal at the camp fire, the U.S. officers passed. They hadn't heard that he was in that part of the country and didn't recognize him. If he had tried to dodge or run they would have been suspicious, but he just stood there and looked them in the face and went on eating or whatever he was doing. Wif Pace wasn't a relative really but he lived in Loa which was on the way as they came home and he was the only person in that long trip that knew grandfather was with the girls. He was the only person grandfather felt he could trust.

They drove into Paragonah one night after dark, and went to Aunt Farozine's place. She was grandmother's sister and the girls knew they could stay there. As they neared the place grandfather mounted the saddle-horse and went on into the night to New Harmony. That close to home he could leave them to come on alone. They weren't even to tell their own people that he came with them. They went in unannounced as people did in those days. Aunt Farozine was glad to see them and gave them a hearty welcome and asked who was with them. When they said they were alone she was dumbfounded. "No, not alone," she cried. They assured her that they were really alone and she hugged them and really cried. "To think that Kezzie's little girls were left alone to make that trip" was more than she could realize. She cried and sobbed a long time but they didn't tell, as it might be overheard and get out that their father was home.

Grandfather was now home but nobody knew it and nobody should know it. He didn't dare spend a day or night in the house. A neighbour child might even speak out of turn. He only dared be in the house when his own children were there. He took a canvas and a bit of bedding to the hill side gullies west of the farm and out of sight. He didn't dare to stay in one place more than one night or two. Fearful that someone had spotted him during the day and might report him, he moved each night after dark. He had to be very careful of that too. Rattlesnakes loved to curl themselves up in bedding. That seemed to be

a common practice of theirs. Kids loved to hike around the hills outside of town. He never felt safe.

Aunt Ellen writes, "The house of Lemuel H. Redd was one whose inmates suffered during these years of intensive persecution for polygamy-watching, hiding to evade the almost ever-present spotters and deputies of the law, whose pleasure it was to hunt and to hurt men and women of higher mental and moral capacity than they themselves could boast. My father always felt that he would rather die than serve a prison term. So, during this period of darkness when evil was master, he seldom knew the feeling of safety. He spent some months in Mesa, Arizona, and in Bluff, San Juan, San Juan county, as a relief from sleeping in the west canyons among the rattlesnakes, mountain lions and other dangers. A white flag hoisted on the upper field gate was the sign to assure him that it was safe to come home for his breakfast. In looking back over the pages of memory I often have been led to feel that his solitary reclusion in the mountains where poisonous reptiles and dangerous animals were many, with shelter and protection from the storms so meagre, that a prison bed could not have been much more dreadful. For many years he was forced to sacrifice the safety of home and its comforts rather than be untrue to a principle that he had accepted in full faith and believed to be a revealed truth."

Dodging became harder and more uncertain as time went on, and at last he heard that some were going to Mexico, taking their plural families there. With only one family in the United States he would be safe, so that is what he decided to do. That was a long hard trip to make, or even think of. There was no definite road and probably no maps. They just knew that it was south. As I remember or understand it, some of the leaders of the church had gone or sent someone to scout out the way and to look into conditions there and had reported.

There were a lot of them to go. Nine children ranging from one year old up to nineteen. They were weeks planning it and making all the preparations. They went in three loaded wagons. I guess nobody realizes the difficulties, who hasn't been over the road or undertaken such an adventure. They were three weeks getting to Nutrioso, Arizona. There was Wilson D. Pace, grandfather's brother-in-law and former bishop of New Harmony. He was also in hiding. One of his families lived there and it was a chance for a rest. Rest, did I say? They bathed, washed and ironed clothes and bedding. They shod their horses and fixed their wagons, probably they repacked them. I can guess that they did some baking too, for the rest of the trip. They arrived in Colonia Dublan in January of 1892, after riding in those wagons or walking beside them for nine long weeks. There they found that one log room, with tents and wagons, filled their needs wonderfully well.

Grandfather bought a fruit farm in Colonia Juarez and they moved there. Ancil was born there the next August and while Aunt Louisa was yet sick, they all had the whooping cough. Grandfather stayed with them until they were fairly well settled and at work. Then he returned to New Harmony after he had been away eighteen months. Bishop Wilson D. Pace had long since been released as bishop and that let him out of the bishopric there, but my father, William A. Redd was now the bishop of New Harmony.

1893 was a memorable year for them and for the church. Grandfather, grandmother, their daughter Ellen and son William went up to Salt Lake City to the dedication of the Temple. Their sons, Lem and Monroe came from Bluff and daughter Caroline from Parowan. It was the first of what you would call a family reunion, for now their family was scattering and has been scattered ever since.

Sometime about now the chimney of their house in New Harmony fell down and they couldn't live in that house any more. Anyway it was too big for the few that were left there. It must have been a poorly built house in the first place, built by amateurs. The first part, bedrooms and attic were regular four walls with a long roof with a gable at the north and the south, very common through-out the state. There were three rooms upstairs. The south one had a chimney on the south, the one that fell down, and one or two windows. The middle one, called the dark room was lighted by two little panes of glass in the roof, and the stairway came up to this one. The north room had a door that opened into a little catwalk to the long upper porch that covered the lower porch, and they both were as long as the house. The big kitchen or kitchens, I presume there was one at each end, were in a lean-to attached to the main part of the house. Out past the kitchens were the back porches, another long lean-to attached to the kitchen lean-to. The cellar was under the main part of the house at the south end. It was merely a hole in the ground with a dirt floor. I don't know whether the walls were dirt or rock. There were steps leading down to it from the south at right angles to the south wall. These steps were covered by a big tilting door that had to be lifted up. It was the kind of door kids liked to slide down. There was an upright door at the bottom opening towards the inside. Somebody left the doors open once and "Old Bossy" went down to investigate. In her movements about she pushed the inner door shut. Aunt Vilo was sent down for something but couldn't get in. She could just see a little bit of cow. She dashed back up the stairs shouting that she couldn't get in, the cellar was full of cows. She said she actually thought it was, too.

Well, because the chimney fell down, they couldn't stay so grandmother and five girls, Della, Ellen, Luella, Vilo and Alice came to live with us. I guess they had two beds in the parlor and two of them slept on the couch in the living room. Father and mother had a big bedroom that later held two full sized beds

and a little bed. That didn't last long though, as the girls began to marry off. I only remember when the last two lived with us and then only in the summer, as they went away to school and then to teach. They weren't a burden at all. Mother had lived with them in their home and she had been willing to do her part there and they did so here.

There are only a few things that I remember about grandmother living with us. I remember seeing her sit by the fireplace with a shawl around her shoulders and her feet propped up. Probably the beginning of her last sickness. She was sick for months and at the last, in bed all the time. She died of cancer of the stomach, which is very painful, and then they didn't have the drugs to deaden any of the pain. I remember Aunt Caroline came from Parowan and brought her baby, Josephine, a few months old. They held her up for grandmother to see and they all talked about what a beautiful baby she was. I didn't think she even compared with our baby Fern. Why didn't they show off Fern to Grandmother. Then I remember that they backed up a buck-board to the front porch and put her coffin in it. That's the sum total of grandmother in our home. I was about the same age when grandmother died, that Kay was when father died, and if he doesn't remember more than that, it isn't much.

When grandfather moved his second family to Mexico he planned and practiced spending part of each year in each place, usually the winter in Mexico and the summer in New Harmony. That schedule was upset when grandmother was ill. It so happened that Aunt Louisa wanted him in Mexico that May but he felt more the need of being in New Harmony. Hazel, Aunt Louisa's fourteenth child was born 13 May 1895 and grandmother died 15 May 1895. When Aunt Louisa heard of grandmother's death she did understand. From then on, though, grandfather came home every summer. I remember hearing some woman say she wondered why, until she was there once when he came home and saw the royal welcome he received from all the family there.

At grandmother's death there were six of her children present. Three of them were married. She had become very ill and they knew the end was near and they wanted to get Vilo and Caroline there from Parowan, and it took such a long time. Grandmother wanted to hear Vilo sing. Aunt Della so wanted to keep her alive until they got there so she could hear Vilo. Della went into the other room and prayed for help in it. She was impressed to cook vegetables and give her mother enemas with the vegetable water, to feed her. It worked. When they were all assembled, Vilo stood by the bed and sang sweetly for her mother. At first she thought she couldn't do it without breaking down, but they told her it was the last thing her mother wanted, and so she did.

They say that grandmother's motto was always, "Better suffer wrong than do wrong."

Grandmother had, for twenty five years before her death, been a counsellor in the Relief Society and a midwife. One of her main duties was to lay out the dead. They had no mortuaries then and when someone died in the community, a committee had the responsibility of doing that job. They'd wash them and dress them for burial. Grandmother had done this for all of the twenty five years, and when she died there was no one in the ward that knew how to put on the temple clothing for burial. Father, as Bishop, had to assume the responsibility so he rode horseback to Cedar City and phoned to the Temple in St. George, and got the instructions from them, so that it would be exactly right.

I think that the people of New Harmony and neighbouring towns depended a great deal on both grandfather and grandmother for help in time of sickness or accident. They had a big book in their home, "Doctor Gunn's Medical Advisor." When we were children we called it the Doctor Book, and mother consulted it for information on various illnesses. It seems that we had one too. I don't know if grandmother brought hers with her when she came or not. Grandfather was good at setting bones etc. He knew the best kind of wood for splints and how to whittle them just right. Grandmother tore an old sheet into strips and between them they did a good job of it. Aunt Ellen saw him place a ball of yarn under the arm of a dislocated shoulder. Her father put his knee against the body of the patient and jerked his arm just right to force the bone back into place. He probably got the instructions from Doctor Gunn.

In 1895, fifty years from the year that the pioneers entered the valley, they had a big pioneer jubilee in Salt Lake City, and Grandfather went with his daughters Vilo and Alice. His son Lem and Lem's' wife, Eliza, and his sons-in-law James and Thomas Adams met them there. Again in 1902 they had a real big family reunion of the first family. They were all there but Monroe and Luella. In addition to them Aunt Louisa and Uncle Wayne joined them. This reunion lasted a week and did they enjoy themselves! Especially they all enjoyed their visit with Jane who had been living in Old Mexico since she left Mesa. You remember she was in Mesa in 1890 and she hadn't been home since.

After the reunion she came down to New Harmony with her baby Porfirio Diaz, "P.D." they came to call him, and I understand that he has officially changed his name to Paul Duane. He was named after the dictator of Mexico, and then after the original was deposed the name wasn't so popular.

Grandfather and grandmother were students. Especially were they interested in history and scriptures, and did a lot of studying along those lines.

The last trip that Brigham Young made to southern Utah the people made a big fuss over him and provided him with a big escort. Grandfather was the captain of twenty-two men who escorted him from Bellview to Hamilton's Fort. Probably there was threat of Indian troubles and they wanted to make sure that he would be perfectly safe. He was.

Grandfather was active in the church in Mexico, especially in the seventies quorum and in the high priests quorum. He was first counsellor to the stake president A. F. McDonald, then to president Miles p. Romney and then to President A. Thurber. He was ordained a patriarch on 9 March 1908 under the hand of Apostles John Henry Smith, George F. Richards and Anthony W. Ivins. He died 9 June 1910 in Colonia Juarez and was buried there.

He had built a grand home there for Aunt Louisa and she was justly proud of it. It was a big two-story brick home with a nice wide porch and white fence around it. She raised a beautiful flower garden, one of the nicest ones there, but when I went to Mexico years later the Mexicans had ruined it. They had stripped all the wood off for making fires. They had taken the picture frames from the walls, leaving the frame photos scattered about, and the place was a wreck. Aunt Louisa died 2 March 1908.

This will seem rather repetitious but I found another account of the old Redd home in New Harmony that was written by aunt Alice a number of years ago. It has some things in a different way.

GRANDMOTHER REDD'S KITCHEN

The trend towards specialization along many lines means progress but in the process old-time family 'get togetherness' has been lost. Always a recall of it wraps me in nostalgia and warms me like a comforting cloak. The big kitchen, the family workshop, knew the meaning of the word. There the family, from parents to young children, enjoyed the warmth and light from the wide fireplace with its burning pine backlog, as they worked together, and prepared almost everything the big family ate or wore.

The farm, orchard, garden and range-lands with hard labor produced the bread, milk, butter, meat, chickens, eggs, fruit, vegetables, honey, molasses and wool to be exchanged at the weaving factory for cloth and warm bedding. Even shoes and boots were, many times, made in homes from oil-tanned hides, made into leather at the local tannery in Cedar City.

Ours was a typical pioneer kitchen, wide pine board floor, whitewashed walls, an iron-wood burning stove in the corner, and a wash bench by the back door with water buckets and wash basin. On wash days the bench was used for washtubs and boards. A long roller towel hung on the back door, and under the small mirror always rested the comb and brush case. On the window ledge usually some red geraniums bloomed and on the window casing always the much used almanac hung.

Against the side wall stood the sturdy wooden lounge with sitting room for half a dozen people, and when occasion demanded, it could be extended into a bed with the addition of a straw filled tick. (I imagine that was the one we had in our front room in New Harmony, and the one that Paul danced on when he swallowed his whistle. Ask him to tell about it. Note by Lura.) A box covered sewing machine and the parlor organ both stood along the south wall. That dear old organ furnished accompaniment for us at our every family song fest. Last but not least of the kitchen furnishings was the big sturdy table. It was the center of family activity, the pivot of togetherness. On its ample boards, with saw and knives the corn-fattened pork was cut up, the hams and bacon trimmed and prepared for the smoke house then to be wrapped and stored for use in the months ahead. The spare ribs, head cheese, pigs feet and garden-sage-seasoned sausage were there prepared for table use. The fat was finely chopped and rendered into lard for shortening. On the table top was made ready the meat, suet, fruit, spices and sugar for the wonderful homemade mincemeat. On that same table top the wooden chopping bowl rested and in it cucumbers, onions, peppers, cabbage, tomatoes etc. were prepared for chow chow, chili sauce, pickles, relishes, catsup. There too were prepared fruits for preserving, jellies, sweet-pickled peaches. There the big field squash was prepared and cut into strips to dry in the attic for homemade pumpkin pies. On the oil cloth cover of the big table was rolled the tender pie crust, cookies, fried cakes and dough for cinnamon buns and tender soda biscuits. On its top came to cool the crusty loaves of bread with their mouth watering goodness.

The weekly ironing was done on the kitchen table and there, always were pinned the dress and suit patterns for the family sewing. Above its top hung the coal oil lamp and on it rested school books and slates for lesson work, farm account books, newspapers and magazines. Around it, as at an altar, we knelt in morning and evening prayer.

Within the radius of the fireplace warmth, we prepared the makings for rag rugs, carpets, patch-work quilts, enjoyed the pine nuts we had gathered in the fall and roasted in the back yard pit, and listened to pioneer hunting and childhood stories.

Pioneer life had its problems, its struggles and hard work, but the togetherness that we shared, garnered for us lovely memories, memories that for us all, is an interlude, rich and deep in homely joys and gracious living.

Aunt Ellen told me that the first time she ever saw her father cry was when he received news of the shooting of Elder William Berry in the mission field. They had always been the best of friends and associates. And Aunt Lou went with him to the graveside, after B. H. Roberts had dressed up as a hobo and had gone into Tennessee and quietly brought back the bodies of the two elders. He stood with uncovered, bowed head and wept with tears running down his face.

The following obituary appeared in the Deseret News at the time of his death:

"Lemuel Hardison Redd who departed this life on June 9 1910 at Colonia Juarez, Mexico, was born in Onslow County, North Carolina 31 July 1836, making his age nearly 74 years. His father was John Hardison Redd and his mother Elizabeth Hancock. The family removed to Murfreesboro, Tenn. in 1838, and when he was six years old his parents embraced the gospel as restored through the Prophet Joseph Smith. In 1850 they crossed the plains. Lemuel being then fourteen years old, drove an ox team from St. Joe, Mo., all the way to Salt Lake City.

The following spring, 1851, the family located at Spanish Fork, Utah, being with a few others, pioneers of that place. His father assisted in erecting the first sawmill south of Provo, Utah. What is known as the Walker Indian War broke out in 1853, and the town and sawmill were destroyed, entailing a temporal loss of \$6,000.00 to this one family.

Jan. 2, 1856 Lemuel was married to Keziah Jane Butler, and to them 13 children were born, six sons and seven daughters. Shortly after their marriage, they filled a missionary call to Las Vegas, Nevada. Later he crossed the plains as a teamster to bring in the immigrating saints. In the spring of 1862, he and his wife and four children took part in the founding of New Harmony, in response to a call from President Brigham Young to settle 'Dixie' in Utah. He went on several expeditions in pursuit of marauding Indians and had engagements with them.

He married Sarah Louisa Chamberlain in 1866, from which union there were fourteen children born. He served in the bishopric of New Harmony for twenty years, from the year 1871, and filled many other positions of trust with

ability and fidelity. He took part in the settling of the town of Bluff, San Juan County, Utah and later made a splendid home in Mexico. His children received a liberal education in the best institutions of learning in Utah and in the colonies in Mexico, and are among the best teachers and business people where they dwell. He lived a life consistent with his profession as a Latter Day Saint. He was ordained a patriarch March 8, 1908.

At Grandmother's deathbed, there were six of her children present. Three of them were married. She had become so very ill that they knew the end was near, and they wanted to get Vilo and Caroline there from Parowan, and it took such a long time. Grandmother wanted to hear Vilo sing. Aunt Della wanted to keep her alive until they got there, so she could hear Vilo sing. She went into another room and prayed for help. She was impressed to cook vegetables and give her mother enemas with the vegetable water to feed her. It worked. When they all assembled Vilo sood by the bed and sang sweetly for her mother. At first she thought she couldn't do it without breaking down, but they told her it was the last thing her mother wanted, so she did.

Grandmother's motto was always, "Better suffer wrong than to do wrong."

Thomas Jackson

History of

T. Jackson

Compiled by Frances E.J. Dastrup & Lydia Z.J. Cowley Haslam Nov. 1942

History of T.Jackson

Compiled by Frances E.J. Dastrup & Lydia Z.J. Cowley Haslam Nov. 1942

Information obtained from Family records, Utah Genealogical Library, Elder B.W.T. Norman genealogist of England, also from English Histories and from various Parish Clerks of English Perishes.

The first known ancestry of the Thomas Jackson family dating back to 1697 were residents of the little town of Blackley or Bleakley, one of the most interesting suburbs of Manchester, Lanceshire, England, now a part of the great city of Manchester.

As to the derivation of the name Blackley, the root may be "bleacon" to bleach or make white, and that originally the Saxon name makers meant to describe it as "Whitely" and not Blackley--Lea meaning a field or pasture. In the Aryan, Sancript root "blak" means to shine or to burn.

Located in the midst of extensive forest lands it was rustic and beautiful. Its inhabitants were mostly farmers and hand loom weavers. They kept animals and bees and surely better honey could not be stored than was gathered in the dells and cloughs of Blackley where wild flowers grew in great abundance.

The small hamlet in the valley of the Irk river was first people by thrifty Saxons who made good use of the river, its open lands and extensive forests. no better eels could be found in all England than those taken from the Irk. Its banks were covered with trees and verdure shrubs and wild flowers. The village had no railway, no omnibus or train cars. The inhabitants not engaged in farming worked at the making of cloths: cotton, linen, and woolen.

They sent their cattle, corn, butter, milk, and manufactured products to Manchester. They were happy and industrious and clung to their rural homes with great tenacity.

The forests of Blackley were said to be haunted by ghosts and female witches.

With respect to the dress worn by the peasantry Strutt says: "The rustic, when in his Sunday attire had a leathern doublet with long points and a pair of breeches primed up like pudding bags, with yellow stockings and his hat turned up with a silver clasp on the leer side. "Bulver, tells of a man who, "Drew out of

his slops a 'pair of sheets, two table clothes, ten napkins, four shirts, and a brush, a glass, a comb, with night caps and other useful articles.'"

Dress of the factory girls is thus described:

"And in a chamber close beside, Two hundred maidens did abide, In petticoats and flannel red, And milk white kercheives on her head.

Their smock sleeves like a winter snow, That on the western mountains flow and each sleeve with a silken band, Was fairly tied at the hand. Which pretty maids did never lin, But in their place did all day spin".

Blackley has been honored by the residences of distinguished families, by the reputation of its ministers, by its historical associations and by the vigor of its people.

Many chapels, churches, and beautiful halls were erected in the lovely little village. The halls were homes or country residences of wealthy people of the large cities. Among the halls were Smedley Hugh, Collyhurst, Harpurhey, Crumpsall, Boothe, and Blackley.

Some of Thomas Jackson's ancestors attended the St. Peter's church and their remains lie in the burial grounds of this church.

Earliest known ancestors in the Thomas Jackson line are:

John Jackson, linen weaver, of Blackley, Lanc. Born about 1697. Married 25 Dec. 1723. Katherine Finch of Heaton, Lanc. She was born about 1699. Their children were:

1. Margaret Jackson, Chr. 27 Dec. 1724 2. Thomas Jackson, Chr. 16 Oct. 1726 3. Joseph Jackson, Chr. 17 June 1733 4. Annie Jackson, Chr. 16 May 1735 5. Benjamin Jackson, Chr. 9 Nov. 1736-7 6. Edward Jackson, Chr. 30 May 1739 7. Jane Jackson, Chr. 1, Nov. 1741 8. David Jackson, Chr. Probably about 1743.

The wife Alice thirty-six years old and five children: Maria, twelve years: John William, six years; Elizabeth, four years; Joseph Brigham, three years; and David Franklin, sixteen months; sailed from Liverpool on the ship "Emerald Isle" 30 November 1855 and they landed in New York early in 1856. While waiting in New York their son David Franklin died and was buried there. From New York the family went to St. Louis, Missouri and while waiting there for an emigrant company to go to Salt Lake City the family became acquainted with Elder Nicholas Grosbeck who later took charge of some emigrants crossing the plains, the company being designated as the "John Banks Company."

He got permission to drive a team for Elder Grosbeck and by so doing paid for transportation of himself and family. They landed in Salt Lake City, 2 Oct 1856 and 7 October 1856 at the point of the mountain in Salt Lake Valley their on Thomas Edward was born. They were then on their way south, probably to Juab County as they settled first in Nephi, Juab County, and here their daughter Alice Ann was born 15 May 1858.

From Nephi they went to Moroni, Sanpete County and there their daughter Millicent was born 23 Feb 1861. Their next move was to Payson, Utah County where a son James was born 4 March 1863. He died 19 October 1873 and was buried at Payson. Later a daughter was born who was named Jane but her birth and death dates are not known.

Plural marriage was being practiced in the L. D. S. Church at that time so he entered into it by marrying Susan Martin as second wife. She was born 23 Aug. 1821 at Bath, Summersetshire, England. She emigrated to America in 1850, lived two years in St. Louis Mo., and came to Utah in 1852. She died 21 April 1908 and was buried in the Provo City Cemetery. She had three husbands prior to Thomas Jackson, a Mr. Hooper, a Mr. Brain and a Mr. Gray. It is known that she had a daughter by Mr. Hooper and a son by Mr. Brain whose name was Frank.

The date of the marriage of Thomas Jackson to Susan Martin is not known but it must have been about 1861 as they had a daughter born 7 May 1863 in Payson and they named her Susan. This daughter married a Mr. Wm. D. Sutton of Park City. She died in Park City, Utah l May 1900. She was buried in the Provo City cemetery. She was the only child of Thomas Jackson by this wife.

In the year 1869 many prominent men of the Church were called to fill a six month' mission in the Eastern States and Thomas Jackson was one of those to receive such a call. His mission took him to the state of New York and while here he met Dinah Burrows and later married her as his third wife.

Dinah Burrows was born 24 April 1847 at Woolsthorpe, Colstorworth, near Grantham, Lincolnhire, England. She was the oldest child of George Burrows of Woolsthorpe born 5 October 1821, and Abigail Ann Brown born 3 June 1822 of Woolsthorpe. At the time Abigail Ann Brown married George Borrow she was a servant at Stoke Hall in North Stoke. The marriage date of this couple is given on certificate as 24 May 1846. He, George Burrows died 25 March 1871 and was buried in the Colsterworth Churchyard.

After the death of her husband Abigail Ann Burrows and her children emigrated to Utah, and the boys worked on the farm of President Brigham Young to pay their emigration fees. Abigail Ann Burrows died 24 Jan 1903 at Bridge, Cassia County, Idaho and was buried at Stanrod, Idaho. The children in order of birth were:

l. Dinah born 24 April 1847 at Woolsthorpe, married Thomas Jackson. 2. Edward born 13 Nov. 1849 at Woolsthorpe, Married Mary Nutell. 3. George born 14 April 1850 at Woolsthorpe, Married Webb. 4. Frances born 19 Sept. 1851 at Woolsthorpe, Married John Redding. 5. Orson born 14 Jan. 1854 at Woolsthorpe, Married Alice Crompton. 6. Elizabeth born 6 Feb 1856 at Woolsthorpe, Married John Garner. 7. Lewin Born 26 May 1857 at Woolthorpe, Died 9 Nov. 1857 Unmd. 8. William born 17 May 1859 at Woolsthorpe, died since 23 Sept. 1871. 9. Franklin born 7 Oct. 1862 at Woolsthorpe, died May 1922 not Md. 10. Phillip born 10 Sept. 1865 at Woolsthorpe, Md. 1st wife Sarah Ellen Godfrey; 2 Md. ?

George Burrows and his wife Abigail Ann were early convert to the L.D.S. Church in Woolsthorpe, Colsterworth, Linc. England. The family was ridiculed and the children teased because they were Mormons. At the age of ten years Dinah, the eldest child, was hired out for one year to care for a baby girl but she stayed and cared for the child for six years.

In her youth Dinah was often persuaded to join the Methodist Church but its principles did not appeal to her so she did not affiliate herself with it.

At eighteen she went to London and served in a family doing household duties. This family lived in East London near Victoria Park and from the window of her up stairs bed room she could see most of the beautiful park, which was kept up for the benefit of the people at large. The master of the house was a civil engineer. One night he became insane and was taken to a hospital and died there. The family then moved to West London where they rented a large house and took in boarders. One day while there a young man came to the door and through conversation with him, Dinah learned there was a branch of the L. D. S. Church at Shepherd's Bush, three miles from where she then stayed.

Each Sunday afternoon she was expected to attend some church, so as a blind, she would stop inside a church near by and then in great haste she would go to Shepherd's Bush to hear the L.D.S. Elders speak.

One night instead of attending church as was expected of her she ran to Shepherd's Bush and was baptized by Elder Jacob Pierce.

She was careful and economical and saved enough from her earnings to pay her transportation to America. After a short visit to her parents in Woolsthorpe she left for America on the good ship "Colia Ada" in 1869 which sailed from South Hampton. They anchored at Harve, France and stayed there two days. While waiting here she wrote letters to her folks at home also to her former mistress in London.

She was three weeks on the ocean but finally landed in New York in July 1869 near Castle Gardens. Her funds being exhausted she had to stay in New York and earn enough to pay her transportation to Utah. Soon she found employment with a Baptist family. They had no use for the Mormons but they did like to get Mormon girls to work for them.

She was living with this family in 1869-70 at the time the Church sent out the short time missionaries and there was where she met and became acquainted with Thomas Jackson.

He was laboring in the city of Dunkirk, New York and one day while at his work the name "Dinah Burrows" was spoken to him very plainly by an unknown voice. At this time she was going by the name of Ann Burrows so when he found out that her real name was Dinah he told her how he had heard her name spoken to him while laboring in Dunkirk.

They became intimate and he promised her protection until she would reach her destination and that he would then give her a good home. This he did as he married her as his third wife in the Endowment House in Salt Lake City 4 March 1871. He took her to Payson, Utah, and she lived width the first wife Alice for some time.

James the nine year old son of Thomas Jackson and his first wife Alice died in 1873. Dinah was at the bedside of James when he passed away.

Dinah gave birth to her first child, Clara Edith, in 1871. She was staying at this time with her mother Abigail Burrows in Millville, Cache County, Utah. This daughter died 4 Feb. 1972, and was buried in Millville. Her second child, a daughter, Frances Elizabeth was born in Payson 21 July 1873, and another daughter Zilpha Lydia later called Lydia Zilpha was born Sept 11, 1874 at Payson, Utah.

In April 1875 Thomas Jackson made another move. This time to Annabella, Sevier County, Utah, taking with him Dinah and two children. It was with reluctance that Dinah went, but her husband, after much persuasion, convinced her that he was doing it for the good of herself and children.

On April 6, 1876 while living in Annabella, Sevier County, Dinah gave birth to her fourth daughter, Alice Maud. She, Alice Maud, died of Spinal Meningitis on 6 Sept. 1896 in her twentieth year. Shortly after the birth of Alice Maud, the family moved to Glenwood and here the following children were born: George Franklin born 9 Oct. 1877; Fredrick born 15 Jan. 1879; He died after an operation at the Holy Cross Hospital in Salt Lake City, Utah, 17 October 1904; Horace born Jan 1880, died 22 Feb. 1893 of diphtheria; Bertha born 6 Aug. 1882. She became the mother of twelve children. She died 1 April 1931; Hermione born 25 of Nov. 1883. Married Chancy Eugene Hill June 21, 1905. On 4 July 1928 she gave birth to her fourteenth child. She died the 9 Oct. 1953 at Provo, Utah and was buried there.

The United order was being practiced in Glenwood when Thomas Jackson was influenced to move his family from Annabella to Glenwood, principally to join in the Order and help out in the various industries as he was an efficient furniture maker and carpenter. He owned a set of Molasses rollers. At that time many people raised sugar cane and the rollers were needed to crush the cane from which molasses was made.

In addition to running the molasses mill he worked at his trade making furniture. He also made caskets for the dead. The articles of furniture which he put out were exceptionally strong and were made to endure. At this date 1942 some of this furniture is still in use by members of the family.

Thomas Jackson was a fluent speaker, a Bible student and a lover of Shakespeare and was therefore interesting as an entertainer.

Not long after establishing himself in Glenwood and joining the United Order he sent for his first wife, Alice and family, who moved from Payson to Glenwood. However the second wife Susan and her daughter could not be persuaded to go South to Glenwood so they lived in Provo where Susan died on 21 April 1908. She was buried in the Provo cemetery.

The families of Thomas Jackson were not strangers to hardships, and trials, as they were pioneers and had all the varied experiences which pioneers usually encounter. But he was always cheerful and would sit by the fire place with, and sing to the children and tell them stories which were exceptionally interesting to all.

His first wife Alice was a midwife and nurse and successfully helped to bring many babies into the world. Her services were greatly appreciated and sought after by the people of the community. In the year 1880 Thomas Jackson accepted a missionary call to England. This called for the exercising of great faith on his part and also on the part of his family as the family was in straightened circumstances. His wife Dinah had two young children neither of which could walk alone. The family had scarcely any food or clothing but by the assistance of the Ward Bishopric and contributions of Ward members through the United Order the family was cared for until his return.

He had a well equipped carpenter shop, so shortly after returning home went to work in his shop at his trade. Machinery in the carpenter shop was run by water power. One day he accidentally came in contact with the heavy revolving belt of the water wheel and he was dragged underneath in such a way that his hip was badly crushed and one of his legs broken. This seemed to wreck him physically. He did not fully recover from the effects of the accident and passed away on 14 Sept. 1883 and was laid away in the Glenwood cemetery. He was the father of twenty-two children (22) and one hundred and twenty grandchildren and has many great grandchildren.

He lived a good life and was an honorable father in Israel. His wife Alice passed away 23 March 1905, and was laid by his side in the Glenwood cemetery. His wife Dinah died 12 October 1937 at the home of her daughter Lydia 544 West 3rd North Salt Lake City, Utah and was buried in Glenwood cemetery in the Jackson Family plot, Oct. 15, 1937.

William Smellie Redd Family A Brief History of the William Smellie Redd Family

William Smellie Redd was born in Raymond, Alberta Canada on Dec. 13, 1915 to William Redd and Irene Smellie Redd. He was baptized on his birthday, Dec. 13, 1923, in the Cardston temple along with other Primary children his age. Quite a unique experience. Families were not in attendance due to winter travel hazards.

When he ran a spike through his knee, he was gravely ill. With the help of the priesthood and his Dad's idea to use physical therapy techniques ahead of his time, Smellie was restored to health and regained normal use of his leg.

He was the fun loving brother of six sisters and one little fellow who adored him. He and his Dad were very close. They shared a love of basketball (Smellie spent two years in Grade 12, which was perfectly acceptable in Canada at the time, for the purpose of continuing to play on a champion Basketball team.) and Scouting, and enjoyed working on the farm together.

On March 5,1937, Smellie took out his endowments prior to entering the Mission Home in Salt Lake City. It was there that he met Laurel Darpha Hill who was also headed

to the Canadian mission. He jokingly said, "We had a whirlwind courtship and got married 9 years later." Actually, the idea of marrying did not occur to them until after the mission.

Smellie attended BYU before volunteering in 1941 to serve in the Canadian Army. He was commissioned as an officer. His armored car corps scouted ahead of the troops clearing the way. One of the men in Smellie's armored car division in the Holland campaign said you could depend on Smellie Redd to find or invent anything you needed, to keep your outfit going.

He received a telegram saying his father had passed away November 1, 1944. A couple of weeks later came the telegram telling him his father was seriously ill. His Dad's death was a great sorrow to him. His sister says he was never the same after the war.

He arrived home from the World War II on January 1, 1946, spent a couple of weeks with his family and went on to Utah to visit Laurel on January 18th. They were married January 28, 1946 by Elder Harold B. Lee in the Salt Lake temple. Smellie did not have a temple recommend with him from his Canadian bishop, and so was interviewed by Apostle David O. Mackay to receive a recommend. They returned to Canada a week or two later where Smellie was discharged from the Army.

They lived in a couple of rooms in the top of the old Redd home in Raymond. He worked at the sugar factory and helped his mother and family. Continuing education at BYU was a priority in the fall of 1946. January 18, 1947, Hermie Joan was born in Prove, Utah. That spring Smellie accepted an offer for a fellowship for medical school at a University in Madison, Wisconsin. (Ironically, Smellie and Laurel returned there years later to fill a mission). By Christmas, he knew that avenue was not what he wanted for his life. He returned to the Y and completed his requirements for a teaching certificate becoming one of the first two Seminary teachers in Canada. He taught Seminary and band in Cardston, Alberta. William Harold was born there on Dec. 29, 1948.

While they lived in Cardston, Smellie and Laurel made it their goal to attend the temple weekly, and felt the blessings of heaven as a result of their commitment. On July 19, 1950, Smellie, as one of the presidents of the Seventies, was helping with a Seventies concession at the Stampede when Ellen was born in Cardston. In 1951, Smellie was called to be a missionary to the Lamanites.

They purchased an old Model A for transportation. It took two or three days to drive to Utah in that Model A, lovely family camping memories. The object in going to Utah was to further Smellie's education, but wonderful family visits were the highlight. The Lamanite Mission on the Blood Reserve near Cardston became part of the Stake Mission in 1952, at which time Smellie was called as District President. Many hours were spent visiting and gaining the confidence of his friends on the reserve. Often his whole family would accompany him. They kept in touch with many of these acquaintances throughout the years.

When he stopped teaching seminary, he helped with construction of elevators in Cardston and Grannum. One morning in 1953 during family prayer, little William prayed that his Dad would not have to go to work any more. That day, Smellie was in an accident. He sustained injuries to his neck, was hospitalized, and laid off work.

He was later hired by the Canadian Govt. as a seed inspector. In 1955, Smellie helped make seed cleaners. The plan was to share the profits from sale of the machines. His partner chose to do the selling solo, shutting Smellie out.

Smellie and Laurel began to look for new opportunities. They considered homesteading in the Peace River Country but felt drawn to Grassy Lake. Torries hired Smellie to drive the cat and scraper that summer. Thus started a "pioneer adventure," no lights, no water, no bath, "Plenty of nothing" in their first living quarters, the old James house east of Grassy Lake. With Marvin Torries help, they arranged to buy a quarter section of land from Bill Tarduff and moved the family to the two roomed house on that property. Eventually they hooked up running water through a hand pump on the kitchen cupboard, and natural gas for heat and lights.

Laurel started teaching school that fall to help meet obligations. She continued until retirement age, taking a break only for a mission.

Smellie and Laurel both held many church callings. It is probably fair to say they did whatever they were asked to do, willingly and to the best of their ability.

Smellie's commitment to honestly was real. When trying to sell an old vehicle, he took the prospective buyer out and told him EVERYTHING that was wrong with it.

In 1956, a calf kicked the knee Smellie had injured as a boy. The cartilage was broken requiring surgery and a stay in the hospital in Calgary. One of Laurel's nieces, Dawn Broderick, came to stay with the children. She remained with the family for the rest of the year. The children loved her.

There were several hospital stays for Laurel as well. They would have had the large family they had hoped for is she had not miscarried six times.

Smellie served as Branch President from 1958 to 1963 when he was made High Councilman in the Taber Stake.

Laurel designed the home of her dreams and the family started building it on her Birthday, Oct. 3, 1959. It was agreed that Christmas would be held in the new house in 1961. Accordingly, beds were moved from the old house, (the girls had been sleeping there for several months) Christmas was enjoyed, and the beds were never taken back to the old house. The family continued construction and finishing while enjoying the new home. Windows were finished in 1963. Indoor plumbing came only after Joan had left for college in 1965. The phone arrived after Ellen left for college in 1968. The TV never did arrive because the family chose to leave that influence out of the home preferring to

collect second hand musical instruments. Many happy hours were spent playing and singing together.

Because of crop failure due to drought, Smellie took teaching positions for two years at a Hutterite Colony, for 1 year in Monarch (commuting home for the weekends to farm), and for 1 year in Myers High School as a biology teacher. In 1961, the whole family spent the summer in Edmonton while Smellie and Laurel both attended summer school.

In spite of set backs, they had a dream to take their family to see church history sites. That dream was fulfilled in 1965 as they drove back east to revisit their mission field, attend the World's Fair and come back home along the route the Saints followed.

From 1965 to 1972, three Lamanite Placement boys, in succession lived in the Redd home.

William left in 1967 to the Guatamala-El Salvador Mission. He was one of the early attendees of the new Language Training Mission.

Joan married Gilbert George Hornberger of Rosemary, Alberta on Sept. 5, 1968, and graduated from the "Y" in 1969. That fall Michael George Hornberger was born, the first grand child.

Ellen served in the France Switzerland Mission from 1972-1973.

William married Peggy Swenson of Orem, Utah on Aug. 18, 1973 in the Ogden temple.

Thomas John was called to the same mission as Ellen entering the mission home only a few weeks before her release.

Smellie and Laurel served 5 couples missions, starting in South Dakota, Rapid City Mission Jan 24,1974-July22, 1975.

Ellen married David Ray Eldredge of Portland, Oregon on July 24, 1975 in the Cardston temple.

Gilbert and Joan's baby, Clark Thomas died on April 26, 1977 and was buried in Creston, B.C.

In 1979, Smellie and Laurel moved into town and turned the farm house over to William and Peggy.

July 11, 1979, Thomas John married Cheryl Lynn Sims in the Manti temple.

In 1980, Smellie and Laurel did some touring in the Orient while visiting Dave and Ellen in Japan at the time of Ira's birth (Nov. 1, 1980) in Yukosuka, Japan.

They were called to the Malaysia Singapore Mission from Dec 1981-July 1983. From there they were assigned to serve in Hyderabad, among the first missionaries to serve in India.

Nov, 20, 1981, Joan's veins collapsed and her heart stopped beating while she was on the delivery table. Thanks to Priesthood blessings her life was spared. She faced many serious challenges bringing their family into the world but remained convinced that it was Heavenly Father's will for them to have a large family. Miracles repeatedly spared her life.

Smellie and Laurel served in the Philippines, Cebu Mission, from 12 Dec, 1984 to June 1986. They also served in the Milwaukie Wisconsin Mission from March 16, 1988 to September 1989. Their last mission was served in the San Jose California Mission from May 1993 to December 1994.

Smellie and Laurel remained faithful to the church throughout their lives in spite of the trials they had, as every true Saint will. Laurel passed away Dec 18, 1997, having had a mastectomy in 1987, and having struggled in the end with cancer of the lining of the stomach.

Thomas Jackson

Life Sketch of Thomas Jackson

Written by his daughter, Lydia Haslam Aug. 1932

My father, Thomas Jackson, was born in Blackley, near Manchester, Lanc. England on 13 Sept. 1832. His father was John Jackson and his mother was Sussannah Grundy.

He must have been an early convert to the Latter Day Saint church as he was baptized in England 4 Oct. 1840. The first missionaries of the church went there in 1837.

Alice Crompton, first wife of my father, was baptized 5 Dec. 1841 in England and my father must have been present at the time as he told the officiating elder that he was baptizing his wife, which proved true as he married her on 14 Aug. 1842.

He was a cabinet maker and upholsterer by trade and was very efficient workman. After his marriage they lived in England, probably at Blackley, until they had five children. He left his family there and came to America on the good ship "Neva" which sailed from Liverpool on 9 Jan. 1855.

He thought his chances for making a living and earning money were much better here than in England. He was President over the company of Saints who migrated at the same time.

He was able to send for his family a few months after landing here and they left Liverpool for America on the ship "Emerald Isle" 30 Nov. 1856. The family consisted of the wife Alice, and the following children: Maria-twelve, David Franklin- nine, John W. six, Elizabeth four, and Joseph Brigham -three. They landed in New York early in 1856 and while there their son David Franklin died. They went from New York to St. Louis, Missouri and while waiting here for an emigrant company to go to Salt Lake City, father and family became acquainted with Brother Nicholas Grosbeck who later took charge of some emigrants crossing the plains, the company being designated as the John Banks Company. Father got permission to drive a team for Elder Grosbeck and by so doing paid for transportation for himself and family. They landed in Salt Lake City 2 Oct. 1856. Their son Thomas Edward was born near what is now known and was at that time as "the point of the mountain", on 7 Oct. 1856.

They went to Nephi, Sanpete County to reside and while there their daughter Alice was born. They moved to Moroni from Nephi and here their daughter Millicent was born. Their next place of residence was Payson, Utah County.

Father married a second wife. Susan Martin, and she gave birth to a daughter in the year 1862. The first wife Alice also gave birth to a son the same year and they named him James.

The daughter of the second wife was named Susan and when she married it was to a Mr. Sutton. She was the only child of my father and this second wife as a separation took place.

Father was called on a six month mission to the Eastern States in 1869. Many prominent men of the Church such a stake presidents, Bishops, and Counselors and others were sent about the same time on similar missions.

Some of these missionaries were unfortunate and lost their money by theft or in some other mysterious way so Church members helped by making their losses up to them. Elder Grosbeck was one of the missionaries and he helped the others a great deal.

Father's mission took him to the state of New York and while there he became acquainted with my mother, her name Dinah Burrows, having been spoken to him while he was laboring in the city of Dunkirk, New york. At that time mother was going by the name of Ann so when father saw her and heard her real name he was much surprised and he related to her how he had heard her name spoken in Dunkirk.

An intimacy sprung up between them. He promised her he would have a care over her until she got to Utah and he would then give her a good home which he did. He married her in the Endowment House Salt Lake City 4 Mar 1971.

He took her to Payson and she lived with his first wife for some time. James, son of father and Alice, his first wife, died in Payson in 1883. He was eleven years of age.

Mother gave birth to her first daughter, Clara Edith, in 1871. She was at that time living with her mother in Millville, Cache Co.

In April 1875 my father took my mother and two children, Fanny and Lydia: Clara Edith having passed away down in Sevier County, to make a home. Mother cried as she did not want to go, but father told her he was doing it for the good of herself and the children.

They settled in Annabella and while there Alice Maud was born on 6 April, 1876.

The United Order was being practiced in Glenwood, Sevier County so father moved to Glenwood, principally to join the Order and help out with the industries as he had a set of molasses rollers, which were considered very valuable property at that time. Many people raised sugar cane from which the juice was extracted by crushing the cane between heavy rollers. The juice was collected and boiled in large vats, to a syrup state commonly called molasses.

Father also worked at his trade and made many pieces of furniture not only for the towns people but for his

families and people from adjoining towns. He also constructed many houses. The products of his hands in the furniture line were made to endure. Mother has at this writing, articles of furniture which he made which are in a perfect condition as to their structure after constant use for sixty years or more.

His first wife and family came from Payson to live in Glenwood but the second wife and her daughter did not do so. Glenwood was the family home as long as father lived. The families were not strangers to hardship and toil as they were pioneers and had all the trials and experiences which pioneers usually encounter.

Father filled a mission to the Eastern States in 1869 which was for a term of six months. He went to England on a mission in 1880 but did not stay the usual time as he had to return on account of ill health.

Shortly after his return he was at work in his carpenter shop when he met with an accident. He accidently came in contact with a revolving belt on the water wheel which dragged him in such a way that his hip was badly crushed and his leg broken. He did not fully recover from this accident and died on the 14 of April 1883.

He was true to his religion and to his God and tried always to do his duty to his Church and neighbors and associates. His was an exemplary life as his habits were clean and his thoughts pure. He loved to read the scriptures and being blessed with a very good memory and fluency of speech, gave many addresses to the Saints on doctrine and church ordinances and principles.

He loved to sing the songs of Zion and no greater joy came to his children than when he would sit with them at the fireside, sing to them and tell them stories and interesting incidents. His one great handicap was deafness and he was compelled to use mechanical devices to increase sound volume so he could hear. I remember one device he used which he called a dentiphone. It was shaped similar to a fan, made of some black substance and could be opened and closed like a book. He would hold it by a handle which was attached to one edge and the opposite edge he would place between his teeth and with this he used to say he could hear very well.

He looked very attractive in his silk stovepipe hat (which the elders used to wear) and his polished shoes and his neatly pressed clothes. All his wearing apparel was immaculate. He would not have it otherwise. Young as I was he taught me how to iron his handkerchiefs without creases being left in them. This I have never forgotten.

He tried to honor the Sabbath day and keep it holy therefore all the clothes and shoes for the family had to be put in readiness on Saturday night. With pride in his heart he would take his families to church, thus showing them the right path.

He passed away when I was about nine years old but I have vivid recollections of the things he used to do and say and of the many things he taught me.

William Alexander Redd

WILLIAM ALEXANDER REDD

by Lura Redd

WILLIAM ALEXANDER REDD

by Lura Redd

William Alexander Redd was born of "goodly parents", namely Lemuel Hardison Redd and Keziah Jane Butler Redd, on the 19th of September, 1861 in Spanish Fork,

Utah. He was their third son and fourth child. I can find no record of his blessing which was probably done in Spanish Fork.

In those days, when the church authorities wanted to enlarge the habitable territory, they merely sent word to a number of heads of families and formally gave them a call to go to such and such a place and settle. It usually meant to make a permanent home there.

So in 1862 Lemuel H. Redd accepted such a call to go to New Harmony, Washington County, Utah. He never questioned authority, so sold out his holdings in Spanish Fork and moved his family.

He is first mentioned in the church minutes of the new home on the 15th of June, 1862. That would make their baby , William A., eight months old. The other children were Lemuel Hardison Jr. 6; Mary Jane 4; and John Wilson 2. His father, Lemuel Hardison, had an uncle, Alexander; and an uncle, William. Keziah Jane had a brother named William Alexander who died when he was four, so the name William Alexander came from both sides of the family.

Lemuel H. Redd first settled in the little town on what later became known as the lower street, and across the street from a family who had heard the gospel in far-off Switzerland.

When William A. was about two, and still in dresses (in those days little boys wore dresses for a few years, probably until they were house broken) and his older brother, John, about four, they travelled abroad in search of adventure.

They found it in their neighbour's yard where they scared a setting hen off her nest and broke her eggs. This made the little Swiss woman so angry that she turned them over her knee and spanked them. Their mother, Keziah Jane, hadn't ever done that to them, and was a bit upset. She explained to the little woman as best she could that in America people didn't spank other people's children; and that she would replace or pay for the broken eggs. The little woman later bore a baby girl, Mary Verena Bryner, who William A. later married, and they had fourteen children.

There they had only the things and tools they brought with them. There were no shopping facilities nearer than Salt Lake City, about 300 miles away, so they managed to create other things they needed with their own hands.

Boys and girls learned early to do many things about the house. They had the example of their parents and elders and also were encouraged by them. In this household there was no idleness. Father used to tell how, when the neighbour children came to play, his mother would organize them into what they called a "BEE", and put them all to work at cutting potatoes for planting, shelling corn, peeling apples or other fruit for drying, sewing carpet rags, etc. Many of the children learned their home work from his mother. My mother always said she did.

In October, 1866, Grandpa married Sarah Louisa Chamberlain and she became a part of the household. She had fourteen children and his mother had seven more, so father was a big brother to twenty-three younger brothers and sisters, nineteen of whom grew to maturity.

As pioneers, Lemuel Hardison and Keziah Jane Butler Redd did everything that was necessary for them and their welfare.

On one of his trips to Salt Lake City, he bought a shoemaker's kit. It consisted of a box with a hinged lid. Across the back of it there was a row of little compartments filled with little wooden pegs, as they didn't use metal tacks then. They used an awl to poke the holes to put the pegs through. The kit also contained a hammer and four lasts; a small one, two middle-sized, and a large one. As all shoes were made on one or other of the three lasts, their shoes were as near to a fit as these lasts could make them.

Father said that when they were small they were the only children in town who had shoes when it snowed. The others came to school with wet, cold feet and had to warm them at the little heater they had in the middle of the room, and sit barefooted all day. They'd scrape the hot coals out on the hearth to warm their feet.

Their shoes were precious; and when it was wet and sloppy, Aunt Mishie says their mother and Aunt Kezzie would wrap their feet up in gunny sacks and tie them on. When they arrived at the school they'd take off the sacks and put on their shoes. They would then put the gunny sacks under the pot-belted stove to dry during the day.

Often they weren't dry when school was out, but they tied them on anyway and carried their shoes home. Always, when the weather was warm, they all went barefooted. These shoes were made of hides they brought from Salt Lake City or tanned at home. They greased them up with tallow to make them wear well.

Father told of the early days when he was very young, that they even danced barefooted and barred those who wore shoes so they wouldn't step on the bare toes of the others. The floors weren't very smooth and they sometimes got slivers in their feet. Then some swain who had a pocket knife pulled it out, opened it up, and the foot with the sliver was held up while he pulled out the sliver and the dance went on. Why let a little sliver stop your fun.

When William A. was about eight, he wanted to make some shoes. He was given permission to make a small pair out of the scrappy edges of the hide. He cut out the shoe by the pattern, also contained in the kit. He sewed the upper parts together and tacked the sole to the upper. The wooden pegs entered the last, which also was of wood, and made it hard for him to get the shoe off. He had quite a bit of difficulty, and, by that time it was all awry. He didn't know how to get his shoe straight, and was so disgusted with it that he gave up and heaved it out into the bushes.

Aunt Louisa had been watching those little hands at work. She thought it was so cute and clever of him that she kept her eye on him all the time. When he threw away the shoe, she went out and got it.

William asked, "What are you going to do with that thing?"

She replied, "I am going to keep it and when you get married I am going to give it to your wife."

"No, you're not" said William A., and he tried hard to take it away from her. This he could not do and he was quite upset over it. He told us he had gone into her home many times when she was away and searched through her things to find the shoe, but couldn't. She gave it to my mother, and nothing was more thrilling to us children than to see and fondle this little shoe and hear her story of how it came to be. Lyman was given the shoe.

William A. was baptized the 27th of June, 1869, by his uncle, Wilson D. Pace, who was the bishop of the ward. He was confirmed the same day by Wilson D. Pace.

I suppose these ordinances were performed like they were when I was baptized. After Sunday School, where the place was announced, we went to the fish pond or to a deep hole somewhere in a creek and were baptized there. Then we went home and changed clothing and went to Sacrament Meeting at 2 p.m. where we were confirmed.

As I recall, nearly the whole ward went to witness it, maybe because there were five or six baptized at the same time. It wasn't so far but that most could walk. A few rode, but we never rode to church. It was easier to walk than to hook up the team.

I note that father was not quite eight when he was baptized. It seems that they didn't stick so close to ages then as they do now. He was ordained a Teacher March 25, 1877, by his uncle, Harvey A. Pace, when he was fifteen, and ordained an Elder, May 9, 1877, still before he was sixteen. He was ordained an Elder by Elder Jacob Gates.

It took three weeks to travel to Salt Lake City one way, so people seldom went. About the only time they needed money for anything was to do shopping.

In the community at home they traded or "bartered". They even traded when they went to Salt Lake City. Aunt Alice says that her father went about every year or every other year; and when he went he took dried fruit, buckskin gloves, pine nuts, and anything they could think of and spare. Aunt Mishie said her father would bring home a bolt of cloth and they all had dresses alike.

Some man south-east of New Harmony made a grindstone and took it out to Pioche, Nevada. A man there saw it and asked where it came from. When he was told, he said, "There is silver there." They found a reef of nearly pure silver and called it Silver

Reef. It became a boom town over-night and was a good market for all their spare produce. There they could sell anything, and for cash.

So father, in his younger days, went with the other children out into the brush and willows and grain stubble and set little traps made of thin strips of wood or willows. These traps were sprung with little figure-four triggers. They could make these little traps and triggers themselves and learned to be clever at operating them.

Their chief game was quail. Quail make choice eating. They have very large breasts, though the birds themselves are small. Trapping them this way, the birds were alive and unhurt so they could save them alive and feed them in boxes until they were ready to send them down to Silver Reef. This activity was fun as well as paying off. Children also cut and dried fruit for sale. They saved their money and sent it to Salt Lake City with someone else to do their shopping.

We don't have much information about his boyhood activities, but he grew up on a farm where they raised grain, corn, vegetables, fruits, cows, pigs, horses, chickens and sheep. Undoubtedly he had his chores to do as soon as he was old enough to talk and understand.

The year-round chores for a boy on a farm of that day were: getting kindling and wood ready at night for the cook stove; cleaning the ashes out of the stove in the morning; milking the cows; feeding all the animals or turning them out to pasture; gathering the eggs; filling the lamps with coal oil or kerosene; watching out for and killing snakes; carrying water from the creek for family and household use and from the spring for drinking and cooking purposes; loading wheat in sacks into the wagon and hauling it to Cedar City to be ground into flour and bringing back the flour and bran; hunting in the nearby hills for all kinds of game for meat; etc.

The seasonal chores would include shovelling snow; chopping more wood for the fireplace; butchering animals and curing the meat by drying or jerking beef and salting pork; going to the canyons and mountains to haul wood; plowing, planting, watering and weeding the crops; picking the fruit and helping store and preserve it for the winter; gathering and storing vegetables in pits and trenches; cutting grain with a scythe and flailing it; building fences; digging ditches; making and fixing roads; clearing rocks off the land; making fences with these rocks; learning to ride and handle horses; breaking them in for various uses; tanning leather and buck-skin; making and fixing shoes; making and fixing harnesses, bridles, plows, sleighs, wagons; shearing sheep; etc.

I guess I'll never know about all his chores either, but I can imagine all those things staring you in the face to either do or go without the necessities they meant to you. It's a good thing they didn't have movies or television to miss while they did their chores. Every member of the family was expected to do his part in furnishing all necessities. And, of course, father learned all he knew about such things right at home with his parents and brothers and sisters. He, like the rest of them, learned by doing.

I went and talked to Aunt Alice, and now I might give in detail some of the things he did to make his way and earn his own living. When grandfather bought the farm in 1870 from John D. Lee, he supposedly bought 160 acres. John D. Lee owned it by squatter's rights only. Others had the same idea and squatted on various parts of it here and there, and when grandfather went for deeds there were about 60 acres left that he could call his own.

That wasn't enough ground to support his family, so he went into cattle and sheep raising. They ran their sheep in the hills about town in the summer and out on the desert farther north in the winter. The range land was public land then, and free to any and all stock-men. They took their sheep wherever they could find forage. Their cattle summered out in the brush along the foothills, and they fenced a large part of the farm in the southwest corner on both sides of the creek and fed them there during the winter. It was a job for the boys to fence it, put up the hay and herd the cattle and sheep.

In the spring, at lambing time on the desert, everybody must lend a hand and tend the lambs. If the mother died or refused to care for her lamb, it was brought home and the children raised it for a pet. Each spring a small flock was cared for at home in this way.

Aunt Mishie said she had one with a blue ribbon around its neck and Aunt Lou had one with a pink ribbon. They learned to love them, but when they grew up they got mean and would butt the little ones. (We used to call it "bunt", and when I looked in the dictionary I find both ways used.)

It was a sad day when they had to be taken to the herd, and sadder when Papa decided to make mutton out of them. And of course the little boys raised theirs too.

They didn't have rubber nipples as they have now. They had to teach these little fellows to drink out of a bucket. They would put their finger in the lamb's mouth and lower it into the milk in the bucket. The calf would suck and get a little milk. Then they would gradually pull out the finger. Then the lamb would stop sucking and they would start over again.

After many trials, the lamb got the idea. I know that is the way, because father taught me how to do it. He had learned on his little lamb at home. They raised calves the same way and taught them to drink like the lambs. Little orphan calves were called "dogies".

Then there was sheep shearing to be done in the spring. There were large shearing corrals down on the creek south-east of New Harmony about four of five miles. These corrals were probably built and owned by the Kanarra and Harmony Cattle and Sheep Co-op. Aunt Ellen says that Grandpa was a director and treasurer for about twenty years, and that he helped to organize it.

Everybody in the area took their sheep there in the spring to be sheared. Good, husky boys and men who could wrestle a full-grown sheep and hold it down were paid so

much per head to shear them. Father early learned to earn money that way; maybe he practised on his own little lambs at home.

The wool was packed in large wool sacks ten or twelve feet long, and four or five feet wide. The top of the sack was stretched on a rack high enough so the bottom merely touched the ground. The children loved to go there and climb up on these racks.

A child was first a follower, and as he grew he became a leader in these escapades.

A man let himself down inside. Then the wool from one sheep, which was called a fleece, was cut off by a shearer, wadded up and tied in a bundle.

Next it was dropped into the sack and the man inside tramped it down with his feet. When the sack was full, he could step out. It was sewn up and put on a large rack surrounded with long, upright poles with several other sacks of wool. This had to be hauled or freighted to the railroad at Milford some seventy or eighty miles away.

Early in life father did shearing, and later freighted this wool. It was a trip of about a week out, loaded. Coming back empty was shorter if they couldn't find stuff there to freight back. If they could find such stuff, they would be paid both ways.

On these trips they camped out and carried their own lunch, as they passed through no towns. Father always had a large lunch box. Sort of a big wooden chest with a few utensils. They fried their own bacon, eggs, potatoes, and usually made flapjacks or pancakes. This grub-box with a hinged lid and fasteners and handles was a necessary part of his freighting equipment.

Father, Jim Pace and Albert Taylor came to be pals in the freighting business. They liked to travel in company, sort of a caravan. Then they were not alone at night in desert country.

Jim and Albert drank tea. There were stories around about how the Chinese packed the tea in the big boxes by getting in with their feet. It was said that some of them had leprosy and even lost hair and toe nails in the tea. Jim said, "I'd drink the tea if they found a whole Chinaman."

One morning father cut a lock of hair from his horse's mane and rubbed it hard between the palms of his hands into a tight little wad. After breakfast he dropped it into the tea pot. It clogged the spout when Jim was clearing up, and when he saw it he went white around the gills. He thought he had drunk the tea from around the wad of hair.

After the shearing was done, they took the sheep out to the desert to dip them and range them there for the summer. To dip them they used a wooden trough about two feet wide and fifteen or twenty feet long. It was deep enough so that the sheep went into the dip over their heads.

They sent the sheep through this trough from one corral to another. They used some kind of antiseptic liquid they called "sheep dip". It was to prevent or cure itch or ticks, etc. Along the side of the trough a man or two stood with a sort of shepherd's crook to prevent accidents and keep the swimming sheep on their way.

At harvest time, they cut the grain with a scythe, a long, bent-handle and a long, curved blade attached at an angle. This long, wooden handle had two small handles on it just right to hold by. These small handles stood out from the other at right angles or thereabout. With practice father learned to wield the scythe deftly and could do a good job with it. Then they gathered the grain by hand into bundles, and by taking two lots of four or five strands of wheat each, and tying the heads together they made a long strand which they used to tie the bundles, as they had no string.

Several of these bundles were then stood up together into a shock. Then they hauled and stacked the bundles in the stack yard. Every farm had a stack yard. They always stacked the grain with the stems out and heads inside the stack - probably to keep the crows and other birds from eating the grain.

At first they used a flail and beat the chaff off the grain by hand. They had done it this way from the beginning.

About 1885 a man in Cedar got a brand-new invention and brought it to New Harmony. It was called a "Threshing Machine". Mr. Walker went with his threshing machine all over the area from town to town.

When he came to New Harmony he'd start up at Frank Prince's at one end of town and go from farm to farm down through the town. It was run by horse power. Four teams hitched to four tongues went round in a circle and turned a long rod that went into the machine and set it going. It took a lot of men to run it. One handled the horses, some pitched bundles, some fed the machine, some stacked the straw, some sacked the grain, and some took it to the granary.

Mostly it was manned by a crew of local men who stayed with it throughout the town, or maybe several towns. The threshing crew followed the machine and was fed by the housewife on whose farm they were presently threshing.

It was a busy time. Aunt Mishie said the kids had to take the knives and forks and spoons down to the creek and scour them bright and shiny by rubbing them in the sand. That crew wasn't going to eat with a tarnished spoon at their home and tell about it later.

They spent days getting ready for the threshing crew. The house had to be clean from attic to cellar. Then after the dinner was over and the great stack of dishes washed and put away, the young people could go to the big bins and stand in the wheat.

The most fun they ever had was to stand in the wheat when the sacks were emptied and feel the wheat flowing down over their bare legs. But father never got in on this fun. He was twenty-four and married before he ever saw a threshing machine. If he got any fun out of it, it was to pour the wheat for the younger ones. There are always two sides of fun.

The women of the town vied with each other in preparing these meals for the threshers. That's one time in their lives when they ate three banquets a day. They were still doing it that way when we went to Canada, but father had long since graduated from the crew, although he worked as hard as any when they were on his place.

After the wheat was threshed it was stored in the granary in bins. If they wanted flour they sacked it up and hauled it to Cedar City where there was a flour mill, and it was ground into flour and bran. They had to wait until the milling was done; then bring it home. They called it going to grist, or taking a grist to the mill.

I've talked a lot about wheat, but the Redds were southerners, and in the south corn is the staff of life. They liked corn in any form. They ate it on the cob; they dried it for winter; they made hominy out of ripe, dried corn; they ground it into corn-meal and ate corn bread.

It took as much work to harvest the corn as the wheat. They picked the ears off the stalks and carried them over beside the animal pens. There they shucked it. Then they took it to a shady spot and shelled it. This they did by rubbing a cob over the ear and removing the kernels from the corn.

Then they hauled that shelled corn, to Cedar City to be ground into corn-meal. I don't think father ever did the trick that one of mother's cousins did. He hauled the corn on the cob loose in his wagon box. They always made their beds on top of the load. He made his on top of the corn, spread his quilts out there and went to bed. He said he never enjoyed a night like that one. It felt so good when he turned over.

Another big feature of that day was hauling wood. They used wood in the cook stoves and in the fireplaces, and used lots of it. It had to be hauled and cut into stove lengths. At least two went to the mountain or canyon for a load. They took with them nice, sharp axes and a log chain. Each tree had to be cut down by hand and the branches trimmed off. The chain was fastened to the log and to the harness of a horse who dragged it to the wagon.

It might take them several days to get a load, and many loads for a year's supply. This activity also called for a grub-box and camping supplies. Mother always had a pile of big, heavy camping quilts. The year's wood was usually hauled in the fall after the other harvesting was done. Then our wood pile seemed to be as high as the shop or the house maybe. Now, with plenty on hand, they'd pull a log down, one at a time, and cut it into stove wood with the axe. The pile grew smaller and smaller until the next fall, and they had to start all over again. Whole gangs went out to haul wood for the meeting house

and for the old and the widows. Maybe then those who didn't haul, and the women, got up a dinner and they had a ward celebration.

Speaking of celebrations, it was a real one to go with his parents and the family up on the mountain or into a canyon to gather pine nuts. They thought it fun to gather great stacks of cones and roast them in the ashes of a campfire, like the Indians did, until they burst and shelled out and roasted the nuts inside. These were then raked up, dusted and sacked to take home to be eaten in the long winter evenings by the fire-light.

Schools were limited to three or four months in the winter. As I remember, my father went only until he was about twelve. And I guess the schools weren't so very good them. (After I had this written I remembered that Aunt Lou was telling me about a woman she met in St. George when she was down there working in the temple. This woman said that when father was in St. George to school she fell in love with him. I wrote her and asked if father really went down there to school and she says he went. She doesn't know much about the particulars, but he went at least one winter. I was glad to know about that.)

I think they had the original home-made benches when I started to school. Anyway, they were home-made and much carved up with pocket knives - so rough that we could hardly write on them. They were double so that two sat together when we were big enough to sit in them.

At first I sat with all the other beginners on a long bench - no desk. We did not know how to write, so why a desk? We sat there all day long and looked at our books. If we talked or made a noise, we got rapped on the head with teacher's pointer.

Once in a while the teacher came and showed us something in the book for us to learn. Then she went to show another group something. All of us, big and little, in one room, and the teacher was anyone they could get who didn't have anything else to do. None of them had been through high school. Lucky were we if he had been through the eighth grade.

Father always thought that if he had more schooling he would have been better off, so later, when he was able to take the time, he took a correspondence course in bookkeeping. Maybe he felt the need of it when he planned to start his store. The rest of his schooling was received in what is called the "University of Hard Knocks".

Aunt Alice says that they were always making and repairing fences. I guess having all those cattle through the winter was hard on fences. I suppose the cattle themselves did what they could to tear them down, and then the spring thaws and floods did a lot of damage.

By the side of the road, between the wheat and the meadow, there used to be a great log. We loved to climb over it. It had been carried there by a big flood. Things like a flood would call for almost a new fence.

I hardly need to mention such mundane jobs as hauling manure. That and many other farm jobs can be taken for granted. Too, she said they were always planning and building barns, sheds, coops, stables, etc. They never thought of hiring anyone else to do such things, but everybody undertook to do his own building. If a public building were necessary, they joined together and made a party out of it.

Yes, they even had parties. The refreshments were honey candy or molasses candy. They might season it with a weed that grew in abundance about the farm and valley, horehound. I never knew that they could make candy out of sugar, and of course we didn't. They made their own fun and got enjoyment out of very simple things and recreation. They all had to work to exist. That was imperative.

I've told about a lot of things that they did because I can see father as a tot beginning to do some of the simpler parts, and as he grew, taking a bigger part, until he became an expert in each and every one of these activities.

I asked Aunt Alice where he learned blacksmithing. She said he learned it by doing it, like he learned everything else - every other activity and skill. That's the way people learned then - by doing.

When my brother, Will, went to school in Cedar City and took manual training, he said he'd have been much better at it if he'd learned to weld two pieces of iron together in the shop. Every little bit helps.

When William A. was about sixteen, a travelling photographer came to town. The first one the little town had ever had. And of course everybody had to have his picture taken. It would have been folly not to have. They all dressed up in the best they had, and even borrowed things. They even wore things too big because they were fine.

I remember father and mother considering a photograph, tin-type, of Uncle Frank when he was a boy. He had borrowed a fine pair of pants from a much bigger boy for the occasion. They hung about down to his ankles, and father said it looked like he wore a skirt instead of a pair of knee pants. That he would have looked better in a pair that fitted him, regardless of the material and the age of the pants, than in these that were so much too big, even if they had been of velvet.

This photographer used sensitized tin to put the picture on. It was called a "tin-type". They could make only one copy on tin. Films were invented years later where they could make many copies.

Of course, father had his piicture taken. He wore a vest, top-coat, ribbon tie, curly hair and even held his hat. I guess to show that he had one. Aunt Alice says that there is no doubt but that his mother made the clothes that he wore. She, or one of his sisters I think, must have dolled him up for the picture.

This was taken before he went to Arizona with his brother John to freight. When boys were old enough and experienced enough to handle two teams of horses on one wagon, they could get plenty of work freighting. They were, at that time, having to haul all the stuff they used by team. John and William stayed away two years. During this time Father stayed with his sister, Jane, in Mesa some.

She was married and living there. Mother always used to say that she was going to ask Jane for father's picture which was the only one he ever had taken while he had hair. Aunt Alice says she can't remember him when he had hair; neither can Aunt Lou. He gave the picture to his sister Jane when he was there.

Years later Aunt Luella visited Jane in Mexico and borrowed the picture and let Lyman take it for some copies so I was grown up a long time before I ever saw it, though I had heard mother talk about it many times. His later pictures, as you know, show him as bald.

I've tried to find out something about Father while he was in Mesa, but there seems to be no record of the place then. The ward was organized years after he was there. I do know that he met and knew Brigham S. Young and George F. Richards while he was down there, and both men were proud to say that they knew him as a friend in the early days down in Arizona.

He and John came home after two years, for Christmas. I guess he was so glad to get home that he never went back when John did. At that time they were beginning to build the Southern Pacific Railroad and John got a job working on the railroad. Father took up life where he had left it - doing the old jobs he had been doing when he went away; shearing, freighting and doing the work he knew how to do.

Finally he got a job herding sheep and was getting a dollar and a quarter a day when he was married. Twenty-five cents of it was cash and a dollar was in sheep. He was herding for William S. Berry of Kanarra. William S. Berry and Grandpa had known one another for many years - ever since 1862 when Grandpa had moved to New Harmony. They were business associates and loved and trusted each other, as father and Joseph E. Berry came to do years later.

There are snakes in New Harmony - many kinds of them. One kind is called a blow snake. When it is frightened or disturbed or angry, it blows itself up to be much bigger than it normally is, and its scales puff out. It is a good mouser and harmless if not bothered. Grandmother once caught one skimming the cream off her milk pan in the cellar.

The milk had been skimmed before and she had accused some of the children of doing it, but they had denied any knowledge of the circumstances.

One day, Aunt Dell went up in the dark room at the head of the stairs to take a bath. This place was unfinished and the uprights were exposed and there were openings down the wall. She started to sit on a chair there, and a blow snake was coiled on it. She screamed and William A. came to the rescue.

The snake had started to crawl away down between the studdings. Father caught it by the tail with a good hold and pulled. It puffed up and wedged itself between the boards. Father could not pull it out. To get a stronger hold he wrapped it around his hand. Then he could pull harder. He pulled so hard he pulled it in two. The head end they never found.

In the church section of the Deseret News of the 22 August, 1959, I find the following:

"Three of the Elders were sitting in the parlor where the meeting was to be held. They were John H. Gibbs, 31, a Northern Utah school teacher; William S. Berry, 46, a large, powerfully-built man; and Henry Thompson, 25, youngest of the three. The three Elders were discussing their recent experiences - threats, warnings to leave the country.

Elder Gibbs picked up his Bible to find a passage of scripture. Suddenly a commotion was heard in the yard. James Condor was shouting to the boys to get their guns. The two burst into the house. At the same time a masked man stepped in the door and began taking Martin's rifle from a rack on the wall.

The mobster then fired at Elder Gibbs, mortally wounding the missionary. Elders Thompson and Berry advanced on the mobster, Elder Berry seizing and holding the barrel of the rifle. Thompson escaped out the door and into the woods as two more masked men entered the room. The two shot down Elder Berry and the Condor boy."

I didn't put it all in, but this is enough for here. That was the man father worked for and this happened only six months after father and mother were married. I think that it is likely that father was looking after his sheep while he was on his mission. Aunt Lou thought so too.

He was in the Kanarra and Harmony Co-op with grandfather, maybe the president. Aunt Alice says that William S. Berry greatly influenced father's life for the better. Father thought a lot of him and of his son, Joseph E. Berry, who was later the bishop of Kanarra.

As you have already guessed, Father lost his hair while he was in Arizona. He said that, while freighting, he wore a large, felt hat without any ventilation in

it, and he always thought that was the reason he lost his hair. Be that as it may, he lost it then.

About this time he began to notice Mother. Up until now she had just been a little girl who ran about with his little sister, Caroline. Mother told about the time that she and Aunt Caroline tagged after him and some of the bigger boys and girls when they were going on a spring walk up on the mountain above the farm.

They came to a stream, swollen by the spring thaw; and the big boys carried the girls over it. They couldn't persuade the little girls to go back home, so father picked one up under one arm and another under the other arm and carried them across. I guess he never thought that he would later marry this little snip.

But now it was different. She had grown up and was a big girl, nearly sixteen and she pleased him. He knew, too, that she had good training because his mother had trained her a lot of the time.

His cousin, Jim Pace, now began going with her cousin, Mary Mathis, and they made a foursome much of the time. Uncle Johnnie Bryner said that at one time he was sick and they volunteered to sit up with him. They thought he was asleep but he wasn't and heard them talking. Then and there they made their final decision.

He heard Jim Pace say, as he slapped his knee, "Yes, sir! That's what we will do. We will go to the temple."

William A. was an Elder long before this and was eligible for the temple.

They were married February 27, 1884 in the Saint George Temple, and came back to New Harmony and lived in with his mother and her family.

Having been there so much with Caroline, Grandmother was quite at home. I don't know how long they lived with his folks, but I think it was nearly a year.

Then father bought the little place on the upper street where he later built the brick house. He moved the little frame house over in the next block on the corner across from the meeting house. They lived in the little frame house until after his mission.

I was born in it. Fern was the first one born in the brick house which was built back of the other, which was moved away. I don't know whether Will was

born before or after they moved into their own home. It was a little house with two rooms in the front and a lean-to on the back for a kitchen.

When he built the brick house people wondered, and even some asked, how he could build such a house and he so young. He said it was because he had worked hard and never uselessly spent his money, and he had a wife that did the same. None could deny that statement. So they moved into a four-roomed house with a one-roomed basement and a front and back porch.

I don't know how long he worked for the Berry family, but I imagine it was not long. The sheep he took for wages set him up in the sheep business before too long, and he was then on his own.

He and Dode Berry were always the best of friends and liked to play tricks on each other, but all in fun. Like the time when Dode called him up in the night, and when father had such a hard time to find a telephone in the dark, and when he did find it Dode yelled "New Year's gift, Brother Redd."

I guess Papa played tricks on Dode, but he never bragged about them. I know that father often called at the house of the Berry's on his way to and from Cedar City where he often went on church or other business.

They had two children, William born January 7, 1885, and Elda Grace, born October 16, 1886, when he received his call to go on a mission. I don't know the circumstances of his call, but they say that his brother, Lemuel Hardison Jr., said when he received his call, "Papa, I can't afford it."

His father said, "Lem, you can't afford not to."

Uncle Lem said, "Well, So and So refused to go because he couldn't afford it and he is worth many times what I am."

His father said, "Nevertheless, you can't afford not to answer that call."

Uncle Lem went and his life was one of great wealth and influence all his life, while So and So lived and died a pauper. His father, (they called him "Pap" - that was the southern way of referring to their father) probably gave the same advice to his son, William Alexander.

Anyway, William A. left for his mission on February 10, 1887. They had been married three years, lacking seventeen days. He writes:

"Harmony, February 10, 1887 - started from home - it was snowing - a great many of my friends was present to see me off.

11th - arrived at Milford at dusk - was feeling quite blue (two long days of riding in the snow) - met Brother Joseph Houston who had been left the day previous - was a welcome travelling companion.

12th - Boarded train for S.L. City - was feeling somewhat down when Brother John Turner met us at Nephi who travelled up to Provo - he on the way gave us as much good counsel in as few words seemingly as was possible for mortal man to give, which was gladly accepted.

13th - Sunday - went to meeting - witnessed a congregation of about 6,000 people - Brother L. Snow who was just released from the p. was the preacher -

 14^{th} - Bought my outfit and was then set apart for my mission by Apostle H. J. Grant.

15th - at eight o'clock we took our departure for the East."

On the way they passed through Cheyenne, Denver, Topeka, Kansas City, Memphis, Chatanooga and Atlanta. He received his appointment for his mission at Chatanooga, the headquarters of the mission.

Scott Mathison said that he made out the will and probated it of John M. B. Higbee, a descendant of the Higbees of Mountain Meadow notoriety. John M. B. Higbee told Scott that he was a presiding elder in the mission when father went to the mission.

At the priesthood meeting, he explained that he had been given instructions to open up the territory, long since unworked, where Brothers Berry and Gibbs had been killed by a mob. Higbee needed a companion to accompany him on this mission.

After his explanation, he asked for a volunteer. Some shook their heads, but a new man, William A. Redd, was the first one to raise his hand and volunteer to go. He didn't take father. Probably he wanted a more experienced man than this beginner, but it tells that father was willing to meet all calls that came.

From Chatanooga he went to Atlanta, Georgia, and on to Cowpens, South Carolina. There they hired a vehicle to take them to Thickety Mountain, Spartanburg County, N.C., his first field of labour.

Here is where the Watts family lived, for he mentions them repeatedly. I always thought that the Watts family were his converts, but they were in the church when he arrived at the mission. I can't find Thickety Mountain on the map. Maybe it was only a few farms; maybe they have changed the name.

Maybe it was like the place they directed me to when I was in that area. They said I could see the store from the station. I could see merely the corner of something which proved to be a two-roomed house where the family lived in the back and a few shelves with mighty little to sell on them in the front room. The rest was country filled with forest. I can see that when I consider this place.

Around here were a few friendly people who took the Elders in and listened to them. From here they went in different directions on short trips to find people to talk gospel to. During his first months there he mentions meetings and Sunday schools frequently.

These are some of his entries:

1887 - Feb. 27th - "Sunday held two meetings - considerable interest - went down to Cowpens at night to see Brothers Wright and Fraughten off for home - got back to J. Black's at daylight - slept till noon and heard John Black bear testimony of the blessings of the Lord manifested to him by feeding the servants of the Lord - in a public gathering when Elders Wright and Fraughten were leaving."

April 2nd - "Saturday clear - after B went over to Brother Surratt's and dinner held meeting - Elders Anderson, Ferrin and I talked - was about 28 present - good attention."

"April 3rd - Sunday - clear fine weather - fast-day - held S.S. and meeting - D with sisters Jas. Patterson - stayed all night with John Black."

"April 29th - Friday - took dinner with Sister Watts - helped Wm. Watts plant cotton and took supper with him - stayed all night with Webb Smith."

"May 2nd - Monday - after B turned potato masher" (How many of you remember mother's old wooden potato masher? This is it.) "Stayed overnight with Harrison Bright." (it's too bad father didn't know that one of his genealogical lines was Bright. He met several of them - C. Bright, Theodore Bright, William Bright, Hosea Bright and there was a place called Bright Town). (All these trips about were on foot.)

"May 20th - Friday - go to John S. Black's - received a letter from Alonzo Redd — (I stayed with his son when I was down there.) "took D with Alonzo Canty - green peas - stay all night with Harrison Bright."

"June 8th - Wednesday - go to Brother Robinson's - eat mulberries - go to broad river fishing - had a powerful time - all catch 9 fish, 2 eels - eat strawberries - go home get supper and go to bed - tired out - Sister Robinson wash our clothes after night."

"August 2nd - Tuesday - raining - go out in council with the rest of the Elders, and Elders Blaskwood and Redd appointed to go on a trip up around Island Ford, N.C., to see if we could find anyone who wanted the gospel."

"August 5th - Arose and took breakfast and continued our journey promiscuously through the woods until we felt hungry - stopped at one Mr. Rogers and applied for dinner but was given to understand at once we couldn't eat with him - our next application was at Mr. Miller Kenney's - he gave us dinner - then we travelled on - applied to Mr. James McKenney's to stay all night - we was refused - we then stopped at Mr. Joseph McKenney's who took us in overnight, gave us supper and breakfast - think our fare was begrudged us." (Rutherford Co., N.C.) (returned)

"August 10th - Wednesday - arose - took B - go to Brother Surratt's - bid the folks goodbye - take our grip sack and start on our designated trip in search of the honest in heart in a southerly direction - travelled about 8 miles and called on one Mr. Samuel Littlejohn for dinner who took us in and treated us very kindly - had a gospel chat of about two hours - left him an Articles of Faith and No. I tract - travelled on - call on Mr. Burgess (B preacher) for lodging - he kindly refused us - we then called on Mr. Mark Fowler who sent us to Mr. R. C. Littlejohn who, on account of sickness, took us back to the above Fowler to stay overnight and come after us in the morning for breakfast (a gentleman) Union Co., S.C." (walked 15 miles this day)

"August 11th - after B - then on our way slowly, it being very warm - arrive at Mr. Wm. Paris's on Mr. Huse's place about 12 o'clock - take dinner - have a chat with him in regard to the principles of the gospel - he being interested goes and gets a school house for us to preach in and circulates the news - several come to interview us who expressed a desire to hear us preach - in the evening we hold a meeting - about 40 present - good attention and good spirit manifest - after meeting they gathered around to get some tracts and ask questions - received two invitations - appointed another meeting - stay with Mr. Paris." (walked 8 miles that day)

"August 13th - Saturday - warm - reading - Mr. J.F. Blackwood came in - talk awhile and invite us home to D (accepted) - some friends come in - talked about two hours - go to Mr. Jackson Gregory's - hold meeting - had about 50 present - good spirit manifest - after meeting - talk - explaining scripture and singing until about 12:30 o'clock - retire - wore out."

"August 14th - Sunday - arose - took B - go up to Sunday school with Mr. Gregory - on arriving at the place was informed it was going to raise a disturbance so we turned off - had a long talk with a Mr. Whitlock (who had invited us to come and see him) and others who on account of his near and dear neighbours talking to him he refused to take us in so went back to Mr. Wm. Paris's for dinner - spent the afternoon in reading and talking to people that come in - go to Mr. Mace Garner's and hold meeting - about 20 present - quiet prevailed - retired about 10 o'clock.

"August 15th - Monday - arose - took breakfast - start back for Spartenburg Co. - go through without dinner - arrive at Brother Sarratt's about 4 o'clock - supper with Brother Watts - slept with Brother Sarratt." (walked 23 miles that day)

"August 31st - Wednesday - go to Brother Surratt's - read - take dinner - Elder Wilcox and I go out and have prayer - then we start on a trip to Cleveland Co., N.C.

"Sept. 4th - Sunday - breakfast and went on - came to Mr. Wm. Long's in Gaston, N.C. He was not at home so went on after dinner to Brother Gwin's - had a gospel chat till 12 o'clock with some strangers - put in the night there." (walked 18 miles that day)

"Sept. 13th - all the Elders meet - tend to our prayers - then Houston and I take our equipment and start in a southerly direction - take D with Mr. Creek Lee Linder - call at Mr. Sam Littlejohn's - on account of sickness we move on - called on Squire Bonner - he refused to take us in - then we called on Mr. Smith who said we could stay, then repented and sent us adrift - called on Mr. Lipscum who fired us right now (wrathy) says, "I have no use for you - you hadn't ought to be allowed in this country - you had ought to be run out - the first thing you know you won't know nothing - we bade him goodbye and travelled on - we next stopped at Mr. Gochers who took us in and treated us like gentlemen - gave them the gospel until bedtime - had prayer with them and retired." (walked 10 miles today)

"September 19th - after B started up the road and met Mr. John Rippy who invited us to take the day with him - invitation accepted - witness the beginning of cotton for the first time - after D pick cotton awhile - write to my wife - take

supper - hold meeting - about 40 present - good order - received no new invitations - go to bed at a reasonable hour."

"September 23rd - then to Mr. Bill Rodes who took us in treated us kindly - his wife was a Red - her father's name was Thomas and grandfather's name John Cross, Ancre, Spartenburg Co., S.C." (walked 10 miles)

"September 24th - when B was over we travelled on and crossed into Laurens Co. - take D with Mr. John Wilbanks of the Methodist faith - spent the afternoon in the woods, reading - stay all night with Mr. G. C. Byrd a very clever gentleman - his daughter gave music on piano and sang - which reminded me very much of home - - " (the little old organ we had in New Harmony belonged to Grandpa) "had a good night's rest."

"September 28th - (after sleeping well in an old gin house) - arose from our slumbers and travelled up the road - take breakfast with a Mr. Young - go to Clinton - call on Mr. Yerby a hotel keeper, for to stay the day but was refused - stopped in a store about an hour - the news went out that Mormon preachers were in town - all seemed anxious to see us - some came in and talked to us, some came to the door and daresn't venture their lives farther, others peeked in at the windows - from there we travelled toward Laurens - took D with Mr. Simpson but he didn't want any gospel - then travelled on slowly - was taken in at night on first application by Mr. John Godfrey and treated like gentlemen. Very wet and sloppy travelling." 11 miles.

"October 2nd - Sunday - grease up our shoes and trudge along - call at Mr. Sam Tumblin who kept us the day and night - very clever people - the lady never used tea, coffee or tobacco nor never did."

"October 3rd - arose - had B by daylight and went about 2 miles, washed and changed clothes and washed our dirty ones - the first of such work I have had to do. After our clothes dried we continued our travels - called at the house of a Mr. Wood and applied for refreshments and a night's lodging which was granted us - we gave them the gospel by the fireside and sang a few hymns - then retired."

"October 5th - Wednesday - another beautiful morning dawned and after B we found ourselves toddling along the big road - stopped by the wayside to read - a young Baptist preacher came along and invited us to preach in a school house in his neighborhood - we accepted the invitation - we ate dinner with the family of Mr. John Owens, a sanctified man - in the evening about 30 came out to hear - had a very good time - no questions asked after meeting - we ate supper and stay all night with Mr. Boland."

"October 8th - arose this morning feeling much refreshed - after B we continued our travels calling at the residence of Mr. Barksdale - while sitting in the plazza resting I picked up the Goldville paper and saw a short account of our proceeding by the correspondent - myself and companion having passed through there on the 26th of September it was as follows - "One day last week a couple of tramps passed through our neighborhood begging their way, saying they were preachers of the gospel, disciples of the meek and lowly Jesus, which we would advise to be arrested and sent to the nearest chain gang."

After dinner we travelled on - called on Mr. B. Owens to stay with but was refused. A gentleman standing by says, "I will take you up to the next station on the hand car, there is a big meeting going on up there and ministers scarce and they would be glad to have you to help them out, but when the word "Mormon" came up, "that let's me out", says he. We travelled on - called and stayed all night with Mr. Dave Barton." (walked 12 miles today)

"October 11th - after B we start on our way - met J. A. Dacus who invited us to stop for dinner - we did so and preached him the gospel and after dinner we travelled on reflecting on the good times we had anticipated in opening up a field in Laurens, but they were all blited and we had found ourselves in the big road hitting the grit in getting away - called on Mr. Waddle to stay all night but didn't make the riffle - we then called on Mr. A. W. Parker. When he read our certificate and I commenced to tell him about it, he said "See here, do you men want supper?" says I, "Yes, and we want to stay all night with you too." He took us in and we gave him the gospel straight out. He seemed when we left to be quite badly torn to pieces." (8 miles today)

"October 15^{th} - cold and windy - continued our march toward Spartenburg - we had supper with him and went to Mr. D. J. Farr and stayed all night." (17 miles)

"October 18th - after B we continue - stop at Mr. T. Allen's to inquire the way - he invited us to stop for D which we did - had Possom - and toward evening we found ourselves at Brother Pool's where we stayed all night."

"October 27th - another rainy day dawned and after B. Wilcox and Redd go down and take D with Mr. Andrew Smith after which we all went to Bright Town and spent the night with Mr. Morgan Paris."

THERE IS A BREAK HERE UNTIL FEBRUARY 25th when he is moving to another field of labour. A note book is missing. If anyone has it get some stuff out of it for this paper.

1888 - begins here:

"Feb. 28th - had a early B go to Cowpens - I take the train to Spartenburg - go to the Merchant Hotel - stay until after dinner - then boarded the train for Augusta, Ga., where I arrived at 9:20 p.m. - stayed all night at the Central Hotel." (ride on the R.R. about 160 miles.)

"March 3rd - Saturday - Go to Mr. Green's - get some tracts - take dinner with Mr. E. V. Lowe - from there we go to Mr. Nathaniel Walker's - wash all over - hold meeting at night - a goodly number present and a good spirit manifest. We stay all night with Mr. Walker.

"March 8th - another beautiful day - after leaving Mr. Creggs we went to Mr. Lawrence Eubanks - no one at home - go to Mr. William Lowe - no one at home - take dinner with Mr. Evert V. Lowe - go to P. Heath's but on account of sickness we went to Mr. Plunket Tools and stayed all night."

"March 9th - we go and stay all night with Mr. Ransom Lowe."

"March 18th - Sunday - another beautiful day dawned - go without dinner -arrive at Mr. Walker's about 1:30 - meet Jeff Red - hold meeting in the open air - give out what tracts we have - go stay all night with Mr. Edward Key."

"March 19th - after B go lay down in the woods - write letters to J. F. Pace and my wife - go take dinner with Mr. Wiley Lowe - supper and stay all night with Mr. Kenney Key."

"March 22^{nd} - Cold north wind - very disagreeable - write to Aunt Louisa and the children - read to the folks - take D with Mr. Cregg - go over and stay all night with Mr. Wyley Lowe."

"March 24th - Saturday - after B go to the branch and take a bath and change clothes - take dinner with Bryant. Leave our valises - go from there to Mr. Jeff Redd's and stay all night." (walk 15 miles today)

"March 25th - stay with Mr. Jeff Redd until after D then go over to Mr. Calhoun Redd's - hold meeting - talk until evening - go to Mr. Jeff Redd's - take supper - sing the songs of Zion - talk on the gospel until bedtime - then we retire."

"March 26th - arose feeling fine - remain with Mr. Jeff Redd until after dinner, reading and explaining the gospel - rain - go down to Mr. Calhoun

Redd's - take supper - then hold meeting - have a good time - retire at a reasonable hour - rain most of the night."

"March 27th - after B start back to Lowe Town through the rain - take D with Mr. Bryant - go to the P.O., receive letter from father - stay the balance of the day with Mr. Bryant and the night - rain most of the night."

"April 3rd - spend the day watching the road for the new Elder - about 4 o'clock Brother Henry Fairbanks of Payson arrived - A (He is the father of Miles and Viola F. Lamar who used to live in Raymond) "All glad to see one another - go stay all night with Mr. John Cregg."

"April 7th - after B continue our journey to Mr. Jeff Redd's where we take dinner - spend the balance of the day - supper and stay all night."

"April 8^{th} - spend the day with Mr. Redd - after D hold meeting - have a good time - supper and stay all night with Mr. Jeff Redd."

"April 12th - Mr. Boyd and family being sick, Brother Fairbanks and I conclude to help him plough and on going to the field my mule took a fright and ran away - after we caught her we put in the day ploughing and stay all night with Mr. Joseph Boyd."

"April 22nd - fast day - go to the other side of the runns to Calhoun Redd's - take dinner - hold meeting in the evening - have a good time - not many present but a good spirit manifested - supper and stay all night with Calhoun Redd."

"April 23^{rd} - spend the forenoon reading - take dinner with Mr. Cally Redd - go fishing but failed to catch any - replant corn for Mr. Jeff Redd - supper - sing the songs of Zion and go to bed about 10:30 o'clock at Mr. J. Redd's."

"April 24th - replant corn for awhile - plough a little for Cally Redd - dinner - supper - stay all night with Jeff Redd."

"May 4^{th} - go to the office - rec. letter from my wife with picture of self and children - also rec. letter from pap and coat from Brother Humphrey the Boss - stay all night with Mr. J. Cregg."

"May 8^{th} - go to the office - get the paper - spent the afternoon reading - stay all night with Mr. Wyley Lowe."

"May 17th - Thursday - after B we go to Brother Anderson's - meet the other Elders - get our equipment - bid the folks goodbye and start for our own

field in S.C. - weather very warm - arrive at Mr. Nat Walker's about 5:30 o'clock where we stay all night."

"May 28th - after a good night's rest and the morning refreshments we start on our way to Graniteville. After a walk of about 9 hours through the hot sun we arrived there and was very kindly received by Mr. Berry Washum's family where we stayed all night - talked some on the gospel and retired at a reasonable hour quite tired."

"June 6th - Remain at Mr. Walker's until after dinner - write to Brother Humphrey's - then go to Mr. Benjamin Boyd's. He not being at home we went to Mr. Wily Lowe's and stay all night."

"June 9th - After B go to the office - rec. letters from my wife, Sister Caroline, Elder Ferrin - learn of the death of my bro. John W. Redd - ate dinner - wash - and change clothes - stay all night."

"June 19th - After taking the morning's refreshments go to the branch and take a bath - then go to the office - rec. letter from my wife, also a registered letter from Brother Humphreys with one from my wife stating in it that she had sent me \$25.00 - go down to the runs stay with Mr. Jeff Redd."

"June 20th - Stay all day and night with Mr. Jeff Redd."

"June 21st - Stay with Cally Redd all day and night."

"July $3^{\rm rd}$ - Go to the office, rec. letters from my wife, Pres. Spry & Brother A. R. Smith, pres. Of the Georgia Conference. Go to Mr. Jeff Redd's and stay the night."

"July 20th - Stay with Mr. Jeff Redd until after B and start back- go to the office - rec. letters from my wife and Brother Humphreys stating we were permitted to go to Augusta for the 24th July celebration - D and stay all night with Mr. John Craig."

"July 24th - Nine of the Georgia Elders had assembled with the saints to celebrate the day. Called to order at 10 o'clock by William A. Redd who was appointed master of ceremonies. The program was as follows - Music by band, singing by the choir, "Oh Ye Mountains High". Prayer by chaplain David F. Fawns. Singing "Up Awake Ye Defenders of Zion". Pioneer speech by pres. A. R. Smith - Choir sang, "Come, Come Ye Saints". Music by the band - speech by John M. Browning - Song by Jadediah Balentine "Latter Day Kingdom", recitation by

David Bennion - closing hymn by the choir "Oh Say Have You Seen etc.". Benediction by the chaplain. The barbecue was then made ready and a glorious feast for all present. Thinking the time had not been sufficiently taken up so a meeting was held. Called to order at 3 o'clock by pres. A. R. Smith - after the usual exercises - singing and prayer, William A. Redd was called to address the congregation and followed by pres. Smith. Thus the day closed which was passed without a single word of disrespect or a strong phrase of any name or nature as I heard, something I never witnessed before in my life - I stayed all night at Brother McLittle's, slept with Brother Smith. (This celebration was held at Grovetown, Columbia Co., Ga.)

"July 25th - The Elders all came in and after talking and singing a while we retire to the woods - hold meeting (the eleven Elders). The Spirit of God was present in rich abundance and a time of rejoicing was had by all. All being called to express his feelings, desires and determinations - to speak of the goodness of the Lord as he was so led. After we had all spoken pres. Smith delivered a very interesting and instructive sermon, exhorting all to faithfulness in performing our duties, especially in qualifying ourselves for future usefulness. The comfort, joy and satisfaction that was experienced is beyond description - Brother Smith and I slept together at Brother McLittle's."

"August 7^{th} - arriving at Jeff Redd's about 4 o'clock where we suppered and stayed all night."

"August 8^{th} - Stay all day with Mr. Redd - get Mrs. Redd to wash my coat and vest - read from Daniel 2^{nd} chapter and explain to Mrs. Redd who was a warm investigator. Mr. Darlin Heath came home with Mr. Redd and we preached the gospel."

"August 17th - Board the train for Spartanburg at which point we change cars for Cowpens." (He is going back to his first field of labour after six months away.) "R.R. ride 130 miles - walk to Brother Sarratt's and stay all night - meet Brother Jones on his way to the office." (That was Lehi Jones from Cedar City.)

"Sept. 3rd - After B we go to Brother James Watts spend the rest of the day after D finish writing to my father - Brother Humphrey (conf. pres.) feeling bad concluded to send me to Ocones to visit the Elders and saints in his stead."

"Sept.5th - Get up at 5 - wash and fix for starting. Elder Fairbanks go with me to Cowpens where I take the train for Central (70 miles) where I met Elders Wilcox and Barker with a team to take me to where they were labouring 20 miles distant - arrive at Brother Miles Mosses at about 5 o'clock where we stay all night. Continued rain all day and night."

"Sept. 6th - And still it rains - feeling quite poorly - cause bad cold and a very bad headache - ate dinner with Brother Miles Mosses - start down to Brother Nathaniel Wilson's where we stay all night, but on the way on account of the branches being up from rain Brother Wilcox had to strip twice and carry us across."

"Sept. 9th - Sunday - raining - fast and pray - we hold S.S. and meeting - after exercises in S.S. Brother Redd talk to them a short time - meeting was called to order by Brother Wilcox - after singing and prayer Brother W. talked awhile on the Kingdom of God and also our duties - Elder Redd then read from Matt. 10:34-38 and occupy about 3/4 of an hour dwelling mostly on the word of wisdom, occasionally quoting from the scriptures to substantiate my assertions - take dinner with Brother Wilson - we go stay all night with Brother Samuel Stuart.

"Sept. 10th - After B go down to see the river - it was very high from recent rains - take dinner with Silas K. Wilson - go to Brother Taylor Wilson's supper - hold a testimony meeting - 13 of the saints bore their testimony to the truth - then Brothers Wilcox, Baker and Redd speak a few minutes each and bear testimony. Have an excellent time - not one refused to get up when asked - stay all night with Brother S.K. Wilson."

"Sept. 12th - Read awhile - go out in the woods hold a meeting ourselves - talk to one another - have a very good time giving our experiences and a short account of our labours and talking over the ways we should walk and talk among the people - go and take dinner with Sister Harriet Wilson - go from there to Brother Mosses - supper and held meeting - Brother Redd did the preaching - read from 1 Pet. 3, 15 about 40 present - good spirit prevail - stay with Brother Moss."

"Sept. 13th - read and talk awhile - then we go to Brother T. Wilson's - Brother B. stay there and Wilcox and I go to S.K. Wilson's - take dinner - wade little river - go to Mr. Gubly Rains hold meeting - Redd do the preaching - read from Matt. 7:21 from which I take the first principles of the gospel - occupy about 55 minutes - good spirit prevails - stay all night."

"Sept. 20th - After B start for Seneca where I arrive quarter to twelve - board the train for Cowpens - leave train and walk to Brother Bolen and stay all night." (Ride 80 miles on the train.)

Oct. 20th - Saturday - Brother Spry arrive safe and sound - conference opened - Elders present - Pres. Wm. Spry, pres. of southern states mission -

Hyrum T. Humphries, pres. of south Carolina conf., travelling Elders, Barker, Jones, Wilcox, Jensen, Clark, Burgess, Fairbanks, Johnsen and Redd. 10 o'clock a.m. meeting called to order by Pres. Humphreys who made a few remarks - Brother Jones followed, then Pres. Spry addressed us - adjourned until 2 p.m. then Barker, Johnsen, Redd and Fairbanks D with Brother Sarratt, supper and stay all night with Brother Evan Watts." (The father of Billy of New Harmony fame.)

"Oct. 21st - Sunday - meeting called to order by pres. Humphreys. Burgess, Jensen and Spry addressed the congregation - dinner with Brother Evan Watts - meeting called to order by pres. H. Elders Clark and Spry did the preaching - which closed our conference. In the meantime we held 5 council meetings in the woods, where we received much valuable instruction - Brother Humphreys was released to go home with the Nov. company and Brother Redd to succeed him as presiding Elder (Pres) over the South Carolina conference - we make proposal to Pres. Spry to stay with us another day which he willingly consented to do. I go with Brothers Fairbanks and Barker and stay all night with Brother Bolin." (This Pres. Spry was later governor of Utah.)

"Oct. 25th - write to Miss Emily Redd of Wilmington, N.C. - rain all day." (Lura says "When I was in Wilmington in 1918 I stayed with this Emily Redd and read the letter that father wrote to her. I've wished ever since that I had copied it. He was preaching "gathering" to her which has been discontinued for many years.")

"Oct. 28th - Sunday - go to Brother Sarratt's meet the rest of the Elders. Hold S.S. and meeting. A general good time and lots of the Spirit of the Lord was enjoyed. Sister Robinson being sick sent for some of the Elders. Brother Clark and I go down and administer to her. She was instantly healed by the power of God. Sing the songs of Zion."

"Nov. 9th - Brother and Sister Roop were going down toward Cowpens to visit some of their relatives - left Brother Fairbanks and I with the house as we were going to the office when the mail came (with the understanding that we would lock the door when we left. They left the breakfast dishes dirty on the table, the beds unmade, the ovens and lids scattered around the fire as they had been used while cooking, the bread tray uncovered and exposed to mice, cats and flies, the churn with the fresh churned milk in it uncovered also, the floor unswept - in fact as it is generally termed by housekeepers - it was left upside down. We go to the office - rec. letters from wife, Elders Burgess, Wilcox, Barker and Jones. Write a note to Pres. Spry. Also write to Elders Wilcox and Burgess - stay all night with Brother Sarratt."

"Nov. 18th - Sunday - go to Brother Sarratts - hold S.S. and meeting - not many present - a good spirit manifest - D, S and stay all night with Brother Evan Watts."

I don't have any more of his mission journal. I remember him saying that when he was released he didn't have the money to come home. Then the church didn't pay their way home as they do now.

He went to Mr. Black who has been mentioned many times. Mr. Black was not a member, but a very good friend. He was a Justice of the Peace or some such thing and stood out on the courthouse steps and gave quite a speech.

He said he was going to lend this man \$50.00. He had been out here paying his own way for them and their welfare. He wouldn't lend anything to a sectarian minister, but he was going to lend it to this man, Mr. William A. Redd from Utah, because he would pay it back. He was an honest man and could be trusted.

Too, this is not nearly all of the journal I have. As you will note, I have put in only the entries of a few days in each month that I have. He has an entry for every day.

From "L.D.S. Biographical Encyclopedia", Vol I, p. 539, 1903 Edition, by Andrew Jensen:

William Alexander Redd, bishop of New Harmony ward, Washington Co., Utah, born Sept. 19, 1861, in Spanish Fork, Utah Co., Utah. When but one year old he moved with his parents to New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah, where he has ever since made his home. From his early youth a belief and a firm faith in God had been deeply implanted in his heart. During his early manhood he held several minor offices in the church. These privileges helped to prepare him for the greater callings that later in life were required of him. Patriarch John Smith, in a patriarchal blessing told him that he was chosen at his birth to be a messenger of glad tidings unto the people in gathering scattered Israel, and it was his calling to preside among people. In obedience to a call from President John Taylor, he filled a mission to the southern states in 1887-89. During his sojourn there he labored part of the time as president of the South Carolina conference. He was ordained a bishop and set apart to preside over the New Harmony ward September 15, 1890, by Apostle Francis M. Lyman, since which he has labored diligently and successfully in that calling. With his wife, Mary Verena Bryner, whom he married February 27, 1884, he is raising a nice family of children.

A Tribute to William A. Redd by Brigham S. Young:

After an acquaintanceship of several years, if I were asked to name his outstanding quality, I could unhesitatingly say, "Dependability," a sterling man who served efficiently in every position he occupied, kindly, forceful and reliant. The kind of a man you could tie to, in short, the sort of a man most needed in every progressive community. He had, too, what is rare in said man, a rare sense of humor, which gave his seeming gravity a sympathetic and friendly buoyance. He filled with honor many important offices in both civic and religious life and seemed always to possess the faculty of being right. He complied with the highest law given to man. He and his wife observed, literally, the divine fiat, increase and multiply and replenish the earth and subdue it. A highly successful tiller of the soil, a family man whose children are exceptional physically, mentally and spiritually. They have proven the fine citizenship he taught them. They could scarce be any other, as they always had before them the example of what is most valuable to society, a poised, God-fearing father.

Among others, I was at his bedside just prior to his passing. For some years I have seen what indicated the effect of the ordinance of administration, and on a table near where he was lying I saw an hour glass, the sands of which were all but exhausted. There came to me the conviction that this was our last meeting in mortality.

As I look at him over the years, I can say, "Among the most successful men I have ever known, stands my valued friend, William A. Redd."

A Tribute from Pres. Heber S. Allen, whose counsellor William A. Redd was:

Dear Sister Ursenbach,

I was not aware that I waited so long to reply to your letter of Oct. 26, but have been trying to get the harvest finished, but have not done so as yet.

I have always thought that your father was one of the finest men I have ever met. Dependable, intelligent, industrious, valiant and sincere in all things that he undertook. As a ward teacher, one was always sure that the visits would always be made on time and efficiently. As a high councillor, his judgment was always of high order, and sound and just. As a counsellor in the stake presidency, he labored with us harmoniously with a sincere and ardent desire to help establish truth, faith and righteousness in the hearts of the people with whom he came in contact. His own heart, I firmly believe, was throughly converted to the restored gospel and he impressed others with this fact.

He was a peace-maker and many times he was given the task of 'pouring oil on the troubled waters' and was successful in bringing harmony where discord had prevailed.

I was very much shocked when he was taken away so suddenly, but have always cherished my associations with him as my most pleasant memories.

Your brother, H. S. Allen

* * * * *

WILLIAM A. REDD

Brother W. B. Betts of California, who lived at Raymond about 1902-1912, told me in Los Angeles, March 11, 1956, that he was present when George Fairbanks of Raymond was administered to by the Priesthood. Brother Fairbanks said he was going to die because he saw his dead sister there waiting for him. However he was administered to, and the anointing was sealed by Bishop Wm. A. Redd. According to Brother Betts' statement, he had never heard a man pray as Bishop Redd did upon this occasion. He felt that Bishop Redd, in his prayer, was giving his own life in exchange for that of Brother Fairbanks. Three days later, Bishop Redd died.

Signed by Harold R. Laycock

William Redd History

WILLIAM REDD

by IRENE SMELLIE REDD, HIS WIFE - 1959

WILLIAM REDD

by IRENE SMELLIE REDD, HIS WIFE - 1959

William Redd, or Will, as he has always been called by everyone, was born 7 January 1885, in Hew Harmony, Washington Co., Utah. His parents, William Alexander Redd and Mary Verena Bryner, knew that a harmonious parental relationship was the best atmosphere in which to rear a righteous family. I can still hear the gentle pride in Grandma Redd's voice when she said, "William."

He had three brothers and ten sisters. Four of these died in infancy, and the rest grew to maturity and reared honorable families, except Lura and Vilo, who did not marry.

Will was blessed by his father in January or February, 1885, at New Harmony. Grandpa went on a mission for the LDS church to the Southern States when Will was three years old. Grandma often told me what a comfort Will was when Grandpa was away, and later, when his four sisters died, a few weeks apart.

She said, one day he called her to see his big louse, and when she got there, it was a daddy long legs spider.

Will was baptized when eight years old, 7 January 1893, by William A. Redd, his father and confirmed the same day by Lemuel H. Redd, his grandfather.

According to the things Will told me, he had a very happy childhood.

The winters were mild, but in the summer, when they took the cows to the pasture, they carried wet pie plant (rhubarb) leaves along to throw down on the hot sand to hop on, so it wouldn't blister their feet. To compensate for the pasture trip, there was the apple orchard, planted by John D. Lee, containing every known variety, according to Aunt Vilo Redd Snow and Will. Apples was a subject dear to their hearts and discussions of them, we listened to every time there was a family gathering.

This apple influence carried over into Will's whole life. Selecting the family supply of apples was his special privilege. None other than the choicest of Canadian apples came into our pantry. Because he came from a fruit country, this applied to all fruits.

When he paid a big price for a case of apples, Barbara says she can hear me say, "Will, that would have bought a quart of paint for the bathroom, or a scatter rug for the front hall."

He always told the clerks to save the best box of Spitzenburgs for him for Christmas. Apples and corn were almost synonymous with Will. He always watched for the first ear of corn, and whoever got up to get his breakfast shared the first corn with him.

When the girls got a little older, they took turns getting his breakfast. I often said I had to learn to like corn and squash when I married into the Redd family, or starve.

In New Harmony, they were far from the centers of trade, so most of the things were made in the home, except the things they grew. Fruit and corn were dried, soap made, carpets woven, wool spun into yarn and woven or knit into clothing, and meat salted down.

Notwithstanding this condition, Will had time to play and study. Some of his boyhood friends were Bud and Henry Pace and Lorenzo Lowe Prince. Will told me that one day Bud found a snake and said to Henry, "If I had the courage, I would kill that snake."

Henry said, "Tell me what courage is Bud, and will kill the snake with it."

The Redd's had an organ in their home that Aunt Vilo and Aunt Alice played, as they made their home at Redd's, and were more like sisters to Will than aunts. He used to call them his Little Redd Aunts.

Will read the Bible before he went to school. When he was quite young his scholastic ability saved him from the consequences of a boyish prank.

In New Harmony, as in most communities, there was the stingiest man in town, and though the boys had wonderful melons at home, they decided to raid this stingy man's patch. And raid it they did. Those melons they couldn't eat, they smashed.

Will escaped without being caught, went home and worked all the problems in his arithmetic book. This proved in his favor twice the next morning. When he went to school, they said, "Will Redd couldn't have been in the raid, because he had all the problems worked in his book this morning." Secondly, they didn't require him to take any more arithmetic until he attended Branch Normal School at Cedar City, Utah. I think it is well to relate some of the human side of people when writing a history.

According to Aunt Fern Redd Laycock, Will's sister, Will entered the Branch Normal, a branch of the University of Utah when he was seventeen. There he was an "A" student, and took part in school activities, especially basket ball, pole vault, high jump etc. He then taught school at New Harmony.

Paul tells the story that when Will was a substitute teacher in New Harmony, he hung Paul on a hook by his suspenders as a punishment. Paul doesn't look, now, as if it hurt him much.

Lura tells this story:

"When Will was sixteen or seventeen years old the Fourth of July came on Monday. Stake Conference was in Cedar City on Saturday and Sunday, the second and third.

Of course, Father went to conference, and this time took Mother too. As Will was home, we needed no other baby tender. They would be home Monday morning, as Father had charge of the big day's celebration.

When mother left, she gave Lura instructions to do the ironing, which would be needed for the Fourth. In this ironing was Will's shirt. So I ironed it special.

Mother always cold starched Fathers's best shirts, so I did Will's that way. I starched the bosom so stiff that it curved out at the top and in at the waist in a handsome letter "s" shape.

When Will put it on Sunday morning, he was appalled. He said he didn't like it, he would rather have had it with no starch.

There was nothing could be done about it now, so he wore it Sunday, and also on the Fourth of July.

He was on the committee to fire the anvils, beginning at about four a. m.

They had an iron about ten inches square and about four inches thick. Through the center was a hole, about one and a half inches in diameter. They would fill this hole with gunpowder and pass a fuse of some sort out, which was lighted.

On top of the iron, covering the hole, they put a blacksmith's anvil.

Maybe it was father's anvil, as the iron with the hole in it was also maybe his. When the fuse burned to the gunpowder, it exploded and made a sound which should satisfactorily express all the noise they could ask for. It was, by far, the loudest noise any child, or adult for that matter, in New Harmony ever heard.

They lighted one fuse this morning, and it didn't work.

Thinking it had gone out, Will went to relight it; and as he leaned over, it blew up in his face.

Paul and Lyman had gotten up early to go and watch. They came running home and told about it and laughed so hard, as kids will do, because Will ran away so fast.

When Will came home he had bits of gunpowder in the skin of his face, arms and hands. But the nice stiff bosom had been real armor against the center of the blast.

He probably never wore that again, because there were little burn holes all through it so it looked like a sieve, except for the collar and cuffs.

Father and Mother drove home that morning and took over. They had the usual Fourth of July celebration which consisted of a morning program, children's races and games in the afternoon and a dance at night.

The program was, of course, patriotic and the orator of the day brought in the bit of a mishap of the morning with, "Powder is powerful. Who said so? Will Redd."

A day or so later, Will went to the doctor in Cedar City. The gunpowder caused festering in all the little places. He couldn't even drive the team, so Jodie Taylor drove it for him. The doctor picked out all those little bits of powder like you pick a sliver out with a needle. Will recovered completely, but he always had little black specks on his arms left by the powder which remained."

Will was a student of history. During the Spanish American War, he collected all the war news and filed it. He has often told how sad he was when told he could not take his file to Canada.

After returning from his mission in 1909, Will entered the faculty of Engineering at the University of Utah where he was an "A" and "A Plus" student; and was also active in basketball, football, pole vault, high jump, etc. There was a poem written about him in the school paper. Something about:

"The teachers on the outside lurked, and said,

Let us come in and show you how,

Oh, no Mr. Teacher, we don't need you now.

For we have Redd Willy, Spry lad in basketball,

Who did the LDS annoy, And won the cheers of all.

He practiced basketball so hard one night

Went up the stairs and came down again

Asked one of the boys to take his shirt off for him,

So lame he was, he couldn't raise his arms.

Will held medals for pole vault, high jump; and on the First of July, called Dominion Day Celebration at Raymond, Alberta, he exceeded the record for pole vault.

In 1905, Will immigrated to Raymond, Alberta, Canada with his parents, where he engaged in farming until fall at which time, he hired out with the Knight Sugar Company as assistant chemist in their laboratory. Actually, Will came in the spring and worked the land, and the family followed, coming to Raymond on July First, by train to Stirling and then overland to Raymond, about seven miles. (Kay thinks Will and his father came up the fall of 1904 to look over the land they had bought.)

In 1907, he accepted a call from the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints to serve in the Western States Mission with headquarters at Denver, Colorado. There he was chosen District President. Will told many unusual and interesting stories about his mission. His keen sense of humor often helped him over many difficulties.

One night he returned to the lodging, elated over the wonderful conversation he had had with a man in the railroad station. He had made an appointment with the man for Sunday, and had even tried to sell him a Book of Mormon.

When he went to District Conference on Sunday, his wonderful investigator was none other than Apostle George F. Richards.

Kay met Elder Richards when on his mission in 1929 at El Paso, Texas, and Elder Richards laughed with Kay over this story.

Will resolved to look up anyone by the name of Redd, and found such a name in the telephone directory. When he found the people, they were Blacks. They could possibly have been some who had taken the Redd name from good masters during slave times.

After serving for 27 months, he was released to accompany Elder Nephi Harker home to Magrath, Alberta, as Elder Harker's wife had died, leaving a motherless son, Clyne.

On his return, Will was sustained as president of the Raymond YMMIA.

I was the last girl Will had danced with before he left for his mission; and he said he never forgot me saying, "We will all be praying for you."

To me there was nothing personal about it, as all families pray for the missionaries, but he never forgot it. So when he came home, he asked me for my company.

We were at a party at McCarthy's. I had cut my toe, and he had been kicked on the knee by a horse. We were both limping, and going the same way home, so he asked me to wait until he got his hat and he'd walk me home.

Later, he and some of his friends decided they wanted to take some girls to Waterton for an outing, as was the custom.

Sisters Brigham Scoville and Eva Powell, two reliable matrons, were chaperons. When Will asked me, I told him he would have to get mother's consent, as father was on a mission in New York State.

I didn't have the slightest idea she would let me go, so I was surprised when she said yes.

Dave Galbraith and Stella Van Wagoner, Earl Scoville and Blanche Fisher, and Will and myself rode in Card's three seated democrat, each couple was to take turns driving. The other two couples were engaged to be married, so Will and I spent most of our time in the front seat controlling the horses and admiring the scenery.

A couple of days after we got there in Waterton, Will traded one of his horses for a fine-looking bay and some cash. The horse's name was Kootenai. Mother had let me take our pony, Bullshields, purchased from an Indian by that name.

The next night, we decided to try out the new horse, so we went for a ride.

After we had gone some distance, Will said, "Let's trade horses."

I was willing, and as soon as I had mounted, I started off, while Will stopped to adjust the stirrups on my saddle for him.

As soon as the horse heard Will coming up from behind, he shot out like lightning, and it was impossible for me to hold him.

I could see the rocky ford of Pass Creek ahead, where I felt sure he would stumble. Of course I was praying, and Will said he was too.

I finally got the pony turned up a hill, just before he reached the ford; and he stopped.

When Will came up, I was sitting on a rock, shaking like a leaf and my mount was unconcernedly cropping grass. Will said he surely thought he would be taking an injured girl back to camp.

The owner of the horse had not said it was a race horse and had been trained not to let another horse pass him.

We led the horses back to camp, and didn't ever report our escapade to the chaperon.

The next morning, Lura, Miles Fairbanks, Will and I rowed up to the head of Waterton Lake for a sunrise breakfast. When I reported this in a Special Interest class in MIA, some of the folks said, "Didn't you know you were taking your lives in your hands?"

I replied "That's what youths do everyday."

We had a delightful time. I remember that the wind waves would be so strong we would row as fast as we could and not move a foot. There was no fear in our minds. It was a beautiful experience for us, or to us.

While we were gone, Sister Powell, who was an excellent horse woman, decided she would try out Will's new horse. She donned my divided skirt. I think a divided skirt deserves some explanation here, as some of the younger people do not know what one is. It was made with two flaring legs, then a loose panel back and front to hang from the waist, so the movement of the legs wouldn't show when one walked. Very modest and unrevealing, but with the convenience of the separate legs for straddling the horse.

Sister Powell mounted and rode off. She hadn't gone far when another horse came up from behind, and away went the horse, true to form, through the bushes and trees, tearing my skirt off her, except for the waist band. Gone was her hat and most of her clothing, even one shoe.

She finally got him under control, but was badly scratched and badly frightened. She spent the next couple of days in bed.

When the Lethbridge Fair came on, Will asked me if I would go with him and a group. Father, now home from the six months mission, gave his consent.

The other couples were engaged, in fact they were the same ones we went with to Waterton. So Will and I were the teamsters again. It took considerable time to drive from Lethbridge, so after we had talked about BYU and U of U and everything we could think of, I was tired and went to sleep.

I was awakened by Will giving me a kiss on the cheek. I was so angry that, when we arrived at my home, I got out of the buggy without speaking and went into the house.

I kept distance from Will after that for some time. But, finally, the group decided to go to the Stirling for a day of sports. Will came for a reconciliation and this time he took me in a single buggy of his own.

From then on, our courtship ran fairly smoothly, except for the tricks my sisters, Mable and Ruth, played on us.

Amelia Allred, stake president of the YWMIA, said she knew Will and I were a match the first time she saw us together.

I moved, with my parents and family, back to Rexburg, Idaho, in August 1910.

After securing Father's and mother's consent, Will came down to Rexburg on his way to the U of U where he was entering the pre-medicine.

At this time, he presented me with my precious diamond, which I treasure to this day as symbol of our love. It was our plan that Will would finish his pre-medicine, and we would go East, where he would study for a degree in medicine.

Will returned to Rexburg for the Christmas holidays, and we had a wonderful time. A number of his missionary companions lived in the Snake River Valley, one of them was named Tom Dalling, my cousin. There were family gatherings, skating parties and dancing. I had a hard time teaching Will to skate, but he was a willing student and didn't crack the ice nor his head. In the South, where he was raised, ice skating was unknown.

We had a wonderful time, and all the aunts and uncles and cousins were so glad to have us back from that "awful" Canada.

The holiday passed all too soon, and we were back to school and work almost before we knew it.

Then came the very unexpected and tragic news of Will's father's death. He had been struck by pneumonia.

His mother was left a widow with ten children, the youngest about four years old. They had only been in Canada for less than six years. There was much that required Will's help and so it was imperative that he return to help his mother.

Will expected to return to school, but that was not to be. He was made the administrator of a very complicated estate, and as things unfolded, he realized that it would be a long time before he could get things settled.

He came to see me in Rexburg, and we decided to plan a June wedding in the Salt Lake Temple, instead of waiting until he graduated. Our plan was to go East to a medical school after graduation and our marriage.

I contracted small pox, so the wedding date was postponed to July 14 at the Logan Temple, as the Salt Lake Temple was closed for the summer.

After a short and wonderful honeymoon through Seattle, Victoria and back to Canada through Calgary, we returned to Raymond. Charlie Fox met us at the Stirling

train station with the Security Investment Co. car, so we were the first newly-weds to arrive in Raymond by automobile. Will's dad was a partner in this Security Investment Co., and it became the albatross which ended permanently our plans for further schooling.

At home again in Raymond, Will was again sustained as president of the Raymond Ward YMMIA with Sister Phoebe Longstroth Evans as president of the YWMIA.

I took my new life seriously, and when asked to teach in the Mutual, I replied that I had a husband and home to care for, which would take all my time.

I repented, later, and worked in the Mutual.

We bought the Frazer house and lot east of Grandma Redd's for \$1700, and our furniture and kitchen range for \$335. Will had some horses, raised from a colt which his father had given him. It had been badly injured in a barbed wire fence, and they were planning to destroy it; but Will coaxed his father to give it to him and he nursed it back to health. This proved to be a financial blessing for us, as sale of these horses paid for our home and furniture.

We had fun decorating our new home, and Will was very appreciative of my efforts. I sanded and painted and wood grained the floors which won the admiration of the other ladies of the neighborhood.

The lot was planted with lots of apple trees and other small fruits and berries. Will worked hard to make the land produce and together, we were preparing for the arrival of our little Marie, who was born on Sunday, 26 May 1912.

We had all the land in Welling planted to wheat, one year, and wheat was worth \$3 a bushel.

On the evening of July 23, we drove out to Welling with the children to see the crop. It was up to Will's arm pits and turning yellow, a very beautiful sight. On the basis of this bumper crop, we had had blueprints drawn up for a new home.

The next day, at the grandstand where the town was celebrating Pioneer Day, the people from Welling asked Will if he had seen his crop. He said yes, last night.

They told him to go see it now.

We hurried out, and all we could see was bare ground with a few straws sticking up. One can't believe how devasting a few minutes of hail can be until one sees it.

Patriach Kirkham gave Grandma Redd a blessing and promised her the land would produce for her sake. Patriarch Brandley told my mother her children would never

lack for bread. This was proven when we reaped 14 or 15 bushels per acre during a drought year when our neighbors didn't harvest a crop at all.

Will was appointed a member of the Taylor Stake High Council where he served until he was released to become a councillor to Bishop John F. Anderson of the Raymond Ward.

He served there until the ward was divided and then he was chosen to be councillor to Bishop James E. Ellison of the First Ward, and J. W. Evans was bishop of the Second Ward.

According to Inez Hicken's history, Will organized the first basketball team in Raymond which included David Galbraith, Earl Scoville, Z. N Skousen, Bert Duke and Miles Fairbanks.

Will contracted whooping cough when he came to Raymond, and once a severe spell of coughing nearly broke up the game at the grandstand, where they used to play. He acted as timekeeper and referee and travelled with the Union Jacks until 1920, when other duties called him, but he never ceased to be a devotee of sports, and it carried to his children.

Ervin Fawns and Will put up the money for instruments for the first Raymond Band (junior) and secured the services of Walter Rouse, a cornet player from England for its leader.

Will served on the Taylor Stake Sunday School Board under Brother Octave F. Ursenbach, travelling east to Burdett. He was also a Boy Scout leader most of his life.

Will believed in co-operation and spent many years of his life in the United Farmers of Alberta movement. He lived to see the Alberta Wheat Pool operate to improve marketing conditions and prices of farm produce.

He was always active in nomination and election of good men and was often asked to run for office. He served on the Raymond Town Council for many years. There is a story told that some young fellows were planning some mischief at the park when Will came along. They gave up the project because they knew none of them could outrun Will Redd.

The Federal Minister of Agriculture, Jimmie Gardener, spent three days in our home trying to persuade Will to run for the House of Commons, but failed. Politics was Will's playground and he knew histories of the parties from A to Z, but holding office did not interest him.

Mr. Gardener drank so many cups of tea, one morning, that Guinivere said to me, "Mama, won't he die?"

In fall of 1927, we moved into Grandma Redd's home, at her request, as most of her flock had flown, and our little frame house had long been too small for our growing family of seven. Smellie had slept in a bedroom at Grandma's for some time. The family helped us remodel and modernize the house.

Grandma, Lura, Pauline, Mary, Kay and our family lived together in the big house. There were fourteen at the table for each meal, with more plates added for friends or relatives, which we enjoyed.

We had our problems, but on the whole, we got along fairly well. Will was a helpmate to his mother and a father to his brothers and sisters. Walter Zobell said he always thought of Will as the father of the Redd family, since his father died so young.

Sometimes, when there was enough snow-pack on the roads, we would have a family ride in the sleigh, which was a great treat for us. The children remember what fun it was to jingle the harness bells which, we were told, had belonged to Brigham Young.

The best entertainment was never too good, and when the San Carlos Opera Co. or Martin Harvey, an outstanding English actor, came to Lethbridge, we almost always attended the performances. We would put a charcoal burner at our feet, and a hot water bottle in our laps for comfort and always returned well repaid for the effort. In fact, we lived on the memories of these for days.

Mutual Conventions and Semi-Annual Conferences were high- lights in Will's life. He loved to listen to the servants of the Lord, and to mingle with his relatives and old friends on the Tabernacle Grounds.

The Alberta Temple was dedicated in August 1923, and attendance at that temple was a joy to both of us. It was never too cold or hot for Will to make the trip; and we received many blessings in fulfillment of promises made by President E. J. Wood. One was that if, after planting our crops, we would go out into the fields and dedicate them to the Lord, and would attend the Temple once a month, we would never have a crop failure. This promise was literally fulfilled in our case. Most of our trips to the temple in those earlier days were made by train. It was ten dollars for the trip to the temple, including train ticket, bed and food.

In 1937, Will made a trip back to his old home in New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah, with other members of the family for a reunion, where their dear days of youth were brought back to life.

Will had a number of severe cases of pneumonia in his life, but through the administrations of the priesthood, and by his faith and that of his family he recovered and was able to carry on his life's work. In those days without penicillin and the new drugs, pneumonia was a dreaded and often fatal disease. In 1925, Will and Brother Arthur Dahl were appointed High Council advisors to the Taylor Stake Primary Board.

Will was the proud father of nine children: Marie Redd Strong Evans, teacher's certificate; Gertrude Redd Webster, B. Ed.; Smellie, B. Sc.; Irene Redd Jensen, teachers's certificate; Guinivere Redd Torrie, B. Ed.; Phyllis Carol Redd Miller, B. Ed; Barbara Redd MacPhee, B. Ed; Phillip Gordon Redd, B Ed.; M. Sc.; Ed. D. Teaching has been a traditional occupation in the Redd family.

Will desired the best in all things for his children, especially a strong testimony of the gospel, and all educational advantages possible for all of his children.

Will's policy for educating his children after high school, was for him to help the first child to go to university or normal school, and then the first one was to help the next one or pay back to Will and so on. At times it seemed hard, but time has proven the worth of this plan. I have heard no criticism from his children. I am proud of the loyalty our children have shown toward each other in this, and all respects.

My thoughts have been going over past events and though they might not be recorded chronologically, I think they will be of interest to the family.

The first was when we purchased our first car, a Model "T" Ford with a crank, and top, and side curtains with ising-glass or celluloid windows. Oh, luxury divine, a ride with wind not included. We were sure to meet with disaster if we didn't include a patching kit, pump, pliers, screw driver, shovel and bucket to dip water for the radiator, and last, but not least, a prayer.

The first trip we took was to the farm by the west road. Before we got to the house from the west gate we became stuck in the mud. The mud wasn't deep, but just greasy gumbo. Planks and boards were of no avail, and we we were finally pulled out, or rather helped out, by Kay Redd and his pony. He had arrived from town and crossed the "flat" at just the right time to tie a rope around the front axle of the car, and pull from the saddle horn. That did the trick. Marie says she can remember how everyone used to laugh at her cheeks jiggling up and down when our new Ford went over the bumps.

The passing of our baby, Marguerite, made a change in our lives. I have said that she should have been named Resignation. She was stricken with membranous croup on the evening of April 4, 1919, and by sunrise of Sunday, April 6, she had left us. Not quite two years old. An hour before she died, I was

holding her and Grandma Redd said, "Irene, you had better have Marguerite dedicated to the Lord, she is dying."

I replied," Grandma, what are you saying, the Lord would not take one of our children, they always recover when Will administers to them."

Two doctors were on their way from Lethbridge to put tubes in her throat which I thought would bring a speedy recovery. Youth is so buoyant, up to that time I thought there wasn't anything Will and I couldn't accomplish, if we loved and trusted enough.

This was during the 'flu epidemic following World War I. There were three funerals in the little town of Raymond the day Marguerite was buried.

This was a life-long lesson for us. We didn't lose faith, but were more humble and, in the future, said, "Thy will be done." I have thanked my Heavenly Father since that we had one child safe from the snares and pitfalls of this world.

We learned another thing. Not to run away from trouble, neither run into it. We stayed out to the farm during the 'flu epidemic, as I was expecting "little" Irene, and it was almost fatal for a pregnant woman to contract 'flu.

We came to town, after Irene was born, when the 'flu was practically over, but all of us contracted it at the same time. When we came to town, we all wore gauze masks over our mouths and noses, as did everyone else, until the doctors decided the masks were unsanitary and unsatisfactory.

The Bank of Montreal clerks, four girls, Lura being the cashier, were living at our house, going no place except the bank, in order to keep it operating. The manager was the only male member of the staff, as all available men were serving in the armed services.

Gertrude was born 30 April 1914, and war was declared in August of that year. Smellie was born 13 December 1915, Marguerite 15 February 1917 and Irene 3 February 1919. All families with infant children received special food rations for them, so that made it easier.

In 1920, Will and Paul purchased a threshing machine. The war had made men restless and undependable, and often they didn't have the same crew at night that they started with in the morning. There was a group of unprincipled transients roaming the country getting the best of board and bed for almost no work. When they learned liquor wasn't being served free, they would pass on to a threshing crew where it was.

I remember that Grandma and I went out and cooked for the men while they threshed our place and thus saved about \$30 a day, as cooks were being paid a dollar per man per day. Threshing crews had the best of everything to eat while the families lived on rations. Later, Will and Paul purchased a cook-car. Will and Paul would relate many trying and amusing stories about threshing crews.

One year, they hired two fine young Englishmen, Joe Singer and Bob something, I can't remember his name.

One morning, when they were in the middle of threshing, at Welling, Bob came into camp at breakfast time. All the men commenced shouting, "Where have you been?"

He said he had seen such a cute little animal with white stripes down its back and thought it would make a lovely neck piece for "our Mabel," and he had tried to kill it with a pitchfork. Well, he was expelled from camp for a while. He learned what a skunk was, and Mabel didn't get her neck piece. Mabel was my sister.

Joe Singer's father was a cutlery manufacturer in England, and Joe had him send us a set of twelve table flatware, which cost us \$17. We still have much of it.

Guinivere was born 13 October 1920. Will was busy threshing, and he didn't get to the hospital, Aunt Ellen Bryner's Maternity Home, which was across the street from our home. When he did arrive, he said Guinivere was angry when she was born, turned up nose and red face. Her looks were deceiving. There never was a more cheerful child than Guinivere. All our children were cheerful, like their father.

During the following two years, Will was busy working on the Town Council. The group he was elected with, went in on an Economy Platform, so had a lot of personal work to make it succeed. Use of town script was one of their projects.

The Alberta Temple, which had been started before the war, and was delayed, was to be dedicated in 1923. Every man, woman and child was making a big effort for that.

Sister Amy Allen gave the Primary the assignment to earn \$1000. That was a lot of money. Grandma and I went out again and cooked for the threshers,

turning our wages on the temple fund. We all saved our Sunday eggs for it, and everyone said their hens laid more eggs on Sunday than on any week day.

Will's ticket for the dedication was dated 26 August 1923 at 7:30 p.m. This was the first day. How thankful I was that I had a husband who was worthy to take me and my children to those holy services, where prophecies were fulfilled that had been made regarding a temple in this land.

Others, we lived to see fulfilled, and there are others which will be fulfilled in the future. It was a glorious day, never to be forgotten. The dedicatory prayer was offered by President Heber J. Grant.

Will and I were sad when my sister, Guinivere, with her husband, Mark Brimhall, and their daughters, Iona and Jennie, decided to move to Provo, Utah. Will had a high regard for Mark, as they had worked congenially in personal, church and community enterprises for a long time.

Every time we had a new baby, Mark and Guinivere took our two youngest into their home and hearts until we had our new wee one well on the way. They put off their departure a number of days, waiting for Phyllis' advent, but no, that child would not be hurried. She had a special birth date chosen, 25 December 1923. One very important person she didn't consider was Dr. Murray, who was out of town celebrating, so Will called Grandma Redd and Sister Betsy Deardon, who was a maternity doctor all but for the letters after her name, and we got along fine.

In 1919, Dr. Greenaway removed Irene's tonsils and adenoids. An accident occurred during the operation, and the end of her palate and much of the posterior pillars was removed. We took Irene to other doctors, but they only shook their heads and advised us to take her to Rochester for operations. This was a financial impossibility for us. Irene's throat continued to close up, until she could hardly breath.

In 1924, a young Doctor Conner, who had returned from studying plastic surgery at medical school in Vienna, came to Raymond. He decided to see what he could do about Irene's throat.

He performed an operation, with five other doctors looking on. Flesh was taken from other parts of Irene's throat to make a partial uvula and to repair other damaged parts of her throat, and openings to her stomach and lungs, which had grown small, were opened up.

Irene got along fine. In fact, when he heard her singing with me as he passed her hospital room, Dr. Conner stopped to listen and said he hardly thought she would be able to talk, let alone sing. This was a first operation and he told us to come back in the fall, when he would complete the repair with a second operation.

But, by fall, Dr. Conner had died.

We took Irene to the Alberta Temple, there President E. J. Wood blessed her, and said, "Do not be in a hurry to take her back for the rest of the operation," and that her throat would become normal.

Irene never needed the second operation. Nowadays, whenever she goes to a new doctor and he has occasion to look at her throat, he gasps and says he can't believe she can talk. The power of the priesthood is real in my life.

In 1925, following a severe attack of pneumonia, Will purchased a Model "T" Ford Sedan so we made a trip to Idaho and Utah, taking all the children with us except Phyllis, who was left behind with Aunt Tillie Boysen, who ran a maternity home and nursery.

That was a very dry year, and we were all hungry for the watermelon we saw as we drove south. Will bought the largest he could find. Then we went up to the Lava Cliffs on the outskirts of Pocatello, Idaho, to eat them.

We had our luggage in the racks on the "running boards" of the car. In order for us to get out of the car Will had to remove our bags, but when we left, Will forgot to put the largest suitcase back on again. The one which contained the new clothes Lura and I had sewn for a week to make. I wanted the children to look well-dressed for the trip.

We didn't discover our loss until we were nearly to Franklin where Father and Mother Smellie lived.

It was dark, but Will turned around and went back. He inquired along the road, and put an ad in the Pocatello paper, but the lost club bag was never recovered.

We remembered things for a year, that were in that bag. Nothing daunted, the children made the trip among their city and country relatives in coveralls.

I never pass that spot that I don't remember how dearly we paid for that melon treat.

On our return, we came through Montana the day after the earthquake. The hottest wind I ever felt, passed over there that day.

It was in 1925 the Utah-Idaho Sugar Company located a sugar factory in Raymond, bringing with it much prosperity. This was a joy to Will, as he liked to see his town grow. The factory also brought many fine citizens, with whom Will had fine associations.

About that time, a large group of we marrieds decided to make Easter an annual picnic-day for our families. We did this for years. If it was stormy, we went inside. We celebrated one Easter at the School of Agriculture in the hay mow and other times we put it off until better weather came, and went down to the St. Mary's River, at Whoop-Up or Steele's Crossing. We kept this up for fifteen years, at least.

Our children have never forgotten these times. (Actually a group of the children and grandchildren still carry on this practice.)

Barbara was born 27 October 1926 at the Boyson Maternity Home in Raymond. Sister Van Orman gave me a blessing before her birth and said she would be a comfort to me all my life, and she has been.

It was while I was at Boyson's that the Raymond Mercantile burned, and I watched that tragic fire through the window, from my bed. One was kept in bed for at least ten days following the birth of a baby in those days.

In June 1927, Will was happy to receive word that my sister, Ruth and her husband Allie and son Robert Ricks, were coming from Rexburg, Idaho to visit us. Will and Allie were very good friends, and they always had a yearly visit by mail. Will had an unfinished letter to Allie when Will died.

It rained most of the time they were here, so we had lots of time for good visiting. Among other places Will took Allie was the International Harvester Company in Lethbridge. Allie remarked that they had as complete a supply of parts as in Chicago. Allie said Raymond wouldn't grow very fast, since it is so near to Lethbridge.

Broadway in Raymond was like a river for three days, and Allie took pictures of it. As the muddy roads were practically impassable, Allie had the CPR send a flat car to take his car back over the border at Coutts. The water did subside, so Will took them to Craddock to catch the train to Coutts where they would pick up their car.

We said we would have a hard time convincing Allie and Ruth that we had droughts in Alberta.

A few days after the Ricks left for home. Will and his brothers started renovating the cement house. Melvin J. Burt, and his brother, Gil, who were in Canada working for their uncle at plastering, plastered the downstairs of the house.

We all worked night and day, so that we could move into it before school started. Harvest was on, hot lunches were to be sent out to the men, what a hive of industry.

At this point, Will was badly scalded. He removed the cap from a boiling radiator and the hot water blew all over his chest and forearms.

It was awful. Raymond was without a doctor at that time, so I was nurse and doctor, receiving instructions from our pharmacist, Percy W. Cope, by telephone.

After a few days, Will took his shift again in the harvest. I don't see how he did it. I dressed his wounds for weeks. He was deeply scarred for the rest of his life.

The crops were heavy, and the prices were high. They put lights on the tractors and worked night and day.

In 1928, the Calgary Power Company was seeking a contract with the Southern Alberta towns to furnish them with electricity. At that time, most of the towns in our area had their own power plants.

The power company called a meeting at the Banff Springs Hotel, in Banff, Alberta. Mayor Orrin H. Snow, Will's Uncle Orrin, and Will were chosen to represent Raymond. This proved to be a very pleasant week, with some sight-seeing as well as business. The meetings terminated in a contract being signed between the power company and the town. This is still in effect.

1928 was also the Primary Golden Jubilee Year which was to be celebrated in Salt Lake City, Utah. I was first counsellor to President Letta Bacon in the Taylor Stake Primary. Will supported me loyally through that enterprise, as he did in all others. We raised enough money for a round trip ticket to Salt Lake for eighteen board members, Then the three Canadian Stakes decorated a float for the parade, after we arrived in Salt Lake.

All was a glorious experience until we arrived at Helena, Montana on our return trip. There we found that the road through Wolf Creek Canyon was washed out, so that we would have to take the train home.

All the women except Sister Bacon and I had spent their last dime, knowing that their fare was paid. It was a dismayed group. It was raining, and we were nearly all flat broke.

We went to the Johnson Hotel where the manager made us a suite from two large rooms. Alvin Jones, one of the drivers, bought a dollar's worth of washed carrots and passed them around.

We wired to Will to collect some money from the husbands, and send to us. He could only contact Mr. Bacon and he wouldn't send any money, so Will wired the money from his own account and we all got home.

Being Primary women, they all reimbursed Will. Some of the cars remained at Wolf Creek for two weeks. Again, I was thankful I had a dependable husband.

In 1929, the federal government transferred the natural resources to the provinces. Will always felt that this was the proper thing, and he served on committees in the UFA, seeking this thing, and so this was a great satisfaction to him. It certainly was a blessing to the province of Alberta when oil was discovered in Alberta many years later.

In 1930 Will purchased a "Frigidaire." Kate Card had the first one in town, and we had the second one. I preferred preservation of food rather than a chesterfield, when we couldn't afford both. It was somewhat of a lemon, as most appliances were at that time. The sulphur-dioxide gas would escape, and a mechanic would come out from Lethbridge to replace it. Phillip and I would vacate the house for four or five hours so we wouldn't get poisoned.

One night, we awoke to find the house full of smoke, at first we thought it was the furnace, remember how the furnaces used to smoke, or explode when too much fine coal was put on the fire and it was banked for the night.

We finally decided it was an appliance odor, and rushed to the store room where the frigidaire was located. A mouse had become caught in the belt of the 'frig, and had burned out the motor.

When they brought the frigidaire back from Lethbridge, I tacked a piece of screen over the bottom, and that solved the problem.

To finish the story, in 1945, when I was alone and the frig was getting aged, during World War II appliances were very scarce, a man offered me almost as much as we had paid for it new, so I sold it.

I got ice from my neighbor who was still using an ice box, and would put it in the tub of my Maytag washing machine, and let the hose down so the melt water could drain into a bucket. This provided a cool place for the food until a refrigerator could be purchased.

In 1931, the town council appointed Will to organize a Library Board. This is quoted from the Lethbridge Herald in 1944. "The local library board met at the Town Hall Monday evening. A new member, Bruce Galbraith, was chosen to fill the vacancy caused by the death of its Chairman, William Redd, who had been chairman of the board since its organization in 1931.

"In 1931, the town council appointed William Redd to organize a group of people to start a library. The town was canvassed for books, with several hundred donated.

The library now contains 6,000 volumes. Some are contributed by the various local study groups, and others by the province and the town. There are 3869 fiction novels, 1381 non-fiction, 628 junior books, 153 reference books, 37 subscribed magazines and 200 magazines made into bound volumes. There are 805 active readers with a circulation average of 58 people a day with two books per person and with 43 persons per day using the library for reference. These latter are mainly school students who use the library extensively. Ten adult study groups use the library for material.

"The following are present board members: T. O. King, Mrs. Wilford Meldrum, Mrs. J. S. Madill, and Bruce Galbraith. Mrs. Meldrum and Mrs. King have been on the board since its organization. Formerly on the board were Mesdames Thomas Allan, G. W. Leech, M. R. Woolf and Mr. Don McRae. The librarians have included Mesdames Matilda Boyson, Relva Booth Ross, Millie R. Dyson and Mrs. M. R. Woolf, who is the present librarian.

"Many fine tributes were paid to William Redd at the meeting. Mr. Redd had missed only two meetings of the board in the last eight years and those two absences were due to illness."

Delia Woolf, Mrs. M. R. Woolf, is the present librarian, (1960), and she often said that Will Redd was the best friend she ever had.

Marie went off to Calgary Normal School in 1931. The first of our birds to take flight. She taught at the Felger Hutterite Colony between Lethbride and Raymond in 1933. The Raymond school board wouldn't hire inexperienced teachers then.

Barbara, our six-year-old accompanied Marie where she took her Grade One. The two would take the bus early Monday morning and stay at the colony for the week, returning on the bus Friday after school. The colony is about ten miles from Raymond.

During the time that Will was a member of the Raymond Town Council, the depression of 1929 struck. Quoting from the history of O. H. Snow, Uncle Orrin, who was the town secretary:

"The depression, following 1929, struck our district as heavily as it did elsewhere, as many of our people were grain farmers, and wheat dropped from \$1.95 per bushel to near 30 cents and 40 cents per bushel.

"Many felt it would increase in price and held for a raise, and almost lost their entire crop of 1930. With my work, trying to gather finances for schools and operation of the town, it became very difficult. The banks carried us through 1930 and 1931, but when 1932 came around, we were owing approximately \$40,000 which was all the credit our taxes would justify, and were left with nothing to carry on with. I told the school board and town council our predicament and that unless we could find a solution everything must stop, even schools.

"With their blessing, the mayor, Wm. G. Meeks, and myself, formulated a plan to use "script." We would pay 40% of salaries in cash and 60% in script, or town credit. Our stores and businesses agreed to accept the script, give merchandise for it and use the script for the payment of their taxes etc. The town would reimburse the stores for the balance in cash. We financed this way for three or four years and cleared off the banks. We kept our schools in operation and were in much better financial condition than we had been for some time."

In 1932, Grandma Redd had a severe stroke while visiting in Salt Lake City, and since she wanted very badly to come home, Will and I and Aunt Fern went down in Paul's car. We had no car. A bed, for her, was made in the back of the car and we started for Canada.

This period has often been referred to as the "hungry thirties." All farm produce was very cheap, even could hardly be given away. Will made a rack on the back of the car and filled it with grapes, melons etc. for a treat for our families when we got home.

Grandma was so pleased to get home to her own bedroom at our house. We had moved into the Grandma's home a few years before, as Grandma didn't want to be alone, and we needed a larger home.

Now, Will and I moved our bedroom to the upstairs, and Grandma had her old downstairs bedroom. This made her happy, and made it much easier to take care of our invalid mother.

Grandma lasted until May 1934, when, on the 26th of that month, she went into a coma and died 30 May 1934. Still in her own bed.

She would go to Lethbridge to stay with Jessie or Fern for a little while, but was always anxious to get back home to Will and Irene's in her own home.

Lura, Vilo, Lyman, Pauline, Mary and Kay were all in the United states, and, due to severe immigration restrictions placed during the depression, some were not able to cross the border for the funeral. Pauline, Lura, Mary, Jeannette, who is Lyman's wife, and Kay were able to get home, but Vilo and Lyman had to remain at the border.

The day following the funeral, all of the family members living in Alberta went to Babb, Montana, where the others were waiting; and we spent two days together. Uncles, Aunts and cousins. Right down to the youngest. A never-to-beforgotten meeting, especially for the youngsters. For them "going to the States" was an awesome experience.

Marie married Joseph P. Strong 14 July 1934, and Gertrude married J. Walter Webster 15 September 1934. Our first grandchild, a girl, Patricia Marie Strong, arrived 17 March 1935 at the St. Michael's Hospital in Lethbridge.

We celebrated Will's fiftieth birthday, 7 January 1935, with the family and special friends. We treasure a picture of all of us at the dinner table, with his cake.

Will, an amateur cameraman, made a flash picture. By placing some flash powder in the dustpan on the stepladder, lighting a long fuse leading to it and setting the camera on time exposure, he was able to get in the picture himself. Quite innovative for the times.

We always enjoyed taking pictures and developing them. Of course, when the depression came, we were no longer able to afford the hobby. Consequently, and much to the disappointment of the younger children, we have very few pictures of them, and many of the older ones.

In Will's fiftieth year, 19 August 1935, Will, while combining, stopped to clear off the combine reel area. After making a round of the field, he looked down and discovered that the combine knife had sliced off the end of his thumb, glove and all. After searching in vain for the thumb, he drove himself into town and to the doctor for help. It was his right thumb and it made things awkward for him, although there still remained a stump with which he could hold things, though awkwardly.

In 1936, Smellie went to the Brigham Young University in Provo. Will was very happy that he could go, but missed him very much. It was the first time they had been separated.

In 1936, Will had been unwell most of the spring and summer. In October, while rushing to get the beets harvested, a wheel came off the truck; and without unloading the beets, he and Paul put the wheel back on. In doing this, Will strained himself very much, lifting etc.

That night, he was awakened with a terrible pain in his right leg. I helped him to a chair in the dining room, where he collapsed. I called to awaken the children, and sent Phyllis and Barbara down to Uncle Orrin Snow's for him to come and administer a priesthood blessing to Will.

We finally got him into bed. His leg was so painful that he could not move.

At my insistence, when the pain still continued, Dr. Leech took him to the hospital, St. Michael's in Lethbridge. The Doctor had said that we couldn't send Will to the hospital, as we didn't have the money to pay the bill. I told him Will was going to the hospital and we would worry about finding the money later.

His trouble was diagnosed as phlebitis, but Will did not think it was, as his leg didn't swell. He thought he might have injured the nerves when they were lifting the truck.

Will was so ill that the banker thought I should get his power of attorney, but I felt that he would get well. After several weeks, the doctor asked me if I would like to bring Will home, which I thought was best.

We brought him home on a stretcher. With the help of the Lord, he commenced to improve.

By Christmas day, he was able to come to the table and have dinner with us.

It was while Will was in this condition that the call came to Smellie to go on a mission for the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, to Eastern Canada.

Our dear friend and neighbor, Louis Brandley, came to Will and said, "Surely you can't let Smellie go, when you and Irene are in such poor health. I was worn down from caring for Will and was in bed much of the time.

Will answered, "I can't deprive Smellie of this opportunity." We often talked of how blessed we were while Smellie was away, and how we always seemed to find the necessary funds to send him when he needed them.

Smellie filled an honorable mission, and Will and I both were much improved in health on his return.

Will never did regain full use of his leg, being lame the rest of his life. The snow was so deep that Smellie couldn't go to Cardston to go through the Alberta Temple. A great disappointment to us. Even our mail was being brought in by aeroplane. Smellie went through the Salt Lake Temple while at the mission home.

We have a photograph of the car among high drifts, as we prepared to drive Smellie to Lethbridge to catch the train for Salt Lake. As the roads were impassable, our route had to be a winding one through the fields, among huge snow drifts.

In 1937, the United Grain Grower of Alberta, chose Will as their delegate to a convention in Winnipeg, Manitoba. Will got Bliss Roberts to take the expense money, which was enough for four of us to go by car, and take his wife, Lillian and Will and I to Winnipeg.

We left Sunday night, after meeting, (Sacrament meetings were held from 7 p.m. to about 9 in those days). It was the last day of October.

Saskatchewan presented a sad picture. Drought had been the order of the times for a number of seasons. There were beautiful homes, with well planned landscaping, with only a pine tree left here and there; but not a blade of grass nor stubble for miles.

We arrive in Winnipeg the day that Ralph Connor, the well known Canadian author, and a favorite of ours, was buried; but we couldn't get near the funeral.

We went to the Stock Exchange, and almost got the spirit of gambling.

We went to MIA at the LDS Church and met several people we knew. Will and Bliss and I had to speak.

We saw some good plays, too.

We were very interested in the way they prepared for winter, which did not break, once it set in. We, in Alberta, have the chinook winds which bring thawing weather many times during a winter.

On the return trip, we went through the Red River Valley, which was gorgeous at that time of year.

Passing through the Dakotas, we went over some of Will's old missionary trails. We saw the Fort Peck Dam, the largest dirt dam in the USA. We even ran into some very exciting shopping bargains, before we arrived home.

The children never forget their excitement when we brought each of the girls snow suits, a very new type of winter wear for girls; and our family's first radio marvel, with short-wave band. This was the purchase which Phillip enjoyed with his beloved dad. What did surpise some of the children was that mother did not get the Hudson Seal coat she had planned to buy, as they were cheap in Winnipeg.

Instead, she came home with a wool coat for herself, with a fur collar. Her arthritis was so bad that we thought she needed the warm fur coat, and were quite excited about it. But she said she preferred the cheaper coat.

As we grew older, we realized that Mom had probably decided to use some of her coat money for our gifts and buy the less expensive wool coat for herself.

It was a wonderful trip, with perfect weather and good travelling companions.

We found everything in good shape when we got home. The children had managed well. Guinivere had even gone in by herself to have her tonsils removed. The doctor did it in his office with a local anesthetic.

Will and Bliss Roberts gave excellent reports of the convention, too.

Will received an invitation from President Heber J. Grant, to attend a special meeting in the Salt Lake Temple 8 April 1939, Will being the senior member of the High Council in the Taylor Stake. Will considered this a very sacred privilege. Bliss Roberts and Lillian, his wife and Will and I went down to conference together, a few days after Smellie had returned from his mission.

That year, 1939, Irene was teaching at Beazer, and Guinivere at the Community School, north of Raymond in the vicinity of George Laycock's farm. Smellie went on down to BYU after his mission.

That fall, World War II was declared. That year, too, Will was made happy when Barbara passed her government exams in Grade Nine with high honors and received the Governor General's Medal for the District, having the highest marks of all Grade IX students.

In 1942, Will accepted a position with Central Feeders Association in Lethbridge. His leg condition made farm work impossible. He hired a Japanese family, which had been evacuated from the West Coast at the beginning of the War.

That fall, the man threw down his shovel, refusing to shovel wheat, so Marie, Barbara, Guinivere and Phillip finished the harvest. Many, many of the little pigs died, also, and so Will let the man go.

Smellie had joined the army the year previous, which had made a great change in Will's life, as they had always worked and played together.

Irene was married to Bryant A. Jensen in June of 1941. Bryant and Smellie were in the army together then. Guinivere went to the University of Alberta in 1942. Irene returned from the East in 1943, after Bryant went overseas. Phyllis was teaching school in Raymond.

We were happy to have our home circle enlarged, as Will was on the road most of the time and the old home was getting to feel quite empty.

When Brenda Grace Jensen was born 26 November 1943, our hearts were made glad. It was so good to have a baby in the house again.

Barbara and John Henry MacPhee were married 23 February 1943.
Phyllis and Victor Bruce Miller were married 1 March 1944. Victor was in the navy and they later went to St. Hyacinth, Quebec. When Vic went to sea,

Phyllis came home and taught school in Lethbridge, boarding with Gertrude and Walt Webster.

Will, Irene, Phyllip and I were going to Edmonton for Guinivere's graduation in June of 1944, when Uncle Orrin Snow asked Will to take his car and take him and his wife Mary, along. The Department of Education had given Guinivere her examinations early in April, so she could take the place of a high school teacher in Banff, who had become ill.

We picked Guinivere up at Calgary, and drove on to Edmonton. We arrived in Edmonton on Sunday and Baccalaureate parade was that night. Guinivere didn't have the necessary hat, so she slipped behind a pillar and put on Irene's hat and dropped back into parade line. Next day, we shopped, between exercises, to find her a dress and shoes for the graduation ceremony.

As Aunt Mary wanted to be able to say she had been on the famous Alaska Highway, we drove along it for about ten miles north of Edmonton.

On the last Sunday, August 27, 1944, fire partly destroyed our home. The original cement block home built by Grandfather William A. Redd in 1905-06, soon after their arrival in Canada.

Irene was putting her baby, Brenda, to sleep in the upstairs west room and heard a crackling sound, but thought it was Phillip and John who had come upstairs to get Uncle Kay's golf clubs. But the boys, heard the roaring of the flames and they all ran downstairs. Phillip remembers watching from the garden as the smoke curled up between the shingles.

Meanwhile Will had phoned for the fire engine. Ken Stone, a close neighbor, tore up to their store and got many glass-ball fire extinguishers which he threw into the attic and then closed the hatch. We think this was what saved the house. As it was, a great hole had been burned through the roof, and the attic and ceilings of some of the rooms were burned through, or broken through during the fire-fighting operations.

Neighbors and firemen carried all of the furniture out of the house, but the whole house was either burned or water soaked. It took many days to clear up the mess.

Will and Phyllip, helped by a crew of German war prisoners under guard of soldiers, worked very hard, tearing off burnt shingles and lumber and replacing the roof; and of course, the wiring had to be repaired also.

Frank Shaw was good help with the electrical work. The cleaning and clearing by both the men and women of the family seemed endless.

The fire was a great shock to Will, and his health declined rapidly after that. Notwithstanding, he carried on his work with the Central Feeders until the day before he was hospitalized by Dr. Madill.

After a week of observation, he returned home to clear up some business. He drove his own car back to the hospital. They performed surgery for prostrate blockage, but Will grew steadily worse. After his death, an autopsy revealed the liver was greatly enlarged.

Brother John H. Green gave Will a blessing and told him his work on earth was completed, and that he would pass away without suffering, but he would have the chance to decide whether he would go or stay.

The morning of his death, the nurse met me, and warned me that people who died from Will's condition, simply went mad with the pain before they died. That she had a hypodermic needle ready to relieve him. That sometimes they had to tie them in bed as they became so frantic from the pain.

The promise made to him by Brother Green was fulfilled to the letter. Will wrote some instructions to Charles Asplund about some Central Feeder business, spoke to his children, looking at each with his wonderfully blue eyes and quietly passed on to the other side. Most of his family was with him. Barbara had a new baby and was ill at home, Phyllis was in the East with her husband, Victor, and Smellie and Bryant were serving overseas in the war.

Will died 9 November, 1944, and his funeral was held November 13 in the Taylor Stake House. He was buried in the Raymond Cemetery. Just as the dedicatory prayer over his grave was finished, the Sugar Factory whistle blew at 4 p.m. I never hear that whistle that I am not reminded of that day.

Being human, I sometimes wished that Will could have remained a little longer. One day, while President T. George Wood, of our Taylor Stake, was speaking, he said, "It is a serious thing for a person to remain on this earth after his mission is finished." That satisfied me.

Charles Asplund said, "Will bore many burdens and labored diligently and pleasantly under all circumstances. Infidelity on the part of others did not change his fundamental attitude, instead, he felt sorry for them, and often sought extenuating circumstances to account for their infidelity. He went his quiet,

unassuming, cheerful way, looking for the good in all men, and the best in every situation."

Brother J. W. Evans said, "Will always seemed to know more about the subject than the rest of us."

Phillip says, "Dad tried to teach us self-reliance and dependability. He gave us a job and left us to it, even if we didn't get it done the best way."

Home Evening and Family Hour were consistently held in our home. Will knew the promise made by President Joseph F. Smith, and felt that we needed the blessing. It worked.

Christmas was always at our home. All the family slept under the parental roof on Christmas Eve, except when Smellie was on his mission or overseas.

We continued this custom until 1949. It was so much fun. Christmas Eve, we had a program with all taking part. Then a light lunch, and the stockings were hung, and off to bed. Finally, we ran out of cribs, so Smellies's baby, Joan, slept in a large carton box. That was the last Christmas we all stayed together.

On Christmas morning, we all lined up according to age, with Will and I leading the parade. Will made such a good Santa Claus, making everyone happy with his present. Everyone helped with dinner, and to this day the family carries out this custom.

I remember one Christmas Will especially enjoyed. It was the first one after we had moved into his old home with his mother in her apartment upstairs, and us in the rest of the remodelled house. It was 1928. The whole house was warm, (a hot air furnace had been installed instead of the space heater in some of the rooms as before) and Christmas lights glowed everywhere.

Vilo and Lura had come home, and Kay was to leave shortly for a mission. We were all so happy and gay. I remember so well, Grandma and I were standing near a radiator, and she said, "Irene, this is the most comfortable I have ever been in this house."

Another Christmas I well remember was in 1943. Will gave me a Sunbeam Mixmaster which he bought at Eaton's Store in Lethbridge. It wouldn't work. The whole shipment had been sabotaged by putting steel shavings in the bearings. This was during the World War II. The damage was repaired, and it worked perfectly. Phyllis is still using it in her home.

Will bought most of the new appliances for me but I could never get him to put a motor on the sewing machine, or the six-quart ice cream freezer.

Will taught me how to develop pictures, and gave me a "116" Eastman Kodak Camera for Christmas in 1918. The family, Scout and Bee-hive Girls spent many happy hours at our house, learning photography in our home.

One night, Will came home with an Edison Phonograph (cylindrical records) from Lethbridge. We really enjoyed this addition. The day our piano arrived made history also.

Uncle Orrin Snow gives a full account of Will's good work in taking care of the family estate, after the death of his father, along with taking care of the Security Investment Co. business. He was assisted in this by Uncle Orrin and Brother Charles McCarty. It would be well to read this if anyone gets the chance. It is in the possession of J. Golden Snow of Raymond. (A copy has now been placed in the Raymond Museum, 1996.)

Dear Will, it has been a pleasure to write this history of you. There was never any question in your mind, as to what was right or wrong.

John Hardison Redd

JOHN HARDISON AND ELIZABETH HANCOCK REDD

by Lura Redd

John Hardison Redd was born of goodly parents, viz. Whitaker and Elizabeth Hardison Redd. He was born 27 Dec. 1799 on Stump Sound, Onslow County, North Carolina. Stump Sound is a small arm of the ocean reaching inland, between the mainland and the row of sandy islands off the shore. Another account talks of Snead's Ferry, which is a little town probably on the same Sound. I can find no reference to Stump Sound in the atlas nor on the map. The name seems to have disappeared and at that time was merely the area along the Sound. One account I read recently says his son Lemuel was born near the courthouse. The courthouse now is in Jacksonville between fifteen and twenty miles inland. At one time it was, I think, much closer to the shore because it was washed away by a tidal wave.

We know very little about him as a child, but from a few things we do know, can do a bit of guessing. His father's first wife, Nancy Cary, died and left a little girl, Mary, born 27 Sept. 1792. She was a lonely little girl, probably the only

white child in the home, reared and cared for by a negro mammy. Then Whitaker married Elizabeth Hardison and had John when Mary was seven years old. Elizabeth died and left little John. Now they were both cared for by this mammy, but Mary was no longer lonely. She now had a little brother, and I think she must have mothered him as no other baby was ever mothered by a sister. They were never separated for long in their whole lives. From North Carolina they went to Tennessee and from there to Utah, and both died in Spanish Fork.

A third mother came to the home, and their first sister was born 30 Apr. 1804 when John was five. But they didn't need these other children, and these others didn't need them as they had a mother. So I think Mary and John continued to be the best of pals in spite of the difference in their ages.

All people living in a maritime locale became expert in boating, swimming and fishing. They probably ranged up and down the coast in their boats and canoes. John D. Lee says that John H. Redd was a sea captain. That would be before he was thirty-nine, at which age he left the coast and moved inland. If he were expert enough to become captain or master of a vessel, he started young. He may have owned his own vessel and captained that. Many did. There are suggestions that he traded with the Barbadoes. The Barbadoes, off the north coast of South America, a little north and east of Trinidad, seem to have been a half-way station between England and America, in sailing vessel days, probably because of prevailing winds. When Lord Baltimore sent his first two ships to Maryland, they stopped at the Barbadoes on the way, which practise seems to have been the custom.

To become a captain in that day, he came up from the ranks. He started as a tot to learn the simple things about it and then went on to the more intricate tasks. We read very little about their activities, but we do know that his grandfather Whitaker owned a canoe at the time of his death, as his son William says "Uncle John Hardison got it from his father's estate 27 April 1789." Too, he brought with him to Utah a sword which likely was his emblem of authority on his vessel. That sword was in our home all during my childhood in New Harmony, but when we went back to the old home, we could find nothing of it. I remember it had a long blade, a bit curved, with the cutting edge on the outside of the curve. It was contained in a long metal-trimmed scabbard. Some of you others may remember it. Aunt Ellen had a pair of eyeglasses he wore at sea. They were similar to our regular glasses, but had an additional pair of lenses that were of blue glass, hinged so that he could fasten them to the temples, or if needed he could switch them around over the regular lenses to use as we use sunglasses. These would be very helpful out on a shiny sea.

So I can imagine John H. as a mere tot going out with his father or other members of the family deep-sea fishing, boating or maybe swimming. He may even have served as an apprentice on a vessel. This was the usual way of getting an education in any trade or profession in that day, as there were no regular schools to do the job. It was so taken for granted that he may never have mentioned it to any of the family. Swimming was imperative for those who went to sea, or even boating on the sounds and rivers. At times their lives depended upon their ability to swim well. It would seem foolhardy to go to sea and not be able to swim if the necessity arose.

Of course we can take it for granted that he was well-versed in the "art and mystery" of a planter. In his day everything was as primitive as it was in the Middle Ages, no inventions, no machinery, no labor-saving devices, no short-cuts. Everything that was done on the plantation had to be done the hard way, and always by hand. Cleve Redd in Snead's Ferry when I was down there, told me they had to grub up small pine trees all the time out of their gardens, otherwise the gardens would go back to heavy pine forest in a few years. Always grubbing and clearing to break even and keep what they had.

They took me out to an old Redd Cemetery which was no longer in use, headboards were all rotted away and gone. I only saw one stone piece. On the way we went over a corduroy road made of logs six or seven feet long laid side by side crossways of the road. It was bumpy. They said, "This is the road that Sigley Redd made before the war with his slave labor. It ran from his plantation up to his sawmill. See how he ditched it to keep it dry." A ditch ran along just under the ends of the logs on one side of the road. The ditch, clogged with vegetation, had seepage water in it, and probably always did have on account of the wet climate there at sea level. Sigley was John H's first cousin, but fourteen years older. He was the son of Whitaker's brother William. So John H's relatives knew how to build saw mills, and he had the same know-how. He had all the other know-how that he passed on to his son Lemuel H. about farming and building, that he had learned at home.

He was a much better writer than any of the others, and may have had some private tutoring. His sister Mary couldn't even sign her name, it wasn't essential for a girl to learn to write. Her business was housekeeping and homemaking, with all the arts that go with them, weaving, sewing, cooking, cleaning, and all the other skills for the comfort and happiness of her husband and children. If she were proficient in that, she was a pillar of society.

On Oct. 17, 1820, John H. bought 50 acres of land for ten dollars from William Hancock. How near his family lived to the Hancocks we don't know, but

this was his future wife's brother. He was nearly twenty-one, and it was something over five years before he married William's sister Elizabeth.

That is the first transaction I have of his. However he had land before this, as he received four hundred acres from his grandfather John Hardison's estates. His father was still alive, and he probably lived at home when he wasn't at sea. It is likely that when he was at home, he helped his father and his two younger brothers, William, eleven, and Alexander, nine, farm the home place. When he bought this land, he may have decided not to go to sea any more.

He married Elizabeth Hancock 2 March 1826. She was the only daughter of Zebedee Hancock and had two brothers, William and Anson. She, I guess, had always had a negro maid to wait on her, and just five months before John H bought the land from her brother, her father had willed her a negro maid named Venus, to be her very own forever. Venus stayed with Elizabeth all the rest of her life, so that Elizabeth always had somebody to wait on her just like a princess or a queen. At this time her mother was dead and she had a step-mother. Zebedee, in his will, left four negroes as a loan to this step-mother, but at her death Elizabeth was to get one-third of them. She got one named Chaney, so then she had two maids to wait on her and do all her hard work. Still there was plenty to keep her busy, as there were no labor-saving devices known then, and all the clothing and bedding had to be raised and made by hand, as well as everything in the home. At least she had time to do as much of that as she wanted to do. Just because the hard dirty work was done by a maid, didn't mean that she was ever idle. That was never thought of for a lady, or even a queen. Life would have been very boring with nothing to do, and that would make her very unhappy. We know so little of her activities, but we can assume that they were confined to the house, as were those of all women of her day.

John H. Redd began as early as most to take his place in the community where he lived. We find that his sister married John Holt about 1814 or 1815, and of course left home, and John remained. At this time he had four little brothers and sisters, Nancy, William, Alexander and Catherine who was a tiny baby.

We get most of our information from legal documents from various court records. I found that he witnessed the will of Jeptha Cary, probably a close relative of his sister, Mary, as her mother's maiden name was Cary. He was appointed by his sister Mary and John Holt to be their true and lawful attorney when their father Whitaker died. Mary and John were living at this time in Rutherford county, Tennessee. His duty was to sell the land and any other property she received from her father's estate. John H. was also attorney for Anson Hancock, his brother-in-law, who now lived in Gadsden county, Florida. In this case he sold a Negro slave named Elias for \$400.00. Then in August 1830

he bought three hundred acres of land from George Hazzard for \$1005.00, also this August he sold land for his sister Mary who was now in the state of Alabama. It seems that Mary and John were having difficulty making up their minds about a new settling place. He sold his own rights to his father's land to John Wilkins. He bought 200 acres from Thomas Hazzard. He at one time held some note of John Wilkins for which Wilkins paid him \$200.00. He sold half the land he received from his grandfather, John Hardison by heirship, that was 200 acres. He was appointed on a commission to help divide the land of Alice Dulany, deceased, among her heirs.

John H. and his wife, Elizabeth sold 75 and 50 acres that she received from her father, Zebedee Hancock, to Daniel Harper for \$250.00. One thing different about this was that Elizabeth signed the deed. Few women of that day could write their names, or anything else. Now Daniel Harper was a bit sceptical about this deed, he thought maybe John H. was doing it on his own without her free consent. He questioned it in court, so the court, because Elizabeth was too infirm to travel to the court, commanded that two go to her alone and apart from her husband and get her consent. They brought back to the court the following document:

"In obedience to a commission to us directed from the county court of this county at the August term 1832, we have proceeded to take the private examination of Elizabeth Redd, wife of John H. Redd, at the house of said Redd, respecting her signing a deed with her husband to Daniel Harper, and upon her being examined separate and apart from her said husband and privately touching the execution thereof by her, and thereupon she acknowledged that she did execute the foregoing deed freely, voluntarily and without the control of compulsions of her husband. Given under our hands and sealed this August 12, 1832 — Edward Ward and D. W. Simmons."

This Edward Ward was some relation of his, as his grandmother was named Sarah Ward, the mother of Zebedee Hancock.

The last sale made by John that I have record of, was on 11 August 1838, when grandfather was two years old, when his parents moved out to Tennessee. At this time, he sold the plantation he called, "The Bluff," of 300 acres and two other tracts of 200 acres and 75 acres respectively. This seems to be his sell-out to go to Tennessee. He received \$1650.00 for the lot from John Lloyd. His sister, Mary, was by this time back in Rutherford county, and that is where headed. He bought a plantation near Murfreesboro, Rutherford County, Tennessee. What an address! He lived here for about twelve years and built a home and farmed there. Henry Pace once went back there and saw it, and says it was a very fine old place. It was here in 1842 that something happened that changed their whole

lives. We never have known much about it, but not long ago I found a good account in the missionary journal of John D. Lee, who converted him and his family to the gospel. John D. Lee writes:

1843, May 16 — "We then returned in company with Mr. Nichols to fill an appointment at the home of Br. Pace. But in consequence of the day being rainy and disagreeable, few persons turned out, however I preached to them. Among the number that composed the audience were two gentlemen who had ridden 17 miles to hear a Mormon preach, Mr. John H. Redd and John Holt. After meeting, Mr. Redd bought some books of me, and requested me to visit his neighborhood and lecture to them. Accordingly I set an appointment by them for the Sunday."

May 20 — "Now being left alone, I determined to confine my labors to as small a compass as would enable me to do the cause justice. Casting myself upon the pure mercies of God, I again pursued my way, being conveyed over Stone's river on horseback, I felt much relieved and expressed my gratitude to my benefactors for the favor shown to me. Directly after I crossed this stream, Mr. John H. Redd rode up and kindly offered to carry my valise, also to ride and tie with me. I cheerfully accepted his proposals and went to his house and spent the night."

May 21 — "Monday morning after breakfast I walked over to Mr. Redd's in company with several others, and before I left, I exhorted them to obedience to the mandates of Heaven."

June 6 — "I assisted to make a dam across a stream in order to prepare or collect sufficient quantity of water to baptise, and at 2 o'clock I baptised John Holt and Mary his wife. Returned to his house and confirmed, and under the same administration ordained him an Elder, for thus I was commanded in a vision to do. At the same time, three more acknowledged the truth and offered themselves for baptism. I walked to Mr. Redd's and spent the evening reasoning with them."

June 7 — "In the morning before I left them, Mrs. Redd gave me her hand as a token of her sincerity in the cause of truth, but was not prepared to be immersed at that time."

June 14 — "Went to Mr. Pace's, took breakfast. Then baptised the following persons and confirmed them there by the water-side: Wilson D. Pace and Harvey A. Pace."

June 15 — "Spent the night with Mr. Redd—-"

June 17 — "At 8 a.m. we repaired to first convenience and after making such remarks as was necessary to proceed the ordinance of baptism, I administered or inducted the following persons into the Kingdom or Church Militant on Earth: John H. Redd, a sea capatain, Elizabeth Redd, Venice and Chinea, two servants belonging to Mr. J. Redd."

"The confirmation was attended to at the house of Mr. Redd. A considerable portion of the Spirit of the Most High was present and manifested itself on this occasion. From thence we repaired to the Mormon stand where two short discourses were delivered, the first by Elder Holt, which was interesting indeed, although it was the first attempt made by him since his ordination or call to the ministry. I followed with such observations as was appropriate under existing circumstances. Closed the meeting, promising to meet them at eleven the following morning."

June 19 — "I spent the day at Br. Redd's and posted my journal. Br. Redd and Sister Holt between, gave me a pair of drawers worth 50 c."

June 28 — Rode to Br. Redd's, took dinner."

June 29 — "I attended a reaping made by Br. Redd, and assisted him in cutting and saving his wheat."

July 17 — "I remained at Br. Redd's. Occupied the time in reading and writing, also instructing such as came with inquiring minds."

Aug. 6, Sunday — "At 4 p.m. called the members together. Partook of the Lord's supper and organized them into a branch, and called it the Friendship Branch of Rutherford. Set apart and ordained the following officers — Brother John Holt, an Elder; Wm. Holt, lesser Priest; Brother John H. Redd, Teacher and Clerk. I also taught them their several duties. The Spirit of the Lord was with us and we had quite a pleasant time. From thence I walked to Thomases in company with Br. Redd and Mr. Holt." (Spelling is Br. Lee's)

It is surprising how quickly they accepted the gospel when they had never been church-goers before. When I was down in North Carolina the first time, and found so little in the court records, I asked where they went to church as I might get information there. They said "Church! The Redds never went to church. You won't find anything there." But when the truth came to them, they recognized it and accepted it.

Early the next spring they journeyed to Nauvoo. Undoubtedly they were getting the spirit of gathering and were going to look into the situation. While

there they each received their patriarchal blessings under the hands of Hyrum Smith, Church Patriarch. I will give them here.

"PATRIARCHAL BLESSING OF JOHN HARDISON REDD, son of Whitaker and Elizabeth Hardison Redd, born in Onslow county, in the state of North Carolina, Dec. 27, A.D. 1799.

"Brother John, I lay my hands upon your head in the name of Jesus Christ to place and seal a blessing upon you, touching the more important points of your present and future condition.

"Behold I say unto you, John, you are of the lineage and tribe of Levi, or in other words, you are of that descent, and that origin, and from that lineage cometh your blessings, from that lineage cometh your priesthood and rights of priesthood, and from that lineage cometh inheritance and rights of inheritance as well as all other tribes of the House of Israel.

"All these things are in accordance with the covenants made with the Fathers, and in answer to their faith it cometh unto the children in the last days. Therefore in these things thou art blessed when you know them, and the children are called unto a restoration and to the ministry, and to the administration of the law of God, then you can be blessed spiritually and temporally if you are faithful in the calling wherewith you are called, for it is written, if you seek first the kingdom of God and its righeousness, all other things shall be added.

"Now, therefore, I say unto you, John, you shall be blessed with the priesthood and it shall be a blessing unto you and your house, and your name shall be perpetuated from generation to generation, and you shall be blessed in your house and habitation, and in the covenant of Grace, and shall have an inheritance in the lineage of your fathers, and honor shall crown your head, notwithstanding the wickedness of the world.

"And you shall retire to your grave in peace, but many years shall be multiplied upon your head if your faith fails not. These blessings I seal upon your head according to the tenor thereof. Even so, Amen and Amen."

Given by Hyrum Smith, Patriarch of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latterday Saints. April 3, 1844. Recorded in book C, page 258.

"PATRIARCHAL BLESSING OF ELIZABETH HANCOCK REDD, daughter of Zebedee and Abigail Hancock, born Jan. 25, 1798 in Onslow County, North Carolina."

"Sister Elizabeth, I lay my hands upon your head and by virtue of the priesthood, I seal the blessings of the Father. Thy heart shall be comforted for thou wilt be numbered with the seed of Abraham and hast become legitimate heir for the promised blessings. Thou shalt be blessed with the spirit of meekness, uprightness and integrity, and through the knowledge of thy heirship, the spirit of peace shall ever rest upon thy mind to comfort thy heart and to make known to thy mind that thou art a daughter of the Highest.

"In all of thy trials and chastenings, let thy mind be staid upon the promises, for they are there and thou shalt share in blessings and promises, and partake of them in common with thy Father and shall share with him in blessings of the everlasting priesthood, both in time and throughout eternity.

"Thy children shall bless thee and revere thy name for the kindness of a mother toward them. Thy posterity shall share in blessings of the everlasting priesthood and thou shalt advance in knowledge or principles and theory upon things pertaining to the kingdom of God. Through thy faithfulness and diligence the Lord will reveal unto the mind, in visions and dreams upon thy bed, the duty of a mother due to her offspring, that thou mayest have virtue to bring them up in the fear and admonition of the Lord. "Remember that thou art a descendant from Ephraim and the desire of thy heart is to know and to do the will of the Lord. In all things thy table shall be crowned with the blessings of the earth, for it has been thy desire to comfort and console the oppressed, to feed the needy and comfort the fatherless. Remember it will be thy gift and blessing to become a mother and instruct in Israel, to teach thy sex the principles pertaining to the domestic circle.

"This is thy Father's seal and blessing upon thy head. Through thy faithfulness and diligence thou shalt have part in the first resurrection and shalt enter into the mansions of thy Father, prepared for thee from the foundation of the world."

"I seal these blessings upon thy head in the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Ghost. Amen."

After this visit to Nauvoo, John H. and Elizabeth Redd went back to their home in Tennessee, and must have begun preparations to go with the Saints. In 1847, John H. came back to the headquarters of the Church, with his neighbor, Isham Gilliam. The saints had been driven from Nauvoo and their temporary headquarters were in Winter Quarters. There was a place about thirty miles away called Summer Quarters where Brigham Young had his family. John D. Lee was there also, and John H. went there. John D. Lee writes in his journal "Summer Quarters, July 1, 1847 — About 6 p.m. Brother John H. Redd and Isham

Gilliam, both Rutherford County (Tenn.) men arrived in camp. (Note: John H. Redd, an old sea captain, formerly from So. Carolina, had protected Lee when Mormon missionaries in Rutherford County, Tennessee had been attacked by a mob. He later became converted and the prefix "Bro" indicates he was a Mormon at this time.)

"July 4 — Left Brother John H. Redd considerably difficulted in his mind with reference to removing west. After meeting, Brother Redd, I. Gilliam and Caroline and several others dined with J.D. Lee.

"July 5 — Clear wind S.W. About 8 Friend Gilliam, Sister Caroline (Gilliam's wife) and J. H. Redd started for Tennessee, their native land."

I can find very little about them in Tennessee records, but was glad to find this: In a list of taxable property as taken and returned by Miles P. Murphy Esq. in district 8 of Rutherford County, Tennessee for the year 1849 — "John H. Redd, 175 acres of land valued at \$1250.00, tax \$1.44, 4 slaves valued at \$1600.00 tax \$1.84, other property valued at \$915.00 tax \$1.04. Polls 1 tax \$.15, State tax \$4.47. State and county tax \$7.45."

Since he paid tax on only 4 slaves, it indicated that they had already freed some of them. Six came out to Utah with them, and at least two came out later. Maybe some never came. However the six that come with them didn't belong to John H., they belonged to his wife, Elizabeth.

They had been freed, and were free to go or stay. Aunt Lou says they desired to come, and even begged to come. To take care of Elizabeth had been their lifelong concern, they had no other, and no place to go, and wished to remain with Missy. "Missy couldn't do this or that. Missy needed them for this or that," so they were permitted to stay with their own family, as it were. I guess they were right? Aunt Lou says her grandmother couldn't even mould out a batch of bread or do any of the common ordinary things that women learned to do when very young.

So they planned to come to Utah, and did so in 1850, just three years after the first company came, and without question, found things much more primitive than they had ever experienced before.

I don't know.....(one line missing here)

of the excerpts from it. It was originally written in a sort of notebook he made himself. He took sheets of paper about eight or nine inches by about fourteen inces. These he placed together and sewed them across the middle with a coarse thread, probably homemade. Then he folded them where he had sewn them with

long stitches. The outside sheet or sheets had worn away, so that the beginning and the end were lost when I copied it. His account is strictly impersonal, as he doesn't mention one of his own family. It's merely a minute of their travels. It begins —

"Tuesday morning June 18th, 1850. Fine weather with the wind still to the south. We are encamped on the west bank of the Weeping Water, and Capt. Bennett with the second 50 encamped on the opposite bank. We have accounts of one death more amongst them vz. Perry Kees. Their health seems a little improving this morning. We are still blessed with tolerable health in our camps.

"Wednesday morning June 10th. We had quite a rain last night and this morning it looks quite rainy. We are encamped on Salt Creek. Captain Bennett's company passed us this morning in travelling condition under animating hopes of the cholera subsiding amongst them.

"Thursday morning June 20th. A prospect of good weather this morning. Capt. Bennett's company is still in advance of us about three miles, and this is according to the wish of Capt. Pace, as he wishes to strictly attend both companies. We fell in with two emigrating wagons yesterday who wished to be admitted into our camps, and they had the appearance of friendly civil men who seemed willing to do their part in herding or guarding. Captain Sessions proposed to the camps that, if it was consistent with their wishes, that he would have no objection, and I believe it met the approbation of the camps, so they were admitted in. Their names were as follows vz Cyus Collins who represents six persons, one wagon and five horses, and the other by the name of I. W. Sands who represents 2 persons, 1 wagon and 3 horses.

"Friday morning June 21st. Fine weather this morning and our camps in tolerable health and condition. We passed Captain Bennett's company yesterday about 1 o'clock. We suppose them at this time to be in our rear about 5 mi.

"Wednesday morning June 26th. We had quite a rain last night. We have the rain to the northwest this morning. Captain Bennett's camp (the 2nd 50) arrived yesterday and are encamped near us. All seem to be in tolerable spirits. The camps were called together this morning to establish rules and regulations for the safety, progress and welfare of the camps. Captain Pace and Captain Sessions very appropriately addressed the camps, and it seemed to meet the approbations of the brethren as they all seemed to meet with good feelings and unanimously agreed to said rules and regulations. I have this morning read a correct statetment of the deaths which have occurred in Capt. Bennett's comapny (I will not give them all.) All supposed to die of cholera and east of the Weeping Water. Capt. Bennett's company have lost two horses, supposed to be stolen by

Indians. We have sent a letter back this morning to Kanesville addressed to Elder O. Hide.

"Saturday morning June 29th. It looks quite sqally this morning after a very heavy rain and wind last night. We passed Capt. Evans company yesterday. They have lost some 3 or 4 of their number with cholera. They passed us last night and are in advance of us 1/2 mile encamped. We met the mail from Salt Lake Valley yesterday about 10 o'clock. Supposed to be about 60 miles below Fort Carney. Capt. Bennett is still in our rear about 15 miles and news has come in this morning that they have lost 4 more of their number with cholera. Our two emigrating wagons (Mr. Collins and Mr. Sands) left us this morning by common consent, as we expected this day to lay by and they wished to make better progress by travelling.

"Friday morning July 5th. Good weather and consequently we have better roads. Our camps seem a little improving in health this morning for which we feel very thankful to our Heavenly Father—-for His mercies —

"Monday morning July 15th. Cool and pleasant weather this morning and our camps in tolerable health and condition. We lay by yesterday being the Sabbath and in hopes of the arrival of Capt. Bennett's company. But they were laying at the same time. We learn that they have lost one more of their no.

"Wednesday morning July 17th. This is a beautiful morning with the wind to the east. We are this morning, through the blessings of divine providence, all safe on the north bank of the South fork of the Platt. We had quite a pleasant time for crossing yesterday. The government train also got safe over last evening and are encamped near us. Capt. Bennett with the 2nd 50 also drove up last evening and are ready this morning for crossing. Sister Webb lost her little girl last night. She died with the canker and whooping cough, and is buried at this place. Her name is Phoebe Arabella Webb. She was about three years old.

"Wednesday morning July 24th. Fine weather and pleasant this morning with the wind to the north. We are encamped on the south bank of the Platt about 5 miles east of Chimney Rock, and about 75 miles east of Fort Laramie. We have received intelligence from Capt. Bennett's comapny by Samuel Johnston. He stated that they are still in good condition and are travelling on. He also states that they lost in all 14 of their number, and most of cholera.

"Tuesday morning July 25th. We are still encamped at the same place. We lay by yesterday, it being 24th of July, to celebrate the day in commeration of the entering of the pioneers that day three years ago into the valley of the Great Salt Lake. Our opportunities of celebrating the day were very limited on this almost

barren prairie, but we rested our teams as we thought it a righteous act, and were well entertained in the evening by an interesting discourse, both from Capt. Pace and Capt. Sessions admonishing the brethren to faithfulness in the discharge of their several duties. The brethren all seemed to meet and part with good feelings. We have fine weather but very warm in the afternoon. We are enjoying good health through the blessings of divine Providence.

"Wednesday morning July 31st. We are encamped this morning about three miles below a trading post and about 23 miles below Fort Laramie. We had considerable hail yesterday, but beautiful weather this morning. Capt. Evans camp is a little in advance of us, and Capt. Bennett's company still in our rear. We have tolerable health in our camps this morning.

"Wednesday morning July 31st. We are encmped this morning ten miles below Fort Laramie on a beautiful bottom. The weather continues good. We had a birth in our camp last night. Sister Elizabeth Ann Rabel, wife of Henry Rabel, was delivered of a fine daughter and is doing well this morning. We have many Indians and Indian traders around us.

"Wednesday August 7th. We are encamped this morning on the La Boute where we have plenty of creek water. We have had it very rough and rocky the most of the way through the Black Hills. Nothing of importance this morning.

"Sunday morning Aug. 11th. We are encamped this morning on the bank of the north fork of the Platt near where we descended out of the Black Hills. We had considerable hail yesterday. Our camp is in tolerable health except the whooping cough amongst the children. We have fine weather.

"Sunday morning Aug. 18th. We are encamped on the bank of the Platt near the upper ford and ferry. Capt. Bennett's company crossed last evening and are encamped on the opposite bank. Our camps are in tolerable health and condition, and ready this morning for crossing. We had a meeting last night to give some instructions and to settle some little controversy between Capt. Pace and Capt. Sessions, as there had been some little misunderstanding between them a few days previous. After some reasoning on both sides, I thought the matter seemed settled satisfactorily on both sides. We met the express from the valley yesterday about 10 o'clock 5 miles below this place. It is quite cloudy and likely for rain.

"Monday morning Aug. 19th. We are safe over the Platt and encamped on the river about two miles above the ferry where we have but little feed for our cattle and have a severe storm of cold wind and rain ever since last evening, and still continues. We have lost in all up this time 14 head of cattle. (Then he names the losers.)

This is the last entry, but it gives a bit about how they fared on the way across the plains. There is an entry for every day. Always you notice he writes in the morning. Probably because it would be late in the evening before he could get at it, then it would be too dark. In his party there would be himself, wife, six children ranging from eight to nineteen, and six colored servants, fourteen to forty. That would make fourteen, and they would have to carry all their provisions, bedding, clothing, etc. He gives no thought to his family in these minutes. Maybe he listed them in the beginning and that has been lost. He is said to have arrived in Salt Lake City in October.

I have a bit of his other writing that is interesting, that I will give here. Maybe I should have done it before from the date on it, 26 Aug. 1846.

BALLAD written for Mary Catherine Redd, from an old manuscript of John Hardison Redd.

"While Nature was sinking in stillness to rest,

The last beams of daylight shone dim in the west.

O'er fields by the moonlight, with wandering feet,

Sought in quietude's hour a place of retreat.

While passing a garden I heard, then drew near,

A voice of a sufferer affected my heart,

In agony pleading the poor sinner's part.

In offering to Heaven his pitying prayer,

He spoke of the...... His life for a ransom He offered to give,

That sinners redeemed in glory might live.

So deep were his sorrows, so fervent his prayers

That down on his bosom rolled sweat, blood and tears.

I wept to behold Him. I asked Him His name,

He answered, "Tis Jesus, from Heaven I came.

"I am thy Redeemer, for thee I must die;

This cup is most bitter, but cannot pass by.

Thy sins like a mountain are laid upon Me,

And all this deep anguish I suffer for thee."

I heard with deep anguish the tale of His woe,

While tears like a fountain of water did flow,

The cause of His sorrow to hear Him repeat,

Affected my heart and I fell at His feet.

I trembled with horror and loudly did cry.

"Lord, save a poor sinner, O save, or I die."

He smiled when He saw me, and said to me, "live,"

"Thy sins which are many, I freely forgive."

How sweet was that moment; He bade me "Rejoice."

His smile, O how sweet, How charming His voice.

I flew from the garden, I spread it abroad,

I shouted, "Salvation, and Glory to God."

I'm now on my journey to mansions above My soul's full of glory, of light, peace and love.

I think of the garden, the prayer and the tears,

Of that loving Savior who banished my fears.

The day of bright glory is rolling around,

When Gabriel descending, the trumpet shall sound,

My soul then in raptures of glory shall rise

To gaze on my Savior with unclouded eyes."

Here are some axioms he prized.

"Idleness always brings disgrace."

"Knowledge enlarges our pleasures."

"Never lament and weep for the loss of what you cannot keep."

"Remember the benevolent acts of your neighbor."

"Tempt not your friend with evil communications."

"Usurp not authority where it does not belong."

"Virtuous love produces peace and happiness."

"Work hard to excell in learning."

"Avoid whatever is unbecoming."

"Grandeur cannot purchase peace."

"Learning improves human nature."

"Overcome obstacles by perseverence."

"Quit vicious and disorderly company."

"Reputation is obtained by merit."

"Shame accompanies mean actions."

"Triumph not over the unfortunate."

"Pride indicates great want of sense."

"Vanity excites ridicule and contempt."

"Boast not of the favor you bestow."

"Deceit discovers a little mind."

"Enlarge your mind to receive wisdom."

"To be good is to be wise and happy."

"We were not made for ourselves only."

"Modesty is one of the chief ornaments of youth."

"No confidence can be placed in those who are in the habit of lying."

"Neglect no opportunity of doing good."

"Idleness is the parent of vice and misery."

"Cleanliness promotes health of body and delicacy of mind."

What a man is interested in shows what kind of man he is, so these bits of what he thought about are enlightening.

As you know from grandfather's history, they settled in Spanish Fork, when it was a little above where it is now, and was called Palmyra. Soon the name was changed to Spanish Fork. His home was built of squared logs brought down from the mountain. It had an attic, with a door in the end, which they went up to from the outside by way of a narrow flight of stairs. Here the family settled and became part of the community. The 1850 census of Utah county gives the following:

John H. Redd 51 born in North Carolina

Elizabeth 52 "

Ann M. 19 "

Ann E. 18 "

Mary C. 15 "

Lemuel H. 14 "

John H. 13 "

Benjamin J. 8 born in Tennessee

The birth place of the following was not given:

Vinus, 40 black; Chancey, 38 black; Luke 19 yellow; Marinda 18 yellow; Anna 14 yellow; Sam 17 yellow.

His brother-in-law came out with the same company he did, but his sister Mary didn't come for a year and a half later. Two other colored people came later, and I think they must have come at the same time that she did. Their names were Fred and Amy. Fred married Marinda. I don't think they had any children. He died soon. This census record is printed in "First Families of Utah," by Burns and Miller p. 84.

When Mary came out, she found that John Holt had married a second wife, and she quit him. He took the other wife to California and spent the rest of his life there. She, of course, stayed with her family in Spanish Fork.

Spanish Fork City, May the 7th 1855.

10. Cyrus Snell

A true list of votes taken at the above-mentioned place with the respective names of voters for Mayor, Aldermen and councillors for said City —

22. John Walton

1. Mathew Caldwell	13. John L. Butler *
2. Joseph B. Hawks	14. John H. Red *
3. Geo. W. Sevy *	15. John W.Snell
4. H.A.Pace *	16. Daniel R. Mott
5. H.B.N.Jolley	17. John McKinley
6. Philo Allen *	18. Wm. F. Pace *
7. Zebedee Coltrin	19. George McKinley
8. John W.Mott 9. Wilson D.Pace	20. Lemuel H.Red * 21. Joshua Hawks *

11. Wm. Pace *

23. George D.Snell

12. Orrawell Simons

For Mayor: Mathew Coltrin 17 votes; John McKinley 6 votes

For Aldermen: John H. Redd 23; Henry B.N.Jolley 23;

Cyrus Snell 23; Orrawell Simons 23.

For Councillors: Wm. Pace 23; John L.Butler 23; Joseph B.Hawks 23; Zebedee Coltrin 23; John H.Mott 23; Philo Allen 23; WilsonD.Pace 23; Harvey A.Pace 23; George W.Sevy 23.

We the undersigned clerks and judges do certify that this is a true statement of the votes taken at the above place — given under our hands and seals: John H. Redd, Zebedee Coltrin, William Pace, Orrawell Simons, John L. Butler.

The starred names are relatives or relatives-in-law of our family, except the two Wm. Paces. They are brother and father of Wilson and Harvey. There were only 23 men in the community then.

Life in this new home wasn't so hot in a lot of ways. They had been here only five months when their daughter, Mary Catherine took sick suddenly and died the 5 of May 1851. They said the change of climate was hard on many. That was the first sorrow they were called on to endure. A little over two years later, Thursday morning, 25th of Nov. 1853, their son, John Holt was thrown from a horse and killed. This was such a blow to the mother that she went to bed and never ate, she couldn't, and she died the next Sunday morning, Nov. 28, 1853. Aunt Lou said she turned yellow before she died. Something must have been preying upon her system and this shock brought it to a head so to speak. I guess we'll never know.

Ann Marian was married at this time, and was home with her father. Ann Elizabeth married two years later, then he was rather lonesome.

In Feb. 1856 John H. Redd received a call to go to Las Vegas, Nevada to help open up some lead mines but did not go. He fitted out his son, Lemuel H., who, with his wife went in contemplation of having his father follow in the fall.

I have written much about that in Lemuel H.'s story, so will at this time only give a letter that John. wrote to Lemuel during this time.

"Spanish Fork City, Utah County and Utah Territory, August 1, 1856.

"Dear Son and Daughter — With pleasure and interest I embrace the opportunity of advising you with a few lines. My reasons for not writing sooner, I was waiting for you to write that I might know what to communicate. I received your letter of 9 June last Sunday night, the contents of which has been noticed with no small interest. I am very happy to hear that you both are well, but truly sorry to learn that you are not satisfied. I do not wish you to remain there any longer than you can help if you are not satisfied.

I have done the very best in my power to take care of what you left behind. I have let nothing go except your table and two pigs. I let Sister Butler have one, and I gave one pig and one bushel of wheat for harvesting your fall wheat. The man who took the job had rather a hard bargain, it took him about five days faithful work with a hook to save it amongst the sunflowers. The grasshoppers injured your wheat some, but the sunflowers have been most destructive. They have destroyed much of my fall wheat. I have had to hire all the time. We are just through with our fall wheat and oats, and will have to commence on our spring wheat about Monday. Our crops are quite light and it is thought that bread stuff will be remarkable scarce. It has been one of the most trying times that this people ever had to pass through, and we fear that it will be no better the ensuing year if the people do not begin to save in time. The words of salvation are taught from every stand, which fully means a saving principle without that there is no salvation. Remember this my dear children, and be wise and economical as your father has been before you, and you may rely, my son and daughter, with confidence that your Father will take the best care in his power for your temporal and eternal welfare.

"I wish to hear from you often that I may know how to manage your concerns and keep things in readiness for your return, which I hope will be before very long, unless you become better satisfied, for I do not wish you to stay there against your will. If you have a wish to return, you had better by the first safe opportunity, as I am making arrangements to start in the fall. I should like to have you here to give you some instructions in regard to what I leave behind. You can arrange your business there to the best advantage to remain until I get there. Get liberty from the authorities of that place to come, and do not come until you know that you are safe in travelling. I should like to know about what time you expect to start, that I may know what time to look for you.

"I expect to leave my houses and land, and a part of my stock as the range there are not very good. The tobacco worm in places has been very destructive to potato crops. They have destroyed nearly all of the Pace's potatoes and nearly ruined yours. We wormed them over 3 or 4 times. They were not quite so bad on our black land. We have had a pretty hard trial to make what we have made. Stock, grasshoppers and worms have given us some trouble.

"I have not much news at this time, there has been very few changes except what are common. We had a frost about the 15th of July, which injured our vines very much. We have had it very windy all through the spring and summer, but it is very dry and hot at this time.

"There has been two marriages since you left. John W. Berry is married to Emily Davis, and myself to Miss Mary Lewis of Salt Lake City, a fine-looking girl of about 16 years of age. This leaves us all well at present, truly hoping it finds you both in the enjoyments of life, health and prosperity. Miss Charity wishes to be remembered to you both in love as she had not the opportunity of writing in the letter sent by her people. She is well and doing well, and we hope a very fair prospect of her still doing better. We all have a desire to see you both white and black, and our ardent desires are for your temporal and eternal welfare, and truly hope the Lord may bless and prosper you in your travels and return.

"So, ever remaining your affectionate father, people and friends.

John H. Redd and family and people.

To Lemuel H. Redd and wife.

This sounds like the blacks were living near. In the south they always had separate little houses out at the back for the slaves, and I suppose it was still the same out here.

John Low

JOHN LOWE AND CAROLINE SKEEN BUTLER - OF COURAGE AND FAITH

Through the ages of the earth, the Lord has strengthened women to fulfill their roles as helpmeets and companions to their husbands, and mothers in Zion.

For example, we read in I Nephi 17:

1. And it came to pass that we did again take our journey in the wilderness; ... And we did travel and wade through much affliction in the wilderness; and our women did bear children in the wilderness.

2. And so great were the blessings of the Lord upon us, that while we did live upon raw meat in the wilderness, our women did give plenty of suck for their children, and were strong, yea, even like unto the men; and they began to bear their journeyings without murmurings.

For Caroline Skeen Butler, who walked beside John Lowe Butler through those soul-rending, body wrenching, heart-breaking experiences of the Mormon pioneers, this help from the Lord was provided also.

In order to understand the life and trials of a woman, as she supports and sustains her husband and family, one must know somewhat of the man. So, this history will tell much of Caroline's husband, John Lowe Butler, using quotations from his autobiography.

John was born "in Simpson County Kentucky, April 8th, 1808. My father was James Butler My Mother's name was Charity Lowe before her marriage." He was the fourth child in the family of fourteen children, four of whom were stillborn.

From his early youth, John had "serious reflections on futurity. My parents being of Methodist faith and hearing them talk about it."

Along with this concern for futurity was another factor which, one can readily deduce, would have serious consequences for his future wife. It was John's poor health. He writes:

"When about seven years of age I was taken sick with the imflamtary rheumatics. It passed from my feet to my finger ends in every joint. It left me in very poor health, and shortly after I was taken with what the Doctor called an impaston (probably and infection) in my leg. And after it began to mend I took the dropsy in my eye ... And the doctor said it would be difficult to save.

"From that time till I was in my twentieth year I had twelve hard attacks of the rheumatics, it taking me as least once a year and sometimes twice When in my nineteenth year pain fell on my left side, and arm and thigh and leg began to shrink and fail me so that I began to think that I should loose the use of that side altogether. I was so reduced that my mother could carry me from one room to another with ease in her arms but through means used the Lord began to restore my limbs again so that when I was twenty two years of age I was getting better than ever I expectd to be. I was able to do labour at light work."

At this time, he began to think seriously about his future existence and wonder what the Lord would want with someone such as he on the earth, and to desire better health.

Even with these problems, he grew to a height of six feet by the time he was twenty-two. And later, after joining the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, he grew two more inches and "grew quite stout" as he records. In later years, his size was an important factor in his accomplishing the Lord's work.

At about this time, in his twenty-first year, he and his friends begin attending the many revival meetings being held in the area.

Three of these are converted to Methodism, but John continues his search. He tells, in great detail, his experience in finding the truth. I will quote much from his writings in order to give understanding of his zeal once he found the truth.

John tells of his wrestle with evil power after he makes a firm decision to find "religion."

"When crossing the room there was a power came on me that threw me to the ground and every nerve in me seemed to be numb and my hands cramped, and the first thing I knew I cried for the Lord to have mercy upon me. I thought now they all had found out that I was seeking religion and that made me feel very mean. I lay there for six hours, but did not think it more than one hour. Feeling came (probably calm) when I first arose but it was not long till Darkness and the same bad feeling came back to me again."

Later, he tells: "I seemed to have a view of myself, I thought I could see every sin I every committed and while in this condition I felt with all my soul to call upon the Lord God to forgive me, a sinner. And all of an instant the burden left me and I felt to rejoice for a minute or two, then I stopped to think what such a change meant. I thought is this religion? There was a voice whispered to me and said 'you have yet to preach the gospel to the world'...That day I gave my hand to the Methodists on trial" and he began to search the scriptures.

Through this, he gains a firm conviction that baptism by immersion is right. His parents, wanting him to stay with the Methodists who did not baptize a second time, find a Methodist minister who will baptize again. But when John is baptized his Methodist associates laughed and made fun of him.

He says, "It hurt my feelings to see those professing to be saints make light of the commandments of God ... and finally concluded that I would not live

among people that would do so and went to the baptist and was baptized again telling them at the same time I did not believe one word of the Predestinarian Doctrine (predestination) as held forth by them but as they valued baptism by immersion."

At age 23, in 1831 John married Caroline Skeen, daughter of Jesse and Keziah Taylor Skeen. Caroline was born April 12, 1812 on an estate along Drake's Creek in Sumner County, Tennessee. She was the daughter of what was, in their day in Kentucky, a middle class family, her parents having considerable land, 1450 acres, and eleven slaves in their household of twenty-two. It was said that Caroline never combed her own hair until after her marriage. (Hartley) her Negro mammy combed it.

John's family would have been classed yoeman in the Kentucky society of their day. They had small holdings, were comfortably situated on a small farm of 600 acres. Fortunately for them, considering John's frail health, they apparently had the help of at least two Negroes, possibly the slaves given to Caroline at their marriage, and who had been freed by John. The Butlers did not believe in slavery.

Both John and Caroline were from families who had come to America before the revolution and had fought for the cause of freedom against the British. Had pioneered along the early frontiers.

So these two were not unprepared for the rigors they encountered in embracing the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints in its infancy, nor for the necessity of defending their beliefs with great sacrifice and courage. They had heard the stories by or about their forebears, and these steeled them in their time of "refining."

John, with Caroline's support, continues to search for the word of God but "could find no relief" although he continued to go to meetings. When one of the men of the Baptist church tells him the Lord will continue to chastise him until he agrees to preach their faith, John is filled with a rebellious spirit and decides he will quit going to the meetings, as there is such a spirit of contention and nothing to be gained.

Discouraged, because he also did not seem to be able to learn what he wanted to know through study of the scriptures, and his prayers, John goes home and tells his wife, Caroline that he is going to give it all up.

He reports that "it hurt her feelings very much indeed. I then went to put up my horse. My barn was up by my Orchard. When I had got there I found that

a wind storm had passed over when I was away and had destroyed several of my fruit trees by blowing them down and had blown off a great deel of the fruit from the other trees. When I saw what had happened I began to feel very angry to think that the Lord should send such a storm to do me so much damage. And still feeling the same independent spirit I stood up looking towards the heavens saying I would not preach such stuff as my Baptist Brethern told me I would have to preach. And if he thought he would make me to try it and I would quit praying to him for he would not answer me and I would be as independant as he. While in this exercise of mind there was several streeks of lightning passed before me in the heavens. I said 'I know you can strike me dead with lightning but pop away if you wish for I will neither preach, pray, go to meeting, nor read the scripture any more.'"

He then gets some corn tops and begins feeding his horses when he hears a voice which says, "I will set on you a refiners fire." He turns to see the speaker, but there is no one.

Realizing what he has done, he returns to the house and relates his experience to Caroline. One can imagine the anxiety of this good woman, who has followed his searchings, and, quite possibly, is searching for her own witness. Probably, with some limitation on her understanding of his condition, as research shows that her own family appears to have no formal religious affiliation. But we can imagine that she herself has developed a feeling of religious conviction, as we have noted earlier, John's report of her hurt feelings when he decides not to read any more scripture.

After the interview with Caroline, John determines to read Malachi which he does, reading it through twice. In Malachi it speaks of the refiner's fire. John then decides "never to open it again" but to go once more to pray for the last time.

He retires to a field where he had made prayers before, but he reports, "Fifty feet from the house my whole mental powers seemed to be drawn out to God to know the truth and the true order of his Kingdom, and if I could only know that I would do anything even to the laying down of my life if necessary."

He hears the voice again saying, "Stand still and see the salvation of God and that will be truth." "That instant a light shone round me. I was fill'd with the Spirit of the Lord and saw clearly that God would save all the workmanship of his hands and truth would stand or be set up in our midst, and it will not need propping up as the sects of the day had continued to do. From this time I began to look for something to come forth different to what we then had in any church.

I often told my bretheren that the truth would stand alone and might be told by an illiterate man. It could not be put down."

He tells that, following this spiritual manifestation, things go along "tolerably well." He continues to attend meetings where he agrees to preach, but mostly on the subject of repentance.

He also was "keeping school at that time, for I was unable to do much hard work being sickly from my boyhood." They must have depended heavily upon their servants to work the land and do the heavy tasks in a household in those early days.

One can imagine the responsibility and worry Caroline assumed, for which she was probably not prepared, having come from a home where there were many slaves to do her bidding.

Now, along with all of the above, she has children to bear and rear. So far, there are three: Kenyon Taylor 17 November 1831, William Alexander 20 April 1833 who died four months later, Charity Artamesia 13 Jun 1834. Heartaches for this young couple and joys. One imagines their sorrow when leaving the little grave when they move to Missouri to be with the Saints.

March 1, 1835 came the announcement at the Baptist meeting that two Mormon Elders were coming to preach. When John decides to hear them, two baptist men are appointed to accompany him.

In John's words, "I expected they would speak from their golden bible but they did not and to my astonishment, they commenced preaching the first principals as set down in the new testament. This astonished me. I knew every word they said to be truth for I had the testimony of it. I asked them a few questions and they kindly answered them. I then told them that my house was a home for them as long as they wished."

The "brethren" with him say to one another "how John is taken up with them, see his mouth is wide open to swallow it all, this doctrine will just suit him for it is what he has been seeking after..."

John invites the elders to come and preach at his home. Then returns to tell his family what he has found. His mother, who is staying with them says, "Yes, that is just like you, you were not content with the Methodist, then you joined the Baptist, and they do not suit you, now you will join these Mormons." But, later, John's mother, too, recognizes the truth.

John's reply to his mother's comment is that the Lord has said try all things and hold fast that which is good.

Caroline, apparently, has received her own witness before her husband, and supports him in his new found faith, because, when he comes home from a meeting and reports to her that, "They preached the Order of the kingdom and I had never heard any thing so plain in all my life before. A child could understand it all. It was just the thing I had been hankering for...I asked to my wife what she thought of the Mormon Elders. She said she thought that they were men of God and that it was the only true Church of God and only way to be saved.

To this testimony, Caroline will cling desperately, in the coming months and years of persecution, after they leave to join the body of the Saints in Ray County. In truth, she will need its strength for the rest of her life as she and John valiantly follow the leadership and counsel of the Lord's prophets.

Consider the role of this good woman, who bore and reared twelve children while supporting her husband, and in many cases accompanying him, while he filled the assignments described below:

"During anti-Mormon turmoil in Missouri, John became a Danite and militiaman defending his people. In Nauvoo Joseph Smith called John to be one of his twelve official bodyguards, an officer position in the Nauvoo Legion. John thereafter filled several Legion assignments. After Joseph Smith's death, Brigham Young chose John to be one of his bodyguards, and John also helped guard the Nauvoo Temple." Hartley p. ix

"Between 1840 and 1847 he (John Butler) served four special missions among the Native Americans, two of which Joseph Smith ordered. Brigham Young sent John to help stabilize James Emmett's Iowa Expedition in 1844-45. Then, President Young called John to merge the Emmett group into a large contingent of Saints who wintered among Ponca Indians instead of at Winter Quarters.

In Utah Territory John helped the LDS Church claim Green River ferries from mountain men. At Spanish Fork he had Indian Farm responsibilities, made complex by the Utah War. He was a Utah militia officer. And, rare among Mormonism's corps of frontiermen, John became an ecclesiastical leader, called by President Young to be a pioneer bishop to unify the Spanish Fork settlement. Hartley p. ix

Following their conversion, and contemplating baptism, John, and we assume Caroline along with him, contemplate what joining the Mormons will

mean. He will lose his possessions and his reputation, their life will be very hard and different. They will have to sell out and move away. But he remembers his covenant with the Lord a few years before, when he was searching for the truth.

He now records, "But then it was the truth that we had heard and the Elders were sent of God to preach the true and everlasting Gospel. What could I do? I had promised the Lord that I would serve and obey him and even lay down my life for the Gospel's sake if nesssessary, and what was my property against my life."

March 9 1835, John and Caroline along with several others are baptized. After the confirmation, the gift of the Holy Ghost rests upon them and five, among them John, speak in tongues.

Because of the persecution which rages, the Mormon missionaries, Elders James Emmett and Peter Dustan, leave.

Upon learning of their departure, John's mother says, "O what a fool have I been to have heard the Gospel for two weeks and then to let the Elders go and leave me unbaptized."

Moved by the spirit, the Elders return and baptize the mother and also Caroline's sister, Charity, who is both deaf and dumb. But she has observed, and asks Caroline to explain things to her. Patiently, Caroline explains the truths of the new faith to her sister, Charity.

John reports, "The Lord then opened her understanding and she told my wife that she would be baptized by the men sent of God. But my wife told her she better not, as her Father was very much opposed to Mormonism and that he would lay all the blame upon her (Caroline). But Charity persisted in being baptized. This all took place just after the Elders departed.

"So when the Elders turned back again, they knew that the Lord wanted them for some wise purpose."

Caroline's fears are realized. Her own father, Jesse Skeen, "told every one that he met that me, my wife and Lucy Ann (John's sister) and the Elders all slept together, in one bed on the floor." But John's Uncle, John Lowe, a Justice of the Peace comes to their aid; and he eventually forces Jesse Skeen to sign a "liebill" admitting he had lied.

There were other persecutions. Then, the final trial. Jesse sends word three times threatening to shoot John if he tries to leave and take Caroline. But

Caroline is true to her faith and her husband. They continue to make their plans; and, over the next year, gradually dispose of possessions and property.

One day, Uncle John arrives at the Butler's and excitedly asks Caroline for John's gun, as there are some turkeys to shoot. Caroline gives him the gun and he does not return it until the night when the party is leaving, saying "John I should not like to see you kill the old man."

Upon hearing Jesse' threats, John had said to Jesse that he had a good rifle and could shoot as well as Jesse. When he finds his gun gone, he worries about how he will defend himself against his enraged father-in-law. But they remain safe until the time of their departure.

When, in 1836, John and Caroline and their three children and his mother, three brothers and a sister leave, stealthily, for Missouri.

Traveling from early April to 16 of June, they arrive in Ray County (Missouri) and cast their lot with the saints. Here, John and Caroline realize more fully that they have "embraced the truth from God." But probably did not know that they were never to know peace for most of the rest of their lives.

From Ray County, with the saints, they trekked to Clay and then to Caldwell County, and then to Gallatin in Davis County.

It is here on August 8, 1838 that he and Brother Gee and the others fight the mob for the right to go to the polling station. With his increased height and his new found strength, since joining the church, John "felt as if he could handle any two men on the earth." And, indeed, he handles more than two that day.

In his words, "... power rested upon me such as one I never felt before. When I got in reach of them, I commenced to call out aloud for peace and at the same time making my stick (a piece of the heart of an oak and quite large) move to my own utter astonishment, tapping them as though light, but they fell as dead men, their heads often striking the ground first. (He mentions that the stick is quite big and reminds himself, as he wades into the battle that he must strike lightly, or he will kill someone.) I took great care to strike none except those who were fighting the brethren."

Following this episode, John rides to Far West, about fourteen miles where he visits the Prophet. Joseph warns him to move his family immediately. John says he does not want to appear a coward, but follows the counsel of the Lord's chosen, which was his practice until his dying breath.

After the Prophet's warning, fearing retribution for the injuries John had inflicted on the mobsters, he and Caroline pack hurriedly and leave, their second wagon load departing just before dawn.

At daybreak, their neighbor, Brother Gee, sees a mob of about thirty men surrounding the Butler home. He is sure they will all be killed; and is greatly relieved when he rushes to the home of the Taylors and finds the Butlers there, safe and sound.

John's comment, "I thus saw the hand of the Lord in guiding Brother Joseph to direct me to move my family away...and I felt to thank God with all my heart and soul."

As John must continue in hiding, he starts for Far West, leaving his wife to come later with the family. Not an easy assignment for a woman.

Meanwhile, the mobs have rounded up Joseph and Hiram and all the males they can find and jailed them. But, fortunately, they did not find John.

It is about this time that William E. McLellin comes to Emma's and takes possessions, including most of the bedding. The Prophet sent to her for quilts, as it is winter, and cold in the jail. Emma weeps, as she has only two blankets. Caroline and other women tell her to send Joseph the blankets and they will see that she has some. True to her word, Caroline returns to the Smiths with the precious bed clothes.

In the next few years, John serves several missions, while Caroline remains at home, looking after family and farming, enduring the worry, fear and loneliness of those violent times on the frontier, and with the addition of religious persecution by the mobs. So often, the men had to hide, or fight, or go on missions; and the women, like Caroline, carried on at home, sustained and made strong for their burdens through their faith in the Lord. Even as the women of Lehi's family were strengthened when they traveled in the wilderness, as recorded in the Book of Mormon.

The trip to Quincy, Illinois is an example. John has gone ahead to "keep school" and Caroline and the children follow, bringing the light wagon and two horses with their goods. The Smoots, who have no wagon, accompany them, and because the wagon was light, all have to walk. By this time they have four living children, one of them my great grandmother, Keziah Jane, born in 1837. The first child born near Quincy is Caroline Elizabeth, born in 1839.

In John's words, "... it was a hard trial for women and children to pass through the severity of the weather and the hard-heartedness of the people. But they will have to suffer for their ill treatment of the Saints ... Well it still kept bitter cold, and my wife and children suffered very much indeed."

John's detailed record of Caroline's trials during her journey to Quincy gives us some idea of his love and devotion to his wife, and his understanding of her courage and endurance in the face of their many hardships.

The following are examples of her experiences, as recorded in John's retrospective. At one time, Caroline's eyes became very sore, and Sister Smoot had to lead her for several days. At one house the man invited them in to get warm, but the woman said she "could not think of such a thing" as they and the children might have some disease. So they were turned away from the warm fire and back out into the cold.

There were a few bright spots in the tale of anguish. Like the day when the back horse kicks up its heels and strikes Sister Smoot, who is seated in the front of the wagon, and little Kisia (Keziah Jane) who is on her lap. They were bleeding "most fearfully" and a woman came out of her house to help them.

Interesting that she brought brown paper and camphor to treat the wounds.

Another time, when they had built a fire to keep warm, the farmer came out and told them they could not cut another piece of wood. Then he left them, "to their own meditations," as John quaintly records.

They finally arrive in Quincy where there is more hardship, and the dreaded cholera. John spends little time telling of the hardships.

In 1860, when John makes his record, he writes briefly of the hardships. One wonders if he wishes them to be forgotten, or if the Lord has mercifully blessed him with forgetfulness. A great grandmother of mine, Tamar Loader, who came with the ill-fated Martin Handcart Company, told her granddaughter, Irene Smellie, that she never wanted the tragic story written.

John Butler relates some of the trying circumstances of his missions to the Indians. On one of these, he takes his family. But the Indians are not responsive, and finally become quite hostile. Caroline, with their five children and Sister Emmett and family make their escape to Nauvoo, while John and Brother Emmett lead the enraged and bloodthirsty Indians away on another route, at great risk to their lives and those of their families.

He is appointed body guard to the Prophet and relates his own versions of various times when the Prophet was captured and imprisoned, or escaped. Through his record one feels his deep distress at the martyrdom of the Joseph Smith. He was among the guards who accompanied Joseph to Carthage at the time of the martyrdom.

Of leaving Carthage he relates, "For my part, I felt that something great was going to transpire. He blessed us and told us to go. We bade them farewell, and started. We had twenty miles to ride, and we went the whole distance without uttering one word. All were dumb and still, and all felt the spirit as I did myself. I cannot express my feelings at that time for they overpowered me. I felt like the Prophets of the Lord were about to be taken from us and that they were going to await their doom, the same as the Lord did when He was here upon the earth. We went to our homes like so many sheep that had lost their shepherd, knowing not what to do."

Of the Saints, John wrote, "The Saints all felt it when Brother Joseph was Kill'd. They could not tell the reason why it was, but their hearts seemed to melt within them and they mourned and knew not what for. And when the tidings came (of his murder) they were sorely distressed and prayed that the Lord would avenge the blood of his servants, the Prophets. And truly he will for he has said so and he will keep his word. But Mormonism will still roll on till it breaks in peaces all the other Nations, which will have to be accomplished before a great many years... We still went on preaching the Gospel."

In 1842, John goes back to Kentucky and Tennessee to see old friends and family, and to try to teach them the gospel. But he is met with hardness and resistance. Here, he narrowly escapes death when he steals away, taking Caroline's sister, Charity, with him. Her brothers follow them, but prayers are answered, and they lose the trail.

Safely back in Nauvoo, Charity and Caroline are overjoyed to be together, and to worship the Lord with the Saints.

^{1.} All quotations except those noted, "Hartley" are from the autobiography of John Lowe Butler written a few years before his death.

^{2.} Hartley, William G., MY BEST FOR THE KINGDOM, HISTORY AND AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF JOHN LOWE BUTLER, A MORMON FRONTIERSMAN, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1993

Leland Redd

EXCERPTS FROM A LETTER FROM LELAND W. REDD TO HIS SON, L. WAYNE REDD

(LELAND IS A SON OF WAYNE H. A HALF BROTHER TO WM. A. REDD)

Your mother and I have just returned from a very pleasant one month's visit in the southern states. The highlight of our trip was a two day visit at Snead's Ferry, Stump Sound, Onslow Co., North Carolina. It is claimed that this is where the ancestors of the Redd's lived in the early colonial times. We inquired of the post mistress of Snead's Ferry if there were any Redds living in the area. She referred us to Joe Frank Redd. As we were eating lunch in a restaurant Joe Frank came in and we introduced ourselves to each other. He was a very pleasant young man about thirty five years of age, and told me that I was the first man bearing the name of Redd whom he had ever seen in his life, except his brother, his father, James C. Redd having passed away when he was one and one half years of age. Joe Frank's wife's name was Fern, and he had two daughters, Necia and Judy, and an infant son, Joe Frank Jr. He told us of the old Redd plantation house that was situated on the farm now owned by Robert Hampton Bethea, age 77 years, and commonly referred to as the old Redd plantation. This plantation was about 10 miles southeast of Snead's Ferry near the Bender Co. line. The last Redd who owned it was Sigle Redd who died June 11 1867. Sigle Redd was the great grandfather of Joe Frank and was a full cousin of John Hardison Redd, my great grandfather. This would make Joe Frank Redd and myself about fourth or fifth cousins. While the women visited, Joe Frank and I went about ten miles in the car to the old Redd home and met Mr. Bethea, who is quite feeble. The following is his story:

His father purchased this farm and it consisted at that time of 685 acres, from Sigle Redd's heirs, in 1878. Sigle Redd died about a year after the civil war closed and his farm was sold by his heirs to Mr. Bethea's father. Mr. Bethea was born in this house and it was generally understood in that area that the house was in the neighbourhood of two hundred years old, and several generations of the Redd family had been born in that home previous to the sale. He said that it was further understood that at one time the Redds and the Sidburys owned all the land from Turkey Creek in Onslow Co., to Batmill Creek in Pender Co., and from the bay up to what is now the highway. Roughly, this area, as we measured it in the car is three miles or four wide and four to five miles long. Most of this area is now grown up to underbrush and slash pine trees. From the front porch of the plantation you can look down about one half mile on Morris landing on

what is known today as Redd's bay. He told us that in the early days this is where the cotton, tobacco and other products were loaded on the barges to transport them to Wilmington and other ports where they were sold. The old gentleman told us that as a boy he remembered where the old Redd cemetery was on this plantation. We prevailed upon him to go with us to see if we could find the remains of the old cemetery. He took us north of the house about a half a mile on an old side road that is used occasionally. We stopped the car and went nearly another half mile into the jungle of forest which had grown up with underbrush and pine trees. We worked our way through the brush along what had once been a country road. Mr. Bethea said that about twenty steps south of this road should be the graveyard. We explored in this area for about an hour trying to find evidence of the graveyard. Sometimes we were on our hands and knees in the underbrush. Finally we discovered the graveyard. There were about ten or twelve marble headstones still standing. Apparently the graveyard had been abandoned for many, many years. There was one stone "Basil Redd, died October 3 1848, aged 22 years." One stone was marked "Henrietta Bishop, born 1815." She was the daughter of Sigle Redd. There were several names of Bishop there. Mr. Bethea told us that Henrietta Redd, daughter of Sigle Redd had married one of the Bishops. She and her husband and several children were buried there. There were also some Hendersons there whom the old man thought were descendants of the Redds.

Mr. Bethea referred us to another real old house that had been all gone except the foundation and chimney many years before he was born. This was on the land originally owned by the Redds. He said that to the best of his knowledge there were at least from fifty to sixty people buried in that graveyard and it was known as the old Redd Graveyard. However as I said, we found about ten or twelve headstones. The old wooden markers have long since gone back into the earth. It would be very interesting to know who else is buried there. We went to see if we could find the remains of the other old house which it rumored preceded the plantation house. We were successful in locating it. The chimney had been built out of oyster shells mixed with clay. This and small bits of rock in the foundation were all that was left. It is stated that oyster shells in the very early days were used with clay in making the fireplaces. We brought back some of the oyster shells taken from the old chimney.

Mr. Bethea told us that on several occasions Mormon missionaries had stayed with him overnight.

Later we met Mr. Harmon Hardison, whose post office address is Holly Ridge, North Carolina. Mr. Bethea was acquainted with many of the early day Redds in this area and spoke very highly of them. According to the information in the possession of Joe Frank, the old Sigle Redd was a son of William Redd,

who was a brother of Whitaker Redd Jr., who is our progenitor. Joe Frank was a great grandson of Sigle Redd.

We had a very pleasant visit with several Hardison families whose old homestead adjoins that of the Redds in Onslow County. We talked to Mr. Jesse Hardison who is a retired blacksmith. We visited the old home where he was born adjacent to which is an old Hardison cemetery, a small plot, well kept. In this is a marble stone over his grandfather's grave. His grandfather was born in 1828 and died in 1881. There is one grave here older than that but he didn't know whose it was. It is a sort of a tomb affair that is built of brick and this particular grave is in bad state of repair. I asked whose grave it was and he answered by saying that it was some of the Hardisons "that goes way back yonder."

I believe that our family chart shows that our great great grandfather, Whitaker Redd Jr. married one of the Hardisons. Mr. Jesse Hardison has a brother, a very elderly man who, at the time of our visit, was in the hospital at Wilmington, N.C. The Harmon Hardison who I referred to above is a son of the old gentleman who is in the hospital at Wilmington. It is interesting to note that the Hardisons have lived on this place at least four generations that they know of, and it is a farm that was part of the old Redd holdings between Turkey Creek and Batmill Creek, and adjoins the ranch that Mr. Bethea owns, which was the old Sigle Redd home. The Hardisons are very honest, hard-working people who are well respected in this area. Several miles distant from the present Hardison holding is a place referred to as the old Hardison Mansion place. This has long since fallen into decay and we were unable to reach it by auto. The Hardison man, Jesse, told us a very interesting story about a lawsuit that he had with one of his neighbors over two acres of land. It appears that many years ago the man who owned what is now his neighbors land sold two acres of it. This two acre piece of land was sold and resold many times and finally came into the possession of Jesse Hardison. The man who later came into possession of the neighbor's farm claimed the particular two acres of land. During the lawsuit it was brought out that in 1735 both tracts of land were filed on one day apart and notice of the filing had to be sent to England where the king would issue the deeds to the land. Jesse told us that he won the case and that the new case is used as a precedent in that area for establishing deeds to land that go back to the time when the land applications had to submitted to England for approval.

Mr. Hardison told us of the destruction of the old county courthouse that stood across the bay from Snead's Ferry on what is now Courthouse Bay. We saw the place, and I think that if you will recall from the Redd history the tales of the courthouse being destroyed at that time. It was very interesting to visit this site. Very likely if this courthouse had not been destroyed it would have been easier to get some of our genealogy. After this tidal wave the courthouse was moved

several times and finally came to rest in Jacksonville, Onslow Co., some fifteen or twenty miles away.

There is now a good steel bridge over the New River at Snead's Ferry. It was recently built and replaces the first wooden bridge across this ferry which was built in 1938. The New River is actually an arm of the ocean that extends seven miles below Snead's Ferry to about fifteen miles above all the way to Jacksonville.

Quite a few of the old families now living at Snead's Ferry are descendants of some of the daughters and grand daughters of Sigle Redd. I was glad to learn what the Stump Sound was. Apparently the counties in the south are sort of divided up and Stump Sound is about one fifth the area of Onslow County.

Joe Frank Redd makes his living by fishing. He has a boat called the "Echo" in which he does some commercial fishing, but the main source of his income is hiring himself and boat out to fishermen who come from all parts of the United States to go channel and deep sea fishing. He tells an interesting story that happened when his last baby was born. He had a group out on the boat and on this boat he can send and receive messages, by radio from other boats. They radioed a message to him from home that his wife had a baby boy. Several other boats out fishing also picked up the message and the balance of the day he didn't catch many fish as he was busy answering calls of congratulations from other boats. When Jesse Hardison was asked what nationality he was he said the Hardisons were of the belief that they were of English and French descent.

Joe Frank's brother Sigle has never married. He is now in a state hospital in N.C. and has hope of being out soon. He is a veteran of World War II and lives with Joe Frank when he is not out working. He operates a boat for other individuals.

For several centuries there has been considerable fishing in the vicinity of Snead's Ferry and today there is a lot of fishing there, especially commercial fishing. It appears that the fish from the ocean come in great schools and Joe Frank told me that on some days when the schools come in, many of their large boats were literally filled with different kinds of fish.

The postmistress at Snead's Ferry told me that about 1000 people, living within a radius of about four miles, get their mail at this office. The residents living in the area of the old Redd farms in Onslow County get their mail at Holly Ridge, Onslow County, North Carolina, about six miles distant. Holly Ridge is on U.S. Highway 17 that comes from Norfolk, Va. and north to Savannah, Georgia, and south. This highway is an important link between north and south. It is referred to as the Atlantic Coast Highway.

Lemuel H. Redd

Lemuel Hardison Redd FROM "ZEALOTS OF ZION"

by Hofman Birney

"Three Georges and a Lemuel composed the quartet that set out from the camp at Hole-in-the-Rock on December 1, 1879 Ordinary standards of comparison are futile in attempting to describe the western portion of San Juan County, the region through which the three Georges and Lemuel Redd were striving to blaze a trail. It was unlike any other section in the United States.

"The four must have been men of iron. Ninety-six hours of starvation, to say nothing of other hardships they had undergone, left little mark upon them."

"The Mormon pioneers gave Lemuel Redd's name to one of the big canyons that head into the Clay Hills and wind westward to the Colorado. Some of the maps show the general location and course of that gorge, but cartographers could see no necessity for the final "D" and it appears as only "Red" Canyon, one of the thousand odd Red Canyons that are to be found in the west. Through such errors does all memory of the pioneers vanish. Redd Canyon was the only place name in the San Juan County that preserved the memory of any of the dauntless men who blazed the first trail through that unknown wilderness of sandstone."

Lemuel Hardison Redd

LIFE SKETCH OF LEMUEL HARDISON REDD

Lemuel Hardison Redd, the subject of the sketch, was born in Onslow County, North Carolina, July 31 1836. He was the second son and sixth child of John Hardison Redd and Elizabeth Hancock Redd, both of whom were born in the same mentioned county and state.

His father, better known as Captain Redd, as he followed a seafaring life, was a man of letters and was well known and highly respected in the community where he lived. The names of his eight children were Edward and Harriet, who died in infancy, Ann Moriah, Elizabeth Anne, Mary Catherine, Lemuel Hardison, John Holt, and Benjamin Jones.

At the age of six years, Lemuel's parents heard and obeyed the Gospel at Murfreesboro, Tennessee, where they moved in 1838. The family moved to Salt Lake Valley in 1850. Lemuel, who was now fourteen years of age, drove an ox team across the plains from St. Joe, Missouri, to Salt Lake. At this time the Saints were visited with the cholera plague, Lenuel and his father both being attacked

but fortunately survived the dread disease. The story of this well known exodus is familiar to all readers of Church History so it is unnecessary to tell details, yet the impression gained by seeing hundreds of the company buried by the road side, by fearing the attack of the Indians, and by witnessing the stampeding of thousands of excited buffaloes which then covered the great plains, ever remained fresh in his memory and served as charming stories for his children and grandchildren.

Captain Session, in whose company he travelled, arrived in Salt Lake Valley in October 1850. He attended school in Provo, then a hamlet of about fifty families. This was in 1850-51.

The following spring he, with his father's family, moved to Spanish Fork, they and the family of William Pace being the pioneers of that place. Here his father helped to build the first saw mill south of Provo. In 1853, the Indian war broke out, causing the destruction of the mill and town, with a loss of \$6,000.00 to the family. After this they moved to Palmyra for safety.

Lemuel was baptized a member of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, June 2 1852, by W. W. Willis of Mormon Battalion fame, and was confirmed by Stephen Marhkam, who was then presiding elder at Spanish Fork. President Markham also ordained him a priest on the same date. From that day to the present date, September 20, 1909, he has been faithful in discharging his duties in the Priesthood, wherever his varied circumstances and condition of life has called him to live.

In July 1853, the Walker War began. He took an active part in this war and served as an officer and soldier in all the wars in Utah since, thus portraying the patriotism characteristic of his forefathers, for he was a direct descendant, on his mother's side of John Hancock, the first signer of the Declaration of Independence.

On January 2, 1856, he married Miss Keziah Jane Butler, a girl of sterling qualities, amiable and reserved, who proved a faithful wife and a loving mother of thirteen children. Their names were as follows: Lemuel Hardison, Mary Jane, John Wilson, William Alexander, James Monroe, Caroline Elizabeth, Amos Thornton (who died in infancy), Maria Luella, Charity Alvira, and Alice. The marriage ceremony was performed and solemnized by bishop William Pace and the following year they received their endowments and were sealed by Daniel H. Wells, who was counsellor to President Brigham Young, the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints.

Shortly after their marriage, they with a company of others filled an Indian Mission at Las Vegas, Nevada. On his return, by counsel of President Brigham Young, he was ordained an elder, and soon after this ordination he was called to the office of a seventy and became a member of the fiftieth quorum.

Because of false reports, the U.S. Army, commanded by Col. A. Sidney Johnston was sent to Utah against the Mormons. Afterwards, this same Johnston became a great commander in the Civil War on the confederate side and was killed in the battle of Shilo. With this army came Alfred Cumming, who was sent to be Governor of Utah Territory. He acted in this position for several years and proved a faithful friend to the Mormon people.

Lemuel served as a soldier against this army. Soon after the compromise and peace was restored, he assisted with oxen and wagons to gather the saints to Utah across the plains. He was called to serve as one of the standing army of 2,000 soldiers.

In the spring of 1862, with his wife and four children we find him again on the frontiers helping to found New Harmony in Washington County, Utah, in compliance with a call made by President Brigham Young to settle Dixie. In Harmony, he was a leader in civil government of that place, and also a member of the county court of Kane county for six years. In the year of 1866, during the Black Hawk and Navajo War, he went with Capt. Andrews company of soldiers to Green River by way of Escalante to ascertain the plans of the Indians. The company was gone one month. During the time they suffered many hardships and privations and the loss of one man and one horse killed by Indians.

The same year he married, as his second wife Miss Sarah Louisa Chamberlain, an intelligent and ambitious young woman, who five years previously was miraculously saved from being drowned in the Santa Clara River through her own heroic effort to climb a tree, and helped her aged father up, where they stayed over night. This wife bore him fourteen children. Their names are as follows: Moriah Vilate, Solomon, both died in infancy, Wayne Hardison, Benjamin Franklin, Terresa Artemecia, Lemuel Burton, George Edwin, Susan Elizabeth, Parley, John Wiley, Jenny May, Effie, Ancil Rey, Hazel Lurena. The ceremony of the second marriage was performed by Apostle Woodruff in the Endowment House in Salt Lake City.

In the year 1870, he purchased the John D. Lee homestead and completed an unfinished brick house which served as a home for both families for twenty years. In 1874, the United Order was established by Erastus Snow in Harmony with Lemuel H. Redd as Vice President and secretary.

He also assisted to build up and establish the Harmony and Kanarra cattle and sheep herds, under the cooperation, and acted as director and treasurer for about twenty years. In 1874 he was set apart as first counsellor to Bishop Wilson Daniel Pace under the hands of Charles Price, which office he held for about twenty years.

In 1877 he with his wife Keziah, attended the dedication of the lower part of the St. George Temple. In April the same year they attended the forty-seventh annual conference at St. George which was held in the Temple when the whole building was dedicated. The services were presided over by President Brigham Young. At the opening for endowment work, we find him with his family among the first to labor for the dead. He continued this work whenever practical, until he was compelled to live in exile after the passing of the Edmonds bill, also afterwards, whenever possible.

During the seven years of persecutions, he was forced to absent himself from his family, friends and loved ones for months at a time, leaving his entire business in the hands of mere children until the return of his son William from South Carolina, where he filled a two year mission.

His sons Wayne and Ben, aged respectively fifteen and seventeen, narrowly escaped an awful death in a blinding snow storm while caring for their father's sheep in his absence. It was through Ben's courageous efforts and by aid of providence, that Ben made his way to town and obtained help, thereby being the means of saving his own life and his brother's also.

Lemuel was many times driven into the hands of the marshals. Providence seemed kind to him in preserving to him his freedom. Never once was he known to falter or forsake either family during all of his troubles.

In the year of 1887, he moved his cattle and horses along with his own, Monroe's family, daughters Della and Ellen to Bluff, San Juan County for the purpose of bettering his financial affairs, as well as for his own personal safety, being at that time under two indictments. The penalty for each offence was six months imprisonment and three hundred dollars fine, \$300.00.

This was an eventful trip, owing to the fact they were followed by the Marshals. The daughters were compelled to share the responsibilities of the journey, Della riding horseback and driving cattle and horses, while Ellen drove one of the teams. This however was only a pleasure to his devoted daughters for they realized the precarious conditions and were able to assist him. Lem, his eldest son, met them at Grave Valley, which proved a help to them for his

excellent judgment as a pilot was indispensable through the remainder of the journey.

On arriving at the Colorado river they met with disappointment, there was a mere skiff instead of a good boat which they expected to find, to ferry them across the river. Therefore, they encamped on a sand bar in the middle of the river intending to ford from there over the next morning. During the night a storm came up, causing the river to rise. The terror of the night was an experience never to be forgotten, for by morning the sand bar was almost submerged. After fording the remainder of the river the next morning, they dried their clothes and bedding and soon were on their way again, feeling that an overruling Providence had preserved their lives through the night.

The following year they returned. This trip was full of exciting events, especially for the girls who were forced to take the responsibility of the trip, as their father was safe only in concealment from everyone they met, as he was widely known and closely watched and followed by the Marshal.

On reaching home, he lived in concealment from everyone except his family, and in a few weeks, in company with his son-in-law A. P. Spilsbury and Harvey Pace, he made a trip to Mesa City, Arizona, where he spent a few weeks in exile with his daughter Jane, returned by way of California, visiting the places of note along the way.

The following summer was the most critical period that he had spent at home, never feeling safe to spend a single night under his own roof. This summer the peace of his mind was disturbed by Marshals Dyer and McGarry invading his home. They found the infant babe in the cradle of Louisa; she was warned in time to leave the house and hide in the willows for safety. Feeling they had been out-witted, they could do nothing but subpoena Luella and Wayne, who afterwards appeared in court to testify against their father. They told their story in a straightforward way, though the Marshals did not get the satisfaction they wanted.

The following August, he moved his wife Louisa and family to Bluff. Four of her children, however, remained for a while with the other family. When they had crossed the Colorado river, they expected to find water, but were disappointed as the stream had dried up. Providently, an unexpected rain storm came up which flooded the whole country, filled the hollow rock, and was the means of saving them from much suffering.

Before they reached Bluff, next to the last day, their horses gave out and they were compelled to send Wayne ahead for help. While he was gone, the horses left camp and a long search had to be made for them. This necessitated Louisa with her little children to be left alone at camp for some time, within hearing of a large camp of Navajoes on the San Juan River. The next day Wayne and Monroe, who had already started out with a fresh team, met them with supplies, among them some watermelons which gave them the first good impressions of Bluff.

In 1891 he thought it was necessary, for his own peace of mind, to further move his family from Bluff to Mexico, where they have since remained. Lemuel had previously made a visit there with his son-in-law James Adams. The entire journey was made by team with his family alone through almost unknown waste and Indian reservations. As soon as they were comfortably located, he returned to home and family in Utah where he remained eighteen months. Ever since, he had made it a practice to visit his family once a year.

Previous to the persecutions in 1879, he helped move his son Lemuel Jr. and family to San Juan where he had been called on a mission. His son Monroe accompanied them. When they arrived at the Colorado river, the company camped and an exploring party was formed for the purpose of finding a suitable route from the Colorado river to the San Juan river. The party consisted of Lemuel H. Redd Sr., George W. Sevy, George Morrill, and George Hobbs. The country over which they traveled was unknown to them, therefore the necessity of this party going ahead to bring in reports before the company could make further progress. The trip was long and hard. They were out twenty-five days.

During most of the time they traveled through snow three to four feet deep, and many days through timber so dense it was impossible to tell which way they were traveling. Several times when they were completely lost and discouraged, Lemuel H. Redd had several miraculous dreams, which were nothing short of revelations which, by following their dictates, proved to be their salvation. During the last few days of their explorations, their provisions gave out and they suffered for food. In fact it became so low that they were forced to subsist on rations for a number of days, but through the guidance of Providence, they came out all right, and submitted a report of their exploration to the company of which Jens Neilson had charge. (Bishop Neilson was a man of indomitable courage, and has since served as Bishop of Bluff for twenty-four years.)

A permanent road was afterwards made over the route explored by this party. On his return to the company, Lemuel found letters bearing the news of sickness and distress in his family, and he immediately made preparations to return. As he traveled alone, the trip and journey was a dreary one. When he

reached home, he found seven of his children down with diphtheria, though in an improved condition.

An important event of the subject's life was that he was captain of twentytwo men that escorted Pres. Brigham Young on his last trip south.

In 1893, in company with his wife Keziah, his daughter Ellen and son William, he went to the dedication of the Salt Lake Temple where he met his sons Monroe and Lemuel Jr. who lived in Bluff, and his daughter Caroline, who lived in Parowan. In 1895, he was called from Mexico to the death-bed of his wife Keziah, who died May 15 of the same year. During the four months of illness, she displayed a fortitude and patience that could not be surpassed, and she remained perfectly rational until the last breath. During the long persecution that the family underwent, she remained at the homestead, acting the part of mother and father to her own family, as well as to the four members of the other family who remained at Harmony with her for one year.

During the last ten years of her life, she suffered the trials incident to the worst of persecutions without any complaints. Six of her children surrounded her bedside, three of whom were unmarried. "Better suffer wrong than do wrong," was ever her motto through life. She lived the life of a true Latter Day Saint, devoted, brave, noble and generous, saintly, and her children can truthfully say no harsh word ever fell from my mother's lips.

In company with his two daughters Vilo and Alice, Lemuel attended the Pioneers Jubilee in Salt Lake City, where they were joined by his son Lemuel H. Jr. and daughter Hattie and sons-in-law James and Thomas Adams.

During a great deal of the time he was away from home, his son William A., Bishop of Harmony Ward, took charge of his financial affairs. Lemuel H. Redd Jr., now resides in Bluff. He has served two terms in the Utah Legislature, and has acted as counselor to Bishop Neilson in that place for twenty years, and finally succeeded him in that office of Bishop, which he holds. Jane Spilsbury now lives in Mexico. John, after spending a term in the B. Y. Academy, went to Arizona and was engaged as bookkeeper for John W. Young in Arizona while the A. P. Railroad was being built and completed. From Arizona he went to Mexico and was supposed to have been drowned in the Yacqui river in 1888. For more details concerning the death of John Wilson Redd, please refer to "The Utah Redds and Their Progenitors" pages 138-139.

Monroe and George have each filled honorable missions in the United States, and Luella, in company with her husband Thomas D. Adams, filled a mission to the Friendly Islands, spending most of the time in teaching school

among the natives. Nine others of the same family have been teachers and are successful teachers.

His daughter Caroline Adams managed his business correspondence during his absence from home in Bluff. In 1887-1888, when she was the mother of eight children, she was attacked with a severe case of pneumonia, from which she was unable to survive. She died 3 September 1904. If there ever lived a good, noble, self-sacrificing woman, she was one, and she was a noble woman and mother, highly respected by everybody who knew her.

Wayne now resides in Bluff. He filled a mission to the Southern States and has been a counselor to three presidents of the San Juan Stake, and still holds that position as an untiring worker in the church. He was a member of the Legislature of Utah for one year.

William obtained an honorable release from the Harmony Bishopric, and has moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada, where he is comfortably located, has prospered and is highly respected in the community.

Della and Ellen with their husbands W. H. Ivins and C. F. Bryner, respectively, were pioneers to the Mormon Colonies in Nevada. Artemecia is now settled in Mexico. She with her husband George S. Romney, in the winter of 1901-02 filled a home mission to Panguitch Stake.

Burton L. has mastered the Spanish language. He was clerk in the Juarez Co-op. store for many years. During George's mission, he most liberally contributed to his support. He is now a good noteworthy worker as a missionary in the city of Mexico.

Ben lives now in San Juan County. He previously lived in Mexico from 1891 until recently. He is a carpenter by trade.

Louisa still lives in Mexico, surrounded by all of her children except Wayne and Ben.

Thirteen of his twenty children are married and at the date of writing there are one hundred and four grand and great grandchildren who call him Grandpa. He has a very great record of dead relatives, most all of whom have been baptised for and many have been endowed for. A striking feature of his ancestry is the fact that both his grandfathers had three wives separately and families, for which he had done the Temple work.

Lemuel Jr. was educated in the U. of U. under the principalship of Dr. John R. Park. Ellen received her education at the Agricultural College at Logan. His unmarried children in Mexico have received and are receiving their education from the Juarez Academy in Juarez under Guy C. Wilson as principal. Jennie graduated from the school and is now a good teacher in the Colony.

The aim of his life is to live his religion, and it can be truthfully said his children have followed in his work. His present residence is in Colonia Juarez, the headquarters of the Mexican Mission. He has acted as first counselor to President A. F. McDonald, who is dead; also to Miles P. Romney, who is dead; and now to President Albert A. Thurber, who presides over the High Piests of the Stake of Juarez. He has held the office of High Priest for about thirty years.

In Salt Lake City at the October conference, he planned a reunion of the first family, and all those living, with the exceptions of Monroe and Luella, who were necessarily detained away, were present. At this reunion, his second wife Louisa and baby daughter Hazel Lurena were present from their home in Mexico. Wayne came, out of his love and respect for the family. Convenient rooms were rented and all had a happy and long-to-be-remembered time. The visit with each other, especially with Jane, whom most of the family had not seen for seventeen years, was a treat of priceless value.

While they were in Salt Lake City they procured a family group picture on which were the faces of Father, Mother and eleven grown children, Mother's, John's and Luella's being copies from photos previously taken. They enjoyed conference and when the Temple was opened, they all worked one day in the Temple and attended to other business in that renowned house. This privilege alone was considered well worth the expense of the trip by all who engaged. During their entire visit in the city, the weather was beautiful and good health prevailed to increase the success of what they all considered one of the greatest events of their lives.

He has almost equally divided his time, since that event, among his family in Mexico and his children in Utah and Nevada. To the latter, he has made three trips in the last three years, to visit his daughters living there.

While in Utah on one of these trips back from Mexico in the winter in 1904, he with his daughter Luella and her husband Thomas Adams, went through the coldest weather to the St. George Temple. They were there one week, and in that time, they were endowed for a number of the dead, and sealed thirty-three couples, and received second anoints for his brother Ben and wife, who are dead.

He is now in his seventy-second year, is strong mentally and in ordinary health, and still retains the love and respect due him of his family and a large circle of friends among whom he wishes the honorable mention of those who proved staunch friends to him in time of exile: President Hammond, Apostle Brigham Young, Bishop Neilson, President Platte D. Lyman, and William Adams, counselor to President Hammond.

The above sketch of my life was written by my daughter according to my directions in Lund, White Pine County, Nevada, September 1907.

Lura Redd

LURA REDD

Lura Redd was born 16 June 1891 in New Harmony, Utah to William Alexander Redd and Mary Verena Bryner Redd. She was the sixth of fourteen children. She grew up knowing the love of her immediate family as well as numerous aunts, uncles and cousins. Her family was very self-sufficient. They farmed and raised sheep to provide a living. Her father was the LDS Bishop in this tiny community for sixteen years. He was the civil leader in the community and also was the dentist when anyone needed a tooth pulled. Their home was always open for visitors and they had many.

In 1905, when Lura was fourteen, their family moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada. She graduated from the Knight Academy in Raymond, then attended Normal School in Calgary to get her teaching certificate. She taught school in Canada for awhile, but decided she would do better if she went to the United States. She went to the University of Utah in Salt Lake. At first she planned to teach literature, but she took an Art class and did well and liked it, so she studied Art instead. She studied under Mable Frazier. They became lifelong friends spending many summers traveling and painting. They spent some time touching up the murals in the Salt Lake Temple. This was a thrill for Lura.

She first taught school in Raymond, and Kay was her student when he was in grade four. She then taught at Box Elder High, in Brigham City, Utah. She started out with one art class, but soon built it into a very good program. She retired from there in 1956.

This talented woman has always been active in the LDS Church. She served one mission in Chicago from 1916 to 1918. She returned home and worked as a bank teller in the Bank of Montreal in Raymond and in those days the teller worked in a cage of iron bars. She served her second mission to

England from 1961-1963 when she was seventy years old. She taught the Gospel Doctrine class in Sunday School for many years in the Millcreek First Ward.

During her travels, she not only painted but she searched records in courthouses, cemeteries and churches filling many notebooks with vital statistics and information concerning her ancestors. After her retirement she spent many days each week at the genealogical library finding information. She published her book, "The Utah Redds and Their Progenitors" in 1973 when she was 81 years old. This book has been very valuable to her family.

Lura and her sister Vilo Redd built a home next door to their sister Pauline Redd Burt and husband Mel Burt, who helped them build their home. She helped Pauline with her six children and became an important part of her family. At General Conference time, Vilo and Lura would always have a big gathering at their home for all the relatives. They also had a big breakfast on Christmas morning for the numerous nieces and nephews. Everyone looked forward to these occasions.

Lura has always been very healthy. One time when she was going to a meeting, she got out of her car after she had started it, and it rolled over her leg. She got back into the car and went to the meeting, and it was only later in the evening that she fainted, and it was discovered that she had broken her leg.

Her paintings are found in the homes of numerous friends and family members. She also used to grow a large garden and preserve a lot of food from it. She also made excellent wheat bread and wheat cookies that everyone loved.

Lura spent the last few years of her life in a Home in Bountiful, Utah. She died 30 March 1991, just short of one hundred years old. She was a wonderful example to all who knew her especially her nieces and nephews, we all loved her dearly.

Lura was, and is, an Elect Lady.

QUOTES TAKEN FROM TALKS GIVEN AT HER FUNERAL

Lura graduated from the University of Utah with honors.

The car she and Mabel Frazier used to go on their summer painting excursions was a Model T. (If memory serves me correctly, they built a box on the back for their painting supplies and the lid, when pulled down, served as a table from which they could paint. Lura was very ingenious. (Added by Alma Redd Mendenhall)

Lura lived in a Quaint Hotel in Brigham city and used a hot plate to cook on. Nena stayed with Aunt Lura and almost starved because "she did not cook like mamma did."

Kathy remembers Aunt Lura staying with them on week ends so she could build the new home. Lura herself built the upstairs cup-boards and shelves. She also built slide-in, slide-out beds which went under the eaves. One time the cousins had a party and watched "Psycho," and were forever after firghtened by the black holes into which the beds would slide. A huge desk tailored for her general needs was also in the upstairs studio, it was all one big room. Her motto was "recycle, reuse, make it over."

When painting in the canyons, she used a huge cartwheel sunbonnet to shield her from the sun. Nena remembers attending an art show at Springville, people honked and looked disgusted because Aunt Lura only went twenty five miles an hour. They stopped at Aunt Eva's (Lois Laycock's mom.) Went to visit Aunt Ellen and Gwen at Salt Lake City by the Temple, she had lunch in a little cup and saucer while they talked and talked. She remembers Christmas breakfasts at Aunt Lura and Aunt Vilo's. Her mom and Aunt Vilo made traditional foods but Aunt Lura made experimental, unusual food such as deepfried bananas, hot jello punch and a strange avocado dish.

At each general conference time these two dear Aunts, hosted the women at their home while the brethren went to meeting, then they came to the home also and a great time was had by all.

Aunt Lura had a garden. She pitch-forked it and planted it herself. They also had fruit trees, and made wonderful crab apple jelly.

Randy remembers her car, her one claim to fame. Ernie taught her, at her insistence, to change a tire. She never again asked anyone to change a tire for her. He and his children remember her for her firm handshake. Because of her life, Lura's name will be remembered, no one has asked for the great antiques Lura owned, but do you have her books? She created things for the "Eternities". Pray not for Lura, but that we may be such, and do the things that she did and be remembered for them, as she is.

She went to a Daughters of the Utah Pioneers luncheon and got out of her car and the car rolled knocking her over and ran over her leg. She told no one, and went in to the luncheon, came home and fainted, that is when we knew she had a broken ankle. She never complained.

The first thing Lura did in the nursing home was to organize a Relief Society with herself as President. She made assignments, always offered the prayers. Whenever they moved Lura out of her room, her room-mates complained because she read to them. Lura set goals, she was very focused and dedicated to the gospel.

Lura was not highly skilled in things of the world, but as a teacher she was highly skilled, also in Genealogy and the gospel. Like Paul of old she was not ashamed and never complained.

Karen Morgan told of the Art Exhibit at Springville in 1945, a highlight of her later years. She quoted Aunt Lura as saying "If this is a wonderful Nursing home, then why don't you move here?" As long as Aunt Lura could see, she read to those in the nursing home. She would sit on the piano stool and teach the other ladies. They loved and appreciated her. She was a master teacher, anyone in Brigham City who knew her admired and loved her. Her main calling was Gospel Doctrine Teacher, she taught until she could teach no longer because of her age.

Also while in the nursing home, she would place the chairs with their backs to the table and kneel and have prayer in the evening and morning too. She would say the prayers.

With her first pay check earned while teaching, she bought a coat and gave the rest to her mom.

Her dad always told Lura, "When you need things, don't ever forget to come home." Her father sold sheep and got the much needed money. He also told her he would buy two thousand dollars worth of chickens if she would take care of them, she refused because she was into teacher training.

They broke the "mold" when they made Aunt Lura.

Tom Van den Berghe says "My mom was the only member of her family to join the church. My father the only member of his family to join the church. We came to America and I was twenty before I knew what a relative was. When I married Lila and met Lura I found I was related to half the ward. He told of the Saviour choosing the apostles, of Mary at the well, of many accepting His teachings. He taught that He had power over death, many did not accept the teaching of Him so he left. Then Lazarus died and Mary and Martha sent for Jesus to come and see him, the apostles were afraid Jesus would be stoned if He went but Thomas said, "Let us go to that we may die with him". This is the kind of faith Aunt Lura had. This unique lady had a testimony that could not falter.

When she read in the Nursing Home it was the Book of Mormon, she would read louder than the noise, she wanted everyone to know and hear.

After her mission she began to be confused, but when you asked her to pray she was always clear. At testimony meeting her testimony was always rational, the spirit was clear.

Later years doing genealogy Lura drove to the Library and worked all day, she could remember relatives but sometimes came home on the bus as she could not remember where her car was.

I testify that Lura is beyond all of the adversary's powers, and is in a state of rejoicing and happiness, and greeted by an Elder Brother who will say to her, "Well done thou good and faithful servant."

Marquis Redd

MARQUIS LAFAYETTE REDD

The subject of this sketch, Marquis LaFayette Redd, better known as "Mark," was born on Nov. 15 1824 and died March 13 1871. He was the son of Sigle and Susan Andrews Redd and was the oldest son in a family of nine children, all of whom were younger than he, excepting a half sister, Sarah, whose mother had died previous to her father's second marriage.

The childhood and youthful days of Mark were probably spent about like that of the youths whose fathers owned large plantations and large areas of forest land and owned numbers of slaves. There were miles of uninhabited forests in which he could hunt, and the broad expanse of the sparkling sound in which there was an abundance of oysters, fish and clams, sail boats and row boats for work, pleasure and adventure, and always in the fall, seine fishing on the beach where crews of men manned a huge surf boat to row out into the ocean and surrounded with nets and schools of mullets that ran close to shore in their journey to warmer waters for winter. These were salted away in barrels and kegs for use in the winter, re-sold to traders who carried them inland and sold or traded for fruit, woven goods etc.

There were neighborhood square dances, and it is said that Mark excelled in dancing. He grew to be a large, tall man and weighed over two hundred pounds, yet it is said he was the lightest on foot, and the most graceful dancer in the county round about.

There were few schools in those days, but Mark acquired a good education. Some of his writing that has been preserved shows what a wonderful penman he was, it is fine, delicate but very legible.

On October 8 1846 Marquis was united in wedlock to Emily Ann Sidbury, daughter of William and Rebecca Burnett Sidbury. The writer has been told that at one time the Redd and Sidbury families owned nearly all the land lying between Mill Creek in Pender Co., and Turkey Creek in Onslow Co., and from the Sound out to and beyond the highway that now traverses that region. One of the descendants yet owns a narrow strip from the Sound out to the highway, part of the original tract of the Sidbury land. Only a small part of the old Redd homestead remains intact as the gov-ernment a few years ago established a Camp Davis nearby and took over nearly all that remained of the plantation and forest.

To Mark and Emily Redd was born only one child, Susan Rebecca Redd who married Hill Everett King, a young confederate veteran, son of William Rufus and Winifred Lane King.

Prior to the Civil War, Mark was elected sheriff of Onslow Co. It is not known how long he served as sheriff, but before emancipation of the negroes, it became his gruesome duty to hang a slave, a young negro man who had outraged and murdered a young white woman, a Miss Taylor, who lived near Snead's Ferry. He was hanged in public in the Courthouse Square at Jacksonville, N.C.

Mark was a member of the Masonic order for several years prior to his death, and his wife was an Eastern Star member, then called "The Wives Degree." A great grandson, George LaFayette Corbett, now has his old Masonic Ritual manual.

When Civil War began, Marquis, along with the other young men of the County, began preparation to enter service. He mustered a body of recruits that became Company "E" 3rd Regiment of N.C. Southern Troops. He was elected Captain of the company. His roster now falling to pieces is in the Hall of History in Raleigh, N.C. and is available to anyone interested. His country-made war chest, with country-made hinges, lock and key, handles of rope, etc., has the following painted on the front in writing: "Capt. M.L.F. Redd, Co. E 3rd N.C.S.T. (North Carolina Southern Troops). It is owned by a grandson, T. LaFayette King, of Raleigh, N.C.

It is not known whether or not he was in any engagement in the war for soon after it started he and a number of his men were detailed to make salt, a very scarce commodity at that time in the Confederate States. Having lived by the Sound all his life, Mark knew where the saltiest areas of water were to be found. Barges were filled with salt water and then were poled by hand back to the mainland to be emptied into large shallow pans made of iron under which fires were kept burning day and night to evaporate the water. Years after the war, the writer saw these old pans filled with water, and geese playing around in them.

One of the characteristics of Mark was his kindness of heart toward the unfortunate. When his little brother Alonso, was only six years old, their mother died and he and his wife took Alonso and reared him as though he were their own son. The writer has a letter from a daughter of Alonzo, Mrs. Nattie Redd Jenkins in which she wrote: "I

know my father thought he was wonderful for he loved so much to talk of him. He loved him a lot and Aunt Emily too. He would say she was the only mother he ever knew, as his mother passed on when he was six."

After the war the carpetbaggers took possession. They squandered the State's money and raised taxes to raise more. Nearly everyone that owned anything went broke and lost all they had. Among them was Mark, who, it is said, refused to sell the possessions of the people of the country and his father, who was on his surety bond, lost a great deal of what he owned. A few years after this, Mark and his wife moved to Pender County where he lived for a few short years before his death.

There is an incident pertaining to the aftermath of the war that may stir the memories of the older people or be of interest to the younger ones:

When the proclamation for the freedom of the negroes was issued, Sigle Redd, the father of Marquis, was very sick. The only one at home with him was the youngest daughter, Susan. His wife had been dead several years, the other daughters married and the sons away, some of them in the army. The negroes, with the master ill, had stopped work, even before the news of freedom was received, and some had become very insolent. As soon as the news came they went wild. The most insolent of all was Enoch, a burly black man who had had charge of the horses before the Federal Army came and took all worth taking. An older sister, Elda, visited her father as often as she could and she said it would frighten her when Enoch would come into the house. He would look menacingly at them all and leer and look in such a way at Susan that she was afraid for her to be left with only the sick father, for fear he would harm her.

One day Enoch came and hitched up two old mules that had been left and proceeded to take all the meat, poultry and other provisions that he wanted and drove off to his home, about half a mile away. Late that afternoon he went back on foot through a pine thicket and went into the house and took all the blankets, quilts etc., that he could carry, and started back home with them. In the meantime news of what he was doing trickled out and of how he was boasting that he and family were starting north the next morning. There was no law for the white man, negroes and carpetbaggers were running the courts. The men knew they had to take the law into their own hands, like the Vigilantes of the West, so they bided their time. When Enoch started through the thicket on his way home, about dark, a volley of shots rang out and that was the last of Enoch. The men proceeded to his home and gathered up what he had stolen and carried it back to Mark's father's home. The negroes in that section gave little trouble after that. The writer was shown the spot where Enoch was killed and the old house he lived in.

The information was furnished to Leland W. Redd by Joe Frank Redd of Snead's Ferry, Onslow Co. N.C. Mar 15 1954. Joe Frank is the great grandson of Sigle Redd who was a first cousin of John Hardison Redd, our great grandfather.

Mary Verena Bryner

MARY VERENA BRYNER REDD

by Jessie R. Ursenbach

Before mother had her first stroke I gave her a looseleaf notebook, asking her to write her history for us. She consented. I have the book now, blank, because I didn't take time to talk to her and write it myself. Soon after she got the book, ill health with continued strokes finally took her from us. I shall always regret that we have not her story as she would tell it herself.

She was born 3 March 1866 at New Harmony, Washington co., Utah. Her father, Hans Ulrich Bryner and her mother Anna Maria Dorothea Mathys, were Swiss converts. Her father had been totally blind since young manhood, so in her younger years she learned to be her father's eyes, leading him where he wished to go, handing him tools, etc., as he worked, for he was a good workman and not only did he work for himself, having the straightest fence in all Lehi Valley, but he fixed the fences of many of the widows and missionaries wives, with one of his children to help him. Her mother was a very small woman, but must have had an unusual amount of determination and energy and resourcefulness. Mother inherited the best of all their wonderful virtues. She will never have a chick nor child to match her and her crown is secure and her reward happy for eternity with her "William." The way she said that "Willilam" made poetry of the greatest kind and father was very proud of his Swiss-Dutch wife, and the family which she gave to him forever.

Father was bishop when my memory begins, of a small ward, New Harmony, and was very hospitable and generous with everything he owned, and this made much work for his wife, Verena B. A bishop's wife in any small ward has many duties. I recall going to Relief Society where she seemed to be seeing to many things. I delighted most in hearing her start the singing. I could always pick out her voice among all the others. Many meetings, choir practises, polling station, community telephone were in our home, and mother surely could have paved the entire street from our house to the meeting house with pies and cakes taken to socials, etc. It was yeare before I knew it wasn't 'pine cake.'

She was artistic and talented in many ways, versatile and a natural home maker. Had she had time or opportunity she would have loved to have painted or learned to play the piano. In her later life, after we were all married, she often said to me, "If you were near enough to help me, I would try to paint," and she did take a few piano lessons after she was 60 years old, but was very self-conscious for fear someone would laugh at her. She owned a set of oil paints in tubes in a tin box. When I was 'good' I could use them. When faher brought home 12 new enamel cups, the first we had seen, she helped me decorate them, but the work was very unsatisfactory and meant hours of cleaning, to be useful. Most of my early painting was in the same category. She did much handwork and continually served for her large family. A basic brown paper dress pattern was kept locked in the bottom machine drawer, and from this she made all our dresses, including her own, enlaring or diminishing the size, as needed. We girls always had a new dress for

the fourth of July and one for Christmas, next year we would use them for school, and our new ones for best. She spared no pains to make them attractive or good dresses. The boys wore overalls for everyday and mother made denim shirts to match. On Sundays we all looked our best in our Sunday clothes.

Rag bees and quiltings were the social functions of that day and our home was made comfortable and attractive with the rag carpets, laid over fresh new straw, and crisp lace curtains. The smell of turpentine and linseed oil, mother's own brand of furniture polish, mixed with that of home-made soap and burned food, for we children were early allowed and assigned to cook meals when mother was otherwise engaged. This would have been hard on the diners, but there was always a plentiful supply of good food to fall back on. Our cellar shelves were loaded with bottled fruit of every kind. Jellies, jams, preserves, picles, crocks of home made butter, whole cheeses from Aunt Lucette's ranch. The flour bin full of flour. Crocks of home rendered lard, sometimes covering fried sausaages. Plenty of fresh and cured meats. Each fall grandfather came to help with the curing of the pork and the making of a huge barrel of sauerkraut. There was always cream and milk, a cellar full of vegetables. Long shelves, like trays, full of winter apples from our own orchards, sacks of pine nuts, boxes of figs, raisins and almonds. Stores of dried corn, beans, fruit of our own drying. Mother always made or had us make, great batches of bread, coming from the oven in great brown loaves. So many things supervised or prepared by mother of thirteen, none of which were living. Kay was born after we came to Canada. Mother was a good cook and father was justly proud of her. He used to say, "She could make a good meal with a bacon rind and an onion." Many times, after he left us, she did just that.

We always had barrels of dixie sorghum and quantities of honey. Each summer a large garden provided fresh vegetables and stores to be dried or bottled or preserved for winter. In the huge old barn filled with hay were buried winter watermelons and squashes. She made her own soap and rugs too.

There was no hotel in our little town and the travelling public stayed with the bishop. This added greatly to mother's duties. Always there was a bed in the parlor and since we lived three hundred miles from the railroad, many of the General Authorities visiting the south rested there and were welcome guests, and warm personal friends. We children loved it all. Our big dining table always surrounded. I recall Rudger Clawson as a young man, Amasa M. Lyman particularly loved mother's tomato soup, Brother McCune had soda water tablets, Mathias F. Cowley came frequently.

Our childhood was happy. Mother was quick to try new recipes, and people of the valley came to learn how to make candy from white sugar, most candy made at home was made with honey or molasses. Parkerhouse rolls, cream puffs, cooked ice cream, all rather common now, but new then.

With all her duties, mother found time to drive with father wherever he wanted her to go, and we children slept much on the floor, where she made good beds with the many quilts she made from wool of our own sheep, covered mostly with flannel from wool taken from those same sheep and made into flannel by the Provo Woollen Mills.

Mother was versatile. Christmas would have taxed less ingenious women than she, but somehow she managed something for each one. Being so far removed from a shopping centre, she made many things. I recall seeing her putting small pieces of cloth in the opening of a tube of unbleached muslin or factory cloth, and asking if she was making a little piece sack. I was in no way let down when the little piece sack, with others of its kind, appeared on the community Christmas tree for us girls in the form of legs, arms and body topped with a tin doll head.

She really met her Waterloo when father wrote from Salt Lake City, where he was enroute to Big Horn to find a new home for his expanding family, saying that he had decided to go to Canada. Mother wept disappointedly but began to prepare to go to Canada, seemingly knowing what was her destiny and that of her children. The first year in Canaada was bitter. We lived in a frame house without insulation or furnace heat. We awoke in the morning to ten inches of stiff blanket tops where our breath had frozen them. She spent all the day thawing and drying bedding around the coal heater, to start all over again at night. Father built the big house in the middle of a five acre plot which had had sugar beets harvested from, and mother moved in with all of us children, full of life and running in and out through that lovely mud hole.

Kaya was born 28 April 1907, while father was in Utah attending conference, he being counsellor to President Heber S. Allen of the Taylor Stake. She had only a midwife, Sister Annie Gibb. Mother was made secretary of the Taylor Stake Relief Society while she was still in bed after his birth, and carried on that responsibility for 25 years, travelling any way she could, stone boat, buggy, horse, train. Before she was released, they were able to do some of their travel with a Model T Ford car, sometimes getting stuck in the mud. Many were the experiences she could relate of these trips throughout the stake, which reached to Taber then. Always when she travelled, if she didn't have a baby with her, she took some reading or handwork. Sister Georgin O'Brien told me often, "Your mother will wear her hands out someday." They were never idle.

She, with father, celebrated her Silver Wedding in the big new home. We were all at home, and hundreds of friends came. Father had brought his sister, Ellen Redd Bryner to Canada after her husband's death, so he could care for her, and she helped us with the baking. At the time of the 'underground' grandfather had taken his second family to Mexico. Grandmother Keziah Jane butler Redd and her four daughters, Della, Ellen, Alice and Alvira (Vilo) moved in with father and mother. Grandmother died before I was born, but mother has often told me how difficult it was for her. Grandmother had cancer of the stomach in a time when there were no sedatives. She suffered terribly and mother was naturally very sympathetic. Then too all of grandmother's other children, with their families, came to visit their mother often. The work of caring for them all depended upon mother. Father was a sheep man and was gone much of the time. He was also Bishop. She often said that she wondered that I had any strength at all, as I was born only two or three months after grandmother's passing.

She sent four of her children on missions. Will had filled one before father left us. When Lura returned, she went immediately to Calgary to Normal School, and then taught in Barnwell. Fern was next to go. She got a school in Raymond and was married 23 Dec. 1915. Paul went next and Fern helped him financially. I was running a small hat shop in Raymond, which Aunt Vilo and Lura bought from Mrs. Hill, for \$20.00 a month, making hats, doing book work and banking, everything. On very busy days Aunt Vilo or Lura would come to help out. My dream was also Normal. I thought that out of my \$20.00 I could save enough to go.

For seven years after father's death there were no crops, and keeping so large a family was a real task for mother. Father had invested heavily in land and was holding many more acres 'in trust' helping others to hold their land. There were few clear titles and an enormous amount of unpaid-for land, his own and his friends. He had signed a note for \$63,000 with other men in the town. His sudden passing, leaving no will, threw mother and her brood into a real maelstrom of difficulties. I have wakened and found her walking the floor at night, weeping, wondering what to do next. The other signatories of the note were quite willing to slip out from under it and leave mother holding the bag.

Will was away at university when father died. He planned to study medicine. He gave it all up and came home to help mother with her problems, which were legion, in fact, I think they shortened both mother's and Will's lives. I wonder if we shall ever know what they went through to try to save some of the estate, yet through it all I don't recall mother asking us for our wages, or any part of them. When we saw need, we just automatically tried to meet it and gave all we could. I am judging all the rest by myself, and my own observations.

Mother worried about us giving so much. After several attempts to go to Normal, and failing, I was broken-hearted. I had never told anyone of my desire, feeling that I would do it alone. Will caught me crying over

Verena R. Bryner

MARY VERENA BRYNER REDD

by Lura Redd, page 1

Mary Verena Bryner Redd was born of "goodly parents," namely Hans Ulrich Bryner Jr., and Anna Maria Dorothea Mathys Bryner, on the 3rd of March 1866, in New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah. Her parents had accepted the gospel in far-off Switzerland and had immigrated to Utah in 1856, ten years before she was born. They had lived in three other places in Utah before moving to New Harmony in 1863. They first lived in Lehi, where Uncle Casper and the others who came in 1855 had settled. Aunt Pauline was born there the next year on the 2nd of November 1857. They then moved to Ogden for a time. Mary Bryner Cannon says that her father, Casper, had a melon patch where the railroad station now stands, and likely grandfather's farm was

close by, as he depended a great deal on help from Uncle Casper, who had made all arrangements for his coming to Utah. Aunt Elizabeth Ann (Lisette) was born in Ogden 30 May 1860.

They were all called to settle St. George, in Washington Co., and like all other early pioneers, they never thought of not heeding the call. Uncle Casper traded his land for a gun, a bushel of wheat and other things. They moved to St. George sometime prior to 5 Feb. 1869, when Uncle Albert was born. Later grandfather moved to New Harmony, where Mary Verena and Uncle Frank were born. Grandfather moved out to Price, Carbon Co., in 1873, and was one of the early pioneers there.

Mother was blessed 15 July 1866 by Christopher J. Arthur, who was assisted by H. Lunt and S. Leigh. I know little about her early childhood, but can guess about some things, as I did about father's. Of course, she helped a lot at home, as all children of that day did. There were no places of amusement, none or very few toys, not much school, and that left lots of time on their hands, so the only thing that parents could do with their children was to keep them busy working at home. The parental adage of early American days, or any other place for that matter, seems to have been, "An idle brain is the devil's workshop," and other such sayings belittling idleness. They had to work all the time as adults, or go without bare necessities, and the earlier they learned to keep busy, the better. Every chld had to assume some responsibility, and one of the first things they learned to do in their home was to 'lead father.' As he was blind, he had to be led everywhere, and someone had to do it. Very early in life, they had to learn this. I guess it was a trial for him to change guides, especially to get 'green' ones.

Mother told me of her experience when learning. She was leading him somewhere, when they came to a ditch, and she said, 'Here is a ditch, Father, jump.' He jumped and landed right in the middle of it. Another time someone was building, and had made a pond of water, I suppose to make adobe bricks, we called them 'dobies,' and she led him right into it. Then he picked her up in his arms and carried her out to dry ground, and they started over. That was something to learn to do. Aunt Lil said they always had the furniture in the same place all the time. They were very careful about this. Every chair had to be in its place. No shoes or other litter of any kind could be left about that he could stumble over if he tried to go alone. In the house, he could take care of himself. I remember when he was visiting with us, mother would say "Come and lead your grandfather to Uncle Henry's, then you can go." He could find his way home alone.

Mother's childhood was unusual. Her father, being blind, needed someone with him all the time. Her mother could help him better than anyone else at his work, so she went with him most, if not all the time, and left the house work to her girls, as soon as they were big enough to do it, when they were quite young. Mother had two sisters, eight and six years older than she, who could look after the things at home, and they did. Mother helped as soon as she was big enough, but before that, she found congenial companionship with Caroline Redd, a little friend across the street, and only thirteen days older than she was. Their friendship lasted long after they became sisters-in-law, even through life. At first they were just near neighbors across the street, but later Caroline's

folks moved to the farm up through a number of fields. This was when they were four. Soon mother could find her way up there alone, and often did.

By this time too, the families were good friends. It's like Mary once said, "If you have children, you get acquainted with your neighbors who also have children." It seems the parents didn't object much to their children going to the Redd's. There they were taken care of. Mother was always quoting grandmother Redd, and telling about how she did things. Her explanation was that her own mother had to work in the fields with her father, and so be away from the home a lot. I think her mother took to that naturally, because European women are more used to working in the fields than are American women.

I imagine her home life, as a child, was similar to that of grandfather's. His father was a shoemaker. Later he bought a farm, which changed their lives materially. The whole family worked on the farm in the daytime, and at night they all did other work. His mother and sisters spun, wove and sewed, his father mended shoes, and grandfather read the Bible to them. Possibly that's one reason why he readily understood the gospel, he knew the Bible. He would like something like this after he was blind, to have someone read to him at night.

Aunt Rose said that at five or six she must sit at her mother's knee and piece quilt blocks. All such work was done by hand, as there were no sewing machines. This was probably the way mother learned how to sew. Sewing was a real art in those days, and mother could sew a very straight seam with the littlest stitches imaginable. They were as small as sewing machine stitches and very nearly as even. She could do it fast too. I used to wish that I could do it like that, but I couldn't bother to practice, as I had the machine to do it for me. When she could sew quilt blocks good enough, she went to other tasks alongside her older sisters. No girl, or her mother for that matter, would think of her not knowing how to do such things as sewing, weaving and spinning. They had to do these things to clothe themselves and their families.

I can imagine the family all settled down for the evening to some task for each one. Everyone doing something useful and helpful. Even grandfather didn't sit idle. In the season of the year when the willows were green and pliable, he wove willow baskets, for which he found a ready sale. Aunt Lil said he would weave whole wagon loads of them, and go through the town and sell all of them. They were accurate as bushel or half-bushel measures. He could even fix shoes, and did. He could grease them (to waterproof them) for the family use the next day, and do many other little jobs. He didn't even need a light to work by, as all the others did. Then someone read to them, probably in turn. By this time, they had the Book of Mormon, Doctrine and Covenants, Pearl of Great Price and other church works in addition to the Bible.

Now lighting was a problem at night. They used candles and firelight, and sometimes they filled a saucer or dish with tallow, soaked a bit of a rag with it, let the rag stick out of the tallow and lit it. They called this kind of a light a "bitch light." Working at night with her Swiss folks, she learned the wisdom of the Swiss, and then going up to see

Caroline, she learned the ways of the American Southern gentlewoman. Brought up in this atmosphere, mother learned to do all these things well.

Mother was baptized on 23 May 1875, by Lelmuel H. Redd and confirmed the same day by her father, who was assisted by Wilson D. Pace, the bishop, William W. Taylor and Harvey A. Pace. She was blessed "Mary Verena Bryner," to be called Verena. In Swiss, the "V" had the sound of "F", and "E" has the long sound of "A", so that her folks pronounced it "Franey." I remember seeing one of her school books with her name written "Franey Bryner" in it. She said she was nearly grown before she knew that her name was really Verena. All her life, she was called "Frane" or "Franey" by her friends and associates. In later years, father's younger sisters called her Verena. They thought it much prettier than Franey. Her pal, Caroline, named one of her daughters Verena (Adams.)

There were two groups of people in New Harmony, the Swiss and the Southerners. Sometimes the Swiss thought that the Southerners felt themselves to be better than the Swiss. Mother's cousin, Mary Mathis Pace, told me that when she was a girl, she was disturbed by this, and her father, grandmother's brother, Henry, in his distinctly Swiss accent said, "Never mind, Mary, what they think out here. Your people were quality in their own country." So she was comforted. I guess among children, even today, one that can't speak the English language right might be laughed at a bit at times, by their schoolmates. The Swiss children were brought up to call their father, "Father." No other designation was ever used by them. The Southern children always called their father "Pap." Some of the younger ones didn't know that they meant the same thing. One little cousin of father's, and of course Southern, who called his father "Pap," was visiting his Swiss pal when the Swiss father returned from an extended trip. He rushed home with the news, and bursting into the house, shouted, "Pap, Father's home."

Mother's schooling, according to our standards, was meager. It was about the same as father's. They were probably in the same room at the same time, but he could sit at a desk while she sat at a little low bench and looked at her book, if she had one. If she had a slate, she could write on that, then spit on it and rub her hand over it to clean it off for more writing. She said once when she was a kid in school, someone was making faces at her, and she held up her hand and said, "Teacher, Sadie is pulling a mug at me." Her teacher, whom they called Aunt Mary Taylor, said, "Will you please bring me a drink in the mug?" They all laughed so hard at her that she never called a face a mug after that, neither did the other kids.

She went to St. George to school, at least one winter. While there she stayed with her Uncle Casper and Aunt Settie. To be real gay and fashionable, she had knit herself a pair of beautiful purple stockings and took them to St. George with her for this special winter. Something about the dye poisoned her feet and legs, which swelled up and turned dark. She had to keep off them, so she sat with her feet on a chair for a time, and when the swelling went down, she could go back to school. Every night after that, when she got home from school, Aunt Settie had a big bowl of yarrow tea for her to drink before she

could have any supper. Mother thought it was as big as a quart. Herbs of all kinds were used for medicine, and yarrow was one of them.

Before we went to Canada, mother had a Swiss immigrant girl working for her, who did beautiful knitting, she knitted very fast and mother had her knit us all long woollen stockings for the very cold Canada where we were going to live. Mother said to her, "I want you to teach Lura to knit that way, my mother used to knit that way." I asked her why her mother didn't teach her to knit that way, and she said that her mother was helping her father, and grandmother Redd had taught her to knit. They'd finish the work in the house, and then they could knit, and not play unless they would knit while they played. They'd tie a piece of white thread where they were at on the knitting, and see who could knit the most while they played hop scotch, pitch the picket, or steal sticks.

Once when she was about twelve, mother dried fruit all summer, and was given the privilege of having a new dress with the money it brought. Someone had come to New Harmony with a very pretty dress, and she really wanted one like that one. The men of the town sort of took turns going up to Salt Lake City at Conference time. This fall it was Benjamin Brubacher's turn. She took her money to him, and pointed out the dress material she wanted. He wrote it down very carefully in his little note book, and noted the money she gave him. He would do his best. It so happened that he couldn't get the kind of febric she wanted, so he had to pick out some himself. She was dreadfully disappointed with it, but there was nothing she could do about it. She was stuck with it. She decided to make the dress herself. Maybe it was up to her to do it, as her sisters were gone from home. No printed patterns were to be had in those days. She hunted through the town and found one, probably at grandmother Redd's, and borrowed it. Such patterns didn't often fit either. She cut it out and sewed it up, but the neck was too high, so she trimmed out the neck and got it too low, and now she had to take up the shoulder seams more. By the time the neck and shoulders were right, it was too short in the waist, so now she had to put a wide belt in it, otherwise it was alright. It's the dress she was wearing when she stood for her picture at twelve.

For this, her first picture, she wanted some very fashionable pantalettes to show beneath the hem of her dress, and she hadn't any. Grandmother had a nice hand-embroidered bed jacket she wore when she had been "confined," so she put mother's feet through the sleeves and folded and pinned the rest up around her underneath her skirts, so she had some lovely embroidered ruffles showing. Of course, this little dress was made by hand, her own hand stitches throughout and it was lined. They never thought of making a dress without lining it, and all the braid trimming was sewn on by hand. She knew no better way, she had never heard of a sewing machine.

In those days, if a mother wanted to feed her children, she had to do something about it herself. There were no food stores and no commercial canners, driers, or preparers. Mother had to do it all too. If there were surplus fruits or vegetables in the summer time, she devised ways and means of preserving them for the winter when there would be none. I can remember strips of dried squash strung on a string across the upper part of a wall and across the room. I saw this in the kitchen of grandmother Redd's old

farmhouse when I looked in the door at the back, long after the family had moved out. It had been forgotten and left behind.

Drying was the only way of preserving fruits and many vegetables. The main drying facilities were fairly level places, such as porch roofs, lean-to roofs, up high where they could get all the sun possible and be out of the way. They dried fruits with the skins on, such as peaches, apricots, plums and prunes. To spread them for drying, the halves were carefully laid one at a time with the cut side up, a little bit on the side and leaning against the next one. As they dried, they shrivelled and laid down. It took less room this way. They had no way of covering them to protect them from flies or dust. They were put in cloth sacks and hung up somewhere in the house where the air could circulate around them to prevent moulding. When they wanted to cook them, they were washed thoroughly and soaked all night before cooking. If you wanted dried fruit on the table every day, you dried enough for that purpose, otherwise you went without. When the hot dry days of summer came, there was extra activity to get all the fruit possible out for drying.

Finally fruit bottles were introduced. I quote from a history of New Harmony printed in "Under Dixie Sun," published by the Daughters of the Utah Pioneers. "Elizabeth Ann Imlay Prince was the first one to obtain bottles. She put up some green beans in them. Due to lack of knowledge as to the proper method of bottling, they all spoiled. She was so disgusted that she threw bottles and all away, and went back to drying for the time being." Her husband was father's counsellor in the bishopric when we left for Canada. They lived there for years after, so it wasn't very long before we left (in 1905) that they began to bottle fruit. Mother used to have a hard time at bottling time. She had old, hand-made bottles with lids that weren't very true, and were hard to fit. Sometimes she had to try several lids before she got one to fit, and maybe they would fit another one better.

Potatoes, carrots and beets were stored in pits and covered. Cabbage and cauliflower were pulled up by the roots and buried in a trench upside down with the root sticking up. When wanted, the root was uncovered and used as a handle to pull out the head. The outside leaves (as many as possible were left on and wrapped arouind the head to bury it) were peeled off and the inside cooked. Grandfather Bryner made lots of sauerkraut for his family. Father like it, and I have seen grandfather make it. He took good solid heads of cabbage and with a sharp knife, sliced it very thin, then he put it in a barrel with a little salt, and punched it down hard with his fists. Then more cabbage and more salt until his barrel was full, and the cabbage covered with juice drawn out by the salt and punching. This was put in the warm cellar for a while until it fermented, then it was sauerkraut. It was very good, and stayed good until the last drop.

The Swiss were never an idle or an indolent people. They all worked, from little tots to the very old, and the women folks worked outside and inside. Especially did grandmother work outside, and she taught her daughters to do so too. When the men folk went hunting and brought back excess game, much of it was preserved. They jerked, or dried, the venison. To do this, the meat was cut off the bones into strips two or three

inches across and a foot, more or less, long. It was put in a barrel and covered with brine until it was well penetrated with salt, which was their main preservative, then it was strung up in the hot sun, or over a smoldering fire and smoked and dried. This was often carried in lunch boxes and eaten raw. They shaved it off crosswise with a sharp knife. It is supposed to be the same thing as the chipped beef we buy in little bottles, or loose. However, the chipped beef is dried beef and not venison.

If a beef was ever killed in hot weather, the meat was treated in the same way, as they had no refrigeration and it would have spoiled in a few days. I guess the time they dried meat was in the summer during good drying weather. Pork was covered with lots of salt and seasoning. Hams were sometimes hung in smoke for flavor. Certain woods (apple etc.) and corn cobs were used to give special flavors. The hams were then sewn up in unbleacned muslin sacks, kept from year to year for the purpose, and buried deep in the wheat bins. Thinner bacon was kept in salt. Pork was the main standby for meat in those days as it kept better than other kinds.

If a mother wanted milk, butter, and cheese for her family, she had cows and made these things herself. Mother did. She had learned how at home, and her sister, Lissette, capitalized on her knowledge of cheesemaking. For years she supported her family by making cheese. She went up on the ranch in the summer, and she and her family milked about twenty-five cows by hand, every day. She made a cheese about fourteen inches across and four inches thick. She would make 125 to 150 per summer.

Nowadays some people get the fad of using stone-ground flour. That was the only kind they had then. Mother made her own yeast and put hop tea in it, which made good healthful bread. The yeast was slow-rising, so she mixed it at night so it would have all night to rise once. Then she'd mix it down and let it rise again. Mother knew how to make excellent bread. When she went to Canada and had to use dry yeast cakes and a different kind of flour, and coal to cook with, it was almost disastrous. She almost had to learn over again from scratch. She could make good buttermilk bread, but the first summer in Canada, we had no cow, and so no buttermilk. Our only relief was when father came in and made some baking powder bread as he had learned to do at the sheep camp. Mother never made it.

New Harmony used to be on the short cut route between Silver Reef and Pioche, Nevada, two early mining boom towns. A few travellers passed by that way. Mother said that one time she and some other children were playing ball in the street on a Sunday afternoon, when a wagon load full of people passed through, travelling between these two places. The people put an article in the Pioche paper about the non-reverence of the Mormon people for the Sabbath day. Another time a wagon stopped at their home, and the people asked if they could get something to eat. They would pay for it. Mother was alone, but didn't turn down the opportunity. She cooked potatoes, fried bacon and made gravy. This, with bread and butter, and dried fruit she thought was a good meal. She was rather deflated when a lady passed the gravy to one of the others and asked if he'd like some starch.

On the 23rd of May, 1883, when she was seventeen, mother was sustained as secretary of the Y.L.M.I.A. of the New Harmony ward. She was secretary until 7 Nov. 1888. During this time she was married, had two children and her husband was on a mission for the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints.

Irene said something in her history of Will that reminded me of an incident which I will insert here. While father was on his mission, mother, of course, had full charge of caring for her two children, one two years old and the other about four months old when he left. After he had been gone a couple of years, she missed them one day. She hunted all over and went to the neighbors, and some child said he had seen them on the way up to the farm. Frantically, and with a prayer in her heart, she ran all the way up there, and found them safe. They had had to cross a deep creek, over a long narrow foot bridge with no railing. All out of breath and through her tears, she asked, "Willie, how did Grace get across that long bridge?" He said, "Oh, mama, I took hold of her hand and led her across." The beginning of leadership.

Before Father left for his mission, he made arrangements for her comfort, and his brother, Wayne Hardison Redd, accepted the responsibility of seeing that she had the necessities. Now to do this, he'd see that she had plenty of wood for cooking and heating, all cut and ready for use. He'd cut her lucerne (alfalfa) and put it in the barn for the cow, and maybe he'd milk the cow. He'd take her wheat to grist and bring back her flour and bran for the pig. He'd plow her garden, maybe help her plant it. He'd dig a pit and trenches for her vegetables, plow or dig them up and store them. If she needed her pig butchered, he'd do it, and any other job that needed to be done. It always required a trip, no telephones. She had many friends and relatives who were willing and anxious to help in any way. That was quite a responsibility for a seventeen-year-old boy, but I never heard of any complaints.

Willie didn't like apricots, when he was a little boy, but he did like the sweet pits. One day someone asked him if he liked apricots and he said, "I don't like the aper but I do like the cot."

On the 7th of November 1888, she was released as secretary of the Y.L.M.I.A. and sustained as first counsellor to Angie Pace, and kept that position until the 23 of September 1890, then she was made president with Rose Nagle as first counsellor and Ellen Redd (later Bryner) as second counsellor. Nora Taylor was her secretary. The M.I.A. was reorganized on 16th of Nov. 1890 with Verena B. Redd as president, Della Redd (later Ivins) first counsellor, Sarah R. Prince second counsellor, Nanie Pace secretary and Mollie Redd treasurer. She held this position until 26 Oct. 1892. On the 6th of Nov. 1895, she was chosen as second counsellor to Vinnie Rohner, which she held until 7th of September 1903.

Here I will give mother's Patriarchal Blessing, given her after she went to Canada.

"A blessing given under the hands of James Kirkham, patriarch, upon the head of Mary Verena Redd, the daughter of Ulrich and Mary Mathis Bryner, born the 3rd of March 1866 at New Harmony, Utah, U.S.A.

"Sister Redd, in the authority of the holy priesthood and in the name of the Lord Jesus Christ, according to the order of the Patriarchs, I seal upon you a blessing. At thy birth the heavens rejoiced, for the Lord knew thy destiny and blessed thee with that great gift to become a mother of nations unborn, for the fruit of thy loins shall rejoice in thee and thy name, and with honor thy name shall be remembered from generation to generation. Thou art of the tribe of Ephraim, a daughter beloved of the Father, and for thy faithfulness unto thy covenants shalt thou be blessed with inspiration and become as one endowed with wisdom, to be honored with authority in the midst of thy sex.

"I bless thee with strength of body and mind, to run and not be weary, and in the midst of the sufferers to be as a ministering angel whose words shall be like the balm of Gilead and whose counsel shall be a healer unto the troubled mind.

"Remember the poor and turn not the stranger from thy gate, but speak to him and it shall be made known unto thee whether or not he be a Nephite of old. Faith shall be among thy gifts, and from thy loins shall come forth a mighty one in Israel in whom thou shalt acknowledge the hand of the Lord and like Sarah of old, thou shalt give the honor unto the father.

"Thou shalt see thy sons and thy daughters become noble men and women, and in thine old age they shall bear thee up and thou shalt bestow upon them thy blessings for they name shall be recorded in the Lamb's Book of Life, and thy prayers shall be recorded in the archives of the heavens to come forth in blessings upon the heads of thy posterity.

"In connection with thy companion in life, thou shalt set thy house in order. As a token unto the Lord of his loving kindness unto thee and thine, may thy basket and store never want for the bounties of the earth, and may the blessings of heaven provide in thy habitation. May every righteous desire of thy heart be granted thee. Pray for these blessings, dear sister, to come to pass, and the words of thy mouth shall not fail.

"I seal thee up to come forth in the glorious resurrection of the just, to be crowned as a queen to sit at the right hand of thy companion, to reign through all the millenium, for ever and ever, Amen.

William A. Redd, scribe

Given at Raymond, Alberta, Canada. 27 December 1906.

Mary Redd

MEMORIES OF MARY VERENA B. REDD

by Fern R. Laycock

Once when we were children, several of us went with her to the farm orchard to pick some early Royal Ann cherries. We climbed the trees and picked cherries and dropped them in the grass where they would not bruise and we could pick them up later. We heard voices and stopped to see who was coming, and what would happen. It proved to be some teen-age boys from the village, who had come to get cherries. They were pleased to find so many freshly picked cherries, and were just getting started picking them up when mother spoke. They were soon out of sight, and we saw no more of them.

I remember we used to have our hair combed with a braid on the top of our head. Mother used to pin our hats to the braid with a long hat pin. One time Aunt Sarah Prince was helping us with our hats. She was trying so hard not to stick the pin in our heads. I said, "Oh, mama pins it right to our heads."

When we were preparing to come to Canada, I was twelve and Jessie was ten years old. Aunt Sarah had helped mother make new clothes for us. Jessie and I had dresses alike, a checked one to wear on the train and some brown sateen ones, all trimmed with braid for Sunday wear, when we arrived in Canada. These sateen ones were all packed away in our trunks ready for the long journey. About the last night we were there, the kids in our crowd had a party for us, at Julia Taylor's as I remember it. When we got there in our plain travelling dresses and the other girls were all dressed up, we decided we couldn't stand it, and went back home and coaxed mother for the brown Sunday dresses. She didn't like unpacking, but we were so insistent that she relented and unpacked the trunk. We went back to the party, happy, in our brown sateen dresses.

Whenever anyone of us did not feel very well, there was a special treat, "egg and milk." She would warm a cup of milk and pour it over a beaten egg, add a little sugar and salt. It was delicious, and I am sure we sometimes played sick to get a cup of egg and milk. It seems strange now, we always had lots of milk and eggs, but this little treat was special and we got it only when we were sick.

We always remember, I'm sure, how we put the plates upside down on the table at meal times and the chairs with the backs to the table. This was so no one would start eating until we had knelt down around the table for family prayers. I remember seeing mother stuffing dolls with cut up rags. She would have her apron turned up to cover the doll, so we could not see it, with just the opening exposed where she was stuffing the rags in. We asked her if she was making a little "piece sack" and she said she was. (A "piece sack" was a bag in which she kept the odd pieces of fabric left over from her sewing.)

We remember the carpet rags. She always seemed to have something to cut or tear up into strips for a carpet. We girls helped with this, and also in sewing them together and winding them into balls. They were later taken somewhere and woven into strips of carpet. Mother sewed the strips together, and we had a new carpet, put down and tacked around the edges with plenty of fresh straw underneath. We liked rolling on the new carpet listening to the straw crackle.

Mother often made hot soda biscuits for breakfast. One morning she called me to get dressed quickly and come and roll out the dough, cut the biscuits and get them into the oven. I dawdled along until it was late, and the biscuits were not in the oven. She got out of patience with my slowness, and came in just as I got out of my night gown. She made me come in and roll out the biscuits without any clothes on. I was so disgraced and humiliated, I shall never forget it. It did teach me not to dawdle when she called me in a hurry.

When father died in Raymond, leaving her with a large family, and not much to do with, it must have been a great anxiety to her to face the years ahead. How helpless we all felt. Many nights, I remember hearing her crying after she was in bed, and many times I went to her, trying to comfort her. She often told me it helped her a lot.

* * * * * * *

The Philosophy of Life, copied from Verena B. Redd's notebook

Did it ever occur to you that a man's life is full of crosses and temptations? He comes into the world without his consent, goes out against his will, and the trip is exceedingly rocky.

The rule of contraries is one of the features of this trip. When he is little, the big girls kiss him; when he is big, the little girls kiss him. If he is poor, he is a bad manager. If he is rich, he is dishonest. If he needs credit, he can't get it. If he is prosperous, everybody wants to do him a favor. If he is in politics, it is for graft; if he is out of politics, he is no good to the country. If he does not give to charity, he is a stingy cuss. If he does, it is for show. If he is actively religious, he is a

hypocrite. If he takes no interest in religion, he is a hardened sinner. If he gives affection, he is a soft specimen; if he cares for no one, he is cold blooded. If he dies young, there was a great future for him. If he lives to an old age, he missed his calling. If he saves money, he's a grouch; if he spends it, he's a loafer. If he gets it, he's a grafter; if he doesn't get it, he's a bum. So what the hell's the use? Life is just one darn thing after another.

Lura Redd

MEMORIES OF AUNT LURA

by BARBARA MACPHEE

When we were small she would come up from "the States" bringing a gift for each of the nieces and nephews. We would go sketching with her as she was an artist. This was wonderful, and made us feel very important. She brought each family a small turtle, another time a large sun hat which we could twist and it would go inside itself, and be very small. We went berry picking with her and filled the back trunk of the car with berries, what fun we had, we had gone in the coulee, south of the old farm.

We all rode out to the sheep camp while they were shearing sheep with her so she could paint the activities. It took all day but was a wonderful outing.

Kay phoned at noon. Our dear Aunt Lura Redd died today. She would have been 100 years old this June. She has always been sort of a leader and guiding light to me.

During my own years alone, I often thought of the loneliness which Aunt Lura experienced, and how she filled her time with usefulness and cheerfulness, and extra attention to her nieces and nephews. I would often think that if she could do it, I could.

I took her wonderful book, "The Redd's of Utah" over for Judy to read. It seems that the last few years we have mostly talked about her present condition, not remembering too much about the wonderful mind she had and the extensive genealogical work which she did throughout her life. Also her mission as one of the first "senior lady Missionaries."

She was lots of fun, and always had stories of the old days with the family and about each one of us as we grew up. We would sit around the table and talk for a long time after meals. Of course, part of our interest was that it delayed the doing of the dishes. One time I remember that as we sat, we heard the old truck come up the lane. Mom said, "Here comes your father, and you don't have the

cows yet." Dad liked to milk before he came in and cleaned up for supper. Aunt Lura just said, with a twinkle in her eye, "Hike out the front door and get them." We did, and had them home almost before Dad missed them.

A special time, when I was older, was when she came along with me and three young children to New Harmony country and told about the family places, and filled the hours with her stories. She slept out at Zion Canyon along with the rest of us. What a good sport she was.

My only trip to New Harmony would have been almost pointless without her as our guide.

Another time was when she brought Aunt Rose and Aunt Dell to Canada, and let us get acquainted with our great aunts.

My first trip to Waterton at the age of nine was in her car. She hiked along with the cousins to Bertha Lake. Her jokes and pranks as we hiked, made the trail seem shorter and less steep, we also waded in Red Rock creek, and all fell down on the slick rocks.

It was fun to watch her as she unbraided her hair and combed it out. Then to watch her fingers fly as she braided it in almost seconds and pinned it in its coronet on top of her head.

Her painting were brilliantly colored, and I realize now that she tried all of the different styles of the masters, always wanting to learn more.

She told me of the time when a young man named Boyd K. Packer came to school and gave her a wood carving of a cougar which he had made in the woods for her. She showed me the carving. This young man is a General Authority now.

I remember hearing her at her evening prayer, speaking aloud to her Father in pleading tones. I left the half open door so she could have privacy. When she stayed at my home, even in later years, she was always up and dressed and ready for the day when I would come out of the bedroom.

I went to the genealogical library with her once. She would park the car well down the street at the bottom of the hill so she could get her exercise walking to the Library, have a glass of orange juice and then go to work.

Lura has one painting in the Museum of the Daughters of the Utah Pioneers in Salt Lake City. It is of Hans Ulrich Bryner holding on to the back of the wagon, as he walked across the Plains, blind. It is a wonderful painting which portrays one of our great ancestors.

There is another painting in the same museum of the Hole In The Rock expedition, by Faulkner K. Collett, our ancestors also went with this expedition.

Lura died 29 March 1991.

Paul Redd

A Few Memories of My Dad

by Alma Grace Redd Mendenhall.

I remember one day I was sitting in the big chair in our living room, I was crying, he came in and asked what the matter was. I held out a book written by Kipling, I had to read it and I could not understand it. It was called "Kim." He sat down and went through the whole book with me and explained it very good and so I was able to fill my school assignment. Many times he helped me with my homework and when I practiced the piano, often I would cry because I could not understand what I should be doing, but he would help me.

Our sister Hazel had polio and was crippled in her feet and one leg. She had to wear special high boots to give strength to her ankles. I was jealous and wanted a pair really bad and had asked for some, the answer was no. I followed him to the basement one day as he was filling the furnace with coal, because he was going to Lethbridge, I said, "Dad I want a pair of boots like Hazel's and I am going to sit right here until I get them." He just looked at me and said, "You go right ahead and sit there." Needless to say I did not sit there very long and I never got the boots. It was a lesson to me that I still remember, one does not always get their wishes.

There are many memories, just like all those you have of your home life. Sufficient to say is that we were happy, not without challenges, but well taken care of, loved, taught in the gospel and in life situations. He was our high school principal and teacher and we were proud of him. The students thought very much of him too. He was our bishop and we were thrilled for his calling there too. He was always thoughtful and kind to our mother and to Aunt Em as well and gave the best he could to all of us. We really had a wonderful childhood.

I had learned to play the piano a little bit and would play for my dad as he performed, on the cornet, in church, at school functions and other programs. Dad also sang in a men's quartet consisting of Frank Taylor, Ira Mc Bride, Paul Redd and Bert Coombs. They sang very often at all different functions, occassionally I was permitted to play for them, this has been a great experience for me.

After I was married Dad helped us remodel our home and then built us new kitchen cupboards. He also made me two sets of bookcases, exactly to fit the space we had for them, in our little home. I have a candle holder, a rolling pin, a paper towel holder, two small tables and an organ bench he made when in grade nine for the Knight Academy organ. It has been made into an end table, he gave it to me. Max took cornet lessons from him and loved the experience. All the children remember him well.

All of us remember these wonderful times we had together as a family. We all appreciate and love Aunt Em and her family as well, we did have many great times together.

Fern Laycock

MEMORIES OF FERN REDD LAYCOCK

by Hugh Laycock

We took mother on outings to Waterton, Logan Pass, Livingstone Gap country etc. She wasn't thrilled with the boat, but would ride in it.

She would run errands for me and help on occasion when something broke down. She once drove to Welling and towed the old Ford truck back to the farm when no one else was available.

For years we alternated having Christmas dinner at Livingstones' and at the farm, and turn about for New Year's day, always with mother there.

She and Brent went together to the Lethridge Sketch Club for a number of years.

In 1967, during the spring blizzard which tied up all Southern Alberta roads for a while, Bill, who had just returned from his mission, stayed at her home and accompanied many singers at the Music Festival.

When I played in the Lethbridge Symphony Orchestra concerts for several years, Audrey took her to the concerts.

In 1977, I took her up for a plane ride for her birthday. She did enjoy it and remarked over and over that she didn't have any idea there was so much land around here. A couple of years later, Lura and Vilo came to visit, and I took all three of them up and around over the Raymond area where they had grown up. They all really enjoyed that. Mother told me several times afterward that she had tried to get to them first and say that if I asked them to fly, they did not HAVE to go. She didn't make it in time. They all went, and to her surprise, enjoyed it.

EPILOGUE

In May 1991, mother had a slight cold. At 3:30 in the morning of May 9, 1991, the supervisor at Extendicare called us to say that when they checked on her, she had passed away quietly in her sleep, at the age of 97. We were saddened that we would not be able to visit with her again, but knew how happy she would be to be with her beloved George again. Forty four years is a long time to be separated! She had a smile on her face, and we knew there had been a wonderful reunion.

Her memorial service was lovely — it was conducted by her grandson Brent Laycock, a brand-new bishop. It was the first service he had conducted, and he did a fine job.

All the children and their spouses were present, and all the grandchildren except Donald H. Livingstone, who was conducting a business seminar in California with 200 participants from all over western U.S. It would have been impossible to contact all those people and make alternative arrangements. He was very sad to be unable to come, as he felt very close to her. He was the oldest of the grandchildren, and had lived in her home for the first three years of his life while his Dad was overseas in World War II.

Many of our friends told us that the service was just wonderful, and we ourselves felt very satisfied with it. We knew that she and Dad were there and were pleased with the proceedings.

Bill Laycock played the organ prelude, and spoke, representing the grandchildren. All of the sons and grandsons (except Don of course) sang a male chorus "I Believe in Christ" which was written by her cousin, Bruce R. McConkie. Harold Laycock gave the biography, then Ralph Laycock spoke briefly. Ralph's daughters combined in a lovely musical number, one of the solos that Mother often sang. JoLane Jolley was at the piano, Linda Findlay on the flute, and Claudia Laycock, Kathrine Little and Elizabeth Farnsworth sang an arrangement done by their Dad.

Don Livingstone gave the gospel message and the closing number was a solo by Carol Laycock, again one of the solos that Mother used to sing "I Shall Not Pass Again This Way," accompanied by the four children, as we used to accompany Mom — Merne on the piano, Hugh on the violin, Ralph on clarinet and Harold on the viola. Prayers were given by Robert Livingstone and Christopher Laycock, and the organ postlude, "Going Home," was played by Lucy Laycock. The burial took place at Mountain View Cemetery in Lethbridge in the plot beside her husband. The grave was dedicated by Hugh Laycock.

Mother lived a long and useful life, was beloved by all who knew her, and is sorely missed by her family, but we know she is happy to be re-united with Dad, and we all try to live according to her teachings.

Paul Redd

MY DAD, Paul Redd

by Theodora Stevenson

I must have been about 3 years old when I can remember some of the things about my dad. We lived in a little white house a little was south of Grandma Redd's. We had a swing in a big tree in our front yard, Dad built the swing for us and we spent many hours swinging. He built a radio. It was called a crystal set and it had a big cone-shaped speaker (megaphone-shaped) and we listened as often as we could.

All his life, now that I look back, Dad would build things to help our mother. He put a motor on our sewing machine, he fixed the ice cream freezer to hook up to the wringer of the washing machine so that we wouldn't have to turn it by hand. He could and would always fix or rebuild his farm equipment, machines and tools. He built several homes in Raymond but I remember our special one, we were so happy there and had so many good times in our youth.

Dad was a school teacher and later became the principal of Raymond High School. He was always helping someone with their school work, often students would come to our house and Dad would sit at our dining-room table and help them. He would never do our questions or our homework, but would always give us an example so that we could use that example and do them ourselves. He was an excellent teacher and a very strict disciplinarian. As a result of this, he was criticised and some parents were mad at him. He took a lot of abuse but he never backed down and he was respected for his work.

He played the trumpet and boy were we proud of him. He played "Taps" at all the Memorial Day Programs; and in the First of July Band down at the stampede grounds. He taught quite a few kids how to play. He sang in a quartet for many years and we were proud of him for that. He loved marching music and we all still love it.

Dad was in the Bishopric (Raymond first ward) with Heber Allen and Clarence Allred. It seemed forever and I am sure it wasn't. He worked in many different church jobs, Sunday School teacher, Stake Sunday School: all his life he was a very devoted church member.

Dad was a farmer as well as a teacher, so he kept very busy trying to earn enough money to keep us all, yet dad still had time for his family. He took us on many picnics and vacations at Waterton Park, and just a trip to Lethbridge was a special outing for our family. Dad was always sweet and kind to our mother and

did all he could to help her. He taught us to do a good day's work, and to be honest and to get along with each other, to always do our share of work around the house to help Mama. He taught us gospel truths and to live according to the church standards. We had a very special happy home.

In 1936 our mother passed away. Naturally this was very hard on all of us and especially our dad. He was a young man left alone to raise six children, ages 18 to 6. It was a real challenge and struggle I'm sure for our dad, but he carried on. He married our mother's sister, Em Peterson, who had 9 children, so our family increased considerable. We had our trials, and our problems, but dad spent his entire life to make us all happy and taken care of. He treated Aunt Em with the same love and consideration as he did our mother.

Dad lived a full life doing carpentry work until the day he died. I am indeed blessed with a rich heritage, both from my father and mother, and hope and pray that I can be worthy of this heritage.

MY FATHER, Paul Redd

by Norma Redd Fairbanks

My father was a wonderful man. I remember him reading the scriptures to me, especially the Book of Mormon. He explained the predictions of our day, and the one concerning Christopher Columbus. When I was feeling sorry for myself he would put his arms around me and tell me how much he loved me and assured me that I could overcome anything that happened to me in my life. He told me of his courtship with our mother and how much he loved her. When Grandpa Brandley (that is where he boarded while teaching school in Stirling) realized that Grace and Paul loved each other, dad had to move and he went to live with the Coffin family. He told me of when the horse shied into a mud hole and dad had to help mama out. He also told me that Harold's grandmother Stevenson and his mother were very good friends, and served in the Relief Society together.

He came to visit us before he died and he also came to Edmonton when Harold was made a bishop and to be with them when John Graham was born. I remember the singing in the car and working on the farm and all the fun trips to Waterton that we had.

LIFE OF PAUL HARDISON REDD
AS TOLD BY HIMSELF

My great grandfather was John Hardison Redd. He lived in North Carolina and later moved to Tennessee where the missionaries came to his home. One of them was John D. Lee. He was converted, joined the church and moved west. He set his slaves free but they would not leave the family and so came west with them, and lived in Spanish Fork, Utah. Six Negro people came with them and they joined the church and were faithful members.

One of John Hardison's sons was Lemuel Hardison, and he was my grandfather. He lived in Spanish Fork for a few years and was called to Southern Utah to open up a settlement at New Harmony. He lived there most of his life. My grandmother, Keziah Jane Butler Redd, had fourteen children. His other wife Louisa Chamberlain, had thirteen children. These two wives lived side by side in a duplex house taking care of each other in times of necessity. After grandmother died grandfather then moved to Mexico, but he came back often enough that I knew him until we left Harmony in 1905.

My father William A. Redd, married my mother Verena Bryner, in 1884. Out of fourteen children, ten lived to maturity, I am the ninth. We came to Canada and arrived in Stirling on 1 July 1905. It was one of the coldest days I can ever remember. They had buffalo, fur coats to keep us warm, they had wooden buttons that looked like little double trees and I wanted them so I cut them off. Mother was quite cross and had to sew them all back on. We rode to Raymond in buggies, the wind blew like a hurricane. They say there are only two seasons in Canada, Dominion Day and Winter. It was straight winter that day. I was just under eight years of age, my birthday is 10 August, 1897. This was the first train I had ever seen and the first train ride I had ever had. We had to go forty miles to Lund, Utah, by team, to get to the train. They told us boys if we would put our ears down to the rails we could hear the train coming and we could hear it long before we could see it come around the bend. When we got to Butte, Montana we had to change trains. We had a three hour wait. My dad went out and got a big sack of bananas and some boughten cookies. Those were the first bananas I had ever seen and the first boughten cookies I had ever eaten in my life. The waiting room was electric-lighted, and that was the first electric lights I had ever seen in my life. There were ten lights, each hanging down from a single electric cord, in the old fashion way, to light this big waiting room. That's where we waited three hours for the next train. Then we got to Stirling.

The earliest memories of New Harmony are taking the cows to pasture. We lived in town which was about a dozen houses. The old farm was maybe a half a mile away. It seemed ten miles to us. We had to go around the outside of the farm to get to the gate to put the cows in the pasture which was on the other side of the field. Beyond that was just mountain land and we had to be very careful because there were a lot of rattlesnakes. There was a spring. We went down to

the spring to get a drink and coiled up by the pipe that fed the spring was a big rattlesnake. We didn't dare go near so we didn't get a drink that day.

I remember in the fall they would line the wagon box with straw, load it with apples from the orchard on the farm, and bring it home. We would store the apples in a special bin in the cellar. They had to handle them carefully so they wouldn't bruise and they would keep all winter. I can remember that apple bin.

In the fall Father would go to St. George and he would bring back two five-gallons cans of honey and a forty-gallon barrel of molasses. That was our winter supply of sweets. We could make all the molasses candy we wanted. We had all the apples we wanted and pretty much all the honey we wanted, but I can't remember much else.

One night there was a flood. A thunderstorm, a cloudburst, filled our basement with water. Mother had 500 pounds of flour in a bin and that was 500 pounds of dough the next morning. When they got the water pumped out of the cellar it was a terrible mess.

The schoolhouse was about four or five blocks away. I only went to school in Harmony one day. My brother Will was substitute teacher and I didn't think I had to do what he told me but I found out different, the hard way. So I had to behave myself in school.

I had a playmate and his name was Antone Prince. Our mothers made us wear short pants. Long pants for kids were unknown. Mine were red velvet and his were blue velvet and I can remember those Sunday suits we had. But we played too strenuously one day and we got my nice red pants dirty and that made Mother angry. So she changed my pants for another pair, and I got them dirty and wet in the irrigation ditch. To make sure I didn't do it again she put one of the girls dresses on me and tied me with a rope to the tree just so I couldn't get to the ditch. I made so much noise bawling and crying that the whole town knew I was being punished. I can remember that. Those short pants were good racing pants. Half the time I could out run Antone and the other half he could out run me. About all I can remember are just odds and ends of things down there.

I remember one Fourth of July, the last one we were there in 1904. My brother Will and Roy Prince were going to fire the cannon at sun up and the cannon was two anvils. One was on the ground and then there was a round iron ring about four inches high that sat on top of that anvil. They would fill that ring with black gun powder. They had a little hole in it, so they could get a fuse in. Then they would fill that with powder, set the other anvil on top of the ring up side down, then light the fuse and run. It would make a real big noise when it would go off.

So we knew a cannon was fired. But once Will lit the fuse and they ran and it didn't go off. And he went back to see what the trouble was and just as he knelt down to see what the trouble was the thing went off. Fortunately the anvil didn't hit him but it blew black powder through his shirt into his shoulder and the skin on his right shoulder showed those black powder marks all the rest of his life. I can remember foot races and horse races up and down the street that day and that's about all. But we had a lot of fun.

I can't remember the details, but we had a lot of fun the years we lived there. We had home-made ice cream, I had never seen boughten ice cream until I came to Canada. We burned wood in our stove. The year before we left there, my dad went somewhere twenty or thirty miles away and brought home a wagon box full of coal and that's the first and only coal I ever saw before we came to Canada. Then we used coal entirely. Kids nowadays don't even know what coal looks like. Later in life we used oil, then propane and now we're on natural gas. I am experienced with all the fuels. I remember the wood pile, I used to have to keep the wood box full. That was pretty much for a six year old to do.

My dad had a sheep herd, and the summer before we came here he took my brother Lyman and me up to the sheep herd. The means of transportation between camps were burros, little donkeys. They were gentle even though they were onery. I can remember riding those donkeys from one camp to another. We had three different sheep camps up Cedar Canyon, up on the bench above Cedar City. These burros were fun but you had to be careful that you didn't get behind them. I was riding one and my father was riding a horse and Lyman was sitting behind the saddle with him. They came to an overhanging branch, Pa saw it and leaned down and dodged it and he forgot to tell Lyman. The branch scraped him off back over the horses tail and he hit the ground. He made an awful fuss about it.

When they were marking and docking the lambs, they had a mechanical counter like a watch and you could flip it for each lamb. Of course they knew how many lambs they had, but Pa gave me this counter and he said, "You count the lambs as we cut their tails off, as we dock them." So I would push it for one and then in my enthusiasm I would push it again. Then I would have to keep on pushing it and so instead of reading for the second one, number two, it would read twelve. If I would forget up in the twenty-four, I would have to push it again until it got to thirty-four until the four showed. But I didn't know what those other figures meant. By the time we got the lambs docked my tally was a real flock of sheep. He laughed about that.

My mother's sister had a dairy farm up Cedar Canyon and we went up there to spend two weeks. They had two boys just our ages. Lyman and I and Carl and

Bryner were the other two boys. That's the way I remember their names. We had a lot of fun roaming the canyon. We didn't have anything to do, but it was fun to watch them make cheese and we would drive the cows in if we were around and they could get us to. But we spent most of the time just exploring. There was an abandoned sawmill and we went prying around that and disturbed a hornets nest. One of them stung me on my right eyelid and it swelled up so badly I nearly lost the eye. For the rest of my young life, until I was twenty, one eye was a little bigger than the other one so my face was kind of crooked. The kids would torment me about that. But that did not bother me, instead of going home and crying when they would tease me until I couldn't stand it any more, I would get mad and fight, so I licked every kid within fifty pounds of my own weight before I was eight years old. Then they wouldn't torment me and call me funny names. But that's some of the things I can remember about down there before we came here. My Father brought a car load of belongings to Canada with us. He loaded a boxcar in Lund, Utah, half the car was fenced off and he had twelve head of horses. In the other half of the car he had his furniture and our belongings. My oldest brother, Will, who was about twenty, and a cousin, Roy Wood, rode in the boxcar. They had their bed made up on top of the load in the top of the boxcar and every time it was necessary to water and feed the animals they did it. That's why they came with the boxcar. So they got the trip free and I've heard them tell about the fun they had on that trip. So it took a lot of bananas and crackers to satisfy us. I cannot remember the other meals but we lived through it. Will, Lura, Fern, Jesse, Paul, Lyman, Vilo, Pauline and Mary were the children who came to Canada, Kay the tenth child was born in Canada.

In 1947 we all went back to Harmony for a reunion. All of us that were born there were there. On July the Fourth, 1947, I remember a big celebration that day. Lyman and I spent the day walking around the old farm, to the spring, up to the big pine tree and to the spring ditch which was the water ditch that flowed across the farm which was fed by a spring called Lawson's Spring in the next property just above ours. The ditch flowed and that was half the irrigation system of that little community. I do not know where the other half came from. There was a tree by the spring, I do not know what kind it was but it's branches spread almost horizontal and it had the widest spread of any tree I ever saw, two or three hundred sheep could lie down in the shade of that tree, they were so close to the ground you could not walk under them. That was an interesting detail, but I have never found out what kind of tree it was.

The remains of the old duplex house are still there now, the other members of the family that have gone back since took pictures of it. It was brick, or an adobe house. When we arrived in Stirling we went to stay with the family of John Adams. John Adams came from either Kannara or Cedar City, they had come to Canada a year or two before and my parents knew them in Utah. They had about a three-roomed house, but they took care of Mother and all of eight kids and we stayed there overnight. Then Will and Roy came over to get us with two democrats. They called them that, if they were double-seated buggies. As I said, it was a cold day when we got into Raymond, it was July First, Dominion Day, and the celebration was over in the afternoon. The parade was over too. They didn't have a stampede on that day. We arrived safely about three or four o'clock, in the two buggies.

Pa had rented a house from a man named Wilcox and we lived in that house, which was on the south end of main street across the canal, until he had built his own house which took about a year and a half, we moved into it in 1907 and lived there the rest of our lives. It is still a good house. It was not insulated and was not very warm but a good house structurally. John W. Taylor had big ideas about building a home, He got a cement block machine and set it up and made cement blocks. My father bought enough cement blocks from him to build this house and the town bought enough cement blocks from him to build the town jail. John W. himself built his own house up to the foundation, and then it kind of folded up and he never did finish his house. The blocks for our house were made just about 500 feet away from the side of the brick house, 90 S 200 W, built by T. Geo. Wood, the hole and some blocks are still there. They were hauled over to our house on a stoneboat with a team about ten blocks at a time. They were set in the wall just a few days after they were made. They were made just as we used them. The Meeks brothers, in later years, bought the rest of the blocks and hauled them away to build foundations for other houses.

The house that John W. Taylor lived in was on Main Street right next to the canal. It was a frame house and he had one family living there. I played with one of his boys, Abram, but I have never seen him since, I do not know whatever happened to him.

My father raised sheep for two years after we moved to Canada with a manager, Wilson Imlay. Then he bought about a thousand acres of land right here and started to farm about half of it. Then two years later he sold his sheep. I remember when he came back to Raymond. I do not know how much money he had but the money was in gold coins and he brought it in leather bags. I remember seeing those two bags of gold coins and he said, "That's the price of a sheep herd." I guess he deposited it in the bank and that is the last gold money I ever saw in my life. When we came to Canada he carried \$500.00 in gold, in a little pouch to pay his way. His main living was horse raising. He would buy horses, breed horses, break horses and sell teams. This was his main love. He

farmed for a living, but the thing that he did to keep alive and keep him interested was to breed, break, and match teams and sell horses. He was horse trading all the time. You would never know when he would come back with another team or horse that he had traded for, and one or two would be missing and there would be some new ones. I guess he would get some to boot. When he bought a piano in about 1907 or 08 he bought it from Charlie Fox. He didn't pay for it in cash, he paid for it in horses. He was really a horse man, it was his main love. He died before he got his land paid for and we had to sell it. All that we kept was a section and a half for Will and 400 acres of irrigated land for Lyman and me. He probably had four or five thousand acres under contract when he died but I was only thirteen, Will was only twenty-two. He was badly in debt for the land so most of it went back instead of trying to pay it off. He was a successful farmer and livestock operator, and had a sizeable estate when he died. He grew wheat, oats and barley. I think he planted the first alfalfa that was planted in Raymond. Most people around here, all that I knew, fed their horses prairie grass for hay. Father did not like that prairie grass. He liked alfalfa. We called it lucerne. So he brought a sack of seed home from Utah. He had gone to conference in 1906, and planted ten acres of alfalfa and as I remember, that was the first alfalfa patch that was in Raymond. It set a pattern for the whole area. Of course it was much better feed, much higher in protein and it has gone ahead by leaps and bounds.

As boys we always milked two or three cows. It was my job to take care of them and milk them. More than that, Father would take us to the farm and give us something to do even though it was just to make jobs to keep us off the streets. He would never let us go downtown and let us bum. In 1910 when I was just twelve years old - coming on thirteen and Lyman was eleven, Pa planted sixty acres of sugar beets. In those days we cultivated the sugar beets with a two-row cultivator drawn by one horse and guided by a man walking behind it holding onto two handles. It cultivated two rows at a time. He had us boys cultivating beets all summer. Lyman was too little to reach the handles so he would ride the horse and guide it down the row and I would walk behind the cultivator and guide it so it would not cut out the beets. We cultivated sixty acres of beets six times and we cultivated twenty acres of beets for H. S. Allen six times that summer. I figured I walked 1100 miles behind the cultivator the summer of 1910, about ten hours a day. Lyman and I figured on starting at seven. We left home at seven o'clock, hooked the old mare onto a buggy and drove out there. Then we hooked her onto the cultivator and work until noon. We came a mile to the reservoir for dinner to give the mare a drink and to feed her and have our lunch. Then we would cultivate until six or six-thirty. We would unhook and come home. Now that was every working day.

Pa would take me to the farm when I was ten, eleven, and twelve years old, and give me four head of horses to harrow grain. I had to walk behind the harrow. He was a great man to harrow winter wheat. He liked to grow winter wheat and in the spring he would start harrowing it. I would harrow it, I think, just to keep me busy. We would harrow it so long that finally the harrow would just ride on the wheat, it wouldn't even hit the ground and then he would let us quit. He wouldn't let me ride the harrow cart because he was afraid I would get tangled up and hurt myself, so I walked.

I learned how to work and I'm glad of that. I started school that fall, in September. The first day of school I had three fights, the kids would call me "pollywog" and that would make me mad. They would look at this eye that was crooked from the hornet sting and they would call me bung eye and I would fight on both occasions. That continued for about a week. One kid called me a bad name while we were lined up to march into school after the bell rang. He was two boys behind me and he gave me this bad name. I turned around and socked him just as the principal walked out of the door to see the fuss, he called us into the office and got the story, He gave me a bawling-out and he gave the other kid a strapping for tormenting me. After this we had a good time at school.

My teacher was Miss Hodnett from Ontario. She seemed like an old woman, but I imagine she was about thirty. She was a fine teacher. I can remember yet the stories she would read to us like Black Beauty and Treasure Island. She would read ten minutes before school closed if we would be decent and behave ourselves. That first winter we read Black Beauty, Treasure Island and two or three other good books. School was fun.

The new public school was opened in the spring of 1910 and I went over there from the old school. The Academy was opened in October that same fall. That was my last year in public school and then I started high school in the fall in the Academy. I was the first student to register. To be the first registered I had to get there at half past four in the morning. The next student was Hazel Allen, she came at six. Her father was the president of the stake and the chairman of the school board that ran the church academy. He said , "My daughter Hazel is going to be the first student registered." My father heard him and he said, "Are you going to let a girl beat you to the school in the morning?" He was President Allen's counsellor in the stake presidency. So I got up and got over to the school at half past four. Along came Hazel about six but she was way late. So in the big registration book my name is first and Hazel's is second.

Going back to Elementary school, I remember our teacher was a great one to teach us songs. She taught us lots of songs. I do not remember much about the school work, it was fun but just ordinary. I remember in 1906 after the San

Francisco earth quake, every school kid in town brought ten cents to a fund to relieve the suffering at San Francisco, I remember taking my dime to school. Miss Hodnett got 100 percent, and this happened in the whole school. I do not know how much money was raised but I do know it went to San Francisco.

Studies came easy to me. I made fairly good marks although I got a surprise. When we got into high school they would never tell us what marks you made, you would just either pass or fail. If you would pass a high school grade, you had to write a government exam for every grade past grade eight. If you would pass, your name would come out in the Lethbridge Herald. If your name wasn't in the Herald, you failed and you took the grade over again. There was no separate subject exam. You either passed the whole grade or failed the whole grade. The Lethbridge Herald told you whether you passed or not, but you never knew your marks. I graduated from high school in 1914 and went to Normal.

In 1924, ten years later, I went to Salt Lake to go to the University of Utah, and the application required your school record. So I wrote to Edmonton to get my school record which was ten years after I had graduated. I paid a dollar and they sent me my transcript and that's the first time I knew what marks I made. The subjects that I liked the best and thought I was the best in were algebra, geometry and arithmetic, and the ones I disliked were history, grammar and literature. I always had to stay out of school for harvest, and I always was registered late because I had to stay out for a month in the spring to put in the crop so I got the surprise of my life. My algebra marks were just good passing marks in the fifties and sixties. I had the best marks in the subjects I disliked and the poorer marks in the subjects that I just loved. But the explanation to my own mind was that I had missed so much in the fall and in the spring that I had an excuse for my poor marks in my math.

When the Academy opened there had never been a high school in this area at all, and there were only a handful of us, maybe ten or fifteen regular graduates from public school, which would be the regular grade nine in the high school. But there was an influx of older people from eighteen to twenty-four that came to the Academy to get an education that they had missed in their younger life. The average age of students in the school was way older.

I was the smallest, youngest kid in the whole school. So I didn't have a chance in athletics and sports. I had never learned to play because my dad kept me on the farm. I loved basketball but I was never good enough to make the team. It would be older men like Wilford Meldrum, Donald Skousen, Jim Skousen and Irvin Fawns, they were the men and we just loved to watch them play, they were champion players. In field events I was okay, I could hold my own in the pole vault, in fact, I could win in the MIA events up until way after I

was married. I regularly won the pole vault. I don't know how high I ever vaulted but I've got ribbons. That's the only sport I was good in, to tell you the truth.

We liked to play tennis in the gymnasium, but that happened later after I got to teaching. I taught in the Academy until it was sold. The Church sold it to the School District. I came back from Normal, taught in Stirling three years and then I taught in the public school here one year. Then I went to the Air Force one year and then when I came back in the fall of 1919 I began teaching in the Academy. I taught there until it closed, about 1921. Asael Palmer was the principal and I was the mathematics teacher and we had a good time there.

In those days we were only required to go to Normal for four months. They had two sessions. You could either go four months in the Fall -- September, October, November and December or four months in the Winter -- January, February, March and April. I went in the fall of 1914. If you had a grade eleven standing you would get a second class certificate but if you had a grade twelve standing you would get a first class certificate. I had passed grade twelve so I got a first class certificate entitling me to teach in any high school in Alberta including grade twelve which I did off and on for the next fifty years. Four months training was not really enough but teaching came naturally for me and I enjoyed teaching and liked it and made a go at it for the next fifty years. Nowadays you have to have four years training. Of course with four months training you have just got a start. You practiced on the kids and learned as you went. That's what you call in-service training.

When I was in Calgary I boarded with a Mrs. Moran and paid so much a month for room and meals. When I taught in Stirling I boarded. I never did batch. I was in Stirling three years. I started there in January 1915. Actually it was only two and a half years. I left in June 1917. The last winter I was the principal. I boarded with Mrs. Coffin. And I can't remember much about the school itself, I taught grade two and three in the first year and the next year grades four and five. The third year I was the principal and I had grade eight, nine and ten. We didn't have a grade eleven. I had a lot of fun in Stirling and for the first time had a little bit of leisure time during the week, although I would come home and go to the farm every Saturday for all three years. Part of the time I rode a saddle horse and part of the time a bicycle. But I would make the trip home every weekend.

I have kept in touch with many of the students that I had in Stirling. There is one in particular. I said I stayed at Mrs. Coffin's, her eldest daughter, Edna, married a man in Milk River and I have known her and seen her probably two or three times a year at conference time ever since. I taught Edna and Earl in

Stirling. They were just younger than I, well, they were not much younger but they were taking grade eleven and we had no regular grade eleven in Stirling. We divided the subjects and each teacher would teach a subject and they got through. Edna was one of them. Interestingly enough, when I went to teach in Milk River after I retired in 1964 I had two boys, Roger Snow and Roy Hummel, who were Edna's grandsons and I had them both in grade eleven. So that's teaching a long time to teach a girl through grade eleven and then grandsons both in grade eleven.

There are a dozen others that I have known and kept track of through the years, Farrell Nelson, Bill Hogenson, Noel and Alma Brandley and Earl Nelson. I could name them by the dozens that have lived around here all through the years.

Discipline in the school in those years is not like it is now-a-days. If a kid got out of line, I would give them several choices. They could be suspended for two weeks, doing a lot of extra homework or take a strap and get it over with in five minutes. They would usually take the five-minute treatment and it worked. I was the principal of the High School in Raymond, for eight years. I got a report I was quite proud of. Now this seems like blowing your own horn, but it's the truth so I'll tell you the story. I can't remember the inspector's name, but he came to the school in March. I had been the principal for two years. By that time we had about two hundred students and about eight or nine teachers. They gave a written report to the teacher and a copy to the school board. The department sent these inspectors out. On my personal report, of my teaching efficiency, he gave me what he called very good. He said, "I can't give you excellent because you do not have a degree. I reserve the excellent for degree teachers. You notice I put the very good, the VG, right over against the mark. You are doing excellent work." And at the bottom of the report he said, "Mr. Redd enjoys the esteem and respect of the students in this school and the problem of discipline does not enter." I have been quite proud of that ever since. I never really had any trouble in school. I had good relations with most of the kids. Once in a while you would have to give a kid the five-minute treatment if he was real mean. That inspector's report was the highlight of my school career so far as the question of discipline was concerned.

I left Stirling to come back home to Raymond. In the fall of 1917 the war was on and they passed a conscription act. I had been farming all these years, the land that my father left. I had farmed it and hired a man to run it to do the actual driving of the horses. But I managed it. If I had stayed in the school- room, I would have been conscripted into the army. So I quit teaching and came home to farm. That's really why I came home.

I went on the farm and that fall it was a dry year, I finished my own harvest in August and on the first day of September Chris Tollestrup started a threshing outfit, so I took my team and wagon and went pitching bundles for the season which would have normally lasted a month. I had been pitching bundles three days. School opened on Tuesday, the third or fourth of September and about three o'clock in the afternoon two men, the chairman and secretary of the school board, came in a buggy, out into the field where I was loading bundles and said, "We've got to have an extra teacher in Raymond. We've got more kids than our teachers can handle. We've got to open another room and we want you to come and teach that extra room." That was better wages than pitching bundles so I turned my horses into the field the next night and went to teach school.

As I say, I have taught school in Raymond nearly all my life, but I have never written an application. The school board has come to me every single time under circumstances like that. I would decide to quit and go farming and they would come and offer me a position. My first years salary was \$700. \$70 a month for ten months. It went up about \$100 to \$150 a year and in the hungry '20s I was getting twelve, fourteen, and fifteen hundred dollars. Then when the crash came in 1929 they cut our salaries way down. In the fall of 1931 the school board offered me the principalship of the Raymond High School which had about 160 or 200 students and seven or eight teachers, and I accepted that position for \$1410 a year and most of that in script. That's quite a record. That same principal now gets over \$20,000. So that's how money had changed in teaching.

During the depression school went pretty normally except things happened two or three time, either because of the weather or the depression. But in the fall it was two or three different years they had closed school for a month. They closed for the month of September and October because labor was short, the season was bad and the harvest late. I remember once in 1927 they closed school during the month of October because it rained during September and no harvest had been done. They said the kids could go home and help with the harvest. I hired all the male school teachers and we threshed.

My brother Will and I had a threshing outfit, and I hired all these male teachers and the rest of the crew. We threshed 140,000 bushels of grain and harvested sixty acres of beets in the month of October. We put 140,000 bushels through a 28-inch separator. It was not all wheat, part of it was oats. The beets were 900 tons. School started on the fourth of November again and we were off to the races.

It was closed once in a while in the spring to thin beets the same way. Then in the spring, in the thinning time, we advanced the hour like daylight saving time only it was a local proposition and that got us out an hour early. I think one year we advanced it two hours and we would get out at 2:00 and the kids could thin beets all afternoon and school went on as usual. That was a local way of overcoming the labor shortage.

We have always had enough to live on. After I was married we had a hard time during the Depression years form 1919 to 1936, to get along, money was short but we never suffered, and got along pretty well. Then in 1951 hoof-and-mouth disease hit the cattle business. I had 200 head of cattle on feed that I had bought for thirty-six cents a pound and fed them all that crop. They weren't worth anything in the spring. I rented pasture for the summer and then fed them the next crop and they were fat cattle the second year, mature two-year-old steers and I sold them for sixteen cents a pound. That was in 1952 or '53. It took me twelve years to pay that bill off. I fed steady for the next twelve years and paid that debt off to the Central Feeders just in time for the Central Feeders to go broke. We have had a good life, though some challenges.

I married Grace Brandley in 1917. We have six children, Maurine, Theodora, Hazel, Alma, Norma and John. In the first ten years of our life we moved fourteen times. Then in 1927 we moved into a house that I built here in Raymond and we stayed there over twenty years. Grace passed away in 1936. We had a good life with our kids.

I met Grace at Christmas time 1914. I went to a dance here in Raymond and there was a party of young people from Stirling that came to that dance. Grace was one of them. It was kind of love at first sight. I thought she was the prettiest girl I ever saw. I thought she had the prettiest dress I ever saw. I asked her to dance with me and she said yes and I asked her two or three more times that night and she said yes. So we had a good time together. From then on she was kind of a dream gal. I didn't date her at all in the spring but the next fall I went to Stirling again. That was my second year in Stirling, and I boarded at Brandley's place. That's where she lived. And we walked to school every morning and home most of the nights. Sometimes she would beat me home. But she was a lovely person.

That summer I dated her and went over to Stirling quite often. I remember going on the 24 July. There was a big celebration in Stirling and I had a new buggy, a new rubber tired buggy and quite a nice little gray mare. It was a real good outfit. I had graduated from the saddle-horse by this time. This was my third year in Stirling. So I had a date with Grace for the celebration that day and drove over about noon. We went down to the park, I tied my horse up and we were watching the sports and the races and having a good time. We came back in about an hour, and two of our friends had stolen my horse and buggy. They untied the horse and drove the outfit through the biggest mud hole they could find. My bright, new, clean painted buggy was as muddy and dirty as could be

and my gray mare was splattered with mud. They thought that was a good joke. It didn't bother us at all. I washed the buggy and we continued on with our fun.

We dated pretty regularly the next year. I remember going to Stirling in the winter for the New Year's dance. I had a date with Grace. I went in a buggy, but this time it was a different buggy with a team instead of one horse. It was heavy driving and so I took a team. The dance closed at 12:30 and I took Grace home and we visited for a while. I left there about 1:15 to come home and it was a cold night, it was really cold. It must have been twenty below. So I just hung the lines over the dashboard and crawled under the robes and went to sleep. The team knew the way home anyway. But the team not only knew the way home, they also knew the way to the farm. I went to sleep and I woke up just coming daylight. The buggy was stopped and I looked up to see what was the matter. The team had stopped right in front of the barn door out at the farm which was just as far from home as Stirling was. Here I was cold and hungry, the team was discouraged, it was twenty below zero and I still had a seven mile trip to make to get home to breakfast. So that dance cost me quite a trip.

In the summer of 1917 we decided to get married. I left Stirling and came home to teach and that kind of broke our hearts. We decided we would be steady, then I guess we decided to be married. We set the date for Christmas time in 1917. We were determined we would be married in the temple. I was teaching school in Raymond so I got my sister Fern to take my room. This was the same grade that the school board had come out to the wheat field to ask me to teach. So I asked Fern if she would teach the last week of school before Christmas and she said, "Yes." So we got on the train and went to Salt Lake to be married in the temple. We were married in the Salt Lake Temple on the 19 December 1917. Grace lacked six days of being eighteen years of age. She would have been eighteen on the twenty fifth. Her birthday was Christmas day.

We went to get the marriage license in the city and county building and of course, they took our statistics. When the clerk looked at the date of her birth and the date of our application he said, "Have you your parent's consent." She said "Yes." He said "Have you it in writing?" She said "No." So he was a little doubtful as to whether he would give us the license or not. I was just over the mark. I was nineteen so I was all right. While we were wondering what we were going to do about it, another man came in from the adjoining office. The door was open and he heard the conversation and it was B.S. Young who used to live in Raymond. He knew my parents and he knew the Brandleys. And he said, "Maybe I can help you out." He was quite a joker but this day he didn't joke at all. He was really serious and cooperative. He said, "I know these people, I know their parents. I know their fathers and their mothers and I know it's all right. So if you will give them the license I will take the responsibility for the next six days." So we got our

license and went to the temple. We never did get another chance to thank him, but I'll tell you we appreciated that friendly gesture that morning.

We got married and we got home. When we landed in Stirling on the 30 December there was a Chinook blowing and the snow was slushy and wet. My brother, Lyman, was going to come over to Stirling to meet us. The train did not come on to Raymond. So we went up to Brandley's and he drove over to meet us. We decided that since it was the 31 to stay for the dance, the New Year's dance. He stayed with us and went to the dance and we were coming home after the dance. The weather turned and by the time the dance was out at 1:00 it was fifteen below zero. We came home to Raymond. We came to my mother's home. I had two rooms upstairs that were partly prepared for our new home, but it wasn't completed. So we stayed at mother's that night and the next day we got squared away in our new home. Of course, I went back to school on the third of January.

We spent the Christmas holidays in Utah, and it was the mildest Christmas they had had for years. We went to Richfield where she was born, the farmers were plowing in their fields during the Christmas week. It was that kind of weather. But when we got home it was chinooking in Stirling. There was snow on the ground but there was a nice Chinook on. But when we came home after the New Year's dance it was fifteen below zero. We stayed in this little apartment for a year.

I joined the Air Force in April, just four months after we were married. I left Grace home in this little apartment. I was in the Air Force from April until January. In the interval, Maurine, our first baby was born on the 15 September 1918. There was a flu epidemic, the 1918 flu epidemic. I was in the aerial school and the flu epidemic closed the school. They expected it to be closed for two weeks and I applied for leave to come home for those two weeks and it was granted. I got on the train and came home in September and was due to leave on the 14 or 15 of September and be back on the 19 of September. Grace was ready to have the baby so the doctor wired the commanding officer in Toronto and he extended my leave, four days. So I was here for the birth of my first daughter and then I had to leave. I left Grace and baby in good hands, in my mother's hands, and had a good time being home. It was the culmination of a lifetime for any man to be there for the birth of his first child, we had anticipated her arrival. It was just about the highlight of my life so far, to be there for the birth of our first child. We were extremely happy to get her. We had six children in all.

By the time the kids got big enough to move and walk and talk we had prospered enough that we had bought a Ford car and we spent quite a lot of time using the car for necessities, fun and holidays. Our favorite pastime was singing songs. My dad had a repertoire of maybe twenty-five or thirty songs, good, bad and indifferent and I had learned them all. So all of our children and Grace, my wife knew the songs. We would spend the time on the road singing songs. When we get together to this day we quite often sing those same old songs.

The war ended before I saw any action, and I came home. We moved fourteen times, renting different homes. Then I bought a little house for \$625 just a block south of my mother's big house and fixed it up. We lived there five years with one interruption. The school district bought the Knight Academy and I was teaching there. The principal of the Public School, DeVoe Woolf, was a mathematics teacher, so they didn't need me and I was out of a job. so I went back on the farm. I farmed that summer. I had been farming all the time, but I laid off one of my hired men and took his place and was acting farmer. I had two hired men all the time. Chris Jensen from Magrath came and said, "We need a teacher over there. Will you come and teach in Magrath?" The offer was attractive enough that I said yes, so we moved to Magrath for a year and rented a house there. By this time we owned the little house in Raymond so we rented it, we had fixed it up and it was a nice little three-roomed home. So we moved to Magrath. At the close of the year I got an offer from the Raymond School Board to teach here so we came back. Hazel was born while we lived in Magrath.

In 1925 we decided to build a house. To build a house in those days was a real task. You had to haul your own gravel, mix your own cement and make your own foundation and everything. It took two years to build it but we got it built and moved into it and lived there for the next twenty-five years. Grace only lived there ten years when she passed away. I have always treasured the memory that we had a good home for the last ten years of her life. It was furnished well and was really comfortable. Our youngest child, John Paul was born in this home 1 July 1929. The others were all alive before we got into that new home. Alma and Norma were born in the little home we bought first. Theodora was born in Lethbridge, Maurine at mother's home, and Hazel in the home in Magrath.

We had doctors and midwives both in Raymond. Mrs. Deardon and Mrs. Gibb were the midwives, Doctor Greenway, Doctor Astrof and Doctor Murray were the doctors I remember. The children were all healthy except Hazel, she had poliomyelitis, when she was two years old and it left her crippled in her leg. She never let it stop her from doing anything she wanted to do. Theodora was born in a private hospital owned by Mrs. Van Haarlem, in Lethbridge.

In 1926, just before Norma was born, I caught a bad cold, and had the flu or whatever it was. I didn't stay home long enough and went to the farm to work. I got sick and got pneumonia and had to go to the hospital. I stayed home

for a week and they nursed me there, my sister Vilo was a nurse and she helped. Then they took me to the hospital, I was scared to death, I thought to go to a hospital was sure death. I found out different. I recovered.

About two weeks before Christmas 1935, Grace became ill. We took her to the hospital in Lethbridge, we did not have one. She stayed there until Christmas eve and the doctor let her come home. We had a wonderful Christmas, quiet and lovely. We were all together. Then in the night she got sick again and about midnight I took her back to the hospital. She didn't get better. She stayed real sick until the 14 January 1936 when she died. Frank Taylor brought the children to see her but she was gone. We all went to Fern and George Laycock's home and had hot chocolate before returning home. It was very, very cold. Hazel sat in the front seat and rubbed a bag of salt on the windshield to keep it frost free.

John was six years old and Maurine was eighteen years old. It was a very sad time for all of us. We had Dorothy Nurse come into the home to help us. She was very good to the children and a good housekeeper. She had come from England after joining the church. She stayed with us until I married Emma Brandley Peterson, Grace's sister. She is two years older than Grace and I met her before I met Grace. We took a High School play to Stirling. I wasn't in the play but I was a good driver and I had a good team and bobsled so I took the cast. Before the show, there was a little hole in the curtain, I looked over the audience through this hole, and I could see a girl down there in a navy blue middy with a bright red collar and I thought, "She's a pretty girl." The play was over by about ten or so and they cleared the benches back and we danced until twelve before we came home. I had a good time. I danced twice with Em. I met her, this gal with the middy with the bright red collar. So I knew her a year or so earlier than I knew Grace.

We knew each other because of family ties. We were married 12 November 1938. We were sealed in the Alberta Temple 30 June 1943. She and her husband were divorced. They had nine children.

In the years I was alone we got along fine as a family, Dorothy was good and the children helped her. Time heals a lot of things. The first summer I got an appointment marking papers in Edmonton and I took the family with me. It helped take away the pain of losing their mother. Solon Low was up there and he found a house for me. I rented a furnished house for the month that I was to be there. Everything was furnished including the linen for \$35. So I loaded the family, Dorothy and Melvin King, into the car and we went to Edmonton. We had a wonderful summer. After marking papers, Dorothy, Melvin and I would go play golf. The children would swim all day, and then stay at the pool to swim for the evening while we golfed. Dorothy was a good swimmer and taught them

how to swim and they all took tests and each one got a swimming certificate by the end of the summer. John who was only seven years old, could swim two lengths of the pool with the crawl stroke and they could all swim better than I could. This wonderful summer took away from their minds, the sharpness and vividness of the grief of losing their mother.

Life went on pretty much as usual. I would take the kids to the farm in the spring and they would thin and hoe beets, and hoe the garden, I used the money they made to buy their fall school clothes and books, they never were paid in cash. They would help can vegetables and fruit. They were good kids to take responsibility.

After I married Em, there were fifteen children in the home. We finished two bedrooms in the basement, and had plenty of room for them all. We had a few problems, but all families do. It was in 1939, the depression was over, I was teaching, and with the farm income we got along nicely, the older children got jobs and that helped too. I think everything went pretty nicely. Soon the older ones got married and now we are alone.

We lost one child, Grace, Em's youngest. In 1949 when she was fifteen, she had serious headaches and was in bad pain quite often all winter and spring. so we finally took her to the doctor and he said he suspected she had a brain tumor. And he said, "There are three places you can go, and they can verify and treat if it's possible." You can go to Edmonton, you can go to Montreal or you can go to Rochester. So we took her to Montreal. Doctor Wilder Penfield was in Montreal and he was quite noted as a brain specialist. So we took a plane for Montreal and when we got there they were as kind as they could be and as considerate as could be. The doctors and nurses did everything they possibly could.

We were there a month but they couldn't do anything for this tumor. The doctor said, "Please don't ask us to give her radium treatments or cobalt treatments. I had a daughter two years ago that had the same trouble, the same affliction and we gave her radium treatments or cobalt treatments. It just added to her agony." So we said, "All right, we will do what you say." We put her in the hospital. He said, "What is likely to happen, is the good Lord has decreed that when they have a brain cancer there is no pain." We were grateful for that. She got weaker and weaker. At first she kind of brightened up when we brought her home. We had a boarding-place, a housekeeping room, and we brought her home for a week but we had to take her back to the hospital. In a few days she passed away. That's the only one we've lost. The other fourteen are all living and all married, we have over sixty grandchildren. They are all perfect, physically and mentally.

Maurine is my eldest, she married David G. Wood. They live in Calgary and have two children, both married, Roxie and Richard do not have any children. Denton and Marilyn have two girls.

Theodora is next, she married Ted Stevenson and lives in Calgary. They have five children. Beverly, Neil is married, he and Jane have a baby boy. David also married recently. Melvin is married to Sylvia and they have a baby boy. Their youngest Shirley is still in school.

Hazel is next, she married Boyd Gibb, they live in Bountiful, they have a family of eight. Randall is married to Diane, they have two small children. Theodora is married to Brian, they have four. Christine is married to Dave and they have four. Dianne married Brent and Sherry married Scott, who is a brother to Brent. Denise, Leslie, and Kim are still at home. Alma is next. She married Ross Mendenhall. They live here in Raymond and have six, Grace married Ken Svenson, they have four children. Max, the second is married. He and Scarlett have two children. Anne is married to Fred Layton, they have two. Gwen passed away of meningitis, in infancy. Douglas and Bruce are still at home.

Norma my next, with her husband, Harold Fairbanks have five children, they live in Saugus, California. Paula has four children. Steven is married to Toni and has three children. Nena is married to Bob, and Roger and John Graham, are still at home. I am sorry I cannot remember at the moment all their names.

My youngest John Paul married Sherrill Drake, they have seven children, John Drake, Jane, Paul, Susan, Rebecca, Dianne and Phillip James.

Garth Benjamin is Em's oldest. He married Lois Stone and they have four children. David, Rena, Leighanne and Lyndra. Besides these four they have Gregory, by Garth's former marriage and Vickie, Lavon's daughter whom they raised.

Jean, Em's second, married Melvin Anderson. They have two children. Judy has three children, Laurie Em, after her grandmother, Kathleen and Virginia. Richard, her second, is married to Anita and they have four children.

Mary, Em's third child married Dean Nelson, they have three children, Cameron and Sherrill have four. Susanne is married to Bill Briggs and they have two children. Nancy has one daughter. Mary and Dean raised Debbie, Lavon's third child.

Virginia (Danny), aunt Em's daughter, married Clarence Pittman and they have two, Robert, who is soon to be married and Mary Ann, (Cluny) has four, Kimberly, Roberta, Nicole and Jennifer.

Harold Richard (Jim), why they call him Jim I do not know, married Eileen Simmons, they have four. Daniel is married. Then there is Michael, Laurie is married to Richard Mack, and they have two children. Lindsey is still at home. They raised Larry, LaVon's eldest. LaVon (Vonny) and her husband Lee Sidebottom, had three children, Larry, Vickie is married and has a baby, and Debbie. Lee, a veteran of the World War 11 passed away a few years ago. Vonny is now a widow and her health broke, thus her family raised her children.

Barbara Em's next child married has four children. Grace is married with two. Shelly is married with one. Randy and Kelly are still at home. She is now married to Mark Sherman.

Helen lives in Bakersfield and has five children, Tracy is married, Richard is through school. There is Sherry, Wendy and Becky at home.

Grace Elithe, Em's youngest, I have told about already, her death has been a great sorrow to us.

Along with our sixty grandchildren we have thirty six great grand children. Which are a marvellous and great blessing from the Lord. They are scattered from Edmonton to Bakersfield, they are all taking their places in life in their communities and they are children to be proud of. We take great satisfaction in their accomplishments and their integrity.

My health is good, Em's is not. She has a real problem with her health, but the Lord willing, we'll see to whatever we have to come through and meet it. When we were able, we attended the Temple each week and loved the service there.

In the Church, I spent ten years as a counsellor to the bishop in the Raymond First Ward with Heber Allen as the bishop and Clarence Allred as the other counselor. Em has been a teacher in every organization of the church, in the ward. She was an excellent teacher and her young girls from the MIA, still remember her and call on her, years later. She has always been grateful that she served so faithfully while she could. She was a town librarian for some years.

As I grew up I was in all the quorums and presidencies of all the quorums up to and including the seventies. I was president of the seventies and then I went into the bishopric and became a high priest. Most of my church activity has been in the teaching field, all my life, as has Em's and as was Grace's, she was also in the Primary presidency. We have all served both the church and the community.

I was never in any political office, but I campaigned a few times for men like John Blackmore, Solon Low, Ted Hinman and Mark Spencer in the Social Credit field.

I retired when I was sixty five but went back to teaching in Milk River and Warner when I was sixty seven and taught for four

years. I have rented my farm to the Hutterites, they farm it very good. I like to play golf and made me a golf cart to ride in. I love to do carpentry work and have built many homes. I am now building another home. It will have the same kind of water heating as the other ones. There are copper pipes in the ceiling and they are controlled automatically, it is a lovely heat and very economical. I pioneered this kind of radiant heat here in Southern Alberta.

Life had been extremely good to me. I have thought time and time again how fortunate and how blessed I am to have had the life that I have had. Yes, I have had my challenges but I could always pay my bills and now I do not owe anyone anything. We have many blessings that really make life worth living. To you who may care to read my story I say, Do the thing that you like to do, do it honestly, give a day's work for a day's pay, keep yourself clean, keep yourself active in the church, keep on friendly terms with your neighbors and trust the rest of it to the Lord. But do not be afraid to work. If there is work to be done, do it. May the Lord be with you in your lives as He has been in mine.

Paul wrote this history before all his grandchildren were born.

BRIEF HISTORY OF PAUL HARDISON REDD

Paul Hardison Redd was born 10 August 1897, in New Harmony, Utah. He was the son of William Alexander Redd and Mary Verena Bryner Redd. In 1905 the family moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada. They arrived in Stirling, Alberta, Canada 1 July 1905. It was cold and windy and they wore fur coats to keep warm as they travelled to Raymond in a horse drawn buggy. Paul liked the buttons on his coat, they looked like small doubletrees and he wanted them, so he cut them off. His mother was quite upset as she had to sew them all back on. There were nine children, Will, Lura, Fern, Jessie, Paul, Lyman, Vilo, Pauline and Mary, Kay was born after they arrived in Canada.

William A. Redd built a large cement home, east of the Raymond Stake Center, it still stands. Some of the foundation cement blocks were from the foundation of a home started by John Taylor. This home was where Verena Redd and her family continued to live after the death of William A. Redd in 1911. He had bought land and mother and boys farmed this land. Part of this land is held by the family today. Paul went to school in the building that is now the Japanese Church. A new Public School was built, then torn down and a new one built. The church built a school called the Knight Academy, for High School. This building has also been torn down and a new one built. Paul was always proud that he was the first student registered in the Academy. He arose at four thirty A.M. and waited at the school door until it opened, to gain this honor.

Paul was a good student but often missed school in spring and fall to help with the farming. He took ribbons in pole vault events and later played in the school and town bands. Playing the cornet very well, he played for fifty one years on the 11 of November for the Cenotaph programs honoring the soldiers of two World Wars, only missing one year.

Paul went to Normal School in Calgary Alberta, for one year, to receive his teaching certificate. That was all that was required in those days. He obtained a few semesters of school in Utah, years later. He taught school in Stirling, Alberta, for three years and while there he met and married Grace Brandley, in the Salt Lake Temple, December 19, 1917. They had six children. Maurine, Theodora, Hazel, Alma Grace, Norma and John Paul. They moved to Raymond where Paul taught school for one year.

Next Paul joined the Canadian Air Force of World War One. He trained in eastern Canada with his brother Lyman. The war ended before he was required to go overseas. Upon his return home he taught in the Knight Academy except for the year he taught in Magrath where Hazel was born. He taught in the Academy until it closed. He continued to farm and teach until his death.

After he retired from teaching in Raymond, he taught in Warner, Alberta and Milk River, Alberta. He felt he was too young to be retired. During these years he built many homes in Raymond, taught many classes in church in Raymond, and served as a counsellor in the bishopric of the Raymond First Ward. He held many other positions in the church. He also performed many services for widows and people who were in need of a general handyman. He had a major heart attack but recovered and was active again for many years.

On 14 January 1936 his wife Grace died, in Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada. This was a very sad time for Paul and his family.

On 12 November 1938 he married Emma Brandley Peterson, Grace's sister who had nine children, Garth, Jean, Mary, Virginia, Harold (Jim), Lavon, Barbara, Helen and Grace. Grace passed away at the age of 16, of a brain tumor.

Emma and her children came and together we made one large happy family, not without problems, however.

Paul was a Wheat Pool delegate for many years and served his community well. He gave numerous funeral talks and prayers. Teaching was a very rewarding experience for Paul and many of his students will attest to the fact that he was an exellent teacher, both in school and church. He built his last home at age 75. On 21 March 1978, Paul had a heart attack and died suddenly, after completing a day's activities, in Raymond, Alberta, Canada. Paul was a good man and gave his large family a heritage that they can be proud of and very grateful for.

Paul Redd

by David and Maurine Wood

We have heard it said, in more than one part of the Province of Alberta, that Paul Hardison Redd was one of the truly great teachers in Western Canada. Understandably nervous in his classes, since he was courting one of his five daughters, David can vouch for Paul's superb teaching ability. David says he was "not at ease with mathematical subjects, but when I got into Paul Redd's Mechanics II class and his Geometry class it was as though a light had been turned on. I not only understood the subject matter, I actually came to love the course material."

The same magic occurred when Paul Redd taught a Sunday School class or any class. Paul Redd not only taught, he built; and he applied the theories he was teaching in High School to help him in his building. He built at least 5 homes in Raymond, at first to live in , and then to sell at a modest profit. Each home incorporated Paul's progressive thinking about heating systems that would cope adequately with rugged Canadian winters. The last home not only had radiant heat built into the ceiling, it had an outside thermostat that warned the inside heating center, well in advance, of thermal changes. Several heating companies visited Raymond to see what Paul had devised.

Paul Redd built a powered golf cart. He made beautiful end tables. He used old wagon tongues to create turned oak candle holders. He played, and played well, a cornet, both solo and in a band. He joined and learned to fly in the wartime Canadian Air Force. He sang in what was once Raymond's most popular male quartet with Frank Taylor, Bert Coombs and Ira McBride. He demonstrated management skills in his years as principal of Raymond High School, and his service as a counsellor in Heber Allen's Bishopric. He was an excellent farmer and a successful cattle feeder. He simply had to know what made things work and he read voraciously to find out. In short, he was a true renaissance man.

He bought a big old pool table from one of the pool halls, and rebuilt it. He bought three balls and a bunch of cue sticks, and we played billiards on it. (David says it was to keep the girls and the boy friend with them at home---it worked as the house was

always full). As we would knock the cue tips off, he would glue them back on so we could continue to play. Hazel got to be a pro and could beat us all.

Keep in mind he also lost his beloved wife Grace, when he was only 38. Six children on his hands, farms to run, school to manage - we still stand in awe of his accomplishments and could never adequately tell all we remember about Paul Hardison Redd.

Pauline Redd

PAULINE REDD BURT

I was born 11 November 1902, in New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah, to William Alexander and Mary Verena Bryner Redd. I was the twelfth in the family of fourteen, ten of whom grew to maturity. I don't remember much of our life in New Harmony as we moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada, when I was about two years old.

My mother was a very good woman as she remained at home while my Father fulfilled a mission to the Southern States for the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day-Saints, after the birth of their first two children. After his return mother gave birth to triplet girls on 8 May 1890. Two of them only lived a very short time and the next month the other triplet and their little four year old girl Elda Grace Redd, took very ill and died. This must have been a very sad time for our parents. Later there came nine others, first Lura, then Fern and Jessie, Paul Hardison, Preston Lyman, Vilo, Pauline, Mary and Kay Bryner, the youngest.

My Father died 6 January 1911 in Raymond of Pneumonia. He was ill only six days. It was bitter cold, the temperature being 39 degrees below Zero, so very few of the family could go to the cemetery. My oldest brother Will, was in Salt Lake attending the University of Utah but he came home to care for the farms and the family. We all owe him a debt of gratitude for the sacrifice he made for us. He married Irene Smellie and they lived next door east of us for many years and was so good to Mother and all of us children.

I went through elementary and high school in Raymond and then went to Calgary to Normal School there where I obtained a teaching certificate. There were four of us girls who lived together, Lottie and Phoebe Evans and Blanche Cook and I. My first school was out in the country near Nobleford, Alberta where I taught in a one room school house. There were fifteen children and they ranged from first grade to the sixth. It was quite a challenge but I enjoyed it and also the people there.

The next two years I taught in the Raymond school and then clerked in the Raymond Mercantile until being called into the Mexican mission with headquarters in El Paso, Texas with Rey L. Pratt as mission president. This was quite different and a change from the dances and fun that we had as young people in a small town, but I enjoyed every

minute of it. We had to learn Spanish as we worked entirely with the Mexican people. I served in El Paso until 10 July 1927, then on to San Antonio.

On the 16 of January I was sent to Laredo, Texas where I labored for some time. It was while there that I met "The Man" — Melvin J. Burt, who later became my much loved husband. The 18 May I was sent again to El Paso and later on the 26 Oct. was sent to Mesa, Arizona where I labored for the remainder of my mission.

I was released in March 1929 and went to California to visit Lyman and Jeanette and Mary before coming home. Melvin had come to Los Angeles to meet me and he brought Mable Davis and me to Salt Lake in time for April conference. While in Salt Lake he gave me a beautiful diamond ring and we decided to be married in the summer. While I was still in Salt Lake, he was called to be a counsellor in the Bishopric of his ward, the Millcreek ward of Cottonwood Stake. It has been a great blessing to me to find such a man to spend my life with.

We were married in the Alberta temple 18 July 1929 by President Edward J. Wood. Mel had a home partially built at 395 East 3900 South, so his parents were good enough to let us stay with them until it was finished. We moved into it April of the next year, just in time for conference, and it was at that conference that Pres. Pratt asked Mel and Gil to go to Mesa, Arizona and stucco and plaster a chapel that the Elders and members were building. They had even made their own adobes for the walls.

Our first child, Lila Mary was born while we were still in Mesa. She was born at the home of Hugh Dana as his wife was a nurse and she had a small maternity hospital in her home. The Doc charged us \$35.00 for his part in the delivery. We thought that no other child could be as pretty as she was, nor loved as much, but Oh! how wrong we were, because we found that each child brought it's own brand of love and they were all loved equally. Nena Gae was born 28 September 1932, then William Melvin the 12 December 1935, Kathryn Ann 4 April 1939 and our last one Melanie was born 17 November 1948. Mustn't forget Wayne Redd Burt was born the 20 February 1944. They were all so loved and were such good little children.

The great depression was in full swing about 1933 and we were expecting our second child and it was very scary as we didn't know where we would get the money for the Doc and hospital. The Gilbert Simmonds lived close and we neighboured quite a bit. They had a daughter Betty who was the same age as Lila. One night Gilbert's Father was killed as he crossed the street and as he had left his home to his daughter Nan, Gilbert came to Mel to help in remodelling it.

I have always felt that this was in answer to our prayers. These two men then decided to buy a farm as we were about to lose our home as there was no work to be found. They found a small farm south of Lehi, Utah and the equity of our home made the down payment and Gilbert had enough money to help fix the two small homes and get some stock etc. so we moved into those homes in the early spring. There were no bathrooms and no running water in either home, but there was a lovely flowing well between the

homes and an adequate outhouse behind. We scrubbed our clothes on a board after the men filled the boiler on the coal stove to heat the water.

We raised pigs and finally turkeys and other animals for our food. Mel's Dad gave us another building lot and so as work opened up Mel would take some of the money to the lumber yard for future use on a new home in Salt Lake. Mel built a full basement and the outside walls, put in the windows and doors and we moved into the basement in January of 1939, our Kathy was born while we lived in the basement and we were able to move upstairs just before Christmas. Kathy was born the 4 April just a few weeks after Mel's mother died.

In 1950 our Stake was divided and our Bishop, Elmer Christensen was chosen as Stake President and the next morning we left for Mexico with Fern and Jessie. We were gone for about a month and on our return found that Mel was Bishop of the Millcreek First Ward, a position he held until Mel became ill and had to be released. In 1959 he was ordained as Stake Patriarch. In 1961 we were called to a building mission in old Mexico with headquarters in Monterrey, Nuevo, Mexico. Mel finished a building in Nueva Rosita, one in Monterrey and finished one in Piedras Negras and one in Mexico City. When we went to Piedras Negras it was necessary to send Melanie home to go to school here and Wayne had gone to his mission to Peru. Wayne and Melanie really mourned when they had to leave Mexico and their many friends there.

We are so thankful for the beautiful spirits that were sent into our home, for their lovely companions and their children, and for the way they are teaching their children. We have been married for fifty three years as of now 1982. We have 38 lovely grand-children, and 19 great grand children whom we love dearly. There have been 15 missionaries of the grandchildren and there will be more I am sure. They are our jewels. Our life has been full for which we give thanks to our Father in Heaven.

Pauline died 6 August 1983, Salt Lake City, Utah.

Onslow County Redds

THE REDD FAMILY OF ONSLOW COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA

The State Historical Commission at Raleigh, North Carolina has issued a certificate to a descendant of Whitaker Redd stating that he, Whitaker Redd was in the service in the Revolutionary War, and that William Redd was also a soldier. William was Whitaker Redd's son and he had two sons, Sigle and Kincy.

Legend has it that two Redd Brothers came from Scotland and one settled in Virginia and the other in North Carolina. Another story says they came from Virginia.

It is said that the first court house in Onslow County was located on the sea coast and that it was washed away by a tidal wave in 1852. It is also possible that it may have been earlier than that as a terrible storm swept the coast about 1820 or 30. Anyway nearly all the records were lost. Some people brought their own documents back later to have them recorded but a lot of information never did come back.

William Redd had two brothers, Henry and Whitaker Jr. The father, Whitaker Sr., died in 1786 or 1789. William was born about 1763 and died since 1831. One legend has it that he came from Scotland but that probably is incorrect. There is no record of what became of Henry, but Whitaker Jr., probably went to Wilmington, North Carolina, as a good many of his descendants still live there, though two, John Hardison Redd and sister, Mary Redd Holt, went first to Tennessee and then on to Utah. Some of their descendants live in Brigham City, Utah.

William Redd, evidently was the only Redd that remained in Onslow County, N.C. He married Celah (Pronounced Kala, said to be Indian with no last name) and she had two sons Sigle and Kincy. Sigle was born Dec 6, 1785 at Stump Sound, Onslow Co., and died June 11, 1867. Kincy was born about 1787 and died since 1849.

William later married Margaret Everett and she had three daughters and one son: Nellie Russell; Mary (called Polly); Sarah (called Sally); and William Jr. William next married Sarah Barlow and she had William B., born May 15, 1811, died about 1854 and James B., born about 1814 and died about first of June 1844.

Sigle married Lennie Fields and she had one daughter, Sarah, who married Seth King. After her death he married Susan Annie Anders and to her were born Marquis LaFayette, born Nov. 15 1836, died March 13, 1876; Basil, born May 20 1827, died October 30 1848; Elda S. born Sept. 22 1830, died about 1899; Susan Ann, born

April 13 1833, died about 1895; Sigle Jr., born April 10 1836, died March 30 1883; Alonso, born June 9 1842, died about 1910; Francis Marion, born March 4 1844, died March 20 1907, and Henrietta.

The home of Sigle Redd Sr., was built on a high ridge overlooking the sparkling waters of Stump Sound and the blue expanse of the Atlantic Ocean, and here he reared his family. It must have been a jolly family for even in their old age they retained a lot of humor and love of fun. They were all good citizens and esteemed far and near. They were noted for their jet black hair and black eyes. Susan said she never took more trouble to her heart than she could kick off with her heels. Francis Marion was wounded in the Civil War. Marquis was sheriff of Onslow county and also a Captain of a company he recruited for service in the the Confederate Army.

Sarah Jane Redd, daughter of Sigle and Lennie Fields Redd, married Seth King and to them were born; Mary who married Thomas Hinen (Hinea); Lemuel Fields who

married Mary Atkinson; Oliver, John, Nick, Joseph, Dimmie and one called "Puss" who married and went to New York.

The following children were born to Sigle and Susan Annie Anders Redd; Marquis LaFayette, who married Emily Amy Sidbury, they had one daughter; Susan Rebecca Redd and she married Hill E. King; Elda S. who married William Batson and after his death married Hill Williams; Susan Ann, who married Hill Nixon; Sigle Jr., married Camily Morton; Alonso married Lydia Henderson; Francis Marion married Isabelle Jane Justice; and Henrietta who married John Bishop. We have no record of Basil having ever married.

The mists of time have obscured much of the history of the Redds who first came to Eastern North Carolina. However, the first authentic facts are those taken from the files of the State Historical Commission at Raleigh, N.C. It issued a certificate to a descendant of Whitaker Redd that he, Whitaker, was in service in the Revolutionary War, and that William Redd was also a soldier. William was Whitaker Redd's son and he had one son Kinsey Redd. Kinsey had two sons, Sigle and Amos Aaron.

Legend has it that the two Redd Brothers came from Scotland, and that one settled in Virginia and the other in North Carolina. Another story says the two brothers came from Virginia. The latter story perhaps is true as there is in existence an old chest that the children of Sigle Redd claimed came from Virginia with the first Redds. All that is known definitely now is that Sigle Redd acquired land bordering on Stump Sound in Onslow County and built a home there. The home is still in use. Amos Aaron chose to live in Wilmington. They probably came from Virginia as there are numerous Redds living in Richmond, Va., and the writer knows of no Redds in North Carolina except descendants of these two.

Amos Aaron Redd had a son, Christopher Columbus, who married Kizzie Grant and their descendants live in Wilmington.

Sigle Redd was married twice. His first wife bore one daughter, Sarah, who married Seth King. His last wife was Susan Andrews from near Trenton, North Carolina. They had five sons and two daughters; Marquis LaFayette who married Emily Ann Sidbury; Sigle who married Camilla Norton; Francis Marion who married Isabell Justice; Alonso who married Lydia Aman Henderson; Basil who went to Utah and married there; LDS, called "Elda" who married William Batson and after his death Hill Williams; Susan who married Hill Nixon, and Henrietta who married John Bishop.

Redd Family Name

THE NAME AND FAMILY OF REDD

Compiled by THE MEDIA RESEARCH BUREAU, Washington, D. C.

The name Redd is believed to have been originally used as a nickname, having reference to the red hair or ruddy complexion of its first bearers. It is found in ancient English and early American records in the various spellings of Rede, Redde, Reede, Reade, Reide, Reid, Redd, and others, of which several of the other forms are more generally used today but that of <u>Redd</u> is still frequently found in America.

Families of this name were resident at early dates in the English Counties of Norfolk, Suffolk, Somerset, Hertford, Kent, Worcester, Oxford, Surrey, Hereford, Buckingham, York, Gloucester, Lincoln, Middlesex, Devon, and London, as well as in various parts of Scotland and Ireland. They were for the most part, of the British landed gentry and yoemanry.

The family was represented as early as the year 1139 by one Brianus le Rede (Brian the Red), from whom was descended William le Rede of Counties Norfolk and Suffolk in the early part of the following century, who was the father by his wife, Margaret Granville, of Robert, who was the father of Falfrinus, who was the father of Robert, William and Thomas, of whom the last was the father of a son also named Thomas, who was living in the year 1429 and was the father of a son named Edmund, who married Christiana James and was the father by her of John Edmund, of whom the latter was the father of Edmund Rede, Lord of Porstal. John, the elder of the lastmentioned brothers, became Mayor of Norwich and was the father of Henry, Edward, and Magdalina, of whom the son Edward married Inez, daughter of Sir Humphrey Stanley, and had, among others, John, Sir Bartholomew of London, and Sir Robert of London, of whom the son John married Joan Ludlow and died in 1502, leaving among other children, a son named Thomas, who was the father by his wife, Philippa Bacon, of William, John, Alan, Edward, and Thomas, of whom the first was married in 1538 to a Miss Tooley, by whom he had issue of Thomas, William and six daughters. Of the last-mentioned brothers; William, the younger, married Anne Fearnley and was the father by her of Sir William and Richard, of whom the first married Gertrude Paston, who gave him two sons, Thomas and Francis, and numerous daughters as well; and Thomas, the elder brother of William, married Margaret Quintz or Quince and was the father by her of Francis, George, and John, of whom the last was the father by his wife, Ursula Cooke, of Thomas and others.

Among other early records of the family in England are those of Robert le Rede of County Surrey in the early thirteenth century, those of Godwin le Rede of County Norfolk in 1273, those of Roger le Rede of Herefordshire about the same time, those of Martin le Rede about the year 1327 and those of William Red and Robert le Rede of Somersetshire during the same period.

The first of the name in America were David Red of an unknown part of Virginia in 1637, Robert Rede of Warwick County, Va., in 1645, and John Redd of Lancaster County, Va., in 1654. The records of the immediate families and descendants of these early settlers, however, have not been found.

Sometime before 1729 James Redd, who may possibly have been descended from one of the above-mentioned immigrants, was living in Virginia. He married a Miss Eastham prior to this date and was the father by her of, probably among others, a son named Samuel, who made his home in Caroline County Virginia. In 1755 this Samuel married Lucy Rogers, by whom he was the father of Fannie, William, Jesse, Lucy, Ann, and Samuel.

William, the eldest son of Samuel and Lucy, married Miss Tyler of Caroline County, but his records are not complete.

Jesse, second son of Samuel and Lucy, married Mary Woodson of Goochland County, Va., but his records are equally incomplete.

Samuel, third son of Samuel and Lucy, was married in 1797 to Elizabeth Taylor of Hanover County, Va., he was the father by her of Lucy Anne, Edmund, Elizabeth, Taylor, Samuel, Emily Harris, Sarah, John Robinson, James Temple, and Louisa.

James Redd, probably a member of another branch of the above-mentioned family, was living in Spotsylvania County, Va., before 1750. He was the father by his wife Elizabeth of Captain Thomas Redd, who settled in Woodford County, Ky., after the Revolutionary War and was the father there of, among others a son named Samuel. This Samuel married Dorothy Bullock and was the father of, among others, a son named Waller Bullock.

Yet another branch of the family in America was represented before 1750 by Thomas Redd of Prince Edward Co, Va., who was born about 1730 and may possibly be another son of the first-mentioned James Redd of Virginia. This Thomas was the father by his wife Frances (nee Anderson) of Charles Anderson, Polly, Sally, Patty, George, John, Thomas, William, and Fanny.

Charles Anderson son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Elizabeth Gresham. He was the father by her of, among others, a son named Albert Gresham, but the records of this line are not complete.

John, son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Mary Truman in the latter part of the eighteenth century and was the father by her of Elbert F., Nancy, Elizabeth, Joseph T., John W, Henry T., and Susan Truman.

Another John Redd, a Major in the Revolutionary War, who was born in Albemarie County, Va., in 1755, settled at an early date in Henrico or Henry County, in the same colony. By his wife Mary, daughter of Colonel George Waller of Henrico County, he had issue of Annie, (Colonel) James Madison, Elizabeth, Martha, Waller, Edmund Burwell, Polly C., Lucy Dabney, Dr. John Giles, Overton, and Car.

Of the above-mentioned sons of Major John and Mary Redd of Henrico County, Colonel James Madison married Ruth Penn Staples; Waller married Keziah Staples;

Edmund Burwell married Sarah Ann Fontaine and had issue by her of Martha, Mary, Celestia, Polly, Ella, John, William Spottswood, James S., and Edmund Madison; Dr. John Giles married Apphia Fauntleroy Carter; Overton married Martha Fontaine; and Carr died young.

Thomas Redd was living in Halifax County Va., in the latter eighteenth century (will dated 1823) and left issue there by his wife Rebeckah or Rebecca of George William, Rebeckah, Thomas, James Tucker, Robert Hoyt, Anderson Cooke, Martha James, Eliza, Sally, Amanda Mayo and Ann. This Thomas also mentioned his brother Robert of Mecklenburg County, Va., but no further record of that line has been found.

The history of the Redds in America is that of a sturdy, self-reliant, resourceful, and courageous race, possessed of physical stamina and perseverance. Other characteristics of the family include generosity, kindliness, and sociability.

Among those of the name who served as officers in the War of the Revolution were the before-mentioned Captain Thomas and Major John, of Virginia; and numerous others from the various other Southern States. There were also many of the name in the ranks of the various States.

John, Thomas, Edmund, Edward, Francis, Robert, David, Samuel, James, George, and William are some of the Christian names most favoured by the family for its male progeny.

A few of the many members of the Family who have attained distinction in America at various times are;

John Redd (b. 1755, deceased), of the South, author.

George Redd (latter eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries), of Virginia, agriculturist and author.

John T.Redd (early nineteenth century). of Missouri, politician.

Rebecca Fergus Redd (early nineteenth century), of New York, novelist.

Annie Bell Redd (latter nineteenth and early twentieth centuries), of Georgia, botanist.

Richard Menefee Redd (latter nineteenth and early twentieth centuries), of Kentucky, soldier and author.

Leonard B.Redd (early twentieth century), of North Carolina, jurist.

The best known of the Redd, Red or Rede coats of arms are described as follows (Burke, General Armoury, 1884):

Arms. I (Redd or Rede)—-"Azure, a griffin segreant or."

Crest.—-"A garb or, banded gules."

Arms.II(Red)—"Argent, a mullet between three annulets gules, within each a cinquefoil of the last."

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Lower. Dictionary of Family names. 1860

Bardsley. English and Welch Surnames. 1901

Burke. Dictionary of the Landed Gentry. 1852

Burke. General Armoury. 1884

Metcalf. Visitations of Suffolk 1882

Greer. Early Virginia Immigrants. 1912

Wingfield. History of Caroline County, VA. 1924

Virkus. Abridged Compendium of American Genealogy

Vol. 3 1928

Mackenzie. Colonial Families of the United States.

Vol. 2 1911

William and Mary Quarterly. 1912-1913, 1916-1917, etc.

Hill. History of Henry County. 1925

Carrington. History of Halifax County, Va. 1924

Virginia Revolutionary Soldiers. 1912

Redds in Virginia

THE REDDS IN VIRGINIA

- 1. Sir WILLIAM RUFUS DE REDDE
 - a. Col. JOHN RUFUS REDD, b. Spotsylvania Co., Virginia. Moved to Buckingham Co., became Gov. of Virginia. Took part in French and Indian Wars, and Revolutionary War. Md. Miss Daudridge, (or Dandridge?) granddaughter of Gov. Spottswood
 - i. Major JOHN REDD, b. 20 Oct 1755, Buckingham co., fired last shot in Revolutionary War. Md. Mary Waller, dau of Col. George Waller. Buried 11 Aug 1850 in Henry Co. Va.
 - (1) Waller Redd b. April 1786, Md. Kezia Staples
 - (a) Lucinda Staples Redd. Md. Hon. William Ballard Preston. 5 children, including Lucy Redd Preston Beals
 - (2) Overton Redd Md. Mary Fontain, g-dau of Patrick Henry
 - (3) John G. Redd (Dr.) Md. dau of Dr. Hill Carter. 6 sons, 2 daus
 - (4) James Madison Redd. Md. Ruth Staples
 - (a) Kezia
 - (b) Mary
 - (c) Flora Md. Dr. H.M. Draury
 - (i) Ruth Draury. Md. Judge Stafford G.Whittle
 - (5) Edmund Burwell Redd. b. 24 Jun 1808. d. 10 Aug 1850. Md. Sarah Ann Fontaine
 - (a) Dr. John Henry Redd. Md. Marion Dandridge Fontaine
 - (b) William Spottswood Redd. Md. Mary Wootlore. 3 daus
 - (c) James S. Redd (author?). Md. Sarah Epes Hairston. 2 daus, 1 son

- (d) Edmund Madison Redd. Md. Anna Richardson. No children
- (e) Martha C.Redd, Md. John E. Wooton
- (f) Mary D. Redd, Md. Dr. John H. Wayut
- (g) Celestia T.Redd,Md.Samuel p. Caldwell
- (h) Annie E.Redd, Md. Rev. H.P. Fontaine
- (i) Ella F.Redd,Md.James S.Washington
- (6) Annie C. Redd, Md. Thomas Sterling
- (7) Elizabeth W. Redd Md. Col. Peter Dillard
- (8) Mary W. Redd Md. John F. Fontaine
- (9) Martha W. Redd Md. William T. Clark. 2nd marriage to James M. Smith
- (10) Lucie D. Redd Md. John S. Wooton
- ii. ALEXANDER SPOTTSWOOD REDD, b. 9 Jul 1763. Md. Mary L. Campbell, settled Eastern Virginia. many descendants
- iii. RICHARD L. REDD. Md. Louisa M. Wade. descendants in Virginia and other western and southern states
- iv. WILLIAM REDD b. Buckingham Co. d. Russell Co., Alabama 12 Jul 1839 Md. Elizabeth Ann Daniel
 - (1) John D. Redd
 - (2) William Anderson Redd, b. 1803, d. 1866
 - (a) William Redd of Birmingham, Ala. Md. Eliza H. Pope 1858
 - (i) Caroline Pope Redd

	(iii)	Henry Pope Redd	
	(iv)	Annie Redd	
	(v)	Ernest Redd	
	(vi)	Nina Redd	
Jame	s Redd,	6 children	
		ette Redd, 9 children. b. 2 May 1806 Green Sep 1850 Md. Hampton Sidney Smith 20 Oct	
(a)	William Smith b. 1826		
(b)	John Carway Smith b. 1828		
(c)	Louisa Elizabeth Smith b. 1831		
(d)	Hampton Sidney Smith b. 1833		
(e)	Frances Eleanor Smith b. 1837		
(f)	Sarah	Antoinette Smith b. 1839	
(g)	John Morgan Smith b.9 Aug 1842. Md. 19 Aug 1863 Kate Duncan. 4 children—		
	(i)	Richard James Smith,	
	(ii)	Rose Cullen Smith,	
	(iii)	Hampton Sidney Smith,	
	(iv)	Kate Lucile Smith	
	` /	James Redd Smith b. 1845	
(h)	` /	Redd Smith b. 1845	

John K. Pope Redd

(ii)

(3)

(4)

- (5) Martha Redd
- (6) Frances Redd, 5 children
- (7) Elizabeth Redd, Md. Richard Billups
 - (a) Thomas A. Billups b. 1792
 - (b) Anna L.Billups, b. 1795
 - (c) Joseph Billups b. 1807 Md. Mary Ann Daniel 15 Dec 1835
 - (i) Ann Elizabeth Billups b. 1837
 - (ii) John Richard Billups 1839
 - (iii) Mary Jane Billups 1840
 - (iv) Frances Cunningham Billups. 2 Nov 1843 Md. Rev.John Harrison. Kennebrew 24 Dec 1868
 - 1) Mary Augusta Kennebrew
 - 2) Annie Ruth Kennebrew
 - 3) Martha Grace Kennebrew
 - 4) Laura Welch Kennebrew
 - 5) Jessie Morton Kennebrew
 - 6) Elizabeth Redd Kennebrew
 - (v) Joseph Alexander Billups early 1845
 - (vi) Virginia Billups 1847
- (8) Cornelia Redd
- v. Captain CHARLES ANDERSON REDD. b. Buckingham Co., Va. 26 Jan 1784 Md. Elizabeth Gresham 1 dau, 6 sons

- (1) Mary Louise Redd Md. James Cook
 - (a) Mary Elvira Cook
- (2) William Anderson Redd b. 1803, d. 1866
- 6-11. SIX DAUGHTERS OF COL. JOHN RUFUS REDD, married gentlemen by the names of Billups, Wade, McClerg, Jones, Scoll (should this be Scott?) and Lloyd

Redds in Onslow County

THE REDD FAMILY OF ONSLOW COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA

The State Historical Commission at Raleigh, North Carolina, has issued a certificate to a descendant of Whitaker Redd stating that he, Whitaker Redd, was in service in the Revolutionary War, and that William Redd was also a soldier. William was Whitaker Redd's son and he had two sons, Sigle and Kincy.

Legend has it that two Redd brothers came from Scotland and one settled in Virginia and the other in North Carolina.

It is said that the first court house in Onslow County was located on the sea coast and that it was washed away by a tidal wave in 1852. It is possible that it may have been earlier than that as a terrible storm swept the coast about 1820 or 30. Anyway nearly all the records were lost. Some people brought their own documents back later to have them recorded but a lot of information never did come back.

William Redd had two brothers, Henry and Whitaker Jr. The father, Whitaker Sr., died in 1786 or 1789. William was born about 1763 and died since 1831. One legend has it that he came from Scotland but that probably is incorrect. There is no record of what became of Henry, but Whitaker Jr. probably went to Wilmington, North Carolina, as a good many of his descendants still live there, though two, John Hardison Redd and sister, Mary Redd Holt, went first to Tennessee and then on to Utah. Some of their descandants live in Brigham City, Utah.

William Redd, evidently was the only Redd that remained in Onslow County, N.C. He married Celah (pronounced Kala, said to be Indian with no last name) and she had two sons, Sigle and Kincy. Sigle was born Dec. 6, 1785, at Stump Sound, Onslow Co., and died June 11, 1867. Kincy was born about 1787 and died since 1849.

William later married Margaret Everett and she had three daughters and one son: Nellie Russell; Mary (called Polly); Sarah (called Sally); and William Jr. William next married Sarah Barlow and she had William B., born May 15, 1811, died about 1854; and James B., born about 1814 and died about the first of June, 1844.

Sigle married Lennie Fields and she had one daughter, Sarah Jane, who married Seth King. To them were born; Mary who married Thomas Hinen (Hines); Lemuel Fields who married Mary Atkinson; Oliver, John, Nick, Joseph, Dimmie and one called "Puss" who married and went to New York.

After her death he married Susan Annie Anders (or Andrews) and to her were born Marquis LaFayette, born Nov. 15, 1836, died March 13, 1876 (married Emily Amy Sidbury, one daughter Susan Rebecca Redd who married Hill E. King); Basil, born May 20, 1827, died October 30, 1848 (went to Utah and married there); Elda S. born Sept. 22, 1830, died about 1899 (married William Batson first, and Hill Williams, second); Susan Ann, born April 13, 1833, died about 1895 (married Hill Nixon); Sigle Jr., born April 10, 1836, died March 30, 1883 (married Camilla Norton); Alonso born June 9, 1842, died about 1910 (married Lydia Aman Henderson); Francis Marion born March 4, 1844, died March 20, 1907 (married Isabell Jane Justice); and Henrietta (married John Bishop).

The home of Sigle Redd Sr., was built on a high ridge overlooking the sparkling waters of Stump Sound and the blue expanse of the Atlantic Ocean, and here he reared his family. It must have been a jolly family for even in their old age they retained a lot of humor and love of fun. They were all good citizens and esteemed far and near. They were noted for their jet black hair and black eyes. Susan said she never took more trouble to her heart than she could kick off with her heels. Francis Marion was wounded in the Civil War. Marquis was sheriff of Onslow Co., and also a Captain of a company he recruited for service in the Confederate Army.

The mists of time have obscured much of the history of the Redds who first came to Eastern North Carolina. However, the first authentic facts are those taken from the files of the State Historical Commission at Raleigh, N.C. as stated above.

Another story says the two brothers came from Virginia. This is perhaps true as there is in existence an old chest that the children of Sigle Redd claimed came from Virginia with the first Redds. All that is known definitely now is that Sigle Redd acquired land bordering on Stump Sound in Onslow County and built a home there. The home is still in use.

Amos Aaron chose to live in Wilmington. They probably came from Virginia as there are numerous Redds living in Richmond, Va., and the writer knows of no Redds in North Carolina except descendants of these two.

Redds

FOREWORD

In 1995, several cousins were Temple workers at the Alberta Temple on the same shift, Friday afternoon, Philip Redd, Alma Redd Mendenhall, Merne Laycock Livingstone and her husband Don. Barbara Redd MacPhee was on the Thursday afternoon shift, but often substituted on Fridays. We all enjoyed seeing each other there, and the many cousins who attended — Marvin and Guinivere Redd Torrie, Deanie and Garry Redd Ursenbach, Audrey and Hugh W. Laycock, Irene Redd Jensen, Laurel and Wm. Smellie Redd, and many of the neices and nephews.

One day, Guinivere asked if anyone had ever typed the old "Redd Review" stories into a computer so copies could be made for grandchildren. Alma, Barbara and Merne decided that they would do this, and the project was assigned out and begun during the winter of 1995-96. The "Redd Review" was started about 1959, and was laboriously typed on a manual typewriter by Alma, onto purple ditto masters which were duplicated on a spirit duplicator and collated by Barbara and Uncle Kay Redd. (For you of the younger generation, and some who may have forgotten, see note below for a description of a spirit duplicator.)

Some of the originals of Lura's were carbon copies typed by her on her little manual portable typewriter. She would do a copy for each of her siblings, and if you received some of the last copies, they were very faint. We wonder how she had the strength in her hands to hit those old keys hard enough for that eighth or tenth copy.

Of course, the carbon from the carbon paper sort of splashed, because she had to hit so hard, and that also contributed to the difficulty in reading her copies. But, even if some of the copies were not very clear, we were happy to have them. How our parents treasured them when they came to our homes as Christmas gifts.

Indeed, our family's history would be very sparse if it weren't for Aunt Lura's perseverance and dedication in researching, writing and disseminating it through writing and the spoken word. Much credit also goes to Kay for spear-heading things here in southern Alberta — for collecting the money, assisting in the collating and distributing the Review. Thanks, Kay and Alma!

Histories of our ancestors, in the Redd Review, were written, mostly by Lura Redd, and life stories of William A. Redd's children were begun, but only Will's got included before we ran out of steam, so those of the other children have been added now, 1996, compiled by family members.

For those who would read more of the Redd family, Lura was also the editor of a hard-bound 589-page history and genealogy called THE REDDS OF UTAH which was edited and published by Amasa Mason Redd in 1973. Most of those of the earlier generations will have a copy of this book.

We hope you will enjoy these histories, and distribute copies to your children.

*Note: For the information of the younger generation who are used to computers and other electronic gadgets, and have never seen a spirit duplicator, it was considered a marvelous improvement over the hektograph, one of the first methods of duplicating information, after carbon paper. A hektograph was made of a gelatin base, and when the stencil was placed on the gelatin, the ink from the stencils penetrated this gelatin. Sheets of paper were then pressed onto the gelatin, and the words or drawings were blotted onto the sheet, producing a limited number of smeary copies. This was used extensively by school teachers.

The spirit duplicator went a step further. To make a spirit master, a white sheet was placed over an inked sheet of the same size so that, when one typed, the ink would be blotted onto the treated white sheet. This master was fastened to a roller. Then, as a crank was turned, the roller turned, and a white sheet of duplicator paper was automatically pulled across a wick which was moistened from a reservoir of alcohol. This moist paper picked up the inked images from the master and thus a copy was made. A master would do about 90 pages, if one was careful of the alcohol flow, and didn't mind if some of the later copies were faint. Again, a great boon to school teachers.

JOHN LOWE AND CAROLINE SKEEN BUTLER — OF COURAGE AND FAITH

Through the ages of the earth, the Lord has strengthened women to fulfill their roles as helpmeets and companions to their husbands, and mothers in Zion.

For example, we read in I Nephi 17:

- 1. And it came to pass that we did again take our journey in the wilderness; ... And we did travel and wade through much affliction in the wilderness; and our women did bear children in the wilderness.
- 2. And so great were the blessings of the Lord upon us, that while we did live upon raw meat in the wilderness, our women did give plenty of suck for their children, and were strong, yea, even like unto the men; and they began to bear their journeyings without murmurings.

For Caroline Skeen Butler, who walked beside John Lowe Butler through those soul-rending, body wrenching, heart-breaking experiences of the Mormon pioneers, this help from the Lord was provided also.

In order to understand the life and trials of a woman, as she supports and sustains her husband and family, one must know somewhat of the man. So, this history will tell much of Caroline's husband, John Lowe Butler, using quotations from his autobiography.

John was born "in Simpson County Kentucky, April 8th, 1808. My father was James Butler My Mother's name was Charity Lowe before her marriage." He was the fourth child in the family of fourteen children, four of whom were stillborn.

From his early youth, John had "serious reflections on futurity. My parents being of Methodist faith and hearing them talk about it."

Along with this concern for futurity was another factor which, one can readily deduce, would have serious consequences for his future wife. It was John's poor health. He writes:

"When about seven years of age I was taken sick with the imflamtary rheumatics. It passed from my feet to my finger ends in every joint. It left me in very poor health, and shortly after I was taken with what the Doctor called an impaston (probably and infection) in my leg. And after it began to mend I took the dropsy in my eye ... And the doctor said it would be difficult to save.

"From that time till I was in my twentieth year I had twelve hard attacks of the rheumatics, it taking me as least once a year and sometimes twice When in my nineteenth year pain fell on my left side, and arm and thigh and leg began to shrink and fail me so that I began to think that I should loose the use of that side altogether. I was so reduced that my mother could carry me from one room to another with ease in her arms but through means used the Lord began to restore my limbs again so that when I was twenty two years of age I was getting better than ever I expectd to be. I was able to do labour at light work."

At this time, he began to think seriously about his future existence and wonder what the Lord would want with someone such as he on the earth, and to desire better health.

Even with these problems, he grew to a height of six feet by the time he was twenty-two. And later, after joining the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, he grew two more inches and "grew quite stout" as he records. In later years, his size was an important factor in his accomplishing the Lord's work.

At about this time, in his twenty-first year, he and his friends begin attending the many revival meetings being held in the area.

Three of these are converted to Methodism, but John continues his search. He tells, in great detail, his experience in finding the truth. I will quote much from his writings in order to give understanding of his zeal once he found the truth.

John tells of his wrestle with evil power after he makes a firm decision to find "religion."

"When crossing the room there was a power came on me that threw me to the ground and every nerve in me seemed to be numb and my hands cramped, and the first thing I knew I cried for the Lord to have mercy upon me. I thought now they all had found out that I was seeking religion and that made me feel very mean. I lay there for six hours, but did not think it more than one hour. Feeling came (probably calm) when I first arose but it was not long till Darkness and the same bad feeling came back to me again."

Later, he tells: "I seemed to have a view of myself, I thought I could see every sin I every committed and while in this condition I felt with all my soul to call upon the Lord God to forgive me, a sinner. And all of an instant the burden left me and I felt to rejoice for a minute or two, then I stopped to think what such a change meant. I thought is this religion? There was a voice whispered to me and said 'you have yet to preach the gospel to the world'...That day I gave my hand to the Methodists on trial" and he began to search the scriptures.

Through this, he gains a firm conviction that baptism by immersion is right. His parents, wanting him to stay with the Methodists who did not baptize a second time, find a Methodist minister who will baptize again. But when John is baptized his Methodist associates laughed and made fun of him.

He says, "It hurt my feelings to see those professing to be saints make light of the commandments of God ... and finally concluded that I would not live a people that would do so and went to the baptist and was baptized again telling them at the same time I did not believe one word of the Predestinarian Doctrine (predestination) as held forth by them but as they valued baptism by immersion."

At age 23, in 1831 John married Caroline Skeen, daughter of Jesse and Keziah Taylor Skeen. Caroline was born April 12, 1812 on an estate along Drake's Creek in Sumner County, Tennessee. She was the daughter of what was, in their day in Kentucky, a middle class family, her parents having considerable land, 1450 acres, and eleven slaves in their household of twenty-two. It was said that Caroline never combed her own hair until after her marriage. (Hartley) Her Negro mammy combed it.

John's family would have been classed yoeman in the Kentucky society of their day. They had small holdings, were comfortably situated on a small farm of 600 acres. Fortunately for them, considering John's frail health, they apparently had the help of at least two Negroes, possibly the slaves given to Caroline at their marriage, and who had been freed by John. The Butlers did not believe in slavery.

Both John and Caroline were from families who had come to America before the revolution and had fought for the cause of freedom against the British. Had pioneered along the early frontiers.

So these two were not unprepared for the rigors they encountered in embracing the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints in its infancy, nor for the necessity of defending their beliefs with great sacrifice and courage. They had heard the stories by or about their forebears, and these steeled them in their time of "refining."

John, with Caroline's support, continues to search for the word of God but "could find no relief" although he continued to go to meetings. When one of the men of the Baptist church tells him the Lord will continue to chastise him until he agrees to preach their faith, John is filled with a rebellious spirit and decides he will quit going to the meetings, as there is such a spirit of contention and nothing to be gained.

Discouraged, because he also did not seem to be able to learn what he wanted to know through study of the scriptures, and his prayers, John goes home and tells his wife, Caroline that he is going to give it all up.

He reports that "it hurt her feelings very much indeed. I then went to put up my horse. My barn was up by my Orchard. When I had got there I found that a wind storm had passed over when I was away and had destroyed several of my fruit trees by blowing them down and had blown off a great deel of the fruit from the other trees. When I saw what had happened I began to feel very angry to think that the Lord should send such a storm to do me so much damage. And still feeling the same independent spirit I stood up looking towards the heavens saying I would not preach such stuff as my Baptist Brethern told me I would have to preach. And if he thought he would make me to try it and I would quit Praying to him for he would not answer me and I would be as independant as he. While in this exercise of mind there was several streeks of lightning passed before me in the heavens. I said 'I know you can strike me dead with lightning but pop away if you wish for I will neither Preach, pray, go to meeting, nor read the scripture any more."

He then gets some corn tops and begins feeding his horses when he hears a voice which says, "I will set on you a refiners fire." He turns to see the speaker, but there is no one.

Realizing what he has done, he returns to the house and relates his experience to Caroline. One can imagine the anxiety of this good woman, who has followed his searchings, and, quite possibly, is searching for her own witness. Probably, with some limitation on her understanding of his condition, as research shows that her own family appears to have no formal religious affiliation. But we can imagine that she herself has developed a feeling of religious conviction, as we have noted earlier, John's report of her hurt feelings when he decides not to read any more scripture.

After the interview with Caroline, John determines to read Malachi which he does, reading it through twice. In Malachi it speaks of the refiner's fire. John then decides "never to open it again" but to go once more to pray for the last time.

He retires to a field where he had made prayers before, but he reports, "Fifty feet from the house my whole mental powers seemed to be drawn out to God to know the truth and the true order of his Kingdom, and if I could only know that I would do anything even to the laying down of my life if necessary."

He hears the voice again saying, "Stand still and see the salvation of God and that will be truth." "That instant a light shone round me. I was fill'd with the Spirit of the Lord and saw clearly that God would save all the workmanship of his hands and truth would stand or be set up in our midst, and it will not need propping up as the sects of the day had continued to do. From this time I began to look for something to come forth different to what we then had in any church. I often told my bretheren that the truth would stand alone and might be told by an illiterate man. It could not be put down."

He tells that, following this spiritual manifestation, things go along "tolerably well." He continues to attend meetings where he agrees to preach, but mostly on the subject of repentance.

He also was "keeping school at that time, for I was unable to do much hard work being sickly from my boyhood." They must have depended heavily upon their servants to work the land and do the heavy tasks in a household in those early days.

One can imagine the responsibility and worry Caroline assumed, for which she was probably not prepared, having come from a home where there were many slaves to do her bidding.

Now, along with all of the above, she has children to bear and rear. So far, there are three: Kenyon Taylor 17 November 1831, William Alexander 20 April 1833 who died four months later, Charity Artamesia 13 Jun 1834. Heartaches for this young couple and joys. One imagines their sorrow when leaving the little grave when they move to Missouri to be with the Saints.

March 1, 1835 came the announcement at the Baptist meeting that two Mormon Elders were coming to preach. When John decides to hear them, two baptist men are appointed to accompany him.

In John's words, "I expected they would speak from their golden bible but they did not and to my astonishment, they commenced preaching the first principals as set down in the new testament. This astonished me. I knew every word they said to be truth for I had the testimony of it. I asked them a few questions and they kindly answered them. I then told them that my house was a home for them as long as they wished."

The "brethren" with him say to one another "how John is taken up with them, see his mouth is wide open to swallow it all, this doctrine will just suit him for it is what he has been seeking after..."

John invites the elders to come and preach at his home. Then returns to tell his family what he has found. His mother, who is staying with them says, "Yes, that is just like you, you were not content with the Methodist, then you joined the Baptist, and they do not suit you, now you will join these Mormons." But, later, John's mother, too, recognizes the truth.

John's reply to his mother's comment is that the Lord has said try all things and hold fast that which is good.

Caroline, apparently, has received her own witness before her husband, and supports him in his new found faith, because, when he comes home from a meeting and reports to her that, "They preached the Order of the kingdom and I had never heard any thing so plain in all my life before. A child could understand it all. It was just the thing I had been hankering for...I asked to my wife what she thought of the Mormon Elders. She said she thought that they were men of God and that it was the only true Church of God and only way to be saved.

To this testimony, Caroline will cling desperately, in the coming months and years of persecution, after they leave to join the body of the Saints in Ray County. In truth, she will need its strength for the rest of her life as she and John valiantly follow the leadership and counsel of the Lord's prophets.

Consider the role of this good woman, who bore and reared twelve children while supporting her husband, and in many cases accompanying him, while he filled the assignments described below:

"During anti-Mormon turmoil in Missouri, John became a Danite and militiaman defending his people. In Nauvoo Joseph Smith called John to be one of his twelve official bodyguards, an officer position in the Nauvoo Legion. John thereafter filled several Legion assignments. After Joseph Smith's death, Brigham Young chose John to be one of his bodyguards, and John also helped guard the Nauvoo Temple." Hartley p. ix

"Between 1840 and 1847 he (John Butler) served four special missions among the Native Americans, two of which Joseph Smith ordered. Brigham Young sent John to help stabilize James Emmett's Iowa Expedition in 1844-45. Then, President Young called John to merge the Emmett group into a large contingent of Saints who wintered among Ponca Indians instead of at Winter Quarters.

In Utah Territory John helped the LDS Church claim Green River ferries from mountain men. At Spanish Fork he had Indian Farm responsibilities, made complex by the Utah War. He was a Utah militia officer. And, rare among Mormonism's corps of frontiermen, John became an ecclesiastical leader, called by President Young to be a pioneer bishop to unify the Spanish Fork settlement. Hartley p. ix

Following their conversion, and contemplating baptism, John, and we assume Caroline along with him, contemplate what joining the Mormons will mean. He will lose

his possessions and his reputation, their life will be very hard and different. They will have to sell out and move away. But he remembers his covenant with the Lord a few years before, when he was searching for the truth.

He now records, "But then it was the truth that we had heard and the Elders were sent of God to preach the true and everlasting Gospel. What could I do? I had promised the Lord that I would serve and obey him and even lay down my life for the Gospel's sake if nesssessary, and what was my property against my life."

March 9 1835, John and Caroline along with several others are baptized. After the confirmation, the gift of the Holy Ghost rests upon them and five, among them John, speak in tongues.

Because of the persecution which rages, the Mormon mission- aries, Elders James Emmett and Peter Dustan, leave.

Upon learning of their departure, John's mother says, "O what a fool have I been to have heard the Gospel for two weeks and then to let the Elders go and leave me unbaptized."

Moved by the spirit, the Elders return and baptize the mother and also Caroline's sister, Charity, who is both deaf and dumb. But she has observed, and asks Caroline to explain things to her. Patiently, Caroline explains the truths of the new faith to her sister, Charity.

John reports, "The Lord then opened her understanding and she told my wife that she would be baptized by the men sent of God. But my wife told her she better not, as her Father was very much opposed to Mormonism and that he would lay all the blame upon her (Caroline). But Charity persisted in being baptized. This all took place just after the Elders departed.

"So when the Elders turned back again, they knew that the Lord wanted them for some wise purpose."

Caroline's fears are realized. Her own father, Jesse Skeen, "told every one that he met that me, my wife and Lucy Ann (John's sister) and the Elders all slept together, in one bed on the floor." But John's Uncle, John Lowe, a Justice of the Peace comes to their aid; and he eventually forces Jesse Skeen to sign a "liebill" admitting he had lied.

There were other persecutions. Then, the final trial. Jesse sends word three times threatening to shoot John if he tries to leave and take Caroline. But Caroline is true to her faith and her husband. They continue to make their plans; and, over the next year, gradually dispose of possessions and property.

One day, Uncle John arrives at the Butler's and excitedly asks Caroline for John's gun, as there are some turkeys to shoot. Caroline gives him the gun and he does not

return it until the night when the party is leaving, saying "John I should not like to see you kill the old man."

Upon hearing Jesse' threats, John had said to Jesse that he had a good rifle and could shoot as well as Jesse. When he finds his gun gone, he worries about how he will defend himself against his enraged father-in-law. But they remain safe until the time of their departure.

When, in 1836, John and Caroline and their three children and his mother, three brothers and a sister leave, stealthily, for Missouri.

Traveling from early April to 16 of June, they arrive in Ray County (Missouri) and cast their lot with the saints. Here, John and Caroline realize more fully that they have "embraced the truth from God." But probably did not know that they were never to know peace for most of the rest of their lives.

From Ray County, with the saints, they trekked to Clay and then to Caldwell County, and then to Gallatin in Davis County.

It is here on August 8, 1838 that he and Brother Gee and the others fight the mob for the right to go to the polling station. With his increased height and his new found strength, since joining the church, John "felt as if he could handle any two men on the earth." And, indeed, he handles more than two that day.

In his words, "... power rested upon me such as one I never felt before. When I got in reach of them, I commenced to call out aloud for peace and at the same time making my stick (a piece of the heart of an oak and quite large) move to my own utter astonishment, tapping them as though light, but they fell as dead men, their heads often striking the ground first. (He mentions that the stick is quite big and reminds himself, as he wades into the battle that he must strike lightly, or he will kill someone.) I took great care to strike none except those who were fighting the brethren."

Following this episode, John rides to Far West, about fourteen miles where he visits the Prophet. Joseph warns him to move his family immediately. John says he does not want to appear a coward, but follows the counsel of the Lord's chosen, which was his practice until his dying breath.

After the Prophet's warning, fearing retribution for the injuries John had inflicted on the mobsters, he and Caroline pack hurriedly and leave, their second wagon load departing just before dawn.

At daybreak, their neighbor, Brother Gee, sees a mob of about thirty men surrounding the Butler home. He is sure they will all be killed; and is greatly relieved when he rushes to the home of the Taylors and finds the Butlers there, safe and sound.

John's comment, "I thus saw the hand of the Lord in guiding Brother Joseph to direct me to move my family away...and I felt to thank God with all my heart and soul."

As John must continue in hiding, he starts for Far West, leaving his wife to come later with the family. Not an easy assignment for a woman.

Meanwhile, the mobs have rounded up Joseph and Hiram and all the males they can find and jailed them. But, fortunately, they did not find John.

It is about this time that William E. McLellin comes to Emma's and takes possessions, including most of the bedding. The Prophet sent to her for quilts, as it is winter, and cold in the jail. Emma weeps, as she has only two blankets. Caroline and other women tell her to send Joseph the blankets and they will see that she has some. True to her word, Caroline returns to the Smiths with the precious bed clothes.

In the next few years, John serves several missions, while Caroline remains at home, looking after family and farming, enduring the worry, fear and loneliness of those violent times on the frontier, and with the addition of religious persecution by the mobs. So often, the men had to hide, or fight, or go on missions; and the women, like Caroline, carried on at home, sustained and made strong for their burdens through their faith in the Lord. Even as the women of Lehi's family were strengthened when they traveled in the wilderness, as recorded in the Book of Mormon.

The trip to Quincy, Illinois is an example. John has gone ahead to "keep school" and Caroline and the children follow, bringing the light wagon and two horses with their goods. The Smoots, who have no wagon, accompany them, and because the wagon was light, all have to walk. By this time they have four living children, one of them my great grandmother, Keziah Jane, born in 1837. The first child born near Quincy is Caroline Elizabeth, born in 1839.

In John's words, "... it was a hard trial for women and children to pass through the severity of the weather and the hard-heartedness of the people. But they will have to suffer for their ill treatment of the Saints ... Well it still kept bitter cold, and my wife and children suffered very much indeed."

John's detailed record of Caroline's trials during her journey to Quincy gives us some idea of his love and devotion to his wife, and his understanding of her courage and endurance in the face of their many hardships.

The following are examples of her experiences, as recorded in John's retrospective. At one time, Caroline's eyes became very sore, and Sister Smoot had to lead her for several days. At one house the man invited them in to get warm, but the woman said she "could not think of such a thing" as they and the children might have some disease. So they were turned away from the warm fire and back out into the cold.

There were a few bright spots in the tale of anguish. Like the day when the back horse kicks up its heels and strikes Sister Smoot, who is seated in the front of the wagon, and little Kisia (Keziah Jane) who is on her lap. They were bleeding "most fearfully" and a woman came out of her house to help them.

Interesting that she brought brown paper and camphor to treat the wounds.

Another time, when they had built a fire to keep warm, the farmer came out and told them they could not cut another piece of wood. Then he left them, "to their own meditations," as John quaintly records.

They finally arrive in Quincy where there is more hardship, and the dreaded cholera. John spends little time telling of the hardships.

In 1860, when John makes his record, he write briefly of the hardships. One wonders if he wishes them to be forgotten, or if the Lord has mercifully blessed him with forgetfulness. A great grandmother of mine, Tamar Loader, who came with the ill-fated Martin Handcart Company, told her granddaughter, Irene Smellie, that she never wanted the tragic story written.

John Butler relates some of the trying circumstances of his missions to the Indians. On one of these, he takes his family. But the Indians are not responsive, and finally become quite hostile. Caroline, with their five children and Sister Emmett and family make their to escape to Nauvoo, while John and Brother Emmett lead the enraged and bloodthirsty Indians away on another route, at great risk to their lives and those of their families.

He is appointed body guard to the Prophet and relates his own versions of various times when the Prophet was captured and imprisoned, or escaped. Through his record one feels his deep distress at the martyrdom of the Joseph Sm,ith. He was among the guards who accompanied Joseph to Carthage at the time of the martyrdom.

Of leaving Carthage he relates, "For my part, I felt that something great was going to transpire. He blessed us and told us to go. We bade them farewell, and started. We had twenty miles to ride, and we went the whole distance without uttering one word. All were dumb and still, and all felt the spirit as I did myself. I cannot express my feelings at that time for they overpowered me. I felt like the Prophets of the Lord were about to be taken from us and that they were going to await their doom, the same as the Lord his when He was here upon the earth. We went to our homes like so many sheep that had lost their shepherd, knowing not what to do."

Of the Saints, John wrote, "The Saints all felt it when Brother Joseph was Kill'd. They could not tell the reason why it was, but their hearts seemed to melt within them and they mourned and knew not what for. And when the tidings came (of his murder) they were sorely distressed and prayed that the Lord would avenge the blood of his servants, the Prophets. And truly he will for he has said so and he will keep his word. But

Mormonism will still roll on till it breaks in peaces all the other Nations, which will have to be accomplished before a great many years... We still went on preaching the Gospel."

In 1842, John goes back to Kentucky and Tennessee to see old friends and family, and to try to teach them the gospel. But he is met with hardness and resistance. Here, he narrowly escapes death when he steals away, taking Caroline's sister, Charity, with him. Her brothers follow them, but prayers are answered, and they lose the trail.

Safely back in Nauvoo, Charity and Caroline are overjoyed to be together, and to worship the Lord with the Saints.

1. All quotations except those noted, "Hartley" are from the autobiography of John Lowe Butler written a few years before his death.

2. Hartley, William G., MY BEST FOR THE KINGDOM, HISTORY AND AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF JOHN LOWE BUTLER, A MORMON FRONTIERSMAN, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1993

LIFE STORY OFFERN REDD LAYCOCK

(Fern was the 7th child of William Alexander Redd and Mary Verena Bryner Redd, and wrote this history in 1980. She lived in New Harmony until she was nearly 12, so this history gives a good description of family life in that little town.)

I was born 30 Aug. 1893 at New Harmony, Washington County, Utah. I am the sixth daughter, the four oldest having died in childhood. It must have been very sad and lonely for my mother, as father was away when the first two died, then in six more weeks, she had lost the remaining triplet, as well as Grace. They all had membranous croup, an epidemic.

My grandparents Redd were converted to the gospel of Jesus Christ in Tennessee by John D. Lee. They were plantation owners and slave holders, but on joining the L.D.S. Church, they freed their slaves and came to Utah to gather with the Saints. Some of their slaves would not leave them, and came to Utah with them. They settled first in Spanish Fork, Utah, later making their way to southern Utah, they settled in the small town of New Harmony, Washington county. Here my father grew up. My grandfather acquired the farm of John D. Lee, as he was leaving New Harmony.

He had planted an orchard on the farm — apples, pears, peaches, apricots, cherries, plums, grapes, etc. The farm was about two miles from town. We children loved to go out there.

My grandparents Bryner were converted to the church in Switzerland, and on coming to Utah, settled first in Lehi and then came to New Harmony. Father and Mother grew up there. They were married in the St. George Temple on 27 Feb. 1884, and made their home in New Harmony. All the children were born here except Kay, who was born in Raymond, Alberta.

Father went on a mission to the Southern States in 1887, leaving mother with two small children, Will and Grace. The triplets were born in 1890, and Lura in 1891. I was born 30 Aug. 1893. Soon after, my parents moved into a new house, a red brick home on the main street. It had four large rooms, kitchen, livingroom, bedroom and parlor. The rooms were large, but I am sure that my mother felt it very crowded, as the years passed and the family grew. There were two large beds and a child's bed in the bedroom, a large lounge that could be made out into a bed in the livingroom, and a large bed in the parlor, which was kept for company, and there was company much of the time. Father was bishop as long as I remember, and any visitors or passersby would stay at our place.

Everyone travelled by team and wagon, and had to stop for their horses to feed and rest. Friends and relatives visited quite frequently, and would bring the whole family and stay for some time. It was great fun for us children to have company and have other children to play with, but I wonder now how mother stood it, to have so many to look after. When it was crowded, we children slept on the floor, or at the foot of father's and mother's bed.

My father's two youngest sisters, aunts Alice and Vilo, lived with us in the summertime when they were not away teaching school. It was always a great occasion when they came home for the summer and unpacked their trunks. They usually had presents of some kind for us children. The parlor was their room when they were home in the summer. They usually kept our hair curled in ringlets when they were home, and we loved that, and looked forward to their coming with excitement.

I remember when father had a large building on the lot, and they moved it up near the house and made it into a kitchen and diningroom. This was an exciting time for us, and it did add greatly to the roominess of the home. It was connected to the house by a breezeway. The former kitchen was made into another bedroom.

I think all the church magazines came to our home from the beginning of publication. They were stored in the attic above the new kitchen, and we children spent many happy hours up there reading the stories and lessons in them. There were Juvenile Instructors, Young Women's Journals, Improvement Eras, etc. My favorite author was Lulu Green Richards. She wrote many wonderful stories for young people. There was no stairway — we climbed up a ladder to get to the attic.

There was a cellar under the house where foodstuffs were kept cool. There were no refrigerators or freezers then. I remember barrels of molasses (Dixie sorghum) brought from Toquerville in Dixie. There were also barrels of sauerkraut made by grandfather Bryner when he was visiting us. We loved his sauerkraut, and often when we had our

friends in, we would get a bowl full of kraut and forks, and have a feast on sauerkraut. Grandfather and his second family lived for a long time in Toquerville, and then moved out to Price, Utah.

Also in the cellar were bins of vegetables, winter apples from the farm and gardens, boxes of raisins from Dixie, almonds from Dixie, big sacks of pine nuts bought from the Indians who brought them to trade for hay or food, etc. There were always quantities of milk, butter, cheese, etc., dried and preserved fruit, pickles, etc., produced at home or on the farm. I must not forget the wheat and corn raised on the farm and sent away to be ground into cereals and flour for our year's supply.

We children all learned how to work, and we did work around the house and farm. We often were up in the attic reading when mother had to call us to come and finish our work. We wondered how she always knew where we were.

The back part of the house had a gradually sloping roof, and we used to spread fruit there to dry in the sun, after it was peeled and cored, of course. We dried lots of plums, pears, peaches and all fruits we grew there in the lot or at the farm. Dried corn was a favorite food for all of us.

I remember one summer when there was an especially large plum crop, and we had to dry them all. Aunt Alice and Aunt Vilo were there, and they decided they needed some help. They got tubs of plums ready, carried chairs out in the front yard, and Aunt Vilo got her guitar and began playing it, while we all sang songs to her accompaniment. It was not long until people began gathering to hear the music. Each one who came was given a pan of plums and a knife and chair. It was not long until all the plums were cut for drying, the pits taken out, and everyone had enjoyed the evening, especially the music.

There was a big fireplace in our livingroom, and some of my fondest memories are of the winter evenings when the family gathered around the fire and had a family home evening together. There were no commercial entertainments there, so we made our own.

I remember the scriptures my father read and explained to us. I loved to hear the parables especially. The one about moving a mountain by faith intrigued me. As our little town was situated at the foot of Pine Valley Mountain, I thought someone should surely move it away by faith. No one ever did, and I decided no one had enough faith, or that the Lord did not want it moved.

I realized long ago that here in our own home and family circle we were taught the beautiful truths of the gospel, and had fixed in our minds a pattern of home living that was right and good for us. I only hope that we all have, to some degree at least, followed the pattern in our own families. I'm sure no one of us could forget those patterns. I remember the stories we heard, the games we played, the programs we had, and the family prayers where we took our turn and learned to pray. I remember the refreshments, potatoes roasted in the hot ashes in the fireplace, corn popped over the hot coals, pine nuts, raisins, almonds, apples or other fruits brought from the cellar. The molasses or honey pulled candy we all helped to make. Most of all, I remember the wonderful feeling of companionship, closeness and togetherness we all felt, the loyalty that developed and grew there. I'm sure that no one there could forget these things we all felt and loved.

I remember, too, of sitting there before the fire and rubbing mutton tallow into our leather shoes. It helped keep our feet dry in winter, and also preserved the leather and made our shoes last longer. This job we did not enjoy so well, but nevertheless we did it with a will.

In the summer there were family picnics, some of them no more than packing a lunch and going as a family to the farm to pick fruit. I remember with special fondness feasting on the early cherries, when we could climb the trees and pick and eat all we wanted. We could hardly wait for the early June apples and golden sweet apples to ripen. We dearly loved them.

There was always a patch of watermelons planted in the corn patch. We usually had our first melon to eat on my birthday, Aug. 30. There were always enough melons for all the young people in the town. They knew they were welcome to go and get melons when they wanted.

My father raised sheep, and spent much of the time at the sheep herd, but as he was bishop, he always came home for the weekend. What fun it was when he would take us children to the sheep herd for a day. How we loved his sourdough pancakes and biscuits, and what a wonderful playhouse the sheep wagon made for us. It was furnished with a stove, table, chairs, cupboards and in the back there was a bunk bed. The sheep wagon was a home for father when he was there, or a sheepherder as well.

Our neighbor and uncle, Jim Prince, also had a sheep herd. One time he did not come home when he was expected. When the men went to investigate, he was found dead beside the wagon. He had apparently suffered a heart attack. We children did not understand it all, but we knew it was a sad occasion, and it was our first experience with death.

Every year, after the sheep were sheared, the wool was packed into large gunny sacks, loaded on wagons, and hauled to Salt lake City to be sold. It was a long trip and father would be gone for several weeks. When he returned, he brought supplies for another year. There were clothing such as coats, shoes, hats, bolts of cloth to be made into dresses, underwear, night gowns and bedding, etc., and wool for knitting socks, stockings, etc. We girls always had dresses, petticoats and underwear alike, as they were made from the same bolt of cloth. Mostly I remember the grey linsey woolsey dresses,

and the red or grey flecked flannelette underwear and night gowns, etc. It was not hard to get our things mixed up, and get someone else's clothes, which we often did.

Sheep raising was the main occupation at that time. Sheep were grazed on the surrounding hills or mountains, Kanarrah and Cedar Mountains in summer, and in the valleys in winter, much of the time in what is now "Zion's National Park." A part of that park, the beautiful red cliffs, was plainly seen from our home. These "hills of home" are some of the wonderful and beautiful sights I remember of my childhood home. Those red cliffs now are called Kolob Mountains.

Our lot and house were surrounded by Lombardy poplar trees, tall and stately. They are still typical of Utah to me. There were many of them in Harmony, and I find myself looking for them whenever I am in Utah. They are disappearing from the landscape now, and I, for one, shall be sorry to see them no more.

There was a deep well in our back yard, where we pumped water for household use and to water the stock at times. There was a half barrel, set under the spout of the hand-operated pump, where father often watered his team of horses. I shall never forget the time he came home and went to water his horses, and found the barrel full of mud, where we girls and our friends had been making mud pies.

The floors in our home were covered with rag carpets. As long as I remember, there were old clothes to be cut or torn into strips, carpet rags, to be dyed, sewn together into long strips and rolled into balls. We children helped with this. When there were enough, these rags were sent away and woven into carpet. Mother sewed these strips of carpet together and made a wide carpet, which was tacked to the floor all around the walls, well padded with fresh straw.

Our home boasted an organ, inherited from Grandfather Redd when he moved to Mexico. It was one of the few musical instruments in town, and was a treasure indeed. Aunts Vilo and Alice knew enough about music to teach us the notes and we began to read music a bit. I remember when the church sent musicians around the church communities to teach the people to sing the hymns. Joseph Coslett was the man who came to Harmony. All the townspeople gathered at our place, because we had the organ, to learn the hymns. He always had them sing up and down the scale a few times. We children were sent to bed so we could not disturb them. I lay in bed and listened to the music, and when they sang up and down the scale "Do re me fah so lah ti do," I thought they were singing "Don't let me fall, I love you so." There is still one song in the hymn book composed by Joseph Coslett.

Our farm was about two miles from town. Many memories of this farm are dear to me. We children were given the chore of driving the milk cows to the farm each morning after they were milked, and going back for them at night. We did not mind driving the cows to pasture and home. Sometimes our friends would go with us. We took our time, the cows walked leisurely along, eating as they walked. We always carried a big stick along to steer the cows if they wandered off, or to defend ourselves from snakes.

Many of the fences were made of rocks gathered from the land and piled around the plots of ground. They were overgrown with weeds, and bushes, and were infested with snakes — rattlesnakes, blow snakes, etc. We killed many snakes when we saw them in the roadway. I am terrified now when I think of it, but I never did know anyone who was bitten by a snake, although we occasionally heard of someone somewhere else, who had been bitten.

I remember a snake story told by my Grandmother Redd. She had a cellar under the house, where she kept foodstuffs, to keep cool. Milk was put in shallow pans and set on cupboard shelves to let the cream rise. One day, she found the cream all gone. The children said they had not taken it, and no one knew anything about it. About the third day when she went to the collar, she found a big blow snake on the shelf. As she watched, it raised its head up over the top of the pan and slurped the cream off the milk. This called for tighter, better cupboards with screen to keep snakes out.

Grandfather's old house was still standing on the farm, built of bricks or adobes. We were forbidden to go in it. It was ready to fall down at any time, and also there were too many snakes around it in the rubble and weeds. In the "upper orchard" where there were fruit trees, there was an old foundation, made of rock, where John D. Lee's house stood. The lumber had been taken away and used to build a barn where hay was stored. One night we could not find the milk cows to take them home for milking. Next morning a search was made, but it was not till the third day, someone spotted them through the cracks between the boards of the barn. The two cows, old Pied and Reddy, had somehow climbed up on the hay in the barn and slid down the other side between the hay and barn wall. The side of the barn had to be taken off to get them out.

There was a good-sized creek running through the farm, and far on the other side of it was a small cemetery where several of the Lee family were buried. Two children, the headboard stated, had been killed by a falling wall. We mourned for them.

There was a spring of water on a steep bank of the creek, with a pipe in it, where we loved to get a drink of the clear, cold, sweet water. It had furnished water for grandfather's family's needs.

There was an old "fish pond" on the farm not far from the house. It never had any fish in, that I remember, but it was here that, for many years, the boys and girls of the town were baptized. Strangely enough, when I was ready for baptism, it was not suitable, and I was baptized in a creek on Uncle Alex Pace's farm. I remember it well. There were two of us. A small group of my friends gathered for the occasion. They sang a song, had prayer, and my father baptized us and confirmed us.

Both my grandmothers died when I was a baby, so I do not remember them, but I knew both grandfathers. Grandfather Redd had moved to Colonia Juarez, Mexico, with his family, but visited us occasionally. Grandfather Bryner's family went to Price, Utah. This was not so far away, and he visited us more often. He had lost his eyesight when he

was a young man in an accident, and someone had to lead him around wherever he wanted to go. We children often helped him get around. He had a friend in new Harmony, Brother Brubacher, whom he visited. We wondered how they could talk and visit together so long, as whoever led him there had to stay to help him get home. Grandfather told us many stories of his early life in Switzerland and of his conversion to the gospel. He did a great deal of work for the dead in the St. George Temple.

When he was a young man, married and with two children, he had an accident and lost his sight, and was ill for a long time. Of course, he became very discouraged, felt he could not cope with life, etc. One night he had a strange dream. He seemed to be walking around the world in complete darkness. Suddenly he came into the light and walked the rest of the way in the light. Another time he dreamed of two young men who came to him with a strange message. He described them clearly as he had seen them. One of them had very peculiar eyes. Not long after this, his wife told him that there were two strange men in town, who were telling of a strange new religion. He told her that he had dreamed of two men, one having strange eyes, who had a message for them. She took him to listen to their meeting, and he knew they were the men of his dream. he described them exactly. One was cross-eyed, the man he had seen in his dream. Grandfather was immediately interested in their message, took the two elders home for a few days and heard their message and was baptized into the church.

As soon as they were baptized, they began making plans to come to America, which they did as soon as possible. They arrived in Nauvoo when the saints were leaving for Utah. They acquired a team and wagon, and joined the company. Grandfather walked much of the way, holding onto the wagon and walking behind it. They travelled with the ill-fated Martin handcart company, and were caught in the cold snowy weather, suffering many hardships. They were overjoyed to meet his brother in Salt Lake City. The brother had preceded him to America. They went on to Lehi where they lived for a time, and later went to New Harmony.

Grandfather could do almost anything around the home or farm, if someone directed him where to go. Grandmother spent much time helping him until some of the children grew old enough to help. They went through the many trials and tribulations of the pioneers, but they loved the gospel and their joy in it far outweighed any trials or hardships. I have heard him say he was grateful he lost his eyesight, otherwise he might have been too proud or occupied to listen to the elders who brought the gospel to him.

I am sure that my childhood was normal for that time. My special friends were Verna Taylor, Rita Mathis, Kate Watts, John M. Pace, LaMond Pace, Frank Kelsey and Eldon Schmutz.

I might mention here that I was a sickly child, small and thin, and I often had a pain in my side. The pain came when I had eaten a meal, played hard, run around or done something strenuous. I remember going into the house from play, and lying down over a chair to ease the pain. Finally father took me to Cedar City to a Dr. Middleton. He was a good doctor and a friend of my father's. He could not find what was wrong. There were

no x-rays then. I felt very important to have so much attention. I was given a tonic and ordered not to run, play hard, or over-exert myself. I could not go to school unless I promised to be very quiet and not over-exert myself, just be quiet and watch other friends do the playing. I loved school, and promised to do just that. I kept the promise too, and in fact, I imagine I used this as an excuse to get out of some situations, both at home and at school. Eventually after a few years of this, I grew well and strong, and outgrew the trouble, whatever it was, and I have enjoyed good health all my life.

I attended school in the ward meeting house, across the street and a block west of home. Later a schoolhouse was built out on the hill east of town, where I went to school. One night, during my first year of school, there was a heavy snowfall. Next morning, my father put me up on his shoulders and gave me a piggy-back ride to school. I thought it great fun until we reached school, and he would not let me down but carried me right into the room and right up to the front of the class to let me off. School was already in session, and I was very much embarrassed when they all had a good laugh at me. Father thought it a great joke.

The early teachers I remember are Walter Slack, Annie McMullin, and Jake Workman. There was one room for the whole school. We marched to the front of the room to a recitation bench for our lessons etc. Spelling classes took the form of spelling bees. We each had our special place in the lineup. When a word was missed, the next one in line had a try at it. When someone spelled it correctly, she went up past those who miss-spelled the word. I loved spelling and prided myself on my spelling, and soon as I got to the head of the class, I made sure I studied it well and no one spelled me down. After quite a while the teacher sent me to the foot of the class so that someone else could be head of the class. I felt disgraced and cried bitterly. However I soon started back toward head of the class. Kate Watts was head, and studied hard to stay there. Finally she spelled "pleasant" with an "e" instead of an "a" and I was at the head once more. I had studied my spelling hard and hoped she would make that very mistake. After that, the head person was regularly sent to the foot of the class.

Once when I was five and Paul was one year old, I was required to look after him for a while. We played around for a while and wandered over to the church. We went inside and played around. When we were ready to go home, the door had gone shut and the latch was turned on, so we could not open the door. I was in a panic and cried long and loud. Paul followed suit. I just knew we could never get out of that church. Soon we were heard, and a crowd gathered round. Everyone was trying to tell me how to turn the latch, but I was too frightened to listen, and after what seemed a great while, they boosted Minnie Pace through the transom over the door and we were free again.

Another story when I was about five — I was with some friends who were telling us about something that happened to their brothers. Not wanting to be left out, I told them something about my brother Will who was 8 or 9 years older than I. I must have made up a great story, but I do not remember what it was all about. Of course, I never dreamed he would hear about it. Well, he did, and came home angry with me. He was so very angry that I was frightened and denied the whole thing. He knew I was lying and made such a

fuss that I was crying and denying it. Others heard us and came to see what it was all about. My mother came too, and asked me about it. I still denied it to her and we were having a great time. I lied to my mother too. This is when I learned that if you tell a lie, you have to keep telling more lies. Well, mother made him stop accusing me, and I went into my bedroom and cried myself to sleep. When suppertime came, I was not hungry and stayed in bed. I was unhappy because I had lied, I knew it was wrong, and I promised myself that I would never lie again — one had to keep lying and it got worse and worse. I promised myself that I would never lie again. I hope I have kept that promise.

It must have been when I was around nine, that I went to Cedar City to a Primary Conference or meeting of some kind. Aunts Sarah Prince and Eliza Kelsey took me along to recite on the program. It was over twenty miles and a long trip in a buggy, and they were driving a balky horse. They talked about what they would do if the horse balked, and I didn't realize they were joking. Aunt Sarah kept looking for a soft bush to throw her baby in if the horse balked, and they talked so much about it that I was thoroughly frightened by the time we reached Cedar City, and was afraid to go back home with them. Aunt Vilo and Aunt Alice were teaching school there, and Aunt Lucette Wood and her large family lived there too. They all coaxed me to stay in Cedar and said they were sure my parents would come for me, so I stayed. When they drove away without me, I was lonely and homesick. I had never been away from home alone, and the next week was the most unhappy week of my life. With all the aunts and cousins doing everything they could to make me happy, I grew more unhappy every minute. I cried all week, and when father and mother came for me in a week's time in a wagon, I had already resolved that if I ever got home again, I would do anything they would ever ask of me. I even resolved that I would wash dishes — which job I had thought the worst job in the world — or anything else they asked me to do, and never complain again as long as I lived.

About this time, two of the younger children, Lyman and Vilo, became very ill. One Sunday morning, I had fasted and gone to Sunday School. After Sunday School I went with some of my friends. We played around most of the day. When I got home in the evening I did not feel very well. I was not hungry all day, and went to bed that night feeling very sick. By morning I was very ill. With three of us so very sick, my father went to Cedar City in a buggy and brought Dr. Middleton to see us. It had to be serious for him to go so far to get the doctor. He said it was typhoid fever-a very serious disease. He instructed mother how to treat us and how to prevent the disease from spreading, then father took him back to Cedar. We were very ill for some time, but all recovered and no one else got it.

Some years later, after we had moved to Canada, they had an epidemic of typhoid fever in New Harmony and several of my old friends died. After this, the people of New Harmony installed a water system for the town. Up to this time, the town water came from wells or streams or springs.

There were no commercial entertainments in our area, and so we had to make our own. The two occasions which we always celebrated were Christmas and the Fourth of July. At the Christmas season, there was a Christmas tree for the whole town, at the

meeting house or the school house. This was a gala occasion for everyone in town, especially for the children. Everyone received presents taken from the tree by Santa Claus himself and handed to each one personally.

I remember one Christmas time when the curtain was opened, there on the front of the tree was the most beautiful doll, a "boughten" store doll. I'm sure that every little girl in the whole crowd hoped it was for her. When Santa finally got to the doll and read my name, I could hardly believe my ears. But it was my doll, and I shall never forget how I felt, the beautiful doll was really mine! All of our dolls before this year were homemade bodies, stuffed with rags or cotton etc. and a china head sewed on, but we loved them and didn't care if they were not so beautiful. If we still had our last year's doll, we did not need or get a new one.

One Christmas Jessie got a nice new doll, but I still had my old one so I didn't get a new one. Early Christmas morning, I begged her to let me hold it, it was so much nicer than my old one. She did not wish to let me hold it, but finally let me take it. I accidentally dropped it and broke it. I shall never forget how badly I felt, but there was not another doll for her till next Christmas.

We usually had new dresses for Christmas and the Fourth of July, made by our mother, and we loved them and always looked forward to getting them.

The Fourth of July was celebrated by all the townspeople. There were races and games in the street for everyone. There were prizes for all, even if one never won the race. In the evening, the older ones had a dance. At daybreak on the Fourth, the men of the town set off what we called cannons, some kind of explosion with gunpowder. I remember when my older brother Will was hurt. One shot of gunpowder did not go off soon enough to suit him, and he went up to see what was wrong with it. Well, it went off just as he reached it, and it peppered him with black powder, all over his face, neck and arms, and he had to be taken to the doctor in Cedar City to have it picked out from under the skin. We were very frightened.

Of course, there was always Primary, Sunday School, Sacrament Meetings, and we all attended. I still remember some of the lessons that they taught us there.

I remember one embarrassing experience Jessie and I had. We were going to St. George with father in the buggy. He had business to do in several places, and we stopped for him to do this. Jessie and I were wearing some new hats with peaked crowns, and felt very dressed up with new dresses etc. Someone at one of the stops gave us some fresh apricots, just ripened, which we enjoyed. We thought we should keep some for later on, and as we had no pockets. we stuffed them up in our hats. The next place father stopped, the people asked us to take off our hats. Of course we couldn't, we thought. However father's business took some time, and he stayed longer than we expected. The lady of the house invited us to stay for dinner. Father accepted, and then we had to take off our hats. We tried to get the others to eat some of the apricots, but they would not, and when we left later in the afternoon, they gave us a small pail full of apricots. (We were in Dixie,

where fruit ripened earlier than in Harmony.) Jessie and I have often had a good laugh when we remember this occasion.

We had a big black dog called Bruce. Of course, there were always dogs at the sheep herd, but Bruce was our playmate, and he entered into our games and play. He would stand and watch us swing, we always had a swing somewhere on the place. Bruce watched us swing up and down, up and down, and seemed to enjoy it as much as we did. One night father was awakened by Bruce's howls. He got up to see what was wrong, and found Bruce in the swing, twisted up so tight that he could not get out. The harder he tried, the tighter it got. This happened a few times before he gave up trying to swing.

Another time he awakened father, he had the tongue of our little wagon in his mouth, running round and round the house, having a lot of fun. Still another time, Bruce spotted a small frog hopping around when he went to the farm with father, who was irrigating. Well, Bruce would jump after the frog, and grab it in his mouth. Then he would let it go, and watch it hop away. He must have gotten too enthused and finally swallowed the frog. Father said Bruce went through some fantastic antics with that live frog in his stomach. Father could hardly tell it for laughing.

I remember great lessons my mother taught me. I had found a small parcel in Aunt Sarah Prince's yard, next to ours, and brought it home. It turned out to be a piece of ribbon. Of course, I convinced myself that Aunt Sarah did not want it and had thrown it away. I tied it on my doll and it looked beautiful. Mother asked me where I got it, and I told her the story. I can see her now as she wiped her wet hands on her apron, took me by the hand and started for Aunt Sarah's place. I knew I was in trouble, and was in tears when we got there. I told her my story, as I stood by her knee. She put her arm around me, kissed me on the forehead and said "Yes, it is mine. I bought it at the store, and then could not find it after I got in the house. But because you have been so truthful and honest, I am giving it to you." I took the precious ribbon, and I never forgot the lesson I had learned — if you find something, you must try hard to find the rightful owner.

Another thing I remember with nostalgia is the old pine tree we lost ance west of the pasture where we took the cows, stood a huge pine tree. It stood alone. It was much larger than any of the numerous pine trees around, or even in the large wide valley. It could be seen from any point in the whole valley. There was not another like it. It seemed a lone survivor of an ancient forest. Its top had been broken off, probably by a storm. Sometimes several of us would try to reach around it by holding hands, but it was so large, we could not. Jessie painted a picture of it from an old photograph, and gave it to me recently. I love it. It reminds me of my childhood days. I appreciate having it.

Another custom we always observed and remembered was Decoration Day. For several days before May 30th, we children and our friends would wander over the hills and farms in search of wild flowers. I remember the sego lilies, red bells, blue bells, Indian paint brushes, lady slippers, and others I cannot name. We kept them in tubs of water until the day, May 30. Then we carried all our flowers and buckets of water, cans for vases, to the cemetery on the hill east of town, put some in cans of water and spread

the rest of the flowers over the graves of our four little sisters, Grandmother Redd and one or two of her children.

We children look back on our life in New Harmony with a great deal of nostalgia. My father was the last of Grandfather Redd's large family to move away from New Harmony. Others had gone to Mexico, San Juan county and other places. My father was bishop there in Harmony for twenty-five years, and when he was released from that position, he wanted to find a place where there was more room for his large family to settle around him. Perhaps too there were other reasons why he wanted to get away from there. Anyway, when I was almost twelve years old, father and my older brother Will left to go to Idaho. The Teton country there had been opened up for settlement and he wanted to see it and learn of the opportunities there. When they arrived in Salt Lake City, there was an excursion train leaving for Alberta, Canada, carrying prospective home-makers. Father joined the group and came to Alberta. When we heard that they had gone to Canada, we all cried, even mother. We thought of Canada as a frozen north country, the far frozen North. Our knowledge of Canada was very limited.

Father fell in love with Alberta. He bought some farm land. He said the grass on the prairies was as high as a horse's belly. He saw wheat growing well and it seemed to him to be a good place for farming, with lots of room for his children to settle down around him. He left Will in Canada and he returned to Utah to make preparations for the move to Canada.

I remember the new clothes mother made for us girls, with the help of friends and neighbors. Especially do I remember the red and white checked gingham, and the orange-brown sateen dresses Jessie and I had. We were always dressed alike and everybody thought we were twins. "Yes," father always said "they are twins with just two years' difference in their ages." There were parties for us among our friends, presents were exchanged and many tears shed at the parting. I felt I could never get over the sadness, and of course I should never become a Canadian.

There was a long trip to Lund, Utah, by team and wagons, which carried all our furniture and equipment. We caught the train at Lund, after camping at night and sleeping in or under the wagons. It was the first time for most of us to see a train. We were terrified of it at first but soon got accustomed to it. The trip to Canada took several days.

We arrived at Stirling, a new small town then, on the evening of the 1st of July, 1905. This was the day that Alberta became a province, and is always celebrated as Alberta's birthday. The train did not go to Raymond, where we were going to live, so we stayed overnight with the Adams family in Stirling. They had come to Canada some time earlier from Cedar City, and my father knew them. They had a small house and a large family, but they made us welcome. Most of us children slept on the floor, but it was an adventure and we enjoyed our stay there.

We heard all about "Dominion Day." We did not think much of the things they told us of this Dominion Day. We were going to miss the "Fourth of July" in a few days,

and we didn't appreciate Dominion Day. Next day, we were driven to Raymond. Will came for us in a wagon. He had rented a house for us to live in. It was a nice place at the south end of the main street by the canal. He had planted a garden for us.

Raymond seemed such a large town, there was even a sugar factory there, and we were all feeling lost and strange. When school started in August, there was a large attendance. I was put in Standard Four with the others of my age. It was so different from the one-roomed school I had attended in Utah, and the work was so different and was all new to me, I felt I could not stay but should attend a lower class. Each night when I went home so discouraged, my brother Will would help me with my homework and encourage me to try one more day. Well, I finally go caught up with the class and stayed in Standard Four.

There were no western-trained teachers in this new country, so teachers were brought in from Eastern Canada. My first teacher was Miss Shaw from Nova Scotia. We thought the rules of the school were very harsh and strict, especially when the teachers could strap the students when they were unruly. I had never heard of that, but there I saw it done. I was careful not to get strapped. Father told us children that if we ever got a strapping in school, we would get another when we got home. I guess that is why were all very careful not to get a strapping at school.

In that school class of about forty students was a boy named George Laycock. I do not remember too much about him that first year. I was in a large class, homesick for Utah, felt strange and was having a hard time to keep up with the work. He always maintained that he fell in love that first year. I do remember that in the next few years, he tried a number of times to take me for a buggy ride. He always had a nice buggy and horse or team. The first time he came for me, I didn't even remember his name. Of course I did not go, and it was not until his sixteenth birthday that I consented to go with him at all. On that night there was a surprise birthday party for him at his home. He took me home and from that time on we went out together off and on until we finally were married in the Salt Lake Temple Dec. 23, 1915. He always said he worked seven years for his wife, as Jacob had for Rachel.

His mother died when he was fourteen and his father when he was sixteen, so he was on his own. The parents' home was sold to his uncle Dave Galbraith, who let him use one bedroom for sleeping. He did have a small farm, 80 acres, left by his father, also several horses, and he tried to farm that. When he was nineteen, he was asked by the bishop to go on a mission.

It was a hard decision to make about the mission. He rented the farm and horses to Dave Galbraith, and went to the Eastern States on a mission in the spring of 1912. By this time we were engaged, and I encouraged him to go, and promised to wait for him. He filled an honorable mission and returned in June 1914. He planted a crop of wheat, but it was hailed out on July 1 when it was nicely up and looked good. He was in debt, as he had to borrow money to complete his mission, and wanted to be debt-free when we married. The next year, he was no better off financially, so we decided to get married and

start from the bottom together. We were never sorry, and the bit of a struggle we had those first years was a valuable experience for us.

In 1916, we bought a half-section of prairie land next to John Laycock's farm, about half-way between Raymond and Lethbridge. John was his cousin who had moved here from Oregon. We built a small home on the farm in the spring of 1917 and moved into our first home. Harold was a few months old at that time, and we remained on the farm until he was ready for high school, and our other three children, Merne, Ralph and Hugh were coming up through the grades. They had all attended a small rural school that had been built one half mile north of our house, called Community School.

We bought a new home in Lethbridge, at 1417-4th Ave. South, and came here to live in Nov. 1929. By this time we had increased our land holdings to 1280 acres. John Laycock had moved back to the U.S.A. and we had first rented, and then bought his farm.

Dad was progressive and modern in his thinking, and always maintained that there was no point in living in a modern world and not having modern equipment, appliances, etc. Consequently he made every effort to have them as soon as he possibly could. Early in 1917 he traded some horses for a "Model T" Ford car, one of the first in the area to have one. He had one of the first radios, a small crystal set with ear phones, in 1924. When we began to hear of combine harvesters, he made a trip through Washington, Oregon and California to see them work. We had the first combine in the district.

As soon as we moved to town, I had the usual electrical appliances. On the farm, I had a gas-engine-operated washing machine. It often stopped in the midst of a washing, and I had to wait for him to come from wherever he was working and start it again. I really enjoyed all the electric things in my new home. It was newly built and was a lovely home. We enjoyed it greatly.

For a number of years, we went back to the farm for the summer months. It made things easier for Dad, and I enjoyed a garden there. We all enjoyed the farm for the summer, too.

In the year of 1918, we had a crop failure, and we did not have much to go on either. It was also the year of the influenza epidemic. It swept through the Armed Forces in World War I and the civilian world. Soldiers in the war and people all around the world died in great numbers, and everyone was terrified of the disease. We thought we had to move to Lethbridge to make a living, and hoped the epidemic was about over and we would not get it. George got a job playing in a theatre orchestra in Lethbridge. We moved into an apartment in the Sherlock Block at 7th street and 3rd avenue, and he started work. The leader of the orchestra was a man named Maurice Rygg, a violinist. He took a liking to George, and Dad spent a lot of time with him. He used to call Dad to come and sit with him in the night when he was often "under the weather." Dad even took some clarinet lessons from him, thinking he would improve his own playing. I asked Dad what was the matter with Rygg,was it flu? Dad said no, he had been told it was not flu. We did not fear anything else.

Early in 1919, Dad came down with the flu, and everyone got it. Harold was three years old and Merne, one year. We were all very sick. Dad developed pneumonia and was taken to the hospital where he was not given any hope of recovery. I remember how earnestly we prayed that if the Lord would spare his life and let us all get well and be together again, that I would willingly do anything I was asked to do for him, and would not complain about anything. I am sure this is not the right way to pray to Heavenly Father, but anyway our prayers were answered and he did come back to us. It was heartbreaking to see him so thin and weak, and coughing so hard. He went back to the theatre before he was really able, but felt he must.

Early in the spring Mr. Rygg died, and it was then that we learned he had tuberculosis. I asked Dad if Rygg had blown his clarinet, and he said "Yes, he often showed me how to hold and blow the instrument when I was taking lessons from him." When spring came, we went back to the farm. Dad remained weak, thin and coughing, but really did work hard. I was very worried about him.

The year 1919 was also a drought and crop failure. We moved to Raymond and lived in my mother's upstairs suite, rent-free. Dad was still very poorly and when I finally persuaded him to go to a doctor, he was told that he had tuberculosis. Early in the spring, my sister Lura came home with smallpox. The doctor told us if we all got vaccinated and got out of the house immediately, we could go home, otherwise we would be quarantined too. We did so. I think this is the most heartsick and worried I have ever been in my life. All of us were sick from the vaccination. We had three small children, Ralph had been born in February and he had not been well at all. I felt we were going home to die. I didn't think Dad would survive the summer, and that I could not carry on if I did survive.

Dad needed good nourishing food — milk, cream, butter, eggs, meat, etc. and it seemed we had no way of getting them. I even went to grocery stores and tried to get credit for a charge account, but all credit was cut off for farmers, on account of the crop failures we had had. This is when we began to eat wheat. We could take wheat to the mill in Raymond and get it cracked for cereal, and ground into flour for bread. I have great respect for wheat as a food, for what it did for us then. After all, the Word of Wisdom does say "Wheat for man." We managed to trade a horse for a good jersey cow. John Laycock, who was in the chicken business, let us have eggs and chickens all summer, and we hoped to be able to pay him in the spring.

With milk, cream, butter, eggs and meat, and the vegetables I raised in the garden, and with long hours in the fresh air, Dad's health improved greatly. He got well and strong, and put on a lot of weight, as we all did. We had a good crop that summer of 1920, and got on our feet again. How very thankful we were for our great blessings.

It had been a long hard struggle to get our first land broken up and in production, but eventually we did. We bought a half-section across the road. We were getting along better. John moved away to California and we bought his land.

In spite of the hard work and various hardships we went through on the farm, I look back on our years there when the children were growing up, as the happiest and most satisfying and most rewarding of our lives. Dad could not give them too much in the way of money and what it buys, but he did give them a great deal of himself. Many summer evenings were spent playing ball or other games, swimming, driving, etc. In winter, there was skating, sleighing, etc. And there were lessons, stories, music at home. Dad loved music and was determined that they all should have it too. He gave them a good start and I often think how proud and happy he would be to see them all doing as they are in music. And also to see the grandchildren following in their footsteps.

He bought a piano as soon as he could possibly do so, and with my limited ability to play it, we were soon all playing together. He was proud too of their other accomplishments, always knowing that they could and did head their classes in school. He could not wait until Harold was big enough to play a violin, so he bought a small sized one and Harold began taking violin lessons. Ralph was around five years old then, and he could hardly keep his hands off it. Of course, Harold would not let him touch it. So Dad gave Ralph and old "c" clarinet of his, showed him how to read a few notes and he was satisfied. Soon both boys were playing. At first I tried to play piano with them. As soon as Merne could play piano, the three of them became well known for their music. Dad was pleased to take them anywhere to play, and they played all over Southern Alberta. For many years, we had a little orchestra of our own at home. Hugh also had his violin as he grew up and soon joined in with his music as well.

One winter we had a long dry spell in the early winter. There was not any snow, and the ground was dry and dusty. One day about 5:00 p.m. a sudden storm blew in from the north. It began to snow and the temperature dropped rapidly. Soon it was bitter cold, and snow and dirt were so think in the air that one could not see a few inches even. We had had our supper, and Dad made the remark that he was glad we were all safely inside and did not have to go out. About 6:30 there was a hard knocking at the door. Dad opened the door and found Mr. Dick, the school teacher, whom we could hardly recognize for all the snow and dirt all over him. He had icicles hanging from his mustache even. He said his wife and little daughter were out in their car, stuck in a snow drift in an open section north of the school house. They had driven to Lethbridge after school, and when the storm struck, they had started for home.

Well, Dad had to go and try to get them. By this time, it was dark and bitterly cold, and the wind was fiercely blowing the snow and dirt. Dad went to get the car started while I got blankets, hot water bottles, mittens, etc. ready and they started out to find the folks. We waited four anxious hours for their return. I had a big gasoline lamp in the front window, hoping they could see it when they got nearly home. You can be sure that the children and I were praying for them all the time. About eleven o'clock we heard a big bump and knew they were home. They had missed the culvert over the ditch in the road, and they could not even see the big lamp in the window. The mother and little girl, Elsie, were badly frost-bitten but recovered and were grateful to Dad for saving their lives. That night, five people in five different places in Southern Alberta were frozen to death, some

of them in their own yards, just could not find the house with the snow and dirt blowing so badly.

I am grateful for our wonderful family, for their good lives and accomplishments. It is a source of great satisfaction and gratitude to me to see them taking part in the communities where they live, active in their church and other duties, raising good families, being good citizens, doing what they know to be right. I wonder why I am so blessed in my family. I am deeply and humbly grateful. In Lethbridge, we had many good years together as a family. Dad passed away 30 Dec. 1946 after suffering some years with a heart condition and diabetes and complications.

Soon afterward, Lura persuaded me to accompany her on a trip to Hawaii, which I enjoyed very much. It was such a good rest, and I was free of making decisions for a while — there had been so many to make after Dad's death. A little later on, I went with her, Pauline and Mel on a trip to Mexico, which was also very enjoyable.

I kept myself busy with church work, gardening, visiting the children and their families, and helping them in any way I could.

In June of 1954 I left to go on a mission, as I had been officially called to the Texas-Louisiana Mission. My friend, Winona Ursenbach Stevens was already there on a mission, and I was assigned to be her companion. We enjoyed working together. Brother LeGrand Smith was our Mission President. At that time, we did not teach the gospel to the blacks, and they were mainly the people we saw on the streets. The white people stayed indoors out of the heat. We were advised to carry parasols, which we always did as it was so hot there. However, we knocked on a lot of doors and did our best to get to teach the gospel. After ten months together, Winona was released. I had several companions after that. The second summer was not so hot. I had become acclimated to the heat, I guess. I filled this mission to the best of my ability. I only saw four people baptized to whom I had taught the gospel. I had hoped to convert many people, but it was not to be that way. I did gain a greater testimony myself, and that was worth while too. I was released in Dec. 1965, and returned home after visiting Mary and Sterling, and Lyman and Jeanette in California.

Soon after my return, a four-roomed house near Merne's came up for sale, and I bought it and sold the big house on 4th avenue. I am still living in this house at 1916-5 Ave. South, and expect to stay here as long as I live. The house had a full basement, and Hugh built a two-roomed suite in it. For some years, I rented it to students, and then in 1956 Mary Murray rented it, and still lives here. She came to Alberta from Australia and works at the Research Station. She seems like one of the family, and I enjoy having her here. We spend many evenings together. She is almost like a daughter to me.

Harold and Ralph both graduated from B.Y.U. and both eventually became professors at that school. They both have their Doctorates from a California University, and are both still teaching there in 1980. I am proud of both of them. Ralph has charge of orchestra and band. He conducts the Philharmonic Orchestra and has conducted several

bands as well. He has taken on the job of conducting another orchestra — The Utah Valley Orchestra — older people, many of whom are former B.Y.U. orchestra members. He is surely kept busy, but enjoys it. Harold plays in this latter orchestra, but his extra work is in the ward and stake in which he lives. He spent many years in the bishopric of his ward, then when released from that, he was called into the Stake Presidency, where he is still working.

I am proud of both of them, and also proud of Hugh and Merne. Hugh took over the farm after his father died. Eventually he sold some of the farm and rented the rest of it, and moved his family to Lethbridge and is working in Real Estate. He has looked after me well. When I have needed help, I call on him and he has done many jobs for me, such as plowing the garden, shingling the house roof, putting in a window and endless other jobs. I could never have coped with the jobs without him. I lean on him so much. He is always ready and willing to do what I need done.

Merne is the same. She lives next door and does everything for me, looks after all my needs, has me over often for a good meal, shops for me and does so many things for me. I'm always calling on her and Don for something, and they think to do form e, more than I think of myself. I appreciate them more than I can tell. For many years now, they have taken me to Conference in Salt Lake City. I used to go by myself by train or plane or bus, but I do not go by myself any more. I am so grateful to all of you for your help and thoughtfulness.

Since Bill, Hugh's son, moved to Lethbridge several years ago, they take me often when they take their five children to swimming lessons, skating lessons or other things. I appreciate getting out for something different. I also enjoy all the grandchildren's families when they come to Lethbridge.

I also enjoy visiting Jessie and Octave when we can get together — either in person or on the phone. She and I are the only girls of the family still in Canada. Kay is the only brother still living and he is in Canada too.

I have worked much of my life in the Church organizations, being secretary of the Sunday School in Raymond when I was 12 or 13 years of age. After I came to live in Lethbridge, I served as Ward Primary President, then on the Stake Board. After that I was Stake President of the Young Women's Mutual Improvement Association for five years, then I served for almost five years as President of the Stake Relief Society. I have taught classes in nearly all of the organizations. This year, at 87, I do not hold any position in the organizations but do enjoy attending the meetings etc.

My health is good, and I am able to do most things for myself. I am very grateful for good health and hope to be able to continue to look after myself.

(Next section compiled by Merne Livingston, Dec. 1989)

Soon after Mom returned from her mission in Jan. 1956, she bought a small home on 5th Ave. S., across the lane from us. It was nice to have her so close, after her being away for a year and a half. We saw each other every day, and she usually had one meal a day with us.

She was also of great help to us, as Don was Bishop and I was busy with church callings as well, in the Mutual, Relief Society and Choir, etc. She helped me with canning and freezing vegetables and fruit, tended kids while I conducted choir practice, etc., and generally helped a lot. She encouraged me to go on trips with Don when business called him out of town — we had one especially nice trip to Ontario and eastern U.S. where we looked up many of Don's relatives and obtained a lot of genealogy.

Her home was headquarters for Hugh's family when they lived on the farm, when their kids were taking music and art lessons in Lethbridge. The ones not involved would go there and do homework, weave, paint, etc., and they really enjoyed this.

She had always enjoyed music — when we were on the farm, she had a guitar. I remember being allowed to sit in an armchair and strum it if I was very careful. During one of the "lean" years, the folks had to sell it in order to buy a bag of flour. I think she always wanted to buy it back, but the family who purchased it from her, would not let her have it back.

She had learned to play piano while in Raymond, and after they lived on the farm, Dad promised her a piano. She was so happy about this, and thought about it such a lot, was planning how she would arrange her work so that she would have time to practice it. One day, before it was even purchased, she rushed through her work and went into the diningroom to play the piano! It was a nice one — a Heintzman upright grand, with a lovely tone. She gave it to us when she moved from her large home on 4th avenue. Bob and Cathy have it in Calgary now, and it still has that lovely tone, and some of her great grandchildren are learning to play it.

She encouraged us kids to practice our musical instruments, and always enjoyed going to the concerts the kids participated in — here in Lethbridge, all over southern Alberta, in Provo where Harold and Ralph were active in music circles, and hearing Hugh and his family perform in Lethbridge. She sang many a lovely alto solo in church meetings here and in Raymond, and was a choir member for years.

She developed many hobbies to occupy her mind and time. She was always busy. She had a fine garden, and really enjoyed this. When she was 90, she still dug part of her garden with a spading fork, even though Don had offered to roto-till it for her.

She joined the Lethbridge Sketch Club and painted many lovely pictures, giving several to her children, and at least one to every grandchild and great-grandchild. She was very modest about her ability, since Jessie and Lura got so much publicity, but her paintings were really lovely.

She joined the weaving guild, and purchased a large loom with her brother Kay. She wove many beautiful pieces — tablecloths, fancy towels, place mats, evening bags, stoles, and even enough yardage of tweed to have a coat tailored for herself. Every grandchild also received a piece of weaving from her.

She made lovely quilts. As long as she was able to make them, each great-grandchild received a beautiful quilt from "GG," as she was lovingly known. One quilt that was special, was "pieced" by her mother from material her grandmother had owned in the 1890's. Another special one was appliqued floral emblems of the provinces of Canada.

She enjoyed knitting, and made many sweaters for gifts for grandchildren. She also knitted and crocheted afghans, tablecloths, etc. and tatted edgings for many a handkerchief. She decorated writing paper with tatted flowers.

She did a lot of genealogical research. For many years she searched for Dad's ancestors in England, without success. She also paid professional researchers, but they too were unsuccessful. During a sabbatical leave, Harold finally made a lot of progress, which pleased her a lot. Harold has recently been able to link up her research with his, extending the pedigree back to the 1500's, and will be able to submit many names for temple ordinances. She is very pleased about this.

She was a temple worker for 18 years, starting this enjoyable calling when Jessie and Octave were matron and president of the Alberta Temple, and served later under Pres. and Sister Heber Jensen, then President and Sister Elmo Fletcher. Usually she and her co-workers left Lethbridge about 6:00 a.m. and spent the whole day in the temple, returning about 11:00 p.m. They said they would rather spend the whole day while they were there, than to go two days. Needless to say, they came home tired but happy. She was released just before we were called as temple workers in 1972.

She often visited her sisters in Utah. She loved to do this. For years, we attended General Conferences in Salt lake City, and took her with us. One of the first things she would do when we went to October conference was to fill up the trunk of the car with melons. Her father had raised many melons in their New Harmony garden, and she dearly loved them. So did we.

She really enjoyed visiting Harold and Ralph and their families in Provo too, and would often ride down on the bus, or fly down, for a special concert, or other special event, or just for a visit.

She was generous with her time and money. One Christmas she gave each grandchild the handsome sum of \$50.00, and it was a handsome sum in those days. Some of the kids made pretty good investments with the money, too. She was always buying someone a suit or a dress, or a mixmaster, etc.

She remained active in church work, and was always ready to help others. She taught the Spiritual Living lessons at Relief Society for years, and was a visiting teacher most of her life. She was R.S. librarian for at least three years, and always volunteered to help at funerals and ward dinners, etc.

She and her sister Jessie were very close. She was happy to live close enough that they could visit often, and talk on the phone nearly every day. Or should I say that Jessie talked and Mom listened, for hours on end, but she loved it. While she was driving a car, she chauffeured Jessie around town endlessly. She and I shared a car for many years, and when she no longer felt safe driving, I chauffeured her around. The city bus stopped at her corner, and she often rode it down town. She liked to be as independent as possible. She always belonged to the same ward as we did, so accompanied us to all church meetings.

She and her dear friend, Amelia Johansen, visited all the church members in the hospitals once a week for years, until Amelia passed away suddenly. This left a big void in her life — she had really enjoyed Amelia.

In the 1970's JoLane Laycock Jolley was invited to adjudicate at the Lethbridge Music Festival, and she stayed with mother for several days. They enjoyed each other's company very much. Mom always liked to attend the festival, for there was usually a grandchild or several great grandchildren performing. Mom was pleased to have a visit just recently with JoLane and Weldon, who were in Calgary to attend a convention at Banff. They made a special trip down to Lethbridge to visit her, and we had a family dinner at Extendicare, then sang and visited.

For several years, she had arthritis in her hands and arms, but it went into remission after while and she has not been bothered with it for years now. She had a cataract operation on one eye in 1982. This improved her sight considerably. She began having trouble hearing conversations, and was constantly asking us to repeat ourselves. Ralph took the bull by the horns, and insisted that she get a hearing aid. She didn't like wearing it, and her natural hearing improved dramatically — she did not wear the hearing aid very long.

She turned 90 in 1983, and a Family Reunion was planned for the whole family. Lucy and Ralph were in charge of it, and did a wonderful job of planning and executing the plans. They rented accommodations on BYU campus — each family had their own suite, with a large meeting room for programs and testimony meeting, etc. They ate at the cafeteria, or had picnics etc., visited Timpanogas cave and Provo canyon, attended Ralph's Sunday afternoon Band Concert In The Park where the children enjoyed playing Pied Piper, following him around the park, etc. At this time, she had 81 descendants, and most were present. Harold and Lois were on a mission in Tempe, Arizona so were unable to be there. Don had just had back surgery and was in so much pain that he was confined to bed (he wanted me to go anyway, but I could not leave him in that condition), and Bill and Carol had responsibilities that kept them at home, but I think everyone else was there, and had a wonderful time!

Mother's memory began slipping. She would put a pot on the kitchen stove and go into the livingroom and forget it. She burned up more pots this way! She also used the elements on her stove to heat the room, and this was not safe. We felt she could not live alone any longer and had a family council to decide what to do. Some of the family were unable to care for her in their homes, and in addition we felt it would be too confusing for her to be moving about continually. She herself suggested a "Seniors" lodge, of which there were several in Lethbridge and vicinity, so we took her to inspect some of them.

She finally decided that she would like to live in the Ridgeview Lodge in Raymond, where she had a private room, friendly matron, good meals, entertainment, church services, Relief Society meetings, and where several old friends lived. She moved there in September 1984, and found a bosom pal in Lizzie King, whom she had known ever since she moved to Raymond in 1905. They would sit side by side on the sofa and fall asleep leaning on each other's shoulders. Lizzie was about ten years older than Mom, but they had a lot in common. They would talk about the old days, about their husbands, old friends etc. They were always together. I and my family, and Hugh and his family, visited her on alternate days, and we often brought her to Lethbridge for the day, to go shopping, to her dentist, doctor, for Sunday dinners, to buy clothing, etc. I often took her to visit Kay and Velma, and when her sisters Vilo, Lura and Mary came for visits, I took her to visit them. I took her to Cardston once a week and left her to visit with Jessie in the Auxiliary Hospital there while I went to a temple session.

In August 1986, the matron advised us that she should move to a nursing home due to health problems she was having, so we moved her to Extendicare on 13th street north in Lethbridge. Here she gets good care — nursing care when needed, good meals, laundry, hair care, church services, entertainment, out for lunch at the Senior Centre once a week, etc. I try to visit her every day, but must miss occasionally.

In Feb. 1987, she fell and broke her hip. She had to have surgery, and is now confined to a wheelchair. Before this happened, I was able to take her out for meals with us, shopping, car rides, etc., but now that she is in a wheelchair, I cannot manage to get her into my car. There is a handibus service that will bring her out to our homes if we book far enough ahead, and if it is not slippery and there are people at home to help get her chair up the steps. We cannot get her wheelchair into our bathrooms, so she cannot stay more than a couple of hours at a time. Extendicare is not the nicest place to live, but it would be impossible for anyone to care for her in a home now — bathrooms are inadequate, and she is too heavy for one person to move. Her health problems make nursing home care necessary. She never complains.

In 1988, Iza Steele moved into Extendicare, and for a time, she and Mom were in the same room, but when Iza needed more nursing care, they moved her down the hall closer to the nursing station, then upstairs. Mom and I visited Iza occasionally, and they enjoy talking for a few minutes. Iza passed away a couple of months ago. Another old friend who is in Extendicare is Ethel Queckboerner, a sister to Lottie Baker and Josie

Erickson who were neighbors on the farm. Mom and Ethel were teenagers in Raymond together, and still reminisce about the old days.

She enjoys visitors, but does not always remember who they are. Hugh and Audrey visit her often, as do Carol and Bill and their children. Patricia and her little ones go often too. Harold and Lois, Ralph and Lucy usually come up twice a year for visits and she really enjoys these, especially when they bring their musical instruments and put on a concert for her. When Don and I are away in the winter for a couple of months, Hugh and Audrey do yeoman service visiting her really often.

Bruce built a ramp for his van, so that he can transport her in her wheelchair that way if the handibus is booked up — it takes two men to get her in and out of the van and up the steps of the house.

Some of the things we do to entertain her are reading family histories, scriptures, playing the organ and singing (sometimes she will sing the same song all day long — one of her favorites is "My Bonnie Lies Over the Ocean"), looking at her photo albums, watching a little TV if there is something special on. She enjoys the Lawrence Welk show on Sat. evenings in Shirley Griffin's room. At her birthday last year, she came to dinner at our house with Audrey and Hugh. All the grandchildren and great grandchildren in the area called in after, and we had sing-song with Bill at the keyboard. She knew all the verses for every Primary song we could sing, and really enjoyed it.

It is hard to watch her going downhill, I wish we could do more to make her life happy. For years, she has wanted to go on to the other side and be with Dad, and now she is afraid he will have forgotten her. She took very good care of him during his years of ill health, both in 1919 and 1920, and during his last few years when diabetes and heart trouble made him feel so miserable.

It might be interesting to note some of the inventions and improvements Mom has seen during her lifetime, which include running water in our homes, then hot water heaters, indoor plumbing, telephones (at first we had party lines on the farm), cars — Model T Fords, then more sophisticated open touring cars, followed by glass windows in cars, heaters, air conditioners, gravelled roads instead of dirt roads which often had big mud-holes in them, paved roads, radios, recording machines, cassette recorders, record players, stereos, black and white TV (we saw our first one at the 1939 World's Fair in San Francisco), color TV, compact disk players, P.A. systems, electronic keyboards, silent movies, "talkies", then color movies.

For heating our homes, we graduated from the coal range, to circulating heaters, then got gas furnaces and thermostats, room and home aid conditioning, gas and electric kitchen ranges, electric refrigerators, aluminum windows and doors, insulation in homes, wall-to-wall carpets, vacuum cleaners, washing machines (hand-operated, then gasengine operated, electric, and automatics), dryers, wash-and-wear fabrics, permanent press. Electric kitchen appliances such as toasters, fry pans, crockpots, microwave ovens, electric irons, steam irons, dishwashers.

Fountain pens, ballpoint pens, felt pens, calculators, computers, Nintendoes, electric typewriters, treadle sewing machines, electric sewing machines, silk stockings, nylons, pantyhose, newer and weirder fashions in clothing and hair. (I remember Mom telling about visiting her neighbor on the farm in the 1920's. Mrs. Leonard had been to New York and had her hair cut short, or "bobbed," as they called it. She persuaded Mom to let her cut her hair, and Dad was not exactly pleased.) Old-fashioned permanents using heavy heated rollers, "cold-wave" permanents, electric curling irons, hair dryers, good-looking synthetic wigs.

City buses, travel buses, trailers, motor homes, planes — propeller, jet, ultralights — satellites, space travel to the moon. Farm machinery such as steam engines, threshing machines, tractors, one-way plows, rod weeders, combines, sprinkling irrigation systems instead of irrigating from a ditch with a shovel and gum boots, self-propelled combines, hydraulically-controlled implements, hay balers, front-end loaders for hay and other materials, bigger and bigger machinery to handle large acreages — Dad would have been thrilled to see many of the modern inventions, he was always interested in the latest inventions.

The list could go on and on!

MEMORIES OF FERN REDD LAYCOCK

by Hugh Laycock

We took mother on outings to Waterton, Logan Pass, Livingstone Gap country etc. She wasn't thrilled with the boat, but would ride in it.

She would run errands for me and help on occasion when something broke down. She once drove to Welling and towed the old Ford truck back to the farm when no one else was available.

For years we alternated having Christmas dinner at Livingstones' and at the farm, and turn about for New Year's day, always with mother there.

She and Brent went together to the Lethridge Sketch Club for a number of years.

In 1967, during the spring blizzard which tied up all Southern Alberta roads for a while, Bill, who had just returned from his mission, stayed at her home and accompanied many singers at the Music Festival.

When I played in the Lethbridge Symphony Orchestra concerts for several years, Audrey took her to the concerts.

In 1977, I took her up for a plane ride for her birthday. She did enjoy it and remarked over and over that she didn't have any idea there was so much land around here. A couple of years later, Lura and Vilo came to visit, and I took all three of them up and around over the Raymond area where they had grown up. They all really enjoyed that. Mother told me several times afterward that she had tried to get to them first and say that if I asked them to fly, they did not HAVE to go. She didn't make it in time. They all went, and to her surprise, enjoyed it.

EPILOGUE

In May 1991, mother had a slight cold. At 3:30 in the morning of May 9, 1991, the supervisor at Extendicare called us to say that when they checked on her, she had passed away quietly in her sleep, at the age of 97. We were saddened that we would not be able to visit with her again, but knew how happy she would be to be with her beloved George again. Forty four years is a long time to be separated! She had a smile on her face, and we knew there had been a wonderful reunion.

Her memorial service was lovely — it was conducted by her grandson Brent Laycock, a brand-new bishop. It was the first service he had conducted, and he did a fine job.

All the children and their spouses were present, and all the grandchildren except Donald H. Livingstone, who was conducting a business seminar in California with 200 participants from all over western U.S. It would have been impossible to contact all those people and make alternative arrangements. He was very sad to be unable to come, as he felt very close to her. He was the oldest of the grandchildren, and had lived in her home for the first three years of his life while his Dad was overseas in World War II.

Many of our friends told us that the service was just wonderful, and we ourselves felt very satisfied with it. We knew that she and Dad were there and were pleased with the proceedings.

Bill Laycock played the organ prelude, and spoke, representing the grandchildren. All of the sons and grandsons (except Don of course) sang a male chorus "I Believe in Christ" which was written by her cousin, Bruce R. McConkie. Harold Laycock gave the biography, then Ralph Laycock spoke briefly. Ralph's daughters combined in a lovely musical number, one of the solos that Mother often sang. JoLane Jolley was at the piano, Linda Findlay on the flute, and Claudia Laycock, Kathrine Little and Elizabeth Farnsworth sang an arrangement done by their Dad.

Don Livingstone gave the gospel message and the closing number was a solo by Carol Laycock, again one of the solos that Mother used to sing "I Shall Not Pass Again This Way," accompanied by the four children, as we used to accompany Mom — Merne on the piano, Hugh on the violin, Ralph on clarinet and Harold on the viola. Prayers were given by Robert Livingstone and Christopher Laycock, and the organ postlude, "Going

Home," was played by Lucy Laycock. The burial took place at Mountain View Cemetery in Lethbridge in the plot beside her husband. The grave was dedicated by Hugh Laycock.

Mother lived a long and useful life, was beloved by all who knew her, and is sorely missed by her family, but we know she is happy to be re-united with Dad, and we all try to live according to her teachings.

REMEMBRANCES OF THE 75th BIRTHDAY OF HANS ULRICH BRYNER

(Dictated by himself to his niece, Annie, the daughter of his brother Casper. There are a few lines missing at the beginning.)

Father was strict and made us mind,

Mother was good-hearted and very kind;

Father was a shoemaker by trade, and I had to carry them here and there,

Sometimes I did not come home when he wanted me to come back,

and for this I got many a scolding.

He took out his watch and gave me time to come back and go to school again.

When I was ten years old, father bought a large farm,

Mother was told to quit weaving and spinning shoe thread yarn.

Father taught me to prune, to plow and to mow,

Mother took my sisters into the garden and taught them to hoe.

Knitting, spinning and weaving had to be done at night.

Father fixed the shoes and I had to sit by his side.

He gave me the Bible and gave me a light,

I had to do something, to read or to write.

They did not allow us to spend our money for dances or show,

But when there was real pleasure, they allowed us to go.

We went to school from six to twelve,

And in this we did very well.

Father and mother were good to provide,

We always obeyed and stood on their side.

And now we feel happy that is the way way we have been raised,

For that is more than gold and silver are worth.

I will tell you now what happened to me,

In January of eighteen hundred and forty three,

I was sick and lay in my bed,

One of my school-mates who was always at my side, took very sick and died.

When they told me, it worried me so that I thought that I might be laid by his side.

I will tell you now what I did see,

A heavenly vision came to me,

A man came to me and took me by the hand,

And led me in darkness half round the world,

I did not see him, no mountain nor tree,

No street, no city, no light, until we came on top of the earth,

And heaven opened above our heads,

Then a bright light came down, and behold I did see,

The city of Zion was shown to me.

It shone like gold, like silver, like glass,

No one can have an idea how pretty it was.

I saw a big wall and three gates therein,

Where the righteous and holy were allowed to go in.

I wanted to climb up and go in there too,

The man held his hand before me and said, "That you can't do,

The time is not yet granted for you,

But the time will come if you are faithful and true,

"Twill be granted for you to go in there too."

I looked at his face and noticed his size,

His gray whiskers and peculiar eyes.

He was a man I had never seen before,

After that he never said anything more.

That vision came to me by day and by night,

And I could not forget that wonderful sight,

I always thought it meant a dark night,

I did not know that I was going to be blind.

I wondered what would become of me,

But it was not revealed before eighteen hundred and fifty three.

After that sickness I was healthy and stout,

I worked hard for ten years and learned to provide.

For all kinds of labor to do we were willing,

For this fetched us in many a shilling.

We assisted our parents and we are glad we did that,

For if we had not, we might be in the old country yet.

I worked at my trade and learned to provide,

I chose my companion and married my bride.

We lived happy together and she bore me a child.

They were in my favor, I loved tham and felt to rejoice.

Two happy years passed by, we were happy and free,

When the child was twelve years old, she was taken from me,

And buried in the place called Harmony,

The only one of twenty I ever did see.

She is now in heavenly care,

Now we know her mother is there,

Who was taken from me on the first of September of ninetythree.

I will tell you now what happened to me,

I received a stroke in my eyes in the winter of fifty-three,

That was an awful accident to me;

I lost my sight and could not see,

No one was able to comfort me.

One day my wife and child sat by my side

We felt so bad we had to wipe our eyes.

My wife and my parents divided their tears with me,

They felt so bad because I could not see.

We felt so sorry we were afraid our future happiness was destroyed.

My mother-in-law came in and said, "You can do nothing but pray,

Maybe the Lord will open a way,

I believe the Lord has his hand in that,

It's something we cannot understand yet."

She said, "It's always a whispering voice says to me,

Don't feel sorry that Bryner took blind, he is not left,

It's good for you all, but you don't know it yet."

She went out, and came in again and repeated over again,

"Don't feel sorry that Bryner is took blind, he is not left,

It's good for all, but you don't know it yet."

Then she went out.

My parents, brothers and sisters were kind to me,

They were all willing to provide for me,

But life was no comfort to me,

I could not feel happy, and have no more joys,

I felt that the Lord had thrown me aside.

Four sorrowful months passed by until the latter part of July.

One morning I told my father and mother to listen,

For last night I had a wonderful vision.

My father, mother, brothers and sisters did listen

When I explained my wonderful vision.

I found myself in a great dark room,

It was as dark as it would be in doom.

Three fires appeared of a different size.

I opened my eyes and beheld a man stood by my side.

I looked in his face and noticed his size,

His gray hair and peculiar eyes.

He was the same man I had seen before.

Who led me half round the earth ten years ago.

He had an open book in his hand I had never seen before.

He crossed out my sins from the book, and they fell to the floor.

A voice told me "That middle fire you will have to go through,"

I said "I am able to stand that too."

The walls cracked open so wide we could go through,

The light came in as bright as day noon;

The road to Zion was shown to me,

And to get there we crossed the sea.

With my wife and child, we crossed the sea, and a great company.

We landed at boston, happy and gay,

We called at New York which was on our way.

We had a long journey, I think it was that great prairie

Into the mountains, the same place I had seen before.

A lady who had listened wanted to interpret my vision,

She said we would go to America to hunt a physician.

This did not satisfy my interpretation,

As it did not correspond with my former visitation.

Father said he would be willing to go,

But we always thought we would like to learn more.

The interpretation was not given before

February, eighteen hundred fifty four,

When we hard a man from America to our city came,

A Mormon elder, George Meyer by name.

My sister went out to hunt for him.

I told her to see if it was the man I had seen in my dream;

She could not find him, he had gone again.

Next Sunday he held his first meeting there,

And with my father and sisters, there were six to hear.

I described the man I had seen in my dreams.

As quick as they saw the elder, they knew it was him.

They invited him to come next day to our home,

He preached to us many things we had never known;

I said to myself "We have always read but never understood,

But all he did say, we could not dispute.

We thought he had preached to us a new gospel,

We found it corresponded with the teachings of the ancient Apostles.

All our family was anxious to hear,

When he said an angel from heaven had appeared.

He said the angel Moroni had appeared to a young boy,

Joseph Smith,

He gave him all the revelations he did need.

Four years he did visit him,

Then the golden bible was given to him,

Which was the history and bible of this continent.

The doctrine in it corresponded with the Old and New Testament.

He said the church of Christ must be organized,

The people must repent and be baptized.

The judments of God have commenced,

The Lord wants to gather the Latter-day Saints.

To Zion you must go in order to be saved,

For those who will not obey will be destroyed.

Then in the family of Bryner and Mathys, twelve were baptized,

We all felt happy and rejoiced.

My mother-in-law came in and said "Can you tell me a man

That looks like the man you saw in your dream?"

I told her his name and she said "It is the man I have picked too.

And now we know your vision is true."

Now our sorrowful tears were wiped from our eyes,

We felt happy and thanked the Lord and wept for joy.

We see now that the Lord accepted our prayer,

When we heard that heavenly messenger missionary.

In a few days the elder laid hands on me,

To restore my sight, so they anointed me,

He wished none in the room but mother and me,

But there were two ladies who wished to see.

Our faith was strong and the Lord heard our prayers.

His power was made manifest, and I could see a little next day,

I felt so happy and contented in mind,

I did not care if I had been taken blind.

The daily news stated "If this man gives Bryner his sight,

We will believe and be baptized."

Next day as I lay in my bed,

An evil spirit came very near choking me to death,

I felt as if in my head he had made a hole,

And I cried out loud "In the name of Jesus Christ let me alone!"

I arose from my bed to find out where the spirit came in,

My parents awoke and I told them what had happened to me,

They said "Oh, go back to bed, it is only a dream."

Next morning I tried to see, as I had done the day before,

But was frightened to find that I could see no more.

I went upstairs and told one of the ladies who wished to see,

She said "The same spirit came and oh, how hard he choked me!"

I had to promise him, if he would let me alone,

I would have nothing more with the Mormons to do,

And the spirit left." And she never joined the church.

They did not weaken my faith,

I kept God's commandments, as was my desire.

For it was shown in my vision

That I should go through a fire.

I bore my testimony to all my brothers and sisters.

After this they wanted to ordain me a teacher.

As I did not feel able, so I refused it,

But after a while I found I had missed it.

Another vision was shown unto me.

I was standing in a meadow and

I saw a fire a half mile from me,

I walked up to it and wanted to see.

Therein was a man's face, he looked at me,

I had to run back so the fire would not catch me.

I ran and fell down, and a man's face above me I could see.

A voice came from above and said, "Will you always do what is required of you?"

I answered "I am willing to obey whatever you say."

At a public meeting I related my dream.

The elder wished to know if I was ready to be ordained.

It had been revealed to me that I should go through a fire before,

Then I resolved to refuse no more.

When we emigrated to Zion we went the same road

Which was revealed to me in my vision before.

In a sailing ship we crossed the sea,

Forty-two days we had to remain in the sailing ship of Enoch Train.

We landed in Boston happy and gay,

We were called to New York for that was our way.

As near as I remember

We started from Florence the first of September.

From there across the prairie one thousand miles we had to go,

And by ox team, they went so slow.

The latter part of our journey,

The ground was covered with snow.

My legs were frozen, and my teamster's too,

So my dear wife was left with three sick,

The cooking and driving to do.

Before we came to Devil's Gate, people and oxen were frozen to death.

We were compelled to leave wagon and everything.

Brigham sent teams from Salt Lake and they took us in.

If Brigham had not sent help,

A great many more would have left this world.

When we came to the mountains there were nine feet of snow.

The people had to tramp it before the horses could go.

Three months we had travelled, hardly a house could be seen,

And we never met anyone who would tell us to come in.

We travelled through rain, mud, wind and snow,

Our wagons being the only shelter where we could go.

My brother and sister emigrated the year before me.

When they heard of our coming, he came a hundred miles to meet me.

He missed us and did not find our way,

He never knew if we were alive or dead

So he had to go back to Salt Lake City again.

We came in the same night my brother came in.

The night was so cold a kind family took us in.

Next morning he came, and when I heard his voice

I could not speak, for I had to wipe my eyes.

Thirty miles to Lehi we had to go.

It was a very cold day and the ground was covered with snow,

With a hayrack wagon and an ox team we went so slow.

My sister and my wife's brother were there,

Were kind to us and willing with us everything to share.

Together we all had much to say, we were so happy to meet again.

Next summer father, mother, my sister and my son came in.

They also had to travel with an ox team.

It is hard to imagine how happy we felt.

We all felt to rejoice that our lives had been spared.

My sister related what had happened to them on the plains.

The cholera came and took away many of the saints—

About two hundred people. Some died on the road,

Some of their names were found written on a board.

Many accidents took place, many died and were buried

Without a coffin in the grave.

The same year they came, the grasshoppers destroyed nearly everything.

I also told them what happened to me.

We had a stampede and a woman was killed.

My wagon tipped over and an old lady and my child nearly killed.

From the effects of this hurt the old lady died.

We called the elders and they administered to my child.

They said the Lord would not take her from me,

For she would be my guide.

At the last crossing on the Platte river we were snowed in.

Three companies came together and eleven days we had to remain.

The handcart company being a half mile ahead.

One night there were sixteen persons frozen to death,

Some more died on the road.

The ground was so hard no graves could be dug,

They were covered with snow.

In Devil's Gate we divided the teams,

To the handcart company we gave thirty teams.

Two families in one wagon must go,

For those who had charge of the companies ordered it so,

For the oxen had died and teams we did lack,

One third of the wagons were left back.

Many things could be gathered up on the road,

Which people had thrown from their wagons to lighten their loads.

And we could tell many things more.

Father and mother had many things to tell

Of their trip, and many experiences as well.

One day they had a big stampede,

A dog came by and frightened the team,

The oxen ran away and a man and a woman were killed.

Father's team ran away, mother and my son were in,

Father was hurt and was picked up for dead,

The team was stopped. Father came to his mind all right again,

But his arm was broken, and what a bad fix they were in.

This way he had to drive his team,

But mother did all she could to help him.

Now we have all told our troubles,

And we think our children have no reason to grumble.

The Lord could see what trouble his people had,

So the world was stirred up so a railroad must be made.

And now the sectarian ministers were made to rejoice,

For they thought now the Mormons could be easily destroyed.

It was said that the government much money had spent,

For they thought now that an army could be easily sent.

But all their notions and plans did fail,

For other purposes the railroad was made,

For the Lord's power will ever prevail.

How easy now, speedy messengers are sent,

Now the judgments of God have commenced,

And how quickly they gather the Latter-day Saints.

In the fall of sixty-one we were called to Dixie land,

And we all obeyed Brigham's command.

And to get there we travelled through storm and snow,

Through rocks and sand we also had to go.

We were to build a city called St. George,

There we were to build the house of the Lord

In which will be an endless mission.

Blessed are those who will go and redeem their former relations,

And open their prison doors, Prepare for their resurrection

And even so for their own.

If we want exaltation we will have to do so.

What a great mission we should be willing to do,

For our former relations number millions

And Latter-day Saints are but few.

If this great work should be neglected,

Some of our blessings would be rejected.

How happy will be our meeting again

With those whom we have redeemed behind the veil.

I hope then to see you all inside of Zion's City wall,

Those whom I have never seen before,

When we shall be allowed to walk on the golden floor

In the City of Zion I have seen before.

The Dixie land we are now in

No house for shelter for us to get in,

We lived in tents and the red sand could blow in.

There were no stores for us to go in.

We had no money to pay a bill

And my father made me a spinning wheel.

We raised some cotton and mother gathered it in.

She also did the carding and it was ready to spin.

She spun the warp and the filling.

She did the coloring with dug roots.

After it was done it looked pretty good.

She spun the thread for the dress to be made.

Brigham said it was the best homespun thread he ever had in his hand.

Hundreds of yards she did spin with that old-fashioned spinning wheel.

In those days there were no machines in the land

And everthing had to be done by hand.

Nearly a century has passed since father and mother

came on this earth.

My father went to rest in sixty-two, Mother's age was past ninety-two.

In ninety-six she went to rest.

They were clothed in their wedding dress.

From their sins they were pronounced free,

And they received the heavenly key,

Free from the blood of this generation

To come forth in the morning of the resurrection.

I wish my children every one

Would study and do what has to be done.

Go do the work while you are able

And do not wait until you are feeble.

Nearly half a century has passed

And we are grateful to know

That the Lord has blessed us so.

Remember your mother since she had died

For forty years she was your father's guide.

She was taken from me the first of September ninety-three.

All of our family who joined the church

Were permitted to Zion to go.

Only Mother Mathys — she went to her heavenly rest,

And told her husband to take my sister to Zion and give her a home.

They emigrated to Zion in eighteen hundred and sixty-four.

He showed his faith by his works

In helping to emigate so many of the poor.

He was sick on the road, but sickened and died

In Lehi, January eighteen hundred and sixty-five.

Mathys did not only emigrate so many of the saints,

But he paid for the printing of one thousand copies of the Book of Mormon.

HANS ULRICH BRYNER JR.

Hans Ulrich Bryner Jr., the son of Hans Ulrich Bryner and Verena Wintsch was born in Illnau, Zurich, Switzerland, the 22nd of April 1827. His father was a shoemaker and young Ulrich picked up and delivered the shoes for his father. His parents were good religious Lutherans and taught their children to pray, to be obedient, honest, prompt, industrious and thrifty.

When Ulrich was ten years old, his father bought a large farm, which changed their lives a lot. His mother no longer spent her time at the loom spinning thread for shoes, and his father left his cobbler's bench to look after the farm. Ulrich learned to do farming chores such as plowing, mowing and pruning. His sisters did the hoeing. Such things as weaving, spinning and knitting were done at night after the day in the fields. His father mended shoes at night while young Ulrich read the Bible to the family. They were allowed to go to the best entertainments that came along. They attended school from age six to twelve and did very well in their studies. By the time Ulrich was grown, he could speak six or seven languages. They were a happy united family and were fairly well off. They were always grateful for their early training and for their heritage.

In January of 1843, when Ulrich was nearly sixteen years old, he became very sick. His best pal also got sick and died. This upset Ulrich and he worried about it, thinking that he too might die. With this on his mind he was unable to sleep very well. He had a dream, in which a man with a grey beard and peculiar eyes took him by the hand and led him, in darkness, half way around the world. He could see nothing at all until they came to the top of the world. Then the heavens opened above their heads and he saw a bright light come down. He saw the City of Zion shining like gold, silver and glass — its loveliness was above description. He saw a big wall with three gates leading through it. Righteous and holy people were going through these gates into the city. He wanted to go in too, but the man said "You can't go through now, but if you are faithful and true, the time will come when you will be allowed to go." As he lay on his sick bed, he thought of

this dream night and day. He thought a dark night was coming, but never guessed that he was going to be blind. He told his family of the dream and they all wondered what it meant.

When he recovered, he learned the butchering trade. He entered contests which were held to encourage the workers to excel. He was a good worker, quick and accurate. His specialty was killing hogs — he could kill, scald, scrape, hang and draw a hog faster than most anyone. He had won four cups as prizes. He received promotions until he became superintendent of the slaughter-house. He was also buyer for the establishment and went about the country buying animals. His languages came in handy in this assignment. He may have learned some of them on the job, although in Switzerland there are three official languages, taught in the schools, French, German and Italian. There are also many dialects. He wanted eventually to get into government service and worked toward that end.

In 1849 he married Anna Maria Dorothea Mathys, who was born 14 July 1828 at Wiedikon, Zurich, Switzerland, daughter of Johannes and Anna Dorothea Meyer Mathys. Their first child, Mary, was born 23 June 1851 at Wiedikon. They were happy and free from care for two years. Then one day at work, he was trying to beat his own record in preparing for another contest. He had the hog hanging up, and its foot slipped off the cross stick (gambrel) and struck him in the eye, splitting the pupil. The carcass fell and dragged him down with it. He gave a cry and his brother Casper, nearly seven years younger, who worked in the same shop, came to his rescue. When Casper saw his eye was knocked out of its socket and hanging down on his cheek, Casper put his hand over it and led him down along the river bank to the doctor. Ulrich got infection in it, and with no antibiotics, he was sick for a long time, and of course had to give up his job. His parents took him to Germany to eye specialists, but they could do nothing. He was blind.

Friends came to Maria saying "Give him up and let him go home to his parents, they are well enough off to take care of him. You don't want to be saddled with a blind man all the rest of your life. What can he do for you now? You would be better off without him." But her mother said "No, Maria will not desert him, he needs her now more than he ever did." Of course Maria stayed with him, but nothing could comfort him. Their home was one of mourning. They could see no future, and felt that all their happiness was completely destroyed.

One day as Maria sat by his side, her mother came in and said, "You can do nothing but pray about it — perhaps the Lord will open a way for you. I believe the hand of the Lord is in it, for a whispering voice always says to me, "Don't feel sorry that Bryner is blind, it's good for you all but you don't know it yet." Ulrich's family was kind to them, and all were willing to provide for them, but Ulrich could not be happy. He felt that the Lord had cast him aside.

Four long sorrowful months passed by, then one morning in the latter part of July, he called his mother and father to listen, for he had had another dream. His family gathered round and he said, "I found myself in a great dark room with no glimmer of

light. Three fires appeared, each of a different size. A man with a grey beard and peculiar eyes stood at my side, the same man I had seen before. He had an open book in his hand. He crossed out my sins and they fell to the floor. A voice said to me "You will have to go through the middle fire." I said, "I am able to stand that too." The wall opened so wide that we could pass through it. The light came in as bright as noon-day and we were shown the road to Zion. We had to cross the sea with a great company and take a long journey across the great prairie into the mountains to reach the City of Zion."

A few months later, in February 1854, a Mormon elder by the name of George Meyer came to the Zurich from America. The Bryner family was anxious to see if he were the man Ulrich had seen in his dreams. Several members of the family walked for two hours to get to Bern, to hear Elder Meyer. As soon as they saw him they recognized him as the man in Ulrich's dream. George Meyer was very cross-eyed and wore very thick lenses. They invited him to come to their home.

Two days later, late at night a knock came on the door, and when Maria answered, it was Elder Meyer. She asked her husband if he thought it safe to let them in at this time of night. "Oh, yes," he said, "take them up to my old room." She took them up to the fourth-floor bedroom, and from that time on, it was their headquarters in that part of Switzerland. Some of the neighbors objected to their being there. They threw rocks and broke the window. Years later when grandsons were in Switzerland on missions, they said they could still see the broken window.

Needless to say, the message these brethren brought from over the sea was listened to eagerly and believed. There were so many beautiful things in this religion that were lacking in their Lutheran faith — new revelation, a prophet of God, angels visiting the earth again, a new golden Bible, a call for repentance, baptism as John practised it, the laying on of hands for the gift of the Holy Ghost and for ordinations, and many other beautiful principles. Twelve of the Bryners and Mathys's were baptized, with Ulrich being the first one. They were so happy they thanked the Lord and wept for joy. They knew now that He had answered their prayers.

In a few days, Elder Meyer administered to Ulrich for his sight. He said he wished only Ulrich and his mother in the room, but two neighbors wanted to be there, so they were allowed to stay. The next day, Ulrich was able to see a little, and he was happy. The Daily News stated "If this man gives Bryner his sight, we will believe and be baptized."

"Next evening," he said, "as I lay in my bed an evil spirit came very near to choking me to death, and I cried out loud, 'In the name of Jesus Christ, leave me alone.' I rose from my bed to find out where the evil spirit had come from. My parents awoke and I told them what had happened to me. They said, 'Oh, go back to bed, it's only a dream.' But next morning I was unable to see amything at all."

He talked to one of the ladies who had seen the administration and told her of his experiences. She said the same thing had happened to her. The evil spirit had choked her so hard she had had to promise that she would have nothing to do with the Mormons in

order to get rid of him, and she never did join the church. But this experience didn't weaken Ulrich's faith. He knew the gospel was true and bore testimony to his brothers and sisters. He knew from his vision of the fire that his life wasn't going to be easy and that troubles lay ahead for him.

They wanted to join the Saints in Utah, and began to make preparations for the long journey. They couldn't all go at once, so Casper and Barbara Ann went first to lead the way and make preparations for the others to follow. The most ardent and thrilled of the group was his mother-in-law, Anna Dorothea Meyer Mathys. She worked hard and planned carefully for the trip, but she passed away before the sailing date. All the rest of the family, five in all, came to U. S. and crossed the plains to Utah.

As was the custom in Switzerland, Maria, for her trousseau, had spun and woven sheets, pillowcases, and all kinds of household linens, enough to last a lifetime, but their baggage was limited to seventeen pounds per person, so most of it had to be left behind, and they came with very little. Ulrich had painted a life-size portrait of Maria, and they had to leave it hanging on the wall. It was 1856 and they now had two children, Mary Magdalena and Gottfried Henry. They felt the little boy was too young to make the trip, so they left him with his grandparents, to come later on. They travelled the same route Ulrich had seen in his dream. They were in the sailing vessel, the "Enoch Train," for forty two days, and landed in Boston, and went on via New York to join the saints.

His brother, Casper, had purchased a wagon and oxen, and hired a teamster, so everything was ready for them to go on to Utah. They left Florence about the first of September, 1856. Travel by ox team was difficult for the pioneers, especially for Ulrich who could not see. He held onto the back of the wagon, and if the going got tough for the animals, he would help push the wagon. There is a painting done by Lura Redd, in the D.U.P. museum in Salt Lake City, of Ulrich clinging to the back of the wagon as he stumbled over the rocks, bumps, ruts, hillocks and gopher holes, and was sometimes dragged along when he lost his footing.

The journey was slow and uneventful for the most part, but at times there was plenty of excitement. They had two yoke of oxen on their wagon. Usually the lead yoke had to be led. When the cattle stampeded, the driver would jump on the back of one of the lead oxen and beat them over the heads with a whip he always carried. This caused the oxen to shut their eyes, and then they would slow down. When Ulrich's oxen stampeded, the driver broke his arm and the wagon was upset. An old lady who was riding with them, had been holding little Mary on her lap as she sat on the stove. In the upset, Mary was on the bottom, then the lady, then the stove on top of her, and lastly the wagon. The lady tried to shield the child by bracing herself on her arms, and was so badly hurt that she died. Mary's life was saved, but she had nervous spells afterwards.

The trip, about 1000 miles, took nearly four months, and it got very cold when they were about half way. Ulrich and the driver both froze their feet and legs, so Maria then had to look after them, do the cooking and the driving. Ulrich was administered to for his frozen feet, and Maria treated them with poultices made of pulverized sage and

snow, as advised by Brigham Young. His feet healed and he was later able to walk as straight as anyone. By the time they reached Devil's Gate, many people and oxen had frozen to death, so they had to double up and leave some of the wagons behind. Since the remaining wagons were loaded so heavily, everyone who could possibly walk, did so.

They caught up with the ill-fated Martin handcart company, and were asked to take another family in their wagon, so they had to leave more of their belongings beside the road. The bitterly cold weather made travel very slow, and provisions were scarce. Many died on this trek. The ground was frozen so hard they couldn't dig graves so they buried the dead just under the snow. Little Mary got so cold they thought she was frozen, but her father rubbed life back into her little cold body.

However help was on the way, and it came none too soon. Riders had taken word of their predicament into Salt Lake. Brigham Young sent rescue parties with wagons and supplies to meet them. The snow was nine feet deep. People had to go ahead and tramp the snow down so the animals could pull the wagons over it. How happy they were to finally reach Salt Lake!

When Ulrich's brother Casper had learned of the trouble this company was having, he started out to meet them, but as he was in Lehi, a couple of days travel further on than the others, he was late getting there, and began meeting rescue teams coming in. He spoke so little broken English that it was hard for him to make them understand, so he'd ask, "Has anyone seen a blind man?" None had, so he went on to the next group and asked again. All this time he didn't know whether his folks were dead or alive. Finally someone told him that the blind man had gone into Salt Lake over the other road. (There were two routes into Salt Lake.) So Casper turned around and went back to Salt Lake City and started all over again in his search. Kind people in the city had opened their hearts and homes to take in the cold and hungry ones, so now Casper went from door to door and asked, "Has anyone here seen a blind man?" Finally he came to the door of the house where Ulrich and his family were. Great was Ulrich's delight when he recognized his brother's voice! They fell on each other's necks and wept tears of joy. This was December 24, 1856.

They packed up in a hay rack and went on to Lehi, where Barbara and the rest were waiting for them, and there was a happy reunion. Barbara had married Maria's brother, John Mathys, and they were willing to share all they had. They told of the happenings in the preceding year. They had suffered through a cholera epidemic and the grasshopper plague. Ulrich told of their travels, the stampede and injury to his daughter, who had been administered to and promised that she would live to be his guide. He told of being snowed in for eleven days at the last crossing of the Platte river, of sixteen persons freezing to death in one night in the handcart company, of having to leave wagons behind because so many oxen had died, of leaving belongings beside the road to make more room in their wagons, of tavelling through rain, mud, wind and snow.

The next summer, 1857, Ulrich's parents and sister came from Switzerland, bringing his little son with them. What a happy reunion that was! The parents had also

travelled by ox team, having accidents along the way in which his father was badly injured and never completely recovered.

While in Lehi, a daughter Pauline was born. They moved to Ogden, where Ulrich operated a farm near his brother Casper. Elizabeth Ann (Lisette) was born in Ogden. Then they were called to settle in St. George, Washington county in 1861, and travelled three hundred miles through snowstorms and lived in a tent. They say that in those days, St. George was the coldest place on earth in the winter, with the fierce piercing winds which blew the red sand in upon everything. Albert was born there. Later they moved to New Harmony, not far from St. George, where Mary Verena and Frank were born.

Of course, there were no homes, no stores, no money in New Harmony. They had to provide everything themselves. They planted cotton, carded it, dyed it with roots and herbs, and Maria spun it into thread on a spinning wheel which Ulrich's father built for them. Brigham Young pronounced it the best home-made thread he had ever seen. They wove material for their clothing, and sewed everything by hand with the tiniest stitches imaginable.

Maria must have been a wonderful woman. She was very capable and could do most anything. Her life, after Ulrich lost his sight, must have been very different to what she had planned. She devoted herself to helping her husband. She was very small, but quick and efficient. Her friends said she was a sweet and charming as well. She spent all day with Ulrich in the fields, guiding him as he did his work, and helping with the farm and orchard work herself, at the same time bearing six more children and training them well.

Ulrich could manage pretty well in the house if the furniture was always kept in exactly the same spot, and there was nothing littering the floor. He could still mend shoes, and butcher hogs as well as anyone. He could prune trees and grapevines expertly. He would pick willows and weave baskets — there were none better — fancy baskets as well as utilitarian measuring baskets. No one knew how he could judge, but he made accurate bushel, half-bushel and peck baskets. He trained his sons to do many things, among others, to drive a team by the age of eight.

His son John told of an interesting experience. Four men, U.S. marshals in disguise, and their armed guards, asked Ulrich and his eight-year-old son to haul some freight for them to Pioche, Nevada. It was slow going, as the wagon was so heavily loaded. When they reached Pioche, the marshals confessed that the load wasn't only horse shoes and toe calks, as they had said, but hidden in it was \$50,000 worth of gold, the payroll for the mine. There were so many robbers around, and officers were so scarce, they devised this scheme to get the money safely delivered — they figured no one would suspect that a blind man and a little boy would be carrying the mine payroll.

Ulrich was a good judge of horse flesh, having known them in Switzerland. He could tell by the feel of a horse's head, legs, shoulders, neck, etc. whether it was a good horse. Some even claimed he could tell the color of the horse by feeling it.

They had an old wagon which was still in pretty good shape. One day his young boys said a man wanted to trade a much newer wagon for it. Ulrich said that didn't make sense — nobody would do that kind of a thing, and he wanted to see the wagon. He went out and felt it all over, and said "I wouldn't have it. It's a narrow guage wagon. It wouldn't 'track' in the ruts in the road, would be hard for horses to haul." The man must have been a stranger — no one who knew Ulrich would try to fool him that way.

He could recognize his friends by their voices, even though he might not have talked with them for years. There were several other Swiss brethren in New Harmony, Brother Brubacher, Brother Rohner, to name two. He loved to go visit them, and his grandchildren were called on to lead him to their homes, where he would visit for hours, it seemed, to the children who had to wait to lead him home again.

In 1868 Ulrich took a second wife, Margaretha Kuhn Wintsch, who had been widowed twice. He settled her in Toquerville, about twenty miles south of New Harmony, which was such a good place for growing fruit. Ulrich and Margaret had ten children. In 1884, he was called to go settle in Price, Carbon co. It took them three months to make the trip, as they had many cows with young calves and had to travel slowly. They would milk the cows in the morning, put the milk in the large churn tied to the side of the wagon. When they stopped at night, it would be churned to butter, and they would enjoy the buttermilk to drink. They arrived in Price on July 23rd, in time for the Pioneer Celebration on the 24th.

Theirs was the first house finished in Price — it was a two-storey log home, but three years later it burned to the ground. As it had been hot, some of them were sleeping out of doors and the rest managed to escape. No one was hurt except for Ulrich who did not realize how bad the fire was and went back in to get his important papers and money which were in a box upstairs. He was badly burned but recovered. There was no water with which to fight the fire, so they just stood there and watched it burn. Aunt Marget, as she was called, had a nervous breakdown after the fire, and was in hospital in Salt Lake for a long time.

The new house had to be fireproof, made of rocks and cobblestones like the homes in Switzerland. Ulrich supervised the whole thing. They made a form, filled it with rocks, then mortar was poured in and more rocks added. When this layer was set, the form was moved up and another layer added. It was a sturdy, well-built home.

They had brought fruit seeds from St. George, and had the first orchard and grape bowery in Price. Ulrich built three hundred beehives and honey frames, and extracted the honey, which was white and mild. He also braided rope from cowhide that was a specialty, and raised and sold vegetables and large barrels of sauerkraut. Only once in his long life did he or any of his family depend on outside help of any kind, and that was when the house burned and they were left with practically nothing.

Maria also went to live in Price, but we do not know just when. She died there in 1893. After Ulrich was seventy, he retired from his strenuous activities, and began to work in genealogy. As his children were industrious and independent and didn't need his money, he hired research done in Switzerland and spent the last seven years of his life in St. George doing temple work for five thousand of his kindred dead. His line was traced back to 1495 and the Mathys line to 1555. He died 9 Feb. 1905 of a stroke. They found him on his knees, as if he were looking for a shoe or something. He was unconscious. He left a large posterity, and had lived a long and useful life. He always said that he was glad that he became blind, otherwise he might have been too busy to listen to the missionaries. He loved the gospel so much, his joy in it far outweighed any trials or hardships.

JOHN HARDISON AND ELIZABETH HANCOCK REDD

by Lura Redd

John Hardison Redd was born of goodly parents, viz. Whitaker and Elizabeth Hardison Redd. He was born 27 Dec. 1799 on Stump Sound, Onslow County, North Carolina. Stump Sound is a small arm of the ocean reaching inland, between the mainland and the row of sandy islands off the shore. Another account talks of Snead's Ferry, which is a little town probably on the same Sound. I can find no reference to Stump Sound in the atlas nor on the map. The name seems to have disappeared and at that time was merely the area along the Sound. One account I read recently says his son Lemuel was born near the courthouse. The courthouse now is in Jacksonville between fifteen and twenty miles inland. At one time it was, I think, much closer to the shore because it was washed away by a tidal wave.

We know very little about him as a child, but from a few things we do know, can do a bit of guessing. His father's first wife, Nancy Cary, died and left a little girl, Mary, born 27 Sept. 1792. She was a lonely little girl, probably the only white child in the home, reared and cared for by a negro mammy. Then Whitaker married Elizabeth Hardison and had John when Mary was seven years old. Elizabeth died and left little John. Now they were both cared for by this mammy, but Mary was no longer lonely. She now had a little brother, and I think she must have mothered him as no other baby was ever mothered by a sister. They were never separated for long in their whole lives. From North Carolina they went to Tennessee and from there to Utah, and both died in Spanish Fork.

A third mother came to the home, and their first sister was born 30 Apr. 1804 when John was five. But they didn't need these other children, and these others didn't need them as they had a mother. So I think Mary and John continued to be the best of pals in spite of the difference in their ages.

All people living in a maritime locale became expert in boating, swimming and fishing. They probably ranged up and down the coast in their boats and canoes. John D. Lee says that John H. Redd was a sea captain. That would be before he was thirty-nine, at

which age he left the coast and moved inland. If he were expert enough to become captain or master of a vessel, he started young. He may have owned his own vessel and captained that. Many did. There are suggestions that he traded with the Barbadoes. The Barbadoes, off the north coast of South America, a little north and east of Trinidad, seem to have been a half-way station between England and America, in sailing vessel days, probably because of prevailing winds. When Lord Baltimore sent his first two ships to Maryland, they stopped at the Barbadoes on the way, which practise seems to have been the custom.

To become a captain in that day, he came up from the ranks. He started as a tot to learn the simple things about it and then went on to the more intricate tasks. We read very little about their activities, but we do know that his grandfather Whitaker owned a canoe at the time of his death, as his son William says "Uncle John Hardison got it from his father's estate 27 April 1789." Too, he brought with him to Utah a sword which likely was his emblem of authority on his vessel. That sword was in our home all during my childhood in New Harmony, but when we went back to the old home, we could find nothing of it. I remember it had a long blade, a bit curved, with the cutting edge on the outside of the curve. It was contained in a long metal-trimmed scabbard. Some of you others may remember it. Aunt Ellen had a pair of eyeglasses he wore at sea. They were similar to our regular glasses, but had an additional pair of lenses that were of blue glass, hinged so that he could fasten them to the temples, or if needed he could switch them around over the regular lenses to use as we use sunglasses. These would be very helpful out on a shiny sea.

So I can imagine John H. as a mere tot going out with his father or other members of the family deep-sea fishing, boating or maybe swimming. He may even have served as an apprentice on a vessel. This was the usual way of getting an education in any trade or profession in that day, as there were no regular schools to do the job. It was so taken for granted that he may never have mentioned it to any of the family. Swimming was imperative for those who went to sea, or even boating on the sounds and rivers. At times their lives depended upon their ability to swim well. It would seem foolhardy to go to sea and not be able to swim if the necessity arose.

Of course we can take it for granted that he was well-versed in the "art and mystery" of a planter. In his day everything was as primitive as it was in the Middle Ages, no inventions, no machinery, no labor-saving devices, no short-cuts. Everything that was done on the plantation had to be done the hard way, and always by hand. Cleve Redd in Snead's Ferry when I was down there, told me they had to grub up small pine trees all the time out of their gardens, otherwise the gardens would go back to heavy pine forest in a few years. Always grubbing and clearing to break even and keep what they had.

They took me out to an old Redd Cemetery which was no longer in use, headboards were all rotted away and gone. I only saw one stone piece. On the way we went over a corduroy road made of logs six or seven feet long laid side by side crossways of the road. It was bumpy. They said, "This is the road that Sigley Redd made before the

war with his slave labor. It ran from his plantation up to his sawmill. See how he ditched it to keep it dry." A ditch ran along just under the ends of the logs on one side of the road. The ditch, clogged with vegetation, had seepage water in it, and probably always did have on account of the wet climate there at sea level. Sigley was John H's first cousin, but fourteen years older. He was the son of Whitaker's brother William. So John H's relatives knew how to build saw mills, and he had the same know-how. He had all the other know-how that he passed on to his son Lemuel H. about farming and building, that he had learned at home.

He was a much better writer than any of the others, and may have had some private tutoring. His sister Mary couldn't even sign her name, it wasn't essential for a girl to learn to write. Her business was housekeeping and homemaking, with all the arts that go with them, weaving, sewing, cooking, cleaning, and all the other skills for the comfort and happiness of her husband and children. If she were proficient in that, she was a pillar of society.

On Oct.17, 1820, John H. bought 50 acres of land for ten dollars from William Hancock. How near his family lived to the Hancocks we don't know, but this was his future wife's brother. He was nearly twenty-one, and it was something over five years before he married William's sister Elizabeth.

That is the first transaction I have of his. However he had land before this, as he received four hundred acres from his grandfather John Hardison's estates. His father was still alive, and he probably lived at home when he wasn't at sea. It is likely that when he was at home, he helped his father and his two younger brothers, William, eleven, and Alexander, nine, farm the home place. When he bought this land, he may have decided not to go to sea any more.

He married Elizabeth Hancock 2 March 1826. She was the only daughter of Zebedee Hancock and had two brothers, William and Anson. She, I guess, had always had a negro maid to wait on her, and just five months before John H bought the land from her brother, her father had willed her a negro maid named Venus, to be her very own forever. Venus stayed with Elizabeth all the rest of her life, so that Elizabeth always had somebody to wait om her just like a princess or a queen. At this time her mother was dead and she had a step-mother. Zebedee, in his will, left four negroes as a loan to this step-mother, but at her death Elizabeth was to get one-third of them. She got one named Chaney, so then she had two maids to wait on her and do all her hard work. Still there was plenty to keep her busy, as there were no labor-saving devices known then, and all the clothing and bedding had to be raised and made by hand, as well as everything in the home. At least she had time to do as much of that as she wanted to do. Just because the hard dirty work was done by a maid, didn't mean that she was ever idle. That was never thought of for a lady, or even a queen. Life would have been very boring with nothing to do, and that would make her very unhappy. We know so little of her activities, but we can assume that they were confined to the house, as were those of all women of her day.

John H. Redd began as early as most to take his place in the community where he lived. We find that his sister married John Holt about 1814 or 1815, and of course left home, and John remained. At this time he had four little brothers and sisters, Nancy, William, Alexander and Catherine who was a tiny baby.

We get most of our information from legal documents from various court records. I found that he witnessed the will of Jeptha Cary, probably a close relative of his sister, Mary, as her mother's maiden name was Cary. He was appointed by his sister Mary and John Holt to be their true and lawful attorney when their father Whitaker died. Mary and John were living at this time in Rutherford county, Tennessee. His duty was to sell the land and any other property she received from her father's estate. John H. was also attorney for Anson Hancock, his brother-in-law, who now lived in Gadsden county, Florida. In this case he sold a Negro slave named Elias for \$400.00. Then in August 1830 he bought three hundred acres of land from George Hazzard for \$1005.00, also this August he sold land for his sister Mary who was now in the state of Alabama. It seems that Mary and John were having difficulty making up their minds about a new settling place. He sold his own rights to his father's land to John Wilkins. He bought 200 acres from Thomas Hazzard. He at one time held some note of John Wilkins for which Wilkins paid him \$200.00. He sold half the land he received from his grandfather, John Hardison by heirship, that was 200 acres. He was appointed on a commission to help divide the land of Alice Dulany, deceased, among her heirs.

John H. and his wife, Elizabeth sold 75 and 50 acres that she received from her father, Zebedee Hancock, to Daniel Harper for \$250.00. One thing different about this was that Elizabeth signed the deed. Few women of that day could write their names, or anything else. Now Daniel Harper was a bit sceptical about this deed, he thought maybe John H. was doing it on his own without her free consent. He questioned it in court, so the court, because Elizabeth was too infirm to travel to the court, commanded that two go to her alone and apart from her husband and get her consent. They brought back to the court the following document:

"In obedience to a commission to us directed from the county court of this county at the August term 1832, we have proceeded to take the private examination of Elizabeth Redd, wife of John H. Redd, at the house of said Redd, respecting her signing a deed with her husband to Daniel Harper, and upon her being examined separate and apart from her said husband and privately touching the execution thereof by her, and thereupon she acknowledged that she did execute the foregoing deed freely, voluntarily and without the control of compulsions of her husband. Given under our hands and sealed this August 12, 1832 — Edward Ward and D. W. Simmons."

This Edward Ward was some relation of his, as his grandmother was named Sarah Ward, the mother of Zebedee Hancock.

The last sale made by John that I have record of, was on 11 August 1838, when grandfather was two years old, when his parents moved out to Tennessee. At this time, he sold the plantation he called, "The Bluff," of 300 acres and two other tracts of 200 acres

and 75 acres respectively. This seems to be his sell-out to go to Tennessee. He received \$1650.00 for the lot from John Lloyd. His sister, Mary, was by this time back in Rutherford county, and that is where headed. He bought a plantation near Murfreesboro, Rutherford County, Tennessee. What an address! He lived here for about twelve years and built a home and farmed there. Henry Pace once went back there and saw it, and says it was a very fine old place. It was here in 1842 that something happened that changed their whole lives. We never have known much about it, but not long ago I found a good account in the missionary journal of John D. Lee, who converted him and his family to the gospel. John D. Lee writes:

1843, May 16 — "We then returned in company with Mr. Nichols to fill an appointment at the home of Br. Pace. But in consequence of the day being rainy and disagreeable, few persons turned out, however I preached to them. Among the number that composed the audience were two gentlemen who had ridden 17 miles to hear a Mormon preach, Mr. John H. Redd and John Holt. After meeting, Mr. Redd bought some books of me, and requested me to visit his neighborhood and lecture to them. Accordingly I set an appointment by them for the Sunday."

May 20 — "Now being left alone, I determined to confine my labors to as small a compass as would enable me to do the cause justice. Casting myself upon the pure mercies of God, I again pursued my way, being conveyed over Stone's river on horseback, I felt much relieved and expressed my gratitude to my benefactors for the favor shown to me. Directly after I crossed this stream, Mr. John H. Redd rode up and kindly offered to carry my valise, also to ride and tie with me. I cheerfully accepted his proposals and went to his house and spent the night."

May 21 — "Monday morning after breakfast I walked over to Mr. Redd's in company with several others, and before I left, I exhorted them to obedience to the mandates of Heaven."

June 6 — "I assisted to make a dam across a stream in order to prepare or collect sufficient quantity of water to baptise, and at 2 o'clock I baptised John Holt and Mary his wife. Returned to his house and confirmed, and under the same administration ordained him an Elder, for thus I was commanded in a vision to do. At the same time, three more acknowledged the truth and offered themselves for baptism. I walked to Mr. Redd's and spent the evening reasoning with them."

June 7 — "In the morning before I left them, Mrs. Redd gave me her hand as a token of her sincerity in the cause of truth, but was not prepared to be immersed at that time."

June 14 — "Went to Mr. Pace's, took breakfast. Then baptised the following persons and confirmed them there by the water-side: Wilson D. Pace and Harvey A. Pace."

June 17 — "At 8 a.m. we repaired to first convenience and after making such remarks as was necessary to proceed the ordinance of baptism, I administered or inducted the following persons into the Kingdom or Church Militant on Earth: John H. Redd, a sea capatain, Elizabeth Redd, Venice and Chinea, two servants belonging to Mr. J. Redd."

"The confirmation was attended to at the house of Mr. Redd. A considerable portion of the Spirit of the Most High was present and manifested itself on this occasion. From thence we repaired to the Mormon stand where two short discourses were delivered, the first by Elder Holt, which was interesting indeed, although it was the first attempt made by him since his ordination or call to the ministry. I followed with such observations as was appropriate under existing circumstances. Closed the meeting, promising to meet them at eleven the following morning."

- June 19 "I spent the day at Br. Redd's and posted my journal. Br. Redd and Sister Holt between, gave me a pair of drawers worth 50 c."
 - June 28 Rode to Br. Redd's, took dinner."
- June 29 "I attended a reaping made by Br. Redd, and assisted him in cutting and saving his wheat."
- July 17 "I remained at Br. Redd's. Occupied the time in reading and writing, also instructing such as came with inquiring minds."
- Aug. 6, Sunday "At 4 p.m. called the members together. Partook of the Lord's supper and organized them into a branch, and called it the Friendship Branch of Rutherford. Set apart and ordained the following officers Brother John Holt, an Elder; Wm. Holt, lesser Priest; Brother John H. Redd, Teacher and Clerk. I also taught them their several duties. The Spirit of the Lord was with us and we had quite a pleasant time. From thence I walked to Thomases in company with Br. Redd and Mr. Holt." (Spelling is Br. Lee's)

It is surprising how quickly they accepted the gospel when they had never been church-goers before. When I was down in North Carolina the first time, and found so little in the court records, I asked where they went to church as I might get information there. They said "Church! The Redds never went to church. You won't find anything there." But when the truth came to them, they recognized it and accepted it.

Early the next spring they journeyed to Nauvoo. Undoubtedly they were getting the spirit of gathering and were going to look into the situation. While there they each received their patriarchal blessings under the hands of Hyrum Smith, Church Patriarch. I will give them here.

"PATRIARCHAL BLESSING OF JOHN HARDISON REDD, son of Whitaker and Elizabeth Hardison Redd, born in Onslow county, in the state of North Carolina, Dec. 27, A.D. 1799.

"Brother John, I lay my hands upon your head in the name of Jesus Christ to place and seal a blessing upon you, touching the more important points of your present and future condition.

"Behold I say unto you, John, you are of the lineage and tribe of Levi, or in other words, you are of that descent, and that origin, and from that lineage cometh your blessings, from that lineage cometh your priesthood and rights of priesthood, and from that lineage cometh inheritance and rights of inheritance as well as all other tribes of the House of Israel.

"All these things are in accordance with the covenants made with the Fathers, and in answer to their faith it cometh unto the children in the last days. Therefore in these things thou art blessed when you know them, and the children are called unto a restoration and to the ministry, and to the administration of the law of God, then you can be blessed spiritually and temporally if you are faithful in the calling wherewith you are called, for it is written, if you seek first the kingdom of God and its righeousness, all other things shall be added.

"Now, therefore, I say unto you, John, you shall be blessed with the priesthood and it shall be a blessing unto you and your house, and your name shall be perpetuated from generation to generation, and you shall be blessed in your house and habitation, and in the covenant of Grace, and shall have an inheritance in the lineage of your fathers, and honor shall crown your head, notwithstanding the wickedness of the world.

"And you shall retire to your grave in peace, but many years shall be multiplied upon your head if your faith fails not. These blessings I seal upon your head according to the tenor thereof. Even so, Amen and Amen."

Given by Hyrum Smith, Patriarch of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints. April 3, 1844. Recorded in book C, page 258.

"PATRIARCHAL BLESSING OF ELIZABETH HANCOCK REDD, daughter of Zebedee and Abigail Hancock, born Jan. 25, 1798 in Onslow County, North Carolina."

"Sister Elizabeth, I lay my hands upon your head and by virtue of the priesthood, I seal the blessings of the Father. Thy heart shall be comforted for thou wilt be numbered with the seed of Abraham and hast become legitimate heir for the promised blessings. Thou shalt be blessed with the spirit of meekness, uprightness and integrity, and through the knowledge of thy heirship, the spirit of peace shall ever rest upon thy mind to comfort thy heart and to make known to thy mind that thou art a daughter of the Highest.

"In all of thy trials and chastenings, let thy mind be staid upon the promises, for they are there and thou shalt share in blessings and promises, and partake of them in common with thy Father and shall share with him in blessings of the everlasting priesthood, both in time and throughout eternity.

"Thy children shall bless thee and revere thy name for the kindness of a mother toward them. Thy posterity shall share in blessings of the everlasting priesthood and thou shalt advance in knowledge or principles and theory upon things pertaining to the kingdom of God. Through thy faithfulness and diligence the Lord will reveal unto the mind, in visions and dreams upon thy bed, the duty of a mother due to her offspring, that thou mayest have virtue to bring them up in the fear and admonition of the Lord.

"Remember that thou art a descendant from Ephraim and the desire of thy heart is to know and to do the will of the Lord. In all things thy table shall be crowned with the blessings of the earth, for it has been thy desire to comfort and console the oppressed, to feed the needy and comfort the fatherless. Remember it will be thy gift and blessing to become a mother and instruct in Israel, to teach thy sex the principles pertaining to the domestic circle.

"This is thy Father's seal and blessing upon thy head. Through thy faithfulness and diligence thou shalt have part in the first resurrection and shalt enter into the mansions of thy Father, prepared for thee from the foundation of the world."

"I seal these blessings upon thy head in the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Ghost. Amen."

After this visit to Nauvoo, John H. and Elizabeth Redd went back to their home in Tennessee, and must have begun preparations to go with the Saints. In 1847, John H. came back to the headquarters of the Church, with his neighbor, Isham Gilliam. The saints had been driven from Nauvoo and their temporary headquarters were in Winter Quarters. There was a place about thirty miles away called Summer Quarters where Brigham Young had his family. John D. Lee was there also, and John H. went there. John D. Lee writes in his journal "Summer Quarters, July 1, 1847 — About 6 p.m. Brother John H. Redd and Isham Gilliam, both Rutherford County (Tenn.) men arrived in camp. (Note: John H. Redd, an old sea captain, formerly from So. Carolina, had protected Lee when Mormon missionaries in Rutherford County, Tennessee had been attacked by a mob. He later became converted and the prefix "Bro" indicates he was a Mormon at this time.)

"July 4 — Left Brother John H. Redd considerably difficulted in his mind with reference to removing west. After meeting, Brother Redd, I. Gilliam and Caroline and several others dined with J.D.Lee.

"July 5 — Clear wind S.W. About 8 Friend Gilliam, Sister Caroline (Gilliam's wife) and J. H. Redd started for Tennessee, their native land."

I can find very little about them in Tennessee records, but was glad to find this: In a list of taxable property as taken and returned by Miles p. Murphy Esq. in district 8 of Rutherford County, Tennessee for the year 1849 — "John H. Redd, 175 acres of land valued at \$1250.00, tax \$1.44, 4 slaves valued at \$1600.00 tax \$1.84, other property valued at \$915.00 tax \$1.04. Polls 1 tax \$.15, State tax \$4.47. State and county tax \$7.45."

Since he paid tax on only 4 slaves, it indicated that they had already freed some of them. Six came out to Utah with them, and at least two came out later. Maybe some never came. However the six that come with them didn't belong to John H., they belonged to his wife, Elizabeth.

They had been freed, and were free to go or stay. Aunt Lou says they desired to come, and even begged to come. To take care of Elizabeth had been their life-long concern, they had no other, and no place to go, and wished to remain with Missy. "Missy couldn't do this or that. Missy needed them for this or that," so they were permitted to stay with their own family, as it were. I guess they were right? Aunt Lou says her grandmother couldn't even mould out a batch of bread or do any of the common ordinary things that women learned to do when very young.

So they planned to come to Utah, and did so in 1850, just three years after the first company came, and without question, found things much more primitive than they had ever experienced before.

I don't know.....(one line missing here)

of the excerpts from it. It was originally written in a sort of notebook he made himself. He took sheets of paper about eight or nine inches by about fourteen inces. These he placed together and sewed them across the middle with a coarse thread, probably homemade. Then he folded them where he had sewn them with long stitches. The outside sheet or sheets had worn away, so that the beginning and the end were lost when I copied it. His account is strictly impersonal, as he doesn't mention one of his own family. It's merely a minute of their travels. It begins —

"Tuesday morning June 18th, 1850. Fine weather with the wind still to the south. We are encamped on the west bank of the Weeping Water, and Capt. Bennett with the second 50 encamped on the opposite bank. We have accounts of one death more amongst them vz. Perry Kees. Their health seems a little improving this morning. We are still blessed with tolerable health in our camps.

"Wednesday morning June 10th. We had quite a rain last night and this morning it looks quite rainy. We are encamped on Salt Creek. Captain Bennett's company passed us this morning in travelling condition under animating hopes of the cholera subsiding amongst them.

"Thursday morning June 20th. A prospect of good weather this morning. Capt. Bennett's company is still in advance of us about three miles, and this is according to the wish of Capt. Pace, as he wishes to strictly attend both companies. We fell in with two emigrating wagons yesterday who wished to be admitted into our camps, and they had the appearance of friendly civil men who seemed willing to do their part in herding or guarding. Captain Sessions prposed to the camps that, if it was consistent with their wishes, that he would have no objection, and I believe it met the approbation of the camps, so they were admitted in. Their names were as follows vz Cyus Collins who represents six persons, one wagon and five horses, and the other by the name of I. W. Sands who represents 2 persons, 1 wagon and 3 horses.

"Friday morning June 21st. Fine weather this morning and our camps in tolerable health and condition. We passed Captain Bennett's company yesterday about 1 o'clock. We suppose them at this time to be in our rear about 5 mi.

"Wednesday morning June 26th. We had quite a rain last night. We have the rain to the northwest this morning. Captain Bennett's camp (the 2nd 50) arrived yesterday and are encamped near us. All seem to be in tolerable spirits. The camps were called together this morning to establish rules and regulations for the safety, progress and welfare of the camps. Captain Pace and Captain Sessions very appropriately addressed the camps, and it seemed to meet the approbations of the brethren as they all seemed to meet with good feelings and unanimously agreed to said rules and regulations. I have this morning read a correct statetment of the deaths which have occurred in Capt. Bennett's comapny (I will not give them all.) All supposed to die of cholera and east of the Weeping Water. Capt. Bennett's company have lost two horses, supposed to be stolen by Indians. We have sent a letter back this morning to Kanesville addressed to Elder O. Hide.

"Saturday morning June 29th. It looks quite sqally this morning after a very heavy rain and wind last night. We passed Capt. Evans company yesterday. They have lost some 3 or 4 of their number with cholera. They passed us last night and are in advance of us 1/2 mile encamped. We met the mail from Salt Lake Valley yesterday about 10 o'clock. Supposed to be about 60 miles below Fort Carney. Capt. Bennett is still in our rear about 15 miles and news has come in this morning that they have lost 4 more of their number with cholera. Our two emigrating wagons (Mr. Collins and Mr. Sands) left us this morning by common consent, as we expected this day to lay by and they wished to make better progress by travelling.

"Friday morning July 5th. Good weather and consequently we have better roads. Our camps seem a little improving in health this morning for which we feel very thankful to our Heavenly Father—for His mercies —

"Monday morning July 15th. Cool and pleasant weather this morning and our camps in tolerable health and condition. We lay by yesterday being the Sabbath and in hopes of the arrival of Capt. Bennett's company. But they were laying at the same time. We learn that they have lost one more of their no.

"Wednesday morning July 17th. This is a beautiful morning with the wind to the east. We are this morning, through the blessings of divine providence, all safe on the north bank of the South fork of the Platt. We had quite a pleasant time for crossing yesterday. The government train also got safe over last evening and are encamped near us. Capt. Bennett with the 2nd 50 also drove up last evening and are ready this morning for crossing. Sister Webb lost her little girl last night. She died with the canker and whooping cough, and is buried at this place. Her name is Phoebe Arabella Webb. She was about three years old.

"Wednesday morning July 24th. Fine weather and pleasant this morning with the wind to the north. We are encamped on the south bank of the Platt about 5 miles east of Chimney Rock, and about 75 miles east of Fort Laramie. We have received intelligence from Capt. Bennett's comapny by Samuel Johnston. He stated that they are still in good condition and are travelling on. He also states that they lost in all 14 of their number, and most of cholera.

"Tuesday morning July 25th. We are still encamped at the same place. We lay by yesterday, it being 24th of July, to celebrate the day in commeration of the entering of the pioneers that day three years ago into the valley of the Great Salt Lake. Our opportunities of celebrating the day were very limited on this almost barren prairie, but we rested our teams as we thought it a righteous act, and were well entertained in the evening by an interesting discourse, both from Capt. Pace and Capt. Sessions admonishing the brethren to faithfulness in the discharge of their several duties. The brethren all seemed to meet and part with good feelings. We have fine weather but very warm in the afternoon. We are enjoying good health through the blessings of divine Providence.

"Wednesday morning July 31st. We are encamped this morning about three miles below a trading post and about 23 miles below Fort Laramie. We had considerable hail yesterday, but beautiful weather this morning. Capt. Evans camp is a little in advance of us, and Capt. Bennett's company still in our rear. We have tolerable health in our camps this morning.

"Wednesday morning July 31st. We are encmped this morning ten miles below Fort Laramie on a beautiful bottom. The weather continues good. We had a birth in our camp last night. Sister Elizabeth Ann Rabel, wife of Henry Rabel, was delivered of a fine daughter and is doing well this morning. We have many Indians and Indian traders around us.

"Wednesday August 7th. We are encamped this morning on the La Boute where we have plenty of creek water. We have had it very rough and rocky the most of the way through the Black Hills. Nothing of importance this morning.

"Sunday morning Aug. 11th. We are encamped this morning on the bank of the north fork of the Platt near where we descended out of the Black Hills. We had considerable hail yesterday. Our camp is in tolerable health except the whooping cough amongst the children. We have fine weather.

"Sunday morning Aug. 18th. We are encamped on the bank of the Platt near the upper ford and ferry. Capt. Bennett's company crossed last evening and are encamped on the opposite bank. Our camps are in tolerable health and condition, and ready this morning for crossing. We had a meeting last night to give some instructions and to settle some little controversy between Capt. Pace and Capt. Sessions, as there had been some little misunderstanding between them a few days previous. After some reasoning on both sides, I thought the matter seemed settled satisfactorily on both sides. We met the express from the valley yesterday about 10 o'clock 5 miles below this place. It is quite cloudy and likely for rain.

"Monday morning Aug. 19th. We are safe over the Platt and encamped on the river about two miles above the ferry where we have but little feed for our cattle and have a severe storm of cold wind and rain ever since last evening, and still continues. We have lost in all up this time 14 head of cattle. (Then he names the losers.)

This is the last entry, but it gives a bit about how they fared on the way across the plains. There is an entry for every day. Always you notice he writes in the morning. Probably because it would be late in the evening before he could get at it, then it would be too dark. In his party there would be himself, wife, six children ranging from eight to nineteen, and six colored servants, fourteen to forty. That would make fourteen, and they would have to carry all their provisions, bedding, clothing, etc. He gives no thought to his family in these minutes. Maybe he listed them in the beginning and that has been lost. He is said to have arrived in Salt Lake City in October.

I have a bit of his other writing that is interesting, that I will give here. Maybe I should have done it before from the date on it, 26 Aug. 1846.

BALLAD written for Mary Catherine Redd, from an old manuscript of John Hardison Redd.

"While Nature was sinking in stillness to rest,

The last beams of daylight shone dim in the west.

O'er fields by the moonlight, with wandering feet,

Sought in quietude's hour a place of retreat.

While passing a garden I heard, then drew near,

A voice of a sufferer affected my heart,

In agony pleading the poor sinner's part.

In offering to Heaven his pitying prayer,

He spoke of the.....

His life for a ransom He offered to give,

That sinners redeemed in glory might live.

So deep were his sorrows, so fervent his prayers

That down on his bosom rolled sweat, blood and tears.

I wept to behold Him. I asked Him His name,

He answered, "Tis Jesus, from Heaven I came.

"I am thy Redeemer, for thee I must die;

This cup is most bitter, but cannot pass by.

Thy sins like a mountain are laid upon Me,

And all this deep anguish I suffer for thee."

I heard with deep anguish the tale of His woe,

While tears like a fountain of water did flow,

The cause of His sorrow to hear Him repeat,

Affected my heart and I fell at His feet.

I trembled with horror and loudly did cry.

"Lord, save a poor sinner, O save, or I die."

He smiled when He saw me, and said to me, "live,"

"Thy sins which are many, I freely forgive."

How sweet was that moment; He bade me "Rejoice."

His smile, O how sweet, How charming His voice.

I flew from the garden, I spread it abroad,

I shouted, "Salvation, and Glory to God."

I'm now on my journey to mansions above

My soul's full of glory, of light, peace and love.

I think of the garden, the prayer and the tears,

Of that loving Savior who banished my fears.

The day of bright glory is rolling around,

When Gabriel descending, the trumpet shall sound,

My soul then in raptures of glory shall rise

To gaze on my Savior with unclouded eyes."

Here are some axioms he prized.

"Idleness always brings disgrace."

"Knowledge enlarges our pleasures."

"Never lament and weep for the loss of what you cannot keep."

"Remember the benevolent acts of your neighbor."

"Tempt not your friend with evil communications."

"Usurp not authority where it does not belong."

"Virtuous love produces peace and happiness."

"Work hard to excell in learning."

"Avoid whatever is unbecoming."

"Grandeur cannot purchase peace."

"Learning improves human nature."

"Overcome obstacles by perseverence."

"Quit vicious and disorderly company."

```
"Reputation is obtained by merit."
```

```
habit of lying."
```

of mind."

What a man is interested in shows what kind of man he is, so these bits of what he thought about are enlightening.

As you know from grandfather's history, they settled in Spanish Fork, when it was a little above where it is now, and was called Palmyra. Soon the name was changed to Spanish Fork. His home was built of squared logs brought down from the mountain. It had an attic, with a door in the end, which they went up to from the outside by way of a narrow flight of stairs. Here the family settled and became part of the community. The 1850 census of Utah county gives the following:

[&]quot;Shame accompanies mean actions."

[&]quot;Triumph not over the unfortunate."

[&]quot;Pride indicates great want of sense."

[&]quot;Vanity excites ridicule and contempt."

[&]quot;Boast not of the favor you bestow."

[&]quot;Deceit discovers a little mind."

[&]quot;Enlarge your mind to receive wisdom."

[&]quot;To be good is to be wise and happy."

[&]quot;We were not made for ourselves only."

[&]quot;Modesty is one of the chief ornaments of youth."

[&]quot;No confidence can be placed in those who are in the

[&]quot;Neglect no opportunity of doing good."

[&]quot;Idleness is the parent of vice and misery."

[&]quot;Cleanliness promotes health of body and delicacy

John H. Redd 51 born in North Carolina

Elizabeth 52 "

Ann M. 19 "

Ann E. 18 "

Mary C. 15 "

Lemuel H. 14 "

John H. 13 "

Benjamin J. 8 born in Tennessee

The birth place of the following was not given:

Vinus, 40 black; Chancey, 38 black; Luke 19 yellow; Marinda 18 yellow; Anna 14 yellow; Sam 17 yellow.

His brother-in-law came out with the same company he did, but his sister Mary didn't come for a year and a half later. Two other colored people came later, and I think they must have come at the same time that she did. Their names were Fred and Amy. Fred married Marinda. I don't think they had any children. He died soon. This census record is printed in "First Families of Utah," by Burns and Miller p. 84.

When Mary came out, she found that John Holt had married a second wife, and she quit him. He took the other wife to California and spent the rest of his life there. She, of course, stayed with her family in Spanish Fork.

Spanish Fork City, May the 7th 1855.

A true list of votes taken at the above-mentioned place with the respective names of voters for Mayor, Aldermen and councillors for said City—

1. Mathew Caldwell 13. John L. Butler *

2. Joseph B. Hawks 14. John H. Red *

3. Geo. W. Sevy * 15. John W.Snell

4. H.A.Pace * 16. Daniel R. Mott

5. H.B.N.Jolley 17. John McKinley

6. Philo Allen * 18. Wm. F. Pace *

7. Zebedee Coltrin 19. George McKinley

8. John W.Mott 20. Lemuel H.Red *

9. Wilson D.Pace 21. Joshua Hawks *

10. Cyrus Snell 22. John Walton

11. Wm. Pace * 23. George D.Snell

12. Orrawell Simons

For Mayor: Mathew Coltrin 17 votes; John McKinley 6 votes

For Aldermen: John H. Redd 23; Henry B.N.Jolley 23;

Cyrus Snell 23; Orrawell Simons 23.

For Councillors: Wm. Pace 23; John L.Butler 23; Joseph B.Hawks 23; Zebedee Coltrin 23; John H.Mott 23; Philo Allen 23; WilsonD.Pace 23; Harvey A.Pace 23; George W.Sevy 23.

We the undersigned clerks and judges do certify that this is a true statement of the votes taken at the above place — given under our hands and seals: John H. Redd, Zebedee Coltrin, William Pace, Orrawell Simons, John L. Butler.

The starred names are relatives or relatives-in-law of our family, except the two Wm. Paces. They are brother and father of Wilson and Harvey. There were only 23 men in the community then.

Life in this new home wasn't so hot in a lot of ways. They had been here only five months when their daughter, Mary Catherine took sick suddenly and died the 5 of May 1851. They said the change of climate was hard on many. That was the first sorrow they were called on to endure. A little over two years later, Thursday morning, 25th of Nov. 1853, their son, John Holt was thrown from a horse and killed. This was such a blow to the mother that she went to bed and never ate, she couldn't, and she died the next Sunday morning, Nov. 28, 1853. Aunt Lou said she turned yellow before she died. Something must have been preying upon her system and this shock brought it to a head so to speak. I guess we'll never know.

Ann Marian was married at this time, and was home with her father. Ann Elizabeth married two years later, then he was rather lonesome.

In Feb. 1856 John H. Redd received a call to go to Las Vegas, Nevada to help open up some lead mines but did not go. He fitted out his son, Lemuel H., who, with his wife went in contemplation of having his father follow in the fall.

I have written much about that in Lemuel H.'s story, so will at this time only give a letter that John. wrote to Lemuel during this time.

"Spanish Fork City, Utah County and Utah Territory, August 1, 1856.

"Dear Son and Daughter — With pleasure and interest I embrace the opportunity of advising you with a few lines. My reasons for not writing sooner, I was waiting for you to write that I might know what to communicate. I received your letter of 9 June last Sunday night, the contents of which has been noticed with no small interest. I am very happy to hear that you both are well, but truly sorry to learn that you are not satisfied. I do not wish you to remain there any longer than you can help if you are not satisfied.

I have done the very best in my power to take care of what you left behind. I have let nothing go except your table and two pigs. I let Sister Butler have one, and I gave one pig and one bushel of wheat for harvesting your fall wheat. The man who took the job had rather a hard bargain, it took him about five days faithful work with a hook to save it amongst the sunflowers. The grasshoppers injured your wheat some, but the sunflowers have been most destructive. They have destroyed much of my fall wheat. I have had to hire all the time. We are just through with our fall wheat and oats, and will have to commence on our spring wheat about Monday. Our crops are quite light and it is thought that bread stuff will be remarkable scarce. It has been one of the most trying times that this people ever had to pass through, and we fear that it will be no better the ensuing year if the people do not begin to save in time. The words of salvation are taught from every stand, which fully means a saving principle — without that there is no salvation. Remember this my dear children, and be wise and economical as your father has been before you, and you may rely, my son and daughter, with confidence that your Father will take the best care in his power for your temporal and eternal welfare.

"I wish to hear from you often that I may know how to manage your concerns and keep things in readiness for your return, which I hope will be before very long, unless you become better satisfied, for I do not wish you to stay there against your will. If you have a wish to return, you had better by the first safe opportunity, as I am making arrangements to start in the fall. I should like to have you here to give you some instructions in regard to what I leave behind. You can arrange your business there to the best advantage to remain until I get there. Get liberty from the authorities of that place to come, and do not come until you know that you are safe in travelling. I should like to know about what time you expect to start, that I may know what time to look for you.

"I expect to leave my houses and land, and a part of my stock as the range there are not very good. The tobacco worm in places has been very destructive to potato crops. They have destroyed nearly all of the Pace's potatoes and nearly ruined yours. We wormed them over 3 or 4 times. They were not quite so bad on our black land. We have

had a pretty hard trial to make what we have made. Stock, grasshoppers and worms have given us some trouble.

"I have not much news at this time, there has been very few changes except what are common. We had a frost about the 15th of July, which injured our vines very much. We have had it very windy all through the spring and summer, but it is very dry and hot at this time.

"There has been two marriages since you left. John W. Berry is married to Emily Davis, and myself to Miss Mary Lewis of Salt Lake City, a fine-looking girl of about 16 years of age. This leaves us all well at present, truly hoping it finds you both in the enjoyments of life, health and prosperity. Miss Charity wishes to be remembered to you both in love as she had not the opportunity of writing in the letter sent by her people. She is well and doing well, and we hope a very fair prospect of her still doing better. We all have a desire to see you both white and black, and our ardent desires are for your temporal and eternal welfare, and truly hope the Lord may bless and prosper you in your travels and return.

"So, ever remaining your affectionate father, people and friends.

John H. Redd and family and people.

To Lemuel H. Redd and wife.

This sounds like the blacks were living near. In the south they always had separate little houses out at the back for the slaves, and I suppose it was still the same out here.

EXCERPTS FROM A LETTER FROM LELAND W. REDD TO HIS SON, L. WAYNE REDD

(LELAND IS A SON OF WAYNE H. A HALF BROTHER TO WM. A. REDD)

Your mother and I have just returned from a very pleasant one month's visit in the southern states. The highlight of our trip was a two day visit at Snead's Ferry, Stump Sound, Onslow Co., North Carolina. It is claimed that this is where the ancestors of the Redd's lived in the early colonial times. We inquired of the post mistress of Snead's Ferry if there were any Redds living in the area. She referred us to Joe Frank Redd. As we were eating lunch in a restaurant Joe Frank came in and we introduced ourselves to each other. He was a very pleasant young man about thirty five years of age, and told me that I was the first man bearing the name of Redd whom he had ever seen in his life, except his brother, his father, James C. Redd having passed away when he was one and one half years of age. Joe Frank's wife name was Fern, and he had two daughters, Necia and Judy, and an infant son, Joe Frank Jr. He told us of the old Redd plantation house that was

situated on the farm now owned by Robert Hampton Bethea, age 77 years, and commonly referred to as the old Redd plantation. This plantation was about 10 miles southeast of Snead's Ferry near the Bender Co. line. The last Redd who owned it was Sigle Redd who died June 11 1867. Sigle Redd was the great grandfather of Joe Frank and was a full cousin of John Hardison Redd, my great grandfather. This would make Joe Frank Redd and myself about fourth or fifth cousins. While the women visited, Joe Frank and I went about ten miles in the car to the old Redd home and met Mr. Bethea, who is quite feeble. The following is his story:

His father purchased this farm and it consisted at that time of 685 acres, from Sigle Redd's heirs, in 1878. Sigle Redd died about a year after the civil war closed and his farm was sold by his heirs to Mr. Bethea's father. Mr. Bethea was born in this house and it was generally understood in that area that the house was in the neighbourhood of two hundred years old, and several generations of the Redd family had been born in that home previous to the sale. He said that it was further understood that at one time the Redds and the Sidburys owned all the land from Turkey Creek in Onslow Co., to Batmill Creek in Pender Co., and from the bay up to what is now the highway. Roughly, this area, as we measured it in the car is three miles or four wide and four to five miles long. Most of this area is now grown up to underbrush and slash pine trees. From the front porch of the plantation you can look down about one half mile on Morris landing on what is known today as Redd's bay. He told us that in the early days this is where the cotton, tobacco and other products were loaded on the barges to transport them to Wilmington and other ports where they were sold. The old gentleman told us that as a boy he remembered where the old Redd cemetery was on this plantation. We prevailed upon him to go with us to see if we could find the remains of the old cemetery. He took us north of the house about a half a mile on an old side road that is used occasionally. We stopped the car and went nearly another half mile into the jungle of forest which had grown up with underbrush and pine trees. We worked our way through the brush along what had once been a country road. Mr. Bethea said that about twenty steps south of this road should be the graveyard. We explored in this area for about an hour trying to find evidence of the graveyard. Sometimes we were on our hands and knees in the underbrush. Finally we discovered the graveyard. There were about ten or twelve marble headstones still standing. Apparently the graveyard had been abandoned for many, many years. There was one stone "Basil Redd, died October 3 1848, aged 22 years." One stone was marked "Henrietta Bishop, born 1815." She was the daughter of Sigle Redd. There were several names of Bishop there. Mr. Bethea told us that Henrietta Redd, daughter of Sigle Redd had married one of the Bishops. She and her husband and several children were buried there. There were also some Hendersons there whom the old man thought were descendants of the Redds.

Mr. Bethea referred us to another real old house that had been all gone except the foundation and chimney many years before he was born. This was on the land originally owned by the Redds. he said that to the best of his knowledge there were at least from fifty to sixty people buried in that graveyard and it was known as the old Redd Graveyard. However as I said, we found about ten or twelve headstones. The old wooden markers have long since gone back into the earth. It would be very interesting to know who else is buried there. We went to see if we could find the remains of the other old

house which it rumored preceded the plantation house. We were successful in locating it. The chimney had been built out of oyster shells mixed with clay. This and small bits of rock in the foundation were all that was left. It is stated that oyster shells in the very early days were used with clay in making the fireplaces. We brought back some of the oyster shells taken from the old chimney.

Mr. Bethea told us that on several occasions Mormon missionaries had stayed with him overnight.

Later we met Mr. Harmon Hardison, whose post office address is Holly Ridge, North Carolina. Mr. Bethea was acquainted with many of the early day Redds in this area and spoke very highly of them. According to the information in the possession of Joe Frank, the old Sigle Redd was a son of William Redd, who was a brother of Whitaker Redd Jr., who is our progenitor. Joe Frank was a great grandson of Sigle Redd.

We had a very pleasant visit with several Hardison families whose old homestead adjoins that of the Redds in Onslow County. We talked to Mr. Jesse Hardison who is a retired blacksmith. We visited the old home where he was born adjacent to which is an old Hardison cemetery, a small plot, well kept. In this is a marble stone over his grandfather's grave. His grandfather was born in 1828 and died in 1881. There is one grave here older than that but he didn't know whose it was. It is a sort of a tomb affair that is built of brick and this particular grave is in bad state of repair. I asked whose grave it was and he answered by saying that it was some of the Hardisons "that goes way back yonder."

I believe that our family chart shows that our great great grandfather, Whitaker Redd Jr. married one of the Hardisons. Mr. Jesse Hardison has a brother, a very elderly man who, at the time of our visit, was in the hospital at Wilmington, N.C. The Harmon Hardison who I referred to above is a son of the old gentleman who is in the hospital at Wilmington. It is interesting to note that the Hardisons have lived on this place at least four generations that they know of, and it is a farm that was part of the old Redd holdings between Turkey Creek and Batmill Creek, and adjoins the ranch that Mr. Bethea owns, which was the old Sigle Redd home. The Hardisons are very honest, hard-working people who are well re- spected in this area. Several miles distant from the present Hardison holding is a place referred to as the old Hardison Mansion place. This has long since fallen into decay and we were unable to reach it by auto. The Hardison man, Jesse, told us a very interesting story about a lawsuit that he had with one of his neighbors over two acres of land. It appears that many years ago the man who owned what is now his neighbors land sold two acres of it. This two acre piece of land was sold and resold many times and finally came into the possession of Jesse Hardison. The man who later came into possession of the neighbor's farm claimed the particular two acres of land. During the lawsuit it was brought out that in 1735 both tracts of land were filed on one day apart and notice of the filing had to be sent to England where the king would issue the deeds to the land. Jesse told us that he won the case and that the new case is used as a precedent in that area for establishing deeds to land that go back to the time when the land applications had to submitted to England for approval.

Mr. Hardison told us of the destruction of the old county courthouse that stood across the bay from Snead's Ferry on what is now Courthouse Bay. We saw the place, and I think that if you will recall from the Redd history the tales of the courthouse being destroyed at that time. It was very interesting to visit this site. Very likely if this courthouse had not been destroyed it would have been easier to get some of our genealogy. After this tidal wave the courthouse was moved several times and finally came to rest in Jacksonville, Onslow Co., some fifteen or twenty miles away.

There is now a good steel bridge over the New River at Snead's Ferry. It was recently built and replaces the first wooden bridge across this ferry which was built in 1938. The New River is actually and arm of the ocean that extends seven miles below Snead's Ferry to about fifteen miles above all the way to Jacksonville.

Quite a few of the old families now living at Snead's Ferry are descendants of some of the daughters and grand daughters of Sigle Redd. I was glad to learn what the Stump Sound was. Apparently the counties in the south are sort of divided up and Stump Sound is about one fifth the area of Onslow County.

Joe Frank Redd makes his living by fishing. He has a boat called the "Echo" in which he does some commercial fishing, but the main source of his income is hiring himself and boat out to fishermen who come from all parts of the United States to go channel and deep sea fishing. He tells an interesting story that happened when his last baby was born. He had a group out on the boat and on this boat he can send and receive messages, by radio from other boats. They radioed a message to him from home that his wife had a baby boy. Several other boats out fishing also picked up the message and the balance of the day he didn't catch many fish as he was busy answering calls of congratulations from other boats. When Jesse Hardison was asked what nationality he was he said the Hardisons were of the belief that they were of English and French descent.

Joe Frank's brother Sigle has never married. He is now in a state hospital in N.C. and has hope of being out soon. He is a veteran of World War II and lives with Joe Frank when he is not out working. He operates a boat for other individuals.

For several centuries there has been considerable fishing in the vicinity of Snead's Ferry and today there is a lot of fishing there, especially commercial fishing. It appears that the fish from the ocean come in great schools and Joe Frank told me that on some days when the schools come in many of their large boats were literally filled with different kinds of fish.

The postmistress at Snead's Ferry told me that about 1000 people, living within a radius of about four miles, get their mail at this office. The residents living in the area of the old Redd farms in Onslow County get their mail at Holly Ridge, Onslow County, North Carolina, about six miles distant. Holly Ridge is on U.S. Highway 17 that comes

from Norfolk, Va. and north to Savannah, Georgia, and south. This highway is an important link between north and south. It is referred to as the Atlantic Coast Highway.

MY GRANDFATHER AND GRANDMOTHER LEMUEL HARDISON AND KEZIAH JANE BUTLER REDD

by Lura Redd

Lemuel Hardison Redd was born of goodly parents, namely John Hardison Redd and Elizabeth Hancock Redd, 31 July 1836 at Stump Sound, Onslow Co., North Carolina. They must have had a good home for that day, although it lacked most of the comforts we now think are indispensable. His parents were slave owners and his mother always had a negro slave girl or woman to wait on her and do any hard work that had to be done that she didn't want to do. Lemuel was only about two years old when his parents sold out and moved from North Carolina to Tennessee near Murfreesboro, Rutherford County, where he bought a plantation and settled there to farm.

As grandfather, Lemuel Hardison Redd, grew up he had all that a young gentleman of that day should have, even to a personal bodyguard and slave to be with him to do his bidding. This slave was named Luke and even after he was freed he stayed near the family and especially near his former young master, Lemuel, five years younger than he. Grandfather grew up with three older sisters and two younger brothers. All of them born in North Carolina except Benjamin, the youngest, who was born after they got to Tennnesse. The home there was likely like the regular southern homes with immense high ceilings and an upper porch. I saw such a typical one when I was in the south and can imagine a bit what it was like.

I can remember a story that grandfather told in New Harmony when I was young. He said once when his father wasn't home, one of their neighbor's niggers ran away from home and came to spend the night in their, Redd's slave quarters. His owner missed him and came around looking for him. Grandfather put it this way. "O, how he begged and pleaded and cried for mercy, but they whipped him. They whipped him with a shovel." Grandfather said he got up out of bed and went out on the upper porch and stood there in his bare feet and night shirt and listened to them. He further said, "they wouldn't have dared to come around our plantation and to have whipped that nigger if Pap had been home, but at the time he was away."

Grandfather was nearly eight when his parents went to Nauvoo to see the prophet and while they were there they received their patriarchal blessings. They then went back to Tennessee and stayed there until they decided to move to Utah. They went directly from Tennessee to Utah. I'm thinking that when they went to Nauvoo was when grandfather heard them whip the nigger. They had no folks anywhere around within driving distance to visit, so, why go anywhere else?

Aunt Ellen writes, "During the summer of 1850 the Redd family made the memorable trip across the plains into the Salt Lake Valley. Lemuel H. was at this time fourteen years of age. He filled a man's place in this long trek, driving and caring for an ox team the entire distance. (But Luke was along and I think he did a big part of it.) The Captain Sessions Company with which they travelled reached Salt Lake in October of 1850." When Aunt Lou married and moved to Parowan there was an old pioneer, Richard Benson, living there who came across the plains in 1850 with the same company that the Redds came with. He said that he knew the Redds and that the boy Lem surely knew how to handle animals. He, Benson, knew nothing about driving when he undertook to drive across the plains. Lem, showed him a lot about it and when they came to a stream which had to be forded Lem would drive his team across the ford for him.

Aunt Ellen says that Lemuel H. and his father both contracted cholera on the plains but both recovered from it. Many weren't that lucky. She also writes, Lemuel Hardison told his children of the great buffalo stampedes. The cloud of dust in the far distance when first seen, grew larger and larger as it drew nearer. Then was heard the distant sound of hoofbeats which increased in volume as the mighty herd drew nearer in its excited flight, trampling everything in its way. With the first sign of an oncoming herd the train of fifty or a hundred wagons with their teams of oxen were hurriedly collected into a compact group to clear a path for the terrified animals.

In reading John D. Lee's missionary journal he tells of baptizing the father and mother but says nothing of doing the same for any of the younger members of the family. Lemuel H. was baptized 3 June 1852, when he was sixteen years old. They let him wait until he himself wanted it and didn't seem to make an issue of being baptized as soon as one was eight years of age.

The History of Spanish Fork says, "During the winter of 1850, John Holt, John H. Redd and William Pace settled about half a mile above the present site of Spanish Fork. Mr. Redd was the owner of a number of negro slaves which he brought with him and used in his farming operations." Aunt Ellen says they spent the first winter in Provo but it doesn't sound like it. They must have gone directly to Spanish Fork very soon after reaching Utah. Both the Redd and Butler families lived in Spanish Fork and that is where he and grandmother met and courted. I was told that a group of young ladies were talking about the prospects of beaus among the young men of Spanish Fork and grandfather's name was mentioned with the others as a desirable one and grandmother said, "Don't any of you think that you have a chance there. I'm going to get him." That's the way it turned out. This I think was after his mother was dead. Grandmother said she never met her. Only one thing about her that she could remember was seeing her come to the door and throw a pan of water on the ground in front of the house. In many of those old houses they had only one door, at the front, and all refuse including water was just thrown out on the ground. I suppose that if the water were extra dirty they would carry it some distance away, otherwise they threw it outside and if there were a few flowers planted there they got it. They had to carry all the water for even a few flowers anyway, or for trees to get them started.

When grandfather was seventeen and eighteen they had an Indian war led by old Chief Walker and called the Walker War. He was in the militia against these Indians who were giving them much trouble. They would swoop down and drive off their cattle and horses; they would destroy their fences and buildings and crops; and they would kill anyone who was foolish enough to go off alone. At that time they burned the first saw mill that had been built in Utah south of Salt Lake City and which his father, John H. Redd had helped finance and build. Aunt Ellen said it was a loss of six thousand dollars for him. As a member of the militia grandfather had to take his turn as guard for they had to have guard duty for someone all the time. I remember when he applied for a pension for his services. Old Walker died in January 1855 and was followed by his brother as chief. He was just as bad as Walker at first but he changed. He said Walker came to him in a vision and told him not to fight the Mormons. He told him the land didn't belong to the Indians nor to the white men but to the Lord. So they had peace while he was chief, ten years.

Grandfather's name was on the list of city voters 7 May, 1855. He was not yet twenty one so they didn't seem to stick too close to ages in civil affairs either. They took for granted that he was mature and had a man's intelligence to vote at nineteen. In this first city election he was elected, with his father and two brothers-in-laws and others as alderman.

After this Indian war they built a fort; surrounded by high rock walls, it was after the pattern of other forts in the territory. Small rooms were built around the outside wall on the inside as accommodations for separate families. The roofs of these rooms sloped a bit to the inside and the outside wall was higher than the roofs. Above the roof and in the wall were left many little loop holes where the guards could look out and see the enemy and shoot through and be protected from the enemy. In this fort all nineteen families of Spanish Fork lived. Nine out of the nineteen were our own ancestors.

Grandfather had a sister, Mary Catherine, who was his youngest sister and about two and a half years younger than he. They were very near and dear to each other. She took suddenly sick when she was seventeen and called for her brother Lemmie, but he was out plowing and her father said she could wait until he had finished the days work. She died before he got to the house that night and he never got over it. I guess none of them did. They used to think and say that that was the reason he was a bit over indulgent with his own children.

He married Keziah Jane Butler, the daughter of John Lowe and Caroline Farozine Skeen Butler, 2 January 1856 when he was yet nineteen and she was nineteen too, but six months older than he. She was born 25 February 1836 in Simpson Co., Kentucky. She was the fourth child of twelve children and the second daughter. When she was about one month old her parents moved from Kentucky and joined the body of the saints in Missouri. She was baptized 1 March 1844 in Nauvoo. Sometime in the spring of 1846 her parents crossed the Mississippi and began their westward journey across the state of Iowa. For about six years they lived in a temporary home in or near Winter Quarters.

Aunt Ellen says, "In the spring of 1852 their trek westward began. There were fifty one families in the company with Eli B. Kelsey as Captain. Her father was the blacksmith and the captain of the wagons. They arrived in Salt Lake City in the fall of the same year. Keziah, then a girl of sixteen, had walked the entire distance. Fortunate was she and other members of the family, through the kindness of an old Indian woman, to enjoy a pair of strong buckskin moccasins to begin the long journey. She loved to portray to her children in later years the little incidents she had carried in her memory of that long and tiresome journey. It was tiresome though many times full of pleasure for the children of the company as they walked in groups gathering wild flowers and berries. Sometimes there was danger in their paths, Indians, buffaloes, snakes and wild animals. For this reason the children were instructed to stay close to the wagons. Their interest in the things they found one day, took a group of them out of the sight of the wagons and they were lost. Great consternation arose through the company, the train was stopped and a general search was carried out. The lost ones were found and brought safely into camp. She never forgot the terrible fright nor the scolding from the captain which made them wise in remembering instructions."

Her father was the first Bishop of Spanish Fork and as such had the job of supervising the surveying of the site of the city and laying off that town into city blocks and satisfying the ward members with their lots. Then he had to do the same with the fields outside of town. Now they needed water on the fields and he had to supervise digging ditches from the canyon to bring water to their gardens and fields. So her mother and older children were left with their own gardens and fields to care for. Needless to say grandmother did her share as she always did. Aunt Ellen adds, "These added responsibilities made it necessary for his older children to give their strength and energy to assist in sustaining the helpless ones. Unselfishly this young girl picked her tasks, displaying patience and interest in the work at hand, so characteristic of her later life. Her school days were limited but her heart was receiving a development in preparation for the mission of life awaiting her."

The Indians drove off their stock and left them rather poor so after he had gotten things in shape in Spanish Fork, her father, John Lowe Butler, decided to go back along the trail to Fort Bridger, but President Young counselled him to go to Green River on the highway. There were many companies passing on their way to Oregon and California and could use a good wheel-wright and mechanic, which he was. Keziah and her older sister Charity went with him and while he fixed their wagons for the rest of the trip they took care of them in other ways. Among the things they did was to wash and iron their clothes and clean them up before going on. They also cooked them some good meals and did any other things they requested for them. They thought they earned quite a bit of money. Grandmother used hers to get her a new wedding dress, because she was getting married the next winter. On the 2nd of January 1856 they were married and were sealed in the Endowment House 16 February 1858.

They had their patriarchal blessings before they left Spanish Fork. Grandmother had hers the year before she was married and grandfather two months after he was married. I shall give them here.

A Patriarchal Blessing by Isaac Morley given in Spanish Fork. 1 March 1856 to Lemuel Hardison Redd, son of John H. And Elizabeth Hancock Redd, born at Sneed's Ferry, North Carolina, 31 July 1836.

"Brother Lemuel, by the authority of the holy priesthood, we lay our hands upon thy head and ratify the seal and blessing of thy sire upon thee. Thou art in the morning of life and in thine heirship thou art numbered with the seed of Abraham. Listen to the counsel of thy father and there is no seal or key of knowledge but what thou hast the right to attain to. Let no earthly consideration lead thy mind astray from the path of rectitude and the love of virtue. In so doing thou shalt find many attributes accumulating in thy mind. Thou wilt find the love of God increasing in thy bosom, thou wilt find a principle whereby thou wilt extend mercy and favor to others that wilt cause thy mind to become illuminated with light, with principle and by promise. We seal upon thee thy washings and annointings and endowments whereby thou wilt be prepared to receive the keys of the everlasting gospel which thou wilt have to bear to people who are sitting in darkness. That thy garments may be clean from the blood of this generation keep in thy memory the vows and obligations and thou shalt have faith given thee from on high to rebuke diseases. The winds and the waves will be stayed by the prayer of thy faith. Therefore improve upon thy leisure moments as they pass and thou shalt be an instrument in the hands of the Lord in winning many into Christ's kingdom who will become stars in thy crown in the day of the Lord Jesus. Live to honor the priesthood and thy crown will be glorious and when that still small voice whispers peace to thy mind thou mayest know that the Lord is near thee. Thou art of Ephraim and these seals of the priesthood shall rest upon thee and thy seed after thee.

I now seal thee up to enjoy the blessings of eternal life in the kingdom of God. Even so, Amen and amen.

A Patriarchal Blessing by Isaac Morley on the head of Keziah Jane Butler, daughter of John Lowe Butler and Caroline Skeen Butler, born 25 February 1836 in Simpson County, Kentucky. Palmyra Feb. 26 1855.

"Sister Keziah Jane, in the name of the Lord, and by the virtue of the priesthood, we lay our hands upon thy head and we ratify the seal of thy father upon thy head. This is a principle of promise pertaining to the holy priesthood. A seal that ever shall be and abide with thee. Thou art blessed with the daughters of Abraham for thou art in the same everlasting covenant with them. Thou art adopted into the family of the faithful. Thou hast become a legal heir to all the blessings that were to be enjoyed by the daughters of Abraham. The Lord has blessed thee with many rights and with intellectual faculties whereby thou wilt become useful in thy day and generation upon the earth. Thou hast the promise of thy Heavenly Father resting upon thee. Thou art brought into heirship by the waters of baptism. Therefore rejoice in the covenants for in the fulfilling of the promises

thy mind will become filled with light. They will be verified upon thee in the holy ordinances of the God, where blessings of the everlasting priesthood will be revealed to thy mind. Thou wilt appreciate thy heirship as the greatest blessing that ever was, or ever will be committed to thy trust, where thou wilt learn the straightness of the gate and the narrowness of the way which will produce joy and satisfaction to thy mind, for thou wilt be taught the pattern of Heavenly things where the spirit of truth will be made manifest to thy mind.

Thou art of Ephraim and a legal heir to the seals of the holy ordinances. Thou wilt rejoice on bearing testimony of the loving kindness of the Creator towards thee. Thou shalt enjoy the society of the faithful before the Lord. Thou wilt be favored of heaven, of raising thy posterity as tender plants by thy side for they will bear the keys of the gospel of salvation and will be exalted in the kingdom of Glory. We ratify this seal by virtue of the priesthood in the name of Jesus, even so Amen and amen.

Recorded in Isaac Morley' book "B" page 414, No. 516.

In the records of Spanish Fork we find the following bit of information: "Brother John H. Redd was appointed a mission to Las Vegas but did not go, but fitted out his son, Lemuel H., who with his wife went in contemplation of having his father follow in the fall." This happened in February 1856, one month after they were married. So he and grandmother left for Las Vegas. They went by ox team and led a cow behind the wagon. Can you imagine going at the rate they must have had to go on that trip? The animals walked practically all the way, about five hundred miles, a trip of about two months. Walking all day and camping at night wherever night overtook them. They must have had company as it wasn't safe at all to go that distance alone. They went for the purpose of helping open up some lead mines there but the mission didn't succeed so they returned in the fall. They returned early in September, a few weeks before their first child, Lemuel H. Jr., was born. Again they travelled by ox team and led the cow behind, over the now hot, hot desert. They carried their water in a barrel tied to the side or back of the wagon and I can imagine how they must have thirsted for a nice cool drink when the only water they had was warm, warm, all the time with a possible early morning exception. They helped build the fort at Las Vegas and plant some cottonwood trees about it. I saw them there once.

While there they received the following letter from his father:

"Spanish Fork City, Utah Co., and Utah Territory, August 1st 1856—

Dear Son and Daughter —

With pleasure and interest I embrace the present opportunity of advising you with a few lines. My reasons for not writing sooner I was waiting for you to write that I might know what to communicate. I received your letter of the ninth of June, last Sunday night, the contents of which has been noticed with no small degree of interest. I am very happy to hear that you are both well but truly sorry to learn that you are not satisfied. I do not

wish you to remain there any longer than you can help if you are not satisfied. I have done the very best in my power to take care of what you left behind. I have let nothing go except your table and two pigs. I let sister Butler have one and I gave one pig and a bushel of wheat for harvesting your fall wheat. The man who took the job had rather a hard bargain, it took him about five days faithful work, with a hook to save it, amongst the sunflowers. The grasshoppers injured your wheat some but the sunflowers have been most destructive, they have destroyed some of my fall wheat. I have had to hire all the time we are just through with our fall wheat and oats and will have to commence on our spring wheat about Monday. Our crops are quite light and it is thought that bread stuff will be remarkable scarce. It has been one of the most trying times that this people ever had to pass through and we fear that it will be no better the ensuing year if the people do begin to save in time. The words of salvation are taught from every stand which fully means a saving principle, without that there is no salvation. Remember this my dear children and be wise and economical as your father has been before you and you may rely, my son and daughter, with confidence that your Father will take the best care in his power for your temporal and eternal welfare —

I wish to hear from you often that I amy know how to manage your concerns and keep things in readiness for your return, which I hope will be before very long unless you become better satisfied, for I do not wish you to stay against your will. If you have a wish to return you had better come by the first safe opportunity as I am making arrangements to start in the fall. I should like to have you here to give you some instructions in regard to what I leave behind. You can arrange your business there to the best advantage to remain until I get there. Get liberty from the authorities of that place to come and do not come until you know that you are safe in travelling. I should like to know about what time you expect to start that I may know what time to look for you. I expect to leave my house and land and a part of my stock as the range there is not very good. The tobacco worm, in places, has been very destructive to potato crops, they have destroyed nearly all of the Pace's potatoes and nearly ruined yours. We wormed them over three or four times, they are not quite so bad on our black land. We have had a pretty hard trial to make what we have made. Stock, grasshoppers and worms has given us some trouble. I have not much news at this time. There has been but very few changes except what are common. We had a frost about the fifteenth of July which injured our vines very much. We have had it very windy all through the spring and summer but it is very dry and hot at this time. There has been two marriages since you left. John W. Berry is married to Emily Davis and I myself to Miss Mary Lewis of Salt Lake City, a fine looking girl of about sixteen years of age. This leaves us all well at present, truly hoping it will find you both in the enjoyments of life, health and prosperity. Miss Charity wishes to be remembered to you both in love as she had not the opportunity of writing in the letter sent by her people. She is well and doing well and we hope a very fair prospect of her still doing better. We all have a desire to see you, both white and black and our ardent desires are for your temporal and eternal welfare and truly hope the Lord may bless you in your travels and return. So ever remaining affectionate father, people and friends. To Lemuel H. Redd and wife. John H. Redd family and people.

On their return to Spanish Fork, Lemuel H. Redd, by counsel of president Young was ordained an elder and soon after a seventy as a member of the fiftieth quorum.

In Spanish Fork they started to live the United Order the same as they did in many other places. Every man who entered it consecrated or deeded all his property to the Lord, with the Bishop as custodian. Some of us think that tithing is a lot to give but how would you like to give all you had and just use it by permission. This is found in the records of Spanish Fork City when they had been back there a little over a year and had one child:

"Schedule of Lemuel H. Redd's property which he consecrated to the Lord January 6 1858. Lot two in block nine containing 72/160 of an acre in the Spanish Fork city survey of building lots — \$50.00; Also commencing at John H. Redd's N.E. corner in lot 5 and block 20 thence south to the Spanish Fork creek, thence up said creek to William Pace's line, thence north to his N.W. corner, thence west to the place of beginning containing 20 acres more or less in the Spanish Fork survey of farm lands — \$200.00; One ox — \$45.00; Three cows — \$90.00; Two heifers — \$15.00; Two sheep — \$12.00; One swine — \$10.00; One rifle — \$25.00; One house in Spanish Fork — \$100.00; Household furniture, bed and bedding — \$100.00; 40 bushels of wheat @ \$1.50 per bush. — \$60.00; 10 bush. corn — \$12.50; 8 bush. potatoes — \$45.00; Garden vegetables — \$15.00; 250 lbs. pork — \$50.00. Total amount of Lemuel H. Redd's property \$829.50; Eight hundred and twenty nine dollars & 50/100.

I certify that the foregoing schedule of property was consecrated to the Lord by Lemuel H. Redd, January 6 1858. Lucius N. Scovil, recorder of Utah Co., Utah Territory."

As I said before grandfather and grandmother returned to Spanish Fork a little before Uncle Lem was born. They had no home there as yet, so they at first slept in the attic of great grandfather Redd's log house. To get up there they climbed by way of a set of steps or something between that and a ladder on the outside. Before her baby was born, grandmother got a gathered breast and was in much misery. There was nobody close that she felt like confiding in. Great grandfather had married a young girl younger than grandmother, so she wouldn't be much help in her trouble. Aunt Chaney, one of great grandfather's old nigger mammies sensed that something was wrong and found out what it was. Heat, she thought would be good but they knew nothing about hot water bottles. She must have cared for this before. She put grandmother to bed in that little low upstairs room. She went down and mixed up a hot cake with catnip tea and while it was hot she climbed up and put it on the sore breast. She went down and made another and by the time the first one was cool she was up with another hot one. She repeated that until the soreness and swelling were much reduced and grandmother on the way to recovery. Grand-mother said she sure learned to love those old black women, they were so good and helpful to her. There were two of them, Venus and Chaney. They were midwives and helped her many times later on. After all the Redds left Spanish Fork they earned their way with the sick. They were good at it too, as their whole lives had been to take care of white people and they never knew anything else. They had come out to Utah to do just

that, of their own free will and choice and they finished their lives that way. Aunt Lou said that when they were considering crossing the plains and whether to bring the black women they'd say "We need to go. Missy Redd wouldn't know how to mix bread or take care of things." I guess they put up quite a plea and listed a lot of things she didn't know how to do, and of course they came along with the others.

They had been back in Spanish Fork six and a half years and had lived in this united order for a little over three years when they were called to go to southern Utah to settle. They had come here when the town was just starting and for eleven years they helped build it up into a fair town. Now they must sell out the little home they had built here and go to a brand new place and start over again and help build up another town. Its still going on though. We work hard to build a ward house and when we feel that we can now rest from chapel building for a few years they cut us off into a new ward and we have to start over. It's easier now though, we don't have to move. They took with them what they could haul or drive and went south. It is as Aunt Alice says of her mother "She was twice a pioneer."

By this time grandfather had two sisters and one brother left and they also received the call to go and settle in New Harmony. There they all settled and raised their families. They all died in New Harmony except grandfather.

There were many places in the intermountain region that were not yet settled and president Young wanted all the territory taken up by the saints so he made it a practice to call people to go to every place possible for settlement. Just as soon as his scouts found a new creek or spot of ground that was at all suitable he called somebody to go there. In the fall and winter of 1861-62 the walls of old Fort Harmony disintegrated with the heavy rains and the inhabitants sought another place and found two of them, one west and one east, so they needed more people. The Sevys and Paces got on their way before the Redds and got the choice land along the creek. John D. Lee's claim was at the head of the creek and the Pace's below him. They must have arrived in December and held their first meeting the 22 Dec 1861 when they made some kind of organization, seemingly temporary.

New Harmony was situated about twenty miles north of Black Ridge on the headwaters of Ash Creek. The record say, "New settlers were not much inclined to attend meeting - they said they had too much to do - So on Sunday the 24th of May 1862 the Paces and Sevys were requested to come to meetings and not work on the Sabbath." I guess there was plenty to do at that. It would take them about three weeks to make the trip through dry, desolate country and they needed shelter and garden put in and all such. Further is says, "At the usual hour of meetings (came)brothers Sevy, Redd and families-the sequel was the administration of president Lee found place in their hearts. They repented and came to meeting and confessed and talked good." This was the 15 June 1862 and is the first mention of the Redds in New Harmony. Sister Sevy was grandmother's sister. Grandfather stopped on the north of the Paces and across the street from them. He lived here for eight years and later his nephew L.A.Pace built a home there. It is one block south of where we used to live in New Harmony.

At a conference held the 15 November 1862, Henry Lunt was named as bishop of Cedar Ward, New Harmony, Pinto and Kanaraville were included in this ward with John D. Lee as presiding elder of New Harmony branch. They held their meetings in John D. Lee's hall.

In those days people were called upon to make all kinds of sacrifices. I've talked about some of them but there came a harder one to make, I think. Aunt Jane told me many years ago, that she heard her father and mother talking one night but she couldn't make out what they were talking about. But she did hear her mother say, "Yes Lem you may take another but not M.A." Later she knew what it was all about. He had been ask to take another wife and I'm sure grandmother helped pick one out. I don't think one of the family ever thought he could have done better. He married Sarah Louisa Chamberlain in October 1866 in the Endowment House, Salt Lake City. They were married by Apostle Wilford Woodruff, and she came to share the little home with them. She had worked in the home before, helping grandmother during sickness and busy times and they knew one another pretty well. Too, the children knew her and were used to having her in the home.

I've told you how his former slave Luke liked to be close to the family, well he even wanted to make her feel welcome. He had moved down to New Harmony and set up some kind of barber shop for a little pittance. He maybe had a shack somewhere near. Anyway Aunt Metia told me her mother was making mush, probably corn meal mush, for the family one evening, there were at least ten in the family at that time so it would be a big kettle full. Her mother was stirring it with a big wooden spoon when Luke came up beside her and put his arm around her. Quick as scat she whammed him in the face with her spoon of hot mush. He didn't bother her after that.

The next year, August 20, 1867 the New Harmony ward was organized by president Erastus Snow with Wilson D. Pace as bishop. He was grandfather's brother in law and George W. Sevy, grandmother's brother in law was his second counsellor. In time they effected some of the auxiliary organizations, but I imagine it took some time to do it. Ann Mariah Redd Pace was the first president of the Relief Society with Keziah Jane Butler Redd as her first counsellor. Elizabeth Mathis was president of the Primary and Mary Mathis and Caroline Redd counsellors and Della Redd as secretary. Pauline Bryner Pace was the president of the M.I.A. with Jane Redd as counsellor. Keziah Jane Redd and Ann Mariah Redd Pace were set apart as two of the midwives.

New Harmony was the first seat of Washington County, Utah.

In 1870 grandfather bought the farm of John D. Lee. It was some distance south west from the town proper and there were two houses on it, rather parts of two houses. The house the Redds lived in was unfinished, Aunt Luella says it had only rafters on, that grandfather put the roof on. I don't know how far the other one was finished. It was frame and the yard where it was, was called the "frame yard." Grandfather tore down the frame house and used the material to finish the other which was brick. He made what we would now call a duplex. It faced east and each wife had a front door opening onto a porch as

long as the house. There was an upper porch and the house was a floor and a half, or a story and a half.

Aunt Alice described the rooms to me. They had a great big kitchen. That's where the family lived and worked. The back door came from the porch on the west. It was a little north of the center of the room. As you came in from the porch to your right was a long bench, holding a wash basin and a bucket of water with a dipper, under the window, next to that in the corner was the cook stove and on the south next to the stove was a big wood box. A box they attempted to keep full with lengths of wood for the stove and the fireplace which came in the middle of the south wall. Then there was a window and in the corner against the south wall they put the organ, a little low organ. I thought we had grandfather's organ but aunt Luella says no. Father bought our organ before grandmother died and we both had organs. Grandfather couldn't read notes but he could cord for songs by ear. A man named Gragan, as I remember came and showed him how to chord. They often stood around this organ and sang all the songs they knew. This was the first organ ever brought to New Harmony. When Grandmother died father sold her organ to Grants. Then along the east wall was a big long couch or lounge that would seat half a dozen people. It would pull out for a full sized bed in need. Then the door that led into the front room which was really grandmother's bedroom. North of this door grandmother put her sewing machine. In the north wall was a door that led to the stairs and the "dark" room. In the middle of the north wall they put the table when not in use. It was a drop leafed, extension table to accommodate large or smaller groups. East of that they went into the buttery or pantry. North of the outside door was a window and a mirror with a comb case under it. The roller towel hung on the back of the door.

As I said they lived and worked in this room. It was a hive of activity. There were no evening meetings, no evening activities of the ward or community. After supper they all congregated here until bedtime, In a winter evening grandmother got out her cards and carded wool while the others got their knitting. The wool grandmother used was raised right there in their own yard and orchard on nice clean sheep and wasn't dirty like what mother used to get from the herd. She always carded it into bats before she washed it. Freshly cut, soft oily wool was easier to card than that which had been washed and snarled up a lot. She would spread it out on the big hearth in front of the fire and get it nice and warm, and card great piles of it.

On another evening, maybe the next one, she'd get out her spinning wheel and spin it into yarn. Now she would do the same, I mean she'd warm it nice and warm before she would spin the bats into yarn. That made it easier and she could make much smoother and finer yarn that way.

Aunt Lou was nine and a half when Will was born and she knit him a pair of little stockings then. They were white wool that grandmother had spun, and she put a little stripe of yellow and one of blue around them. She'd purl one stitch down the middle back for a seam so she would know where to narrow it for the lower part. She did such a good job of them that she had to knit all her own stockings after that. She never wore a commercially knit stocking until after she was married, and then it was a cotton stocking.

They could buy a cotton string made up of a thread that was white and one blue, to knit stockings for Sunday in the summer.

The loom grandmother used was a collapsible one that they could set up when needed and take down and put away when she was doing other things. Aunt Lou doesn't remember when her mother wove fabrics. Very early in the settlement of Dixie they started the woollen mills down in a little town near St. George called Washington. They took their wool to this mill and exchanged it for linsey-woolsey woven at the mill. The warp was cotton and the woof was wool, making it half cotton and half wool. The linsey-woolsey I remember was gray but Aunt Lou says they used to get it in white for sheets, that were very warm and cozy in the winter when there was no heat in the house except the fireplace.

She said father (Wm. A.) once took a load down for his mother, several of those big sacks I told you about before and of course took his lunch in the big lunch box as usual. While there he went out beside the factory under a tree to eat during their regular lunch period. Some of the girls working there opened the window above him and began to tease him for some lunch. They made fun of him saying. "That looks good. Why not share it with the rest of us. We'd like some of that," and the others would giggle. He paid no attention to them at first but when he'd had enough of it and they kept on, he looked up and said, "Listen girls, when I've had all I want and fed my dog, you can have the rest." They slammed down the window.

Before they got the organ, that corner held the loom but by the time Aunt Alice could remember her mother only wove carpets, then put the loom away. By that time, too, she only spun coarse yarn for rugs. The spinning wheel could be moved about from room to room as need arose. Between meals the table was shortened against the wall and other activities were carried out in the space it left.

Each child had his regular responsibility. Aunt Lou's job was to fill the chip basket with good clean chips, it was made by the Indians, and held them ready for the early fire making in the morning. She had to fill it at night. One night they had company and they told such interesting stories that she didn't want to miss them. She delayed until it was dark, but she had to go get them just the same. Her mother held a candle for her but the flickering light was about as bad as nothing, and she could see all kinds of wild animals and other dangers out there in the dark. Aunt Ellen had to shut up the chicken coop very carefully so that no coyote could get in and take a chicken or two. Aunt Vilo had to carry the water up from the spring, down by the creek. She told me once she had to get it after they were ready to sit down to a meal. She was so mad that she stuck her foot in it. Aunt Alice must go to the basement and bring up the potatoes. Her parents wouldn't remind them, they were to do it without being reminded. These were their night chores. Everything had to be ready to prepare breakfast.

I ask Aunt Alice if they often had cornmeal mush for breakfast and she said they never had mush for breakfast. For breakfast they always had potatoes and gravy with eggs, bacon, sausages etc., and always with hot bread and butter. Breakfast was the big

meal of the day to start out the days work. They had cornmeal mush for supper. Each was given a bowl of milk and the mush was dipped into it, as much as they wanted. Dinner was about the same as breakfast. Potatoes and gravy and meat of some kind, mainly pork. A special dish was quail pie. When grandmother could get half a dozen quail she'd make a big pie in a milk pan and it was a super duper.

How would you parents like to have your children do some of these things? They had an old hen they called "cock-a de-rock" who was a confirmed setter. She'd set and hatch a brood of chickens and refuse to care for them and set and hatch another. Late in the season she wanted to set again. Grandmother did not want her to again as the chickens would only die. Somebody told her that if she would put her in cold water it would break her of wanting to set. Aunt Lou and Metia said to themselves, "Well, we could do that." They took her down to the creek and immersed her in the water. When they put her on the ground she still clucked so in she went again. But she still clucked and she had another bath. She wouldn't stop clucking and they were determined to see it through so she finally drowned. Uncle Wayne and Aunt Delle came along just them and saw what happened and beat up on them. They cried and threatened to tell on them, Delle said, 'You go and tell and we'll tell what you did to old Cock-a-de-rock."

Ash Creek was just across the road from the house and down in the bottom of a deep wash. They could cross it on rocks in the stream and liked to go over to some large willow trees to play. In the Spring snows melting made the water rise too high for them to cross and they were told not to go at that time. However Lou and Metia decided that they could make it all right and did on the way over. The water rose while they were playing and they couldn't get back. Loud cries brought uncle Wayne to see what the matter was. He looked at them and the deep water and didn't relish getting in it himself so he took his lasso rope, lassoed them and dragged them through the water to the home side.

When they brought the organ it was crated in a nice strong box which they put out in the barn to hold bran for the pigs. Lou and Metia went out to play in it. They were having such a good time but Metia began to scream and dance. A mouse had run up her back under her dress. Lou grabbed the mouse and held it but from there they didn't know what where to go. Lou didn't dare unbutton the dress and let it out for fear it jump on her. So screaming and crying they went to the field. The boys ask her why she didn't open the dress and let it out. Lou said, "It might jump on me." They did and the mouse fell to the ground dead. Ever after if any wanted to tease her he merely said, "It might jump on me."

About this time, I don't know the exact date, a man by the mane of Sandeen came to New Harmony with a big pack on his back. When he opened it there were dress and suit patterns; that is, many pieces with enough material in one piece for a suit or dress. He was a professional tailor and had the materials to sell out. If they bought his material he would like the job of making it up. He was also looking for a place to do his work. When grandmother saw his material and the opportunity it afforded, she said he could use her kitchen and her big table if he would teach her to do tailoring. I guess that was the best place he could find so they made a bargain. After the morning breakfast was over the table was cleared off and left spread out full length and out came his patterns and a suit

was started. Step by step he explained his processes throughout the day. Then at night after the rest of the family were in bed grandmother sat by the table and went carefully over the days instructions. In this way she soon learned all there was to know about it and was able to ask questions about anything that she had forgotten. Later when he was not available she did the tailoring for the community or communities because people from other towns came for her to do work for them. Aunt Lasette told me that she went to New Harmony and took tailoring lessons from grandmother. Aunt Alice says she has no doubt in her mind but that grandmother made the suit that father wore when he had his picture taken at sixteen. Maybe also the coat.

June 4 1871 grandfather was set apart as counsellor to bishop Wilson D. Pace, his brother in law. He was set apart by elder Charles Price who was assisted by J.L. Haywood and Wilson D. Pace. Some of these brethren were probably Stake visitors at the time.

Aunt Ellen writes, "Along various lines was his, grand- father's, leadership prominent in this small town, for many years.

It seems that through all the years from my infancy up, he was chairman of the board of trustees for the school district. He served as justice of the peace, was a member of the Kane county court for six years, and for one term was probate judge. He was active as first counsellor to bishop Wilson D. Pace for twenty years, until circumstances took him away from the town. He assisted in establishing the Kanarra and Harmony cattle and sheep co-op herd and served as director and treasurer in each for about twenty years. Though he never was privileged to become a medical student in any university, yet he was a practicing physician. Very few medical doctors and dentists were found in Southern Utah towns. My father studied the human body. He filled the place of a needed physician and did much efficient work in the setting of broken bones, in replacing dislocated joints and the extraction of teeth. For at least two small towns beside our own, he carried on these operations with never a charge. He was generous to a fault, wagon loads of winter apples, watermelons etc., were hauled away without price to pay, and his hospitality to travelling friends was unusually marked. He was an extensive and intensive reader, a qualified student of history, biography and current topics. He was interested in politics and was an enthusiastic republican, standing for the building up of home industries. He was an untiring student of the gospel and a very pleasing, easy speaker. His nature was genteel and happy. He loved to sing with his family, and let his tenor voice be heard in church. He had a broad understanding of life and was diligent in searching after knowledge in various fields. He was widely known and blessed with many friends. In earlier life he was known as "Uncle Lem Redd", but later generations called him "Grandpa Redd."

In the fall of 1879 eighty families were called by the church from Iron, Garfield and Washington counties to colonize the valley of the San Juan river in south eastern Utah. Grandfather was chosen as one of the scouts to find a trail or road for them. In a book called, "Zealots of Zion," by Hoffman Birney I take the following excerpts about this trip.

"George B. Hobbs, Lemuel H. Redd, George Sevy and George Morrill were sent as an advance party to scout a route from the eastern bank of the Colorado to Montezuma—-"

The three Georges and Lemuel composed the quartet which set out from the camp at Hole in the Rock on December 17, 1879. As they were assembling their outfit for the trip, George Morrill asked George B. Hobbs if it would be possible to take with them a burro to pack the bedding. Hobbs replied to the affirmative. Where upon Lemuel Redd remarked that he possessed a stout surefooted mule that was but little larger than a burro. If Morrill's burro could get through the rough country they would traverse, he was confident his mule could make it. It was voted to take the mule, and George Sevy immediately observed that he had a tough pony that wasn't any larger than Redd's mule. Any place that mule could go he asserted his pony could follow."

"Ordinary standards of comparison are futile in attempting to describe the western portion of San Juan county, through which the three Georges and Lemuel Redd were striving to blaze a trail. It is unlike any other section of the United States.—"

"The Mormon pioneers gave Lemuel Redd's name to one of the big canyons that head in the clay hills and wind westward to the Colorado. Some of the maps show the general location and course of that gorge, but cartographers could see no necessity for the final "d" and it appears only as Red Canyon, one of the thousand-odd Red canyons that are to be found in the west. Through such errors does all memory of the pioneers vanish — Redd Canyon was the only place name in San Juan county that preserved the memory of any of the dauntless men who blazed the first trail through that unknown wilderness of sandstone." (The first white men to travel this impossible country)

They ran out of provisions and even out of water. It was hot and dry and dusty. Grandfather held a little round flat stone in his mouth for days to keep his tongue from swelling in that heat. As a last resort they killed the mule and ate that as long as it was fresh enough. They arose one morning and grandfather said to the others, "Go ahead and cook some of the mule and I'll go and get some water." They thought he had lost his senses but he had dreamed in the night where there was water close by. He took their demijohn and left camp. He went to a group of trees and found a small spring. He drank his fill, filled the demijohn and returned to the camp. Needless to say they all rejoiced. Their rejoicing was not only for themselves but for their remaining animals who were just as badly off as they were.

Hoffman Birney says this of their experiences at that time, "The four must have been men of iron. Ninety six hours of starvation to say nothing of other hardships they had undergone, left little mark upon them."

Later they saw a mountain goat, when they chased it, it ran bounding from rock ledge to rock ledge down the only possible route to the river and that is the way they found what is known as the Hole in the Rock, as I remember.

I guess being out that long they could have many different experiences. George Hobbs writes, "Christmas found us on the east side of Elk Mountain without food and no way of identifying our location. It was impossible to retrace out steps to the river camp and we knew not which way to go to reach our destination. L.H. Redd's dream helped us find our way." Aunt Ellen tells us about that experience.

"The following is my father's story as I remember hearing him tell of their perilous experience that Christmas time. Snow had fallen all day until evening. Night began to settle around them. They found a clearing in which to make a camp. With branches from Cedar trees they brushed off the snow and kindled several large fires to dry and warm the ground. After hours of work carrying dry Cedar trees to feed the fires, their reward was a warm place for their horses and for each of them to lie down wrapped in his blankets. Their grievous needs of the moment and their days of suffering from cold and lack of food would naturally lead them to the only source from which they could possibly receive help.

Morning came with clear skies and sunshine. As they folded their blankets my father said to his companions, "Come with me to the top of yonder knoll and I will show you the San Juan River." As they stood on the spot where he had stood in his dream of the night before, their hearts thrilled as each, in his turn, with their field glasses, looked upon the waters of the San Juan River. Shining like a silver ribbon in the sunlight, as my father expressed it. This ended their search for the San Juan River. It was to guide them to their destination."

Kumen Jones, one of those early pioneers to San Juan, writes a tribute, "The exploring trip of these four men, George W. Sevy, Lemuel H. Redd, George Morrill and George Hobbs, will always be remembered by all those acquainted with it, and who took part in it, as one of the hardest and most trying in the way of perseverance and persistent endurance of any undertaking connected with the San Juan mission. It has been a source of wonder to all those who have become acquainted with the country through which those explorers travelled, since those early days. How they ever found their way through deep snow and blinding snowstorms in such a timbered country, all cut to pieces with deep gorges for such long distance without compass or trail, remains a puzzle. Much of the time there was no sun, moon or stars to help them in keeping their course. The only answer that helps explain the mystery must be that a kind providence came to their assistance. How those Latter Day Saints scouts made that trip and returned all alive, with the weather, food shortages and other obstacles against them is proof that God held out his hand. Having gone over that same country many times since riding after cattle it seems more impossible as time passes."

It seems that this trip didn't end his travels in that direction. Aunt Ellen writes "In 1887 my father, Monroe and family, with other helpers drove a herd of one hundred and fifty horses and cattle into San Juan county. My sister, Delle, rode horseback and helped drive the stock. I drove a team and wagon. As we travelled through White canyon to Bluff, our water supply for camp uses was often obtained from basin-like depressions in

the top of large flat rocks. As I remember it, we sometimes found several gallons in one rock basin."

Aunt Alice was a tiny babe when her father left to take this long hard trip into the unknown. Father (Wm. A.) and uncle John were in Arizona, Uncle Lem was newly married and was going with his wife and tiny babe to this far off place to make a home. That left grandmother home with eight children to look after and manage. Her roll was possibly as hard as his this time. It seems that if a brother were called to a mission he went regardless of the condition of his family at home. Aunt Alice writes this of her;

MY MOTHER

Brimful of duties were my mother's days. Always from early dawn till late at night; But after hours she tilled a garden plot Of flowers to make the drab yard gay and bright. Though evening duties called for all her time, We claimed her for the stories we liked best; She came along and told the fairy tales That sent us to sweet dreams and peaceful rest. A quiet hour I'm sure my mother craved Yet all our friends were welcome in her home. Her heart reached out, and every mother's child Who knew her, shared the love - not hers alone. The world could never call my mother great, She plied no skill in song nor verse nor art, But everyone who knew her called her friend And shared the kind refreshment of her heart. Her gentle ways, her kindly helpful hand Marked carefully the path our feet should go, And on and on her love calls through the years Like strains of sacred music, soft and low.

Aunt Metia tells about their summer experience. As soon as the fruit was ripe and ready to dry, they gathered together all the pans, boxes, old chairs, knives and benches. They dressed in their old clothes and went to the orchard early in the morning and stayed all day and peeled and cut apples for drying, or cut and pitted peaches or whatever fruit was to be done that day. Some of them, probably the boys climbed the trees and picked the fruit, others spread it out to dry. They would work until dark than wash at the little basin beside the door and go to bed and the next day the work of the day before was repeated. This went on until all the fruit and vegetables were cached away for the coming winter. It took everybody in the family to get it all in for the winter because there were many mouths to feed and many growing bodies to be nourished.

Aunt Lou gave me another version of pine nut hunting. She said father used to take them a lot. He would climb up the tree and with a little hatchet he would chop off the loaded branches. The kids down below would take off the cones to take home. The Indians showed them how to roast them. They'd dig a big hole and line it with rocks, then build a fire on these rocks and get them red hot. Then they'd rake out the ashes and fill the hole with pine cones and cover them with grass and sod as clean as they could get it from dirt. They would then cover the sod with their blankets. It was left until cool, and uncovered. The heat had, by then, popped the cones and let the nuts fall out. Grandmother had a big box with a lid to put them in. She's put this box under her bed. They couldn't open the box while it was under the bed and the little kids couldn't pull it out. When I said blankets, I didn't mean bed blankets they slept in. They always had a supply of blankets they put under their saddles when they rode, it was these blankets they used. They always had them along when they went on any kind of a trip and used them for sitting or lying on the dirt or rocks.

Aunt Alice writes: HOMECOMING "When the homecoming invitation came that mild June day the activities of my busy household dropped from me and I thought of Riley's words, "Let's go visiting back to Grigsby's Station. Back where we used to be so happy, and so poor." After twenty five years, to go back to my home town. What would I find there? The little village with it's twenty four families has had a modest but colorful history, dating back to 1852, when a group of colonizers, under the leadership of John D. Lee moved over the rim of the basin, halted their oxen and covered wagon on the high flats east of the present site of New Harmony, dug a well and built a fort. The spot proved unsuitable and a few years later half of the group moved to the present site of Kanarra and the other half to New Harmony. Hospitality and friendliness have always been cardinal virtues of the good people there so I would be sure of a warm welcome. With my seventeen year old son as driver, a boy friend of his and two of my younger boys we made preparations for camping, loaded the "touring" car, buttoned down the canvas curtains and travelled the three hundred miles on highway 91 and reached the bustling village late after noon. A welcoming committee met us and assigned us a camping place in a friends' front yard, with sleeping cots on the screened porch and places for the boys beds in the granary loft.

After all these years the change was not too great, the streets were narrower and the town plot smaller than I had remembered. Some of the pioneer houses had been replace with modern homes, they now had a culinary water system instead of surface wells with hand windlass and bucket. Electric lights had replaced the coal oil lamps and in many of the barns and sheds an automobile stood alongside the cow or horse stall. Yes, New Harmony had moved right along with the years.

Wherever I turned I met old time friends. What a wonderful thing, a homecoming. After years of being separated, for people to come together, people whose lives, labor and loves had once intermingled and now had turned to near strangers, to visit again in this atmosphere, sweet with childish memories, was an occasion one needed to experience to

appreciate. Six hundred people visited there during the three days of celebration, coming from Canada to Mexico.

The meeting of relatives and friends and partaking of entertainments and luncheons so generously provided by our hosts, was a taste of heaven; but to go home to the farm house beyond the west fields was the highlight of my vacation. The touring car nosed its way across the muddy Imlay Creek, over rutted narrow roads, through meadows and fields and came to a stand under Ben's gnarled locust tree that still stood like a dignified patriarch to guard the hallowed place where once was home. Not a brick, not a stone, not a shingle remained of the big farmhouse that had echoed to the life, the hope and purpose of our large family group.

I had come home. To me the red brick walls of the house were there, transparent now as lace; all the rooms, the floor coverings, the furniture, window curtains and the busy family were the same as they were when I was a child. I stepped over the worn threshold from the back porch into the big kitchen warmed by a wide fireplace with a burning black log held up by black andirons. The blaze lighted the stone hearth and braided rag rug. A wide circle of us sat in it's warmth and cheer eating pine nuts that we had gathered from the nearby hills earlier in the fall, and roasted in the back yard pit. In the corner of the kitchen stood the big charter oak stove with the hot water reservoir on the back and beside it was the battered wood box filled with lengths of pine and cedar wood and some rumpled cedar bark for starting the morning fire. By the back door stood the wash bench with the buckets of water and a wash basin. Behind the door hung the looking glass and comb case and the long roller towel. Against the north wall the big fall leaf table was covered with a red and white checkered cloth. Along the partition wall stood the wooden lounge long enough to seat half a dozen people. When it was pulled out it made an extra bed with well filled straw tick in place of mattress and springs. A bright flame from the burning log lighted the open bookshelf and I saw again my treasured volume, "Leaves from My Journal" a present from my eldest brother Lem. How proud we are of his accomplishments; a leader and colonizer in far off San Juan, bishop, stake president, state senator, a mediator in Indian affairs and father of a wonderful family.

"Off the kitchen I saw pantry lined with shelves and cupboards and in their accustomed places the dishes, cooking utensils, the wooden churn and long dasher, the cream jar, shelves filled with milk pans, the vinegar kegs, pickle and preserve jars and the handy bread box.

"I went to the front room next, bright cheery with stripped rag carpet. There stood father's and mother's four poster bed made up with fluffed feather tick, log cabin patched quilt and well starched hand embroidered pillow shams. My trundle bed was rolled under to be out of sight for the day. The secretary, chairs, high boy and home sewing machine were the same. On the little table rested the red plush photograph album and on the mantle stood two coal oil lamps, a piece or two of china and a little blue pitcher that served as a flower vase. The treasured organ, trim and pretty stood under the high window. Nostalgic and sweet were the memories around it. I saw father sitting on the home made stool playing a chord and a group of us singing with him, "Hard Times Come

Again No More," or "Come Music To My Heart." The letters on the stops, white and black keys gleamed there in the bright firelight.

"My next visit to the little front bedroom came next. It was just large enough for a bed, a bureau and mother's chest, and the treasures in the chest were as vivid to me as in the days long ago. There was mother's tight fitting basque of red and black alpaca, the one she wore to have her picture; and the tinted daguerreotype picture of father and mother in a leather case lined with pink plush, a few bits of bric-a-brac dating from the days when they lived in Spanish Fork before they were called to come to this little outpost on the very fringe of civilization, in the early days of Utah's making. They had only four babies then, I came along thirteen.

"Upstairs was the next move, through the dark room. The only light it had came from two panes of glass in the high roof. Up, up winding stairs I went and felt again the solid smooth railing that was so much fun to slide down its dizzy length and come to a sudden stop against the hard knob at the last rail. The upstairs bedrooms with their slanting ceilings, wide beds and curtained closets were unchanged. There I lived over the hours when I took my little girl friends up there to play grown up, dressing in the best dresses of my older sisters. What a delight it was to go strutting along the halls in trailing skirts with hoops, bustles and ruffled polonaise; a forbidden thing, but so much fun. In Wayne's room I saw his bed made up with patch work quilt and a sturdy bootjack on the floor nearby. Wayne! Such a wonderful man; a missionary, a stake president, a state senator and a guide to the youth of the land.

"Lush alfalfa covered the homesite and yards but I still saw the familiar things there. Through the back there was the clear stream of water, the tripod with blackened wash kettle with a fire burning under it, the grindstone, the hive of bees under the Belmont apple tress and the rock wall with madder twining over it, all in their accustomed places.

"A trip home would not be complete without going to the fishpond. A tangle of bracken and cattail all overgrown with wild rose bushes and mint filled the spot, but as I was able to see the speckled trout come up to the surface with open mouths for the bread we always had for them.

"I had been home!"

"The ride back to the village was short but it was long enough for me to tuck into the recesses of my heart a wealth of memories, enriched with the deep satisfactions that were mine to combine with the more recent experiences, deeper joys of home and family, school teaching, travel, church mission and civic activities of adult years.

"This unlocking of the past with Aladdin power, warmed my soul with sincere appreciation for my pioneer heritage, for parents firm in their faith in their inspired leader and colonizer and who were willing to move out and do their part to subdue the wilderness and help bring to fruition this great western commonwealth.

"In my quiet moments on the trip home to family and activity, I counted over the many substantial people now filling positions of trust and responsibility in near and far away places in the world today who were born in that quiet village, I thought in the words of Micah, "Though thou be little among the thousands," in this land, yet out of thee have come many who are good and great. I reminisced in the words of father Jacob to his son Joseph, "Truly thou art a fruitful bough, even a fruitful bough by a well; whose branches run over the wall." by Alice R. Rich.

Too, in referring to their long table, she wrote the following:

Like a strong, strong farm house shouldering the storms without

And throbbing to integral strength within,

The fall leaf table bound itself into our living

Since the day it came beneath our roof.

More than a meal time board, far more it had been;

On its solid top have rested history books

And spelling lists and lessons in geography.

And there dress patterns have been pinned

And ironings have been done.

The doctor's leather case has rested there

And fresh baked home made bread

Whose fragrance filled the room

And set young mouths to watering;

And jars of pickled peaches and plum jam.

Always above it hung the oil lamp

That spread its mellow light around.

Its worn old top has felt the touch of baby hands,

And callused knotty ones, and more than once

A head, so weary with discouragements

That it found comfort on the hard wood boards.

Beneath its leaves and battered legs

Our boys crouched in playing games of hide-and-seek;

And it has quivered with the deafening noise

That echoed from the din of indoor games.

That sturdy table with it's checkered cloth of red and white,

Has heard the solemn words when family problems came

And we must face decisions with no recourse but our firm faith.

More than a meal time board, far more.

It stands, a consecrated altar. At it's shrine

On bended knees we prayed for strength

And rendered thanks for life,

For love and trust in Him who lights our way,

For dignity of work and wealth of home.

While in California I found another account of the trip that grandfather took from the Hole-in-the Rock to Montezuma. It seems that when they got to the Hole-in-the-Rock they had to find a way down through it and then on farther. These four men were sent to find that farther road.

"George Hobbs, Lemuel H. Redd, George Sevy and George Morrill were selected, to scout from the Colorado to Montezuma to decide on a route suitable for wagons to follow. These pathfinders left the Hole-in-the-Rock December 17, 1879 with provisions for an eight day trip, the distance being estimated at about sixty miles. They took with them two animals for packing and two for riding. The second day after leaving the Colorado River, the four reached a barrier that was to be commemorated in state history as 'Slick Rocks,' a sweeping expanse of densely compacted sandstone so smooth that at only great distances did ever a crevice appear in the slippery surface. It was impossible to go around it, if they were to reach Montezuma. Their only course lay down the Slick Rocks."

"After much scouting around they discovered the trail of some mountain sheep, and by following their winding course they reached the bottom of the slope. From here they could see a deep canyon leading northward. Their trail led them toward the range known as 'Clay Hills.' The ground was cut into a tangled network of canyons that coursed north, south east and west in a bewildering manner."

"The scouting party was forced to travel one canyon after another in their search for a path that the wagons might follow. They now realized that their provisions would be exhausted long before they reached Montezuma. Their goal lay almost due east from the "Hole" but they had been forced many miles to the north by seeking to find a pass through the Clay Hills. Many setbacks and disappointments were encountered. East of Clay they christened it `Grand Gulch.' It's steep walls were impassable and the scouts were again forced northward before they succeeded in passing around the main head of the canyon and its many forks. Christmas day, they cooked their last food. Their Christmas dinner consisted of a flap-jack of flour and water. Surrounded by the timbered foothills of the unknown mountains they realized they were lost.

"Hobbs, who had been with the party at Montezuma and in a way felt responsible for the success or failure of the party, placed their difficulties before a higher power than man. He knelt among the stones and prayed. Guided by that prayer, he climbed to the summit of a small knoll south of camp. From here he was able to recognize the familiar contour of the Blue Mountains, which were northwest of Montezuma. The four men knelt in thanksgiving and the hillock was given the name of 'Salvation Knoll.' For four days they trudged through sand and snow over the roughest country imaginable. Hobbs stated that as they climbed out of Butler Wash he found himself wishing that one of their animals might fall and kill itself, the misfortune would at least furnish food.

"Late in the afternoon of that day, they staggered up the bank of Cottonwood Wash and crossed a treeless flat toward a cabin that a man named Harris (a Mormon from

Colorado) had built, where Bluff now stands. One of the men afterwards stated that, "While we waited for Sister Becky Warner, one of the Harris household, to fry meat for our supper, I believe no torture in hell could be worse for us." (four days without food and have to smell it cooking). After a single nights' rest they moved on up the San Juan to the settlement at the mouth of Montezuma, finding the settlers almost without food. They remained overnight, promising to return, if possible, in sixty days with provisions. The only food they were able to obtain for their return trip was a fifty pound sack of flour, bought after much persuasion from a wandering trapper for \$20.00.

"On the return trip these trail-weary scouts faced the necessity of finding a more practical route for the wagons than the one they had followed. They struck far north of the first course. All of their provisions were gone and they were in an almost starving condition when they reached the Hole-in-the-Rock. Their exhausted animals were scarcely able to stagger down the trail that led to the river, one of the pack horses having worn his hooves almost to the hide, leaving a circle of blood on the rocks with every step. They reached camp January 10, 1880, twenty five days having been required to make the trip."

I presume they figured that when they returned to the Hole-in-the-Rock they would just relax and rest for a couple of days, but the colony had been in touch with home, by means of riders who carried messages and mail. So when grandfather returned to the 'Hole' a rider had come from home bringing letters. His letter brought bad news that there was sickness in his home. Two babies were there Alice nearly eleven months and George thirteen months old. He was wanted and needed at home. He packed up his few things, saddled his mount and went home alone over that long lonesome trail. He found seven of his children down with diphtheria but the crisis was past and they were recovering. Grandmother and Aunt Louisa must have been relieved and thankful to have him back in the home with the priesthood after all they had gone through.

However this trip of grandfather's wasn't his first trip scouting into the unknown. Way back in 1866, before he had married Aunt Louisa, he went, in answer to a call, with Capt. Andrus of St. George out to Green River, by way of Potato Valley, to ascertain the enemy plans. The enemy at this time was the Navajo Indians led by Black Hawk. At that time he had been away a month.

I've learned a little more about grandmother's tailoring. Aunt Alice says, "Many well-dressed men were indebted to her for their good-looking suits. When Independence Taylor was an old man, he loved to tell us children that no man ever had a more handsome wedding suit than his, which was the handiwork of my mother. Sandeen had taught her how to measure a person and to draft a pattern to fit. He taught her how to baste the stiffening in the coat fronts and collars, how to finish the lapels, pad the shoulders, set in pockets and make buttonholes. She could draft patterns for women's clothing too, and when she went to Parowan to visit her daughter Caroline, they had heard of her and she coached a group there."

Grandmother was an artist. She learned to use leaves, herbs, logwood and indigo to make dye for wool, the wool she took from her own sheep. So her children wore colored stockings before coloring was had commercially, in the stores. These stockings would have fancy colored stripes around them and she sometimes tied the skeins so that the dye went on unevenly and it made clouded effects in the hose. She dyed the wool for hooked rugs and for quilting material. She had a good eye for design and created some lovely wall panels and hooked rugs of her own design in later years after her little tots had grown a bit. She painted a picture of Pine Valley Mountain that was near their home.

All her life, in spite of the fact that she reared eleven out of her thirteen children to adulthood, she found time and had the ability to turn her hand to almost every line of work to supply her household with the things they needed. Her spinning wheel stood ever ready and handy and at first she carded, then wove and sewed all their clothing and bedding. Early and late the sound of her cards, or her spinning wheel, or her loom echoed through the house. In later years when store cloth was available, she still used her cards, spinning wheel and loom to make rugs and carpets for her home and for sale or barter. Her own designed and hand hooked rugs have adorned the St. George, Salt Lake and Manti temples.

One time she came into possession of a quantity of silk scraps, possibly she received them from Sandeen. Of these silk scraps she hooked a little rug and donated it to the St. George temple. The president liked it so much that he asked her to make them another. She did and they put them on either side of the sealing altar and Aunt Della and Will Ivins were the first couple to kneel on them to be married. They used them there for many years, until they were worn out. They were of blue morning glory design on a white background. Aunt Lou says that for many years the stairs there were carpeted with the work of her mother's hands, too.

For twenty five years grandmother was counsellor of the Relief Society. They probably didn't have then what we now call a work director. In her capacity as counsellor she at least took her turn at it. She taught the sisters the art of rug hooking among other things and the sale of these rugs kept their Relief Society in all necessary funds. My mother had a hoolede rug that had been made for her by either Uncle Wayne or Uncle Ben. He made the hook by pounding a big nail or spike into the end of a small piece of wood, bending it just right and filing it down and fashioning a hook on the end. Then he whittled the little wood block down to make a nice shaped and comfortable handle. I have no doubt but that he made enough of them so that the Relief Society had a set with one for each of the sisters that came to Relief Society to help make rugs. She also taught them to card wool for quilts, to put the quilts together and to quilt and bind it. Probably she taught them many other things of the many crafts she knew and practiced.

Another one of her arts was starch-making. In the fall when they dug and pitted the potatoes she gathered all the extra little ones and had the children wash and grate them, on a home made tin grater, you know, pound holes in a piece of tin with a nail and attach the tin to a little home made wooden frame. They grated great baskets of potatoes into the tubs. She then washed the pulp in cold water, carried up from the ditch. The pulp

was let stand in this water over night. The next morning she'd drain off the water and pulp and in the bottom fine white starch had settled in damp masses. This was dried and stored for future use.

Grandmother was a glove maker. Where she learned it I never have found out. Probably from her mother or some kind neighbor. Maybe they taught her to sew buckskins together and she obtained from somewhere patterns for gloves. She had many patterns and of all sizes. Aunt Alice describes it, "She bought and smoked the buckskin from the friendly Indians. She had a set of patterns and a needle with a fine point to penetrate the skins, also a hand whittled rod with a groove at the end, over which she sewed the buckskin to make the fingers always the exact size she wanted them, and smaller rod she used to turn the fingers right side out once they were sewed. This skill of hers was known far and wide and hundreds are the hands she covered with the work of her fingers." She could make many styles of gloves. Some of them were plain, sturdy work gloves and some fancy. Some were embroidered with colored silks when she could get it from Salt Lake City. Some were fringed, and some were made to order and to suit the fancy of the buyer. These gloves, along with the suits she made and other commodities, she sold for cash or bartered for household necessities. Her home was practically self-supporting."

She was proud to tell her children how, in the summer she went with her father, John Lowe Butler, and her sister Charity to Green River, she bought her own wedding gown of dotted swiss, thought then to be of super style. She said she saved her money and the day she was married she put a ten dollar gold piece in her husbands hand as a surprise. All her life she managed well and measured up like that and never shirked her duty.

They secured a hive of bees from Uncle Joseph Barton of Paragonah and made and set up a box for them under the Belmont apple tree. When the hive became too crowded for them a swarm would leave for elsewhere. They made more boxes. This brought honey to their table. They used it for table use on hot bread and for making jams before sugar was available. Best of all they made candy of it and sometimes on an evening had a real candy-pull. They'd cook the honey until it spun a thread and then pour it into a flat greased pan. As soon as it was cool enough they'd divide it among them all and each would pull his gob as we pull taffy. It was good. Later when sugar was plentiful they'd use a cup of honey, a cup of sugar and a cup of cream. That made the best of all.

These industrious bees kept them busy. Grandfather made bee hives until he had many of them, maybe a hundred — all they could take care of and use. Aunt Alice wrote, "Terrifying indeed was my own experience when I grew older and helped mother extract honey. I carried the small bellows and puffed smoke into the hives as she carried the frames of honey combs to and from the extracting room. Lucky we were if we came through this process without a sting or two in exchange for our table sweets." It seems they used smoke to sort of dope the bees into submission. In later years they obtained an extractor, a machine to take the honey from the comb. They gave or sold or lost many swarms of bees, and bee hives became almost universal throughout the community. I

remember going to the door of Prince's old house when they were extracting honey. They all wore wide hats with mosquito netting fastened around the brim and tucked down inside the neck of their clothing. They wore gloves and were completely covered. When I appeared they screamed for me not to come in. I'd get stung, and sure enough a bee lit on the front of my dress and began crawling toward my chin. I was paralyzed as I didn't know anything about what they were doing there. I was up there playing with Florence. They had a hired girl, Nettie Roundy, who was helping them and whom the bees never did sting. She didn't need a bee net. She came and put her bare hand under my chin in front of the bee and it flew away. So did I, and FAST.

They tried making molasses but Dixie was best for that. New Harmony was too cold. They also had molasses candy pulls but that wasn't as good as honey candy.

All of grandmother's and many of Aunt Louisa's children went to the little frame one-room school house in the locust tree grove on the only corner where four occupied corners met in New Harmony. Aunt Alice went back there once for a visit and wrote the following about it:

THE ONE ROOM SCHOOL

"The years rolled back — I paused to see The one room school, and there in reverie I rested in the cool remote recess Among the locust trees; the quietness Around the old school yard, unlocked for me A treasure-trove of cadent memory. The frayed rope of the bell hung from the tower Above the door, its ringing tolled the hour Of morning, noon and close of recess time. I listened for its sweet familiar chime. The shallow stream, now choked with mint and sage Allured my thirsty lips to seek its edge Again to drink, then with alacrity Return to books with keen intensity, To glean from meagre stores some wisdom there Like sifted wheat garnered from the tares. That one room school is like a shrine to me, A lucid trumpeter of prophecy, With joy its reminiscent worth endears Embroidered childhood stories through the years. On hallowed ground it stands, "A fruitful bough Bedside the wall," with laden branches now And sanguine verities of priceless worth

They strew as leaves their strength upon the earth."

Aunt Alice tells of her childhood and some of the toys they had — all home made. Ball made of wound yarn and embroidered to keep them from unravelling. Later they'd cover them with leather from the tops of old shoes. Home made rag dolls, her first one she named, "Rose Deanit" who wore a calico dress and bonnet. This was her favorite doll and lived a long time. Her last doll had hair and a wax face with blue eyes and pink cheeks. She was short-lived for the sun melted and cracked the wax, but she had known the thrill of a beautiful doll, like all the rest of us.

Grandmother learned to make fried cakes, doughnuts, we call them now. A neighbor liked them so well she ask for the recipe and grandmother gave it to her. She went home and next day tried to make some. She brought some over to show grandmother. They wouldn't brown. Why? Well she had tried to fry them in water.

Aunt Alice says, "After hog-killing time in the fall, her mother salt-cured and smoked the meat for the coming year. The children gathered the dry corn cobs and cedar bark for the fires and her mother kept the slow fires going, with smoke passing through a joint of stove pipe near the floor of the smoke house. The hams, shoulders and side meat hung from the ceiling and absorbed the clean smoke without getting the heat. When the process was finished, the meat was wrapped in clean cloths and buried in the wheat bins to be used when they were needed."

Aunt Ellen gives a more detailed account: "My father built a smoke house about four or five feet square and not very high. There were no butcher shops then and each person had to cut his own meat. Fortunate was the person who could build a smoke house and had learned the art of preserving meat. They did this for all those around them, sometimes people would come from miles away and they would leave part of the meat to pay for having the rest smoked. In the fall when they killed a pig, it was cut into hams, shoulders, bacon etc., and allowed to get thoroughly cold. Then warm salt was rubbed into the meat until no moisture came out. Sometimes a little sugar was added, but this was harder to get. This meat stood a few days and if any moisture or blood came out it was evidence that more salt was needed and more was rubbed in. It stood for several days before testing again. Around the bones there would be little holes or depressions that might spoil-so a very tiny bit of saltpetre was pushed in here. Then this was all laid on a clean cloth in a cold place for several weeks. Now it was ready for the smoke house. Each piece was hung by a cord from the ceiling so smoke could get all around it. My father used only corn cobs for fuel. They did not make a big fire or blaze, but smothered it so only smoke came up, and it lasted a long time. When these hams etc., had been smoked three days, my mother, Keziah Jane Butler Redd, knew they were ready for the winter." They would keep well this way without the smoking if they so preferred them.

Grandmother made soap. It was a yearly activity with her as it was with my mother. I think grandmother must have taught my mother how to make soap. Mother used to have a big five gallon can in which she kept all left over fats of all kinds. When there was enough for a batch she'd put it in a big cast iron kettle that held probably ten

gallons. Into this she'd put some water and lye. This kettle hung on a sort of tripod in the back yard. A fire was built under it and it was boiled until all refuse in the fat was eaten up and it became smooth. Aunt Alice says her mother used an improvised rock stand to put the kettle on. Anyway the kettle was suspended over the fire. When the boiling mixture dropped from the stirring stick like thick syrup, the soap was done and ready to pour into wooden tubs to set. When it was cold it would be firm enough to cut into blocks and spaced out on a board. Then it dried somewhat and as it dried it shrivelled up into queer shapes but was good soap and ready for all kinds of cleaning processes. She always liked to do it on a nice sunny day, she always thought that she had better luck than on a cloudy day.

Mother used to make hominy like grandmother Redd made it. It is a southern recipe and the Redds have always liked it. I might add that the Butlers liked it too. She'd put maybe a bucketful of regular shelled field corn into that large iron pot, the one she made soap in, the pot they boiled their clothes in before they could get wash boilers. She would cover the corn with plenty of water and add lye. I don't know how much lye, but I do remember that the water thickened up a bit and turned brown when it boiled a bit. She boiled it until she could remove a little round hull from the side of the kernel. They then said it was hulled. They carried water from the ditch and washed it thoroughly in several waters to get all the lye out, and dried and sacked it. It then had to be cooked, enough for each meal, until it was tender. It would keep indefinitely and when the sack was gone she'd cook up another batch. They sometimes boiled it and ate it in their milk instead of porridge, sometimes after it was cooked until tender she'd fry it very a very light brown in bacon fat.

The United Order was organized in New Harmony in 1884 by Erastus Snow. Lemuel H. Redd, counsellor to Bishop Wilson D. Pace, was made vice-president and secretary. But I can't find any particulars about it. Probably short-lived there.

On January 1, 1877 they attended the dedication of the St. George Temple and while there began to do work for their kindred dead. Grandfather had few facilities for such work but he made the most of what he did have. He did the work for every dead relative he remembered ever hearing about or that he had any record of.

In 1887 the U.S. Congress passed the Edmonds-Tucker law making more stringent laws against polygamy. Grandfather had married Aunt Louisa in good faith and vowed he wouldn't give her up nor would they ever catch him and put him in jail. Then began several years of hide-and-seek between him and the U.S. marshalls. He was away from home dodging them all the time and during this time Wayne, seventeen and Ben, fifteen ran the farm, and looked after his affairs until William Alexander came home from his mission and then he took over. It's a good thing that grandmother and Aunt Louisa had made their homes practically self- supporting.

Friends and relatives, and especially his own family did everything they could to shield him and help keep him from being taken. Aunt Alice tells about the times when Marshalls Dyer and McGarry came to their home. From their front porch they could

plainly see the highway leading into town, and when a strange carriage or horseman was seen coming, the alarm put men, women and children on guard to screen their father. The morning that they came in early autumn, she had been sent to town to post a letter, and when she was about half way across the meadow she spied a strange, black-topped buggy with spirited bay horses coming through her uncle Will's gate. She had had her instructions and like a scared deer, her nine-year-old feet covered the space back home in double quick time. She stopped long enough, however to lock the big gate leading to their yard, so as to delay them, then she dashed into Aunt Louisa's house shouting, "The Marshalls are coming." She and Metia were washing in the back yard. Without asking any questions, the two of them caught up their gingham bonnets and with a parting word, "You take care of Jennie," they disappeared into the thicket of willows and potawattomie plum trees out through the gap. As was their custom, the representatives of the law searched every room and cranny of the big duplex that housed the two big families, and asked most impudent questions of every one they saw. Aunt Polly, grandfather's cousin, was there and in true southern frankness, gave them a piece of her acid mind, and let them know that they were anything but gentlemen. When they came to the living-room there stood Alice hovering over the cradle taking care of Jennie, the three-months-old baby. In his most suave manner one of the men patted her shoulder and asked, "Where is your mama?" "I don't know," was the only answer she was to give always when a stranger spoke to her. "How old is the baby?" "I don't know," came again. "What's its name?" "I don't know." With an impatient shrug he turned to his companion, "These Mormon kids don't seem to know anything." Of course, that's what they've been taught to answer always. "But we could starve this baby out if we weren't in a hurry to get to St. George for conference. There we are sure we will find some of them." Of course they couldn't have starved Jennie out. Alice had been instructed in such a case to take the baby to Eliza Kelsey who would share her baby's lunch with Jennie.

Aunt Ellen told me a similar instance once. She was in town for some thing as I remember, and saw a strange rig coming and she, too, ran home all the way as fast as she could, but she tied shut and locked every gate she came to. She found her father sitting on the front porch with his "spy-glasses" and he told her that it was only Wif Pace coming from Loa. He knew the outfit. Aunt Ellen didn't or couldn't tell as she had very poor eyesight.

Once they subpoenaed Aunt Lou and Uncle Wayne to go to Beaver to testify against him, and when they were leaving Lou cried and said, "What if I say something wrong?" Her father merely said, "If they ask you where I am, tell them you don't know, because you won't know where I will be."

Grandfather was ever on the move during this time. He went to Bluff for a while with his brother-in-law Harvey Pace. When he felt that that was too hot he went to Mesa and stayed a time with his daughter Jane. He came back by way of California and conditions were no better. He decided to move his second family to San Juan and in August 1888 he took a lot of stock and part of this family out there. Four of them stayed in New Harmony. Aunt Della and Aunt Ellen went along to help. Aunt Della rode a horse and helped to drive and take care of the stock. Aunt Ellen drove a team and wagon. It was

a long hard journey to the Colorado river where they expected a boat to take them across it. Lem came from Bluff and met them at the river but there was only a skiff not a boat. It was late in the season and the water was low exposing a sand bar in the middle of the stream. They swam their stock across to the bar all right but the wagons were too big for the skiff. They took their wagons apart and it took seven trips to get their things to the sand bar. Now it was late so they spent the night there. During the night a thunder storm came with heavy rain and the water rose and drenched them. When daylight came water was pouring down over the high cliffs on both sides of the river and into it, and the sand bar was nearly covered. They swam their stock and made the seven trips the rest of the way across. There they built fires, dried their clothing and bedding, put their wagons together again and went on, thankful that they were all alive and well. Before coming to the river they had suffered for want of water for themselves and their animals as all the little tributary streams, if there were any, had dried up. I have camped, myself, along the rim of the Colorado and there were none. Water seems to go down in sink holes to the river. Now, though, after the storm they found water in many cavities of the rocks. The rains, however, had flooded the country, making the travelling hard for the animals and the horses gave out. Wayne went to Bluff for help. While they waited, their horses strayed and it took everybody in camp to find them. Even Aunt Louisa left her babies alone in the wagon and joined in the search. They did find them, and afterwards they tied them up. Wayne returned and brought with him a load of watermelons that gave them a good impression of Bluff, their destination.

I don't know just how long he stayed in Bluff but his presence there would soon leak out and he had to be on the move again. He decided to come back to New Harmony. He would bring Aunt Della and Aunt Ellen back with him. At this time Della was about eighteen and Ellen was about sixteen. They drove the team and if anyone passed them or overtook them they reported that they were alone. Grandfather kept out of sight. They had an extra saddle-horse that they led, for emergency, they said.

One evening as they were preparing their evening meal at the camp fire, the U.S. officers passed. They hadn't heard that he was in that part of the country and didn't recognize him. If he had tried to dodge or run they would have been suspicious, but he just stood there and looked them in the face and went on eating or whatever he was doing. Wif Pace wasn't a relative really but he lived in Loa which was on the way as they came home and he was the only person in that long trip that knew grandfather was with the girls. He was the only person grandfather felt he could trust.

They drove into Paragonah one night after dark, and went to Aunt Farozine's place. She was grandmother's sister and the girls knew they could stay there. As they neared the place grandfather mounted the saddle-horse and went on into the night to New Harmony. That close to home he could leave them to come on alone. They weren't even to tell their own people that he came with them. They went in unannounced as people did in those days. Aunt Farozine was glad to see them and gave them a hearty welcome and asked who was with them. When they said they were alone she was dumbfounded. "No, not alone," she cried. They assured her that they were really alone and she hugged them and really cried. "To think that Kezzie's little girls were left alone to make that trip" was

more than she could realize. She cried and sobbed a long time but they didn't tell, as it might be overheard and get out that their father was home.

Grandfather was now home but nobody knew it and nobody should know it. He didn't dare spend a day or night in the house. A neighbour child might even speak out of turn. He only dared be in the house when his own children were there. He took a canvas and a bit of bedding to the hill side gullies west of the farm and out of sight. He didn't dare to stay in one place more than one night or two. Fearful that someone had spotted him during the day and might report him, he moved each night after dark. He had to be very careful of that too. Rattlesnakes loved to curl themselves up in bedding. That seemed to be a common practice of theirs. Kids loved to hike around the hills outside of town. He never felt safe.

Aunt Ellen writes, "The house of Lemuel H. Redd was one whose inmates suffered during these years of intensive persecution for polygamy-watching, hiding to evade the almost ever-present spotters and deputies of the law, whose pleasure it was to hunt and to hurt men and women of higher mental and moral capacity than they themselves could boast. My father always felt that he would rather die than serve a prison term. So, during this period of darkness when evil was master, he seldom knew the feeling of safety. He spent some months in Mesa, Arizona, and in Bluff, San Juan, San Juan county, as a relief from sleeping in the west canyons among the rattlesnakes, mountain lions and other dangers. A white flag hoisted on the upper field gate was the sign to assure him that it was safe to come home for his breakfast. In looking back over the pages of memory I often have been led to feel that his solitary reclusion in the mountains where poisonous reptiles and dangerous animals were many, with shelter and protection from the storms so meagre, that a prison bed could not have been much more dreadful. For many years he was forced to sacrifice the safety of home and its comforts rather than be untrue to a principle that he had accepted in full faith and believed to be a revealed truth."

Dodging became harder and more uncertain as time went on, and at last he heard that some were going to Mexico, taking their plural families there. With only one family in the United States he would be safe, so that is what he decided to do. That was a long hard trip to make, or even think of. There was no definite road and probably no maps. They just knew that it was south. As I remember or understand it, some of the leaders of the church had gone or sent someone to scout out the way and to look into conditions there and had reported.

There were a lot of them to go. Nine children ranging from one year old up to nineteen. They were weeks planning it and making all the preparations. They went in three loaded wagons. I guess nobody realizes the difficulties, who hasn't been over the road or undertaken such an adventure. They were three weeks getting to Nutrioso, Arizona. There was Wilson D. Pace, grandfather's brother-in-law and former bishop of New Harmony. He was also in hiding. One of his families lived there and it was a chance for a rest. Rest, did I say? They bathed, washed and ironed clothes and bedding. They shod their horses and fixed their wagons, probably they repacked them. I can guess that

they did some baking too, for the rest of the trip. They arrived in Colonia Dublan in January of 1892, after riding in those wagons or walking beside them for nine long weeks. There they found that one log room, with tents and wagons, filled their needs wonderfully well.

Grandfather bought a fruit farm in Colonia Juarez and they moved there. Ancil was born there the next August and while Aunt Louisa was yet sick, they all had the whooping cough. Grandfather stayed with them until they were fairly well settled and at work. Then he returned to New Harmony after he had been away eighteen months. Bishop Wilson D. Pace had long since been released as bishop and that let him out of the bishopric there, but my father, William A. Redd was now the bishop of New Harmony.

1893 was a memorable year for them and for the church. Grandfather, grandmother, their daughter Ellen and son William went up to Salt Lake City to the dedication of the Temple. Their sons, Lem and Monroe came from Bluff and daughter Caroline from Parowan. It was the first of what you would call a family reunion, for now their family was scattering and has been scattered ever since.

Sometime about now the chimney of their house in New Harmony fell down and they couldn't live in that house any more. Anyway it was too big for the few that were left there. It must have been a poorly built house in the first place, built by amateurs. The first part, bedrooms and attic were regular four walls with a long roof with a gable at the north and the south, very common through-out the state. There were three rooms upstairs. The south one had a chimney on the south, the one that fell down, and one or two windows. The middle one, called the dark room was lighted by two little panes of glass in the roof, and the stairway came up to this one. The north room had a door that opened into a little catwalk to the long upper porch that covered the lower porch, and they both were as long as the house. The big kitchen or kitchens, I presume there was one at each end, were in a lean-to attached to the main part of the house. Out past the kitchens were the back porches, another long lean-to attached to the kitchen lean-to. The cellar was under the main part of the house at the south end. It was merely a hole in the ground with a dirt floor. I don't know whether the walls were dirt or rock. There were steps leading down to it from the south at right angles to the south wall. These steps were covered by a big tilting door that had to be lifted up. It was the kind of door kids liked to slide down. There was an upright door at the bottom opening towards the inside. Somebody left the doors open once and "Old Bossy" went down to investigate. In her movements about she pushed the inner door shut. Aunt Vilo was sent down for something but couldn't get in. She could just see a little bit of cow. She dashed back up the stairs shouting that she couldn't get in, the cellar was full of cows. She said she actually thought it was, too.

Well, because the chimney fell down, they couldn't stay so grandmother and five girls, Della, Ellen, Luella, Vilo and Alice came to live with us. I guess they had two beds in the parlor and two of them slept on the couch in the living room. Father and mother had a big bedroom that later held two full sized beds and a little bed. That didn't last long though, as the girls began to marry off. I only remember when the last two lived with us and then only in the summer, as they went away to school and then to teach. They weren't

a burden at all. Mother had lived with them in their home and she had been willing to do her part there and they did so here.

There are only a few things that I remember about grandmother living with us. I remember seeing her sit by the fireplace with a shawl around her shoulders and her feet propped up. Probably the beginning of her last sickness. She was sick for months and at the last, in bed all the time. She died of cancer of the stomach, which is very painful, and then they didn't have the drugs to deaden any of the pain. I remember Aunt Caroline came from Parowan and brought her baby, Josephine, a few months old. They held her up for grandmother to see and they all talked about what a beautiful baby she was. I didn't think she even compared with our baby Fern. Why didn't they show off Fern to Grandmother. Then I remember that they backed up a buck-board to the front porch and put her coffin in it. That's the sum total of grandmother in our home. I was about the same age when grandmother died, that Kay was when father died, and if he doesn't remember more than that, it isn't much.

When grandfather moved his second family to Mexico he planned and practiced spending part of each year in each place, usually the winter in Mexico and the summer in New Harmony. That schedule was upset when grandmother was ill. It so happened that Aunt Louisa wanted him in Mexico that May but he felt more the need of being in New Harmony. Hazel, Aunt Louisa's fourteenth child was born 13 May 1895 and grandmother died 15 May 1895. When Aunt Louisa heard of grandmother's death she did understand. From then on, though, grandfather came home every summer. I remember hearing some woman say she wondered why, until she was there once when he came home and saw the royal welcome he received from all the family there.

At grandmother's death there were six of her children present. Three of them were married. She had become very ill and they knew the end was near and they wanted to get Vilo and Caroline there from Parowan, and it took such a long time. Grandmother wanted to hear Vilo sing. Aunt Della so wanted to keep her alive until they got there so she could hear Vilo. Della went into the other room and prayed for help in it. She was impressed to cook vegetables and give her mother enemas with the vegetable water, to feed her. It worked. When they were all assembled, Vilo stood by the bed and sang sweetly for her mother. At first she thought she couldn't do it without breaking down, but they told her it was the last thing her mother wanted, and so she did.

They say that grandmother's motto was always, "Better suffer wrong than do wrong."

Grandmother had, for twenty five years before her death, been a counsellor in the Relief Society and a midwife. One of her main duties was to lay out the dead. They had no mortuaries then and when someone died in the community, a committee had the responsibility of doing that job. They'd wash them and dress them for burial. Grandmother had done this for all of the twenty five years, and when she died there was no one in the ward that knew how to put on the temple clothing for burial. Father, as Bishop, had to assume the responsibility so he rode horseback to Cedar City and phoned

to the Temple in St. George, and got the instructions from them, so that it would be exactly right.

I think that the people of New Harmony and neighbouring towns depended a great deal on both grandfather and grandmother for help in time of sickness or accident. They had a big book in their home, "Doctor Gunn's Medical Advisor." When we were children we called it the Doctor Book, and mother consulted it for information on various illnesses. It seems that we had one too. I don't know if grandmother brought hers with her when she came or not. Grandfather was good at setting bones etc. He knew the best kind of wood for splints and how to whittle them just right. Grandmother tore an old sheet into strips and between them they did a good job of it. Aunt Ellen saw him place a ball of yarn under the arm of a dislocated shoulder. Her father put his knee against the body of the patient and jerked his arm just right to force the bone back into place. He probably got the instructions from Doctor Gunn.

In 1895, fifty years from the year that the pioneers entered the valley, they had a big pioneer jubilee in Salt Lake City, and Grandfather went with his daughters Vilo and Alice. His son Lem and Lem's' wife, Eliza, and his sons-in-law James and Thomas Adams met them there. Again in 1902 they had a real big family reunion of the first family. They were all there but Monroe and Luella. In addition to them Aunt Louisa and Uncle Wayne joined them. This reunion lasted a week and did they enjoy themselves! Especially they all enjoyed their visit with Jane who had been living in Old Mexico since she left Mesa. You remember she was in Mesa in 1890 and she hadn't been home since.

After the reunion she came down to New Harmony with her baby Porfirio Diaz, "P.D." they came to call him, and I understand that he has officially changed his name to Paul Duane. He was named after the dictator of Mexico, and then after the original was deposed the name wasn't so popular.

Grandfather and grandmother were students. Especially were they interested in history and scriptures, and did a lot of studying along those lines.

The last trip that Brigham Young made to southern Utah the people made a big fuss over him and provided him with a big escort. Grandfather was the captain of twenty-two men who escorted him from Bellview to Hamilton's Fort. Probably there was threat of Indian troubles and they wanted to make sure that he would be perfectly safe. He was.

Grandfather was active in the church in Mexico, especially in the seventies quorum and in the high priests quorum. He was first counsellor to the stake president A. F. McDonald, then to president Miles p. Romney and then to President A. Thurber. He was ordained a patriarch on 9 March 1908 under the hand of Apostles John Henry Smith, George F. Richards and Anthony W. Ivins. He died 9 June 1910 in Colonia Juarez and was buried there.

He had built a grand home there for Aunt Louisa and she was justly proud of it. It was a big two-story brick home with a nice wide porch and white fence around it. She

raised a beautiful flower garden, one of the nicest ones there, but when I went to Mexico years later the Mexicans had ruined it. They had stripped all the wood off for making fires. They had taken the picture frames from the walls, leaving the frame photos scattered about, and the place was a wreck. Aunt Louisa died 2 March 1908.

This will seem rather repetitious but I found another account of the old Redd home in New Harmony that was written by aunt Alice a number of years ago. It has some things in a different way.

GRANDMOTHER REDD'S KITCHEN

The trend towards specialization along many lines means progress but in the process old-time family 'get togetherness' has been lost. Always a recall of it wraps me in nostalgia and warms me like a comforting cloak. The big kitchen, the family workshop, knew the meaning of the word. There the family, from parents to young children, enjoyed the warmth and light from the wide fireplace with its burning pine backlog, as they worked together, and prepared almost everything the big family ate or wore.

The farm, orchard, garden and range-lands with hard labor produced the bread, milk, butter, meat, chickens, eggs, fruit, vegetables, honey, molasses and wool to be exchanged at the weaving factory for cloth and warm bedding. Even shoes and boots were, many times, made in homes from oil-tanned hides, made into leather at the local tannery in Cedar City.

Ours was a typical pioneer kitchen, wide pine board floor, whitewashed walls, an iron-wood burning stove in the corner, and a wash bench by the back door with water buckets and wash basin. On wash days the bench was used for washtubs and boards. A long roller towel hung on the back door, and under the small mirror always rested the comb and brush case. On the window ledge usually some red geraniums bloomed and on the window casing always the much used almanac hung.

Against the side wall stood the sturdy wooden lounge with sitting room for half a dozen people, and when occasion demanded, it could be extended into a bed with the addition of a straw filled tick. (I imagine that was the one we had in our front room in New Harmony, and the one that Paul danced on when he swallowed his whistle. Ask him to tell about it. Note by Lura.) A box covered sewing machine and the parlor organ both stood along the south wall. That dear old organ furnished accompaniment for us at our every family song fest. Last but not least of the kitchen furnishings was the big sturdy table. It was the center of family activity, the pivot of togetherness. On its ample boards, with saw and knives the corn-fattened pork was cut up, the hams and bacon trimmed and prepared for the smoke house then to be wrapped and stored for use in the months ahead. The spare ribs, head cheese, pigs feet and garden-sage-seasoned sausage were there prepared for table use. The fat was finely chopped and rendered into lard for shortening. On the table top was made ready the meat, suet, fruit, spices and sugar for the wonderful

homemade mincemeat. On that same table top the wooden chopping bowl rested and in it cucumbers, onions, peppers, cabbage, tomatoes etc. were prepared for chow chow, chili sauce, pickles, relishes, catsup. There too were prepared fruits for preserving, jellies, sweet-pickled peaches. There the big field squash was prepared and cut into strips to dry in the attic for homemade pumpkin pies. On the oil cloth cover of the big table was rolled the tender pie crust, cookies, fried cakes and dough for cinnamon buns and tender soda biscuits. On its top came to cool the crusty loaves of bread with their mouth watering goodness.

The weekly ironing was done on the kitchen table and there, always were pinned the dress and suit patterns for the family sewing. Above its top hung the coal oil lamp and on it rested school books and slates for lesson work, farm account books, newspapers and magazines. Around it, as at an altar, we knelt in morning and evening prayer.

Within the radius of the fireplace warmth, we prepared the makings for rag rugs, carpets, patch-work quilts, enjoyed the pine nuts we had gathered in the fall and roasted in the back yard pit, and listened to pioneer hunting and childhood stories.

Pioneer life had its problems, its struggles and hard work, but the togetherness that we shared, garnered for us lovely memories, memories that for us all, is an interlude, rich and deep in homely joys and gracious living.

Aunt Ellen told me that the first time she ever saw her father cry was when he received news of the shooting of Elder William Berry in the mission field. They had always been the best of friends and associates. And Aunt Lou went with him to the graveside, after B. H. Roberts had dressed up as a hobo and had gone into Tennessee and quietly brought back the bodies of the two elders. He stood with uncovered, bowed head and wept with tears running down his face.

The following obituary appeared in the Deseret News at the time of his death:

"Lemuel Hardison Redd who departed this life on June 9 1910 at Colonia Juarez, Mexico, was born in Onslow County, North Carolina 31 July 1836, making his age nearly 74 years. His father was John Hardison Redd and his mother Elizabeth Hancock. The family removed to Murfreesboro, Tenn. in 1838, and when he was six years old his parents embraced the gospel as restored through the Prophet Joseph Smith. In 1850 they crossed the plains. Lemuel being then fourteen years old, drove an ox team from St. Joe, Mo., all the way to Salt Lake City.

The following spring, 1851, the family located at Spanish Fork, Utah, being with a few others, pioneers of that place. His father assisted in erecting the first sawmill south of Provo, Utah. What is known as the Walker Indian War broke out in 1853, and the town and sawmill were destroyed, entailing a temporal loss of \$6,000.00 to this one family.

Jan. 2, 1856 Lemuel was married to Keziah Jane Butler, and to them 13 children were born, six sons and seven daughters. Shortly after their marriage, they filled a

missionary call to Las Vegas, Nevada. Later he crossed the plains as a teamster to bring in the immigrating saints. In the spring of 1862, he and his wife and four children took part in the founding of New Harmony, in response to a call from President Brigham Young to settle 'Dixie' in Utah. He went on several expeditions in pursuit of marauding Indians and had engagements with them.

He married Sarah Louisa Chamberlain in 1866, from which union there were fourteen children born. He served in the bishopric of New Harmony for twenty years, from the year 1871, and filled many other positions of trust with ability and fidelity. He took part in the settling of the town of Bluff, San Juan County, Utah and later made a splendid home in Mexico. His children received a liberal education in the best institutions of learning in Utah and in the colonies in Mexico, and are among the best teachers and business people where they dwell. He lived a life consistent with his profession as a Latter Day Saint. He was ordained a patriarch March 8, 1908.

At Grandmother's deathbed, there were six of her children present. Three of them were married. She had become so very ill that they knew the end was near, and they wanted to get Vilo and Caroline there from Parowan, and it took such a long time. Grandmother wanted to hear Vilo sing. Aunt Della wanted to keep her alive until they got there, so she could hear Vilo sing. She went into another room and prayed for help. She was impressed to cook vegetables and give her mother enemas with the vegetable water to feed her. It worked. When they all assembled Vilo sood by the bed and sang sweetly for her mother. At first she thought she couldn't do it without breaking down, but they told her it was the last thing her mother wanted, so she did.

Grandmother's motto was always, "Better suffer wrong than to do wrong."

LIFE SKETCH OF LEMUEL HARDISON REDD

Lemuel Hardison Redd, the subject of the sketch, was born in Onslow County, North Carolina, July 31 1836. He was the second son and sixth child of John Hardison Redd and Elizabeth Hancock Redd, both of whom were born in the same mentioned county and state.

His father, better known as Captain Redd, as he followed a seafaring life, was a man of letters and was well known and highly respected in the community where he lived. The names of his eight children were Edward and Harriet, who died in infancy, Ann Moriah, Elizabeth Anne, Mary Catherine, Lemuel Hardison, John Holt, and Benjamin Jones.

At the age of six years, Lemuel's parents heard and obeyed the Gospel at Murfreesboro, Tennessee, where they moved in 1838. The family moved to Salt Lake Valley in 1850. Lemuel, who was now fourteen years of age, drove an ox team across the plains from St. Joe, Missouri, to Salt Lake. At this time the Saints were visited with the cholera plague, Lenuel and his father both being attacked but fortunately survived the dread disease. The story of this well known exodus is familiar to all readers of Church

History so it is unnecessary to tell details, yet the impression gained by seeing hundreds of the company buried by the road side, by fearing the attack of the Indians, and by witnessing the stampeding of thousands of excited buffaloes which then covered the great plains, ever remained fresh in his memory and served as charming stories for his children and grandchildren.

Captain Session, in whose company he travelled, arrived in Salt Lake Valley in October 1850. He attended school in Provo, then a hamlet of about fifty families. This was in 1850-51.

The following spring he, with his father's family, moved to Spanish Fork, they and the family of William Pace being the pioneers of that place. Here his father helped to build the first saw mill south of Provo. In 1853, the Indian war broke out, causing the destruction of the mill and town, with a loss of \$6,000.00 to the family. After this they moved to Palmyra for safety.

Lemuel was baptized a member of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, June 2 1852, by W. W. Willis of Mormon Battalion fame, and was confirmed by Stephen Marhkam, who was then presiding elder at Spanish Fork. President Markham also ordained him a priest on the same date. From that day to the present date, September 20 1909, he has been faithful in discharging his duties in the Priesthood, wherever his varied circumstances and condition of life has called him to live.

In July 1853, the Walker War began. He took an active part in this war and served as an officer and soldier in all the wars in Utah since, thus portraying the patriotism characteristic of his forefathers for he was a direct descendant, on his mother's side of John Hancock, the first signer of the Declaration of Independence.

On January 2 1856, he married to Miss Keziah Jane Butler, a girl of sterling qualities, amiable and reserved, who proved a faithful wife and a loving mother of thirteen children. Their names were as follows: Lemuel Hardison, Mary Jane, John Wilson, William Alexander, James Monroe, Caroline Elizabeth, Amos Thornton (who died in infancy), Maria Luella, Charity Alvira, and Alice. The marriage ceremony was performed and solemnized by bishop William Pace and the following year they received their endowments and were sealed by Daniel H. Wells, who was counsellor to President Brigham Young, the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints.

Shortly after their marriage, they with a company of others filled an Indian Mission at Las Vegas, Nevada. On his return, by counsel of President Brigham Young, he was ordained an elder, and soon after this ordination he was called to the office of a seventy and became a member of the fiftieth quorum.

Because of false reports, the U.S. Army, commanded by Col. A. Sidney Johnston was sent to Utah against the Mormons. Afterwards, this same Johnston became a great commander in the Civil War on the confederate side and was killed in the battle of Shilo. With this army came Alfred Cumming, who was sent to be Governor of Utah Territory.

He acted in this position for several years and proved a faithful friend to the Mormon people.

Lemuel served as a soldier against this army. Soon afer the compromise and peace was restored, he assisted with oxen and wagons to gather the saints to Utah across the plains. He was called to serve as one of the standing army of 2,000 soldiers.

In the spring of 1862, with his wife and four children we find him again on the frontiers helping to found New Harmony in Washington County, Utah, in compliance with a call made by President Brigham Young to settle Dixie. In Harmony he was a leader in civil government of that place, and also a member of the county court of Kane county for six years. In the year of 1866, during the Black Hawk and Navajo War, he went with Capt. Andrews company of soldiers to Green River by way of Escalante to ascertain the plans of the Indians. The company was gone one month. During the time they suffered many hardships and privations and the loss of one man and one horse killed by Indians.

The same year he married, as his second wife Miss Sarah Louisa Chamberlain, an intelligent and ambitious young woman, who five years previously was miraculously saved from being drowned in the Santa Clara River through her own heroic effort to climb a tree, and helped her aged father up, where they stayed over night. This wife bore him fourteen children. Their names are as follows: Moriah Vilate, Solomon, both died in infancy, Wayne Hardison, Benjamin Franklin, Terresa Artemecia, Lemuel Burton, George Edwin, Susan Elizabeth, Parley, John Wiley, Jenny May, Effie, Ancil Rey, Hazel Lurena. The ceremony of the second marriage was performed by Apostle Woodruff in the Endowment House in Salt Lake City.

In the year 1870, he purchased the John D. Lee homestead and completed an unfinished brick house which served as a home for both families for twenty years. In 1874, the United Order was established by Erastus Snow in Harmony with Lemuel H. Redd as Vice President and secretary.

He also assisted to build up and establish the Harmony and Kanarra cattle and sheep herds, under the cooperation, and acted as director and treasurer for about twenty years. In 1874 he was set apart as first counsellor to Bishop Wilson Daniel Pace under the hands of Charles Price, which office he held for about twenty years.

In 1877 he with his wife Keziah, attended the dedication of the lower part of the St. George Temple. In April the same year they attended the forty-seventh annual conference at St. George which was held in the Temple when the whole building was dedicated. The services were presided over by President Brigham Young. At the opening for endowment work, we find him with his family among the first to labor for the dead. He continued this work whenever practical, until he was compelled to live in exile after the passing of the Edmonds bill, also afterwards, whenever possible.

During the seven years of persecutions, he was forced to absent himself from his family, friends and loved ones for months at a time, leaving his entire business in the hands of mere children until the return of his son William from South Carolina, where he filled a two year mission.

His sons Wayne and Ben, aged respectively fifteen and seventeen, narrowly escaped an awful death in a blinding snow storm while caring for their father's sheep in his absence. It was through Ben's courageous efforts and by aid of providence, that Ben made his way to town and obtained help, thereby being the means of saving his own life and his brother's also.

Lemuel was many times driven into the hands of the marshals. Providence seemed kind to him in preserving to him his freedom. Never once was he known to falter or forsake either family during all of his troubles.

In the year of 1887, he moved his cattle and horses along with his own, Monroe's family, daughters Della and Ellen to Bluff, San Juan County for the purpose of bettering his financial affairs, as well as for his own personal safety, being at that time under two indictments. The penalty for each offence was six months imprisonment and three hundred dollars fine, \$300.00.

This was an eventful trip, owing to the fact they were followed by the Marshals. The daughters were compelled to share the responsibilities of the journey, Della riding horseback and driving cattle and horses, while Ellen drove one of the teams. This however was only a pleasure to his devoted daughters for they realized the precarious conditions and were able to assist him. Lem, his eldest son, met them at Grave Valley, which proved a help to them for his excellent judgment as a pilot was indispensable through the remainder of the journey.

On arriving at the Colorado river they met with disappointment, there was a mere skiff instead of a good boat which they expected to find, to ferrry them across the river. Therefore, they encamped on a sand bar in the middle of the river intending to ford from there over the next morning. During the night a storm came up, causing the river to rise. The terror of the night was an experience never to be forgotten, for by morning the sand bar was alsmot submerged. After fording the remainder of the river the next morning, they dried their clothes and bedding and soon were on their way again, feeling that an over-ruling Providence had preserved their lives through the night.

The following year they returned. This trip was full of exciting events, especially for the girls who were forced to take the responsibility of the trip, as their father was safe only in concealment from everyone they met, as he was widely known and closely watched and followed by the Marshal.

On reaching home, he lived in concealment from everyone except his family, and in a few weeks, in company with his son-in-law A. p. Spilsbury and Harvey Pace, he

made a trip to Mesa City, Arizona, where he spent a few weeks in exile with his daughter Jane, returned by way of California, visiting the places of note along the way.

The following summer was the most critical period that he had spent at home, never feeling safe to spend a single night under his own roof. This summer the peace of his mind was disturbed by Marshals Dyer and McGarry invading his home. They found the infant babe in the cradle of Louisa; she was warned in time to leave the house and hide in the willows for safety. Feeling they had been out-witted, they could do nothing but subpoena Luella and Wayne, who afterwards appeared in court to testify against their father. They told their story in a straightforward way, though the Marshals did not get the satisfaction they wanted.

The following August, he moved his wife Louisa and family to Bluff. Four of her children, however, remained for a while with the other family. When they had crossed the Colorado river, they expected to find water, but were disappointed as the stream had dried up. Providently, an unexpected rain storm came up which flooded the whole country, filled the hollow rock, and was the means of saving them from much suffering.

Before they reached Bluff, next to the last day, their horses gave out and they were compelled to send Wayne ahead for help. While he was gone, the horses left camp and a long search had to be made for them. This necessitated Louisa with her little children to be left alone at camp for some time, within hearing of a large camp of Navajoes on the San Juan River. The next day Wayne and Monroe, who had already started out with a fresh team, met them with supplies, among them some watermelons which gave them the first good impressions of Bluff.

In 1891 he thought it was necessary, for his own peace of mind, to further move his family from Bluff to Mexico, where they have since remained. Lemuel had previously made a visit there with his son-in-law James Adams. The entire journey was made by team with his family alone through almost unknown waste and Indian reservations. As soon as they were comfortably located, he returned to home and family in Utah where he remained eighteen months. Ever since, he had made it a practice tp visit his family once a year.

Previous to the persecutions in 1879, he helped move his son Lemuel Jr. and family to San Juan where he had been called on a mission. His son Monroe accompanied them. When they arrived at the Colorado river, the company camped and an exploring party was formed for the purpose of finding a suitable route from the Colorado river to the San Juan river. The party consisted of Lemuel H. Redd Sr., George W. Sevy, George Morrill, and George Hobbs. The country over which they traveled was unknown to them, therefore the necessity of this party going ahead to bring in reports before the company could make further progress. The trip was long and hard. They were out twenty-five days.

During most of the time they traveled through snow three to four feet deep, and many days through timber so dense it was impossible to tell which way they were traveling. Several times when they were completely lost and discouraged, Lemuel H.

Redd had several miraculous dreams, which were nothing short of revelations which, by following their dictates, proved to be their salvation. During the last few days of their explorations, their provisions gave out and they suffered for food. In fact it became so low that they were forced to subsist on rations for a number of days, but through the guidance of Providence, they came out all right, and submitted a report of their exploration to the company of which Jens Neilson had charge. (Bishop Neilson was a man of indomitable courage, and has since served as Bishop of Bluff for twenty-four years.)

A permanent road was afterwards made over the route explored by this party. On his return to the company, Lemuel found letters bearing the news of sickness and distress in his family, and he immediately made preparations to return. As he traveled alone, the trip and journey was a dreary one. When he reached home, he found seven of his children down with diphtheria, though in an improved condition.

An important event of the subject's life was that he was captain of twenty-two men that escorted Pres. Brigham Young on his last trip south.

In 1893, in company with his wife Keziah, his daughter Ellen and son William, he went to the dedication of the Salt Lake Temple where he met his sons Monroe and Lemuel Jr. who lived in Bluff, and his daughter Caroline, who lived in Parowan. In 1895, he was called from Mexico to the death-bed of his wife Keziah, who died May 15 of the same year. During the four months of illness, she displayed a fortitude and patience that could not be surpassed, and she remained perfectly rational until the last breath. During the long persecution that the family underwent, she remained at the homestead, acting the part of mother and father to her own family, as well as to the four members of the other family who remained at Harmony with her for one year.

During the last ten years of her life, she suffered the trials incident to the worst of persecutions without any complaints. Six of her children surrounded her bedside, three of whom were unmarried. "Better suffer wrong than do wrong," was ever her motto through life. She lived the life of a true Latter Day Saint, devoted, brave, noble and generous, saintly, and her children can truthfully say no harsh word ever fell from my mother's lips.

In company with his two daughters Vilo and Alice, Lemuel attended the Pioneers Jubilee in Salt Lake City, where they were joined by his son Lemuel H. Jr. and daughter Hattie and sons-in-law James and Thomas Adams.

During a great deal of the time he was away from home, his son William A., Bishop of Harmony Ward, took charge of his financial affairs. Lemuel H. Redd Jr., now resides in Bluff. He has served two terms in the Utah Legislature, and has acted as counselor to Bishop Neilson in that place for twenty years, and finally succeeded him in that office of Bishop, which he holds. Jane Spilsbury now lives in Mexico. John, after spending a term in the B. Y. Academy, went to Arizona and was engaged as bookkeeper for John W. Young in Arizona while the A. p. Railroad was being built and completed. From Arizona he went to Mexico and was supposed to have been drowned in the Yacqui

river in 1888. For more details concerning the death of John Wilson Redd, please refer to "The Utah Redds and Their Progenitors" pages 138-139.

Monroe and George have each filled honorable missions in the United States, and Luella, in company with her husband Thomas D. Adams, filled a mission to the Friendly Islands, spending most of the time in teaching school among the natives. Nine others of the same family have been teachers and are successful teachers.

His daughter Caroline Adams managed his business correspondence during his absence from home in Bluff. In 1887-1888, when she was the mother of eight cyhiodren, she was attacked with a severe case of pneumonia, from which she was unable to survive. She died 3 September 1904. If there ever lived a good, noble, self-sacrificing woman, she was one, and she was a noble woman and mother, highly respected by everybody who knew her.

Wayne now resides in Bluff. He filled a mission to the Southern States and has been a counselor to three presidents of the San Juan Stake, and still holds that position as an untiring worker in the church. He was a member of the Legislature of Utah for one year.

William obtained an honorable release from the Harmony Bishopric, and has moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada, where he is comfortably located, has prospered and is highly respected in the community.

Della and Ellen with their husbands W. H. Ivins and C. F. Bryner, respectively, were pioneers to the Mormon Colonies in Nevada. Artemecia is now settled in Mexico. She with her husband George S. Romney, in the winter of 1901-02 filled a home mission to Panguitch Stake.

Burton L. has mastered the Spanish language. He was clerk in the Juarez Co-op. store for many years. During George's mission, he most liberally contributed to his support. He is now a good noteworthy worker as a missionary in the city of Mexico.

Ben lives now in San Juan County. He previously lived in Mexico from 1891 until recently. He is a carpenter by trade.

Louisa still lives in Mexico, surrounded by all of her children except Wayne and Ben.

Thirteen of his twenty children are married and at the date of writing there are one hundred and four grand and great grandchildren who call him Grandpa. He has a very great record of dead relatives, most all of whom have been baptised for and many have been endowed for. A striking feature of his ancestry is the fact that both his grandfathers had three wives separately and families, for which he had done the Temple work.

Lemuel Jr. was educated in the U. of U. under the principalship of Dr. John R. Park. Ellen received her education at the Agricultural College at Logan. His unmarried children in Mexico have received and are receiving their education from the Juarez Academy in Juarez under Guy C. Wilson as principal. Jennie graduated from the school and is now a good teacher in the Colony.

The aim of his life is to live his religion, and it can be truthfully said his children have followed in his work. His present residence is in Colonia Juarez, the headquarters of the Mexican Mission. He has acted as first counselor to President A. F. McDonald, who is dead; also to Miles p. Romney, who is dead; and now to President Albert A. Thurber, who presides over the High Piests of the Stake of Juarez. He has held the office of High Priest for about thirty years.

In Salt Lake City at the October conference, he planned a reunion of the first family, and all those living, with the exceptions of Monroe and Luella, who were necessarily detained away, were present. At this reunion, his second wife Louisa and baby daughter Hazel Lurena were present from their home in Mexico. Wayne came, out of his love and respect for the family. Convenient rooms were rented and all had a happy and long-to-be-remembered time. The visit with each other, especially with Jane, whom most of the family had not seen for seventeen years, was a treat of priceless value.

While they were in Salt Lake City they procured a family group picture on which were the faces of Father, Mother and eleven grown children, Mother's, John's and Luella's being copies from photos previously taken. They enjoyed conference and when the Temple was opened, they all worked one day in the Temple and attended to other business in that renowned house. This privilege alone was considered well worth the expense of the trip by all who engaged. During their entire visit in the city, the weather was beautiful and good health prevailed to increase the success of what they all considered one of the greatest events of their lives.

He has almost equally divided his time, since that event, among his family in Mexico and his children in Utah and Nevada. To the latter, he has made three trips in the last three years, to visit his daughters living there.

While in Utah on one of these trips back from Mexico in the winter in 1904, he with his daughter Luella and her husband Thomas Adams, went through the coldest weather to the St. George Temple. They were there one week, and in that time, they were endowed for a number of the dead, and sealed thirty-three couples, and received second anoints for his brother Ben and wife, who are dead.

He is now in his seventy-second year, is strong mentally and in ordinary health, and still retains the love and respect due him of his family and a large circle of friends among whom he wishes the honorable mention of those who proved staunch friends to him in time of exile: President Hammond, Apostle Brigham Young, Bishop Neilson, President Platte D. Lyman, and William Adams, counselor to President Hammond.

The above sketch of my life was written by my daughter according to my directions in Lund, White Pine County, Nevada, September 1907.

Lemuel Hardison Redd FROM "ZEALOTS OF ZION"

by Hofman Birney

"Three Georges and a Lemuel composed the quartet that set out from the camp at Hole-in-the-Rock on December 1, 1879 Ordinary standards of comparison are futile in attempting to describe the western portion of San Juan County, the region through which the three Georges and Lemuel Redd were striving to blaze a trail. It was unlike any other section in the United States.

"The four must have been men of iron. Ninety-six hours of starvation, to say nothing of other hardships they had undergone, left little mark upon them."

"The Mormon pioneers gave Lemuel Redd's name to one of the big canyons that head into the Clay Hills and wind westward to the Colorado. Some of the maps show the general location and course of that gorge, but cartographers could see no necessity for the final "D" and it appears as only "Red" Canyon, one of the thousand odd Red Canyons that are to be found in the west. Through such errors does all memory of the pioneers vanish. Redd Canyon was the only place name in the San Juan County that preserved the memory of any of the dauntless men who blazed the first trail through that unknown wilderness of sandstone."

LURA REDD

Lura Redd was born 16 June 1891 in New Harmony, Utah to William Alexander Redd and Mary Verena Bryner Redd. She was the sixth of fourteen children. She grew up knowing the love of her immediate family as well as numerous aunts, uncles and cousins. Her family was very self-sufficient. They farmed and raised sheep to provide a living. Her father was the LDS Bishop in this tiny community for sixteen years. He was the civil leader in the community and also was the dentist when anyone needed a tooth pulled. Their home was always open for visitors and had many.

In 1905, when Lura was fourteen, their family moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada. She graduated from the Knight Academy in Raymond, then attended Normal School in Calgary toget her teaching certificate. She taught school in Canada for awhile, but decided she would do better if she went to the United States. She went to the University of Utah in Salt Lake. At first she planned to teach literature, but she took an Art class and did well and liked it, so she studied Art instead. She studied under Mable Frazier. They became lifelong friends spending many summers traveling and painting. They spent some time touching up the murals in the Salt Lake Temple. This was a thrill for Lura.

She first taught school in Raymond, and Kay was her student when he was in grade four. She then taught at Box Elder High, in Brigham City, Utah. She started out with one art class, but soon built it into a very good program. She retired from there in 1956.

This talented woman has always been active in the LDS Church. She served one mission in Chicago from 1916 to 1918. She returned home and worked as a bank teller in the Bank of Montreal in Raymond and in those days the teller worked in a cage of iron bars. She served her second mission to England from 1961-1963 when she was seventy years old. She taught the Gospel Doctrine class in Sunday School for many years in the Millcreek First Ward.

During her travels, she not only painted but she searched records in courthouses, cemeteries and churches filling many notebooks with vital statistics and information concerning her ancestors. After her retirement she spent many days each week at the genealogical library finding information. She published her book, "The Utah Redds and Their Progenitors" in 1973 when she was 81 years old. This book has been very valuable to her family.

Lura and her sister Vilo Redd built a home next door to their sister Pauline Redd Burt and husband Mel Burt, who helped them build their home. She helped Pauline with her six children and became an important part of her family. At General Conference time, Vilo and Lura would always have a big gathering at their home for all the relatives. They also had a big breakfast on Christmas morning for the numerous nieces and nephews. Everyone looked forward to these occasions.

Lura has always been very healthy. One time when she was going to a meeting, she got out of her car after she had started it, and it rolled over her leg. She got back into the car and went to the meeting, and it was only later in the evening that she fainted, and it was discovered that she had broken her leg.

Her paintings are found in the homes of numerous friends and family members. She also used to grow a large garden and preserve a lot of food from it. She also made excellent wheat bread and wheat cookies that everyone loved.

Lura spent the last few years of her life in a Home in Bountiful, Utah. She died 30 March 1991, just short of one hundred years old. She was a wonderful example to all who knew her especially her nieces and nephews, we all loved her dearly.

Lura was, and is, an Elect Lady.

QUOTES TAKEN FROM TALKS GIVEN AT HER FUNERAL

Lura graduated from the University of Utah with honors.

The car she and Mabel Frazier used to go on their summer painting excursions was a Model T. (If memory serves me correctly, they built a box on the back for their painting supplies and the lid, when pulled down, served as a table from which they could paint. Lura was very ingenious. Added by Alma Redd Mendenhall)

Lura lived in a Quaint Hotel in Brigham city and used a hot plate to cook on. Nena stayed with Aunt Lura and almost starved because "she did not cook like mamma did."

Kathy remembers Aunt Lura staying with them on week ends so she could build the new home. Lura herself built the upstairs cup-boards and shelves. She also built slide-in, slide-out beds which went under the eaves. One time the cousins had a party and watched "Psycho," and were forever after firghtened by the black holes into which the beds would slide. A huge desk tailored for her general needs was also in the upstairs, studio, it was all one big room. Her motto was "recycle, reuse, make it over."

When painting in the canyons, she used a huge cartwheel sunbonnet to shield her from the sun. Nena remembers attending an art show at Springville, people honked and looked disgusted because Aunt Lura only went twenty five miles an hour. They stopped at Aunt Eva's (Lois Laycock's mom.) Went to visit Aunt Ellen and Gwen at Salt Lake City by the Temple, she had lunch in little cup and saucer while they talked and talked. She remembers Christmas breakfasts at Aunt Lura and Aunt Vilo's. Her mom and Aunt Vilo made traditional foods but Aunt Lura made experimental, unusual food such as deep-fried bananas, hot jello punch and a strange avocado dish.

At each general conference time these two dear Aunts, hosted the women at their home while the brethren went to meeting, then they came to the home also and a great time was had by all.

Aunt Lura had a garden she pitch-forked it and planted it herself, they also had fruit trees, and made wonderful crab apple jelly.

Randy remembers her car, her one claim to fame. Ernie taught her, at her insistence, to change a tire. She never again asked anyone to change a tire for her. He and his children remember her for her firm handshake. Because of her life, Lura's name will be remembered, no one has asked for the great antiques Lura owned, but do you have her books? She created things for the "Eternities". Pray not for Lura, but that we may be such, and do the things that she did and be remembered for them, as she is.

She went to a Daughters of the Utah Pioneers luncheon and got out of her car and the car rolled knocking her over and ran over her leg. She told no one, and went in to the luncheon, came home and fainted, that is when we knew she had a broken ankle. She never complained.

The first thing Lura did in the nursing home was to organize a Relief Society with herself as President. She made assignments, always offered the prayers. Whenever they

moved Lura out of her room, her room-mates complained because she read to them. Lura set goals, she was very focused and dedicated to the gospel.

Lura was not highly skilled in things of the world, but as a teacher she was highly skilled, also in Genealogy and the gospel. Like Paul of old she was not ashamed and never complained.

Karen Morgan told of the Art Exhibit at Springville in 1945, a highlight of her later years. She quoted Aunt Lura as saying "If this is a wonderful Nursing home, then why don't you move here?" As long as Aunt Lura could see, she read to those in the nursing home. She would sit on the piano stool and teach the other ladies. They loved and appreciated her. She was a master teacher, anyone in Brigham City who knew her admired and loved her. Her main calling was Gospel Doctrine Teacher, she taught until she could teach no longer because of her age.

Also while in the nursing home, she would place the chairs with their backs to the table and kneel and have prayer in the evening and morning too. She would say the prayers.

With her first pay check earned while teaching, she bought a coat and gave the rest to her mom.

Her dad always told Lura, "When you need things, don't ever forget to come home." Her father sold sheep and got the much needed money. He also told her he would buy two thousand dollars worth of chickens if she would take care of them, she refused because she was into teacher training.

They broke the "mold" when they made Aunt Lura.

Tom Van den Berghe says "My mom was the only member of her family to join the church. My father the only member of his family to join the church. We came to America and I was twenty before I knew what a relative was. When I married Lila and met Lura I found I was related to half the ward. He told of the Saviour choosing the apostles, of Mary at the well, of many accepting His teachings. He taught that He had power over death, many did not accept the teaching of Him so he left. Then Lazarus died and Mary and Martha sent for Jesus to come and see him, the apostles were afraid Jesus would be stoned if He went but Thomas said, "Let us go to that we may die with him". This is the kind of faith Aunt Lura had. This unique lady had a testimony that could not falter. When she read in the Nursing Home it was the Book of Mormon, she would read louder than the noise, she wanted everyone to know and hear.

After her mission she began to be confused, but when you asked her to pray she was always clear. At testimony meeting her testimony was always rational, the spirit was clear.

Later years doing genealogy Lura drove to the Library and worked all day, she could remember relatives but sometimes came home on the bus as she could not remember where her car was.

I testify that Lura is beyond all of the adversary's powers, and is in a state of rejoicing and happiness, and greeted by an Elder Brother who will say to her, "Well done thou good and faithful servant."

MEMORIES OF AUNT LURA by BARBARA MACPHEE

When we were small she would come up from "the States" bringing a gift for each of the nieces and nephews. We would go sketching with her as she was an artist. This was wonderful, and made us feel very important. She brought each family a small turtle, another time a large sun hat which we could twist and it would go inside itself, and be very small. We went berry picking with her and filled the back trunk of the car with berries, what fun we had, we had gone in the coulee, south of the old farm.

We all rode out to the sheep camp while they were shearing sheep with her so she could paint the activities. It took all day but was a wonderful outing.

Kay phoned at noon. Our dear Aunt Lura Redd died today. She would have been 100 years old this June. She has always been sort of a leader and guiding light to me.

During my own years alone, I often thought of the loneliness which Aunt Lura experienced, and how she filled her time with usefulness and cheerfulness, and extra attention to her nieces and nephews. I would often think that if she could do it, I could.

I took her wonderful book, "The Redd's of Utah" over for Judy to read. It seems that the last few years we have mostly talked about her present condition, not remembering too much about the wonderful mind she had and the extensive genealogical work which she did throughout her life. Also her mission as one of the first "senior lady Missionaries."

She was lots of fun, and always had stories of the old days with the family and about each one of us as we grew up. We would sit around the table and talk for a long time after meals. Of course, part of our interest was that it delayed the doing of the dishes. One time I remember that as we sat, we heard the old truck come up the lane. Mom said, "Here comes your father, and you don't have the cows yet." Dad liked to milk before he came in and cleaned up for supper. Aunt Lura just said, with a twinkle in her eye, "Hike out the front door and get them." We did, and had them home almost before Dad missed them.

A special time, when I was older, was when she came along with me and three young children to New Harmony country and told about the family places, and filled the

hours with her stories. Slept out at Zion Canyon along with the rest of us. What a good sport she was.

My only trip to New Harmony would have been almost pointless without her as our guide.

Another time was when she brought Aunt Rose and Aunt Dell to Canada, and let us get acquainted with our great aunts.

My first trip to Waterton at the age of nine was in her car. She hiked along with the cousins to Bertha Lake. Her jokes and pranks as we hiked, made the trail seem shorter and less steep, we also waded in Red Rock creek, and all fell down on the slick rocks.

It was fun to watch her as she unbraided her hair and combed it out. Then to watch her fingers fly as she braided it in almost seconds and pinned it in its coronet on top of her head.

Her painting were brilliantly colored, and I realize now that she tried all of the different styles of the masters, always wanting to learn more.

She told me of the time when a young man named Boyd K. Packer came to school and gave her a wood carving of a cougar which he had made in the woods for her. She showed me the carving. This young man is a General Authority now.

I remember hearing her at her evening prayer, speaking aloud to her Father in pleading tones. I left the half open door so she could have privacy. When she stayed at my home, even in later years, she was always up and dressed and ready for the day when I would come out of the bedroom.

I went to the genealogical library with her once. She would park the car well down the street at the bottom of the hill so she could get her exercise walking to the Library, have a glass of orange juice and then go to work.

Lura has one painting in the Museum of the Daughters of the Utah Pioneers in Salt Lake City. It is of Hans Ulrich Bryner holding on to the back of the wagon, as he walked across the Plains, blind. It is a wonderful painting which portrays one of our great ancestors.

There is another painting in the same museum of the Hole In The Rock expedition, by Faulkner K. Collett, our ancestors also went with this expedition.

Lura died 29 March 1991.

MARQUIS LAFAYETTE REDD

The subject of this sketch, Marquis LaFayette Redd, better known as "Mark," was born on Nov. 15 1824 and died March 13 1871. He was the son of Sigle and Susan Andrews Redd and was the oldest son in a family of nine children, all of whom were younger than he, excepting a half sister, Sarah, whose mother had died previous to her father's second marriage.

The childhood and youthful days of Mark were probably spent about like that of the youths whose fathers owned large plantations and large areas of forest land and owned numbers of slaves. There were miles of uninhabited forests in which he could hunt, and the broad expanse of the sparkling sound in which there was an abundance of oysters, fish and clams, sail boats and row boats for work, pleasure and adventure, and always in the fall, seine fishing on the beach where crews of men manned a huge surf boat to row out into the ocean and surrounded with nets and schools of mullets that ran close to shore in their journey to warmer waters for winter. These were salted away in barrels and kegs for use in the winter, re-sold to traders who carried them inland and sold or traded for fruit, woven goods etc.

There were neighborhood square dances, and it is said that Mark excelled in dancing. He grew to be a large, tall man and weighed over two hundred pounds, yet it is said he was the lightest on foot, and the most graceful dancer in the county round about.

There were few schools in those days, but Mark acquired a good education. Some of his writing that has been preserved shows what a wonderful penman he was, it is fine, delicate but very legible.

On October 8 1846 Marquis was united in wedlock to Emily Ann Sidbury, daughter of William and Rebecca Burnett Sidbury. The writer has been told that at one time the Redd and Sidbury families owned nearly all the land lying between Mill Creek in Pender Co., and Turkey Creek in Onslow Co., and from the Sound out to and beyond the highway that now traverses that region. One of the descendants yet owns a narrow strip from the Sound out to the highway, part of the original tract of the Sidbury land. Only a small part of the old Redd homestead remains intact as the gov-ernment a few years ago established a Camp Davis nearby and took over nearly all that remained of the plantation and forest.

To Mark and Emily Redd was born only one child, Susan Rebecca Redd who married Hill Everett King, a young confederate veteran, son of William Rufus and Winifred Lane King.

Prior to the Civil War, Mark was elected sheriff of Onslow Co. It is not known how long he served as sheriff, but before emancipation of the negroes, it became his gruesome duty to hang a slave, a young negro man who had outraged and murdered a young white woman, a Miss Taylor, who lived near Snead's Ferry. He was hanged in public in the Courthouse Square at Jacksonville, N.C.

Mark was a member of the Masonic order for several years prior to his death, and his wife was an Eastern Star member, then called "The Wives Degree." A great grandson, George LaFayette Corbett, now has his old Masonic Ritual manual.

When Civil War began, Marquis, along with the other young men of the County, began preparation to enter service. He mustered a body of recruits that became Company "E" 3rd Regiment of N.C. Southern Troops. He was elected Captain of the company. His roster now falling to pieces is in the Hall of History in Raleigh, N.C. and is available to anyone interested. His country-made war chest, with country-made hinges, lock and key, handles of rope, etc., has the following painted on the front in writing: "Capt. M.L.F. Redd, Co. E 3rd N.C.S.T. (North Carolina Southern Troops). It is owned by a grandson, T. LaFayette King, of Raleigh, N.C.

It is not known whether or not he was in any engagement in the war for soon after it started he and a number of his men were detailed to make salt, a very scarce commodity at that time in the Confederate States. Having lived by the Sound all his life, Mark knew where the saltiest areas of water were to be found. Barges were filled with salt water and then were poled by hand back to the mainland to be emptied into large shallow pans made of iron under which fires were kept burning day and night to evaporate the water. Years after the war, the writer saw these old pans filled with water, and geese playing around in them.

One of the characteristics of Mark was his kindness of heart toward the unfortunate. When his little brother Alonso, was only six years old, their mother died and he and his wife took Alonso and reared him as though he were their own son. The writer has a letter from a daughter of Alonzo, Mrs. Nattie Redd Jenkins in which she wrote: "I know my father thought he was wonderful for he loved so much to talk of him. He loved him a lot and Aunt Emily too. He would say she was the only mother he ever knew, as his mother passed on when he was six."

After the war the carpetbaggers took possession. They squandered the State's money and raised taxes to raise more. Nearly everyone that owned anything went broke and lost all they had. Among them was Mark, who, it is said, refused to sell the possessions of the people of the country and his father, who was on his surety bond, lost a great deal of what he owned. A few years after this, Mark and his wife moved to Pender County where he lived for a few short years before his death.

There is an incident pertaining to the aftermath of the war that may stir the memories of the older people or be of interest to the younger ones:

When the proclamation for the freedom of the negroes was issued, Sigle Redd, the father of Marquis, was very sick. The only one at home with him was the youngest daughter, Susan. His wife had been dead several years, the other daughters married and the sons away, some of them in the army. The negroes, with the master ill, had stopped work, even before the news of freedom was received, and some had become very insolent. As soon as the news came they went wild. The most insolent of all was Enoch, a

burly black man who had had charge of the horses before the Federal Army came and took all worth taking. An older sister, Elda, visited her father as often as she could and she said it would frighten her when Enoch would come into the house. He would look menacingly at them all and leer and look in such a way at Susan that she was afraid for her to be left with only the sick father, for fear he would harm her.

One day Enoch came and hitched up two old mules that had been left and proceeded to take all the meat, poultry and other provisions that he wanted and drove off to his home, about half a mile away. Late that afternoon he went back on foot through a pine thicket and went into the house and took all the blankets, quilts etc., that he could carry, and started back home with them. In the meantime news of what he was doing trickled out and of how he was boasting that he and family were starting north the next morning. There was no law for the white man, negroes and carpetbaggers were running the courts. The men knew they had to take the law into their own hands, like the Vigilantes of the West, so they bided their time. When Enoch started through the thicket on his way home, about dark, a volley of shots rang out and that was the last of Enoch. The men proceeded to his home and gathered up what he had stolen and carried it back to Mark's father's home. The negroes in that section gave little trouble after that. The writer was shown the spot where Enoch was killed and the old house he lived in.

The information was furnished to Leland W. Redd by Joe Frank Redd of Snead's Ferry, Onslow Co. N.C. Mar 15 1954. Joe Frank is the great grandson of Sigle Redd who was a first cousin of John Hardison Redd, our great grandfather.

MEMORIES OF MARY VERENA B. REDD

by Fern R. Laycock

Once when we were children, several of us went with her to the farm orchard to pick some early Royal Ann cherries. We climbed the trees and picked cherries and dropped them in the grass where they would not bruise and we could pick them up later. We heard voices and stopped to see who was coming, and what would happen. It proved to be some teen-age boys from the village, who had come to get cherries. They were pleased to find so many freshly picked cherries, and were just getting started picking them up when mother spoke. They were soon out of sight, and we saw no more of them.

I remember we used to have our hair combed with a braid on the top of our head. Mother used to pin our hats to the braid with a long hat pin. One time Aunt Sarah Prince was helping us with our hats. She was trying so hard not to stick the pin in our heads. I said, "Oh, mama pins it right to our heads."

When we were preparing to come to Canada, I was twelve and Jessie was ten years old. Aunt Sarah had helped mother make new clothes for us. Jessie and I had dresses alike, a checked one to wear on the train and some brown sateen ones, all trimmed with braid for Sunday wear, when we arrived in Canada. These sateen ones were

all packed away in our trunks ready for the long journey. About the last night we were there, the kids in our crowd had a party for us, at Julia Taylor's as I remember it. When we got there in our plain travelling dresses and the other girls were all dressed up, we decided we couldn't stand it, and went back home and coaxed mother for the brown Sunday dresses. She didn't like unpacking, but we were so insistent that she relented and unpacked the trunk. We went back to the party, happy, in our brown sateen dresses.

Whenever anyone of us did not feel very well, there was a special treat, "egg and milk." She would warm a cup of milk and pour it over a beaten egg, add a little sugar and salt. It was delicious, and I am sure we sometimes played sick to get a cup of egg and milk. It seems strange now, we always had lots of milk and eggs, but this little treat was special and we got it only when we were sick.

We always remember, I'm sure, how we put the plates upside down on the table at meal times and the chairs with the backs to the table. This was so no one would start eating until we had knelt down around the table for family prayers.

I remember seeing mother stuffing dolls with cut up rags. She would have her apron turned up to cover the doll, so we could not see it, with just the opening exposed where she was stuffing the rags in. We asked her if she was making a little "piece sack" and she said she was. (A "piece sack" was a bag in which she kept the odd pieces of fabric left over from her sewing.)

We remember the carpet rags. She always seemed to have something to cut or tear up into strips for a carpet. We girls helped with this, and also in sewing them together and winding them into balls. They were later taken somewhere and woven into strips of carpet. Mother sewed the strips together, and we had a new carpet, put down and tacked around the edges with plenty of fresh straw underneath. We liked rolling on the new carpet listening to the straw crackle.

Mother often made hot soda biscuits for breakfast. One morning she called me to get dressed quickly and come and roll out the dough, cut the biscuits and get them into the oven. I dawdled along until it was late, and the biscuits were not in the oven. She got out of patience with my slowness, and came in just as I got out of my night gown. She made me come in and roll out the biscuits without any clothes on. I was so disgraced and humiliated, I shall never forget it. It did teach me not to dawdle when she called me in a hurry.

When father died in Raymond, leaving her with a large family, and not much to do with, it must have been a great anxiety to her to face the years ahead. How helpless we all felt. Many nights, I remember hearing her crying after she was in bed, and many times I went to her, trying to comfort her. She often told me it helped her a lot.

* * * * * * *

The Philosophy of Life, copied from Verena B. Redd's notebook

Did it ever occur to you that a man's life is full of crosses and temptations? He comes into the world without his consent, goes out against his will, and the trip is exceedingly rocky.

The rule of contraries is one of the features of this trip. When he is little, the big girls kiss him; when he is big, the little girls kiss him. If he is poor, he is a bad manager. If he is rich, he is dishonest. If he needs credit, he can't get it. If he is prosperous, everybody wants to do him a favor. If he is in politics, it is for graft; if he is out of politics, he is no good to the country. If he does not give to charity, he is a stingy cuss. If he does, it is for show. If he is actively religious, he is a hypocrite. If he takes no interest in religion, he is a hardened sinner. If he gives affection, he is a soft specimen; if he cares for no one, he is cold blooded. If he dies young, there was a great future for him. If he lives to an old age, he missed his calling. If he saves money, he's a grouch; if he spends it, he's a loafer. If he gets it, he's a grafter; if he doesn't get it, he's a bum. So what the hell's the use? Life is just one darn thing after another.

MARY VERENA BRYNER REDD

by Jessie R. Ursenbach

Before mother had her first stroke I gave her a looseleaf notebook, asking her to write her history for us. She consented. I have the book now, blank, because I didn't take time to talk to her and write it myself. Soon after she got the book, ill health with continued strokes finally took her from us. I shall always regret that we have not her story as she would tell it herself.

She was born 3 March 1866 at New Harmony, Washington co., Utah. Her father, Hans Ulrich Bryner and her mother Anna Maria Dorothea Mathys, were Swiss converts. Her father had been totally blind since young manhood, so in her younger years she learned to be her father's eyes, leading him where he wished to go, handing him tools, etc., as he worked, for he was a good workman and not only did he work for himself, having the straightest fence in all Lehi Valley, but he fixed the fences of many of the widows and missionaries wives, with one of his children to help him. Her mother was a very small woman, but must have had an unusual amount of determination and energy and resourcefulness. Mother inherited the best of all their wonderful virtues. She will never have a chick nor child to match her and her crown is secure and her reward happy for eternity with her "William." The way she said that "Willilam" made poetry of the greatest kind and father was very proud of his Swiss-Dutch wife, and the family which she gave to him forever.

Father was bishop when my memory begins, of a small ward, New Harmony, and was very hospitable and generous with everything he owned, and this made much work for his wife, Verena B. A bishop's wife in any small ward has many duties. I recall going to Relief Society where she seemed to be seeing to many things. I delighted most in hearing her start the singing. I could always pick out her voice among all the others. Many meetings, choir practises, polling station, community telephone were in our home,

and mother surely could have paved the entire street from our house to the meeting house with pies and cakes taken to socials, etc. It was yeare before I knew it wasn't 'pine cake.'

She was artistic and talented in many ways, versatile and a natural home maker. Had she had time or opportunity she would have loved to have painted or learned to play the piano. In her later life, after we were all married, she often said to me, "If you were near enough to help me, I would try to paint," and she did take a few piano lessons after she was 60 years old, but was very self-conscious for fear someone would laugh at her. She owned a set of oil paints in tubes in a tin box. When I was 'good' I could use them. When faher brought home 12 new enamel cups, the first we had seen, she helped me decorate them, but the work was very unsatisfactory and meant hours of cleaning, to be useful. Most of my early painting was in the same category. She did much handwork and continually served for her large family. A basic brown paper dress pattern was kept locked in the bottom machine drawer, and from this she made all our dresses, including her own, enlaring or diminishing the size, as needed. We girls always had a new dress for the fourth of July and one for Christmas, next year we would use them for school, and our new ones for best. She spared no pains to make them attractive or good dresses. The boys wore overalls for everyday and mother made denim shirts to match. On Sundays we all looked our best in our Sunday clothes.

Rag bees and quiltings were the social functions of that day and our home was made comfortable and attractive with the rag carpets, laid over fresh new straw, and crisp lace curtains. The smell of turpentine and linseed oil, mother's own brand of furniture polish, mixed with that of home-made soap and burned food, for we children were early allowed and assigned to cook meals when mother was otherwise engaged. This would have been hard on the diners, but there was always a plentiful supply of good food to fall back on. Our cellar shelves were loaded with bottled fruit of every kind. Jellies, jams, preserves, picles, crocks of home made butter, whole cheeses from Aunt Lucette's ranch. The flour bin full of flour. Crocks of home rendered lard, sometimes covering fried sausaages. Plenty of fresh and cured meats. Each fall grandfather came to help with the curing of the pork and the making of a huge barrel of sauerkraut. There was always cream and milk, a cellar full of vegetables. Long shelves, like trays, full of winter apples from our own orchards, sacks of pine nuts, boxes of figs, raisins and almonds. Stores of dried corn, beans, fruit of our own drying. Mother always made or had us make, great batches of bread, coming from the oven in great brown loaves. So many things supervised or prepared by mother of thirteen, none of which were living. Kay was born after we came to Canada. Mother was a good cook and father was justly proud of her. He used to say, "She could make a good meal with a bacon rind and an onion." Many times, after he left us, she did just that.

We always had barrels of dixie sorghum and quantities of honey. Each summer a large garden provided fresh vegetables and stores to be dried or bottled or preserved for winter. In the huge old barn filled with hay were buried winter watermelons and squashes. She made her own soap and rugs too.

There was no hotel in our little town and the travelling public stayed with the bishop. This added greatly to mother's duties. Always there was a bed in the parlor and since we lived three hundred miles from the railroad, many of the General Authorities visiting the south rested there and were welcome guests, and warm personal friends. We children loved it all. Our big dining table always surrounded. I recall Rudger Clawson as a young man, Amasa M. Lyman particularly loved mother's tomato soup, Brother McCune had soda water tablets, Mathias F. Cowley came frequently.

Our childhood was happy. Mother was quick to try new recipes, and people of the valley came to learn how to make candy from white sugar, most candy made at home was made with honey or molasses. Parkerhouse rolls, cream puffs, cooked ice cream, all rather common now, but new then.

With all her duties, mother found time to drive with father wherever he wanted her to go, and we children slept much on the floor, where she made good beds with the many quilts she made from wool of our own sheep, covered mostly with flannel from wool taken from those same sheep and made into flannel by the Provo Woollen Mills.

Mother was versatile. Christmas would have taxed less ingenious women than she, but somehow she managed something for each one. Being so far removed from a shopping centre, she made many things. I recall seeing her putting small pieces of cloth in the opening of a tube of unbleached muslin or factory cloth, and asking if she was making a little piece sack. I was in no way let down when the little piece sack, with others of its kind, appeared on the community Christmas tree for us girls in the form of legs, arms and body topped with a tin doll head.

She really met her Waterloo when father wrote from Salt Lake City, where he was enroute to Big Horn to find a new home for his expanding family, saying that he had decided to go to Canada. Mother wept disappointedly but began to prepare to go to Canada, seemingly knowing what was her destiny and that of her children. The first year in Canaada was bitter. We lived in a frame house without insulation or furnace heat. We awoke in the morning to ten inches of stiff blanket tops where our breath had frozen them. She spent all the day thawing and drying bedding around the coal heater, to start all over again at night. Father built the big house in the middle of a five acre plot which had had sugar beets harvested from, and mother moved in with all of us children, full of life and running in and out through that lovely mud hole.

Kaya was born 28 April 1907, while father was in Utah attending conference, he being counsellor to President Heber S. Allen of the Taylor Stake. She had only a midwife, Sister Annie Gibb. Mother was made secretary of the Taylor Stake Relief Society while she was still in bed after his birth, and carried on that responsibility for 25 years, travelling any way she could, stone boat, buggy, horse, train. Before she was released, they were able to do some of their travel with a Model T Ford car, sometimes getting stuck in the mud. Many were the experiences she could relate of these trips throughout the stake, which reached to Taber then. Always when she travelled, if she didn't have a

baby with her, she took some reading or handwork. Sister Georgin O'Brien told me often, "Your mother will wear her hands out someday." They were never idle.

She, with father, celebrated her Silver Wedding in the big new home. We were all at home, and hundreds of friends came. Father had brought his sister, Ellen Redd Bryner to Canada after her husband's death, so he could care for her, and she helped us with the baking. At the time of the 'underground' grandfather had taken his second family to Mexico. Grandmother Keziah Jane butler Redd and her four daughters, Della, Ellen, Alice and Alvira (Vilo) moved in with father and mother. Grandmother died before I was born, but mother has often told me how difficult it was for her. Grandmother had cancer of the stomach in a time when there were no sedatives. She suffered terribly and mother was naturally very sympathetic. Then too all of grandmother's other children, with their families, came to visit their mother often. The work of caring for them all depended upon mother. Father was a sheep man and was gone much of the time. He was also Bishop. She often said that she wondered that I had any strength at all, as I was born only two or three months after grandmother's passing.

She sent four of her children on missions. Will had filled one before father left us. When Lura returned, she went immediately to Calgary to Normal School, and then taught in Barnwell. Fern was next to go. She got a school in Raymond and was married 23 Dec. 1915. Paul went next and Fern helped him financially. I was running a small hat shop in Raymond, which Aunt Vilo and Lura bought from Mrs. Hill, for \$20.00 a month, making hats, doing book work and banking, everything. On very busy days Aunt Vilo or Lura would come to help out. My dream was also Normal. I thought that out of my \$20.00 I could save enough to go.

For seven years after father's death there were no crops, and keeping so large a family was a real task for mother. Father had invested heavily in land and was holding many more acres 'in trust' helping others to hold their land. There were few clear titles and an enormous amount of unpaid-for land, his own and his friends. He had signed a note for \$63,000 with other men in the town. His sudden passing, leaving no will, threw mother and her brood into a real maelstrom of difficulties. I have wakened and found her walking the floor at night, weeping, wondering what to do next. The other signatories of the note were quite willing to slip out from under it and leave mother holding the bag.

Will was away at university when father died. He planned to study medicine. He gave it all up and came home to help mother with her problems, which were legion, in fact, I think they shortened both mother's and Will's lives. I wonder if we shall ever know what they went through to try to save some of the estate, yet through it all I don't recall mother asking us for our wages, or any part of them. When we saw need, we just automatically tried to meet it and gave all we could. I am judging all the rest by myself, and my own observations.

Mother worried about us giving so much. After several attempts to go to Normal, and failing, I was broken-hearted. I had never told anyone of my desire, feeling that I would do it alone. Will caught me crying over

MARY VERENA BRYNER REDD

by Lura Redd, page 1

Mary Verena Bryner Redd was born of "goodly parents," namely Hans Ulrich Bryner Jr., and Anna Maria Dorothea Mathys Bryner, on the 3rd of March 1866, in New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah. Her parents had accepted the gospel in far-off Switzerland and had immigrated to Utah in 1856, ten years before she was born. They had lived in three other places in Utah before moving to New Harmony in 1863. They first lived in Lehi, where Uncle Casper and the others who came in 1855 had settled. Aunt Pauline was born there the next year on the 2nd of November 1857. They then moved to Ogden for a time. Mary Bryner Cannon says that her father, Casper, had a melon patch where the railroad station now stands, and likely grandfather's farm was close by, as he depended a great deal on help from Uncle Casper, who had made all arrangements for his coming to Utah. Aunt Elizabeth Ann (Lisette) was born in Ogden 30 May 1860.

They were all called to settle St. George, in Washington Co., and like all other early pioneers, they never thought of not heeding the call. Uncle Casper traded his land for a gun, a bushel of wheat and other things. They moved to St. George sometime prior to 5 Feb. 1869, when Uncle Albert was born. Later grandfather moved to New Harmony, where Mary Verena and Uncle Frank were born. Grandfather moved out to Price, Carbon Co., in 1873, and was one of the early pioneers there.

Mother was blessed 15 July 1866 by Christopher J. Arthur, who was assisted by H. Lunt and S. Leigh. I know little about her early childhood, but can guess about some things, as I did about father's. Of course, she helped a lot at home, as all children of that day did. There were no places of amusement, none or very few toys, not much school, and that left lots of time on their hands, so the only thing that parents could do with their children was to keep them busy working at home. The parental adage of early American days, or any other place for that matter, seems to have been, "An idle brain is the devil's workshop," and other such sayings belittling idleness. They had to work all the time as adults, or go without bare necessities, and the earlier they learned to keep busy, the better. Every chld had to assume some responsibility, and one of the first things they learned to do in their home was to 'lead father.' As he was blind, he had to be led everywhere, and someone had to do it. Very early in life, they had to learn this. I guess it was a trial for him to change guides, especially to get 'green' ones.

Mother told me of her experience when learning. She was leading him somewhere, when they came to a ditch, and she said, 'Here is a ditch, Father, jump.' He jumped and landed right in the middle of it. Another time someone was building, and had made a pond of water, I suppose to make adobe bricks, we called them 'dobies,' and she led him right into it. Then he picked her up in his arms and carried her out to dry ground, and they started over. That was something to learn to do. Aunt Lil said they always had the furniture in the same place all the time. They were very careful about this. Every chair had to be in its place. No shoes or other litter of any kind could be left about that he could

stumble over if he tried to go alone. In the house, he could take care of himself. I remember when he was visiting with us, mother would say "Come and lead your grandfather to Uncle Henry's, then you can go." He could find his way home alone.

Mother's childhood was unusual. Her father, being blind, needed someone with him all the time. Her mother could help him better than anyone else at his work, so she went with him most, if not all the time, and left the house work to her girls, as soon as they were big enough to do it, when they were quite young. Mother had two sisters, eight and six years older than she, who could look after the things at home, and they did. Mother helped as soon as she was big enough, but before that, she found congenial companionship with Caroline Redd, a little friend across the street, and only thirteen days older than she was. Their friendship lasted long after they became sisters-in-law, even through life. At first they were just near neighbors across the street, but later Caroline's folks moved to the farm up through a number of fields. This was when they were four. Soon mother could find her way up there alone, and often did.

By this time too, the families were good friends. It's like Mary once said, "If you have children, you get acquainted with your neighbors who also have children." It seems the parents didn't object much to their children going to the Redd's. There they were taken care of. Mother was always quoting grandmother Redd, and telling about how she did things. Her explanation was that her own mother had to work in the fields with her father, and so be away from the home a lot. I think her mother took to that naturally, because European women are more used to working in the fields than are American women.

I imagine her home life, as a child, was similar to that of grandfather's. His father was a shoemaker. Later he bought a farm, which changed their lives materially. The whole family worked on the farm in the daytime, and at night they all did other work. His mother and sisters spun, wove and sewed, his father mended shoes, and grandfather read the Bible to them. Possibly that's one reason why he readily understood the gospel, he knew the Bible. He would like something like this after he was blind, to have someone read to him at night.

Aunt Rose said that at five or six she must sit at her mother's knee and piece quilt blocks. All such work was done by hand, as there were no sewing machines. This was probably the way mother learned how to sew. Sewing was a real art in those days, and mother could sew a very straight seam with the littlest stitches imaginable. They were as small as sewing machine stitches and very nearly as even. She could do it fast too. I used to wish that I could do it like that, but I couldn't bother to practice, as I had the machine to do it for me. When she could sew quilt blocks good enough, she went to other tasks alongside her older sisters. No girl, or her mother for that matter, would think of her not knowing how to do such things as sewing, weaving and spinning. They had to do these things to clothe themselves and their families.

I can imagine the family all settled down for the evening to some task for each one. Everyone doing something useful and helpful. Even grandfather didn't sit idle. In the

season of the year when the willows were green and pliable, he wove willow baskets, for which he found a ready sale. Aunt Lil said he would weave whole wagon loads of them, and go through the town and sell all of them. They were accurate as bushel or half-bushel measures. He could even fix shoes, and did. He could grease them (to waterproof them) for the family use the next day, and do many other little jobs. He didn't even need a light to work by, as all the others did. Then someone read to them, probably in turn. By this time, they had the Book of Mormon, Doctrine and Covenants, Pearl of Great Price and other church works in addition to the Bible.

Now lighting was a problem at night. They used candles and firelight, and sometimes they filled a saucer or dish with tallow, soaked a bit of a rag with it, let the rag stick out of the tallow and lit it. They called this kind of a light a "bitch light." Working at night with her Swiss folks, she learned the wisdom of the Swiss, and then going up to see Caroline, she learned the ways of the American Southern gentlewoman. Brought up in this atmosphere, mother learned to do all these things well.

Mother was baptized on 23 May 1875, by Lelmuel H. Redd and confirmed the same day by her father, who was assisted by Wilson D. Pace, the bishop, William W. Taylor and Harvey A. Pace. She was blessed "Mary Verena Bryner," to be called Verena. In Swiss, the "V" had the sound of "F", and "E" has the long sound of "A", so that her folks pronounced it "Franey." I remember seeing one of her school books with her name written "Franey Bryner" in it. She said she was nearly grown before she knew that her name was really Verena. All her life, she was called "Frane" or "Franey" by her friends and associates. In later years, father's younger sisters called her Verena. They thought it much prettier than Franey. Her pal, Caroline, named one of her daughters Verena (Adams.)

There were two groups of people in New Harmony, the Swiss and the Southerners. Sometimes the Swiss thought that the Southerners felt themselves to be better than the Swiss. Mother's cousin, Mary Mathis Pace, told me that when she was a girl, she was disturbed by this, and her father, grandmother's brother, Henry, in his distinctly Swiss accent said, "Never mind, Mary, what they think out here. Your people were quality in their own country." So she was comforted. I guess among children, even today, one that can't speak the English language right might be laughed at a bit at times, by their schoolmates. The Swiss children were brought up to call their father, "Father." No other designation was ever used by them. The Southern children always called their father "Pap." Some of the younger ones didn't know that they meant the same thing. One little cousin of father's, and of course Southern, who called his father "Pap," was visiting his Swiss pal when the Swiss father returned from an extended trip. He rushed home with the news, and bursting into the house, shouted, "Pap, Father's home."

Mother's schooling, according to our standards, was meager. It was about the same as father's. They were probably in the same room at the same time, but he could sit at a desk while she sat at a little low bench and looked at her book, if she had one. If she had a slate, she could write on that, then spit on it and rub her hand over it to clean it off for more writing. She said once when she was a kid in school, someone was making faces

at her, and she held up her hand and said, "Teacher, Sadie is pulling a mug at me." Her teacher, whom they called Aunt Mary Taylor, said, "Will you please bring me a drink in the mug?" They all laughed so hard at her that she never called a face a mug after that, neither did the other kids.

She went to St. George to school, at least one winter. While there she stayed with her Uncle Casper and Aunt Settie. To be real gay and fashionable, she had knit herself a pair of beautiful purple stockings and took them to St. George with her for this special winter. Something about the dye poisoned her feet and legs, which swelled up and turned dark. She had to keep off them, so she sat with her feet on a chair for a time, and when the swelling went down, she could go back to school. Every night after that, when she got home from school, Aunt Settie had a big bowl of yarrow tea for her to drink before she could have any supper. Mother thought it was as big as a quart. Herbs of all kinds were used for medicine, and yarrow was one of them.

Before we went to Canada, mother had a Swiss immigrant girl working for her, who did beautiful knitting, she knitted very fast and mother had her knit us all long woollen stockings for the very cold Canada where we were going to live. Mother said to her, "I want you to teach Lura to knit that way, my mother used to knit that way." I asked her why her mother didn't teach her to knit that way, and she said that her mother was helping her father, and grandmother Redd had taught her to knit. They'd finish the work in the house, and then they could knit, and not play unless they would knit while they played. They'd tie a piece of white thread where they were at on the knitting, and see who could knit the most while they played hop scotch, pitch the picket, or steal sticks.

Once when she was about twelve, mother dried fruit all summer, and was given the privilege of having a new dress with the money it brought. Someone had come to New Harmony with a very pretty dress, and she really wanted one like that one. The men of the town sort of took turns going up to Salt Lake City at Conference time. This fall it was Benjamin Brubacher's turn. She took her money to him, and pointed out the dress material she wanted. He wrote it down very carefully in his little note book, and noted the money she gave him. He would do his best. It so happened that he couldn't get the kind of febric she wanted, so he had to pick out some himself. She was dreadfully disappointed with it, but there was nothing she could do about it. She was stuck with it. She decided to make the dress herself. Maybe it was up to her to do it, as her sisters were gone from home. No printed patterns were to be had in those days. She hunted through the town and found one, probably at grandmother Redd's, and borrowed it. Such patterns didn't often fit either. She cut it out and sewed it up, but the neck was too high, so she trimmed out the neck and got it too low, and now she had to take up the shoulder seams more. By the time the neck and shoulders were right, it was too short in the waist, so now she had to put a wide belt in it, otherwise it was alright. It's the dress she was wearing when she stood for her picture at twelve.

For this, her first picture, she wanted some very fashionable pantalettes to show beneath the hem of her dress, and she hadn't any. Grandmother had a nice handembroidered bed jacket she wore when she had been "confined," so she put mother's feet through the sleeves and folded and pinned the rest up around her underneath her skirts, so she had some lovely embroidered ruffles showing. Of course, this little dress was made by hand, her own hand stitches throughout and it was lined. They never thought of making a dress without lining it, and all the braid trimming was sewn on by hand. She knew no better way, she had never heard of a sewing machine.

In those days, if a mother wanted to feed her children, she had to do something about it herself. There were no food stores and no commercial canners, driers, or preparers. Mother had to do it all too. If there were surplus fruits or vegetables in the summer time, she devised ways and means of preserving them for the winter when there would be none. I can remember strips of dried squash strung on a string across the upper part of a wall and across the room. I saw this in the kitchen of grandmother Redd's old farmhouse when I looked in the door at the back, long after the family had moved out. It had been forgotten and left behind.

Drying was the only way of preserving fruits and many vegetables. The main drying facilities were fairly level places, such as porch roofs, lean-to roofs, up high where they could get all the sun possible and be out of the way. They dried fruits with the skins on, such as peaches, apricots, plums and prunes. To spread them for drying, the halves were carefully laid one at a time with the cut side up, a little bit on the side and leaning against the next one. As they dried, they shrivelled and laid down. It took less room this way. They had no way of covering them to protect them from flies or dust. They were put in cloth sacks and hung up somewhere in the house where the air could circulate around them to prevent moulding. When they wanted to cook them, they were washed thoroughly and soaked all night before cooking. If you wanted dried fruit on the table every day, you dried enough for that purpose, otherwise you went without. When the hot dry days of summer came, there was extra activity to get all the fruit possible out for drying.

Finally fruit bottles were introduced. I quote from a history of New Harmony printed in "Under Dixie Sun," published by the Daughters of the Utah Pioneers. "Elizabeth Ann Imlay Prince was the first one to obtain bottles. She put up some green beans in them. Due to lack of knowledge as to the proper method of bottling, they all spoiled. She was so disgusted that she threw bottles and all away, and went back to drying for the time being." Her husband was father's counsellor in the bishopric when we left for Canada. They lived there for years after, so it wasn't very long before we left (in 1905) that they began to bottle fruit. Mother used to have a hard time at bottling time. She had old, hand-made bottles with lids that weren't very true, and were hard to fit. Sometimes she had to try several lids before she got one to fit, and maybe they would fit another one better.

Potatoes, carrots and beets were stored in pits and covered. Cabbage and cauliflower were pulled up by the roots and buried in a trench upside down with the root sticking up. When wanted, the root was uncovered and used as a handle to pull out the head. The outside leaves (as many as possible were left on and wrapped arouind the head to bury it) were peeled off and the inside cooked. Grandfather Bryner made lots of

sauerkraut for his family. Father like it, and I have seen grandfather make it. He took good solid heads of cabbage and with a sharp knife, sliced it very thin, then he put it in a barrel with a little salt, and punched it down hard with his fists. Then more cabbage and more salt until his barrel was full, and the cabbage covered with juice drawn out by the salt and punching. This was put in the warm cellar for a while until it fermented, then it was sauerkraut. It was very good, and stayed good until the last drop.

The Swiss were never an idle or an indolent people. They all worked, from little tots to the very old, and the women folks worked outside and inside. Especially did grandmother work outside, and she taught her daughters to do so too. When the men folk went hunting and brought back excess game, much of it was preserved. They jerked, or dried, the venison. To do this, the meat was cut off the bones into strips two or three inches across and a foot, more or less, long. It was put in a barrel and covered with brine until it was well penetrated with salt, which was their main preservative, then it was strung up in the hot sun, or over a smoldering fire and smoked and dried. This was often carried in lunch boxes and eaten raw. They shaved it off crosswise with a sharp knife. It is supposed to be the same thing as the chipped beef we buy in little bottles, or loose. However, the chipped beef is dried beef and not venison.

If a beef was ever killed in hot weather, the meat was treated in the same way, as they had no refrigeration and it would have spoiled in a few days. I guess the time they dried meat was in the summer during good drying weather. Pork was covered with lots of salt and seasoning. Hams were sometimes hung in smoke for flavor. Certain woods (apple etc.) and corn cobs were used to give special flavors. The hams were then sewn up in unbleacned muslin sacks, kept from year to year for the purpose, and buried deep in the wheat bins. Thinner bacon was kept in salt. Pork was the main standby for meat in those days as it kept better than other kinds.

If a mother wanted milk, butter, and cheese for her family, she had cows and made these things herself. Mother did. She had learned how at home, and her sister, Lissette, capitalized on her knowledge of cheesemaking. For years she supported her family by making cheese. She went up on the ranch in the summer, and she and her family milked about twenty-five cows by hand, every day. She made a cheese about fourteen inches across and four inches thick. She would make 125 to 150 per summer.

Nowadays some people get the fad of using stone-ground flour. That was the only kind they had then. Mother made her own yeast and put hop tea in it, which made good healthful bread. The yeast was slow-rising, so she mixed it at night so it would have all night to rise once. Then she'd mix it down and let it rise again. Mother knew how to make excellent bread. When she went to Canada and had to use dry yeast cakes and a different kind of flour, and coal to cook with, it was almost disastrous. She almost had to learn over again from scratch. She could make good buttermilk bread, but the first summer in Canada, we had no cow, and so no buttermilk. Our only relief was when father came in and made some baking powder bread as he had learned to do at the sheep camp. Mother never made it.

New Harmony used to be on the short cut route between Silver Reef and Pioche, Nevada, two early mining boom towns. A few travellers passed by that way. Mother said that one time she and some other children were playing ball in the street on a Sunday afternoon, when a wagon load full of people passed through, travelling between these two places. The people put an article in the Pioche paper about the non-reverence of the Mormon people for the Sabbath day. Another time a wagon stopped at their home, and the people asked if they could get something to eat. They would pay for it. Mother was alone, but didn't turn down the opportunity. She cooked potatoes, fried bacon and made gravy. This, with bread and butter, and dried fruit she thought was a good meal. She was rather deflated when a lady passed the gravy to one of the others and asked if he'd like some starch.

On the 23rd of May, 1883, when she was seventeen, mother was sustained as secretary of the Y.L.M.I.A. of the New Harmony ward. She was secretary until 7 Nov. 1888. During this time she was married, had two children and her husband was on a mission for the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints.

Irene said something in her history of Will that reminded me of an incident which I will insert here. While father was on his mission, mother, of course, had full charge of caring for her two children, one two years old and the other about four months old when he left. After he had been gone a couple of years, she missed them one day. She hunted all over and went to the neighbors, and some child said he had seen them on the way up to the farm. Frantically, and with a prayer in her heart, she ran all the way up there, and found them safe. They had had to cross a deep creek, over a long narrow foot bridge with no railing. All out of breath and through her tears, she asked, "Willie, how did Grace get across that long bridge?" He said, "Oh, mama, I took hold of her hand and led her across." The beginning of leadership.

Before Father left for his mission, he made arrangements for her comfort, and his brother, Wayne Hardison Redd, accepted the responsibility of seeing that she had the necessities. Now to do this, he'd see that she had plenty of wood for cooking and heating, all cut and ready for use. He'd cut her lucerne (alfalfa) and put it in the barn for the cow, and maybe he'd milk the cow. He'd take her wheat to grist and bring back her flour and bran for the pig. He'd plow her garden, maybe help her plant it. He'd dig a pit and trenches for her vegetables, plow or dig them up and store them. If she needed her pig butchered, he'd do it, and any other job that needed to be done. It always required a trip, no telephones. She had many friends and relatives who were willing and anxious to help in any way. That was quite a responsibility for a seventeen-year-old boy, but I never heard of any complaints.

Willie didn't like apricots, when he was a little boy, but he did like the sweet pits. One day someone asked him if he liked apricots and he said, "I don't like the aper but I do like the cot."

On the 7th of November 1888, she was released as secretary of the Y.L.M.I.A. and sustained as first counsellor to Angie Pace, and kept that position until the 23 of

September 1890, then she was made president with Rose Nagle as first counsellor and Ellen Redd (later Bryner) as second counsellor. Nora Taylor was her secretary. The M.I.A. was reorganized on 16th of Nov. 1890 with Verena B. Redd as president, Della Redd (later Ivins) first counsellor, Sarah R. Prince second counsellor, Nanie Pace secretary and Mollie Redd treasurer. She held this position until 26 Oct. 1892. On the 6th of Nov. 1895, she was chosen as second counsellor to Vinnie Rohner, which she held until 7th of September 1903.

Here I will give mother's Patriarchal Blessing, given her after she went to Canada.

"A blessing given under the hands of James Kirkham, patriarch, upon the head of Mary Verena Redd, the daughter of Ulrich and Mary Mathis Bryner, born the 3rd of March 1866 at New Harmony, Utah, U.S.A.

"Sister Redd, in the authority of the holy priesthood and in the name of the Lord Jesus Christ, according to the order of the Patriarchs, I seal upon you a blessing. At thy birth the heavens rejoiced, for the Lord knew thy destiny and blessed thee with that great gift to become a mother of nations unborn, for the fruit of thy loins shall rejoice in thee and thy name, and with honor thy name shall be remembered from generation to generation. Thou art of the tribe of Ephraim, a daughter beloved of the Father, and for thy faithfulness unto thy covenants shalt thou be blessed with inspiration and become as one endowed with wisdom, to be honored with authority in the midst of thy sex.

"I bless thee with strength of body and mind, to run and not be weary, and in the midst of the sufferers to be as a ministering angel whose words shall be like the balm of Gilead and whose counsel shall be a healer unto the troubled mind.

"Remember the poor and turn not the stranger from thy gate, but speak to him and it shall be made known unto thee whether or not he be a Nephite of old. Faith shall be among thy gifts, and from thy loins shall come forth a mighty one in Israel in whom thou shalt acknowledge the hand of the Lord and like Sarah of old, thou shalt give the honor unto the father.

"Thou shalt see thy sons and thy daughters become noble men and women, and in thine old age they shall bear thee up and thou shalt bestow upon them thy blessings for they name shall be recorded in the Lamb's Book of Life, and thy prayers shall be recorded in the archives of the heavens to come forth in blessings upon the heads of thy posterity.

"In connection with thy companion in life, thou shalt set thy house in order. As a token unto the Lord of his loving kindness unto thee and thine, may thy basket and store never want for the bounties of the earth, and may the blessings of heaven provide in thy habitation. May every righteous desire of thy heart be granted thee. Pray for these blessings, dear sister, to come to pass, and the words of thy mouth shall not fail.

"I seal thee up to come forth in the glorious resurrection of the just, to be crowned as a queen to sit at the right hand of thy companion, to reign through all the millenium, for ever and ever, Amen.

William A. Redd, scribe

Given at Raymond, Alberta, Canada. 27 December 1906.

THE NAME AND FAMILY OF REDD

Compiled by THE MEDIA RESEARCH BUREAU, Washington, D. C.

The name Redd is believed to have been originally used as a nickname, having reference to the red hair or ruddy complexion of its first bearers. It is found in ancient English and early American records in the various spellings of Rede, Redde, Reede, Reade, Reide, Reid, Redd, and others, of which several of the other forms are more generally used today but that of Redd is still frequently found in America.

Families of this name were resident at early dates in the English Counties of Norfolk, Suffolk, Somerset, Hertford, Kent, Worcester, Oxford, Surrey, Hereford, Buckingham, York, Gloucester, Lincoln, Middlesex, Devon, and London, as well as in various parts of Scotland and Ireland. They were for the most part, of the British landed gentry and yoemanry.

The family was represented as early as the year 1139 by one Brianus le Rede (Brian the Red), from whom was descended William le Rede of Counties Norfolk and Suffolk in the early part of the following century, who was the father by his wife, Margaret Granville, of Robert, who was the father of Falfrinus, who was the father of Robert, William and Thomas, of whom the last was the father of a son also named Thomas, who was living in the year 1429 and was the father of a son named Edmund, who married Christiana James and was the father by her of John Edmund, of whom the latter was the father of Edmund Rede, Lord of Porstal. John, the elder of the lastmentioned brothers, became Mayor of Norwich and was the father of Henry, Edward, and Magdalina, of whom the son Edward married Inez, daughter of Sir Humphrey Stanley, and had, among others, John, Sir Bartholomew of London, and Sir Robert of London, of whom the son John married Joan Ludlow and died in 1502, leaving among other children, a son named Thomas, who was the father by his wife, Philippa Bacon, of William, John, Alan, Edward, and Thomas, of whom the first was married in 1538 to a Miss Tooley, by whom he had issue of Thomas, William and six daughters. Of the last-mentioned brothers; William, the younger, married Anne Fearnley and was the father by her of Sir William and Richard, of whom the first married Gertrude Paston, who gave him two sons, Thomas and Francis, and numerous daughters as well; and Thomas, the elder brother of William, married Margaret Quintz or Quince and was the father by her of Francis, George, and John, of whom the last was the father by his wife, Ursula Cooke, of Thomas and others.

Among other early records of the family in England are those of Robert le Rede of County Surrey in the early thirteenth century, those of Godwin le Rede of County Norfolk in 1273, those of Roger le Rede of Herefordshire about the same time, those of Martin le Rede about the year 1327 and those of William Red and Robert le Rede of Somersetshire during the same period.

The first of the name in America were David Red of an unknown part of Virginia in 1637, Robert Rede of Warwick County, Va., in 1645, and John Redd of Lancaster County, Va., in 1654. The records of the immediate families and descendants of these early settlers, however, have not been found.

Sometime before 1729 James Redd, who may possibly have been descended from one of the above-mentioned immigrants, was living in Virginia. He married a Miss Eastham prior to this date and was the father by her of, probably among others, a son named Samuel, who made his home in Caroline County Virginia. In 1755 this Samuel married Lucy Rogers, by whom he was the father of Fannie, William, Jesse, Lucy, Ann, and Samuel.

William, the eldest son of Samuel and Lucy, married Miss Tyler of Caroline County, but his records are not complete.

Jesse, second son of Samuel and Lucy, married Mary Woodson of Goochland County, Va., but his records are equally incomplete.

Samuel, third son of Samuel and Lucy, was married in 1797 to Elizabeth Taylor of Hanover County, Va., he was the father by her of Lucy Anne, Edmund, Elizabeth, Taylor, Samuel, Emily Harris, Sarah, John Robinson, James Temple, and Louisa.

James Redd, probably a member of another branch of the above-mentioned family, was living in Spotsylvania County, Va., before 1750. He was the father by his wife Elizabeth of Captain Thomas Redd, who settled in Woodford County, Ky., after the Revolutionary War and was the father there of, among others a son named Samuel. This Samuel married Dorothy Bullock and was the father of, among others, a son named Waller Bullock.

Yet another branch of the family in America was represented before 1750 by Thomas Redd of Prince Edward Co, Va., who was born about 1730 and may possibly be another son of the first-mentioned James Redd of Virginia. This Thomas was the father by his wife Frances (nee Anderson) of Charles Anderson, Polly, Sally, Patty, George, John, Thomas, William, and Fanny.

Charles Anderson son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Elizabeth Gresham. He was the father by her of, among others, a son named Albert Gresham, but the records of this line are not complete.

John, son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Mary Truman in the latter part of the eighteenth century and was the father by her of Elbert F., Nancy, Elizabeth, Joseph T., John W, Henry T., and Susan Truman.

Another John Redd, a Major in the Revolutionary War, who was born in Albemarie County, Va., in 1755, settled at an early date in Henrico or Henry County, in the same colony. By his wife Mary, daughter of Colonel George Waller of Henrico County, he had issue of Annie, (Colonel) James Madison, Elizabeth, Martha, Waller, Edmund Burwell, Polly C., Lucy Dabney, Dr. John Giles, Overton, and Car.

Of the above-mentioned sons of Major John and Mary Redd of Henrico County, Colonel James Madison married Ruth Penn Staples; Waller married Keziah Staples; Edmund Burwell married Sarah Ann Fontaine and had issue by her of Martha, Mary, Celestia, Polly, Ella, John, William Spottswood, James S., and Edmund Madison; Dr. John Giles married Apphia Fauntleroy Carter; Overton married Martha Fontaine; and Carr died young.

Thomas Redd was living in Halifax County Va., in the latter eighteenth century (will dated 1823) and left issue there by his wife Rebeckah or Rebecca of George William, Rebeckah, Thomas, James Tucker, Robert Hoyt, Anderson Cooke, Martha James, Eliza, Sally, Amanda Mayo and Ann. This Thomas also mentioned his brother Robert of Mecklenburg County, Va., but no further record of that line has been found.

The history of the Redds in America is that of a sturdy, self-reliant, resourceful, and courageous race, possessed of physical stamina and perseverance. Other characteristics of the family include generosity, kindliness, and sociability.

Among those of the name who served as officers in the War of the Revolution were the before-mentioned Captain Thomas and Major John, of Virginia; and numerous others from the various other Southern States. There were also many of the name in the ranks of the various States.

John, Thomas, Edmund, Edward, Francis, Robert, David, Samuel, James, George, and William are some of the Christian names most favoured by the family for its male progeny.

A few of the many members of the Family who have attained distinction in America at various times are;

John Redd (b. 1755, deceased), of the South, author.

George Redd (latter eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries), of Virginia, agriculturist and author.

John T.Redd (early nineteenth century). of Missouri, politician.

Rebecca Fergus Redd (early nineteenth century), of New York, novelist.

Annie Bell Redd (latter nineteenth and early twentieth centuries), of Georgia, botanist.

Richard Menefee Redd (latter nineteenth and early twentieth centuries), of Kentucky, soldier and author.

Leonard B.Redd (early twentieth century), of North Carolina, jurist.

The best known of the Redd, Red or Rede coats of arms are described as follows (Burke, General Armoury, 1884):

Arms. I (Redd or Rede)—-"Azure, a griffin segreant or."

Crest.—-"A garb or, banded gules."

Arms.II(Red)—"Argent, a mullet between three annulets gules, within each a cinquefoil of the last."

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Lower. Dictionary of Family names. 1860

Bardsley. English and Welch Surnames. 1901

Burke. Dictionary of the Landed Gentry. 1852

Burke. General Armoury. 1884

Metcalf. Visitations of Suffolk 1882

Greer. Early Virginia Immigrants. 1912

Wingfield. History of Caroline County, VA. 1924

Virkus. Abridged Compendium of American Genealogy

Vol. 3 1928

Mackenzie. Colonial Families of the United States.

Vol. 2 1911

William and Mary Quarterly. 1912-1913, 1916-1917, etc.

Hill. History of Henry County. 1925

Carrington. History of Halifax County, Va. 1924

Virginia Revolutionary Soldiers. 1912

A HISTORY OF NEW HARMONY

by Laverna Englestead

In December 1847, the General Assembly in Salt Lake commissioned Parley p. Pratt to raise a company of fifty men to explore Southern Utah. Some of these men stopped at what is now known as Parowan to explore there and others went as far south as what is now known as Santa Clara.

After John D. Lee had helped to settle Parowan, he returned to Salt Lake, July l, 1851 to get other families and to sell his property in Salt Lake, then to return to Parowan.

In General Conference in Salt Lake, on Oct. 6, 1851, his name was read from the pulpit as one to found a new community south of Parowan and Cedar City. He was pleased with this public recognition, that he was to be father of a new community.

He urged his neighbors and friends to join him, but most of them were reluctant to leave, as they were getting well established in Salt Lake. Within a few days he was on his way with a company of nineteen wagons.

On Dec. 8, 1852, Elder George A. Smith wrote to the Deseret News, "On the first water south of the rim of the great basin, in Washington County, John D. Lee, Elisha Groves and company are building a fort on Ash Creek, called Harmony.

"Fifteen men are capable of bearing arms. Fifty one loads of lumber have been taken there from Parowan and six teams are constantly employed building the fort.

"One of the first rooms erected was a school house. The point is well selected for military purposes and commands the springs and about 160 more acres of farm land on the creek and about twenty miles off, good grazing ground. It is about 20 miles north of the Rio Virgin, which is inaccessible to teams until a road can be worked at considerable expense."

In April 1854, President Brigham Young sent twenty-three young men, with ten wagons, as missionaries to the Indians. They were to raise food and share it with the Indians, and convert them and teach them how to live.

As John D. Lee had all the tillable land on Ash Creek in use, they pulled on, some four miles to the north west, where our present town of New Harmony now stands. For a number of years our New Harmony fields were farmed for the Indian Mission.

On May 9, 1854, a horseman came to tell the Indian Missionaries that a meeting was to be held at John D. Lee's home in Harmony on Ash Creek that evening, as President Young with a group of 82 men, 14 women, 5 children, traveling in 32 carriages with 95 horses, would be there.

That evening, as they sat around on rocks, logs and on the ground, John D. Lee looked first at the audience and then at the beautiful valley, the magnificent mountains and the colorful red cliffs, and he said to himself, "Now I know this is home."

He was called upon to speak and among other things, he said, "Brethren, we are called upon again to found a settlement in these valleys of Zion. This is a beautiful valley, with good rich soil and an excellent climate. The scenery about us is magnificent and inspiring. May the Lord help us to build it strong and well."

The next day, with the help of Parley p. Pratt and his engineering instruments, a site was selected to build Fort Harmony, a place where the Kanarra and Harmony creeks could be used to water more land.

By February 1885 all inhabitants were living at the new site, Fort Harmony.

The walls of Fort Harmony were 300 feet square. The houses on the west side were two story and 16 feet high. On the other three sides, they were one story and ten feet high. The walls were three feet thick and of red adobe and rock foundation. A well was dug, which was 100 feet deep and supplied their culinary water.

Ash Creek and Kannara Creek were granted to the inhabitants of Harmony for irrigation or other purposes. This is stated in the first court records, dated February 23, 1856. Their upper ditch was about ten feet below our dry field ditch. Their lower ditch was the same that now goes through the Pace, Englestad and Woods fields.

Harmony became the first county seat after the Territorial Legislature created Washington County on March 3,1852. Court met at Probate Judge John D. Lee's house at Fort Harmony. Selectmen Elisha Groves, Henry Barney, Richard Robinson; Clerk, Rufus Allen.

On January 1,1855, John D. Lee was placed in charge of the Government Indian Agency with a salary of \$50 per month. He was to distribute seeds, tools and other supplies to the Indians and to help them to farm.

On January 4, 1856, in answer to a petition of 32 men (total male population) a county government was set up with the County Seat in Harmony with J. D. Lee Probate Judge and assessor.

On May 21, 1857, 21 wagons passed Fort Harmony on their way to settle Washington, as a road had been built over the Black Ridge.

On July 4, 1857, there was a great celebration at Fort Harmony as President Haight from Cedar City, with his choir and brass band came. A meeting was held and President Haight gave the oration. A beef was barbecued and there was plenty of homemade beer (root beer) and lemonade, with sports and dancing.

On July 24, the tenth anniversary of the arrival of the pioneers to Utah, Harmony went to Cedar City to a meeting, town dinner and sports and dancing.

On May 20, 1855, at conference in Cedar City, the people living in Harmony and Cedar City were organized into a stake with Isaac Haight, president, and William Rees Davis bishop of Harmony.

Most of the wagon trains going to California stopped with Lee in Harmony. At 31 cents per person per meal, the same for cattle, Lee often took in from \$20 to \$75, depending on the size of the train. One large train stayed so long that he took in \$175 by his wives cooking night and day.

John D. Lee often entertained visitors of church and state. Upon one occasion, he entertained 125 church officials for three meals. He butchered two beefs and two sheep for them.

By 1860, the people of Fort Harmony decided it would be best to move closer to the head of Kannara and Ash Creek. Kannara was settled in June 1860 by people from Harmony (Fort) and Cedar City. The residents of Fort Harmony were then preparing to move to New Harmony.

On March 4, 1859, the court was moved to Washington and John D. Lee handed over all of the County records.

In 1859, a post office was established with Elisha Groves postmaster. In 1865, William Pace succeeded him. Then came Archie Bell, Harvey A. Pace, Mary Taylor, George F. Prince and Sylvia p. Hall.

Late in November 1861, a company passed, going to settle Saint George; also a Swiss company passed, going to settle in Santa Clara.

Lee had planned on building a nice brick home not far from the large pine tree at the foot of Pine Valley Mountain, where he could look down on his fields and also at the beautiful scenery. He was making brick for his home and had finished homes for some of his wives at the new location. On December 22, 1861, the people of New Harmony met at Lee's Hall at New Harmony and John D. Lee was appointed Presiding Elder with William Pace clerk, and James Pace and Richard Woolsey were appointed teachers.

On December 25, 1861, Lee gave a town dinner at his home, called "Lee's Hall", a large frame building in New Harmony. All residents of the town were invited.

Lee had wanted so much to get all of his families moved to the new location before winter set in (1861), but was unable to do so.

On January 18,1862, John D. Lee, with the help of William and Harvey Pace and George W. Sevy, took three wagons with eight yoke of cattle to each wagon and moved all of the families from the fort except Sarah Caroline. The road was so muddy that the axles dragged on the ground.

Lee's wife, Sarah Caroline, wanted to finish weaving some cloth she had in a loom. Due to excessive rains for 28 days, the walls in the fort fell in, killing two Lee children, a girl and a boy, aged 5 and 7 years on February 7, 1862. These children were buried on Lee's farm in New Harmony, which he sold to Lemuel H. Redd in 1870, and which now is owned by the Henry A. Pace family.

In 1862, \$3000 was donated by the people of the Southern Mission to build a road from Harmony to St. George. This wasn't enough so in 1863, \$2000 more was donated and Isaac Duffin was sustained as superintendant of construction.

On March 25, 1863, a meeting was held in New Harmony as they were asked to furnish three outfits, wagons with four yoke of cattle each, to go to Florence, Nebraska to help bring out the poor saints. The wagons were furnished with provisions and M. H. Darrow, George Woolsey and Benjamin Redd were sustained by vote to make the trip.

At the close of 1865, twenty-five families of 265 souls lived in New Harmony. Among the early settlers of New Harmony were: The Lees, Woolseys, Paces, Redds, Heywoods, Lossens, Sevys, Kelsys, Jolleys, Keels, Worthens, Hills, Darrows, Whitmers, Markers, Bennetts, Taylors, Bryners, Naegles, Mathises, Princes, Imlays, Hicks, Moncurs, Grants, Schmutzes, Barlochers, Guymans, Harts, Pierces, Harrises, Sawyers, Richarsons, and Owens. The Woolsey's brother-in-law helped Lee to settle Harmony, Fort Harmony and New Harmony.

Cedar City and Parowan were settled ten years before, in 1861. In 1853, there were 392 people living in Parowan and 455 in Cedar City.

On August 20,1867, the New Harmony Ward was organized by President Erastus Snow with Wilson D. Pace, bishop and Henry B. M. Jolley first counselor and George W. Sevy second counselor and Samuel Worthen clerk. Previous to this, John D. Lee and James Islay had served as Presiding Elders.

In 1861-62, a large number of people were called from northern and middle counties of Utah to help settle Southern Utah. Some of these stayed to help settle New Harmony.

The first Relief Society President was Ann Mariah Redd Pace, with Keziah Butler Redd and Margaret Evans Pace as counselors and Mary A. Taylor secretary.

The first Primary President was Elizabeth Mathis with Mary Pace and Caroline Redd as counselors and Granville Pace as secretary and treasurer.

Our first chorister was Elizabeht Mathis. She was a talented musician and taught everyone to sing. She helped with all entertainments for years.

The first Sunday School Superintendency was Joseph L. Heywood, Harvey A. Pace and Francis Prince.

The first YLMIA president was Pauline Pace with Aner Taylor and Jane Redd as counselors.

The first Young Men's president was Orren Kelsey.

Our Bishops have been Wilson D. Pace, William A. Redd, Gottlieb Schmutz, Henry A. Pace, Elmer Taylor, Lyle B. Prince, Marion Prince, Dean Hall, Sheldon Grant and Lyle B. Prince.

The first School teachers were Joseph L.Heywood, Mary A. Taylor, Archie Bell, Charles Connely and George Dodds.

In 1869, a cooperative institution was organized with Wilson D. Pace, president, H. B. M. Jolley, vice president, George W. Sevy, William Pace and John D. Lee as directors; Harvey A. Pace, secretary and James Russell, treasurer. Capitol stock was \$1200.

In 1874, the united order was organized with Bishop Wilson D. Pace, president; Lemuel H. Redd, vice-president. This organization lasted only one summer.

The first school house was log, built in 1863. In 1875, a white frame building was built which served as our church until the present church was built in 1953. For some time we used the white church for a school building. We also have had two other school buildings, one a cement building and one a modern two-roomed school building which burned in 1957. Since that time our students have all been transported by bus to Cedar City Elementary and High Schools.

In April 1857, the militia of Utah was divided into thirteen districts. In 1866 and 1867, the Southern Division of the militia trained here, east of our town, under Brigadier General Erastus Snow and Captain James Andrus.

Our dry field ditch was made and used by them at that time for their water. At that time, the flat was covered with tents and many men took part in spirited sham battles.

A monument was dedicated in their honor by the Daughters of the Utah Pioneers, December 10, 1940.

Another monument was dedicated September 26, 1960 by our D.U.P.'s on the site where our white frame church stood which served us so long. This is just north of our present church. The D.U.P. was organized June 23, 1937, with Lula W. Mathis, captain.

Harvey A. Pace was elected Justice of the Peace in New Harmony Precinct, Kane Co., on August 1, 1881

A weekly mail route from Cedar City to Santa Clara, by way of New Harmony, Toquerville, Washingon and St. George was opened up on July 1, 1862.

We were in Kane county during the days of the Silver Reef with Toquerville as our County Seat. Two of our postmasters were appointed during this time by the Postmaster General of the United States. Harvey A. Pace was apppointed postmaster of New Harmony, Kane County, Utah on October 24, 1876. Abbie H. Pace, daughter-in-law, and Emma G. Hilsen, grandaughter now have these on file.

Reed Prisbrey now has two water certificates, issued when we were part of Kane County, signed by Lemuel H. Redd and two others, the Kane County water commissioners.

These were issued and recorded in the Kane County Record, May 2, 1881. Lemuel H. Redd states in his life's history, dictated by himself, that he was a member of the Kane County Court for six years. He was a resident of our town during that time.

After President Brigham Young asked John D. Lee to sell his property in New Harmony, as they needed him to help run saw mills in South Eastern Utah, he sold his farm and homes to Lemuel H. Redd. The Lees all felt blue about leaving their nice homes, farm, orchards, etc., for this valley had been their home for almost twenty years, and they had all worked so hard to make everything so nice.

New Harmony secured the telephone in 1902, the piped culinary water in 1907 and the electric lights in 1927.

The first merchant was William Pace, followed by the New Harmony Co-op and the stores of Bishop William A. Redd, Sarah p. Davis, Bishop William Graff and Dean Hall.

In about 1910, all the land on the New Harmony flat was fenced, and since has been under cultivation. This has been a great asset to the town.

In the days before the automobile and county hospitals, there were women who spent many hours and days caring for the sick. Among these women were: Ann Mariah Redd Pace and her sister, Elizabeth Redd Pace, Julia A. Taylor, Keziah Redd, Elizabeth Prince, Ann Eliza Imlay, Clarissa Woolsey, Susan E. Pace, Icavinda Pace Rance, Eliza Kelsey, Sarah Prince Davis and Amelia Schmutz.

We, the descendants of the stalwart pioneers, who settled this little community, are extremely proud of our pioneer heritage. We wish today to pay tribute to these noble pioneers and to their courage and resourcefulness. We can partly appreciate the great sacrifices they made when we remember that at first they had to live in dugouts and log rooms with boughs for roofs and dirt floors, with only the pitch or tallow candles for light.

They had to make it sustain them or perish, and by cooperative effort of the group and the help of their God, they were able to subdue the physical obstacles, to protect themselves from the hostile Indians and to build themselves homes that have been an honor to them and their descendants.

They couldn't have seen our wonderful highway with its thousands of cars, nor did they know that the beautiful red cliffs, which they admired so much would become part of Zion's National Park. They couldn't tell that hunters, yes, hundreds of them, would come every year to hunt deer on pictursque Pine Valley Mountain.

We are very proud of all you people, who have moved away from our little town. We hated to see you go, and we've missed you all so much. You are all highly respected citizens, wherever you've gone, from Canada to Mexico.

Many of you have filled positions of trust both in civic and religious organizations. Among you we find doctors, bishops, senators, stake presidents, school teachers, business men and women, nurses, missionaries and many other honorable professions. You've been an honor to yourselves and to our little town, wherever you've settled.

We wish to pay tribute to all of you today.

P.S. The Redds and the Paces were converts of John D. Lee. He converted them in 1843, in Murfreesboro, Tennessee while he was an LDS missionary there. I'm sure all will be well with Brother Lee when the truth's known.

I think Aunt Lura or Aunt Vilo gave this to Mom when we visited with them. I have recopied it, and I am sending this to each of my brothers and sisters or a member of each family.

HOW BLESSED TO HAVE THESE EXAMPLES OF FAITH AND WORKS.

MERRY CHRISTMAS 1995 LOVE, BARBARA

There is another single page in this package which seems to be from a larger manuscript. Probably written by Aunt Lura Redd on her little typewriter. It is about Hans Ulrich Bryner Jr. ... Price. Then he asked if I were related to John Redd. Then too, I said I was related to Bryners, the Paces, Mathises, that my Grandfather Bryner was a pioneer of Price.

He asked if the blind man was my grandfather. When I said he was, he said, "That blind man was the smartest man I ever knew. He could tell the color of a horse by the feel of it."

Years later I told Aunt Lillie (Fransen) about it and she said he really couldn't, but that he got the reputation through the following incident.

Grandfather was a good judge of horseflesh. Then people did a lot of horse trading, and grandfather did it too. And he never got beat on a horse trade. He could tell a lot about a horse by feel. He would feel of its back, the arch of the neck, the shape of its legs, head and mouth, etc.

His friends and neighbors had a lot of confidence in his judgment and would come for him to appraise their trade-ins.

One day, he was going over one and the little fellow who was leading him said, "It's the same color as old so and so."

Nobody paid any attention to the little fellow, that is nobody but Grandfather. He was trained to listen to the little fellows. That's where he got a lot of his information. So when he had finished feeling it, he patted the horse and said, "You have a very fine bay horse here." Several men had been standing there, and their mouths dropped open, and they were astonished. And the word went about that Brother Bryner could tell a horse's color by the feel.

Freighting, at that time, was the most remunerative job one could do, so Grandfather went into freighting. He had always been a good horseman, and knew all the angles. The only thing he lacked was his sight. Aunt Lucette went with him a lot of times to Salt Lake on freighting trips. She drove a four horse team ahead of him and he drove a single team that had been trained to follow. Going along those soft dirt roads, it was quiet, and they could talk back and forth as they went along, and she could keep him

informed as to what was coming or going. I guess they all had a turn to go with him on his freighting trips.

Grandfather was not only a good judge of horses, he knew wagons. He had a very good, but not a new wagon. One day the young boys came in, all excited with the news that a man was here who would trade them a new wagon for their old one.

When they told Grandfather, he said that sounded funny to him and said, "Let me look at that wagon." They took him out to see it. He felt it, the wheels were heavy and good, the axles strong and well made, it had a good double wagon box. All seemed in order until he got behind it and measured the width of the box.

"A narrow gauge wagon, I wouldn't have it, if you gave it to me."

All the wagons in the territory had been wide gauge, and the ruts were for them. These new fangled narrow ones put one side in a rut, and the other wouldn't reach the other rut, so it bumped along over the rocks and other bumps in the middle, making it hard to pull and uncomfortable to ride in. I guess they thought it would be easy to fool a blind man and his little boy.

Uncle Johnnie told me he started to be his father's guide as a freighter when he was eight years old. At that time, grandfather had one good, lively horse and a slowpoke. While in Toquerville, he traded the slow one for a lively one.

On the way home to New Harmony, they, and especially the new one, wanted to run all the way. Grandfather could control them all right, and Johnnie put his little hands on Grandfather's and guided them. They went slow over the dugway where it was necessary, but he let them run, out on the flat. People in New Harmony who saw them coming on the run and the dust flying, thought something was wrong.

When it came close enough for them to recognize grandfather's wagon, they then thought they were running away. But they dashed down the hill and stopped in front of home. Uncle Henry had been called from his plowing, and took that very lively horse on and plowed with him a few hours to teach him a lesson.

About this time, they took a load of freight out to Pioche, a booming mining town of that day. A freighter always carried a grub box in which they had bread, flour, baking powder, salt, bacon, eggs, frying pan, kettle, etc. They also carried their bedding and slept in their wagon. They arrived safely at Pioche, and camped in the campground or inn yard.

This large yard was made for freighters to camp in. It was also a camphouse, empty except for a fireplace where campers could go if it rained, and where they could do their cooking over the fire there.

That night, as they rested up for the trip home, a man came to the inn boss and asked if there was a blind man and a little boy in the grounds. He would like to meet them.

So the inn man introduced him to them (grandpa and the boy). He said he had a load of nails to take to Las Vegas. He only drove a buckboard which wasn't strong enough to carrry the nails.

They would pay well if they (Grandpa and Johnnie) would go.

The man and his friends would go along and show them the way and also show them good places to camp.

Grandfather accepted the task, and they proceeded on their way. In the buckboard were four men and four saddles. They had four horses that would pull the wagon, lead behind it, or were good saddle horses. Sometimes four men rode in the buckboard and led two horses, sometimes two were horseback and two in the buckboard.

The wagon went in the middle with the horseman in front or behind the buckboard opposite.

At night, the man arranged to have grandfather camp near their room so they could get a good early start.

When they arrived at Las Vegas, they were led right up to the bank, where they were unloaded and they then found out that they were carrying the pay roll of a big mining company and the four men were armed guards. If there were any nails in the kegs, there was also \$50,000 worth of gold coin.

Uncle Johnnie thought they chose a blind man and a little boy because no bandit would ever suspect that they were carrying it (gold) and also the guards thought that a blind man and a little boy wouldn't snoop. They arrived safely, and grandfather was well paid for the trip, so all were happy with the ending.

Grandfather lived in St. George for years, then he moved out to Price. When he grew old and retired from heavy work, he did a lot of temple work. He would go to Price for the summer and spend the winters in St. George working at the temple.

As he traveled each way, he would stop and visit his children who lived in between the two communities.

On one of his last trips, he stopped at New Harmony and was there over a Fast Sunday. He went to testimony meeting with us and bore his testimony and thanked the Lord for all his blessings. He even thanked Him for taking his eyesight.

As with his eyesight, he meant that he was thankful for all the trials that had come upon him since he had accepted the gospel in far-off Switzerland. He was thankful for all the pain and torture of his eye that was knocked out, the infection that got in, in a time when they had no antiseptics nor anaesthetics to ease the pain which lasted day and night...(end of page)

PAULINE REDD BURT

I was born 11 November 1902, in New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah, to William Alexander and Mary Verena Bryner Redd. I was the twelfth in the family of fourteen, ten of whom grew to maturity. I don't remember much of our life in New Harmony as we moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada, when I was about two years old.

My mother was a very good woman as she remained at home while my Father fulfilled a mission to the Southern States for the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day-Saints, after the birth of their first two children. After his return mother gave birth to triplet girls on 8 May 1890. Two of them only lived a very short time and the next month the other triplet and their little four year old girl Elda Grace Redd, took very ill and died. This must have been a very sad time for our parents. Later there came nine others, first Lura, then Fern and Jessie, Paul Hardison, Preston Lyman, Vilo, Pauline, Mary and Kay Bryner, the youngest.

My Father died 6 January 1911 in Raymond of Pneumonia. He was ill only six days. It was bitter cold, the temperature being 39 degrees below Zero, so very few of the family could go to the cemetery. My oldest brother Will, was in Salt Lake attending the University of Utah but he came home to care for the farms and the family. We all owe him a debt of gratitude for the sacrifice he made for us. He married Irene Smellie and they lived next door east of us for many years and was so good to Mother and all of us children.

I went through elementary and high school in Raymond and then went to Calgary to Normal School there where I obtained a teaching certificate. There were four of us girls who lived together, Lottie and Phoebe Evans and Blanche Cook and I. My first school was out in the country near Nobleford, Alberta where I taught in a one room school house. There were fifteen children and they ranged from first grade to the sixth. It was quite a challenge but I enjoyed it and also the people there.

The next two years I taught in the Raymond school and then clerked in the Raymond Mercantile until being called into the Mexican mission with headquarters in El Paso, Texas with Rey L. Pratt as mission president. This was quite different and a change from the dances and fun that we had as young people in a small town, but I enjoyed every minute of it. We had to learn Spanish as we worked entirely with the Mexican people. I served in El Paso until 10 July 1927, then on to San Antonio.

On the 16 of January I was sent to Laredo, Texas where I labored for some time. It was while there that I met "The Man" — Melvin J. Burt, who later became my much loved

husband. The 18 May I was sent again to El Paso and later on the 26 Oct. was sent to Mesa, Arizona where I labored for the remainder of my mission.

I was released in March 1929 and went to California to visit Lyman and Jeanette and Mary before coming home. Melvin had come to Los Angeles to meet me and he brought Mable Davis and me to Salt Lake in time for April conference. While in Salt Lake he gave me a beautiful diamond ring and we decided to be married in the summer. While I was still in Salt Lake, he was called to be a counsellor in the Bishopric of his ward, the Millcreek ward of Cottonwood Stake. It has been a great blessing to me to find such a man to spend my life with.

We were married in the Alberta temple 18 July 1929 by President Edward J. Wood. Mel had a home partially built at 395 East 3900 South, so his parents were good enough to let us stay with them until it was finished. We moved into it April of the next year, just in time for conference, and it was at that conference that Pres. Pratt asked Mel and Gil to go to Mesa, Arizona and stucco and plaster a chapel that the Elders and members were building. They had even made their own adobes for the walls.

Our first child, Lila Mary was born while we were still in Mesa. She was born at the home of Hugh Dana as his wife was a nurse and she had a small maternity hospital in her home. The Doc charged us \$35.00 for his part in the delivery. We thought that no other child could be as pretty as she was, nor loved as much, but Oh! how wrong we were, because we found that each child brought it's own brand of love and they were all loved equally. Nena Gae was born 28 September 1932, then William Melvin the 12 December 1935, Kathryn Ann 4 April 1939 and our last one Melanie was born 17 November 1948. Mustn't forget Wayne Redd Burt was born the 20 February 1944. They were all so loved and were such good little children.

The great depression was in full swing about 1933 and we were expecting our second child and it was very scary as we didn't know where we would get the money for the Doc and hospital. The Gilbert Simmonds lived close and we neighboured quite a bit. They had a daughter Betty who was the same age as Lila. One night Gilbert's Father was killed as he crossed the street and as he had left his home to his daughter Nan, Gilbert came to Mel to help in remodelling it.

I have always felt that this was in answer to our prayers. These two men then decided to buy a farm as we were about to lose our home as there was no work to be found. They found a small farm south of Lehi, Utah and the equity of our home made the down payment and Gilbert had enough money to help fix the two small homes and get some stock etc. so we moved into those homes in the early spring. There were no bathrooms and no running water in either home, but there was a lovely flowing well between the homes and an adequate outhouse behind. We scrubbed our clothes on a board after the men filled the boiler on the coal stove to heat the water.

We raised pigs and finally turkeys and other animals for our food. Mel's Dad gave us another building lot and so as work opened up Mel would take some of the money to

the lumber yard for future use on a new home in Salt Lake. Mel built a full basement and the outside walls, put in the windows and doors and we moved into the basement in January of 1939, our Kathy was born while we lived in the basement and we were able to move upstairs just before Christmas. Kathy was born the 4 April just a few weeks after Mel's mother died.

In 1950 our Stake was divided and our Bishop, Elmer Christensen was chosen as Stake President and the next morning we left for Mexico with Fern and Jessie. We were gone for about a month and on our return found that Mel was Bishop of the Millcreek First Ward, a position he held until Mel became ill and had to be released. In 1959 he was ordained as Stake Patriarch. In 1961 we were called to a building mission in old Mexico with headquarters in Monterrey, Nuevo, Mexico. Mel finished a building in Nueva Rosita, one in Monterrey and finished one in Piedras Negras and one in Mexico City. When we went to Piedras Negras it was necessary to send Melanie home to go to school here and Wayne had gone to his mission to Peru. Wayne and Melanie really mourned when they had to leave Mexico and their many friends there.

We are so thankful for the beautiful spirits that were sent into our home, for their lovely companions and their children, and for the way they are teaching their children. We have been married for fifty three years as of now 1982. We have 38 lovely grand-children, and 19 great grand children whom we love dearly. There have been 15 missionaries of the grandchildren and there will be more I am sure. They are our jewels. Our life has been full for which we give thanks to our Father in Heaven.

Pauline died 6 August 1983, Salt Lake City, Utah.

BRIEF HISTORY OF PAUL HARDISON REDD

Paul Hardison Redd was born 10 August 1897, New Harmony, Utah. He was the son of William Alexander Redd and Mary Verena Bryner Redd. In 1905 the family moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada. They arrived in Stirling, Alberta, Canada 1 July 1905. It was cold and windy and they wore fur coats to keep warm as they travelled to Raymond in a horse drawn buggy. Paul liked the buttons on his coat, they looked like small doubletrees and he wanted them, so he cut them off. His mother was quite upset as she had to sew them all back on. There were nine children, Will, Lura, Fern, Jessie, Paul, Lyman, Vilo, Pauline and Mary, Kay was born after they arrived in Canada.

William A. Redd built a large cement home, east of the Raymond Stake Center, it still stands. Some of the foundation cement blocks were from the foundation of a home started by John Taylor. This home was where Verena Redd and her family continued to live after the death of William A. Redd in 1911. He had bought land and mother and boys farmed this land. Part of this land is held by the family today. Paul went to school in the building that is now the Japanese Church. A new Public School was built, then torn down and a new one built. The church built a school called the Knight Academy, for High

School. This building has also been torn down and a new one built. Paul was always proud that he was the first student registered in the Academy. He arose at four thirty A.M. and waited at the school door until it opened, to gain this honor.

Paul was a good student but often missed school in spring and fall to help with the farming. He took ribbons in pole vault events and later played in the school and town bands. Playing the cornet very well, he played for fifty one years on the 11 November for the Cenotaph programs honoring the soldiers of two World Wars, only missing one year.

Paul went to Normal School in Calgary Alberta, for one year, to receive his teaching certificate. That was all that was required in those days. He obtained a few semesters of school in Utah, years later. He taught school in Stirling, Alberta for three years and while there he met and married Grace Brandley, in the Salt Lake Temple, 19 December 1917. They had six children. Maurine, Theodora, Hazel, Alma Grace, Norma and John Paul. They moved to Raymond where Paul taught school for one year.

Next Paul joined the Canadian Airforce of World War One. He trained in eastern Canada with his brother Lyman. The war ended before he was required to go overseas. Upon his return home he taught in the Knight Academy except for the year he taught in Magrath where Hazel was born. He taught in the Academy until it closed. He continued to farm all the time he taught until his death.

After he retired teaching in Raymond he taught in Warner, Alberta and Milk River, Alberta. He felt he was too young to be retired. During these years he built many homes in Raymond, taught many classes in church in Raymond, served as a counsellor in the bishopric of the Raymond First Ward. He held many other positions in the church. He also performed many services for widows and people who were in need of a general handyman. He had a major heart attack but recovered and was active again for many years.

On 14 January 1936 his wife Grace died, in Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada. This was a very sad time for Paul and family.

On 12 November 1938 he married Emma Brandley Peterson, Grace's sister who had nine children, Garth, Jean, Mary, Virginia, Harold (Jim), Lavon, Barbara, Helen and Grace. Grace passed away at the age of 16, of a brain tumor. Emma and her children came and together we made one large happy family, not without problems, however.

Paul was a Wheat Pool delegate for many years and served his community well. He gave numerous funeral talks and prayers. Teaching was a very rewarding experience for Paul and many of his students will attest to the fact that he was an exellent teacher, both in school and church. He built his last home at age 75. On 21 March 1978, Paul had a heart attack and died suddenly, after completing a day's activities, in Raymond, Alberta, Canada. Paul was a good man and gave his large family a heritage that they can be proud of and very grateful for.

LIFE OF PAUL HARDISON REDD AS TOLD BY HIMSELF

My great grandfather was John Hardison Redd. He lived in North Carolina and later moved to Tennessee where the missionaries came to his home. One of them was John D. Lee. He was converted, joined the church and moved west. He set his slaves free but they would not leave the family and so came west with them, and lived in Spanish Fork, Utah. Six Negro people came with them and they joined the church and were faithful members.

One of John Hardison's sons was Lemuel Hardison, and he was my grandfather. He lived in Spanish Fork for a few years and was called to Southern Utah to open up a settlement at New Harmony. He lived there most of his life. My grandmother, Keziah Jane Butler Redd, had fourteen children. His other wife Louisa Chamberlain, had thirteen children. These two wives lived side by side in a duplex house taking care of each other in times of necessity. After grandmother died grandfather then moved to Mexico, but he came back often enough that I knew him until we left Harmony in 1905.

My father William A. Redd, married my mother Verena Bryner, in 1884. Out of fourteen children, ten lived to maturity, I am the ninth. We came to Canada and arrived in Stirling on 1 July 1905. It was one of the coldest days I can ever remember. They had buffalo, fur coats to keep us warm, they had wooden buttons that looked like little double trees and I wanted them so I cut them off. Mother was quite cross and had to sew them all back on. We rode to Raymond in buggies, the wind blew like a hurricane. They say there are only two seasons in Canada, Dominion Day and Winter. It was straight winter that day.

I was just under eight years of age, my birthday is 10 August

1897. This was the first train I had ever seen and the first train ride I had ever had. We had to go forty miles to Lund, Utah, by team, to get to the train. They told us boys if we would put our ears down to the rails we could hear the train coming and we could hear it long before we could see it come around the bend. When we got to Butte, Montana we had to change trains. We had a three hour wait. My dad went out and got a big sack of bananas and some boughten cookies. Those were the first bananas I had ever seen and the first boughten cookies I had ever eaten in my life. The waiting room was electric-lighted, and that was the first electric lights I had ever seen in my life. There were ten lights, each hanging down from a single electric cord, in the old fashion way, to light this big waiting room. That's where we waited three hours for the next train. Then we got to Stirling.

The earliest memories of New Harmony are taking the cows to

pasture. We lived in town which was about a dozen houses. The old farm was maybe a half a mile away. It seemed ten miles to us. We had to go around the outside of the farm to get to the gate to put the cows in the pasture which was on the other side of the field. Beyond that was just mountain land and we had to be very careful because there were a

lot of rattlesnakes. There was a spring. We went down to the spring to get a drink and coiled up by the pipe that fed the spring was a big rattlesnake. We didn't dare go near so we didn't get a drink that day.

I remember in the fall they would line the wagon box with

straw, load it with apples from the orchard on the farm, and bring it home. We would store the apples in a special bin in the cellar. They had to handle them carefully so they wouldn't bruise and they would keep all winter. I can remember that apple bin.

In the fall Father would go to St. George and he would bring

back two five-gallons cans of honey and a forty-gallon barrel of

molasses. That was our winter supply of sweets. We could make all the molasses candy we wanted. We had all the apples we wanted and pretty much all the honey we wanted, but I can't remember much else.

One night there was a flood. A thunderstorm, a cloudburst,

filled our basement with water. Mother had 500 pounds of flour in a bin and that was 500 pounds of dough the next morning. When they got the water pumped out of the cellar it was a terrible mess.

The schoolhouse was about four or five blocks away. I only

went to school in Harmony one day. My brother Will was sub-

stitute teacher and I didn't think I had to do what he told me but I found out different, the hard way. So I had to behave myself in school.

I had a playmate and his name was Antone Prince. Our mothers made us wear short pants. Long pants for kids were unknown. Mine were red velvet and his were blue velvet and I can remember those Sunday suits we had. But we played too strenuously one day and we got my nice red pants dirty and that made Mother angry. So she changed my pants for another pair, and I got them dirty and wet in the irrigation ditch. To make sure I didn't do it again she put one of the girls dresses on me and tied me with a rope to the tree just so I couldn't get to the ditch. I made so much noise bawling and crying that the whole town knew I was being punished. I can remember that. Those short pants were good racing pants. Half the time I could outrun Antone and the other half he could outrun me. About all I can remember are just odds and ends of things down there.

I remember one Fourth of July, the last one we were there in

1904. My brother Will and Roy Prince were going to fire the cannon at sunup and the cannon was two anvils. One was on the ground and then there was a round iron ring

about four inches high that sat on top of that anvil. They would fill that ring with black gun powder. They had a little hole in it, so they could get a fuse in. Then they would fill that with powder, set the other anvil on top of the ring up side down, then light the fuse and run. It would make a real big noise when it would go off. So we knew a cannon was fired. But once Will lit the fuse and they ran and it didn't go off. And he went back to see what the trouble was and just as he knelt down to see what the trouble was the thing went off. Fortunately the anvil didn't hit him but it blew black powder through his shirt into his shoulder and the skin on his right shoulder showed those black powder marks all the rest of his life. I can remember foot races and horse races up and down the street that day and that's about all. But we had a lot of fun.

I can't remember the details, but we had a lot of fun the years we lived there. We had home-made ice cream, I had never seen boughten ice cream until I came to Canada. We burned wood in our stove. The year before we left there, my dad went somewhere twenty or thirty miles away and brought home a wagon box full of coal and that's the first and only coal I ever saw before we came to Canada. Then we used coal entirely. Kids nowadays don't even know what coal looks like. Later in life we used oil, then propane and now we're on natural gas. I've experienced with all the fuels. I remember the wood pile, I used to have to keep the wood box full. That was pretty much for a six year old to do.

My dad had a sheep herd, and the summer before we came here he took my brother Lyman and me up to the sheep herd. The means of transportation between camps were burros, little donkeys. They were gentle even though they were onery. I can remember riding those donkeys from one camp to another. We had three different sheep camps up Cedar Canyon, up on the bench above Cedar City. These burros were fun but you had to be careful that you didn't get behind them. I was riding one and my father was riding a horse and Lyman was sitting behind the saddle with him. They came to an overhanging branch, Pa saw it and leaned down and dodged it and he forgot to tell Lyman. The branch scraped him off back over the horses tail and he hit the ground. He made an awful fuss about it.

When they were marking and docking the lambs, they had a

mechanical counter like a watch and you could flip it for each

lamb. Of course they knew how many lambs they had, but Pa gave me this counter and he said, "You count the lambs as we cut their

tails off, as we dock them." So I would push it for one and then

in my enthusiasm I would push it again. Then I would have to keep on pushing it and so instead of reading for the second one, number two, it would read twelve. If I would forget up in the twenty-four, I would have to push it again until it got to thirty-four until the four showed. But I didn't know what those other figures meant. By the time we got the lambs docked my tally was a real flock of sheep. He laughed about that.

went up there to spend two weeks. They had two boys just our ages. Lyman and I and Carl and Bryner were the other two boys. That's the way I remember their names. We had a lot of fun roaming the canyon. We didn't have anything to do, but it was fun to watch them make cheese and we would drive the cows in if we were around and they could get us to. But we spent most of the time just exploring. There was an abandoned sawmill and we went prying around that and disturbed a hornets nest. One of them stung me on my right eyelid and it swelled up so badly I nearly lost the eye. For the rest of my young life, until I was twenty, one eye was a little bigger than the other one so my face was kind of crooked. The kids would torment me about that. But that did not bother me, instead of going home and crying when they would tease me until I couldn't stand it any more, I would get mad and fight, so I licked every kid within fifty pounds of my own weight before I was eight years old. Then they wouldn't torment me and call me funny names. But that's some of the things I can remember about down there before we came here. My Father brought a carload of belongings to Canada with us. He loaded a boxcar in Lund, Utah, half the car was fenced off and

he had twelve head of horses. In the other half of the car he had his furniture and our belongings. My oldest brother, Will, who was about twenty, and a cousin, Roy Wood, rode in the boxcar. They had their bed made up on top of the load in the top of the boxcar and every time it was necessary to water and feed the animals they did it. That's why they came with the boxcar. So they got the trip free and I've heard them tell about the fun they had on that trip. So it took a lot of bananas and crackers to satisfy us. I cannot remember the other meals but we lived through it. Will, Lura, Fern, Jesse, Paul, Lyman, Vilo, Pauline and Mary were the children who came to Canada, Kay the tenth child was born in Canada.

In 1947 we all went back to Harmony for a reunion. All of us that were born there were there. On July the Fourth, 1947, I remember a big celebration that day. Lyman and I spent the day walking around the old farm, to the spring, up to the big pine tree and to the spring ditch which was the water ditch that flowed across the farm which was fed by a spring called Lawson's Spring in the next property just above ours. The ditch flowed and that was half the irrigation system of that little community. I do not know where the other half came from. There was a tree by the spring, I do not know what kind it was but it's branches spread almost horizontal and it had the widest spread of any tree I ever saw, two or three hundred sheep could lie down in the shade of that tree, they were so close to the ground you could not walk under them. That was an interesting detail, but I have never found out what kind of tree it was.

The remains of the old duplex house are still there now, the

other members of the family that have gone back since took pictures of it. It was brick, or an adobe house.

When we arrived in Stirling we went to stay with the family of John Adams. John Adams came from either Kannara or Cedar City, they had come to Canada a year or two before and my parents knew them in Utah. They had about a three-roomed house, but they took care of Mother and all of eight kids and we stayed there overnight. Then Will and Roy came over to get us with two democrats. They called them that, if they were double-seated buggies. As I said, it was a cold day when we got into Raymond, it was July First, Dominion Day, and the celebration was over in the afternoon. The parade was over too. They didn't have a stampede on that day. We arrived safely about three or four o'clock, in the two buggies.

Pa had rented a house from a man named Wilcox and we lived in that house, which was on the south end of main street across the canal, until he had built his own house which took about a year and a half, we moved into it in 1907 and lived there the rest of our lives. It is still a good house. It was not insulated and was not very warm but a good house structurally. John W. Taylor had big ideas about building a home, He got a cement block machine and set it up and made cement blocks. My father bought enough cement blocks from him to build this house and the town bought enough cement blocks from him to build the town jail. John W. himself built his own house up to the foundation, and then it kind of folded up and he never did finish his house. The blocks for our house were made just about 500 feet away from the side of the brick house, 90 S 200 W, built by T. Geo. Wood, the hole and some blocks are still there. They were hauled over to our house on a stoneboat with a team about ten blocks at a time. They were set in the wall just a few days after they were made. They were made just as we used them. The Meeks brothers, in later years, bought the rest of the blocks and hauled them away to build foundations for other houses.

The house that John W. Taylor lived in was on Main Street

right next to the canal. It was a frame house and he had one

family living there. I played with one of his boys, Abram, but I

have never seen him since, I do not know whatever happened to him.

My father raised sheep for two years after we moved to Canada with a manager, Wilson Imlay. Then he bought about a thousand acres of land right here and started to farm about half of it. Then two years later he sold his sheep I remember when he came back to Raymond. I do not know how much money he had but the money was in gold coins and he brought it in leather bags. I remember seeing those two bags of gold coins and he said,"That's the price of a sheep herd." I guess he deposited it in the bank and that is the last gold money I ever saw in my life. When we came to Canada he carried \$500.00 in gold, in a little pouch to pay his way. His main living was horse raising. He would buy horses, breed horses, break horses and sell teams. This was his main love. He farmed for a living, but the thing that he did to keep alive and keep him interested was to breed, break, and match teams and sell horses. He was horse trading all the time. You would never know when he would come back with another team or horse that he had traded for,

and one or two would be missing and there would be some new ones. I guess he would get some to boot. When he bought a piano in about 1907 or 08 he bought it bought it from Charlie Fox. He didn't pay for it in cash, he paid for it in horses. He was really a horse man, it was his main love. He died before he got his land paid for and we had to sell it. All that we kept was a section and a half for Will and 400 acres of irrigated land for Lyman and me. He probably had four or five thousand acres under contract when he died but I was only thirteen, Will was only twenty-two. He was badly in debt for the land so most of it went back instead of trying to pay it off. He was a successful farmer and livestock operator, and had a sizeable estate when he died. He grew wheat, oats and barley. He planted the first alfalfa that was planted in Raymond. I think that is true. Most people around here, all that I knew, fed their horses prairie grass for hay. Father did not like that prairie grass, he liked alfalfa. We called it lucerne.

So he brought a sack of seed home from Utah, he had gone to conference in 1906, and planted ten acres of alfalfa and as I remember that was the first alfalfa patch that was in Raymond. It set a pattern for the whole area. Of course it was much better feed, much higher in protein and it had gone ahead by leaps and bounds.

As boys we always milked two or three cows. It was my job to take care of them and milk them. More than that, Father would take us to the farm and give us something to do even though it was just to make jobs to keep us off the streets. He would never let us go downtown and let us bum. In 1910 when I was just twelve years old coming on thirteen and Lyman was eleven, Pa planted sixty acres of sugar beets. In those days we cultivated the sugar beets with a two-row cultivator drawn by one horse and guided by a man walking behind it holding onto two handles. It cultivated two rows at a time. He had us boys cultivating beets all summer. Lyman was too little to reach the handles so he would ride the horse and guide it down the row and I would walk behind the cultivator and guide it so it would not cut out the beets. We cultivated sixty acres of beets six times and we cultivated twenty acres of beets for H. S. Allen six times that summer. I figured I walked 1100 miles behind the cultivator the summer of 1910, about ten hours a day. Lyman and I figured on starting at seven. We left home at seven o'clock, hooked the old mare onto a buggy and drove out there. Then we hooked her onto the cultivator and work until noon. We came a mile to the reservoir for dinner to give the mare a drink and to feed her and have our lunch. Then we would cultivate until six or six-thirty. We would unhook and come home. Now that was every working day.

Pa would take me to the farm when I was ten, eleven, and twelve years old, and give me four head of horses to harrow grain. I had to walk behind the harrow. He was a great man to harrow winter wheat. He liked to grow winter wheat and in the spring he would start harrowing it. I would harrow it, I think, just to keep me busy. We would harrow it so long that finally the harrow would just ride on the wheat, it wouldn't even hit the ground and then he would let us quit. He wouldn't let me ride the harrow cart because he was afraid I would get tangled up and hurt myself, so I walked.

I learned how to work and I'm glad of that. I started school that fall, in September. The first day of school I had three fights, the kids would call me "pollywog" and that would make me mad. They would look at this eye that was crooked from the hornet sting and they would call me bung eye and I would fight on both occasions. That continued for about a week. One kid called me a bad name while we were lined up to march into school after the bell rang. He was two boys behind me and he gave me this bad name. I turned around and socked him just as the principal walked out of the door to see the fuss, he called us into the office and got the story, He gave me a bawling-out and he gave the other kid a strapping for tormenting me. After this we had a good time at school.

My teacher was Miss Hodnett from Ontario. She seemed like an old woman, but I imagine she was about thirty. She was a fine teacher. I can remember yet the stories she would read to us like Black Beauty and Treasure Island. She would read ten minutes before school closed if we would be decent and behave ourselves. That first winter we read Black Beauty, Treasure Island and two or three other good books. School was fun.

The new public school was opened in the spring of 1910 and I went over there from the old school. The Academy was opened in October that same fall. That was my last year in public school and then I started high school in the fall in the Academy. I was the first student to register. To be the first registered I had to get there at half past four in the morning. The next student was Hazel Allen, she came at six. Her father was the president of the stake and the chairman of the school board that ran the church academy. He said, "My daughter Hazel is going to be the first student registered." My father heard him and he said, "Are you going to let a girl beat you to the school in the morning?" He was President Allen's counsellor in the stake presidency. So I got up and got over to the school at half past four. Along came Hazel about six but she was way late. So in the big registration book my name is first and Hazel's is second.

Going back to Elementary school, I remember our teacher was a great one to teach us songs. She taught us lots of songs. I do not remember much about the school work, it was fun but just ordinary. I remember in 1906 after the San Francisco earth quake, every school kid in town brought ten cents to a fund to relieve the suffering at San Francisco, I remember taking my dime to school. Miss Hodnett got 100 percent, and this happened in the whole school. I do not know how much money was raised but I do know it went to San Francisco.

Studies came easy to me. I made fairly good marks although I got a surprise. When we got into high school they would never tell us what marks you made, you would just either pass or fail. If you would pass a high school grade, you had to write a government exam for every grade past grade eight. If you would pass, your name would come out in the Lethbridge Herald. If your name wasn't in the Herald, you failed and you took the grade over again. There was no separate subject exam. You either passed the whole grade or failed the whole grade. The Lethbridge Herald told you whether you passed or not, but you never knew your marks. I graduated from high school in 1914 and went to Normal.

In 1924, ten years later, I went to Salt Lake to go to the University of Utah, and the application required your school record. So I wrote to Edmonton to get my school record which was ten years after I had graduated. I paid a dollar and they sent me my transcript and that's the first time I knew what marks I made. The subjects that I liked the best and thought I was the best in were algebra, geometry and arithmetic, and the ones I disliked were history, grammar and literature. I always had to stay out of school for harvest, and I always was registered late because I had to stay out for a month in the spring to put in the crop so I got the surprise of my life. My algebra marks were just good passing marks in the fifties and sixties. I had the best marks in the subjects I disliked and the poorer marks in the subjects that I just loved. But the explanation to my own mind was that I had missed so much in the fall and in the spring that I had an excuse for my poor marks in my math.

When the Academy opened there had never been a high school in this area at all, and there were only a handful of us, maybe ten or fifteen regular graduates from public school, which would be the regular grade nine in the high school. But there was an influx of older people from eighteen to twenty-four that came to the Academy to get an education that they had missed in their younger life. The average age of students in the school was way older.

I was the smallest, youngest kid in the whole school. So I didn't have a chance in athletics and sports. I had never learned to play because my dad kept me on the farm. I loved basketball but I was never good enough to make the team. It would be older men like Wilford Meldrum, Donald Skousen, Jim Skousen and Irvin Fawns, they were the men and we just loved to watch them play, they were champion players. In field events I was okay, I could hold my own in the pole vault, in fact, I could win in the MIA events up until way after I was married. I regularly won the pole vault. I don't know how high I ever vaulted but I've got ribbons. That's the only sport I was good in, to tell you the truth.

We liked to play tennis in the gymnasium, but that happened later after I got to teaching. I taught in the Academy until it was sold. The Church sold it to the School District. I came back from Normal, taught in Stirling three years and then I taught in the public school here one year. Then I went to the Air Force one year and then when I came back in the fall of 1919 I began teaching in the Academy. I taught there until it closed, about 1921. Asael Palmer was the principal and I was the math- ematics teacher and we had a good time there.

In those days we were only required to go to Normal for four months, they had two sessions. You could either go four months in the Fall, September, October, November and December or four months in the Winter, January, February, March and April. I went in the fall of 1914. If you had a grade eleven standing you would get a second class certificate but if you had a grade twelve standing you would get a first class certificate. I had passed grade twelve so I got a first class certificate entitling me to teach in any high school in Alberta including grade twelve which I did off and on for the next fifty years. Four months training was not really enough but teaching came naturally for me and I enjoyed teaching and liked it and made a go at it for the next fifty years.

Nowadays you have to have four years training. Of course with four months training you have just got a start. You practiced on the kids and learned as you went. That's what you call in-service training.

When I was in Calgary I boarded with a Mrs. Moran and paid so much a month for room and meals. When I taught in Stirling I boarded. I never did batch. I was in Stirling three years. I started there in January 1915. Actually it was only two years and a half. I left in June 1917. The last winter I was the principal. I boarded with Mrs. Coffin. And I can't remember much about the school itself, I taught grade two and three in the first year and the next year grades four and five. The third year I was the principal and I had grade eight, nine and ten. We didn't have a grade eleven. I had a lot of fun in Stirling and for the first time had a little bit of leisure time during the week, although I would come home and go to the farm every Saturday for all three years. Part of the time I rode a saddle horse and part of the time a bicycle. But I would make the trip home every weekend.

I have kept in touch with many of the students that I had in Stirling. There is one particular, I said I stayed at Mrs. Coffin's, her eldest daughter, Edna, married a man in Milk River and I have known her and seen her probably two or three times a year at conference time ever since. I taught Edna and Earl in Stirling. They were just younger than I, well, they were not much younger but they were taking grade eleven and we had no regular grade eleven in Stirling. We divided the subjects and each teacher would teach a subject and they got through. Edna was one of them. Interestingly enough, when I went to teach in Milk River after I retired in 1964 I had two boys, Roger Snow and Roy Hummel, who were Edna's grandsons and I had them both in grade eleven. So that's teaching a long time to teach a girl through grade eleven and then grandsons both in grade eleven.

There are a dozen others that I have known and kept track of through the years, Farrell Nelson, Bill Hogenson, Noel and Alma Brandley and Earl Nelson. I could name them by the dozens that have lived around here all through the years.

Discipline in the school in those years is not like it is now-a-days. If a kid got out of line, I would give them several choices. They could be suspended for two weeks, doing a lot of extra homework or taking a strap and getting it over with in five minutes. They would usually take the five-minute treatment and it worked. I was the principal of the High School in Raymond, for eight years. I got a report I was quite proud of. Now this seems like blowing your own horn, but it's the truth so I'll tell you the story. I can't remember the inspector's name, but he came to the school in March. I had been the principal for two years. By that time we had about two hundred students and about eight or nine teachers. They gave a written report to the teacher and a copy to the school board. The department sent these inspectors out. On my personal report, of my teaching efficiency, he gave me what he called very good. He said, "I can't give you excellent because you do not have a degree. I reserve the excellent for degree teachers. You notice I put the very good, the VG, right over against the mark. You are doing excellent work." And at the bottom of the report he said, "Mr. Redd enjoys the esteem and respect of the

students in this school and the problem of discipline does not enter." I have been quite proud of that ever since. I never really had any trouble in school. I had good relations with most of the kids. Once in a while you would have to give a kid the five-minute treatment if he was real mean. That inspectors report was the highlight of my school career so far as the question of discipline was concerned.

I left Stirling to come back home to Raymond. In the fall of 1917 the war was on and they passed a conscription act. I had been farming all these years this land that my father left. I had farmed it and hired a man to run it to do the actual driving of the horses. But I managed it. If I had stayed in the school- room I would have been conscripted into the army. So I quit teaching and came home to farm. That's really why I came home.

I went on the farm and that fall it was a dry year, I finished my own harvest in August and on the first day of September Chris Tollestrup started a threshing outfit, so I took my team and wagon and went pitching bundles for the season which would have normally lasted a month. I had been pitching bundles three days. School opened on Tuesday the third or fourth of September and about three o'clock in the afternoon two men, the chairman and secretary of the school board, came in a buggy, out into the field where I was loading bundles and said, "We've got to have an extra teacher in Raymond. We've got more kids than our teachers can handle. We've got to open another room and we want you to come and teach that extra room." That was better wages than pitching bundles so I turned my horses into the field the next night and went to teach school.

As I say, I have taught school in Raymond nearly all my life, but I have never written an application. The school board has come to me every single time under circumstances like that. I would have decided to quit and go farming and they would come and offer me a position. My first years salary was \$700. \$70 a month for ten months. It went up about \$100 to \$150 a year and in the hungry '20s I was getting twelve, fourteen, and fifteen hundred dollars. Then when the crash came in 1929 they cut our salaries way down. In the fall of 1931 the school board offered me the principalship of the Raymond High School which had about 160 or 200 students and seven or eight teachers, and I accepted that position for \$1410 a year and most of that in script. That's quite a record. That same principal now gets over \$20,000. So that's how money had changed in teaching.

During the depression school went pretty normally except things happened two or three time, either because of the weather or the depression. But in the fall it was two or three different years they had closed school for a month. They closed for the month of September and October because labor was short, the season was bad and the harvest late. I remember once in 1927 they closed school during the month of October because it rained during September and no harvest had been done. They said the kids could go home and help with the harvest. I hired all the male school teachers and we threshed.

My brother Will and I had a threshing outfit, and I hired all these male teachers and the rest of the crew. We threshed 140,000 bushels of grain and harvested sixty acres of beets in the month of October. We put 140,000 bushels through a 28-inch separator. It

was not all wheat, part of it was oats. The beets were 900 tons. School started on the fourth of November again and we were off to the races.

It was closed once in a while in the spring to thin beets the same way. Then in the spring, in the thinning time, we advanced the hour like daylight saving time only it was a local proposition and that got us out an hour early. I think one year we advanced it two hours and we would get out at 2:00 and the kids could thin beets all afternoon and school went on as usual. That was a local way of overcoming the labor shortage.

We have always had enough to live on. After I was married we had a hard time during the Depression years form 1919 to 1936, to get along, money was short but we never suffered, and got along pretty well. Then in 1951 hoof-and-mouth disease hit the cattle business. I had 200 head of cattle on feed that I had bought for thirty-six cents a pound and fed them all that crop. They weren't worth anything in the spring. I rented pasture for the summer and then fed them the next crop and they were fat cattle the second year, mature two-year-old steers and I sold them for sixteen cents a pound. That was in 1952 or '53. It took me twelve years to pay that bill off. I fed steady for the next twelve years and paid that debt off to the Central Feeders just in time for the Central Feeders to go broke. We have had a good life, though some challenges.

I married Grace Brandley in 1917. We have six children, Maurine, Theodora, Hazel, Alma, Norma and John. In the first ten years of our life we moved fourteen times. Then in 1927 we moved into a house that I built here in Raymond and we stayed there over twenty years. Grace passed away in 1936. We had a good life with our kids.

I met Grace at Christmas time 1914. I went to a dance here in Raymond and there was a party of young people from Stirling that came to that dance. Grace was one of them. It was kind of love at first sight. I thought she was the prettiest girl I ever saw. I thought she had the prettiest dress I ever saw. I asked her to dance with me and she said yes and I asked her two or three more times that night and she said yes. So we had a good time together. From then on she was kind of a dream gal. I didn't date her at all in the spring but the next fall I went to Stirling again. That was my second year in Stirling, and I boarded at Brandley's place. That's where she lived. And we walked to school every morning and home most of the nights. Sometimes she would beat me home. But she was a lovely person.

That summer I dated her and went over to Stirling quite often. I remember going on the 24 July. There was a big celebration in Stirling and I had a new buggy, a new rubber tired buggy and quite a nice little gray mare. It was a real good outfit. I had graduated from the saddle-horse by this time. This was my third year in Stirling. So I had a date with Grace for the celebration that day and drove over about noon. We went down to the park, I tied my horse up and we were watching the sports and the races and having a good time. We came back in about an hour, and two of our friends had stolen my horse and buggy. They untied the horse and drove the outfit through the biggest mud hole they could find. My bright, new, clean painted buggy was as muddy and dirty as could be and

my gray mare was splattered with mud. They thought that was a good joke. It didn't bother us at all. I washed the buggy and we continued on with our fun.

We dated pretty regularly the next year. I remember going to Stirling in the winter for the New Year's dance. I had a date with Grace. I went in a buggy, but this time it was a different buggy with a team instead of one horse. It was heavy driving and so I took a team. The dance closed at 12:30 and I took Grace home and we visited for a while. I left there about 1:15 to come home and it was a cold night, it was really cold. It must have been twenty below. So I just hung the lines over the dashboard and crawled under the robes and went to sleep. The team knew the way home anyway. But the team not only knew the way home, they also knew the way to the farm. I went to sleep and I woke up just coming daylight. The buggy was stopped and I looked up to see what was the matter. The team had stopped right in front of the barn door out at the farm which was just as far from home as Stirling was. Here I was cold and hungry, the team was discouraged, it was twenty below zero and I still had a seven mile trip to make to get home to breakfast. So that dance cost me quite a trip.

In the summer of 1917 we decided to get married. I left Stirling and came home to teach and that kind of broke our hearts. We decided we would be steady, then I guess we decided to be married. We set the date for Christmas time in 1917. We were determined we would be married in the temple. I was teaching school in Raymond so I got my sister Fern to take my room. This was the same grade that the school board had come out to the wheat field to ask me to teach. So I asked Fern if she would teach the last week of school before Christmas and she said, "Yes." So we got on the train and went to Salt Lake to be married in the temple. We were married in the Salt Lake Temple on the 19 December 1917. Grace lacked six days of being eighteen years of age. She would have been eighteen on the twenty fifth. Her birthday was Christmas day.

We went to get the marriage license in the city and county building and of course, they took our statistics. When the clerk looked at the date of her birth and the date of our application he said, "Have you your parent's consent." She said "Yes." He said "Have you it in writing?" She said "No." So he was a little doubtful as to whether he would give us the license or not. I was just over the mark. I was nineteen so I was all right. While we were wondering what we were going to do about it, another man came in from the adjoining office. The door was open and he heard the conversation and it was B.S. Young who used to live in Raymond. He knew my parents and he knew the Brandleys. And he said, "Maybe I can help you out." He was quite a joker but this day he didn't joke at all. He was really serious and cooperative. He said, "I know these people, I know their parents. I know their fathers and their mothers and I know it's all right. So if you will give them the license I will take the responsibility for the next six days." So we got our license and went to the temple. We never did get another chance to thank him, but I'll tell you we appreciated that friendly gesture that morning.

We got married and we got home. When we landed in Stirling on the 30 December there was a Chinook blowing and the snow was slushy and wet. My brother, Lyman, was going to come over to Stirling to meet us. The train did not come on to

Raymond. So we went up to Brandley's and he drove over to meet us. We decided that since it was the 31 to stay for the dance, the New Year's dance. He stayed with us and went to the dance and we were coming home after the dance. The weather turned and by the time the dance was out at 1:00 it was fifteen below zero. We came home to Raymond. We came to my mother's home. I had two rooms upstairs that were partly prepared for our new home, but it wasn't completed. So we stayed at mother's that night and the next day we got squared away in our new home. Of course, I went back to school on the third of January.

We spent the Christmas holidays in Utah, and it was the mildest Christmas they had had for years. We went to Richfield where she was born, the farmers were plowing in their fields during the Christmas week. It was that kind of weather. But when we got home it was chinooking in Stirling. There was snow on the ground but there was a nice Chinook on. But when we came home after the New Year's dance it was fifteen below zero. We stayed in this little apartment for a year.

I joined the Air Force in April, just four months after we were married. I left Grace home in this little apartment. I was in the Air Force from April until January. In the interval, Maurine, our first baby was born on the 15 September 1918. There was a flu epidemic, the 1918 flu epidemic. I was in the aerial school and the flu epidemic closed the school. They expected it to be closed for two weeks and I applied for leave to come home for those two weeks and it was granted. I got on the train and came home in September and was due to leave on the 14 or 15 of September and be back on the 19 of September. Grace was ready to have the baby so the doctor wired the commanding officer in Toronto and he extended my leave, four days. So I was here for the birth of my first daughter and then I had to leave. I left Grace and baby in good hands, in my mother's hands, and had a good time being home. It was the culmination of a lifetime for any man to be there for the birth of his first child, we had anticipated her arrival. It was just about the highlight of my life so far, to be there for the birth of our first child. We were extremely happy to get her. We had six children in all.

By the time the kids got big enough to move and walk and talk we had prospered enough that we had bought a Ford car and we spent quite a lot of time using the car for necessities, fun and holidays. Our favorite pastime was singing songs. My dad had a repertoire of maybe twenty-five or thirty songs, good, bad and indifferent and I had learned them all. So all of our children and Grace, my wife knew the songs. We would spend the time on the road singing songs. When we get together to this day we quite often sing those same old songs.

The war ended before I saw any action, and I came home. We moved fourteen times, renting different homes. Then I bought a little house for \$625 just a block south of my mother's big house and fixed it up. We lived there five years with one interruption. The school district bought the Knight Academy and I was teaching there. The principal of the Public School, DeVoe Woolf, was a mathematics teacher, so they didn't need me and I was out of a job. so I went back on the farm. I farmed that summer. I had been farming all the time, but I laid off one of my hired men and took his place and was acting farmer.

I had two hired men all the time. Chris Jensen from Magrath came and said, "We need a teacher over there. Will you come and teach in Magrath?" The offer was attractive enough that I said yes, so we moved to Magrath for a year and rented a house there. By this time we owned the little house in Raymond so we rented it, we had fixed it up and it was a nice little three-roomed home. So we moved to Magrath. At the close of the year I got an offer from the Raymond School Board to teach here so we came back. Hazel was born while we lived in Magrath.

In 1925 we decided to build a house. To build a house in those days was a real task. You had to haul your own gravel, mix your own cement and make your own foundation and everything. It took two years to build it but we got it built and moved into it and lived there for the next twenty-five years. Grace only lived there ten years when she passed away. I have always treasured the memory that we had a good home for the last ten years of her life. It was furnished well and was really comfortable. Our youngest child, John Paul was born in this home 1 July 1929. The others were all alive before we got into that new home. Alma and Norma were born in the little home we bought first. Theodora was born in Lethbridge, Maurine at mother's home, and Hazel in the home in Magrath.

We had doctors and midwives both in Raymond. Mrs. Deardon and Mrs. Gibb were the midwives, Doctor Greenway, Doctor Astrof and Doctor Murray were the doctors I remember. The children were all healthy except Hazel, she had poliomyelitis, when she was two years old and it left her crippled in her leg. She never let it stop her from doing anything she wanted to do. Theodora was born in a private hospital owned by Mrs. Van Haarlem, in Lethbridge.

In 1926, just before Norma was born, I caught a bad cold, and had the flu or whatever it was. I didn't stay home long enough and went to the farm to work. I got sick and got pneumonia and had to go to the hospital. I stayed home for a week and they nursed me there, my sister Vilo was a nurse and she helped. Then they took me to the hospital, I was scared to death, I thought to go to a hospital was sure death. I found out different. I recovered.

About two weeks before Christmas 1935, Grace became ill. We took her to the hospital in Lethbridge, we did not have one. She stayed there until Christmas eve and the doctor let her come home. We had a wonderful Christmas, quiet and lovely. We were all together. Then in the night she got sick again and about midnight I took her back to the hospital. She didn't get better. She stayed real sick until the 14 January 1936 when she died. Frank Taylor brought the children to see her but she was gone. We all went to Fern and George Laycock's home and had hot chocolate before returning home. It was very, very cold. Hazel sat in the front seat and rubbed a bag of salt on the windshield to keep it frost free.

John was six years old and Maurine was eighteen years old. It was a very sad time for all of us. We had Dorothy Nurse come into the home to help us. She was very good to the children and a good housekeeper. She had come from England after joining the

church. She stayed with us until I married Emma Brandley Peterson, Grace's sister. She is two years older than Grace and I met her before I met Grace. We took a High School play to Stirling. I wasn't in the play but I was a good driver and I had a good team and bobsled so I took the cast. Before the show, there was a little hole in the curtain, I looked over the audience through this hole, and I could see a girl down there in a navy blue middy with a bright red collar and I thought, "She's a pretty girl." The play was over by about ten or so and they cleared the benches back and we danced until twelve before we came home. I had a good time. I danced twice with Em. I met her, this gal with the middy with the bright red collar. So I knew her a year or so earlier than I knew Grace.

We knew each other because of family ties. We were married 12 November 1938. We were sealed in the Alberta Temple 30 June 1943. She and her husband were divorced. They had nine children.

In the years I was alone we got along fine as a family, Dorothy was good and the children helped her. Time heals a lot of things. The first summer I got an appointment marking papers in Edmonton and I took the family with me. It helped take away the pain of losing their mother. Solon Low was up there and he found a house for me. I rented a furnished house for the month that I was to be there. Everything was furnished including the linen for \$35. So I loaded the family, Dorothy and Melvin King, into the car and we went to Edmonton. We had a wonderful summer. After marking papers, Dorothy, Melvin and I would go play golf. The children would swim all day, and then stay at the pool to swim for the evening while we golfed. Dorothy was a good swimmer and taught them how to swim and they all took tests and each one got a swimming certificate by the end of the summer. John who was only seven years old, could swim two lengths of the pool with the crawl stroke and they could all swim better than I could. This wonderful summer took away from their minds, the sharpness and vividness of the grief of losing their mother.

Life went on pretty much as usual. I would take the kids to the farm in the spring and they would thin and hoe beets, and hoe the garden, I used the money they made to buy their fall school clothes and books, they never were paid in cash. They would help can vegetables and fruit. They were good kids to take responsibility.

After I married Em, there were fifteen children in the home. We finished two bedrooms in the basement, and had plenty of room for them all. We had a few problems, but all families do. It was in 1939, the depression was over, I was teaching, and with the farm income we got along nicely, the older children got jobs and that helped too. I think everything went pretty nicely. Soon the older ones got married and now we are alone.

We lost one child, Grace, Em's youngest. In 1949 when she was fifteen, she had serious headaches and was in bad pain quite often all winter and spring. so we finally took her to the doctor and he said he suspected she had a brain tumor. And he said, "There are three places you can go, and they can verify and treat if it's possible." You can go to Edmonton, you can go to Montreal or you can go to Rochester. So we took her to Montreal. Doctor Wilder Penfield was in Montreal and he was quite noted as a brain

specialist. So we took a plane for Montreal and when we got there they were as kind as they could be and as considerate as could be. The doctors and nurses did everything they possibly could.

We were there a month but they couldn't do anything for this tumor. The doctor said, "Please don't ask us to give her radium treatments or cobalt treatments. I had a daughter two years ago that had the same trouble, the same affliction and we gave her radium treatments or cobalt treatments. It just added to her agony." So we said, "All right, we will do what you say." We put her in the hospital. He said, "What is likely to happen, is the good Lord has decreed that when they have a brain cancer there is no pain." We were grateful for that. She got weaker and weaker. At first she kind of brightened up when we brought her home. We had a boarding-place, a housekeeping room, and we brought her home for a week but we had to take her back to the hospital. In a few days she passed away. That's the only one we've lost. The other fourteen are all living and all married, we have over sixty grandchildren. They are all perfect, physically and mentally.

Maurine is my eldest, she married David G. Wood. They live in Calgary and have two children, both married, Roxie and Richard do not have any children. Denton and Marilyn have two girls.

Theodora is next, she married Ted Stevenson and lives in Calgary. They have five children. Beverly, Neil is married, he and Jane have a baby boy. David also married recently. Melvin is married to Sylvia and they have a baby boy. Their youngest Shirley is still in school.

Hazel is next, she married Boyd Gibb, they live in Bountiful, they have a family of eight. Randall is married to Diane, they have two small children. Theodora is married to Brian, they have four. Christine is married to Dave and they have four. Dianne married Brent and Sherry married Scott, who is a brother to Brent. Denise, Leslie, and Kim are still at home. Alma is next. She married Ross Mendenhall. They live here in Raymond and have six, Grace married Ken Svenson, they have four children. Max, the second is married. He and Scarlett have two children. Anne is married to Fred Layton, they have two. Gwen passed away of meningitis, in infancy. Douglas and Bruce are still at home.

Norma my next, with her husband, Harold Fairbanks have five children, they live in Saugus, California. Paula has four children. Steven is married to Toni and has three children. Nena is married to Bob, and Roger and John Graham, are still at home. I am sorry I cannot remember at the moment all their names.

My youngest John Paul married Sherrill Drake, they have seven children, John Drake, Jane, Paul, Susan, Rebecca, Dianne and Phillip James.

Garth Benjamin is Em's oldest. He married Lois Stone and they have four children. David, Rena, Leighanne and Lyndra. Besides these four they have Gregory, by Garth's former marriage and Vickie, Lavon's daughter whom they raised.

Jean, Em's second, married Melvin Anderson. They have two children. Judy has three children, Laurie Em, after her grandmother, Kathleen and Virginia. Richard, her second, is married to Anita and they have four children.

Mary, Em's third child married Dean Nelson, they have three children, Cameron and Sherrill have four. Susanne is married to Bill Briggs and they have two children. Nancy has one daughter. Mary and Dean raised Debbie, Lavon's third child.

Virginia (Danny), aunt Em's daughter, married Clarence Pittman and they have two, Robert, who is soon to be married and Mary Ann, (Cluny) has four, Kimberly, Roberta, Nicole and Jennifer.

Harold Richard (Jim), why they call him Jim I do not know, married Eileen Simmons, they have four. Daniel is married. Then there is Michael, Laurie is married to Richard Mack, and they have two children. Lindsey is still at home. They raised Larry, LaVon's eldest. LaVon (Vonny) and her husband Lee Sidebottom, had three children, Larry, Vickie is married and has a baby, and Debbie. Lee, a veteran of the World War 11 passed away a few years ago. Vonny is now a widow and her health broke, thus her family raised her children.

Barbara Em's next child married has four children. Grace is married with two. Shelly is married with one. Randy and Kelly are still at home. She is now married to Mark Sherman.

Helen lives in Bakersfield and has five children, Tracy is married, Richard is through school. There is Sherry, Wendy and Becky at home.

Grace Elithe, Em's youngest, I have told about already, her death has been a great sorrow to us.

Along with our sixty grandchildren we have thirty six great grand children. Which are a marvellous and great blessing from the Lord. They are scattered from Edmonton to Bakersfield, they are all taking their places in life in their communities and they are children to be proud of. We take great satisfaction in their accomplishments and their integrity.

My health is good, Em's is not. She has a real problem with her health, but the Lord willing, we'll see to whatever we have to come through and meet it. When we were able, we attended the Temple each week and loved the service there.

In the Church, I spent ten years as a counsellor to the bishop in the Raymond First Ward with Heber Allen as the bishop and Clarence Allred as the other counselor. Em has been a teacher in every organization of the church, in the ward. She was an excellent teacher and her young girls from the MIA, still remember her and call on her, years later. She has always been grateful that she served so faithfully while she could. She was a town librarian for some years.

As I grew up I was in all the quorums and presidencies of all the quorums up to and including the seventies. I was president of the seventies and then I went into the bishopric and became a high priest. Most of my church activity has been in the teaching field, all my life, as has Em's and as was Grace's, she was also in the Primary presidency. We have all served both the church and the community.

I was never in any political office, but I campaigned a few times for men like John Blackmore, Solon Low, Ted Hinman and Mark Spencer in the Social Credit field.

I retired when I was sixty five but went back to teaching in Milk River and Warner when I was sixty seven and taught for four

years. I have rented my farm to the Hutterites, they farm it very good. I like to play golf and made me a golf cart to ride in. I love to do carpentry work and have built many homes. I am now building another home. It will have the same kind of water heating as the other ones. There are copper pipes in the ceiling and they are controlled automatically, it is a lovely heat and very economical. I pioneered this kind of radiant heat here in Southern Alberta.

Life had been extremely good to me. I have thought time and time again how fortunate and how blessed I am to have had the life that I have had. Yes, I have had my challenges but I could always pay my bills and now I do not owe anyone anything. We have many blessings that really make life worth living. To you who may care to read my story I say, Do the thing that you like to do, do it honestly, give a day's work for a day's pay, keep yourself clean, keep yourself active in the church, keep on friendly terms with your neighbors and trust the rest of it to the Lord. But do not be afraid to work. If there is work to be done, do it. May the Lord be with you in your lives as He has been in mine.

Paul wrote this history before all his grandchildren were born.

MY FATHER

by Norma Redd Fairbanks

My father was a wonderful man. I remember him reading the scriptures to me, especially the Book of Mormon. He explained the predictions of our day, and the one concerning Christopher Columbus. When I was feeling sorry for myself he would put his arms around me and tell me how much he loved me and assured me that I could overcome anything that happened to me in my life. He told me of his courtship with our mother and how much he loved her. When Grandpa Brandley (that is where he boarded while teaching school in Stirling) realized that Grace and Paul loved each other, dad had to move and he went to live with the Coffin family. He told me of when the horse shied into a mud hole and dad had to help mama out. He also told me that Harold's grandmother Stevenson and his mother were very good friends, and served in the Relief Society together.

He came to visit us before he died and he also came to Edmonton when Harold was made a bishop and to be with them when John Graham was born. I remember the singing in the car and working on the farm and all the fun trips to Waterton that we had.

A Few Memories of My Dad

by Alma Grace Redd Mendenhall.

I remember one day I was sitting in the big chair in our living room, I was crying, he came in and asked what the matter was. I held out a book written by Kipling, I had to read it and I could not understand it. It was called "Kim." He sat down and went through the whole book with me and explained it very good and so I was able to fill my school assignment. Many times he helped me with my homework and when I practiced the piano, often I would cry because I could not understand what I should be doing, but he would help me.

Our sister Hazel had polio and was crippled in her feet and one leg. She had to wear special high boots to give strength to her ankles. I was jealous and wanted a pair really bad and had asked for some, the answer was no. I followed him to the basement one day as he was filling the furnace with coal, because he was going to Lethbridge, I said, "Dad I want a pair of boots like Hazel's and I am going to sit right here until I get them." He just looked at me and said, "You go right ahead and sit there." Needless to say I did not sit there very long and I never got the boots. It was a lesson to me that I still remember, one does not always get their wishes.

There are many memories, just like all those you have of your home life. Sufficient to say is that we were happy, not without challenges, but well taken care of, loved, taught in the gospel and in life situations. He was our high school principal and teacher and we were proud of him. The students thought very much of him too. He was our bishop and we were thrilled for his calling there too. He was always thoughtful and kind to our mother and to Aunt Em as well and gave the best he could to all of us. We really had a wonderful childhood.

I had learned to play the piano a little bit and would play for my dad as he performed, on the cornet, in church, at school functions and other programs. Dad also sang in a men's quartet consisting of Frank Taylor, Ira Mc Bride, Paul Redd and Bert Coombs. They sang very often at all different functions, occassionally I was permitted to play for them, this has been a great experience for me.

After I was married Dad helped us remodel our home and then built us new kitchen cupboards. He also made me two sets of bookcases, exactly to fit the space we had for them, in our little home. I have a candle holder, a rolling pin, a paper towel holder, two small tables and an organ bench he made when in grade nine for the Knight Academy organ. It has been made into an end table, he gave it to me. Max took cornet lessons from him and loved the experience. All the children remember him well.

All of us remember these wonderful times we had together as a family. We all appreciate and love Aunt Em and her family as well, we did have many great times together.

MY DAD

by Theodora Stevenson

I must have been about 3 years old when I can remember some of the things about my dad. We lived in a little white house a little was south of Grandma Redd's. We had a swing in a big tree in our front yard, Dad built the swing for us and we spent many hours swinging. He built a radio. It was called a crystal set and it had a big cone-shaped speaker (megaphone-shaped) and we listened as often as we could.

All his life, now that I look back, Dad would build things to help our mother. He put a motor on our sewing machine, he fixed the ice cream freezer to hook up to the wringer of the washing machine so that we wouldn't have to turn it by hand. He could and would always fix or rebuild his farm equipment, machines and tools. He built several homes in Raymond but I remember our special one, we were so happy there and had so many good times in our youth.

Dad was a school teacher and later became the principal of Raymond High School. He was always helping someone with their school work, often students would come to our house and Dad would sit at our dining-room table and help them. He would never do our questions or our homework, but would always give us an example so that we could use that example and do them ourselves. He was an excellent teacher and a very strict disciplinarian. As a result of this, he was criticised and some parents were mad at him. He took a lot of abuse but he never backed down and he was respected for his work.

He played the trumpet and boy were we proud of him. He played "Taps" at all the Memorial Day Programs; and in the First of July Band down at the stampede grounds. He taught quite a few kids how to play. He sang in a quartet for many years and we were proud of him for that. He loved marching music and we all still love it.

Dad was in the Bishopric (Raymond first ward) with Heber Allen and Clarence Allred. It seemed forever and I am sure it wasn't. He worked in many different church jobs, Sunday School teacher, Stake Sunday School: all his life he was a very devoted church member.

Dad was a farmer as well as a teacher, so he kept very busy trying to earn enough money to keep us all, yet dad still had time for his family. He took us on many picnics and vacations at Waterton Park, and just a trip to Lethbridge was a special outing for our family. Dad was always sweet and kind to our mother and did all he could to help her. He taught us to do a good day's work, and to be honest and to get along with each other, to always do our share of work around the house to help Mama. He taught us gospel truths and to live according to the church standards. We had a very special happy home.

In 1936 our mother passed away. Naturally this was very hard on all of us and especially our dad. He was a young man left alone to raise six children, ages 18 to 6. It was a real challenge and struggle I'm sure for our dad, but he carried on. He married our mother's sister, Em Peterson, who had 9 children, so our family increased considerable. We had our trials, and our problems, but dad spent his entire life to make us all happy and taken care of. He treated Aunt Em with the same love and consideration as he did our mother.

Dad lived a full life doing carpentry work until the day he died. I am indeed blessed with a rich heritage, both from my father and mother, and hope and pray that I can be worthy of this heritage.

Special Events in the Life of our Dad

Being a teacher and a counsellor in the bishopric he was always very busy and away a lot, but always found time for our family. Every fall after the crops were in, Dad would go down to the Merc and pay our year's grocery bill. He would come home with a bag of hard tack candy for us children. Of course, this was very special. He was an Alberta Wheat Pool delegate and every year he and mama would go to Calgary to the Wheat Pool Convention. They always brought us a small gift but it was really treasured by us children. Usually it was a book as we were all readers.

After Hazel took ill and couldn't walk for sometime, and when she did learn to walk again, every time we did anything or went anywhere Dad would always tell us to take care of Hazel and stay with her wherever we went. We all learned to stay together and support and love each other. When we wanted to ice skate, dad bought the skates separate, and put them on the high top shoes we wore to school, so we got double use out of our shoes. He bought Hazel a pair of special skates, that looked like tiny bobsleds, two little sleighs for each foot. They strapped on to her special boots.

He took me over to Lethbridge one year and bought me a red plaid Mackinaw jacket, and navy blue pants out of melton cloth so I wouldn't get cold. He also bought us leather ankle straps so that we could skate better. Dad always had time for us, busy as he was.

Paul Redd

by David and Maurine Wood

We have heard it said, in more than one part of the Province of Alberta, that Paul Hardison Redd was one of the truly great teachers in Western Canada. Understandably nervous in his classes, since he was courting one of his five daughters, David can vouch for Paul's superb teaching ability. David says he was "not at ease with mathematical subjects, but when I got into Paul Redd's Mechanics II class and his Geometry class it was as though a light had been turned on. I not only understood the subject matter, I actually came to love the course material."

The same magic occurred when Paul Redd taught a Sunday School class or any class. Paul Redd not only taught, he built; and he applied the theories he was teaching in High School to help him in his building. He built at least 5 homes in Raymond, at first to live in , and then to sell at a modest profit. Each home incorporated Paul's progressive thinking about heating systems that would cope adequately with rugged Canadian winters. The last home not only had radiant heat built into the ceiling, it had an outside thermostat that warned the inside heating center, well in advance, of thermal changes. Several heating companies visited Raymond to see what Paul had devised.

Paul Redd built a powered golf cart. He made beautiful end tables. He used old wagon tongues to create turned oak candle holders. He played, and played well, a cornet, both solo and in a band. He joined and learned to fly in the wartime Canadian Air Force. He sang in what was once Raymond's most popular male quartet with Frank Taylor, Bert Coombs and Ira McBride. He demonstrated management skills in his years as principal of Raymond High School, and his service as a counsellor in Heber Allen's Bishopric. He was an excellent farmer and a successful cattle feeder. He simply had to know what made things work and he read voraciously to find out. In short, he was a true renaissance man.

He bought a big old pool table from one of the pool halls, and rebuilt it. He bought three balls and a bunch of cue sticks, and we played billiards on it. (David says it was to keep the girls and the boy friend with them at home---it worked as the house was always full). As we would knock the cue tips off, he would glue them back on so we could continue to play. Hazel got to be a pro and could beat us all.

Keep in mind he also lost his beloved wife Grace, when he was only 38. Six children on his hands, farms to run, school to manage - we still stand in awe of his accomplishments and could never adequately tell all we remember about Paul Hardison Redd.

THOUGHTS ABOUT DAD

by John and Sherrill Redd

The older I get the more I realize how much I learned from Dad. He was always very good to me and believe it or not, very patient. Never in my life even as an advanced teen could I ever out-work him. But not the least of what he taught me was how to work. We worked together a lot, on the farm, with the cattle, sheep and hogs, on houses and in the shop. I remember going to the school shop many evenings and building things, learning to use the tools and even the power tools while I was still very young. And I know that partly by his encouragement I spent many hours in my own basement shop building things. I don't regret that most of the time we spent together was working, but we did occasionally play together. I really enjoyed playing golf with him, he really enjoyed golf and I felt bad that he couldn't play more often. The first golf bag he had he made himself but he not only made his own golf bag, later he made his own motorized golf cart.

He made his own tools and farm implements, to name a few, land levellers, ditchers, a cultivating implement like the Noble Blade. He made his own truck beet boxes, a manure spreader for the truck and probably the most complicated piece, was a sugar beet loader. They were just coming into vogue during the war and so implement companies were not building them. The sugar company shop built several and he, seeing them said, "I can build one as good or better." And so he did, in fact he built one and sold it, then he built another for himself. We spent many hours at Hervey's Black Smith shop, we got our steel from old combines and threshers. We did all the manual work at the shop and when we needed welding, Jack Hervey would come to our rescue. And dad really did improve on the sugar company's design. It worked great.

Dad was a great teacher. He even taught me English and Physical Education in High School, neither was his specialty but he still taught me much. He taught many, many classes in Priesthood, Sunday School and M.I.A. He was always considered to be the best. He never taught me math in school, but I learned much math from him, as he helped me with my own studies and the things I learned were not the conventional things, but were practical and often short-cut methods to solve problems. While I was in college and on a mission, he started building houses and putting hot water radiant heat in the ceiling. He made a trip or two to Calgary to consult with Fred Deeves, a heating engineer, but he did most of the planning and work on his own. His heating systems were very efficient and provided very comfortable heat. Even after I was married he enjoyed having me help him on building and remodelling jobs. About the only part of the building he did not do was the plastering. He did his own cement work, plumbing, wiring and finishing.

Our older children have very fond memories of Grandpa Redd and loved him very much. One time he really surprised us, one evening in Pocatello as we were eating supper, there was a knock on the door and there was Dad. He stayed several days and then went on down to Salt Lake to visit Hazel, Boyd and their family. I don't know anyone who enjoyed a good joke more than Dad. In fact he seemed to have a good joke to tell on almost every occasion. Dad loved music and played the cornet very well. I always enjoyed listening to him play, and I remember well his coaching Alma as she practiced her piano. He sang in a male quartet for many years singing second tenor. Their quartet was very popular and in great demand for all types of programs. We have a tape of one and we still enjoy listening to it.

I also emember the family singing many fun songs especially as we travelled in the car. I remember one very special trip that he took us on, to Edmonton where he "marked" government high school exams. We had just purchased a new 1936 Ford two-door sedan and we loaded three adults and six children and all the luggage into that little car and made the four-hundred mile trip. We stayed for a month and had a great time.

He was always thoughtful, loving and caring of my mother and Aunt Em. His life was not easy, raising fifteen kids from two families of very different backgrounds, but as I look back now, he did a great job and deserves a lot of credit.

My fond memories of Dad still make me "weepy" — he was a great man, teacher and especially "father."

Sherrill writes, I remember being somewhat apprehensive, as one might imagine, when John and I went to Canada to be married, and I had never met my in-laws until four days before our marriage. I had just talked to Dad and Aunt Em twice by phone. I however, was immediately made to feel at home by Dad and Aunt Em. They were very kind to me, although Dad liked to tease me a lot.

I was always a little in awe of Dad, partly because of his great knowledge. It seemed there was never a subject he could't converse on, he was so well read. That brings up another thing, his ability to down a box of chocolates in one evening while reading a book.

I remember the lovely wood candle holder he made for us, turned on his wood lathe. It is beautiful and we have a Christmas candle we place on it and put out every Christmas.

I also remember the big rolling pin he made for us, which is much used. He was so capable at so many things. I don't think there was anything he couldn't make or do.

I loved to hear "Grandpa Redd" sing in Church. He sang the hymns like they ought to be sung, with feeling and fervor.

I love Dad Redd very much and miss him very much. I look forward to meeting him again. Our children, do too. The older ones love him very much. Phillip and Andrew love to hear about him, and feel cheated not to have known him. We've tried to keep him alive to our grandchildren, as well.

THE NAME AND FAMILY OF REDD

Compiled by THE MEDIA RESEARCH BUREAU, Washington, D.C.

The name of Redd is believed to have been originally used as a nickname, having reference to the red hair or ruddy complexion of its first bearers. It is found in ancient English and early American records in the various spellings of Rede, Redde, Reede, Reade, Reide, Reid, Redd, and others, of which several of the other forms are more generally used today, but that of Redd is still frequently found in America.

Families of this name were resident at early dates in the English Counties of Norfolk, Suffolk. Somerset, Kent, Worcester, Oxford, Surrey, Hereford, Buckingham, York, Gloucester, Lincoln, Middlesex, Devon, and London, as well as in various parts of Scotland and Ireland. They were, for the most part, of the British landed gentry and yeomanry.

The family was represented as early as the year 1139 by one Brianus le Rede (Brian the Red), from whom was descended William le Rede of Counties Norfolk and Suffolk in the early part of the following century, who was the father, by his wife, Margaret Granville, of Robert, who was the father of Falfrinus, who was the father of Robert, William and Thomas, of whom the last was the father of a son also named Thomas, who was living in the year 1429 and was the father of a son named Edmund, who married Christiana James and was the father by her of John Edmund, of whom the latter was the father of Edmund Rede, Lord of Porstal. John, the elder of the lastmentioned brothers, became Mayor of Norwich and was the father of Henry, Edward, and Magdalina, of whom the son Edward married Inez, daughter of Sir Humphrey Stanley, and had, among others, John, Sir Bartholomew of London, and Sir Robert of London, of whom the son John married Joan Ludlow and died in 1502, leaving, among other children, a son named Thomas, who was the father by his wife, Philippa Bacon, of William, John, Alan, Edward, and Thomas, of whom the first was married in 1538 to a Miss Tooley, by whom he had issue of Thomas, William, and six daughters. Of the lastmentioned brothers, William, the younger, married Anne Fearnley and was the father by her of Sir William and Richard, of whom the first married Gertrude Paston, who gave him two sons, Thomas and Francis, and numerous daughters as well; and Thomas, the elder brother of William, married Margaret Quintz or Quince and was the father by her of Francis, George, and John, of whom the last was the father by his wife, Ursula Cooke, of Thomas and others.

Among other early records of the family in England are those of Robert le Rede of County Surrey in the early thirteenth century, those of Godwin le Rede of County Norfolk in 1273, those of Roger le Rede of Herefordshire about the same time, those of Martin le Rede about the year 1327 and those of William Red and Robert le Rede of Somersetshire during the same period.

The first of the name in America were David Red of an unknown part of Virginia in 1637, Robert Rede of Warwick County, Va., in 1645, and John Redd of Lancaster County, Va., in 1654. The records of the immediate families and descendants of these early settlers, however, have not been found.

Sometime before 1729 James Redd, who may possibly have been descended from one of the above-mentioned immigrants, was living in Virginia. He married a Miss Eastham prior to this date and was the father by her of, probably among others, a son names Samuel, who made his home in Caroline County, Va. In 1755 this Samuel married Lucy Rogers, by whom he was the father of Fannie, William, Jesse, Lucy, Ann, and Samuel.

William, eldest son of Samuel and Lucy, married Miss Tyler of Caroline County, but his records are not complete.

Jesse, second son of Samuel and Lucy, married Mary Woodson of Goochland County, Va., but his records are equally incomplete.

Samuel, third son of Samuel and Lucy, was married in 1797 to Elizabeth Taylor of Hanover County, Va. He was the father by her of Lucy Anne, Edmund, Elizabeth, Taylor, Samuel, Emily Harris, Sarah, John Robinson, James Temple, and Louisa.

James Redd, probably a member of another branch of the above-mentioned family, was living in Spotsylvania County Va., before 1750. He was the father by his wife Elizabeth of Captain Thomas Redd, who settled in Woodford County, Ky., after the Revolutionary War and was the father there of, among others, a son named Samuel. This Samuel married Dorothy Bullock and was the father of, among others, a son names Waller Bullock.

Yet another branch of the family in America was represented before 1750 by Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, Va., who was born about 1730 and may possibly be another son of the first-mentioned James Redd of Virginia. This Thomas was the father by his wife Frances (nee Anderson) of Charles Anderson, Polly, Sally, Patty, George, John, Thomas, William, and Fanny.

Charles Anderson, son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Elizabeth Gresham. He was the father by her of, among others, a son named Albert Gresham, but the records of this line are not complete.

John, son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Mary Truman in the latter part of the eighteenth century and was the father by her of Elbert F., Nancy, Elizabeth, Joseph T., John W., Henry T., and Susan Truman.

Another John Redd, a Major in the Revolutionary War, who was born in Albemarle County, Va., in 1755, settled at an early date in Henrico or Henry County, in the same colony. By his wife, Mary, daughter of Colonel George Waller of Henrico County, he had issue of Annie, (Colonel) James Madison, Elizabeth, Martha, Waller, Edmund, Burwell, Polly C., Lucy Dabney, Dr. John Giles, Overton and Carr.

Of the above-mentioned sons of Major John and Mary Redd of Henrico County, Colonel James Madison married Ruth Penn Staples; Waller married Keziah Staples; Edmund Burwell married Sarah Ann Fontaine and had issue by her of Martha, Mary, Celestia, Polly, Ella, John, William Spottswood, James S., and Edmund Madison; Dr. John Giles married Apphia Fauntleroy Carter; Overton married Martha Fontaine; and Carr died young.

Thomas Redd was living in Halifax County, Va., in the latter eighteenth century (will dated 1823) and left issue there by his wife Rebeckah of Rebecca, of George William, Rebeckah, Thomas, James Tucker, Robert Hoyt, Anderson Cooke, Martha James, Eliza, Sally, Amanda Mayo, and Ann. This Thomas also mentioned his brother Robert of Macklenburg County, Va., but no further record of that line has been found.

The history of the Redds in America is that of a sturdy, self-reliant, resourceful, and courageous race, possessed of physical stamina and perseverance. Other characteristics of the family include generosity, kindliness, and sociability.

Among those of the name who served as officers in the War of the Revolution were the before-mentioned Captain Thomas and Major John, of Virginia; and numerous others from the various other Southern States. There were also many of the name in the ranks of the various States.

John, Thomas, Edmund, Edward, Francis, Robert, David, Samuel, James, George, and William are some of the Christian names most favored by the family for its male progeny.

A few of the many members of the family who have attained distinction in America at various times are:

John Redd (b. 1755, deceased) of the South, author.

George Redd (latter 18th and early 19th centuries), of Virginia, agriculturist and author.

John T. Redd (early 19th century), of Missouri, politician.

Rebecca Fergus Redd (early 19th century), of New York, novelist.

Annie Bell Redd (latter 19th and early 20th centuries), of Georgia, botanist.

Richard Menefee Redd (latter 19th and early 20th century), of Kentucky, soldier and author.

Leonard B. Redd (early 20th century), of North Carolina, jurist.

The best known of the Redd, Red or Rede coats of arms are described as follows (Burke "General Armory" 1884):

Arms.L (Redd or Rede) — "Azure, a griffin segreant or."

Crest. — "A garb or, banded gules."

Arms.II(Red) — "Argent, a mullet between three annulets gules, within each a cinquefoil of the last."

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Lower, Dictionary of Family Names. 1860

Bardsley, English and Welsh Surnames. 1901

Burke, Dictionary of the Landed Gentry. 1852

Burke, General Armory. 1884

Metcalf, Visitations of Suffolk. 1882

Greer, Early Virginia Immigrants. 1912

Wingfield, History of Caroline County, Va. 1924

Virkus, Abridged Compendium of American Genealogy,

Mackenzie, Colonial Families of the United States.

William and Mary Quarterly. 1912-1913, 1916-1917, etc.

Hill, History of Henry County. 1925

Carrington, History of Halifax County, Va. 1924

Virginia Revolutionary Soldiers. 1912

THE REDD FAMILY OF ONSLOW COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA

The State Historical Commission at Raleigh, North Carolina, has issued a certificate to a descendant of Whitaker Redd stating that he, Whitaker Redd, was in service in the Revolutionary War, and that William Redd was also a soldier. William was Whitaker Redd's son and he had two sons, Sigle and Kincy.

Legend has it that two Redd brothers came from Scotland and one settled in Virginia and the other in North Carolina.

It is said that the first court house in Onslow County was located on the sea coast and that it was washed away by a tidal wave in 1852. It is possible that it may have been earlier than that as a terrible storm swept the coast about 1820 or 30. Anyway nearly all the records were lost. Some people brought their own documents back later to have them recorded but a lot of information never did come back.

William Redd had two brothers, Henry and Whitaker Jr. The father, Whitaker Sr., died in 1786 or 1789. William was born about 1763 and died since 1831. One legend has it that he came from Scotland but that probably is incorrect. There is no record of what became of Henry, but Whitaker Jr. probably went to Wilmington, North Carolina, as a good many of his descendants still live there, though two, John Hardison Redd and sister, Mary Redd Holt, went first to Tennessee and then on to Utah. Some of their descandants live in Brigham City, Utah.

William Redd, evidently was the only Redd that remained in Onslow County, N.C. He married Celah (pronounced Kala, said to be Indian with no last name) and she had two sons, Sigle and Kincy. Sigle was born Dec. 6, 1785, at Stump Sound, Onslow Co., and died June 11, 1867. Kincy was born about 1787 and died since 1849.

William later married Margaret Everett and she had three daughters and one son: Nellie Russell; Mary (called Polly); Sarah (called Sally); and William Jr. William next married Sarah Barlow and she had William B., born May 15, 1811, died about 1854; and James B., born about 1814 and died about the first of June, 1844.

Sigle married Lennie Fields and she had one daughter, Sarah Jane, who married Seth King. To them were born; Mary who married Thomas Hinen (Hines); Lemuel Fields who married Mary Atkinson; Oliver, John, Nick, Joseph, Dimmie and one called "Puss" who married and went to New York.

After her death he married Susan Annie Anders (or Andrews) and to her were born Marquis LaFayette, born Nov. 15, 1836, died March 13, 1876 (married Emily Amy Sidbury, one daughter Susan Rebecca Redd who married Hill E. King); Basil, born May 20, 1827, died October 30, 1848 (went to Utah and married there); Elda S. born Sept. 22, 1830, died about 1899 (married William Batson first, and Hill Williams, second); Susan Ann, born April 13, 1833, died about 1895 (married Hill Nixon); Sigle Jr., born April 10, 1836, died March 30, 1883 (married Camilla Norton); Alonso born June 9, 1842, died about 1910 (married Lydia Aman Henderson); Francis Marion born March 4, 1844, died March 20, 1907 (married Isabell Jane Justice); and Henrietta (married John Bishop).

The home of Sigle Redd Sr., was built on a high ridge overlooking the sparkling waters of Stump Sound and the blue expanse of the Atlantic Ocean, and here he reared his family. It must have been a jolly family for even in their old age they retained a lot of humor and love of fun. They were all good citizens and esteemed far and near. They were noted for their jet black hair and black eyes. Susan said she never took more trouble to her heart than she could kick off with her heels. Francis Marion was wounded in the Civil War. Marquis was sheriff of Onslow Co., and also a Captain of a company he recruited for service in the Confederate Army.

The mists of time have obscured much of the history of the Redds who first came to Eastern North Carolina. However, the first authentic facts are those taken from the files of the State Historical Commission at Raleigh, N.C. as stated above.

Another story says the two brothers came from Virginia. This is perhaps true as there is in existence an old chest that the children of Sigle Redd claimed came from Virginia with the first Redds. All that is known definitely now is that Sigle Redd acquired land bordering on Stump Sound in Onslow County and built a home there. The home is still in use.

Amos Aaron chose to live in Wilmington. They probably came from Virginia as there are numerous Redds living in Richmond, Va., and the writer knows of no Redds in North Carolina except descendants of these two.

THE REDD FAMILY OF UTAH

Taken from "The History of Utah" published in 1932

It is important that a state should remember its pioneers, not merely the men who were first in point of time, but those were outstanding in the performance of work, the endurance of hardships, and the fearless confronting of all the difficulties and experiences which are woven like a web into the historic fabric of a commonwealth. Such honors should be paid to various members of the Redd family and their connections. Utah was not the first state in which these families did their part as pioneers. They were the solid industrious stock of American colonists, prominent in the original colonies along the Atlantic Coast, and also were identified with successive waves of migration, homebuilding and state-making in the historic progress across the mountains, across the Mississippi Valley, and finally into the Great Basin.

A grandfather of the present generation of the Redd family drove a wagon across the plains in the Mormon migration of 1850. The deeds and leadership of the family are particularly identified with the history of San Juan, Utah. The story of the colonization of that valley could not be told without repeated reference to the activities and influences of the Redd family. They were first and foremost in point of settlement and in pioneer labors which brought that district into touch with the economic and political order of the rest of the state.

In order to trace properly the ancestry of this family it is necessary to go back several generations, before they came to Utah. The first prominent ancestor met with in the record bore the name of William Hancock. He went to North Carolina in 1707, as an attorney for Lord Pollock. In the same year he received a grant of land on the Neuse River near Newbern. In 1708-09 and in 1717 he was a member of the North Carolina Assembly. In 1723 he was appointed by the North Carolina Assembly at Edenton a commissioner to sell lots at Newbern. William Hancock and his wife, Eliza, had a son, Hector Hancock, who was born in Carteret County, North Carolina, and died in 1721. Hector and his wife, Ann, were the parents of Nathaniel Hancock, of Onslow County, North Carolina. Nathaniel Hancock married Sarah Ward, daughter of Enoch and Mary (Shackelford) Ward. Enoch Ward, of Carteret County, was a contemporary of William Hancock and his name also appears in the records as a member of the North Carolina Assembly. Nathaniel Hancock died in 1800. His son, Zebedee Hancock, born in January

1760, and died in Onslow County in 1820, married Abigail Taylor, daughter of William and Elizabeth Taylor. Abigail Taylor was born in 1761. A daughter of Zebedee Hancock was Elizabeth Hancock, who was born January 25, 1797, in Onslow County, and died in 1853. She became the wife of John Hardison Redd.

John Hardison Redd was born December 27, 1799, and died June 15, 1858 at Spanish Fork, Utah. He was the son of Whitaker and Elizabeth Redd. Whitaker was born in Onslow County and died in 1828, being a son of Whitaker Redd Sr., of Onslow County, who died either in 1786 or 1789. John Hardison Redd was known as Captain Redd, since he was a sea-faring man. He was also a North Carolina merchant, and a man of unusual learning and accomplishment.

In 1838 Capt John Hardison Redd, with his family, left Onslow County and settled in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. There he acquired a large plantation, owning numerous negro slaves. The course of his life as a southern slave-holding planter was completely changed in 1842, when he became a convert to the Mormon faith At that time he liberated his slaves, though because of their regard for him, some of them followed him to Utah. He had also been a planter. His father, Whitaker Redd, had been a Revolutionary soldier.

Two years before the family left their old home in Onslow County, a son, Lenuel Hardison Redd, was born July 31, 1836. He was about six years of age when the family accepted their new faith, and at the age of fourten he was a sturdy boy, capable of doing his part in the migration across the plains to the new Zion. From St. Joseph, Missouri, he drove an ox team. When an old man he frequently recounted the incidents of the journey, and that story made a lasting impression on the memory of his grandson, Mr. Charles Redd. Both Lemuel and his father were attacked by the cholera. Lemual H. Redd told of the scenes impressed upon his memory in seeing hundreds of people buried along the roadsides. He described the terror caused by the threat of Indian attack and pictured the stampeding of thousands of buffalo on the plains.

It was in October 1850 that the family, after many toils, arrived in Salt Lake City. During the following winter Lemual Hardison Redd attended school at Provo. The next spring the family moved to Spanish Fork. The Redds and the family of William Pace were the pioneers of that locality in Utah Co. At Spanish Fork, Captain Redd helped built the first sawmill south of Provo. When the Indian War broke out in 1853, the mill and town were destroyed and the family sought a place of safety at Palmyra.

Lemuel Hardison Redd in 1852 was baptized and ordained a priest. During the Walker War, which started in July 1853, he did his part as a soldier and was an officer in all the Indian wars of the state. Though he had few opportunities for schooling during his youth, because his family were first pioneers in Tennessee and then in Utah, he became educated beyond most of this contemporaries and was particularly well informed in history and biography. He served six years as member of the County Court and also acted as Probate judge. During the invasion of General Johnston's army, he went with Captain

Andrus' company of soldiers to Green River to ascertain the plans of the enemy. The company was gone a month and one man and one horse were killed by the Indians.

Lenuel Hardison Redd, on January 2, 1856, married Keziah Jane Butler, who proved a faithful wife and loving mother to her thirteen children. The Butlers also introduced other lines of strong and valiant pioneer ancestry. Keziah Jane Butler was born in Simpson County, Kentucky, February 25, 1836, daughter of John Lowe and Caroline F. (Skeen) Butler. John Lowe Butler was born April 8, 1808, and died in 1861. He was a son of James and Charity (Lowe) Butler, and grandson of William and Phoebe (Childres) Butler. Charity Lowe was born January 12, 1782, in South Carolina, daughter of William and Margaret (Farr) Lowe, and granddaughter of John Lowe and Nancy Butler, and Barnabas and Dorothy Farr. William Lowe was born in Virginia, February 12, 1756 and died in 1835, while his wife, Margaret, was born in Pennsylvania in 1761. John Lower Butler kept a diary, still in possession of his descendants, and in it he recorded that both he and his wife were children and grandchildren of Revolutionary sires. His grandfather, William Lowe, enlisted in the army of the Revolution in 1775, serving in the company commanded by Capt. Joseph Phillips, William Dobson, Minor Smith and Joel Lewis. In 1781 William Butler served in Colonel Picken's regiment.

The Butler family arrived in Utah in the fall of 1852, and John Lowe Butler was prominent in the founding of Spanish Fork. He was appointed by President Brigham Young to survey the land, lay off blocks and city lots and bring water from the river to the settlement. His wife, Caroline F. Skeen, was born in Sumner County, Tennessee, April 15, 1812 and died in 1875. She was a daughter of Jesse and Keziah (Taylor) Skeen, and granddaughter of John or Alexander Skeen and Robert and Nancy Taylor. Jesse Skeen was born in Sumner Co., Tenn., and died in 1842, and Keziah Taylor was born April 11, 1778.

After his marriage, Lemuel Hardison Redd, Sr., went with his wife to fill a mission for the church at Las Vegas, New Mexico. He was a member of the fifteenth Quorum of Seventy. In 1862 he helped found New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah, holding many offices there, and in 1866 bought a homestead at New Harmony, completing an unfinished brick house, in which he lived until 1878. He was for twenty years a bishop of his church.

In 1866 married as his second wife, Sarah Louisa Chamberlain, who bore him fourteen children.

Under orders of the head of the church, Lemuel Hardison Redd Sr., with George W. Sevy, George Morril and George H. Hobbs, comprised a party of explorers or advance guards sent out to locate the San Juan River and select the best place for the building of a road that would lead the later colonists to Southern Utah. It was a very difficult and perilous trip and its record is an important part of the undertaking of colonizing the San Juan.

In the Fall of 1879 this party of four pioneers made their own road from Escalante to the San Juan settlement, which they named Bluff. They had left the main body of colonizers, comprising eighty-three wagons, about eighty men and 150 persons in the entire company, comprising men, women and children, and for twenty-five days in midwinter, they plodded through deep snow with only a pack mule to carry provisions, and for four days of this time they were without food altogether.

Lemuel Hardison Redd Sr., lived for many years to enjoy the fruits of his ppioneer enterprise in helping lead the colonists into the San Juan. He died June 9, 1910. As one of his associates wrote of him: "Brother Redd was looked up to as a kind, sensible, resourceful man of wide experience, a consistent Latter-day Saint, and was respected as such. Personally, I always looked upon your father as one who contributed of himself and his wonderful family a great offering, for not only San Juan Mission, but to the whole work of our church and country, and I appreciate very much the honor of laboring and associating with many of them."

Representing the second generation of this pioneer family in Utah was Lemuel Hardison Redd Jr., who was born at Spanish Fork, October 5, 1856, and lived a life of usefulness and honor, closed in death on June 1, 1923. He was his father's oldest child. At the age of eight he was baptized, and was ordained a teacher at the age of fourteen, and an elder at twenty-two. During 1875-76 he was a student in the University of Deseret, now the University of Utah. After that he taught for a year, and in 1878 he married Eliza Ann Westover. In 1884 he married Lucy Lyman.

Lemuel Hardison Redd Jr. was also a member of the party of Saints that colonized the San Juan Riover Valley in 1879. In 1881 he was ordained high priest and set apart as second counselor to Bishop Jens Nielson, in which capacity he labored for twenty years, and on Bishop Nielson's death became bishop of Bluff. In 1910 he was made president of the San Juan Stake. He was superintendent of the Ward Sunday School, secretary of the Y.M.M.I.A., was ward clerk, for fifteen years superintendent of the San Juan Cooperative Store and president of a large number of business organizations in that county. He organized the first bank in Southeastern Utah, and promoted and secured the funds for the establishment of water and light systems at Monticello and Blanding in San Juan County.

Lemuel Hardison Redd Jr. took a great deal of pride and satisfaction in the knowledge that he was one of the founders of San Juan County. In speaking of the events of early days and referring to San Juan County as a community that was an asset to the state, he constantly spoke in words that would be used by a proud father in referring to a worthy son.

He was characterized by a remarkable intelligence, business ability of a high order, and personally he was, as one of his friends put it, "a man quiet and unpretentious, firm as a rock and humble as a child." The children of his first marriage were Lulu, Lemuel H., Hattie Helen, Herbert H., Edith, Charles, Marian, and May, and those of his second wife were Carlie, Frank,. Annie and Amasa J.

* * * * * * *

Taken from the journal of John D. Lee at 'Summer Quarters' 13 miles north of Winter Quarters, and was mainly a farm owned by Brigham Young, and worked by John D. Lee, his adopted son.

July 1, 1847 "At about 6 p.m. Brother John H. Redd and Islam Gilliam both of Rutherford Co., Tenn., arrived in camp. John H. Redd, an old man, Captain, formerly from South Carolina, had protected Lee when Mormon missionaries in Rutherford County were attacked by a mob." He later became converted and the prefix 'Bro.' indicates he was a Mormon at that time.

July 4, 1847 "Left Brother John H. Redd considerably difficulted in his mind about moving to the west. After meeting Brother Redd, I, Gilliam and several others dined with John D. Lee." (Note: John H. Redd later emigrated and founded the Redd family of south-eastern Utah.)

July 5, 1847 "Clear, wind, S.W. About 8 o'clock friend Gilliam, Sister Caroline (Gilliam's wife) and John H. Redd started for Tennessee, their native land."

* * * * * * *

"First Families of Utah" Utah census of 1850 listed the following, the family and servants of John H. Redd.

John H. Redd 51 M

Elizabeth 52 F

Ann M. 19 F

Ann E. 18 F

Mary C. 15 F

Lemuel H. 14 M

John H. 13 M

Benjamin 8 M

(Servants of J. H. Redd) The following had been slaves, but were freed and had followed their former master to Utah.

Venis 40 F Black

Chancey 38 F Black

Luke 19 M Yellow

Marinda 18 F Yellow

Annie 14 F Yellow

Sam 17 M Yellow

* * * * * * *

Rutherford County Records "A list of preperty was taken and returned by Miles p. Murphy Esq. in district 8 of Rutherford County, Tenn., for the year 1849. John H. Redd — 175 acres of land valued at \$1250.00, tax \$1.44. Four slaves valued at \$1600.00, tax \$1.84. Other property valued at \$915.00, tax \$1.04. Polls 1 tax .15. State tax \$4.47, State and County tax \$7.45."

All this would indicate that John H. Redd did not move to Nauvoo, but went from Tennessee to Utah in 1850, that on April 3, 1844, when he and his wife, Elizabeth Hancock Redd, had their patriarchal blessings (under the hands of Hyrum Smith) they came on a visit only to Nauvoo and returned to Tennessee.

HISTORY OF REDD FAMILY OF VIRGINIA

By J.S.Redd, of Pacos, Halifax Co. Va.

At the solicitation of the descendants of the Redd family of Virginia, I have consented to undertake the task of collecting the information and data required to trace the family from its earliest times in English history.

It has been by no means an easy matter to compile the various names, dates, incidents, and circumstances which have been gathered for this purpose. After consulting

many authors, both American and English, visiting and examining family burying grounds, private libraries, together with much correspondence with old friends and relatives, also tedious examination of records of various County Clerks' Offices, the writer believes he is prepared to give a fairly accurate sketch of the family, from the arrival in Virginia of the first of the name, to the present time, also a partial history of the family down from its origin in England to the present time, through many generations to the emigration to Virginia.

The Redd name is a very uncommon one and there is little doubt that all the families of that name in Virginia and in the other Southern and Western States are descendants of the same ancestor, SIR WILLIAM RUFUS de REDDS who came to Virginia from England, with Governor Alexander Spottswood, during the early part of Queen Anne's reign, 1702-1714.

Before entering into particulars of the different branches of the family after coming to this country, an account of the ancestry before coming from England, as far as practicable, will be given, and it may be well at this juncture to mention this fact, that the writer has availed himself of every means and source of information possible, not only the traditions of the family, but the family records; and the older members of the family have been consulted time and time again, the information gathered carefully and compared with country, state and government registers and records. Also many reliable histories, biographies, and historical works of various authors have been carefully pursued, thus enabling the writer to give a fair and impartial account of the most important incidents, which may have occurred from the earliest time to the present. In collecting the data and material for the history, the following works and histories have chiefly relied upon: Humme, Robertson, Scott, Maconley, Makay Skeat, Burnet, Wirt, Bancroft and Irving. Other authors of celebrity have occasionally been consulted, and while positive authority can not be given for each and every incident narrated, yet in the main, the most important particulars and circumstances may be relied upon as true beyond reasonable doubt.

From the best authority that can be found, it cannot be doubted that the name Redd or de Redde, as it was originally called, had its origin with a noble house, that of William Rufus, the son of the Conqueror, which latter is known by every school boy as the first of the Norman kings in England, and mounted the throne of England immediately after the famous battle of Hastings, fought in the year 1066. English historians have generally denied that William I or William Rufus was lawfully married. This statement is not true, as there is authority of the highest order to establish the fact that he was married, but not 'in the purple,' as it was then called, which means that he was not married during his reign. He was, however, married before the death of his father, the Conqueror, and had one son. This son was also named William, and accompanied his uncle Robert, Duke of Normandy and his crusading army to Jerusalem during the year 1098, that being known in history as the 'First Crusade.' For authority as to this statement the reader is referred to the works of Rev. E. Cobham Breeder, LLD, of Trinity Hall, Cambridge, England, and also Lasso, "Jerusalem Delivered."

The following is transcribed from the writing of the first of these authors. "William, the son of King William Rufus, accompanied his uncle Robert, Duke of Normandy, in the Crusading Army. He wore a casque of gold and was a leader of a large army of English or British Boldmen and Irish volunteers." During his absence in the Holy Land, his father, William Rufus de Redde, died, and the English people having been duped into the belief, or for some cause, conceiving that his son and heir, William, had perished in the wars of the crusade, placed Henry (Banclere) the brother of William Rufus, upon the throne. Some years after the accession of Henry to the throne of England, William the Crusader returned from the crusading wars to England, and finding that his uncle Henry had usurped the throne, he took steps immediately to recover his rights, and having married Catherine, daughter of the Duke of Acquitania, he was persuaded by his father-in-law and other friends, not to risk his claim to the throne by a resort to force until his plans were more fully matured. This state of affairs remained unchanged for several years. When William again began to make his plans and marshal his forces with the view of recovering his father's crown, he was suddenly taken with a violent form of fever and death soon ended his sufferings.

There is no account given of any further attempt being mady by William's descendants in prosecuting their claims to the crown of England, and the next event of any importance seems to have been the marriage of William's grandson, Sir Lionel de Redd (that name having been adopted in the family), with Elizabeth, daughter of Count Faulke (pronounced Foulka). This was the same Count Faulke whose second wife was Matilda, the widowed daughter of King Henry the First. Matilda was married to Charles Fifth, Emperor of Germany, and the potentate died without children. Matilda then married Count Faulke as already mentioned, by whom she had Henry II, who proved to be one of England's greatest monarchs, and who was one of the first of the illustrious line of Plantagenet Kings.

Possibly it is somewhat irrelevant to the subject, but if it does not tax the patience of the reader too much, it may be interesting to some to know the singular manner in which the cognomen "Plantagenet" originated. The best authority extant gives the following curious account as being the most probably true. This Count Faulke, who was the father of King Henry II, was a zealous Roman Catholic, and having committed some crime of a very grave nature, conceived the idea of expiating his guilt by a pilgrimage to Rome, and after making a full confession, throwing himself upon the mercy of the Pope. Having done this, the Pope, after having fully considered the matter, announced to the Count that he must remain at the Vatican a certain number of days, and at a given hour every morning, after having offered up fervent prayers, he must proceed to a neighboring forest and chastise himself upon his naked body with a scourge made of the twigs taken from a tough plant, the Latin name of which is "Plantagueista", meaning "Broom Plant." After having executed the sentence upon himself as directed, Count Faulke returned to England with his conscience greatly relieved, and adopted the word "Plantagenet" as the motto upon his coat of arms, which was ever after retained by his descendants. There are other accounts extant of this strange adventure, but the foregoing is generally accepted as the true explanation.

After this digression, we will return to Sir Lionel de Redd, who married Elizabeth, daughter of Count Faulke. There seems to be nothing of moment given in the meagre account of his life, and the next in succession was the grandson of Sir Lionel, who was created a Peer of the realm and was known as "Baron de Redde," his full christian name, however, has not been ascertained. The next in line of succession was Baron William Rufus de Redde, son of the preceding, who accompanied his kinsman, Richard I, (Coeur de Lion) in the war of the third crusade, about the year 1192. This knight, by his splendid valor and chivalrous bearing, won the respect and admiration of all, and was held in much dread by the Saladin's whole army, and at the same time he was greatly esteemed by his own comrades. It was about this period that the usage of "Coats of Arms" was adopted in heraldry. They were first worn during the crusading expeditions to distinguish the various noble knights when wrapped in complete steel armour. The coat of arms of Baron de Redde was in the shape of a shield with bars of alternate colors of red and black diagonally from side to side, and for the crest, a cross protected with swords, making a suggestive and beautiful device. The motto inscribed upon one of the bars near the middle, "Veritas et Animi Vincit" (Truth and Courage Conquer.) When King Richard returned to England from the crusades, Baron de Redde was one of his escorts, and when the king was taken and held prisoner by the treacherous Archduke Leopold while enroute home, Baron de Redde remained in prison with him until the English people paid a ransom for their king's release. This Baron de Redde was one of the famous assembly of English Barons that compelled King John to sign the celebrated "Magna Carta" in the year 1215.

The house of de Redde continued firm supporters of the crown from this time onward until the period of the "Wars of the Roses," when William Lionel de Redde, Earl of Beresford, embraced the cause of the House of Lancaster, and was killed in the battle of (Barrest?) fighting side by side with the famous "King Maker," Earl of Warwick, in the cause of the unfortunate King Henry VI, and it is said that when that terrible battle was over, his body was found near that of the Earl of Warwick's, both with faces to the enemy, lying stiff in death. This battle, as is well known by those familiar with English history, decided the claims of the two contestants to the British crown, and the House of York having been successful in the final struggle, Edward IV ascended the throne. This king was so brutal and vindictive toward the friends and adherents of the House of Lancaster, that they were the subjects of the worst severe punishments and terrible hardships, among others, the lands and estates of the house of 'de Redde' were confiscated and the surviving members of the family fled to foreign countries to escape the vengeance of the relentless tyrants. Many years after, when the noble Earl of Richmond wrested the crown from Richard III, and mounted the throne as Henry VII, a great many friends of the House of Lancaster were recalled from exile and restored to their titles and estates, and among them was the son of Viscount Rufus Beresford de Redde, whose christian name was William Beresford.

The titles and estates of the House of de Redde were transmitted from father to son, from this time through several reigns without incidents of special interests having occurred until the period of the revolution of 1688, when the head of the house at that time, William Lionel de Redde, espoused the cause of the Prince of Orange, and was a

participant in many of the battles between James II and that Prince, after William III. He was distinguished for his gallant conduct at the battle of Killiecrankie, in the highlands of Scotland, fought between the forces of the two kings, William and James, during the year 1689, and was seriously wounded in that battle, which wound resulted in his death a few years later. His son and heir, Sir William Rufus de Redde, succeeded to his titles and estates, and being convinced that King James was unjustly and unlawfully deprived of his right to the throne, he entered the army of King James and was faithful to the cause of that unfortunate monarch until death relieved him of his earthly troubles at St. Germanius.

After the death of King James, Sir William Rufus de Redde, with many other nobles and prominent men, was compelled to seek safety in foreign lands, until the end of the reign of the Prince of Orange, when he returned to England. He eventually came to Virginia with His Excellency Gov. Alexander Spottswood during the reign of Queen Anne. After his arrival in Virginia, he found it expedient to discard his titles and nobility, and was known only as plain Mr. Redd. The Norman French prefix of "de" was discarded and the spelling of the name changed from Redde to Redd. He was an intimate friend of Gov. Spottswood, having married his niece, a Miss Moore, by whom he had three sons, John Rufus, Thomas and George.

Col. Rufus Redd, the oldest son of Sir William Rufus de Redde, was born in Spotsylvania Co., Virginia. He was educated with the view of preparing him for the profession of Law, and after passing such courses of instruction as the American schools at that time were prepared to give, he was sent to England to finish his education. He then travelled through several European countries and returned to Virginia, though he did not enter the profession of Law as was first contemplated. Having represented his country with distinction in the House of Burgesses of Virginia, he entered the military service of that colony with the rank of Lt. Colonel. During the French and Indian wars, he was engaged in several battles and rendered valuable service to his government. He married a grand-daughter of Gov. Spottswood, who was also the daughter of Capt. Nathaniel Daudridge, whose brother, Admiral William Daudridge, commanded a squadron of ships of war in the famous battle of La Hague, which occurred off the coast of France, May 19, 1692, between the forces of the Prince of Orange and Louis XIV of France. In this engagement Sir William Daudridge rendered signal services, and was promoted by the Prince of Orange, for bravery and gallant conduct. Unfortunately he received a wound from a cannon shot which caused him the loss of a leg, and very soon he died from the effect of the wound. He married Miss Unity West, a grand-daughter of Lord Delaware, for whom the State of Delaware was named.

A few years after his marriage, Col. John Rufus Redd moved to Buckingham County, where he resided until his death, though he lived to an extreme old age, and was for many years connected with the public service, both civil and military. He was appointed by the Governor of Virginia, among other eminent officers, to accompany General Braddock upon his famous expedition against the French and Indians at Fort Duquesne 1755. Col. Redd, though seriously wounded in the disastrous battle, assisted Washington in saving the body of General Braddock from mutiliation by the Indians, and

also aided him in preventing a total rout of the British Army. After this he returned to his home in Buckingham County where he reared a large and happy family, and it appears he did not again enter public life, until the beginning of the "Revolutionary War" when the Declaration of Independence was signed. Though nearly half a century in years, he again entered the service of the revolted colonies, and was actively engaged in that war until the battle of Camden when he was again seriously wounded whilst heroically exposing his person and life defending the brave and noble De-Kalb from immediate death. When General Gates, the hero of Saratoga, soon after his signal victory over the English General Burgoyne, was sent to take command of the army of South Carolina, Washington wished to send certain important instructions to him and selected Col. Redd to bear the dispatches. He was too late, however, to deliver them in time, as General Gates, flushed with his late successes in New York, had already, against the advice and solemn protest of Baron De-Kalb and other experienced officers, commenced battle when Col. Redd arrived. The disastrous defeat of the Americans in that battle, together with the subsequent disgrace of the once proud and haughty G ates, is familiar to every school boy, and need not be dealt upon in this work.

The gallant bearing and services of Col. Redd in this battle won him high praise and commendation of the Commander-in-Chief, who rewarded him with a letter of recommendation to the President of the Continental Congress for promotion. This letter is extant and can be seen at the rooms of the Society for the Preservation of Virginia Antiquities at Richmond, Va. He was too much disabled by his wounds to participate longer in the war and lived a quiet life at his home the remainder of his days. He left a large family of eleven children, six sons and five daughters, an account of whose lives, together with their descendants will be given, so far as can be ascertained.

The reader has doubtless discovered that Governor Spottswood was one of the ancestors of many of those for whose benefit this work is compiled, hence a brief sketch of some of the chief incidents of his life may not be out of place. Gov. Spottswood (the name was originally spelled Spotiswood) was born in Worcestershire, England, June 24 1678. He was of noble parentage, being a scion of the illustrious House of Warwick, on his paternal side, and his mother was a daughter of the Earl of Brandon. Very little is known of his early life except that he acquired an excellent education, and his personal manners were finished and highly polished. After arriving at the age of maturity he adopted the military profession. He is described by his contemporaries, as a man of splendid physique, tall and athletic in stature, proud and distinguished in bearing, and open and fearless in looks, yet that grand, majestic body carried a heart as true, tender and sympathetic as that of Bere_____.

During the distractions, perturbations and political troubles that paralyzed and almost destroyed the English government, arising from the contentions and wars between the House of Stewart and the Prince of Orange, young Spottswood cast his fortune with the _____ and was engaged in several of the most important battles. He was promoted twice on the field of battle for his heroic bearing and distinguished services and was regarded by the famous Duke of Marlborough as one of the most promising young officers of the army. Upon accession of Queen Anne to the English throne, Spottswood

again entered the army and held a prominent position near the person of the great Marlborough at the famous Battle of Blenheim, between the English and the French, in the year 1704. When peace was declared he continued in service, holding an important command in the English army, but when the claims of the Prince of Wales (known as the Pretender) began to be agitated, Spottswood was persuaded by the friends and adherents of the House of Stuart, that the heirs of James II had the strongest claim to the crown, and it was feared by the ministers and government of Queen Anne that he would espouse the cause of the young Prince of Wales, then called by the Jacobites, James III, but whether these rumors concerning young Spottswood were well founded or not, probably will never be known.

Yet, there can be no doubt that the Queen's advisers regarded the situation as sufficiently serious to appoint him to a different arm of the service. About this time the different colonies were giving the mother country so much trouble by their petty quarrels and varied interests, that the home government found it difficult to secure the services of men possessed of sufficient administrative abilities and qualifications to properly discharge the many duties devolving upon the colonial executives, and as Spottswood was undoubtedly possessed of many of these qualities, as well as being a man of strictest integrity, the high and honorable office of Governor of Virginia was offered him, by the unanimous voice of the ministry, which he accepted and immediately came to Virginia to assume the duties of this high and honorable position.

Governor Spottswood, by his statesman-like course, his kind, though firm administration of the government of Virginia, soon won the confidence and inspired the respect and love of the people. Business and trade of all kinds assumed a healthy shape, order was restored and observance of the laws established everywhere in the colony. His humane course toward the Indians, and just dealings among his own people caused him to be greatly loved by those under his control, and respected as well as feared by the enemies of the colony. The writer has neither time nor space to devote to a more elaborate account of this great man, but will venture taxing the patience of the reader, that a brief mention of the Governor's famous "transmountain" expedition may be made.

This occurred during the year 1715. It is believed at the time no white man had ever crossed the Blue Ridge Mountains, and consequently nothing was known of the great "Valley of Virginia" lying between the two great ranges of the Appalachian System, save the meagre accounts given by the savages, but Governor Spottswood conceived the idea of exploring that part of the country lying west of the mountains. In the month of September, 1715, with an escort of about fifty gentlemen selected from the most talented and cultivated classes, the Governor started upon his famous expedition over the Blue Ridge Mountains. Nearly the whole region of the country west of Richmond was, at that time, almost an expanse of unbroken forest, and they were continually exposed to the attacks of hostile Indians by day and ferocious wild animals by night. However, after many hardships they succeeded in reaching the summit of the Blue Ridge by the first of October, a distance of nearly three hundred miles.

After passing over that beautiful table-land, now composing the counties of Floyd and Montgomery, they came in view of the far-famed "Valley of Virginia." This was the first time the eyes of a white man had ever rested upon that immense body of rich lands, stretching from a point near the beautiful city of Staunton, a distance nearly a hundred miles, to the lovely plateau upon which rests the quaint, though historic, tower of Winchester, made memorable a thousand times over by the glorious deeds and numerous victories achieved by the immortal Stonewall Jackson, whose indomitable spirit gave such an impetus to the waning fortunes of the "Lost Cause," and of whom the great Lee said when hearing of his death, "I have lost my right arm."

At the time that Governor Spottswood and his escort viewed this grand prospect of the great wealth and prosperity to be realized by coming generations, it was a vast wilderness, the home of the wolf, the bear and the panther, and the hunting ground of the implacable savage. A few fleeting generations pass away, and what a change! Could the grand old hero and his knightly attendants have assumed mortality again, they would hardly have recognized the panorama.

Instead of an almost boundless wilderness, with the varied species of gigantic trees, intermingled with a vigorous undergrowth of vines and tangles of all descriptions, they would have witnessed numerous flourishing towns and growing villages in every direction. They would have espied large plantations and splendid farms, whose unrivalled fertility and thorough state of cultivation would have surpassed their wildest dreams. They would have seen thousands of acres of the most fertile of loamy lands, lying between the mountain ranges and the picturesque rivers and brooklets, yielding immense crops of wheat, corn, clover and various grasses, and here and there rich pastures with great herds of horses, sheep and cattle of the finest breeds; the beautiful and convenient Dutch cottages appearing amidst shady groves of flourishing trees, while ever and anon the lordly residence of some wealthy planter, situated upon some beautiful plateau that commanded a vast area of its owner's wealth swept grandly into view.

This may give some idea of that beautiful section, the home of the southern planter, before the Civil War, a section in which soil, climate and natural convenience combine to make it all man could desire. This may give some idea of that beautiful section known as the "Great Valley of Virginia," immortalized forevermore by the memories of Stonewall Jackson and his horses. Such was the vast region discovered by the heroic Spottswood nearly two hundred years before.

After Governor Spottswood's party had remained some days in the wilderness they prepared to return, but found their horses had become so much disabled from travelling the rough rocky hills and mountains that they were compelled to adopt some plan of protecting their horses' feet. Owing to the flat country and soft, sandy nature of the lands in eastern Virginia, horses were used without shoes. Consequently they found themselves in a serious dillemma—hundreds of miles from home, in a wilderness surrounded by hostile savages, horses lame and unfit to travel, while there appeared no means to provide them with shoes. But it is said "necessity is the mother of invention." Fortunately they had brought some forging hammers and other blacksmith tools. Having

gathered a lot of rich iron ore, they soon constructed a small forge, by which means some very good pieces of iron were produced, and in the course of a very few days, they had their horses shod, which then led them to start on their homeward journey.

To commemorate this famous expedition, Gov. Spottswood sent to England, and had a number of beautiful gold badges in the shape of a horseshoe made and presented them to his companions upon that expedition. He also at that time instituted the famous "Trans-Mountain Order," generally known as the "Knights of the Golden Horseshoe." He also had built the first furnace for smelting iron, that was ever established in America. This was at Germania on the beautiful Rappahamack river.

On the breaking out of the Spanish War, Gov. Spottswood left his home at Germania to take command of the Colonial troops, but died before sailing, on the 19 of April 1739 at Anapolis, Md. (Note: Historians differ as to the nativity of Gov. Spottswood, as some writers claim that he was born at Tangier, Africa, but the most common opinion is that he was born in England as heretofore stated in this work.)

The writer will remember it has been stated Col. JOHN RUFUS REDD married Miss Daudridge, a grand-daughter of Gov. Spottswood, that he moved to Buckingham Co., where he resided the remainder of his life, having reared a large family of six sons and five daughters.

MAJOR JOHN REDD, the oldest son of Col. John Rufus Redd was born in Buckingham Co., Va., Oct. 20, 1755. He was inclined to travel and loved adventure. At the age of 17 he left his father's home and settled in Henry Co., then a part of Halifax Co., and while the lands were very fertile, with excellent climate, civilization had not made the rapid strides that other sections of the state had enjoyed. The Revolutionary War with England, having been declared four years later, Major John Redd, being then only 21 years of age, was among the first to declare himself and volunteered his services for his country's freedom. Having invested his effects in lands, he joined the first company of volunteers raised in his section, under Captain Bryce Martin, and although a mere boy, was elected 2nd Lieutenant of the company. He was said to have made a gallant soldier, and was distinguished for his activity and bravery throughout that terrible war. He was present at the surrender of Lord Cornwallis at Yorkton on the memorable day of Oct. 19, 1781. Then and there, he is said, and believed by many, to have fired the last gun in that long and bloody struggle for freedom. Certain it is that he was promoted upon the field at Yorkton brevetted "Major of Cavalry" under the eyes of Washington.

The following paragraph is taken from the "American Monthly Magazine" of September 1893. The article is in connection with the death of the late Mrs. William Ballard Preston, widow of Hon. William Ballard Preston, Confederate States Senator, from Virginia. "This lady was the granddaughter of Major John Redd, a gallant officer of the Revolution who, for conspicuous valor, was promoted on the field of Yorkton, where it is believed he fired the last gun of that battle, the last battle of the Revolution — the last gun fired. Fancy pictures that anxious soldier as he fires that last gun, and its echo seems still to sound the knell of Tyranny, and the old flint rifle that spoke the closing

words for liberty may still be seen. This old gun that carried the last shot of the Revolution fired by the gallant Maj. Redd was among the first rifles made in America; it weighed 27 pounds and is six feet long."

After peace was declared with Great Britain, Major John Redd returned to his new home in Henry Co., and devoted his time to the improvement of his lands. He married Miss Mary Waller, the accomplished daughter of Col. George Waller, who was also an officer in the Revolution. Major Redd was blessed with a family of ten children, five sons and five daughters of whom all lived to the age of maturity. Being a man of wealth, his first care was to see to the education of his children, all of whom were sent to the best schools and the most of them graduated with distinction and honors. At the age of fifty he was probably the owner of nearly one-third of the best land in the county, well stocked with horses, sheep and cattle of various breeds, and several hundred slaves. He had been elected time and again to nearly every important office within the gift of the people, and represented Henry County in the Legislature nearly twenty years. He was a member of the Legislature during the session of 1778-99 and voted for the famous "Virginia and Kentucky Resolutions," after which the people continued to elect him until he refused to serve any longer.

Of his many sterling qualities and noble traits of character, too much cannot be said, but the plan of this work will not admit an extended account of the circumstances incident to the lives of individuals. There are, however, several incidents connected with his life that should be mentioned; one of which the writer believes will be of interest to the general reader. Some of those living will remember that the year 1832 witnessed much suffering throughout the land, caused by an unprecedented drought. The very poor of the land were begging and starving everywhere; many children were found dead in their beds, while their parents were straggling about in every direction begging for bread and work. Major Redd, seeing the awful situation, did not wait for the slow process of courts, and other authorities, but gave directions to his agents and overseers to search out the destitute and suffering wherever found and caused them to be supplied with food from his plantations and clothing from his stores, until they could help themselves. He would never receive anything in the way of remuneration. The County offered to make a levy to repay him but he refused to receive a farthing, telling the authorities that the blessings of Providence that he had experienced, and the satisfaction of having relieved the suffering and needy, were sufficient pay.

Major Redd died at the advanced of ninety-five, at his homestead (Marrowbone) located in the southern part of Henry Co. and was buried in the family cemetery Aug. 11, 1850. The cemetery is located near the residence, and two acres of ground, including a beautiful plateau fronting to the west, were set apart as a burial ground for his children and children's children forever. In the centre, under a huge oak tree can be seen the tomb of the grand old patriarch, beside that of his well-beloved wife. This cemetery is remarkable, not only for its beautiful location, but also for the splendid and costly enclosure, made entirely of granite foundation and furnished with the best iron and steel railing. The whole structure is of substantial character calculated to withstand the storms and tempests of centuries. Already six generations have representatives within its sacred

precinct, but there is ample space for many more which doubtless will be occupied in due time.

WALLER REDD, the oldest son of Major John Redd, was born April 1786, married Miss Kezia Staples, by whom he had one child, Lucinda Staples Redd, a beautiful and highly accomplished woman. She married one of Virginia's greatest statesmen, Hon. William Ballard Preston, who was Minister to France during the administration of President Pierce, and also Confederate States Senator from Virginia. From this marriage there were five children, one of whom is the accomplished Mrs. Lucy Redd Preston Beale, the vice-President General of the Daughters of the American Revolution.

OVERTON REDD, the second of the Major's sons, married Mary Fontain, a grand- daughter of Patrick Henry. He was a member of the Legislature of Virginia and died while serving his first term.

DR. JOHN G. REDD, the third son, married the daughter of Dr. Hill Carter, of Hanover County, Va. By this marriage there were six sons and two daughters.

JAMES MADISON REDD, the fourth son married Miss Ruth Staples to whom were born three daughters — Kezia, Mary and Flora. The last mentioned Flora Redd married Dr. H. M. Draury, whose daughter Ruth married Judge Stafford G. Whittle, one of the judges of the Supreme Court of Virginia. EDMUND BURWELL REDD, the fifth and youngest son of Maj. John Redd was born June 24, 1808, died August 10, 1850. He was a graduate of the University of North Carolina, passed through medical course at Philadelphia, but was never an active practitioner. Married Miss Sarah Ann Fontaine, a grand-daughter of Patrick Henry, also a great-grand-daughter of Gov. Alexander Spottswood. By this marriage there were four sons and five daughters. DR. JOHN HENRY REDD married Miss Marion Dandridge Fontaine. WILLIAM SPOTTSWOOD REDD married Mary Wootlore (?). They have three daughters.

JAMES S. REDD, the third son married Miss Sarah Epes Hairston (?), a grand-daughter of Col. Geo. Hairston, an officer in the Revolution, also a grand-daughter of General B.W.D.Cabell, an officer of the War of 1812 with Great Britain. They have three children living, two daughters and one son.

EDMUND MADISON REDD, the fourth son, married Miss Anna Richardson, daughter of Col. H.P.Richardson. They have no children.

The four sons of Edmund Burwell Redd were Confederate soldiers, two of whom were severely wounded in battle, and one a prisoner of war for many months. The daughters of Edmund Burwell Redd were Martha C., Mar D.(Mary?), Celestia T., Annie E. and Ella F. Redd. They married respectively, John E. Wooton, Dr. John H. Wayut, Samuel p. Caldwell, Rev. H. p. Fontaine and James S. Washington. They all have descendants except Mrs. Wooton.

MAJOR JOHN REDD'S daughters were Annie C., married Thomas Sterling; Elizabeth W. married Col. Peter Dillard; Mary W. married John F. Fontaine (d. 3 Jan. 1852 aged 64), the son of John and Martha Henry Fontaine (p. 145 Hugenot Emigration to Virginia by R. A. Brook); Martha W. married 1st, William T. Clark, 2nd James M. Smith; Lucie D. married John S. Wooton, all of whom had descendants.

ALEXANDER SPOTTSWOOD REDD, second son of Col. John Rufus Redd, born July 9, 1763, married Miss Mary L. Campbell and settled in Eastern Virginia. He has many descendants living in Virginia and elsewhere.

RICHARD L. REDD, third son of Col. John Rufus Redd married Louisa M. Wade and has descendants in Virginia and other southern and western states.

WILLIAM REDD, the fourth son of Col. John Rufus Redd was born in Buckingham Co., Va., and died in Russell Co., Alabama July 12, 1839. Married Miss Elizabeth Ann Daniel of Prince Edward Co., Va., had three sons and five daughters — John D., William Anderson and James, Sarah Antoinette, Martha, Frances, Elizabeth and Cornelia. Of the above the following had descendants: William, four children; James, six children; Sarah Antoinette, nine childlen; Frances, five children; and Elizabeth, three.

SARAH ANTOINETTE REDD was born in Green Co., Ga., May 2, 1806, died Sept. 1, 1850. She married Hampton Sidney Smith Oct. 20, 1825. From this marriage there were nine children, six sons and three daughters — William born 1826, John Carway 1828, Louisa Elizabeth 1831, Hampton Sidney 1833, Frances Eleanor 1837, Sarah Antoinette 1839, John Morgan 1842, James Redd 1845, and Cornelius Bascomb 1848.

JOHN MORGAN SMITH, son of Hampton Sidney Smith and Antoinette Redd Smith was born August 9, 1842. He married August 19, 1863, Miss Kate Duncan, daughter of Daniel Duncan, a lineal descendant of the famous Rev. William Duncan of Scotland who lost his life as a martyr in the cause of his religion during the reign of Charles II of England. Mr. and Mrs. John Morgan Smith are residents of South Highlands, Birmingham, Alabama, and are blessed with a family of four children, named as follows: Richard James, Rose Cullen, Hampton Sidney and Kate Lucile Smith. (Note: It has been through the kindness of this intelligent and highly accomplished lady, Mrs. Kate Duncan Smith, that the writer has been enabled to collect much of the data necessary for this work, and he desires here to acknowledge the many obligations as well as to express appreciation of the timely aid she has extended.)

ELIZABETH REDD, a grand-daughter of Col. John Rufus Redd, an officer of the Revolution, and daughter of William Redd, his son, married Richard Billups of Georgia. From this marriage there were three children: Thomas A., born 1792; Anna L., 1795; and Joseph Billups 1807. Joseph married Mary Ann Daniel 15 Dec. 1835. Their children are as follows: Ann Elizabeth 1837; John Richard 1839; Mary Jane 1840; Frances Cunningham Nov. 2, 1843; Joseph Alexander early 1845; and Virginia 1847. Frances Cunningham Billups married Rev. John Harrison Kennebrew 24 Dec. 1868. To them

were born the following children: Mary Augusta, Annie Ruth, Martha Grace, Laura Welch, Jessie Morton, and Elizabeth Redd Kennibrew. They are at present residents of Columbus, Mississippi, where they own a very beautiful colonial residence.

CAPTAIN CHARLES ANDERSON REDD, fifth son of Col. John Rufus Redd, was born in Buckingham Co., Va. 26 Jan 1784. While yet a young man he moved to Georgia where he married Miss Elizabeth Gresham, daughter of Major David Gresham, an officer in the Revolution. He soon became Georgia's most prominent and noted citizen. Besides his general usefulness as a leading citizen, he rendered distinguished service to his country during the War of 1812-15 with Great Britain, having commanded a company of American troops at Savannah and elsewhere during the war. He was the father of seven children, one daughter and six sons: Mary Louise Redd, his only daughter married James Cook, son of James Carter Cook of Nottoway Co., Va. Miss Mary Elvira Cook, their daughter, is a highly alcomplished lady and distinguished for her literary attainments. She is a resident of Columbus, Georgia.

WILLIAM REDD of Birmingham, Alabama, is a son of William Anderson Redd who was born during the year 1803 and died in 1866. He is a grandson of William Redd who was born in Virginia and emigrated to Georgia, consequently he is a descendant of Col. John Rufus Redd and of Governor Alexander Spottswood. He married Miss Eliza H. Pope in 1858. Of this family there were three sons and three daughters: Caroline Pope; John K.; Henry Pope; Annie; Ernest; and Nina Redd. Mr. William Redd is a prominent merchant of Birmingham, Alabama.

The DAUGHTERS OF COL. JOHN RUFUS REDD married gentlemen by the names of Billups, Wade, McClerg, Jones, Scoll and Lloyd. The most of them moved to Georgia and other southern states long years ago where they have numerous descendants, many of whom are distinguished for culture and high social positions.

Signed, James S. Redd,

Pacos, Halifax Co., Va.

ANCESTORS OF THE VIRGINIA REDDS

- I. KING WILLIAM RUFUS DE REDDE, son of the Conqueror
 - A. WILLIAM DE REDDE, married Catherine, dau of Duke of Acquitania
 - 1. SON, name unknown

- a. Sir LIONEL DE REDD md. Elizabeth, dau of Count Faulke, whose 2nd wife was Matilda, the widowed dau of King Henry I (md. first to Charles V, Emperor of Germany)
 - (1) HENRY II, Plantaganet, after Count Faulke
 - (a) BARON DE REDDE
 - i) BARON WILLIAM RUFUS DE REDDE, to 3rd Crusade with Richard III abt 1192 (Signed Magna Carta 1215)

The family continued to support the crown from this time onward until the Wars of the Roses, when WILLIAM LIONEL DE REDDE, Earl of Beresford, supported the House of Lancaster. When Edward IV ascended throne, the Redde land was confiscated and the family fled to foreign countries until the Earl of Richmond became Henry VII, when WILLIAM BERESFORD, the son of VISCOUNT RUFUS BERESFORD DE REDDE returned to England, and land and titles were returned to them.

Lands and titles were handed down, father to son for several reigns until 1688 when WILLIAM LIONEL DE REDDE espoused the cause of the Prince of Orange, and died from wounds received at Killiecrankie. His son, Sir WILLIAM RUFUS DE REDDE, succeeded him, and eventually came to America with Gov. Alexander Spottswood during the reign of Queen Anne.

* * * * *

THE REDDS IN VIRGINIA

- I. Sir WILLIAM RUFUS DE REDDE
 - A. Col. JOHN RUFUS REDD, b. Spotsylvania Co., Virginia. Moved to Buckingham Co., became Gov. of Virginia. Took part in French and Indian Wars, and Revolutionary War. Md. Miss Daudridge, (or Dandridge?) granddaughter of Gov. Spottswood
 - 1. Major JOHN REDD, b. 20 Oct 1755, Buckingham co., fired last shot in Revolutionary War. Md. Mary Waller, dau of Col. George Waller. Buried 11 Aug 1850 in Henry Co. Va.
 - a. Waller Redd b. April 1786, Md. Kezia Staples

- (1) Lucinda Staples Redd. Md. Hon. William Ballard Preston. 5 children, including Lucy Redd Preston Beals
- b. Overton Redd Md. Mary Fontain, g-dau of Patrick Henry
- c. John G. Redd (Dr.) Md. dau of Dr. Hill Carter. 6 sons, 2 daus
- d. James Madison Redd. Md. Ruth Staples
 - (1) Kezia
 - (2) Mary
 - (3) Flora Md. Dr. H.M. Draury
 - (a) Ruth Draury. Md. Judge Stafford G.Whittle
- e. Edmund Burwell Redd. b. 24 Jun 1808. d. 10 Aug 1850. Md. Sarah Ann Fontaine
 - (1) Dr. John Henry Redd. Md. Marion Dandridge Fontaine
 - (2) William Spottswood Redd. Md. Mary Wootlore. 3 daus
 - (3) James S. Redd (author?). Md. Sarah Epes Hairston. 2 daus, 1 son
 - (4) Edmund Madison Redd. Md. Anna Richardson. No children
 - (5) Martha C.Redd, Md. John E. Wooton
 - (6) Mary D. Redd, Md. Dr. John H. Wayut
 - (7) Celestia T.Redd,Md.Samuel p. Caldwell
 - (8) Annie E.Redd, Md. Rev. H.P. Fontaine

- (9) Ella F.Redd,Md.James S.Washington
- f. Annie C. Redd, Md. Thomas Sterling
- g. Elizabeth W. Redd Md. Col. Peter Dillard
- h. Mary W. Redd Md. John F. Fontaine
- i. Martha W. Redd Md. William T. Clark. 2nd marriage to James M. Smith
- j. Lucie D. Redd Md. John S. Wooton
- 2. ALEXANDER SPOTTSWOOD REDD, b. 9 Jul 1763. Md. Mary L. Campbell, settled Eastern Virginia. many descendants
- 3. RICHARD L. REDD. Md. Louisa M. Wade. descendants in Virginia and other western and southern states
- 4. WILLIAM REDD b. Buckingham Co. d. Russell Co., Alabama 12 Jul 1839 Md. Elizabeth Ann Daniel
 - a. John D. Redd
 - b. William Anderson Redd, b. 1803, d. 1866
 - (1) William Redd of Birmingham, Ala. Md. Eliza H. Pope 1858
 - (a) Caroline Pope Redd
 - (b) John K. Pope Redd
 - (c) Henry Pope Redd
 - (d) Annie Redd
 - (e) Ernest Redd
 - (f) Nina Redd
 - c. James Redd, 6 children

- d. Sarah Antoinette Redd, 9 children. b. 2 May 1806 Green Co., Ga. d. 1 Sep 1850 Md. Hampton Sidney Smith 20 Oct 1825
 - (1) William Smith b. 1826
 - (2) John Carway Smith b. 1828
 - (3) Louisa Elizabeth Smith b. 1831
 - (4) Hampton Sidney Smith b. 1833
 - (5) Frances Eleanor Smith b. 1837
 - (6) Sarah Antoinette Smith b. 1839
 - (7) John Morgan Smith b.9 Aug 1842. Md. 19 Aug 1863 Kate Duncan. 4 children—
 - (a) Richard James Smith,
 - (b) Rose Cullen Smith,
 - (c) Hampton Sidney Smith,
 - (d) Kate Lucile Smith
 - (8) James Redd Smith b. 1845
 - (9) Cornelius Bascomb Smith. b. 1848
- e. Martha Redd
- f. Frances Redd, 5 children
- g. Elizabeth Redd, Md. Richard Billups
 - (1) Thomas A. Billups b. 1792
 - (2) Anna L.Billups, b. 1795
 - (3) Joseph Billups b. 1807 Md. Mary Ann Daniel 15 Dec 1835

- (a) Ann Elizabeth Billups b. 1837
- (b) John Richard Billups 1839
- (c) Mary Jane Billups 1840
- (d) Frances Cunningham Billups. 2 Nov 1843 Md. Rev.John Harrison. Kennebrew 24 Dec 1868
 - i) Mary Augusta Kennebrew
 - ii) Annie Ruth Kennebrew
 - iii) Martha Grace Kennebrew
 - iv) Laura Welch Kennebrew
 - v) Jessie Morton Kennebrew
 - vi) Elizabeth Redd Kennebrew
- (e) Joseph Alexander Billups early 1845
- (f) Virginia Billups 1847
- h. Cornelia Redd
- 5. Captain CHARLES ANDERSON REDD. b. Buckingham Co., Va. 26 Jan 1784 Md. Elizabeth Gresham 1 dau, 6 sons
 - a. Mary Louise Redd Md. James Cook
 - (1) Mary Elvira Cook
 - b. William Anderson Redd b. 1803, d. 1866
- 6-11. SIX DAUGHTERS OF COL. JOHN RUFUS REDD, married gentlemen by the names of Billups, Wade, McClerg, Jones, Scoll (should this be Scott?) and Lloyd

WILLIAM REDD

by IRENE SMELLIE REDD, HIS WIFE - 1959

William Redd, or Will, as he has always been called by everyone, was born 7 January 1885, in Hew Harmony, Washington Co., Utah. His parents, William Alexander Redd and Mary Verena Bryner, knew that a harmonious parental relationship was the best atmosphere in which to rear a righteous family. I can still hear the gentle pride in Grandma Redd's voice when she said, "William."

He had three brothers and ten sisters. Four of these died in infancy, and the rest grew to maturity and reared honorable families, except Lura and Vilo, who did not marry.

Will was blessed by his father in January or February, 1885, at New Harmony. Grandpa went on a mission for the LDS church to the Southern States when Will was three years old. Grandma often told me what a comfort Will was when Grandpa was away, and later, when his four sisters died, a few weeks apart.

She said, one day he called her to see his big louse, and when she got there, it was a daddy long legs spider.

Will was baptized when eight years old, 7 January 1893, by William A. Redd, his father and confirmed the same day by Lemuel H. Redd, his grandfather.

According to the things Will told me, he had a very happy childhood.

The winters were mild, but in the summer, when they took the cows to the pasture, they carried wet pie plant (rhubarb) leaves along to throw down on the hot sand to hop on, so it wouldn't blister their feet. To compensate for the pasture trip, there was the apple orchard, planted by John D. Lee, containing every known variety, according to Aunt Vilo Redd Snow and Will. Apples was a subject dear to their hearts and discussions of them, we listened to every time there was a family gathering.

This apple influence carried over into Will's whole life. Selecting the family supply of apples was his special privilege. None other than the choicest of Canadian apples came into our pantry. Because he came from a fruit country, this applied to all fruits.

When he paid a big price for a case of apples, Barbara says she can hear me say, "Will, that would have bought a quart of paint for the bathroom, or a scatter rug for the front hall."

He always told the clerks to save the best box of Spitzenburgs for him for Christmas. Apples and corn were almost synonymous with Will. He always watched for the first ear of corn, and whoever got up to get his breakfast shared the first corn with him.

When the girls got a little older, they took turns getting his breakfast. I often said I had to learn to like corn and squash when I married into the Redd family, or starve.

In New Harmony, they were far from the centers of trade, so most of the things were made in the home, except the things they grew. Fruit and corn were dried, soap made, carpets woven, wool spun into yarn and woven or knit into clothing, and meat salted down.

Notwithstanding this condition, Will had time to play and study. Some of his boyhood friends were Bud and Henry Pace and Lorenzo Lowe Prince. Will told me that one day Bud found a snake and said to Henry, "If I had the courage, I would kill that snake."

Henry said, "Tell me what courage is Bud, and will kill the snake with it."

The Redd's had an organ in their home that Aunt Vilo and Aunt Alice played, as they made their home at Redd's, and were more like sisters to Will than aunts. He used to call them his Little Redd Aunts.

Will read the Bible before he went to school. When he was quite young his scholastic ability saved him from the consequences of a boyish prank.

In New Harmony, as in most communities, there was the stingiest man in town, and though the boys had wonderful melons at home, they decided to raid this stingy man's patch. And raid it they did. Those melons they couldn't eat, they smashed.

Will escaped without being caught, went home and worked all the problems in his arithmetic book. This proved in his favor twice the next morning. When he went to school, they said, "Will Redd couldn't have been in the raid, because he had all the problems worked in his book this morning." Secondly, they didn't require him to take any more arithmetic until he attended Branch Normal School at Cedar City, Utah. I think it is well to relate some of the human side of people when writing a history.

According to Aunt Fern Redd Laycock, Will's sister, Will entered the Branch Normal, a branch of the University of Utah when he was seventeen. There he was an "A" student, and took part in school activities, especially basket ball, pole vault, high jump etc. He then taught school at New Harmony.

Paul tells the story that when Will was a substitute teacher in New Harmony, he hung Paul on a hook by his suspenders as a punishment. Paul doesn't look, now, as if it hurt him much.

Lura tells this story:

"When Will was sixteen or seventeen years old the Fourth of July came on Monday. Stake Conference was in Cedar City on Saturday and Sunday, the second and third.

Of course, Father went to conference, and this time took Mother too. As Will was home, we needed no other baby tender. They would be home Monday morning, as Father had charge of the big day's celebration.

When mother left, she gave Lura instructions to do the ironing, which would be needed for the Fourth. In this ironing was Will's shirt. So I ironed it special.

Mother always cold starched Fathers's best shirts, so I did Will's that way. I starched the bosom so stiff that it curved out at the top and in at the waist in a handsome letter "s" shape.

When Will put it on Sunday morning, he was appalled. He said he didn't like it, he would rather have had it with no starch.

There was nothing could be done about it now, so he wore it Sunday, and also on the Fourth of July.

He was on the committee to fire the anvils, beginning at about four a. m.

They had an iron about ten inches square and about four inches thick. Through the center was a hole, about one and a half inches in diameter. They would fill this hole with gunpowder and pass a fuse of some sort out, which was lighted.

On top of the iron, covering the hole, they put a blacksmith's anvil.

Maybe it was father's anvil, as the iron with the hole in it was also maybe his. When the fuse burned to the gunpowder, it exploded and made a sound which should satisfactorily express all the noise they could ask for. It was, by far, the loudest noise any child, or adult for that matter, in New Harmony ever heard.

They lighted one fuse this morning, and it didn't work.

Thinking it had gone out, Will went to relight it; and as he leaned over, it blew up in his face.

Paul and Lyman had gotten up early to go and watch. They came running home and told about it and laughed so hard, as kids will do, because Will ran away so fast.

When Will came home he had bits of gunpowder in the skin of his face, arms and hands. But the nice stiff bosom had been real armor against the center of the blast.

He probably never wore that again, because there were little burn holes all through it so it looked like a sieve, except for the collar and cuffs.

Father and Mother drove home that morning and took over. They had the usual Fourth of July celebration which consisted of a morning program, children's races and games in the afternoon and a dance at night.

The program was, of course, patriotic and the orator of the day brought in the bit of a mishap of the morning with, "Powder is powerful. Who said so? Will Redd."

A day or so later, Will went to the doctor in Cedar City. The gunpowder caused festering in all the little places. He couldn't even drive the team, so Jodie Taylor drove it for him. The doctor picked out all those little bits of powder like you pick a sliver out with a needle. Will recovered completely, but he always had little black specks on his arms left by the powder which remained."

Will was a student of history. During the Spanish American War, he collected all the war news and filed it. He has often told how sad he was when told he could not take his file to Canada.

After returning from his mission in 1909, Will entered the faculty of Engineering at the University of Utah where he was an "A" and "A Plus" student; and was also active in basketball, football, pole vault, high jump, etc. There was a poem written about him in the school paper. Something about:

"The teachers on the outside lurked, and said,

Let us come in and show you how,

Oh, no Mr. Teacher, we don't need you now.

For we have Redd Willy, Spry lad in basketball,

Who did the LDS annoy, And won the cheers of all.

He practiced basketball so hard one night

Went up the stairs and came down again

Asked one of the boys to take his shirt off for him,

So lame he was, he couldn't raise his arms.

Will held medals for pole vault, high jump; and on the First of July, called Dominion Day Celebration at Raymond, Alberta, he exceeded the record for pole vault.

In 1905, Will immigrated to Raymond, Alberta, Canada with his parents, where he engaged in farming until fall at which time, he hired out with the Knight Sugar Company as assistant chemist in their laboratory. Actually, Will came in the spring and worked the land, and the family followed, coming to Raymond on July First, by train to Stirling and then overland to Raymond, about seven miles. (Kay thinks Will and his father came up the fall of 1904 to look over the land they had bought.)

In 1907, he accepted a call from the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints to serve in the Western States Mission with headquarters at Denver, Colorado. There he was chosen District President. Will told many unusual and interesting stories about his mission. His keen sense of humor often helped him over many difficulties.

One night he returned to the lodging, elated over the wonderful conversation he had had with a man in the railroad station. He had made an appointment with the man for Sunday, and had even tried to sell him a Book of Mormon.

When he went to District Conference on Sunday, his wonderful investigator was none other than Apostle George F. Richards.

Kay met Elder Richards when on his mission in 1929 at El Paso, Texas, and Elder Richards laughed with Kay over this story.

Will resolved to look up anyone by the name of Redd, and found such a name in the telephone directory. When he found the people, they were Blacks. They could possibly have been some who had taken the Redd name from good masters during slave times.

After serving for 27 months, he was released to accompany Elder Nephi Harker home to Magrath, Alberta, as Elder Harker's wife had died, leaving a motherless son, Clyne.

On his return, Will was sustained as president of the Raymond YMMIA.

I was the last girl Will had danced with before he left for his mission; and he said he never forgot me saying, "We will all be praying for you."

To me there was nothing personal about it, as all families pray for the missionaries, but he never forgot it. So when he came home, he asked me for my company.

We were at a party at McCarthy's. I had cut my toe, and he had been kicked on the knee by a horse. We were both limping, and going the same way home, so he asked me to wait until he got his hat and he'd walk me home. Later, he and some of his friends decided they wanted to take some girls to Waterton for an outing, as was the custom.

Sisters Brigham Scoville and Eva Powell, two reliable matrons, were chaperons. When Will asked me, I told him he would have to get mother's consent, as father was on a mission in New York State.

I didn't have the slightest idea she would let me go, so I was surprised when she said yes.

Dave Galbraith and Stella Van Wagoner, Earl Scoville and Blanche Fisher, and Will and myself rode in Card's three seated democrat, each couple was to take turns driving. The other two couples were engaged to be married, so Will and I spent most of our time in the front seat controlling the horses and admiring the scenery.

A couple of days after we got there in Waterton, Will traded one of his horses for a fine-looking bay and some cash. The horse's name was Kootenai. Mother had let me take our pony, Bullshields, purchased from an Indian by that name.

The next night, we decided to try out the new horse, so we went for a ride.

After we had gone some distance, Will said, "Let's trade horses."

I was willing, and as soon as I had mounted, I started off, while Will stopped to adjust the stirrups on my saddle for him.

As soon as the horse heard Will coming up from behind, he shot out like lightning, and it was impossible for me to hold him.

I could see the rocky ford of Pass Creek ahead, where I felt sure he would stumble. Of course I was praying, and Will said he was too.

I finally got the pony turned up a hill, just before he reached the ford; and he stopped.

When Will came up, I was sitting on a rock, shaking like a leaf and my mount was unconcernedly cropping grass. Will said he surely thought he would be taking an injured girl back to camp.

The owner of the horse had not said it was a race horse and had been trained not to let another horse pass him.

We led the horses back to camp, and didn't ever report our escapade to the chaperon.

The next morning, Lura, Miles Fairbanks, Will and I rowed up to the head of Waterton Lake for a sunrise breakfast. When I reported this in a Special Interest class in MIA, some of the folks said, "Didn't you know you were taking your lives in your hands?"

I replied "That's what youths do everyday."

We had a delightful time. I remember that the wind waves would be so strong we would row as fast as we could and not move a foot. There was no fear in our minds. It was a beautiful experience for us, or to us.

While we were gone, Sister Powell, who was an excellent horse woman, decided she would try out Will's new horse. She donned my divided skirt. I think a divided skirt deserves some explanation here, as some of the younger people do not know what one is. It was made with two flaring legs, then a loose panel back and front to hang from the waist, so the movement of the legs wouldn't show when one walked. Very modest and unrevealing, but with the convenience of the separate legs for straddling the horse.

Sister Powell mounted and rode off. She hadn't gone far when another horse came up from behind, and away went the horse, true to form, through the bushes and trees, tearing my skirt off her, except for the waist band. Gone was her hat and most of her clothing, even one shoe.

She finally got him under control, but was badly scratched and badly frightened. She spent the next couple of days in bed.

When the Lethbridge Fair came on, Will asked me if I would go with him and a group. Father, now home from the six months mission, gave his consent.

The other couples were engaged, in fact they were the same ones we went with to Waterton. So Will and I were the teamsters again. It took considerable time to drive from Lethbridge, so after we had talked about BYU and U of U and everything we could think of, I was tired and went to sleep.

I was awakened by Will giving me a kiss on the cheek. I was so angry that, when we arrived at my home, I got out of the buggy without speaking and went into the house.

I kept distance from Will after that for some time. But, finally, the group decided to go to the Stirling for a day of sports. Will came for a reconciliation and this time he took me in a single buggy of his own.

From then on, our courtship ran fairly smoothly, except for the tricks my sisters, Mable and Ruth, played on us.

Amelia Allred, stake president of the YWMIA, said she knew Will and I were a match the first time she saw us together.

I moved, with my parents and family, back to Rexburg, Idaho, in August 1910.

After securing Father's and mother's consent, Will came down to Rexburg on his way to the U of U where he was entering the pre-medicine.

At this time, he presented me with my precious diamond, which I treasure to this day as symbol of our love. It was our plan that Will would finish his pre-medicine, and we would go East, where he would study for a degree in medicine.

Will returned to Rexburg for the Christmas holidays, and we had a wonderful time. A number of his missionary companions lived in the Snake River Valley, one of them was named Tom Dalling, my cousin. There were family gatherings, skating parties and dancing. I had a hard time teaching Will to skate, but he was a willing student and didn't crack the ice nor his head. In the South, where he was raised, ice skating was unknown.

We had a wonderful time, and all the aunts and uncles and cousins were so glad to have us back from that "awful" Canada.

The holiday passed all too soon, and we were back to school and work almost before we knew it.

Then came the very unexpected and tragic news of Will's father's death. He had been struck by pneumonia.

His mother was left a widow with ten children, the youngest about four years old. They had only been in Canada for less than six years. There was much that required Will's help and so it was imperative that he return to help his mother.

Will expected to return to school, but that was not to be. He was made the administrator of a very complicated estate, and as things unfolded, he realized that it would be a long time before he could get things settled.

He came to see me in Rexburg, and we decided to plan a June wedding in the Salt Lake Temple, instead of waiting until he graduated. Our plan was to go East to a medical school after graduation and our marriage.

I contracted small pox, so the wedding date was postponed to July 14 at the Logan Temple, as the Salt Lake Temple was closed for the summer.

After a short and wonderful honeymoon through Seattle, Victoria and back to Canada through Calgary, we returned to Raymond. Charlie Fox met us at the Stirling train station with the Security Investment Co. car, so we were the first newly-weds to arrive in Raymond by automobile. Will's dad was a partner in this Security Investment

Co., and it became the albatross which ended permanently our plans for further schooling.

At home again in Raymond, Will was again sustained as president of the Raymond Ward YMMIA with Sister Phoebe Longstroth Evans as president of the YWMIA.

I took my new life seriously, and when asked to teach in the Mutual, I replied that I had a husband and home to care for, which would take all my time.

I repented, later, and worked in the Mutual.

We bought the Frazer house and lot east of Grandma Redd's for \$1700, and our furniture and kitchen range for \$335. Will had some horses, raised from a colt which his father had given him. It had been badly injured in a barbed wire fence, and they were planning to destroy it; but Will coaxed his father to give it to him and he nursed it back to health. This proved to be a financial blessing for us, as sale of these horses paid for our home and furniture.

We had fun decorating our new home, and Will was very appreciative of my efforts. I sanded and painted and wood grained the floors which won the admiration of the other ladies of the neighborhood.

The lot was planted with lots of apple trees and other small fruits and berries. Will worked hard to make the land produce and together, we were preparing for the arrival of our little Marie, who was born on Sunday, 26 May 1912.

We had all the land in Welling planted to wheat, one year, and wheat was worth \$3 a bushel.

On the evening of July 23, we drove out to Welling with the children to see the crop. It was up to Will's arm pits and turning yellow, a very beautiful sight. On the basis of this bumper crop, we had had blueprints drawn up for a new home.

The next day, at the grandstand where the town was celebrating Pioneer Day, the people from Welling asked Will if he had seen his crop. He said yes, last night.

They told him to go see it now.

We hurried out, and all we could see was bare ground with a few straws sticking up. One can't believe how devasting a few minutes of hail can be until one sees it.

Patriach Kirkham gave Grandma Redd a blessing and promised her the land would produce for her sake. Patriarch Brandley told my mother her children would never lack for bread. This was proven when we reaped 14 or 15 bushels per acre during a drought year when our neighbors didn't harvest a crop at all.

Will was appointed a member of the Taylor Stake High Council where he served until he was released to become a councillor to Bishop John F. Anderson of the Raymond Ward.

He served there until the ward was divided and then he was chosen to be councillor to Bishop James E. Ellison of the First Ward, and J. W. Evans was bishop of the Second Ward.

According to Inez Hicken's history, Will organized the first basketball team in Raymond which included David Galbraith, Earl Scoville, Z. N Skousen, Bert Duke and Miles Fairbanks.

Will contracted whooping cough when he came to Raymond, and once a severe spell of coughing nearly broke up the game at the grandstand, where they used to play. He acted as timekeeper and referee and travelled with the Union Jacks until 1920, when other duties called him, but he never ceased to be a devotee of sports, and it carried to his children.

Ervin Fawns and Will put up the money for instruments for the first Raymond Band (junior) and secured the services of Walter Rouse, a cornet player from England for its leader.

Will served on the Taylor Stake Sunday School Board under Brother Octave F. Ursenbach, travelling east to Burdett. He was also a Boy Scout leader most of his life.

Will believed in co-operation and spent many years of his life in the United Farmers of Alberta movement. He lived to see the Alberta Wheat Pool operate to improve marketing conditions and prices of farm produce.

He was always active in nomination and election of good men and was often asked to run for office. He served on the Raymond Town Council for many years. There is a story told that some young fellows were planning some mischief at the park when Will came along. They gave up the project because they knew none of them could outrun Will Redd.

The Federal Minister of Agriculture, Jimmie Gardener, spent three days in our home trying to persuade Will to run for the House of Commons, but failed. Politics was Will's playground and he knew histories of the parties from A to Z, but holding office did not interest him.

Mr. Gardener drank so many cups of tea, one morning, that Guinivere said to me, "Mama, won't he die?"

In fall of 1927, we moved into Grandma Redd's home, at her request, as most of her flock had flown, and our little frame house had long been too small for our growing

family of seven. Smellie had slept in a bedroom at Grandma's for some time. The family helped us remodel and modernize the house.

Grandma, Lura, Pauline, Mary, Kay and our family lived together in the big house. There were fourteen at the table for each meal, with more plates added for friends or relatives, which we enjoyed.

We had our problems, but on the whole, we got along fairly well. Will was a helpmate to his mother and a father to his brothers and sisters. Walter Zobell said he always thought of Will as the father of the Redd family, since his father died so young.

Sometimes, when there was enough snow-pack on the roads, we would have a family ride in the sleigh, which was a great treat for us. The children remember what fun it was to jingle the harness bells which, we were told, had belonged to Brigham Young.

The best entertainment was never too good, and when the San Carlos Opera Co. or Martin Harvey, an outstanding English actor, came to Lethbridge, we almost always attended the performances. We would put a charcoal burner at our feet, and a hot water bottle in our laps for comfort and always returned well repaid for the effort. In fact, we lived on the memories of these for days.

Mutual Conventions and Semi-Annual Conferences were high- lights in Will's life. He loved to listen to the servants of the Lord, and to mingle with his relatives and old friends on the Tabernacle Grounds.

The Alberta Temple was dedicated in August 1923, and attendance at that temple was a joy to both of us. It was never too cold or hot for Will to make the trip; and we received many blessings in fulfillment of promises made by President E. J. Wood.

One was that if, after planting our crops, we would go out into the fields and dedicate them to the Lord, and would attend the Temple once a month, we would never have a crop failure. This promise was literally fulfilled in our case. Most of our trips to the temple in those earlier days were made by train. It was ten dollars for the trip to the temple, including train ticket, bed and food.

In 1937, Will made a trip back to his old home in New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah, with other members of the family for a reunion, where their dear days of youth were brought back to life.

Will had a number of severe cases of pneumonia in his life, but through the administrations of the priesthood, and by his faith and that of his family he recovered and was able to carry on his life's work. In those days without penicillin and the new drugs, pneumonia was a dreaded and often fatal disease.

In 1925, Will and Brother Arthur Dahl were appointed High Council advisors to the Taylor Stake Primary Board.

Will was the proud father of nine children: Marie Redd Strong Evans, teacher's certificate; Gertrude Redd Webster, B. Ed.; Smellie,B. Sc.; Irene Redd Jensen,teachers's certificate; Guinivere Redd Torrie, B. Ed.; Phyllis Carol Redd Miller, B. Ed; Barbara Redd MacPhee, B. Ed; Phillip Gordon Redd, B Ed.; M. Sc.; Ed. D. Teaching has been a traditional occupation in the Redd family.

Will desired the best in all things for his children, especially a strong testimony of the gospel, and all educational advantages possible for all of his children.

Will's policy for educating his children after high school, was for him to help the first child to go to university or normal school, and then the first one was to help the next one or pay back to Will and so on. At times it seemed hard, but time has proven the worth of this plan. I have heard no criticism from his children. I am proud of the loyalty our children have shown toward each other in this, and all respects.

My thoughts have been going over past events and though they might not be recorded chronologically, I think they will be of interest to the family.

The first was when we purchased our first car, a Model "T" Ford with a crank, and top, and side curtains with ising-glass or celluloid windows. Oh, luxury divine, a ride with wind not included. We were sure to meet with disaster if we didn't include a patching kit, pump, pliers, screw driver, shovel and bucket to dip water for the radiator, and last, but not least, a prayer.

The first trip we took was to the farm by the west road. Before we got to the house from the west gate we became stuck in the mud. The mud wasn't deep, but just greasy gumbo. Planks and boards were of no avail, and we we were finally pulled out, or rather helped out, by Kay Redd and his pony. He had arrived from town and crossed the "flat" at just the right time to tie a rope around the front axle of the car, and pull from the saddle horn. That did the trick. Marie says she can remember how everyone used to laugh at her cheeks jiggling up and down when our new Ford went over the bumps.

The passing of our baby, Marguerite, made a change in our lives. I have said that she should have been named Resignation. She was stricken with membranous croup on the evening of April 4, 1919, and by sunrise of Sunday, April 6, she had left us. Not quite two years old. An hour before she died, I was holding her and Grandma Redd said, "Irene, you had better have Marguerite dedicated to the Lord, she is dying."

I replied," Grandma, what are you saying, the Lord would not take one of our children, they always recover when Will administers to them."

Two doctors were on their way from Lethbridge to put tubes in her throat which I thought would bring a speedy recovery. Youth is so buoyant, up to that time I thought there wasn't anything Will and I couldn't accomplish, if we loved and trusted enough.

This was during the 'flu epidemic following World War I. There were three funerals in the little town of Raymond the day Marguerite was buried.

This was a life-long lesson for us. We didn't lose faith, but were more humble and, in the future, said, "Thy will be done." I have thanked my Heavenly Father since that we had one child safe from the snares and pitfalls of this world.

We learned another thing. Not to run away from trouble, neither run into it. We stayed out to the farm during the 'flu epidemic, as I was expecting "little" Irene, and it was almost fatal for a pregnant woman to contract 'flu.

We came to town, after Irene was born, when the 'flu was practically over, but all of us contracted it at the same time. When we came to town, we all wore gauze masks over our mouths and noses, as did everyone else, until the doctors decided the masks were unsanitary and unsatisfactory.

The Bank of Montreal clerks, four girls, Lura being the cashier, were living at our house, going no place except the bank, in order to keep it operating. The manager was the only male member of the staff, as all available men were serving in the armed services.

Gertrude was born 30 April 1914, and war was declared in August of that year. Smellie was born 13 December 1915, Marguerite 15 February 1917 and Irene 3 February 1919. All families with infant children received special food rations for them, so that made it easier.

In 1920, Will and Paul purchased a threshing machine. The war had made men restless and undependable, and often they didn't have the same crew at night that they started with in the morning. There was a group of unprincipled transients roaming the country getting the best of board and bed for almost no work. When they learned liquor wasn't being served free, they would pass on to a threshing crew where it was.

I remember that Grandma and I went out and cooked for the men while they threshed our place and thus saved about \$30 a day, as cooks were being paid a dollar per man per day. Threshing crews had the best of everything to eat while the families lived on rations. Later, Will and Paul purchased a cook-car. Will and Paul would relate many trying and amusing stories about threshing crews.

One year, they hired two fine young Englishmen, Joe Singer and Bob something, I can't remember his name.

One morning, when they were in the middle of threshing, at Welling, Bob came into camp at breakfast time. All the men commenced shouting, "Where have you been?"

He said he had seen such a cute little animal with white stripes down its back and thought it would make a lovely neck piece for "our Mabel," and he had tried to kill it with

a pitchfork. Well, he was expelled from camp for a while. He learned what a skunk was, and Mabel didn't get her neck piece. Mabel was my sister.

Joe Singer's father was a cutlery manufacturer in England, and Joe had him send us a set of twelve table flatware, which cost us \$17. We still have much of it.

Guinivere was born 13 October 1920. Will was busy threshing, and he didn't get to the hospital, Aunt Ellen Bryner's Maternity Home, which was across the street from our home. When he did arrive, he said Guinivere was angry when she was born, turned up nose and red face. Her looks were deceiving. There never was a more cheerful child than Guinivere. All our children were cheerful, like their father.

During the following two years, Will was busy working on the Town Council. The group he was elected with, went in on an Economy Platform, so had a lot of personal work to make it succeed. Use of town script was one of their projects.

The Alberta Temple, which had been started before the war, and was delayed, was to be dedicated in 1923. Every man, woman and child was making a big effort for that.

Sister Amy Allen gave the Primary the assignment to earn \$1000. That was a lot of money. Grandma and I went out again and cooked for the threshers, turning our wages on the temple fund. We all saved our Sunday eggs for it, and everyone said their hens laid more eggs on Sunday than on any week day.

Will's ticket for the dedication was dated 26 August 1923 at 7:30 p.m. This was the first day. How thankful I was that I had a husband who was worthy to take me and my children to those holy services, where prophecies were fulfilled that had been made regarding a temple in this land.

Others, we lived to see fulfilled, and there are others which will be fulfilled in the future. It was a glorious day, never to be forgotten. The dedicatory prayer was offered by President Heber J. Grant.

Will and I were sad when my sister, Guinivere, with her husband, Mark Brimhall, and their daughters, Iona and Jennie, decided to move to Provo, Utah. Will had a high regard for Mark, as they had worked congenially in personal, church and community enterprises for a long time.

Every time we had a new baby, Mark and Guinivere took our two youngest into their home and hearts until we had our new wee one well on the way. They put off their departure a number of days, waiting for Phyllis' advent, but no, that child would not be hurried. She had a special birth date chosen, 25 December 1923. One very important person she didn't consider was Dr. Murray, who was out of town celebrating, so Will called Grandma Redd and Sister Betsy Deardon, who was a maternity doctor all but for the letters after her name, and we got along fine.

In 1919, Dr. Greenaway removed Irene's tonsils and adenoids. An accident occurred during the operation, and the end of her palate and much of the posterior pillars was removed. We took Irene to other doctors, but they only shook their heads and advised us to take her to Rochester for operations. This was a financial impossibility for us. Irene's throat continued to close up, until she could hardly breath.

In 1924, a young Doctor Conner, who had returned from studying plastic surgery at medical school in Vienna, came to Raymond. He decided to see what he could do about Irene's throat.

He performed an operation, with five other doctors looking on. Flesh was taken from other parts of Irene's throat to make a partial uvula and to repair other damaged parts of her throat, and openings to her stomach and lungs, which had grown small, were opened up.

Irene got along fine. In fact, when he heard her singing with me as he passed her hospital room, Dr. Conner stopped to listen and said he hardly thought she would be able to talk, let alone sing. This was a first operation and he told us to come back in the fall, when he would complete the repair with a second operation.

But, by fall, Dr. Conner had died.

We took Irene to the Alberta Temple, there President E. J. Wood blessed her, and said, "Do not be in a hurry to take her back for the rest of the operation," and that her throat would become normal.

Irene never needed the second operation. Nowadays, whenever she goes to a new doctor and he has occasion to look at her throat, he gasps and says he can't believe she can talk. The power of the priesthood is real in my life.

In 1925, following a severe attack of pneumonia, Will purchased a Model "T" Ford Sedan so we made a trip to Idaho and Utah, taking all the children with us except Phyllis, who was left behind with Aunt Tillie Boysen, who ran a maternity home and nursery.

That was a very dry year, and we were all hungry for the watermelon we saw as we drove south. Will bought the largest he could find. Then we went up to the Lava Cliffs on the outskirts of Pocatello, Idaho, to eat them.

We had our luggage in the racks on the "running boards" of the car. In order for us to get out of the car Will had to remove our bags, but when we left, Will forgot to put the largest suitcase back on again. The one which contained the new clothes Lura and I had sewn for a week to make. I wanted the children to look well-dressed for the trip.

We didn't discover our loss until we were nearly to Franklin where Father and Mother Smellie lived.

It was dark, but Will turned around and went back. He inquired along the road, and put an ad in the Pocatello paper, but the lost club bag was never recovered.

We remembered things for a year, that were in that bag. Nothing daunted, the children made the trip among their city and country relatives in coveralls.

I never pass that spot that I don't remember how dearly we paid for that melon treat.

On our return, we came through Montana the day after the earthquake. The hottest wind I ever felt, passed over there that day.

It was in 1925 the Utah-Idaho Sugar Company located a sugar factory in Raymond, bringing with it much prosperity. This was a joy to Will, as he liked to see his town grow. The factory also brought many fine citizens, with whom Will had fine associations.

About that time, a large group of we marrieds decided to make Easter an annual picnic-day for our families. We did this for years. If it was stormy, we went inside. We celebrated one Easter at the School of Agriculture in the hay mow and other times we put it off until better weather came, and went down to the St. Mary's River, at Whoop-Up or Steele's Crossing. We kept this up for fifteen years, at least.

Our children have never forgotten these times. (Actually a group of the children and grandchildren still carry on this practice.)

Barbara was born 27 October 1926 at the Boyson Maternity Home in Raymond. Sister Van Orman gave me a blessing before her birth and said she would be a comfort to me all my life, and she has been.

It was while I was at Boyson's that the Raymond Mercantile burned, and I watched that tragic fire through the window, from my bed. One was kept in bed for at least ten days following the birth of a baby in those days.

In June 1927, Will was happy to receive word that my sister, Ruth and her husband Allie and son Robert Ricks, were coming from Rexburg, Idaho to visit us. Will and Allie were very good friends, and they always had a yearly visit by mail. Will had an unfinished letter to Allie when Will died.

It rained most of the time they were here, so we had lots of time for good visiting. Among other places Will took Allie was the International Harvester Company in Lethbridge. Allie remarked that they had as complete a supply of parts as in Chicago. Allie said Raymond wouldn't grow very fast, since it is so near to Lethbridge.

Broadway in Raymond was like a river for three days, and Allie took pictures of it. As the muddy roads were practically impassablle, Allie had the CPR send a flat car to take his car back over the border at Coutts. The water did subside, so Will took them to Craddock to catch the train to Coutts where they would pick up their car.

We said we would have a hard time convincing Allie and Ruth that we had droughts in Alberta.

A few days after the Ricks left for home. Will and his brothers started renovating the cement house. Melvin J. Burt, and his brother, Gil, who were in Canada working for their uncle at plastering, plastered the downstairs of the house.

We all worked night and day, so that we could move into it before school started. Harvest was on, hot lunches were to be sent out to the men, what a hive of industry.

At this point, Will was badly scalded. He removed the cap from a boiling radiator and the hot water blew all over his chest and forearms.

It was awful. Raymond was without a doctor at that time, so I was nurse and doctor, receiving instructions from our pharmacist, Percy W. Cope, by telephone.

After a few days, Will took his shift again in the harvest. I don't see how he did it. I dressed his wounds for weeks. He was deeply scarred for the rest of his life.

The crops were heavy, and the prices were high. They put lights on the tractors and worked night and day.

In 1928, the Calgary Power Company was seeking a contract with the Southern Alberta towns to furnish them with electricity. At that time, most of the towns in our area had their own power plants.

The power company called a meeting at the Banff Springs Hotel, in Banff, Alberta. Mayor Orrin H. Snow, Will's Uncle Orrin, and Will were chosen to represent Raymond. This proved to be a very pleasant week, with some sight-seeing as well as business. The meetings terminated in a contract being signed between the power company and the town. This is still in effect.

1928 was also the Primary Golden Jubilee Year which was to be celebrated in Salt Lake City, Utah. I was first counsellor to President Letta Bacon in the Taylor Stake Primary. Will supported me loyally through that enterprise, as he did in all others. We raised enough money for a round trip ticket to Salt Lake for eighteen board members, Then the three Canadian Stakes decorated a float for the parade, after we arrived in Salt Lake.

All was a glorious experience until we arrived at Helena, Montana on our return trip. There we found that the road through Wolf Creek Canyon was washed out, so that we would have to take the train home.

All the women except Sister Bacon and I had spent their last dime, knowing that their fare was paid. It was a dismayed group. It was raining, and we were nearly all flat broke.

We went to the Johnson Hotel where the manager made us a suite from two large rooms. Alvin Jones, one of the drivers, bought a dollar's worth of washed carrots and passed them around.

We wired to Will to collect some money from the husbands, and send to us. He could only contact Mr. Bacon and he wouldn't send any money, so Will wired the money from his own account and we all got home.

Being Primary women, they all reimbursed Will. Some of the cars remained at Wolf Creek for two weeks. Again, I was thankful I had a dependable husband.

In 1929, the federal government transferred the natural resources to the provinces. Will always felt that this was the proper thing, and he served on committees in the UFA, seeking this thing, and so this was a great satisfaction to him. It certainly was a blessing to the province of Alberta when oil was discovered in Alberta many years later.

In 1930 Will purchased a "Frigidaire." Kate Card had the first one in town, and we had the second one. I preferred preservation of food rather than a chesterfield, when we couldn't afford both. It was somewhat of a lemon, as most appliances were at that time. The sulphur-dioxide gas would escape, and a mechanic would come out from Lethbridge to replace it. Phillip and I would vacate the house for four or five hours so we wouldn't get poisoned.

One night, we awoke to find the house full of smoke, at first we thought it was the furnace, remember how the furnaces used to smoke, or explode when too much fine coal was put on the fire and it was banked for the night.

We finally decided it was an appliance odor, and rushed to the store room where the frigidaire was located. A mouse had become caught in the belt of the 'frig, and had burned out the motor.

When they brought the frigidaire back from Lethbridge, I tacked a piece of screen over the bottom, and that solved the problem.

To finish the story, in 1945, when I was alone and the frig was getting aged, during World War II appliances were very scarce, a man offered me almost as much as we had paid for it new, so I sold it.

I got ice from my neighbor who was still using an ice box, and would put it in the tub of my Maytag washing machine, and let the hose down so the melt water could drain into a bucket. This provided a cool place for the food until a refrigerator could be purchased.

In 1931, the town council appointed Will to organize a Library Board. This is quoted from the Lethbridge Herald in 1944. "The local library board met at the Town Hall Monday evening. A new member, Bruce Galbraith, was chosen to fill the vacancy caused by the death of its Chairman, William Redd, who had been chairman of the board since its organization in 1931.

"In 1931, the town council appointed William Redd to organize a group of people to start a library. The town was canvassed for books, with several hundred donated.

The library now contains 6,000 volumes. Some are contributed by the various local study groups, and others by the province and the town. There are 3869 fiction novels, 1381 non-fiction, 628 junior books, 153 reference books, 37 subscribed magazines and 200 magazines made into bound volumes. There are 805 active readers with a circulation average of 58 people a day with two books per person and with 43 persons per day using the library for reference. These latter are mainly school students who use the library extensively. Ten adult study groups use the library for material.

"The following are present board members: T. O. King, Mrs. Wilford Meldrum, Mrs. J. S. Madill, and Bruce Galbraith. Mrs. Meldrum and Mrs. King have been on the board since its organization. Formerly on the board were Mesdames Thomas Allan, G. W. Leech, M. R. Woolf and Mr. Don McRae. The librarians have included Mesdames Matilda Boyson, Relva Booth Ross, Millie R. Dyson and Mrs. M. R. Woolf, who is the present librarian.

"Many fine tributes were paid to William Redd at the meeting. Mr. Redd had missed only two meetings of the board in the last eight years and those two absences were due to illness."

Delia Woolf, Mrs. M. R. Woolf, is the present librarian, (1960), and she often said that Will Redd was the best friend she ever had.

Marie went off to Calgary Normal School in 1931. The first of our birds to take flight. She taught at the Felger Hutterite Colony between Lethbride and Raymond in 1933. The Raymond school board wouldn't hire inexperienced teachers then.

Barbara, our six-year-old accompanied Marie where she took her Grade One. The two would take the bus early Monday morning and stay at the colony for the week, returning on the bus Friday after school. The colony is about ten miles from Raymond.

During the time that Will was a member of the Raymond Town Council, the depression of 1929 struck. Quoting from the history of O. H. Snow, Uncle Orrin, who was the town secretary:

"The depression, following 1929, struck our district as heavily as it did elsewhere, as many of our people were grain farmers, and wheat dropped from \$1.95 per bushel to near 30 cents and 40 cents per bushel.

"Many felt it would increase in price and held for a raise, and almost lost their entire crop of 1930. With my work, trying to gather finances for schools and operation of the town, it became very difficult. The banks carried us through 1930 and 1931, but when 1932 came around, we were owing approximately \$40,000 which was all the credit our taxes would justify, and were left with nothing to carry on with. I told the school board and town council our predicament and that unless we could find a solution everything must stop, even schools.

"With their blessing, the mayor, Wm. G. Meeks, and myself, formulated a plan to use "script." We would pay 40% of salaries in cash and 60% in script, or town credit. Our stores and businesses agreed to accept the script, give merchandise for it and use the script for the payment of their taxes etc. The town would reimburse the stores for the balance in cash. We financed this way for three or four years and cleared off the banks. We kept our schools in operation and were in much better financial condition than we had been for some time."

In 1932, Grandma Redd had a severe stroke while visiting in Salt Lake City, and since she wanted very badly to come home, Will and I and Aunt Fern went down in Paul's car. We had no car. A bed, for her, was made in the back of the car and we started for Canada.

This period has often been referred to as the "hungry thirties." All farm produce was very cheap, even could hardly be given away. Will made a rack on the back of the car and filled it with grapes, melons etc. for a treat for our families when we got home.

Grandma was so pleased to get home to her own bedroom at our house. We had moved into the Grandma's home a few years before, as Grandma didn't want to be alone, and we needed a larger home.

Now, Will and I moved our bedroom to the upstairs, and Grandma had her old downstairs bedroom. This made her happy, and made it much easier to take care of our invalid mother.

Grandma lasted until May 1934, when, on the 26th of that month, she went into a coma and died 30 May 1934. Still in her own bed.

She would go to Lethbridge to stay with Jessie or Fern for a little while, but was always anxious to get back home to Will and Irene's in her own home.

Lura, Vilo, Lyman, Pauline, Mary and Kay were all in the United states, and, due to severe immigration restrictions placed during the depression, some were not able to cross the border for the funeral. Pauline, Lura, Mary, Jeannette, who is Lyman's wife, and Kay were able to get home, but Vilo and Lyman had to remain at the border.

The day following the funeral, all of the family members living in Alberta went to Babb, Montana, where the others were waiting; and we spent two days together. Uncles, Aunts and cousins. Right down to the youngest. A never-to-be-forgotten meeting, especially for the youngsters. For them "going to the States" was an awesome experience.

Marie married Joseph p. Strong 14 July 1934, and Gertrude married J. Walter Webster 15 September 1934. Our first grandchild, a girl, Patricia Marie Strong, arrived 17 March 1935 at the St. Michael's Hospital in Lethbridge.

We celebrated Will's fiftieth birthday, 7 January 1935, with the family and special friends. We treasure a picture of all of us at the dinner table, with his cake.

Will, an amateur cameraman, made a flash picture. By placing some flash powder in the dustpan on the stepladder, lighting a long fuse leading to it and setting the camera on time exposure, he was able to get in the picture himself. Quite innovative for the times.

We always enjoyed taking pictures and developing them. Of course, when the depression came, we were no longer able to afford the hobby. Consequently, and much to the disappointment of the younger children, we have very few pictures of them, and many of the older ones.

In Will's fiftieth year, 19 August 1935, Will, while combining, stopped to clear off the combine reel area. After making a round of the field, he looked down and discovered that the combine knife had sliced off the end of his thumb, glove and all. After searching in vain for the thumb, he drove himself into town and to the doctor for help. It was his right thumb and it made things awkward for him, although there still remained a stump with which he could hold things, though awkwardly.

In 1936, Smellie went to the Brigham Young University in Provo. Will was very happy that he could go, but missed him very much. It was the first time they had been separated.

In 1936, Will had been unwell most of the spring and summer. In October, while rushing to get the beets harvested, a wheel came off the truck; and without unloading the beets, he and Paul put the wheel back on. In doing this, Will strained himself very much, lifting etc.

That night, he was awakened with a terrible pain in his right leg. I helped him to a chair in the dining room, where he collapsed. I called to awaken the children, and sent

Phyllis and Barbara down to Uncle Orrin Snow's for him to come and administer a priesthood blessing to Will.

We finally got him into bed. His leg was so painful that he could not move.

At my insistence, when the pain still continued, Dr. Leech took him to the hospital, St. Michael's in Lethbridge. The Doctor had said that we couldn't send Will to the hospital, as we didn't have the money to pay the bill. I told him Will was going to the hospital and we would worry about finding the money later.

His trouble was diagnosed as phlebitis, but Will did not think it was, as his leg didn't swell. He thought he might have injured the nerves when they were lifting the truck.

Will was so ill that the banker thought I should get his power of attorney, but I felt that he would get well. After several weeks, the doctor asked me if I would like to bring Will home, which I thought was best.

We brought him home on a stretcher. With the help of the Lord, he commenced to improve.

By Christmas day, he was able to come to the table and have dinner with us.

It was while Will was in this condition that the call came to Smellie to go on a mission for the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, to Eastern Canada.

Our dear friend and neighbor, Louis Brandley, came to Will and said, "Surely you can't let Smellie go, when you and Irene are in such poor health. I was worn down from caring for Will and was in bed much of the time.

Will answered, "I can't deprive Smellie of this opportunity." We often talked of how blessed we were while Smellie was away, and how we always seemed to find the necessary funds to send him when he needed them.

Smellie filled an honorable mission, and Will and I both were much improved in health on his return.

Will never did regain full use of his leg, being lame the rest of his life. The snow was so deep that Smellie couldn't go to Cardston to go through the Alberta Temple. A great disappointment to us. Even our mail was being brought in by aeroplane. Smellie went through the Salt Lake Temple while at the mission home.

We have a photograph of the car among high drifts, as we prepared to drive Smellie to Lethbridge to catch the train for Salt Lake. As the roads were impassable, our route had to be a winding one through the fields, among huge snow drifts. In 1937, the United Grain Grower of Alberta, chose Will as their delegate to a convention in Winnipeg, Manitoba. Will got Bliss Roberts to take the expense money, which was enough for four of us to go by car, and take his wife, Lillian and Will and I to Winnipeg.

We left Sunday night, after meeting, (Sacrament meetings were held from 7 p.m. to about 9 in those days). It was the last day of October.

Saskatchewan presented a sad picture. Drought had been the order of the times for a number of seasons. There were beautiful homes, with well planned landscaping, with only a pine tree left here and there; but not a blade of grass nor stubble for miles.

We arrive in Winnipeg the day that Ralph Connor, the well known Canadian author, and a favorite of ours, was buried; but we couldn't get near the funeral.

We went to the Stock Exchange, and almost got the spirit of gambling.

We went to MIA at the LDS Church and met several people we knew. Will and Bliss and I had to speak.

We saw some good plays, too.

We were very interested in the way they prepared for winter, which did not break, once it set in. We, in Alberta, have the chinook winds which bring thawing weather many times during a winter.

On the return trip, we went through the Red River Valley, which was gorgeous at that time of year.

Passing through the Dakotas, we went over some of Will's old missionary trails. We saw the Fort Peck Dam, the largest dirt dam in the USA. We even ran into some very exciting shopping bargains, before we arrived home.

The children never forget their excitement when we brought each of the girls snow suits, a very new type of winter wear for girls; and our family's first radio marvel, with short-wave band. This was the purchase which Phillip enjoyed with his beloved dad.

What did surpise some of the children was that mother did not get the Hudson Seal coat she had planned to buy, as they were cheap in Winnipeg.

Instead, she came home with a wool coat for herself, with a fur collar. Her arthritis was so bad that we thought she needed the warm fur coat, and were quite excited about it. But she said she preferred the cheaper coat.

As we grew older, we realized that Mom had probably decided to use some of her coat money for our gifts and buy the less expensive wool coat for herself.

It was a wonderful trip, with perfect weather and good travelling companions.

We found everything in good shape when we got home. The children had managed well. Guinivere had even gone in by herself to have her tonsils removed. The doctor did it in his office with a local anesthetic.

Will and Bliss Roberts gave excellent reports of the convention, too.

Will received an invitation from President Heber J. Grant, to attend a special meeting in the Salt Lake Temple 8 April 1939, Will being the senior member of the High Council in the Taylor

Stake. Will considered this a very sacred privilege. Bliss Roberts and Lillian, his wife and Will and I went down to conference together, a few days after Smellie had returned from his mission.

That year, 1939, Irene was teaching at Beazer, and Guinivere at the Community School, north of Raymond in the vicinity of George Laycock's farm. Smellie went on down to BYU after his mission.

That fall, World War II was declared. That year, too, Will was made happy when Barbara passed her government exams in Grade Nine with high honors and received the Governor General's Medal for the District, having the highest marks of all Grade IX students.

In 1942, Will accepted a position with Central Feeders Association in Lethbridge. His leg condition made farm work impossible. He hired a Japanese family, which had been evacuated from the West Coast at the beginning of the War.

That fall, the man threw down his shovel, refusing to shovel wheat, so Marie, Barbara, Guinivere and Phillip finished the harvest. Many, many of the little pigs died, also, and so Will let the man go.

Smellie had joined the army the year previous, which had made a great change in Will's life, as they had always worked and played together.

Irene was married to Bryant A. Jensen in June of 1941. Bryant and Smellie were in the army together then. Guinivere went to the University of Alberta in 1942. Irene returned from the East in 1943, after Bryant went overseas. Phyllis was teaching school in Raymond.

We were happy to have our home circle enlarged, as Will was on the road most of the time and the old home was getting to feel quite empty.

When Brenda Grace Jensen was born 26 November 1943, our hearts were made glad. It was so good to have a baby in the house again.

Barbara and John Henry MacPhee were married 23 February 1943. Phyllis and Victor Bruce Miller were married 1 March 1944. Victor was in the navy and they later went to St. Hyacinth, Quebec. When Vic went to sea, Phyllis came home and taught school in Lethbridge, boarding with Gertrude and Walt Webster.

Will, Irene, Phyllip and I were going to Edmonton for Guinivere's graduation in June of 1944, when Uncle Orrin Snow asked Will to take his car and take him and his wife Mary, along. The Department of Education had given Guinivere her examinations early in April, so she could take the place of a high school teacher in Banff, who had become ill.

We picked Guinivere up at Calgary, and drove on to Edmonton. We arrived in Edmonton on Sunday and Baccalaureate parade was that night. Guinivere didn't have the necessary hat, so she slipped behind a pillar and put on Irene's hat and dropped back into parade line . Next day, we shopped, between exercises, to find her a dress and shoes for the graduation ceremony.

As Aunt Mary wanted to be able to say she had been on the famous Alaska Highway, we drove along it for about ten miles north of Edmonton.

On the last Sunday, August 27, 1944, fire partly destroyed our home. The original cement block home built by Grandfather William A. Redd in 1905-06, soon after their arrival in Canada.

Irene was putting her baby, Brenda, to sleep in the upstairs west room and heard a crackling sound, but thought it was Phillip and John who had come upstairs to get Uncle Kay's golf clubs. But the boys, heard the roaring of the flames and they all ran downstairs. Phillip remembers watching from the garden as the smoke curled up between the shingles.

Meanwhile Will had phoned for the fire engine. Ken Stone, a close neighbor, tore up to their store and got many glass-ball fire extinguishers which he threw into the attic and then closed the hatch. We think this was what saved the house. As it was, a great hole had been burned through the roof, and the attic and ceilings of some of the rooms were burned through, or broken through during the fire-fighting operations.

Neighbors and firemen carried all of the furniture out of the house, but the whole house was either burned or water soaked. It took many days to clear up the mess.

Will and Phyllip, helped by a crew of German war prisoners under guard of soldiers, worked very hard, tearing off burnt shingles and lumber and replacing the roof; and of course, the wiring had to be repaired also.

Frank Shaw was good help with the electrical work. The cleaning and clearing by both the men and women of the family seemed endless.

The fire was a great shock to Will, and his health declined rapidly after that. Notwithstanding, he carried on his work with the Central Feeders until the day before he was hospitalized by Dr. Madill.

After a week of observation, he returned home to clear up some business. He drove his own car back to the hospital. They performed surgery for prostrate blockage, but Will grew steadily worse. After his death, an autopsy revealed the liver was greatly enlarged.

Brother John H. Green gave Will a blessing and told him his work on earth was completed, and that he would pass away without suffering, but he would have the chance to decide whether he would go or stay.

The morning of his death, the nurse met me, and warned me that people who died from Will's condition, simply went mad with the pain before they died. That she had a hypodermic needle ready to relieve him. That sometimes they had to tie them in bed as they became so frantic from the pain.

The promise made to him by Brother Green was fulfilled to the letter. Will wrote some instructions to Charles Asplund about some Central Feeder business, spoke to his children, looking at each with his wonderfully blue eyes and quietly passed on to the other side. Most of his family was with him. Barbara had a new baby and was ill at home, Phyllis was in the East with her husband, Victor, and Smellie and Bryant were serving overseas in the war.

Will died 9 November, 1944, and his funeral was held November 13 in the Taylor Stake House. He was buried in the Raymond Cemetery. Just as the dedicatory prayer over his grave was finished, the Sugar Factory whistle blew at 4 p.m. I never hear that whistle that I am not reminded of that day.

Being human, I sometimes wished that Will could have remained a little longer. One day, while President T. George. Wood, of our Taylor Stake, was speaking, he said, "It is a serious thing for a person to remain on this earth after his mission is finished." That satisfied me.

Charles Asplund said, "Will bore many burdens and labored diligently and pleasantly under all circumstances. Infidelity on the part of others did not change his fundamental attitude, instead, he felt sorry for them, and often sought extenuating circumstances to account for their infidelity. He went his quiet, unassuming, cheerful way, looking for the good in all men, and the best in every situation."

Brother J. W. Evans said, "Will always seemed to know more about the subject than the rest of us."

Phillip says, "Dad tried to teach us self-reliance and dependability. He gave us a job and left us to it, even if we didn't get it done the best way."

Home Evening and Family Hour were consistently held in our home. Will knew the promise made by President Joseph F. Smith, and felt that we needed the blessing. It worked.

Christmas was always at our home. All the family slept under the parental roof on Christmas Eve, except when Smellie was on his mission or overseas.

We continued this custom until 1949. It was so much fun. Christmas Eve, we had a program with all taking part. Then a light lunch, and the stockings were hung, and off to bed. Finally, we ran out of cribs, so Smellies's baby, Joan, slept in a large carton box. That was the last Christmas we all stayed together.

On Christmas morning, we all lined up according to age, with Will and I leading the parade. Will made such a good Santa Claus, making everyone happy with his present. Everyone helped with dinner, and to this day the family carries out this custom.

I remember one Christmas Will especially enjoyed. It was the first one after we had moved into his old home with his mother in her apartment upstairs, and us in the rest of the remodelled house. It was 1928. The whole house was warm, (a hot air furnace had been installed instead of the space heater in some of the rooms as before) and Christmas lights glowed everywhere.

Vilo and Lura had come home, and Kay was to leave shortly for a mission. We were all so happy and gay. I remember so well, Grandma and I were standing near a radiator, and she said, "Irene, this is the most comfortable I have ever been in this house."

Another Christmas I well remember was in 1943. Will gave me a Sunbeam Mixmaster which he bought at Eaton's Store in Lethbridge. It wouldn't work. The whole shipment had been sabotaged by putting steel shavings in the bearings. This was during the World War II. The damage was repaired, and it worked perfectly. Phyllis is still using it in her home.

Will bought most of the new appliances for me but I could never get him to put a motor on the sewing machine, or the six-quart ice cream freezer.

Will taught me how to develop pictures, and gave me a "116" Eastman Kodak Camera for Christmas in 1918. The family, Scout and Bee-hive Girls spent many happy hours at our house, learning photography in our home.

One night, Will came home with an Edison Phonograph (cylindrical records) from Lethbridge. We really enjoyed this addition. The day our piano arrived made history also.

Uncle Orrin Snow gives a full account of Will's good work in taking care of the family estate, after the death of his father, along with taking care of the Security Investment Co. business. He was assisted in this by Uncle Orrin and Brother Charles McCarty. It would be well to read this if anyone gets the chance. It is in the possession of J. Golden Snow of Raymond. (A copy has now been placed in the Raymond Museum, 1996.)

Dear Will, it has been a pleasure to write this history of you. There was never any question in your mind, as to what was right or wrong.

THE REDD FAMILY OF ONSLOW COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA

The State Historical Commission at Raleigh, North Carolina has issued a certificate to a descendant of Whitaker Redd stating that he, Whitaker Redd was in the service in the Revolutionary War, and that William Redd was also a soldier. William was Whitaker Redd's son and he had two sons, Sigle and Kincy.

Legend has it that two Redd Brothers came from Scotland and one settled in Virginia and the other in North Carolina. Another story says they came from Virginia.

It is said that the first court house in Onslow County was located on the sea coast and that it was washed away by a tidal wave in 1852. It is also possible that it may have been earlier than that as a terrible storm swept the coast about 1820 or 30. Anyway nearly all the records were lost. Some people brought their own documents back later to have them recorded but a lot of information never did come back.

William Redd had two brothers, Henry and Whitaker Jr. The father, Whitaker Sr., died in 1786 or 1789. William was born about 1763 and died since 1831. One legend has it that he came from Scotland but that probably is incorrect. There is no record of what became of Henry, but Whitaker Jr., probably went to Wilmington, North Carolina, as a good many of his descendants still live there, though two, John Hardison Redd and sister, Mary Redd Holt, went first to Tennessee and then on to Utah. Some of their descendants live in Brigham City, Utah.

William Redd, evidently was the only Redd that remained in Onslow County, N.C. He married Celah (Pronounced Kala, said to be Indian with no last name) and she had two sons Sigle and Kincy. Sigle was born Dec 6, 1785 at Stump Sound, Onslow Co., and died June 11, 1867. Kincy was born about 1787 and died since 1849.

William later married Margaret Everett and she had three daughters and one son: Nellie Russell; Mary (called Polly); Sarah (called Sally); and William Jr. William next married Sarah Barlow and she had William B., born May 15, 1811, died about 1854 and James B., born about 1814 and died about first of June 1844.

Sigle married Lennie Fields and she had one daughter, Sarah, who married Seth King. After her death he married Susan Annie Anders and to her were born Marquis LaFayette, born Nov. 15 1836, died March 13, 1876; Basil, born May 20 1827, died October 30 1848; Elda S. born Sept. 22 1830, died about 1899; Susan Ann, born

April 13 1833, died about 1895; Sigle Jr., born April 10 1836, died March 30 1883; Alonso, born June 9 1842, died about 1910; Francis Marion, born March 4 1844, died March 20 1907, and Henrietta.

The home of Sigle Redd Sr., was built on a high ridge overlooking the sparkling waters of Stump Sound and the blue expanse of the Atlantic Ocean, and here he reared his family. It must have been a jolly family for even in their old age they retained a lot of humor and love of fun. They were all good citizens and esteemed far and near. They were noted for their jet black hair and black eyes. Susan said she never took more trouble to her heart than she could kick off with her heels. Francis Marion was wounded in the Civil War. Marquis was sheriff of Onslow county and also a Captain of a company he recruited for service in the the Confederate Army.

Sarah Jane Redd, daughter of Sigle and Lennie Fields Redd, married Seth King and to them were born; Mary who married Thomas Hinen (Hinea); Lemuel Fields who married Mary Atkinson; Oliver, John, Nick, Joseph, Dimmie and one called "Puss" who married and went to New York.

The following children were born to Sigle and Susan Annie Anders Redd; Marquis LaFayette, who married Emily Amy Sidbury, they had one daughter; Susan Rebecca Redd and she married Hill E. King; Elda S. who married William Batson and after his death married Hill Williams; Susan Ann, who married Hill Nixon; Sigle Jr., married Camily Morton; Alonso married Lydia Henderson; Francis Marion married Isabelle Jane Justice; and Henrietta who married John Bishop. We have no record of Basil having ever married.

The mists of time have obscured much of the history of the Redds who first came to Eastern North Carolina. However, the first authentic facts are those taken from the files of the State Historical Commission at Raleigh, N.C. It issued a certificate to a descendant of Whitaker Redd that he, Whitaker, was in service in the Revolutionary War, and that William Redd was also a soldier. William was Whitaker Redd's son and he had one son Kinsey Redd. Kinsey had two sons, Sigle and Amos Aaron.

Legend has it that the two Redd Brothers came from Scotland, and that one settled in Virginia and the other in North Carolina. Another story says the two brothers came from Virginia. The latter story perhaps is true as there is in existence an old chest that the

children of Sigle Redd claimed came from Virginia with the first Redds. All that is known definitely now is that Sigle Redd acquired land bordering on Stump Sound in Onslow County and built a home there. The home is still in use. Amos Aaron chose to live in Wilmington. They probably came from Virginia as there are numerous Redds living in Richmond, Va., and the writer knows of no Redds in North Carolina except descendants of these two.

Amos Aaron Redd had a son, Christopher Columbus, who married Kizzie Grant and their descendants live in Wilmington.

Sigle Redd was married twice. His first wife bore one daughter, Sarah, who married Seth King. His last wife was Susan Andrews from near Trenton, North Carolina. They had five sons and two daughters; Marquis LaFayette who married Emily Ann Sidbury; Sigle who married Camilla Norton; Francis Marion who married Isabell Justice; Alonso who married Lydia Aman Henderson; Basil who went to Utah and married there; LDS, called "Elda" who married William Batson and after his death Hill Williams; Susan who married Hill Nixon, and Henrietta who married John Bishop.

LIFE SKETCH of VILO REDD

given at her funeral by Melanie Lewis

Vilo Redd was born 7 January 1901 in New Harmony, Washington, Utah. Her brothers and sisters were Will, Grace, then triplet girls-Belle, Myrtle and Verena-two of the triplets died soon after birth, and the third triplet died a month later. Then Grace died the next month. All are buried in the small cemetery at New Harmony. Lura came next, then Fern, Jessie, Paul and Lyman. Vilo came next the eleventh child. Then Pauline, Mary and Kay.

One of Aunt Vilo's earliest memories was sitting in a high chair while her mother and neighbors prepared peaches for drying. Her brother Lyman kept sneaking her pieces to eat. When she was four their family moved to Raymond, Alberta, Canada. Her father built a large two-story home of cement blocks he bought from John W. Taylor, who had a home site across the street from them. Their home was a gathering place for parties, dances, and "showers" for new brides-to-be. They had a large library and were always encouraged to seek education.

Raymond was a small farming community with mostly Mormon families. Their family washing was done on a washboard, they had a cistern in the basement to collect rain water from the roof, mostly for shampooing hair. Every scrap of fat was saved to make their soap. School was let out for "beet vacations", so that everyone could help with the thinning of sugar beets. One time some boys put a water snake in Aunt Vilo's straw hat - she never forgot.

An especially exciting time for Vilo was going on the train to Lethbridge with Lyman and Gwennie for dental appointments. The train ride was three hours each way and they took sandwiches and cookies for lunch.

When Aunt Vilo was about six, she was watching her brother, Paul, chop wood. She was standing near the chopping block and Paul told her to move, but she must not have moved far enough because he accidentally almost completely severed her left index finger. Being so far away from doctors, her mother splinted it so that it couldn't move. She dressed it with "sticky gum," which is gum from the pine tree before it had hardened. Grandma Redd used that for everything and had brought a large can from Southern Utah. It literally stuck the finger back to the hand and it healed without infection, although that finger was about an inch shorter than the other index finger.

Vilo's father died a day before her tenth birthday. She remembers well the morning he died, as his condition grew worse, all the children were awakened to go in and see him for the last time. The funeral was held on a bitterly cold day, but nevertheless was the biggest funeral held in the town to that time. He had been a counselor in the stake presidency and was well known and loved by all in the surrounding area. Her oldest brother, Will, returned home from pre-med studies in Salt Lake to come home and take over the family and farm.

About that time, Aunt Vilo recalls the oldest girls in primary were learning to crochet, but she wasn't quite old enough. She asked her mother to teach her, so Grandma Redd unravelled a baby jacket and used the yarn to teach Vilo. She progressed rapidly and finished many projects before the older girls had finished theirs. Crocheting, knitting, tatting and other handiwork were always something Vilo enjoyed. She crocheted a lovely dress and bonnet for my sister Kathy when Kathy was about three years old. Nena still remembers taking Kathy downtown one time with the dress on. She said she felt like a celebrity because so many people stopped her to say what a beautiful dress Kathy was wearing. After my mother died, Aunt Vilo crocheted many snowflakes to decorate a tree for the festival of trees in her honor. It was a beautiful tree. Many people have benefited by the sweaters, snow leggings, collars, and comforters that Vilo has made.

Vilo was always one to offer her services no matter how unpleasant the task. When she was around thirteen, Aunt Fern's husband, George Laycock, had planted about eight or ten acres of potatoes for sale. It was October and cold and stormy. When the ground dried out enough to dig them, sack them and store them, George came to town to find someone to sew the sacks after they were filled. The woman who promised to do it was ill. He called everyone he thought might be a possibility, but to no avail. Aunt Vilo told him she would like to try to do the job for him. It was a very tough job and she nearly froze her hands because she could not sew with gloves on. She said she trudged up and down, up and down the ploughed field. They finished up at ten o'clock at night- she said never in all her life was she so tired.

After graduating from high school in 1920, World War One was on and she was offered a teaching job in a small Norwegian community in Eastern Alberta. She taught

for six months and decided teaching was not for her. She applied to the LDS Hospital's nursing school and was accepted. She left Raymond at the same time as Visiting General Authorities for their stake conference were leaving to return to Salt Lake City. Her Uncle Orrin Snow introduced her to John A. Widtsoe, a member of the Quorum of 12, who took her under his wing on the trip to Salt Lake. Her three years of training were strenuousten hours a day, six and one half days a week, plus classes and studying. They were up at five thirty AM with devotional at six fifteen, then breakfast.

She remembers the first hypodermic injection she gave- to a teenage boy recovering from an appendectomy. He was in a lot of pain and asked for something. In those days, nurses had to buy their own syringes and needles, and due to cost, many needles were used long after they should have been discarded. The charge nurse let Aunt Vilo borrow her needle which was so old it had no point. Vilo had to push hard, but it finally pierced the skin. She vowed she would never use such needles on her own patients. After graduation she spent a month learning to give ether anaesthetics, then left for a job in the twenty-bed Cedar City hospital -to some of her most memorable and exciting experiences. She was superintendent of the hospital, head nurse, anaesthetist, x-ray technician, admission clerk and what-have-you. There were two doctors on the staff. She worked from seven AM to seven PM and then took call from seven PM to seven AM - which meant to come in on all emergencies. They were the only hospital from Provo to Las Vegas, so received many car accidents and emergencies from out-lying areas.

She found many relatives in this area. Dr. MacFarland, one of the staff doctors, used to tease her about being related to half the county. He quit teasing her when he found out she was related to his sister-in-law. Many times the doctors were called out to do emergency surgery and Aunt Vilo would go with them to do the anaesthesia. One time during the depression years, a group of six children in the farming community of New Castle needed their tonsils out. Dr. Bergstrom offered to do it, if Aunt Vilo would volunteer her anaesthetic services - she readily agreed. They set up an operating room in the school house, each child in turn was separated from their tonsils, rolled in a blanket and laid on a bench to recover. They stayed overnight, checked each patient in

the morning, then returned to Cedar City.

Many family members visited her in Cedar and she would always take a few days off to show them around -New Harmony, the pretty canyons, and other places. The doctors wanted her to learn gas anaesthesia. She was accepted to a four-month school in Cleveland. While there she traveled with some fellow students to Niagara Falls and New York.

After seven years in Cedar City, she decided to make a change. Vilo knew almost every man, woman and child in Cedar City and Iron County. Someone came up with the idea for a community farewell party. They had a large barbecue with games and visiting. At the end, everyone lined up to shake hands and say goodbye. Her cousin Scott Matheson gave her a kiss goodbye which made her blush. Some of the other men followed suit, which did not please her too much.

Looking back on her stay in Cedar City, Aunt Vilo said this was the choice position of her career. No other gave the experience, interest or satisfaction. One of the nurses who worked with Vilo in Cedar City, Aileen Noble Mills, is here today.

She then worked in Idaho Falls, Lehi, Ogden, finally settling in Salt Lake during World War Two. She worked for thirty five years at the Medical Arts building, making many good friends, still performing anesthetics, as well as other nursing duties.

Vilo and Lura built a home next to our family home, 3844 South 4 East Salt Lake City, and for many years nurtured and helped our family. When I was young, I slept over with Aunt Vilo almost every night. She always fixed me a large glass of cocoa every morning, brought me treats regularly from work and protected me from my brother, Wayne.

I well remember large gatherings at their home at conference time and on Christmas morning for breakfast. Aunt Vilo felt that this was her home. She worked hard to build the ward library. I always remember her making flannel-board figures and all kinds of visual aids for the stories that were to be told. One time when she was helping with a stake musical, they needed flags from different countries but could not find any to buy. Aunt Vilo made these flags herself. Just a few months ago I used these same flags for a Blue and Gold banquet in Bountiful. Everyone wanted to know who would go to all that work.

In her journal, Aunt Vilo talks about the good group of friends she had here and those she had family home evening with. How much she enjoyed it and what good women they were!

Aunt Vilo lived with us almost from the time our daughter Katie was born. I thank my husband, Randy, who was really a champion for Aunt Vilo. Often he said, "I think it is really food for our family to have Vilo with us." Julie used to say "Thanks so much for letting Vilo live with us." Katie, being so young and fun, was the apple of her eye. Every time she came home from visiting Aunt Mary in California, it was Katie she wanted to see and Katie's love she wanted to have. One of Aunt Vilo's current visiting teachers was very good to her, always treating her with concern, respect and love.

As I and my cousin Barbara MacPhee were reading through Aunt Vilo's history, we were talking about how valuable a history like this is. We learn that, although everything might not turn out as we anticipated, and though troubles come our way, those who have come before have accepted what life had to offer, kept the faith, turned to the Lord and done their best.

I hope my children and all of us will remember Aunt Vilo for the good and kind person she was. I love her dearly and know she is happy to be reunited with her parents and many brothers and sisters. Amen.

We cousins in Alberta loved Aunt Vilo very much too. We looked forward to her visits, which were always wonderful. We miss her.

Vilo died 29 May 1988

WILLIAM ALEXANDER REDD

by Lura Redd

William Alexander Redd was born of "goodly parents", namely Lemuel Hardison Redd and Keziah Jane Butler Redd, on the 19th of September, 1861 in Spanish Fork, Utah. He was their third son and fourth child. I can find no record of his blessing which was probably done in Spanish Fork.

In those days, when the church authorities wanted to enlarge the habitable territory, they merely sent word to a number of heads of families and formally gave them a call to go to such and such a place and settle. It usually meant to make a permanent home there.

So in 1862 Lemuel H. Redd accepted such a call to go to New Harmony, Washington County, Utah. He never questioned authority, so sold out his holdings in Spanish Fork and moved his family.

He is first mentioned in the church minutes of the new home on the 15th of June, 1862. That would make their baby , William A., eight months old. The other children were Lemuel Hardison Jr. 6; Mary Jane 4; and John Wilson 2. His father, Lemuel Hardison, had an uncle, Alexander; and an uncle, William. Keziah Jane had a brother named William Alexander who died when he was four, so the name William Alexander came from both sides of the family.

Lemuel H. Redd first settled in the little town on what later became known as the lower street, and across the street from a family who had heard the gospel in far-off Switzerland.

When William A. was about two, and still in dresses (in those days little boys wore dresses for a few years, probably until they were house broken) and his older brother, John, about four, they travelled abroad in search of adventure.

They found it in their neighbour's yard where they scared a setting hen off her nest and broke her eggs. This made the little Swiss woman so angry that she turned them over her knee and spanked them. Their mother, Keziah Jane, hadn't ever done that to them, and was a bit upset. She explained to the little woman as best she could that in America people didn't spank other people's children; and that she would replace or pay

for the broken eggs. The little woman later bore a baby girl, Mary Verena Bryner, who William A. later married, and they had fourteen children.

There they had only the things and tools they brought with them. There were no shopping facilities nearer than Salt Lake City, about 300 miles away, so they managed to create other things they needed with their own hands.

Boys and girls learned early to do many things about the house. They had the example of their parents and elders and also were encouraged by them. In this household there was no idleness. Father used to tell how, when the neighbour children came to play, his mother would organize them into what they called a "BEE", and put them all to work at cutting potatoes for planting, shelling corn, peeling apples or other fruit for drying, sewing carpet rags, etc. Many of the children learned their home work from his mother. My mother always said she did.

In October, 1866, Grandpa married Sarah Louisa Chamberlain and she became a part of the household. She had fourteen children and his mother had seven more, so father was a big brother to twenty-three younger brothers and sisters, nineteen of whom grew to maturity.

As pioneers, Lemuel Hardison and Keziah Jane Butler Redd did everything that was necessary for them and their welfare.

On one of his trips to Salt Lake City, he bought a shoemaker's kit. It consisted of a box with a hinged lid. Across the back of it there was a row of little compartments filled with little wooden pegs, as they didn't use metal tacks then. They used an awl to poke the holes to put the pegs through. The kit also contained a hammer and four lasts; a small one, two middle-sized, and a large one. As all shoes were made on one or other of the three lasts, their shoes were as near to a fit as these lasts could make them.

Father said that when they were small they were the only children in town who had shoes when it snowed. The others came to school with wet, cold feet and had to warm them at the little heater they had in the middle of the room, and sit barefooted all day. They'd scrape the hot coals out on the hearth to warm their feet.

Their shoes were precious; and when it was wet and sloppy, Aunt Mishie says their mother and Aunt Kezzie would wrap their feet up in gunny sacks and tie them on. When they arrived at the school they'd take off the sacks and put on their shoes. They would then put the gunny sacks under the pot-belted stove to dry during the day.

Often they weren't dry when school was out, but they tied them on anyway and carried their shoes home. Always, when the weather was warm, they all went barefooted. These shoes were made of hides they brought from Salt Lake City or tanned at home. They greased them up with tallow to make them wear well.

Father told of the early days when he was very young, that they even danced barefooted and barred those who wore shoes so they wouldn't step on the bare toes of the others. The floors weren't very smooth and they sometimes got slivers in their feet. Then some swain who had a pocket knife pulled it out, opened it up, and the foot with the sliver was held up while he pulled out the sliver and the dance went on. Why let a little sliver stop your fun.

When William A. was about eight, he wanted to make some shoes. He was given permission to make a small pair out of the scrappy edges of the hide. He cut out the shoe by the pattern, also contained in the kit. He sewed the upper parts together and tacked the sole to the upper. The wooden pegs entered the last, which also was of wood, and made it hard for him to get the shoe off. He had quite a bit of difficulty, and, by that time it was all awry. He didn't know how to get his shoe straight, and was so disgusted with it that he gave up and heaved it out into the bushes.

Aunt Louisa had been watching those little hands at work. She thought it was so cute and clever of him that she kept her eye on him all the time. When he threw away the shoe, she went out and got it.

William asked, "What are you going to do with that thing?"

She replied, "I am going to keep it and when you get married I am going to give it to your wife."

"No, you're not" said William A., and he tried hard to take it away from her. This he could not do and he was quite upset over it. He told us he had gone into her home many times when she was away and searched through her things to find the shoe, but couldn't. She gave it to my mother, and nothing was more thrilling to us children than to see and fondle this little shoe and hear her story of how it came to be. Lyman was given the shoe.

William A. was baptized the 27th of June, 1869, by his uncle, Wilson D. Pace, who was the bishop of the ward. He was confirmed the same day by Wilson D. Pace.

I suppose these ordinances were performed like they were when I was baptized. After Sunday School, where the place was announced, we went to the fish pond or to a deep hole somewhere in a creek and were baptized there. Then we went home and changed clothing and went to Sacrament Meeting at 2 p.m. where we were confirmed.

As I recall, nearly the whole ward went to witness it, maybe because there were five or six baptized at the same time. It wasn't so far but that most could walk. A few rode, but we never rode to church. It was easier to walk than to hook up the team.

I note that father was not quite eight when he was baptized. It seems that they didn't stick so close to ages then as they do now. He was ordained a Teacher March 25,

1877, by his uncle, Harvey A. Pace, when he was fifteen, and ordained an Elder, May 9, 1877, still before he was sixteen. He was ordained an Elder by Elder Jacob Gates.

It took three weeks to travel to Salt Lake City one way, so people seldom went. About the only time they needed money for anything was to do shopping.

In the community at home they traded or "bartered". They even traded when they went to Salt Lake City. Aunt Alice says that her father went about every year or every other year; and when he went he took dried fruit, buckskin gloves, pine nuts, and anything they could think of and spare. Aunt Mishie said her father would bring home a bolt of cloth and they all had dresses alike.

Some man south-east of New Harmony made a grindstone and took it out to Pioche, Nevada. A man there saw it and asked where it came from. When he was told, he said, "There is silver there." They found a reef of nearly pure silver and called it Silver Reef. It became a boom town over-night and was a good market for all their spare produce. There they could sell anything, and for cash.

So father, in his younger days, went with the other children out into the brush and willows and grain stubble and set little traps made of thin strips of wood or willows. These traps were sprung with little figure-four triggers. They could make these little traps and triggers themselves and learned to be clever at operating them.

Their chief game was quail. Quail make choice eating. They have very large breasts, though the birds themselves are small. Trapping them this way, the birds were alive and unhurt so they could save them alive and feed them in boxes until they were ready to send them down to Silver Reef. This activity was fun as well as paying off. Children also cut and dried fruit for sale. They saved their money and sent it to Salt Lake City with someone else to do their shopping.

We don't have much information about his boyhood activities, but he grew up on a farm where they raised grain, corn, vegetables, fruits, cows, pigs, horses, chickens and sheep. Undoubtedly he had his chores to do as soon as he was old enough to talk and understand.

The year-round chores for a boy on a farm of that day were: getting kindling and wood ready at night for the cook stove; cleaning the ashes out of the stove in the morning; milking the cows; feeding all the animals or turning them out to pasture; gathering the eggs; filling the lamps with coal oil or kerosene; watching out for and killing snakes; carrying water from the creek for family and household use and from the spring for drinking and cooking purposes; loading wheat in sacks into the wagon and hauling it to Cedar City to be ground into flour and bringing back the flour and bran; hunting in the nearby hills for all kinds of game for meat; etc.

The seasonal chores would include shovelling snow; chopping more wood for the fireplace; butchering animals and curing the meat by drying or jerking beef and salting

pork; going to the canyons and mountains to haul wood; plowing, planting, watering and weeding the crops; picking the fruit and helping store and preserve it for the winter; gathering and storing vegetables in pits and trenches; cutting grain with a scythe and flailing it; building fences; digging ditches; making and fixing roads; clearing rocks off the land; making fences with these rocks; learning to ride and handle horses; breaking them in for various uses; tanning leather and buck-skin; making and fixing shoes; making and fixing harnesses, bridles, plows, sleighs, wagons; shearing sheep; etc.

I guess I'll never know about all his chores either, but I can imagine all those things staring you in the face to either do or go without the necessities they meant to you. It's a good thing they didn't have movies or television to miss while they did their chores. Every member of the family was expected to do his part in furnishing all necessities. And, of course, father learned all he knew about such things right at home with his parents and brothers and sisters. He, like the rest of them, learned by doing.

I went and talked to Aunt Alice, and now I might give in detail some of the things he did to make his way and earn his own living. When grandfather bought the farm in 1870 from John D. Lee, he supposedly bought 160 acres. John D. Lee owned it by squatter's rights only. Others had the same idea and squatted on various parts of it here and there, and when grandfather went for deeds there were about 60 acres left that he could call his own.

That wasn't enough ground to support his family, so he went into cattle and sheep raising. They ran their sheep in the hills about town in the summer and out on the desert farther north in the winter. The range land was public land then, and free to any and all stock-men. They took their sheep wherever they could find forage. Their cattle summered out in the brush along the foothills, and they fenced a large part of the farm in the southwest corner on both sides of the creek and fed them there during the winter. It was a job for the boys to fence it, put up the hay and herd the cattle and sheep.

In the spring, at lambing time on the desert, everybody must lend a hand and tend the lambs. If the mother died or refused to care for her lamb, it was brought home and the children raised it for a pet. Each spring a small flock was cared for at home in this way.

Aunt Mishie said she had one with a blue ribbon around its neck and Aunt Lou had one with a pink ribbon. They learned to love them, but when they grew up they got mean and would butt the little ones. (We used to call it "bunt", and when I looked in the dictionary I find both ways used.)

It was a sad day when they had to be taken to the herd, and sadder when Papa decided to make mutton out of them. And of course the little boys raised theirs too.

They didn't have rubber nipples as they have now. They had to teach these little fellows to drink out of a bucket. They would put their finger in the lamb's mouth and lower it into the milk in the bucket. The calf would suck and get a little milk. Then they

would gradually pull out the finger. Then the lamb would stop sucking and they would start over again.

After many trials, the lamb got the idea. I know that is the way, because father taught me how to do it. He had learned on his little lamb at home. They raised calves the same way and taught them to drink like the lambs. Little orphan calves were called "dogies".

Then there was sheep shearing to be done in the spring. There were large shearing corrals down on the creek south-east of New Harmony about four of five miles. These corrals were probably built and owned by the Kanarra and Harmony Cattle and Sheep Co-op. Aunt Ellen says that Grandpa was a director and treasurer for about twenty years, and that he helped to organize it.

Everybody in the area took their sheep there in the spring to be sheared. Good, husky boys and men who could wrestle a full-grown sheep and hold it down were paid so much per head to shear them. Father early learned to earn money that way; maybe he practised on his own little lambs at home.

The wool was packed in large wool sacks ten or twelve feet long, and four or five feet wide. The top of the sack was stretched on a rack high enough so the bottom merely touched the ground. The children loved to go there and climb up on these racks.

A child was first a follower, and as he grew he became a leader in these escapades.

A man let himself down inside. Then the wool from one sheep, which was called a fleece, was cut off by a shearer, wadded up and tied in a bundle.

Next it was dropped into the sack and the man inside tramped it down with his feet. When the sack was full, he could step out. It was sewn up and put on a large rack surrounded with long, upright poles with several other sacks of wool. This had to be hauled or freighted to the railroad at Milford some seventy or eighty miles away.

Early in life father did shearing, and later freighted this wool. It was a trip of about a week out, loaded. Coming back empty was shorter if they couldn't find stuff there to freight back. If they could find such stuff, they would be paid both ways.

On these trips they camped out and carried their own lunch, as they passed through no towns. Father always had a large lunch box. Sort of a big wooden chest with a few utensils. They fried their own bacon, eggs, potatoes, and usually made flapjacks or pancakes. This grub-box with a hinged lid and fasteners and handles was a necessary part of his freighting equipment.

Father, Jim Pace and Albert Taylor came to be pals in the freighting business. They liked to travel in company, sort of a caravan. Then they were not alone at night in desert country.

Jim and Albert drank tea. There were stories around about how the Chinese packed the tea in the big boxes by getting in with their feet. It was said that some of them had leprosy and even lost hair and toe nails in the tea. Jim said, "I'd drink the tea if they found a whole Chinaman."

One morning father cut a lock of hair from his horse's mane and rubbed it hard between the palms of his hands into a tight little wad. After breakfast he dropped it into the tea pot. It clogged the spout when Jim was clearing up, and when he saw it he went white around the gills. He thought he had drunk the tea from around the wad of hair.

After the shearing was done, they took the sheep out to the desert to dip them and range them there for the summer. To dip them they used a wooden trough about two feet wide and fifteen or twenty feet long. It was deep enough so that the sheep went into the dip over their heads.

They sent the sheep through this trough from one corral to another. They used some kind of antiseptic liquid they called "sheep dip". It was to prevent or cure itch or ticks, etc. Along the side of the trough a man or two stood with a sort of shepherd's crook to prevent accidents and keep the swimming sheep on their way.

At harvest time, they cut the grain with a scythe, a long, bent-handle and a long, curved blade attached at an angle. This long, wooden handle had two small handles on it just right to hold by. These small handles stood out from the other at right angles or thereabout. With practice father learned to wield the scythe deftly and could do a good job with it. Then they gathered the grain by hand into bundles, and by taking two lots of four or five strands of wheat each, and tying the heads together they made a long strand which they used to tie the bundles, as they had no string.

Several of these bundles were then stood up together into a shock. Then they hauled and stacked the bundles in the stack yard. Every farm had a stack yard. They always stacked the grain with the stems out and heads inside the stack - probably to keep the crows and other birds from eating the grain.

At first they used a flail and beat the chaff off the grain by hand. They had done it this way from the beginning.

About 1885 a man in Cedar got a brand-new invention and brought it to New Harmony. It was called a "Threshing Machine". Mr. Walker went with his threshing machine all over the area from town to town.

When he came to New Harmony he'd start up at Frank Prince's at one end of town and go from farm to farm down through the town. It was run by horse power. Four teams

hitched to four tongues went round in a circle and turned a long rod that went into the machine and set it going. It took a lot of men to run it. One handled the horses, some pitched bundles, some fed the machine, some stacked the straw, some sacked the grain, and some took it to the granary.

Mostly it was manned by a crew of local men who stayed with it throughout the town, or maybe several towns. The threshing crew followed the machine and was fed by the housewife on whose farm they were presently threshing.

It was a busy time. Aunt Mishie said the kids had to take the knives and forks and spoons down to the creek and scour them bright and shiny by rubbing them in the sand. That crew wasn't going to eat with a tarnished spoon at their home and tell about it later.

They spent days getting ready for the threshing crew. The house had to be clean from attic to cellar. Then after the dinner was over and the great stack of dishes washed and put away, the young people could go to the big bins and stand in the wheat.

The most fun they ever had was to stand in the wheat when the sacks were emptied and feel the wheat flowing down over their bare legs. But father never got in on this fun. He was twenty-four and married before he ever saw a threshing machine. If he got any fun out of it, it was to pour the wheat for the younger ones. There are always two sides of fun.

The women of the town vied with each other in preparing these meals for the threshers. That's one time in their lives when they ate three banquets a day. They were still doing it that way when we went to Canada, but father had long since graduated from the crew, although he worked as hard as any when they were on his place.

After the wheat was threshed it was stored in the granary in bins. If they wanted flour they sacked it up and hauled it to Cedar City where there was a flour mill, and it was ground into flour and bran. They had to wait until the milling was done; then bring it home. They called it going to grist, or taking a grist to the mill.

I've talked a lot about wheat, but the Redds were southerners, and in the south corn is the staff of life. They liked corn in any form. They ate it on the cob; they dried it for winter; they made hominy out of ripe, dried corn; they ground it into corn-meal and ate corn bread.

It took as much work to harvest the corn as the wheat. They picked the ears off the stalks and carried them over beside the animal pens. There they shucked it. Then they took it to a shady spot and shelled it. This they did by rubbing a cob over the ear and removing the kernels from the corn.

Then they hauled that shelled corn, to Cedar City to be ground into corn-meal. I don't think father ever did the trick that one of mother's cousins did. He hauled the corn on the cob loose in his wagon box. They always made their beds on top of the load. He

made his on top of the corn, spread his quilts out there and went to bed. He said he never enjoyed a night like that one. It felt so good when he turned over.

Another big feature of that day was hauling wood. They used wood in the cook stoves and in the fireplaces, and used lots of it. It had to be hauled and cut into stove lengths. At least two went to the mountain or canyon for a load. They took with them nice, sharp axes and a log chain. Each tree had to be cut down by hand and the branches trimmed off. The chain was fastened to the log and to the harness of a horse who dragged it to the wagon.

It might take them several days to get a load, and many loads for a year's supply. This activity also called for a grub-box and camping supplies. Mother always had a pile of big, heavy camping quilts. The year's wood was usually hauled in the fall after the other harvesting was done. Then our wood pile seemed to be as high as the shop or the house maybe. Now, with plenty on hand, they'd pull a log down, one at a time, and cut it into stove wood with the axe. The pile grew smaller and smaller until the next fall, and they had to start all over again. Whole gangs went out to haul wood for the meeting house and for the old and the widows. Maybe then those who didn't haul, and the women, got up a dinner and they had a ward celebration.

Speaking of celebrations, it was a real one to go with his parents and the family up on the mountain or into a canyon to gather pine nuts. They thought it fun to gather great stacks of cones and roast them in the ashes of a campfire, like the Indians did, until they burst and shelled out and roasted the nuts inside. These were then raked up, dusted and sacked to take home to be eaten in the long winter evenings by the fire-light.

Schools were limited to three or four months in the winter. As I remember, my father went only until he was about twelve. And I guess the schools weren't so very good them. (After I had this written I remembered that Aunt Lou was telling me about a woman she met in St. George when she was down there working in the temple. This woman said that when father was in St. George to school she fell in love with him. I wrote her and asked if father really went down there to school and she says he went. She doesn't know much about the particulars, but he went at least one winter. I was glad to know about that.)

I think they had the original home-made benches when I started to school. Anyway, they were home-made and much carved up with pocket knives - so rough that we could hardly write on them. They were double so that two sat together when we were big enough to sit in them.

At first I sat with all the other beginners on a long bench - no desk. We did not know how to write, so why a desk? We sat there all day long and looked at our books. If we talked or made a noise, we got rapped on the head with teacher's pointer.

Once in a while the teacher came and showed us something in the book for us to learn. Then she went to show another group something. All of us, big and little, in one

room, and the teacher was anyone they could get who didn't have anything else to do. None of them had been through high school. Lucky were we if he had been through the eighth grade.

Father always thought that if he had more schooling he would have been better off, so later, when he was able to take the time, he took a correspondence course in bookkeeping. Maybe he felt the need of it when he planned to start his store. The rest of his schooling was received in what is called the "University of Hard Knocks".

Aunt Alice says that they were always making and repairing fences. I guess having all those cattle through the winter was hard on fences. I suppose the cattle themselves did what they could to tear them down, and then the spring thaws and floods did a lot of damage.

By the side of the road, between the wheat and the meadow, there used to be a great log. We loved to climb over it. It had been carried there by a big flood. Things like a flood would call for almost a new fence.

I hardly need to mention such mundane jobs as hauling manure. That and many other farm jobs can be taken for granted. Too, she said they were always planning and building barns, sheds, coops, stables, etc. They never thought of hiring anyone else to do such things, but everybody undertook to do his own building. If a public building were necessary, they joined together and made a party out of it.

Yes, they even had parties. The refreshments were honey candy or molasses candy. They might season it with a weed that grew in abundance about the farm and valley, horehound. I never knew that they could make candy out of sugar, and of course we didn't. They made their own fun and got enjoyment out of very simple things and recreation. They all had to work to exist. That was imperative.

I've told about a lot of things that they did because I can see father as a tot beginning to do some of the simpler parts, and as he grew, taking a bigger part, until he became an expert in each and every one of these activities.

I asked Aunt Alice where he learned blacksmithing. She said he learned it by doing it, like he learned everything else - every other activity and skill. That's the way people learned then - by doing.

When my brother, Will, went to school in Cedar City and took manual training, he said he'd have been much better at it if he'd learned to weld two pieces of iron together in the shop. Every little bit helps.

When William A. was about sixteen, a travelling photographer came to town. The first one the little town had ever had. And of course everybody had to have his picture taken. It would have been folly not to have. They all dressed up in the best they had, and even borrowed things. They even wore things too big because they were fine.

I remember father and mother considering a photograph, tin-type, of Uncle Frank when he was a boy. He had borrowed a fine pair of pants from a much bigger boy for the occasion. They hung about down to his ankles, and father said it looked like he wore a skirt instead of a pair of knee pants. That he would have looked better in a pair that fitted him, regardless of the material and the age of the pants, than in these that were so much too big, even if they had been of velvet.

This photographer used sensitized tin to put the picture on. It was called a "tin-type". They could make only one copy on tin. Films were invented years later where they could make many copies.

Of course, father had his piicture taken. He wore a vest, top-coat, ribbon tie, curly hair and even held his hat. I guess to show that he had one. Aunt Alice says that there is no doubt but that his mother made the clothes that he wore. She, or one of his sisters I think, must have dolled him up for the picture.

This was taken before he went to Arizona with his brother John to freight. When boys were old enough and experienced enough to handle two teams of horses on one wagon, they could get plenty of work freighting. They were, at that time, having to haul all the stuff they used by team. John and Willliam stayed away two years. During this time Father stayed with his sister, Jane, in Mesa some.

She was married and living there. Mother always used to say that she was going to ask Jane for father's picture which was the only one he ever had taken while he had hair. Aunt Alice says she can't remember him when he had hair; neither can Aunt Lou. He gave the picture to his sister Jane when he was there.

Years later Aunt Luella visited Jane in Mexico and borrowed the picture and let Lyman take it for some copies so I was grown up a long time before I ever saw it, though I had heard mother talk about it many times. His later pictures, as you know, show him as bald.

I've tried to find out something about Father while he was in Mesa, but there seems to be no record of the place then. The ward was organized years after he was there. I do know that he met and knew Brigham S. Young and George F. Richards while he was down there. And both men were proud to say that they knew him as a friend in the early days down in Arizona.

He and John came home after two years, for Christmas. I guess he was so glad to get home that he never went back when John did. At that time they were beginning to build the Southern Pacific Railroad and John got a job working on the railroad. Father took up life where he had left it - doing the old jobs he had been doing when he went away; shearing, freighting and doing the work he knew how to do.

Finally he got a job herding sheep and was getting a dollar and a quarter a day when he was married. Twenty-five cents of it was cash and a dollar was in sheep. He was herding for William S. Berry of Kanarra. William S. Berry and Grandpa had known one another for many years - ever since 1862 when Grandpa had moved to New Harmony. They were business associates and loved and trusted each other, as father and Joseph E. Berry came to do years later.

There are snakes in New Harmony - many kinds of them. One kind is called a blow snake. When it is frightened or disturbed or angry, it blows itself up to be much bigger than it normally is, and its scales puff out. It is a good mouser and harmless if not bothered. Grandmother once caught one skimming the cream off her milk pan in the cellar.

The milk had been skimmed before and she had accused some of the children doing it. But they had denied any knowledge of the circumstances.

One day, Aunt Dell went up in the dark room at the head of the stairs to take a bath. This place was unfinished and the uprights were exposed and there were openings down the wall. She started to sit on a chair there, and a blow snake was coiled on it. She screamed and William A. came to the rescue.

The snake had started to crawl away down between the studdings. Father caught it by the tail with a good hold and pulled. It puffed up and wedged itself between the boards. Father could not pull it out. To get a stronger hold he wrapped it around his hand. Then he could pull harder. He pulled so hard he pulled it in two. The head end they never found.

In the church section of the Deseret News of the 22 August, 1959, I find the following:

"Three of the Elders were sitting in the parlor where the meeting was to be held. They were John H. Gibbs, 31, a Northern Utah school teacher; William S. Berry, 46, a large, powerfully-built man; and Henry Thompson, 25, youngest of the three. The three Elders were discussing their recent experiences - threats, warnings to leave the country.

Elder Gibbs picked up his Bible to find a passage of scripture. Suddenly a commotion was heard in the yard. James Condor was shouting to the boys to get their guns. The two burst into the house. At the same time a masked man stepped in the door and began taking Martin's rifle from a rack on the wall.

The mobster then fired at Elder Gibbs, mortally wounding the missionary. Elders Thompson and Berry advanced on the mobster, Elder Berry seizing and holding the barrel of the rifle. Thompson escaped out the door and into the woods as two more masked men entered the room. The two shot down Elder Berry and the Condor boy."

I didn't put it all in, but this is enough for here. That was the man father worked for and this happened only six months after father and mother were married. I think that it is likely that father was looking after his sheep while he was on his mission. Aunt Lou thought so too.

He was in the Kanarra and Harmony Co-op with grandfather, maybe the president. Aunt Alice says that William S. Berry greatly influenced father's life for the better. Father thought a lot of him and of his son, Joseph E. Berry, who was later the bishop of Kanarra.

As you have already guessed, Father lost his hair while he was in Arizona. He said that, while freighting, he wore a large, felt hat without any ventilation in it, and he always thought that was the reason he lost his fair. Be that as it may, he lost it then.

About this time he began to notice Mother. Up until now she had just been a little girl who ran about with his little sister, Caroline. Mother told about the time that she and Aunt Caroline tagged after him and some of the bigger boys and girls when they were going on a spring walk up on the mountain above the farm.

They came to a stream, swollen by the spring thaw; and the big boys carried the girls over it. They couldn't persuade the little girls to go back home, so father picked one up under one arm and another under the other arm and carried them across. I guess he never thought that he would later marry this little snip.

But now it was different. She had grown up and was a big girl, nearly sixteen and she pleased him. He knew, too, that she had good training because his mother had trained her a lot of the time.

His cousin, Jim Pace, now began going with her cousin, Mary Mathis, and they made a foursome much of the time. Uncle Johnnie Bryner said that at one time he was sick and they volunteered to sit up with him. They thought he was asleep but he wasn't and heard them talking. Then and there they made their final decision.

He heard Jim Pace say, as he slapped his knee, "Yes, sir! That's what we will do. We will go to the temple."

William A. was an Elder long before this and was eligible for the temple.

They were married February 27, 1884 in the Saint George Temple, and came back to New Harmony and lived in with his mother and her family.

Having been there so much with Caroline, Grandmother was quite at home. I don't know how long they lived with his folks, but I think it was nearly a year.

Then father bought the little place on the upper street where he later built the brick house. He moved the little frame house over in the next block on the corner across from the meeting house. They lived in the little frame house until after his mission.

I was born in it. Fern was the first one born in the brick house which was built back of the other, which was moved away. I don't know whether Will was born before or after they moved into their own home. It was a little house with two rooms in the front and a lean-to on the back for a kitchen.

When he built the brick house people wondered, and even some asked, how he could build such a house and he so young. He said it was because he had worked hard and never uselessly spent his money, and he had a wife that did the same. None could deny that statement. So they moved into a four-roomed house with a one-roomed basement and a front and back porch.

I don't know how long he worked for the Berry family, but I imagine it was not long. The sheep he took for wages set him up in the sheep business before too long, and he was then on his own.

He and Dode Berry were always the best of friends and liked to play tricks on each other, but all in fun. Like the time when Dode called him up in the night, and when father had such a hard time to find a telephone in the dark, and when he did find it Dode yelled "New Year's gift, Brother Redd."

I guess Papa played tricks on Dode, but he never bragged about them. I know that father often called at the house of the Berry's on his way to and from Cedar City where he often went on church or other business.

They had two children, William born January 7, 1885, and Elda Grace, born October 16, 1886, when he received his call to go on a mission. I don't know the circumstances of his call, but they say that his brother, Lemuel Hardison Jr., said when he received his call, "Papa, I can't afford it."

His father said, "Lem, you can't afford not to."

Uncle Lem said, "Well, So and So refused to go because he couldn't afford it and he is worth many times what I am."

His father said, "Nevertheless, you can't afford not to answer that call."

Uncle Lem went and his life was one of great wealth and influence all his life, while So and So lived and died a pauper. His father, (they called him "Pap" - that was the southern way of referring to their father) probably gave the same advice to his son, William Alexander.

Anyway, William A. left for his mission on February 10, 1887. They had been married three years, lacking seventeen days. He writes:

"Harmony, February 10, 1887 - started from home - it was snowing - a great many of my friends was present to see me off.

- 11th arrived at Milford at dusk was feeling quite blue (two long days of riding in the snow) met Brother Joseph Houston who had been left the day previous was a welcome travelling companion.
- 12th Boarded train for S.L. City was feeling somewhat down when Brother John Turner met us at Nephi who travelled up to Provo he on the way gave us as much good counsel in as few words seemingly as was possible for mortal man to give, which was gladly accepted.
- 13th Sunday went to meeting witnessed a congregation of about 6,000 people Brother L. Snow who was just released from the p. was the preacher -
- 14^{th} Bought my outfit and was then set apart for my mission by Apostle H. J. Grant.
 - 15th at eight o'clock we took our departure for the East."

On the way they passed through Cheyenne, Denver, Topeka, Kansas City, Memphis, Chatanooga and Atlanta. He received his appointment for his mission at Chatanooga, the headquarters of the mission.

Scott Mathison said that he made out the will and probated it of John M. B. Higbee, a descendant of the Higbees of Mountain Meadow notoriety. John M. B. Higbee told Scott that he was a presiding elder in the mission when father went to the mission.

At the priesthood meeting, he explained that he had been given instructions to open up the territory, long since unworked, where Brothers Berry and Gibbs had been killed by a mob. Higbee needed a companion to accompany him on this mission.

After his explanation, he asked for a volunteer. Some shook their heads, but a new man, William A. Redd, was the first one to raise his hand and volunteer to go. He didn't take father. Probably he wanted a more experienced man than this beginner, but it tells that father was willing to meet all calls that came.

From Chatanooga he went to Atlanta, Georgia, and on to Cowpens, South Carolina. There they hired a vehicle to take them to Thickety Mountain, Spartanburg County, N.C., his first field of labour.

Here is where the Watts family lived, for he mentions them repeatedly. I always thought that the Watts family were his converts, but they were in the church when he

arrived at the mission. I can't find Thickety Mountain on the map. Maybe it was only a few farms; maybe they have changed the name.

Maybe it was like the place they directed me to when I was in that area. They said I could see the store from the station. I could see merely the corner of something which proved to be a two-roomed house where the family lived in the back and a few shelves with mighty little to sell on them in the front room. The rest was country filled with forest. I can see that when I consider this place.

Around here were a few friendly people who took the Elders in and listened to them. From here they went in different directions on short trips to find people to talk gospel to. During his first months there he mentions meetings and Sunday schools frequently.

These are some of his entries:

1887 - Feb. 27th - "Sunday held two meetings - considerable interest - went down to Cowpens at night to see Brothers Wright and Fraughten off for home - got back to J. Black's at daylight - slept till noon and heard John Black bear testimony of the blessings of the Lord manifested to him by feeding the servants of the Lord - in a public gathering when Elders Wright and Fraughten were leaving."

April 2nd - "Saturday clear - after B went over to Brother Surratt's and dinner held meeting - Elders Anderson, Ferrin and I talked - was about 28 present - good attention."

"April 3^{rd} - Sunday - clear fine weather - fast-day - held S.S. and meeting - D with sisters Jas. Patterson - stayed all night with John Black."

"April 29th - Friday - took dinner with Sister Watts - helped Wm. Watts plant cotton and took supper with him - stayed all night with Webb Smith."

"May 2^{nd} - Monday - after B turned potato masher" (How many of you remember mother's old wooden potato masher? This is it.) "Stayed overnight with Harrison Bright." (it's too bad father didn't know that one of his genealogical lines was Bright. He met several of them - C. Bright, Theodore Bright, William Bright, Hosea Bright and there was a place called Bright Town). (All these trips about were on foot.)

"May 20th - Friday - go to John S. Black's - received a letter from Alonzo Redd — (I stayed with his son when I was down there.) "took D with Alonzo Canty - green peas - stay all night with Harrison Bright."

"June 8th - Wednesday - go to Brother Robinson's - eat mulberries - go to broad river fishing - had a powerful time - all catch 9 fish, 2 eels - eat strawberries - go home get supper and go to bed - tired out - Sister Robinson wash our clothes after night."

"August 2nd - Tuesday - raining - go out in council with the rest of the Elders, and Elders Blaskwood and Redd appointed to go on a trip up around Island Ford, N.C., to see if we could find anyone who wanted the gospel."

"August 5th - Arose and took breakfast and continued our journey promiscuously through the woods until we felt hungry - stopped at one Mr. Rogers and applied for dinner but was given to understand at once we couldn't eat with him - our next application was at Mr. Miller Kenney's - he gave us dinner - then we travelled on - applied to Mr. James McKenney's to stay all night - we was refused - we then stopped at Mr. Joseph McKenney's who took us in overnight, gave us supper and breakfast - think our fare was begrudged us." (Rutherford Co., N.C.) (returned)

"August 10th - Wednesday - arose - took B - go to Brother Surratt's - bid the folks goodbye - take our grip sack and start on our designated trip in search of the honest in heart in a southerly direction - travelled about 8 miles and called on one Mr. Samuel Littlejohn for dinner who took us in and treated us very kindly - had a gospel chat of about two hours - left him an Articles of Faith and No. 1 tract - travelled on - call on Mr. Burgess (B preacher) for lodging - he kindly refused us - we then called on Mr. Mark Fowler who sent us to Mr. R.C. Littlejohn who, on account of sickness, took us back to the above Fowler to stay overnight and come after us in the morning for breakfast (a gentleman) Union Co., S.C." (walked 15 miles this day)

"August 11th - after B - then on our way slowly, it being very warm - arrive at Mr. Wm. Paris's on Mr. Huse's place about 12 o'clock - take dinner - have a chat with him in regard to the principles of the gospel - he being interested goes and gets a school house for us to preach in and circulates the news - several come to interview us who expressed a desire to hear us preach - in the evening we hold a meeting - about 40 present - good attention and good spirit manifest - after meeting they gathered around to get some tracts and ask questions - received two invitations - appointed another meeting - stay with Mr. Paris." (walked 8 miles that day)

"August 13th - Saturday - warm - reading - Mr. J.F. Blackwood came in - talk awhile and invite us home to D (accepted) - some friends come in - talked about two hours - go to Mr. Jackson Gregory's - hold meeting - had about 50 present - good spirit manifest - after meeting - talk - explaining scripture and singing until about 12:30 o'clock - retire - wore out."

"August 14th - Sunday - arose - took B - go up to Sunday school with Mr. Gregory - on arriving at the place was informed it was going to raise a disturbance so we turned off - had a long talk with a Mr. Whitlock (who had invited us to come and see him) and others who on account of his near and dear neighbours talking to him he refused to take us in so went back to Mr. Wm. Paris's for dinner - spent the afternoon in reading and talking to people that come in - go to Mr. Mace Garner's and hold meeting - about 20 present - quiet prevailed - retired about 10 o'clock.

"August 15th - Monday - arose - took breakfast - start back for Spartenburg Co. - go through without dinner - arrive at Brother Sarratt's about 4 o'clock - supper with Brother Watts - slept with Brother Sarratt." (walked 23 miles that day)

"August 31st - Wednesday - go to Brother Surratt's - read - take dinner - Elder Wilcox and I go out and have prayer - then we start on a trip to Cleveland Co., N.C.

"Sept. 4th - Sunday - breakfast and went on - came to Mr. Wm. Long's in Gaston, N.C. He was not at home so went on after dinner to Brother Gwin's - had a gospel chat till 12 o'clock with some strangers - put in the night there." (walked 18 miles that day)

"Sept. 13th - all the Elders meet - tend to our prayers - then Houston and I take our equipment and start in a southerly direction - take D with Mr. Creek Lee Linder - call at Mr. Sam Littlejohn's - on account of sickness we move on - called on Squire Bonner - he refused to take us in - then we called on Mr. Smith who said we could stay, then repented and sent us adrift - called on Mr. Lipscum who fired us right now (wrathy) says, "I have no use for you - you hadn't ought to be allowed in this country - you had ought to be run out - the first thing you know you won't know nothing - we bade him goodbye and travelled on - we next stopped at Mr. Gochers who took us in and treated us like gentlemen - gave them the gospel until bedtime - had prayer with them and retired." (walked 10 miles today)

"September 19th - after B started up the road and met Mr. John Rippy who invited us to take the day with him - invitation accepted - witness the beginning of cotton for the first time - after D pick cotton awhile - write to my wife - take supper - hold meeting - about 40 present - good order - received no new invitations - go to bed at a reasonable hour."

"September 23rd - then to Mr. Bill Rodes who took us in treated us kindly - his wife was a Red - her father's name was Thomas and grandfather's name John Cross, Ancre, Spartenburg Co., S.C." (walked 10 miles)

"September 24th - when B was over we travelled on and crossed into Laurens Co. - take D with Mr. John Wilbanks of the Methodist faith - spent the afternoon in the woods, reading - stay all night with Mr. G. C. Byrd a very clever gentleman - his daughter gave music on piano and sang - which reminded me very much of home - - " (the little old organ we had in New Harmony belonged to Grandpa) "had a good night's rest."

"September 28th - (after sleeping well in an old gin house) - arose from our slumbers and travelled up the road - take breakfast with a Mr. Young - go to Clinton - call on Mr. Yerby a hotel keeper, for to stay the day but was refused - stopped in a store about an hour - the news went out that Mormon preachers were in town - all seemed anxious to see us - some came in and talked to us, some came to the door and daresn't venture their lives farther, others peeked in at the windows - from there we travelled toward Laurens - took D with Mr. Simpson but he didn't want any gospel - then travelled

on slowly - was taken in at night on first application by Mr. John Godfrey and treated like gentlemen. Very wet and sloppy travelling." 11 miles.

"October 2^{nd} - Sunday - grease up our shoes and trudge along - call at Mr. Sam Tumblin who kept us the day and night - very clever people - the lady never used tea, coffee or tobacco nor never did."

"October 3rd - arose - had B by daylight and went about 2 miles, washed and changed clothes and washed our dirty ones - the first of such work I have had to do. After our clothes dried we continued our travels - called at the house of a Mr. Wood and applied for refreshments and a night's lodging which was granted us - we gave them the gospel by the fireside and sang a few hymns - then retired."

"October 5th - Wednesday - another beautiful morning dawned and after B we found ourselves toddling along the big road - stopped by the wayside to read - a young Baptist preacher came along and invited us to preach in a school house in his neighborhood - we accepted the invitation - we ate dinner with the family of Mr. John Owens, a sanctified man - in the evening about 30 came out to hear - had a very good time - no questions asked after meeting - we ate supper and stay all night with Mr. Boland."

"October 8th - arose this morning feeling much refreshed - after B we continued our travels calling at the residence of Mr. Barksdale - while sitting in the plazza resting I picked up the Goldville paper and saw a short account of our proceeding by the correspondent - myself and companion having passed through there on the 26th of September it was as follows - "One day last week a couple of tramps passed through our neighborhood begging their way, saying they were preachers of the gospel, disciples of the meek and lowly Jesus, which we would advise to be arrested and sent to the nearest chain gang."

After dinner we travelled on - called on Mr. B. Owens to stay with but was refused. A gentleman standing by says, "I will take you up to the next station on the hand car, there is a big meeting going on up there and ministers scarce and they would be glad to have you to help them out, but when the word "Mormon" came up, "that let's me out", says he. We travelled on - called and stayed all night with Mr. Dave Barton." (walked 12 miles today)

"October 11th - after B we start on our way - met J. A. Dacus who invited us to stop for dinner - we did so and preached him the gospel and after dinner we travelled on reflecting on the good times we had anticipated in opening up a field in Laurens, but they were all blited and we had found ourselves in the big road hitting the grit in getting away - called on Mr. Waddle to stay all night but didn't make the riffle - we then called on Mr. A. W. Parker. When he read our certificate and I commenced to tell him about it, he said "See here, do you men want supper?" says I, "Yes, and we want to stay all night with you too." He took us in and we gave him the gospel straight out. He seemed when we left to be quite badly torn to pieces." (8 miles today)

"October 15th - cold and windy - continued our march toward Spartenburg - we had supper with him and went to Mr. D. J. Farr and stayed all night." (17 miles)

"October 18th - after B we continue - stop at Mr. T. Allen's to inquire the way - he invited us to stop for D which we did - had Possom - and toward evening we found ourselves at Brother Pool's where we stayed all night."

"October 27th - another rainy day dawned and after B. Wilcox and Redd go down and take D with Mr. Andrew Smith after which we all went to Bright Town and spent the night with Mr. Morgan Paris."

THERE IS A BREAK HERE UNTIL FEBRUARY 25th when he is moving to another field of labour. A note book is missing. If anyone has it get some stuff out of it for this paper.

1888 - begins here:

"Feb. 28^{th} - had a early B go to Cowpens - I take the train to Spartenburg - go to the Merchant Hotel - stay until after dinner - then boarded the train for Augusta, Ga., where I arrived at 9:20 p.m. - stayed all night at the Central Hotel." (ride on the R.R. about 160 miles.)

"March 3rd - Saturday - Go to Mr. Green's - get some tracts - take dinner with Mr. E. V. Lowe - from there we go to Mr. Nathaniel Walker's - wash all over - hold meeting at night - a goodly number present and a good spirit manifest. We stay all night with Mr. Walker.

"March 8^{th} - another beautiful day - after leaving Mr. Creggs we went to Mr. Lawrence Eubanks - no one at home - go to Mr. William Lowe - no one at home - take dinner with Mr. Evert V. Lowe - go to P. Heath's but on account of sickness we went to Mr. Plunket Tools and stayed all night."

"March 9th - we go and stay all night with Mr. Ransom Lowe."

"March 18th - Sunday - another beautiful day dawned - go without dinner -arrive at Mr. Walker's about 1:30 - meet Jeff Red - hold meeting in the open air - give out what tracts we have - go stay all night with Mr. Edward Key."

"March 19^{th} - after B go lay down in the woods - write letters to J. F. Pace and my wife - go take dinner with Mr. Wiley Lowe - supper and stay all night with Mr. Kenney Key."

"March 22^{nd} - Cold north wind - very disagreeable - write to Aunt Louisa and the children - read to the folks - take D with Mr. Cregg - go over and stay all night with Mr. Wyley Lowe."

- "March 24th Saturday after B go to the branch and take a bath and change clothes take dinner with Bryant. Leave our valises go from there to Mr. Jeff Redd's and stay all night." (walk 15 miles today)
- "March 25th stay with Mr. Jeff Redd until after D then go over to Mr. Calhoun Redd's hold meeting talk until evening go to Mr. Jeff Redd's take supper sing the songs of Zion talk on the gospel until bedtime then we retire."
- "March 26th arose feeling fine remain with Mr. Jeff Redd until after dinner, reading and explaining the gospel rain go down to Mr. Calhoun Redd's take supper then hold meeting have a good time retire at a reasonable hour rain most of the night."
- "March 27th after B start back to Lowe Town through the rain take D with Mr. Bryant go to the P.O., receive letter from father stay the balance of the day with Mr. Bryant and the night rain most of the night."
- "April 3rd spend the day watching the road for the new Elder about 4 o'clock Brother Henry Fairbanks of Payson arrived A (He is the father of Miles and Viola F. Lamar who used to live in Raymond) "All glad to see one another go stay all night with Mr. John Cregg."
- "April 7^{th} after B continue our journey to Mr. Jeff Redd's where we take dinner spend the balance of the day supper and stay all night."
- "April 8^{th} spend the day with Mr. Redd after D hold meeting have a good time supper and stay all night with Mr. Jeff Redd."
- "April 12th Mr. Boyd and family being sick, Brother Fairbanks and I conclude to help him plough and on going to the field my mule took a fright and ran away after we caught her we put in the day ploughing and stay all night with Mr. Joseph Boyd."
- "April 22^{nd} fast day go to the other side of the runns to Calhoun Redd's take dinner hold meeting in the evening have a good time not many present but a good spirit manifested supper and stay all night with Calhoun Redd."
- "April $23^{\rm rd}$ spend the forenoon reading take dinner with Mr. Cally Redd go fishing but failed to catch any replant corn for Mr. Jeff Redd supper sing the songs of Zion and go to bed about 10:30 o'clock at Mr. J. Redd's."
- "April 24th replant corn for awhile plough a little for Cally Redd dinner supper stay all night with Jeff Redd."

- "May 4^{th} go to the office rec. letter from my wife with picture of self and children also rec. letter from pap and coat from Brother Humphrey the Boss stay all night with Mr. J. Cregg."
- "May 8^{th} go to the office get the paper spent the afternoon reading stay all night with Mr. Wyley Lowe."
- "May 17^{th} Thursday after B we go to Brother Anderson's meet the other Elders get our equipment bid the folks goodbye and start for our own field in S.C. weather very warm arrive at Mr. Nat Walker's about 5:30 o'clock where we stay all night."
- "May 28th after a good night's rest and the morning refreshments we start on our way to Graniteville. After a walk of about 9 hours through the hot sun we arrived there and was very kindly received by Mr. Berry Washum's family where we stayed all night talked some on the gospel and retired at a reasonable hour quite tired."
- "June 6th Remain at Mr. Walker's until after dinner write to Brother Humphrey's then go to Mr. Benjamin Boyd's. He not being at home we went to Mr. Wily Lowe's and stay all night."
- "June 9^{th} After B go to the office rec. letters from my wife, Sister Caroline, Elder Ferrin learn of the death of my bro. John W. Redd ate dinner wash and change clothes stay all night."
- "June 19^{th} After taking the morning's refreshments go to the branch and take a bath then go to the office rec. letter from my wife, also a registered letter from Brother Humphreys with one from my wife stating in it that she had sent me \$25.00 go down to the runs stay with Mr. Jeff Redd."
 - "June 20th Stay all day and night with Mr. Jeff Redd."
 - "June 21^{st} Stay with Cally Redd all day and night."
- "July 3^{rd} Go to the office, rec. letters from my wife, Pres. Spry & Brother A. R. Smith, pres. Of the Georgia Conference. Go to Mr. Jeff Redd's and stay the night."
- "July 20^{th} Stay with Mr. Jeff Redd until after B and start back- go to the office rec. letters from my wife and Brother Humphreys stating we were permitted to go to Augusta for the 24^{th} July celebration D and stay all night with Mr. John Craig."
- "July 24th Nine of the Georgia Elders had assembled with the saints to celebrate the day. Called to order at 10 o'clock by William A. Redd who was appointed master of ceremonies. The program was as follows Music by band, singing by the choir, "Oh Ye Mountains High". Prayer by chaplain David F. Fawns. Singing "Up Awake Ye Defenders of Zion". Pioneer speech by pres. A. R. Smith Choir sang, "Come, Come Ye Saints".

Music by the band - speech by John M. Browning - Song by Jadediah Balentine "Latter Day Kingdom", recitation by David Bennion - closing hymn by the choir "Oh Say Have You Seen etc.". Benediction by the chaplain. The barbecue was then made ready and a glorious feast for all present. Thinking the time had not been sufficiently taken up so a meeting was held. Called to order at 3 o'clock by pres. A. R. Smith - after the usual exercises - singing and prayer, William A. Redd was called to address the congregation and followed by pres. Smith. Thus the day closed which was passed without a single word of disrespect or a strong phrase of any name or nature as I heard, something I never witnessed before in my life - I stayed all night at Brother McLittle's, slept with Brother Smith. (This celebration was held at Grovetown, Columbia Co., Ga.)

"July 25th - The Elders all came in and after talking and singing a while we retire to the woods - hold meeting (the eleven Elders). The Spirit of God was present in rich abundance and a time of rejoicing was had by all. All being called to express his feelings, desires and determinations - to speak of the goodness of the Lord as he was so led. After we had all spoken pres. Smith delivered a very interesting and instructive sermon, exhorting all to faithfulness in performing our duties, especially in qualifying ourselves for future usefulness. The comfort, joy and satisfaction that was experienced is beyond description - Brother Smith and I slept together at Brother McLittle's."

"August 7^{th} - arriving at Jeff Redd's about 4 o'clock where we suppered and stayed all night."

"August 8th - Stay all day with Mr. Redd - get Mrs. Redd to wash my coat and vest - read from Daniel 2nd chapter and explain to Mrs. Redd who was a warm investigator. Mr. Darlin Heath came home with Mr. Redd and we preached the gospel."

"August 17th - Board the train for Spartanburg at which point we change cars for Cowpens." (He is going back to his first field of labour after six months away.) "R.R. ride 130 miles - walk to Brother Sarratt's and stay all night - meet Brother Jones on his way to the office." (That was Lehi Jones from Cedar City.)

"Sept. 3rd - After B we go to Brother James Watts spend the rest of the day after D finish writing to my father - Brother Humphrey (conf. pres.) feeling bad concluded to send me to Ocones to visit the Elders and saints in his stead."

"Sept.5th - Get up at 5 - wash and fix for starting. Elder Fairbanks go with me to Cowpens where I take the train for Central (70 miles) where I met Elders Wilcox and Barker with a team to take me to where they were labouring 20 miles distant - arrive at Brother Miles Mosses at about 5 o'clock where we stay all night. Continued rain all day and night."

"Sept. 6th - And still it rains - feeling quite poorly - cause bad cold and a very bad headache - ate dinner with Brother Miles Mosses - start down to Brother Nathaniel Wilson's where we stay all night, but on the way on account of the branches being up from rain Brother Wilcox had to strip twice and carry us across."

- "Sept. 9th Sunday raining fast and pray we hold S.S. and meeting after exercises in S.S. Brother Redd talk to them a short time meeting was called to order by Brother Wilcox after singing and prayer Brother W. talked awhile on the Kingdom of God and also our duties Elder Redd then read from Matt. 10:34-38 and occupy about 3/4 of an hour dwelling mostly on the word of wisdom, occasionally quoting from the scriptures to substantiate my assertions take dinner with Brother Wilson we go stay all night with Brother Samuel Stuart.
- "Sept. 10th After B go down to see the river it was very high from recent rains take dinner with Silas K. Wilson go to Brother Taylor Wilson's supper hold a testimony meeting 13 of the saints bore their testimony to the truth then Brothers Wilcox, Baker and Redd speak a few minutes each and bear testimony. Have an excellent time not one refused to get up when asked stay all night with Brother S.K. Wilson."
- "Sept. 12th Read awhile go out in the woods hold a meeting ourselves talk to one another have a very good time giving our experiences and a short account of our labours and talking over the ways we should walk and talk among the people go and take dinner with Sister Harriet Wilson go from there to Brother Mosses supper and held meeting Brother Redd did the preaching read from 1 Pet. 3, 15 about 40 present good spirit prevail stay with Brother Moss."
- "Sept. 13th read and talk awhile then we go to Brother T. Wilson's Brother B. stay there and Wilcox and I go to S.K. Wilson's take dinner wade little river go to Mr. Gubly Rains hold meeting Redd do the preaching read from Matt. 7:21 from which I take the first principles of the gospel occupy about 55 minutes good spirit prevails stay all night."
- "Sept. 20^{th} After B start for Seneca where I arrive quarter to twelve board the train for Cowpens leave train and walk to Brother Bolen and stay all night." (Ride 80 miles on the train.)
- Oct. 20th Saturday Brother Spry arrive safe and sound conference opened Elders present Pres. Wm. Spry, pres. of southern states mission Hyrum T. Humphries, pres. of south Carolina conf., travelling Elders, Barker, Jones, Wilcox, Jensen, Clark, Burgess, Fairbanks, Johnsen and Redd. 10 o'clock a.m. meeting called to order by Pres. Humphreys who made a few remarks Brother Jones followed, then Pres. Spry addressed us adjourned until 2 p.m. then Barker, Johnsen, Redd and Fairbanks D with Brother Sarratt, supper and stay all night with Brother Evan Watts." (The father of Billy of New Harmony fame.)
- "Oct. 21st Sunday meeting called to order by pres. Humphreys. Burgess, Jensen and Spry addressed the congregation dinner with Brother Evan Watts meeting called to order by pres. H. Elders Clark and Spry did the preaching which closed our conference. In the meantime we held 5 council meetings in the woods, where we received much valuable instruction Brother Humphreys was released to go home with the Nov.

company and Brother Redd to succeed him as presiding Elder (Pres) over the South Carolina conference - we make proposal to Pres. Spry to stay with us another day which he willingly consented to do. I go with Brothers Fairbanks and Barker and stay all night with Brother Bolin." (This Pres. Spry was later governor of Utah.)

"Oct. 25th - write to Miss Emily Redd of Wilmington, N.C. - rain all day." (Lura says "When I was in Wilmington in 1918 I stayed with this Emily Redd and read the letter that father wrote to her. I've wished ever since that I had copied it. He was preaching "gathering" to her which has been discontinued for many years.")

"Oct. 28th - Sunday - go to Brother Sarratt's meet the rest of the Elders. Hold S.S. and meeting. A general good time and lots of the Spirit of the Lord was enjoyed. Sister Robinson being sick sent for some of the Elders. Brother Clark and I go down and administer to her. She was instantly healed by the power of God. Sing the songs of Zion."

"Nov. 9th - Brother and Sister Roop were going down toward Cowpens to visit some of their relatives - left Brother Fairbanks and I with the house as we were going to the office when the mail came (with the understanding that we would lock the door when we left. They left the breakfast dishes dirty on the table, the beds unmade, the ovens and lids scattered around the fire as they had been used while cooking, the bread tray uncovered and exposed to mice, cats and flies, the churn with the fresh churned milk in it uncovered also, the floor unswept - in fact as it is generally termed by housekeepers - it was left upside down. We go to the office - rec. letters from wife, Elders Burgess, Wilcox, Barker and Jones. Write a note to Pres. Spry. Also write to Elders Wilcox and Burgess - stay all night with Brother Sarratt."

"Nov. 18th - Sunday - go to Brother Sarratts - hold S.S. and meeting - not many present - a good spirit manifest - D, S and stay all night with Brother Evan Watts."

I don't have any more of his mission journal. I remember him saying that when he was released he didn't have the money to come home. Then the church didn't pay their way home as they do now.

He went to Mr. Black who has been mentioned many times. Mr. Black was not a member, but a very good friend. He was a Justice of the Peace or some such thing and stood out on the courthouse steps and gave quite a speech.

He said he was going to lend this man \$50.00. He had been out here paying his own way for them and their welfare. He wouldn't lend anything to a sectarian minister, but he was going to lend it to this man, Mr. William A. Redd from Utah, because he would pay it back. He was an honest man and could be trusted.

Too, this is not nearly all of the journal I have. As you will note, I have put in only the entries of a few days in each month that I have. He has an entry for every day.

From "L.D.S. Biographical Encyclopedia", Vol I, p. 539, 1903 Edition, by Andrew Jensen:

William Alexander Redd, bishop of New Harmony ward, Washington Co., Utah, born Sept. 19, 1861, in Spanish Fork, Utah Co., Utah. When but one year old he moved with his parents to New Harmony, Washington Co., Utah, where he has ever since made his home. From his early youth a belief and a firm faith in God had been deeply implanted in his heart. During his early manhood he held several minor offices in the church. These privileges helped to prepare him for the greater callings that later in life were required of him. Patriarch John Smith, in a patriarchal blessing told him that he was chosen at his birth to be a messenger of glad tidings unto the people in gathering scattered Israel, and it was his calling to preside among people. In obedience to a call from President John Taylor, he filled a mission to the southern states in 1887-89. During his sojourn there he labored part of the time as president of the South Carolina conference. He was ordained a bishop and set apart to preside over the New Harmony ward September 15, 1890, by Apostle Francis M. Lyman, since which he has labored diligently and successfully in that calling. With his wife, Mary Verena Bryner, whom he married February 27, 1884, he is raising a nice family of children.

A Tribute to William A. Redd by Brigham S. Young:

After an acquaintanceship of several yeaars, if I were asked to name his outstanding quality, I could unhesitatingly say, "Dependability," a sterling man who served efficiently in every position he occupied, kindly, forceful and reliant. The kind of a man you could tie to, in short, the sort of a man most needed in every progressive community. He had, too, what is rare in staid man, a rare sense of humor, which gave his seeming gravity a sympathetic and friendly buoyance. He filled with honor many important offices in both civic and religious life and seemed always to possess the faculty of being right. he complied with the highest law given to man. He and his wife observed, literally, the divine fiat, increase and multiply and replenish the earth and subdue it. A highly successful tiller of the soil, a family man whose children are exceptional physically, mentally and spiritually. They have proven the fine citizenship he taught them. They could scarce be any other, as they always had before them the example of what is most valuable to society, a poised, God-fearing father.

Among others, I was at his bedside just prior to his passing. For some years I have seen what indicated the effect of the ordinance of administration, and on a table near where he was lying I saw an hour glass, the sands of which were all but exhausted. There came to me the conviction that this was our last meeting in mortality.

As I look at him over the years, I can say, "Among the most successful men I have ever known, stands my valued friend, William A. Redd."

A Tribute from Pres. Heber S. Allen, whose counsellor William A. Redd was:

Dear Sister Ursenbach,

I was not aware that I waited so long to reply to your letter of Oct. 26, but have been trying to get the harvest finished, but have not done so as yet.

I have always thought that your father was one of the finest men I have ever met. Dependable, intelligent, industrious, valiant and sincere in all things that he undertook. As a ward teacher, one was always sure that the visits would always be made on time and efficiently. As a high councillor, his judgment was always of high order, and sound and just. As a counsellor in the stake presidency, he labored with us harmoniously with a sincere and ardent desire to help establish truth, faith and righteousness in the hearts of the people with whom he came in contact. His own heart, I firmly believe, was throughly converted to the restored gospel and he impressed others with this fact.

He was a peace-maker and many times he was given the task of 'pouring oil on the troubled waters' and was successful in bringing harmony where discord had prevailed.

I was very much shocked when he was taken away so suddenly, but have always cherished my associations with him as my most pleasant memories.

Your brother, H. S. Allen

* * * * *

WILLIAM A. REDD

Brother W. B. Betts of California, who lived at Raymond about 1902-1912, told me in Los Angeles, March 11, 1956, that he was present when George Fairbanks of Raymond was administered to by the Priesthood. Brother Fairbanks said he was going to die because he saw his dead sister there waiting for him. However he was administered to, and the anointing was sealed by Bishop Wm. A. Redd. According to Brother Betts' statement, he had never heard a man pray as Bishop Redd did upon this occasion. He felt that Bishop Redd, in his prayer, was giving his own life in exchange for that of Brother Fairbanks. Three days later, Bishop Redd died.

Signed by Harold R. Laycock

Hans Ulrick Bryner

REMEMBRANCES OF THE 75th BIRTHDAY OF HANS ULRICH BRYNER (Dictated by himself to his niece, Annie, the daughter of his brother Casper. There are a few lines missing at the beginning.)

Father was strict and made us mind,

Mother was good-hearted and very kind;

Father was a shoemaker by trade, and I had to carry them here and there,

Sometimes I did not come home when he wanted me to come back,

and for this I got many a scolding.

He took out his watch and gave me time to come back and go to school again.

When I was ten years old, father bought a large farm,

Mother was told to quit weaving and spinning shoe thread yarn.

Father taught me to prune, to plow and to mow,

Mother took my sisters into the garden and taught them to hoe.

Knitting, spinning and weaving had to be done at night.

Father fixed the shoes and I had to sit by his side.

He gave me the Bible and gave me a light,

I had to do something, to read or to write.

They did not allow us to spend our money for dances or show,

But when there was real pleasure, they allowed us to go.

We went to school from six to twelve,

And in this we did very well.

Father and mother were good to provide,

We always obeyed and stood on their side.

And now we feel happy that is the way way we have been raised,

For that is more than gold and silver are worth.

I will tell you now what happened to me,

In January of eighteen hundred and forty three,

I was sick and lay in my bed,

One of my school-mates who was always at my side, took very sick and died.

When they told me, it worried me so that I thought that I

might be laid by his side.

I will tell you now what I did see,

A heavenly vision came to me,

A man came to me and took me by the hand,

And led me in darkness half round the world,

I did not see him, no mountain nor tree,

No street, no city, no light, until we came on top of the earth,

And heaven opened above our heads,

Then a bright light came down, and behold I did see,

The city of Zion was shown to me.

It shone like gold, like silver, like glass,

No one can have an idea how pretty it was.

I saw a big wall and three gates therein,

Where the righteous and holy were allowed to go in.

I wanted to climb up and go in there too,

The man held his hand before me and said, "That you can't do,

The time is not yet granted for you,

But the time will come if you are faithful and true,

'Twill be granted for you to go in there too."

I looked at his face and noticed his size,

His gray whiskers and peculiar eyes.

He was a man I had never seen before,

After that he never said anything more.

That vision came to me by day and by night,

And I could not forget that wonderful sight,

I always thought it meant a dark night,

I did not know that I was going to be blind.

I wondered what would become of me,

But it was not revealed before eighteen hundred and fifty three.

After that sickness I was healthy and stout,

I worked hard for ten years and learned to provide.

For all kinds of labor to do we were willing,

For this fetched us in many a shilling.

We assisted our parents and we are glad we did that,

For if we had not, we might be in the old country yet.

I worked at my trade and learned to provide,

I chose my companion and married my bride.

We lived happy together and she bore me a child.

They were in my favor, I loved tham and felt to rejoice.

Two happy years passed by, we were happy and free,

When the child was twelve years old, she was taken from me,

And buried in the place called Harmony,

The only one of twenty I ever did see.

She is now in heavenly care,

Now we know her mother is there,

Who was taken from me on the first of September of ninetythree.

I will tell you now what happened to me,

I received a stroke in my eyes in the winter of fifty-three,

That was an awful accident to me;

I lost my sight and could not see,

No one was able to comfort me.

One day my wife and child sat by my side

We felt so bad we had to wipe our eyes.

My wife and my parents divided their tears with me,

They felt so bad because I could not see.

We felt so sorry we were afraid our future happiness was destroyed.

My mother-in-law came in and said, "You can do nothing but pray,

Maybe the Lord will open a way,

I believe the Lord has his hand in that,

It's something we cannot understand yet."

She said, "It's always a whispering voice says to me,

Don't feel sorry that Bryner took blind, he is not left,

It's good for you all, but you don't know it yet."

She went out, and came in again and repeated over again,

"Don't feel sorry that Bryner is took blind, he is not left,

It's good for all, but you don't know it yet."

Then she went out.

My parents, brothers and sisters were kind to me,

They were all willing to provide for me,

But life was no comfort to me,

I could not feel happy, and have no more joys,

I felt that the Lord had thrown me aside.

Four sorrowful months passed by until the latter part of July.

One morning I told my father and mother to listen,

For last night I had a wonderful vision.

My father, mother, brothers and sisters did listen

When I explained my wonderful vision.

I found myself in a great dark room,

It was as dark as it would be in doom.

Three fires appeared of a different size.

I opened my eyes and beheld a man stood by my side.

I looked in his face and noticed his size,

His gray hair and peculiar eyes.

He was the same man I had seen before.

Who led me half round the earth ten years ago.

He had an open book in his hand I had never seen before.

He crossed out my sins from the book, and they fell to the floor.

A voice told me "That middle fire you will have to go

I said "I am able to stand that too."

The walls cracked open so wide we could go through,

The light came in as bright as day noon;

The road to Zion was shown to me,

And to get there we crossed the sea.

With my wife and child, we crossed the sea, and a great company.

We landed at Boston, happy and gay,

We called at New York which was on our way.

We had a long journey, I think it was that great prairie

Into the mountains, the same place I had seen before.

A lady who had listened wanted to interpret my vision,

She said we would go to America to hunt a physician.

This did not satisfy my interpretation,

As it did not correspond with my former visitation.

Father said he would be willing to go,

But we always thought we would like to learn more.

The interpretation was not given before

February, eighteen hundred fifty four,

When we hard a man from America to our city came,

A Mormon elder, George Meyer by name.

My sister went out to hunt for him.

I told her to see if it was the man I had seen in my dream;

She could not find him, he had gone again.

Next Sunday he held his first meeting there,

And with my father and sisters, there were six to hear.

I described the man I had seen in my dreams.

As quick as they saw the elder, they knew it was him.

They invited him to come next day to our home,

He preached to us many things we had never known;

I said to myself "We have always read but never understood,

But all he did say, we could not dispute.

We thought he had preached to us a new gospel,

We found it corresponded with the teachings of the ancient Apostles.

All our family was anxious to hear,

When he said an angel from heaven had appeared.

He said the angel Moroni had appeared to a young boy, Joseph Smith,

He gave him all the revelations he did need.

Four years he did visit him,

through,"

Then the golden bible was given to him,

Which was the history and bible of this continent.

The doctrine in it corresponded with the Old and New Testament.

He said the church of Christ must be organized,

The people must repent and be baptized.

The judments of God have commenced,

The Lord wants to gather the Latter-day Saints.

To Zion you must go in order to be saved,

For those who will not obey will be destroyed.

Then in the family of Bryner and Mathys, twelve were baptized,

We all felt happy and rejoiced.

My mother-in-law came in and said "Can you tell me a man

That looks like the man you saw in your dream?"

I told her his name and she said "It is the man I have picked too.

And now we know your vision is true."

Now our sorrowful tears were wiped from our eyes,

We felt happy and thanked the Lord and wept for joy.

We see now that the Lord accepted our prayer,

When we heard that heavenly messenger missionary.

In a few days the elder laid hands on me,

To restore my sight, so they anointed me,

He wished none in the room but mother and me,

But there were two ladies who wished to see.

Our faith was strong and the Lord heard our prayers.

His power was made manifest, and I could see a little next day,

I felt so happy and contented in mind,

I did not care if I had been taken blind.

The daily news stated "If this man gives Bryner his sight,

We will believe and be baptized."

Next day as I lay in my bed,

An evil spirit came very near choking me to death,

I felt as if in my head he had made a hole,

And I cried out loud "In the name of Jesus Christ let me alone!"

I arose from my bed to find out where the spirit came in,

My parents awoke and I told them what had happened to me,

They said "Oh, go back to bed, it is only a dream."

Next morning I tried to see, as I had done the day before,

But was frightened to find that I could see no more.

I went upstairs and told one of the ladies who wished to see,

She said "The same spirit came and oh, how hard he choked me!"

I had to promise him, if he would let me alone,

I would have nothing more with the Mormons to do,

And the spirit left." And she never joined the church.

They did not weaken my faith,

I kept God's commandments, as was my desire.

For it was shown in my vision

That I should go through a fire.

I bore my testimony to all my brothers and sisters.

After this they wanted to ordain me a teacher.

As I did not feel able, so I refused it,

But after a while I found I had missed it.

Another vision was shown unto me.

I was standing in a meadow and

I saw a fire a half mile from me,

I walked up to it and wanted to see.

Therein was a man's face, he looked at me,

I had to run back so the fire would not catch me.

I ran and fell down, and a man's face above me I could see.

A voice came from above and said, "Will you always do what is required of you?"

I answered "I am willing to obey whatever you say."

At a public meeting I related my dream.

The elder wished to know if I was ready to be ordained.

It had been revealed to me that I should go through a fire before,

Then I resolved to refuse no more.

When we emigrated to Zion we went the same road

Which was revealed to me in my vision before.

In a sailing ship we crossed the sea,

Forty-two days we had to remain in the sailing ship of Enoch Train.

We landed in Boston happy and gay,

We were called to New York for that was our way.

As near as I remember

We started from Florence the first of September.

From there across the prairie one thousand miles we had to go,

And by ox team, they went so slow.

The latter part of our journey,

The ground was covered with snow.

My legs were frozen, and my teamster's too,

So my dear wife was left with three sick,

The cooking and driving to do.

Before we came to Devil's Gate, people and oxen were frozen to death.

We were compelled to leave wagon and everything.

Brigham sent teams from Salt Lake and they took us in.

If Brigham had not sent help,

A great many more would have left this world.

When we came to the mountains there were nine feet of snow.

The people had to tramp it before the horses could go.

Three months we had travelled, hardly a house could be seen,

And we never met anyone who would tell us to come in.

We travelled through rain, mud, wind and snow,

Our wagons being the only shelter where we could go.

My brother and sister emigrated the year before me.

When they heard of our coming, he came a hundred miles to meet me.

He missed us and did not find our way,

He never knew if we were alive or dead

So he had to go back to Salt Lake City again.

We came in the same night my brother came in.

The night was so cold a kind family took us in.

Next morning he came, and when I heard his voice

I could not speak, for I had to wipe my eyes.

Thirty miles to Lehi we had to go.

It was a very cold day and the ground was covered with snow,

With a hayrack wagon and an ox team we went so slow.

My sister and my wife's brother were there,

Were kind to us and willing with us everything to share.

Together we all had much to say, we were so happy to meet again.

Next summer father, mother, my sister and my son came in.

They also had to travel with an ox team.

It is hard to imagine how happy we felt.

We all felt to rejoice that our lives had been spared.

My sister related what had happened to them on the plains.

The cholera came and took away many of the saints –

About two hundred people. Some died on the road,

Some of their names were found written on a board.

Many accidents took place, many died and were buried

Without a coffin in the grave.

The same year they came, the grasshoppers destroyed nearly everything.

I also told them what happened to me.

We had a stampede and a woman was killed.

My wagon tipped over and an old lady and my child nearly killed.

From the effects of this hurt the old lady died.

We called the elders and they administered to my child.

They said the Lord would not take her from me,

For she would be my guide.

At the last crossing on the Platte river we were snowed in.

Three companies came together and eleven days we had to remain,

The handcart company being a half mile ahead.

One night there were sixteen persons frozen to death,

Some more died on the road.

The ground was so hard no graves could be dug,

They were covered with snow.

In Devil's Gate we divided the teams,

To the handcart company we gave thirty teams.

Two families in one wagon must go,

For those who had charge of the companies ordered it so,

For the oxen had died and teams we did lack,

One third of the wagons were left back.

Many things could be gathered up on the road,

Which people had thrown from their wagons to lighten their loads.

And we could tell many things more.

Father and mother had many things to tell

Of their trip, and many experiences as well.

One day they had a big stampede,

A dog came by and frightened the team,

The oxen ran away and a man and a woman were killed.

Father's team ran away, mother and my son were in,

Father was hurt and was picked up for dead,

The team was stopped. Father came to his mind all right again,

But his arm was broken, and what a bad fix they were in.

This way he had to drive his team,

But mother did all she could to help him.

Now we have all told our troubles,

And we think our children have no reason to grumble.

The Lord could see what trouble his people had,

So the world was stirred up so a railroad must be made.

And now the sectarian ministers were made to rejoice,

For they thought now the Mormons could be easily destroyed.

It was said that the government much money had spent,

For they thought now that an army could be easily sent.

But all their notions and plans did fail,

For other purposes the railroad was made,

For the Lord's power will ever prevail.

How easy now, speedy messengers are sent,

Now the judgments of God have commenced,

And how quickly they gather the Latter-day Saints.

In the fall of sixty-one we were called to Dixie land,

And we all obeyed Brigham's command.

And to get there we travelled through storm and snow,

Through rocks and sand we also had to go.

We were to build a city called St. George,

There we were to build the house of the Lord

In which will be an endless mission.

Blessed are those who will go and redeem their former relations,

And open their prison doors, Prepare for their resurrection

And even so for their own.

If we want exaltation we will have to do so.

What a great mission we should be willing to do,

For our former relations number millions

And Latter-day Saints are but few.

If this great work should be neglected,

Some of our blessings would be rejected.

How happy will be our meeting again

With those whom we have redeemed behind the veil.

I hope then to see you all inside of Zion's City wall,

Those whom I have never seen before,

When we shall be allowed to walk on the golden floor

In the City of Zion I have seen before.

The Dixie land we are now in

No house for shelter for us to get in,

We lived in tents and the red sand could blow in.

There were no stores for us to go in.

We had no money to pay a bill

And my father made me a spinning wheel.

We raised some cotton and mother gathered it in.

She also did the carding and it was ready to spin.

She spun the warp and the filling.

She did the coloring with dug roots.

After it was done it looked pretty good.

She spun the thread for the dress to be made.

Brigham said it was the best homespun thread he ever had in his hand.

Hundreds of yards she did spin with that old-fashioned spinning wheel.

In those days there were no machines in the land

And everthing had to be done by hand.

Nearly a century has passed since father and mother came on this earth.

My father went to rest in sixty-two, Mother's age was past ninety-two.

In ninety-six she went to rest.

They were clothed in their wedding dress.

From their sins they were pronounced free,

And they received the heavenly key,

Free from the blood of this generation

To come forth in the morning of the resurrection.

I wish my children every one

Would study and do what has to be done.

Go do the work while you are able

And do not wait until you are feeble.

Nearly half a century has passed

And we are grateful to know

That the Lord has blessed us so.

Remember your mother since she had died

For forty years she was your father's guide.

She was taken from me the first of September ninety-three.

All of our family who joined the church

Were permitted to Zion to go.

Only Mother Mathys - she went to her heavenly rest,

And told her husband to take my sister to Zion and give her a home.

They emigrated to Zion in eighteen hundred and sixty-four.

He showed his faith by his works

In helping to emigate so many of the poor.

He was sick on the road, but sickened and died

In Lehi, January eighteen hundred and sixty-five.

Mathys did not only emigrate so many of the saints,

But he paid for the printing of one thousand copies of the Book of Mormon.

Rhoda Wheeler

Biography of Rhoda Wheeler Hill

Genealogical Society of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints

In a small town in Southern Tennessee there lived a family noted for their generosity, simplicity and faithfulness. They numbered twelve in the family of which Rhoda Wheeler was the fifth child. She was born the 24th of May 1823, Monroe County, Tennessee. Her mother, Margaret Gowan Wheeler, died when she was very young leaving her to assist with the younger children as she only had one sister her senior. One night her father was sitting up rather late, when all at once the room became very bright. He immediately went to the door and saw the stars falling like rain. He aroused his children. Rhoda said, "I shall never forget the sight, nor the counsel my father, Samuel Wheeler, gave me at that time saying, "My children if we could live to enjoy the light from Heaven as you see now, every heart will e'er be filled with joy." Hence years passed and father married again. About the same time, I became acquainted with Return Richard Hill. Return Richard was born October 13, 1817, we were married the year of 1841, a few months before I was 18 years old. Some years later we removed to Dade County, Missouri. At this time we were blessed with four little children and means to make us comfortable. Just about this time my brother-in-law, George Washington Hill, came to our home and said he came to bring the glad tidings of the Gospel to us. We made up our minds he was lost to us and that the Mormons had stolen his wife. He tried to reason with us and begged us to listen to him, finally he spoke to us about saving our loved ones who had gone on before. This was very interesting to me as I had a dearly beloved mother on the other side and if I could reach her with those blessings I was a willing listener. Often we talked until the wee hours of the morning. I and my husband stayed up the remainder of the night reading the Book of Mormon. Next morning we were willing converts to the truth and were ready to give over all for the gospel. We joined the church and immigrated here in the early fifties with oxen or rather a cow and oxen for our team. The cow was milked for the aid of little children. One day our cow got sick and we were compelled to remain behind. We both asked God in prayer to help us and help our cow get well. We were then warned to let the cow and oxen feed a few hours on the grass just over the next knoll. While we were there a large Indian rode up to the wagon and asked for money and things, I could not understand, my youngest child was lying there very sick and he said, I will kill papoose and raised his bow and aimed at him.

I looked him in the eyes and said you can't do it. God won't let you do this. He rode off saying Scotch Wigwo Squaw, I never knew what it meant till years later when I was placed in this valley of the mountains. We made our home at Ogden, Utah.

It was here that my husband was called to the other side to deliver the glad tidings of joy to those who had passed on. We dreamed he was to leave on a mission in 1853, which date he departed from this life. This was a sorry time to me and I felt I could hardly brave the winds with five small children. I fought

with life and struggled on. The crickets were terrible and caused many privations. Finally a good sister of the Relief Society called on me and encouraged me to lift my heart and soul from dark dismay to a light which beamed from my eyes through out my life.

She loved the Relief Society and particularly the teachers whose hearts opened the doors to her soul through prayer and little acts of kindness when in distress. Years later she lived with her youngest son, James Allen Hill, and I, Rhoda Hill Jackson, was the favored one sharing her bed. She taught me to love prayer and the gospel by her daily acts. Often in the early morning I would awake to find her offering up the grandest and most humble prayer. She was head teacher in Relief Society in the ward and though humble and very unassuming in her gentle way, she won the love and respect of all. She called me to be a helper in getting the Sunday eggs to assist in building the Manti temple and I used to say to my mother, "Save the eggs for me" and she would save them for days. It was a fact--the eggs were laid much heavier on Sunday. This was another proof to the divinity of the work. One day she called me to go with her to visit two blocks I had not been too before. They called me the youngest sister teaching, being only 14 years of age. Why she wanted to give me this change I could not understand, as she didn't say much, but although she didn't say much her example was a light unto all. As we entered one home the family was very poor and distressed, under the circumstance the mother was not able to do much. We cleaned her home and made two small aprons for the little girls. She knew I loved to sew so that was my portion. Then she undone a parcel that she brought from home with little infant clothes in it. The woman gave a cry of relief and called her a savior and a guide. I shall never forget the joy it gave to that sister, nor will I forget the quiet way she talked to me not to speak of it.

The thing that worried me was she called Grandma a saint and a guide. Well, in later years I learned how she saved many from the pitfalls by the spirit of Relief Society work.

She died a full fledged Relief Society mother, a kind and true latter Day Saint, and to her dying day I never heard her speak a cross word in any way. She passed away the 2nd of July 1900 at Price, Carbon County, Utah.

This biography compiled by her granddaughter, Rhoda Hill Jackson. Typed by Carma Heilesen

The Redd Family Name

THE NAME AND FAMILY OF REDD Compiled by THE MEDIA RESEARCH BUREAU,

Washington, D.C.

The name of Redd is believed to have been originally used as a nickname, having reference to the red hair or ruddy complexion of its first bearers. It is found in ancient English and early American records in the various spellings of Rede, Redde, Reede, Reade, Reide, Reid, Redd, and others, of which several of the other forms are more generally used today, but that of Redd is still frequently found in America.

Families of this name were resident at early dates in the English Counties of Norfolk, Suffolk. Somerset, Kent, Worcester, Oxford, Surrey, Hereford, Buckingham, York, Gloucester, Lincoln, Middlesex, Devon, and London, as well as in various parts of Scotland and Ireland. They were, for the most part, of the British landed gentry and yeomanry.

The family was represented as early as the year 1139 by one Brianus le Rede (Brian the Red), from whom was descended William le Rede of Counties Norfolk and Suffolk in the early part of the following century, who was the father, by his wife, Margaret Granville, of Robert, who was the father of Falfrinus, who was the father of Robert, William and Thomas, of whom the last was the father of a son also named Thomas, who was living in the year 1429 and was the father of a son named Edmund, who married Christiana James and was the father by her of John Edmund, of whom the latter was the father of Edmund Rede, Lord of Porstal. John, the elder of the lastmentioned brothers, became Mayor of Norwich and was the father of Henry, Edward, and Magdalina, of whom the son Edward married Inez, daughter of Sir Humphrey Stanley, and had, among others, John, Sir Bartholomew of London, and Sir Robert of London, of whom the son John married Joan Ludlow and died in 1502, leaving, among other children, a son named Thomas, who was the father by his wife, Philippa Bacon, of William, John, Alan, Edward, and Thomas, of whom the first was married in 1538 to a Miss Tooley, by whom he had issue of Thomas, William, and six daughters. Of the lastmentioned brothers, William, the younger, married Anne Fearnley and was the father by her of Sir William and Richard, of whom the first married Gertrude Paston, who gave him two sons, Thomas and Francis, and numerous daughters as well; and Thomas, the elder brother of William, married Margaret Quintz or Quince and was the father by her of Francis, George, and John, of whom the last was the father by his wife, Ursula Cooke, of Thomas and others.

Among other early records of the family in England are those of Robert le Rede of County Surrey in the early thirteenth century, those of Godwin le Rede of County Norfolk in 1273, those of Roger le Rede of Herefordshire about the same time, those of Martin le Rede about the year 1327 and those of William Red and Robert le Rede of Somersetshire during the same period.

The first of the name in America were David Red of an unknown part of Virginia in 1637, Robert Rede of Warwick County, Va., in 1645, and John Redd of Lancaster County, Va., in 1654. The records of the immediate families and descendants of these early settlers, however, have not been found.

Sometime before 1729 James Redd, who may possibly have been descended from one of the above-mentioned immigrants, was living in Virginia. He married a Miss Eastham prior to this date and was the father by her of, probably among others, a son names Samuel, who made his home in Caroline County, Va. In 1755 this Samuel married Lucy Rogers, by whom he was the father of Fannie, William, Jesse, Lucy, Ann, and Samuel.

William, eldest son of Samuel and Lucy, married Miss Tyler of Caroline County, but his records are not complete.

Jesse, second son of Samuel and Lucy, married Mary Woodson of Goochland County, Va., but his records are equally incomplete.

Samuel, third son of Samuel and Lucy, was married in 1797 to Elizabeth Taylor of Hanover County, Va. He was the father by her of Lucy Anne, Edmund, Elizabeth, Taylor, Samuel, Emily Harris, Sarah, John Robinson, James Temple, and Louisa.

James Redd, probably a member of another branch of the above-mentioned family, was living in Spotsylvania County Va., before 1750. He was the father by his wife Elizabeth of Captain Thomas Redd, who settled in Woodford County, Ky., after the Revolutionary War and was the father there of, among others, a son named Samuel. This Samuel married Dorothy Bullock and was the father of, among others, a son names Waller Bullock.

Yet another branch of the family in America was represented before 1750 by Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, Va., who was born about 1730 and may possibly be another son of the first-mentioned James Redd of Virginia. This Thomas was the father by his wife Frances (nee Anderson) of Charles Anderson, Polly, Sally, Patty, George, John, Thomas, William, and Fanny.

Charles Anderson, son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Elizabeth Gresham. He was the father by her of, among others, a son named Albert Gresham, but the records of this line are not complete.

John, son of Thomas Redd of Prince Edward County, married Mary Truman in the latter part of the eighteenth century and was the father by her of Elbert F., Nancy, Elizabeth, Joseph T., John W., Henry T., and Susan Truman.

Another John Redd, a Major in the Revolutionary War, who was born in Albemarle County, Va., in 1755, settled at an early date in Henrico or Henry County, in the same colony. By his wife, Mary, daughter of Colonel George Waller of Henrico County, he had issue of Annie, (Colonel) James Madison, Elizabeth, Martha, Waller, Edmund, Burwell, Polly C., Lucy Dabney, Dr. John Giles, Overton and Carr.

Of the above-mentioned sons of Major John and Mary Redd of Henrico County, Colonel James Madison married Ruth Penn Staples; Waller married Keziah Staples; Edmund Burwell married Sarah Ann Fontaine and had issue by her of Martha, Mary, Celestia, Polly, Ella, John, William Spottswood, James S., and Edmund Madison; Dr. John Giles married Apphia Fauntleroy Carter; Overton married Martha Fontaine; and Carr died young.

Thomas Redd was living in Halifax County, Va., in the latter eighteenth century (will dated 1823) and left issue there by his wife Rebeckah of Rebecca, of George William, Rebeckah, Thomas, James Tucker, Robert Hoyt, Anderson Cooke, Martha James, Eliza, Sally, Amanda Mayo, and Ann. This Thomas also mentioned his brother Robert of Macklenburg County, Va., but no further record of that line has been found.

The history of the Redds in America is that of a sturdy, self-reliant, resourceful, and courageous race, possessed of physical stamina and perseverance. Other characteristics of the family include generosity, kindliness, and sociability.

Among those of the name who served as officers in the War of the Revolution were the before-mentioned Captain Thomas and Major John, of Virginia; and numerous others from the various other Southern States. There were also many of the name in the ranks of the various States.

John, Thomas, Edmund, Edward, Francis, Robert, David, Samuel, James, George, and William are some of the Christian names most favored by the family for its male progeny.

A few of the many members of the family who have attained distinction in America at various times are:

John Redd (b. 1755, deceased) of the South, author.

George Redd (latter 18th and early 19th centuries), of Virginia, agriculturist and author.

John T. Redd (early 19th century), of Missouri, politician.

Rebecca Fergus Redd (early 19th century), of New York, novelist.

Annie Bell Redd (latter 19th and early 20th centuries), of Georgia, botanist.

Richard Menefee Redd (latter 19th and early 20th century), of Kentucky, soldier and author.

Leonard B. Redd (early 20th century), of North Carolina, jurist.

The best known of the Redd, Red or Rede coats of arms are described as follows (Burke "General Armory" 1884):

Arms.L (Redd or Rede) — "Azure, a griffin segreant or."

Crest. — "A garb or, banded gules."

Arms.II(Red) — "Argent, a mullet between three annulets gules, within each a cinquefoil of the last."

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Lower, Dictionary of Family Names. 1860

Bardsley, English and Welsh Surnames. 1901

Burke, Dictionary of the Landed Gentry. 1852

Burke, General Armory. 1884

Metcalf, Visitations of Suffolk. 1882

Greer, Early Virginia Immigrants. 1912

Wingfield, History of Caroline County, Va. 1924

Virkus, Abridged Compendium of American Genealogy,

Mackenzie, Colonial Families of the United States.

William and Mary Quarterly. 1912-1913, 1916-1917, etc.

Hill, History of Henry County. 1925

Carrington, History of Halifax County, Va. 1924

Virginia Revolutionary Soldiers. 1912

Paul Redd

THOUGHTS ABOUT DAD

by John and Sherrill Redd

The older I get the more I realize how much I learned from Dad. He was always very good to me and believe it or not, very patient. Never in my life even as an advanced teen could I ever out-work him. But not the least of what he taught me was how to work. We worked together a lot, on the farm, with the cattle, sheep and hogs, on houses and in the shop. I remember going to the school shop many evenings and building things, learning to use the tools and even the power tools while I was still very young. And I know that partly by his encouragement I spent many hours in my own basement shop building things. I don't regret that most of the time we spent together was working, but we did occasionally play together. I really enjoyed playing golf with him, he really enjoyed golf and I felt bad that he couldn't play more often. The first golf bag he had he made himself but he not only made his own golf bag, later he made his own motorized golf cart.

He made his own tools and farm implements, to name a few, land levellers, ditchers, a cultivating implement like the Noble Blade. He made his own truck beet boxes, a manure spreader for the truck and probably the most complicated piece, was a sugar beet loader. They were just coming into vogue during the war and so implement companies were not building them. The sugar company shop built several and he, seeing them said, "I can build one as good or better." And so he did, in fact he built one and sold it, then he built another for himself. We spent many hours at Hervey's Black Smith shop, we got our steel from old combines and threshers. We did all the manual work at the shop and when we needed welding, Jack Hervey would come to our rescue. And dad really did improve on the sugar company's design. It worked great.

Dad was a great teacher. He even taught me English and Physical Education in High School, neither was his specialty but he still taught me much. He taught many, many classes in Priesthood, Sunday School and M.I.A. He was always considered to be the best. He never taught me math in school, but I learned much math from him, as he helped me with my own studies and the things I learned were not the conventional things, but were practical and often short-cut methods to solve problems. While I was in college and on a mission, he started building houses and putting hot water radiant heat in the ceiling. He made a trip or two to Calgary to consult with Fred Deeves, a heating engineer, but he did most of the planning and work on his own. His heating systems were very efficient and provided very comfortable heat. Even after I was married he enjoyed having me help him on building and remodelling jobs. About the only part of the building he did not do was the plastering. He did his own cement work, plumbing, wiring and finishing.

Our older children have very fond memories of Grandpa Redd and loved him very much. One time he really surprised us, one evening in Pocatello as we were eating supper, there was a knock on the door and there was Dad. He stayed several days and then went on down to Salt Lake to visit Hazel, Boyd and their family. I don't know anyone who enjoyed a good joke more than Dad. In fact he seemed to have a good joke to tell on almost every occasion. Dad loved music and played the cornet very well. I always enjoyed listening to him play, and I remember well his coaching Alma as she practiced her piano. He sang in a male quartet for many years singing second tenor. Their

quartet was very popular and in great demand for all types of programs. We have a tape of one and we still enjoy listening to it.

I also emember the family singing many fun songs especially as we travelled in the car. I remember one very special trip that he took us on, to Edmonton where he "marked" government high school exams. We had just purchased a new 1936 Ford two-door sedan and we loaded three adults and six children and all the luggage into that little car and made the four-hundred mile trip. We stayed for a month and had a great time.

He was always thoughtful, loving and caring of my mother and Aunt Em. His life was not easy, raising fifteen kids from two families of very different backgrounds, but as I look back now, he did a great job and deserves a lot of credit.

My fond memories of Dad still make me "weepy" — he was a great man, teacher and especially "father."

Sherrill writes, I remember being somewhat apprehensive, as one might imagine, when John and I went to Canada to be married, and I had never met my in-laws until four days before our marriage. I had just talked to Dad and Aunt Em twice by phone. I however, was immediately made to feel at home by Dad and Aunt Em. They were very kind to me, although Dad liked to tease me a lot.

I was always a little in awe of Dad, partly because of his great knowledge. It seemed there was never a subject he could't converse on, he was so well read. That brings up another thing, his ability to down a box of chocolates in one evening while reading a book.

I remember the lovely wood candle holder he made for us, turned on his wood lathe. It is beautiful and we have a Christmas candle we place on it and put out every Christmas.

I also remember the big rolling pin he made for us, which is much used. He was so capable at so many things. I don't think there was anything he couldn't make or do.

I loved to hear "Grandpa Redd" sing in Church. He sang the hymns like they ought to be sung, with feeling and fervor.

I love Dad Redd very much and miss him very much. I look forward to meeting him again. Our children, do too. The older ones love him very much. Phillip and Andrew love to hear about him, and feel cheated not to have known him. We've tried to keep him alive to our grandchildren, as well.